
November 13, 2023 – Regular Meeting Agenda – 7:00 p.m. 

Printed on Recycled Paper  See Reverse 

47+---  

 November 13, 2023 – City Council Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chamber 
390 Towne Centre Drive 

Lathrop, California 
(209) 941-7200

www.ci.lathrop.ca.us 

City Council 
Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor 

Paul Akinjo, Vice Mayor 

Minnie Diallo 

Diane Lazard 

Jennifer Torres-O’Callaghan 

City Staff 
Stephen Salvatore, City Manager 

Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney 

Michael King, Assistant City Manager 

Thomas Hedegard, Deputy City Manager 

Teresa Vargas, Government Services 
Director / City Clerk 

Brad Taylor, City Engineer 

Tony Fernandes, Information Systems Director 

Cari James, Finance Director 

Juliana Burns, Human Resources Director 

Rick Caguiat, Community Development 
Director 

Todd Sebastian, Parks and Recreation 
Director 

Stephen Sealy, Interim Chief of Police 

General Order of Business 
1. Preliminary

• Call to Order
• Closed Session
• Roll Call
• Invocation
• Pledge of Allegiance
• Announcements by Mayor/City Mgr.
• Informational Items
• Declaration of Conflict of Interest

2. Presentations
3. Citizen’s Forum
4. Consent Calendar
5. Scheduled Items

• Public Hearings
• Appeals
• Referrals and Reports from

Commissions and Committees
• All Other Staff Reports and/or Action

Items
• Study Sessions

6. Council Communications
7. Adjournment

Order of Discussion 
Generally, the order of discussion after introduction 
of an item by the Mayor will include comments and 
information by staff followed by City Council 
questions and inquiries. The applicant, or their 
authorized representative, or interested residents, 
may then speak on the item; each speaker may only 
speak once to each item. At the close of public 
discussion, the item will be considered by the City 
Council and action taken. 

Consent Calendar 
Items on the Consent Calendar are considered 
routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one 
motion and one vote. There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless a Councilmember or 
interested resident so requests, in which case the 
item will be removed from the Consent Calendar and 
considered separately.  

1

http://www.ci.lathrop.ca.us/


 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THIS MEETING 
 

This public meeting will be conducted in person; all members of the City Council will attend 
in person. Members of the public are welcomed in person. This meeting will also be available 
for public participation by teleconference via ZoomGov at the following link: 
 
https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1619773111?pwd=YyszQ0N5U1BvY0pmOW
g5alY1OXN5Zz09 

 
 During the meeting, those joining by ZoomGov, will be allowed to speak prior to the 

close of public comment on an item. If you are using this method, please “raise the 
hand” feature to inform the City Clerk (meeting host) you wish to speak on the matter. 
Please ensure your computer speaker and microphone are fully functional.  
 

 For audio / calling in only, dial: +1 (669) 254-5252 or +1 (669) 216-1590   
o To request to speak (same as the “raise hand” feature) press *9 / When the 

City Clerk calls your name, press *6 to unmute. 
 

 Meeting Webinar ID: 161 977 3111 / Passcode: 222349 
 

 If you are not able to attend the meeting in person or virtually - Public 
comment/questions will be accepted by email to City Clerk Teresa Vargas at 
website_cco@ci.lathrop.ca.us  or by calling (209) 941-7230  
 

 Questions or comments must be submitted by 4:00 p.m., on the day of the meeting. 
 

 To address City Council in person, please submit a purple card to the City Clerk 
indicating name, address, and number of the item upon which a person wishes to 
speak.  

 
Council Meetings are live-streamed (with Closed Captioning) on Comcast Cable Channel 97, 
and on the City Council Webpage: https://www.ci.lathrop.ca.us/citycouncil/page/live-stream 
 
Addressing the Council 

Any person may speak once on any item under discussion by the City Council after receiving 
recognition by the Mayor. Purple speaker cards will be available prior to and during the 
meeting. To address City Council, a card must be submitted to the City Clerk indicating name, 
address and number of the item upon which a person wishes to speak. When addressing the 
City Council, please walk to the lectern located in front of the City Council. State your name 
and address. In order to ensure all persons have the opportunity to speak, a time limit will 
be set by the Mayor for each speaker (see instructions on speaker form). In the interest of 
time, each speaker may only speak once on each individual agenda item; please limit your 
comments to new material; do not repeat what a prior speaker has said. If you challenge the 
nature of a proposed action in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 
  

2

https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1619773111?pwd=YyszQ0N5U1BvY0pmOWg5alY1OXN5Zz09
https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1619773111?pwd=YyszQ0N5U1BvY0pmOWg5alY1OXN5Zz09
mailto:website_cco@ci.lathrop.ca.us
https://www.ci.lathrop.ca.us/citycouncil/page/live-stream


 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 

Citizen’s Forum 

Any person desiring to speak on a matter, which is not scheduled on this agenda, may do so 
under the Citizen’s Forum section. Please submit your purple speaker card to the City Clerk 
prior to the commencement of Citizen’s Forum, or submit your request to speak via the “raise 
hand” feature in ZoomGov. Only those who have submitted speaker cards, or have expressed 
an interest to speak, prior to the conclusion of Citizen’s Forum will be called upon to speak. 
Please be aware the California Government Code prohibits the City Council from taking any 
immediate action on an item, which does not appear on the agenda, unless the item meets 
stringent statutory requirements. The Mayor will limit the length of your presentation (see 
instructions on speaker form) and each speaker may only speak once on this agenda item. 
Please note, the Council Chamber has limited occupancy due to social distancing.  
 
To leave a voice message for all Councilmembers simultaneously, dial (209) 941-7230. To 
send an e-mail for Councilmembers simultaneously email: citycouncil@ci.lathrop.ca.us. This 
City Council Agenda and meeting materials can be accessed by computer or any smart device 
at: https://www.ci.lathrop.ca.us/meetings  
 
General Information 

For reports citing supplemental documents relating to specific agenda items, these are 
available for review in the City Clerk’s Office. This agenda was posted at the following 
locations:  City Hall, Community Center, Generations Center, Senior Center, and the Lathrop-
Manteca Fire District “J" Street and Somerston Parkway Offices. The meetings of the Lathrop 
City Council are broadcast on Lathrop Comcast Cable Television Channel 97 and live streamed 
on the City’s website. 
 
Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in compliance 
with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting 
will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility and/or 
accommodations to this meeting. [28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II] Interested persons 
must request the accommodation at least 2 working days in advance of the meeting by 
contacting the City Clerk at (209) 941-7230. Information about the City or items scheduled 
on the Agenda may be referred to: 
 

Teresa Vargas, MMC 
Government Services Director / City Clerk  

390 Towne Centre Drive 
Lathrop, CA 95330 

Telephone: (209) 941-7230 
 

  

3

mailto:citycouncil@ci.lathrop.ca.us.
https://www.ci.lathrop.ca.us/meetings


 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 3 

CITY OF LATHROP 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2023  
7:00 P.M. 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL 
390 Towne Centre Drive 

Lathrop, CA 95330 
 

AGENDA 
 
PLEASE NOTE: There will be a Closed Session commencing at 5:30 p.m.  The Regular 
Meeting will reconvene at 7:00 p.m., or immediately following the Closed Session, 
whichever is later. 
 
1. PRELIMINARY 

 
1.1 CALL TO ORDER 

 
1.2 CLOSED SESSION 

 
1.2.1 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL: Anticipated Litigation - 

Significant Exposure to Litigation Pursuant to Government Code 
Section 54956.9(b) and 54956.9(e)(1) 

• 1 Potential Case(s) 
 

1.2.2 CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR Pursuant to 
Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency Negotiator: Stephen J. Salvatore, City Manager 
Unrepresented Employee: Stephen Sealy, Interim Police Chief  
 

1.2.3 CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR Pursuant to 
Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency Negotiator:  Thomas Hedegard, Deputy City Manager 
Unrepresented Employee: Stephen J. Salvatore, City Manager  
 

1.2.4 CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR Pursuant to 
Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency Negotiator: Stephen J. Salvatore, City Manager 
Employee Organization: Lathrop Police Officer’s Association  
 

1.2.5 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL Existing Litigation Pursuant 
to Government Code 54956.9(a) 
City of Lathrop vs. 3M Company, et. al., United States District 
Court of South Carolina, Charleston Division, Master Docket No. 
2:18-mn-2873-RMG 
 
 

 

4



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 4 

RECONVENE 
 

1.2.6 REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 
 

1.3 ROLL CALL  
 

1.4 INVOCATION 
 

1.5 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

1.6 ANNOUNCEMENT(S) BY MAYOR / CITY MANAGER 
 

1.7 INFORMATIONAL ITEM(S) – None 
 

1.8 DECLARATION OF CONFLICT(S) OF INTEREST 
 

2. PRESENTATIONS  
 
2.1 PROCLAMATION DECLARING NOVEMBER AS SIKH AWARENESS AND 

APPRECIATION MONTH 
 

2.2 PRESENTATION TO PROVIDE UPDATES ASSOCIATED WITH CAMERA 
SYSTEMS FOR CITY PARKS, CIP GG 22-35 AND TRAFFIC TECHNOLOGY, 
CIP PS 23-01 
 

3. CITIZEN’S FORUM 
 
Any person desiring to speak on a matter, which is not scheduled on this agenda, may 
do so under Citizen’s Forum. Please submit a purple speaker card to the City Clerk 
prior to the commencement of Citizen’s Forum. Only those who have submitted 
speaker cards, or have expressed an interest to speak, prior to the conclusion of 
Citizen’s Forum will be called upon to speak. Please be aware the California 
Government Code prohibits the City Council from taking any immediate action on an 
item, which does not appear on the agenda, unless the item meets stringent statutory 
requirements. The City Council can, however, allow its members or staff to briefly (no 
more than five (5) minutes) respond to statements made, to ask questions for 
clarification, make a brief announcement or report on his or her own activities. (See 
California Government Code Section 54954.2(a)). Unless directed otherwise by a 
majority of the City Council, all questions asked and not answered at the meeting will 
be responded to in writing within 10 business days. ALL PUBLIC COMMENTS MUST BE 
MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE LATHROP CITY COUNCIL HANDBOOK OF RULES AND 
PROCEDURES! 
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine by the City Council and will be 
enacted by one motion and one vote. There will be no separate discussion of these 
items unless the Mayor, Councilmember, or citizen so requests, in which event the 
item will be removed from the Consent Calendar and considered separately. 

5



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 5 

4.1 WAIVING OF READING OF ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 
Waive the Reading in Full of Ordinances and Resolutions on Agenda and 
Adopt by Reading of Title Only, Unless Otherwise Requested by the 
Mayor or a Councilmember  
 

4.2 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Approve Minutes for the Regular Council Meeting of September 11, 2023 
 

4.3 SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 23-449 OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING THE LATHROP ZONING 
MAP, MODIFYING TITLE 10 (VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC) OF THE LATHROP 
MUNICIPAL CODE, AND ADOPTING VARIOUS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 
17 (ZONING) OF THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE FOR CONSISTENCY 
WITH THE 2022 LATHROP GENERAL PLAN UPDATE (TA-23-93) 
Waive Full Reading and Adopt Ordinance 23-449 Amending the Lathrop 
Zoning Map, Modifying Title 10 (Vehicles and Traffic) of the Lathrop 
Municipal Code, and Adopting Various Amendments to Title 17 (Zoning) 
of the Lathrop Municipal Code for Consistency with the 2022 Lathrop 
General Plan Update (TA-23-93) 
 

4.4 SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 23-450 OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING LATHROP MUNICIPAL 
CODE TITLE 12 “STREET, SIDEWALKS AND PUBLIC PLACES”, CHAPTER 
12.12 “IMPROVEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS”, SECTION 12.12.060 
“IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING BUILDINGS” TO MODIFY LANGUAGE TO 
REQUIRE FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS UPON ADDITION OF 
IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING SITES 
Waive Full Reading and Adopt Ordinance 23-450 Amending Lathrop 
Municipal Code Title 12 “Street, Sidewalks and Public Places”, Chapter 
12.12 “Improvements and Dedications”, Section 12.12.060 
“Improvements to Existing Buildings” To Modify Language to Require 
Frontage Improvements Upon Addition Of Improvements To Existing 
Sites 
 

4.5 OUT-OF-STATE TRAVEL APPROVAL FOR CITY STAFF TO PARTICIPATE IN 
THE IAMC SPRING FORUM IN APRIL 2024 AND ICSC SHOW IN MAY 2024 
Adopt Resolution Authorizing Out-of-State Travel for City Staff to Attend 
and Represent the City of Lathrop as follows: 

1. Economic Development Administrator Attendance at the 
Industrial Asset Management Council’s Spring Forum in 
Greenville, South Carolina April 6, 2024 – April 10, 2024 

2. Economic Development Administrator and Community 
Development Director Attendance at the Innovating 
Commerce Serving Communities Conference in Las Vegas, 
Nevada May 19, 2024 – May 22, 2024 

 

6



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 6 

4.6 COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS ANNUAL BOND ACCOUNTABILITY 
REPORT FOR FY 2022/23 
Receive Report for Bonded and Non Bonded Community Facilities 
Districts 
 

4.7 APPROVE ANNUAL REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF THE CITY’S INVESTMENT 
POLICY 
Adopt Resolution Approving the Annual Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 
2023/24 
 

4.8 APPROVE TEMPORARY STREET CLOSURE FOR THE LATHROP 
CHRISTMAS PARADE ON DECEMBER 9, 2023 FOR THOMSEN ROAD, 
CAMBRIDGE DRIVE, J STREET, AND 5TH STREET   
Adopt Resolution Approving Temporary Street Closures for the Lathrop 
Christmas Parade on December 9, 2023, for Thomsen Road, Cambridge 
Drive, J Street, and 5th Street 
 

4.9 APPROVE 2024 FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUESTS FOR LATHROP LITTLE 
LEAGUE, LATHROP COMMUNITY VOLUNTEER CLUB, LATHROP LIONS 
CLUB, LATHROP SUNRISE ROTARY, ALCOHOLICS ANONYMOUS, NEW 
LATHROP NEIGHBORHOOD WATCH, MITRA USA, AND LIFT YOUR HEAD 
UP THERAPEUTIC GROUP HOMES, INC.  
Staff Requests the City Council to Adopt the Following Eight Resolutions: 

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Lathrop Little League;  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Lathrop Community Volunteer Club;  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Lathrop Lions Club;  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Lathrop Sunrise Rotary;  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Alcoholics Anonymous;  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from New 
Lathrop Neighborhood Watch;   

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver request from 
Mitra USA; and  

• Adopt Resolution Approving Facility Fee Waiver from Lift Your 
Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc. 

 
4.10 APPROVE PURCHASE OF TWO NEW POLICE VEHICLES, APPROVAL OF 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 4 WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING  
Adopt Resolution Approving the Purchase of Two 2023 Police Chevrolet 
Tahoes from American Chevrolet of Modesto, Approving Change Order 
No. 4 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the Purchase and Installation of 
Police Vehicle Equipment  
 

7



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 7 

4.11 APPROVE PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
DOKKEN ENGINEERING TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT INITIATION 
DOCUMENT PHASE FOR THE ROTH ROAD AND I-5 INTERCHANGE, CIP 
PS 14-04 
Adopt Resolution Approving a Professional Consulting Services 
Agreement with Dokken Engineering to Complete the Project Initiation 
Document Phase for the Roth Road and I-5 Interchange, CIP PS 14-04 
 

4.12 ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP NO. 2019-35, 
LOCATED AT 231 AND 240 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE FROM BLUE 
MOUNTAIN CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.  
Adopt Resolution Accepting Public Improvements Associated with 
Encroachment Permit No. 2019-35, Located at 231 and 240 Towne 
Centre Drive, from Blue Mountain Construction Services, Inc.  
  

4.13 ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP NO. 2022-133, 
LOCATED ON MOSSDALE ROAD FROM BROWN SAND, INC. 
Adopt Resolution Accepting Public Improvements Associated with 
Encroachment Permit No. 2022-133, Located on Mossdale Road from 
Brown Sand, Inc.  
 

4.14 RATIFY THE PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION 
SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM VIGILANT 
SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP GG 19-07 CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM 
Adopt Resolution to Ratify the Purchase of Automatic License Plate 
Recognition Surveillance System Software and Hardware from Vigilant 
Solutions, LLC, for CIP GG 19-07 Citywide Surveillance System 
      

RIVER ISLANDS DEVELOPMENT CONSENT ITEM(S) 
 

4.15 APPROVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF LATHROP AND RIVER 
ISLANDS ACADEMIES TO PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 
SERVICES 
Adopt Resolution Approving Agreement between the City of Lathrop and 
River Islands Academies to Provide School Resource Officer Services for 
the 2023-2024 School Year 
 

4.16 APPROVE ABANDONMENT OF RECYCLED WATERLINE EASEMENT IN THE 
RIVER ISLAND DEVELOPMENT AREA 
Adopt Resolution Approving Abandonment of Recycled Waterline 
Easement in the River Islands Development Area (a portion of APNs 
213-110-03; 213-210-06; 213-220-01 thru 04; 213-300-01 and 02)    
 

4.17 ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN THE STAGE 2A AND 
2B AREAS OF THE RIVER ISLANDS PROJECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS 
DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

8



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 8 

Adopt Resolution to Accept Public Improvements for Villages in the 
Stage 2A and 2B Areas of the River Islands Project from River Islands 
Development, LLC  
 

5. SCHEDULED ITEMS  
 
5.1 PUBLIC HEARING (PUBLISHED NOTICE) TO CONSIDER APPROVING 

CITYWIDE TRUCK ROUTE LISTING PURSUANT TO LATHROP MUNICIPAL 
CODE 10.16.030 
The City Council to Consider the Following: 

1. Hold a Public Hearing; and  
2. Adopt Resolution Approving Citywide Truck Route Listing 

Pursuant to Lathrop Municipal Code 10.16.030 
 

5.2 CONTINUED DISCUSSION FROM OCTOBER 9, 2023 REGULAR MEETING 
REGARDING THE CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 
AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT NO. TA-23-104 
The Council to Consider the Following:  

1. Testimony Presented During the Public Hearing Held 
October 9, 2023; 

2. Adopt Resolution to Find the Project Exempt from Further 
Environmental Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code 
Section 21083.3 and California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and 

3. First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance to Approve 
the Central Lathrop Specific Plan (CLSP) Phase 2 
Amendment and Code Text Amendment to Modify Chapter 
17.62, Central Lathrop Zoning Districts to Add Article 6, IL-
CL, Limited Industrial Zoning Districts and Modify Section 
17.62.120 B of the Lathrop Municipal Code 

 
5.3 CONTINUED DISCUSSION FROM OCTOBER 9, 2023 REGULAR MEETING 

REGARDING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP-23-08 AND SITE PLAN 
REVIEW NO. SPR-23-09 FOR THE ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT 
The Council to Consider the Following:  

1. Testimony Presented During the Public Hearing Held 
October 9, 2023;  

2. Adopt Resolution to Find the Project Exempt from Further 
Environmental Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code 
Section 21083.3 and California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and 

3. Adopt Resolution to Approve a Conditional Use Permit and 
Site Plan Review for the Ashley Furniture Project to Allow 
for the Construction of an Approximately 1.5 Million Square 
Foot Concrete Tilt-Up Building Located within the Central 
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Area 

 

9



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 9 

5.4 PUBLIC HEARING (PUBLISHED NOTICE) TO CONSIDER THE 2024 
SJMSCP DEVELOPMENT FEE ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT 
The Council to Consider the Following: 

1. Hold a Public Hearing; and 
2. Adopt Resolution Approving an Annual Adjustment to the 

San Joaquin County Multi-Species Habitat Conservation 
and Open Space Plan (SJMSCP) Development Fee for 2024 

 
5.5 PUBLIC HEARING (PUBLISHED NOTICE) OF THE CITY COUNCIL TO 

CONSIDER ISSUANCE OF PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES BY 
THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 
The Council to Consider the Following: 

1. Hold a Public Hearing; and 
2. Adopt Resolution of the City Council of the City of Lathrop 

Making Findings With Respect to and Approving the 
Issuance of Phase 2 Revenue Anticipation Notes by the 
River Islands Public Financing Authority 

 
5.6 PUBLIC HEARING (PUBLISHED NOTICE) TO CONSIDER ADOPTING AN 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP 
UPDATING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 2.08.010, TITLED CITY 
MANAGER, TO MODIFY AUTHORITY TO APPOINT AND REMOVE THE 
POLICE CHIEF; AND CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION AMENDING 
THE POLICE CHIEF JOB DESCRIPTION, UPDATING THE SALARY GRADE 
STEP TABLE, AND APPROVING EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WITH STEPHEN 
SEALY 
Council to Consider the Following Items: 

1. Hold a Public Hearing;  
2. First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance Amending 

Title 2 Titled “Administration and Personnel”, Chapter 2.08 
Titled “City Manager”, Section 2.08.010 Titled “City 
Manager” To Modify Authority to Appoint and Remove the 
Police Chief; and 

3. Adopt Resolution Approving an Amendment to the Police 
Chief Job Description, Salary Grade Step Table, and 
Employment Contract with Stephen Sealy 

 
6. COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS  

 
6.1 MAYOR & COUNCILMEMBER COMMITTEE REPORT(S) 

• Central Valley Executive Committee/LOCC (Akinjo/Diallo) 
• Council of Governments (Lazard/Diallo) 
• Integrated Waste Management Solid Waste Division (Akinjo/Torres-

O’Callaghan) 
• Reclamation District 17 Joint Powers Authority (Salvatore) 
• San Joaquin Partnership Board of Directors (Salvatore)  
• San Joaquin County Commission on Aging (Vacancy) 
• San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (Akinjo/Dhaliwal) 

10



 

November 13, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 10 

• Water Advisory Board (Torres-O’Callaghan/Lazard) 
• Tri Valley-San Joaquin Valley Regional Rail Authority (Akinjo) 
• San Joaquin Area Flood Control Agency (Akinjo/Lazard/Torres-O’Callaghan) 
• LAFCo (Diallo) 

 
6.2 MAYOR & COUNCILMEMBER COMMENT(S) 

 
7. ADJOURNMENT  

 
 
 

/Teresa Vargas/ 
Teresa Vargas, MMC 
Government Services Director 
City Clerk  

 

11



ITEM 4. 2

CITY OF LATHROP

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2023

7: 00 P. M.

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL

390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, CA 95330

MINUTES

PLEASE NOTE; There was a Closed Session, which commenced at 6; OI v. m.  The

Reqular Meetin4 reconvened at 7: 04 v. m.

1.       PRELIMINARY

1. 1 CALL TO ORDER - Mayor Dhaliwal called the meeting to order at 6: 01
p. m.

1. 2 CLOSED SESSION

1. 2. 1 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL:  Anticipated Litigation  -

Significant Exposure to Litigation Pursuant to Government Code

Section 54956. 9( b) and 54956. 9( e)( 1)

2 Potential Case( s)

1. 2. 2 CONFERENCE THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES:
Consultation with:  Legal Counsel and Police Chief Pursuant to

Government Code Section 54957, Regarding Safety Protocols for
Potential Public Threats

RECONVENE - Mayor Dhaliwal reconvened the meeting at 7: 04 p. m.

1. 2. 3 REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION

City Attorney Salvador Navarrete reported that direction was provided
pursuant to all matters under Item 1. 2;  no other reportable action

taken.

1. 3 ROLL CALL Present: Mayor Dhaliwal; Vice Mayor Akinjo; and

Councilmembers Diallo,  Lazard and Torres-

O' Callaghan

Absent: None

1. 4 INVOCATION - Pastor pon Britton, Grace Community Church, provided
the invocation.  Following the invocation,  Mayor Dhaliwal requested a

moment of silence honoring the lives lost on September 11, 2001.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 1

12



1. 5 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  -  Pastor pon Britton led the pledge of
allegiance.

1. 6 ANNOUNCEMENT( 5) BY MAYOR / CITY MANAGER

Mayor Dhaliwal announced the Annuai First Responders BBQ scheduled
Wednesday, September 13, 2023, at Valverde Park.

1. 7 INFORMATIONAL ITEM( S) - None

1. 8 DECLARATION OF CONFLICT( S) OF INTEREST

City Clerk Teresa Vargas announced that Consent Item 4. 10 ( Dell- Osso

Farms Agreement) will be removed from Regular Consent Items, and

considered under the River Islands Consent Items.

Councilmember Lazard declared a conflict of interest with Items 4. 10,

4. 20,  4. 21,  4. 22,  and 4. 23,  due to her employment with Dell' Osso

Farms. Councilmember Diallo declared a conflict of interest with Items

4. 10, 4. 20, 4. 21, 4. 22, and 4. 23, due to an agreement with the River

Islands Development.

2.       PRESENTATIONS

2. 1 INTRODUCTION OF NEW EMPLOYEES

City Engineer Brad Taylor introduced Veronica Albarran,   Junior

Engineer, in the Public Works Department. Police Chief Raymond Bechler

introduced Tracie Shea, Lieutenant, in the Police Department.

2. 2 POLICE DEPARTMENT EMERGENCY EVACUATION TRAINING

PRESENTATION

School Resource Officer Clinton Armstrong provided an educational
presentation regarding evacuations during emergencies. A question and
answer period followed the presentation.

3.       CITIZEN' S FORUM

Gavin Cline  ( in person speaker),  Legislative Representative for Congress

Member John Duarte, provided an overview of various legislative updates and
activities for California' s 13t''  District.  Mansoor Fazel  ( in person speaker)
commented on potential business opportunities;  requested that the City
Council consider allowing the operation of smoking bar /  hookah lounge

businesses in the city. City Council consensus provided staff direction to bring
back the matter for discussion at a future Council Meeting,  no other action

taken on the matter.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 2

13



4.       CONSENT CALENDAR

Due to conflicts of interest declared under Item 1. 8, Item 4. 10 was removed

from the Regular Consent Calendar and was considered under the River Islands
Consent Items.

City Clerk Teresa Vargas announced Item 4. 3 would be pulled off the
agenda,  due to a scheduling conflict with another previously scheduled
community event.

On a motion by Councilmember Torres- O' Callaghan,    seconded by
Councilmember Lazard, the City Council approved Items 4. 1 through 4. 19,

except Item 4. 3 and Item 4. 10 of the Consent Calendar, by the following roll
call vote, unless otherwise indicated:

Ayes:   Akinjo, Diallo, Lazard, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal
Noes:   None

Absent: None

Abstain: Dhaliwal ( Item 4. 2 only)

The City of Lathrop City Council Handbook of Rules and Procedures, page
13, Chapter IV,   Section 8( 5)   applies to abstentions without identified

legal disqualifications.

4. 1 WAIVING OF READING OF ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS

Waived the reading in full of ordinances and resolutions on agenda and
adopt by reading of title only, unless otherwise requested by the Mayor
or a Councilmember.

4. 2     *** APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Approved Minutes for the Regular Council Meeting of July 10, 2023.

4. 3     ** TABLE SPONSORSHIP AT STOCKTON CHAMBER OF COMMERCE' S
56TH ANNUAL INDUSTRIAL BARBECUE

Ratify City Participation and Table Sponsorship at the Stockton Chamber
Of Commerce Barbecue, to be held September 13, 2023

4. 4 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT RELATED MEMBERSHIPS AND

SPONSORSHIPS

Adopted Resolution 23- 5359 authorizing participation in membership
organizations and sponsorship opportunities that promote and enhance
the City of Lathrop' s economic development goals.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 3

14



4. 5 PLANNING FEE WAIVER REQUEST BY GLOBAL SEVA FOUNDATION ( TUP-

23- 95)

Adopted Resolution 23- 5360 waiving the Temporary Use Permit
application processing and document retention fees for the Global Seva
Foundation, in the combined amount of $ 392.

4. 6 AUTHORIZE ACCEPTANCE OF THE SELECTIVE TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT
PROGRAM   ( STEP)   GRANT FUND AWARD FROM THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY ( OTS)

Adopted Resolution 23- 5361 authorizing the Police Chief to accept the
Selective Traffic Enforcement Program  ( STEP)  Grant Fund Award of

60, 000 from the State of California Office of Traffic Safety ( OTS).

4. 7 APPROVE 2023 FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FOR MITRA USA

Adopted Resolution 23- 5362 approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request
from Mitra USA for the use of the Scott Brooks Gymnasium on October

13, 2023 from 4: 00 p. m. to 10: 00 p. m. to host a cultural event.

4. 8 APPROVE 2023 FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FOR LATHROP LITTLE

LEAGUE

Adopted Resolution 23- 5363 approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request
from Lathrop Little League for the use of Mossdale Park baseball fields
from September 11,  2023 through November 4,  2023,  for baseball

clinics.

4. 9 APPROVE OUT OF STATE TRAVEL FOR THE 2023 NATIONAL LEAGUE OF
CITIES CITY SUMMIT

Adopted Resolution 23- 5364 authorizing Out of State Travel for the
2023 National League of Cities City Summit Trip to Atlanta,  Georgia,

from November 15- 18, 2023.

4. 10   * APPROVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES

FOR THE ANNUAL PUMPKIN MAZE EVENT AT DELL' OSSO FARMS

Due to conflicts of interest declared under Item 1. 8, Item 4. 10 was

removed from the Regular Consent Calendar and was considered under
the River Islands Consent Items.  The resolution number reflects the

order in which the item was approved.

Pulled by Councilmember Torres- O' Callaghan. A question and answer
period ensued. Police Chief Bechler provided the information.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 4

15



Adopted Resolution 23- 5374 approving Agreement to provide law
enforcement services to Dell' Osso Farms, LLC, for the Annual Pumpkin
Maze Event on September 30, 2023 through October 31, 2023.

4. 11 APPROVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES FOR
THE AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION' S 209 HEART & STROKE WALK

EVENT

Adopted Resolution 23- 5365 approving Agreement to provide law
enforcement services to the American Heart Association for the 209
Heart & Stroke Walk Event on October 7, 2023.

4. 12 APPROVE OUT OF STATE TRAVEL FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMENT

RECORDS SUPERVISOR TO ATTEND THE RIMSCON 2023 CONFERENCE
IN OCTOBER 2023

Adopted Resolution 23- 5366 approving out of state travel for the
Police Department Records Supervisor to attend the RIMSCON 20Z3
Conference in South Lake Tahoe,  Nevada from October 9,  2023 to

October 13, 2023.

4. 13 APPROVE PURCHASE OF A CHEVROLET SILVERADO 3500 SPRAY RIG
FOR THE PARKS,    RECREATION AND MAINTENANCE SERVICES

DEPARTMENT

Adopted Resolution 23- 5367 approving the purchase of a Chevrolet
Silverado 3500 pray Rig for the Parks,  Recreation and Maintenance

Services Department.

4. 14 APPROVE WASTEWATER TREATMENT CAPACITY TRANSFER FROM

SOUTH LATHROP LAND,  LLC TO LATHROP LAND ACQUISITION,  LLC,

THROUGH THE CITY

Adopted Resolution 23- 5368 approving the transfer of wastewater
treatment capacity in the Consolidated Treatment Facility from South
Lathrop Land, LLC to Lathrop Land Acquisition, LLC through the City and
an associated transfer agreement.

4. 15 APPROVE AMENDMENT NO.   1 WITH DOKKEN ENGINEERING FOR

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR THE HARLAN ROAD

REALIGNMENT AT ROTH ROAD, CIP PS 14- 04

Pulled by Vice Mayor Akinjo. A question and answer period ensued. City
Engineer Brad Taylor provided the information.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 5

16



Adopted Resolution 23- 5369 approving Amendment No.   1 with

Dokken Engineering, for professional engineering services for the Harlan
Road Realignment at Roth Road, CIP PS 14- 04.

4. 16 ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS CONSTRUCTED BY AMERINE

SYSTEMS, INC. FOR CITY HALL LANDSCAPE RENOVATIONS, GG 21- 09

Adopted Resolution 23- 5370 accepting public improvements

constructed by Amerine Systems,  Inc.  for the city hall landscape
renovation,   CIP GG 21- 09,   authorizing the filing of a Notice of

Completion, releasing contract retention, and releasing Performance &
Payment Bonds.

4. 17 ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS CONSTRUCTED BY TIM PAXIN' S

PACIFIC EXCAVATION,    INC.    DBA PACIFIC EXCAVATION FOR

STREETLIGHTS ASSOCIATED WITH LOUISE AVENUE LANDSCAPE, CIP

GG 21- 15

Adopted Resolution 23- 5371 accepting public improvements

constructed by Tim Paxin' s Pacific Excavation,   Inc.   dba Pacific

Excavation,   for streetlights associated with the Louise Avenue

landscaping project, CIP GG 21- 15, authorizing the filing of a Notice of
Completion, releasing contract retention, and releasing Performance &
Payment Bonds.

4. 18 AWARD SERVICE CONTRACT TO SWEEPING CORPORATION OF

AMERICA OF CALIFORNIA, LLC FOR STREET SWEEPING SERVICES

Pulled by Vice Mayor Akinjo. A question and answer period ensued. City
Engineer Brad Taylor provided the information.

Adopted Resolution 23- 5372 awarding a Service Contract to Sweeping
Corporation of America of California, LLC, for street sweeping services.

4. 19 RATIFY CITY MANAGER APPROVAL OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

WITH LUMA ENGINEERING INC. FOR THE CITY OF LATHROP FACILITIES

ADA IMPROVEMENTS,   CIP GG 23- 14 AND APPROVE BUDGET

AMENDMENT

Adopted Resolution 23- 5373 ratifying City Manager' s approval of
Construction Contract with Luma Engineering Inc. for the City of Lathrop
Facilities ADA Improvements, CIP GG 23- 14, and budget amendment.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 6

17



RIVER ISLANDS DEVELOPMENT CONSENT ITEM( S)

Counciimember Lazard and Councilmember Diallo recused themselves at 7: 52 p. m.,
following the vote of the consent calendar, prior to the vote of Item 4. 1 D, Item 4. 20,
Item 4. 21, Item 4. 22, and Item 4. 23 due to declared conflict of interested as noted

on Item 1. 8.

On a motion by Councilmember Torres- O' Callaghan, seconded by Vice Mayor
Akinjo, the City Council approved Items 4. 10 4. 20, 4. 21, 4. 22, and 4. 23 by
the following roll call vote, unless otherwise indicated:

Ayes:   Akinjo, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal
Noes:    None

Absent: None

Abstain: Diallo and Lazard

4. 20 APPROVE FINAL MAP,    CFD ANNEXATION,    AND SUBDIVISION

IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT FOR 105 LOTS IN TRACT 4155 UNIT 1

WITHIN WEST VILLAGE DISTRICT OF RIVER ISLANDS

Adopted Resolution 23- 5375 approving Final Map for Tract 4155 Unit
1 within the West Village District, Totaling 105 Single Family Lots, CFD
Annexation No.  4,  Irrevocable Offer of Dedication and Subdivision

Improvement Agreement with River Islands Development Area 1, LLC,

F/ K/ A River Islands Employment Center, LLC.

4. 21 APPROVE FINAL MAP,    CFD ANNEXATION,    AND SUBDIVISION

IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT FOR 68 LOTS IN TRACT 4172 VILLAGE 1

WITHIN WEST VILLAGE DISTRICT OF RIVER ISLANDS

Adopted Resolution 23- 5376 approving Final Map for Tract 4172
Village 1 within the West Village District, Totaling 68 Single Family Lots,
CFD Annexation No. 2, and Subdivision Improvement Agreement with
River Islands Development Area 2,  LLC,  and River Islands Stage 2A,

LLC.

4. 22 APPROVE CONSOLIDATED JOINT COMMUNITY FACILITIES AGREEMENT

WITH RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY FOR THE

AUTHORITY' S COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS

Pulled by Vice Mayor Akinjo.  A question and answer period ensued.
Deputy City Manager Thomas Hedegard and City Attorney Salvador
Navarrete provided additional information.

Adopted Resolution 23- 5377 approving a Consolidated   ) oint

Community Facilities Agreement with River Islands Public Financing
Authority ( RIPFA) for the Authority' s Community Facilities Districts.

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 7

18



4. 23 APPROVE THE REVISED RIVER ISLANDS PHASE TWO PARKS AND OPEN

SPACE MASTER PLAN

Pulled by Vice Mayor Akinjo.  A question and answer period ensued.
Community Development Director Rick Caguiat provided additional
information.

Adopted Resolution 23- 5378 approving the Revised River Islands
Phase Two Parks and Open Space Master Plan.

CEQA STATUS:  The Proposed Project fell within the Scope of the

Previously Certified Subsequent Environmental Impact Report ( SEIR)

SCH No. 1993112027)  for the River Islands at Lathrop Phase Two
Project;  therefore,  no further Environmental Review was required in

accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act.

Councilmember Lazard and Councilmember Diallo returned to the dais at 8: 02 p, m.

5.       SCHEDULED ITEMS

5. 1 PUBLIC HEARING ( PUBLISHED NOTICE) TO CONSIDER ADOPTING AN

ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 2

ADMINISTRATION AND PERSONNEL",  CHAPTER 2. 36  " PURCHASING

SYSTEM",    SECTION 2. 36. 110    EXCEPTIONS TO PURCHASING

PROCEDURES AND LIMITS"

Assistant City Manager Michael King provided the presentation.  A

question and answer period followed. City Manager Stephen Salvatore
provided additional information.  Mayor Dhaliwal opened the public
hearing.  There were no speakers.  Mayor Dhaliwal closed the public
hearing.

On a motion by Councilmember Lazard, seconded by Mayor Dhaliwal,
the City Council considered the following:

1.  Held a public hearing; and

2.  Waived first reading and introduced an ordinance amending Title
2,   Chapter 2. 36   ' Purchasing System",   Section 2. 36. 110

Exceptions To Purchasing Procedures and Limits" by adding new
Section (" D") to allow Cooperative Purchasing Agreements.

Ayes:    Akinjo, Diallo, Lazard, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal

Noes:    None

Absent: None

Abstain: None

September 11, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 8

19



5. 2 ADOPTION OF A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR CIP PW 22-

36 AQUIFER STORAGE AND RECOVERY

Assistant City Manager Michaei King provided the presentation.  A

question and answer period followed.

On a motion by Councilmember Lazard, seconded by Councilmember
Torres- O' Callaghan,  the City Council adopted Resolution 23- 5379
adopting the Mitigated Negative Declaration for the City of Lathrop
Aquifer Storage and Recovery Project, CIP PW 22- 36 in accordance with
the California Environmental Quality Act Requirements.

Ayes:    Akinjo, Diallo, Lazard, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal

Noes:    None

Absent: None

Abstain: None

5. 3 GRAND JURY REPORT RESPONSE

City Attorney Salvador Navarrete provided the presentation. A question
and answer period ensued.  Police Chief Bechler provided additional
information.

On a motion by Mayor Dhaliwal, seconded by Councilmember Torres-
O' Callaghan, the City Council accepted the Grand Jury Report on School
Safety in San Joaquin County, and directed the City Attorney to submit
a letter to the Presiding ) udge of the San ) oaquin County Superior Court,
responding to the findings and recommendations of the Grand Jury
Report.

Ayes:    Akinjo, Diallo, Lazard, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal

Noes:    None

Absent: None

Abstain: None

5. 4 PROVIDE DIRECTION ON LATHROP ROAD RESIDENTIAL DRIVEWAY

RECONSTRUCTION AND CREATE CIP GG 24- 27

Assistant City Manager Michael King provided the presentation.  A

question and answer period followed.  Adriana Lopez  ( zoom speaker)

spoke in support of the item,  and requested clarification on how the

proposed project would affect her adjacent property. Irene Torres ( zoom
speaker) requested clarification on the scope of work and timeline of the

project.

September li, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 9

20



On a motion by Mayor Dhaliwal, seconded by Councilmember Diallo, City
Council adopted Resolution 23- 5380 creating CIP GG 24- 27, Lathrop
Road Residential Driveway Reconstruction,   and approving related

budget amendment.

Ayes:    Akinjo, Diallo, Lazard, Torres- O' Callaghan and Dhaliwal

Noes:    None

Absent: None

Abstain: None

6.       COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS

6. 1 MAYOR & COUNCILMEMBER COMMITfEE REPORT( S) - None.

6. 2 MAYOR & COUNCILMEMBER COMMENT( S)

Councilmember Torres- O' Callaghan complimented the Touch- a- Truck
event;     expressed appreciation for those that participated.
Councilmember Diallo expressed appreciation to Assistant City Manager
Michael King for his work related to Item 5. 4,   and expressed

appreciation to Lathrop- Manteca Fire District and Lathrop Police

Department.  Councilmember Lazard and Vice Mayor Akinjo thanked

those in attendance and wished all a good night.  Mayor Dhaliwal

encouraged the public to attend the Annual First Responders BBQ
scheduled Wednesday, September 13, 2023, at Valverde Park.

7.       ADJOURNMENT - There being no further business, Mayor Dhaliwal adjourned
the meeting at 8: 46 p. m., in memory of the victims from the terror attacks of
September li, 2001.

f>       ' r  '  J° 

r,  ')

eresa Vargas, MM   

Government Services Director

City Clerk

September li, 2023 Lathrop City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 10

21



ITEM 4. 3

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE
23- 449 OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
LATHROP AMENDING THE LATHROP ZONING MAP,
MODIFYING TITLE 10 ( VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC) OF
THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE,  AND ADOPTING
VARIOUS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 17 ( ZONING)  OF

THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE FOR CONSISTENCY
WITH THE 2022 LATHROP GENERAL PLAN UPDATE
TA- 23- 93)

RECOMMENDATION:     Waive Full Reading and Adopt Ordinance 23- 449
Amending the Lathrop Zoning Map,  Modifying Title
10  ( Vehicles and Traffic)  of the Lathrop Municipal
Code, and Adopting Various Amendments to Title 17
Zoning)    of the Lathrop Municipal Code for

Consistency with the 2022 Lathrop General Plan
Update ( TA- 23- 93)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

The City Council to conduct a second reading and adopt Ordinance 23- 449 entitled:

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING THE
LATHROP ZONING MAP,  MODIFYING TITLE 10  ( VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC)  OF THE

LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE, AND ADOPTING VARIOUS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 17
ZONING) OF THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE FOR CONSISTENCY WITH THE 2022

LATHROP GENERAL PLAN UPDATE ( TA- 23- 93)

SUMMARY:

On October 9, 2023, the City Council approved the introduction and first reading of
the subject Ordinance by the following vote:

AYES:   Akinjo, Diallo, and Dhaliwal

NOES:  Lazard and Torres- O' Callaghan

ABSTAIN:     None

ABSENT:       None

The Ordinance will take effect 30 days after adoption.

SUBMITTED BY:

II       3
resa Vargas, City le k Date

22



ORDINANCE NO. 23- 449

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING
THE LATHROP ZONING MAP,   MODIFYING TITLE 10   ( VEHICLES AND
TRAFFIC)  OF THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE, AND ADOPTING VARIOUS
AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 17 ( ZONING) OF THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE
FOR CONSISTENCY WITH THE 2022 LATHROP GENERAL PLAN UPDATE ( TA-
23- 93)

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed public
hearing at a Special Meeting on September 13,  2023,  at which they adopted PC
Resolution No.  23- 11 recommending the City Council adopt Municipal Code Text
Amendment No. TA- 23- 93 pursuant to the Lathrop Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop City Council held a duly noticed public hearing
at a regular meeting on October 9, 2023 to review and consider amending the Lathrop
Zoning Map, amending the Mossdale Landing and Mossdale Landing South Urban
Design Concepts ( UDC' s),  modifying Title 10 ( Vehicles and TrafFic) of the Lathrop
Municipal Code, and adopting various sections to Title 17 ( Zoning) of the Lathrop
Municipal Code for consistency with the 2022 Lathrop General Plan Update that was
adopted by the City Council on September 19, 2022 and Government Code Section
65860; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop adopted a current Comprehensive General Plan
on September 19, 2022, which includes specific policies and implementation actions
to ensure there is consistency between the General Plan, the General Plan Land Use
Map, the Zoning Map and implementing plans, ordinances, and regulations; and

WHEREAS, the California planning and zoning law establishes that zoning
maps, zoning ordinances, any applicable specific plans, and master plans with related
planning documents ( i. e. Urban Design Concepts) are required to be consistent with

the general plan pursuant to Government Code Section 65860; and

WHEREAS,  the proposed amendments to the Lathrop Zoning Map,  the

Mossdale Landing and Mossdale Landing South Urban Design Concepts ( UDC' s), to

Title 10 ( Vehicles and Traffic) of the Lathrop Municipal Code, and to Title 17 ( Zoning)
of the Lathrop Municipal Code are Citywide and affect all applicable properties in the
City; and

WHEREAS,  Chapter 17. 124 of the Lathrop Municipal Code mandates the
transmittal of a recommendation to the City Council by resolution; and

WHEREAS,  prior to approval of the Project,  the City Council adopted a
Resolution to find the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant to
Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and the California Environmental Quality Act
CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and

Ordinance No. 23- 449

23



WHEREAS,  the City Council finds that the purpose of the proposed
amendments is to ensure the City updates the Lathrop Zoning Map, the Mossdale
Landing and Mossdale Landing South UDC' s, Title 10 ( Vehicles and TrafFic) of the

Lathrop Municipal Code, and Title 17 ( Zoning) of the Lathrop Municipal Code to be
consistent with the goals,  policies,  and implementation actions of the City' s 2022
update of the General Plan; and

WHEREAS, proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects as
required by law; and

WHEREAS,  the City Council has reviewed all written evidence and oral
testimony presented to date.

NOW,  THEREFORE,  BE RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop based on substantial evidence in the administrative record of proceedings
and pursuant to its own independent review and consideration, hereby approve the
Lathrop Zoning Map as shown on Attachment' 37" of the October 9, 2023 City Council
Staff Report and the Municipal Code Amendments as shown on Attachments 4"

through  " 34" of the October 9,  2023 City Council Staff Report,  incorporated by
reference herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP DOES
HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1.  The Lathrop Zoning Map is hereby amended as shown in Attachment 37"
incorporated by reference herein.

Section 2.  The Lathrop Municipal Code is hereby amended as shown in Attachments
4" through " 34" incorporated by reference herein.

Section 3.    General Plan Consistencv.   The City Council finds that the proposed
amendments will implement updated zoning districts with minor modifications, and
the amendments are consistent with the following applicable policies and

implementation actions of the General Plan:

Policy LU- 1. 7:  Ensure consistency between the Land Use Map and implementing
plans, ordinances, and regulations.

Policv LU- 1. 8: Recognize that the General Plan and Land Use Map may be amended
in accordance with State law in order to ensure that there is an adequate supply of
commercial, industrial, public facility, parks, residential, and other desired land uses
to serve the City' s needs.

Implementation Action LU- i.a:  Update the City' s Zoning Code and Map as
appropriate to ensure consistency with this land use element and designations shown

on Figure LU- 1. As part of the update, create a new Public/ Quasi- Public zoning district
applicable to the City proper.

Ordinance No. 23- 449

24



Implementation Action LU- i.b:  Review the Zoning Ordinance and update as
appropriate to reflect Land Use goals, policies, and implementation actions included
in this Plan.

Implementation Action LU- 1. c:  Review the City' s adopted Specific Plans for
consistency with the General Plan, and update as appropriate to ensure consistency
with this land use element and designations shown on Figure LU- 1.

Implementation Action LU- 1. f: Utilize the following Zoning Districts ( included on
Table LU- 1) to implement the General Plan' s land use objective.

Implementation Action LU- 2. a:   Periodically review and update development
standards, guidelines, and land uses included within Specific Plan Areas to afFirm the
unique character and development vision for each area.

Implementation Action LU- 5. e:  Update the Lathrop Municipal Code to include
Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities.  The new Good
Neighbor Guidelines should include:

a. A definition of the type and size of facility that is subject to the Guidelines;
b. Standards to minimize exposure to diesel emissions to sensitive receptors that are
situated in close proximity to the proposed facility;
c. Standards and practices that eliminate diesel trucks from unnecessarily traversing
through residential neighborhoods;

d.  Standards and practices that eliminate trucks from using residential areas and
repairing vehicles on the streets;

e. Strategies to reduce and/ or eliminate diesel idling within the facility' s site.

Section 4.   Based on the findings set forth in this Ordinance, the CEQA Resolution,

and evidence in the Staff Report, the City Council hereby approves the Municipal
Code Text Amendment No. TA- 22- 93 as shown on Attachment 37" of the October 9,
2023 City Council StafF Report and the Municipal Code Amendments as shown on
Attachments 4" through " 34" of the October 9,  2023 City Council Staff Report,
incorporated by reference herein.  These documents shall be substantially in the form
on file with the City Clerk.

Section 5.  Upon adoption by the City Council, the Community Development Director
is hereby directed to publish the Lathrop Zoning Map on permanent public display in
the Community Development Department, Planning Division in the City of Lathrop.

Section 6.   This Ordinance is not intended to and shall not be construed or given
effect in a manner that imposes upon the city or any ofFicer or employee thereof a
mandatory duty of care toward persons and property within or without the city so as
to provide a basis of civil liability for damages, except as otherwise imposed by law.

Section 7.     Severabilitv.     If any section,  subsequent subdivision,   paragraph,
sentence,  clause or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be

unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such a decision shall not affect the validity of
the remaining portions of this Ordinance.

Ordinance No. 23- 449

25



The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed each section, subsection,
subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance irrespective of
the unconstitutionality or invalidity of any section,   subsection,   subdivision,

paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase.

Section 8.   EfFective Date.  This Ordinance shall take legal effect 30 days from and
after the date of its passage.

Section 9.  Publication.  Within fifteen days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the City
Clerk shall cause a copy of this Ordinance to be published in full accordance with
Section 36933 of the Government Code.

THIS ORDINANCE was introduced at a regular meeting of the City Council of
the City of Lathrop on the 9th day of October 2023, and was PASSED AND ADOPTED
at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Lathrop on
by the following vote, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Ordinance No. 23- 449

26



General Provisions— Chapter 17. 04 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r'* r,,,,

Chapter 17.04 General Provisions

17. 04. 080 Definitions.

For the purpose of this title, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly
indicates or requires a different meaning. Words used in the present tense include the future tense.
Words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in the plural include the singular.
The masculine shall include the feminine and neuter.

l

Boarding or rooming house" means a building where lodging and meals are provided for
compensation for five, but not more than fifteen ( 15) persons, not including rest homes or short
term rentals that are rented for less than thirt ) days.

l

Floor Area Ratio referred to as FAR is used to express the building intensity for non- residential
uses, such as commercial, industrial, community facilities and the non- residential component of
mixed use proiects.  FAR refers to the ratio of the total floor area of a buildin or buildin sgon a
site, excludin parkin structures and outdoor stora e areas to the lot area of the site

a       ,.
a

FAR Z. 41 r

A ;.     :",   

A

r 

r^ as 1, V'    _   ''°

V,..--      

1 Q      i

T      

R ,     AR 0.5
f E  

A`'__

fAR:. S_ .

l

27



Zoning Districts Designated— Chapter 17. 08 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 5

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by r*r;' o*, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 08 Zoning Districts Designated

l

17. 08. 010 Districts.

A.      General. The base districts establish the basic land use and property development
regulations applicable to all property within the city as provided under Section 17. 04.060. The
combining districts provide additional regulations which are to be exercised over certain lands in
order to meet special community health, safety, welfare, environmental or development objectives
described by the general plan. Combining district regulations apply in addition to the base zone
and other regulations of this code. The base and combining districts established by the zoning code
are designated in subsections B and C below.

B.    Base Districts. The R and RM districts are also subject to the density limitations,
policies and standards of the land use section of the community development element of the city
general plan. The base districts are as follows:

1.    RCO: resource onservation and open space district.

2.    UR: urban reserve district.

34.    R: one- family residential districts:

a.    R- 1- 6: six thousand ( 6, 000) square feet minimum site area.

v i v. e ,. i,.:.. o , aa.,,. t oa    ,. io ,,..: i.,
v

4.    RM: Multifamily residential districts.

a.    RM- 3: three thousand ( 3, 000) square feet minimum site area per dwelling unit.

bs.    RM-2: two thousand( 2,000) square feet minimum site area per dwelling unit.

i „:,. o a; s

5.    C: commercial districts.

28



Zoning Districts Designated— Chapter 17. 08 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 5

a.    CN: neighborhood commercial district.

b.    CC: central commercial district.

c.    CS: service commercial district.

d.    CH: highway commercial district.

rn. i ,.    i

u. .
i c   - irn=r E6rinircrEl-c'!

6.    I: industrial districts.

a.    IL: limited industrial district.

b.    IG: general industrial district.

re- it*,.:„ m,.' s T

C.    Combining Districts.

1.    PUD: Planned unit development district.

2 ravr T. .,   oa ,  o a;,-;,.* in,.;,,«,.,,ao  i nt

29



General Requirements and Exceptions— Chapter 17. 16 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 6

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;', o*, r„ n,

Chapter 17. 16 General Requirements and Exceptions

l

17. 16. 020 Addition and determination of permitted uses.

C.    When a use is not specifically listed in this title it is not permitted; however, * '
a +'+

the use may be permitted if the community development director determines that
the use is substantially similar to the other uses listed. It is further recognized that every use cannot
be identified in this title and, anticipating that new uses will evolve over time, this section
establishes the community development director' s authority to compare a proposed use and
measure it against those uses listed in this title for determining similarity. In determining similarity,
the community development director shall make all of the following findings:

1.    The characteristics of, and activities associated with, the proposed use are equivalent to
one or more of the listed uses, and will not involve a higher level of activity or population density
than the uses listed in the zoning district;

2.    The proposed use will be consistent with the purposes of the applicable zoning district;
and

3.    The proposed use will be consistent with the general plan.

Determinations shall be made in writing and shall contain the facts that support the
determination. The community development director shall maintain all such determinations on
record.  The community development director' s decision may be appealed as provided in
Chapter 17. 125, Appeals. ( Ord. 19- 405 § 1; Ord. 92- 73)

17. 16. 110 Garage Sales with Residential Areas.

The sale of personal possessions, whether within or outside of a dwelling within an R;

or RM e zoning district, shall be limited to no more than two such sales per year. Commonly
referred to as " garage sales," such sales shall be conducted for periods no longer than three days,
and unsold possessions shall be removed from public view and stored within the premises.
Materials to be sold shall be personal possessions. No materials shall be offered for sale which
have been acquired solely for the purposes of the " garage sale." Possessions offered for sale shall

be neatly displayed. The driveway, yard or other space used for purposes of the sale shall be
restored to its normal residential character at the conclusion of the sale. ( Ord. 92- 73)

30



RCO Reserve Conservation and Open Space District- Chapter 17. 20 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 7

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *-'*' r^^

Chapter 17. 20 RCO RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT

l

31



P Park District— Chapter 17. 22 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 8

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;' o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 22 P Park District

17. 22.010 Purposes and application.

The Park ( P) District is intended to provide for neighborhood, community and regional
parks,   re enways, and other outdoor recreation facilities to allow for a wide array of local and
community recreational activities and entertainment opportunities within urban development•

Specific uses intended for this zonin district include: public recreation sites including ball fields
tot lots and play apparatus, adult softball and soccer pla fields, swimmin pools, community
center buildin s, meetin facilities, libraries, art centers, after school care facilities, art in public
places, facilities for ni ht- time recreation, trails benches, interpretive markers, picnic areas,
barbeque facilities, landscapin ri ation, city wells, trees and natural habitat areas.  Parks also

may be desi ned to accommodate multi- level storm draina e detention basins that will allow

recreation use of areas not needed for detention durin a given storm.

17.22.020 Reviewing Authoritv.

All proposed structures, events, and uses shall be subject to the review and approval b
the Citv of Lathrop Parks and Recreation Commission.

32



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 9

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by 1

Chapter 17. 23 P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public District

17. 23. 010 Purposes and application.

The P/ QP zoning district provides uses and re ulations related to schools, reli ious
institutions, public safety facilities, places of assembly use, hospitals, parks, and other public and
semi- public buildin s and uses.

1' 7. 23. 020 Permitted uses.

A.   Public, quasi- public, and institutional uses include, but are not limited to:

l.    Citv Hall

2.    Civic center

3.    Community Center

4.    Cultural Centers

5.    Draina e, water qualitv, reclaimed water, and other similar facilities, including swales,

basins, and ponds

6.    Fire stations

7.    Hospitals

8.    Levee and other related facilit eequipment

9.    Library

10.  Museum/ exhibit space

11.  Parks

12.  Parkin lots/ structures

13.  Plazas and other related gatherin a

14.  Police stations

15.  Post offices

16.  Public elementary schools

17.  Public K-8 schools

18.  Public high schools

33



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 9

19.  Private or public infrastructure

20.  Recreational park— Active

21.  Recreational park— Passive

22.  Religious facilitv

23.  Theater/ exhibition hall

24.  Trails and maintenance roads

25.  Resource mana ement lands

26.  Senior center

27.  Youth center

28.  Other similar uses as determined per Section 17. 16. 020 C.

B.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

C.    Other uses added to this list bv the Plannin Commission accordin to the procedure in
Section 17. 16. 020 A.

17. 23. 030 Conditional uses; Planning Commission approval required.

A.   The followin uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 112:

1.    Private schools

2.    Day care centers

17. 23. 040 Propertv development standards.

Specific development standards for the Public/ Quasi- Public ( P/ QP) zone district shall

incotporate the followin desi yn principles and standards:

A.   By utilizin a creative approach to landscapin and screening parking areas shall not
become the predominant feature of the streetscape, especially as it relates to adjacent open spaces
and arterial streets.

B.    Landsca ing and irri ation standards shall follow those required by
Section 17. 92. 030 A.

C.    Buildin setbacks shall be varied in accordance with correspondin buildin h e i

uses and proposed fronta e and street activitv.  For example, taller structures ma equire lar er

front yard setback as determined durin architectural desi n review per Chapter 17. 104.

34



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 9

D.  Minimum parking requirements, such as tYpe and number ofparkin stalls, shall enerally
follow Section 17. 76.

E.    All proposed si, na e shall be in accordance with Section 17. 84. 100.

F.  Building Setbacks:

1.  Streets: 10 feet

2.  Front, Rear, and Side Yards:  0 feet

G.  Buildin Hei

1.  Maximum Buildin Height: 45 feet

2.  Special features ( i. e. towers, steeples, cupolas, flagpoles) are subject to Section

17. 16. 100

H.  Lot Size and Covera e:

1.  Minimum Parcel Area: None

2.  Minimum Width: None

3.  Minimum Depth: None

4.  Maximum Covera e: 70%

17. 23. 050 Site qlan and architectural review required.

No use or structure shall be erected on any lot or site in any P/ QP zone district until a site

plan and architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved bv the Cit pursuant to the
provisions of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104, other than those exempted bv State and/ or Federal

statute. Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with related site plans,
landscapin ,g and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 23. 060 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

Any use or structure proposed for placement on city owned propert pursuant to a lease.
license, a reement with the cit ,y or cit project, shall be exempt from this chapter, but shall comply
with such processin and desi n standards as are set forth in such lease, license, or other

a reement.

35



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 9

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;'+' r^.,'

Chapter 17.23 P/QP Public/Quasi Public District

17. 23.010 Purposes and application.

The P/ QP zoning district provides uses and re ulations related to schools, reli ious
institutions, public safety facilities, places of assembly use, hospitals, parks, and other public and
semi- public buildin s and uses.

17. 23. 020 Permitted uses.

A.   Public, c uasi-public, and institutional uses include, but are not limited to:

1.    C it,

2.    Civic center

3.    Community Center

4.    Cultural Centers

5.    Draina e, water quality, reclaimed water, and other similar facilities, includin swales,

basins, and ponds

6.    Fire stations

7.    Hospitals

8.    Levee and other related facilit quipment

9.    Library

10.  Museum/ exhibit space

11.  Parks

12.  Parkin lots/ structures

13.  Plazas and other related at  agreas

14.  Police stations

15.  Post offices

16.  Public elementary schools

17.  Public K-8 schools

18.  Public high schools

36



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 9

19.  Private or public infrastructure

20.  Recreational park— Active

21.  Recreational park— Passive

22.  Reli ious facilitX

23.  Theater/ exhibition hall

24.  Trails and maintenance roads

25.  Resource mana ement lands

26.  Senior center

27.  Youth center

28.  Other similar uses as determined per Section 17. 16. 020 C.

B.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

C.    Other uses added to this list by the Plannin Commission accordin to the procedure in
Section 17. 16. 020 A.

1' 7. 23. 030 Conditional uses; Planning Commission approval required.

A.   The following uses mav be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 112:

l.    Private schools

2.    Dav care centers

1' 7. 23.040 Propertv development standards.

Specific development standards for the Public/ Quasi- Public ( P/ QP) zone district shall
incorporate the followin desigLprinciples and standards:

A.   By utilizin a creative approach to landsca in and screenin,' parkin areas shall not

become the predominant feature of the streetscape, especially as it relates to adjacent open spaces
and arterial streets.

B.    Landscapin   and irrigation standards shall follow those required by
Section 17. 92. 030 A.

C.    Building setbacks shall be varied in accordance with correspondin buildin
uses and proposed fronta e and street activity.  For example, taller structures mav require lar er
front yard setback as determined during architectural design review per Chapter 17. 104.

37



P/ QP Public/ Quasi Public— Chapter 17. 23 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 9

D.  Minimum parking requirements, such as type and number of parkin stalls, shall enerally
follow Section 17. 76.

E.    All proposed sign e shall be in accordance with Section 17. 84. 100.

F.  Buildin Setbacks:

1.  Streets: 10 feet

2.  Front, Rear, and Side Yards:  0 feet

G.  Building Height:

1.  Maximum Buildin Hei ht: 45 feet

2.  Special features ( i. e. towers, steeples, cupolas, flagpoles) are subject to Section

17. 16. 100

H.  Lot Size and Covera e:

1.  Minimum Parcel Area: None

2.  Minimum Width: None

3.  Minimum Depth: None

4.  Maximum Covera e: 70%

17.23.050 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use or structure shall be erected on any lot or site in any P/ QP zone district until a site
plan and architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved bv the Cit pursuant to the
provisions of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104, other than those exempted by State and/ or Federal
statute. Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with related site plans,
landscapin , and ublic improvements associated with new development.

17. 23. 060 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the general provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

Anv use or structure proposed for placement on city owned propert pursuant to a lease,
license, agreement with the cit , v project, shall be exempt from this chapter, but shall comply
with such processin and desi n standards as are set forth in such lease, license, or other

a reement.

38



RA Residential Acreage District— Chapter 17. 28 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 10

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by r'*' r^'

rsurnl n} S 6€ 3— 6 z 6 cRpr C'-- L' 9iif vrir6v eT O2i7- LCPlT1TCiGTQfC[

imnr c o..... e,, r ,. e o      .„,,. „,,,, r+ L. o 4. 0., 1 1,    f' +     , l 1 1'    , F+ L. o,.   .. 1„ / D '      , J
j ...,1..:.......,

i..,,.... i. c... iv y uri

1 17

1' 7 ^ f Q 117I1 D,.... v.:+,., 1 .

TL. o F 11,...,:..,.,      ., L.., 11 L. o ,.  ,...; t„ 7 :.. D A , 1:+..:,. r.

i 6 e- EF e rA e- itr-E' e€ e€ 6 e- e6 c io t}- ke- c rve e€ c" 7-- m rrcrr- i '-c sr;--r.vc
o. l *.,. ol.. o ! 17\

L.:,,., r:..,.    .. l„;., e „ 4' L, o;« :     .,+„«„ ,. F.....:.,..  D..+ L. oll.. ..     1.. L., ,. 11,....,.,. 1 ,.
J...... .., ..,. J. ,.. z

L'     L' o,.,. 0, 7 ,.     ,. l„ o, l  l., .. o: rL.,,« :.., 7:..;, 7,,.. 1 F....' 1.   
b t:'.

i. o

t:

w, rl I. l. l..,« 7 L... I. L... L...,,.

39



RA Residential Acreage District- Chapter 17. 28 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 10

r:+io  ,.'+ t, o r „+ t,.,,. t, r,,,,:,.: r., „ ao•

u c.,., ,. ; av+;,, ,.  o t,,,.,., e.

T n*, o..,      ,.,;,., .,   aaoa „ ,; i;.    ,,..,;.,,„. t, o .,    o,,,,. o ;,, co,.;,,,,  i mn

4. Te ed- ses    ,,,;.,;,..,+;..
o oa.

n     ,. i„ oa* o....,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,+,.,,,.*;,, ,.,,, o,.;., i *,,,.., Ro. ,. a ,.     :_.     ,.;,,.,.,;.,, o

e eEt-r-c t-r'    ';
o, 

Ese c- r r} e- arz-:—

a: i: a eio .,* o      +„ i.v

r-     t a w; ie.,..... a ,.      a.,,,,, ao:., aa ;       „ ra,,,._„; rb l_., a,. a „'

r    u,,,,..o ,,,.,.,,,.,,,+;,,,, ;,,_,.,,,,-, 1,,,. os,; l f' t htor_]2_ A.

v,.:,.,.,.,,ao  i c n

Q n n r
r- v v c9 3 t 19fiR

40



RA Residential Acreage District— Chapter 17. 28 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 10

i:,,,,,...„ a,;,.,.., o o o,. r  ,-„,;,,,, ao.. ce,.,:,,,, i  nnn.

r    n..;.,.,* o „   „. i:,. ,.,,,.,,,,,. o•

T i,, lo r o Jol:... „ 4' .,      ;;, R w.      .. f,.,-.-,;., ,  o f n ,.,,.,,,. v 

0

Te e e i g-e t e s e- se t e l- se- a- a e e-rt,. «:,.: ao*.,„

se;

u n.. o,.,      .,,:,., „ o ., aa a *„ ,; i; a•    +„ ti oµ„    „ ca,. y   i  mn
vcncc aaccrcv crrr— n rcavcviaiiiScv cxxc- iivv   ..... ...  .... ...,

n,.;,,..,. ao  c nn

Q ncn v..,,,.,..., a,,.,,,,..,, on*_rf.,...,..,:_

n    o,. o    ,. t., ,. a tiea, o ,,, it ,. .,...,, „+, o.,     n r n, m

F,,,. i, i,.+ „  : o i,.,ii o ,.+. o ....   o „

3@ c'16 f i-I-28-' b S t; rl-1,•,•,,   „
t , lo      « 1,,,,, ,,.. +« oo

i rrt, o ,.,,     a ti ,. a,,,. ti : a ti., ii . o „ o ti,,,, a,. oa ii nm o*

rr, o,,, ao ti „ e,,,., : o t,., i i. o „ o.,,., a,. oa :+., i cm e+

o       + .,       ,: aoa , „ aa,. r,,,r o,. i Qne e

41



RA Residential Acreage District— Chapter 17. 28 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 10

6,   '
r. a „ o ea t„ +,.,,,.*„« o ti., i t a * 1,:.-. r_;., o     a., t

n v,,..a u o,,..;,-...,,+..

T .,.+ ,. F.,.. r . .,,-. l iui v .,: t l. r 6..,.,. L.:.. t., ;..,, / C\ e*   ..., ..+

t,.

L1 n\ o+ F« o.. l, .,. 7r1;+;,,, 1 t,,....

ri-cc.r v acir$ ir'a•.+'.:..   .,+
1,;* 1':.. * 1,.

v
4',.;+ L. I:

vo       ,.
F;......: 1  1.,., 1':..

1:.;;; b ... 
f'  + :  L. ' L. L.  I     .  ,' L.'   f'      4' 1 « 7

c cn- rccc- n=rrrcr5`-rtr-irca?=z c--ivcucccr v̀' viixriirc' orcivi. vi- c'riccrciiiv      " j„'

A l. ' lrl'      4'.,.. L, a I. 00..;.... , F .,     ., 1     .. l„ rl;,, 1,.,,, ol, lrl o   ,, rl l,
6,       1.... ....     .

J

eep-i- tg--e€- bees, ,,, e-- b C t t--€ Fe-(} eo,     .:,,
oa ,,, ;+., cn o ,,, t . o

aa ,,.,, „    „, o..*,,..,.*.,.. o

c-l r# s k ae ., d—s#; e— st ee e- ko , g

s

m o.. e ,. t, ., aa;*;,,., i ._

n,, o a    .. ao   +,. ,.„      „+ t, o  +,,,   ti„      , o_Uo i    .. ao

e+ : t e;,. t,+      , . o ,,,..,+ oa ;  t;,,,, „ f„ ,.     ,.oa ; aa_.,"" a
0 0

n„ +,o +,. 00 : ao . .,,. a ,.., ,.      .. i,,. , e ; ao . ,,,. a i.., ii ,,,,* t, a ta::::. i m 
6.     

a n o ia:,,      * tio i, 00;.,,       •    i         , a'     t,    ak t., a   ., µ_::..,a-- Tzvvc; rv` rvi—rrrc— cccp' rrr o czci'c'ranrg- rrvu   .,    1... ., ....

orl 4«..., „    .,* L. o,.+«,,..,,.. o

C'      AT   '  l      . a   , w' '     *    r             4,     ta. L. µll L. o   ,,.. i+ro, d:.,.   *r j Sf612 CC[ C[ DI V GI[ Ij III j[ IROCRLO fL GITLLT RGT a aa vv v    « vv vr

42



RA Residential Acreage District— Chapter 17. 28 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 10

i n c+     v i • a n c c    + r a•     n c  *  o    ,. i       ,,, „ f r,. o* „ a_
v- c- i crcc Tcmcm- aircrvav rrvcrovuaiir`

j. 
vrr cr..  t.:.....':b ...-.... .,.. .,..,...... ,.,......,: b

l:: o  1.., 11 L. o       '.] o. a L. .) '  (` L...... ro« 1' 7 ' 7  / D.-:..,-..... d, R 1' 7C ! 1C\
2iLG7TIC'IriT'.Jl"PC[ 1T GTJiP4TCTG'R- CTTpi'GjGTTOGCT- 11TCT1ZTrJTGTi- 1: 1 v':-` 1- cro' r i. v

Q n n ,..,,,..., .,       

43



R One- Family Residential District— Chapter 17. 32 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 11

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by 1

Chapter 17. 32 R One- Family Residential District

17.32.010 Purposes and application.

A.   The R districts are intended primarily to provide living areas at locations designated by
the general plan for low density, involving single- family dwellings, with regulations designed to
accomplish the following:

1.    To promote and encourage a suitable environment for family life;

2.    To provide space for community facilities needed to complement urban residential areas,
and for institutions which require a residential environment, in accordance with policies of the
general plan and state law.

B.    The R- 1- 6 district is intended for exclusive application to those areas where a mixture

of dwelling types under planned unit development is prohibited, and where only single- family
detached housing is permitted.

C.    The R- 1- 5 district is intended to provide small lot single- family housing only under
PUD procedures of the zoning code as an affordable housing alternative to apartment living. (Prior
code § 176. 01)

17. 32.050 Property development standards.

A.      Fences, walls and hedges shall conform to the provisions of Chapter 17. 92.

B.       Site Area. The minimum site area for the R- 1- 6 ^ a p-- o district shall be six

thousand ( 6, 000) square feet. The minimum site area for the R- 1- 5 district shall be five thousand

5, 000) square feet.

C.    Frontage, Width and Depth of Site.

1.    Each site in a R- 1- 6 ^ district shall have not less than sixty( 60) feet of frontage
on a public street, except that those sites which front on a cul- de- sac or loop- out street may have a
frontage of not less than forty( 40) feet, provided the width of the site, as measured along the front
yard setback line, is at least sixty ( 60) feet; each site in an R- 1- 5 district shall have not less than
fifty( 50) feet of frontage on a public street, except as otherwise permitted under PUD regulations
of this chapter.

44



R One- Family Residential District— Chapter 17. 32 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 11

2.    The minimum width of each site in a R- 1- 6 ^ r

district shall be sixty( 60) feet for
an interior lot and sixty-five (65) feet for a corner lot. The minimum width of each site in an R-1-
5 district shall be fifty ( 50) feet for an interior lot and sixty ( 60) feet for a corner lot, except as
otherwise permitted under PUD regulations of this chapter.

3.    The minimum depth of each site shall be ninety ( 90) feet for an interior lot and eighty
80) feet for a corner lot.

l

45



RM Multi- Family Residential District— Chapter 17. 36 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 12

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by r*r;vo*, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 36 RM Multi- Family Residential District

17. 36. 010 Purposes and application.

The RM multifamily residential districts are intended primarily for the development of
multifamily residential structures at densities consistent with policies of the general plan, as
follows:

A.
1;..., L. la    4;.. , 1„ «,,,,, I.; lot,,.,-,., o v..,.. 1 rlo.. el,,....., e.,*

A.    The RM- 3 district is intended exclusively for application to areas designated by the
general plan for medium density.

B.    The RM-2 district is intended primarily for application to areas designated by the
general plan for high density. ( Ord. 22- 431 § l; Ord. 92- 73)

17.36. 050 Property development standards.

A.   Fences, walls and hedges shall conform to the provisions of Chapter 17. 92.

B.    Site Area. The minimum site area in the RM- 3 and RM- 2 districts shall be six thousand
6, 000) square feet. #  e-- a e-- Pe4- 1L4--- d  ' * "" '         

e•

C.    Site Area Per Dwelling Unit. The minimum site area shall be as follows:

District Area er Unit

8

RM- 3 3, 000 s  . ft.

RM- 2 2, 000 s  . ft.

D.   Density. The allowable density for the RM multifamily residential districts shall be as
identified below, per the city' s general plan:

1 DT T I TL74. „      4',,, e .,,.. 1 .,       Fo;,. L. t , ,,.:+ ..

l.    RM- 3: a minimum of eight and a maximum of fifteen ( 15) units per acre.

46



RM Multi- Family Residential District— Chapter 17. 36 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 12

2.    RM- 2: a minimum of sixteen ( 16) and a maximum of twenty- five ( 25) units per acre.

E.    Frontage, Width and Depth of Site.

1.    Each site, other than for a mobilehome in a mobilehome park, shall not have less than
fifty (50) feet of frontage on a public street, except that those sites which front on a cul-de- sac or
loop- out street may have a frontage of not less than forty ( 40) feet, provided the width of the site,
as measured along the front yard setback line, is at least sixty( 60) feet.

2.    The minimum width of each site, other than for a mobilehome park, shall be fifty ( 50)
feet.

3.    The minimum depth of each site, other than for a mobilehome in a mobilehome park,
shall be eighty( 80) feet.

F.    Coverage. The maximum site area covered by structures shall be as follows:

District Covera e

n r, r r, rusza

RM- 3 50%

RM- 2 60%

17. 36.060 Site plan and architectural design review.

Except for mobilehomes, single- family dwellings and accessory structures and uses related
thereto, no use may be established on any lot or site in an RM district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the city pursuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104.

Ord. 92-

73)

l

47



PO Professional Office District— Chapter 17. 40 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 13

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by 1

rr'"•   ''•     +  •   •      
r+:.,  ..

i   ., a
n-i-- ccist fcT-'r-- i,=r ei    te cic-- rvr—   t e rivircci-- c rca

n n n v,,.....;+„a .

r n,,.,,  o i;+ aa „ oa ,      ,:.;,, t, a n ,,,. n a a;,.;,..

n t, o,.„ o ..,,;,. t, „   „ aaoa.,,.; i;„   ,,,. a;,,,,*„+ t o    oa,,.. o ;., co,.+:,, i  mn.

i. ..:,.,,,.,. ao  i Q n

4.   a.,,. a:,,,. .,,, a .. o.

i...; a;,,,.   „,;,.      a o o.,.,+ ea o.,., i..

48



PO Professional Office District— Chapter 17. 40 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 13

u,..,..o ,.    .,+;,,., :       ,,,. a.,,. o .,,; t, rt,.,,. o,. i .

T,.; ao„ i „ a .,    o ,,,, a , ao;,, ea : co,.;,, r  nn nszn i,,,.,,. oa „o

o       ;+ o .,      oa .., ,,,,,;,,:.,.*;., o „ i „     ,,,;,,,,,, ,0 0

n e   „ a ..,:,., .,;* ;       ,.,. a.,,,,. o ,:+. * t, o      ti.,+ o,. i Qn.

in,.;,,..,.,, ao  i Q n2

i7.' n.--.
v- nvtv-cviiait-fe.,.--"^,   !`,..,,,,.: o;,.,, . a

A A 0,, 1. 1.,,  o

co,.*:,. i  nnni z.

iv̂rc'c'rc"iic

l i., rla o l. rlel;, rt , f       ;;.,. ,      .,f,.,.;,, ,     .,4'  ..,,.. r,,.. e „

0

n    o,,,. o    ., I1 ., a I, o l,. o L.., 11 ,. .,,..,,.. +„ + t, o      4' ri,.,* o.. 1 c1

n.    +'-, i,-ir:-: t 3-rt2-;' 2 i6L S 3      
nm „

a" i i

49



PO Professional Office District— Chapter 17. 40 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 13

e x; a. ,,., a r o+ t, „ c; o

iv.,+ :., icm o+

rr, o .,,, ae. t, „ o.,,. t, ;. o t,., ii t, e „ e t,,,., a., ea ii nm e

0

FrL, e+„., 1 .,     „ I' rL. o ;+ o

G V.,«rl «    

1     ,..,,, . .,,-. l TL. o .. Y, f.,.,  r.] 1, 11 L, o # oo„ ( 1 Gl o• ,-.   ,;. ao.a 1,.,.., o.. a.. + L. o
Tn

0

a * l, o     o L. et.., ov„      .,. w L, 11 .,., 1, o a .. l. orl

7 Do.,« . .,«. d Tl, a „-.   a l, ll L. o f;.,v o+. ,.   ,:. 70. 1 L..,.,, o., o«  1,., .., l. o« o

7 e    ..*;.,

F;., o F o+ F«o .. L. .,. a. 7;;.,,,., 1 t.,,..,

rin

50



PO Professional Office District— Chapter 17. 40 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 13

ti   ,    .  • a a f t,.,. ii t o   ,.• ,.+,,. i.o
vzsru6cS- vivccrPvresvfircrxc rccvroriac aia or'a-'   1:."

c„+:,.   nnni v

E2S-' dbz22-- lEcciic-- Ti-.'-,. 1:+.,,.,. o L..., 00„  

µ m*+
o. a  .,.

1.:.    ...,.

wrmrcroricri- cr   'c-urni-uni in z-vanaiir oirii ....... ,,;*:. L. µl l l.: f:., ! 1 11LF oti

R  ' 1' a'    
r ircr ir i--.i .............., l, o

bl, ., t,....'.*+:,`
a .,. .,.,::`;+'..,.,» 1_ L, µll L. .- r,,

nn

u c:,. . r„  a,,,,.. a., o,. t; r     .,+,.,,,..,..o„.,.,,......,,,.....,, tt i.e.. o,....,:+ oa o e„

w. w.,.,. .....,., r.,......,...,,.,.,Y

o,    r, r*a i Q

r n c+,.o,. o....i:,. ., a n' c.. 00 r ,,,, a; n n'*,- ,.. a,:,. „ a „+.. 00+ i,.., a:,.

r c' 6 irc fr-'.Tn4kl- 2- 856 2 2t' 
1' 7.—
r- Tv- Cri- i; '-

r- e 
nn .,., a i i nn,{• °

z4.    n ti „:,. o ;. o .,.,,., a,...: o ., a:,,,. o,,. *,. .,       ; ao.,+: .,      , a;,.;,. t, 1u t, o .     tt=,

E.' a•

51



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +
r'+'~-^'

Chapter 17. 44 C Commercial District

l

Chapter 17. 44. 030 CC Central Commercial District

A.   Application. The central commercial district  ;+~ a' + ' ^~~': a ._;+';^ ^ a _

C B serves as the primary commercial district of the community where a wide range of retail,
financial, governmental, professional, business service and entertainment activities and uses are
encouraged to concentrate to serve the entire community. Central commercial areas are intended
to be developed only as unified commercial centers, except where the existing development pattern
makes it impractical.

l

D.   Conditional Uses— Commission Approval Required. The following uses may be

permitted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17. 112:

1.    Bars, cocktail lounges and nightclubs;

2.    Assembly uses;

3.    City, county, state or federal administrative offices, libraries, police and fire stations;

4.    n ti• o oa a.,       ,;* t, to...,'+  .     ...,....,. * ti nrn t c

4.    Farmers markets, including indoor and outdoor facilities;

56.    Service commercial uses designated by an asterisk   (*),   as listed under

Section 17. 44. 040, which include incidental retail and/ or office use;

6.    Expansion or remodeling of an existing nonconforming use of a structure or land, up
to fifty percent( 50%) or less of the value of the structure, or reestablishment of a nonconforming
use which has been damaged, except nonconforming signs and outdoor advertising structures,
nonconforming uses occupying a structure with an assessed valuation of less than two hundred
dollars ($ 200. 00), and nonconforming fences, walls and hedges;

7.    Expansion, remodeling or additions to a conditional use that are not considered an
incidental or accessory use as defined in Section 17. 04. 080;

8 1.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses located on the same site as a conditional
use;

52



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

9 9.  Service stations, as defined by Section 17.04.080 of this code;

10.  Other uses which are added to this list according to the procedure in

Section 17. 16. 020. ( Ord. 16- 355 § 1; Ord. 99- 168; Ord. 98- 164; Ord. 92- 73)

Chapter 17. 44. 040 CS Commercial Service District

A.   Application. The service commercial district is intended primarily for establishments
engaged in servicing equipment,  materials and products,  but which do not require the

manufacturing, assembly, packaging or processing of articles or merchandise for distribution and
retail sale. Land requirements for most service commercial uses generally dictate their application

along arterial and collector streets of the city which generally lie close to central commercial,
highway commercial and industrial districts, in accordance with the general plan.

B.    Permitted Uses.

1.    Off-street parking lots improved in conformity with Chapter 17. 76 shall be permitted;

2.    Service commercial establishments, including the following. ( Note: Those uses marked
with an asterisk  (*)  are permitted as conditional uses in CC districts,  as indicated in

Section 17. 44. 030:

Permitted Uses for CS Districts

Addressograph services *

Automobile body and fender repair

Automobile repairing, overhauling, rebuilding and painting

Automobile sale and service ( new) *

Automobile and tractor parts and equipment *

Automobile upholstery and top shops

Automobile washing, either self-service or involving the use of inechanical conveyors,
blowers and steam cleaning *

Bakeries, retail and wholesale *

Bars, cocktail lounges and nightclubs

Bicycle shops

Blacksmith shops

53



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Blueprint and photocopy

Boat sales and service

Book binding

Bottling works

Building materials

Bus depots and transit stations, including storage and repair

Business, professional and trade schools and colleges

Carpenters' shops

Carpeting and flooring

Catering

Ceramic and pottery works

Cleaning, pressing and dyeing establishments ( using noninflammable and nonexplosive
cleaning fluid)*

Cold storage

Columbariums and crematoriums

Communications equipment

Contractors' storage yards

Convenience- oriented food stores limited to a maximum of five thousand( 5, 000) square feet
of floor area

Dairy products plants

Diaper supply

Drapery and interior decorating

Electrical repair shops *

Equipment rental

54



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Exterminators

Farm equipment sales and service

Feed and seed

Food lockers

Freight forwarding terminals

Furniture stores, new and used

Furniture warehouses and van services

Glass Installation *

Gunsmith *

Heating, ventilating and air- conditioning shops, including incidental sheet metal

Home improvement centers

Household and office equipment and machinery repair shops

Household repair shops *

Ice storage and sale

Kennels located not closer than five hundred( 500) feet to an R, RM, CN, or CC

e V

district

Laboratories *

Laundries *

Linen supply services *

Liquor

Locksmith

Lumber yards, not including planing mills or saw mills *

Machinery sales and rentals

55



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Mattress repair

Mini- storage *

Mortuaries *

Motorcycle sales and service *

Musical instrument repair and incidental sales *

Nurseries and garden supply stores *

Offices incidental to another permitted use

Packing and crating

Paint and wallpaper

Parcel delivery *

Photographic and blueprint processing and printing *

Picture framing

Plumbing and sheet metal *

Pool halls

Pressing of wearing apparel *

Printing, lithographing and engraving *

Public utility service yards

Radio and television broadcasting

Radio, television, VCR, video and related electronic equipment repair shops

Railroad freight and passenger stations *

Recycling center( a state certified recycling center or collection facility may be located within
an existing development commercial property if the area is within a" convenience zone" as defined
by the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery ( CalRecycle). The recycling

center or collection facility shall conform to the provisions of Chapter 17. 100 of this title)

Repair garages

56



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Restaurants, including drive- in restaurants

Rug and carpet cleaning and dyeing

Safe and vault repairing

Self-service laundry and dry cleaning

Sheet metal shops

Shoe repair shops

Sign painting shops *

Small animal hospitals or clinics and veterinarians' offices, including short- term boarding of
animals and incidental care such as bathing and trimming; provided, that all operations are
conducted entirely within a completely enclosed structure which complies with specifications of
soundproof construction as prescribed by the building official

Stone and monument yards or mills

Storage garages and buildings *

Storage yards for commercial vehicles

Taxidermists *

Thrift shops and secondhand stores

Tire sales, retreading and recapping *

Tool or cutlery sharpening or grinding *

Trade schools *

Trailer sales and service and rentals

Transit terminals

Truck sales, including sales and installation of parts and accessories and repairs incidental to
vehicle dealerships

Trucking terminals

Typewriter repair shops *

57



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Upholstery shops *

Used car sales *

Warehouses, except for the storage of fuel oil or flammable liquids and explosives

Welding and blacksmithing, excepting drop hammer

Wholesale establishments *

Other uses which are added to this list according to the procedure in Section 17. 16. 020;

3.    Offices and retail stores incidental to and on the same site with a commercial service
establishment;

4.    Electrical transmission and distribution substations, gas regulator stations, public service

pumping stations and elevated pressure tanks;

5.    Incidental and accessory uses and structures located on the same site as a permitted use.

l

c r r tr a  * l,     r.. t, a r   ,.,,t ., i:,.,,:,.

i2 po,.,ti,'+* o,- 1 T T o

U,... o.,:.... L. v...., ....,. L...

t,.,..,

1,   .. rl       ..» :::., .,.,::+_ .
5.       

r„    .+'     o..+ o  •

cr}Tt sscE-- aGS zai 3tf3i-S E 6' b'-crr ccqmrc- 8 
l: o. l   ,-., 7e

58



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

c   ,•    i n n ncniu    ea . ,: ti ., a,,..   ,. n+:.    
i

i r

i; 44 7 E«'      +   + ,..,+,.    
a;..;,.+

r—rcP- 1-} 6E} 6
Tl..        `'           1  ''    +      +   , l ,]      1 1  1'   '

rr

c   •  -  i c n i n a  c.- g g- e- 5 6-- 9 aoa--;

I• •l

17. 44. 090 Property development standards for commercial districts.

A.   Screening and landscaping, fences, walls and hedges shall conform to the provisions of
Chapter 17. 92.

B.    Site Area. There shall be no limitation.

C.    Frontage, Width and Depth. There shall be no limitation.

D.   Coverage. There shall be no limitation.

E.    Yard Requirements.

1.    The minimum front yard shall be as follows:

District Minimum Yard Minimum Yard Requirements Abutting Certain
Re uirements Pro e

1

CN 15 feet 15 feet

CC 0 feet       10 feet

CS 0 feet 10 feet

CH 10 feet 15 feet

ee      ee

5-€ ee      ee

59



C Commercial District— Chapter 17. 44 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 14

Notes:

Minimum on a site abutting on property in a RCO, UR- ST, R, or RM e District and fronting

on the same street.

2.    Except as specified below, no side yards or rear yards shall be required;

a.    In any commercial district, the minimum side yard abutting a RCO, UR- ST, 4;R, or

RM; A-district shall be ten( 10) feet.

b.    In any commercial district, the minimum rear yard abutting a RCO, UR- ST, R, or

RM e 9 district shall be ten ( 10) feet.

F.    Distances between structures. The minimum distance between a dwelling unit and
another structure shall be ten( 10) feet.

G.   Building Height. In a CN; or CH e V District, sixty- five( 65) feet maximum; in a CC;
or CS e-£ district, seventy- five ( 75) feet maximum, except as may be provided under the
provisions of Sections 17. 52. 010, and '''.T̀ Chapters 17. 56 or 17. 112.

H.   Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading. Off-street parking and off-street loading
facilities shall be provided as prescribed in Chapter 17. 76.

L Signs and Outdoor Advertising Structures. No sign or outdoor advertising structure of
any character shall be provided, except as prescribed in Chapter 17. 84. ( Ord. 92- 73; Ord. 92- 96)

I

60



I Industrial District— Chapter 17. 48 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 15

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *~;,+'
r^„''

Chapter 17. 48 I Industrial District

17. 48. 050 Property development standards.

A.   Screening and landscaping— Fences, walls and hedges shall conform to the provisions

of Chapter 17. 92.

B.    Site Area. The minimum site area shall be one- half acre in the IG district. No minimum
site area shall be required in the IL district.

C.    Frontage, Width and Depth of Site. There shall be no limitations.

D.   Coverage. There shall be no limitations.

E.    Yard Requirements.

1.    Front Yard. The minimum front yard for both the IL and IG districts shall be ten ( 10)
feet.

2.    Rear and Side Yards. Except as provided below, no rear yard or side yards shall be
required.

a.    The minimum rear yard abutting a UR- ST, RCO, R, RM, or C district shall be

fifteen ( 15) feet.

b.    On a reversed corner lot adjoining a key lot in a UR- ST, RCO,  R, RM, 9 or C

district, the minimum side yard adjoining the street shall not be less than one-half the required
front yard on the key lot.

a The minimum side yard abutting a UR- ST, RCO, R, RM, A or C district shall be

fifteen ( 15) feet.

F.    Distances Between Structures. There shall be no limitations.

G.   Building Height. The building height shall be no greater than seventy- six ( 76) feet,
unless a building height of no greater than ninety- five ( 95) feet is determined to be warranted by
the planning commission under the provisions of Chapter 17. 100, and except that a greater height
may be approved for tanks,  towers,  silos and similar facilities under the provisions of
Chapter 17. 112.

H.   Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading. Off-street parking and off-street loading
facilities shall be provided as prescribed in Chapter 17. 76.

61



I Industrial District—Chapter 17. 48 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 15

I.     Signs and Outdoor Advertising Structures. No signs or outdoor advertising structure of
any character shall be permitted, except as provided in Chapter 17. 84. ( Ord. 12- 312 § 2; Ord. 92-

96; Ord. 92- 73)

Q nQn u       a r a....:., i n:..; n

i.    . i.       +i,       o       ; aoa    t, o rr   ., a r a:.... ,...

r

r     v o  ,„+:,.

ti,...,:,„. t, e ,.:+...

ht  •   cv,.+;,.,,  n4 mnir  ,. a  

E2S E`` 2-- i- 6 6$ cr,r. T.rcc-- rvrcrr—in cccrorr—r  o vzojvTc, .  

ao.. L.:     ..+: o     

ti: c,.+:,.  n o n n

2 A 11 1' + , a 1':   ., 1 L. o iT i!`_ ,a:.. r.. .. r .. L.., 11 l. o
i

J    , 7 rl' r'     1

l.,,

ao..+ L.; ., o,.+;,,,

4     - rti,       l 1'   r'      rl-  TD , J' r   +  L, 11 L.  

b     - 1 r r

f

f

@E i6rraclviTvc- v"'r z- 7

62



Crossroads Overlay District— Chapter 17. 49 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 16

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by P* r;' o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 49 Crossroads Overlay District

l

Chapter 17.49.030 Highway CommerciaVHighway Service Overlay

A.   The specified properties in the Crossroads overlay district shall include all uses
permitted by Section 17. 44. 050 of this title and the following permitted uses:

1.    Motels, hotels;

2.    Eating places( including those dispensing alcoholic beverages);

3.    Automobile service stations;

4.    Newsstands, gift and souvenir shops, arts and crafts studios, self-service ice dispensers,
laundry and dry cleaning agencies, and vending machines;

5.    Factory outlet malls on parcels of no less than ten ( 10) acres;

B.    The specified properties in the Crossroads overlay district shall include all uses
conditionally permitted by Section 17. 44. 050 of this title and the following conditional uses:

1.    Banks, carwashes, new car and farm equipment sales;

2.    Nightclubs, including places providing dancing;

3.    Kennels for household pets when accessory to a motel or hotel;

4.    Commercial recreation;

c u  ,    ti„    o  ,+. ,,,

r.,;

56.    Nurseries and greenhouses;

6.    Public utility and communications equipment buildings and studios. ( Ord. 19- 405 § 1;

Ord. 18- 384 § 1)

l

63



Combining Districts— Chapter 17. 52 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 17

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;'+' r^„'

Chapter 17. 52 Combining Districts

l

c mn na•   a ti•     ,. a;+..,,.+ rn r rrT

L.., rL.  ,.; r. L
v- i

1 T4.   HRVi T L.'     
1' . .-.,, o.] e. 7 +..     ..       1..,..- 1

T a  '      r     '

i *zrtc- izc7c. rvrric-- rrccu F+'

e e- itx t e----- e v te p eee e s- e-- e e,` Fed--- a      

17. 52. 030 Mossdale Village combining district( M.

A.   Application. The Mossdale Village combining district( MV) is intended for application
to all lands located within the Mossdale Village portion of the West Lathrop Specific Plan. The
designation of MV after any zoning district indicates that the zoning district so combined is
modified by the regulations included in the West Lathrop Specific Plan then in effect.

B.    Applicable Regulations and Procedures. The development of property within the MV

combining district shall be subject to the regulations found in the West Lathrop Specific Plan and

64



Combining Districts— Chapter 17. 52 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 17

the applicable urban design concept. In addition, it is anticipated that agricultural use of the land
within the MV combining district will continue for many years. Therefore, the following shall be
considered conforming uses in any zoning district which is combined with the MV combining
district:

1.    Field crops, tree crops, row crops, berry or bush crops, provided no additional land shall
be planted in cotton, trees, or vines;

2.    Farms for the keeping or raising of animals, excluding poultry farms, rabbit or other
small animal farms, fish or frog farms, dairies, hog farms, feedlots, slaughterhouses and kennels
unless otherwise specifically permitted in the zoning district which is combined or if they exist on
the day the property annexes. Any new poultry farms, rabbit or other small animal farms, fish or
frog farms, dairies, hog farms, feedlots, slaughterhouses and kennels proposed subsequent to
annexation are specifically prohibited.

r a••
e. l- e e ses-- e P ei e ea T. o >>,,.,,;,,, 

p       a   +  *  -    a  „  -' a  ( Ord. 22- 431 § 1; Ord. 04- 237 § 4; Ord.
na r   nr•-•,

96- 132)

l

65



Planned Unit Developments— Chapter 17. 56 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 18

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +~'+'
r^'

Chapter 17. 56 Planned Unit Developments

17. 56.020 Districts.

A planned unit development may be located in any district *' r +'  D , v ':+ r:+ upon the

granting of a use permit in accordance with the provisions of this chapter, or by applying the
planned unit development combining district in accordance with the provisions of

Sections 17. 52. 010 and 17. 52. 020. ( Ord. 92- 73)

17. 56. 030 Permitted uses.

A planned unit development shall include only those uses permitted, either as permitted uses
or conditional uses, in the zoning district in which the planned unit development is located, subject
to the following exceptions:

A.   Any combination of uses permitted in any R; or RM e 9 district as a permitted

use, a use permitted by administrative approval, or a conditional use, may be included in a planned
unit development located in a R or RM District.

B.    Any combination of uses permitted within any C; or IL district as a permitted use,

a use permitted by administrative approval, or a conditional use may be included in a planned unit
development located in a A e C district.

C.    Any combination of uses permitted in any CS, CH, IL or IG district as a permitted use,

a use permitted by administrative approval, or conditional use may be located in a planned unit
development located in an IL or IG district. ( Prior code § 188. 03)

66



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;' o*, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 57 Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts

T  ,-;. Article 1. Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts of the Mossdale Landing Urban
Desi n Concept— Purposes.       

o in,.,   n i c i

The Mossdale Landin; zonin J districts in this chapter are designed to provide the opportunitv for
a wide variety of residential and commercial uses on lands located in the Mossdale Village area
which are encompassed bv the approved West Lathro Specific Plan.  These zonin disti•icts are

subject to the Mossdale Landin Urban Desi; n Conce t. These zonin districts endin in"- MV"

are ( imited to the Mossdale Villa e.

17. 5' 7. 100 CS- MV:  Service Commercial— Mossdale Villa e Zoning District- Application.

The CS- MV uses wil( be located alon the fronta e of I- 5, betw een Golden Valley Parkway
and Manthey Road. The CS- MV zone district is intended for establishments en ed in local and

re ional retail, services, and oftice functions. These businesses require easy arterial access, ood

visibility, and adequate packina. The service commercial desi n ated parcel of Mossdale Landin
is a small part of a lar er commercial district in the Mossda( e Villa e area of the West Lathro
Specific Plan. As such, the arcllitectural character of the commercial development shall be

consistent vith the desi n standards established for the remainder of the Mossdale Vil( a e

commercial areas. These comtnercial areas wi( 1 be pedestrian oriented in terms of circulation.
storefront and ` public space" desi n, and provide connections to other adjacent commercial and
residential areas. The proposed uses in the CS- MV zone district shall provide an architecturally
consistent theme alon Golden Val( ey Parkway and the surrounding land uses. partic larly the
Villa e Center.

17. 57. 101 Permitted uses.

A.   Retail Sales uses include, but are not ( imited to:

1.    Antique/ Collector Shops

Art Gallerv/ Picture Framin

3.    Auto Parts Stores

4.    Beaut  Suppl, y Stores

67



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

5.    Beer/ Wine stores— Sa( es onlv

6.    Bicvcle/ Skateboard/ Surf%Ski Sho

7.    Bookstores/ Newsstands

8.    Boutique/ Gift Stores

9.    Bridal/ Formal Wear

10.  Camera/ Photo Stores

11.  Candv/ Confectionerv

12.  Children' s/ Teen' s Stores

13.  C( othin:/ A pareVAccessories

14.  Consignment/ Thrift Stores

15.  Costume/ W i Shops

16.  Fabric/ Craft Stores

17.  F( oor Coverin s pet Stores

18.  Floral Shops

19.  Fu 7 iture/ Appliance Stores

20.  Health Food Store/ Specialtv Food Stores

21.  Home Furnishin s & Housewares/ Window Coverin s/ Tableware/ Linens

22.  Jewelr Stores

23.  Li htin Stores

24.  Music/ Musical Instr ment/ Audio Recordin Stores

2.  Office Supply Stores

26.  Paint/Wallpaper Stores

27.  Party S it plv Stores

68



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

28.  Pets and Pet Sup lv Stores

29.  Stationary/ Card Shops

30.  Shoe/ Hat Stores

3l.  ecialty Sho s

32.  Sportin Goods Stores

33.  Toy lHobb_y Stores

B.  Service Retail uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  AlterationslTailor/ Fur& Repair& Stora e

2.  Bank/ Credit UnionslSavinQs & LoanlFinancia( lnstitutions

3.  Barber/ Beauty Salon/ Nail Salon/ Facial/ Massa e

4.  Co g/ Printing/ Blueprints

5.  Dry Cleaner( no plant on premises)

6.  Employment A„; encies

7.  Forma) Wear Rental Shops

8.  Health Clubs/ Fitness CenterslPhysica( Thera Y

9.  Instruction & Trainin r i, n Gymnastics, Martial Arts, Aerobics, Yo

0. Laboratories

I I. Laundromats

12. Locksmiths

13. Lube Shops

14. Posta!/ Mail Stores

15. Photo raphic/ Artists Studio

16. Real Estate/ Title Offrces

69



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. Shoe Repair Sho s

18. Trave(/ Tour Agencies

19. Veterinarian/ Anima) Hospital

20. Video/ Audio Rental Shops

2(. Watch/ Clock Repairs Shops

C.  Eatin, drinkina and entertainment establishments inc( ude but are not limited to•

1.  Ba el/ Donut Shops

2.  Banc uet Facilities

3.  Cafe/ Cotfee House Shops

4.  Delicatessen/ Catering Services

5.  Ice Cream/ Yo urt Shops

6.  Outdoor SeatingAreas for Food Establishments

7.  Restaurants

U.  O ftice Uses incl ide, but are not limited to:

I.  Administrative Headquarters

2.  Business Consultina and Commercial Services

3.  Business, Professional and Administrative Offices

4.  Medica( and Dental Laboratories

5.  Radio and Television Broadcastin

6.  Stock Brokera e

70



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

E.  Other Uses include but are not limited to:

1.  Reclaimed Water Stora e Ponds

2.  rav Fields

3.  Storm Drain Detention and Retention Ponds

F.  Retail Sales Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Depa tment Stores/ Genera) Merchandise Stores

2.  Drug Stores

3.  Eleclronics/ Audio/ Video/ Computers/ Software Stores

4.  Furniture/ A pliance Stores

5.  Grocery Stores

b.  Hardware/ Home lmprovement/ Nursery Stores

7.  Sale ofNew Motorsports Vehicles, includin, but not limited: motorcycles, snowmo iles,

jet skis, al(- terrain vehicles,  small watercraft, or similar vehicles and includin the

ancillary sale of used motorsports vehic( es, parts, and accessories and maintenance, repair

and service of motorsports vehicles.

8.  Tire Stores

G.  Service Retail L) ses include but are not limited to:

1.  Dav Care Centers

2.   EmerQency Medical/ Dental, Clinics, and presccibingpharmacv within

H.  Eatin, drinking and e tertainment establishments include, but are not limited to:

1.  Amusement/ Arcades

2.  Fast Food Drive- Throu h/ Drive- In Facility

71



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

3.  Private Clubs

I.   Re ional( y oriented, hi h volume, retail uses inc( ude, but are not litnited to:

1.  Auto/ Truck Centers

2.  Desi n/ Contractors Centers

3.  Discount/ Off Price Centers

4.  Entertainment/ Lifestv( e Centers

5.  Factory O ltlet Stores

6.  Fu niture Outlets

7.  Ma(( s

8.  Power Centers

9.  P- om tional Cente• s

J.      ReQionally orient d, hi h volume. retail uses irlclude but are not limited to•

L Communications Equipment

2.  Electrical transmission and distribution substations  as re ulator stations public service

pumpin stations and elevated pressure tanks.

K.   Incidental and accessory structures and uses on th same site as a permitted use

L.    Other uses added to this list by the Plannina Commission accordintgo the procedure in

Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 57. 102 Conditional uses.

A.   The followinQ uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 l2:

1.    Administrative Offices— Citv, Countv State and Federal

72



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

2.    Auditoriums/ Concert f-lalls

3.    Adult Novelty Stores

4.    Ambulance Stations

5.    Any facilitv or business servina alcoho(' rc bevera es or se( lin hard alcoho(.

6.    Anfyacility or business p• oduein€J excessive noise, sounds or music.

7.    Billiards/ Pool Halls

8.    Bo v( in >, Alle

9.    Business and profiessional schools and colle e s

10.  Car Washes

ll.  EducationaUAssembl.

12.  Cocktail LounegIBar

13.  Communitv/ Civic Centers

14.  Skatin rinks and other similar comtnercial recreation facilities.

15.  F' ire/ Po( ice Station

16.  Gamin,?/Gamblin=/,Bin 7o Parlor

17.  Gas and electrical transmissioi lines

18.  Gas/ Service Station/ Convenience store

19.  Governmental offices

20.  Hospital/ Medical center

21.  Hote)  sub ect to LMC Chapter 17. 78 Hotel Limitations)

22.  Lib ary

23.  Museums

24.  Ni; htclub/ Micro- brewerx

73



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

25.  Recreational facility/ Indoor

26.  Senior/ Youth Centers

27.  Temporar,y Christmas tree lot

28.  Temporar pum kin patch

29.  Theater( Dinner, Movie, Live, etc.)

30.  Transit Stations

17. 57. 103 Property development standards.

Specitic development and architecture standards for the Service Commercial - Mossdale

Vi11a CS- MV) zone district are estab( ished in the Mossdale Landing Urban DesiQn Conce t
document.

17. 7. 104 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in any CS- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and a proved b_y the Cit pursuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with
related site p( ans, landscapin. and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 57. 105 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses sha( I be subject to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Comm initv Deve( opment Director  nay approve use interpretations and minor

deviations related to the zot ing herein.

74



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 110 CV- MV:  Villa e Commercial— Mossdale Village Zonin District- Auplication.

The CV- MV uses will be located alon Towne Centre Drive in Mossdale Villa e. This

district is intended as a mixed use, pedestrian- oriented development t pical of traditional mai
streets to create a sense of belo gin and comm initv to its surrounding residents.  Theogal of
Mossdale Landin =' s vi( la e commercial area is to create the vitalitv and charm associated with
these main streets. An inte rated mix of retai(, office, services and livin are also enecal ideas

behind this tvpe of developme t. Street level fronta e uses should be comprised of small retail and

service businesses. intearated with lar er anehor tenants. Mu( ti- level buildinas can be eithel- office
or commercial at round leve( with residential or office above. The vi( lage commercia( area is
planned to create a symbiotic relatior ship amon€: these vacious live work andpla portunities

17. 57. 111 Permitted uses.

A.   Retail Sales uses include, but are not ( imiteci to:

1.    Al-ts instruction ( m isic, dance, paintin)

2.    A liance and Equipment Repair

3.    BarberlBeautv Shop/ Nai( Salon

4.    Copyin; and Printin Services

5.    Draper,y and Blind Installation

6.    Dry Cleaner ( no p( ant on premises)

7.    Formal Wear

8.    Laundromats

9.    Locksmiths

10.  Photo raphic Studios

1 1.  Shoe Repair

12.  Tailor

13.  Travel A ency

14.  VlWatch and Clock Repair

75



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

B.  Local Servin Retail uses include, but ace not limited to:

1.  Art Gallery/ Suppl S  tore

2.  Auto Parts Stores

3.  Bakery

4.  Bicycle Shops

5.  Book Stores

6.  Clothin T S

7.  Comp rters/ E( ectronic Equipment

8.  Drug Stores

9.  Floor Coverinas

0. Florist/ Plant Shop

1 l. Gift Shops

12. Hardware Stores

13. - lobbv Shops

14. Home Appliances

15. Jewelry Stores

16. Beec/ Wine Sales— Tastin Store ( no off-site sales of liquor permitted witllin 1 000 feet of

a school.

17. Music Stoces

18. News apers and Ma azines

19. Paint, Glass, and w' allpaper Stores

0. Party Supplv Stores

21. Pet Store and Su plies

76



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

22. Photo phic SupplSytores

23. Picture Framin Sho s

24. Shoe Stores

25. Specialt Food Store includin: meat, fish, vine, candv, health food etc. ( no off-site sales

of liquor permitted within 1. 000 feet of a schooO.

26. Specialty Goods includin: cookin supplies, housewares,  ( inen, window coverin; s,

china/ lasswai-e, etc.

27. Sportin, Goods Stores

28. Stationary/ Office S pplSytores

29. Toy Stores

30. Variety Stores

C.  EatinQ, dri lkina and entertainment establish nents include, but are not limited to•

1.  Ba el/ Donut S} ops

2.  Cafe/ C ffee House Shops

3.  Delicatessens ( no off-site sales of liquor ermitted within 1, 000 feet of a school)

4.  lce Cream/ Yo urt Shops

5.  Outdoor Seatin Areas for Food Establishments

6.  Restaurants ( no drive- throu h operations, and no off-site sales of liq ior permitted within

1, 000 feet of a schooO.

7.  Video Stores

D.  Business and Professional Office Uses include but are not limited to:

1.  Employment Aaencies

77



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

2.  Professional Oftices includin: accountin, architectural, dental, en ineering, le al, etc.

3.  Real Estate/ Title Oftices

E.  Business and Professional Office Uses include but are not limited to•

1.  Artist' s Studios ( live/ work units) in mixed- use a plications onlv.  These units are not

permitted in solelv residential projects.

2.  Apartments, Flats, and Townhouses

3.  Convalescent and Assistecl Care Facilities

4.  Hoine Occupations in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17. 64.

5.  Rest/ Nursin} Homes

F. Other Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Reclaimed Vl' ater Stora e Ponds

2.  Spray Fields

3.  Storm Drain Detention and Retention Ponds

G.  f3usiness and Professional Offices Uses incl ide but are not limited to:

1.  Bank, Savin s and Loan and ottler Financial Instit itions

2.  Medical, Optometrv, and Dental Offices

H.  Other Uses include, but are not li nited to:

1.  Communications Eq ment

2.  Electrica) Transmission and Distribution Substations, Gas Re ulator Stations Public

Service Pumpin. Stations and Elevated Pressure Tanks

I.     Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

78



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

J.    Other uses added to this list bv the Plannin Commission accordin to the procedure in

Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 7. 112 Conditional uses.

A.   The fioilowing uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

1.    Any faci( ity or business servin alcoholic bevera es or sel( in hard alcoho) ( no off-site

sales of liquor permitted within 1. 000 feet of a school).

2.    An f y or business with live entertainment oc music.

3.    Bar or cocktail loun e { no off-site sales of liquor permitted within 1, 000 feet of a school

4.    Community Center

5.    Day Cai-e Center

6.    EducationallAssemblY Uses

7.    Library

8.    Lod e Hall

9.    Micro- brewery ( no off-sales of( iquor permitted within 1, 000 feet ofi a schoo(

10.  Ni htc( ub ( no off=site sales of liquor pernlitted within 1, 000 feet of a school

1 I.  Post Office

12.  Reereational Facilitv - lndoor

13.  Social Club ( no off-site sales o f liquor permitted within 1. 000 feet of a school)

14.  Senior Centers

1.  Theater— Indoor( Dinner, Movie, Live Pla.v, etc•)

16.  Video Arcade

79



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 113 Property development standards.

Specitic development and architecture standards for the Villa e Commercial - Mossdale

Villa e ( CV- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin Urban Desi n Conce t

document.

17. 7. 114 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on anv lot or site in any CV- MV zone district until a site lan and

architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the City_pursuant to theprovisions
ofChapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. Desi n review is required for all proposed struct n es, to ether with
related site p( ans, landscapin. and pub( ic improvements ssociated with new development.

17. 57. 115 General nrovisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be s ibiect to tl e  ; enera(  provisions and exceptions prescribed ip
Chapter 17. 16.

The Community Development Director mav approve use interpretations and minc r

deviations 1- elated to the zonina herein.

17. 7. 120 RL- MV:    Low Densitv Residential  —  Mossdale Village Zonina District  -

Application.

The RL- MV district is interlded for Mossdale Village' s sin le- fami( v development1patted

i_n nei hborhood plar t inU areas of three different lot sizes of 5, 000 sq iare feet 6 000 squace feet
and 7, 000 square feet.  It is reco nized that lots within a designated neighborhood plannin area
mav exceed the minimum square foota e area of that nei hborhood, however, these lots are still
subject to that nei hborhood' s development standards.

17. 57. 121 Permitted uses.

A.   Per nitted uses inelude:

I.    One- family detached dwellin

2.    Home occupations in accordance with Chapter 17. 64.

3.    Raisin of fi•uit and nut trees,  vines,  ve etables and horticultural specia(ties on a
noncommercial basis.

4.    Fenced or enclosed sw immin pools for either individual, familv or communal use or an
exclusive non- commercial basis, provided that no swimmin pool shall be located within
a utilitv easement.

80



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

5.    A State- authorized, certified or licensed facility includin: a family day care home
providing care of up to fourteen ( 14) children; a foster home or roup home se vin up

to ei 7ht 8) or fewer mentally disordered or otherwise handicapped persons, or dependent
and neglected children.

6.    Accessory structures and uses located on the same site ith a permitted use.

7.    Reclaimed water stora e ponds

8.    Spray tields

9.    Storm drain detention and retention ponds

0.  Public uses of an administrative, cecreational, public service or cultural type including
Citv, countv, state or federa) administrative centers and courts, libracies, museums, art

galleries, police and tire stations and other public buildings, structures and faci( ities;
public play rounds, parks and community centers.

17. 57. 122 CondiYional uses.

A.   The followina uses may be permitted in accordance with the pcovisi ns of
Cha ter 17. 1 12:

1.    A State authorized licensed child day care center as de fined b the State of California

Department of Social Services.

2.    Public and private charitable institutions; State authorized hos itals, sanitariums, rest
homes, and nursin homes; State authocized, certified or licensed facilitv including: a
foster home or roup home servin nine ( 9) or nore menta( ly disordered or otherwise

handicapped persons. such as rehabilitation homes for the alcoho( and/ or chemicallX
dependent, or dependent and neL7lected children. where such homes provide care on a 24-
hour basis.

3.    Public and quasi- public use of an educational or reliQious tYpe, inc( udin: private non-

protit schools, public or private colle es; chucches; parsonages and other religious
instit rtions.

Gas and electric transmission lines in accordance with Section 17. 108. 080 electrical

distribution substations, as ce ulator stations, comm nications equipment buildin s,

public service pumpin stations and elevated pressure tanks.

17. 57. 123 Pronerty development standards.

Specific develo ment and architecture standards for the Low Density Residential  -
Mossdale Viila e ( RL- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin Urban Design

Concept docun ent.     

81



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 124 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on anv lot or site in any RL-MV zone district until a site plan and
architectura( plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Citv pursuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. other than those exempted bv L;ocal, State and/ or Federal statute.

Desi n review is required for a( I proposed structures, to ether with related site plans landscapin
and public improvements associated with r eti development.

17. 5' 7. 125 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  eneral provisions anci exceptions prescribed in
Chapter t 7. 16.

The Community Development Dii-ector mav approve use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

17. 57. 130 RM- MV:   Medium Densitv Residential — Mossdale Vitlage Zoning District-
Application.

The RM- MV district is intended to permit both attached and detached housin units.

Attached housina may consist of duets, townhomes or ro- houses, condominiums, and apartments.

Detached housin mav consist of zero lot line, zippe• lots, or courtvard housin. New plannin
concepts and lot reconfir urations, such as a( leys or other features particular to a se( ected housi
type, that do not fall within the development standards listed in the Mossda( e Urban Desi

Concept document mav be considered by the Community Developnlent Depat•tment.

17. 57. 131 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted uses include:

1.    One- family detacL ed dwellin.

2.    T' o or moce sinale- family dwellin s proposed for the same site.

3.    Uuplexes.

4.    Multi- familv dwellin s or apartments.

5.    Home occupations in accordance with Chapter 17. 64.

6.    A State- authorized, certified or licensed facility including: a family day care h me
providing care of up to fourteen ( 14) children; a foster home or roup home servinv u
to eiaht( 8) or fewer inentally disordered or otherwise handica ped persons or depender t
and neglected children.

7.    Public uses of an administrative, pub( ic service or cultural tvpe includin Citv count

state or federal admi istrative centers and courts, libraries, museums art a( leries police

82



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

and fire stations and other public buildings, structures a d facilities; public play rounds,
parks and community centers.

8.    Fenced or enclosed swimmin pools for either individual, fami( v or communal use or an
exclusive non- commercia( basis, provided that no s vimming pool shall be located within
a utility easement or a front_yard•

9.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses located on the same site with a permitted
use.

10.  Reclaimed water stora e ponds

1 1.  Spray fields

12.  Storm drain detention and - etention ponds

1' 7. 7. 132 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

1.    A State authorized licensed child day care ce lte- as defined bv t} e State of California
Department of Social Services.

2.    P iblic and private chacitable institutions: State authorized hospitals, sanitariu ns, rest
homes. and nursinT homes; State authorized. certified or licensed facilit includin: a

foster home or aroup home servinQ nine ( 9) oc more mentallv disocdered or otherwise
handicapped persons, such as rehabi( itation homes for the alcohol and/ or chemically
dependent, or dependent and ne lected children, where such homes provide care on a 24-
hour basis.

3.    Boarding or roomin, houses as defined in Section 17. U4. 08U of this Title.

4.    Pub( ic and quasi- public use of an educational or reliigous tYpe, inc( udin: private non-

protit schools, public or private colle es; cllurches; parsonages and other reli„ io. is
institutions.

5.    Gas and electric transmission lines in accordance with Section 17. 108. 080 elecirical

distribution substations,   a s re ulator stations, cominunications equipment buildings,

public service pumpin stations and elevated press ire tanks.

17. 7. 133 Propertv development standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the Medium Density Residential -
Mossdale VillaQe ( RM- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landing Urban Design
Co cept document.

83



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 134 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on anv lot or site in any RM- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Citypu• s lant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. other than those exempted by Local, State and/ or Federal statute.

Desi n review is required for a( l proposed structures, together with re( ated site p( ans, landscapin
and pub( ic improvements associated with ne development.

17. 57. 135 General provisions and excentions.

All uses shall be sublect to the general provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Community Development Director ma pprove use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

17. 57. 1 0 RH- MV:    High Densitv Residential —  Mossdale Village Zonin  District  -

Application.

The RE- I- MV district is intended for Mossdale Landin South' s multi- family and attached
housin development.  The theme, desi n stvles, materials and colors sha( I reflect those of the

other residential nei<rhborhoods of Mossda( e Landin« South.

17. 57. 141 Permitted uses.

A.   Attacheci multi- family cesidential uses includin;, but not limited to:

1.    Condominiums, apartments. flats, townhouses, and independent living facilities.

2.    Convalescent and assisted care facilitv.

Home occupations in accocdance with the provisions of Chapter 17. 64.

4.    Rest/ Nursing homes.

B.   Other uses, includina but not limited to:

1.    Reclaimed vater stora ponds.

2.    Sprav fields.

3.    Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

17. 7. 142 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses mav be permitted in accordance with the provisions of

84



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

Chapter 17. 112:

1.    Day Care Centers.

2.    Private non- profiit schools and co( le es; churches, and other religious institutions.

17. 57. 143 Pronerty development standards.

ecific development and architecture standards foc the Hi h De sitv Residential  -
Mossdale Villa e ( RH- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin South Urban

Design Concept document.

17. 7. 144 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in any RH- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and appcoved by the Citv pursuant to the pi-ovisions
of Chapters 17. I 00 and 17. 104. DesiQn review is required for all proposed structures, to ether ith

related site plans, landscapin, and public impcovements associated with new development.

17. 57. 14 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  enera!  pr visions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Community Development Director  na pprove use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin<, herein.

17. 57. 150 P/ QP- MV:  Public/ Quasi Public— Mossdale Village Zonin District- Application.

The P/ QP- MV zonin district is i tended to permit schools, parks, and other pub( ic
facilities shal( relate to and build upon those styles mandated for residential dev elopment in the

Mossdale Landin Urban Desi n Concept document.  This will ensure that tlie architecture of

public uses wi( 1 tie into Mossdale Landin' s traditional character. Materials and colors shall be

appropriate to the desiQn stvle selected, and buildin placement and massinp shall be sensitive to
the site and adjacent nei hborhoods.

17. 57. 151 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted ises include, but are not limited to:

1.    Communitv Centers

2.    Farmer' s Market

3.    FestivaVStreet Fairs

85



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

4.    Open Space

5.    Other s ch uses thaC meet the intznt of this district, as approved b the Director of

Community Development.

6.    Park- active and passive

7.    Reclaimed water stora ponds

8.    Recreation facility

9.    Spray fields

10.  School

11.  Storm d• ain detention and retention ponds

12.  T'rails, pathways, maintenance roads, a 1d related feattires

17. 57. 152 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use or structure shall be erected on any lot or site in any P/ QP- MV zone district until a

site lan and architectural plans shall have been sttbmitted to and ap roved by the Cit pursuant to
the provisions of Chapters 17 ] 00 and 17 l04 other than those exempted by Local State and/ or
Federal statute. DesiQn review is req ired for all pro osed structures, to ether with related site
plans landscaping and ublic impeovemei ts associated with new development.

17. 57. 153 General pro isions and exceptions.

All uses shall be sublect to the  eneral provisions and exceptions preseribed in
Cha ter 17. 16.

Anv use or structure roposed fior placement on city owned propertv pursuant to a lease,
license agreement with the citv or cit project, shall be exempt from this chapter, but sha( 1 comply
with such processin and desi n standards as are set forth in such lease, license, or other

agreement.

17. 57. 160 P- MV:  Park— Mossdale Villa e Zonin District— Application.

The P- MV District is intended to provide for neiahborhood, communitv and re iona( parks,
greenways and other outdoor recreation facilities to a( low for a wide arrav of local and communitv
recreational activities and entertainment o portunities within urban development.  Specific uses

intended forthis zoning_district incl ide: public recreation sites includin ball fields, tot lots and

plav ap aratus adult softball and soccer plaving fields, swimmina pools, communitvi center
buildin s meetin facilities, libraries. art centers, after school care fiacilities, art in p iblic places,

86



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

facilities for ni ht-time recreation trails be ches, interpretive markers, picnic areas. barbeque
facilities landscapin  irri ation citv wells trees and natural habitat areas.  Parks also may be

desi ned to accommodate multi- level storm drainage detention basins that will a( low recreation

use of areas not needed for detention durin a iven storm.

17. 57. 161 Reviewing Authority.

All proposed structures events. and uses shall be subject to the revie v and approval by the
City of Lathrop Parks and Recreation Commission.

17. 57. 170 OS- MV: Open Space— Mossdale Village Zoning District— Anplication.

The OS- MV zonin district is intended to provide for permanent open space in areas that
exhibit sianificant veQetation, wildlife wetlands, bociies of water or water courses, mineral

resources scenic qualities or recreational potential, vater qua( itv and storm water detention basins,
and that are desi nated as o en space within the Mossdale Villa e area. This district is further

intended to be applied to lands within the city that are subject to an agricultui- al land conservation

contract under the provisions of the Williamson Act.

17. 57. 171 Permitted uses.

l.  Recreational— Active.

2.  Recreationai— Passive.

3.  Trails and maintenance roads.

4.  Levees and other related facilitv equipment.

5.  Private or public infrastructure.

6.  Resource mana ement lands.

7.  River and other water courses.

8.  Draina, e water quality, and other similar facilities, includin swales and

basins.

9.  Reclaimed water stora e ponds.

10. Spray tields.

11. Storm drain detention and retention poi ds.

87



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

12. Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted

use.

13. Other uses added to this list bv the plannin; commission accordintgo the

procedu- es in Section 17. 16. 020 of the Lathrop Zonin Code,

17. 57. 172 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the en   eral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. I 6 of the Lathcop Municipal Code.

Article 2. Mossdale Landin East Zoning Districts of the Mossdate Landing East Urban

Desi n Concept- Purposes.

The Mossdale Landin East zonin districts in this chapter are desinged to provide the opport mity
for a wide varietv of residential and co nmercial uses on lands ( ocated in the Mossdale Villa>e,  area
which are encompassed b tl pproved West Lathcop Specifiic Plan.  These zonin districts are

subiect to the Mossdale Landin East Urban Desi n C ncept. These zonin districts. endinign':-

MV" are limited to the Mossdale Vi(la e.

17. 57. 200 CH- MV: Hi hway Commercial— Mossdale Village Zonin District- Application.

I he CH- MV desi nated uses are proposed between I- 5 and Go( den Valley ParkwaX
directiv south of the interchan e between I- 5 nd River Islands Parkway. Uses within the hi hwax
commercial area will cater to travelers along [- 5 in addition to local Lathrop residents. The
highway commercial district is intended foc establishments en a ed in local and re ional retail,

service, and office functions. These businesses require easv arterial access, good visibilit and

adequate parkin. The hi hway commercial desi nated parcel of Mossdale Landin East is pact of
a lar er commercial district in the Mossdale Villa e area of the West Lathrop Specific Pla. The

architectural character of the commercial development shall be consistent with the desi n

standards established for other areas of Mossdale Villa e. These commercial areas wil( provide
efficient circ lation, utilize storefront and" p iblic space" design, and establish connections to other
adiacent com nercial and residential areas. The proposed uses in the hiahwav commercial disirict
shall provide an architecturallv consistent theme alon  Golden Vallev Parkwav and the

surroundin land uses, particularly the Villa e Center.

17. 57. 201 Permitted uses.

88



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

A.   Retail Sales uses include, but are not limited to:

1.    Antique/ Collector Shops

2.    Art Gallery/ Picture Framin

3.    Auto Parts Stores

4.    Beautv Suppl_y Stoces

5.    Bicycle/ Skateboard/ Surf%Ski Sho

6.    BookstoreslNewsstancis

7.    Boutiq ielGift Stores

8.    Bridal/ Formal Wear

9.    Camera/ Photo Stores

10.  Cand lCo fectionerx

1 1.  Children' slTeen' s Stores

12.  Clothing/ A parel/ Accessories

13.  Consi nment/Thrift Stores

14.  Costume/ W i; Shops

15.  Fabric/ Craft Stores

16.  Floor Coverin rs/ Carpet Stores

17.  Floral Shops

18.  Furniture/ App( iance Stores

19.  Health Food StorelSpecialty Food Stores

20.  Home Furnishin s & Housewa es/ Vl-' indow Coverinas/ Tablewa• e/ Linens

89



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

21.  Jewelry Stores

22.  Lighting Stores

23.  Music/ Musical Instrument/ Audio Recordin S tores

24.  Office Supplv Stores

25.  Paint/ Wallpapec Store

26.  Party Su ply Stores

27.  Pets and Pet Su ply Stores

28.  Seasonal Outdoor Dis lav/ Sales Areas

29.  Stationary/ Card Shops

30.  Shoe/ Hat Store

31.  Specia( tv Sho s

32.  Sporting Goods Stores

33.  Tov/ Hobby Stores

B.  Service Retail ises include b t are not limited to:

1.  Alterations/ Tailor/ Fur& Repair& Stora e

2.  E3ank/ Credit Unions/ Savings & LoanlFinancial [ nstitutions

3.  Barber/ Beautv Salon/ Nail Sa( on/ Facial/ Massage

4.  Copyin/ Printin Blueprints

5.  Dry Cleaner ( no plant on premises)

6.  E nployment A e ncies

7.  Formal Wear Rental Shops

8.  Health Clubs/ Fitness Centers/ Physical Therapv

90



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

9.  Instruction & Trainin in Gymnastics, Martial Arts, Aerobics, Yo a

10. Laboratories

1 1. Laundromats

12. Locksmiths

13. Lube Shops

14. Postal/ Mail Stores

l5. Photo raphic/ Artists Studio

16. Real Estate/ Title Offices

17. Shoe Repair Shops

18. TraveUTour A encies

19. Veterinarian/ Animal Hospital

20. Video/ Audio Rental Shops

21. Watch/ Clock Repairs Sho

C.  Eatin, drinkin and entertainment establishments include. but are not limited to:

1.  f3agel/ Donut Shops

2.  Banquet Facilities

3.  Cafie/ Coffee House Shops

4.  Delicatessen/ Catering Services

5.  Ice Cream/ YoQurt Shops

6.  Micro- brewery

7.  Outdoor Seatin Areas for Food Estab( ishments

8.  Restaurants. includin on- site alcohol sales

9.  Fast Food Drive- Throu h/ Drive- In Facility

91



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

D Office Uses include but are not limited to:

l.  Administrative Headquarte• s

2.  Qusiness Consultin and Commercial Services

3.  Business, Professional and Administrative Offices

4.  Medical and Dental Laboratories

5.  Radio and Te( evision Broadcastin

6.  Stock Brokeca e

E.  Other LJses include, but are not limited to:

l.  Rec( aimed Water Stora e Ponds

2.  rav Fields

3.  Stornl I rain Detention and Retention Ponds

F.  Retail Sales Uses include but are not limited to:

1.  Department Stores/ General Met•chandise Stores

2.  Uru Stores

3.  Electronics/ Audio/ Video/ Computers/ Software Stores

4.  Furniture/ App( iance Stores

5.  Grocery Stores

6.  Hardware/ Home Improvement/ Nursery Stores

7.  Tire Stores

G.  Service Retail Uses include but are not limited to:

1.  Day Care Centers

2.  Emergency MedicaVDental, Clinics, and prescribin pharmacy within

92



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

H.  Regionally oriented, hi h volume, cetail uses include, but are not limited to

1.  Desi nlContractors Centers

2.  Discount/ Off Price Centers

3.  Entertainment/ Lifestyle Centers

4.  Factory Outlet Stores

5.  Furnit ire Outlets

6.  Malls

7.  Power Centers

8.  Promotional Centers

I.   Re ional( v oriented, hibh vol ime, retail uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Communications Equipment

2.  Eleetrical tcansmission and distribution substations, as • e ilator stations, p ib( ic service

pumping stations and elevated pressuce tanks.

J.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

K.    Other uses added to this list by the Planning Commission accordin to the procedure in

Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 57. 202 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses ma,y be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chaptec 17. 1 12:

1.    Administrative Offices— City, County. State, and Federal

2.    Amusement/ Arcades

3.    Audiroriums/ Concert Halls

4.    Adu( t Noveltv Stores

93



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

5.    Ambulance Stations

6.    Any faci( ity or business producin excessive noise, sounds or music.

7.    Beer/ Wine Stores

8.    Billiards/ Pool F[ alls

9.    Bowlin Alle

10.  Business and professional schoo( s and col( e

1 1.  Car Washes

l2.  Educational/ Assembl i

l3.  C mm inity/Civic Centers

14.  Skatin rinks and other simi( ar commercia( recreation facilities.

15.  Fire/ Police Station

l6.  Gamin/ Gamblin / o Par( or

17.  Gas and electrical transmission lines

18.  GaslService Station/ Convenience store

19.  Governmental oftices

0.  HospitaVMedical center

21.  Hotel ( subject to LMC Chapter 17. 78 Hotel Limitations)

22.  Library

23.  Museums

24.  Nightclub/ Cocktail Loun e /Bar

25.  Private Clubs

26.  Recreational fiacility/ Indoor

27.  SeniorlYouth Centers

94



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter l 7. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

28.  Tem orary Christmas tcee lot

29.  " I,emporary pumpkin patch

30.  Theater ( Dinner, Movie, Live, eta)

31.  Transit Stations

17. 57. 203 Properh development standards.

Specifiic develo ment and architecture standards for the Hi hwav Commercial - Mossdale

Villave ( CH- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landing East Urban Desi; n
Concept document.

17. 57. 204 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in any CH- MV zone district until a site plan and
arcllitectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved bv the City pu• suant to the provisions
of Chapters 17 100 and 17 104 Desi; n review is required for a( l proposed structures to; ether with
related site plans landscapin; and public impravements associated with ne r development.

17. 5' 7. 205 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be sub ect to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

Che Community Development Director ma pprove  ise interpretations and minor

deviations related to the zonin herein.

17. 57. 210 CS- MV:  Service Commercial— Mossdale Villaae Zonin District- Application.

The CS- M V uses will be located alonQ the fronta e of I- 5, between Golden Valley Parkway

and Mailthev Road. The service commercial district is intended for establishments en ed in local

and cegional retail. services, and office functions. These businesses require easv arterial access,

ood visibilitv and adequate parkin. The service commercial desi Jn ated parcels of Mossdale
Landina East are art of a lar er commercial district in the Mossdale Village area c f the West

Lathrop Specific Plan. As such the architectura( character of the commercial development shall
be consistent with the desi n standards estab( ished for other Mossdale Vil( a e commercia( areas.

These commercial areas will provide efticient circulation, utilize storefront a 1d " public space"

desi n, and establish connections to other adlacent commercial and cesidential areas. The proposed
uses in the service commercial district shall provide an architectur llv consistent theme alona
Golden Valley Parkwav and the surrounding ( and uses, particularly the Villa, e Center.

17. 57. 211 Permitted uses.

95



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

A.   Retail Sales uses include, but are not limited to:

1.    Antique/ Collector Shops

2.    Art Gallery/ Picture Framin

3.    Auto Parts Stores

4.    Beauty Su ply Stores

5.    Bicycle/ Skateboard/ SurflSki Sho s

6.    Bookstores/ Newsstands

7.    Boutique/ Gift Stores

8.    Brid VFormal Wear

9.    Camera/ Photo Stores

10.  Candy/Confectionery

1 1.  Children' s/ Teen' s Stores

12.  Clothin/ A pareUAccessories

13.  Consi nment/ Thrift Stores

14.  Costume/ Vl-' i Shops

15.  Fabric/ Craft Stores

I 6.  Floor Coverinas/ Carpet Stot•es

17.  Floral Shops

18.  Furniture/A pliance Stores

19.  Health Food Store/ Specialtti Food Stores

20.  Home Furnishin s & Housewares/ Window Coverin s/ Tableware/ Linens

2l.  Jewelry Stores

22.  LightinQ Stores

96



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

23.  Music/ Musical Instrument/ Audio Recordin Stoces

24.  Office Su ply Stores

25.  Paint/ VVallpaper Stores

26.  Partv Supplv Stores

27.  Pets and Pet Su ply Stores

28.  Stationary/ Card Shops

29.  Shoe/ Hat Stores

30.  ecialtv Sho s

31.  Sporting Goods Stores

32.  Tov/ Hobby Stores

E3.  Service Retai( uses include but are not limited to:

1.  A( terations/ Tailc r/ F r& Repair& Storage

2.  Bank/ Credit Unions/ Savin s & Loan/ Financial Institutions

3.  Barber/ Beauty Sa( onlNail Salon/ FaciaVMassa e

4.  Co g/ PY• intin/ Blueprints

5.  Dry Cleaner( no plant orl premises)

6.  Emplo ment A e ncies

7.  Formal Wear Rental Shops

8.  Health Clubs/ Fitness Centers/ Phvsical Therapv

9.  Instruction & Trainin in Gymnastics, Martial Arts. Aerobics. Yo a

10. Laboratories

1 1. Laundromats

12. Locksmiths

97



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

13. Lube Shops

14. PostalfMail Stores

15. Photo ra hic/ Artists Studio

16. Real Estate/ Title Oftices

17. Shoe Repair Shops

18. Travel/ Tour A 7encies

9. Vetecinarian/ Animal Hospital

20. VideolAudio Rental Shops

2l. W`atchlClock Repairs Shops

C.  Eating drinkina and entertainment estab( ishments include, but are not limited to:

1.  Ba el/ Donut Shops

2.  Banquet Facilities

3.  Cafe/ Coffee House Shops

4.  Delicatessen/ Gaterin Secvices

5.  lce Cream/ Yogurt Shops

6.  Outdoor Seating Areas for Food Establishments

7.  Micro- brewery

8.  Restaurants, including on- site alcohol sa(es

9.  Fast Food Drive- Through/ Drive- In Facilitv

D. Office Uses inc( ude but are not limited to:

1.  Administrative Headquarters

2.  Business, Consultin„ and Commercial Services

98



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

3.  Business. Professional and Administrative Offices

4.  Medical and Denta( Laboratories

5.  Radio and Te(evision Broadcastin

6.  Stock Brokera e

E.  Other Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Rec( aimed Water Stora e Ponds

2.  Spray Fields

3.  Storm Drain Detention and Retention Ponds

4.   1' ater reservoir tank site

F.  Retail Sales Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Department Stores/ General Merchanclise Stores

2.  Dru Stores

3.  Electronics/ AudioNideo/ Computers/ Software Stores

4.  Fur iture/ A pliance Stores

5.  G ocery Stores

6.  Hardware/ Home Improvement/ Nurser  S

7.  Tire Stores

G.  Service Retail Uses include, but are not limited to:

I.  Dav Care Centers

2.  Emer ency Medica(/ DentaL Clinics, and presccibin pharmacy within

H.  Reigonally o- iented, hi h vol ime, cetail uses incliide, but are not limited to:

99



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

l.  Auto/ Trl ck Centers

2.  Uesign/ Contractors Centei•s

3.  Discount/ Off Price Centers

Entertainment/ Lifestyle Cente s

5.  Factory Outlet Stores

6.  Furniture Outlets

7.  Malis

8.  Power Centers

9.  Promotional Centers

I.  Other Uses inciude, but are not limited to:

l.  Communications Eq iipment

2.  Electrical transmission and distribution substations. gas re ulator stations, public sei-vice

pumpin stations and elevated pressure tanks.

J.   Incidental and accessory struct ires and uses on the same site as a pern itted use.

K. Other uses added to this list bv the Plailnin Commission accordin to the procedure in
Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 7. 212 Conditional uses.

A.   The fo( lowing uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

1.    Administrative Oftices— City, County. State, and Fedecal

2.    Amusement/ Arcade

3.    Auditoriums/ Concert Hal( s

4.    Ad ilt Novelty Stores

100



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

5.    Ambulance Stations

6.    Any facilitv or business pi•oducin excessive noise, sounds or music.

7.    Beer/ Wine Stores

8.    Billiards/ Pool Halls

9.    Bowlin Alleys

10.  Business and rofessional schools and colle Jes

1 1.  Car Washes

12.  Educationa) and Assembl.  y ises

13.  Cocktail Loun e /Bac

14.  Communitv/ Civ ic Centers

15.  Skatin rinks and othee similar commercial recreation facilities.

16.  Fire/ Police Station

17.  Gamin/ Gamblin/ E3ingo Parlor

18.  Gas atid electrical transmission ( ines

19.  Gas/ Service Station/ Convenience store

20.  Governmental offices

21.  Hospital/ Medical center

22.  Hotel ( subject to LMC Chapter 17. 78 Hotel Limitations)

23.  Library

24.  Museums

25.  Nightc( ub

26.  Private Clubs

27.  Recreational facility/ Indoor

101



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT l 9

28.  Senior/ Youth Centers

29.  Temporary Christmas tree lot

30.  Tem orar} umpkin patch

31.  Theater( Dinner, Movie, Live, etc.)

32.  Transit Stations

17. 57. 213 Propertv development standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the Service Commercial - Mossdale

VillaQe ( CS- MV) one district are established in the Mossdale Landin East Urban Desi n

Concept document.

17._57. 214 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in any CS- MV zc ne district until a site plan and

architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Cit pursuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17 10( and 17 104. Design review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with
re( ated site plans landscaping and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 57. 215 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shali be subject to the  enera)  provisions and exceptions prescribed ii
Chapter 17. 16.

The Community Development Director may approve use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

17. 7. 220 CV- MV:  Villa e Commercial— Mossdale Villa e Zonin District- Application.

The CV- MV uses will be located a( on Towne Centre Drive in Mossdale Landin East.

This district is intended as a mixed use  edestrian- oriented development tYpical of traditional

main streets to create a sense of belon in and community to its surroundinQ residents. The oal
of Mossdale Landin East' s villaQe commercial area is to create the vitality and charm associated

with these main streets. An inte rated mix of retail, office. services, and livin are a(so eneral

ideas behind this type of devel ment Street level fronta e uses should be comprised of small

retail and service businesses, inte; rated with lar er anchor tenants. Multi- level buildin; s can be
either office or commercial at around level with residential or office above.  The villa e

commercial area is lanned to create a symbiotic relationship amona these various live, work, and
play opportunities.

102



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57.221 Permitted uses.

A.   Services include. but are not limited to:

1.    A ts instruction ( music, dance, paintin)

Appliance and Equipment Repair

3.    Barber/ Beauty Shop/ Nail Sa( on

4.    Co, ving and Printin; Sei•vices

5.    Draper,y and Blind Installation

6.    Dry Cleaner ( no lant on premises)

7.    Focmal Wear/ Rental

8.    I. aundromats

9.    Locksmiths

10.  Photographic Studios

1 l.  Shoe Repair

12.  Tailor

13.  Travel Agenc

l4.  Watch and Clock Repair

B.  Local Se• ving Retail Convenience Shopping uses include, but are not limited to:

I.  Art Galler ppl  S   tore

2.  Auto Parts Stores

3.  Bakery

4.  Bicycle Shops

5.  Book Stores

6.  Clothin Stores

103



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

7.  Comp rters/ Electronic Equipment

8.  Dcu Stores

9.  Floor Coverin s

0. Florist/ Plant Shops

1 1. Gitt Shops

12. Hardware Stores

13. Hobb_  Syhops

14. Home ppliances

15. Jewelry Stores

l6. Music Stores

17. News apei•s and Ma; azines

18. Paint, Glass, and Wallpaper Stores

19. Part Supplv Stores

20. Pet Store and Supplies

21. Photo raphic Supply Stores

2?. Picture Framin Shops

23. Shoe Stores

24. Specialty Food Stores includin• meat fish wine candy health food etc.

25. Specialt,y Goods includina•  cookina su plies housewares linen. vindow covecin s

china/ lassware, etc.

26. Sportin Goods Stores

27. Stationary/ Office SupplSytores

28. Tov Stores

104



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

29. Varietv Stores

C Eatin drinkin and entertainment establishments include but are not limited to:

l.  Ba el/ Donut Shops

2.  Cafe/ Coffee Ho se Shops

3.  Delicatessens

4.  Ice Crea n/Yo u rt Shops

5.  Outdoor Seatin Areas for Food Establishments

6.  Micro- brewery

7.  Restaurants includin on- site alcoho) sales ( no dcive- throuIgs).

8.  Video Stores

D Business and Professional Oftice Uses include but are not limited to:

L Emplovment A encies

2.  Professional Offices incl idina: accountin architectural, dental, enaineerin, leag1 etc.

3.  Real Estate/ Title Offices

4.  City Hall

E. Attached Multi- Family Residential, including, but are not ( imited to:

1.  Artist' s Studios ( live/ work units) in mi ed- use a p( ications only.  These units are not

permitted in solely residential projects.

2.  Condominiums. Apartments. Flats, Townhouses, and independent livin facilities

3.  Convalescent and Assisted Care Facilities

Rest/ Nursing Homes

105



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

F Other Uses include but are not limited to:

1.  Reclaimed Water Stora4e Ponds

2.  ra,  Fyields

3.  Storm Drain Detention and Retention Poi ds

G.  Business and Professional Oftices Uses include but are not limited to:

l.   Bank Savin s and Loan and other Financial Institutions

2.  Medical, OptometrX, and Dental Offices

H.  Other Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Communications Equipment

2.  E( ectrical Transmission and Distribution Substations, Gas Re ulator Stations, Public

Service Pumpin Stations and Elevated Pressure Tanks

I.     Incidental nd accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

J.    Other uses added to this list by the Plannin Commission accordin t procedure in
Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 57. 222 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses ma. be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

1.    An faci( ity oc business with live entertainment or music.

2.    Bar or cocktail loun e

3.    Beer/ Wine Sales

4.    Communit Centers

5.    EducationaUAssemblv Uses

6.    Day Care Centers

7.    Library

106



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

8.    Lod e Hall

9.    Ni htclub

10.  Post Office

1 1.  Recreational Faci( ity - Indoor

12.  Social Club

13.  Senior Centers

l4.  Theater— [ ndo r ( Dinner, Movie, Live Pla . etc.)

I5.  Video Arcade

17. 57. 223 Property development standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the Village Commercial - Mossda( e

Villa e ( CV- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin East Urban Desi n

Concept document.

17._57. 22 t Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on anv lot or site in any CV- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and appcoved by the City ursuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. Design review is required for all proposed structures, together vith
related site p( ans, landscapin, and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 57Z2 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Co nmunitv Development Director mav approve use interpretations and minor

deviations related to the zoning herein.

17. 57.230 RL- MV:    Low Densitv Resiclential  —  Mossdale Villa e Zonin  District  -

Application.

107



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

The RL- MV district is intended for Mossdale Landing East' s sin le- family development

platted in 6, 000 square foot lots.  As low densit_y housing, these lots account for approximately
30% of Mossdale Landin 7 East' s residential product type.

17. 7. 231 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted uses include:

l.    One- family detached dwellin

2.    Home occupations in accordance with Chapter l 7. 64.

3.    Raisin<7 of fruit and nut trees,  vines,  ve etables and horticultural specia( ties on a

noncommercial basis.

4.    Fenced or enclosed swimmin pools for either individual, family or communal use on an

exclusive non- commercial basis, provided that no s vimmin pool shall be located jithin
a utility easement.

5.    A State- authorized, certitied or licensed facilitv includin: a famil y car•e l ome

providin care of up to fourteen ( l4) childre; a foster home or roup home servin up

to eight( 8) or fewer mentally disorde- ed or otherwise handicapped persons, or dependent
and ne lectecl children.

6.    Public uses of an administrative, cecreatio Zal, public service or cultural t pe includin
Citv, county, state or fiedera( administrative centers and courts, libraries, museums, art

alleries, police and fire stations and other public buildin s, structures and facilities;
public playgrounds, parks and community centers.

Accessory structures and uses located on the same site with a permitted use.

8.    Garden structures in accordance with the development standards described in the

Mossdale Landin East [ Jrban DesiQn Concept.

9.    Reclaimed vater storage ponds

10.  rav fields

1 1.  Storm drai 1 detention and retention ponds

17. 57.232 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses ma ermitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

108



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

1.    A State authorized licensed child day care center as defined bv the State of Calitornia
Department of Social Services.

2.    Public and private charitable institutions; State authorized hospitals, sanitariums, rest
homes and nursin homes; State authorized, certitied or licensed faci( itv includin: a

foster home or T,

roup home servin nine 9) or more rnentally disordered or otherwise

handica ped persons. such as rehabilitation homes for the alcoho( and/or chemicallv
dependent, or dependent and ne lected childcen, where such homes provide care on a 24-
hour basis.

3.    Public and quasi- public use of an educational or reli i ous tvpe; includin private non-

profit schools, public or private colle es; chu• ches:  parsonages and other religious
institutions.

4.    Gas and electric transmission lines in accordance with Section 17. 108. 080 electrical

distribtrtion substations,   ags regulator stations, comir unications equipment buildin s,

p blic service pumpin stations and e( evated pressure tanks.

17. 57. 233 Propertv development standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the I_,ow Density Residential  -
Mossdale Village (, RL- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin East Urban

Design Concept document.

17._57. 234 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on an lot or site in any RL- MV zone distcict until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Citv p rstiant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104, other than those exempted by Local, State, and/ or Federal statute.
Design review is required for all pt•oposed structures, to ether ith related site p( ans, landscapinQ,
and pub( ic impcovements associated with new development.

17. 7. 235 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  ; eneral provisions and exceptions p• escribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Community Development Director mav approve use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin, j herein.

17. 7. 240 RM- MV:   Medium Densitv Residential — Mossdale Village Zoning District -

Application.

109



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

The RM- MV district is intended to permit both attached and detached housin units.

Attached housin may consist ofi duets, townhomes or rowhouses, condominiums, and apartments.
New lannin c  oncepts and lot reconfi urations, such as allevs or other features particular to a
selected housin type, that do not fall within the development standards listed in Mossdale LaildinQ

East Urban Desi n Concept documellt mav be considered by the Community Development
Department.

17. 57. 241 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted uses include:

1.    One- familv dwellings.

2.    Two or more sin le- family dwellin s proposed for the same site.

3.    Duplexes.

4.    Multi- family dwellinas or apartments.

5.    Home occupations in accordance with Chapter 17. 64.

6.    A State- authorized, certitied or licensed facilitv includin: a family day care home

providing care of up to fourteen ( 14) children; a foster home or 7,roup home serving up
to ei ht( 8) or fewer mental(y disordered or otherwise handicapped persons, o• dependent
and ne lected childr•en.

7.    Public uses of an administrative, public service or cultural type includin City, count
state or federal administrative centers and courts, libraries, museums, art galleries, police
and fire staticros and other public buildin s, sti-uctures and facilities; public laygrou lds,

parks and community centers.

8.    Fenced or enclosed swimming poois for either individual, familv or com nui al use or an
exclusive non- cominercial basis, provided that no s vimmin pool shall be ( ocated within     
a utility easement or a fcontaYrd•

9.    Incidental and accessory structures and uses located on the same site with a permitted
use.

10.  Reclaimed water storage ponds

1 1.  Sprav tields

12.  Storm drain detention and retention ponds

17. 57. 242 Conditional uses.

110



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

A.   The fo( lowin  uses ma be permitted in accordance with the pcovisions of
Chapter 17. 112:

1.    A State authorized licensed child dav care center as defined bv the State of California
Department of Socia( Services.

Public and private charitable institutions: State authorized hospita( s, sanitariums. rest
homes, and nursin homes; State authorized, certified or licensed facility includin: a

foster home or Jroup home servin„; nine ( 9) or more menta( ly disordered or otherwise
handicapped persons, such as rehabilitation homes for the alcohol andlor chemically
dependent, or dependent and ne lected children, where such homes provide care on a 24-
hour basis.

3.    Boardin or roomin houses as defined in Section 17. 04. 080 of this Title.

4.    Public and c uasi- public use of an educational or reliigo pe, ii cluding: private non-
profit schools, public or private colle es; chucches; pacsona es and other reli 7ious
institutions.

5.    Gas and electric transmission lines in accordance with Section 17. 108. 080 electrical

distribution substations, ? as reQulator stations, communications eauipment buildin s,

public service pumping stations and elevated pressure tanks.

17. 57. 243 Property de elopment standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the Medium Densitv Residentia( -

Mossdale Villa e ( RM- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landing East Urban
Desi n Concept document.

17. 57. 244 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on ai v lot or site in any RM- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shal( have been submitted to and approved bv the Cit pursuant to the pcovisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104, otller than t} ose exempted bv Local, State, andlor Federal statute.

Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with related site plans. landscapin.
and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 57. 24 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the general provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Comm inity Development Director ma approve use interpretations and minor

deviations related to the zoning herein.

111



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57.250 P/ QRMV:  Public/ Quasi Public— Mossdale Villa e Zoning District- Application.

The P/ QP- MV zonin district is intended to permit schoo( s, parks, and other public
facilities shall relate to and build upon those styles nandated for residential development in the

Mossdale Landin East Urban Desi n Concept document.  This vvill ensure that the architecture

of public uses will tie into Mossdale Landin' s traditional character. Materials and colors shall be

propriate to the design style selected, and buildin p( acement and massin shall be sensitive to
the site and adiacent nei hborhoods.

17. 7. 251 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted ses i clude but are not limited to:

1.    Cornmunity Centers.

2.    Farmer' s Market

3.    FestivaUStreet Fairs

Open Space

5.    Other such uses that meet the intent of this district, as a proved by the Director of
Commimity Development.

6.    Park- active and passive

7.    Reclainled vater storage ponds

8.    Recreation facility

9.    Spray tields

10.  Schools

1 1.  St rm drain detention and retention ponds

12.  Trai( s, pathways, maintenance roads, and related features

13.  1' ater c ua( it onds and related features

14.  Water reservoir tank site

112



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 252 Site plan ancl architectural review requirecl.

No use or structure shall be erected on any lot or site in any P/ QP- MV zone district until a

site plan and architectura( plans shall have been submitted to and approved bv the Cit pursuant to
the provisions of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 10, other than those exempted bv Local, State and/ or
Federal st 3tute. Desi n review is req ired for all proposed structures, to ether with related site
plans, landscaping, and public impcovements associated with new development.

17. 57. 253 General rovisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subiect to the  eneral p ovisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

Any use or structure proposed for placement on city owned p• operty pursuant to a lease,
license, a reement with the cit , pi-oject, shall be exempt from this chapter, but shall comply
with such rocessing and desi; n standards as are set forth in such lease, license, or other
a reement.

17. 7. 260 P- MV:  Park— Mossdale Vil(a e Zoning District— Application.

The P- MV District is intended to provide for neighborhood, community and re, iona) parks,
reenways, and other outdoor recreation facilities to a( low for a wide ari•ati of local and community

recreational activities and entertainmei t oppo- tunities within ucban development.  Specific uses

intended for this zonin; district include: public recreation sites including ball fields, tot lots and
pla pparatus, adult softbal( and soccer playin fields, swimmin ools, community center

buildings, meetin facilities, libraries. art centers, after school care facilities, art in public places,
facilities foc ni ht- time recreation, trai( s benches, interpretive markers, pic 1ic areas. barbeque
facilities, landscapin irrigation, city wells, trees and natural habitat areas.  Parks also may be
desi ned to accommodate multi- level storm draina e detention basins that will allow recreation

use of areas not needed for detention durin a iven. storm.

17. 57. 261 Reviewin; Authority.

Al( pi-oposed structures, events, and uses shall be subject to the review and approval bv the
City of Lathrop Parks and Recreation Commission.

17. 57. 270 OS- MV: Open Space— Nlossdate Vilta e Zonin District— Application.

The OS- MV zonin district is intended to provide for permanent o en space in areas that
exhibit sianificant veQetation, wildlife, wetlands, bodies of water or water courses, mineral

resources, scenic qualities or recreationalpotential, water quality a 1d storm water detention basins,
and that are desi nated as open space within the Mossdale Villa e area. This district is fi rCher

intended to be applied to lands within the city that are subject to an a ricultural land conservation

113



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

contract under the provisions of the V4rilliamson Act.

17. 57. 271 Permitted uses.

1.  Recreational— Active.

2.  Recreational — Passive.

3.  Trails and maintenance roads.

4.  Levees and other related facility equipment.

5.  Private or public infrastructure.

6.  Resource mana ement lands.

7.  River and other• ater courses.

8.  Draina e, water q ality. and other similar facilities, inc( udin swales and basins.

9.  Reclaimed water stora e ponds.

10. Spray fields.

1 1. Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

l2. Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted ise.

13. Other uses added to this list bv the plannin  commission accordin;  to the

procedures in Section 17. 16. 020 of the Lathc p Zoning Code.

17. 7. 272 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16 of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

The Communitv Development Director  na a prove use intecpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

Article 3. Mossdale Lanclin South Zonina Districts of the Mossdale Landin South Urban

DesiEn Concept- Purposes.

The Mossdale Landin  South zonin districts in this chapter are desig;ned to pravide the
opportunity for a wide variet,y of residential and commercial uses on lands located in the Mossdale

114



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

Villa e area which are encom assed b t pproved West Lathrop Specific Plan.  These aonin
districts are subject to the Mossdale Landin South Urban Desi; n Concept. These zoning districts,
endin in `'- MV" are limited to the Mossdale Villa e.

17. 7. 300 CS- MV:  Service Commercial— Mossdale Villa e Zonin District- Application.

The CS- MV uses will be located alon the fronta e of I- 5, east of Golden Valley Pa- kwa
The service commercial district is intended for establishments en ed in local and regional retail,

services, and office fwictions. These businesses require easy arterial access, ood visibility, and
adequate parkin. The service commercial desianated parcels of Mossdale Landing South are part
of a larger commercial district in the Mossdale VillaQe a ea of the West Lathrc p Specific Plan. As
such, the architectural character of the commercial development shall be consistent with the desi n

standards established for other Mossdale Vill e cornmercial areas. These commercial areas will

provide efficient circulation, utilize storefront and" public space" desi n, and establish connections
to other adjacent conlmercial and residential areas.  The proposed uses in the service commercial
district shall  rovide an architecturall, y consistent theme which  v ill blend  ith the other

cominercia) districts alon Golden Vallev Parkway, as well as the surcoundin land uses.

17. 7. 301 Permitted uses.

A.   Retai( Sales uses inclL de, but are not limited tc:

1.    Antic ie/ Collector Sho s

2.    Act Gallery/ Picture Fraining

3.    Auto Parts Stores

4.    Beautv Su ply Stores

5.    Bicycle/ Skateboard/ Surf/ Ski Shops

6.    Bookstores/ Newsstands

7.    Boutique/ Gi ft Stores

8.    Bridal/ Formal Wear

9.    Camera/ Photo Stores

10.  Candy/Confectionery

1 1.  Children' s/ Teen' s Stores

12.  Clothin / Apparel/ Accessories

115



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

l3.  ConsignmentlThrift Stores

14.  Costume/ Wi Shops

15.  Fabric/ Craft Stores

16.  F( oor Coverings/ Carpet Stores

17.  Floral Shops

18.  Furniture/ Appliance Stores

19.  Health Food Store/ Specialtti Food Stores

20.  Home Furnishinas & Housewares/ Window Coverings/ Table• are/ Linens

21.  Jewelry Stores

22.  Li htin Stores

23.  Music/ Musica) Instr iment/ Audio RecordinQ Stores

24.  Office Su plv Stores

25.  Paint/ Wallpapec Stores

26.  Partv Su ply Stores

27.  Pets and Pet Su ply Stores

28.  Stationarv/ Card Shops

29.  Shoe/ Hat Stores

30.  ecialtv Shops

31.  ortin Goods Stores

32.  Toy/ Hobby Stores

B.  Service Retail uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Alterations/ Tailor/ Fur& Repair& Stora,ae

2.  BanklCcedit Unions/ Savin s & Loan/ Financial Institutio ls

116



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

3.  Barber/ Beauty Salon/ Nail Salon/ FaciaUMassage

4.  Co vin/ Printin / Blueprints

5.  Dry Cleaner( no p( ant on premises)

6.  Emplovment A encies

7.  Formal Wear Rent l Shops

8.  Health Clubs/ Fimess CentersJPh} sica( Thera Y

9.  Instruction & Trainina in Gymnastics, Martial Arts, Aerobics, Yo a

10. Laboratories

1 l. Laundromats

12. [., ocksmiths

13. Lube Shops

14. PostaUMail Stores

15. Photoarapllic/ Artists Studio

16. Real Estate/ Title Oftices

17. Shoe Re.pair• Shops

l 8. Tcavel/ Tour Agencies

19. Veterinarian/ Ai imal Hospita(

20. Video/ Audio Renta( Shops

21. Watch/ Clock Repairs Shops

C.  Eatin. drinking and entertainment establishments include b it are not limited to•

1.  Bagel/ Donut Sho s

2.  Banquet Faci( ities

3.  Cafe/ Coffee House Shops

117



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

4.  Delicatesse/ Caterin Services

5.  Ice Cream/ Yo urt Shops

6.  Outdoor Seatin Areas for Food Establishments

7.  Micco- brewery

8.  Restaurants, includin on- site alcohol sales

9.  Fast Food Urive- Throu h/ D- ive- In Facility

D. Oftice Uses include but are not lirnited to:

l.  Administrative Headquartecs

2.   Business Consultin and Commercial Services

3.   Business. Professional and Administrative Offices

4.  Medical and Dental Laboratories

5.  Radio and Television Broadcastin

6.  Stock Brokera e

E.  Other Uses include but are not limited to:

I.  Rec( aimed Water Sto- a e Ponds

2.  Spray Fie(ds

3.  Storm Dcain Detention and Retention Ponds

F.  Retail Sales Uses illcl ide but are not limited to:

1.  Department StoreslGeneral Merchandise Stores

2.   Dru Stores

3.  Electronics/ Audio/ Video/ Comp iters/ Software Stores

4.  Furniture/ Appliance Stores

118



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

5.  Grocer, Sktores

6.  Hardware/ Home Improvement/ Nursery Stores

7.  Sale of new Motorsports Vehicles,  includinQ but not limited to:  motorc,ycles,

snowmobiles, jet skis, all- terrain vehicles,  small watercraft, or similar vehicles, and

inc( udin; the ancillary sale of used motorsports vehicles, arts, and accessories and

maintenance, repair, and service of mc torsports vehicles.    

8.  Tire Stores

G.  Service Ketail Uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Day Care Centers

2.  Emer ency MedicallDental, Clinics, and prescribina pharmac_y within

H.  Re. i onallv oriented. hi h v olume, retail uses include, but are not limited to:

1.  Desitrn/ Contractors Centecs

2.  Discount/ Off Price Centers

3.  Entertainment/ Lifestyle Centers

4.  Factory Outlet Stores

5.  Furniture Outlets

6.  Malls

7.  Power Centers

8.  Promotional Centers

1.   Other Uses include, but are not limited to:

l.  Communications Equipment

119



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

2.  Electrical transmission and distribution substations, as re ulator stations, public service

pumpin stations and elevated pressure tanks.

J.   Incidental and accesso, y structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use.

K. Other uses added to this list by the Plannin Commission accordin to the procedure in
Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 57. 302 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

1.    Administrative Offices— City, Countv, State, and Federal

2.    Amusement/ Arcade

3.    Auditoriu ns/ Concert Hal( s

Ambulance Stations

5.    Anv facilitv or business producinQ excessive noise, sounds ar music.

6.    Beer/ Wine Stores

7.    Billiards/ Pool Halls

8.    Bowling Alleys

9.    Business and professional schools and colle es

0.  Car Washes

1 l.  Cocktail LounQe/ Bar

12.  C mmunity/ Civic Centers

13.  Skatin rinks and other similar commercial recreation facilities.

14.  Fire/ Police Station

15.  Gamin/ Gamblin /g Bin, o Parlor

120



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

16.  Gas and electrical transmission lines

17.  Gas/ Service Station/ Convenience store

18.  Governmental oftices

19.  Hospital/ Medical center

20.  Hotel ( subject to LMC Chapter 17. 78 Hote( Limitations

21.  Lib ary

22.  Museums

23.  Ni >htc( ub

24.  Private Clubs

25.  Recreational facility/ Indoor

26.  Senior/ Youth Centers

27.  Temporar,y Christmas tree lot

28.  Temporar pumpkin patch

29.  Theater ( Uinner-, Movie, Live, etc.)

30.  Transit Stations

3l.  Water qiialit ponds/ associated facilities

17. 57. 303 Property development standards.

Speeitie development and architecture standards for the Service Commercial - Mossdale

VillaQe ( CS- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin South Urban Desi

Concept document.

17. 57.304 Site ptan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in anv CS- MV zone district until a site plan and
architect iral plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Citypui-s lant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. Desi n revie v is requir•ed for all proposed structures, together with
related site plans, laildscapin, a d public improvements assoeiated with new cievelopment.

121



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 305 General pro isions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

T11e Community Development Director ma pprove use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

17. 57. 310 RM- MV:   Medium Densitv Residential — Mossdale Villa e Zonin District -

Application.

The RM- MV district is intended to permit both attached and detached housin units. New
plannin c  oicepts and lot reconfii urations, such as alleys or other features particulac to a selected
housing type, that do not fall within the developme t standards listed in Mossdale Landin South
Urban llesi n Concept document mav be considered by the Communitv Development
Department.

17. 57. 311 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted uses include:

1.    One- family dwellin

2.    " T' wo or more sin le- fami( y dwel( in s proposed for the same site.

3.    Duplexes.

4.    Multi-family dwellin s or apartments.

5.    Home occ pations in accordance with Chapter 17. 64.

6.    A State- authorized, certitied or licensed facilitv includin: a familv day care home

providin care of up to fourteen ( 14) children; a foster home or roup home servin p

to ei ht( 8) or fewer mentallv disordered or otherwise handicapped persons, or dependent
and neglected children.

7.    Public uses of an administrative, pub( ic service or cultural tYpe includin v, count

state or federal aciministrative centers and courts, libraries, museums, art alleries, police
and tire stations and other public buildin s, structures and facilities; public plavarounds,
parks and commlinity centers.

8.    Fenced or enclosed swimmin poo( s for either individual, familv or communal use or an
eYclusive non- commercial basis, provided that no swimmin pool sha( l be located within
a itility easement or a front vard.

122



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

9.    Incidenta( and accessory structures a d uses located on the same site with a permitted
use.

10.  Reclaimed water stora e ponds.

1 1.  Spray fields.

12.  Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

17. 7. 312 Conditional uses.

A.   The followin  uses mak be pei-mitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter ( 7. 1 12:

1.    A State authorized licensed child dav care center as detined by the State of California
Depai- tment of Social Services.

2.    Public and private charitable institutions; State authorized hospita( s, sanitaciums. rest
homes, and nursina homes; State authorized, certified or licensed facility includin: a

foster home or rr•oup home serving nine ( 9) or more mentally disordered or otherwise
ha idicapped persons, such as rehabilitation ho es for the alcohol andlor chemicall
dependent, or dependent and ne lected children, where such homes provide care on a 24-
hour basis.

3.    Boarding or roomin houses as defined in Section 17. 04. 080 of this Title.

4.    Public and quasi- public use of an educational or reli Ji ype, includin: rivate non-

protit schools,  public or private col( e es: churches;  parsona; es and other reli; ious
institutions.

5.    Gas and eleetrie transmission lines in accordanee with Section 17. 10$. 080, electrical

distribution substations,   ags reg lator stations, communications ec uipment buildintrs,
public service pumpin. stations a d elevated pressure tanks.

6.    VVater quafit ponds/ associated facilities.

17. 57. 313 Propertv development standards.

Specitic development and architecture standards for the Medium Density Residential -
Mossdale Villa e (, RM- MV zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin South Urban

Desi n Concept document.

123



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 314 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in any RM- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the Citv pucsuant to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and l 7. 104, other than those exempted by Loca(, State, and/ or Federal statute.

Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with related site plans, landscaping,
andpublic improvements associated with ne v development.

17. 57. 315 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses sha( I be subiect to the  eneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Co nmunity Development Director ma  approve use interpretations and minor

deviations related to the zonin herein.

1757. 320 RH- MV:    Hi h Density Resiclential  — Mossdale Village Zoning District  -

Application.

The RH- MV district is intended for Mossdale Landi l South' s multi- family and attached
housin development.  The theme, desi n stvles, materials and colors shall reflect those of the

other residential nei hborhoods of Mossdale L. andin South.

17. 57. 321 Permitted uses.

C.   Attached multi- family residential uses iticluding, but not limited to:

5.    Condomini ims, apartments, flats, townhouses, and independent livin facilities.

6.    Convalescent and assisted care facilitv.

7.    Home occupations in accordance w ith the provisions of Chapter 17. 64.

8.    Rest/ Nursing homes.

D.   Other uses. includin but not limited to:

4.    Rec( aimed water storage ponds.

5.    Sprav tields.

6.    Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

17. 57. 322 Conditional uses.

124



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

A.   The followin  uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

3.    Da,y Care Centers.

4.    Private non- profit schools and colle es; churches, and other religious institutions.

17. 57. 323 Property development standards.

Specific development and architecture standards for the Hiah Density Residential  -
Mossdale Villa e ( RI-- MV) zone district are established in the Mossdale Landin South Urban

Design Concept document.

17. 7. 324 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use sl all be erected on any lot or site in a 1,y RH- MV zone district until a site plan and
architectural plans shall have beep submitted to and approved by the Citv pursua lt to the provisions
of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104. Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, to ether with
related site plans, landscapin and public improvements associated with new development.

17. 57. 325 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shal(  be subject to the  eneral provisions and exceptior s prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16.

The Com nunity Development Director ma p i-ove use interpretations and minor
deviations related t the zonin herein.

17. 57. 330 P/ QRMV:  Public/ Quasi Public— Mossdale Village Zoning District- Application.

The P/ QP- MV zonin district is intended to ermit schools, arks, and other public
facilities shall re( ate to and build upon those styles mandated for residential development in the

Mossdale LandinQ South Urban Design Concept document.  This wi( l enstire that the architecture
of public uses will tie into Mossdale Landing' s traditional character. Materials and colors shall be
appropriate to the desi n stvle selected, and buildin placement and massing sha( I be sensitive to
the site and adlacent nei;; hborhoods.

17. 7.331 Permitted uses.

A.   Permitted uses include but are not limited to:

1.    Community Centers.

125



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

2.    Farmer' s Market.

3.    Festival/ Street Fairs.

4.    Open Space.

5.    Other such uses that meet the intent of this district, as appi-oved bv the Directot• of

Communitv Deve( opment.

6.    Park- active and passive, includinc ancillary structures and facilities.

7.    Reclaimed water storage ponds.

Recreation facility.

9.    Spray tields.

10.  School.

1 I.  Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

l2.  Trails, pathwa,ys, maintenance roads, and related features.

13.  Water qualityponds and related features.

14.  Water reservoir tank site.

17. 7. 332 Site plan and architectural review required.

No use or structure shal( be erected on anv lot or site in any P/ QP- MV zone district until a

site plan and architectura) plans shall have been submitted to and approved bv the City pursuant to
the provisions of Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104, other than those exempted by Local, State and/ oc
Fedei-al statute. Desi n review is required for all proposed structuces, to ether with related site

lans, landscapin, and pub( ic improvements associated with new development.

17. 57. 333 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be s ibject to the general provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chaptel• 17. 16.

Anv use or structure proposed for placement on citv owned propert pursuant to a lease,
license. a reement with the cit , proiect, shall be exempt from this chapter, but shall complv
with such processin and desi n standards as are set forth in such lease,  license, or other

a reement.

126



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

17. 57. 340 P- MV:  Park— Mossdale Vilta e Zoning District— Application.

The P- MV District is intended to provide for nei hborhood communih- and re iona( parks
ceenways, and other outdoor recreation facilities to allow for a wide arrav of local and communitv

recreational activities and entertainment o portunities within urban deve( opment Specific uses

i tended for this zonin district inelude: public recreation sites including ball fields tot lots and
plav apparatus, adult softball and soccer pla

Q fields swimmin pools com nunitvi center

buildin s, meetin faci( ities libraries art centers after sellool care faci( ities art in public laces
facilities for niaht- time recreation, trails benches interpretive markers pienic areas ba beq ie
facilities, landscapin, irriQation, city wells t- ees and natural habitat areas Parks also may be
desiQned to accommodate multi- level storm draina e detention basins that will a( low recreation

use of areas not needed for detention during a given storm.

17. 57. 341 Re iewina Authority.

Al( proposed structures, events and uses shall be subject to the review and approval bv the
City of Lathrop Parks and Recreation Commission.

17. 7. 3_50 OS- MV: Open Space— Mossdale Villa e Zonin District— Application

The OS- MV zonin district is intended to pcovide for permanent open space in areas that
eYhibit si niticant ve etation, w ildlife  vetlands bodies ofi water or water courses minera(

resources scenic qualities or recreational potential water quality and storm water detentic n basins
and that are desi nated as open space within the Mossdale Villaae area This district is fu- ther•
intended to be applied to lands within the city that are subject to an aaricultural land conservation
contract under the provisions of the Williamson Act

17. 57. 351 Permitted uses.

1.  Recreational — Active.

2.  Recreationaf — Passive.

3.  Trails and maintenance roads.

4.  Levees and other related facilit quipment.

5.  Private or public infrastructure.

6.  Resource management ( ands.

7.  River and other water courses.

8.  Draina e, water quality and other similar faci( ities includin swales and basins

127



Mossdale Landing Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 57 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 19

9.  Reclaimed water stora e ponds.

10. Sprav fields.

1 1. Storm drain detention and retention ponds.

12. Incidental and accessory structures and uses on the same site as a permitted use

13. Other uses added to this list by the plannin  commission accordi 1 to the

procedures in Section 17. 16. 020 of the Lathrop Zoning Code

17. 57. 3 2 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subiect to the Ueneral provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. 16 of the t,athrop Municipal Code.

The Communitv Dev l pment Director mav apprc ve use interpcetations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

128



LGBPSP Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 58 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 20

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +
r;, o+.,.,.,,,.

Chapter 17. 58 Lathrop Gateway Business Park Zoning Districts

Article 1. Purposes and Application

17. 58. 010 Lathrop Gateway zoning districts, purposes and application.

The zoning districts in this chapter are designed to provide the opportunity for a wide variety
of office, commercial, and industrial ^^ a ^ ^^^ uses that are compatible with the Lathrop
Gateway Business Park Specific Plan. The following regulations are supplemented by the entire
text of the LGBPSP and are always combined with the LG ( Lathrop Gateway) combining zone.
These zoning districts, ending in"- LG," are limited to the Lathrop Gateway Business Park Specific
Plan area. ( Ord. 11- 307 § 4)

l

Article 3. CS- LG: Service Commercial Zoning District

l

Chapter 17. 58. 031 Permitted Uses.

A.   Off-street parking lots improved in conformity with Chapter 17. 76 shall be permitted.

B.    Service commercial establishments, including, but not limited to, the following:

1.    Addressograph services;

2.    Automobile and truck sales, service and repair, new and used;

3.    Automobile, truck and trailer rental and service, including incidental sales;

l

40.  Heating, ventilating and air- conditioning shops, including incidental sheet metal;

41.  Ice sale and storage;

42.  Interior decorating and window coverings;

43.  Kennels and small breeding facilities, located not closer than five hundred ( 500) feet to
an R, RM, CN, CC, or CR e V+t district;

129



LGBPSP Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 58 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 20

44.  Laboratories, research and development services;

t c4 nc v,......;+„a ,

n wi•   n . i•   i,. a•     .,.*    + i:..,:+ oa ,,.
r- li ariE ii-icsi- r-cimiE- tcoc$--i-ccc- ucriix vuc-iivc-n-m-rcccrcv.

o

2 i a rl „* L. o..« ol.,+ orl F..; 1;., o

Eii

G D..:...,* o ..   „ 1. 1;,. ;., F„ r..,,.. r,,,. e.

De...... lo, a . ,.,* o.- *,,,-,,.. o .. . rl•

8.    ee- c rt- e rl— Ct Fe;

esre ie. ti

i n c,.,..,., oia.

1-.  c*,,...,, a...,;., ao o+;,.,, ,,., a .. o o„+;,, ,. a.

17 T.-.,;1 .,.., 1 . v.  .,* o,,.,.,,. e .. .,. 7•

r4.  `x

130



LGBPSP Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 58 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 20

e- te '. 29- e t- c, t# e}r g- Ee o•,  > >  n  n

i v.nc
Er'r f9...,   !`,..,,..,;:.„ ,.

a

7 o' e-- pe t ed-- r- Eee Ee-; 1111 Ti

2 n

e..,.,., r„:,, o n.,,.v e a,.;;,. nt., „      n.-a i i zn  n

ir"trir 2-- S @E 6--} 2 2f£-- 3f8'- i i6i S-- Ri3F, c rEc 9ir, Pic GFi" ccì-- iii

e e e e g e e.  
2n

Article Sb. Development Standards

Table 17. 58. 060 Lathrop Gateway Business Park Specific Plan:  Nonresidential Site

Development Standards

O- LG S- LG L- LG

inimum Parcel Size ( s fl 000 000 000

inimum Lot

idth 0' 0' 0'

131



LGBPSP Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 58 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 20

O- LG S- LG L- LG

epth 100'      100'      100'

inimum Setbacks'

Street frontage 0'
Z     

0'
2     0' 2

ront yard 15'       15'       15'

Side yard
3>       3

ear yard
3       3

istance between structures 10'       10'       10'   

aximum Lot Coverage 0%       0%       0%

aximum Building/Structural Heigh 5' S' S'   

andscape Requirements 4

andscape coverage ( minimum)
s    

15%
6  

10%     10%(
6>     

er Lathrop
er Lathrop

er Lathrop
oning

inimum Parking Requirements
oning

rdinance,       
oning

rdinance,       
hapter 17. 76

rdinance,  

hapter 17. 76 hapter 17. 76
onin

er Master er Master er Master

ignage ignage ignage

Signage rogram, rogram, rogram,  

nd/ or nd/ or nd/ or

hapter 17. 84 hapter 17. 84 hapter 17. 84

Footnotes to Table 17. 58. 060:

1) Minimum standards may need to be revised based on parcel configuration and proposed land
use; community development director to approve minor deviations.

2) Those sites with public street frontage on a curve or cul- de- sac may have frontages of not less
than 40', provided that the width of the site as measured along the front yard setback line is at least
50'.

3) Except where abutting an adjacent structure; see distance between structures standard.

4) For landscape standards reference Chapter 17. 92 of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

5) Measured as a percentage of net lot acreage.

6) Landscape coverage is encouraged to include recreation and open space amenities for

employees and visitors consistent with Section 5. 5. 1. 1. F, Public Spaces and Pedestrian Amenities,

of the Lathrop Gateway Business Park Specific Plan; recreation and open space amenities will
count toward the landscape requirement.

132



LGBPSP Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 58 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 20

Ord. 11- 307 § 4)

133



Southeast Stewart Tract Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 60 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 21

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *'-^„ h'

Chapter 17.60 Southeast Stewart Tract Zoning Districts

l

17.60.040 RCO-ST: Resource Conservation and Open Space Zoning District.

Application. The resource conservation and open space zoning district shall be that described
in Chapter 17. 20, except that uses listed in Section 17. 20. 040 ( Conditional uses) shall be permitted
uses herein subject to securing site plan approval. ( Ord. 22- 431 § 1; Ord. 96- 132)

17. 60. 050 UR- ST: Urban Reserve Zoning district.

Application. The urban reserve zoning district shall be that described in Chapter 17. 24. ( Ord.

22- 431 § l; Ord. 96- 132)

134



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by

Chapter 17. 61 River Islands Zoning Districts

17.61. 030 MU-RI: Mixed Use Town Center Zoning District.

A.   Application. The MU- RI zoning district is intended to provide a mix of retail, services,
restaurants, entertainment, offices, higher density residential and civic uses. Such a variety of uses
will need special attention as to their design to ensure proper integration and compatibility. The
urban design concept review shall establish a precise mix of uses in accordance with the general
categories described in this section.

B.    Use Types Permitted in the MU-RI Zoning District. Retail, personal services, food
and food services, offices, medical services, single- family residential, multifamily residential,
civic uses, religious facilities, schools, public and private parks and open space, conditional uses,
such as entertainment-related and community oriented uses, medical clinics, and other uses
consistent with the scale and character of the district.

C.    Permitted and Conditionally Permitted Uses. Permitted and conditionally permitted
uses shall be those listed in Section 17. 61. 210, Table 17. 61. 1 and in areas covered by an urban
design concept.

D.   Development Standards. Specific development standards for the mixed use town

center ( MU- RI) district shall be further detailed in neighborhood development plans as required
under Section 17. 61. 120. The neighborhood development plan shall include, but not be limited to,
development standards for density, floor area ratios, lot coverage, building height, setbacks, lot
width and depth, sign regulations, off-street parking, and standards for landscaping and irrigation.
Ord. 21- 422 § 1; Ord. 03- 215 § 1)

17. 61. 080 RCO/OS-RI: Resource Conservation and Open Space Zoning District.

A.   Application. The resource conservation and open space zoning district is intended to
provide for habitat restoration and preservation- related activities within Paradise Cut.

B.    Use Types Permitted in the RCO/ OS Zoning District. Lake, waterways, conditional uses
including recreation parks, wildlife preserves, schools, public and quasi- public, utility and service
structures and facilities and other uses consistent with the scale and character of the district.

C.    Permitted and Conditionally Permitted Uses. Permitted and conditionally permitted uses
shall be those described in Chapter 17. 20, as listed in Section 17. 61. 210, Table 17. 61. 1, except

that uses listed in Section 17. 20.040 ( Conditional uses) shall be permitted uses herein subject to
securing site plan approval. Such permitted and conditionally permitted uses shall be located in

135



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

areas covered by an urban design concept.

D.   Development Standards. Specific development standards for the resource conservation

and open space ( RCO/ OS zoning district shall be established as part of the urban design concept
review. ( Ord. 21- 422 § 1; Ord. 03- 215 § 1)

17. 61. 090 OS/ P- RI: Open Space a/ Public Use District.

l

17. 61. 210 River Islands zoning districts and permitted uses.

TABLE 17. 61. 1 Stewart Tract— River Islands Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses 

a u     Mv cR ara      t srr

AGRICULTURAL USES

Agricultural Uses may continue pursuant to
Cha ter 17. 52.

RESIDENTIAL USES

SF detached P P

SF attached du lex, tri lex P P

SF attached( townhome, condominium)  P P P P

MF attached P P P P

Manufactured Housin P P P P

Accesso dwellin units P P P P P

Hotels/ motels, and other lod in C P P P

Small family day care facility( 8 or fewer
P P P P P

children

Large family day care facility( 9 to 14
pA PA PA PA PA

children)

Childcaze facili C C C C C C

Emergency shelters in accordance with the
P

rovisions of Cha ter 17. 74

Single room occupancy uses, in accordance
C

with the rovisions of Cha ter 17. 73

Residential care facili  , small P P P P P

Residential care facili  , lar e C C C C C

Storehouses;  arden structures;  reenhouses PA PA PA PA PA

Fenced or enclosed private swimming pools PA PA PA PA PA
or tennis courts

Home occu ations PA PA PA PA PA

Model home dis la areas PA PA PA PA PA

COMMERCIAL USES

A arel P P P

Arcades C C C

Art and anti ues P P P

Arts and crafts schools/ colle es C C C

Art alleries P P P

Art su 1 P P P

Auto and motorc cle dealershi s C C

Automobile and tractor repair and
C

maintenance

136



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

I:;aad U?  '   1411ti   '      MU      •   T 3D RCtl//C?S.  ?/ P

Automobile supply( no repair or
P P P

installation)

Bake oods P P P

Banks and other lendin institutions P P P

Ban uet facili P P P

Bars, cocktail loun es, ni htclubs C C C

Barbersho s and beauty sho s P P P

Bic cle sho s P P P

Billiard and ool halls P P

Blue rint, hotoco  , and mailin P PC P

Boat sales and services C C C

Books P P P

Bowlin alle s PA PA PA

Business, professional and trade schools and
C C C

colle es

Camera e ui ment and su lies P P P

Cand P P P

Card rooms C C C

C etin and floorin P P P

Caterin P P P

Clothing cleaning( Pick- up and delivery, dry
cleanin ; self-serve laundromats

p P P

Clothin and costume rental P P P

Convenience stores( max. 5, 000 s uaze feet)   P P P

Commercial small business offices( not
P P P

more than 8, 000 s uare feet)

Da s as P p P

De artment stores P P P

Drive- throu h establishments P P P

Em lo ment a encies P P P

Facto outlets C C C

Farmers' mazkets PA PA PA

Florists P P 1'

Food market; delicatessen P P P

Furniture stares P P P

Gazden su lies and nurseries( indoors P P

Gifts, novelties and souvenirs P P P

Gun sales and unsmith P P

G mnasium and health studios C C C

Hardwaze P P P

Health foods P P P

Hobby su lies P P P

Home furnishin s P P P

Home im rovement su lies P P P

Household re air sho s P P

Ice dis ensers outdoor P P P

Interior decoration P P P

Jewel P P P

Kennels C C C

Kiosks sales and mazketin )  C C C

Leather oods and lu a e P P P

Li uor acka ed)     C C C

Locksmith P P P

Massa e C C C

Musical instruments& su lies P P P

137



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

La d Ua.<    RM- lti         MU     R TOD RC(?( QS   t?S/P`<

Music and dance studios C C C

News and ma azine stands P P 1'

Office and business machines stores P P P

Outdoor cafes P P P

Paint and wall a er P P P

Pet stores and t oomin no boazdin )     P P P

Pawn sho s C C C

Pharmac P P P

Photo ra hic su lies P P P

Photo ra hic studios P P P

Picture framin P P P

Post/ delivery offices P P P

Private clubs and loun es C C C

Private access la oons C C

Public and private non-profit charitable
P P P

institutions

Radio, television and film
P p P

broadcastin studios

Radio, television and audio- visual
P P P

e ui ment sales and re air

Readin rooms P P P

Retail stores lar er than 75,000 s uare feet C C C

Restaurants, includin cafes P P P

Scientific instrument stores P P P

Seasonal sales PA PA PA

Secretarial services P P P

Self-service carwash C C C

Service station, excluding automotive repair
services not included in the definition of

service station," provided that all
C C C

operations, except the sale of gasoline, shall

be conducted in a building enclosed on 3
sides

Self stora e facilities C C C

Shoes P P P

Shoe re air P P P

Skatin rinks C C C

Small animal hospitals and clinics;    
C C C

veterinarian offices

Small a liance re air P P P

Sporting goods( excluding incidental boat
P P P

sales, resales and cam er sales)

S orts azenas within buildin s C C C

Stam s and coins P P P

Storage buildings incidental to a permitted pA PA PA
use

Su ermazkets C P C

Tailorin and dressmakin P P P

Taxidermists P P P

Theaters and auditoriums, including movie
theaters and erformin arts

C C C

Thrift sho s; second hand stores P P P

Theme arks C C C

Tobacconists P P P

Tool or cutle sh enin or rindin P P P

To s P P P

138



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

La d Usc'  M-R,        MU f;R T41J   C{? lQS 4S11' '

Transit stations C C C

Travel encies P P P

U holsterers P P P

Vazie stores P P P

Vendin machines within enclosed areas P P P

Video stores( subject to the limitation of
P P P

Cha ter 5. 08

Warehouse s le retail C

OFFICE USES

Professional ot ices, business and
P P P

administrative offices

Research and develo ment of ices P P P

Financial services P P P

INDUSTRIAL USES

Warehousin

Li ht industrial and related uses

Heav industrial and related uses

MEDICAL USES

Hos ital C C C

Medical clinic C C C

Medical or dental office buildin P P P

Medical and ortho dic stores P P P

CIVIC/COMMUNITY USES

Administrative centers and courts P P P

Assembly uses C C C C C C

Ci offices P P P

Community center C C C C C C

Convention centers C C C

Fire station C C C C C C

Librazies C C C C C C

Mortuaries, columbariums and
C C C

crematoriums

Police station C C C C C C

Post office C C C

Private schools and other educational
C C C C C C

facilities

Public schools and other educational
P      P      P      P      P      P

facilities

Public and rivate charitable institutions C C C C C C

Transit stations C C C

PARKS& OPEN SPACE

E uestrian facilities C C

Multi- use and nature trails P

Private recreation facilities C C C C C C C

Public and rivate arks and la rounds P P P P P P

Wildlife reserves C P P

OTI R

Communications e ui ment buildin s P PA PA PA PA PA PA PA

Enclosed tem or materials stor e ards PA PA PA PA PA PA PA

Expansion, remodeling or additions to a
conditional use not considered an incidental C C C C C C

or accesso use

Flood control, water pumping
stations/ reservoirs; elevated pressure tanks;       P P P P P P P P

irrigation ditches/ canals; settling and water

139



River Islands Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 61 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 22

Land U,     kM-iti   '     MU     R T() i?`   . 1 U4,   Q!Sft"

conservation rechazge basins; drainage

ponds; streets and roads as necessary for
access to ermitted uses

Gas/ electrical transmission lines subject to

provisions of Section 17. 108. 080; electrical P PA PA PA PA PA PA PA

substations; gas re ulator stations

Incidental and accessory structures and uses
C C C C C C C C

located on the same site as a conditional use

Incidentaland accessory structures and uses
P P P P P P

located on the same site as ermitted use

Parking lots and garages improved in
conformity with the standards prescribed for C C C C

off-street azkin facilities

Underground storage tanks for petroleum or
oils

P P P

1 P= Permitted uses; PA= Permitted but administrative approval required; C = Conditional

use permit required; Blank= Prohibited use

2 Other uses may be added to Table 17. 61. 1 by the planning commission according to the
procedure in Section 17. 16. 020.

Ord. 20- 422 § 1; Ord. 20- 411 § 1; Ord. 16- 365 § 1)

140



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 23

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;' o*, r^„,

Chapter 17. 62 Central Lathrop Zoning Districts

l

Article 6.     

n n,.,...,, ., a .,  „;... t:

b e e

c,,., ,,.,,,..:., Q;, o   n,-,i na_ s 2i
TysJ

n a,,...:,•,,; a „
r r-., r:-R,   

i  ti       ti„ ii ,. o .. i.,., ..

n co,-.,;,. f,.   ,. I.., 1:.„ t L...+ . ,. t 17,.; r, rl r,,.

b,

j—r' z"T:riir; S l6'. Ei-'c'ric" rnirriuz,-

t---', ivrircrt- c l€-- i-rite--l-n; c

R,,.- l. 0.-/ 4, o,,,, r., I,./., I I,.,

l   (`„.,:.-,
b .,.,

I h  „ f,.,

b

Gl il.-. „lo.,.. o.-/ 1.,,.,, a.-., l.,., v, l., r      l

l 1 .,  ., rl.-...,,., t

L \   Dl„ r,,..-.,. 4.:. . rl:,

4\   T«.,.,ol .,
b

R r „ ., I  vr,,: l ;  ,. l,. J.,.  b,, t r., t I.,, rarl r,•

i\    A,.,.,.- of/ o,,,- o

7\    A.- r ,.., 110..., 1C..,,.,,. 1., r.,.- o

2\   R..,, ol/, 1,,.. r 1,,,,-.

141



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

4`--

Ro.,,.,., r   .. i., ,,,,. o

e i+ e-s., ,.
o +„:.

b

7l R:,.. ,. 10 L,„.-.

Ql R.,, I, r,,.. o/ o..,.,., a

im rv„' o

r 1 n !`.,„.•., o r .,,- I    .- L

I I\ ('.,.,, 1, .,.,. J   .,„ o

1' (`.,.., J rl l, V,

1 2 !`, FF v 4,,,. o

r i co` ccFrirc vv4-``' irop

1 G\ G'., 1...:  1,-,-., Fr n+„.. o

I ti\  Tlol,.., to..

1' 7\  C.' I,,..:/., I.,., r 6.,,.. / F.-} I;- o,. r„ 4. 0 t.,.-,. a .,, rl . Irl ,., I, :    « L4'^.-.+.\

t Ql G,,,,, 1    C,.., o.-.,,.,.- l. or  4, It4, It, , tl,A.-

1 O (; 4'r t„./. l,.,<, Ir o

i n  u„ t, t,., ,,,

i  r,. o ,.    r., i. ,.  .....

i    o  i.-, *,,.. o

721 AA.;,. ,,.-rsn' corc

l Dv t,.- o .,., rl    . I a

l7G\ D„ r., Vr,,., I „- o

ti\  D r.- o .,,:.-, t I,,..

142



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

Qo*,,,,,.,,+ r„ ,..;., o ti..,,,,,. ti
b

Q\ C4.,. o n4., vo/ I., o .-

b b b

1. 1.,..,.,    or..

r2n c,,..:.,,. ,  ,. a

rz i rr„, t,... viti„ tit,., t,,,

r v.,..;o., ,,..

i  i;, o„ .,,,.   „„ o,.* +,. i:..:„:,,,, „ rt,* o.. c na „ t, r n t,.-,,, Anz. ri s, i r,.,o

nrt,,-, I,., 1;,,. l... r . „ r I:.,, ro,- I r„•

Z\   % 1„+ rl„ r..- , o.,.,. 4,..+.,., J ., 4, 1: 1.., o., r.-

7

7

l D,,.. L:,.., 1„ r

n n*ti..   ,,;. a ,

i i   Q,, i ti+  i

71 Do..,. o.,+;.,.., 1 v r .. . r., l
z

b

nn„;,. c,,., i r„

eEt e B-    i .,+ t,..,. nn.,:,,,, o n.., nn c  :

n o,,...,,:,., a .       .,,,,,:,,:...*:.,,, .,

ti r ,,. ti.-„ nn,,,,;,.;„ i r,. a,•

143



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

i ,:.,+.. ,.+  nv   :+.,„ . o a ,. ti    :

b

I ;   I.,., 0. 1

A R„.-    ,. l r.,; I I„,.,. o „    . l, r.. I., 4,

r,,,,, .. o ., I

r`4,„-,. l o .,.,, J , rl,,,. .. ol: r:.., 4.,,.: I: r;.

0

a ii,,.. ie nn nn   a .       c.-. v.:.,,. c,.,. o..    ., ii ., a ti,,. o

c v c u- y- v v v v; u rcr i m i cv rrry r rcrrcc; v urr- m ci- rrca bs

I ,,, a.. o I., II

b

i` t'     

r E'i- E 2

I C,,.'., I ,. 1„ 4,

144



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

nn c..,,., oia ..,,. ri., ;, ao*; oa ; i

c,. 00* +,,;,.,,,.„               
cTcrc ci niirrtccr.

Ur-- Ti- r'ie&     
a..  o.•

ci-- mv ic—R to „
I.,., 

cYizr

n    , o „  „ ao

o v,,.. ti ,. ,,.,-

b

i i n n f. tio r      o in..a nn n c c 
@E- i6i,- r.-r v v-- v̂-- crtc-— c"r EtH+      

b b b'

b b b

J .,.- ro..:., 1 r.. 00  

b

b

b

0 4.,,,. 1,  4.. o      . lo

5

b D

b

145



Centra( Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter l 7. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

ee s-i e:

b

e

b b

tia     l

r..,. rl .. „, 4, r r1

n

b

flj3'

b

n u,,....,:*,,, a rr,.

5

146



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

tH-' rr i-. R tio .  o t,., ,. ra „., ,.

A Co...,; o ;  .. 1, I.,. r 4,, t .,., t I„,, ro. l r.,•

irirs- n=rs f'tl c} 6"-rr iirc s'r ftt Ee

r r ll 4.'
t-LZ LTcvrrrcr r ccn eFnrcr`- rmrc

21 R.,.. I. o,./ 4, 0.,,+., 1,,.,/., I I,,,

4\   ' r. y,.,;,,,, .,,,. J „  ., t:.,,

t b

Gl flr. ,. Iv.,. o../ 1.,„„ ar., l.,,, . I., r. t ,   o l

l 1 .,  .. 7•.,-,,, r

7l D4,. r.,.•.,., 4.; r rl:,,

4   ' T'.-.,.,. I „
b

R i „ „ 1  I   ,. I... 1.,., 4, .,, r I;,,+ arl r,•

b,

A,. v,.,,- ol/„.. o.,.• o

b

2\   R.,. Yol/, I,..,. t L,.,,.

4-=

Gl R.,.,    ., I, r,.. a

7

aCiC h ti(,,--5 6," cric-S- r,TT" T

7\   I',.., lo 1,,,..

T(Qo   R I  ,.-      r.,., rl
vi rnc crn   - rc,-ẁ' a:rcrrr cc

1l   (`., fo

1 1\ (`.,. J   .,. J ..  . t;,., o

1'\ `., rl 1,„

147



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter l 7. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

o ti.. o

i i n r„*,,.,,ai.. :  ti,.
b

1 G l T'., L.,-:../....., f? .- rl,,.o

i t  noi:,.,,. o o.,

i n  u„ titi., i,,,..

71l i,. o     .. 1.,,. r

771 i  ol.-., ., r, r

7' 2\  AA.:.. r„-

z2 4jr-rp @ orc- mi'a- cipp-,-'rc

17 G\  D„„ I/,,,.,: I l,.. v

7\  P:.. r.,,.. F.,,v.;,,. , I..,.-.
b

l7' 7\  !? o r.,,..,.,/.„ . J.-:. o tL,....... 1 A
b

tz Q nv s vrc: n=rvc- rcpiii-F

b b e

nl,:,/. rinn.., n,. o orn

b

b

J: I\ T.,. t.,«o/ 4.., 1. 6,. f.,..

148



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts- Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

n . a o.,.:.,, ..,,, o., tii, ti„, o.,+

V D.,.- I,:,,,. I,. r
r-m--rcrrrb—ro T

lrl, o,- v.  mitto. I .

I i\   1? 0,- o., r;,.„., l I. l..,+ Y ., r l

71 Do,,.- o., r;,,.,., 1 a t_r nt l
CZ

Et-'te   'n- r-?. „*

t, r,,,*,,.,,.. nn
c+', 4 aa. rc#- 84 34--

n z n   ..,;+,., ,       ,.,,;.,;.,..,.;.,,, ., a

tio i „ t,..,. na...-,     „ i r„ a.

aa.,.:., i , a:... ,. n   :*., .,, t, f a « i.:..
b

u ii..

tnr:       . rl olo ntvrl ,1      +... I. o

I ;   I., Rorl

n nn;,,..,, ti.. o,; o,..,

G Qv,.,._„ r,,,„ i ,.: i:,    i,-, a,.,... in..,  n i n:  

n, ,.  a:*;    , i.,  

b i y:::;:.

A R., H   .... I, r.,; l 1..... .    tl,t l, 4.

149



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter l 7. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

R     " 6,.-: r.,,., r,- ., lo
v.       

e- r s-- e i e- i i e+ s-# e l+t-i

n„    v

0

b          b b b

a„ ii,,.. r re nn nn   a .,      .,..,,,,,.„ o..    ir ,,,,, t, oa„,

c— 2i- l-A— E 2.

6E f- C—t

v: @
r + •    •- f'    

i—T} c EC

n    i; a„ „   ,,, o

Q.     

A V r4.     to.-
r ry cicrrcc'n'ccr.

b

c„:,, i i mn „ tio r „* ti..,, na..:,.,„ i r„ ao n, nn nc c Z
v v vr

150



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

n c v,.,,..,...., a,,..,, i...,,„.„ afl,.ZITRJ•

t7

r 4o n4    4.. .-   

y

n4      nri c v    v i

J

b      ITRTI[ YJ.

n o4rootc  

b b

b

t.,    F, ao., ol,,.,.,, o., r ,,.. l-,.. Irl„.. .    t

e

co4N. nn.  v a v o

b

I ., rl...,.. C,, o..: 4':.. DI.,., . Jo:«., .  . rlol,. a

b

e b b   >

f;-E) F} 1 3 sS

b b b

e e e e

b

n T

b

S'' E''      

151



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

n

b

p L7'

b

ii    ,..:,. ti , o,., r., ..    i,. r,,.,_. in a nn nc , c 
zzT u. T T  

n ,,,,,...., i .,       a o   f:,,.,

n ii .      ti., ii . a .. ti;,. *„ * t, ,.      i n

Article 7. CO- CL: Commercial Office Zoning District

17. 62. 072 Permitted uses.

B.    Service retail uses including, but not limited to:

1.    Fur repair and storage

2.    Automobile repair

3.    Automobile upholstery and top shops

4.    Banks/ credit unions/ savings and loans/ financial institutions

5.    Facial/ massage

6.    Cafeterias

7.    Catering

152



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

8.    Cleaning, pressing and dyeing establishments ( using noninflammable and
nonexplosive cleaning fluid)

9.    Day care centers

10.  Emergency medical/ dental clinics, and prescribing pharmacies within

11.  Electronics repair

12.  Employment agency

13.  Equipment rental

14.  Rug cleaning and dyeing

15.  Hotel ( subject to Chapter17. 78 Hotel Limitations)

i ••; o

Article 8.     

P- CL: Park Zoning District

ai„ o,- r..,.,„ o.,+ ai,,., in.•a nn c  

n4 v,.v...:+„ .,.., „ ,,, a::,,.,. n., ,   ,.,:, a ,

f i 4; rorl  .,, J    .., J; r:   II, tt i_.

l t-l e--   
w, o.,*  i.,., in.•,  nn  c c 2li- @ t^ c'ts̀' @-` vc` @f' rrcm- rrcrrc- pTmTr.- ra- o T z4— S 7

1' 7 7 ( 142 D..,,.,.,..., ...,., 1,......., r., 1.,... 1

i

rlo lol:       1..     t  r rl, o . Je      t.,,, rl- rl rl,., t F: ad_
b b"       

ca,.*,,,  ti i n „, a „ ti, t„,.* tio +„ ii,,.,;,,,,, , o:,.,,       ia•
b b    '   

153



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

a o• i oot 

r  ,, 7   J     , Y,,,:    +.,, a,,.., J r,., 1 ,  , rl1n,  o, J l.

b r

b b

4., :   Frl. ol,,.... o., r ,,.- 6. Irl.,, ,,  v.,; tr

b

b

b

b b

b b

1 ., rl,.-`.., C., o+.. Pl., rlor..,, . ,; rlal.,
b b   

b

e b         e

b

I

b

T f=

T4. o " o„ r.-., I i ., r4...,.. ,] o: r.. ..   c,,., ll tnLo 4, o Y, In ,_ tha_. 4o ,., I.,., ..

b     

b

b

1^ 7 " f 114G !',.,.,.,.-., 1 ..       I n    .,:..,

154



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

17. 62. 081 Purposes and application.

The P- CL District is intended to provide for nei, hborhood, community and reig; onal parks,
reenways, and other outdoor recreation facilities to allow for a wide arra,y of loeal and community

t•ecreational activities and entertainment opportunities on designated park lands located within the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan.   Specitic uses int nded for this zoni g district include: public
recreation sites includin ba( I fiie( ds, tot lots and play apparatus, adult softball and soccer pla i g
fields, swimmin pools, community center bui( din s, meetin facilities, libraries. art centers. after
schoo( care facilities, art in public places, facilities for ni ht- time recreation, trails benches,
intecpretive markers, picnic areas, barbeque facilities, landscapin, irrigation, city we( ls, trees and
natural habitat areas.  Parks also may be desi; ned to accommodate multi- level storm drainage

detention basins that will allow recreation use of areas not needed for detention during a givel
storm.

17. 62. 082 Reviewing Authority.

All proposed structures. events, and uses shall be subject to the review and approval b
the City of Lathrop Parks and Recceation Commission.

Article 9. P/ SP- CL: Public/ Semi- Public Zoning District

l

17. 62. 094 Property development standards.

Specific development standards for the Public/ Semi- Public ( P/ SPQ- CL) district shall be

established as part of the Central Lathrop design guidelines review by incorporating the design
standards identified in Section 17. 62. 120 of this chapter and establishing the following design
principles:

A.   By utilizing a creative approach to landscaping and screening, parking areas shall not
become the predominant feature of the streetscape, especially as it relates to adjacent open spaces
and arterial streets.

B.    Landscaping and irrigation standards shall generally follow those required by
Chapter 17. 92 and may be modified by the required design guidelines review by city staff, prior
to issuance of development or building permits.

C.    Building setbacks shall be varied in accordance with corresponding building heights,
uses and proposed shop front and street activity. Higher structures may require larger front yard
setback, for example.

D.   Minimum parking requirements, such as type and number of parking stalls, shall

155



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

generally follow Section 17. 62. 120 and Section 17. 84. 010, and may be modified by the required
design guidelines review by city staff, prior to issuance of development or building permits.

E.    All signage shall be consistent with the Central Lathrop master signage plan adopted
generally in accordance with Section 17. 8=4, 100, and included as a component of the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan design guidelines. ( Ord. 04- 245 § 3)

l

Article 10. OS- CL: Open Space Zoning District
l

17. 62. 103 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject to the general provisions and exceptions prescribed in
Chapter 17. l 6 of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

The Community Development Director may approve use interpretations and minor
deviations related to the zonin herein.

l

Article 12. Non- Residential Development Standards

Table 17. 62. 120 Central Lathrop Specific Plan: Non- Residential Site Development Standards
Office A€ ree- Neighborhood    eeie4E-    Residential Public/ Semi-

Commercial     ;—     Commercial   ',:; re:=..•'   Mixed- Use Public/

CO- CL)       n.`"-.;- r'

T' NGCL) rc R/ N[ Li-    Neighborhood
T"      

C=I Park CL) Commercial

P_ C, l,)       P/ SP/ NC-

CL)

Min. Street Fronta e Setbacks

Lathrop Center
n/ a'      0 n/ a'     0 0District

Golden Valley
10 n/ a n/ a'    n/ a'

Parkway
Other Streets 10 a13 n/ a'     l0 n/ a 10

OtherSetbacks

Front, Rear and Side
0 0 0 0Yards

Height

Re uirements

Maximum Building
75 45 a-F    65 45Height'      

Special Tower
n/ a a 70 70 70 70Elements

Minimum Building
n/ a 15 15 15 15Hei ht

Buildin Se aration

Standard Per CBC' r.R 
Per CBC'      Per CBC'     Per CBC'      Per CBC'

Pedestrian Access 1 15 15 15 15

156



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 23

Width

Lot Size and

Covera e

Minimum Parcel Area None 1e+ e None None None None

Minimum Width None Alc e None None None None

Minimum De th None e None None None None

Ma cimum FAR 0. 60 9 i8 0. 60 E 0. 60 4. 0 0. 60

Maximum Coverage 70%      e 60% 70% 90%    70%

Off-Street Parkin

Remainder of CLSP 1 stall er 400 net usable sq. ft. for office; other uses per Chapter 17. 76 of the Lathro Munici al Code

Notes to Table 17. 62. 120

1.   n/ a= not applicable.

2.   Building or parking area fronting any public street - measured from property line or
right-of-way.

3.   Exceptions to maximum height may be granted through Design Review for towers,
steeples, cupolas, dormers, flagpoles and other architectural elements.

4.   Minimum width between structures when pedestrian access way provided.
5.   California Ruildin Code.

6.   Reductions of parking standards may be granted for shared parking subject to approval
of a parking study concurrent with Design Review.

Ord. 22- 431 § 1; Ord. 08- 276 § 1)

l

Article 14. Central Lathrop Design Review Board

17. 62. 141 Purposes and application.

B.    Site and architectural design review provisions of this chapter shall apply to any
permitted or conditional ee- i-et use, listed within the VR- CL ( Variable Density); HR- CL

High Density Residential); R/ MU- CL ( ResidentiaVMixed- use Zoning); NGCL ( Neighborhood

Commercial Zoning);     b ;  
CO- CL ( Commercial Office

Zoning);       
e i}; P/ SP- CL: Public/ Semi- Public Zoning); and OS- CL (Open Space Zoning); '

f.g,,,,+ c+., a,,.. a n..o..,..,  ,,.,, 

of this Chapter 17. 62 of the Lathrop Municipal Code.
There shall be no exceptions to such application, except as may be granted for historic structures
designated by the city of by previously approved specific plans. ( Ord. 04- 245 § 3)

I

157



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 23

158



Mobilehome Parks— Chapter 17. 72 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 24

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +
r'+' r^'

Chapter 17. 72 Mobilehome Parks

17. 72. 010 Occupancy.

No mobilehome shall be occupied or used for living or sleeping purposes, or be parked other
than in a mobile home sales yard, or in an approved storage area within a CS, CH or l district,
unless it is located within a licensed mobilehome park; provided, that a mobilehome may also be
used as follows:

A.   As an office for a construction project, circus or carnival;

B.    As a residence of a watchperson on the site of a construction project or an industrial use;

C.    To provide temporary living quarters for circus or carnival personnel in accordance with
the provisions of an approved conditional use permit;

D.   As a single- family dwelling when set on a permanent foundation within any R; or

RM e-' 8 district. ( Ord. 92- 73)

159



Emergency Shelters— Chapter 17. 74 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 25

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;', o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 74 Emergency Shelters

I

17. 74. 020 Emergency Shelter Standards.

A.   Limitation on Location. An emergency shelter subject to this chapter may be established
within the RM e 9 zoning districts.

B.    Permit Requirement. Construction of a new structure or exterior modification of an

existing structure for an emergency shelter in the RM e 9 zoning district shall be subject to a
ministerial review process. The community development director will review the design, site plan,
and management plan to ensure compliance with the standards established for the zoning district
and with the development standards established in this section.

C.    Zoning Requirements and Standards. Except as otherwise set forth in this section, all
emergency shelters shall comply with the land use regulations for the RM zoning district in which
the emergency shelter will be located.

160



Off-Street Parking and Loading— Chapter 17. 76 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 26

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by 1

Chapter 17. 76 OFF- STREET PARKING AND LOADING

l

17. 76. 020 Off-Street Parking Facilities Required.

D.   Parking Space Schedule.

G • l

2.    Uses Within CN and CC Districts.

a.    For uses within an integrated shopping center located within a CN or CC district,
involving a combination of three or more retail uses permitted within the CN district for which
building area, off-street parking, off-street loading, landscaping, lighting and other features are
developed, managed and maintained as if a single unit, there shall be three spaces for each one

thousand ( 1, 000) square feet of gross leasable area, or four spaces for each one thousand ( 1, 000)
square feet of gross leasable area if the center includes a supermarket.

bs.    For other uses within a CN or CC district, the number of spaces otherwise required for

the type of use.

17.76.060 Location of off-street parking and loading facilities.

Off-street parking and off-street loading facilities shall be located on the same site with the
use for which the berths are required or on an adjoining sites, except that=+"~''~'~"„:~

within the CC District, off-street parking facilities may be located within four
hundred ( 400) feet of the use for which the spaces are required, measured by the shortest route of
pedestrian access. No off-street loading space shall be required where buildings are served by a
public alley which is at least twenty( 20) feet in width. ( Ord. 92- 73)

161



Off-Street Parking and Loading— Chapter 17. 76 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 26

17. 76. 070 Screening, fencing and landscaping.

A.   Where an off-street parking area in a non- residential district adjoins a residential e P-9
district, the visual interface between the parking area and such districts shall be designed and
developed so as to avoid obtrusive visual impacts of the parking area on such districts.

B.    All screening, fencing, and landscaping shall be consistent with Chapter 17. 92 of this
title. ( Ord. 19- 405 § 1; Ord. 96- 136; Ord. 92- 73)

17.76. 110 Truck and recreational vehicle parking.

A.   The following highway oriented uses located within a CH or CC zoning district shall be
subject to the following standards for the provision of parking for trucks and recreational vehicles:

1.    All highway oriented uses, as listed in Section 17. 44. 050 ( B)( 1) of the zoning code,
permitted in both the CH-highway commercial and CGcentral commercial zoning districts Fv k

shall provide truck/ recreational vehicle parking
stall( s)  as deemed necessary by the community development director.  The amount of

truck/ recreational vehicle parking stalls required shall be determined on a case- by- case basis.

2.    Each truck/ recreational vehicle parking stall shall be located as to provide adequate
ingress and egress to and from the site.

3.    Each truck/ recreational vehicle parking stall shall be striped on a dustless, impervious
surface, twelve ( 12) feet wide by seventy- two ( 72) feet long.

B.    Parking for trucks and recreational vehicles may be provided by a group of uses ( two or
more), so that a common area is utilized. Such areas shall meet the standards provided in subsection
A above as to the number, size and type of stall required. ( Ord. 16- 355 § 1; Ord. 98- 164; Ord. 96-

136)

17. 76. 120 Bicycle parking and storage standards.

A.   Applicability. Bicycle parking shall be required for i commercial, professional office,
and industrial users with twenty ( 20) or more parking spaces, and for all public and quasi- public
institutional) uses.

l

162



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 27

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;', o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 80 Accessory Dwelling Units

17. 80.010 Application.

This chapter provides standards by which the city shall evaluate and ministerially approve an
application for the siting and construction of an accessory dwelling unit( ADU) or junior accessory
dwelling unit (JADU) on a lot with an existing or proposed dwelling located in areas zoned to
allow single- family or multifamily residential use in compliance with California Government
Code Sections 65852. 2 and 65852. 22, as may be amended. ( Ord. 20- 416 § 1; Ord. 19- 405 § 1;

Ord. 18- 384 § l; Ord. 16- 365 § 1; Ord. 16- 355 § l; Ord. 97- 151; Ord. 92- 73)

17. 80. 020 Permitted locations and types.

A.   ADUs are permitted in all zone districts allowing single-family or multifamily
residential uses on lots developed with existing or proposed dwellings.

B.    An ADU may be established in the following methods:

1.    Attached to, or located within, an existing or proposed primary dwelling.

2.    A new detached structure, or located within or attached to an accessory structure,
including detached garages or similar structures.

3.    Conversion of existing attached or detached accessory structures, including garages,
storage areas, or similar structures.

4.    Reconstruction of an existing structure or living area that is proposed to be converted to
an ADU, or a portion thereof, in the same location and to the same dimensions and setbacks as the
existing structure.

C.    One JADU may be established within the space of an existing or proposed single- family
residence, on a lot that is zoned to allow single- family residential uses.

D.   A JADU may be established within the space of the primary dwelling in combination
with the construction of one detached, new construction ADU not exceeding one thousand two
hundred ( 1, 200) square feet ^' "^"+ ^ *„ '' f+ with four- foot side and rear yard
setbacks.

E.    ADUs shall be permitted on lots developed with existing multifamily dwellings subject
to the following provisions:

l.    A minimum of one ADU may be constructed, or up to twenty- five percent( 25%) of the

existing unit count, within non- livable space,  including, but not limited to, storage rooms,
passageways, attics, basements, or closets.

163



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 27

2.    The construction of two detached ADUs, subject to ^ m~~ ':~"+ ^;+^ "'

four- foot side and rear setbacks. In this case, only two detached ADUs are permitted on
lots developed with existing multifamily dwellings. ( Ord. 20- 416 § 1; Ord. 19- 405 § 1; Ord. 18-

384 § 1; Ord. 16- 365 § 1; Ord. 16- 355 § l; Ord. 97- 151; Ord. 92- 73)

17. 80. 030 Development standards.

A.   Development Standards. Accessory dwelling units shall comply with the following
standards:

1.    ADU Type, Location and Size.

a.    Attached Unit. An ADU attached to an existing primary dwelling shall not exceed fifty
percent( 50%) of the total existing or proposed living area of the primary dwelling, except that an
attached ADU up to a maximum size of 850 square feet for a one- bedroom unit or up to 1, 000
square feet for two- or more bedroom unit may be permitted.

b.    Detached Unit. An ADU structurally independent and detached from the existing or
proposed primary dwelling shall not exceed one thousand two hundred ( 1, 200) square feet.

c.    ADUs shall have independent exterior access from the primary dwelling. No passageway
to the primary dwelling shall be required.

d.    ADUs shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for the
primary residence.

e.    Exce t as otherwise provided in Government Code Section 65852. 26, no ADU ma be
sold or otherwise conveevd separately from the property and the primary residence.

2.    JADU Location, Size, and Standards.

a.    A JADU shall be constructed entirely within an existing or proposed primary dwelling
and enclosed uses within the dwellin, such as an attached gara e are part of the proposed or

existing dwellin) and shall not exceed five hundred ( 500) square feet.

b.    JADUs shall have an independent exterior entrance from the primary dwelling but may
also include shared access between two units.  In instances where the JADU shares a bathroom

with the primary dwelling, the JADU shall have an interior entry to the primary dwellin' s main

living area, independent of the exterior entrances of the JADU and the primary dwellin.

c.    A JADU,  at a minimum,  shall include an efficiency kitchen as defined in
Section 17. 04. 080.

d.    The property owner shall reside in either the principal dwelling unit or the junior
accessory dwelling unit.

164



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 27

e.    JADU' s are rohibited from bein sold or conveeyd separatelv from the primary

dwellinug._Prior to issuance of a building permit for the JADU, the property owner shall file
with the city a deed restriction for recordation with the County Recorder, which shall run with the
land and include the provisions listed in Government Code Section 65852. 22.

3.    Setbacks.

a.    Have minimum interior side and rear setbacks of four 4, feet and street side setback of

ten ( 10) feet.  Such ADU shall not have a reater front vard setback requirement than that of the

primary residence.

b.    No setback shall be required for an existing living area or accessory structure in the same
location and to the same dimensions as an existing structure that is converted to an accessory
dwelling unit or to a portion of an accessory dwelling unit, and a setback of no more than four feet
from the side and rear lot lines shall be required for an accessory dwelling unit that is not converted
from an existing structure or a new structure constructed in the same location and to the same
dimensions as an existing structure.

c.    Setback from Structures. Be set back from other structures on the parcel consistent with
the city- adopted building code.

4.    Height. An attached or detached ADU shall complv with the followin requirements:
T,. +,. o oa „    *,,.... „    .,,.,. , o+ ; . o;,..+      o+

t,

a.  A proposed detached ADU that is located within a half-mile of a major transit stop or
hi h qualitv transit corridor on a lot with a sin le- family or multi- family dwellin unit

ma be constructed to a maximum hei ht of twenty( 20) feet or match the roof pitch of

the primary dwellin unit, whichever is re

b.  Where a lot has an existin or a proposed sin le- family or multi- familv dwellin unit, a
proposed detached ADU may be constructed to a maximum hei h ei hteen ( 18 feet

or match the hei ht of the rimary dwelling unit, whichever isregater.

c.   Where a proposed ADU is being attached to a primary dwellin unit, the hei ht of the
ADU shall be limited to thirtv- five( 35) feet, not to exceed two stories.

d.  Where a lot has an existin or a proposed single- family or multi- family dwellin unit, a
proposed ADU may be constructed above an existing or proposed detached a ra and

shall be limited to thirt- five ( 35) feet in height, not to exceed two stories.

5.    Location on Parcel. An accessory dwelling unit can either be attached to, or located
within, the proposed or existing primary dwelling, including attached garages, storage areas or
similar uses, or an accessory structure or detached from the proposed or existing primary dwelling
and located on the same lot as the proposed or existing dwelling.

165



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 27

B.    Compatibility. The accessory dwelling unit shall be designed and constructed to be
compatible with the existing house as to height, style, materials, and colors.

a ii•       '+  , ii  ,*: i: o. t, a oti;  , i    ti:,. i. tie     .:  ,. a.. oii;       ;+
b ».......': b ' .....

C.    Off-Street Parking.

1.    At least one additional off-street parking space shall be provided for the accessory
dwelling unit or bedroom, whichever is less, unless otherwise exempt under Section 17. 80.030(E).

2.    The parking spaces required for the accessory dwelling unit can be in tandem to the
required parking of the main residential structure, may be uncovered, and can be located within
the front setback as long as all other yard requirements are met.

3.    When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in conjunction with
the construction of an accessory dwelling unit or converted to an accessory dwelling unit, those
off-street parking spaces are not required to be replaced.

4 The accessorY dwellin unit shall utilize the same vehicular access which serves the

existin dwelling unit•

D.    Off-Street Parking Exemption. Off-street parking shall not be imposed in any of the
following instances:

1.    The accessory dwelling unit is located within one- half mile walking distance of public
transit;

2.    The accessory dwelling unit is located within an architecturally and historically
significant historic district;

3.    The accessory dwelling unit is part of the existing primary residence or an existing
accessory structure;

4.    When on- street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of the
accessory dwelling unit;

5.    When there is a car share vehicle located within one block of the accessory dwelling
unit.

E.    Mobilehomes or Manufactured Housing. Mobilehomes or manufactured housing on

permanent foundations shall be permitted as an accessory dwelling unit, only if they are installed
on permanent foundations, and the mobilehome complies with the 1974 National Manufactured
Housing Construction and Safety Act. ( Ord. 22- 431 § 1; Ord. 20- 416 § l; Ord. 19- 405 § 1; Ord.

166



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 27

18- 384 § 1; Ord. 16- 355 § 1; Ord. 97- 151; Ord. 92- 73)

F Addressin. Detached ADU' s shall have a separate address from the primary dwellin.

An attached ADU or JADU ma request a separate address from the primary dwellin.

17. 80. 040 Utilities and impact fees.

A.   Utility Service and Kitchen Facilities. Accessory dwelling units shall be provided with
adequate water, sewer and other utilities '

r ^"^^+~ r ^     :'*:^' , ";+ . ';" "„'^ f"

B.    Fees. Fees charged for the construction of ADUs shall be consistent with Government

Code Section 65852. 2(. ( Ord. 20- 416 § 1; Ord. 19- 405 § l; Ord. 18- 384 § 1; Ord. 16- 355 § 1;

Ord. 97- 151; Ord. 92- 73)

17. 80.050 Process and timing.

A.   Approval Process. An accessory dwelling unit and junior accessory dwelling unit is
considered and approved ministerially, without discretionary review or hearing, if it meets the
minimum standards in this chapter.

B.    Timing. The city must act on an application to create an accessory dwelling unit or
junior accessory dwelling unit within sixty ( 60) days from the date that the city receives a
completed application, unless either:

1.    The applicant requests a delay, in which case the sixty( 60) day time period is tolled for
the period of the requested delay; or

2.    In the case of a junior accessory dwelling unit and the application to create a junior
accessory dwelling unit is submitted with a permit application to create a new single- family
dwelling on a lot, the city may delay acting on the permit application for the junior accessory
dwelling unit until the city acts on the permit application to create new single- family dwelling, but
the application to create the junior accessory dwelling unit will still be considered ministerially
without discretionary review or a hearing. ( Ord. 20- 416 § 1)

17.80.060 Compliance with other regulations.

Notwithstanding the above standards, all accessory dwelling units established under this
chapter shall meet all of the requirements of the zoning district for which the accessory dwelling
unit is in as to fences, walls and hedges; frontage; width and depth of site; height of structures;

distance between structures; signs; applicable building and fire codes and general provisions and
exceptions. ( Ord. 20- 416 § 1; Ord. 19- 405 § 1; Ord. 18- 384 § 1; Ord. 16- 355 § 1; Ord. 97- 151;

Ord. 92- 73)

167



Accessory Dwelling Units— Chapter 17. 80 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 27

168



Signs— Chapter 17. 84 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 28

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +
r;' o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 84 Signs

I

17. 84.020 General provisions and exceptions.

C.    Projection and Height.

1.    No sign shall project more than fourteen ( 14) inches beyond the property line, except
that a freestanding sign shall not extend beyond the property line. The minimum height clearance
for any freestanding sign, projecting building sign or sign located on a building marquee shall be
not less than eight feet as measured from ground level to the lowest portion of the sign display
area.

2.    No sign other than a directional sign shall project more than twelve ( 12) inches into a
required rear yard or interior side yard.

3.    In an RCO, UR- ST, R; or RM e 9 zone district, a sign attached to a building shall
not project above the parapet or roof line, whichever is higher.

D.   Number of Freestanding Signs. Not more than one freestanding on- premises sign, or
freestanding outdoor advertising structure, may be located on each parcel of property within a
zoning district in which a freestanding sign or freestanding outdoor advertising structure is
permitted, with the exception of parcels in the UR- ST district which may have no more than two
free- standing on premises signs for special events occurring on the site if permitted by the
community development director or the city manager' s designee.

K.   Outdoor Advertising Signs. Outdoor advertising signs are signs having part or all of their
area devoted to directing attention to a business, profession, commodity, product or service that is
not the primary business,  profession,  commodity,  product or service sold,  manufactured,

conducted or offered on the site on which the sign is located, and shall be subject to the following
conditions:

1.    Outdoor advertising signs shall not be permitted in the RCO, UR- ST, R, RM g or

C zone districts.

2.    The maximum single surface area per site of an outdoor advertising structure in the I
district shall be five hundred ( 500) square feet; the maximum aggregate area per site of outdoor
advertising signs in the I district shall be one thousand( 1, 000) square feet. No outdoor advertising

169



Signs— Chapter 17. 84 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 28

signs shall be placed within one thousand ( 1, 000) feet of another such sign on the same side of a
street or highway.

3.    The maximum height of an outdoor advertising structure shall be no taller than the height
limit of the zoning district in which it is located.

17. 84. 030 Signs in the RCO, UR- ST, R; or RM a A zone districts.

No sign of any character shall be permitted in the RCO, UR- ST, R; or RM er 9 zone

districts, except as follows:

I

H.   In the UR-ST district up to two on-premises, freestanding signs of variable size as may
be approved by the community development director or the city manager' s designee, with the
number of signs, their maximum size, and other requirements to be as determined by the
community development director or the city manager' s designee, provided that the maximum sign
area for any single sign may not exceed eight hundred sixty-five ( 865) square feet. No outdoor
advertising signs as defined in Section 17. 84. 020 shall be permitted in the UR- ST district. ( Ord.

21- 418 § 15; Ord. 18- 394 § 1; Ord. 10- 298 § 1; Ord. 02- 206 § 2; Ord. 97- 151; Ord. 93- 99; Ord.

92- 73)

17. 84.040 Regulation of signs within the C districts.

B.    Maximum Total Aggregate Area in the CN, CC; and CR a i- E Zone Districts.

l

N.   Height of Signs. The height of signs within the CN, CC,—and CR zone districts

shall not exceed the height of the structure which houses the business being advertised, unless
otherwise allowed under the provisions of this title or as approved by the planning commission
with a conditional use permit or site plan review and in no case shall such sign exceed the height
limitations of the district in which it is located.

170



Landscaping and Screening Standards— Chapter 17. 92 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 29

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;', o+, r^„,

Chapter 17. 92 Landscaping and Screening Standards

l

17. 92. 030 Commercial and Industrial Developments.

A.   Commercial Developments— Development Standards.

1.    Landscaping. All areas not used for structures, parking, driveways, walkways or other
hardscape shall be landscaped and maintained as provided by the provisions of this title. At a
minimum, fifteen percent( 15%) of the net site area shall be landscaped and all areas of the project
area abutting other properties or public right-of-ways shall include a continuous landscaped
planting strip no smaller than five feet in width, * : +" '''-' ^+" c; r a; cr sc';- n

r m* "^" an'==. All landscaping materials used shall be in accordance with
Section 17. 92. 100 and in conformance with the tree and shrub schedule and criteria as provided in
Section 17. 92. 090. All existing trees on the project site shall be maintained unless removal or
relocation has been approved by the planning director and as identified on an approved landscape
plan pursuant to Section 17. 92.040.

2.    Landscaping Plan. Each project shall include a landscaping plan as described in
Section 17. 92. 040.

3.    Irrigation Plan.  Each project shall include an irrigation plan as described in
Section 17. 92. 050.

4.    Water Conservation Requirements. Each project shall meet the requirements set forth in
Section 17. 92. 060.

5.    Parking,  Noise Attenuation,  and Screening.  Each project shall conform to the
requirements set forth in Section 17. 92. 070.

l

17. 92. 100 Planting and maintenance.

A.   Planting Standards.

l.    Street Trees. Street trees shall be planted twenty (20) feet on center no closer than four
feet from the back of curb or planting edge. Trees shall maintain a ten( 10) foot vertical clearance
over walks, pathways, and the like. Each tree shall be a minimum of fifteen ( 15) gallons in size
and shall be planted with root barriers.

171



Landscaping and Screening Standards— Chapter 1792 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 29

2.    Shrubs. Shrubs should be planted as to provide a reasonable amount of ground cover.
Shrubs that are used for screening purposes shall meet height requirements as provided by this
title. Any shrub that will reach three feet in height at maturity shall not be planted within a required
setback. Each shrub shall be a minimum of five gallons in size.

3.    Planting Design. The planting design shall be incorporated in the landscape plan as
described in Section 17. 92. 040. Choice of planting materials, trees, and shrubs should take into
account drought tolerance, ease of maintenance and aesthetic beauty. The design should also take
into account future shade conditions in street and parking lot situations.,—A soil analysis may be
required by the planning director under certain conditions; if required it also shall be submitted
with the landscape plan.

4.    Timing of Installation. All landscaping, screening, and irrigation shall be in place prior
to the request for a final inspection by the owner.

5.    Acceptance by City. Each landscape area shall be maintained for three hundred sixty-
five ( 365) days from the time the owner requests from the city a final inspection of the landscape
area prior to transfer of maintenance responsibility to the city. Those landscapes that are to be
privately owned, shall be maintained by the property owner.

B.    Maintenance Standards. Each landscape area shall be maintained as follows:

1.    Property owners' responsibilit perty owners of developed residential, commercial,
and industrial lots shall be responsible for maintainin the landscape areas of their properties to
the satisfaction of the Citv.  Property owners of developed residential lots shall be responsible for

maintaining their private vard areas ( front vards and back ) within enclosed fenced areas, as

well as maintain any unfenced private Yards and any parkway strips ( landscape strips between
sidewalk and roadway) that exist along the frontage area of their properties.

2.    Plantings shall be maintained in good growing condition and whenever necessary,
replaced with new plant materials.

3.    Lawn and ground cover shall be trimmed and mowed regularly and planting areas shall
be kept free of weeds and debris.

43.    Plantings shall be fertilized, cultivated, and pruned on a regular basis, and good
horticultural principles shall be maintained.

54.    When necessary, plantings shall be appropriately staked, tied, or otherwise supported.
Supports shall be regularly monitored to avoid damage to plants.

6.    All landscaping and related equipment, including, but not limited to, plants, planting
material,  screening devices, walkways,  benches,  irrigations systems,  and the like shall be

maintained by the owner.

172



Landscaping and Screening Standards— Chapter 17. 92 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 29

76.    All required screening materials shall be maintained in good condition, and whenever
necessary, repaired or replaced.

8.    All property shall be maintained in a manner that will not depreciate adjacent property
values.

9.    Landscaping elements which pose an unusual public health or safety hazard shall not
be permitted.

10 1.    The height, spread, and growth habit of all plantings shall not interfere with or obstruct
ease of movement of pedestrians or vehicles. ( Ord. 92- 96)

173



Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities—     ATTACHMENT 30

Chapter 17. 98 Mark Up

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *-;'+'-„^'

Chapter 17.98 Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities

17.98. 010 Purpose

These " Good Nei hbor Guidelines Warehouse Distribution Facilities," ( referred to as

Good Nei hbor Guidelines") assist planning departments, developers, propertv owners, elected
officials, community or anizations, and the en   eral public as a tool to potentiallv help address
some of the complicated choices associated with permittin warehouse/ distribution facilities and
understandin t he options available when addressin environmental issues. These Good Nei

Guidelines are desi ned to help minimize the impacts of diesel particulate matter ( PM) from on-
road trucks associated with warehouses and distribution centers on sensitive receptors located

within the city of Lathrop.

17. 98. 020 Applicabilitv

This Chapter is ap licable to all warehouse distribution facilities throughout the citX
re ardless of size and as defined in Section 17. 98. 030. This Chapter shall supersede any existin
requirements in the Municipal Code and Specific Plans.

17. 98. 030 Definitions

For the purposes of this Chapter, the followin; definitions shall appl

Distribution Center" see " Warehouse Distribution Facilitv."

Idling" means the operation of the en ine of a vehicle while the vehicle is not in motion.

Sensitive Receptors" means populations that are at a hei htened risk of negative health
outcomes due to exposure to air pollution, including children, elderly, asthmatics, and others. The
locations where these sensitive receptors congregate are considered sensitive receptor locations

and include residential communities, schools, parks ( excludintgrails plav rounds, da
centers, nursing homes, and hospitals.

Warehouse" means a buildin or portion thereof used for the storage, receiving, shipping,
or wholesaling of goods and merchandise, and anv incidental or accessory activities.

Warehouse Distribution Facility" means a buildin, structure or other facilityprimarily
used for the warehousin ,g storage, sortin packin , sta g, shippin, receivin, distributin or

holdin of oods and merchandise of anv kind, tvpicallv which are not manufactured, processed
or otherwise produced in the same facilitv, for any len th of time. Warehouse distribution facilities
include but are not limited to wholesale distribution, distribution centers, movin and transfer

stora, cross- dock facilities, package handlin centers, order fulfillment centers, or lo ist' cs

174



Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities—     ATTACHMENT 30

Chapter 17. 98 Mark Up

centers and facilities.

17. 98. 040 Landscape Buffer and Screening Standards

A.      The following landscape buffer and screening requirements shall applv to
warehouse distribution facilities that share a common property line with a sensitive recentor,
exce t when the distance between the structure of the existin sensitive receptor and proposed
structure exceeds 300- feet:

1.       For anv warehouse distribution facilitv equal to or less than 50, 000 sauare
feet in size a five ( 5) foot landscape buffer shall be required.

2.       For any warehouse distribution facility larger than 50, 000 square feet in
size, a ten( 10) foot landscape buffer shall be required.

3.       For any warehouse distribution facilit er than 400, 000 square feet in

size, a fifteen ( 15) foot landscape buffer shall be required.

B.       The landscape buffer area( s) shall include:

1. A solid, ei ht( 8) foot masonry wall( s), or alternative material approved by

the community development director.

2.       Trees with a minimum box size of 24 inches with spacin dependent on the

tree s ecies as recommended bv a certified Landscape Architect.   The buffer mav include

stormwater bio- filtration, detention or retention areas.

3.       Drou ht tolerant and properly irriagted plants and trees to maintain r owth•

C.       A berm is encoura ed within the landscape buffer area( s) to assist in screenin

warehouse distribution facilitv.

17. 98. 050 Oqerational Signa e

A.      The following si nage is required for all warehouse distribution facilities,
re, ardless of size:

1.       Anti- idling si ns indicatin a 5- minute diesel truck en ine idlin restriction
shall be posted alon entrances to the site and in the dock areas and shall be strictly enforced by
the facility operator.

2.       Directional si ns consistent with Section 17. 84. 050 indicatin automobile

and truck entrances shall be posted along entrances to the site.

175



Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities—     ATTACHMENT 30

Chapter 17. 98 Mark Up

3 Si ns shall be installed at all truck exit driveways directin truck drivers to

the truck route as indicated in the Truck Routin Plan or as specified in a Specific Plan.

4.       Si ns shall be installed in public view with contact information for a local
desi nated representative who works for the facilit perator and who is desi nated to receive
complaints about excessive dust fumes, or odors, and truck and parking complaints for the site.
The si n shall also include information for the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District' s

SJVAPCD) on- line com laint system and its complaint call- line.

B.       All si ns under this Section shall be le ible, durable, and weather-proof.

17. 98. 060 Construction and Operational Guidelines

A.       The followin p uidelines shall apply to the construction of a warehouse distribution

facilitv

1.       Warehouse distribution facilities shall install solar photovoltaic ( PV) arrav
and an energ,_y stora e s st( ESS) consistent with the California Buildin Code•

2.       A portion of the passenger vehicle parkin spaces shall be allocated for

electric vehicles ( EV), with all necessar conduit and related appurtenances installed consistent

with the California Buildin C

B.       The followi,_ uidelines shall apply to the operation of a warehouse distribution

facilitv:

1.       The warehouse distribution facility shall incorporate a rec pro ra m.

2.       New or future tenant improvements for warehouse distribution facilities for cold

storage shall include electrical hookups for refrigeration units.

3.       Warehouse distribution facilities shall not allow a TRU  ( Transportation

Refri eration Unit) to operate while stationary unless the vehicle is lawfully parked at a location
approved for truck parking and not within five hundred ( 500) feet of a sensitive receptor unless
the operator is actively engaged in the process of loading or unloadin car o or is waiting in a

ueue to load or unload cargo for a period not to exceed two ( 2 hours.

17. 98. 070 Supplemental Information

A.       In addition to the application submittal requirements prescribed in Chapter 17. 100
and 17. 112, the a plication shall include the following information:

1.       Operational Si nage Plan includin but not limited to location, size, hei ht,

and type of illumination.   The Operational Si na e Plan shall demonstrate compliance with

Section 17. 98. 050 of this Chapter.

176



Good Neighbor Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities—     ATTACHMENT 30

Chapter 17. 98 Mark Up

2.       Site Plan illustratin a 1, 000- foot distance from the property line in all
directions.

3.       Truck Turnin Template to verify truck turnin movements at entrance and
exit driveways and maneuverabilittyhrou hout the site.

4.       Cross- Section and Plan View of the landscape buffer area( s).

5.       Site Li  Photometric Plan includin  information with detail

specifications on fixtures, poles, and wall packs.   The Site Li htin Photometric Plan shall

illustrate candle,power distribution beyond the propert 1

6.       Outdoor Break Area Exhibit( s)  illustratin  proposed furniture,  shade

structure( s), and other proposed equipment.

7.       Truck Routin Plan to and from the State Highwa ystem based on the

Citv' s latest Truck Route Map.

17. 98. 080 Enforcement

A.      Minimize exposure to diesel emissions to sensitive recentors that are situated in

close proximity to the warehouse/distribution center and eliminate diesel trucks from unnecessarily
traversin t gh residential neiphborhoods b the followin strate ies:

1.       To the extent feasible,  locate driveways,  loadin  docks and internal

circulation routes away from residential uses or any other sensitive receptors.

2.       Enforce compliance with Lathrop Municipal Code Section 10. 16. 010,
requirin the use of desi nated truck routes.

3.       Enforce compliance with Lathrop Municipal Code Section 10. 24.050.
restrictin t parking in residentially zoned districts.

4.       Enforce compliance with Lathrop Municipal Code Section 10. 24. 110 ( A),
re ard in the parkin of trailer or semi- trailer upon anv street, alle public way or public place,

unless the trailer or semi- trailer is attached to a motor vehicle capable of movin the trailer.

5.       Require warehouse/ distribution centers to educate drivers by_providin a

detailed map identifyin the specific truck route between the warehouse/ distribution center and

the freewav and/ or primary access.

177



Site Plan Review— Chapter 17. 100 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 31

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;' o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 100 Site Plan Review

17. 100. 010 Purposes and application.

I

B.    Site plan review provisions of this chapter shall apply to the following uses:

1.    Any use within the RCO, UR- ST, 4; R, RM, P P/  P   C and I zone districts,

excepting single- family residential use, which is to be constructed on a residential site with
complete street improvements;

2.    Any use subject to an environmental impact assessment under applicable provisions of
city policy as adopted by resolution pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970,
as amended.

l

178



Architectural Design Review— Chapter 17. 104 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 32

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by +
r'+'~^'

Chapter 17. 104 Architectural Design Review

17. 104. 010 Purposes and application.

I

B.    Site plan and architectural design review provisions of this chapter shall apply to any
permitted or conditional use, listed within the R, RM, P, P/ QP, '$ C or l district inclusive as

defined in Chapters 17.44 and 17. 48, inclusive of the Lathrop Municipal Code. There shall be no
exceptions to such application, except as may be granted for historic structures designated by the
city or by previously approved specific plans. ( Ord. 16- 359 § 1; Ord. 99- 181 § l; Ord. 92- 73)

l

179



Nonconforming Uses and Structures— Chapter 17. 116 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 33

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;', o+, r^„ n,

Chapter 17. 116 Nonconforming Uses and Structures

l

17. 116. 070 Elimination of illegal nonconforming uses and structures.

C.    Uses permitted only within a R or RM zone district which are located in a C or I zone

district, and uses permitted only within a C or I zone district which are located within a 4;R or

RM zone district shall be completely removed or altered and converted to a conforming status
upon abandonment of the previous use for six months or more. When a nonconforming use is
removed, every future use shall be in conformity with the provisions of this chapter. Repairs
necessary to maintain a nonconforming use and other maintenance ( excluding signs),  not

exceeding an assessed valuation of two thousand five hundred dollars ($ 2, 500. 00), shall not be

construed as lengthening the useful life of the nonconforming use.

180



Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles— Chapter 10. 16 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 34

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by *
r;', o+. r^„ n,

Chapter 10. 16 Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles

10. 16. 010 Truck routes— Establishment and purpose.

A.      Whenever any ordinance of the city designates and describes any street or portion
thereof as a street, the use of which is permitted by any vehicle exceeding a maximum gross
weight limit of ten thousand( 10, 000) pounds, the chief of police is authorized to designate such
street or streets by appropriate signs as" truck routes," for the movement of vehicles exceeding a
maximum gross weight limit of five ee tons.

B.       When any such truck route or routes are established and designated by appropriate
signs, the operator of any vehicles exceeding a maximum gross weight limit of five ee tons

shall drive on such route or routes and none other, except that nothing in this chapter shall
prohibit the operator of any vehicle exceeding a maximum gross weight of five k ee tons
coming from a" truck route" having ingress and egress by direct route to and from restricted
streets when necessary for the purpose of making pickups or deliveries of goods, wares and
merchandise from or to any building or structure located on such restricted streets, or for the
purpose of delivering materials to be used in the actual bona fide repair, alterations, remodeling
or construction of any building or structure upon such restricted streets for which a building
permit has previously been obtained therefor. This section shall not a plv to the followin street
se m  ents:

Lathro Road east of Golden Valley Parkway to Interstate 5 southbound off-ramp

Golden Valley Parkwav south of Dos Reis Road to Lathrop Road

Dos Reis Road, west and east of Golden Valley Parkway

Lathrop Road between Harlan Road and McKinley Avenue ( Prior code § 70. 15)

C Notwithstandin Section 10. 16. 010 B, box trucks( which mav exceed the maximum

gross wei ht limit of five tons are permitted to access restricted streets for the purpose of makin
pickups or deliveries of oods wares and rnerchandise from or to any buildin or structure located
on or adjacent to such restricted streets. As defined. " box trucks" also referred to as" cube trucks"

or" box vans" are medium- sized straight trucks with a cuboid- shaped cargo stora e area connected

to the cabin by a sin le chassis or frame. These characteristics differentiate box trucks from semi-
trucks which are not connected throu hg a sin le frame( they consist of a semi or cab, and a separate
trailer) Box trucks do not have the ca abilitv to haul container loads and can onlv transport loose

car o•

D Notwithstanding Section 10. 16. 010 B, service and merchant delivery trucks ( e..
fuel food and bevera e medical or similar use) are permitted to access restricted streets for the
purpose of providing service to a buildin or structure located on or adiacent to such restricted

streets.

l

181



Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles— Chapter 10. 16 Mark Up ATTACHMENT 34

182



Mossdale Landing UDC - Mark Up ATTACHMENT 35

Marked- Up Packet of ML-UDC pages: i, ii, 2, 4, 7, 9, 10, 12, 64,

67- 73, 85, 97, 104, 114, 117, 150, 156

183



Mor.rdale Landing     Table of Conterrt.r

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LISTOF FIGURES..................................................................................................................................... II

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY........................................................................................................................ III

INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................... 1

URBANDESIGN CONCEPT....................................................................................................................... 1

HISTOR[ CAL CONTEXT AND PRECEDENCE............................................................................................ 3

PROJECTTHEME....................................................................................................................................... 3

THEDEVELOPMENT PLAN.................................................................................................................... 4

RESIDENT[ AL- MV..................................................................................................................................... 4

VILLAGECOMMERCIAL- MV.................................................................................................................... 5

SERV[ CE COMMERC[ AL- MV....................................................................................................................5

PUBLIC- MV...............................................................................................................................................6

MOSSDALE LAND[ NG DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT.................................................................................. 9

CIRCULATION......................................................................................................................................... 13

DEVELOPMENTSTANDARDS.............................................................................................................. 15

SERVICE COMMERCIAL- MV STANDARDS...................................................................................... 16

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STAf( DARDS............................................................................................... 17

SERVICE COMMERCIAL- MV DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS................................................................ 21

PERMITTED AND COND[ TIONAL LAND USES....................................................................................... 22

VILLAGE COMMERCIAL- MV STANDARDS..................................................................................... 26

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS............................................................................................... 27

ViLLAGE COMMERCIAL- MV HIGH DENSITY RES[ DENT[ AL............................................................... 34

GEI fERAL DEVELOPMEIVT STANDARDS............................................................................................... 34

MIXED- USE VILLAGE COMMERCIAL- MV DEVELOPMENT STAIVDARDS...................................... 40

PERMITTED At 1D CONDITIONAL PERMITTED USES............................................................................ 41

MEDIUM DEIVSITY RESIDENTIAL- MV STANDARDS..................................................................... 45

PRODUCTTYPE3..................................................................................................................................... 45

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS............................................................................................... 49

MED( UM DENS[ TY RESIDENTIAL-MV DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS................................................ 54

PERM[ TTED AND CONDIT[ ONAL PERMITTED USES............................................................................ 55

LOW RESIDENTIAL- MV STANDARDS............................................................................................... 57

GENERAL DEVELOPMEIVT STANDARDS............................................................................................... 57

LOW RESIDENTIAL- MV DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS....................................................................... 62

PERM[ TTED AND CO[ VDITIONAL PERMITTED USES............................................................................ 65

HIGH RESIDENTIAL- MV STANDARDS.............................................................................................. 57

GENERAL DEVELOPMEIVT STANDARDS............................................................................................... 57

HIGH RES[ DENTIAL- MV DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS....................................................................... 62

PERMI7TED AND CONDITIONAL PERMITTED USES............................................................................ 73

PUBLICUSES- MV...................................................................................................................................674

ARCHIT` ECTURAL STYLES................................................................................................................... 75

SPANISH................................................................................................................................................. 76

ITALIAN................................................................................................................................................777

MONTEREY.......................................................................................................................................... 7 8 8

AMERICAN COLONIAL TRADITIONAL............................................................................................ 79

Urban Design Concept     Page i

184



Ma.r.rdale L nding     Table of Content.r

CRAFTSMANBUNGALOW.................................................................................................................80

MEDITERRANEAN................................................................................................................................ 81

FRENCHCOUNTRY.............................................................................................................................. 82

ENGLISHCOUNTRY............................................................................................................................. 83

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE STANDARDS.................................................................................... 84

LANDSCAPE THEME AND GUIDEL[ NES................................................................................................ 84

STREETS.................................................................................................................................................. 84

MU[.TI-USE TRAILS AND BICYCLE LANES.......................................................................................... l02

GATEWAYSAND ENTR[ ES................................................................................................................... 105

PARKS.................................................................................................................................................... I 11

OPENSPACE........................................................................................................................................ 115

WALLSAND FENCES............................................................................................................................ 116

STREETFLJRNITURE......................................................................................................................... 12020

UTILITYPLACEMENT...................................................................................................................... 12323

IRRIGATION..................................................................................................................................... 12323

SI GNAGE............................................................................................................................................ 12424

INFRASTRUCTURE............................................................................................................................ 13636

INTRODUCTION.............................................................................................................................. 13636

STORM DRAiIVAGE AND WAT' ER QUALII' Y..................................................................................... 13636

WATER................................................................................................................................................. I 377

WASTEWATER.................................................................................................................................. 14040

RECYCLEDWAT' ER............................................................................................................................... 144

IMPLEMENTATION............................................................................................................................. 1488

PHAS[ NG.............................................................................................................................................. 1488

PROJECTENTITLEMEIVTS................................................................................................................... 1522

F[ NANCING MECHANISMS................................................................................................................... 152

FINANC[ NG PLAN.................................................................................................................................. 153

CIT' Y APPROVAL PROCESS................................................................................................................... 154

AMENDMENTPROCESS.................................................................................................................... 156

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE WEST LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN, CITY SUBDIVISION CODE, AND
MOSSDALE LAND[ NG URBAN DESIGN CONCEPT.............................................................................. l58

LIST OF FIGURES

F[ GURE 1: AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH WITH S[ 1' E PLAN...............................................................••-................. 2

FIGURE 2: ILLUSTRAT[ VE SITE PLAN.......................................................................................................... 7

F[ GURE 3: MOSSDALE LANDING LAND USE DESIGNATIONS.................................................................. 10

FIGURE 4: R( VER EDGE HE[ GHT LIMIT PLAN........................................................................................... 64

FIGURE S: VEHICLE CIRCULATION................................................................................. 85

FIGURE 6: STREET SECTIOIV— GOLDEN VALLEY PARKWAY.................................................................. 90

FIGURE 7: STREET SECTION— COLLECTOR AND RESIDENTIAL STREETS............................................. 95

FIGURE 8: STREET TREE IVEIGHBORHOOD LTNIT................................................................... 97

FIGURE 9: STREET SECTIONS— MED( UM DENSITY AND RIVER ROAD............................................... 100

FIGURE 10: STREET SECTIONS— MANTHEY RD. AND TOWNE CENTRE.............................................. 101

FIGURE l 1: PBDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE CIRCULATION........................................................................ 104

FIGURE 12: IYEIGHBORHOOD PARK HALF- M[ LE COVERAGE....................................................... 114

FIGUi2E 13: WALL, FENCE AND COLUMN PLAN..................................................................................... 117

FIGURE 14: RECYCLED WATER SPRAY FIELD EXHIBIT INFRASTRUCTURE DEMAND PHASE 1........ 146

F[ GURE 15: RECYCLED WATER SPRAY FIELD EXHIBIT INFRASTRUCTURE DEMAND PHASE 2........ 147

FIGURE 16: DEVELOPMENT PHASING PLAN........................................................................ 150

Urbun De.rign Concept     Page ii

185



3,         1      
4

t      -% ; 
r t

t`       
9

r     .      
r

1
1      /   

r      .       {      s'         
i

E

t      
t       `.`  .     

f t            

u,      ^ .,   

i      
1     

i`  
j   

I

J

r./    
tf      

t..     t>      j_      .   '(   .. t'  i

T I i
I,'•     

1

I            `  (  i   

y.`^(   

y

S      

4'  :   '  >     .. ....    

y  ''      
7—     ... y  1       }.

i i f;
r.       !.

i t t •

I Y  ~:   f Z Y '       
A.,

w         .L
Y   t    ;,

4
Y

t—    S
i J t         7

1   ,    J 
f• lY

2      fYE I 1  

s       x  r4

r
a. . W..____---{.      <

1             
m t•

1   

r; .      

4 ,; 

r i a : y ,      : ,_1

r

i a f r' Y

t t

m

l  

V       )

4

4l   '       j

rJt l ,,    r.       

9 4       '    

f .
7

4      '    ;  //,       

t

y      `     j
r        E  t

f  

t  .     
e  S

t
r`  

4 i { 

1 Ct
F`t`..`..   ..      `'       

r   •: x..   C 1    ^         '     

r 1'

r

T7  
t 

C.     
1'-'       

i       

lk ./; t- s':    
l/       

1
M

i 1

t'

i
4

k tl        ykr  .,    „ r•

s   

c-, T' 1 t         ','
y`"  

J..

i

r  `   *,

i -{}-- t14rJ'' ' '/    -

l

t".i  ' 1- X  . 7?'      ^.
i

x r-/   

f  ,` l`    '`
t k

a.
v,. a.,.. f       

F

r     _

z—+    LL _  '  ", 7" wJ̀.+' _   

I :

R

186



Mo.r.rdale Landing     Project De.rcriptian

THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Lathrop' s Mossdale Landing is based upon the Mossdale Village plan and policies presented
in the West Lathrop Specific Plan{ WLSP).   It is consistent vith the City of Lathrop' s
General Plan.  The ptoposed plan pxovides the appro: cimate acreages of the following land
uses- 268 acres of Lo v Density Residential, 46 acres of Medium Density Residential, 6. 89
acres of High Density Residential, 11 acres of Service Commexcial, and 7 acres of Village
Commexcial, while Public designated uses include 19 acres of neighborhood parks, a 20 acre

community paxk, 14 acres of levee and otheY open space, a fire station, and 34 acres of
schools. Mossdale Landing is unique in that it follows neo- traditianal planning principles for
greater community interaction and access, pxovides opportunities for a wide range of
housing options, supplies a catalyst for commercial development, imparts more park acreage
than is required- meaning more play and green areas, presents local and regional bicycle and
pedestrian trails, and provides street trees and separated side valks on all streets.   The

following sections provide greater details about Mossdale Landing.

RESIDENTIAL- MV

A vide variety of housing types vill be pxovided in l lossdale Landing.  Neighborhoods

range fxom 3, 200 square foot lots at appro: imately 8 d velling units per acre to minimum
7, 000 square foot lots at appxo:{ imately 3. 7 units per acre.  Higher density residential uses, up
to 20 units peY acre, ate permitted vithin the village center and up to 25 units per acre for
the High Densiry zoned properry at the southeast corner of Golden Valley Parkway and
Brookhurst Boulevard.  Within Mossdale Landing, residential neighborhoods will typically
increase in density closer to the future village center mi ed use area.  Neighborhoods are

designed as a single planning unit and are governed by the development standards of each
specific product type under High Densiry and Medium Density, and by neighborhood
planning area lot size undet Lo v Density.  Neighborhoods within Mossdale Landing are
classified into typical neigh6orhoods in minimum lot sizes of 3, 200, 5, 000, 6, 000 or 7, 000
square feet.

The Development Concept Plan cvithin the WLSP designates a high school site in the
northeastetn corner of the project area,  However, the State has denied the use of this site

for a high school, and prefers a location further north of Mossdale Landing.  The WLSP

took this possibility into consideration and provides a  " selected Mossdale Village

development alternative" to permit the high school site to be developed instead as low
densiry residential to match the adjoinuig low density residential designated axeas.   The

Mossdale Landing UDC is utilizing the selected Mossdale Village development alternative of
lo v density residential as the proposed land use designation in this area.  Neighborhoods of
5, 000, 6, 000, and 7,000 square foot lots are proposed in this application.  Medium density
residential areas are permitted to be developed at 8 to14 units per acre.  " I'he WLSP notes

that although medium density residential uses are conceived as a mulriple family district, the
dwelling units may be single family detached homes on small lots.  This flexibility permits a
vide range of housing products to be constructed in the medium density categors, vhile
follo ving current housing ttends for detached homes on small lots.  This UDC anticipates

detached single family homes on 3, 200 square foot" zipper" lots.

Urban De.rign Conc•ept     Page 4

187



Q
m

N i'„

q

rN^      

w

v       

o
V

Vv
ttiti tt's; y,'    i

a0

c

M.      '
J•        

Di f     ._ I. l

Q 7 f   ... 
K a:.•       . ......

J  

ri      '   i •

J+     

t^ S

u      
z      

i.     

z`    
3 3r 2

t  

ed d"

j..........«.'..:..  .:.«.:«:..-

i  / 
h 1

T  -.}  ...  

L,  
3'

1
Y 1 T  2

F_ i E..  r 3:   3 i

r
s

i     /'
Y

r r:  '       

f QT;,

Yy,s/ib i y;

i       rj`':. t `

yr
I

Y

i   '
y  !',;''I t; y...

i`     .*`        
f

f f j   \}"    e

1 I t'  

i

t=sia 1
ti a    .' '

e,    

y ,

s, ts' s- 3
S

S..

ti M     i!

S•=     '   
w

K

1    _      N

t   \
i'{ 

r L,:,       ,,"_

r

L

a` 

M ;' l

i.

i*  , M  '. '`%'
a.

r   , ._   ,.  , , •.  ,,
c i1•'' i•.'4*

N'  •  '  `
o    •+„

W       ,. z     ,

i   ;  •'`'itt:
ti..     .\    

C

d         t:.= i` r: r.:s~ ssz: t 

a v
aD y

s

4 j        K
r        

iT C N
t,

C

a
w

188



Mo.r.rdale Landiag     Project Description

MOSSDALE LANDING DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT

As discussed, Mossdale Landing will be a xni.Yed- use community that incorporates amenities
such as patks and open space to enrich both the project and the quality of life for it' s
residents and visitors. Belo v axe land use summaries illustrating the land uses, acres, average

density, and units as designated by the West Lathrop Specific Plan and that of the proposed
PYoject.

West Lathro S ecific Plan Land Use Summa
Land Use Actes Av . Densi Dwellin Units/ Foota e

Low Densi Residential     -       294. 9 5. 5 1 618 du

Medium Densi Residential      - lV 46. 6 10. 0 4G6 du

Public   -       512 NA NA

Villa e Commercial CV-     11. 0 0. 25 FAR 119 790 sf

Service Commercial CS-     18. 6 0. 25 FAR 202 554 sf

Ma' or Road va s 55. 0 NA NA

TOTAL 477. 3 NA 2, 084 du

322, 344 sf

Mossdale Landin Land Use Summa

Land Use Acres Densi Dwellin Units Foota e

Lo v Densi • Residential     - h 268. 1 4. 6 1 236 du

Medium Density Residential      -  45. 1 8. 4 399 du

Hi h Densi Residential      -      6. 89 25 172 du

Public   - lv 86. 9 NA NA

Villa e Commercial CV-

6. 7 0. 60 FAR 175 111 sE

Service Commercial CS-     11. 4 0. 60 Fr1R 297 950 sf

Ma or Road va• s 52. 2 NA NA

TOTAL 477. 3 Nt1 1, 807 du

473, 061 sf

Although a few d.ifferences between the land use acreage designations of the Specific Plan

and those proposed by the Mossdale Landing UDC e: cist, the proposed plan meets the intent
of the West Lathrop Specific Plan.  Single Family Residential acreage has decreased
some vhat in the proposed plan due to the inclusion of a K-8 school not designated for the
pxoperries vithin the Specific Plan. Medium Density Residential uses are consistent vith the
General and Specific Plans, with the slight acreage difference due to the realignment of

major streets and intersections. Proposed Single Family, Mediutn Density Residential, and
High Densiry Residential units are vithin their appropriate density ranges as required by the
West Lathsop Specific Plan. Public uses in the proposed plan have increased significandy
over the Specific Plan due to the inclusion of additional parks and open space, and the
provision of a second K-8 school. The Village Commercial acreage is generally the same
between the t vo plans with the diffetences also resulting from the minor realignment of
some major streets. The acreages of Service Commercial designated lands are essentially the

same between the two plans, but have been adjusted slightly to confotm to the realignment
of Golden Valley Patkway. Finally, major streets have reduced in scale in the proposed plan
due to various street realignments, including that of River Islands Parkway and the River
Islands/ Golden Valley intersection. Roadway realignments are all in conformance vith the
Specific Plan. The adjustments occurred due to engineering design criteria for the roadways.

Urban De.riBn Concept     Page 9

189



Morrclale L rnding     Projec•t Dercription

xUMv

P-Mv

P-MV
RIrMV R1rMY

OVERLA7

RLMV P-MV

R4MV

xar. RM-MV

RIr V

r

P 

P"'     

5'

w' x..

N—
ru,.

RM-MV CV- MV

P_h'n'   
p-My CSMV

RbI-MV

RI. dGi r— -

Ku.

nwr.

1t—'...

I.EGENU
P-     xi,.axv     `       

Rx-

RL- IbN District

Rcsidcntial Lo v- lossdalc Vill:tgc

R1 1- N Disrrict
M District

Residcnci: il icdium- J[ ossdale Vill c

Residential High- Mossdale Village

o;,u, t Figure 3
Commcrcill Vill ge Dtossd: ilc` illa

CS- i N District Mossd le Lc nding
Commercial Service- fossdale Village

P- NfV District Land Use Desagnatzons
Publio- to. ada] e Villa€e

Figute 3: Mossdale Landing Land Use Designarions

Urban Derign Conc•ept     Page 10

190



Mo.crdale Landing     Project De.rc ription

Land Use Desi nation Acres Uaits/ S uare Feet Densi

Residential- MV

3,200 r ua z oot 1Vei hGorboortr

Nei hborhood 7 21. 7 acres 179 du 8? du/ ac

Ne hborhood 13 17. 4 acres 151 du 8. 7 du/ ac

SarGtotnl 39. 1 330 8.4 du/ nc

2,200 r uni ootl\' ei hGo l oodt

Nei bGo l oot118 7.0 acipr 79 drr 11. 3 di/ nc

TotnlMedu nr Derrri Keaideirtinl 45. 1 ncret 399 rlir 9.S du/ nc

5,000 t rrare ootNei 6Gal oodr

Nei hborhood 2 18. 8 acres 107 du 5. 7 du/ ac

Nei hboxhood 8 13. 7 acres 70 du 5. 1 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 9 11. G acres 66 du 5. 7 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 11 8. 9 aczes 52 du 5. 8 du/ ac

Nei hbochood 14 12. 1 acres G6 du 5. 5 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 17 12. 9 aaes 74 du 5. 7 du/ ac

SnGtotn!   78. 0 nc rr 435 rlir 5.6 fu/ nc

6,000 r unie oot 1Vei bGo oodr

Nei hboLhood 1 24. 8 acres 110 du 4.4 du/ ac

Ne hborhood 3 22. 8 acces 103 du 4.5 du/ ac

Nei hboihood 4 289acres 134 du 4. 6 du/ ac

Nei hboxhood 10 31. 6 actes 128 du 4. 1 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 12 13. 6 acres 6G du 4.9 du/ ac

Nei hbozhood 16 11. 9 acres 53 du 4.5 du/ ac

SuGtotn!    133. 6 nt rr 593 rlir f.4 lu/ ni

000 r unir ootNei bGo l oadr

Nei hborhood 5 23. 3 acres 85 du 3. 7 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 6 21. 1 acres 75 du 3. 6 du/ ac

Nei hborhood 15 12. 4 acres 48 du 3.9 du/ ac

SrrLtotn!   56. 5 aczes 208 du 3.8 du/ ac

Tata!    Si rgle Fnmily Rerfdential 268. 1 ncre.r 1, 236 drr 4.6 lir/ nc

1Veigl Go l oodr

Totn! Hi h Deu.ri Reride rtinl 6.89 172 dir 25 dir nc

Total Residential-MV 306.31 acres 1807 du NA

Commercial- MV

illa e Commercial- bI'  G. 7 acres 175 111 sf 0. G0 F R

Sexvice Commercial-\ I'  11. 4 acres 297,950 sf 0.60 F: 1R

Subtotal 18.11 acres 473, 061 sf

Public- 1bIV

Parks and O en S ace

Communi Park 20.2 acres

Cxescent Park 1. 4 acies

Park Uest G. 8 acres

The Green 1. 0 acze

vtossdale Commo s 1. 5 acre

River Park 8. 2 acres

O en S ace evee 13.0 acres

Landsca e Pazcels 8 acres

Subtotal 52.8 acres

Schoois

K- 8 School er - 16J acres

K- 8 tichool t fossdale 17. 0 acres

Subtotal 33. 7acres

Fire Station 4 acres

Other

1 Ia' or Streets 52? acres

TOZAL 477.3acres 1,8D7du

473,061 sf

Urban De,rign Cance it     Page 12

191



m

N

w  .

oC w a        
v

HO
a

z

nm L.._    ,._
T"      i tr"_' r,.

1.i,  `
fi

3   

F-

q

1   '   
N '     ';, j}' ril I

t..`--;--   "^ r-     i I`+     I I
u,     i

r-    
i(—_ l  ,  i:

z       {       Y'`' L`!       1

jIj f

IT ifr _..7   _ 
A,,         

j.-.ì' TM7,«''     
J        .C,_,      

T     '       

o

l

r   

r. '

r,

y`'+ l'      

it( j`*.-F,
rvi'

r',            

If   ,-  F:  c   1;--;==-,, r       
ti; i

r1          %     1`

1(  '            _ j       
t.

z

l
F   ,     --     

i
r      iC'', %' y' r

i i
z i       '       i e

i     f   
U         i

i i I   

i I z
I

e
F/'

I i v  r..y
r I 1 t 7"i    

t`\.      
5(> .,  

i' 
1''  ¢

i

P
i i

a ' 

y` Y` j

f .r

I i i'-  r       1

i   ; ' i    '/<`    

J 4.%•
J'   "'

r-.

i i

y' `-

f'
L,  x

r-
Tl`' i:       , r,'•_ yy

it `  -    t,.

i-- d  

f*,'`

J-„.!'`.. YZ'- r;}
r i, y{-   1``'. i%

r- r- y- T-— -- r,-_r;i ,'       k 
I i"/        

C
f Ci *- rr; T'

f.  '

rY       r.i

I

Y     ;' ',,' ,

P C.
1---   c

I G`=>=     r,-       ;,,       

i,` ,.`' a- 1'`; l`      
1tx`'   y_:=-      \       

r^t' t'.'t  - fc'
r`",%-%

1 4.',     \,
ii'y'`-- y         

C'`    1 y-'",.     ,,y'  :, vl;„   
t ''?;/     '  '  

D
i I

M       , y i`'
C1Vi_-'-(/-.

j..'w.
G,-..', i  t v'       Mal

i
Z       '•

t.'/'

yV`
l. L-.

1:     ,`;"`
yJ i

t   
r. h  ,N  > r

i y"
t,' i'  

WCS l=1%  ''     W
i      

N    /       

w

C``--+ '' `' i    1 (

i t   
J     `.       ,-  ,, 

y

i

1`
j',~

1'

f i`    !    j

1
Yf-' 

LW    

t    •         - 

L

7' 
1.,'.. 1. ,_.._....". J, l.:,k. .___  .

s  . u C7

w

192



Morrdale Landing     Developmertt and Architecture StandarcLr

HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL- MV STANDARDS

The High Densiry residential( RH- I designation permits attached housing units. The theme,
design styles, materials and colors shall reflect those of the other residential neighboxhoods of

Mossdale Landing.

Site Planning

Dwelling units, entries, and pedestrian access shall be oriented to vard and/ or front Golden
Valley Paxkway and away from the freeway.
The site plan shall be vell organized and easily navigable, vith a clear and well organized
circulauon net vork and parking arrangement.

A muiiinum of five feet shall be provided between the parking lot and back of side valk
along public streets.

All service and maintenance areas shall be located away from public streets and pedestrian
areas and screened from view with valls and/ or landscaping.
A minunum ten- foot landscape buffer shall be provided onsite whexe residential units are
adjacent to service commercial uses.

The incorporation of a private tecreation facility within the complex shall be requiced.
However, the specific elements that are pxovided shall be determined by the individual
builder ox developex.  Potential amenities vithin the recreation area may include, but are not
be limited to, a s vunming pool, spa, tennis court, and/ or picnic/ baxbecue aYea.  Design of

the facility shall be compatible vith the architectural style of the complex.

All storm system design shall conform to the City of Lathrop's National Pollutant Discharge
Elitnination System ( NPDES) pernut requirements.

Massing

FaCades shall be articulated to reduce the scale and mass of the buildings and to differentiate

between building functions and units.   Elevations may be stepped both horizontally and
vertically.  Walls may be broken up by changes in planes and heights, and vith the use of
articulation including recesses and shado v lines.  Desired changes in material should occur

at such a step.  This is applicable to the fxont and rear elevations as vell as the street facing
side elevations.

Large, blank espanses of wall are to be avoided, unless necessary for noise attenuation.
Unique vindow treatments including shutters and a vnings provide articulation of vall
surfaces while contributing to the character of the project. Other elements that help to
minunize this condition include false, shuttered vindows, decorative louvered vents, wall

offsets, and horizontal banding.

r t least 50% of the units must have significant single story or lower height elements on the
fxont and stxeet facing elevations. Porches may be part of this strategy.

Urban Design Concept     Page 67

193



Mo. rrdale IQncling     Development and_Arc•hitec•ture Stanclardr

Architecture

The entry shall be designed to serve as a focal point of the elevation and be readily
discernible. Single story projections at entries and poYches shall be incorporated.
It is also desirable, within the limits of economic reality, that all building elevations share
common materials and degrees of articulation.

Fa ade articulation, styles, materials and colors shall relate to those present in the adjoining
neighboxhoods.

Exterior lighting fixtures attached to the building shall be compatible with the style,
materials, colors and details of the building.  Lighting used on the exteiior of buildings and
signs, and the light quality produced, shall be appropriate and compatible.

Roofs and Roof Forms

The use of different roof t pes vill add variety and interest to the street scene. Roof types
shall be consistent with vhichevex architectural st rle is chosen. Tile roofs are xequixed.

Roof forms having dual pitches such as Gambrel or Mansard should not be used. Flat roofs
are pexmitted only vith appropriate parapets and in limited applications.
Substantial overhangs are encouraged as a response to solar and climatic conditions.  The

inclusion of covered porches and entries also expand sheltered living spaces, create entty
statements, and provide elevation relief.
Steps in the roof should respond to the interior room arrangement and pxovide visual relief
and interest.  A vertical step within the ridgeline shall be at least 18" to create visual impact
and allo v for adequate veatherpxoofing
Architectural elements such as doxmers, chimneys and other elements which add visual
interest to roofs axe encouraged.

Place non- mechanical roof vents in unobtrusive locations away from public vie v, unless they
are part of the building' s architectural style.

Entries

The entry shall be designed and located so as to be readily identifiable.  If the front door

location is not obvious or visible because of building configuxation, the entry shall direct and
draw the user in the desired path thtough the use of signage, lighting and landscape.

Windows and Doors

As with roofs, windo vs and dooYs shall vary because of the various elevation sryles xequired
amongst the plans. In addition, they shall xeflect restraint in the number of types, styles and
sizes. Consistency of vindow and door detailing on all elevations must be maintained.

Windo v grids should be used on all public street facing elevations vith the grid
proportion appropriate to the architectural style.
On all elevations, openings shall be articulated vith the appropriate head, sill and jamb
trim, vhere appropriate.

Urbc n Derign Conc ept     Page 68

194



Mor.rclale I tndrng     Development and Architecture Standards

Shutters, if incorporated, shall be traditional in design, and be sized to be appropriate to

the style.

Other Primary Building Elements

Dornrer winda2v.r shall be architecturally correct in scale, proportion and detail with the selected
architectural style. Fake dormers are not allo ved.

Bay ivinclaay. r shall be carried do un to grade or express appropriate visual suppoYt of a cantilevered
condition. The vall area of bay windo vs shall be detailed in a manner that is appropriate to the
architectural style.

Chintneys shall be pxoperly located and in correct pxoportion to the mass of the home. Chimneys
shall be designed vith appropriate breaks fox architectural character.  Decorative chimney caps
are encouraged.

Balc•onies are useful in bYeaking up large wall planes, offsetting floors, creating visual interest and
adding human scale to the building.  They may be coveYed or open, and either recessed into the
mass of the building or serve as a projecting element.  Balconies must appear to be an integral
element of the building rather than an after thought or add- on. The details, eaves supports, and
railing shall be consistent vith the balance of the building' s design elements or style.  Concern

shall be given to avoid designing balconies in plans in such a manner that they ate plotted side
by side.

E terior stair.; shall be compatible in type and material to the deck and landing. Use of open stair
treads can only be justified whexe the balcony or landing element is a projecting element.

Materials and Colors

Within a given architectural style, the esteriox shall receive a consistent use of materials and
colors on all sides. Accent materials such as brick and stone used on street facing elevations shall
be returned to a logical point of terminarion on the adjacent elevation. Accent materials are not
required on elevations that are not visible Erom public areas. Natural and natural appearing
materials should be used to compliment the architectural style, and are subject to architectural

design revie v. These materials include vood, stone, brick, and copper.  Full metal roofs are

prohibited vithout approval of the axchitectural design review committee.   Built- up or roll
roofrng and similar appearing materials are only permitted if thejT are not vie vable om the

street.      

Mechanical Equipment and Utilities

Esterior lighting fu tures attached to the building shall be compatible with the style,
materials, coloxs and details of the building.  Lighting used on the exterior of buildings and
signs, and the light quality produced, shall be appropriate and compatible.
All mechanical equipment, including air conditioners, gas regulators, and telephone/ cable
TV pedestals, shall be located in visually unobtrusive locations to the side or rear of
buildings away from adjacent streets or pedestrian walkways.   All such items shall be

Urban De.rign Canc•ept     Page 69

195



Ma. r.r lale Lancling     Development arrd< Architecttrre Standarcl, r

screened from view and baffled for noise attenuation vhere necessary.  Roof top equipment
must be hidden in mechanical wells or screened by mechanical enclosures.  Satellite dishes

and solax panels shall be integrated as best as possible, but shall be located in visually
unobtrusive locations and screened from views from Golden Valley Parlczvay.-

Trash enclosures shall be located either in buildings, within or adjacent to the parking lot, or
behind buildings.  These facilities shall not be placed near prunary pedestrian ttaffic and
gathering areas. They shall be enclosed with structures such as valls, fences, and trellis' that
vill blend vith adjacent architectural styles, materials, and colors.

Where possible, traffic signal light bases, light controller boses, and other above ground
utilities shall be located at the periphery of all intersecti.ons along Golden Valley Park vay.
Utilities should be consolidated at locations that are genexally inconspicuous to pedestrian
views and access.

Transformers and other above ground utility structures shall be located vithin or adjacent to
the parking lot, where feasible, oY behind buildings.  They shall be screened with plantings
and/ or structures such as valls, fences, and trellis' that vill architectuxally blend tvith
adjacent architectural styles of the adjacent buildings.

All antennas shall be placed in attics or interior to buildings.
All utilities noted above will need to be coordinated with street tree and stxeet light locations

along Golden Valley Parkway and other public streets.  Street trees and light fi. tures shall

take precedence over other utility locations, as feasible.  Tree and lighting plans shall be
completed in conjunction with joint trench and utility placement plans to ensure the best
spacing and location for street ttees and lights.

Access and Parking

Each project vill incorpoxate interior oriented parking solutions and design techniques listed
belo v to enhance the character of the street scene. All garage doors shall be roll-up doors.

Locate garages and parking areas intetior to the site off of interior vehicular access xoads or
drive vays.

Where possible, turn the shott side of parking courts to vard the street to avoid length5
parking areas abutting the street.

Distribute paxking throughout the site to provide parking as close as possible to individual
units.

Provide pedestrian connections from parking lots to dwelling units.  Pedestrian connections
shall be integrated vith the buildings, landscaping and ciYculation.
Parking lots shall be planted vith one tree per sis paxking stalls.  Trees shall be large canopy
trees to provide shade and minimi e the scale and impact of the parking lot.  In addition to
these trees,  the peruneteY of the parking lot,  and especially vhere the parking abuts
residential units, shall be screened with trees and understory planting.

Parking lots shall incorporate a continuous hedge, wall vith landscaping, or other acceptable
screening options along public street frontages.
Parking lot light standards shall complement the adjacent architectural sryle and the
community theme and be consistent throughout the project.

Urban De ign Concept     Page 70

196



Mo.rrdale Ilrnding     Develoj ment and Architecture Standarclr

Parking lot light fixtures shall use shielding devices to prevent light from impacting
suYrounding residential units. Light standards shall be no higher than necessary to provide
adequate illumination for safety purposes.

Tuck Under

Setting the garage back in relationship to the face of the building strives to reduce the overall
visual mass of the gaxage. This also provides additional fa ade articulation.

Detached ot Remote Garages and Carports

Design style, materials, detailing, and colars shall replicate those on the residential facades.
Proper use of materials and scYeening elements vill tie these facilities into the overall project
design while at the same time visually do vn playing them.

Signs

No permanent outdoor advertising sttucture or sign of any character shall be permitted vith the
esception of those signs used in conjunction with entry monuments and subject to theit
particular design standards.

Urban De.rign Canc e it     Page 71

197



Mo.crdale Landing     Development and Arc•hitec•ture Standurrlr

HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

Minimum Parcel Area:   NA

Miraimum Width ofParcel.•       NA

Vlinimsrm De th ofParcel.•       NA

Minimrrm Diftanc•e Getzveen Buildings( 1J:       30 feet: primary to primazy
20 feet: primary to secondary
10 feet: seconda to seconda

Minimarm Setback Ke r iremerrt. r

Frorr Galden T> all Parkw ri ht of tva 15 feet

From Proj erty Line of Acljacent Seruice 15 feet

Commercial U.re

From Interior Pro"ect Street 10 feet

From Dnve Ai.rle 5 feet to living area, 3 feet to gara e
Maxim em Builclin Hei ht.      50 feet— 3 sto livin area ma: cunum

Off-street Parkin j21:    Residential uses [ 3]: 1 space/ studio or single bedroom, 2

spaces/ t vo+ bedrooms.  1/ 2 stall per unit for guest parking
includes on- street arkin of Cornuco ia} C/ a .

Set cr• k fram Parking:    10 Feet

Private Open S iace 50 square Feet balcony/ deck
Minimum 5 feet de th

tVlAxinarrm Brrildirig Coverage:    70%

Common Area:   50 square feet per unit.  The minimum dimension of any
space satisfying this standard is 10'. This common area
shall be improved for either passive or active recreational
uses b residents.

1J Priman cictiations contain mom than t«• o fcaturc windo r-s per flooc . Ul othcr dc ations arc considcmd sccondar}• valls( no morc than nco
indit• idual unit cntrics mac occur on a sccondary• c( ccation).

Z] On- strcet parl: ing can bc eountcd towards a Projcet' s Carl: ing reyuircmcnt.
3' l hesc rcyuirements may be modificd for senior hou, ing• here ic can be demun, trated that feu•cr spaces are suffieicnt. Re, i ential parl: ing

shall bc idcntificd by sigrtagc or striping.

Encroachments

The follocving encroachments may project up to 2 feet beyond the building facade:
Eaves; and,

Second and third floor atchitectural projections such as balconies, overhangs, bay
vindo vs, window seats etc.

Urban De.ri n Cancept    Page 72

198



Morrdale Landrng     Development and Arc•hitec•ture Standarcl.r

PERMITTED AND CONDITIONAL U5ES

Permitted and conditionally perm.itted uses for the High Density Residential disttict vill as
provided for below.

Attached Multi-family Residential, including, but not limited to:

Condominiums, apartments, flats, townhouses, and independent living facilities
Convalescent and assisted care facility

Home occupations in accoYdance with the provisions of Chapter 17. 64 of the Lathrop Zoning
Code.

Rest/ nursing home

Conditional Uses:

Day cate centex
Expansion or remodeling of an e sting non-conforming use of a structure or land, up to

50°`0 or less of the value oE the structuxe, or reestablishment of a non- conforming use
which has been damaged,  escept non- conforming signs and outdoor advertising
structures, non- conforming uses occupying a structuYe vith an assessed valuation of less
than 200, and non- conforming fences, valls and hedges.

Urban De.ri n Canc ept    Page 73

199



gp gp                              
a" s                   

S ie`{ t 5i£ i bS' 5 4     
V1 . H Yw a       a

i
i i       

1 i/    h
i I          I y'     %    q

Ir••, T,  ; I    -•—-----:. '_            

I'  ! _; r       \         1
I    ..

IF
T"'     

I `     `.

S1'    I
a-,` `    ir -.,----.--, 

l

i   -,.    i   -•   ,,,. +- i      
L,    ! 1   + ;:    I

i y i

f W ,^„ 81

I I        j I+         i    `     O
z  `  

z 1       ,' Ti v-=.

a     .

r".   „ 1 I• t 1^' T7 
1i.  '  I i' S a 4' u

Vt-i u',`!<—T'       `,   '! ii      a.z> 
I J. I TJ

l,    ", ,    q      (;'•.•   i  ' • c ',

i 1; 1"=
1 >,/.,   L    11H:  ;,, .,;=;;;,

1, 
c v 5 •-

I. l
T+- r      Ct.     

7;'    i      `_—"...--' U%        I
y „ 

r

r '

1 1 ,     ii 37   i,     z=.,   

I! i        I——----

r_       `,i I,;   i i i         ',  l;
J" i:       7 

f

f       
Z j  ,     yC.

a

j;  i i y   ,   s

r  -' Q, j y'   i'      w4I,   j  ` r(  
r: y

k7
i V V

i   i;
i   i       1
i i i'    

Af' '.\\,

i

t    

C/

i   ; ;     ,```'

y\\
yy/    

a

i       , , J r••/,{
Y

r,,.',;
y)1    • ;/   ,' t     ZI

1 1

N1` l%I`,,'/
I            

t  

LTT;y  

1` /  /\\  .\ J'

Y"

rj%" .'--'1-'"
rr' T-'--';

I C`' ` T''Jrr,!, t.    -% 

TL    
i l' 1',

C i 1    . ,  l ',,

s,,;;:=,,  ..,--. C 1 o
t     `; c- /.   -..    

i

I       5.- ;.   .,       ' /'       --     
y\

y.%',
1:
r,>,;

a\.    . , 1^,      I     '     V

j; t   '—/          y
c^  % r  ` ,  

r /  
a:,

r'\\.•,

t   -- ti-. I            

C}`
v`   ,. y;,/,    3(,I

lr.T..%   l
r^' I       -..__     

b°iol  . J•-  ••    r.1
w

200



ccc} G'  z     .  

v C      v  
N

sv. 0    x w , J
Fap      F„ o

o, u..   . v u x C yv y.
t 2   0.   l7/-+.       

C i oo O v
a   °' , y

r-1 o

Q
1..     

e_ 1+          
I      

7    -     
4  •    

I    ."        -   
r            

M I1 y Tl Il`'      I
7 L j!       f

4.       
dl

Ii
o I(''—     /'               ;        -:  

1     /"'     lr" -,».       :
lr frP I       (J       ' i y.        ,     I

I  

i u``'

1'!

1

I
i',;`I

l

i

lt,_--_-_— j o 

i i j J,     • .

i I I       

I     ,
r,, y,.     i/  \

j f      J y   a5i7 r
j I

I I Z

i ` y/          '  jy"/iet

I 1 1 l/   
i      .,\ //

i I    j.  

I i  
4

I I       

f     l     . 
I I /  

I Z j  a

I I u      1' i

l z r,

r;--;-       a
y       t'

r     .r-,     , 

b0    (/      
T

1 "'
O

r   • 

i;'     

l t'     \\" ,    

Y

1,       

y  

1         

Op

1\`. '\     

1,
4_______       

y"   `.
k '"..  y   `    t 6J

q
1`'

z l,,},    ,,' 1`   

Y  

v

1— L. L'         

i          S

201



O
v    

Y
y     ei  e  m

Pa   " G
OC .'.  C']  c" '

i7
ai s       cW.       1

t'-` 
G p

r,  .
V

u F-'•( i          , t     >       V V

w ai       u r.     C o 

V ' U     . G y
V M     . T" ar,i    I.

r. U v h
r      C`  

L q V C, v A      '" t,      '—+i
a

rNo 

Vv     C y -'+C            O

y
i a ;,    - , „      V

a r. ; -•    o' '  a `'     h V M3 m    •     .. a '    +   O 5

I o; cs C r c   o       
o

I I 2 v> > 3    ;  n. N' Q
1

i a

p
i

1 r

z   i, I
r     '' 

s               I
r     r'      

SL   1
Z t

5

G    

iL'—=--rL: a: xs     

ll     I,  

y        

W f
r

1`

7^ r`'`` 

1
I

r    

l f

ca 1

Il
r` a i

t            

r'      J            I k \J'
r,    _  

a

J    
i      i

f

q    "
7 LJ Sz

tr j'       n I'        Cv       , r     '
s

1 z h.     r

f          
J : i  \      i'  '/

f I:

1

g y j
i 1 /  1 l J(

1
Z

ll
1    1    

I,'

Ir r/ /

1
i

II' iI 0      ;"       -

l    i  /         

I        
7
t Z

i      ,     y-      

r    --;-
rn i i ca

l   '          ,_`'  ` r"C- y   a

U

yy"`;t'"',,,  d v

r, „    
w,t

c,  E- a-- I
i'   1    y:.  '' t`,      ` !,  ` h''      

i i p  \ ca
i! t   ` Y    "'

i   i'' •       y t
p    

R

Y           `. ,  

C       ' eS' u
M

I I z

Y.
l""          '          

1 I

i 1

I I

y'( 
f,

1/   '      —
N—   

Hi Yr
I I ry

c

202



ti

o a
s N  ',   p

vzz o y

i o N o

i i iw      
v

i/ i j             I,          _     z 1 i       • N1!' i      

q
1

l_7-_ L_ L   

e
r

ag j

1 (       i    

1 ,             
1°   

z

o

4.._.._..-      
i i
a  '       f" `'  t

i'    3,    \  
1   ,     I    

r

4 y    II          i       i

II   !       
i/ i   

I N
I'   

1 1..--.'
4  '..

f   t
i     \\ 

4
I 4

I I 

y'   i   
z

i   i
i i .       

o

a vrr-r   ., 
f

rt j̀  f
Iii,,.—   

a            .' 

a

1 b

y`   I

i  `  
1

d           

ao

1         f J N
N-    r+

1
ao
w

203



A

w
r.   

g                 g
v  ;           

M
a'  u r

c

7 w   ;
Y'     Z F Z    ti  ^ i

i

I I  * C

w D +    

z   ,  fi+  '^ ' ao

I I I G
Z         V q

Q

1        L ; 

f, '  - f`     
r t- '      

T+
r  ! 

r

k        I*   + t r l. l,. r E i

I

I f—"-_-`_   i i

f       i    

l!         

J

r r iI
I     

r  ;'  I I I!   w     ,! P
I       

c

i C•, y    

i I 

j           
f   +     i
i

a

I T``   •  /
I I      

i

I 1 j  i  ....

J
I  t    .  i

d      '  ,
t I I  ^
I i I  /'_,      r

I      . t'' r

l s L          T
r- i- r+      i,   ,        

1, '   e[a

TM G
n    j        

o

b1      \     

r,    11

j•     Ri

1 C,''   `\  `,    
f'

S S,,/,     //    _   
u

r '      `      ,%
w

X-:'"'.   

y,t ,.    Q`  

rC     

a,   ,      
e

w

204



o

m

a    

Y       p   l: y
v A

a     

z         '       
8

Q.,  V

i.;,.:^l  .  ' 
T

i  -
L- 1-- - '     •j  `       

s f
fF=     -_-+ ._ r._,' m--    t

I t    /•         

u tima  /  r+       i- 1 t;   -       ' n r^,     

a   a
t  :.     1-`-,..   '.  

f  ,`
l

r
r,;-     

k- r— •-       -'-'    s ;'}

4

1

t R '+

a`

i r+ e}' 7  •,  -
i t j       .z r.. s..     l

ti
1;       i t

a  

1;  , : i'  

L.  i        1 r z z

C  ,.,       
y    \\

l'   :     

Ik a I  ` 7   ,   
1

l "

f?-f_,{7'_
7 T'   "

i I    '  k`-       

i     ^".'"".,`., f f    t
I  i / . r

n r j
lt ' 1<_rr: a'      i     1   1 .

y
rt L.:rt1[ L    i

J+       _   ;,;  
T,-  ----_.__    .      _.....__..     "  

t.,'--.  

r

r !'

r

7  , i1, f.
i, .

g
i   f,{ PJ      ,'     

r= ,>`!`,•  a'
a

t- o
if     '`- ,r\y,    y. i

I      ` f ' i*      •
c    `'

Sv%V
1  

i
t,.  , S' f 3     ,/,,

i/

i   
j   

R,'. i/..   
y  • 

J l
Y .

I Xi,  .       `

a    

f r    k'1`,, k _..:
J    ,

w       
J'<. i,S y       t<-',<

t.    " o n ucy       , r    ,"

I 3     1',
X...,% v.,

C=
5t tC`'•`       r a z

4 `( Yk '"
K'       ..     E- s

r

l -> 

rr     
Y   

c

C rP C
r I L-', T'       aE-

1:    '; r•L, t:       mo E-
t

l
k

LfF!
r!^,T t .    - t\- .     Y 

Y'
Y>",.•.       z>: C

1- m_..

1`\ x="  
A

ti' T'.  '  '- f y' i
t'

a
r'     

e' 8m       
t

j1r V '.  tp i

S-'`  '  a rf       " H1 A

l`! N l t ,'  L.   '
t 

1, C1

t
r    

4 t/ f l'`;
T-^,,. Z'`

a

t  •`'       '' ilti-    "4̀ q
t    S   -  S , i'        Lŷ

s

f  ."    `  ,

f
t   `

S,'       iA a1.i«1; t'":? i-          )  0 J+

j/`  •.,/   `

C•-: i l.
i      \`

l`%1";         '
G

A.-
j,'    `":.-     itC S'/.  '%

j'`r..-
y'  

r(^:!     j Q.
f       ` 2-.   Q

y-`'.'y 1    ('   1 4:   ,      
O

l r'y 3          .,

1.'

f%.  
F 6J

s   , T    /     / Q 7

t:``. C.'_'' j
t','   ..;!'

ir` \`/
r!             

A
SY+"; i` -{

l, ."`

Y l.r%_)_•,

f--: l 1` i     

U YY `'' 3T-G,:, . j
r_

r'-
r          Hi      — N—

J,_,,- j   -. !._ i i      ,    7

k'            ( t

L r: t  C          
i.y+

1`  
4-"{

J,_,.' 11i  "...,_.... i f Li i       7Ut_

il  : Ii  1

205



Mosrdale Landing     Implementation

The applicant anticipates that an Architectural Design Review Board will be formed to revie v and

approve all proposed residential, public, and commercial architectural elevations for Mossdale
Landing.    Y hile the details of the Board members and required submittals require Eurther

refinement, it is expected that the existing Architectuxal Design Revie v process initiated by the Ciry
of Lathrop will be used as a model upon which to expand and enhance.

Development Permit

Service and Village Commercial MV uses are subject to either a site plan revie v for permitted uses;
or a conditional use permit for conditionally permitted uses.  Single Family NN, Medium Density
MV, and High Densiry MV Residential uses are subject to Neighborhood Design Review vith the
Final Map.

Building Permit Review and Plan Checking

Decisions and xecommendations made by the Architectural Review Coinrnittee will be included vith
and revie ved as part of the Final Map application. City staff will review building plans ( construction
plans} for specific development proposals as part of its building permit process.

AMENDMENT PROCESS

It is anticipated that certain modifications to the Uxban Desi n Concept text and exhibits may be
necessary during the life of the communiry.  Any modifications to these documents shall occur in
accordance vith the amendment process described in this section.  These amendments, should they
occur, are divided into t vo categories- Minor r mendments and Major Amendments.   Minor

Amendments allo v for administrative changes to the Urban Design Concept and may be approved
by the Communiry Development Director.   r ll other proposed changes are considered Major
Amendments and shall be revieived for approval by the Planning Commission.  t111 amendments

shall be consistent vith the General Plan, the 1est Lathrop Specific Plan, the Mossdale Landing
UDC, and the Development Agreements between the City of Lathrop and development proponents.

The master developer may make modifications to the overall land use plan and project phasing
without going through a formal review process if the overall densities and land uses for Mossdale
Landing do not change.   The phasing plan may be required to change due to unforeseen
infrastructure or market conditions.  The phasing of the project vill continue the balance of land
uses throughout development,  as is possible, based upon any changed condi[ ions related to
infrastructure or the market.

Additionally, due to these conditions, it may be necessary to modif T lot sizes vithin a specific
residential zoning category, that is, lots could onlp be revised, exchanged, or transferred within the
same residential category, such as in all lo v density residential lands or in all medium density
residential lands.  For esample in lo v densiry residential zoned lands, 5, 000 square foot lots from
one planning area may be eschanged with 6, 000 square foot lots from another planning area.  r1s

long as the overall Mossdale Landing residential category' s ( medium or lo v) density range is still
maintained, these types of changes may occur.  Slight overall unit count decreases are allowed, so

long as the minimum densiry range of each specific residential land use category ( low or medium) is
met. The master developer shall provide formal notification, in writing with accompanying maps, to
the City of Lathrop' s Communiry Development Director detailing what modificaaon( s) vould be

made to the plan. Amendments such as this are subject to approval by the Community Development
Director.

Urban De.rign Concept    Page 156

206



Mossdale Landing South UDC - Mark Up ATTACHMENT 36

Marked-Up Packet of MLS- UDC pages: 3, 5, 9, 10, 11, 12, 65,

67, 72, 75, 98, 100, 101

207



o l
r'    

M

q

c ,    C

V
fi

Q
4 Q

v

S e.,..<:

o v

s'.,   
G      ,    li

R I

rSiY'

Q      

r

c"  n.,„.   yb 4{ 
i',   i

w'' f

7:

rl 
b

11
d     

s.

t
x"''  

e e

R.
u

in

O

yyw:,.". 

Q
q

an,+...
r

y
C
N

4     
y

nr-.,.     

y

a

L

r
Q

i 1y

i

i
v

4

a     

s v w

208



Mo. r.rdale I.ancling South    Project Dercription

THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Lathrop' s Mossdale Landing South is based upon the Mossdale Village plan and policies
presented in the West Lathrop Specific Plan ( WL,SP), as well as the Mossdale Landing and
Mossdale Landing East projects.  It is consistent with the City of Lathrop' s General Plan.
The proposed plan provides the approximate acreages of the follo ving land uses - 20. 6 acres

of Medium- Density Residential, 5. 1 acres of High Density Residential, 33. 6 acres of Service
Commercial, and appro cimately 25. 4 acres of Public designated uses made up of 5.0 acxes of
neighborhood park, 4.6 acres of river paYk and approximately 15. 8 acYes of levee and other
open space.

Mossdale Landing South will be a diverse and livable community.  The project has been
designed to reflect and build upon the hetitage and visual chaYacter of the axea.

Neighborhoods have been created to pxovide a variety of architectuxal sryles.  Easily
accessible park and open space acreage affoxds a numbet of recreational amenities to
community residents and guests. These areas of greenery and trees vill reinforce the
communiry character and identity. Service Commercial areas vill provide a miY of office,
retail, and ser Tice uses in close proximity to residential uses. T'he convenient locations of
these uses will reduce vehicular traffic by encouraging  valking and bicycling.    The

community vill be pedestrian oriented, with a connectivity of sidewalks and trails designed
throughout. Pedestrian connections and pathways are pro Tided to separate pedestrians from
vehicular traffic.  Streetscape elements such as lighting standards and street trees have been
selected to establish human scale and enhance the community theme.

Mossdale Landing South connects to approved local and regional bicycle and pedestrian
trails, and provides an attractive streetscape with street ttees and separated sidewalks on all

streets. The follo ving sections provide greater details about Mossdale Landing South.

RESIDENTIAL- MV

Neighborhoods within 1 Iossdale Landing South  vill consist of inedium density,
predominantly detached neighborhoods.     This includes 3, 200 square foot lots at

appro: imately 10.4 dwelling units per net acre ( net acreage subtracts arterial, collector and
residential streets and includes only the land actually available for residential use), cluster

units ( minimum 2, 200 squate fee) of appro: ci.mately 11. 3 units per net acre, and one high
density compiex at about 17. 6 units per net acre. Residential neighborhoods in Mossdale
Landing South axe consistent vith the West Lathtop Specific Plan.

Four separate medium- density neighborhoods are pxoposed vithin Mossdale Landing South,
as well as one high density complex.  Each of these is consistent in both size and
configuration with the Mossdale Village portion of the WLSP.  The medium density
neighborhoods will consist of single family detached housing units and the high density area
vill contain a complex of attached units.

Urban Derzgn Conc ept    Page S

209



w

Ao

e.ri  

m M     ,"

N    • j-  

o
w   :  

t°    

w, '``'  
qn

S Yti45   .."   1.      
U

hwl

i.  .      ..       
Ow,      

4p   y

I
x

r+*
r ,

o      r    F
a `  '       7

a
eP°"".   a" S  ,  r .

e, x 0`\  Oti    +.         3}

O ryh{.
23" ti...    

G

m   ." \
k  ..

s

r a A'a""` a    
x 

y

a\   `    s 

a

f a     
z

m

y
y     

y

a       lr
a a

i, <

7,

x'         
y ti 

p ' v     \:` u:.\ a4       

gt

F

o   \

q`       s

a  

ry

I
ro     

a e'',     
ss      `;,.   `       .

q       a     
i

F

y

t  ,   t  k

w.. a... a Y:., as d x: aLw. R.,. wwm,.•
x o    ,  rarauwr n x y

H

N
w

t.

r

p

OA

q
c

a
v

a
b
h

O

M

w"

210



Mor.cdale Landing South    Prajec•t De.riription

MOSSDALE LANDING SOUTH DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY

As discussed above,  Mossdale Landing South will be a mixed-use community that
incorporates amenities such as parks and open space ta enrich both the project and the
quality of life for its residents and visitors.  Belo v are land use stuYunaries illustrating the
land uses, gross acres, gxoss densiry, and units or square footage of the proposed Project.

Mossdale Landin South Land Use Summa

Land Use Designations Gtoss Gross Dwelling Units/
Actes Densi S uare Foota e

Medium Densi Residential      -  29. 02 7. 4 214 du
H h Densi Residential     - 5. 1 24. 8 120 du

Service Commercial CS-     33. 6 0. 25 Fr1R net 365 795 sE

Public   -       26A NA NA

Ma or Road va• s'      13. 4 Nr1 NA

TOTAL 110. 9 NA 334 du

365, 795 sf

Portion ofproject zvhic% overlaps urith Mo.r.rdale Lanrlin$ Ea.rt UDC
Major road2vay. r as definecl in the [' e.rt Lathrop Speizfzc Plan inclarrle Brookbarr. rt Boarlevard, Golden
L' alley Parkzvay, Cornztc•apia Way and Inlancl Pafsage !- Y/ay.

The proposed plan meets the intent of the West Lathrop Specific Plan.  Medium and High

Density Residential acreage and numbers of d velling units are the same in the proposed plan
as in the Specific Plan. Proposed 1 Iedium and High Density Residential units are vithin theix
appropriate densiry ranges as required by the West Lathrop Specific Plan. Public uses in the
pxoposed plan are the same as the Specific Plan. The acreages and square footage of Senrice
Commercial designated lands axe the same as ind.icated in the Specific Plan. Finally, the
alignment of Golden Valley Parkway has changed slighdy due to engineering design criteria
for those road vays, but is generally consistent vith the Specific Plan.

L'rban De.ri n Concept     Page 10

211



Mo.rrdale L rndin South    Pmject Dercription

y

GY  J

4
hiass± ale a F

y Land; ng
C  

Yz' 
z

17y...1  '-- n• nw.

YM- NV i   
MEDI[ At UEASIT'        

RESIDFA TAL j   . M•
xlA. tCAa SF.AVICE

t61 91bf. ID' p'1 COMFlFJII. TAL

i      LIEACAe7

J i

T! LEF   '

s3
a

a

G USYIr t

Y Mossdak     ,.   AZEZEVEDO PROPERTY

Laading     '   MN:

43, rs> dale T a t9i. tx-u

Land' tng

zm

LTTT 2
S      V ALLEA' TWEa

QUEiROLO PROI' ERTiFS

AP\:HI- 07BM IA1. 970. f
Sfo dale sn-osau : a aa.se

Canding Eart
x i.an. ss ui-a»- n

bo: aax : i.eb.7s

u. ax xu. o i

Ni.aw. 0 + i us.n

YII. NII, N 141. 2Y. J6

i'f. i:: aa' z'sCs:' 

IUI.FI

z_;  

i
P. MV 1fEUIWtuk7iSITV     

OPiN5P 4' E peypllNfLV,        
1

15. 1C S73AC n i
x.. wt w. er,    ; Densi w   .   ,

11 Reside
IYERV. RK

N 23.iAC

H i
i

7  

5
i 0
rr---     

i
N- MM        i

1F.DIlN UFM1SIiY       j
i       

i 0.FSIDEATIAI      1 

i    = 7. IACKN        
p;

j    twu. tmf. M' lo'     i O  +
t

a:  S
iv

i      ;•     j     ssae ce

C0 IMRRC' IrL

47        f'    iI Si.6ACNet

1 1   T     [ 5- tY i
a ev ce    ! 

2
t,., •      

Figure 4j i i      .•    Q •     
d P. Nt  1,

OC'
i. EIGN9URH/ 100J

M ueY iaciu. lr aM M1e re rd Ax 0.J d Ele bu.
1 i tse c:

vv:,    
i•  ,, nn•,.<ru. a... w.. e.. oww,. d.

2 :

e;'    ,•';%      %°
f'      LEGEND

o:'       i    xhi-Mv n;s t

i+ 4 iA. IIP TO
Residential Medium- Mossdale Village

r vne CS-MYDiatrictV,     

RP1Dl:[P
Service Commercial- Mosedale Village

P' N      .

Ii   
P- MV Disrrict

en rac r. x

icon- r.,. r'   Pub6c- Mossd•rlc ViUagc

Mo.rsdale Landing South
N 0 R T H Lan Use Desi, natzons

Figute 4: Mossdale Landing South Land Use Designations

Urban De.rign Concept     Page 11

212



Mo.rrdale Zlrncling South    Prjec•t Dercription

The follo ving table illustrates Mossdale Landing South' s proposed development by land use
designation, net acreage, lot size, quantity of units or square footage, and net densiry.  The
area of all streets has been subtracted £xom net acreages, including arterial, collector and
residential streets.

Land Use Desigtlation NetActes Units/ Square Feet NetDensity

Residential-MV

Meriiarm Density IZe.ridential
MDR Unit 1 ( 3200 sf lots)  6. 0 acxes 61 du 103 du/ ac

MDR Unit 2 ( 3200 sf lots)  7. 5 acres 78 du .     10. 3 du/ ac

MDR Unit 3 ( 2200 sf lots)  7. 1 acres 80 du 11. 3 du/ ac

MDR Unit 4 ( 3200 sf lots)  10. 7 acres 74 du 6. 9 du/ ac

High Den.rity Re.cidential
HDR 5. 1 acres 120 du 24. 8 du/ ac

Total Residential 25. 7 acres 339 du 14 du/ ac

Commercial- MV

Service Commercial- MV 33. 6 acres 3G5, 795 sf 0. 25 FAR

Total Commercial- MV 33. 6 acres 365 795 sf 0.25 FAR

Public- MV

Neighborhood Park 5. 0 acres

River Park 4.6 acres

Open Space ( Levee)  15. 8 acYes

Total Public- 1 fV 25.4 acres

TOTAL NET AREA 84. 7 acres

Other

Streets 22. 4 acres

TOTAL GROSSAREA 107.1 acres 339 du

365,795 sf

r1ll streets( arterial, collector and internal residential streets)

Urban Desigrr Concept     Page 12

213



5

o--__---      
L      

h r '`  '  `  '     
w      o az"  A

aa E  ` e

X u F
F  . 

r ỳ O
8 a°  

2 E O
y'' a 6 m m       a a

z i
i        ^     i R"   '     U

S  Y

N  ro
i q
1 fi

i
i

s
i

M i

t

Y/    

t   .     .      
a    "_

i
tl 1     M;

y t       .      
G     +.

Z.`   
1 `~       

v

l

1 ' S    - c

J x j~ 
x"

Pr
l; I li t          

1
j E ti
l

i

i

i  a  a     i"^._ v

i  ".       ; Ea

i C Y at

1 a     F.  ._       

v,

r i  ..____.. i_..   
r o
L x r

a     .  . i ..      y 
a M

M
CK  : F       ....     .   3i$°  .

v,y
3l  .  Y

j : :       . 
d

vo
w'

o J
d

r

ey

Z
2      '    .,  .    ..     ..  .    ,    

I i       /
S' a yfee_

5

o

y
x

a
n, '

p

Fy

F
a q   .      i    .

Y

CS

6

a

t- 

e y     C',-, 7

e r .r---  ._-     aevti- r,, p       -      J Ox
saixv

pe
a      w

O

e     ;      1
f.' +••

j. a; v

d y=   u u
o rs E..,

r,. F        i N

ao a •
N 

Z •• " v
4  U V

C' M
C   a  

Nx v v
c

v ac i ar",N   

i

a

w"

214



a i

rA        p

9=      r  '    3
j  0.  am           j    
i  :    j      ad N     ' i

CS I ",' y G"   b m S G   t a 1

w I  1O 
r  °

e E3   F.   V
a. 

m, E a 1`''    ' E 3S s
3"       

vI   a e,  m   a  ^$

e e it  x bp  v

Q Qzl     ci  .   o
w' j I             :>  i V

I '    x  
yN   i

hi'   Q

7  ,.'..'•     

I'

i

e   /

Y

i
i,     

i
r.

N ir
o

j-
i        
i       

f       

i
i

i i

i + 

c
xq      ,          `,-  '

TiT T 1L L-  `      •.\'
W

a  
F     

F
i

C,      a  -      e.:   ,   ..          ,   R...  

r,

ti  i

LT  .'  p          .    
t

c i      ", d-, y

Q t i
a Jt

o' 

e

i     9 i

J

5"        ,  .:   3   _     _    AO
q 3    td

aa.nar a: loet  . .
i    .:.  .  

l    .._       .     u: xH ioax     U

pI;     a    '     x
i

yi     
U

i       ,  . 

ai

I e  

I.     Li
f     ..   i' J      ld

Q
r

x Rf

x   
o      ,   

S v
3 R

L.    E 6r

W Ir
q M

W

r

w

215



tV
o

Q w C  y`
a  .     Q

a
y  

a y
N

7
a,       ,   . Y P u  : e , tgo ;   O  `   

a h z z  ';   V
A;     p o

w      V

1 ;     Nao, 
Q

J  ,'.

r

i arf:   f•,    .
u.. m. n . .       ....,.

r.

o'•.• a+       ,,.  

i     ..•°••'"     '    i
f i

l  ,.m`'•       i f`    r       J
N'   l //       ` -      i

a j' ,' 
f     ;

C       

3 r  /'  tr     e s

I

i  

r  '.

l J

r. N       /       i
o

o i z

j',,

a''       i  f
i 3  ,    j

t  g i
s  I       o i

1

1   
T   - 

r    ,

1   ,  .       :.n             i

5    ='   i  L ' t   

i

I        

C }

1

T_  

r-   
1 ti y j i t

t       F  .._..    .     
f ''' s Q  } q,  w         

C%  : W   ._..       '  
i q ' r IYII

1 s    yi"
y '  .,'

O

i C

tirly .. Y.
r.         

t
L  G. y'

J
4 z

E    
T

f3 iJ          L{;ti. b
2    -     .   p.

t .     ..:.'-     
a.: _   ,   

N4±
4 O

3     _ .      _ _      •
N.7 i

q  ,      

i_.       _ 

ryy.       :'- n '      

v

tlyy i-    

J .

S       •   
wI

A

d'7           i y
w    ...

r. 
r. .:.... . w

a u"""
n  ,. ,   '  

y g
O

l':5' Y

r--=-

41   1.

77 Mi1F14.
y9NY9NMy      __  

t    .._ .  ' 

CC
1

9    '           
j

N   
L     1  '

T--,  ._ x
r s       __,               x

t, r p r      ' tr        t   .
r             .       e

4•—_ r   i'  L'-
t,

T

i (  ,    r  _; ..,    os .•.    L- 1 i

y`,

1
9 

5 y m
O D

r , r         .    

i,,'     ' q,  
T/ $ V

t r- i
y       ..       

f    y a.     

D
r~

4....,     A .-;, [

Y
r.`.     , .    1"  ..   ,-

w

216



a

2 '° — -`  c

x

a 3 7  >  
x c S Li r"' i

G '' 0. ' c : .    Z y
u

o'  " c :
c     '    T       

yv

d n U Z  .,      

t,      

i i
b.=     

O

1  +  ;     Ca

I " s:J z< z

1

q
s' y^      

t

y

1
r  ,  s

i       r. 

7        1y  
y     ;

a

j
jt

t 1} t i IY Y= IG. sY' iht  2

J     !     '    ( i   I

1 F
Y .

L`       
i

t

0r ti i.   t\,

r y  .. i

L._.__
t    =' -      '.F

w 3
0  ; C.  

y..  ar
ro xn

t
r

t     '' i

G:  Lr.
A ..  SH  ;  .K    

z{.

S    <      
r r  w G

F        
a  .      ._    3'

e I,  hz
s— n` i  . _  

r   ...      .   .  .    u
li .

i Z

i   '.  ..      

y O    _.  :   ...     .      

4   .           _            

i g aC C ,    _ . 2   .. 

i

N
L     ,      _.

s  -  .._  .      .
O Y    ...        v

wa     _ . S    . 17
y y

S v ^S.
i t C.. .     .  

TA' v - I

yj'+""—_ Av dl'.
OHJSNL/ NUf1Mq     '    ri

Y`-L--- '  
Y     

U
t

e
wY, 

euo

217



Q
y  

r

Y b y   jj     rV

0 ` v. Q T  M I

q,   c 3   a 3`" fi
h

a' ` u `     N- i
w  fie    :'      U

E  y'  U      y f          
1V

C+ G V!, ..

Y

C C. C a"   l
v'.!  "

1   

o` s_' 2 i r          y'

Q i i    :' i i:i
r..

y v
z I        ii''   '       1 yiW i   I°;  ; y   i i i,         1 ro

i'°-,'  ".i i
i   Ca

i1
1   ` ',

q i.: r̀=    
M, 

I J

f t:

Y

1

7

c_Y       '    
rY3J.. ar

t
eII x     ../

jr
j

4`"' '_...

1 Y   '

T
g

c' 

Pq  i]' i!

v1   Z         
r, o  

o- '  .' ;   4

I

ft    yL      

e-

zC a b       ! 

I   

rh g i  ::    >            

t,  l e         a
r  _       Jt

0
d r

L   
z

t l, f i
d       , y

v`, s' ',:   '     ,
1,, ,  

j '

@ :  
i          '

j 4 j i i
1 ,:

ir;,     >.    

T      ut t,\  +   .
t r °              

r_  
r-  ( T r   !,^

0\  C

x      d_  
r.: ':' \' i  e d- J       '"'.'    '  i

j  1  -      (
i )

m. r.;

r,

x>  

r'      ' 7 ` \

r,p
1(

l.it J           ^  \

i i_ I I_   r^   ,,

1 i           
r/       ' '   

t    ' I i I,.  .  `   _    ____-\`
l

1 I     i I v _      i n _-•_-_

f z - - '  Y
LJ L1_ L I_: J___ L..'-\    `' ...-  

l    ,

i W r-r'-  ' 4 r r 1"' r. r' r..  '   T M
o L_ jr'

i rir r- r?
i'- i_  ` 

Y

3"
11y., b+`5i    i

vh z`   '
@ n ,_ if i J u__._.c _ J              '.

i t W t+  a i' rr-,  ,--
1 n- rr-. ;"— ;    

t      '. y,

I !
1   E    1 I      1  

1 

1 - 1 1 Lii

I

Q,  '  "___-__. F_.-_-_
r_      

i- i-_:.-
1_ . L' i

1 i F i i i i- r- r i-  - i i- i-- I-- i-`   - -
a-- r-- -`= r--

r y

I!' 

4 ,
1L_ i i_   ..:. 1 .   -_ r . i...

a,  i  ---. m ••i    , .

i       
7 1 r i-, r- T._',  ..

r',      ....._    . .y_ i   
F  !/    L i".

J _
T

i- - L'- i L 1" , J, --!" T- r , ..-_`'  +

J           -   i       _}-  o    ...       - jt.  . i      ..      r. `-' .<

l 1` 
r  :,   

33' , _  > _ r y .`  Ltr r' rl,s, i C 
i1   L_

y  '; j7. 1  _ jL. T._     
t J L LL1 LJ Ll i Y'

r'(-"
i r __, r'' i..(__.'.__l    '__,'"  .Y,

ir     
F   -- 7<      

r_    zr-- _ a    
i .    (,    _=

i e-.   ^-
r_      . -°''-

r-   _-Y._'_=   _. i-
F-' :

r`  Yr.     7 i   ,
T i -  - -  - i i,    -      '

ti ,

l
r-' `

1_ l1J
L_'

L_ s~-  -  fr--- OI _' - - V$N
J - ` 7` r' 

irL' rrr'_
1 1-- i- ,  . ti_ 

L _ r     
8  '      

m

r'{  "" -_ 

J    `"< __

J L i    . i_t (- f     F" 7
J L_  i         b.r

i    .- UY9 J '` \_..
iJ.

j.     T      '       
6J

i          H i'_r'3 1-",':
r'W Aa J L.__;   W

i t-.       _, J L;,, % 1 r--------'`_.  _   l—:_ J l._._

t    i   -- yt ( rr,':-   
4 :       cdr;-,-- rT--, 

r---      
M

5` i-    
r._ i i i _- 

r'___      

a
t.. t_ i ii     

T,     

J- 1.    
t--;._ f' I"' i_"       

r    '     iJ i.iJ i 5      _ i;  : ' - --
n'•' r     _

L   
J' ----      

i i r r
i  

i i^ 1        
r  _

t  ` . 

a.

f"_"      i i  ,       
5..}:... t        

r/

f'       "'  -- .! y` Yitviy..:_.    I\` 7' r j
I

13r
t,    f ,   

r

I

r---,':      sm     `. `   - 1,' t_;' r-
d-% ti p

i
i' 

r- .._ i r_"r; 7 rt+J+',       3d1 i.' j (' i'_ r, T `_       iil          i   (.
Y* r i  . 7, 7 - _ l t` i         1 r-. t j_` /-

r

i-

U
j     !   ..  

r

F`
Y . t` ji-J .' 1  

t i      f

r ''

v  i  '       
J''      (,     + 

t 4-
1- y' C'

2, i'    
J L=_

yU_ y 1 I- r J

r'(
j - 1     y  ..   l 1°     

r

I     `_____    

W

i 1j J l j'   -- f" L'
1

i   
LL

r`'   j
111 I7[     

1

r`
J R_ i i 

t
r-' f- v a_ 1 rf

i i i 1

li'    % f'
f L'_

1 L t.. J LJ_ 1J 
J     

i'          
b

i I..' ) 1-•-     -____       
Y

J t'__     ii`
r "'.'_"'__'_  "'__^-,'•   

Z
t     i r i1

1

218



Mo.r.rdale Landing Sauth     Implementation

Service Commercial areas of Unit 2, between Golden Valley Parkway and Manthey Road, to the
east of the Phase 2 construction will be Phase Five  ( APN 240- 020- 09, - 24).   Residential

Development will continue with the construction of the southern half of Unit 2 as Phase Sis of
development( APN 240- 020- 08, - 22) and conclude with Phase 7 of development ( APN 241- 020-
33, - 34).   The remaining Service Commercial areas to the east and south of the southern
neighborhood of Unit 2 will be developed last, as Phase Eight ( APN 240- 020- 25, - 27, - 33, - 35, -
3G, - 46).  This phasing process is illustrated in detail in the follo ving Phasing Plan eYhibit. The
order in vhich neighborhoods are built out has been established based on the logical pattexns of
infrastructure improvements and anticipated market demands.   All necessary road vays, site
grading, and utility backbone improvements and easements will occur in a timely manner vith
each development subphase as requited by the demands generated by each infrastructure
demand phase.

Below is a table illustrating each development phase by area, acreage and number of units.

Phase Area Lot Size/ NetAcrea e Units/ SF
1 Medium- Density Residential 3, 200 square foot Iots/ 6. 0 acres 61 du

Ne' hborhood Park fees

2 Medium- Density Residential 3, 200 square foot lots/ 7. 5 acres 78 du

River Park 1. 8 acres

Open Space 43 acres

Nei hborhood Park fees

3 Service Commercial 4. 8 acres 52, 490 sf

4 Service Commercial 4. 6 acres 50, 094 sf
5 Hi h- Densi Residential 8. 4acres 120 du
6 Medium- Density Residential 2, 200 square foot lots/ 7. 1 acres SO du

River Park 2. 8 acres

Open Space 11. 5 acres

Neighborhood Park( fees)

Ci Ac uisition 5 acres

8 Service Commercial 24. 7 acres 265, 211 sf

TOTAL 339 du

365, 795 sf

Urban De.rign Carrcept    Page 100

219



A

9      -      o

1 e
c         

i. i ' Q       '  3. t-•3 8

V.[   C w 0.    
r    

Y        I

9'p6 C :  Y
W

1 F
a

W i S

l.      

Y    L Y N
m <` n  ct.    q 

z' p

o Z . r V
r

o       :.-----_------ 
Za<: =    ..--""   f

t q
r'°   

T;:""

S 
Y

O
J

J

i'           j N 

r!!
i            '       '   , x    

f   i
i':    

V  /      s.
j

1
i„  j i' T

c   ;j
r       ,

s t s-
o

Y c
r

I
f 

U,    — 
1  

i_{+ .      \ ,  

y' x''      '
T '—  

qv       L.-,`-^--    --     \  ''  

Y  /         

Y  t1`I I       1 ^   \ `       _ _\' 1.
t•--   .   .     .      

Q

f R q' I i

F  ;F:  y c      ,     .. . . F,

Jc

Z i a
z

i:

1 :   . .... . ...  ....

S..  .    :      ..  .. -   ..  ..      

z            .  .   Y  . .   ... ..
4 .    . Q. c    .. Y

3i e
c       ; d

v ..    .  4 . ..           ' ,.

m,  ,  .    ...  _s

v ca c3v
i

Y.,..,.'--._,
T_ HFAi' 7:) t) BL\7t t11MnfIMx                L  

I     ..... ._  I

t,_      M
C I OA

x 3 M  
4    

i    '  '

I
a,

a e

sY     j   O
v

f-    
L

A
x:

E i
Q_ y

V

i,  ..    .     

w"

220



1    -      
4    L    :   1     -

k F
3

t

k
t _

p l'    

t i4 1
J ,     

1 i
j I G       £     :--. 3E I

1
k ..

1

9 s

4[     .     d

YtL     \       9 O._ r t

y

Yi  .   
t v-..

T.    

Q

Fi-       .. 

I , \, 

j      

p

i

ro.... 

i

L 3:.-       .,. ..   -
d

w _.....::•--..._...-...-.'.+       I L F
1"   

u

y,      

y3

k F i      .;  '

di
t'.

t       ...h
o

y '.'_      

i'   ,:::.

71 T   
4.       µ   ` ' 

re"'    "'^'..-..'
sa..     p c

6   '
rp F  ' r

I` 5-'
i  IP A!'-.       9

ll
I a.

yn I E6ABIE 7̂^       
1

J

n

i       ,,,,
o Jj     .f r9r r

r r

r w, e    
3       

j.' j   ,,

5  ,       '    9,,\,       

e             h2u        3 , a

F, L"?
c       \    .'     .

I" G-      \. 4 ,.      

r"   ,,,,

r

a

V@       ',     r

a"    
i

j
7F C,,$"

a'- E  a i" 9 6r t

d

1T    € 
kG GP,         

a 3      E

d r
3l t y,     r  

r

E

m

9 _      

i 
y,

a
o

4     : C    .....   .    L i

r
a       ., , x^ 

a

a'+;

0 F

rf' J
r.     

w'`

0

a     
F.  . i

O +.t.      
r'

N    `

9r    

r.

f`

o".. n.,      
L

M- t       ;;

A
r

r,       

i'       ..i

IG     .__

x.„., Na.- e„ .      .. .o.__...    
I       .       

v rc an,.° r i     .
w

A-

9egeSVi      y     ,,.. i
p vi

a  m a
h ° v

s '
4

s ° '     
y 8 N 

a       -   xaa ' s    g v
9

9  !   y

s N

e E E a +   e E

0

a g  
E 9  

f  

a 3

LL
e m @ 9

S

a   
a      a     '    

m

w    
i r

a Y @ ^  y a    Z    g _   

m         

a   =     a       ui

aa & ' : u  s      s2o     ga  a     
p      

E
6   `  

F   $ ' 
g

d  i $ a  8 a i dt  g  E   ° , R F  3  Ymt ` a
mt = ° H   ? i i :   8 "

g
F - y E

e     

0 0

g F s C    =   
u a J        z

g
LL ti  o d' E      Np 5 ` l  

F` '  

z

1'  Y- p 

a   a f i    E

9 '   

a g  u ?    ° S    w  : z z JS y S a    3    
F

J   

o z       _ a s
f

m E
O r W    u  

a < 
u  u V 4 a Q    i    i o O    g

J,

h g rc  - ' a b a a d
p

w ` ` m
o

u

a  a a e rc u u u u d S a ' K  rc i b i ` d  a y rc e    " i  d ' _    x u % k b  
J rc  a

o a c ` 3 rc J rc     F       -
1 11  1 w  '  11 1  ° _ 11    51  ° 1      '_, 11    W

s..:       U U   f y K i(,,p y

4 ¥    ,221



Attachment 38

CITY t3F LATHROP
GENERAL PLAN UPDATE

Table LU- 1: General Plan Designations and Implementing Zoning Districts

1

R One- Family Residential District, Planned
R- 1- 5; R- t- 6; PUD, RL-

LD- Low Density Residential( 1- 7 du/ A)   Unit Development, Low Density—    MV
Mossdale Village

MD- Medium Density( 8- 15 du/ A)  
RM Multifamily Residential District, 

MV
Medium Density— Mossdale Village

HD- High Density Residential( 16- 25 RM Multifamily Residential District, High   _
2 RH- MV

du/ A)  Density— Mossdale Village

NG Neighborhood Commercial FAR
Neighborhood Commerciaf District CN

0. 35

VC- Village Center Village Commercial— Mossdale Village CV- MV

CG Community Commercial Central Commercial District CC

SC- Service Commercial
Commercial Service District, Service

CS, CS- MV
Commercial— Mossdale Village

FC- Freeway Commercial
Highway Commercial District, Highway CH, CH- MV
Commercial— Mossdale Village

LI- Limited Industrial Limited Industrial District IL

GI- General Industrial General Industrial District IG

P/ QP- Public/ Quasi- Public No public zrse zoning in city proper

P- Park Park*, and Park— Mossdale Village P* and P- MV

OS- Open Space Open Space— Mossdale Village OS- MV

VR- CL- Variable Density Residential( 3-   
Variable Density Residential District VR- CL

16 du/ A)

HR- CL- High Density Residential( 15- 49
High Density Residential District HR- CL

du/ A)

R/ MU- CL- ResidentiaUMixed Use( 10- 40
Residential/ Mixed- Use Zoning District R/ MU- CL

du/ A)

LU- 1 LATHROP GENERAL PLAN  LAND USE

222



Attachment 38

CITY OF LATHROP
GENERAL PLAN UPDATE

OGCL- Office Commercial Commercial Office Zoning District CO- CL

NGCL- Neighborhood Commercial Neighborhood Commercial Zoning District NGCL

LI-CL- Limited [ ndustrial
No Limited Industrial zoning in Central      *

IL- CL
Lathrop

P- QP- CL- Public/ Quasi- Public Public/ Semi- Public Zoning District P/ SP- CL

P- CL- Park Park Zoning District P- CL

OS- CL- Open Space Open Space Zoning District OS- CL

1

CO- LG- Commercial Office Commercial Office Zoning District CO- LG

SC- LG- Service Commercial Commercial Service Zoning District CS- LG

L[- LG- Limited[ ndustrial Limited lndustrial Zoning District IL- LG

1

CO- SL- Commercial Office Commercial Office Zoning District CO- SL

LI- SL- Limited Industrial Limited Industrial Zoning District IL- SL

P/ QP- SL- Public/ Quasi- Public Public Facilities District PF- SL

OS- SL- Open Space River/ Levee Park Open Space OS- SL

RL- RI- Residential Low( 3- 9 du/ A) Residential- Low Density Zoning District RL- Rl

RM- RI- Residential Medium ( 6- 20 du/ A)   
Residential- Medium Density Zoning RM- RI
District

RH- RI- Residential High( IS- 40 du/ A)      Residential- High Density Zoning District RH- RI

MU- RI- Mixed Use Town Center Mixed Use Town Center Zoning District MU- RI

TOD- RI Transit Oriented Development Transit Oriented Development TOD- RI

RGRI- Regional Commercial Regional Commercial Zoning District CR- RI

OS/ P- RI Open Space/ Public Use Open Space/ Public Use OS/ P- RI

LATHROP GENERAL PLAN  LAND USE LU- 2

223



Attachment 38

CITY UF LATHROP
GENERAL PLAN UPDATE

i 1

RCO/ OS- RI- Resource Resource Conservation and Open Space
RCO/ OS- RI

Conservation/ Open Space Zoning District

R- ST- Residential Residential Zoning District R- ST

RGST- Recreation Commercial Commercial Recreation Zoning District GREGST

RCO- ST- Resource Conservation
Resource Conservation and Open Space

RCO- ST
Zoning District

UR- ST- Urban Reserve Urban Reserve Zoning District UR- ST

Future Zoning District to be established

LU- 3 LATHROP GENERAL PLAN  LAND USE

224



u   "    " y   }#      -
P   .     _   C , g f S 

c  
i k _       

s

f   
S{ 

r
n

r     . O '"r , y

a     
s F lf        i,     

7  -   i     -     ."
a     .-      @r=.  t   .       -

i
v. 

Y
F  _.   ,

4: t:   `    N

r      .       o
y

r-r    

1 i
4

T
v1..,.

A      - 9

j-.       a
s,,     .... o

s....    

r

s`` aE       —

4u.',_` ac, t`   
y .

f.   

v.,,,,

w= 

f

1         ,
i

i,.,    ' z.;      

s-,   iw- i

r i
o       9 i d

a I V        j;

F

4 4.

h

4
G         

E

6

r

r
w§          

I
t             

n             

g : a        ;   
r`

b  r/" '

a N t  /`
z„    t F 0 Q'-

s    §,;     .     

i;! 

b ,  a

J q
w,

t
L  

i    

r.    

11    '
3       a ,         V

r;  e      

e,- mr

T-   ..*-"'     _.. . 

t /'    .     .      o

i

tia,  ;      

w:

g     _ _       

is
a.          

y    __      r,r„   r  `  i,

w

h

v

ti

i
o

o

7w.,„„       

6 

a a 
a _ ..    g g w o

a'     a a a t N a
a'   

e " `   3 aQ   '   a o mN
a     m m 9R '   a Es w      

a

a   -       rc    - o   = g " a   ^ g a
J   ,  $ 

e o" g  a a g      p z
S rc  Y      rc  g  -     g u W  e    

a'    O S v z
p               

b    
g    E  c         i o   € a 8

c  
z 1 '      Q 8

a  i  ` £    F    a a a a  8 g '   $ 
p,    

n g = a    g a g "    w   =   

g` 8          '
4
i y a

ra rc  ;  a    3 t  y  ' s_        a a C `.   S   $ b :       e
a

o o a t 3 s z"    q o  u i . Q c i E   o a o rc rc rc    `  " o rc       g i
a 9  i  ' Y  9.      w °  Y Y  Y V a

a

y  ' U   u $ y  ' m q  z rc rc  rc    N   `       °  a
Q  i  i > c i m LL  c 

Q o    > i 3  i y P Y w y d J  9 O Q y     
p c o  ci 7i ~   ti c° rc p g &

d C
o, 

Q
u y         o S! ¢  O

C rc a z      
S c i d

1    ' a 1  ; 1       .    1 a     ;   "'.  ;   
225



Attachment 40

CITY OF LATHROP

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 23- 11

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL AMEND THE LATHROP ZONING MAP,

AMEND THE MOSSDALE LANDING AND MOSSDALE LANDING SOUTH URBAN

DESIGN CONCEPTS ( UDC' S), MODIFY TITLE 10 ( VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC), AND

ADOPT VARIOUS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 17 ( ZONING) OF THE LATHROP

MUNICIPAL CODE ( LMC) FOR CONSISTENCY WITH THE 2022 LATHROP

GENERAL PLAN UPDATE AND GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 65860 ( TA- 23- 93).

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing to
consider amending the Lathrop Zoning Map, amending the Mossdale Landing and Mossdale Landing
South Urban Design Concepts ( UDC' s), modifying Title 10 ( Vehicles and Traffic), and adopting
various sections to Title 17 ( Zoning) of the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC) for consistency with the
2022 Lathrop General Plan Update that was adopted by the City Council on September 19, 2022 and
Government Code Section 65860; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop adopted a current Comprehensive General Plan on September
19, 2022, which has been updated from time to time and includes specific policies and implementation
actions to ensure there is consistency between the General Plan, the General Plan Land Use Map, the
Zoning Map and implementing plans, ordinances, and regulations; and

WHEREAS, the California planning and zoning law establishes that zoning maps, zoning
ordinances, any applicable specific plans, and master plans with related planning documents ( i.e.
Urban Design Concepts) are required to be consistent with the general plan pursuant to Government
Code Section 65860; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the Zoning Map,  the Mossdale Landing and
Mossdale Landing South Urban Design Concepts ( UDC' s), and to Title 10( Vehicles and Traffic) and
Title 17 ( Zoning) of the Lathrop Municipal Code are Citywide and affect all applicable properties in
the City; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 17. 124 of the Lathrop Municipal Code mandates the transmittal of a
recommendation to the City Council by resolution; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments are Exempt per Public Resources Code Section
21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Article 12 —Special Situations, Section

15183( d)( 1)( C)( 2) - Projects Consistent with a Community Plan, General Plan, or Zoning, as the
amendments are consistent with the Environmental Impact Report ( SCH #: 2021100139) that was

certified by the City Council as part of the recent General Plan Update adopted on September 19, 2022;
and

Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 11 Page 1 of 4

226



WI3EREAS, the purpose of the amendments is to ensure that Che City updates the Ciry Zoning
Map, the Zoning Ordinance, and the Mossdale Landing and Mossdale Landing South UDC' s to be
consistent with the goals, policies, and implementation actions of the City' s 2022 update of the General
Plan; and

WHEREAS, proper natice of this public hearing was given in al( respects as required by law;
and

VHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed all written evidence and oral testimony
presented to date.

NO`' 4', THEREI'ORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission finds that the

proposed amendments to the Lathrop Zonzng Map, the Mossdale Landing and Mossdale Landing
South Urban Design Concepts { UDC' s), ta Title 10 { i ehicles and Traffic) and to Title 17 ( Zoning) of
the Lathrop Municipal Code will implement updated zoning disCricts with m nor modifications, and
the amendments are consistenC with the following applicable policies and iinplementation actions of
the General Plan:

Policv LU- 1. 7:  Ensure consistency between the Land Use  ap and impl menting plans,
ordinances, and regt lations.

Policy LU-1. 8; Reca nize[ hat the General Plan and Land Use 1VIap may be amended in accordance
with SCate law in order to ensure that there is an adequate supply af commercial, indusTrial, public
facility, parks, residential, and other desired land t ses to serve the City' s needs.

Implenlentatian Action LTJ- l.a: Update the City' s Zoning Code and Map as appropriate to ensure
consistency with this land use element and designations shown on Figure LU- 1. Rs part of the
updaTe, create a ne v PubliclQuasi- Public zanina district applicable ro the City proper.

Implementation Action LU- 1. b: Review the Lonina Ordinance and update as appropriate to
reflect Land Use goals, policies, and implementation actions ini; luded in this Plan.

Implemen ation Action LU- l.c: Review the City' s adopted Specific Plans for consistency wiCh
the General Plan, and update as appropriate to ensure consistency with this land use element and
designations sho n on Figure LU- l.

Implementation Action LU-1. f: Utilize the following Zoning Districts { included on Table LU- 1)
to implement the General Plan' s land use objective.

7mplementation Action LU- 2. a:  Periodically review and t pdate development standards,
guidelines, and land uses included within Specific Plan lreas to affirm the unique character and
developnlent vision far each area.

Planning Cornmission Resolution No. 23- 11 Page 2 of 4

227



Implementation Action LU- S. e: Update the Lathrop Municipal Code to include Good Neighbor
Guidelines for Warehouse Distribution Facilities. The new Good Neighbor Guide] ines should

include:

a. A definiiion of the type and size of facility that is si bject to the Guidelines;
b. Standards to minirnize exposure to diesel emissions to sensitive receptors that are situated in

close proximity to the proposed facility;
c. Standards and practices that eliminate diesel trucks from unnecessarily traversin through

residential neighborhoads;

d. Standards and practices that eliminate trucks from using residential ar as and repairing vehicles
on the streets;

e. Strategies ta reduce andlor eliminate diesel idling tivithin the facility' s site.

FURTHER, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lathrop based
on substantial evidence in the administrative record of pr ceedings and pursuant to its independent
revie an i consideration, does hereby recommend the City Council adopt Vlunieipal Code Text
Amendment No. TA-23- 93 as shown in Attachments 2 throuah 35 of the Staff Report, incorporated

by reference herein.       
V

Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 11 Page 3 of 4

228



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Corrunission of the City of Lathrop at a special
meeting on the 13

h
day of September, 2023 by the following vote:

AYES:  Ishihara, Camarena, Jackson, Rhodes

NOES:  None

ABSTAIN:    None

ABSENT:      Ralmilay
r

osh Ishihara, C ir

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ck Cagui ecretary Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Planning Comrtiission Resolutian No. 23- 11 Page 4 of 4

229



Attachment 41

General Plan and Zoning Consistency Project ( TA- 23- 93)

Environmental Checklist, prepared by De Novo Planning Group, dated
August, 2023

Due to the size of this document, it has not been reproduced in the

staff report.  A copy of the Environmental Checklist is available for

viewing and download on the City' s website at the following links:

Environmental Checklist without Appendices:

https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. us/ sites/ default/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity development/ pa e/ 5622/ lathrop ashley warehouse 15183 no

appendices. pdf

Environmental Checklist with Appendices:

https:// www.ci. lathrop.ca. us/ sites/ default/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity development/ pa e/ 5622JIathrop ashley warehouse 15183 cle

an. pdf

The Environmental Checklist can also be viewed at the following link:
https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. us/ com- dev/ pa e/ public- review- documents

Individuals that are unable to access the Environmental Checklist at the

website listed above or would require a computer disk or thumb drive

containing a copy of the document should contact Planning Staff at
plannin Cc ci. lathrop. ca. us or ( 209) 941- 7290 to obtain a copy.

230



231



ITEM 4. 4

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE
23- 450 OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
LATHROP AMENDING LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE
TITLE 12    " STREET,    SIDEWALKS AND PUBLIC
PLACES",   CHAPTER 12. 12  IMPROVEMENTS AND
DEDICATIONS",       SECTION 12. 12. 060
IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING BUILDINGS"   TO

MODIFY LANGUAGE TO REQUIRE FRONTAGE
IMPROVEMENTS UPON ADDITION OF

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING SITES

RECOMMENDATION:     Waive Full Reading and Adopt Ordinance 23- 450
Amending Lathrop Municipal Code Title 12 " Street,
Sidewalks And Public Places",    Chapter 12. 12
Improvements And Dedications",       Section

12. 12. 060 " Improvements To Existing Buildings" To

Modify Language To Require Frontage

Improvements Upon Addition Of Improvements To
Existing Sites

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

The City Council to conduct a second reading and adopt Ordinance 23- 450 entitled:

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING TITLE
12 STREET, SIDEWALKS AND PUBLIC PLACES", CHAPTER 12. 12 IMPROVEMENTS
AND DEDICATIONS",    SECTION 12. 12. 060    IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING

BUILDINGS" TO MODIFY LANGUAGE TO REQUIRE FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS UPON
ADDITION OF IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING SITES

SUMMARY:

On October 9, 2023, the City Council approved the introduction and first reading of
the subject Ordinance by the following vote:

AYES:   Diallo, Torres- O' Callaghan, and Dhaliwal
NOES:  Akinjo and Lazard

ABSTAIN:     None

ABSENT:       None

The Ordinance will take effect 30 days after adoption.

SUBMITTED BY:

Te esa Var s, City Clerk Date

232



ORDINANCE NO. 23- 450

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING
TITLE 12  STREET,  SIDEWALKS AND PUBLIC PLACES",  CHAPTER 12. 12

IMPROVEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS", SECTION 12. 12. 060
IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING BUILDINGS"  TO MODIFY LANGUAGE TO

REQUIRE FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS UPON ADDITION OF IMPROVEMENTS
TO EXISTING SITES

WHEREAS, in 2009, the City adopted an Economic Development Strategic
Plan to guide the City Council in making decisions regarding economic growth for the
City; and

WHEREAS, in 2011, the City Council indicated a desire to accelerate economic
and business development efforts by creating an Economic Development Program;
and

WHEREAS, on February 8, 2020, Council approved stafF requests to update
various sections of the Lathrop Municipal Code  ( LMC)  to streamline procedures,
clarifications of code,  and imported updated policies.  The update included two
additional sentences to Section 12. 12. 060 regarding undergrounding overhead
utilities; and

WHEREAS, with the significant increase in development from both public and
private agencies, staff now proposes an amendment to provide concise and clear
requirements for residents, developers and staff; and

WHEREAS, a Notice of Public Hearing was advertised in the Manteca Bulletin
on September 28, 2023; and

WHEREAS, staff requests that City Council hold a public hearing, consider all
information and public testimony and,  if determined to be appropriate,  adopt an
Ordinance amending Lathrop Municipal Code Title 12 " Streets, Sidewalks and Public
Places",   Chapter 12. 12   Improvements and Dedications",   Section 12. 12. 060
Improvements to Existing Buildings"; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment clarifies to the existing LMC language
to ensure that all development over a certain size and value would be required to
provide public improvements to align with the original intent of the LMC.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby ordain as follows:

Note: New text is shown by underline. Deleted text is shown by s i-!

Ordinance 23- 450

233



Section 1.

Title 12 of the Lathrop Municipal Code, Street Sidewalks and Public Places" is hereby
amended by amending Chapter 12. 12  " Improvements and Dedications",  Section
12. 12. 060  ' Improvements to Existing Buildings",  to incorporate the changes as
follows:

CHAPTER 12. 12 IMPROVEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS

12. 12. 060 Improvements to existing sites r gs.

Except as may be otherwise provided in this chapter or by any other
applicable law, the improvement of any existing building or construction of any new
building which does not increase the total floor area of such building on the site to
an extent of twenty- five percent ( 25%) or more within any five- year period and anv
improvements done bv homeowners to their primary dwelling units shall be excepted
from application of the provisions of this chapter. However, any person constructing,
adding to, or arranging for the construction of, or addition to any off-street parking
facilities, or any building, or anv improvements ( hereinafter collectively referred to
as " Improvements") resulting in an increase of twenty- five percent ( 25%   or more

in area or value of Improvements

thereof, within the five- year period, shall also provide for the construction of curbs,
gutters,  sidewalks,  storm drain facilities,  street lights,  underground utilities,  and

street paving to the sound structural section of the existing street pavement, unless
such improvements constructed in accordance with the standards already exist.
Underground utilities shall include the undergrounding of existing and new electrical
distribution ( 34. 5 kVA and under), cable, phone and any other overhead line for both
sides of the street within the frontage of the project. The project shall be responsible
for fifty percent ( 50%) of the cost of the undergrounding of the utilities. For purposes
of this section, the value of a building shall be deemed to be the current appraised
market value thereof as determined by the county assessor in determining the
assessed value for tax purposes.

Section 2.

This Ordinance is not intended to and shall not be construed or given effect in a
manner that imposes upon the City or any officer or employee thereof a mandatory
duty of care toward persons and property within or without the city so as to provide
a basis of civil liability for damages, except as otherwise imposed by law.

Section 3. Severabilitv.

If any section, subsequent subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this
Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such a
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.
The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed each section, subsection,
subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance irrespective of
the unconstitutionality or invalidity of any section,   subsection,   subdivision,

paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase.

Ordinance 23- 450

234



Section 4. Effective Date.

This Ordinance shall take legal effect 30 days from and after the date of its passage.

Section 5. Publication.

Within fifteen days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the City Clerk shall cause a copy
of this Ordinance,  to be published in full accordance with Section 36933 of the
Government Code.

THIS ORDINANCE was introduced at a meeting of the City Council of the
City of Lathrop on the 9th day of October, 2023, and was PASSED AND ADOPTED
at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Lathrop on the day of

2023, by the following vote, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAI N:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Ordinance 23- 450

235



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT
ITEM 4. rJ

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       OUT- OF- STATE TRAVEL APPROVAL FOR CITY STAFF
TO PARTICIPATE IN THE IAMC SPRING FORUM IN
APRIL 2024 AND ICSC SHOW IN MAY 2024

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt a Resolution Authorizing Out-of-State Travel
for City Staff to Attend and Represent the City of
Lathrop as follows:

1)   Economic Development Administrator

attendance at the Industrial Asset Management
Council' s Spring Forum in Greenville,   South
Carolina April 6, 2024 — April 10, 2024

2)   Economic Development Administrator and

Community Development Director attendance at
the Innovating Commerce Serving Communities
Conference in Las Vegas,  Nevada May 19, 2024

May 22, 2024

SUMMARY:

Tradeshows and conferences often offer early- bird registration rates and host hotel
booking rates to attendees.   In order to take advantage of these early- bird savings
and to reserve hotel room( s) for staff, this request for out- of- state travel is being
presented early for tradeshows and conferences attended annually by city staff.

In an effort to market the City of Lathrop to new job- generating businesses and
attract industrial investment opportunities,     the Economic Development

Administrator requests approval to attend the Industrial Asset Management Council
IAMC)  Spring forum to be held in Greenville,  South Carolina from April 6,  2024

through April 10,  2024.  IAMC is a U. S.  based industrial and manufacturing real
estate trade association.

In an effort to market the City of Lathrop to new job generating businesses and
retail establishments that complement the needs and desires of its residents, the
Economic Development Administrator and Community Development Director

request approval to attend the annual Innovating Commerce Serving Communities,
formerly known as the International Council of Shopping Centers   ( ICSC),
conference to be held in Las Vegas,  Nevada on May 19,  2024 through May 22,
2024.    ICSC is focused on the attraction of retail establishments and shopping
center developers.

236



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
OUT- OF- STATE TRAVEL FOR CITY STAFF

BACKG ROU N D:

The Economic Development Administrator was hired in February 2019 to promote
the City' s attributes for economic opportunities that will enhance the overall well-
being and quality of life of the community and its residents.    Efforts to achieve

these goals include business attraction through attendance at target industry
tradeshows, forums, and conferences such as IAMC and ICSC.

The IAMC forum presents a networking and marketing opportunity to attract new
job generating businesses and industrial investment to the City of Lathrop.

IAMC is a membership organization focused toward Industrial Real Estate

professionals.     Corporate members include Pepsico,  Thermo Fisher Scientific,
Lockheed Martin,  Boeing,  Kellogg,  Weyerhaeuser,  Medline,  and more.    Service

providers such as site selection consultants,  national brokers,  and developers,  as

well as Economic Developers are permitted to join.   However, the membership is
exclusive to corporate real estate professionals allowing only one service provider
and one economic developer per corporate real estate professional in order to keep
a balanced membership. Forums are held twice a year to allow networking and deal
making opportunities related to the industrial industry.

The City' s Economic Development Administrator has attended these forums with
past employers who were members of IAMC.   Boise Cascade' s location in Lathrop,
Medline' s location in Tracy,  Thermo Fisher Scientific' s location in Tracy,  and

Weyerhaeuser' s expansion- relocation in Stockton were all results from networking
relationships stemming from IAMC.   After four years of being on the membership
waiting list, the City of Lathrop was approved to join IAMC in January 2023.

Staff is requesting out- of- state travel for attendance at the IAMC Spring 2024
Forum and sponsorship participation in the Team California hosted dinner event.
Expenses for this out- of- state travel request include event registration,  airfare,

transportation, hotel, food, and participation in the Team California hosted dinner.
ATTACHMENT " B"  includes additional IAMC Spring 2024 Forum participation and
Team California dinner sponsorship information.

ICSC conferences are held each year to allow networking and deal making
opportunities related to the retail industry.      Staff schedules meetings with

prospective decision makers thereby allowing an opportunity to showcase the City
of Lathrop as a potential location for new commercial investment. Traditionally, city
staff has participated in the western " Deal Making Show" in Monterey, the " Western
Regional Conference" in San Diego, and the larger international " ICSC" show in Las
Vegas. Attendance at the Monterey show is approximately 300 - 500 people, 600

people at the San Diego show and more than 40, 000 people at the Las Vegas show
including key decision makers,  site selection consultants,  developers,  company
representatives, and retailers.

237



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
OUT- OF- STATE TRAVEL FOR CITY STAFF

Staff is requesting out- of-state travel for the Economic Development Administrator
and the Community Development Director to attend the ICSC 2024 conference in
Las Vegas,  Nevada,  and to participate in the TeamCalifornia exhibit booth as
representatives of the City of Lathrop.   Expenses for this out- of-state travel request
include event registration, airfare, transportation,  hotel, food,  and participation in
the Team California exhibit booth.  ATTACHMENT ' C" includes additional ICSC 2024
Conference and Team California Exhibit Booth Information.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

Staff requests that the City Council adopt the proposed resolution authorizing Out-
of-State Travel for the Economic Development Administrator to participate in the
IAMC Spring Forum being held in Greenville, South Carolina from April 6, 2024 to
April 10,  2024 for the purpose of marketing,  outreach,  and industrial business
attraction.

Additionally,  staff requests that the City Council adopt the proposed resolution
authorizing Out- of-State Travel for two city staff inembers to participate in the
ICSC conference being held in Las Vegas,  Nevada from May 19, 2024 to May 22,
2024 for the purpose of marketing, outreach, and retail business attraction.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The total cost for the IAMC Forum is estimated to be $ 6, 032, and ICSC conference
is estimated to be $ 7, 256. All expenses relating to these conferences are within the
City Manager Department' s Economic Development Division and the Community
Development Department' s FY 2023- 2024 budgets as approved by City Council.

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.       A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Lathrop to Authorize Out- of-
State Travel for City Staff to Attend and Represent the City of Lathrop at
the Industrial Asset Management Council   ( IAMC)   Spring Forum in
Greenville,  South Carolina from April 6,  2024 to April 10,  2024 and the
Innovating Commerce Serving Communities  ( ICSC)  Conference in Las

Vegas Nevada from May 19, 2024 to May 22, 2024

B.       IAMC Spring 2024 Forum participation and Team California dinner

sponsorship information

C.       ICSC 2024 Conference and Team California Exhibit Booth Information

238



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
OUT- OF- STATE TRAVEL FOR CITY STAFF

APPROVALS:

7. 2023

Shelley Burch m Date

Economic Development Administrator

z
ick C iat Date

Com nity Development Director

1 3
Cari a Date
Finance irector

2 0 Z- 

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

25•Z3
Stephen J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

239



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP TO
AUTHORIZE OUT- OF- STATE TRAVEL FOR CITY STAFF TO ATTEND AND
REPRESENT THE CITY OF LATHROP AT THE INDUSTRIAL ASSET
MANAGEMENT COUNCIL  ( IAMC)  SPRING FORUM IN GREENVILLE,  SOUTH
CAROLINA APRIL 6,  2024 TO APRIL 10,  2024 AND THE INNOVATING
COMMERCE SERVING COMMUNITIES  ( ICSC)  CONFERENCE IN LAS VEGAS,
NEVADA MAY 19, 2024 TO MAY 22, 2024

WHEREAS,   City Council approved funding for a full- time Economic

Development Administrator position to carry out economic development activities on
behalf of the City; and

WHEREAS, staff has identified targeted industry opportunities to market the
City for the attraction of industrial and commercial businesses and investment; and

WHEREAS, funding identified for marketing events has been considered and
approved within the City Manager Department' s Economic Development Division and
the Community Development Department' s FY 2023- 2024 budgets.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop, authorizes out- of- state travel for the Economic Development Administrator
to attend and represent the City of Lathrop at the IAMC Spring Forum in Greenville,
South Carolina from April 6, 2024 to April 10, 2024; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lathrop,
authorizes out- of-state travel for the Economic Development Administrator and
Community Development Director to attend and represent the City of Lathrop at the
ICSC Conference in Las Vegas, Nevada from May 19, 2024 to May 22, 2024.

Resolution No. 23- 
Page 1 of 2

240



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

SONNY DHALIWAL, MAYOR

ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23- 
Page 2 of 2

241



ATTACHMENT B"

11AMC
avW51R n3SET unrvaGEMEne COUNC:.t

ABOUT US EVENTS JOINING IAMC MEMBER CENTA

REGISTRATION FEES

IAMC Members

Member Type By] an 12 By March 1 Aftar March i

Corpure e Member 5810 5850 59G0

ist Yme Corporete Member Speciai 51, 755 51' s5 St, 35

Reg+s[ at on ptJs membersYiip dues for 7 ysvrj

ts; EconvmSc DeveloperlServlce P; ovider Company Mert Fber Rep` 51, 170 51, 245 h1, 3? O

Greenvifle, South Carolina

SPRIWG FORUM• APRiI. 6- 10, 2024

Harnessing the Power of Industrial Real Estate
Corporate real estate fs crucial m today' s dynamic sndustrial envlronment, impaci,ng both the bottom llne and t e overail oper2tional efflcFency
and proficability. Ha; ness ng[ he power of; nduscriai real estat is not mere y 6cut ma iaging che physical s eces anymore; iCs about strategic
decision- makiny, proiessionai deve( opm2nt of[ he workforc, and staying abr easi of trie latest trends and' aest practices.

From integraEing technology into traditional; eaf staie medeis[ o crea[ e ayile workspace5 to ESQ Supply chaln and sustainaoi; ir, equippirg
yourself and your; am vJith cutting edge information: s marF mportant ihan e er.

Join IAMC this soring in Greenv: lle, S, as we Harness the Po.ver of indust ial Real Estate.

The a f̂idai venues for the Spring 2024 Forum are.

the Hyatt R g ncy Greenvi! le

F,     . n.,.,-.,  , ,,.- F. M,.

i*       
m,. ,_>    >.,... Mw. mx.   

n . > r.mm.    ,....,.

242



ATTACHMENT" C"

ICSC LAS VEGAS

May 19- 21, 2024

Las Vegas Convention Center

Las Vegas, Nevada, United States

LAS VEGAS

ICSC LAS VEGAS is our premier event and takes place annually in May. It is a
two- to three- day gathering of dealmakers and industry experts, who are driving
innovation and evolution in the Marketplaces Industry.

Registration Fees*

243



Register at the Advance Rate( ends February 19, 2024, at 11: 59 pm EST)
Member • $ 850

Non- Member • $ 1, 975

Retailer Member • $ 0

Student Member • $ 50

5tandard Rate( ends May 16, 2024, at 11: 59 pm EST)
Member • $ 1, 050

Non- Member • $ 1, 975

Retailer Member • $ 0

Student Member • $ 50

On- Site Rate ( starts May 17, 2024, at 12: 00 am EST)**
Member • $ 1, 450

Non- Member • $ 1, 975

Retailer Member • N/ A

Student Member •  N/ A

All cancellations are subject to a$ 100 cancellation fee for members and non-

members and$ 25 for student members. Refunds will not be given for
cancellations received after 4:59 pm ET on April l,2024. All requests for

refunds must be received by ICSC in writing.

On- site registrations are not accepted for Retailer Members and Student

Members.

Attendees can choose to have their badges mailed in advance for a$ 25 fee.

The deadline to select this option is 4:59 pm ET on April l,2024.

Please note this badge mailing option applies to paid attendee badges only( no
exhibitor or other comped badges).  You must select the badge mailing option at

checkout during the event registration process in order to have your badge mailed.
Badges will only be mailed once to the primary address in yourfile. Please make sure

this address is correct before you register. Ifyou do not receive your badge or the
badge is incorrect, we cannot resend. Badges are non- transferable. We cannot resend

a badge to a d erent address or transfer the name on the badge. Ifyou did not select
to have your badge mailed at check out, we cannot mail your badge.  You will need to
pick up the badges and make corrections on- site at registration.

244



245



ITEM 4. 6

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT
NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS ANNUAL BOND

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT FOR FY 2022/ 23

RECOMMENDATION:     Receive Report for Bonded and Non Bonded

Community Facilities Districts

SUMMARY:

As mandated by California Government Code sections 53411 and 50075. 3, City Staff
is submitting the Annual Bond Accountability Report for the City' s Community
Facilities Districts ( CFDs") for FY ended June 30, 2023.

BACKGROUND:

Senate Bill 165 enacted the Local Agency Special Tax Bond Accountability (" Act").

This Act requires the annual preparation of a report containing specific information
concerning the use of the proceeds or annual special taxes for CFDs. The Act only
applies to bonds issued on or after January 1, 2001 in accordance with Section 53410
of the California Government Code. There are seven CFDs included in the FY 2022/ 23

annual report, three bonded CFDs and four non- bonded services CFDs shown on

separate pages ( see Attachment ' A" for a detailed listing).

Section' s 53411 and 50075. 3 of the California Government Code require the Chief

Fiscal Officer of the issuing local agency to file the annual report with its governing
body no later than January 1 every year.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The report will ensure compliance with Sections 53410, 53411 and 50075. 3 of the

California Government Code.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Staff time to prepare report.

ATTACH M E NTS:

A.       Annual CFD Report for FY Ending June 30, 2023.

246



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS ANNUAL BOND ACCOUNTABILITY
REPORT FOR FY 2022/ 23

APPROVALS:

J            ,> 3% 3
Cari Ja Date

Finance rector

O• c . O z. 3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

1  • 23
St en Salvatore Date

City Manager

247



SB 165: LOCAL AGENCY SPECIAL TAX & BOND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

Senate Bill 165, filed with the Secretary of State on September 19, 2000, enacted the Local Agency
Special Tax and Bond Accountability Act( the" Act"). This Act requires that any local special tax or local

bond measure subject to voter approval contain a statement indicating the specific purposes of the

special tax, require that the proceeds of the special tax be applied to those purposes, require the

creation of an account into which the proceeds shall be deposited, and require an annual report

containing specified information concerning the use of the proceeds. The Act only applies to any local
special tax measure or local bond measure adopted on or after January 1, 2001 in accordance with

Section 50075. 1 or Section 53410 of the California Government Code.

Some of the requirements of the Act are handled at the formation of the Special Tax District and others

are handled through annual reports. This Section of this report intends to comply with Sections 50075. 3

and 53411 of the California Government Code that states:

The chief fiscal officer of the issuing Iocal agency shall file a report with its governing body no later

than lanuary 1, 2002, and at least once a year thereafter. The annual report shall contain all of the

following:
1.  The amount of funds collected and expended.

2.  The status of any project required or authorized to be funded as identified in subdivision ( a) of
Sections 50075. 1 [ and] 53410."

The requirements of the Act apply to the funds for the following districts:

7, 285,000 City of Lathrop
Community Facilities District No. 2003- 1

Mossdale Village) Specia) Tax Refunding Bonds, 2013 Series A
Date: April 2003

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

Bonds were issued to pay for the Mossdale Landing Urban Design Concept Project' s and the Lathrop
Station Urban Design Concept Parcel' s share of the water delivery system established under the South

County Surface Water Project, including water transmission and delivery facilities, as well as potable
water facilities from City Well No. 22. The improvements are complete.

7, 535,000 City of Lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2003- 2
Joint Wastewater Project) Special Tax Bonds, Series 2003

Date: October 2003

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

Bonds were issued to pay for acquisition of capacity in the wastewater treatment facilities and sanitary
sewer facilities The improvements are complete.

248



City of Lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 04-01 ( Mossdale Services)
Date: 6/ 22/ 2004

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for certain services including parks, parkways, open spaces, flood and storm

protection, as well as police protection.

City of lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2005- 1 ( Historic Lathrop Services)
Date: 11/ 15/ 2005

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for fire protection and suppression services, maintenance of parks, parkways and
open space, flood and storm protection services, and police protection services.

City of Lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2013- 1 ( River Islands Public
Services and Facilities)

Date: 11/ 4/ 2013

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for public services and maintenance of public infrastructure within the River

Islands area as well as local facilities including roadways, bridges, water and sewer infrastructure,

public landscaping, and related improvements.

City of Lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2018- 1
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Facilities), 2019 Special Tax Bonds

Improvement Area No. 1 Bonds: $ 12, 630, 000

Improvement Area No. 2 Bonds: $ 7, 945, 000

Improvement Area No. 3 Bonds: $ 15, 625, 000

Improvement Area No. 4 Bonds: $ 5, 565, 000

Improvement Area No. 5 Bonds: $ 3, 970, 000

Date: ii/19/ 18

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

Bonds were issued to refinance the costs of public infrastructure, and to facilitate the prepayment,

waiver and termination of all of the Special Tax on parcels within the City' s Community Facilities District

No. 2006- 1.

249



City of Lathrop
Community Facilities District No. 2018- 2 ( Central Lathrop Specific Plan Facilities)

Date: 11/ 19/ 2018

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

Bonds were issued to refinance costs of public infrastructure, to facilitate the prepayment, waiver, and

termination of all of the special tax on parcels within the previously formed Community Facilities

District No. 2006- 1.

City of Lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2019- 1 ( South Lathrop City Services)
Date: 4/ 8/ 2019

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for services including the ongoing maintenance and operation of public roads,
medians, streetlights, traffic signals, traffic signs, frontage improvements, landscaping, drainage

facilities, and standby charges related to the ongoing maintenance and operation of the local public
improvements.

City of lathrop

Community Facilities District No. 2019- 2 ( Central Lathrop City Services)
Date: 4/ 8/ 2019

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for services including parks, parkways, and open space; flood and storm

protection; police protection; and fire protection.

City of Lathrop

CFD No. 2021- 1 ( Gateway Business Park City Services)
Date: 6/ 14/ 2021

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for services including maintenance for roads, landscaping, irrigation, and lighting
of streets, signals, curbs, gutters, parks, parkways, and open space, flood and storm water drainage,

detention, retention and protection services, maintenance( including capital replacement and reserves
for capital replacement) and operation of any real property or other tangible property with an

estimated useful life of five or more years that is owned by the City or by another local agency.

250



City of Lathrop
CFD No. 2023- 1 ( River Islands Public Services and Facilities # 2)

Date: June 12, 2023

PURPOSE OF SPECIAL TAX

The Special Tax pays for all direct and incidental costs related to providing public services and

maintenance of public infrastructure within the River Islands area. More specifically, the services

include, but not be limited to: ( i) police protection services, ( ii) maintenance of open space, including
trails and habitat areas, with services to included, but not be limited to, irrigation and vegetation

control; ( iii) maintenance of roads and roadways, with services to include, but not be limited to,

regularly scheduled street sweeping, repair of public streets, striping of streets and repair and

repainting of sound walls and other appurtenances; ( iv) storm protection services, including, but not
limited to, the operation and maintenance of storm drainage systems, ( v) landscaping in public areas

and in the public right of way along with public streets, including, but not limited to, irrigation, tree

trimming and vegetation maintenance and control; and (vi) any other public services authorized to be
funded under Section 53313 of the California Government Code.

251



CITY OF LATHROP

BONDED COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS REPORT

FOR FY ENDED 6/ 30/ 2023

Initial Amount Deposited to

Improvement Fund or 6/ 30/ 2023 Expended Project

District Project Costs Balance Amount Status

CFD 2003- 1

Mossdale Village- Water)       6, 716, 563. 00 0. 00       $ 6, 716, 563. 00 Complete

CFD 2003- 2

Joint Wastewater)       6, 096, 532. 33 0. 00       $ 6, 096, 532. 33 Complete

CFD 2018- 1( Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Facilities)      0. 00 0. 00 0. 00 Complete

CFD 2018- 2 ( Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Facilities)      0. 00 0. 00 0. 00 Complete

252



CITY OF LATHROP

NON- BONDED COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS REPORT

FOR FY ENDED 6/ 30/ 2023

Special Taxes Expended

7/ 1/ 2022 collected during Amount and 6/ 30/ 2023 Project

District Balance( 1)       FY 2022/ 23( 2)     Encumbrances( 3)      Balance( 4) Status( 5)

CFD 04- 1

Mossdale Services) 721, 529. 31 2, 702, 510. 86       $ 2, 260, 194. 64     $ 1, 163, 845. 53 Ongoing

CFD 2005- 1

Historic Lathrop Services)  14, 040. 89 70, 632. 91 60, 061. 77 24,612. 03 Ongoing

CFD No. 2013- 1

River Islands)      120, 288. 83 1, 117,417.28       $ 1, 118, 382. 29       $ 119, 323. 82 Ongoing

CFD No. 2019- 1

South Lathrop)    811, 454. 68 579, 859. 91 473, 242. 14       $ 918, 072. 45 Ongoing

CFD No. 2019- 2

Central Lathrop Specific)  166, 295. 51 1, 067, 113. 75 943, 465. 02       $ 289, 944. 24 Ongoing

CFD No. 2021- 1

Gateway Business Park City
Services)     71, 658. 45 154, 349. 62 78, 680. 61       $ 147, 327. 46 Ongoing

o.      -

River Islands Public Services

and Facilities# 2)   0. 00 0. 00 0. 00 Ongoing

Note( 1)

Beginning balances include previous year encumbrances carried forward for payment in the subsequent fiscal year.

Note( 2)

For CFD 04- 1 this amount represents the annual special taxes remitted by the San Joaquin County Auditor-Controller,

building permit collections, interest earnings, and a transfer for capital equipment replacement.

For all other districts this amount represents the annual special tax amounts remitted by the San Joaquin County Auditor-

Controller and interest earnings.

Note( 3)

All CFDs listed above are intended to provide funding for ongoing, perpetual operations and maintenance services.

253



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT
ITEM 4. 7

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       ANNUAL REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF THE CITY' S

INVESTMENT POLICY

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt a Resolution Approving the Annual
Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24

SUMMARY:

PFM Asset Management,  LLC ( PFM), the City' s investment portfolio manager,  has

conducted its annual review of the City' s Investment Policy to ensure compliance with
investment regulatory agencies and the California Government Code.  PFM has found

that the City' s Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24 is comprehensive and
consistent with the City' s objectives and risk tolerances, and is in compliance with
the California Government Code and has no recommended changes to the policy at

this time. The proposed FY 2023/ 24 Investment Policy is attached ( Attachment B).

Staff recommends the approval of the Investment Policy as presented by PFM to be
in compliance with current investment regulations adopted by the California

Government Code.

BACKGROUND:

PFM manages over $ 118 billion for public entities nationwide and has a strong history
of providing professionals dedicated to actively managing and supporting the
administration of fixed- income operating funds, capital funds and reserves, and bond
proceeds.

PFM has actively managed the City' s investment portfolio since the initial Council
approved contract in 2015.    PFM is nationally recognized as one of the leading
investment advisory organizations,  specializing in providing services to the public
sector.  Some of the services PFM provides are:

Review of the City' s Investment Policy
Cash flow analysis to determine current and future liquidity needs

Develop and implement investment strategy

The investment policy serves as the foundation of the City' s investment goals and
priorities.   An annual review assures that it continues to meet the City' s goals and
priorities for its portfolio. It contributes to the protection of the assets of the City.
The approved investment policy demonstrates that the City Council is fiducially
responsible, thereby; promoting trust and confidence from the public that it serves.

PFM has performed its annual review of the City' s Investment Policy along with
current state laws governing investment activities of local governments.   PFM has

found that the City' s Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24 is comprehensive, is
consistent with the City' s objectives and risk tolerances, and is in compliance with

254



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT Page 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ANNUAL REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY FOR FY

2023/ 24

the California Government Code and has no recommended changes to the policy at

this time. The proposed FY 2023/ 24 Investment Policy is attached ( Attachment B).

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The City' s investment policy provides the Finance Department with direction as to
the investment objectives of the governing body ( in order of priority):

1.  Safety - Preservation of the principal of invested funds
2.  Liquidity  -  Ability to liquidate one or more of the City' s investments if

unexpected expenditures arise

3.  Return - Attainment of a market rate of return

It also establishes standards approved by Council;  concerning the prudent care of
City invested funds,  the ethics of the investment officer,  and internal controls/

reporting procedures.

In addition, the Government Finance OfFicers Association' s  ( GFOA)  Committee on

Cash Management advocates the adoption of a municipal resolution that consists of;
a legal list of allowable securities,  a prudent investor clause and the mandatory
enactment of written investment policies.  An adopted investment policy, prudently
followed by the investment officer,  is favorably viewed by municipal credit rating
agencies.  The submitted resolution meets GFOA standards.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Review of the City' s Investment Policy is a service provided within the scope of PFM' s
annual contract.

ATTACH M E NTS:

A.  Resolution Approving the Annual Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24

B.  Investment Policy for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24

C.  Memorandum Confirming Review of the Investment Policy from PFM Asset
Management, LLC.

255



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT Page 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
ANNUAL REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY FOR FY
2023/ 24

APPROVALS:

z o.

Cari Jame Date

Director f inance

1 o f 3012vZ3

Thomas Hedegard Date

Deputy City Manager

D 30 • LC 2. 3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

z3
Steph      . Salvatore Date

City Manager

256



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING THE ANNUAL INVESTMENT POLICY FOR FISCAL YEAR

2023/ 24

WHEREAS,   Government Code   §   53646( a)   ( 1)   of the State of

California was amended to ofFer the suggestion, rather than the requirement,

that local agencies file an annual investment policy; and

WHEREAS, the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission

highly recommends local agencies'   legislative bodies adopt an annual

investment policy to increase the policy' s authority and legitimacy; and

WHEREAS,  Staff recommends and the City Council desires to adopt
the Fiscal Year 2023/ 24 Investment Policy; and

WHEREAS,   the City' s Investment Policy provides the Finance

Department with direction as to the investment objectives of the governing

body ( in order of priority):

1.  Safety - Preservation of the principal of invested funds
2.  Liquidity - Ability to liquidate one or more of the City' s investments if

unexpected expenditures arise

3.  Return - Attainment of a market rate of return; and

WHEREAS,  the Investment Policy for the City of Lathrop for Fiscal
Year 2023/ 24 is attached to the City Manager' s Report as Attachment B";

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the

City of Lathrop,  does hereby approve the Investment Policy for the City of
Lathrop for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24.

Resolution No. 23-    Page 1 of 2

257



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of
November, 2023, by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23-    Page 2 of 2

258



City of Lathrop

Investment Policy

ATTACHMENT "   '
259



City of Lathrop

Investment Policy

Table of Contents

1. 0 Policy l

2. 0 Scope 1

3. 0 Prudence 1

4. 0 Objectives 2

5. 0 Delegation of Authority 2

6.0 Ethics and Conflict of Interest 2

7. 0 Authorized Broker/ Dealers 3

8. 0 Authorized and Suitable Investments 3

9. 0 Competitive Transactions 6

10. 0 Selection of Depositories 6

11. 0 Safekeeping and Custody 7

12. 0 Diversification 7

13. 0 Maximum Maturities 7

14. 0 Performance Standards 7

15. 0 Reporting 8

16. 0 Investment Policy Adoption 8

Glossaries 9

260



1. 0 POLICY

The City Council of the City of Lathrop, California ( the City) has adopted this Investment Policy
in order to establish the investment scope, objectives, delegation of authority, standards of
prudence,  reporting requirements,  internal controls,  eligible investments and transactions,

diversification requirements, risk tolerance, and safekeeping and custodial procedures for the
investment of the funds of the City.  All City funds will be invested in accordance with this
Investment Policy and with applicable sections of the California Government Code.

This Investment Policy was endorsed and adopted by the City Council of the City of Lathrop on
November 13, 2023.  It replaces any previous investment policy or investment procedures of the
City.

2. 0 SCOPE

This Investment Policy shall apply to all investment activities and financial assets of the City, as
accounted for in the City' s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and which include the
following:

General Fund

Special Revenue Funds

Debt Service Funds

Capital Project Funds

Enterprise Funds

Trust and Agency Funds

The provisions of this Investment Policy do not apply to those cash assets governed by bond
indentures, bond resolutions, employee' s retirement and deferred compensation funds, as those are

administered separately.

3. 0 PRUDENCE

The standard of prudence to be used for managing the City's investments shall be California
Govemment Code Section 53600. 3, the prudent investor standard, which states that " when

investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, or managing public funds, a
trustee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing,
including, but not limited to, the general economic conditions and the anticipated needs of the
agency, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiarity with those matters would use
in the conduct of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and
maintain the liquidity needs of the agency."

The City' s overall investment program shall be designed and managed with a degree of
professionalism that is worthy of the public trust. The City recognizes that no investment is totally
without risk and that the investment activities of the City are a matter of public record.
Accordingly, the City recognizes that occasional measured losses may occur in a diversified
portfolio and shall be considered within the context of the overall portfolio' s return, provided that
adequate diversification has been implemented and that the sale of a security is in the best long-
term interest of the City.

Individuals having investment responsibilities who act in accordance with written procedures and
this Investment Policy and who exercise due diligence in performing their duties shall be relieved

1 -

261



ofpersonal responsibility for an individual security' s credit risk or market price changes, provided
that deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to
control adverse developments.

4. 0 OBJECTIVES

The City' s funds shall be invested in accordance with all applicable City municipal codes and
applicable resolutions, California statutes, and Federal regulations, and in a manner designed to

accomplish the following objectives, which are listed in priority order:

1.   Preservation of capital and protection of investment principal.
2.   Maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet anticipated cash flows.
3.   Attainment of a market value rate of return.

4.   Diversification to avoid incurring unreasonable market risks.

5. 0 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

Authority to manage the City' s investment progam is derived from the City of Lathrop Municipal
Code, Title 2, Chapter 2.08, Section 2.08.O10.F.2. and from California Government Code Section

53607. In exercise of that authority, the City Council has delegated responsibility for the investment
program to the Treasurer.  The City Manager, who serves as Treasurer, shall be responsible for all
transactions undertaken and shall establish a system ofcontrols to regulate the activities ofsubordinate

officials. The City Manager may delegate investment decision making and execution authority to the
City' s Director ofFinance and to other specifically authorized officers and employees. The Director
of Finance shall maintain a list of persons authorized to transact securities business for the City.
No person may engage in an investment transaction except as expressly provided under the terms
of this Investment Policy.

The Director of Finance shall develop written administrative procedures and internal controls,
consistent with this Investment Policy, for the operation of the City' s investment program.  Such

procedures shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds arising from fraud, employee error,
misrepresentation by third parties, or imprudent actions by employees of the City.

The Director of Finance shall establish a process for annual independent review of the City' s
investment program by an external auditor. This review will provide internal control by assuring
compliance with policies and procedures.

The City may engage the support services of outside investment advisors in regard to its investment
program, so long as it can be clearly demonstrated that these services produce a net financial
advantage or necessary financial protection of the City' s financial resources.

6.0 ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business activity
that could conflict with the proper execution and management of the City' s investment program, or
that could impair their ability to make impartial decisions.  Investment officials shall disclose any
material interest in financial institutions that conduct business with the City. They shall further disclose
any personal fmanciaUinvestment positions that could be related to the performance of the City' s
investment portfolio.  Employees and officers handling investment transactions shall refrain from
undertaking personal investment transactions with the same individual with whom business is
conducted on behalf of the City.

2-

262



7. 0 AUTHORIZED BROKER/ DEALERS

The Director of Finance shall maintain a list of authorized broker/ dealers approved for investment

purposes, and it shall be the policy of the City to purchase securities only from those brokers and
the firms they represent. Each approved broker/ dealer must possess an authorizing certificate from
the California Commissioner of Corporations as required by Section 25210 of the California
Corporations Code.

The firms they represent must:

1.   be recognized as a Primary Dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank ofNew York or have a primary
dealer within their holding company structure, or

2.   report voluntarily to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or
3.   qualify under Securities and Exchange Commission( SEC) Rule 15c3- 1 ( Uniform Net Capital

Rule).

Broker/ dealers will be selected by the Director of Finance on the basis of their expertise in public
cash management and their ability to provide services for the City' s account.

Annually, each authorized broker/ dealer shall submit a City approved Broker/ Dealer Information
Request form and the firm' s most recent financial statements.  The Director of Finance shall

maintain a list of approved broker/ dealers, along with each firm's most recent Broker/ Dealer
Information Request form.

The City may purchase commercial paper from direct issuers even though they are not on the
approved broker/dealer list as long as they meet the criteria outlined in Item 8. 6 of the Authorized
and Suitable Investments section of this Investment Policy.

Broker/ dealers or municipal securities dealers, that have made political contributions to any
member of the City Council or to any candidate for that office, in amounts exceeding the limits set
forth in Rule G- 37 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, are prohibited from serving as
a City approved broker/dealer for a period of two years following such contributions.

If the City engages the support services of an outside investment advisor, the adviser is authorized
to transact with its broker/dealer relationships on behalf of the City.

8. 0 AUTHORIZED AND SUITABLE INVESTMENTS

All investments and deposits of the City shall be made in accordance with California Government
Code Sections 16429. 1, 53600- 53609 and 53630- 53686, except that reserve funds from the proceeds
of debt issues may be invested in pernutted investments specified in the indenture of the debt issue.
Far purposes of compliance with this section, an investment' s term or remaining maturity shall be
measured from the settlement date to final maturity. A security purchased in accardance with this
section shall not have a forward settlement date exceeding 45 days from the time of investment.

The City has further restricted authorized investments to the following:

8. 1 Government Obligations

3 -

263



As authorized in Government Code Sections 53601( a) through ( e), this category includes a wide
variety of government securities.  There are no portfolio limitations on the amount; however, the
maturity term of these investment vehicles may not exceed five years from the date of trade settlement
unless approved by the City Council. These securities include the following:

8. l. a.   United States Treasury bills, notes, bonds, or certificates of indebtedness, or those for which
the faith and credit of the United States are pledged for the payment of principal and interest with a
final maturity not exceeding five years from the date of trade settlement.

8. 1. b.   Federal Agency mortgage backed securities and debentures with a final maturity not
exceeding five years from the date of trade settlement.

8. l.c.   Federal agency or United States government- sponsored enterprise obligations, participations,
or other instruments, including those issued by or fully guaranteed as to principal and interest by federal
agencies or United States government- sponsored enterprises with a final maturity not exceeding five
years from the date of trade settlement.

8. 2 State and Local Agency Obligations

8. 2. a.   Obligations of the State of California and any local agency within California, including bonds
payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue- producing property owned, controlled, or operated
by the local agency, or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the local agency or of the state
with a final maturity not exceeding five years from the date of trade settlement, and rated in a rating
category of " A" or the equivalent or better by a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating
Organization( NRSRO) at the time of purchase. The aggregate investment in state and local agency
obligations shall not exceed 30% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 2. b.   Registered treasury notes or bonds of any of the other 49 states in addition to California,
including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-producing property owned,
controlled, or operated by a state or by a department, board, agency, or authority of any of the other 49
states, in addition to California with a final maturity not exceeding five years from the date of trade
settlement, and rated in a rating category of "A" or the equivalent or better by a Nationally
Recognized Statistical Rating Organization ( NRSRO) at the time of purchase.  The aggregate

investment in state and local agency obligations shall not exceed 30% of the City' s total portfolio.

8.3 Medium- Term Notes

Medium-Term Notes issued by corporations organized and operating within the United States or by
depository institutions licensed by the United States or any state and operating within the United States,
with a final maturity not exceeding five years from the date of trade settlement, and rated in a rating
category of" A" or the equivalent or better by a NRSRO at the time ofpurchase. No more than 10%
of the City' s total portfolio shall be invested in medium-term notes and the commercial paper of
any one issuer, and the aggregate investment in mediuxn- term notes shall not exceed 30% of the City' s

total portfolia ln addition, AAA rated FDIC- guaranteed corporate bonds are herein authorized,
within the aforementioned diversification and maturity requirements.

8.4 Negodable Certificates of Deposit

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit with a maturity not exceeding five years from the date of trade
settlement, issued by a nationally or state- chartered bank, a savings association or a federal
association ( as defined by Section 5102 of the Financial Code), a state or federal credit union, or

4-

264



by a federally licensed or state- licensed branch of a foreign bank.  Certificates of Deposits may be

purchased only from financial institutions that meet the criteria set forth in the section of this
Investment Policy, " Selection of Depositories."  Investment in negotiable Certificates of Deposit

shall not exceed 30% of the City' s total portfolio.

8.5 Non-negotiable Certificates of Deposit

Non- negotiable Certificates of Deposit with a maturity not exceeding five years from the date of
trade settlement, in FDIC insured state or nationally chartered banks or savings banks, subj ect to
the limitations of California Government Code Section 53638.   Amounts in excess of FDIC

insurance coverage shall be secured in accordance with California Government Code Section
53652.  Certificates of Deposits may be purchased only from financial institutions that meet the
criteria set forth in the section of this Investment Policy, " Selection of Depositories." Investment

in non- negotiable Certificates of Deposit shall not exceed 30% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 6 Commercial Paper

Prime Commercial Paper with a maturity not exceeding 270 days from the date of trade settlement
with the highest ranking or of the highest letter and number rating as provided for by a NRSRO.
The entity that issues the commercial paper shall meet all of the following conditions in either sub-
paragraph A. or sub- paragraph B. below:

A. The entity shall( 1) be organized and operating in the United States as a general
corporation, (2) have total assets in excess of$SOO, OOO, OOOand( 3) have debt other

than commercial paper, if any, that is rated in a rating category of" A" or the
equivalent or higher by a NRSRO.

B. The entity shall ( 1) be organized within the United States as a special purpose
corporation, trust, or limited liability company, ( 2) have program-wide credit
enhancements, including, but not limited to, over collateralization, letters of credit
or surety bond and( 3) have commercial paper that is rated" A-1" or higher, or the
equivalent, by a NRSRO.

No more than 10% of the City' s total portfolio shall be invested in the commercial paper and
corporate notes of any one issuer, and the aggregate investment in commercial paper shall not
exceed 25% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 7 Banker' s Acceptances

Eligible Banker' s Acceptances with a maturity not exceeding 180 days from the date of trade
settlement, drawn on or accepted by a FDIC insured commercial bank with combined capital and
surplus of at least$ 250 million, whose senior long- term debt is rated in a rating category of" A" or
the equivalent or better by a NRSRO at the time of trade settlement.  No more than 30% of the

City' s total portfolio shall be invested in banker' s acceptances of any one issuer, and the aggregate
investment in banker' s acceptances shall not exceed 40% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 8 Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase Agreements with a final termination date not exceeding 30 days collateralized by U. S.
Treasury obligations, Federal Agency securities, or Federal Instrumentality securities listed in
Section 8. 1 above with the maturity of the collateral not exceeding five years. For the purpose of

5 -

265



this section, the term collateral shall mean purchased securities under the terms of the City' s
approved Master Repurchase Agreement. The purchased securities shall have a minimum market
value including accrued interest of 102% of the dollar value of the funds borrowed. Collateral shall

be held in the City' s custodian bank, as safekeeping agent, and the market value of the collateral
securities shall be marked- to- the- market daily.

Repurchase Agreements shall be entered into only with broker/dealers who are recognized as
Primary Dealers with the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or with firms that have a Primary
Dealer within their holding company structure.   Primary Dealers approved as Repurchase
Agreement counterparties shall have a short- term credit rating of at least A- 1 or the equivalent and
a long-term credit rating in a rating category of " A" or the equivalent or better.  Repurchase

agreement counterparties shall execute a City approved Master Repurchase Agreement with the
City.  The Director of Finance shall maintain a copy of the City' s approved Master Repurchase
Agreement along with a list of the broker/dealers who have executed same. There are non portfolio
limits for repurchase agreements.

8. 9 Money Market Funds

Money Market Funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 that ( 1) are " no- load"
meaning no commission ar fee shall be charged on purchases or sales of shares); ( 2) have a constant

net asset value per share of$ 1. 00; ( 3) invest only in the securities and obligations authorized in the
applicable California statutes and( 4) have a rating of AAAin ar the equivalent by not less than two
NRSROs. The combined investment in money market funds and mutual funds shall not exceed 20%
of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 10 Mutual Funds

Mutual Funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 which ( 1) are " no- load"
meaning no commission or fee shall be charged on purchases or sales of shares); ( 2) invest in the

securities and obligations authorized in the applicable California statutes and( 3) have a rating of
AAAm or the equivalent by not less than two NRSROs.  No more than 10% of the City' s total
portfolio may be invested in mutual funds ofany one issuer, and the combined investment in mutual
funds and money market funds shall not exceed 20% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 11 Local Agency Investment Fund

State of California' s Local Agency Investment Fund ( LAIF), pursuant to California Government
Code Section 16429. 1.

8. 12 Shares of beneficial interest issued by a joint powers authority

Shares of beneficial interest issued by a joint powers authority organized pursuant to Section 6509. 7
that invests in the securities and obligations authorized in California Government Code Section

53601 subdivisions( a) to( r), inclusive. Each share shall represent an equal proportional interest in
the underlying pool of securities owned by the joint powers authority. To be eligible under this
section, the joint powers authority issuing the shares shall have retained an investment adviser that
meets all of the following criteria:

1) The adviser is registered or exempt from registration with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

6-

266



2) The adviser has not less than five years of experience investing in the securities and
obligations authorized in subdivisions( a) to( c, inclusive.

3) The adviser has assets under management in excess of five hundred million dollars
500,000,000).

8. 13 Supranational Debt

United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated obligations issued or

unconditionally guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
International Finance Corporation,  or Inter-American Development Bank, with a maximum

remaining maturity of five years or less, and eligible for purchase and sale within the United States.
Investments under this subdivision shall be rated in a rating category of" AA" or the equivalent or
better by an NRSRO and shall not exceed 30% of the City' s total portfolio.

8. 14 Allowable Investment Vehicles

It is the intent of the City that the foregoing list of authorized securities and transactions is strictly
interpreted. Any deviation from this list must be approved in advance by the City Council.

The City may, from time to time issue bonds, the proceeds of which must be invested to meet
specific cash flow requirements. In such circumstances the reinvestment of debt issuance or related

reserve funds will be governed by the bond documents and may deviate from the provisions of this
Investment Policy.

9.0 COMPETITIVE TRANSACTIONS

Each investment transaction shall be competitively transacted with authorized broker/ dealers.  At
least three broker/ dealers shall be contacted for each transaction and their bid and offering prices
shall be recorded.

If the City is offered a security for which there is no other readily available competitive offering,
then the Director of Finance will document quotations for comparable or alternative securities.

10. 0 SELECTION OF DEPOSITORIES

To be eligible for designation to provide depository and other banking services or for an institution' s
certificates of deposit to be eligible for purchase, a bank or savings bank must be a member of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and shall qualify as a depository of public funds in the State
of California as defined in California Government Code Section 53630.

7-

267



11. 0 SAFEKEEPING AND CU5TODY

The Director of Finance shall select one or more banks to provide third party safekeeping and
custodial services for the City, in accordance with the provisions of Section 53608 of the California
Government Code.  A Safekeeping Agreement approved by the City shall be executed with each
custodian bank prior to utilizing that bank' s safekeeping services. Custodian banks will be selected
on the basis of their ability to provide services for the City' s account and the competitive pricing of
their safekeeping related services.

The purchase and sale of securities and repurchase agreement transactions shall be settled on a
delivery versus payment basis.  Title to all securities shall be perfected in the name of the City.
Sufficient evidence to title shall be consistent with modern investment, banking and commercial
practices.

All investment securities, except Non- negotiable Certificates of Deposit, Money Market Funds,

Mutual Funds, shares ofbeneficial interest issued by a joint powers authority, and LAIF, purchased
by the City will be delivered by either book entry or physical delivery and will be held in third-
party safekeeping by a City approved custodian bank, its correspondent bank or its Depository
Trust Company( DTC) participant account.

All Fed wireable book entry securities owned by the City shall be held in the Federal Reserve
System in a customer account for the custodian bank which will name the City as" customer."

All DTC eligible securities shall be held in the custodian bank' s DTC participant account and the
custodian bank shall provide evidence that the securities are held for the City as" customer."

All non-book entry ( physical delivery) securities shall be held by the custodian bank or its
correspondent bank and the custodian bank shall provide evidence that the securities are held by
the bank for the City as" customer."

12. 0 DIVERSIFICATION

The City will diversify its investments by security type and institution.  With the exception of

Government Obligations set forth in Section 8. 1,  Repurchase Agreements and LAIF,  and

notwithstanding the individual limitations set forth herein, no more than 50% of the City' s total
investment portfolio will be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution.

13. 0 MAXIMUM MATURITIES

To the extent possible, investments shall be matched with anticipated cash flow requirements and
known future liabilities. With the exception of reserve funds, the City will not invest in securities
maturing more than ' ive years from the date of trade settlement, unless the City Council has by
resolution granted authority to make such an investment at least three months prior to the date of
investment.

Reserve funds may be invested in securities exceeding five years if the maturity of such investments
is made to coincide as nearly as practicable with the expected use of the funds.

8-

268



14. 0 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

The investment portfolio shall be designed to attain a market rate of return throughout budgetary
and economic cycles, taking into account prevailing market conditions, risk constraints for eligible
securities, and cash flow requirements. The performance of the City' s investments shall be
compared to the average yield on the U.S. Treasury security that most closely corresponds to the
portfolio' s weighted average effective maturity.  When comparing the performance of the City' s
portfolio, its rate of return will be computed net of all fees and expenses.

15. 0 REPORTING

The Director of Finance shall provide the City Council quarterly Investment Reports. The reports
shall include the following on all invested monies:

1. Issuer name

2. Type of investment instrument

3. Purchase date

4. Maturity date
5.  Weighted average maturity
6. Ending balances
7. Yield on cost

8. Weighted average yield
9. Benchmark suitable for weighted average maturity
lO. Purchase Price

11. Market value

12. Percent of portfolio of each investment
13. Investments under the management of contracted parties

14. Statement of compliance with the investment policy

15. Statement of ability to meet obligations of next six months

16. 0 INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION

This Investment Policy shall be adopted by resolution of the City Council. The policy will be
reviewed by the City Council annually, and any modifications made thereto must be approved by
the City Council.

9-

269



GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS

Benchmark

A passive index used to compare the performance, relative to risk and return, of an investor' s
portfolio.

Cash Flow

A comparison of cash receipts ( revenues) to required payments ( debt service, operating expenses,
etc.).

Credit Risk

The chance that an issuer will be unable to make scheduled payments of interest and principal on
an outstanding obligation. Another concern for investors is that the market' s perception of a
corporation' s credit will cause the market value of a security to fall, even if default is not expected.

Credit Rating
Various alphabetical and numerical designations used by institutional investors, Wall Street
underwriters, and commercial rating companies to give relative indications of bond and note
creditworthiness.  Standard & Poor' s and Fitch Ratings use the same system, starting with their
highest rating, of AAA, AA, A, BBB, BB, B, CCC, CC, C, and D for default. Moody' s Investors
Service uses Aaa, Aa, A, Baa, Ba, B, Caa, Ca, C, and D. Each of the services use pluses(+), minuses

or numerical modifiers to indicate steps within each category. The top four letter categories are
considered investment grade ratings.

Duration

A measure of the timing of cash flows to be received from a security that provides the foundation
for a measure of the interest rate sensitivity of a bond.  Duration is an elasticity measure and
represents the percentage change in price divided by the percentage change in interest rates. A high
duration measure indicates that for a given level of movement in interest rates, prices of securities
will vary considerably.

Fiduciary
An individual who holds something in trust for another and bears liability for its safekeeping.

Investment Oversight Committee

A committee of three to eleven members formed under Government Code Section 27131 to monitor

and review a county' s investment policy by causing an annual audit and discussing its finding at
an open meeting. Although cities and other local agencies are not required to compose an
investment oversight committee, the State Legislature has declared that all local agencies" should

participate in reviewing the policies that guide the investment of those fiznds."

Liquidity
The ease with which an investment may be converted to cash, either by selling it in the secondary
market or by demanding its repurchase pursuant to a put or other prearranged agreement with the
issuer or another party.

10-

270



Liquidity Risk
The chance that a security, sold prior to maturity, will be sold at a loss of value. For a local agency,
the liquidity risk of an individual investment may not be as critical as how the overall liquidity of
the portfolio allows the agency to meet its cash needs.

Market Risk

The chance that the value of a security will decline as interest rates rise. In general, as interest rates
fall, prices of fixed income securities rise. Similarly, as interest rates rise, prices fall. Market risk
also is referred to as systematic risk or risk that affects all securities within an asset class similarly.

Maturity
The stated date on which all or a stated portion of the principal amount of a security becomes due
and payable.

Net Present Value

An amount that equates future cash flows with their value in present terms.

Par Amount or Par Value

The principal amount of a note or bond which must be paid at maturity. Par, also referred to as the
face amount" of a security, is the principal value stated on the face of the security. A par bond is

one sold at a price of 100 percent of its principal amount.

Pooled Investment

A market institution authorized under various sections of state law that represents the combined

deposits of more than one local agency and pays returns based upon each local agency' s share of
investment in the pool.

Portfolio

The combined holdings of all investment assets held by an investor.

Principal Amount

The face amount or par amount of a bond or issue of bonds payable on stated dates of maturity.

Put

The ability of a holder of an investment security to sell at a specified time and for a specified price
the security back to the issuer or prior holder.

Return

The principal plus interest on an investment or portfolio of investments. In certain unfavorable
market environments or due to risk factors, income derived from principal and interest may be less
than the original amount invested.

Risk

The uncertainty of maintaining the principal or interest associated with an investment due to a
variety of factors.

Yield

For the purposes of this publication, return and yield are synonymous.

11 -

271



GLOSSARY OF INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Asset- Backed Securities

Securities that are supported by pools of assets, such as installment loans or leases, or by pools of
revolving lines of credits. Asset-backed securities are structured as trusts in order to perfect a
security interest in the underlying assets.

Bank Note

A senior, unsecured, direct obligation of a bank or U. S. branch of a foreign bank.

Banker' s Acceptance

Normally, a short-term bill of exchange that is accepted as payrnent by banks engaged in financing
trade of physical assets or merchandise.

Bond

A debt obligation of a firm or public entity. A bond represents the agreement to repay the debt in
principal and, typically, in interest on the principal.

Callable Security
An investment security that contains an option allowing the issuer to retire the security prior to its
final maturity date.

Certificate of Deposit

A short- term, secured deposit in a financial institution that usually returns principal and interest to
the lender at the end of the loan period. Certificates of Deposit ( CDs) differ in terms of

collateralization and marketability. Those appropriate to public agency investing include:

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit — Generally, short term debt instruments that usually
pay interest and are issued by a bank, savings or federal association, state or federal credit
union, or state- licensed branch of a foreign bank. The majority of negotiable CDs mature
within six months while the average maturity is two weeks. Negotiable CDs are traded in
a secondary market and are payable upon order to the bearer or initial depositor( investor).

Non- Negotiable Certificates of Deposit — CDs that carry a penalty if redeemed prior to
maturity. A secondary market does exist for these non-negotiable CDs, but include a
transaction cost that reduces returns to the investor. Non- negotiable CDs issued by banks

and savings and loans are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to the
amount of $250, 000, including principal and interest.   Amounts deposited above this

amount may be secured with other forms of collateral through an agreement between the
investor and the issuer.  Collateral may include other securities including Treasuries or
agency securities such as those issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association.

Commercial Paper

A short- term, unsecured promissory note issued by a large corporation.

Corporate Notes and Bonds

Debt instruments, typically unsecured, issued by corporations, with original maturities in most
cases greater than one year and less than ten years.

Federal Agency and Instrumentality Obligations

12-

272



Obligations issued by a government- sponsored entity or a federally regulated institution.

Mortgage Pass- Through Obligations

Securities that are created when residential mortgages( or other mortgages) are pooled together and
undivided interests or participations in the stream of revenues associated with the mortgages are
sold.

Municipal Notes, Bonds, and Other Obligations

Obligations issued by state and local governments to fmance capital and operating expenses.

Notes

Debt obligations of a firm or public entity, usually maturing in less than ten years.

Repurchase Agreements

From the perspective of a local agency, the short term, often overnight, purchase of securities with
an agreement to resell the securities at an agreed upon price.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Differs from a repurchase agreement in the sense that a reverse repurchase agreement is an
agreement to sell securities in return for cash with an agreement to repurchase the securities at an

agreed upon price.

State and Local Investment Pools

The combined deposits of state and local agencies organized and operated by a state treasurer or a

local official. These pools operate much like a mutual fund, with local agencies investing money
together in order to increase efficiency and reduce costs.

State Noted, Bonds, and Warrants

Obligations of the State of California or another state government with different maturity lengths.

Zero- Interest Bond

A bond on which interest is not payable until maturity ( or earlier redemption), but compounds

periodically to accumulate to a stated maturity amount. Zero-interest bonds are typically issued at
a discount and repaid at par upon maturity.

Excerpted from Understanding Public Investment Reporting - A Handbook For Local Elected

O acials California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission, 2003.

13 -

273



October 16, 2023

pfml asset
management

Memorandum

To: Cari James, Finance Director

Thomas Hedegard, Deputy Finance Director
City of Lathrop

From:      Monique Spyke, Managing Director
Allison Kaune, Senior Analyst

PFM Asset Management LLC

Re:  2023 Investment Policy Review

We have completed our review of the City of Lathrop' s( the" City") Investment Policy( the" Policy")
dated November 14, 2022. The City' s Policy is well written and in compliance with applicable
sections of California Government Code ( the " Code"). This year we are recommending no

changes to the Policy.

While there was one change made to a Code section impacting the investment of public funds,

that goes into effect on January 1, 2024, the change does not require a Policy change. The Code
change was made to Code Section 53601 ( o), the paragraph of Code permitting investment in

asset- backed securities and non- agency mortgage- backed securities. The City's Policy does not
permit this investment type and so no Policy changes are necessary.

Please let us know if you have any questions. Thank you.

ATi'ACHMENT " C  "
274



275



ITEM 4. 8

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM: APPROVE TEMPORARY STREET CLOSURES FOR
THE LATHROP CHRISTMAS PARADE ON

DECEMBER 9,   2023 FOR THOMSEN ROAD,

CAMBRIDGE DRIVE,   J STREET,   AND 5TH

STRE ET

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution Approving Temporary Street
Closures for the Lathrop Christmas Parade on
December 9,    2023 for Thomsen Road,

Cambridge Drive, .7 Street, and 5th Street

SUMMARY:

On December 9, 2023, the City of Lathrop will host the annual Christmas Parade.
The parade will begin at 11: 00 a. m. on Thomsen Road heading west; turn north onto
Cambridge Drive; turn east onto J Street; turn south onto 5th Street; and turn west

onto Thomsen Road where it will conclude. The Parks and Recreation Department will

coordinate the route, and the temporary street closures, with Public Works, Lathrop
Police Department, and the Lathrop Manteca Fire District to ensure the safety of this
event.  Since the parade will utilize the entire street at these locations,  staff is

requesting Council approval of temporary street closures.

BACKGROU N D:

On December 9,  2023, the Parks and Recreation Department will be hosting the
annual Christmas Parade.  This year' s theme is The Songs and Stories of Christmas:
Take 2".

The parade will begin at 11: 00 a. m. at the entrance of the Manteca Unified School

District Annex parking lot located at 735 Thomsen Road, follow Thomsen Road; turn
north onto Cambridge Drive; turn east onto J Street; turn south onto 5th Street; turn

west onto Thomsen Road and conclude back at the parking lot. The Judges Review
Stand will be located along 5th Street in front of the Community Center.  The staging
of the parade entries will be in the parking lot Manteca Unified School District Annex
located at 735 Thomsen Road.

The Parks and Recreation Department will coordinate the temporary street closures
with Public Works, Lathrop Police Department, and the Lathrop Manteca Fire District.
To accommodate the event, temporary street closures will be in effect from 10: 00
a. m. to 1: 00 p. m. There will be enough access for Lathrop Police Department and the
Lathrop Manteca Fire District to enter in case of an emergency.  Residents receive a

door hanger to notify them about the temporary street closures by City staff.
Seventy- two hours prior to the parade, signs will be placed on the barricades along

276



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2
NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
CHRISTMAS PARADE TEMPORARY STREET CLOSURE

the parade route set on the side of the road to alert the community about No

Parking" and " Street Closure".   On the day of the parade, additional barricades will
be set with advanced warning signs:  Road Closed Ahead" and  Detour Ahead".

Approximately one hour prior to the beginning of the parade,  the actual  " Road

Closure" signs will be set in place.   The Parks and Recreation Department and the

Lathrop Police Department will be present at all intersections to assist with traffic
flow.  At the conclusion of the parade, barricades will be collected.

To ensure the safety of the parade spectators and participants, staff is requesting
temporary closures of the following streets:

Thomsen Road - From 5th Street to Cambridge Drive
Cambridge Drive - From Thomsen Road to J Street

Street - From Cambridge Drive and 5th Street
5th Street - From J Street to Thomsen Road

This temporary closure will take place on Saturday,  December 9,  2023,  from

approximately 10: 00 a. m.  to 1: 00 p. m.  for the purpose of presenting the annual
Christmas Parade.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The adoption of this resolution will approve the temporary street closures to allow
staff to facilitate the 2023 Christmas Parade.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Expenses have been accounted for in the 23- 24 fiscal year budget.

ATTACHMENTS:

A.       Adopt Resolution Approving Temporary Street Closures for the Lathrop
Christmas Parade on December 9, 2023, for Thomsen Road, Cambridge
Drive, J Street, and 5th Street

B.       Parade Route Map

277



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CHRISTMAS PARADE TEMPORARY STREET CLOSURE

APPROVALS:

1 l l 3

Todd Sebas ian Date

Director of Parks and Recreation

7

t

ri Ja s Date

Direc f Finance

2 3

Brad ylor Date

City Engineer

ri G 2 z s

S en Sealy Da e

nterim Chief of Police

j/-  6  z. o , 3
a vador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

r—'     I - Co- 2 c23

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

r• co- 1
Steph       . Salva ore Date

City Manager

278



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING TEMPORARY STREET CLOSURES FOR THE LATHROP

CHRISTMAS PARADE ON DECEMBER 9, 2023 FOR THOMSEN ROAD,

CAMBRIDGE DRIVE, ) STREET, AND 5TH STREET

WHEREAS, on November 13, 2023 City Staff requested City Council approval
for temporary street closures for the Christmas Parade on December 9, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the streets recommended for temporary closure for the Christmas
parade route are:

Thomsen Road - From 5th Street to Cambridge Drive

Cambridge Drive - From Thomsen to J Street

7 Street - From Cambridge Drive and 5th Street

5th Street - From J Street to Thomsen Road

WHEREAS, these street closures will be in affect from approximately 10: 00
a. m. to 1: 00 p. m.  on Saturday,  December 9,  2023 for purpose of presenting the
annual Christmas Parade; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Parks and Recreation Department shall set
barricades on the side of the road to alert the community about areas of closure
seventy- two hours in advance of the parade; and

WHEREAS,  advanced temporary signage will be placed on the streets

identifying the temporary closure from approximately 10: 00 a. m. to 1: 00 p. m. on

December 9, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the Lathrop Police Department shall help at intersections for traffic
flow during the temporary street closure and the Lathrop Manteca Fire District will be
informed of the parade route; and

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that pursuant to California Vehicle
Code Section 21101,  subdivision  ( e), the City Council of the City of Lathrop does
hereby approve temporary closure of:

Thomsen Road - From 5th Street to Cambridge Drive

Cambridge Drive - From Thomsen to J Street

J Street - From Cambridge Drive and 5th Street

5th Street - From J Street to Thomsen Road

This temporary closure will take place on Saturday,  December 9,  2023 from

approximately 10: 00 a. m.  to 1: 00 p. m.  for the purpose of presenting the annual
Christmas Parade.

Page 1 of 2

279



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 13th day of November 2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM:      ATTEST:

Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney Teresa Vargas, City Clerk

Page 2 of 2

280



2023 Christmas Parade Route and Street Closures

3H

y
k

s
r

r
3.

y     : d
y y

ri    

i       r

s

5

3   „

a

i.,     £    
p r    ',`     ,  

3    '      =     
r.     ,  , .;    , i

It. "  ''"     
v a ,:            ; :            

3 ,,,,"M

f       

p
i%! Jx ti  ) P Sf }{( SY,  :{   r

z :

i i "   I V I 

y

m

n    ,       k.       
s

e w

r

d
s

y  ,  
a..

4    

a'      .'  •   

i:      

s
r,      x Y f _

r
e

i,    S.
u

av  <.    

x

p

Yo-   O R

a    .     ..       ' rfi

y

S     

Y tc d4"  w'     
y

q+  

ar

i3'  
5,      

3
r y

a

i

s
n-.+_nni^      

v

s.:'  

e

E,

i      '

v

4 i

ng             r      `        

YU;     n. N.,       .

t
y. y

s f ,  F

c ty of
Parade Route

Street Closure
PARKS & RECREATION

LPD Assistance WE C. A. R. E.

Creating Active Recreation Experfences

281



ITE M 4. 9

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM: APPROVE 2024 FACILITY FEE WAIVER

REQUESTS FOR LATHROP LITTLE LEAGUE,

LATHROP COMMUNITY VOLUNTEER CLUB,

LATHROP LIONS CLUB,   LATHROP SUNRISE

ROTARY,   ALCOHOLICS ANONYMOUS,    NEW

LATHROP NEIGHBORHOOD WATCH,   MITRA

USA, AND LIFT YOUR HEAD UP THERAPEUTIC

GROUP HOMES, INC

RECOMMENDATION: 1.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Lathrop Little League;
and

2.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Lathrop Community
Volunteer Club; and

3.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Lathrop Lions Club; and
4. Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Lathrop Sunrise Rotary;
and

5.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Alcoholics Anonymous;
and

6.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from New Lathrop
Neighborhood Watch; and

7.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver request from Mitra USA; and
8.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Facility Fee
Waiver from Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic
Group Homes, Inc

SUMMARY:

Review and approve adoption of eight resolutions approving facility fee waiver
requests from Lathrop Little League,  Lathrop Community Volunteer Club,  Lathrop
Lions Club,    Lathrop Sunrise Rotary,   Alcoholics Anonymous,    New Lathrop
Neighborhood Watch, Mitra USA, and Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes,
Inc., in accordance with the City of Lathrop Fee Waiver Policy.

The Parks and Recreation Commission voted at their November 2, 2023, meeting to
recommend City Council approval of the 2024 facility fee waiver requests and found
the requests to be of public benefit, de minimis in nature and not subsidized from
other facility fees.

282



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 REQUESTS FOR FEE WAIVER

BACKGROUND:

Annually,  staff receive requests for facility fee waivers from one of the following:
Intergovernmental Cooperation, Lathrop Non- Profit including 501( c) 3 and/ or 501( c) 4
with valid status and a Lathrop address,  or a Lathrop organization with financial

hardship directly benefitting the Lathrop community,  such as a community group
without non- profit status.  Facility fee waiver requests from each organization are
listed below. All fees include both facility and staff costs.

Lathrop Little League 73, 591

Lathrop Little League is a local non- profit providing enriching youth
programming that promotes sportsmanship, teamwork, and leadership skills
through the game of baseball.  Lathrop Little League submitted a facility fee
waiver for the following use:

o Mossdale Baseball Diamonds 1, 2, and 3, Valverde Baseball Diamonds 1

and 2, and Sangalang Baseball Diamond for practices Monday through
Friday from 3: 00 p. m. to 8: 00 p. m. from February 15, 2024, through

June 8, 2024.

o Mossdale Baseball Diamonds 1, 2, and 3 on Saturdays from 8: 00 a. m.

to 7: 00 p. m. from March 23, 2024, through June 8, 2024.
o The Scott Brooks Gymnasium in February and September for a Little

League Welcome Night and a Little League Registration Night.

Lathrop Community Volunteer Club 757

The Lathrop Community Volunteer Club is a local non- profit with a primary
mission to plan and host community events. The Lathrop Community Volunteer
Club submitted a facility fee waiver request for the use of Valverde Park and
the Scott Brooks Gymnasium on September il,  2024, to host their annual

Community BBQ Honoring Lathrop First Responders.

Lathrop Lions Club 9, 499

The Lathrop Lions Club is a local non- profit organization that gives valuable
time and effort to improving their communities and the world. Lathrop Lions
Club submitted a facility fee waiver request for the use of the Senior Center to
host monthly Bunco and Bingo, as well as, the Scott Brooks Gymnasium on
November 22 and November 23,  2024,  to host an annual craft fair and

Valverde Park amphitheater on October 12, 2024, from 9: 00 a. m. to 1: 00 p. m.
to host a Breast Cancer Walk.

Lathrop Sunrise Rotary 772

Lathrop Sunrise Rotary is a local non- profit organization that unites to take
action to create lasting change across the globe and in their communities.
Lathrop Sunrise Rotary submitted a facility fee waiver request for the use of
the Senior Center on November 28, 2024, from 7: 00 a. m. to 4: 00 p. m. to host
a Community Thanksgiving Dinner.

283



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 REQUESTS FOR FEE WAIVER

Alcoholics Anonymous 5, 331

Alcoholics Anonymous is a local non- profit with a mission to help its members
find sobriety. Alcoholics Anonymous submitted a facility fee waiver request for
the use of the Lathrop Community Center Multi- Purpose Room on Thursday
evenings from 6: 00 p. m. to 8: 00 p. m. to host their weekly meetings.

New Lathrop Neighborhood Watch 119

New Lathrop Neighborhood Watch is a Lathrop organization with financial
hardship directly benefitting the Lathrop community.  They are a local

community group without a non- profit status.  New Lathrop Neighborhood
Watch submitted a facility fee waiver request for the use of the Generations
Center amphitheater to host a backpack give- a- way August 3, 2024.

Mitra USA 3, 510

Mitra USA is a local non- profit engaged in charitable,  social,  cultural,  and

community development activities.  Mitra USA submitted a facility fee waiver
request for the use of Scott Brooks Gymnasium on October 4, 5, and 6, 2024,

to host a Cultural Event with an estimated attendance of 150 participants.

Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc.   734

Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes,  Inc.,  is a local non- profit
providing support and a safe structured environment that fosters a culture of
positivity, self-advocacy, growth, and self-sufficiency to at- risk youth. Lift Your
Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes,  Inc.,  submitted a facility fee waiver
request for the use of the Lathrop Senior Center on December 21, 2024, from
12: 00 a. m. to 8: 00 p. m. to host a Christmas Luncheon supporting the youth
of Lathrop with an estimated attendance of 80 participants.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends Council find the requested facility fee waivers would provide a
public benefit to the community and that the amount of the request is de minimis in
nature and not subsidized from other facility fees and approve the facility fee waiver
requests for the organizations listed above.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The fees associated with the facility fee waiver requests total $ 94, 313.

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lathrop Little
League for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 73, 591

B.  Lathrop Little League Request for Fee Waiver and Facility Usage
Calculations

284



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 REQUESTS FOR FEE WAIVER

C.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lathrop
Community Volunteer Club for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 757

D.  Lathrop Community Volunteer Club Request for Fee Waiver and Facility
Usage Calculations

E.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lathrop Lions
Club for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 9, 499

F.  Lathrop Lions Club Request for Fee Waiver and Facility Usage

Calculations

G.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lathrop
Sunrise Rotary for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 772

H.  Lathrop Sunrise Rotary Request for Fee Waiver and Facility Usage
Calculations

I.   Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Alcoholics
Anonymous for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 5, 331

J.  Alcoholics Anonymous Request for Fee Waiver and Facility Usage
Calculations

K.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lathrop New
Neighborhood Watch for the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 119

L.  Lathrop New Neighborhood Watch Request for Fee Waiver and Facility
Usage Calculations

M. Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Mitra USA for
the use of City Facilities Totaling $ 3, 510

N.  Mitra USA Request for Fee Waiver and Facility Usage Calculations
O.  Resolution Approving a Facility Fee Waiver Request from Lift Your Head

Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc. for the use of City Facilities Totaling
734

P.  Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc. Request for Fee
Waiver and Facility Usage Calculations

285



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 5

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 REQUESTS FOR FEE WAIVER

APPROVALS:

l I- 3   Ze Z3
Todd Seb stian Date

Director of Parks and Recreation

D. 3
Cari Ja s Date

Financ irector

3. zo 3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

I f•!0•7 3
Step en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

286



ATTACHMENT

r   +

r

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM LATHROP LITTLE
LEAGUE FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 73, 591

WHEREAS, Lathrop Little League has requested the use of City Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public bene t to
the community,  that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lathrop Little League to the City of Lathrop. The City
Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for the use
of City Facilities in the amount of $ 73, 591.

287



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

288



ATTACHMENT

O O O O O O O N N N N      

V O O O O O       N M N M      O

L O O O O O

a Ll O l! Lf   d' t M N M N N O1
I I.l N ,--i pp   

t    n     n +     LA

O O O l0 ln N vj
M N +--i *- i

i i i     3 f}

n c/  cn o   O O

O f0 O O
O O L

a " a " a N   .    
47G N N N     .-- i  p p

L

3
a,,     oC u u u     .-    

V IL
a z s

S
W        {

A      aJ

z o

A '-  ' +-
C

A
0 + + +      cn

O
L U U U        U     

f0 f0     

v
L

p aaaa C        2

Q N Ol N 01

3

O        
M N M N

O

J N                   w     

vai           
3

N             in J       _ 
L

L  `  
a  a  a     3

rn c c c o0 0
L     s    

o
a  ,   ,   ,          

J                    
a  a

a--+ J .+-+ J

7" I 1" I 7"' I              
L O C  C

U              N          r
N

O • O

U     +s+           
N

v E L a -v a
a               L      a Q   Q 

i      ii ii i       °' cn c H
M M E E

c 1 y N  ' in n
ra ro 3
c c U

cn N -
a cn        f t

C C   
V

u  ;, L v y z
u- ii            Gl c

N    C .,    0     
z     

f0 "    C   i i
C     

L (
Q   -  m m J d C L J

0    ;  1     a-+ a-+    Q n Q

f0 0  (6 fd .  O O O O O
cn    incn W           H

289



ATTACHMENT

r

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM LATHROP COMMUNITY
VOLUNTEER CLUB FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 757

WHEREAS, Lathrop Community Volunteer Club has requested the use of City
Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community, that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lathrop Community Volunteer Club to the City of Lathrop.
The City Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for
the use of City Facilities in the amount of $ 757.

290



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

291



ATTACHMENT

y000 0 0       

v000
L ln I. 1 O rl I I      
a co 00     M     

N
f

3

O O O

fptnll 0 L

N

i 

V  =     a
mmm
mmm

G7o va        3
1•   v  - a a

o00
Qna

O        O   a'     
yj pC

L L L Q L

3 a ,.      a     _

O   Nrn
s   

N       .--
I ,-- I .-- I

M N

N       t%       

L
G J  *,     GC

0  
0   Q a

V       o 
L L L J

oc        Vo
Q V s      

o

N N N
N

p L
V       Q Q a

i       
Q  

0 U

d       E ( n (n ( n I-     

J     
o

v     '   o o'

c.,      m

L n

Q V U Q

a i OQ cn o
a

o
m

J
J

C Q
j >  > o O N O

LL > > ( 1')     H W LL H

292



ATTACHMENT

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM LATHROP LIONS CLUB

FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 9, 499

WHEREAS, Lathrop Lions Club has requested the use of City Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community,  that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lathrop Lions Club to the City of Lathrop. The City Council
of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for the use of City
Facilities in the amount of $ 9, 499.

293



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t" day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

294



ATTACHMEiVT

O O O O N N N N
V O O O O N o 

a N 00 QO
o0 c i o M 01

M N N
Q N N     i .--i

L

G7

O O O O N Q

f0 000        3 MN
Q Na0C0

M N N

d- ,- ,-- i
I L     ;.+

U
i i      

o 3

V  ` v o
A vi             Q          ''

o ccQ U
L

O
F LC    a  L

J       a m m  m` 

N

O
O

L

N N '-    a 

i   J    

s   o M  y..    
1   00 M N Ln N O O 3 C

N       O  'J
a       ,- o; oo  N Qu

N . ,-     .    N     *, I a

c   o  M ,     VN          
L

V

G  
L

LL C

O

L         

U

O O Q
U L L         V
L m [ - a a+ J

U C O O  > LL       H

LL n       ( 1') (!')  W

295



ATTACHMENT

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM LATHROP SUNRISE
ROTARY FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 772

WHEREAS,  Lathrop Sunrise Rotary has requested the use of City Facilities;
and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efForts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community,  that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lathrop Sunrise Rotary to the City of Lathrop. The City
Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for the use
of City Facilities in the amount of $ 772.

296



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

297



ATTACHMENT

V p         N M      

a          MrnM n
n         

3 1

Q N M

p N O

M N

Ln

u

a     a

d  '  c a.+

p C

o
v

rn
O

a.+ V 1       ' G

o,   Q vi
3 O ,    

0  
GC

a       
L F-     _

H w

O
N

J   
L a'd

ON
a-.+

J

L rn o
S   

p  ry

rZ N       
Q  

J
o      VN          

L
U 0

IJ C
O

c
L

U
C

U U
L

J
J

O

C v O O
LL (!')     H LLJ H

298



ATTACHMENT

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM ALCOHOLICS

ANONYMOUS FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 5, 331

WHEREAS, Alcoholics Anonymous has requested the use of City Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community, that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Alcoholics Anonymous to the City of Lathrop. The City
Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for the use
of City Facilities in the amount of $ 5, 331.

299



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t'' day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

300



ATTACHMENT

G7 p p N  Q     p Y.
V O

a       M ° ^     n
O N N

M

M
M N N     

0    fl-
H

7

N 01

Q     M N
L

u
a s

u-  
a'   N

o             3      , o

0 ui             4-       oC
i      

i
p G. Q v

2
O
v

a

O  
a    s  
V o      ,      

N A
a,,

4  
s 3

Oo
V

a

a    Vo o
N

L O

W       Q U
fC      1     +     

0     H
O

3
u

o
o V

y

N

O
Q
L

J
Q J

fQ       Q
IL      H W H

301



ATTACHMENT

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM NEW LATHROP

NEIGHBORHOOD WATCH FOR USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 119

WHEREAS, Lathrop New Neighborhood Watch has requested the use of City
Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community,  that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lathrop New Neighborhood Watch to the City of Lathrop.
The City Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for
the use of City Facilities in the amount of $ 119.

302



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

303



ATfACHMENT

N O p N N N
O

a` o    .      i

r r

p 1 N M

O N 

fC tn
Q   

M N

J      L     

3
a

V   
3

a           a     

v     0 n.   pG

L

a m 0     =

O  
Q

O Ec
L y       

0 OC
i' H
s 

s o
o     

N
J a

Vl

W        3
Z c

o

3 3          N      Q
a V o     ,

Z U G M L H

L

C

a-.+  

a

E

a V
a  

c
a  

U

c
0

J

N a C Q

LL C7       W

304



ATfACHMENT

f Y\   -

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM MITRA USA USE OF

CITY FACILITIES TOTALING $ 3, 510

WHEREAS, Mitra USA has requested the use of City Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community,  that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Mitra USA to the City of Lathrop. The City Council of the
City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving facility fees for the use of City Facilities
in the amount of $ 3, 510.

305



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t'' day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

306



pTi'ACHMENT

0 O c lpp0 O
U   .     

tfl M       L O
a      .- 1 c' M     

N i ,-i      
N        

i

fC N Ol

Q     M N

0      N

LL         r      i

o 3

y  ''
w

L

Q    
0 p

u    Q

a          GC

CC a       O H     =
s 

L  
J N d fQ

a.+

N Jcn
L

a-- 
C

A d"      O    
cn

C L
Q

O

ro

fC a.+ , O Q 
fC U N     =     

oo Vo     u
N

U L

y

c
o

U
O
O fp

m V
J

J

a C Q

cn         W O

307



ATTACHMENT

i  -

RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A FACILITY FEE WAIVER REQUEST FROM LIFT YOUR HEAD UP

THERAPEUTIC GROUP HOMES,  INC.  USE OF CITY FACILITIES TOTALING

734

WHEREAS, Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc. has requested
the use of City Facilities; and

WHEREAS, promoting community values through cost reduction to promote
public benefit activities of a service club and the requests from local non- profit
organizations whose efforts continue to give back to the residents of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, the Parks & Recreation Commission voted at their November 2,

2023, meeting to recommend City Council approval of the requested fee waiver; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this request provides a public benefit to
the community, that the amount of the request is de minimis in nature and not

subsidized from other facility fees.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the Council finds direct public
benefit will be provided by Lift Your Head Up Therapeutic Group Homes, Inc. to the
City of Lathrop. The City Council of the City of Lathrop does hereby authorize waiving
facility fees for the use of City Facilities in the amount of $ 734.

308



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarr ity Attorney

309



Al? ACHMENT

P

O N N

U          Jf
N  

1A 1A

L      00 M .-      M

a          N N     ^

V Q

H
N 0 1

Yl      Q    M N

u     }+ u'     *+

O           

V   
a

o J
u

A       . a '""' 

Q
u

i            CG
L L

aU i'       _

Z
N d fC̀

a.+

cv Jcn v
L

J

o
c

a      o N     °—, 
a  

oN Vo     I     u
N

L V L

LL

O
L

J c u
a   
U

V
L

Q a

LL ( n         W

310



311



ITEM 4. 10

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       APPROVE PURCHASE OF TWO NEW POLICE

VEHICLES,  APPROVAL OF CHANGE ORDER NO.  4

WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt a Resolution Approving the Purchase of Two
2023 Police Chevrolet Tahoes from American

Chevrolet of Modesto, Approving Change Order No. 4
with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the Purchase and
Installation of Police Vehicle Equipment

SUMMARY:

The City of Lathrop Police Department operates and maintains a fleet of vehicles,
which includes Chevrolet Tahoes.  Due to the growth of the Department two new
Chevrolet Tahoes are needed.

Pursuant to the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC) section 2. 36. 050, staff reached out to
multiple dealerships to obtain quotes for two black Chevrolet Tahoes.  American

Chevrolet of Modesto has two black Tahoes in their inventory that are available for
purchase for a total price of $ 156, 596. Both Winner Chevrolet and Steve' s Chevrolet
of Oakdale did not have any black Tahoes in their inventory.  Future Chevrolet of

Sacramento had one black Tahoe in their inventory, but it is priced higher than the
Tahoes from American Chevrolet of Modesto. Dealerships can order black Chevrolet

Tahoes through the factory with an estimated time of arrival ranging between 5- 6
months, which is not ideal, as the vehicles are needed now for current operations.

In addition, the new police vehicles will need to be outfitted with police equipment to
match the approved specifications of the City of Lathrop Police Department fleet. The
City currently has a professional service agreement pursuant to LMC 2. 36. 140 with
NextGen Alpha Upfitting to purchase and install police equipment for the City of
Lathrop Police Department. Change Order No. 4 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the
upfitting of the two Tahoes will be for a not- to- exceed amount of $ 11, 510. Total cost

for both vehicles are detailed below:

NextGen Alpha

Vehicle Cost U fittin Cost Total Cost

2 2023 Chevrolet Tahoe       $ 156, 596 11, 510 168, 106

312



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE PURCHASE OF TWO NEW POLICE VEHICLES, APPROVAL OF
CHANGE ORDER NO. 4 WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING

Staff recommends Council approves the purchase of two 2023 Chevrolet Tahoes with
American Chevrolet of Modesto for $ 156, 596,  approve Change Order No.  4 with

NextGen Alpha Upfitting in an amount not- to- exceed $ 11, 510 for the purchase and
installation of police equipment.  Sufficient funds are available within the approved
Police Department biennial budget for Fiscal Year 2022/ 23 and Fiscal Year 2023/ 24.

BACKGROUND:

Due to the growth of the City of Lathrop Police Department and its operations,

additional fleet vehicles are needed to both equip new hires and replace existing
vehicles that are being reassigned to other department staff. The City of Lathrop
Police Department currently has black Chevrolet Tahoes in their inventory.  Staff

reached out to multiple dealerships to obtain quotes. Winner Chevrolet, who has the
contract with the State Office for Procurement Department of General Services for

Chevrolet, did not have any black Tahoes in their inventory and was unable to submit
a quote. Furthermore, ordering the vehicles would take a minimum of 5- 6 months.

Steve' s Chevrolet of Oakdale was also unable to submit a quote due to not having
any black Tahoes in their inventory. American Chevrolet of Modesto has two available
black Tahoes in their inventory with a cost of $ 78, 317 and $ 78, 279. Future Chevrolet

of Sacramento had one black Tahoe in their inventory with a cost of $ 84, 326.

American Chevrolet of Modesto has two vehicles in their inventory and is the lowest
bidder.

The new police vehicles will need to be outfitted with police equipment. The City has
a current agreement with NextGen Alpha Upfitting to purchase and install the
equipment. A Change Order will need to be approved for NextGen Alpha Upfitting to
outfit these new vehicles.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff is recommending Council approve the purchase of two Chevrolet Tahoes,
approve Change Order No.  4 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the purchase and
installation of police equipment and approve related budget amendments which are

needed for the City of Lathrop Police Department staff to continue to perform Citywide
police operations.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Sufficient funds are available within the approved Police Department biennial budget
for Fiscal Year 2022/ 23 and Fiscal Year 2023/ 24. The funds for the additional Police
Department vehicle purchase will be expended from account 1010- 40- 30- 450- 30- 00
and will become part of the City' s capital assets for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24.

313



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE PURCHASE OF TWO NEW POLICE VEHICLES, APPROVAL OF

CHANGE ORDER NO. 4 WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.  Resolution Approving the Purchase of Two ( 2) 2023 Police Chevrolet Tahoes

from American Chevrolet of Modesto, Change Order No. 4 with NextGen Alpha

Upfitting for the Purchase and Installation of Police Vehicle Equipment, and

Approving Related Budget Amendment
B.  Quote 1 - 2023 Chevrolet Tahoe with American Chevrolet of Modesto
C.  Quote 2 - 2023 Chevrolet Tahoe with American Chevrolet of Modesto
D.  Quote 3 - 2023 Chevrolet Tahoe with Future Chevrolet of Sacramento
E.  Estimate - 2023 NextGen Alpha Upfitting

314



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE PURCHASE OF TWO NEW POLICE VEHICLES, APPROVAL OF

CHANGE ORDER NO. 4 WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING, AND APPROVAL

OF RELATED BUDGET AMENDMENT

APPROVALS:

11,  i .  

Todd Sebastian Date

Director of Parks, Recreation, and

Fleet Services

r G. 3
Cari Ja es Date

Direct of Finance

il / 2oa 3

Thomas Hedegard Date

Deputy City Manager

1- - zoz3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

I'" 23
St J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

315



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF TWO 2023 CHEVROLET TAHOES FROM
AMERICAN CHEVROLET OF MODESTO, APPROVING CHANGE ORDER NO.  4

WITH NEXTGEN ALPHA UPFITTING FOR THE PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION
OF POLICE VEHICLE EQUIPMENT

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Police Department operates and maintains a
fleet of vehicles which includes black Chevrolet Tahoes; and

WHEREAS, due to the growth of the City and its operations, additional police
fleet vehicles are needed to perform essential Citywide operations; equip new hires
and replace existing vehicles that are being re- assigned to other staff; and

WHEREAS, staff requested multiple quotes from four dealerships; and

WHEREAS, two dealerships were able to provide quotes and two dealerships
were unable to provide quotes due to not having any black Chevrolet Tahoes in
their inventory; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with LMC sections 2. 36. 050( D) and 2. 36. 110( B),

the pricing provided by American Chevrolet of Modesto was the lowest of the quotes
received; and

WHEREAS, the new vehicles will need to be outfitted with police equipment
and painted to match the approved specifications of the City of Lathrop Police
Department fleet; and

WHEREAS, the City currently has a Professional Service Agreement pursuant
to LMC 2. 36. 050 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the purchase and installation of
police equipment; and

WHEREAS, Change Order No. 4 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for the two
vehicles is for a not- to- exceed amount of $ 11, 510; and

WHEREAS, staff is requesting Council approve the purchase of the following
vehicles:

Next Gen

Department
Vehicle Vehicle

Alpha
Total

Description Cost
U fittin Cost

Cost

Police Department
2 2 23

156, 596 11, 510 168, 106
Chevrolet Tahoe

316



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City Council of the City of Lathrop does
hereby approve the purchase of two Chevrolet Tahoes with American Chevrolet of
Modesto for $ 156, 596, approve Change Order No. 4 with NextGen Alpha Upfitting for
a not- to- exceed amount of  $ 11, 510 for the purchase and installation of police
equipment.  The funds for the additional Police Department vehicle purchase will be
expended from account 1010- 40- 30- 450- 30- 00 and will become part of the City' s
capital assets for Fiscal Year 2023/ 24.

The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t'' day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

317



ATTACHMEN7

a    _

Ak" 3
rY         

k  s      . a—   a

r...... J.:.   .....•;       .,.. 4'      ,,.       .::.       :..      :.       
d T'^ y.r T`. X''   

AMERICAN CHEVROLET

4742 MCNENRY AVE

MODESTO, CA 95356

Phone: 209- 575- 1606

Fax: 209- 499- 7825

r._: __.. x,_ ....,.     

Model Year: 2023
Event Code. 3400- Order Broacicast( Interna!
Piant Order Producedj

Make: Chevrofet
Order#: CXXD1S

Model: Tahoe
MSRP: $ 71, 540. 00

CK107a6- 4WD

PEG: 2Z7- Z71 Preferred Equipment Group Order Type: TRE- Retail Stock
Primary Cotor: GBA- Btack Stock#: N/ A
Trim: HOY- 1LT/ 1SP/ 2LT/ 2Z7- eather, Jet Black, Interior Inventory Status: AvailableTrim

Engine: L84-Engine: 5. 3L. EcoTec3 V-8, Dt, Dynamic Fue!
Mgt, VVT

Transmission: MHS- 90- Speed Automatic

Additional Vehicle lnformation

GM.Marketin Information

1c i`,` i in    `  t

r.     ...,,,, Y   . 

318



Alf t Ptions

2Z7- Z71 Preferred Equipment Group A2X- Power Seat Adjuster{ priver' s Side)
A45- Memary Settings, recalEs presets for A50-Seats: Front, Bucket, Full Feafuredrfver pwr seat
AS8- Seat, 3rd row fi0/ 40 Bench, power ATH- Keyless Open 8 Keyless Start
ATN- Seat, 2nd row Bucket, power retease B30- Floor Covering; Carpet, Cotor Keyed
B58- Floor Mats, color- keyed, carpeted 1st and BTV-Remote Engine Starting Pkg2nd row

BYZ Assist Steps, none

C3U- Sunroaf, Panoramic, power sliding wlpwr
sunshade

C6H- GVW Rating 7500 Lbs
CJ2- Climate Controi, Electronic- Multi- zone

DCH- Center Flaor Console, Power Sliding DD8- tSRV Mirror, Electro-chromaticw/drawer8 storage

DXR- Mirror, Outside, Power, Heated, Auto- GBA-Biack
Dimming wlTurn ind
GUS- Rear Axle: 3. 23 Ratio

NOY- 1 LT/ 1 SPl2 T/2Z7- Leather, Jef Black,
Interior Trim

IOK- Chevrolet( nfotainment, Enhanced JHD- Hill Descent Control
connectivity 2.0
JL9- lntegrated Trailer Brake Controller K34- Cruise Control
KA1- Heated Seats, Front

KA6• Heafed Seats: 2nd Row
KC4- Cooler, Engine Oil

Kl3- Heated Sfeering Whee!
Ki4- 120 Volt Electricat Receptacle, In Cab KNP- Transmission Cooting Sysfem
KW5- Alternator, 220 AMP

L84- Engine: 5.3L, EcoTec3 V-8, DI, Dynamic
Fuel Mgt, V V T

MHS- 90- Speed Automatic
N38-Steering Column, Power Tilt&
Telescoping

NHT- Max Trailering Package
NQH- Transfer Case: Active, 2- Speed, Autotrac,
Rotary Dial

NZU- Wheels, 20" x 9" Aluminum
PRF- 3 Years of Onstar Remote Access

PZ8- Hitch Guidance wi3h FEitch View and image QAE-Tires; 275160 R20 At! Terrain, BfackwaliAdjustment

RC1- Skid Plate
RVS- LPO- Assist Steps, 4" Round, Tubular,
Black

S31- LPO- 1lluminatect mirror Chevrolet Emblem T8Z-Buckle- To- Drive
TC2- Liftgate, Rear, power TQS- Headtamps, Intetfibeam
U2K- SiriusXM Satellite Radio( subscription)       UD5- Parking Assist, ront& Rear Sensors
UDV- DlSPLAY INSTRUMENT DRIVER INFO UE1- OnStar Communication SystemENHANCED, FULL CLUSTER( MULTE G LOft
GR APHFC)

UE4- Following Distance Indicator UET- lf bfCATOR SMART7RAILER
11VTEGRATIQI t

UEU- Sensor, Forvvard Coffision Afert
UFG- Sensor, Rear Cross Traffic Alert

UGA- Red Recovery Hooks
UHX- Lane Keep AssisUpeparture WarningUHY- Automatic Emergency 8raking UK3- Radio Contro[ s Steering Wheel

UKC- Lane Change Alert with Side Btind Zone UKJ- Sensor, Front Pedestrian BrakingAlert

UKK- Sensor, pedestrian Detection USR- USB Data ports, 2 within center consote
UTJ- Theft Protection System, tlnauthorized UV2- Surround Vision, HD
Enfiry
V03- Cooting system, extra capacity V54- Luggage Rack, side rails, painted
VK3- Front License Plate Mounting Provisions WPp- Driver Alert Package
WPL- Luxury Package

WUA- Fascia, Front, custom
YF5- California Emissions YM8- LPO Processing Option
Z82- Trailering Package

ZL6-Advanced Trailering Package
ZW7-Suspension Package, Premium Smoath
Ride

indicates vehicle beiongs to Trading Partner' s inventory
Disciaimer:

319



OCT 12,  2023 F& I  -  DEAL WORKSHEET Store 01 FANDI01 596/ 9323 4770

1 DEAL  # 152049 11 TRADE  # 1 19 DOC FEE 85 . 00
2 DEAL DATE 10/ 12/ 2023 12 PAYOFF  # 1 20 WARR PREM O . QO
3 STOCK  #  T231359 5 13 DEPpSIT 21 MAINT PREM 0 . 00

14 CASH DOWN 22 GAP PREM
4 PRICE 71540 . 00 15 REBATE 0 . 00
5 LIFETIME B 0 . 00 TOTAL DOWN 0 . 00 23 MSRP 71540 . 00

TOTAL AFTMKT 269 . 00 24 BALLOON 0 . 00
16 REGISTERED STATE CA ADJ BALLOON 0 . 00

6 TERM 1 17 COUNTY CODE
7 RATE 0 1$  COUNTX RATE 8 . 875 AMT FINANCED 78316 . 34
8 DAXS 30 GpVT FEES 41 . 75
9 PAX/ YEAR 12 TAXES 6380 . 59

10 PYMT DATE 11 11/ 2023 RO/ PO  # 1 INg :

RO/ PO  # 2 MEMO# 1
STATUS S RO/ PO  # 3 MEMO# 2

LINE#) { M= MODIFY) (?= CMD LIST)
SHIFT F1= FKEYS BANK= CASH DEAL MONTHLX PYMT  ( 0} 78316 . 34

320



ATTACHMENT

C.  _

1

x
Y      ; 

J y  ..   
r

r       ..:-      .:.

z: r>      : s> 4      ..  .;
AMERICAN CHEVROLET

4742 MCHENftY AVE

MODESTO, CA 95356

Phone: 209- 575-'[ 606

Fax: 2Q9-091- 7825

t    

z    {
Y::    ....•...:.   .<...."....

h`",{, f,-:  ..x Y       ..
L t 13'

f    -,',',
f f_'n

m   . .
YuY''.. .:: 1Model Year: 2Q23

Event Code. 3400- Order Broadcast( Int rnal
Pfant Order Produced)

Make: Chevrolet
arder#: CZCTOB

Model: Tahoe
MSRP: $ 7' I, 5Q5. 00

CK10706- 4W

PEG: 1SP- RST Preferred Equipment Group Order Type: TRE- Retaif Stock
Primary Cotor: GBA- B1ack

Stock#: NIA
Trim; HVA- Leather, Jet BlackNictory Red{ nterior Trim Inventory Status: Available
Engine: L84- Engine: 5.3L, Eco7ec3 V-$, DI, Dynamic Fuel
Mgt, VVT

Transmission: MHS- 1d- Speed Automatic

Addifional Vehicle lnformation

GM Marketin Information

5"'
r    .,_.  

i >       L.; x     ,, z ,,

Y   '.>':.... .

321



All Options

1SP- RST Preferred Equipment Group A2X- Power Seat Adjuster( Dri er's Side)
A45- Memory SettEngs, recaits presets for A50- Seats: Front, Bucket, Fut! Feature
driver pwr seat
AS8- Seat, 3rd row 60140 Bench, power ATH- Keyless Open 8 Keytess Start
ATN- Seat, 2nd row Bucket, power release 830- Flaor Covering: Carpet, Color Keyed
B58- Floor Mats, coior-keyed, carpeted 9st and 8TV- Remote Engine Starting Pkg2nd row

BVE- Assist Steps, Black C6H- GVW Rating 7500 Lbs
CJ2- Climate Control, Electronic- Multi- zone CH- Center Floor Console, Power Sliding

w/drawer& storage
DD8- fSRV Mirror, Etectro- chromatic DXf2- Mirror, Outside, Power, Heated, Au#o-

dimming wlTurn ind
GBA- Black GU5- Rear Axle: 3. 23 Fiatio
FIVA- Leather, Jet BlackNictory RecE Interior I K- Chevrotet In#otainment, Enhanced

r m
connectivity 2. 0

JL1- Integrated Trailer Brafce GontroE[ er KA1- Heated Seafs, Front
KA6- Heated Seats: 2nd Row KC4- Cooler, Engine Oif
Kl3- Heated Steering Wheel K14- 120 Volt Electrical Receptacle, In Cab
KNP Transmission Cool' sng System KSG-Adaptive Cruise Control
KWS- Alternator, 220 AMP L84- Engine: 5. 3L, EcoTec3 V-8, pl, Dynamic

Fuel Mgt, V V T
MWS- 10- Speed Automatic N38- Steering Golumn, Power Tilt&

Telescoping
NHT- Max Trailering Package NQH-Transfer Case: Active, 2-Speed, Autotrac,

Rofary DiaE
PRF- 3 Years of Onstar Remote Access PZS- Hitch Guidance with Hitch View and Image

Adjustment
SGF- Wheels: 22" 8right machined, High gtoss,   T8Z- Buckle- To-[ lrive
Black painted
fC2- Liftgate, Rear, power TQ5-Headlamps, Intellibeam
U2K- SiriusXM Satellite Radio( subscription)       U 5- Parking Assist, Front 8 Rear Sensors
UDV- DlSPLAY fNSTRUMENT DRIVER WFO UE1- OnStar Communication System
ENWANCED, FULL C[. USTER( MULTI COLOR
GR APHiC}

UE4- Pollowing Distance Indicator UET- IND[CATOR SMART TRAILER
INTEGRATION

UEU- Sensor, Forward Collision Alert UFG- Sensor, Rear Cross' Eraffic Alert
UGN- Enhanced Automatic Emergency Braking UHX- Lane Keep AssisUDeparture Warning
UK3- Radio Controls- Steering Whee[       UKC- Lane Change Alert with 5ide Blind Zone

Alert

UKJ- Sensor, Front Pedestrian Braking UKK-Sensor, Pedestrian Detectian
USR- USB Data ports, 2 within center consote UTJ- Theft Protection System, Unauthorized

Entry
UV2- Surround Vision, HD VU3-Cooling system, extra capacity
V54- Luggage Rack, side rai( s, painted VK3- Front License Plate Mounting Provisions
WPD- Driver Alert Package WPL- Luxury Package
XCG- 7ires, 22in P275/ 5QR22, All- Season,  YF5- Califo nia Emissions
Blackwafl

Z82- Trailering Package ZL6- Advanced Trailering Package
ZW7- 5uspension Package, Premium Smooth
2ide

indicates vehicle belongs to Trading Partner's inventory
Disclaimer:

i i It fo,r̀mat Six.? f t̀'Vr t̀l2c i t thig$ umrpa,ty accurate:: Please fefAr to actual veh l- i' i,'`       p  'il[ t1 ny: sales or¢ diicy i3justments in the case of inaceurate pricmg inforrha t̀iti" nf rs'. .    1*   `

322



OCT 12,   2023 F& I  -  DEAL WORKSHEET Store 01 FANDI01 596/ 9323 4770

1 DEAL  # 152048 11 TRADE  # 1 9 AOC FEE 85 . 00
2 DEAL DATE 10/ 12/ 2023 I2 PAYOFF  # 1 20 WARR PREM 0 . 00
3 STOCK  #  T231359 5 13 DEPOSIT 21 MAINT PREM 0 . 00

14 CASH DOWN 22 GAP PREM
4 PRICE 71505 . 00 15 REBATE 0 . 00

5 LIFETIME B 0 . 00 TOTAL DOWN 0 . 00 23 MSRP 71545 . 00
TOTAL AFTMKT 269 . 00 24 BALLOON 0 _ 00

16 REGISTERED STATE CA ABJ BALLOON 0 . 00
6 TERM 1 17 COUNTY CODE       '
7 RATE 0 18 COIINTY RATE 8 . 875 AMT FINANCED 78278 . 24
8 DAYS 30 GOVT FEES 41 . 75

9 PAY/ YEAR 12 TAXES 6377 . 49

10 PYMT DATE 11/ 11/ 2023 RO/ PO  # 1 INS :

RO/ PO  # 2 MEMO# 1
STATUS S RO/ PO  # 3 MEMO# 2

LINE#) ( M= MObTFY) (?- CMD LIST)

SHIFT F1= FKEXS BANK= CASH DEAL MpNTHLY PYMT  ( 0) 78278 . 24

323



TfACHMENT

CH EVRO LET OF SACRANIEMO

Date:     10113/ 23

I Invalce: PS105578

Sold to:     LATHROP POLICE DEPARTMEtVT

4811 MADISON AVE Address 309 Towne Center Drive

Sacramento, CA 95841 LATHROP, CA 95330

ATTN: Commander Oki

Dennis McQermiUGoverment Fleet Sales Ship to:     Same as Above

916- 394- 9612 Address

Year Make Model New/ Used

Please pay from this
2023 CHEV TAHQE LT New invoice. No statemenC will

be rendered.   

Pa ment due W/ I 20 da s
Stock#  Vin#       R/ S Ke Code Amount$

C43150 1GNSKPKDXPR517914 N/ A XX 77, 4 5. Od

INCLUDES$ 3900 DISCOUNT

FOR CITY OF LATHROP

DELIVERY INCLUDED

OMV 118. 40

TAXES 8. 75%     6, 782. 00

SUBTOTAL

i

i

Received by:

Date recv d:

7otal Due      _ 584, Y5. 13

i
IYTYRf fORO fUTYA N/ flAN tf1YRI CNIYeOt[!  fItTYR/ lOfO IYTNff FORO l 1TYl; RORO
i,•=,•.,oi L.: e t::.  . :.: r ._.-   nxr:. fYTYf Kla d5  .  . : i n-: 1 7. n,scv a-. e

a .     ...

r

t q• C.....  ee    .  .-      e.. tc -..  ` r!_  r, T,P.., ,^_ p.;+•;
i   .,:: r:.?_      c b'  .       

t...: 1.\'      S 3.. SUC
i<  ;., . i r•"     

1h 3 3» ' L"3J: ._      r;.:_.., ... 5u'_   C.:.; C:. ' v-_ t'.

www, futureouiamotivegroup. com

324



r  •

Fs' .      
Deeler lyda' riatbn

FUTU tE CHEVROLET

4811 MADISON

SACRAMENTO, CA 95841

Phone: 916.' i31- 6777

Fax: 916 32- 9719

tGI3SKPKbXPRS17914

Model Year: 20Z3 Event Code: 5000- Delivered to Deale

Make: Chevrolet Order f: CWTQ98

Model: Tahoe

4WD- CK107b6

PEG: Z71 Preferced Equipment Group- 2Z7 OMe Type: TRE- Retail Stock

Primary Cobr 81ack- GSA Stock#: C431S0

Trim: 1LTHSP/ 2LT/ 2Z7- teathar, JstBlack, InteriorTrim- Inventory Status: Available
HOY

Englna: Englne: 5,3L, EcoTec3 V-S, DI, Dynamic Fuel Mgt,
V V T- LB4

Transmission: 10Speed AutomatiCaY1HS

AddiUonal Vehicle Information

i GM Marketln tnformaUon

Vehide O s

i Chargeable Opdons MSRP

Cenber Floor Cor.sole,Power Sliding 5350. Q0
wldrawar8storage- 0GH

Chevy Bow Tie, lNuminated Black- LPO- R88 S52S. 00

LPO- Performanee Brake Upgrade KIt. SJL 53,495. 00

Luxury Package- WPL 2, 525. 00

Max Trailering Package- NHT s465. 00

Seat, 2nd row Bucket, power releaae, A7N S37Q. 00

Sunroof, Panoramic, powar slidiog wlpwr 51, 500. 00
sunshade-C3U

No Cost Optlons

10- Speed Automatic- MHS

California Emisslons- YFS

iEngine:5. 3L, EcoTecS V, DI, Dynamic Fusl Mgt, V V T- L84

I

I

325



c] ther Options

120 Volt Electrical Receptacle, In Cab- KI4 1LT11SP/ 2LT/ 2Z7- Leather, Jet Black, Inte ior
Trim- HOY

3 Years of Onstar Remote Access- PRF Advanced Trailering Package ZL6
Alternator, 220 AMP- KW5 Assist Steps, none- 8VZ

Automatic Emergency Braking- UHY Black- GBA

Buckle-To- Drive- T8Z Chevroiet Infotainment, Enhanced connectivity
2. 0- IOK

Climate Control, Electronic- Multi- zone-CJ2 Cooler, Engine Oil- KC4

Coaling system, extra capacity- V03 Cruise Control- K34

DISPLAY INSTRUMENT DRIVER INFO briver Alert Package- WPD
ENHANCED, FULL CLUSTER{ MULTI COLOR
GR APHIC)- UDV

Fascia, Front, custom-WUA Floor Covering: Carpet, Color Keyed- 63Q
Fioor Mats, color- keyed, carpeted 1st and 2nd Following Distance Indicator- UE4
row-658

Front License Plate Mounting Provisions- VK3 GVYV Rating 7500 Lbs- C6H
Headlamps, Intellibeam- TQ5 Heated Seats, Front-KA1

Heated Seats: 2nd Row- KAfi Heated Steering Whee!- KI3
Hill Qescent Control lHD Hitch Guidance with Hitch View and{ mage

Adjustment- PZ8

INDICATOR SMART TRAILER IN7EGRATION-     ISRV Mirror, Electro- ahromatic- 0DS
UET

Integrated Trailer Srake Controller JL1 Keyless Open& Keyless Start- ATH

lP0- Assist Steps, 4" Round, Tubular, Biack-    LPO Processing Option- YM8
RVS

Lane Change Alert with Side Blind Zone Alert-    Lane Keep AssisUDeparture Warning- UHX
UKC

Liftgate, Rear, power- TC2 Luggage Rack, side rails, painted-V54
Memory Settings, recalls presets for driver pwr Mirror, Outside, Power, Heated, Auto- bimming
seat-A45 wlTurn ind- DXR

OnStar Communication System- UE1 Paint Protector Film for Shipping- VGC
Parking Assist, Front& Rear Sensors- UDS Power Seat Adjuster( Driver' s Side)- A2X
Rad':o Controls- Steering Wheel- UK3 Rear Axle: 3. 23 Ratio- GUS

Red Recovery Flooks- UGA Remote EngEne Starting Pkg- BN
Seat, 3cd row 60140 Benah, power- AS8 Seats: Front, Bucket, Full Feature- A50
Sensor, Forward Collision Alert- UEU Sensor, Front Pedestrian Braking- UKJ
Sensor, Pedestrian Detection- UKK Sensor, Rear Cross Traffic Afert- UFG
SirtusXM Satellite Radio( subscrlptlon)- U2K Skid Plate- RC1

Steering Column, Power Tilt 8 Tetescoping-      Surround Vision, HD- UV2
N38

ZuWs.,pension Package, Premium Smooth Ride-    Theft Protection System, Unauthorized Entry-
UTJ

Tlres: 275/ 60 R20 All Terrain, Blackwall-( AE Trailering Package Z82
Transfer Case: Active, 2- Speed, Autotrac, Transmission Cooling System- KNP
Rotary Dial- NQH
US9 Data ports, 2 within center console-USR Wheels, 20" x 9" Aluminum- NZU

Z71 Preferred Equipment G oup- 2Z7

indicates vehicle belongs to Trading Partner' s inventory

Dlsclaimer:

GM has t ied to make the pricing information provided 3n: this sammary accurate. Please refer to actual vehicle invoice, however, or complete
pncing infomnation: GM will not make any saies or policyadjustrnents in the case of inaccurate. pricing information In this summary.

326



ATTACHMENT

NextGen Alpha Upfitting Estimate
8400 Carbide Ct. Suite A

Sacramento, CA 95828 US

1 9164235052

Sumeet a NextGenAlphaUpfitting. Net

NEXTGENALPHAUPFITTING. NET

AC3 RE 5

Lathrop Pd

940 River Islands Parkway,       

Lathrop CA 95330

STIMA7E#       DATE EKPIRATION C ATE

1479 10/ 30/ 2023 11/ 30/ 2023

iTEM SCt 1PTi0i   Q"";    ; RRT         AM(Jt1NT'=

2022 CHEVY TAHOE LT. UNIT 0. 00

LIGHTING 0. 00

NG ORDER ENFWBOONGELH - FRONT FULL RED/ WHITE &   1 ', 1, 150. 00 ',       1, 150. 00T'

BLUE/ WHITE INTERIOR LIGHTBAR

NG ORDER SOS ENHFWBOOXA REAR SHROUDED INTERIOR 1 '   985. 00 '  985. 00T'

LIGHTBAR RA& BA ENDS

NG ORDER SOS EMPS4STS5RBW mpower HDO 4" Fascia Light w/     '     2 '   148. 55 ':  297. 10Ti

Stud Mount, 18" hard wire w/ sync option, SAE Class 1 &     '

CA Title 13, 9- 32Vdc,  18 LED, Tricolor- Red/ Blue/ White-    '    

GRILL LIGHTS

NG ORDER SOS PMP4BKRKLB MPOWER HD ROCKER BRACKET     '     2 24. 99 49. 98T'

FOR GRILL

SOS ELUC3H010J Universal UnderCover Screw- In LED Insert Single Light Kit,  ;     2 ,    92. 49 :  184. 98T'

9- 32 Vdc w/ 10 5- wire harness: includes insert, Lens# 1       '       

Extreme Angle) & Inline Flasher Dual Color Red/ Blue-       

REAR TAIL LIGHT STROBES I

MD HE- TL1 White Auxiliary Lighting Pod - 1. 5x3 Inch, 3 LED- HATCH    ',     2 '    48. 95 ',   97. 90T,

DOME LIGHT

MD HE- TL1 R RED AUXILIARY LIGHTING POD- 1. 5X3 INCH, 3 LED-     '     1 '    58. 95 58. 95T'

HATCH DOME LIGHT

SOS EMPS2SMS5RBW ', mpower0 4" Fascia Light w/ Screw Mount, 18" hard wire w/  ',     2 ;   148. 55 ; 297. 10T',

sync option, SAE Class 1 & CA Title 13, 9- 32

Vdc, Black Housing, 18 LED, Tricolor- Red/ Blue/White -      '
REAR HATCH WARNING LIGHTS

SIREN 0. 00i

SOS ENGSA582RSP     ' HPP 500 series remote siren with button control, 10- 16v      ',     1 ' 1, 249. 95 1, 249. 95T',

HANDHELD UNIT

SOS ETSS100J 100J Series Composite Speaker w/ Universal Bail Bracket-  '     2 210. 06 420. 12T'

j 100 watt

ACCESSORIES 0. 00'

NG ORDER NG 1120- KLN Chevrolet Tahoe Center Console Safe:      1 ',   395. 00 395. 00T'

327



t M Q uC IPTIC3N G2TY'     RATE ; AMOUNI'

i 2021- 2024

TS0 78815 17 FT RG58 The Laird MB8U vehicle roof mount antenna   '     2 22. 49 '   44. 98T'

installation hardware kit is for Motorola- style mobile

antennas, 0 1000 MHz. This NMO mount is an all brass      ',       

permanent mount for a 3/ 4 in hole. 

NG ORDER LATHROP PD ANTNENNA WHIP RADIO VHF 1 '    29. 99 '   29. 99T'

i NG ORDER JD 425- 3816 MAGNETIC MIC 2 '    44. 95 '   89. 90T',

NG ORDER NG7615 12V SOLENOID TIMER UNIT ADJUSTABLE 1 '   189. 99 I 189. 99T':

NG ORDER 100A WG AUTOMOTIVE 12V CIRCUIT BREAKER 1 34.99 '   34. 99T'

BSS 5026 ST Blade Fuse Block- 12 Circuits with Negative Bus and     ;     1 49. 99 '   49. 99T:

j Cover
NG SHIP IN SHIPPING IN COST FROM VENDOR 1 „   550. 00 ',   550. 00',

NG INSTALATION INSTALLATION OF CUSTOMER SUPPLIED MODEM, 1 ; 1, 650. 00 ,       1, 650. 00T

RADIO, AND GPS UNIT( SUPPLIED)     

NG SHOP SUPPLIES     ' SHOP SUPPLIES- TO INCLUDE VEHICLE UPFIT-   1 '   395. 00 '  395. 00T'

BRACKETS, FUSES, CLAMPS, WIRES, LOOM, MISC

ACCESSORIES I

NG INSTALATION INSTALLATION LABOR CHARGE FOR ABOVE 1 '' 2, 500. 00 '       2, 500. 00T'

EQUIPMENT PER LATHROP POLICE DEPARTMENT       '

SPEC

SU BTOTAL 10, 720. 92

TAX( 7. 75%)  788. 25

TOTAL 11 ,509. 17

Accepted By Accepted Date

328



329



ITEM 4. 11

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       APPROVE PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES

AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN ENGINEERING TO

COMPLETE THE PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENT

PHASE FOR THE ROTH ROAD AND I- 5 INTERCHANGE,

CIP PS 14- 04

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution Approving a Professional

Consulting Services Agreement with Dokken

Engineering to complete the Project Initiation

Document phase for the Roth Road and I-5

Interchange, CIP PS 14- 04

SUMMARY:

The Project Initiation is the first project phase in developing a planning process
toward interchange improvements and approval from the California Department of
Transportation ( Caltrans). During this phase, a Project Initiation Document ( PID) is

prepared to define the scope of work for traffic, environmental, and other technical
studies required to develop the Project Study Report- Project Development Support

PSR- PDS).  The PSR- PDS will review feasible design alternatives and establish

programming documents for an interchange project.

The City requested proposals from consultants to provide professional and technical
planning services to complete the PID phase for the Roth Road and Interstate 5 ( I-

5)   Interchange Capital Improvement Project  ( CIP)   PS 14- 04   ( Project).   After

reviewing and evaluating the three ( 3) proposals received, Dokken Engineering was
selected based on their previous work history,  qualifications,  positive references,

estimated budget, and overall understanding of the project requirements.

Staff is requesting City Council approve a Professional Consulting Services Agreement
with Dokken Engineering in the amount of $ 330, 889 to complete the PID phase for
CIP PS 14- 04.  Sufficient funds have been allocated in the Fiscal Year ( FY)  23- 24

approved budget.

BACKGROUND:

Roth Road is an east- west freight corridor that provides access from I- 5 to State
Route 99 via Airport Way and French Camp Road.  The Roth Road corridor is

surrounded by a mix of land uses ranging from agriculture and rural residential homes
to goods movement related businesses and light industrial uses. It provides access
to the Union Pacific Railroad Lathrop Intermodal Facility ( UPRR Facility), the Sharpe

Facility of Defense Distribution Depot San Joaquin, and several adjacent distribution
facilities.

330



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH

DOKKEN ENGINEERING TO COMPLETE THE PRO7ECT INITIATION

DOCUMENT PHASE FOR ROTH ROAD AND I-5 INTERCHANGE, CIP PS 14- 04

Existing trips from these facilities and future developments in the North Lathrop,
Manteca, UPRR Facility, and San Joaquin County area will generate traffic impacting
the Roth Road and I- 5 interchange. On October 2, 2023, the City issued a Request
for Proposal  ( RFP)  for qualified consultants to provide professional engineering
consulting services to complete the PID phase for the Roth Road and I- 5 Interchange
project.

After reviewing and evaluating the three ( 3) proposals received, Dokken Engineering
was selected based on their previous work history, qualifications, positive references,
estimated budget and overall understanding of the project scope. Staff is requesting
City Council approve a Professional Consulting Services Agreement with Dokken
Engineering in the amount of $ 330, 889 to complete the PID phase for CIP PS 14- 04.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The PID phase is needed to develop initial traffic studies, evaluate interchange design
alternatives, and conduct a preliminary level environmental analysis for the Project.
The PID will enable the collaboration between the City and Caltrans towards the
completion of the PSD- PDS that establishes a well- defined purpose, need statement,
proposed project scope, cost estimate and schedule of the Project.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Sufficient funds have been approved in the adopted FY 2023- 24 budget to fund the

Professional Consulting Services Agreement with Dokken Engineering for a total cost
not to exceed $ 330, 889.

ATTACHMENTS:

A.       Resolution Approving a Professional Consulting Services Agreement with
Dokken Engineering to Complete the Project Initiation Document Phase for
Roth Road and I- 5 Interchange, CIP PS 14- 04

B.       Professional Consulting Services Agreement with Dokken Engineering to
Complete the Project Initiation Document Phase for Roth Road and I- 5

Interchange, CIP PS 14- 04

331



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH

DOKKEN ENGINEERING TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT INITIATION

DOCUMENT PHASE FOR ROTH ROAD AND I- 5 INTERCHANGE, CIP PS 14- 04

APPROVALS:

ll- oz - 2 23

Ange arca Date

Assistant Engineer

I I 6 3

Brad ylor Date

City n i er

i  

Cari Ja s Date

Finance irector

l l- Co - 2 023

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

1• Z-" ZO L

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

l• 7- 23
Step en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

332



RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH

DOKKEN ENGINEERING TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT INITIATION

DOCUMENT PHASE FOR ROTH ROAD AND I- 5 INTERCHANGE, CIP PS 14- 04

WHEREAS, the Project Initiation is the first project phase in developing a
planning process towards interchange improvements and approval from the

California Department of Transportation ( Caltrans); and

WHEREAS,   during this phase,   a Project Initiation Document  ( PID)   is

prepared to scope traffic,  environmental,  and other technical studies required to

develop the Project Study Report- Project Development Support ( PSR- PDS); and

WHEREAS, the PSR- PDS will review feasible design alternatives and develop

programming documents for an interchange project; and

WHEREAS,  the PID will enable the collaboration between the City and
Caltrans towards the completion of the PSD- PDS that establishes a well- defined

purpose,  need statement,  proposed project scope,  cost estimate and schedule of

the Project; and

WHEREAS,   the City requested proposals from consultants to provide

professional and technical planning services to complete the PID phase for the Roth
Road and Interstate 5 ( I- 5) Interchange Capital Improvement Project ( CIP) PS 14-

04 ( Project); and

WHEREAS, after reviewing and evaluating the three ( 3) proposals received,
Dokken Engineering was selected based on their previous work history,

qualifications,  positive references,  estimated budget and overall understanding of
the project requirements; and

WHEREAS, staff is requesting City Council approve a Professional Consulting
Services Agreement with Dokken Engineering in the amount of  $ 330, 889 to

complete the PID phase for CIP PS 14- 04; and

WHEREAS, sufficient funds have been approved in the adopted fiscal year
2023- 24 budget to complete the Professional Consulting Services Agreement and
no fiscal impact is anticipated.

NOW THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby approve a Professional Consulting Services Agreement with
Dokken Engineering to complete the Project Initiation Document  ( PID)  Phase for

Roth Road and I- 5 Interchange, CIP PS 14- 04.

333



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

334



ATTACHMENT

CITY OF LATHROP

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING

TO PROVIDE PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL PLANNING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENT ( PID) FOR ROTH ROAD AND
INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP PS 14- 04

THIS AGREEMENT, dated for convenience this 13t'' day of November 2023, is by and
between DOKKEN ENGINEERING (" CONSULTANT") and the CITY OF LATHROP, a California

municipal corporation (" CITY");

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT is specially trained, experienced, and competent to perform
Professional Engineering Consulting Services, which are required by this agreement; and

WHEREAS, CITY selected the CONSULTANT pursuant to said qualifications; and

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT is willing to render such Professional Engineering Consulting
Services, as hereinafter defined, on the following terms and conditions;

NOW, THEREFORE, CONSULTANT and the CITY agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1)       Scope of Service.

CONSULTANT agrees to perform Professional Consulting Services in accordance with the
scope of work and fee proposal provided by CONSULTANT, attached hereto as Exhibit" A"
and incorporated herein by reference. CONSULTANT represents it is prepared to and can
diligently perform these services in accordance with the upmost standards of its profession
and to CITY'S satisfaction. The fee proposal shall include all reimbursable costs required for
the performance of the Scope of Services.   Payment of additional reimbursable costs

considered to be over and above those inherent in the original Scope of Services shall be

approved of in advance and in writing, by the CITY.

2)      Compensation.

CITY hereby agrees to pay CONSULTANT a sum not to exceed 330 889, for the

Professional Engineering Consulting Services set forth in Exhibit" A". CONSULTANT shall

be paid any uncontested sum due and payable within thirty( 30) days of receipt of billings
containing all information pursuant to Paragraph 5 below. Compensation for any task must
be equal to or less than the percentage of task complete. In no event shall CONSULTANT
be entitled to compensation for work not included in Exhibit " A", unless a written change

order or authorization describing the extra work and payment terms has been executed by
CITY' s authorized representative prior to the commencement of the work. Payment is made
based on a time and materials basis.

Page 1 of 10
335



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN
ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

3)      Effective Date and Term.

The effective date of this Agreement is November 13, 2023 and it shall terminate no
later than June 30, 2025.

4)       Independent Contractor Status

It is understood and agreed by both parties that CONSULTANT, while engaged in carrying
out and complying with any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, is an independent
contractor and not an employee of the CITY. As an independent contractor, CONSULTANT

is responsible for controlling the means and methods to complete the scope of work
described in Exhibit " A" to City' s satisfaction.  CONSULTANT expressly warrants not to

represent, at any time or in any manner, that CONSULTANT is an employee of the CITY.

5)      Billinqs

CONSULTANT' S bills shall include a list of all tasks, a total amount due, the amounts

previously billed, and the net amount due on the invoice.  Except as specifically authorized
by CITY, CONSULTANT shall not bill CITY for duplicate services performed by more than
one person. In no event shall CONSULTANT submit any billing for an amount in excess of
the rates or the maximum amount of compensation provided in section( 2) for either task or
for the entire Agreement, unless modified by a properly executed change order.

6)      Advice and Status Reporting

CONSULTANT shall provide the CITY with timely reports, orally or in writing, of all significant
developments arising during perFormance of its services hereunder, and shall furnish to
CITY such information as is necessary to enable CITY to monitor the performance of this
Agreement.

7)      Assiqnment of Personnel

CONSULTANT shall assign only competent personnel to perform services pursuant to this
Agreement. If CITY asks CONSULTANT to remove a person assigned to the work called for
under this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees to do so immediately, without requiring the

City to process a reason or explanation for its request.

The services shall be performed by, or under the direct supervision, of CONSULTANT' s
Authorized Representative Juann Ramos, CONSULTANT shall not replace its Authorized

Representative without the prior written approval by the CITY.

8)      Assiqnment and Subcontractinq

It is recognized by the parties hereto that a substantial inducement to CITY for entering into
this Agreement was, and is, the professional reputation and competence of CONSULTANT.
Neither this Agreement nor any interest therein may be assigned by CONSULTANT without
the prior written approval of CITY' S authorized representative.  CONSULTANT shall not

subcontract any portion of the performance contemplated and provided for herein, otherthan
the subcontractors noted in the proposal, without prior written approval of the CITY' S
authorized representative.

Page 2 of 10

336



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

9)      Insurance

On or before beginning any of the services or work called for by any term of this Agreement,
CONSULTANT, at its own cost and expense, shall carry, maintain for the duration of the
Agreement, and provide proof thereof that is acceptable to the CITY the insurance specified
in subsections( a) through( c) below with insurers and under forms of insurance satisfactory

in all respects to the CITY. CONSULTANT shall not allow any subcontractor to commence
work on any subcontract until all insurance required of the CONSULTANT has also been
obtained for the subcontractor. Verification of this insurance shall be submitted and made

part of this Agreement prior to execution.

a)      Workers' Compensation.  CONSULTANT shall, at CONSULTANT' S sole

cost and expense, maintain Statutory Workers' Compensation Insurance and
Employer' s Liability Insurance for any and all persons employed directly or
indirectly by CONSULTANT.    Said Statutory Workers'  Compensation
Insurance and Employer' s Liability Insurance shall be provided with limits of
not less than one million dollars. In the alternative, CONSULTANT may rely

on a self- insurance program to meet these requirements provided that the
program of self-insurance complies fully with the provisions of the California
Labor Code. The insurer, if insurance is provided, or the CONSULTANT, if a
program of self- insurance is provided, shall waive all rights of subrogation
against the CITY for loss arising from work performed under this Agreement.

b)       Commercial General and Automobile Liabilitv Insurance. CONSULTANT, at

CONSULTANT' S own cost and expense, shall maintain commercial general
and automobile liability insurance for the period covered by this Agreement in
an amount not less than one million dollars per occurrence, combined single
limit coverage for risks associated with the work contemplated by this
Agreement. If Commercial General Liability Insurance or an Automobile
Liability form or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, either the
general aggregate limit shall apply separately to the work to be performed
under this Agreement or the general aggregate limit shall be at least twice
the required occurrence limit. Such coverage shall include but shall not be

limited to, protection against claims arising from bodily and personal injury,
including death resulting therefrom, and damage to property resulting from
activities contemplated under this Agreement, including the use of owned
and non- owned automobiles.

Coverage shall be at least as broad as Insurance Services Office

Commercial General Liability occurrence form CG 0001 ( ed. 11/ 88) and

Insurance Services Office Automobile Liability form CA 0001 ( ed. 12/ 90)

Code 1 ( any auto).

Each of the following shall be included in the insurance coverage or added
as an endorsement to the policy:

i)       CITY,  its officers, employees, agents, and volunteers are to be

covered as insured with respect to each of the following: liability
arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of CONSULTANT,
including the insider' s general supervision of CONSULTANT;
products and completed operations of CONSULTANT; premises

Page 3 of 10
337



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

owned, occupied or used by CONSULTANT.  The coverage shall

contain no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to
CITY, its officers, employees, agents, or volunteers.

ii)      The insurance shall cover on an occurrence or an accident basis,

and not on a claim made basis.

iii)      An endorsement must state that coverage is primary insurance and
that no other insurance affected by the CITY will be called upon to
contribute to a loss under the coverage.

iv)      Any failure of CONSULTANT to comply with reporting provisions of
the policy shall not affect coverage provided to CITY and its officers,
employees, agents, and volunteers.

v)       Insurance is to be placed with California- admitted insurers with a
BesYs rating of no less than A: VII.

vi)      Notice of cancellation or non- renewal must be received by CITY at
least thirty days prior to such change.

c)       Professional Liability.  CONSULTANT, at CONSULTANT' S own cost and

expense,  shall maintain for the period covered by this Agreement
professional liability insurance for licensed professionals performing work
pursuant to this Agreement in an amount not less than One Million Dollars

1, 000, 000) per claim made and per policy aggregate covering the licensed
professionals' errors and omissions, as follows:

i)       Any deductible or self- insured retention shall not exceed $ 150, 000

per claim.

ii)       Notice of cancellation, material change, or non- renewal must be

received by the CITY at least thirty days prior to such change shall be
included in the coverage or added as an endorsement to the policy.

iii)      The policy must contain a cross liability or severability of interest
clause.

iv)      The following provisions shall apply if the professional liability
coverages are written on a claims made form:

1. The retroactive date of the policy must be shown and must be
before the date of the Agreement.

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance

must be provided for at least five years after completion of the
Agreement or the work, so long as commercially available at
reasonable rates.

Page 4 of 10

338



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN
ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

3. If coverage is canceled or not renewed and it is not replaced

with another claims made policy form with a retroactive date
that precedes the date of this Agreement, CONSULTANT
must provide extended reporting coverage for a minimum of
five years after completion of the Agreement or the work.
The CITY shall have the right to exercise at the

CONSULTANT' S cost, any extended reporting provisions of
the policy should the CONSULTANT cancel or not renew the
coverage.

4. A copy of the claim reporting requirements must be submitted
to the CITY prior to the commencement of any work under
this Agreement.

d)      Deductibles and Self- Insured Retentions. CONSULTANT shall disclose the

self-insured retentions and deductibles before beginning any of the services
or work called for by any term of this Agreement. During the period covered
by this Agreement,  upon express written authorization of the CITY' s

authorized representative, CONSULTANT may increase such deductibles or
self-insured retentions with respect to CITY, its officers, employees, agents,
and volunteers.    The CITY' s authorized representative may condition
approval of an increase in deductible or self- insured retention levels upon a

requirement that CONSULTANT procure a bond guaranteeing payment of
losses and related investigations,  claim administration,  and defense

expenses that is satisfactory in all respects to each of them.

e)      Notice of Reduction in Coveraqe.  In the event that any coverage required
under subsections( a), ( b), or( c) of this section of the Agreement is reduced,

limited, or materially affected in any other manner, CONSULTANT shall
provide written notice to CITY at CONSULTANT' S earliest possible
opportunity and in no case later than five days after CONSULTANT is
notified of the change in coverage.

f)       In addition to any other remedies CITY may have if CONSULTANT fails to
provide or maintain any insurance policies or policy endorsements to the
extent and within the time herein required, CITY may, at its sole option:

i)       Obtain such insurance and deduct and retain the amount of the

premiums for such insurance from any sums due under the
Agreement;

ii)       Order CONSULTANT to stop work under this Agreement or withhold
any payment which becomes due to CONSULTANT hereunder, or
both stop work and withhold any payment, until CONSULTANT
demonstrates compliance with the requirements hereof;

iii)      Terminate this Agreement.

Exercise of any of the above remedies, however, is an alternative to other
remedies CITY may have and is not the exclusive remedy for
CONSULTANT' S breach.

Page 5 of 10

339



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

10)     Indemnification - CONSULTANT' S Responsibility

As to the CONSULTANT' S work hereunder,  it is understood and agreed that  ( a)

CONSULTANT has the professional skills necessary to perform the work, ( b) CITY relies

upon the professional skills of CONSULTANT to perform the work in a skillful and
professional manner, and ( c) CONSULTANT thus agrees to so perform.

Acceptance by CITY of the work performed under this Agreement does not operate as a
release of said CONSULTANT from such professional responsibilityforthe work performed.
It is further understood and agreed that CONSULTANT is apprised of the scope of the work

to be performed under this Agreement and CONSULTANT agrees that said work can and
shall be performed in a fully competent manner in accordance with the standard of care
applicable to CONSULTANT' S profession.

CONSULTANT shall indemnify, defend, and hold CITY, its officers, employees, agents, and
volunteers harmless from and against any and all liability, claims, suits, actions, damages,
and causes of action arising out of any personal injury, bodily injury, loss of life, or damage
to property, or any violation of any federal, state, or municipal law or ordinance, to the extent
caused by the willful misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of CONSULTANT, its
employees, subcontractors, or agents, or on account of the performance or character of this
work, except for any such claim arising out of the negligence or willful misconduct of the
CITY, its officers, employees, agents, or volunteers.  It is understood that the duty of
CONSULTANT to defend shall be governed by Section 2782 of the California Civil Code and
in no event shall the cost to defend charged to CONSULTANT exceed CONSULTANT' s

proportionate share of fault. Acceptance of insurance certificates and endorsements
required under this Agreement does not relieve CONSULTANT from liability under this
indemnification and hold harmless clause. This indemnification and hold harmless clause

shall apply whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to be
applicable to any of such damages or claims for damages.

11)     Licenses

If a license of any kind, which term is intended to include evidence of registration, is required
of CONSULTANT,  its employees, agents, or subcontractors by federal or state law,
CONSULTANT warrants that such license has been obtained, is valid and in good standing,

and CONSULTANT shall keep it in effect at all times during the term of this Agreement, and
that any applicable bond has been posted in accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations.

12)     Business Licenses

CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain a CITY of Lathrop Business License until all
Agreement services are rendered and accepted by the CITY.

13)    Termination

Either CITY or CONSULTANT may cancel this Agreement upon 30 days written notification
to the other party.

Page 6 of 10

340



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

In the event of termination, the CONSULTANT shall be entitled to compensation for services

perFormed to the effective date of termination; provided, however, that the CITY may
condition payment of such compensation upon CONSULTANT'S delivery to the CITY of any
or all documents,  photographs, computer software, video and audio tapes, and other
materials provided to CONSULTANT or prepared by or for CONSULTANT or the CITY in
connection with this Agreement.

14)     Fundinq

CONSULTANT agrees and understands that renewal of this agreement in subsequent years
is contingent upon action by the City Council consistent with the appropriations limits of
Article XIII ( B) of the California Constitution and that the Council may determine not to fund
this agreement in subsequent years.

15)     Notices

All contracts, appointments, approvals, authorizations, claims, demands, Change Orders,

consents, designations, notices, offers, requests and statements given by either party to
the other shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and served upon the other
party if( 1) personally served, ( 2) sent by the United States mail, postage prepaid, ( 3)

sent by private express delivery service, or( 4) in the case of a facsimile transmission, if
sent to the telephone FAX number set forth below during regular business hours of the
receiving party and followed with two ( 2) Days by delivery of a hard copy of the material
sent by facsimile transmission. Personal service shall include, without limitation, service
by delivery and service by facsimile transmission.

To City:       City of Lathrop, City Clerk
390 Towne Centre

Lathrop, CA 95330

Copy to:      City of Lathrop
Department of Public Works

390 Towne Centre

Lathrop, CA 95330
Main: ( 209) 941- 7430 / Fax ( 209) 941- 7449

To Consultant:

16)     Miscellaneous

a)      Consent. Whenever in this Agreement the approval or consent of a party is
required, such approval or consent shall be in writing and shall be executed
by a person having the express authority to grant such approval or consent.

b)      Controlling Law. The parties agree that this Agreement shall be governed
and construed by and in accordance with the Laws of the State of California.

Page 7 of 10

341



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN
ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

c)       Definitions. The definitions and terms are as defined in these specifications.

d)      Force Majeure. Neither party shall be deemed to be in default on account of
any delay or failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, which
directly results from an Act of God or an act of a superior governmental
authority.

e)      Headings.  The paragraph headings are not a part of this Agreement and
shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part of this
Agreement.

f)       Incorporation of Documents.   All documents constituting the Agreement
documents described in Section 1 hereof and all documents which may, from
time to time, be referred to in any duly executed amendment hereto are by
such reference incorporated in the Agreement and shall be deemed to be

part of this Agreement.

g)      Integration.   This Agreement and any amendments hereto between the
parties constitute the entire Agreement between the parties concerning the
Project and Work, and there are no other prior oral or written agreements
between the parties that are not incorporated in this Agreement.

h)      Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be modified or be

binding upon the parties unless such modification is agreed to in writing and
signed by the parties.

i)       Provision.    Any agreement,  covenant,  condition,  clause,  qualification,
restriction, reservation, term or other stipulation in the Agreement shall define

or otherwise control, establish or limit the performance required or permitted
or to be required of or permitted by either party.  All provisions, whether
covenants or conditions,  shall be deemed to be both covenants and

conditions.

j)       Severability.   If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any
provision of this Agreement is void or unenforceable, the provisions of this
Agreement not so affected shall remain in full force and effect.

k)      Status of CONSULTANT.  In the exercise of rights and obligations underthis

Agreement, CONSULTANT acts as an independent contractor and not as an

agent or employee of CITY. CONSULTANT shall not be entitled to any rights
and benefits accorded or accruing to the City Council members, officers or
employees of CITY, and CONSULTANT expressly waives any and all claims
to such right and benefits.

I)       Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the
benefit of, and shall apply to and bind, the successors and assigns of the
parties.

m)     Time of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement and each of

its provisions.

Page 8 of 10

342



CITY OF LATHROP  —  CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DOKKEN

ENGINEERING FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP
PS 14- 04

In the calculation of time hereunder, the time in which an act is to be

performed shall be computed by excluding the first Day and including the
last.   If the time in which an act is to be performed falls on a Saturday,
Sunday or any Day observed as a legal holiday by CITY, the time for
performance shall be extended to the following Business Day.

n)      Venue. In the event that suit is brought by either party hereunder, the parties
agree that trial of such action shall be vested exclusively in the state courts of
California in the County of San Joaquin or in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of California.

o)      Recovery of Costs. The prevailing party in any action brought to enforce the
terms of this Agreement or arising out of this Agreement may recover its
reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney' s fees, incurred or expended
in connection with such action against the non- prevailing party.

17)     Notice to Proceed

Prior to commencing work under this agreement, CONSULTANT shall receive a written
Notice to Proceed" from CITY. A Notice to Proceed shall not be issued until all necessary

bonds and insurances have been received. City shall not be obligated to pay CONSULTANT
for any services prior to issuance of the Notice to Proceed.

18)     Siqnatures

The individuals executing this Agreement represent and warrant that they have the right,
power, legal capacity, and authority to enter into and to execute this Agreement on behalf of
the respective legal entities of the CONSULTANT and the CITY. This agreement shall inure

to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns.

Page 9 of 10

343



CITY OF LATHROP — CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH [ CONSULTANT]

FOR ROTH ROAD AND INTERSTATE 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT, CIP PS 14- 04

Approved as to Form:     City of athrop
City Attorney

ll - Z w23
Salvador Navarrete Date

Recommended for Approval:    City of Lathrop
Assistant City Manager

Michael King Date

Accepted By: City of Lathrop
390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, CA 95330

Stephen J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

CONSULTANT:

Fed ID #

Business License #

Signature Date

Representative / Title

Page 10 of 10

344



a y, s       . F Wy`  
ro'  

f 7 t t

t       :     r,'     `
f st t ' .'`' y  

n a   tl+
r  r   :      

j      '

s,     

h " a

3

a, aea>       -.   
1,{   »     

atl:      
y.  

i

F

ya4g  
c         `"  ''      e..     

t   

gaf b o d4t     Wi...  

Er       .     <  ."  
f.. 

F§  

At'.  
s    .,.  

y,., 
k

s  

g?,
a

r r    i
a

F

g,,

p. 6 Pg 6' Si s d    
t

h  51   

3.

y,{.   4q      '. .    . 
a?

N'_:;. d'
r      .    p       K      i

R R

1     
a'` l N 1   , r      ^ a R i    i4 9          3€3'.

k`&       ` 
y    a,"   ,             

r
a       . ar     „            9        ,        

p g p 
sl 1    ! t'       a

i  ,   

s s             '     
a

e:' tt- ''' ias a    ..:-"

if    '. 7      >`..   ';   
c-    

i  
g  Ii ,       }   .  

a.  ai- -
a i °      .  .', 6' a..

q
i  a*•   t•

n 

w

y

a : #       '
at 4 a  1  I        

d-+       +  " y
K n  '

a      

s 
ai 3      r xr    ,     ,

s r      F
2    e k

y., 4 sM i        
R     , i

Ym^' tlb R$ YOl     
is. 

j
i    " 

n       ' 

3=

4yc . 2e
@?

r'    4 sR YR        .       }
l",§  "'Y

a 1  .         .
w Ig  6,

y

Y

1      '
AT  ily v' 1 ...

AC b^ O  .         ar-....:
y

r
v t .

E ^° S"$a S 1'   i   -  
f -     a'  

r-

E4     

m
y s.   

A""     

a'"`      s`
s N 

Y   i Ipm

i+         , _~ k

Y    

I'              ' .     i
z

I   ;:

F  =  `  w    

S     ,_ i...        ,„„       ,      

5     2 s r'      - t=  i f
r m cyy se°t 2i'.` t d̀t`e1 s ia  ' ièti'      

r      ..,     -.. I    ';... i' `      
i ,     

g'

C" t• e• C r-  r   eb 1       1 51.  v°

t,
a,'       

Y Ti yr

g'     
r <   S , 

r r t*    
i        

6    
w     ;      ;        i 

s +`     s sx t` t` a 2: '     .     ;, it''
y

t'' ;       `` K," h"   
x a

i
F'   ''    

t '`''.tL      f    " t 9       i
t;       r  `

S t«, r ;   4', ,     
t

3 K

Yp   
iM.    j

i ia

1     

S

y#   

1 

4g
q*  

S   
iy   .

3             il.      .
n

ty. 4

fe$` 
4   '

i      .       

a 

t     .
t yi{,"'.,,

Z

b,             
f y} p,

f:     
y.. w .

e a  .

fi.       L..      

a    q 1 I         
L uuwle4

r4i KA

f     '
w

I' 
j             3'

h
Y

5
y„

c.,     *•

J'   
w

o + ta           "      f,       i
p

I

Q

t '" f ri`
z"       Y

I
n ; 

r  '`   

II.  
at.. Ori. i     :r a

y '

M. l pp..,   :  j r
r

g      Ss a  >       ` Ft:. Rc,

2 I: e,   -    
s        

S
z

a.  .,     "          + al /  
r .    ..,     :  

i', . ..   Il _...

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES

FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR

ROTH ROAD & I- 5 INTERCHANGE PROJECT

CIP PS 14-04
g ;       .

u..._.  

v       % 

F

Y i

I

R F.    

ker» rc      
P       $ yi

Cx. I i 4.3 . a y` t-'
e `,.,

jrP"       

t
r

f

qt    ' ,      r r-        y ,

t

n  ` t,.;    

V
f

f 

r,     

ae            

t         

i,+x, x      

a     ,` i
y

a!- 4 al   *'   hT 

Yry m. r   #     

u

1' Pi`      # s   '
a .      , :     :     a 

a.     . t`     
i"''

a '
u':    fr`,''  .  xT

a-     a 5 t 4

rae t       ^,     w

n

a_.,, 
i    `  

v
r    . fi  t% r'     "'-     : . .    „        

r',. 

2

a i s    x yr      
r

4__. e__  _—,__._. a  _ s_— a  __ s _ i ._     .   "'      
f    ,   

stY '

x. ili,.      ii ;' d4illP., a = E; a i        

l

Y n ; i; 1..  , ...._  . a  . I.. . 
w

i w.  ' r

r rX .     
r.       ,     

a

a

r  -,    t    `"'`':

345



li

october, 2o23 PRIMARY CONTACT

Attn: Angel Abarca, Assistant Engineer

City of Lathrop- Public Works Department
Juann Ramos, PE  Project Manager

390 Towne Centre Drive Address:       110 Blue Ravine Road, Suite 200

Lathrop, CA 95330 Folsom, CA 95630

Te I e ph o n e:    916.858. 0642

RE:      Request for Proposals for Professional Consulting Services for Fax:    916. 858. 0643

Development of Project initiation( PID) for Roth Road and Mobile: 916337. 8981

Interstate 5 Interchange Project( CIP PS 1404)   E- Mail: jramos@dokkenengineering. com

Dear Mr. Abarca and Selection Committee:

As the City of Lathrop plans for future growth and accommodating the large amount of freight traffic in the ciry as well as in Manteca

and within San Joaquin County, they are looking to take the next steps towards improving the critical Interstate 5( I- 5)/ Roth Road

interchange. Within the City, the I- 5/ Roth Road interchange serves as a primary route for traffic coming to and from large warehouses,

industrial, and logistics land uses. Additionally, it provides alternate access to developing land uses west of the interchange. To provide

the necessary capacity in the project area, the City would like to implement improvements within the interchange to accompany other

improvements along Roth Road and adjacent Harlan Road.

Dokken Engineering( Dokken) is excited to submit our proposal to provide all- inclusive engineering and environmental services to

complete the Project Study Report- Project Development Support( PSR- PDS) for the I- 5/ Roth Road interchange. With our established

understanding of the project from our work on the City' s Harlan Road Realignment project, we have assembled a team that is

exceptionally qualified for this project in several important respects:

Extensive Project History  Dokken has an unmatched understanding of the project objectives, constraints, stakeholder,

and overall project having completed the Environmental Document and Precise Plan for the Harlan Road Realignment project

and through current preparation of the construction plans, specifications, and estimate( PS& E) for that project. As part of the

Harlan Road project, we understand the land use and current needs of Roth Road through and adjacent to the interchange.

Additionally, our team member DKS, has already analyzed the traffic needs of Roth Road at the interchange as part of their

work with the San Joaquin Council of Governments( SJCOG) Roth Road Improvement Study. We recognize the interchange is

an important component of the overall functionaliry of the region' s traffic and goods movement network. With this in- depth

project history and understanding, our engineers and environmental planners have all the tools to immediately begin work

on the PID phase with no learning curve, something other consultants do not have.

Familiar and Experienced Team  Dokken strategically selects subconsultants for our projects to ensure that we have not

only a balanced workload to provide our clients with exceptional service, but also that the staff has the experience and

knowledge required of the project. The team selected for this project have the benefit of not only having the experience

necessary but are also intimately familiar with the project area and Caltrans District 10. The familiarity begins with the

leadership of the team who have been involved within the project area since the beginning of the Harlan Road project. Juann

Ramos( Project Manager),) acqueline Lockhart( Project Engineer), and Jamie Formico( Right of Way Manager) have worked on

the Harlan Road project through the Environmental Document and Precise Plan phase and now into PS& E. These project

leaders have an unmatched and all- encompassing understanding of the project components and what it will take to bring this

project through the PID phase and into the Project Approval and Environmental Document( PA& ED), and further onto

construction. Additionally, having worked with the City on other projects, these leaders have the familiarity with City goals and

procedures and this knowledge will help streamline the overall progression of the project and more efficiently move the

project forward.

1 10 Blue Ravine Rd, Suite 200, Folsom, CA 95630- 4713 • Tel: 916. 858. 0642 • Fax: 916. 858. 0643 • www. dokkenengineering. com

346



Superior Project Experience  Dokken is well known and respected for our design and environmental work on interchange

projects of which most began during the PID phase prior to moving into the PA& ED, final design, right of way acquisition,

permitting, and construction. And, throughout the project progression, all our professional services comply with Caltrans,

regulatory agencies, and federal requirements. Each project, specifically interchange projects, have different challenges, all of

which has prepared our team and provided us the knowledge and approach to apply to this City project. Recent projects we

have applied this experience and expertise on similar projects include:

o Interstate 205/ Chrisman Road Interchange for the City of Tracy

o State Route 65/ South Beale Road Interchange for Yuba County

o Interstate 15/ Limonite Avenue Interchange for Riverside County

o Interstate 80 Auxiliary Lanes for the Cities of Roseville and Rocklin

o Highway 59 and Black Rascal Creek Bridge Widening for the Ciry of Merced
o State Route 4 Wagon Trail Realignment for Calaveras Counry

o And many more!!

Unmatched Caltrans Experience  80% of Dokken' s projects require approvals from Caltrans. We are Central Region

experts and have completed dozens of major Caltrans projects in District 10 within the last few years, including multiple PIDs.

We understand the requirements to secure environmental clearance through Caltrans/ FHWA programs, and we can secure
approvals for this interchange.

With our proven success in delivering innovative, high- quality projects on an accelerated schedule, we are ready to work with

the City to bring the Roth Road and Interstate 5 Interchange project to fruition.

We have reviewed the City' s Agreement for Professional Consulting Services and understand the contractual form, conflicts of interest

provision, and insurance provisions therein. We have no requests to modify the terms at this time.

ohn Klemunes, Jr., PE, is authorized to sign agreements on behalf of the firm. Dokken understands this proposal is valid for a period of

120 days from the submittal date. Dokken also acknowledges the contractual forms, insurance provisions, and conflict interest

provisions set forth in the RFP and have no modifications or exceptions. If you have any questions, please contact our Project

Manager, Juann Ramos, at 916.858.0642 or,jramos@dokkenengineering. com.

We look forward to the opportunity of working with the City on the PID for the Roth Road and Interstate 5 Interchange project.

Sincerely,

hn Klemunes, Jr. PE J amos, PE

President Project Manager

1 10 Blue Ravine Rd, Suite 200, Folsom, CA 95630- 4713 • Tel: 916. 858. 0642 • Fax: 916. 858. 0643 • www. dokkenengineering. com

347



PROFESSIONAL CONSUITING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CI P PS 14-04)

Statement of

ualifications

D4KKEN
E N G I N E E R I N G

348



H,,:

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES iOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Statement of Qualifications

ABOUT DOKKEN ENGINEERING

Founded in 1986, Dokken is a multi- discipline, professional services firm specializing in all

phases of project development, including preliminary engineering, feasibility studies, PSRs,
PA& EDs, PS& Es, and construction management for public agency clients. During the past 37

Headquarters:

years, we have developed an exceptional depth of experience and expertise, having engineered
110 Blue Ravine Road, Suite 200

and obtained environmental compliance on more than 3, 000 infrastructure projects, including
Folsom, CA 95630

more than 2, 000 federally funded projects.    
Tei:  ( 916) 858- 0642

Fax:  ( 916) 858- 0643

Dokken almost exclusively works with public agencies, including cities, counties, municipal and

joint agencies. Many of our staff have experience working directly with and previously for local Branth Offices:

agencies or resource agencies, such as Caltrans, FHWA, and U. S. and CA Department of Fish& 1450 Frazee Road, Suite 100

Wildlife. Through this combined experience, we understand the circumstances of our clients' San Diego, CA 92108

projects and meet their needs by developing the best approach and innovative solutions for
2192 Civic Center Drive

project delivery. As a result of our collective experience, we save our clients valuable time
Redding, CA 96001

and money in delivering their projects.

FIRM RESOURCES& CAPABILITIES
eusiness classification: corporation

Dokken employs a diverse group of over 140 civil, traffic, structural, hydraulics/ hydrology,       
State Organized Under: California

and drainage designers, as well as environmentai planners, community outreach experts,     
Year of Incorporation: 1986

funding and right of way specialists, who together provide seamless and cost-effective
project delivery. With the majoriry of project work being performed by one firm, under one roof,      Number of Employees• 143

project coordination and communication is maximized. Dokken has worked extensively with
Caltrans throughout California on projects involving design oversight, Local Assistance and Our Appiicable Servites:

Caltrans staff augmentation. We are very familiar with Caltrans' Highway Design Manual,       
Project Management

Standard Plans and Specifications, and LAPM. In addition, our in- house right of way team has
Interchange/ Highway Design

significant knowledge and experience with the Uniform Relocation Act. 
Caltrans D3 PA& ED and PS& E

C Mtrat s iiv e r r Ex rk. s
Approvals

Our team has extensive experience working with Caltrans, the Federal Highway Administration,
Structures Design

and Federal and State Resource Agencies. Our team understands the Caltrans project
NEPA/ CEQA Environmental

development process and has obtained invaluable insight into the local agency side of project
Approvals

funding, programming, authorization paperwork, and Federal regulations that apply to local Right of Way Acquisition&   

agency project delivery with Caltrans oversight. We will use these skills and knowledge( from the
Relocation Assistance

delivery of over 3, 000 projects) to ensure projects are successfully delivered and compliant with       • Utility Coordination, Pubiic

oversight agency requirements.   
Outreach,& Stakeholder

Coordination

Over 809'0 of Dokken' s projects require approvals from Caltrans. We are the North Region Transportation Planning
Caltrans experts at designing ADA- accessible roadway projects and have completed dozens of Funding Assistance
major Caltrans improvement projects in Districts 1, 2, 3, and 10 within the past 5 years. We 3- D Modeling& Renderings

understand the requirements to secure environmental clearance through Caltrans/ FHWA Construction Support& Inspection   

programs and ADA access approval by the Division of State Architects, and we can
accommodate those approval considerations now, during analysis. Recently, ourteam was www, dokkenengineering. com
successful on receiving a Caltrans District 3 Encroachment Permit on the first attempt for the I-      ,„,,,.,,...„,...,,„,,..,„_,._,„...,.,.,,..

e,,,,.„„...,_,_,.,..,..,_.„>

80 Auxiliary Lanes Project for Placer County Transportation Planning Authority( PCTPA).

Fir n o! r#.!> iris

Dokken is a growing, financially responsible firm with the majority of our business coming from repeat clients. Dokken is financially sound and

has no long-term debt. We promptly pay our subconsultants and vendors, evidenced by our Class 1 credit ratings( indicating lowest risk) with
Dun& Bradstreet Credibiliry Corp( DUNS# 15 020 9971). For all our 37 years in business, we have maintained insurance coverage that exceeds

industry standards through reputable insurance companies with the highest A. M. Best ratings.

Dokken meets all of Caltrans' A& E Consultant Audit and Review Process requirements and successfully navigates the audit and review process
with every one of our projects subject to Caltrans oversight. We have a Cognizant Approval Letter from Caltrans Audits& Investigations. We have

our financial statements and overhead rate voluntarily audited annually by an independent Certified Public Accountant to expedite the Caltrans
process and to ensure that our financials and indirect cost rate comply with all federal funding rules. Also, our accounting staff and independent

auditors regularly attend Caltrans Audits and Investigations training sessions to ensure that we are up to date with the latest requirements.

DOKKEN
r„ v... .    Page1

349



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVEIOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

i eo chae Experience

Dokken has designed over 50 interchanges throughout California, including over 20 in the Northern CA region. The table below is an example of

our experience working on interchange projects with project elements relevant to those on the Roth Road and I- 5 Interchange project.

I- 5/ Arena Boulevard IC, Sacramento

I- 10/ Portola Avenue IC, Palm Desert

I- 15/ Limonite Avenue IC, Riverside Counry

I- 80/ Auxiliary lanes, Roseville& Rocklin

I- 80/ Elkhorn Blvd- Greenback Ln IC Improvements, Sacramento County

I- 80/ Truxel Road IC, Sacramento

I- 205/ Chrisman Road New IC, Tracy

1- 215/ Scott Road IC, Riverside County

SR- 70/ Feather River Blvd IC, Yuba County

SR-86/ Avenue 66 IC, Riverside County

SR- 99/ Bond Rd- Laguna Blvd New IC, Elk Grove

SR- 99/ Elkhorn Blvd IC Improvements, Sacramento County

SR- 99/ Pelandale Avenue New IC, Modesto

SR- 99/ Riego Road IC, Sutter County

US- 50/ Empire Ranch Road New IC, Folsom

US- 50/ Zinfandel Drive IC Improvements, Rancho Cordova

US- 50/ Western Placerville- 2 New ICs, Placerville

TRUSTED SUBCONSULTANTS

Dokken has assembled a team of trusted subconsultants to deliver this project. Below you will find a brief description of their services offered

and similar project experience. On page 5, you will find detailed descriptions for the similar projects and client references for each
subconsultant.

UNICO ENGINEERING, INC.      DKS ASSOCIATES

Survey and Mapping Traffic Studies

Established in 2013, UNICO Engineering is a certified DBE firm that Founded in 1979, DKS Associates provides specialized
is fully committed to providing high- quality construction transportation planning, engineering, and design services to public
management, engineering, and land surveying services to public agencies across the country. Firmwide, their staff includes 155
and private clients. UNICO serves clients throughout California with professionals with offices in Oakland, Sacramento, and Anaheim,
a current staff of over 90 from their corporate office located in CA; Portland( Headquarters) and Salem, OR; Seattle, WA; and

Folsom. Their success is measured by the success of their clients,    Austin, TX. DKS specializes in performance- based transportation
their responsiveness, and the quality and value of their work. Top planning/ engineering that blends traffic engineering,
on their prioriry list is to understand their clients' objectives and transportation planning, and traffic analysis at multiple scales of
expectations. They provide value to their clients by sharing their analysis. Some of the core services relevant to this RFQ include the

goal of effectively managing the costs of the projects which they following, Multimodal Transportation Planning and Analysis, Travel
are assigned. UNICO' s survey team has the technology and and Demand Modeling and Operations, Traffic Engineering,
experience to address any of your surveying needs, including Environmental Support, Safety Studies, Complete Street Planning,
topographic mapping, bathymetric( hydrographic) surveys, ALTAs,    Roundabout Design and Planning, Fee Studies, Signal/ Electrical

boundary surveys, construction staking, easements, aerial surveys,   Design, Electromobility, Grant Support, and more.

right of ways, terrestrial LiDAR scanning and drone surveying.
41tt1iAdt t'( ti k' tt E' k: if' tlF.!t' Cf:

inaii,, r 4str xp}> ct Ex; r` tew ce

S) COG  Roth Road Improvement Study

City of lathrop ( Manthey Road Bridge Replacement City of Sacramento  1- 5/ Richards Boulevard Interchange

City of Elk Grove  SR 99/ Whitelock Parkway Interchange City of Sacramento  I Street Interchange PSR- PDS

City of Modesto  SR 132 West Freeway/ Expressway, Phase 1 Merced County  Atwater- Merced Expressway Traffic Study

City of Folsom  US SO/ Empire Ranch Road Interchange Merced Counry  SR- 99 Widening Applegate Interchange PSR

Stanislaus County  McHenry Ave Corridor Widening, Phase 1

DOKKEN
Page 2

350



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CIP PS 14-04)

Pro 'ect

Ex eriencep

DOKKEN
E N G I N E E R I N G

351



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Project Experience

3: 5JCt7ris r7r r i r d € V v Ir terc l r ge f " I racy, C;

Dokken provided project management, environmental, and engineering services for the completion of a
CLIENTHcCONTACT p5R- PDS and is currently working through the PA& ED phase for a new interchange on Interstate 205 in the
City of Tracy City of Tracy, which will serve as a critical link between the Bay Area and Central Valley for interregional
Anju Pillar, PE

recreation and commuter traffic. This interchange will provide a vital new connection to I- 205 to serve the
209) 831- 6455

forecasted traffic demand generated by growth within the Ciry and the surrounding communities. The new
PROJECT DURATION interchange is proposed to have a partial cloverleaf and spread diamond configuration in the vicinity of the
2012- Present

existing Paradise Road overcrossing.
IMILAR KEY$ TAFF

Juann Ramos, PE The project will also construct

Jacqueline Lockhart, PE      auxiliary lanes along I- 205

Zach Liptak
between MacArthur Drive and

Jamie Formico the new interchange. This

s _     interchange is a part of the
Federal Interstate System and

therefore FHWA requires review and approval of the new access

point. Dokken received conceptual approval of the new
interchange through Caltrans and FHWA with the completion

of the PSR- PDS in only 70 months. The accurate project scoping
completed with the PSR- PDS and PEAR allowed a seamless

transition in the PA& ED phase.

Dokken also recently received approval through Caltrans

Headquarters that the project has no increase in induced vehide
miles traveled( VMT).

I• 15lk. imc r ite f v r t e lr t harwg  Riv rside Cr ur ty
CLIENT& CONTACT

Dokken provided engineering and environmental services for a PSR- PDS, PA& ED, PS& E, and construction County of Riverside

support for this multi- jurisdictional project involving Caltrans, Riverside County, and the Cities of Eastvale John Ashlock, PE

and Jurupa Valley, to replace the existing Interstate 1 S/ Limonite Avenue interchange and widen Limonite 951) 955- 1511

Avenue to three lanes in each direction through the interchange area. The project was the first in the PROJECT DURATION

state to receive 56- 1 funding and required both a fast-track design to meet funding deadlines as well 2007- 2020

as close coordination with the I- 15 Express Lane Project to facilitate an expedited construction SIMILAR KEY STAFF

schedule.   Juann Ramos, PE

The existing tight diamond interchange was reconstructed as a partial cloverleaf layout to include loop on- 
Jacqueline Lockhart, PE

ramps in the NW and SE       • 
ZdCh Liptak

quadrants. The three-        `  

w i1  

lane direct on- ramps in the northeast and southwest

F;_,'"' quadrants have California Highway Patrol enforcement

areas, and maintenance pads, and are metered with one

lane on each ramp dedicated to high occupancy vehicles.

The interchange is in a developing suburban area where the

interchange needed to remain open during construction and
z r-_ accommodate adjacent new development. Dokken

developed unique and creative geometric alignments and

staging concepts to accommodate the concurrent
f  ,         

development construction and access and maintain all
r

movements within the interchange during construction.

r, s'

s°   
ec,:-      .. .. 

DOKKEN
f. n„. r , a.    Page3

352



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT Of PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

t ss larr c, a F ligrEment t RatFt Raari  ( L<# hrr  C: A
CLIENT& CONTACT

Dokken is current providing project management, PS& E, environmental and right of way services for the City of Lathrop

Harlan Road Realignment at Roth Road in Lathrop. Roth Road, at the northern boundary of the City serves Angel Abarca

large industrial and warehouse land uses as well as provides access to the Union Pacific freight yardjust east       ( 209) 941- 7498

of Interstate 5. All these land uses are creating increased traffic volumes, with a significant amount of truck PROJECT DURATION

traffic. The existing Harlan Road intersection at Roth Road is too close to the I- 5 northbound ramp intersection,     2019- Present

and with these large traffic volumes, operations between the two intersections are failing. The project is SIMILAR KEY STAFF

therefore realigning Harlan Road approximately 500- fee to the east to increase the intersection spacing.      uann Ramos, PE

Additionally, the Roth Road interchange will require upgrades to accommodate the increase traffic and the acqueline Lockhart, PE

realignment will make room for the future interchange improvements. Jamie Formico

UNICO Engineering
This realigned Harlan Road will indude

three travel lanes and a center two-       
Fm. Maz 4

way left turn lane south of Roth Road and two travel lanes with a center
striped median north of Roth Road. This lane configuration will

incorporate the ultimate improvements necessary for Harlan Road

within the Project area. Additionally, the project is including a storm

drainage trunk line that will extend down Harlan Road to an existing

pump station.

Dokken completed the Environmental Document and Precise Plan in

2020 and is currently preparing the PS& E and right of way acquisition for
Phase I of the project.

s

S42• 65 S A tIE ? I Ro r fr rCercf ar i f Yuba CcsErn€ v

CLIENT& CONTACT
Located in the southern part of Yuba Counry, State Route 65( SR 65) serves as a crucial and heavily traveled

Yuba County route connecting local communities and facilitating transportation to and from adjacent Placer County. At

Samuel Bunton, PE present, an unsignalized intersection where South Beale Road intersects with SR 65 poses significant safety

530) 749- 5649 and operational challenges. The existing intersection experiences a notably higher rate of fatal and injury

PROJECT DURATION
collisions compared to similar intersections statewide and operates below an acceptable level of service,

2022- Present largely due to high left turn volumes and adjacent UPRR railroad tracks.

SIMILAR KEY$ TAFF&  Dokken is currently providing

Juann Ramos, PE project management,

Jacqueline Lockhart, PE  ;    engineering, and environmental
UNICO Engineering      '    services for the preparation of a

PSR- PDS and PEAR for a new

interchange at the South Beale

Road intersection. In coordination with the County and Caltrans,
Dokken has developed two alternatives for the new interchange and

a grade separation with the adjacent UPRR tracks. Both of these

alternatives have been studied and scoped with the PEAR and TEPA.

Funding for the project will be a combination of local, state, and
federal sources, thus necessitating compliance with the California
Environmental Quality Act( CEQA) and the National Environmental

Policy Act( NEPA). This project is vital for enhancing safery and
efficiency along this critical

DOKKEN
t. H. vMF. w.    Page4

353



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTIN6 SERVI[ ES FOR DEVELOPMENT Of PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

SUBCONSULTANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

UNICO ENGINEERING, INC.

S 2 ! l",r itelc.rc. k Parkw y inier hittt e  C ity of Elk Gresv, CA
CueNr& CoHrncr

This project is located on SR 99 at Whitelock Parkway( between Elk Grove Boulevard and Kammerer Road). The City of Elk Grove

project includes a new interchange at Whitelock Parkway and SR 99, potential bike/ pedestrian crossing over
Tom Metcalf

SR99, realignment or modifications to East Stockton and West Stockton Boulevards and widening of Whitelock     ( 916) 478- 2281

Parkway. The Project may also include auxiliary lanes in both the northbound and southbound directions PROJECT DURATION

between Elk Grove Blvd and Grant Line Road and would include high occupancy vehicle lanes in both 2021- PRESENT

northbound and southbound diredions between Elk Grove Blvd and just south of Grant Line Road. 
p,_, r,  „__., ,

US 50J Err pire tanr. tti f2aad Interchan e  C..ity af Folsam, CR
CLIENT S CONTACT

City of Folsom This project constructs a new freeway interchange on US 50 between the existing East Bidwell Street and
Mark Rackovan Latrobe Road Interchanges. The interchange now includes a 4- or 6- lane overpass with full ramp connections
916) 461- 6711

to westbound and eastbound Highway 50 bicycle and pedestrian facilities and traffic signal controls. The
PROJECT DURATION project connects the existing Empire Ranch Road/ Iron Point Road intersection to the north and the future
2018- 2019 extension of Empire Ranch Road to the south. UNICO provided land surveying services for the PA/ ED phase of

F     this project.

DKS ASSOCIATES

K uCia R.+ i irnpraverner t Sk. udy  S ri Jrsaqui Caur7ty f iL)% caf E. satf rc plfiC y CueHr& CoHrna

c>f . 2, antk: ea CA SJCOG

Under contract with SJCOG, DKS performed the Roth Road Improvement Studyjointly funded by the County of
Ryan Niblock

209) 235- 0588

San oaquin and the cities of Lathrop and Manteca. The Roth Road Corridor Study developed a performance-   
based analysis that supports the delivery of a transformative package of prioritized system improvements PROJECT DURATION

including the Roth Road/ I- 5 Interchange) to address critical multimodal travel needs within the greater Roth 2021- 2023

Road study area. The improvement package will improve essential freight and rail operations and access needs    ,..,..... F...
V.,,,,__ _...__. ......_ z

to the Surface Transportation Assistan e Act( STAA) National Network( I- 5 and SR- 99), as well as accommodating

the growing truck traffic served by Roth Road, a designated STAA Terminal Access Route and a primary access route to I- 5.

I• 5lFtic( tards cri l varcl IErcerc. tq rt; F C? t t3   C" ity r f S crarr riCo, CA
CLIENT& CONTACT

City of Sacramento DKS provided travel demand forecasting and traffic analysis services in support of PS& E work related to the
Bill Shunk, PE Richards Bivd/ I- 5 Interchange improvement. Work consisted of detailing the SACOG SACSIM travel demand
916) 808- 2986 model in the Sacramento central city to determine future interchange demand and then evaluating multiple
Peo ecr DurtnTioN interchange alternatives for feasibility. Initial screening was completed with Synchro/ Simtraffic to identify
2019- 2023 preferred alternatives for detailed analysis. This detailed analysis was completed using VISSIM to provide

information for stakeholder review and ultimate project selection.

DOKKEN
PageS

354



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CIP PS 14-04)

Team

Or anizationg

DOKKE N
E N G I N E E R I N G

355



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Team Organization

Dokken has assembled a highly qualified team to provide the engineering services needed to complete the Project Initiation Documents( PID) for
the Roth Road and Interstate 5 Interchange Project. The organizational chart below represents our reporting structure and the depth of staff
available to complete this project. Resumes for our key staff can be found in the Appendix.

Our Project Manager, Juann Ramos, PE, will be supported by a staff that has worked together on many similar interchange projects. Acting as an

extension of City staff, our goal is to provide you with painless project delivery. We do this by utilizing the following project management
methodology and approach:

No Surprises" Communication

Clear, Concise, and Complete Reporting

Project Schedule Monitoring
Budget Control

f        .   .

I •

I,  ,.,' VI U  

Environmental Lead Civi) Project Engineer
UNICO EngJneerin Inc.  

Rob Markes
Zach Liptak Jacqueline Lockhart, PE

Ryan Ming, PLS
SiologJcal Resources Civil Design Engineers Tim Pringie

Sarah Holm Kris Kofoed, PE

Scott Salembier Rober[ Denison, PE I

Jeff Harris Samvel Abramyan, EIT

Mark Fogiel Aiexis Rios DKSAssotlates

Culiuro Resources Terry Klim, TE
Amy Dunay, RPA Jim Damkowitch

Michelle Campbell, RPA H. Ross Ainsworth, PE, TE

Gabrielle Ploszaj AshleyOrsaba- Finders, PE, QSD/ P
Sean Carney, EIT

CEQA/ NEPA and Permitting oseph Madden, EIT
Amy Bakker

Nicholas Nelson, EIT
Aliana Hale

Air Quallty/ Nolse/ GH6
Ken Chen

c*) amie Formico, SR/ WA/ NAC/ RAC
Vanessa Cothran, SR/ WA

Jason Andrews, SR/ WA
Taylor Ross

DOKKEN
N<,., Pt.,    Page6

356



i

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CIP PS 14-04)

Pro 'ect

Understandin g

DOKKEN
E N G I N E E R I N G

357



y,

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Project Understanding
PROJECT BACKGROUND

The City of Lathrop is advancing the next steps towards the ultimate construction and improvement of the existing interchange at Roth Road on
Interstate 5( I- 5) to address increased traffic volumes and to support goods movement. Within the San Joaquin Valley, Lathrop is centrally located
making it a key contributor to providing critical goods movement via trucking and railroad throughout the region and the State. The Roth Road
interchange along I- 5 has therefore become a heavily traveled route, and with plans by the City and the Ciry of Manteca to create an extension of
Roth Road to State Route 99( SR- 99), it will become an even more critical arterial. To maintain operations, support the growth of goods

movement, and accommodate future development west of I- 5, the City would like to improve the interchange at I- 5.

Roth Road currently connects to I- 5 with a tight diamond interchange configuration with immediately adjacent frontage road intersections of
Manthey Road on the west side and Harlan Road on the east side. There is currently no development on the west side of the freeway, but on the
east side, there are existing developments primarily of either industrial or supporting trucking operations. As a first phase to address the
necessary interchange improvements, Dokken is currently working with the City on the Harlan Road Realignment project which will realign the
existing Harlan Road intersection on Roth Road approximately 500 feet further to the east to provide sufficient intersection spacing to the
northbound ramp termini intersection. Additionally, the project will widen Roth Road to four lanes from the interchange to just east of the
realigned Harlan Road intersection. The completion of the Harlan Road project will serve as the first step to improving the overall project area so
that the critically needed interchange improvements can occur. Since we are already working within the project area, we understand the
interchange needs and complexities of all the constraints, as well as have the expertise and experience required to work through the interchange

approval process with Caltrans. Dokken' s goal is to provide efficient project approval and delivery of the interchange to complete the City' s vision
for the project area. As described below, Dokken has the solutions and expertise required to deliver the Cit s Roth Road and I- 5
Interchange 5 Project( CIP PS 1404).

Dokken has extensive experience with this project as we are currently working on the Harlan Road Realignment Project, our team members
worked on the Roth Road Improvement Study memo for the San Joaquin Council of Governments( SJCOG), and we have also further reviewed the
project area and have identified key features affecting the design and functionality of the interchange. These features are shown in the figure
below and discussed further in the following sections.

g
g."    ;

b  
E

m      .

Y..     

s, nC. 3  .

Ir  `   
I

i    !
1  4    '    F

i.     4   1-.. j  ft           
t ,   

Y$  9     e       !..    

I,- ,   j•     .       s;  -     
r'.,   

s u

r

f

K      ApW
y/'      (       

r+ tPl

r' W     p
u      «,..

i

s.

wa`  , Gi
a    "    h-a.:  ;:,—  .

F.    ..    ..,:    

i xal 3...;  
n.  . ' s' ,:."., 

k

5y  

Qt p .

k
3. 

REI4UQN MANTHEY R    
INTERSECTION SPACMIEi

S00 FT kNM r      ,       '    +" ,"<     

P

aa
5,.<,..,.     

8
4' y3`  

DOT TRUCK 6        "",;
SAI. ES

i II i

n'     x
v   ,

m,
r;.     

ai;  x

1  ' 
k

i

y

Y,      

y  t       v.+

F
1<^.   g+;.    *:2..       

w.       

x a

e t t 3
k...

Y
Y,   z       : s.

wau,, ctr: vsr

FOR 1' I` RCHANGE
a     IMPROV iIMENTB

q.  
7     °  '

f t„    
s,.   g e

DOKKEN
n.. t. x.    Page7

358



PROFESSIONAI CONSULTIN6 SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR    

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

PROJECT HISTORY

The I- 5/ Roth Road interchange, at the northern boundary of the City, is in a perfect location to serve the expanding industrial, logistics, and
warehousing operations contributing to key goods movement within the region. It also serves as a primary access route to the Union Pacific
freight yard just east of I- S. To provide access to all these users, the Roth Road interchange and the surrounding adjacent roadway network
requires geometric improvements. The City recognized that future need and in 2010 completed a Draft Precise Plan for the realignment of
Harlan Road as a proposed first step in moving the project area improvements forward. Dokken then completed the environmental clearance of
the Harlan Road Realignment in 2021 with the approval of the CEQA IS/ MND and Final Precise Plan. Currently, Dokken is preparing the final

plans, specifications, and estimate( PS& E) and right of way acquisition for Phase I of the Harlan Road Realignment where the southern leg of the
Roth Road/ Harlan Road intersection will be shifted approximately 500 feet east of the existing intersection and Roth Road will be widened to
four- lanes. This initial shift with move the southern connection of Harlan Road away from the northbound ramp termini intersection in order

achieve the Caltrans required intersection spacing as well as improve operations and safety issues caused by the immediately adjacent
intersections. The future Phase II will construct the Harlan Road realignment north of Roth Road within the County to complete the intersection

necessary intersection separation. Now, Phase III will improve the interchange to complete project area improvements. Additionally, the Ciry
coordinated with Dokken team member, DKS, to complete the Roth Road Improvement Study which provides recommendations on future
improvements of Roth Road in the City of Lathrop and City of Manteca as well as identifying traffic needs within the project area. As Dokken has
been a partner with the City for this work within the project area, we have unmatched knowledge and understanding of the project area' s critical
considerations and concerns.

CALTRANSPROCESS

F' raject It itiatit rE i' h ss

Within the State right of way, any significant improvements, such as an upgrade to an interchange, will require Caltrans approval in compliance
with the Project Development Procedures Manual( PDPM). The first formal phase of project development is the preparation of a Project Initiation

Document( PID) to establish a well- defined purpose and need statement, project scope, cost estimate, and schedule. The level of PID that is
appropriate for this project is a Project Study Report- Project Development Support( PSR- PDS). A PSR- PDS is used for locally funded projects and
is used to program funding for only the support costs needed to complete the subsequent Project Approval and Environmental Document
PA& ED) phase; programming for right of way and construction is done with the Project Report during PA& ED.

Dokken has a very clear understanding of this often- complex process and has obtained approval of several PSR- PDS documents in the last few
years, including one for the new interchange at Interstate 205/ Chrisman Road in the neighboring City of Tracy. The PSR- PDS is a streamlined
version of a PID in comparison to the more in- depth Project Study Report( PSR). Dokken knows how to efficiently navigate this streamlined
process to obtain quick approval from Caltrans. The PSR- PDS for the I- 205/ Chrisman Road interchange was a more complicated situation as it is
for a new interchange, and even so, Dokken was able to obtain approval of the PSR- PDS in only 10 months. This quick approval and

completion of the PID phase is important not only to keep the project moving forward but also because the local agency must pay Caltrans for
their oversight time during the PID phase, so the faster the document can obtain approval, the less review fees the City will need to provide to
Caltrans which is key for this locally funded phase. Additionally, an approved PID will allow the City to have a real project in which to preserve the
project footprint and collect development fees.

Prc jer:t Apprcrv rl
Overall, Dokken has a clear and full understanding of the entire Caltrans approval process from this PID phase all the way through the
construction of the interchange. While many consultants have worked on other interchange projects within the area, Dokken' s experience with
the complete process and with local Caltrans District 10 staff is unrivaled. One key approval component that is special to this project is that since
the interchange is on an interstate, Federal Highway Administration( FHWA) approval will also need to be granted prior to the completion of
PA& ED, which is not required on a State Highway. As this is an existing interchange, approval will be granted through the preparation of an
Interchange Access Report( IAR). The IAR will prove to FHWA that the interchange improvements will not degrade or otherwise negatively impact

the interstate. This rype of report is not that common as it only applies to new interchanges or specific modifications to exiting interchanges on
interstates only. We have prepared 7 IAR documents over the last 10 years, including the one we are actively working on with Caltrans
District 10 for the I- 205/ Chrisman Road interchange, and we understand the FHWA policy points and what needs to be included in these
reports for FWHA concurrence and approval.

From start to finish, the approval

of significant interchange

modifications through Caltrans Aand FHWA is a long and

cumbersome process; however,

Dokken fully understands the
nuances and critical approvals

throu h each ste and will uide
COOPENATIVEAGREEMENT COOPERATIVEAGREEMENT PSBECONTRACTDOCUMENTS

g P g Local Agency pays Caitrans Detines CCGP Lead Agency

the City through this process 
or Review ENVIRONMENTALDOCUMENT

startin with the PSR- PDS. The
PSR- PDS A.pprovals- TechSwtlics,

g Appro als- PEAR, 7[ PA, and DCD, ar d E

chart to the right, identifies the PSR- PDS oROJECT qEPORT

Approvals- TOAR,

key components and approvals
3;,, ee; 9 s es, oPa, Pa,

of the project from conception to antl1AR

construction through Caltrans.

DOKKEN
t..., v . w...    Page8

359



k.   :

PROFESSIONAI CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

PROJECT ALTERNATIVES

As noted, the intent of the PSR- PDS is to serve as a programming and scoping document for the PA& ED phase and no formal approval of an
alternative is granted with the PSR- PDS. Instead, alternative and project approval is obtained through the Project Report at the completion of
PA& ED; however, identifying viable conceptual alternatives is crucial to ensure that the environmental studies are scoped properly, the purpose
and need is properly developed, and the programmed funds for PA& ED and future phases is appropriately captured. As part of the alternative
analysis, Dokken will evaluate a multitude of interchange configurations to determine their feasibility; however, in review of the traffic studies for
both the Harlan Road project and the Roth Road Traffic Analysis, discussions with City staff, and evaluation of the project area features, Dokken
has developed the following two initial conceptual alternatives.

Partial L- 9 Cloverleaf/ Tight Diamond Interchange

Diverging Diamond Interchange( DDI)

There are several key constraints in the project area that need to be considered as part of the development of alternatives for the improvement
to the interchange, including existing development and land use on the east side of the freeway, proposed development on the west side of I- 5,
the existing bridges of I- 5 over Roth Road and the columns in the median of Roth Road, multi-modal facilities, intersection spacing to adjacent
Harlan Road and Manthey Road, and the currently proposed Harlan Road realignment. Additionally, as the area is a STAA terminal access route
with large volumes of truck traffic, the movements, travel directions, and storage length of the large trucks needs to be incorporated into any

design.

F rti l l  Clr verl flTight C iamc nd I Eterchan

The traffic analysis completed by Dokken team member, DKS, as part of the SJCOG Roth Road Traffic Analysis developed traffic volumes based
on the updated General Plans for the City of Lathrop, Ciry of Manteca, and San Joaquin County. The purpose of the analysis is to determine
various options for the improvement of Roth Road between all the agencies and to then determine fair share cost responsibilities. Based on the

developed volumes, and under all Roth Road improvement extension and expansion scenarios, we have determined that the Partial L- 9

Cloverleaf/ Tight Diamond and DDI configurations are viable options for the interchange reconstruction. Each of these configurations also

assumes the widening of Roth Road to six lanes between Manthey Road and Harlan Road based on the traffic analysis.
s,

y.,,       

p     

r'   '     r r

i•:

y       + 
me.

v

t; 

s.     

r       ;    

a_      
x     

s. "
e- Fr      :-,      .. n:

r3' .    
yt' {   J

s

f,  .    ::.>   rc    , a;;,., aa,,   ri'i    ,     

LL

b, a s;-     ,  

As a majority of the land use and freight operations are coming from the east towards the interchange, the Partial L- 9 Cloverleaf/ Tight Diamond

configuration satisfies the heavy traffic needs because all movements coming from the east are able to make a right turn onto I- 5, keeping the
traffic moving more efficiently over waiting for a left turn like the existing tight diamond configuration. For the northbound ramps, no change to
the configuration is required as no left turn is required here for the heavy movement. A huge benefit of this alternative is that the existing land

use and properties on the east have very minimal right of way or access impacts, while still being able to provide maximum capacity. With this

alternative, the existing northbound ramp termini intersection will remain in the existing location, so to meet the minimum intersection spacing,
the southbound ramp termini intersection will be shifted further to the west. Additionally, the Manthey Road intersection will also be shifted
west to meet intersection spacing and to accommodate the necessary left turn pocket storage and weaving distance for vehicles from the

southbound off- ramp to the Manthey Road left turn lane. To accommodate the widening of Roth Road to six lanes, retaining walls under the

existing I- 5 bridges will be constructed under the abutments so as not to impact the existing bridges. Additionally, between the northbound ramp
termini intersection and the realigned Harlan Road, the widening would occur to the north side of the road to not impact the Chevron gas station
and hold the curb line constructed by the realignment. For the southbound loop on- ramp, a separate bridge over Roth Road will be constructed
alongside the I- 5 southbound bridge. This avoids any work on the existing Caltrans I- 5 bridge and makes construction easier.

Lliert> r; in; i, rn, i. bst4 Irtterc, tF ti; t-

A DDI configuration shares many of the same benefits as the Partial L- 9/ Tight Diamond configuration in that it utilizes right turns for the major
movements can accommodate the 6- lane cross- section under the existing I- 5 bridges, and minimizes impacts to the built- out eastern side of the

freeway. This alternative will also shift the existing Manthey Road to the west to accommodate the minimum intersection spacing and provide
storage capacity on Roth Road; however, since the southbound loop on- ramp is not required, there is an overall reduced right of way impact on
the west side. Additionally, without the loop, the existing southbound ramps can remain in their current locations with minimal required
improvements. Overall, the DDI configuration will have a lower project cost for the reduced right of way, reduced ramp reconstruction, and

DOKKEN
vv.. .,.    Page9

360



e:

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

elimination of a bridge required for the loop on- ramp. Since the DDI has not yet been fully analyzed as part of the SJCOG Roth Road traffic study,
part of the initial geometric development and traffic studies for this project will fully determine the viability of a DDI configuration.

Va     '  °> 4 3                 
a r. x

A$

A d:  t.,..i

q

f       ,

t,B  t     " s.°  r'   

a

u a
w

a-

y

b.,,

s, :   

r.       

y

V     ,,;, r

M.      .
i P .  

r   ':    

A"       L
y

q
a

F  

a

a'
e,   ..   '.,,  _    .. .    .` ..,.      , v  . m,,. ..'., .     :.    

ENVIRONMENTAL

Dokken understands that identifying environmental constraints within the project area is key in selecting any potential alternatives for the
Project. Dokken' s experienced team of environmental planners, biologists, botanists, and archaeologists contributed to the Harlan Road
Realignment project; therefore, we are intricately familiar with the environmental resources in this area. Our comprehensive understanding of
potential environmental impacts that would occur because of the interchange project will expedite the Preliminary Environmental Analysis
Report( PEAR) preparation and approval process. Our strategy is to prepare a comprehensive environmental constraints analysis that clearly
identifies any sensitive biological resources, cultural resources, and/ or hazardous waste in the project area through pedestrian surveys and
record searches and include that information in the PEAR. Providing extra scoping information will not only assist the City in identifying a

preferred alternative but will also expedite Caltrans review and approval of the document.

Since the project is located within Caltrans right of way, it is considered an" on- system project"; therefore, Caltrans will be the lead agency under
CEQA and the lead agency under NEPA for the interchange project. We understand that the Caltrans/ FHWA environmental clearance process is
often the critical path item for the delivery of a project which, if not managed correctly, can result in costly delays. Our experienced
environmental planners have an intricate understanding of the CEQA and NEPA process and what it takes to successfully move a project through
the environmental process with Caltrans oversight.

S n te t ill 743 Vehicl R liles Tr v fe ct

The primary environmental constraint for this project is related to Vehicle Miles Traveled( VMT). Senate Bill( SB) 743 went into effect in July 2020
and requires agencies to evaluate projects in terms of VMT. Across the state, capacity- increasing projects are being required to escalate their
CEQA environmental document to an EIR due to potential increases in VMT and lack of feasible mitigation.

CEQA requires the project to analyze the with- project and no- project conditions in the future to determine VMT impacts. Based on preliminary
data, the California lnduced Travel Calculator produced by the National Center for Sustainable Transportation at UC Davis estimates that the
Roth Road and I- 5 Interchange ProjecYs increase in capacity will result in approximately 2. 2 million additional VMT. If Caltrans is the

CEQA lead agency, the project would be required to utilize this very conservative calculator to estimate VMT impacts for the project. It is
anticipated that the required mitigation to offset this level VMT even partially would be unachievable.

Caltrans is currently undergoing significant changes in project scoping and requirements under CEQA due to SB 743. These changes have
resulted in lengthy new steps with regular reviews and concurrences from their 5B 743 Sustainability Group at Headquarters. We understand
that the Caltrans environmental clearance process is often the critical path item for the delivery of a project, and these new project requirements
add to these costly hurdles. Dokken' s environmental team is currently navigating this process on five Caltrans projects, and we are the
first team in the State to develop a VMT mitigation plan approved by Caltrans, and recently received approval of an Induced Travel
Study for a new interchange with no mitigation required. So, while we are up for the challenge to develop Caltrans- approved mitigation for
this project, our recommendation is for the City of Lathrop to request to be the CEQA lead agency. The process to request CEQA lead
agency status includes submitting a letter request for relinquishment to Caltrans, which Dokken can draft as a component of the PSR- PDS. This
letter will be used by the District Director to justify the relinquishment of CEQA Lead Agency.

COST SAVINGS MEASURES

Since there is no formal project approval granted and the local agency is required to reimburse Caltrans for their review time during the PID
phase, it is important to not only get through this phase quickly, but also as cost- effective as possible to allow for the Ciry' s funds to be spent in
the next PA& ED phase. With this approach in mind, Dokken also looks for other places where money can be saved in the development process.
For this project, since Dokken is working on the Harlan Road realignment we can take advantage of some of the base work already developed.
For example, a utility base map has already been developed for the east side of the freeway and will need only minimal expansion to cover the
area on the west. Additionally, Unico has already performed design- level topographic mapping for the entire area to the east. As a further cost

DOKKEN
vF= ..   Page10

361



PROFESSIONA CONSULTING SERVICES fOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- S Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

savings measure for this phase, the topographic mapping we are proposing to supplement our existing mapping with is planning level LiDAR
mapping and United States Geological Survey( USGS) based orthoimage. This level of mapping detail is completely sufficient for the conceptual
level engineering and environmental studies required for the PID phase. We have used this approach on other projects during the PID phase as it
not only saves money at this point but will also save money down the road in obtaining more detailed mapping when the overall project area has
been narrowed down and refined. Finally, as noted, DKS recently completed the Roth Road Improvement Study. All the traffic demand model
development, traffic volumes, and even microsimulation modeling has been completed and can be easily applied to this project. DKS will
repurpose the traffic data, including the detailed freight truck forecasted, to reflect future design year conditions.

A further significant cost savings advantage that the Dokken team offers is in the form of overall history and knowledge within the project area,

as well as relationships with property owners. We do not need to waste time and project budget getting up to speed with the project area
concerns; we will be able to hit the ground running immediately.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CALTRANS DISTRICT 1O AND HEADQUARTERS

As noted, Dokken has the knowledge to move projects through the cumbersome Caltrans approval process, in numerous Districts throughout
the State, including District 10. We have worked with District 10 staff, including Mason Leung, Dina EI- Nakhal, and Jaime Quesada, on multiple
projects in recent years such as the I- 205/ Chrisman Road New Interchange, Highway 59 Widening, State Route 4 Wagon Trail Realignment, State
Route 132 Expressway, State Route 99/ Pelandale Road Interchange, State Route 26 Slope Stabilization, and State Route 99 Merced Guardrail
Improvements. Through these projects, we have developed a relationship with the reviewers and other District and Headquarters staff such that
they trust our work product and that we collaborate as a team to reach a solution that satisfies all parties involved.

This trust will be advantageous in gaining the support of each Caltrans functional unit and efficiently moving the I- 5 and Roth Road Interchange
project through the entire approval process. It is also this trust that
will help keep the project moving through the inevitable Caltrans staff
changes. Due to the agency' s size and workload, their resources are
often strained which results in frequent changes in the assigned staff.

We work with the new staff to quickly get them up to speed on the

project so that there are no delays, and because they trust our
experience and work product, they are willing to keep pushing
forward with us.      

For environmental, our close working relationships with District 10 I
staff, such as Jon Coley, Laura Cook, and Scott Guidi ensures that g 

each milestone is met on time and under budget. Further, we i     
understand that Caltrans having oversight of CEQA can often result in y

extended review and approval times of technical studies and

environmental documents due to potential induced Vehicle Miles

Traveled( VMT) associated impacts. Dokken recently received

approval on the Induced Travel Study for the I- 205/ Chrisman
Interchange Project from Caltrans District 10 and the SB 743 Working

i4    ,
Group at Caltrans Headquarters which found a less than significant

k,.       .   ,.,_,s    e..,:.

impact under CEQA and no mitigation was required. Dokken will

ensure that all documentation prepared for this project relating to VMT will be able to be approved by both the District and Headquarters.

While there are other consultants that can ultimately design any interchange type, Dokken' s extensive experience and long- standing
relationships with Caltrans District 10 and Headquarters allow us to develop complete, cost-effective designs from the outset and
navigate the complicated Caltrans process to achieve expeditious approvals.

CONSISTENT TEAM

A key differentiator of Dokken from other consultants is the consistency in our staff and overall team on projects. The Project Manager, Project
Engineer, Environmental Lead, and even design staff that start the project are the ones that finish the project. Additionally, we strategically select

our teams so that one team is not overloaded, allowing us to provide the City with the best service possible. For this project, Juann Ramos our
Project Manager, and Jacqueline Lockhart our Project Engineer have significant experience with this location as they have both been working on

the Harlan Road Realignment project since the beginning. In addition, UNICO Engineering is providing surveying and right of way engineering for
the Harlan Road project, and the same staff that are doing the field and office work will also be used for this project. Our traffic consultant, DKS,
has also performed all the traffic modeling and analysis for the Roth Road Improvement Study for SJCOG. Each of these team members have
unmatched knowledge of the project, will not need to be retrained, and will be with the team for the duration providing valuable consistency. All
of this will keep the project efficiently moving forward without the loss of any project history as well as expedite the schedule.

FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS

Every Dokken project requires coordination and compliance with State and Federal regulations. Our team has extensive experience working with
Caltrans, Federal Highway Administration, and other Federal and State resource agencies. We will use our knowledge and expertise to
successfully deliver this project compliant with each oversight agencys requirements.

DOKKEN
Y Ea.   Page11

362



k,tip,r,,..

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR    

Roth Road & 1- 5 [ nterchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

While the City is currently using local funds for this current phase of the project, there is the potential and likelihood the City will use Federal
funding for a subsequent phase. Therefore, we look ahead and move through the process to obtain project approval to follow standard Caltrans
and FHWA requirements.

In addition to the general project approval process described above, we understand the Caltrans and FHWA processes, forms, agreements, and
general paperwork required at each step along the way. Since our team has a proven track record of project delivery, we know this process, not
only when exhibits need to be submitted but also when FHWA holds all additional funding requests in order to close out their fiscal year.
Depending on the City's needs, we are available to assist with preparing these various forms and agreements, including the Request for
Authorization( RFA) packages at all major milestones, project development forms( PES, Field Review, Project Change), and project delivery forms
utility coordination and right of way certification).

In addition, Dokken' s environmental staff has extensive experience with NEPA/ CEQA policies and procedures. We have a close relationship with
Caltrans environmental staff, and we will assist the City with all needed Caltrans paperwork. We will work closely with our design team to ensure
projects do not have any unmitigable environmental impacts. We are prepared to address project impacts by including reasonable avoidance
and minimization solutions early in the project design phase.

SCHEDULE

A key benefit to the preparation of a PSR- PDS is that the approval process is intended to be streamlined so the project can move forward into the
next phase efficiently. The project schedule is summarized below with critical path tasks shown in red. This schedule is based on the following
assumptions:

Notice to Proceed is provided in December 2023.

Consensus on purpose and need and the alternatives under consideration is attained in a timely manner.
City/ Caltrans reviews are concurrent and are 4 weeks or less in duration for each deliverable.

The resulting schedule shows a duration of 11 months for completing the PSR- PDS phase. In this scenario, the PA& ED phase could begin in
Winter 2025. This represents a realistic schedule based on our experience with similar projects and reflects a streamlined approach in which
project tasks are performed in tandem to the extent possible.

The table below is a summary of PSR- PDS schedules that Dokken has delivered for previous projects of similar scope:

I- 205/ Chrisman Avenue
10 months

February
une 2012 August 2012 October 2012 November 2012

New Interchange 2012

I- 15/ Limonite Avenue October November

Interchange
12 months

2011 2011
March 2012 August 2012 September 2012

I
1- 5/ ROTH ROAD INTERCHANGE

PSR- PDS

D TaskName D mtwn SWrt Fnsh j       20251D24

ls l+ l-    Lma rc, lma l iewlsffi oe, 1+ 1.. 1i.._.. _     __._.     ..__   ,,     

72/ 4
1 N071GE70iROCEEO Odays Mon12J4/ 23 Monl]/ 1/ 73 , ,,

j2 . TASK101ROlERMAWIGEMEM 240dnys Mon33/ 6/ 23 Frill/ 1/ 7A   

F. 3..:. TASK 20IRO1ER SCOVING 60 days Nbn 12/ 4/ 23 iri 3/ 23/ 20   '.,    

Dav Culkaion& Revrew 20 days Mon 12/ 4/] 3 Fri lI/39J13    '    

5 '.. Purpose& Need Devebpment 20 days Mon 1/ 1/] 4 Fri 1/ 36/ 26    ,      +.. 

6 , FiekRevlew 30days Mon1/ 29/ 2d in2( 9/ 16     '         s., 

I  ', DefineProjeaSNdyArea 30drys Mon2/ ll/ 74 Frii/ 73/ 14

I .          ,       
8 ', TASKiOENVIRONMEMAl00CI1MFMATION IlOdays Mon2/ 26/ 24 M7/ 26f39

9 , HaxardousWastelnrt1a15heAssessment[ hecklin lOdays Mon1/ 26/ 24 Fri3/ B/ 24    '   

I
10 . Emironmen[ alCons[ rainbMaNss 20tlays Monl/ 26/ 24 Fri3/ 12/ 24

I ,   
p1„

11 Prel- mnaryEmronmentalAnah/ ssReport 90drys Mon3/ 25/[ 9 Fri7/ l6/ 24

I ,'17 ITASK< ALTERNATNFSANALYSIS 200days Rbnit/ C/ i3 Fri9/ 6/ 24 I

13 ' LandSurveyng UNICO)    95drys Mon13/ 6/] 3 Fri3/]/ ZA     '
i     ..,     

i
r

14 '. DevelopfnnceptualAhemacives BOdays Mon1/ 35/ 24 FriS/ 3/ 34     ' I       r"'.-{ wxearAb        

15~ I, WrtEstimates 70days Mon6/ 22/ 2a iri5/ 1'!/ 29    .      
I          '     i
i          IR&   i

16 ' Schetl le 10 days Mon 6/] 2/ 20 Fri 5/ I]/ 34 I ,                   sy_

1) '., Vre< iseVWn 60daY5 Mon6/ 1]/ 3Y Fri9/ 6/ 34 I ;    il dm6M-..:     ...

1B . TASKSAENGIt1EFRINGSTUDIES f00dayc Monl/ 1/ 24 Fr15/ 17/ 24 I ' i      
19 '. SrormWrt< rDabPeOort 40days Mon3/ 15/ 1d Fr15/ 17/ 24

I     

I y s{„%m, rtp
20  Traff-c Eng neer ng Peifarmance Assessment( DKS       60 days Mon 1/ 1/ 24 Fn 3/ I2/ 20  i w a.riHvs- r!     

21  LrfeCycleCoStAnaNss 40days Mon3/ 25/ 2G FriS/ l7/ 24       I
11 s+3y-#R::' f^

22 SurveyNeedsQuertionna re 10days Monl/] 6/]<  Fri3/ 1I/ 24
I    I',

e     

23 ' UUIIryALeRersandBaseNlapping Odays Mon7/ 16/ 20 FriC/ l9/ 20

24,', TASK6. OPUBLICINFd1MATIONCOORDINATION 139days Abn17/ 4/ 23 Thu70/ 31/ 24  ' I     •* ro g.;v m, . ..  ..     ...     . ......

25l'TASKI. OKP. MS 140days Abn4/ Y2/ l4 Frlll/ 1/ 24   

26 '', Tn sportatiorPlanningSco0inglntorma[ ionS eet COdrys MonC/ i2/] d iri6/ 16/ 10   ' c..w:..wwe; waa F

2  ROW/ lhllitksCnnceptualCortEmmate 20days Monb/ 22/ 2C fri5/ 17/ 70 a` N,.-

20 '. ftiskNegis[ er 20days Mon4( 37/] 4 iri5{ 1]/] d    ' fI)
29 DesgnSeDpfnglndex 70days Mon</ 22/ 26 FriS/ 1]/ Y6    . wu n --{

I 3  DrakPSR- GDS 60days Mon]/ SJ79 Fn9/ 2/ 1d   ',    

i4 31 Flnal PSP PDS 30 days Mon 9/ 23/] 4 Fn 11/ 1/ 34        

32 . MDVNASFCOMVIETE Odays Frill/ 3/] E Frill/ 1/ 26   ',    

DOKKEN
F..   Paget2

363



i

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CI P PS 14-04)

Sco e of Workp

DOKKEN
E N G I N E E R I N G

364



p;.

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project [ CIP PS 14- 04)

Scope of Work
Following is a comprehensive scope of work that supports the delivery of the Project Initiation Document( PID) phase of the Roth Road at
Interstate 5 Interchange Project. The following scope includes the studies to support the preparation of a Project Study Report- Project
Development Support( PSR- PDS) and Preliminary Environmental Analysis Report( PEAR).

TASK 1. O PROJECT MANAGEMENT

T k 1 , Prtaject IVt etiri s

CONSULTANT will organize, attend, and facilitate meetings as necessary to provide progress updates, coordinate between technical disciplines,

and facilitate overall project communication. For each meeting, CONSULTANT will provide meeting notices, prepare meeting materials and
agenda, attend, and facilitate the meeting and prepare meeting minutes. CONSULTANT will consult with the Citys project manager prior to each

meeting to get input regarding the agenda. The following meetings are anticipated for this project:

Kickoff Meeting: At the start of the project, CONSULTANT will organize a kickoff meeting with all key personnel on the project. The
purpose of this meeting will be to review the goals and objectives of the project, discuss each team member' s roles and responsibilities,
identify critical project issues, and obtain consensus on task durations, particularly reviews. The kickoff meeting will ensure that
everyone on the project team is on the same page regarding project delivery and execution.
PDT Meetings: The project development team( PDT) meetings will serve as the primary forum for reviewing the status of the project
and identifying and resolving project issues. Attendees will include CONSULTANT' s Project Manager, CONSULTANT task leads as
needed, City and Caltrans staff and other stakeholders as necessary.

Technical Coordination Meetings: CONSULTANT will coordinate technical issues with the City, Caltrans and others through meetings

and correspondence.

Deliverables:       Meeting Notices, endas, Exhibits, and Minutes

C sk 1 2 Prs gress Reparts
CONSULTANT will prepare Progress Reports to record the progress of the project and as supporting data for invoices presented monthly to the
City. The Progress Report will include accomplished tasks for the month, anticipated progress for the next month, pending issues/ resolutions,
and schedule completion target dates. CONSULTANT will include Progress Reports with the monthly invoices.

Deliverables:       Monthly Progress Reports

l sk 1. 3 Wrogress Sct edui

CONSULTANT will, within 2 weeks of Notice to Proceed, provide a detailed baseline schedule to the City for review and comment. The schedule

will be prepared using Microsoft Project and will show contracted tasks/ milestones with dependencies and durations, critical path tasks and
responsibility assignments. Subsequent to establishing the baseline schedule, CONSULTANT will update the schedule on a monthly basis, to
coincide with the PDT meetings.

Deliverables:       Project Schedule

I, s k 1  i roj xc. t cfrr rir istr ti t

CONSULTANT will monitor and control the effort and progress of the proposed services as follows:

Set up project accounting system: CONSULTANT will structure the accounting system in accordance with the City's invoicing and
tracking needs.

Prepare Subconsultant agreements: CONSULTANT will execute contracts with the proposed subconsultants for the scope of services

described herein.

Monitor Subconsultant progress and review/ approve invoices: CONSULTANT will track the work progress of the proposed
subconsultants and review their invoices for format and content compliance.

T sk 1. 5 Qz ality Cvrrtr sl

CONSULTANT will have a quality management plan in effect during the entire course of the project and will develop a plan establishing a process

to ensure design calculations are independently checked. Exhibits and plans will also be checked, corrected, and back- checked for accuracy and
completeness. CONSULTANT will review subconsultant submittals to ensure that appropriate background information, study methodology,
interpretation of data, format and content are completed in accordance with current standards.

Deliverables:       Quality Management Pfan

DOKKEN
t... v. P<...   Page13

365



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENi OF PiD iOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 [ nterchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

TASK 2. 0 PROJECT SCOPING

la k 2 1 C t <` c Elert, ioi anci R vi w

CONSULTANT will meet with the City and Caltrans to request and obtain any new data related to the project site that may have changed since the
completion of the previous study.

lask 2 2 f u scas€ r r Ne€ i [ 7evel prnen[
CONSULTANT will coordinate with the Ciry and Caltrans to develop project Purpose and Need and identify transportation deficiencies while

evaluating the underlying transportation needs, and primary objectives of the project. CONSULTANT will coordinate with interested agencies for
available project information including utility companies.

Deliverables:       Purpose and Need

T sk 1 3 iesld R vi rvv

CONSULTANT will conduct a site reconnaissance to identify and document any new/ changed physical features, character, adjacent uses,

potential design constraints, and new environmental considerations. Field information will be recorded using field notes and digital photos. The
observed environmental considerations will be used to support the environmental constraints analysis.

Deliverables:       Field Notes/ Photo Log

Task 2. 4 efir e f rc jec: k. St dy Are

CONSULTANT will develop a Project Study Area( PSA), taking into consideration the geometric footprint of each design alternative,
topographic/ environmental constraints, appropriate buffers to accommodate reasonable modifications, and project risks. The PSA will be

reviewed with the project team to obtain input and will ultimately be finalized for use with future project studies.

Deliverables:       Project5tudyArea

TASK 3. 0 ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTAT[ ON

f sk a 1 kis z rdci s Waste Irritial 5ite R s ss t r k ( ISAj Ch cklist

CONSULTANT will prepare a Hazardous Waste Initial Site Assessment Checklist to identify any potential for encountering hazardous waste or
hazardous materials in the project area. The checklist will incorporate an agency records search utilizing State Water Resources Control Board
sites GeoTracker and Envirostor, as well as a visual survey of the project site. The findings in this checklist will be summarized and included in the
Preliminary Environmental Analysis Report( PEAR).

Deliverables:       Hazardous Waste Initial Site Assessment Checklist

7a k 3 2 Enuircarirrtet t: l Cc strair tt 1rr iysis

CONSULTANT will perform preliminary survey work, obtain records searches, and examine any information from prior environmental analysis of
the project area in order to prepare an environmental constraints analysis for the Project. In order to provide a complete scoping of the physical
and human environment within the project area the following tasks will be performed:

Obtain and evaluate prior environmental studies, local general plan information, and any other local policies which could affect the
environmental process.

Discuss and verify initial Purpose and Need and a project description through coordination with the City.
Obtain a Cultural Resources/ Native American Resources records search.

Survey the built environment for potential historic resources( if any) that could require full evaluation during the environmental
document phase.

Obtain record search/ species list from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and California Natural Diversity Database to evaluate

the potential for threatened, endangered, or other special status plant and animal species.

Prepare an initial environmental constraints map of identified environmental resources in the project area. Once the project features
have been identified, this map will be converted into an Environmental Study Area map for use with the PEAR and future
environmental documentation.

Identify environmental technical studies, environmental documents, and required environmental regulatory permits.( i. e. USACE,
USFWS, RWQCB, CDFW, etc.)

Deliverables:       Environmental Constraints Mapping

ta V: ri : 6 rr lirnir e ry r vir sr+rr xe t I An lysis r au t

CONSULTANT will prepare the Preliminary Environmental Analysis Report( PEAR) using Caltrans template and guidelines. The PEAR will
incorporate the findings from the constraints analysis to identify potential environmental issues and constraints that will be addressed in the
NEPA or CEQA documentation, the risks and assumptions that were used to anticipate those issues, the anticipated level of environmental

DOKKEN
r: K.:   Page14

366



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING$ ERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

documentation, and the resources and schedule needed to complete the PA& ED phase. A draft of the PEAR will be provided to the City for review

and comment prior to submittal to Caltrans. This scope also includes coordination with Caltrans as needed.

Deliverables:       Preliminary Environmental Analysis Report

TASK 4.0 ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS

7ask 4 1 t,.< as i Sur< t xyi and RigFrt af Way Map irg;

CONSULTANT will utilize and provide Unites States Geological Survey( USGS) based orthoimage and available topographic or LiDAR information
of the project footprint. To confirm the accuracy of the available USGS information, CONSULTANT will perform minimal survey measurements to
sample the accuracy of the topography. CONSULTANT will deliver the orthoimage and topographic data in an AutoCAD based drawing in
California State Plane Coordinates, NAD83 and NAVD88 elevations. The mapping limits will encompass the full interchange from Roth Road and

Interstate 5 to a point along Interstate 5 approximately 0. 6 miles both northerly and southerly of Roth Road including on ramps, off ramps,
frontage streets and an area westerly of Interstate 5 for realignment of Manthey Road. The horizontal control will be based on the North
American Datum( NAD83), California State Plane Coordinate System Zone 3 and the North American Vertical Datum( NAVD88). Control research

will be conducted with Caltrans to tie the survey and mapping services for this project into existing Caltrans control and relevant Ciry of Lathrop
Control. CONSULTANT will set durable survey control within the project limits for current and future work.

Deliverables:       Orthoimage and USGS Based LiDAR Topographic AutoCAD Base File

t sk 4. 2 Cor c: eptt al Alternatives

CONSULTANT will develop up to three( 3) viable conceptual alternatives that will take into consideration City and Caltrans goals, existing and
future roadways connections, Caltrans and City right of way, structures, utilities, environmental features, and future development. CONSULTANT

will prepare layout exhibits for the City and Caltrans to review and comment.

Deliverables:       Conceptual Alternacive Exhibits

T sk. 4 3 C: ast k: skirr4 tes

CONSULTANT will prepare conceptual cost estimates in order of magnitude for cost comparison of the above refined conceptual alternatives.
The conceptual cost estimates will include roadway items, structure items, utilities, and right of way items. Cost estimates will be utilized to

support alternative analysis as part of the PID approval process.

Deliverables:       Cost Estimates

1 k 4. 4 5ehietiultz

CONSULTANT will prepare conceptual schedules identifying major milestones of the project phase in preparation of future Project Approval and
Environmental Document( PA& ED), and general dates for PS& E and Construction.

Deliverables:       Schedules

fask 4. Aitr r r7 riiti e l as: Ma s

CONSULTANT will prepare a base map for each of the up to three( 3) conceptual alternatives. The base map will include a layout with preliminary

geometrics, profile, and typical sections. Preliminary right of way will be identified on the base maps.

Deliverables:       Alternative Base Maps

TASK 5. 0 ENGINEERING STUDIES

T sk 5o' i t rr V,f sier C at s Re zort

Compliance with Caltrans Statewide National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System( NPDES) Permit will be documented in the Storm Water

Data Report( SWDR). The SWDR will be prepared to ensure that the programmed project includes sufficient

iYs right- of-way and budget for the required storm water controls.

CONSULTANT will develop a long- form PID- level SWDR in accordance with the latest Caltrans Project Planning and Design Guide. The document
will include:

A description of the project and the major engineering features.

A preliminary estimate of the Total Disturbed Soil Area( DSA), New Impervious Surface( NIS) Area, and Post Construction Treatment
Area( PCTA).

A determination of Risk Level and requirement for Treatment BMPs.

A discussion of the stormwater quality issues specific to this project.

A description of the probable design pollution prevention BMPs.
A description of the probable permanent treatment BMPs, if required.

A description of the probable maintenance and construction site BMPs.
SWDR Summary Spreadsheets

DOKKEN
t: v.. .,   Page15

367



j'` Zv`;`

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING$ ERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT Of PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Maps and exhibits

CONSULTANT will work with the Caltrans District Storm Water Coordinator to circulate the draft document through the Maintenance, Landscape,

and Storm Water units.

Deliverables:       PID Level Storm Water Data Report

7asic 15   raltir. Er gfneering F erfcrrrnanc_e A sessit ei t

CONSULTANT will prepare all requisite traffic operations and safety analyses( collision reduction predictive method) for completing a PSR- PDS
Traffic Evaluation and Performance Assessment( TEPA). All applicable traffic data and analysis tools will be drawn from the Roth Road

Improvement Study( September 2023).

CONSULTANT will utilize all currently available data and models developed as part of the Roth Road Improvement Study to evaluate multiple
interchange design alternatives. CONSULTANT will perform the following analysis stages:

1. Utilize all analysis tools, models, and data developed as part of the Roth Road Improvement Study( DKS, 2023) to reflect the future

multi- modal travel demand patterns in the study area.
2. Examine all relevantjurisdiction Active Transportation Plans, Local Roadway Safety Plans, and Long- Range Transit Plan and other

planning documents to determine the muitimodal needs and planned improvements.
3. Prepare all requisite traffic operations determinations and safery analyses of interchange configuration alternatives to winnow the

number of viable interchange alternatives to three( 3).

4. Prepare TEPA document.

The project study area will be focused on the immediate interchange area plus the greater surrounding areas. CONSULTANT will coordinate with
the Ciry of Lathrop and Caltrans to determine the total number of intersections to be included in this TEPA analysis of operations.

Freeway analysis will be limited to nor[ hbound and southbound basic freeway and merge- diverge influence areas between the I- 5 interchanges
at Lathrop Road and Roth Road and between the Roth Road and French Camp Road interchanges. Freeway operations will be based on HCM 7th
Edition operational methods using HCM- compatible Excel Spreadsheet models developed by CONSULTANT.

CONSULTANT will develop operations models for one( 1) hour AM and PM peak periods for the following analysis scenarios:
Existing Conditions: Used for model calibration and to establish baseline operating conditions.

Forecast No Build: Represents 20 years after construction with existing configuration accounting for other approved adjacent projects.
Used for comparison with other scenarios.

Forecast Alternatives: Represents 20 years after construction with up to six( 6) interchange configurations. Includes other approved

adjacent projects.

Both an opening year and design year analysis will be performed.

CONSULTANT will repurpose all traffic data collected as part of SJCOG' s Roth Road Improvement Study( DKS, 2023). The need for" new" data
collection is not anticipated. CONSULTANT will also use the modified Roth Road Improvement Study S) COG travel demand model including the

freight truck forecasts( layered together) to reflect future( design year) conditions.

The traffic, safety, and engineering analyses will conform to the current edition of Caltrans' s Project Development Procedures Manual( PDPM)
Appendix 5, Chapter 5, Article 5 Traffic Engineering Performance Assessment.

Task 5. 2. 1 Memorandum of Traffic Assumptions

CONSULTANT will be to prepare a Traffic Memorandum of Assumptions( MOA) to be agreed upon by the stakeholders and to document the
agreement between the City of Lathrop, City of Manteca, County of San Joaquin, SJCOG, and Caltrans for conducting the traffic analysis.

CONSULTANT will prepare an MOA for Project Development Team( PDT) approval.

Task 5. 2. 2 Existing and Projected Volumes

CONSULTANT will utilize existing and future year volume sets gleaned from the recently completed Roth Road Improvement Study.

Task 5.2. 3 Traffic Assessments

CONSULTANT will prepare a qualitative assessment of the applicability of SB 743 and Caltrans Traffic Analysis Framework( TAF) to this project.

CONSULTANT will evaluate the need for a VMT analysis of the interchange configuration alternatives. A key question is the relevance of applying

the NCST tool for estimating induced VMT.

To help inform design and other environmental and state requirements, CONSULTANT will perform the following traffic assessments.

Travel Demand Model Forecasting

CONSULTANT will conduct travel demand forecasting for the analysis horizon year utilizing SJCOG' s modified travel demand model. The AM/ PM

peak hour future year volume sets suitable for operational assessments were developed as part of the Roth Road Improvement Study. These
forecasts have been post- processed using the procedures recommended in NCHRP Report 255.

DOKKEN
n  ,.   Page16

368



r<

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SE0.VICE5 FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & 1- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Collision Analysis

Based on the existing TASAS collision data database), CONSULTANT will summarize the most recent available 5 years of collision data for the
study intersections and roadways and provide a figure showing the collision history by accident rype. The collision analysis will serve to identify
any noteworthy collision trends.

Multimodal Connectivity

CONSULTANT will examine all relevantjurisdiction Active Transportation Plans, Local Roadway Safety Plans, Long Range Transit Plans, and other

multimodal planning documents to determine the future pedestrian and bicycle demand that will need to traverse the Roth Road interchange.

Traffic Operations Sensitivity Analysis

CONSULTANT will conduct a traffic operations analysis for no build and up to three( 3) interchange configuration alternatives for the opening

year and future design year forecasts. The concepts would be at a scaled sketch planning level where the roundabout and/ or signal concepts, as
well as interchange configuration concepts, and roadway network modification alternatives are depicted over aerial photography or base

mapping provided by others. The sketches will be based on the above traffic operation tasks. Adjusted future traffic volumes based on potential
changes in the overall road network will be input to the traffic operations models to evaluate future conditions for each alternative considering

changes in travel patterns based on the overall transportation network. CONSULTANT will apply the SYNCHRO model to evaluate signalized
intersection operations. Refinements to the configurations of each alternative will be based on operational analysis results.

Task 5.2. 4 TEPA

CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a technical memorandum capturing the findings of the traffic operations sensitivity analysis.

Deliverables:       Traffic Engineering Performance Assessment( TEPA)

Task  3 1_ ife Cycle Cast Ar lysfs

A Life Cycle Cost Analysis( LCCA) is required by Caltrans to justify the pavement materials and structural section of the proposed roadway.

CONSULTANT will prepare the LCCA in accordance with Caltrans' latest program and report the findings in the draft LCCA report.

Deliverables:       Life Cycle Cost Analysrs

T ssk S. 4 Survey C€ eds pu sti rr n ire

To assist with the establishment of vertical and horizontal project datums, CONSULTANT will prepare a PSR- PDS Survey Needs Questionnaire.
This document will be submitted to Caltrans for review/ approval and also included as an attachment to the PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Survey Needs Questionnaire

7 ask 5, 5 llkifity A L tters arrd Et se lVt pp r

CONSULTANT will prepare and send Utility A Letters and project exhibits to all potential utility owners within the project area. Based on Utility A
Letter responses from the utility companies, CONSULTANT will incorporate the obtained maps and utility information to compile a utility base
map.

Deliverables:       Utiliry A Letters; Utility Base Map

Task 5_ Ir tErsestio Cnr+trol Ev l4 atit r ( IC_ E} [ pPTtON it

CONSULTANT will prepare traffic and safety studies that support a stage 1 ICE study. Per Caltrans Traffic Operations Policy Directive 13-02, this
study will focus on Access Strategy and Configuration Assessment and Screening. The ICE process integrates and, in many respects, facilitates
traffic studies and alternative development activities. The MOA will set the foundations to work collaboratively and early with the City of Lathrop

and Caltrans to maximize the flexibiliry of the ICE policy and conduct the detailed engineering, operations, and performance analyses needed to
advance Step 1 ICE recommendations. Interchange concepts will first be evaluated at a high level for feasibility. Each alternative will be evaluated
using Sim- Traffic microsimulation. CONSULTANT will determine delay and queueing benefits which are key for identifying feasible interchange
designs. For the purposes of the safety analysis, CONSULTANT will review the available crash history in the study area and identify any existing
trends. Interchange concepts will be evaluated based on how they interact with these existing trends as well as any potential benefits or

disbenefits they may have for safe operations.

The first step will be to consider applicable Caltrans System Planning document( TCR) and more recent work for the interchange to generate the

Step 1 ICE document. CONSULTANT will objectively evaluate and compare signal and roundabout intersection control at each ramp termini.

The evaluation results will support outreach and advisory committee activities to allow stakeholders to make investment decisions based on the
optimal traffic control and operational strategy for the design life of the interchange. Specifically, these evaluations could be applied to each

ramp terminal intersection and adjacent road intersections:
Safety performance and collision cost estimation, where quantifiable

Weekday AM and PM peak hour capacity and operational considerations
Service life analysis

Conceptual Initial/ phased estimated construction costs

DOKKEN
t.<. .. .   Page17

369



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT OF PID FOR

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Cost of performance impacts/ Cost savings of performance benefits( controlling peak hour cost of delay)
Operation and maintenance life- cycle costs

Multimodal considerations

Cost- effectiveness of reduced pollutant emissions

The footprints of the concepts will support evaluating and finalizing the environmental study areas. Step 1 ICE would evaluate and advance

intersection control strategies and potentially offer recommendations to screen lower- ranked concepts. CONSULTANT will prepare and submit
an Intersection Control Evaluation( ICE) document for Step 1 as part of this phase of the project.

Deliverables:       Step 1 Intersection Control Evaluation

TGrsk 5.` t VI SIM RRicrczsimulatian [ QNZICJNAtj

CONSULTANT will apply its VISSIM microsimulation model of the top three( 3) build configurations. This will provide a relative comparison of
Measures of Effectiveness( i. e., throughout, delay, peak hour demand served, queue lengths) between the top three alternatives and video clips

of the peak hour operations.

Deliverables:       VISSIM Microsimulation

TASK 6.0 PUBLIC INFORMATION COORDIIVATION

7 sk 6. 1 r oject F3ct SF eet.

CONSULTANT will prepare a Fact Sheet for the project based on coordination and input from the City. The Fact Sheet will include project
background information, project description, Purpose and Need, alternatives being considered, cost estimates, project status, schedule, and
contact information. The Fact Sheet will be used to inform the public and other stakeholders about the project.

Deliverables:       Projed Fact Sheet

Ta4k 6. 7 F ub# ir ec uests far nfarn acion

CONSULTANT will assist the City in responding to public questions and requests for information via emails, letters, and phone calls.

Deliverables:       Responses to Public Requests for Information

TASK 7. O PROJECT STUDY REPORT— PROJECT DEVELOPMEIVT SUPPORT

T sk ' T. T Trar s c rtation F lanr7irtg Scc F7ing fnfc ri77 tiar3 5 et

CONSULTANT will prepare a Transportation Planning Scoping Information Sheet( TPSIS), in accordance with Caltrans guidelines. Completion of
the TPSIS will include preparation of text and table content for each of the applicable five sections of the document: System Planning; LD- IGR;
Smart Mobility, Complete Streets, and Regional Planning; Climate Change and Environmental Considerations; and Tribal Government
Coordination. The TPSIS will be included as an attachment to the

PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Transportation Planning Scoping Informatron Sheet

E wk l " Kight Glf lay/ tJtilities C« r ceptu l Cr st E' stiir atE
CONSULTANT will prepare conceptual cost estimates for the project right of way and utility components. The estimate will take into
consideration potential fee takes, temporary/ permanent easements, as well as significant utility relocations. The estimate will be included as an
attachment to the PSR- PDS

De/ iverables:       Right of Way/ Utility Cost Estimate

tk "1: Risk F< E, stE: r

CONSULTANT will prepare a Risk Register to identify risks associated with implementation of alternatives. The Risk Register will be included as an
attachment to the PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Risk Register

t z= H, 7  C E> si r <: i w rac4e

CONSULTANT will prepare a Design Scoping Index( DSI) to assist in determining the feasibility of the project alternatives. A DSI will be prepared
for each significantly different alternative, considering Design Concept& Route Matters, Design Criteria, Roadway and Structures Characteristics,
Right of Way, Hydraulics/ Stormwater, and Worker Safety. The DSI will be included as an attachment to the PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Design Scoping Index

DOKKEN
f: N. e. ...   Page18

370



n   .',.

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR

Roth Road & I- S Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

T k " J 5 l r ft PS{ 2= f C S

CONSULTANT will prepare the Draft Project Study Report- Project Development Support( PSR- PDS) in accordance with Caltrans guidelines. The
document will discuss the proposed project alternatives, purpose and need, and provide the information needed to estimate and program the
capital outlay support cost necessary to complete the studies and work needed during PA& ED.

The draft will be submitted to Caltrans and the Ciry for review and comment. CONSULTANT will meet with Caltrans and City for comments
resolution and make updates to the PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Draft PSR- PDS

a: k 7 6 Finz! P4F '[? S

After receiving and discussing comments on the Draft PSR- PDS, CONSULTANT will prepare Final PSR- PDS.

Deliverables:       Final PSR- PDS

DOKKEN
t.. a..,.   Page19

371



1    i i   ; 

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CI P PS 14-04)

Re u i redq
Statements

DOKKEN
E N G I N E E R I N G

372



3+. 2' td`?:

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVEIOVMENT OF PID FOR    

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Required Statements

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Dokken can meet the Citys insurance requirements and a copy of our insurance can be provided upon the outcome of the contract.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Dokken does not possess any financial, business, or other relationship with the County or developers in the area that may have an impact upon
the outcome of the contract or the construction project. Dokken does not have any current clients that may have a financial interest in the
outcome of this contract of the construction project that will follow, nor do we have any financial interest or relationship with any construction
company that might submit a bid on the construction project. Dokken would like to disclose the two current existing contracts held with the City,
Harlan Road Realignment at Roth Road and Manthey Road Bridge Replacement.

PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

Dokken understands that this proposal shall become properry of the Ciry once submitted and will be proprietary.

CITY BUSINESS LICENSE

Dokken currently holds a City Business License for the City of Lathrop and understands this will need to be kept current during the project
duration. The license number is 20694.

DOKKEN
E,., e.. k.,.   Page20

373



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT INITIATION ( PID) FOR

Roth Road and Interstate 5

Interchange Project

CIP PS 14-04)

A endixpp

Key Staff Resumes
Fee Proposal

DOKKEN
E N G I N E E R 1 N G

374



PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOVMENT OF PID fOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

juann Ramos, PE four- lane expressway with a center earth median, an adjacent Class

I bike/ pedestrian trail on the north side and constructed a large
P ROJ ECT MANAG E R wildlife crossing at Alder Creek. Intersections were signalized and

Scott Road was realigned to connect with Prairie City Road. Juann
Education

was responsible for preparing and presenting multiple alignment
1994, BS Environmental Engineering, California Polytechnic State University,

san uis Obispo
alternatives, in- depth agency coordination, team management,

presenting information at meetings for the community, and
1999, MS Civil& Environmental Engineering, California Polytechnic State coordination with various subconsultants.

University, San Luis Obispo
1- 15/ Limonite Avenue Interchange  Riverside County

License/ Certification

2001, CA Professional Civil Engineer,# C61931 Project Engineer  Project improvements consist of a new 8- lane

Years of Experience overcrossing; 3 through lanes in each direction plus 2 turn lanes;

2s years( 2i wi Dokken) widening of the off ramps from 2 to 4 lanes; the addition of 2 new
loop on ramps; new auxiliary lanes on all quadrants and widening
of Limonite to 4 lanes in each direction. Juann was responsible for

Mr. Juann Ramos brings 28 years of
preparation of alternative study, preliminary engineering and

transportation engineering and project
environmental report, bridge and roadway PS& E, construction

management experience. Juann specializes in
staging, traffic management, construction staging and traffic

leading teams in the delivery of roadway,       
handling, utiliry coordination, and construction engineering. Juann

interchange, and bridge projects for local
developed traffic management plan and stage construction plans

agencies. His experience indudes managing on-  

induding detour routes, night dosures, and a comprehensive
call contracts; preparation of Project Study Reports

construction schedule that would reduce impacts to motorist on I-
and Project Reports; Environmental Document coordination; and

15. His traffic management techniques allowed for an accelerated
PS& E bid documents. Juann is an expert in the preparation of

construction schedule of only 18 months.
geometric plans and specifications for highway systems,
conventional roadways, and site- related improvements, such as US- 50/ Western Placerville Interchanges  Placerville, CA

bikeway planning and design, right of way engineering and traffic
Project Engineer Juann served as a key member for the

control.       
preparation of the PSR, PR, Environmental Document( EIR/ FONSI)

Harlan Road Realignment  Lathrop, CA and phased PS& E packages for improvements to the interchange,

freeway, and overcrossing( along US- 50 between the Placerville
Project Manager uann is leading the team in the design of

Drive/ Forni Road Interchange and the Ray Lawyer Drive
Harlan Road Realignment. The project includes precise plan line,     

Overcrossing) and obtained ready- to- list status. Dokken provided
right of way, environmental assessment and preparation of all

full project management including coordination with Caltrans for
documents, survey and base plans, permitting, construction plans,   

both design oversight and Local Assistance processing due to the
specifications and estimates. Collaborating with subconsultants,     

federal funding. Dokken prepared all Requests for Authorizations,
the Ciry of Lathrop and the diverse team at Dokken, Juann

reviewed Cooperative P,greements, and developed funding plans
continues to manage the project with respect to the timeline and

for a phased delivery of the project including assisting the City in
milestones.   

securing State Corridor Mobility Improvement Account( CMIA)

I- 205/ Chrisman Road Interchange  Tracy, CA funding for the first phase of the project and Caltrans SHOPP,

Counry STGP and Federal STIP funds for the second phase.
Project Manager  This project will construct a new interchange

Construction is complete, consisting of a westbound on- ramp and
along I- 205 between I- 5 and MacArthur Drive. The PSR- PDS was

auxiliary lane at Ray Lawyer Drive and the realignment of Fair Lane
delivered and approved in only 10 months, making it the first

Road, and an eastbound off- ramp and auxiliary lane at Ray Lawyer
streamlined PSR- PDS in Caltrans District 10. The proposed

Drive and realignment of Forni Road. Juann was responsible for the
interchange is a partial cloverleaf which includes four diamond-      

preparation of an alternative study.
type ramps and two loop on- ramps configured for upgraded
connections when Chrisman Road is upgraded to a four to six- lane I- 10/ Portola Avenue Interchange  Palm Desert, CA

expressway planned in the future.) uann was responsible for
Project Manager  This project involved the design of the Portola

preparation and delivery of a PSR- PDS. The PSR- PDS followed the
Avenue Interchange, which has been in the works since 2008. The

newly streamlined process developed by Caltrans and approved by
project constructed an overpass with freeway connectors at Varner

FHWA.
Road and Dinah Shore Drive. Portola stopped at Dinah Shore and

Capital SouthEast Connector: White Rock Road  Folsom, CA did not reach I- 10. The design plan called for realignment of Varner,
which served as a frontage road, as well as a grade separation

Project Manager  This project is a gap closure from the
between traffic and the Union Pacific Railroad tracks paralleling the

completed Sacramento County improvements on White Rock Road
freeway. Juann was responsible for the Project Report and

to the White Rock Road improvements in EI Dorado County near

Environmental Document and oversaw completion of the projecYs
Latrobe Road. Between Prairie City Road and Carson Crossing

PS& E package. Juann also oversaw the acquisition of new right of
Road, White Rock Road was reconstructed on a new alignment as a

way, including a portion of the existing UPRR corridor.

DOKKEN
Appendix- Key Staff Resumes

375



r,./§,".

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Jacqueline Lockhart, PE Green valley Road Widening  Folsom, CA

PROJ ECT ENG I N EER
Project nnanager  This project widened Green Valley Rd. from 2
lanes to 4 lanes with left turn channelization between East Natoma

Education St. and Sophia Pkwy. The road widening included 12- foot through
2005, B5 Civil Engineering, santa Clara universiry lanes, an 11- foot dual left turn lane, and 8- foot shoulders. The

License/ Certification
project also improved the Shadowfax Ln. intersection, improve the

zoos, CA Professional Civil Engineer,# C73256 permanent Reclamation driveways along the roadway corridor,
update roadway drainage, and enhance culverts to maintain

Years of Experience
drainage conductivity. Additionally, 3, 000- LF of steel post MGS and

18 years( 11 w/ Dokken)
end treatments were constructed to protect drainage features and

Bureau of Reclamation property. Jacqueline was responsible for all
Ms. Jacqueline Lockhart has 18 years of aspects of the PS& E package, bidding, and construction support.

transportation, civil, and land use engineering

experience. Jacqueline' s experience includes
SR- 70 Feather River Boulevard Interchange  Yuba County 

geometric design for roadways, intersections
Folsom, CA

and interchanges, water and sewer lines,       Design Engineer  Dokken completed the final design, obtained

drainage calculations and storm drain design,    final project approval and permits, and supported construction of a
preparation of engineering studies and technical new modified L- 1/ L- 9 configuration interchange to replace the

reports, and the preparation of specifications and cost estimating.    existing at-grade intersection of Feather River Boulevard at State
Jacqueline has significant experience preparing full PS& E packages,   Route 70( SR- 70) in Yuba County. Jacqueline was responsible for

including QA/ QC, and ensuring that contract documents are providing specifications, signing and striping plans, and staged
consistent.    construction/ traffic handling plans.

Harlan Road Realignment  Lathrop, CA US- 50/ Western Placerville Interchanges  Placerville, CA

Project Engineer  Proposed development projects within San Design Engineer  Dokken prepared the Project Report( PR),

Joaquin Counry will cause the I- 5 interchange at Roth Road, within Environmental Document( EIR/ FONSI) and PS& E for improvements

the City of Lathrop, to operate at an acceptable level. This project to the interchange, freeway, and overcrossing along US- 50 between
will realign Harlan Road at Roth Road to make way for the future the Placerville Drive/ Forni Road Interchange and the Ray Lawyer
interchange project. Jacqueline is responsible for overseeing all Drive Overcrossing and obtained ready- to- list status. Jacqueline
design aspects including preparation of an alternative study, was responsible for the preparation of the project Special
preliminary engineering, and final PS& E.      Provisions as well as QA/ QC of the PS& E package for Phase 1A and

1- 205/ Chrisman Road Interchange  Tracy, CA
1 B of the project.

Project Engineer This project will construct a new interchange
10/ Portola Avenue Interchange  Palm Desert, CA

along Interstate 205 between MacArthur Drive and Interstate 5 in Design Engineer  This$ 72 million project will construct an
the Ciry of Tracy to relieve the forecasted increase in traffic demand interchange in Palm Desert. The I- 10/ Portola Avenue Interchange

at surrounding interchanges. Jacqueline was responsible for has been in the works since 2008 and will construct an overpass

preliminary geometrics, alternative development, and writing the with freeway connectors at Varner Road and Dinah Shore Drive.
Caltrans Project Study Report- Project Development Support( PSR-    Portola curre tly stops at Dinah Shore and does not reach I- 10. The
PDS), Project Report, and New Connection Report. Jacqueline also design plan calls for realignment of Varner, which currently serves
was responsible for preparing the Caltrans- approved Design as a frontage road, as well as a grade separation between traffic
Exception Fact Sheet for non- standard interchange spacing on an and the UPRR tracks paralleling the freeway. Jacqueline was
interstate. Jacqueline is currently working on PA& ED for this responsible for the preparation of the Caltrans Project Report.

project.
Railroad Street Improvements  Elk Grove, CA

I- 15/ Limonite Avenue Interchange  Riverside County
Task Order/ Project Manager  This project reconstructed the

Lead Design Engineer  This project will replace the existing existing Railroad Street from Elk Grove Blvd to its southern
Limonite Avenue tight diamond( Type L- 2) interchange with a terminus and reconstruct a portion of Grove Street from Railroad

partial cloverleaf( Type L- 9) interchange on Interstate 15 in Street along the Old Town Plaza. Improvements included curb,
Riverside County. The project will also replace the existing Limonite gutter and sidewalk, drainage improvements, and the construction
Avenue Overcrossing and widen the roadway from four lanes to six of two new parking lots. Additionally, the project constructed new
lanes. Jacqueline was responsible for preparing the preliminary underground utilities to serve a future adjacent development.

engineering, identification of right of way impacts for all effected acqueline was responsible for the overall management of the

parcels, permitting coordination, and utility coordination with PA& ED and PS& E phases as well as providing construction support.
multiple agencies.     Construction of this project was completed Fall 2021.

DOKKEN
Appendix- Key Staff Resumes

376



PROFFSSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR    

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

Zach Liptak project and facilitated Caltrans approval of all materials used in the
public hearing during circulation of the environmental document.

ENVI RON MENTAL LEAD Zach was also responsible for oversight of preparation of the
Biological Assessment and Section 7 Consultation with USFWS and

Education a Finding of No Adverse Effect and Programmatic Agreement with
2014, BS Environmental Science, California State University, Sacramento

SHPO. Zach has continued coordination with Caltrans District 10

License/ Certification and revalidated the EIR/ EIS and prepare for construction of the first
zo s, Institute of Noise Control Engineers( INCE)    phase of the project and coordination with regulatory agencies for
2015, Environmental Applications of GIS for ESRI ArcMap GIS Mapping permitting and has secured a 401, 404, and 1602 permits. Zach
Software

2015 FHWA Traffic Noise Model 2. 5( TNM 2. 5)      
continues to coordinate with USFWS regarding mitigation for
impacts to California tiger salamander habitat for the first phase of

Years ofExperience the project, anticipated to be constructed in 2024.
11 years( All w/ Dokken)

SR- 99/ Pelandale I terchange Modesto, CA

Mr. Zach Liptak is a Senior Environmental Environmental Planner  Dokken prepared the PA& ED,

Planner/ Noise and Air Specialist with 11 years Supplemental PR and delivered 100% PS& E for the reconstruction

of experience in the various stages of of the Pelandale Avenue Interchange at SR- 99 for the City of

environmental compliance including Modesto. The project completely reconstructed the obsolete

NEPA/ CEQA environmental documents, Pelandale Avenue Interchange; reconstructed the overcrossing, the

regulatory permits, and technical studies. Zach SR- 99 on- and off- ramps in new alignments; and constructed a

has experience in assisting with Federal and State southbound auxiliary lane. Zach was responsible for completing an

of California regulatory permitting and compliance with environmental revalidation with Caltrans District 10 for the last

environmental laws and regulations. Zach is skilled in scoping,       construction phase of the project, which required biological,

inventory, and analysis of environmental resources, specifically cultural, paleontological, and hazardous waste documentation in
noise and air, that may be impacted by public works projects. order to secure the CEQA/ NEPA revalidation. Caltrans issued the

environmental revalidation in less than a month from the time the
Zach is especially skilled in preparing complex environmental

supplemental documentation was started.
documents, such as combined CEQA/ NEPA environmental

documents, and in securing approvals of these documents from US- 50/ Western Placerville Interchange Improvements 

local agencies, Caltrans Districts and Headquarters. He Platerville, CA

accomplishes this through a deep understanding of environmental
Lead Environmental Planner  This project constructed a new

laws and regulations, Caltrans policies, and expert writing skills.      

westbound auxiliary lane between Ray Lawyer Drive and the
I- 205/ Chrisman Road Interchange  Tracy, CA existing westbound off-ramp at Placerville Drive, a new westbound

on- ramp from Ray Lawyer Drive onto US Highway 50 and
Lead Environmental Planner This project will construct a new

reconstructed the westbound on- ramp onto US Highway 50. Zach
interchange along I- 205 between I- 5 and MacArthur Drive The new

Was responsible for the preparation of the Air Quality Report,
interchange will connect existing Chrisman Road, currently a two-    

facilitating interagency consultation, modeling of the operational
lane local roadway, to I- 205, increasing mobility, relieving

and construction air quality emissions, and air quality conformity
congestion at adjacent interchanges, and serving existing and

analysis which received concurrence from FHWA. Zach was
planned development in the vicinity. Zach was responsible for

responsible for assisting in the preparation of technical studies
preparing the environmental technical study addendums, including

requiring revalidations due to the phasing of the project. Zach also
the Air Quality Report, Natural Environment Study, Community

assisted in conducting biological surveys for elderberry shrubs as
Impdct Assessment, Noise Study Report, Visual Impact

well as conducting tree surveys of nearly 1, 000 trees within the
Memorandum, Water Quality Assessment, Historic Properry Survey

project area. Zach coordinated mitigation for impacts to regulated
Report, Archaeological Survey Report, Cumulative Impact

waters and trees to ensure compliance with the regulatory permits.
Assessment. Zach is assisted in the assessment of potential Vehicle
Miles Traveled impacts and associated mitigation. Zach coordinated US- 50/ Empire Ranch Road Interchange  Folsom, CA

with Caltrans District 10 and the SB 743 Working Group at Caltrans
Environmental Planner  This project proposes to construct a

Headquarters and obtained concurrence that the project is not
new interchange on Route 50 at Empire Ranch Road and

anticipated to induce VMT, and no mitigation is necessary.
eastbound and westbound auxiliary lanes. Zach assisted with and

SR- 108/ North County Corridor  Stanislaus County prepared a multitude of technical studies for the project including

the Noise Study Report, Noise Abatement Decision Report, the
Lead Environmental Planner  This project will construct a new

Visual Impact Assessment, which included 3 renderings of the
18- mile- long state route alignment consisting of a multi- lane, 

future conditions with the project and assisted with the preparation
access- controlled expressway/ freeway, with interchanges, at-grade of the Supplemental Environmental Assessment/ Environmental
intersections, grade- separated railroad crossings, irrigation district

Impact Report for the project. The environmental document has
crossings, frontage roads, and local street alignments. Zach is the

been approved by Caltrans District 3 for circulation.
primary environmental planner and author of the EIS/ EIR for the

DOKKEN
Appendix- Key Staff Resumes

377



PROfE5510NAL CONSULTIN6 SERVICES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF PID FOR   

Roth Road & I- 5 Interchange Project ( CIP PS 14- 04)

jamie Formico, SR/ WA R/ W-NAC   
addition of a free right movement from northbound SR 26 onto the

eastbound SR 12/ 26 and a left turn pocket from westbound 12/ 26

R/ W' C onto southbound SR 26 as well as provide pedestrian facilities.
These improvements are necessary to reduce traffic congestion

RIG HT OF WAY MANAG ER and improve overall traffic operations at the SR 12/ 26 intersection

for both existing and future conditions. Jamie was responsible for
Education managing all aspects of right of way including appraisal and
2001, BS Criminal Justice, California State University, Sacramento acquisition services required for the project.
Completed Course: Eminent Domain Law Basics for the Right of Way

Professional( IRWA)     Avenue 416/ EI Monte Way  Dinuba, CA

icense/ Certification Right of Way Manager  The project consisted of the widening of
CA Licensed Real Estate Broker,# 01445531

three miles of Avenue 416/ EI Monte Way from Road 56 to just west
CA Licensed Notary
Senior Right of way Designation( SwwA)   

of Road 80 and included the acquisition of over 90 parcels and 20

Negotiations Certification( R/ W- NAQ relocations. This phase included safety improvements of the at-

Relocation Certification( R/ W- RAC) grade crossing of the San Joaquin Valley and Union Pacific Railroads

at the intersection of Avenue 416/ EI Monte Way and Euclid Avenue.
Years of Experience

22 years( 9 w/ Dokken)  
Jamie was responsible for the management of appraisals, appraisal

reviews and acquisition services associated with 45 parcels.

Ms. jamie Formico has over 22 years of project
State Route 18/ Apple Valley Road Intersection Realignment 

E,.>   management, real property acquisition, and Town of Apple Vailey

railroad coordination experience. She is an
Right of Way Manager  The project proposes to improve the

active member of the International Right of
State Route 18( SR- 18)/ Apple Valley Road Intersection located in the

Way Association, past Vice Chair of the
Town of Apple Valley. The project would improve the SR- 18/ Apple

International Transportation Committee, and
Valley Road intersection by widening the four legs of the

past president for Chapter 27. Below is a summary intersection to allow additional approach and turn lanes and
of her experience.    

smooth road profiles to provide better rideabiliry and sight

Harlan Road Realignment  Lathrop, CA distance for motorists. Jamie was responsible for the management

of appraisals, appraisal reviews and acquisition services associated
Right of Way Manager  Proposed development projects within

with 4 parcels.
San Joaquin County will cause the I- 5 interchange at Roth Road,
within the City of Lathrop, to operate at an acceptable level. This SR- 49 Mountain Ranch Road  Calaveras County

project will realign Harlan Road at Roth Road to make way for the
Right of Way Manager  Dokken provided engineering design,

future interchange project. Jamie is responsible for overseeing all
environmental and right of way services to improve two segments

right of way aspects including right of way cost estimates, permit to
of Mountain Ranch Road. Jamie was responsible for the

enters, appraisals, appraisal reviews, title research, acquisitions,      
management of appraisals, appraisal reviews and acquisition

residential and non- residential relocations, escrow coordination,     

services associated with 3 parcels.
and right of way certification coordination.

Bollea Road Bridge Replacement  San Joaquin County
US- 50/ Western Placerville tnterchanges  Placerville, CA

Right of Way Manager  Dokken prepared the Project Report( PR),  
Right of Way Manager  The purpose of the Project is to remove

Environmental Document( EIR/ FONSI) and PS& E for improvements
the existing structurally deficient bridge along Bollea Road and

replace with a new bridge. The Project consists of replacing an
to the interchange, freeway, and overcrossing along US- 50 between
the Placerville Drive/ Forni Road Interchange and the Ray Lawyer

existing bridge along Bollea Road with a new two- lane concrete
slab bridge. Construction activities include pile driving, structure

Drive Overcrossing and obtained ready- to- list status. Jamie was
demolition, excavation, and construction, roadway excavation and

responsible for managing the staff's completion of waivers,
construction, and stream channel work. Jamie was responsible for

appraisals and appraisal reviews.     

managing the appraisals and appraisal reviews required for this
Gold Hill Road Over Auburn Ravine Bridge  Placer County project.

Right of Way Manager  The project replaced the existing Auburn
Ravine Bridge with a structurally sufficient bridge and widened the

roadway approaches to meet current design standards. Jamie was
responsible for the management of appraisals, appraisal reviews

and acquisition services associated with 9 parcels.

SR 12/ 26 Intersection Improvement  Calaveras County

Right of Way Manager  The project involved improvements to
the intersection which consisted of widening SR 12/ 26 with the

DOKKEN
Appendix- Cost Proposal

378



T

0
a
0

a

o

i

I
iy CL W 7.

D D   O OD O y N H O O N
1 e+_ w  C+', l  n

OQ 
I q e+  e+_ 

NQ  
R N N n {

w. ( 

tn C     Y O

y O      F
ei e

y' 

M(
y  

P v e:

j

t}q a o

p:  tN 
r{;

p N
M en 1/ Y N   N iR N  N N W ed . n N fR

M   
N N iM A i/! iR  fR   n en en fR i1/ 

n .+      
YM9

r..     
Q OG Z F v, N w w rn in vi Lr" w w n u fn' w y       Qn

d"      
F'

O

o

F v m      M
Q

CG
a    W

w w wIII       
Q F

O O W O7 O OD d'  N N m N M ti N h 0 O O O   OD m m N PJ N l  O O  '+  W  p p O N O O l  '

OO  'z
N O e+  N N e7 N N  N  . h T M  .   Y N P   N e N e, N  F H N   O O M H  T   

y F      
az         

F
D

O     '°       O. 

d   ..
i OC d'   wslatddll Ml NISR!  ,,       n

o V tn
aW

y
N N N O

O     ,
W„  

ua8p trMlo yfiH N S    

e

0
W        

zc y
o

A saFaa. wa. ni l 4a          K

N         y Q sVM MS' l d ala        
y

a"      
O
a

M   u G     4 awaeldie uawuw nug oO
qq

0.'     p 
i

IA   (      1auu  w
a a o

F F'       d v

t9   Sr"      tA Q Iqaamna p ag a7e} ossy       w
2 t      O pC

c v     o m r o

rauua

@3uamuwp ugroluag         w

a..  Z          O     F N a N N
N N

v         raBaueW te uamuw nu       

J           C7

a   ~       fp m N     D N N  ' i'   O' N N O m N
N  +'

O         Pea' ltnuamuatN u   

ndn z      ,      

p N N o o     o . r o a o 0 0 0 0 0   o 0
W       M en e l W     p N d' N N 0 N N N

O O j.10i111811 7uQ15   
N ry,

K   

a
co m a m o r a o 0 o ri m o 0 0 0 0 o av 

ry D m N ti r'  D V'     w T V'  M N     D V'   N

O
ZJi3Y R$ 7QqS S4/      

ey r 1'  H

VI

a  r m o o a o

j aau ug aae ossy        
N

w a

N        D O  D OD O

Z. caau 8u8 a epossy       
ry  ~  ~       m 

67 m D O O V  0 d' N N ap O
i N e+     e+  a O

Z aau 8ug. wryag ru'i o
w

d'  r'   D O H N
z. 12aU{ 18 JO Uaf           D

D O d'  m D 1' 0 d'  D 1' !  d'  D  D N m N V'  !'  N D  0 O  O N r'  W N W D m O r'   D p

12iLL Y al0.1d N
er N N     .+ . 1     . n m e 1 N e l e+  O en     `!  N N OY

8d' 7+ ey o aunanb e( N

d' O 4/ m O N W N N N fV lo ey e ey D N  1' I' V' N O N eo M  • r e 1  0 P' f of  .}  w N V'  p  D r'   en N

12 RIIBw 7 8fQld y
1 l"! e  ey ei 1

T 
g( S09IRjUYl11(          o

a
A

2. I\. edpnNd N

m OD

p E
Hd' saunawp uyo(          

c

o   s
S   

C7 p Vj p F F  m a o a N
o n b''a fi

d
a

oe E    o6     ,   

a u o °  `      

W
z OF,  w e  e a o o y 8G p     ^  6 V

W Y o w . p r'n    L,  €            g Yi ri c m

fzl o, d ?  i o o,     ° a  ° o m P       d o ffi x @

z 1C''
o   {     a 8i 9j  E

aJ v.° r

e       
e 3  °     w c°   "    `°      qy u c a a

y y C V Vl    M G   00 YY-    N a qn G     ' 9 O p

i
a i

G

ao'i . dq   &  wf  ' o        '  o m

e ' S. i  .!     m   a;  p o a aZ p v  &  
a°'i A a, w

a   C vC7 S e a u
R     a Q, rY  ,  

3  
a a aO C JS <  

c` o.   n rr Q      e n Q    ^  E _  >   ^  a u  &     n a,    

n
1 1.   W 1

ia   9 e'  e  °    . a C  $  Y E v  €  `  ` e u ,y v«i o'  °     $ 
a a

e' e e ' e       a  

s
a            o o    , q c " a ; Fa     o  

y
p' 

a a a a d "
p'  

O a ' o. a'     x  a      c c     a aS t-   t'n  ' 
L ea N M d'  N L e N Pq M G H N t7 en N M r' N p en N M M N 7 e l N L er N M  1' N D
a - 1 er - 1 N  - i L N N N N   M M M   r'  ' 1' 1' V'  "!'   YS Y7 Y7 N Iq a O 0 a h h l  l l  l 

O O Y Y C Y C o  C Y C Y O Y Y X O Y Y dt C C o Y Y Y dC Y O C Y o . Y C Y . C G . 7C z

a a d  '  d N      7 A "'  a d    d'  °        
e 

v'    '        `    9    '  7    ° d a A j

w F F F F F y F F F F y F F F y F F F F F y F F F F F- y 1- F Y F F F F F F F- q
F F F F F F F m

W '
O

n

a o 
a  Q 

w

379



T-

0
n.
0
L

p p p

Q

p  e

N3
t'n  

1p N N lY Mn P   [ Nq n T O  

p+'

l l 

o
R O  h O   O O vf V M O GO W OD       m

e` m„    cq    ,
t

gt o

ae 
a .

p.. 

m ..

e.  

N   aq v , r n 1q ae 
en cY ao

F•, y a` 
N N 1 f tn c

N+ 

i i w . i i N i r °t     .

M+ °
y Yi iR .

N. 
m in vPi iri  Vi n  i n  .~.  .

a. 
Yi N ^ cV .,      M x

n i Oa W v F U 1/ 1 iA H i!! 1R  f0 7R i11 / R H iR iR ill iA (/ 1        

V1  V•     
C

F a z y 8 N N a
F "

a.  
F w in             w Q
oo

y

a V'   W Z!.    ni ee++  
W m

e+ N    M N N   m  .~ r n P M D    N n   
N

uMY eNi N   e r N   b T  eNi   P  

O      F 7, 

y F      m
W H o    P       

a F

6
oc a

o V Fi,    m~      N

W   ,,  a         o 8
Q

F
N N No      x            

a   
Q y   F S

O 0 l     ..           D D D D

s-   C a Z     u,cenrng pu.      a o

W p"   Q A i SId' uaWolPPol          f
u      a

O c°o0 o n o m

b  
p     iY„       z usmpo

n

W c a x       =  s
v   y

y E.

la14. Cued          
D nZ      O a

e  

J   
r n

N     aHeue. y fau     a

2       sa e o

a
wqa

v   o o a     o
J 1 M nf pJ

a I.. I
F    er e+ O     O t

O    

f
V

iR K Li 4}

N rr! 6 C
d' a 0]     C7 M

N
v F=

N N M

y    
O O

LL
FS

0    m W 67

mn:       o] eu p. ioo       ..
a

ualad/ 4 eai7np          
sA

S
o     o o a

O aaau u m
r'     ~     d' M

auueldlueaslssy    ."+      
w

aau u
a d'     

o
auue d a epossy         

F

o aau u a
auue dalel ossy         

O O D     D D N

O N

ry N N N h  

J2aU t1. IBQUB d T

K W

3sllBWadS N
N N N 

8uryue d/ gu aau u        

eN+f M M  D
aau 8u/ aauus d. o uag N

N

a

c     o o

s epadg8u uue d M n
8u aau 8u o uag         

N N M M eMi

I BI1B{ Q 17B 0.1d N1 CD
M

C

o 
Y, v «°

b

F3 o   
m.   a a w f'     ¢

o

Z      z
Z.       E w E ..        

p

p

o     

Hi;,     T,   
i y • •    C C   C Ai.     

W
a C

u e     I "      

NE    y V

aiJ; 
W

S 01
A

n
C

L C    e        C V
f l

z
A

Y

o

q        E             

a  
E, 

0

9 0     `  
a         

O 'k
f       y

y

1G0   

C O  W± v

L  "' L 9 O        D  ^   • C i. 00 = J N 0!  A V R'  
O C G W G C  ,      G

z
E,,, v A  $, qv     

o y 3
t3 0 3     A  °  ' a  &     m 9   e 3'i0 v S° A     °' p a,   °  o G v

6 Jf
E  °  e  $    bi d Z' 65 i' n

a u
v' i     ' 

Gg i  °

g
C a  °!  a a

W
7d w a 6 c°  $ o a  a v  °   =  >    p  a a 3  ' C3 Z <   nx' C '°   o a Vf y

F       .' w  '   .
a      S 6   

Q   5 '  E      Li'  E' =  &   i    .. 

s  °°  To Pi
deeee   v    dve       E p      pe          : e   de ac  =
p

a a a a d    G a i o • s x m a    c° cg JS e m 
i e- 3 rn  a a a •  t-  ' a e o ' c. 

G - I ly P' f M N    - 1 N M V'  C    ( y M N Pj C' f r' N C e+ Cj M r' N   en l`;  Q e+  ry M d'  N  O

F_1 Z
G. ei  + . i N  ' i 0.  N N N N [ G t i lO l' 1 Q ' d V' 1' r'  d'  Vf vf VS Y! V7 G D ' O a h h h h l  l 

y ' e ' n '  M 1 . C .  
yo'.  '  ''  '? 

Y Y   ' ' '    a C o Y  ' 1 Y Y Y 1 c[    

rT, _M M 10 W M 10 N W M OY N

1  R W R t     R R W R     0 10 R t  R W q t     0 l0 q R R W t0 N R t0 R W R

F F F F F Y F F F F Y F F F Y F F F F F x F F F F F N F F Y F F. f F F F

M^ 
5

F F F F F F F m 1"" 7 y

x Z
O (
A 

380



t      ...   .       
v.:.      

y  r
i

4.r v w r.
j

d

1d r t,   t r...'     fr}      
am Vt.

q ,       
i  ." s   `    z m.       a !

o-.

t.  
3      .  m  , .    ,'      

t   '
i    i.

F, ,    
p

a 1 Yg ..  ,     .-     
4'  

n.  .       7'1`a:-:       3E a y,
R i i

i
y+    -        l     , e„: s,      

6   . rr..

Y  „            

d`.      s  f      =';    .   

k.        4y t     

i. 
e

tiE- a
zr;:

ti'   . A:    
t  }

t    ,        _ z4

l 1  .    .-
Y S`"

5
ry`   F R `    

i

5:^   
C 21e    .,.     Y

e 2 4. i,   

F

y    a       
3#        ir

s ; f < E:
i ,.

x
s

t•  ,      '     .-   
4         

F       a        
ry

l<  .  s
r

fi    :;'F r, ,°       _-      t t u      r,  •+ c^*"    ,

r r

r

c

G

t

i .
a    

t
b       S   

Y   F..       I       '   b  

4 4 -.    !   ;.   
t     aS e 0       . $

t      . 
i`  #    

M'

r h

f       ..     

F.: ti. T 
a1' : '" ' h.-

83.+' ak. 2

1      ,

i

g (       +

p  
S      a

S   ${ 
1  I  $ i

y^   d e`  
L

1. S'.
r#

f h$ t $ Y C 6 i nuF Y II' 4 9       
f

3
JS#' fiJ 114 1 I  X  

T e:       f   

r   !

i.

n  <    o  .;  ! s       ....
F      #'. a    -       -   

r I. S s

9 I

i      :'
e

t

hE t
a

E         

c 1      ,

1 t "      I   i i
I     

gY
S s          ..

a"     

r.  I .. I F

Y;`    

i 
g£

4
E    ,(

I   
1

I

G r* a;:.
w ` i.   "<     i--;       ,

e `'
s     

c .`  +    t fF    . z
F

r
t"?,          .  

s, .   ?;,_       ``    
3i,     

ir
4bf' R

Ug'     
f       

t      1--- l#      ;

C
C

f t      

f

j a+' a '  t         a' m

6  '       f_     
t

a" `
1 f    ` , r   i..      k'»

F `   '", 
a'+^'      E

e _      "   L u.       i

w ': r r   .  i i`   e  "     1 .  F' e       "
x 1 `..-       ...

t _'... I. i._          
r'       

e      '.

y.    
v r, '   

i rfF: i...,. t.' 4 et. t. t:. t    : 4 t C
f

i

ar,  ,.    

y,..,,   

9

t

r

F      ''§'    I        '    1 1    1     , ir, ry
v.

H x. r s FtC  y    {  6'  i  '' P  z ,  i     .

a  , f or 1  :     t"   f       ?$      t     '.,,,  w  r—`     
i..   {. ..  _,:,

I    I

s'      "'      l'    s

r..    , ;,       , -.   ,               i
n. F

f

t
s t

q ,    r'+       
x „ 

s  °.       V  .   t      s 3 p` rc ti   + x.,     =    tt 9

Y    .  RI e  ` fi         °

f

r
J

c`

c

i 

i`.

r 

t i  :.     %4  {  :   

f
3      -  

a k      
s      

aa; 

4

stf.   ' 

4', t.  

J

r

r   : G    
t"  

y, t    =       i       ' ce^     4re
a       t    c 

a•
e Y  i! f'

f       .,_       

G       

r r

i    '  i'/fl      P c;    .  '`   S_     
i,'"''

e .

p   r       "'    /  ' i,.   f3,: t$       
a

j s. y.

r
E U f R#    V     .     4..    `     

i_ ..

4 I   •      , : l
f.    f f  .  

C
f

M         

S  _      
I

W

r  o e.° i '  

f, 

p       e  
i E!      -      x    ' h.3     l   .

t

a
F i       «.        

g    `   # 
r,  

w  '    

r    ?.      
r

5         /  i  ,     i

M"

i'-
n     {

r       -       
4, Y.s;.,.;     :

i C ..

i          ' 

4{
R I, ht r T.3._       _      " F_° N  

y#    .

k 

f c    r`   

i c
r'

v   

1 1/ r  // j C f       r'

P 1 n+ i'     ;      P t. i 4
q

li• tq   "°
r` 1

f k
x

a
a`"  ' .,         

ii
c     < t y

s r

S' t s  L:,     '

f ., F           
u       

4         rv;$      .
2...

ro,-..-,.       j i.       t'     3` dY          f .     (" »

eud  }    c               1"
a  #`! 

k

y..

e       `       '.-       '       

u    .,,'"

r  £        w. H  ,    a

d
p             i    `! t     '          x

r..°. >
r«  y j— i

n   *• e,
ei

Y^   

e  .        

uW
F   , 

tr++ .,. .   r

g;,,
r        

Yrrs oyr+rr k

8     w

t",     
r,       

e

v.

yv      ..,.

5z' 1k 3.'..` 2' c+.'"  
i..t at4' rF t

M          

J'(` 7'F!

1,   >. 

t 7 

b       ..  
p   <. f 4

Y

6  f
g;.

e K
W

b

Q

r   "'..,   t   . 

K   ?
v  ,      .

t  ..       

h     ;
k' f

4:      

ffi$       

f  .,

j    `.....
a`:

x

6„  r    & `   f,

I
ln       iii"''         `     1 

I     'l     f     . i

li,   .       6,        , x
r:`._    i   '^ P.       ,

j     _    
a..-  y xn    .;     .',' J.., .

j

i• 41 i

a j`    e .      
Ft

t       . r 4 ta             i / A•  i S'^  ,
pa k' y'=.  

t    +  

i-f I wr i.    ^ s S  -,     k

t  y o

1          
1          vP          .     t

y
1: a

q

y

I' 

r y 
t r            -+   

y i i .  . o p   
4 j,     '

I I 1.     r z- r

r , r
e  '* c f        ;   . 3    __  

r    
x:       {^' t

r. .

i        ,   
t M r4' F-'

h 
4

4'     
N .«      

1

y `      .   
e

9          ! 
e i   ,"  y air     "'.£   

d y

V

r,
c         1 Z

u i ... .  ;           s 6>^,. .,..   ",           
d..,. ,{. 

ts..+       r #
r       

dn..
Ia      gt   fi '   

i \   y   
j       ...       '     ,

b,.    
t

rl

P fC•.       R` t'
s  . r,.. =.        

a5  4L< . l    , Y.^`      i  >      .,  y

ir

n....,--_ :     /    , :       •: l I r     ay.    . ;'  .    .        s-=. t  xxp

DOKKEN
ENGINEE RING

110 BWE RAVINE ROAD, SUITE 200

381



ITEM 4. 12

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED

WITH EP NO.  2019- 35,  LOCATED AT 231 AND 240

TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE FROM BLUE MOUNTAIN

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution Accepting Public Improvements
Associated with Encroachment Permit No. 2019- 35,

Located at 231 and 240 Towne Centre Drive, from

Blue Mountain Construction Services, Inc.

SUMMARY:

Blue Mountain Construction Services,  Inc.,  ( Blue Mountain,  Inc.) the developer of

the Towne Centre Apartments located at 231 and 240 Towne Centre Drive,

completed the public improvements associated with Encroachment Permit No. ( EP)

2019- 35. A Vicinity Map is included in Attachment B".

Staff has inspected the improvements and they have been deemed complete and in
accordance with the approved plans and specifications by the City Engineer.  The
approximate value of the improvements constructed is $ 93, 000,  as shown in the

GASB 34 Report included as Attachment ' C".

Blue Mountain,  Inc.  submitted lien releases confirming all sub- contractors and
suppliers have been paid in full and a one- year warranty bond ( based on 10% of

the GASB 34 Report) for the improvements to be accepted.

Staff requests City Council accept the public improvements associated with the EP
2019- 35.

BACKGROUND:

The City of Lathrop Planning Commission approved the Administrative Application
No 16- 84 ( AA- 16- 84) and Minor Variance No 17- 18 ( MV- 17- 18) on July 25, 2017 to
construct a new 62- unit apartment complex with public improvements on an
approximately 2. 5 acre site for the Towne Centre Apartments  ( Phase 1)  at 240

Towne Centre Drive.  Phase 1 consisted of three,  3- story buildings including two
commercial store fronts,  a recreation room/ club house  ( cabana),  swimming pool
with spa, patio area with outdoor furniture, 112 vehicle parking stalls.

The City of Lathrop Planning Commission approved the Site Plan Review No 18- 72
SPR- 18- 72)  by Resolution 18- 28 on September 19,  2018 to construct a new 84-

unit apartment complex with public improvements on an approximately 3. 4 acre
site for the Towne Centre II Apartments  ( Phase 2)  at 231 Towne Centre Drive.

382



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP 2019- 35, LOCATED
AT 231 AND 240 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE,   FROM BLUE MOUNTAIN

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.

Phase 2 consisted of three 3- story and two 2- story buildings, including 178 vehicle
parking stalls.

The Conditions of Approval ( COAs) associated with the entitlements of the projects
required the installation of frontage improvements along Towne Centre Drive,
including but not limited to paving, landscaping, lighting, and sidewalk.

Construction of the utility and frontage improvements is complete,   and the

approximate value of the improvements proposed to be accepted is  $ 93, 000,  as

shown in the GASB 34 Report. These improvements have been inspected by staff
and have been deemed complete to approved plans and to City specifications by
the City Engineer.   Blue Mountain,   Inc.   provided a performance bond   ( No.

7000001020)  with EP 2019- 35 in the amount shown in Table 1 below that

guaranteed the construction of the offsite improvements.  The performance bond
will be released and replaced with the warranty bond upon acceptance of the
improvements.

Tab/ e 1

Description Performance Bond
Warranty Bond

Number & Amount

Encroachment Permit 7000001020
9, 300

2019- 35 107, 200

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

Staff has inspected the improvements listed in the GASB 34 Report and they have
been deemed complete in accordance with the approved plans and specifications by
the City Engineer.   Blue Mountain,   Inc.   has submitted lien releases for the

improvements being accepted. Staff has received the one- year warranty bond and
as- built drawings for said improvements.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The GASB 34 report attached details the $ 93, 000 expended on the improvements

proposed to be accepted.  The future operating and maintenance costs of these
improvements will be funded by the Council approved Community Facilities District
2004- 01.

The one- year warranty bond covers any repairs or replacements that become
necessary during the one- year period,  beginning with this acceptance,  due to

defective materials or workmanship in connection with the completed

improvements.

383



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP 2019- 35, LOCATED

AT 231 AND 240 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE,   FROM BLUE MOUNTAIN

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.

ATTACHMENTS:

A.       Adopt Resolution Accepting Public Improvements Associated with

Encroachment Permit No. 2019- 35, Located at 231 and 240 Towne Centre

Drive, from Blue Mountain, Inc.

B.       Vicinity Map

C.       GASB 34 Report - 231 and 240 Towne Centre Drive

384



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP 2019- 35, LOCATED
AT 231 AND 240 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE,   FROM BLUE MOUNTAIN

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.

APPROVALS:

D[ e /-- 3

Ver nica Albarran Date

Junior Engineer

v- 20 -23
Ken Reed Date

Senior Construction Manager

0 61
Brad T ylor Date

City Engineer

L/J 3
Cari Jame Date

Finance D r ctor

L---    
o    lZ Z3

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

f0 / • zoz3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

li •to 2
Ste n J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

385



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

ACCEPTING PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH ENCROACHMENT

PERMIT NO.  2019- 35,  LOCATED AT 231 AND 240 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE,

FROM BLUE MOUNTAIN CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.

WHEREAS,   the City of Lathrop Planning Commission approved the

Administrative Application No 16- 84 ( AA- 16- 84) and Minor Variance No 17- 18 ( MV-

17- 18)  on July 25,  2017 to construct a new 62- unit apartment complex with

associated improvements for the Towne Centre Apartments ( Phase 1) at 240 Towne

Centre Drive; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Planning Commission approved the Site Plan
Review No 18- 72  ( SPR- 18- 72)  by Resolution 18- 28 on September 19,  2018 to

construct a new 84- unit apartment complex with associated improvements for the
Towne Centre II Apartments at 231 Towne Centre Drive; and

WHEREAS,   the Conditions of Approval   ( COAs)   associated with the

entitlements of the projects required the installation of frontage improvements
along Towne Centre Drive, including but not limited to paving, landscaping, lighting,
and sidewalk; and

WHEREAS,   construction of the utility and frontage improvements are

complete and the approximate value of the improvements proposed to be accepted
is $ 93, 000, as shown in the GASB 34 Report; and

WHEREAS,  Blue Mountain Construction Services, Inc. ( Blue Mountain, Inc.)

provided a performance bond  ( No.  7000001020)  with Encroachment Permit No.

EP)   2019- 35 in the amount shown in Table 1 below that guaranteed the

construction of the ofFsite improvements.  The performance bond will be released
and replaced with the warranty bond by the City Engineer upon acceptance of the
improvements

Table 1

Description Performance Bond
warranty Bond

Number & Amount

Encroachment Permit 7000001020
g, 300

2019- 35 107, 200

and

WHEREAS,  staff has inspected the improvements listed in the GASB 34

Report and they have been deemed complete and in accordance with the approved
plans and specifications by the City Engineer; and

WHEREAS,   Blue Mountain,   Inc.   has submitted lien releases for the

improvements being accepted; and

386



WHEREAS,   the City' s maintenance costs will increase because of the

additional improvements that have to be maintained.  The future operating and
maintenance costs of these improvements will be funded by the Council approved

Community Facilities District 2004- 01.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby accept the public improvements associated with EP No. 2019-
35 from Blue Mountain, Inc. located at 231 and 240 Towne Centre Drive.

387



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lathrop this 13t"
day of November 2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas Salvador Navarrete

City Clerk City Attorney

388



MENT
t

r           g .,
z,_.     

k
L t 4"- 1

rw,      r-n.,.*  ,

I

ch

w    `      ;

MCKEE         >.n

w.    *
rr      ,     ,   BOULEVqRD° ;.     _

z
x

n b       .   ' w
sl

i
s'         ,

i

t

i
i-

7..   

c----•
1'

y;   
a

8 ds       ' v       
t v

M
1     

i YY r
i^

5_    

7    !      y

w'

Y  }`  '." 0. a, 

Y

a D   :
r!.,,,  

i f       -

0      * 
t   

C "'
e;,., y i e       a

r   

S

p
f    

d , 
nmx

µ      ,       
q    ..      

a yA 
y

x

x   , a    <
nx 3n i   s    

1'/  
I    

u
r ry'1̂..  ,    . 9M".r

Y'       
D

R

k' g      '  '

Z   ,       s

r,         .•.

2 o k..;•- C       o      ='

V

n-i    

s_       

g   _,     

1 ` R   t

T     

w  " w-` ,   ,       4* .      
i t

La     -,     .
37      i. t  .   . 

v.,.,.   " S  
n:,.

0j i
9.        § i:`.'"  } f ;  7.,..."

j i1 i1."C
ff 4u- w. L       •

g       r. t
4

W7. , A,.       T.       1 d`  . r      

gi            ;""       G  [       ,          ..' 
7' 3

l;,, '     a       

L"
i, P,  p.;

r      i  , ,

i         

a   ,        ,     `  :'  

2

m" „
v,    I   -

fit x: 1 l`•."  m 1  • j3'       
g

y   
c    ..     

h m
r;    z

t x       ,

f-        

t`  m C r_ x       +          s
s:

0

t. 1        <       
f

m r. 

Ms
s

d.     

L 4!       
lt   

v-.`

rt.;._.. si r   
ay

f

r.;       

e,¢ 
w

U

rn    GOLDE N VqLLEY P RKWAY

i

Y        ' '   -

f       

4 .?
jt"  

3g

r

a:.,,.      .       . 
t

1. y i. y y.

r:

E
n

w"_.   

rt• sa.. a"Fc
r         

Y

Y 3

7-,    
l   - e i`      

i*

am
v,„

r 

f .

m
Z  z.       

o Ll
v'     

s

mZ       r' r,     -`....   
t.,°"    r "A`,°`, yJ

5 5      y    s"      !. 
I :'.*       

sY„   S JY Y r t

F

w s.             ,      

fi t

a: 3:    

a  `
Y
i,,('

I '
4... I I I I} li '

4 i',

p .. 

a u a      t'

Z

o'    

389



ATTACHMENT

CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by: Date:    10/ 13/ 2023

Project Name: Towne Centre Apartments Offsite Improvement Plans

Item Unit Qy Unit Price Amount

Concrete Sidewalk SF 6, 420      $       8. 00      $     51, 360. 00

Driveway Approach EA 3      $   3, 276. 00      $      9, 828.00

Handicap Ramps EA 3      $   1, 460. 00      $      4, 380. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 330      $       5. 00      $      1, 650. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 54      $      54. 00      $      2, 916. 00

Manholes( type ll)       EA 1      $   3, 000. 00      $      3, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 43      $      32. 00      $      1, 376. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 203      $      32. 00      $      6, 496. 00

1- 1/ 2" Water Service EA 1      $   1, 500. 00      $      1, 500. 00

2- 1/ 2" Water Service EA 1      $   2, 000. 00      $      2, 000. 00

3- 1/ 2" Water Service EA 4      $   2, 000. 00      $      8, 000. 00

Total     $     93, 000. 00

390



391



ITEM 4. 13

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH

EP NO.  2022- 133,  LOCATED ON MOSSDALE ROAD,

FROM BROWN SAND, INC.

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution Accepting Public Improvements
Associated with Encroachment Permit No. 2022- 133,

Located on Mossdale Road from Brown Sand, Inc.

SUMMARY:

Brown Sand, Inc. ( Brown Sand) has completed the public improvements associated
with Encroachment Permit  ( EP)  2022- 133 and identified as Capital Improvement

Project ( CIP) PS 23- 10, Mossdale Road Paving ( Project). A Project Location Map is
included as Attachment " B".

Staff has inspected the improvements which have been deemed complete and in

accordance with the approved plans and specifications by the City Engineer.  The
approximate value of the improvements constructed is $ 224, 113, as shown in the

GASB 34 Report included as Attachment " C".

Brown Sand submitted lien releases confirming all sub- contractors and suppliers have
been paid in full,  and a one- year warranty bond  ( based on 10% of the GASB 34

Report) for the improvements to be accepted.

Staff requests City Council accept the public improvements associated with EP No.
2022- 133.

BACKGROUND:

On May 8, 2023 via Resolution 23- 5281, City Council approved the creation of CIP
PS 23- 10, Mossdale Road Paving, and a reimbursement agreement with Brown Sand
to fund a portion of the cost of an asphalt overlay and associated tasks for a segment
of Mossdale Road ( Work).   The reimbursement agreement stipulated that the City
would pay for half of the subject improvements up to $ 135, 000 upon City Engineer' s
approval of the Work and acceptance by City Council.

The improvements include pavement grind- off and asphalt overlay of 3" depth and

24' width along a 2, 600' segment of Mossdale Road from the I- 5 grade separation
to the south end of City maintenance.   The project cost includes shoulder backing
and traffic striping.

Construction of these improvements is complete and the approximate value of the

improvements proposed for acceptance is  $ 224, 113,  as shown in the GASB 34

Report.

392



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP NO.  2022- 133,

LOCATED ON MOSSDALE ROAD FROM BROWN SAND, INC.

These improvements have been inspected by staff and deemed complete by the City
Engineer. Brown Sand provided a Performance Bond ( No. ES00008004) for EP 2022-
133 in the amount shown in Table 1 below that guaranteed the construction of these
improvements.

The guarantee will be released and replaced with a warranty bond by the City
Engineer upon acceptance of the improvements.  The warranty bond covers any
repairs or replacements that become necessary during the one- year period,
beginning with this acceptance,  due to defective materials or workmanship in
connection with the completed improvements. After the initial one- year warranty
period, the maintenance cost of these improvements will be funded by the Council-
approved operating budget.

Table 1

Description
Performance Bond Warranty Bond
Number & Amount Number & Amount

Encroachment Permit ES00008004 ES00008004

2022- 133 270, 000 22, 411

Staff requests City Council accept the public improvements associated with EP No.
2022- 133 from Brown Sand, Inc., which will allow the City to reimburse Brown Sand

112, 057 for the City' s share of these improvements.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

Staff has inspected the improvements deemed complete and in accordance with the

approved plans and specifications by the City Engineer. Brown Sand has submitted
lien releases and a one- year warranty bond for the improvements being accepted.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The attached GASB 34 report details the $ 224, 113 expended on the improvements

proposed for acceptance, the City' s cost for which is $ 112, 057. The City' s portion of
the Project and will be funded from CIP PS 23- 10, Mossdale Road Paving. The future
maintenance cost of these improvements will be paid from Fund 2080 ( Streets).

ATTACH M E NTS:

A.       Resolution Accepting Public Improvements Associated with Encroachment
Permit No.  2022- 133,  Located at 663 Mossdale Road, from Brown Sand,

Inc.

B.       Project Location Map

C.       GA56 34 Report - 663 Mossdale Road

393



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH EP NO.  2022- 133,

LOCATED ON MOSSDALE ROAD, FROM BROWN SAND, INC.

APPROVALS:

r.vt h 17 a( O • Z.

Steven Hollenbeak Date

Assistant Engineer

l0 '-. 2r. 2_
Ken R ed Date

Senior Construction Manager

I o 2' 1.023

Brad ylor Date

City E gineer

Do  c.7

Cari a s Date

Finance irector

l c • 2Co• Zo2' S

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

Z6 ` z3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

t- 23
Steph J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

394



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP ACCEPTING

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH ENCROACHMENT PERMIT NO.

2022- 133 FROM BROWN SAND, INC., LOCATED ON MOSSDALE ROAD

WHEREAS, on May 8, 2023 via Resolution 23- 5281, City Council approved the
creation of Capital Improvement Project PS 23- 10 Mossdale Road Overlay and a
reimbursement agreement with Brown Sand, Inc. ( Brown Sand) to fund a portion of
the cost of an asphalt overlay and associated tasks on an approximately 2, 600 foot
long segment of Mossdale Road; and

WHEREAS, the Reimbursement Agreement stipulated that the City would fund
half of the cost of the work associated with Encroachment Permit ( E. P.) No. 2022-

133 up to $ 135, 000; and

WHEREAS, construction of the overlay improvements are complete and the
approximate value of the improvements proposed for acceptance is $ 224, 113,  as

shown in the GASB 34 Report; and

WHEREAS, Brown Sand provided a Performance Bond ( No. ES00008004) for

EP 2022- 133 in the amount shown in Table 1 below that guaranteed the construction
of the improvements. The guarantee will be released and replaced with the warranty
bond by the City Engineer upon acceptance of the improvements; and

Tab/ e 1

Description
Performance Bond Warranty Bond
Number & Amount Number & Amount

Encroachment Permit ES00008004 ES00008004

2022- 133 270, 400 22, 411

WHEREAS, staff has inspected the improvements listed in the GASB 34 Report

and they have been deemed by the City Engineer complete and in accordance with
the approved plans and specifications; and

WHEREAS, Brown Sand has submitted lien releases and a warranty bond for
the improvements being accepted; and

WHEREAS,  staff requests City Council accept the public improvements
associated with EP No. 2022- 133 from Brown Sand, Inc.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby accept the public improvements located on Mossdale Road and
constructed under EP No. 2022- 133 from Brown Sand, Inc.; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,  that the City Council of the City of Lathrop
approves the transfer of unused funds from CIP PS 23- 10 back to Fund 1010, Street

Repair Reserves.

395



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas Salvador Navarrete

City Clerk City Attorney

396



ATTACHMENI"
ATTACHMENT B- PROJECT LOCATION MAP

t  

l
f

Na.,
j     r   ''

p.`.

m:.    
t

k            

a

j

r.      `     

4.:    nn"         

h   . 

4     #'

i i V!-~ i       ,
k       •

w S.• 

F

o-      y q/ 

v '

y
i-

Y' 

J r'   
r.-

C n' 
a;* \    

t.    V 13 

O    `  C a 1 4    u r      .
r-  a          K S x i

F.;'  

l`      ,     

s,      rl'    $   cr, es i     , g'

y''  "   '      t,;„     ,,'  t f s      .
1 r

x. x ' a.  ;    '.      

t,     n       . r

wg.     ,,  
y  '..'

r,\
w      

d._ i

a..' a..  u irk

t      r     '"".      

k i l.       

1   .     

t},   

Y t      :

S.       #     1
i.

1 6,! t a c;

r'         W""' p'   #  i
t..,

xY:
i

n

m    

D
I

a
c c         

2 a

O     
Y.T e

s,

i       ' 
x,

x      i.

u s   ,u:   

t r   

s       

i

r.

7
t  ~"'  

3   %.0

2 s

y

N ry r x' u.       

1         
1'     

x      .'

x .       1 .

z O
y

o• n.          

K : 

v

397



0/ 12/ 2023

City of lathrop ATTACHMENT C

vroject Acceptance
ATTACHMENT

GASB 34 Report)   G ..

Submitted By:     G Boone, Brown Sand Inc.       Date:      31/ 13/ 2023

Project:   CIP PS 23- 10 Mossdale Road Overlay

t2,600' segment of Mossdale Road w/ approx. center:

Address:  LAT 37. 776488° - LONG - 121.318090°

SOFT COSTS Unit Price Amount

Subtotal:    0. 00

Item Description Unit Qty Unit Price Amount

A Asphalt Overlay: 2, 600LF x 24' W x 3" D

Asphalt: 62, 400SF @ 3" Depth

1
Shoulder Backing: 10,400 SF @ 3" Depth

S 1 5224, 113. 00 5224, 113. 00
Traffic Striping: 2, 600 LF Centerline

Traffic Striping: 5, 200 LF Edgeline

Subtotal:       224,113.00

Hard Cost Subtotal 224, 113. 00

Soft Cost Subtotal 0. 00

Total 224, 113. 00

S:`: PWK. 1- 0[ D' Staff Reports: 2023'. 11- NmWccept CIP PS 23- 10 Mossdale Rd Pavi g_ SH GASB 34 CIP PS 23- IO. rzlsx 398



399



ITEM 4. 14

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM: RATIFY THE PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC

LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION SURVEILLANCE

SYSTEM SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM

VIGILANT SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP GG 19- 07

CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

RECOMMENDATION:       Adopt a Resolution to Ratify the Purchase of
Automatic License Plate Recognition

Surveillance System Software and Hardware

From Vigilant Solutions, LLC. for CIP GG 19- 07

Citywide Surveillance System

SUMMARY:

The Lathrop Police Department finds the existing city surveillance system extremely
useful during criminal investigations as it facilitates solving crimes and serves as a
deterrent to criminal activities. The Automatic License Plate Recognition ( ALPR) and

surveillance cameras installed at River Islands Parkway and Golden Valley Parkway
register an average of 530, 000 vehicles per month traveling through this intersection,
along with traffic accidents and other questionable activities.

After the creation of Capital Improvement Project  ( CIP)  GG 19- 07 Citywide

Surveillance System, City Council approved the purchase and installation of ALPR and
surveillance cameras in five ( 5) developmental areas of Lathrop. Upon installation of
the approved cameras,  city stafF identified that additional ALPR cameras were
required to capture roads with three ( 3) or more lanes of traffic in one direction. Staff

reached out to Vigilant Solutions as the provider of the previously purchased ALPR
cameras and requested quotes for additional ALPR cameras.  Vigilant Solutions

provided a quote of $ 51, 322. 50 for the additional ALPR surveillance cameras. The

City Manager approved of the purchase as to avoid project delays. It is cost saving
to have the ALPR cameras installed while work is being completed for another project
in the same areas.

Staff is coordinating Capital Improvement Project PS 23- 01 Traffic Signal Technology,
to upgrade the City' s traffic control system, approved by City Council on July 11th,
2022, and have the same vendor technicians installing equipment in the same areas
of the City as Capital Improvement Project GG 19- 07. This will reduce installation
costs related to the CIP GG 19- 07. The City Manager approved the purchase of the
equipment to avoid delays due to supply chain constraints and demand. Tonight, stafF
is requesting City Council ratify the City Manager's approval of the purchase of
software and hardware from Vigilant Solutions, LLC. for $ 51, 322. 50.

400



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

RATIFY THE PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION

SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM VIGILANT

SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP GG 19- 07 CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

BACKG ROU N D:

The Automatic License Plate Recognition ( ALPR) and surveillance cameras installed

at River Islands Parkway and Golden Valley Parkway register an average of 530, 000
vehicles per month traveling through this intersection, along with traffic accidents
and other questionable activities.  Law enforcement has been able to use the

surveillance system to assist them with their investigations by providing evidence
regarding crimes such as:

Burglary Vandalism

Arson Dumping
Theft Speeding
Assault Robbery
Hit and Run Reckless Driving

After the creation of Capital Improvement Project  ( CIP)  GG 19- 07 Citywide

Surveillance System, City Council approved the purchase and installation of ALPR and
surveillance cameras in five ( 5) developmental areas of Lathrop. Upon installation of
the approved cameras,  city stafF identified that additional ALPR cameras were
required to capture roads with three ( 3) or more lanes of traffic in one direction.

Vigilant Solutions provided a quote of $ 51, 322. 50 for the ALPR surveillance cameras.

Staff reached out to Vigilant Solutions requested quotes for the additional ALPR
cameras. Vigilant Solutions, LLC has confirmed to the City to be the sole copyright
owner, manufacturer and distributor of the license plate recognition hardware and
software, which is currently installed and utilized at various major intersections within
the City for CIP GG 19- 07. Vigilant Solutions, LLC hardware is the only hardware able
to capture, collect and transmit data (" communicate") with Vigilante Solutions, LLC

proprietary software,  therefore,  this purchase with Vigilante Solutions,  LLC is

necessary to ensure that the new, additional cameras and software system that needs
to be purchased is able to integrate and communicate with the cameras and software
system currently installed and utilized throughout the City.  Pursuant to Lathrop
Municipal Code  ( LMC)  2. 36. 110  ( A),  this purchase is considered a sole source
purchase which is exempt from bidding procedure because the additional, necessary
license plate recognition cameras and software can only be purchased from Vigilant
Solutions, LLC as they own the copyright to their proprietary products and no similar
substitute exists that would integrate and communicate with the City' s current license
plate recognition software system.

To reduce expense for the configuration of the equipment, stafF is coordinating with
Capital Improvement Project PS 23- 01 Traffic Signal Technology by having the same
vendor technicians working on the intersections for Capital Improvement Project PS
23- 01 configure the equipment for Capital Improvement Project GG 19- 07. This will
save the City in expenses for the configuration. It is essential that the equipment for

401



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

RATIFY THE PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION

SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM VIGILANT

SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP GG 19- 07 CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

Capital Improvement Project GG 19- 07 arrive while the technicians are completing
work in the area for Capital Improvement Project PS 23- 01 to reduce expenses. The

City Manager approved the orders for equipment to avoid project delays due to supply
chain constraints and demand. Tonight, staff is requesting City Council ratify the City
Manager's approval of the purchase of software and hardware from Vigilant Solutions,
LLC. for $ 51, 332. 50.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The proposed Surveillance System ordered through Vigilant Solutions,  LLC. for

CIP GG 19- 07 Citywide Surveillance System represents an effort to utilize

technology to enhance crime prevention and residents safety while expediting
crime investigations.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The purchases from Vigilant Solutions,  LLC for $ 51, 332. 50 is within the balance

available in CIP GG 19- 07.  The budget is sufficient to cover the full cost of the

equipment.

ATTACH M E NTS:

A.  Resolution of the City Council of the City of Lathrop to Rati y the Purchase of
Automatic License Plate Recognition Software,  Hardware and Configuration

from Vigilant Solutions, LLC. for CIP GG 19- 07.

B.  Purchase order with Vigilant Solutions, LLC.

402



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

RATIFY THE PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION

SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM VIGILANT

SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP GG 19- 07 CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

APPROVALS:

b  3 d - d -

T ernandes Date

nfor ation Systems Director

10 3D o 3
Cari am Date

Finance irector

11-  - Zo23

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

5 6 6 zoZ 3
Salva or Navarrete Date

City Attorney

to• z3
St en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

403



RESOLUTION NO.  23 -

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP RATIFY THE

PURCHASE OF AUTOMATIC LICENSE PLATE RECOGNITION SURVEILLANCE

SOFTWARE AND HARDWARE FROM VIGILANT SOLUTIONS, LLC. FOR CIP 19-

07 CITYWIDE SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM

WHEREAS, at the April 8t'', 2019 City Council Meeting, Council approved a

resolution to create CIP GG 19- 07 Citywide Surveillance System; and

WHEREAS, at the May 8t'', 2023 City Council Meeting, Council approved the

purchase of ALPR camera surveillance system from Vigilant Solutions, LLC for CIP GG
19- 07; and

WHEREAS, the Lathrop Police Department finds the existing city surveillance
system extremely useful during criminal investigations as it facilitates solving crimes
and serves as a deterrent to criminal activities; and

WHEREAS, city staff identified that additional ALPR cameras were required to
capture roads with three ( 3) or more lanes of traffic in one direction; and

WHEREAS, Vigilant Solutions,  LLC has confirmed to the City to be the sole
copyright owner,  manufacturer and distributor of the license plate recognition
hardware and software,  which is currently installed and utilized at various major
intersections within the City for CIP GG 19- 07; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to LMC 2. 36. 110 ( A), this purchase is considered a sole
source purchase which is exempt from bidding procedure because the additional,
necessary license plate recognition cameras and software can only be purchased from
Vigilant Solutions, LLC as they own the copyright to their proprietary products and
no similar substitute exists that would integrate and communicate with the City' s
current license plate recognition software system; and

WHEREAS, at staff request, Vigilant Solutions provided a quote of$ 51, 322. 50

for the ALPR surveillance cameras; and

WHEREAS, the City Manager approved the orders for equipment to avoid
project delays due to supply chain constraints and demand.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Lathrop
does hereby ratify the City Manager' s signature approval of the purchase of additional
automatic license plate recognition   ( ALPR)   surveillance system software and

hardware from Vigilant Solutions, LLC. in the amount of $ 51, 322. 50 for CIP GG 19-
07 Citywide Surveillance System.

404



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t" day of November 2023, by
the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

405



DocuSign Envelope ID: AB3055D3-68EE-45AA- 825A-5D5DED124A29

W 390 Towne Centre Dr
Purchase Order

i Lathrop, CA 95330 No. 2024- 00000206

o Date 8/ 29/2023

Resolution

PURCHASE ORDER NUMBER MUST

The parties to this agreement APPEAR ON ALL INVOICES, SHIPPERS, BILL

are:
OF ADING AND CORRESPONDENCE

Vendor No. 3401
DELIVER BY

VIGILANT SOLUTIONS, LLC t/ 390 Towne Centre Dr
SHIP VIA

P. O. BOX841001 Lathrop, CA 95330 FREIGHT TERMS
DALLAS, TX 75284- 1001 PAGE 1 of 3

o ORIGINATOR Emily Malay

1. 00 EACH LPR- L5F Hub Unit Package 41, 800. 0000       $ 41, 800. 00

1. 00 EACH Technical Support for LPR' s 4, 535. 0000 4, 535. 00

1. 00 EACH Delivery 1, 330. 0000 1, 330. 00

1. 00 EACH Tax 3, 657. 5000 3, 657. 50

The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, equipment and materials necessary to perform the services 51, 322. 50
describe herein and agrees to comply with the terms and conditions identified below which are made a part
hereof by this reference( Outline exact detail what is to be done, where is to be done and include work
specifications, if applicable.)

DocuSqned bY oocusqned qr:

W1n, A1ti., S 9/ 5/ 2023 9/ 5/ 2023

I IQ      
n srl

CITY OF LATHROP VENDOR   ( Signature)

RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL DATE APPROVED BY DATE

i—.f• 1 !• Z 3
Kel ly eluth 9/ S/ 2023

CITY OF LATHROP VENDOR   ( Print Name)

APPROVED BY DATE APPROVED BY DATE

Special Instructions

Additional Cameras for the Intersections CIP GG 19- 07

Page 1 of 3

406



DocuSign Envelope ID: A63055D3- 68EE- 45AA- B25A- 5D5DED124A29

Pa e ? uf 3

STA. TD. RD PLTRCHASE ORDER

TERRSS AND t'OIv ITIOI S

1.   r1CCEPTANCE lcceptance of this PurcLase Order. orhether b} zittm acYno ledemomt or br pefoamance b} SeLa. shall be upon the
tams and canditions hrreof: no other teims or caadinams s1 all br biodia@ aau Bu} er uniess wriutn apprm•al thrreof speci5call}• refaring
to such otLer tams and conditions shall hase been gi en to Srller.

L TVOICES.  Srpar oe mrwce slsall be supplied for ea h Purzhmse Ordu s6ipmmt.  Each im oire sh ll be rtcmiaed and sball sLo1r
Conuact Nuaokxr. usms diuounta date of chippoent or eatzce dates. and Purchase Ordrr Nuaoba. Feilutc to show said items ms} icmilt

in deL y of pa wcnt w th all n a resenxd. inchidin rasIl discaunt. Thc 4'endor n me oa this Auc6ax Order: rsuitcd from a quotatio
u ed m t6r aame name Paymrnt ttizll not be made w a Srm namr other than that sbm n on the fLce hrtto4 vc thout written asmgpmant.

3_   PAY1 fEVT TFRIviS.  Sellrt shall rere re pa} meut rither b One-? imc payment ( L p Sum). 1 3o tlil or Qnazurl ITE 4IZED
LV' OICE. All pa}mmts aze in uirus.

3.   ORDER CIirL TGES. The Bu} er shnll ha- e the n¢h1 from nme to si r bt untorn uoaces to makc chan es tn quantiots and' or delicen•
dates of anv aztick. matcrial. or sen-ices cot•ered b,• t6is Auchasr Ord r prior m thc tinu t e it mn or it ms aze actuallti placrd into final
praduction bp the Sell r. If such chAnges ere cwd r aRer the artizle. matrrint, ar xnxes aze plered nto fival producrian b thc Seller and
such chu ges cause v substentiat iocirase or decirase in Seller' perfornoanca isill be made end tLis aider oill be modified in aaiting
accosdineh. protidrd tUat aa}' claim for adjusiment must be sssearcd bt the Scller withm a masombte dme( in no cese to rsreed tweuty
da} s) aRer the cLanee is ordered

5I3IPPIIvG. Seller e ill mdicau plainly ihc Ruchase Ordes iumber oa all b lls of lad3ng_all goods sh pptd p usnaat to said order. and
on a1t iucoices,$ e aht b Ils. and pacla es. Each paci; aee must contam a memarandaan shan iag Srllei s namG contmts af paclage. and
Purchase Ordrr Iumber

Sh pmtnts of Qoods speci5r 1 on thu Punehau Qrder nmiber should mvtt im lonest possible& e ghi rate unkss oihernue spec 5ed b
Bn}rr. Penalties oz iacnased charges c e to fuliue ta obsenr t}us p orisian nzIl be chaz¢ ed o Selkr

Sri ippina costa for goods on bacl ordrr sball be pud ae h at the rate nbuch would Ioace been applirabie d d thr com] rte orda beea
shipped at one time. All exceas costs shsll be barae b Sella. Psnial sh p ente mnst be identi6ed as euch an 9hippmg memaranda and
introices

u7tea shippmg. Selkr Sv 11 malt no decleration of r lue to ramed. except uhtte shupooent ia svbject to rek sed alue ratmgs.

An materials supplied to C g wluch rt co ered by tht OSH. Hazard Commtmuadon Standard muu De accou pamed by the ppl cable
tvfetenal Safety Data Sheet( 1 SD5) at tl e nme ofdeli en.

6.   DELIV ERY. UGIt99 OtblI1V35! lSPIt591\'\ 1dttL StL1K 9h dt tt a all arncles ro Bu}ri s prrmius. ee of all frn¢ c handling,
transportanon, dra}¢ e. bosing and similei ch rrges. ; 1ll t ma m this coauact ur of tbe essmce.

TERIv11L iATIO: V. Bu} rr may te nate al] or part of tlus concact Kit or u•triout c: use ] f but-er ternunaks t Ytheut cause. then Hu}er
sheli pay all nasoneble teiminatiom cLarges inrurtrd b? Seller.

8.   DECI.LVE IIr PRIC'ES. Buyer shall be p ooected m t6e e 2nt of decLniog prices on the imdeL Aaed paavoa of t s Purr6ase Order. If
prices derline got ircms ordaed. Seller ma}• ekct to meee pnced reducti s or other t m zs. or s onm lowrr p xes w other pauchaseis
but if Se1kr shovld tefuse to do sa. Bu} er shaLl hat t the nght to caacel aa}• or all of the bal nce due on th s Ruchase Orda nnthout cost w
But er.

9.   FORCE 7,3JEURE. VeitLer Seller naa Bu er sheil be hable for nomperformanca x w rauses 6e rond r soaabk controi_ U4' here onl}• a

part of Shcer' s capacit} to pesform is escused under tLis parsg.aph. SeIler must allcested pro cuon aad drliee:ies mooa¢ tLe canous
rustomers then under canuart for similar oads dwing tl e penod. Tbe allocanan must be mide ta r fa r and equitable m natr. ll'h re
eithu Seller or BuJer cia ms an accuse far no ate¢mance imder 8us puapnph. it mnet pcc mmoUce in wnnng to the otber patrt Sellcr
sLell not be obli ated to xli.nor Burer obli aated to purchase_ at a lat r dstt. thmt pa[ rian of the enod9 thet Srllrr ic un ble m delmc oor
Buwa is uaabk to reca e as uu due to aar acused cauce, Ia goodc are to be tencksed Sdier afl er th eapaation of' iL e oesms

spec$ ed in this Auchaer Order u7thout consrnt of Bu}^er.

10.  a7 lRR. A I'Si. Sella warrants tha all artsles and srnzce9 cocered by t LS P71ICb89! OIdQ URIl C0I7fOIM SO I8WYSE5. 5PlC1SCB1bDII5. OI
sempk9 end uill be machaatable end of good tnataiai. dewffi and warlmaosh ip. free$ om all defects, and autabk for the use inieaded.
All articles vill be sub ect to Bupci s wspection aad n ection at the glare of del er•. DeferGre arricles may be zetumed to ihe Selles for
full credit or teplacemmt at tlu Sella' s ncl aad expense, iacludme uanspoatauon charges both w} s, but no defecuse aztules shall be

irplaced nzthout fomul replacemeat order si ed b} th Buper.

11.  aSSIGh''4fENT. leithes party shall assi or transfer tbis Purchase Order uithout the wneten consent of the other

1_'.  L' DE.U." IIT. 5ELLER 1S: RR. i`TS' IIi I GOODS FtRv' ISHED Tr'DER IHIS PL' RCB aSE ORDERDO 10I L' FRI.IGE

TI' P TE.1"I, TR DEIL RI:. OR IR. DE - L1IE, OR COPI' RIGgT ? VD GREES TO R E11L T : L S E

A R iLESS B[ TI R OR IIS EitiDEE5 FROJi Z?1.:, I.L CL L1iS, SCTfS. LL BILIRE5, D?,.'1L GE5. LObSES, OR

ECPE. 5E5 CLTRRED B! BLZER OR I'rS" E EES BT RE. 1S0\ OF A1_ I.LEGED L' FRL GEIS T OF\' S' SCC' H
RIGHTS.

407



DocuSign Envelope ID: A83055D3- 68EE- 45AA- 825A- 5D5DED124A29

PAGE 3 OF 3

SFT i ER SH. LI. L' DESL' IFl \ D HOLD I3. 1Ei11II. E5S BIZER . IIS G TS \' D F1lPLUTEES FROU .
G. L TS'I I.L GL. L IS. D.. 1LiGES, LOSSE5.' D El'PE. SES. L tZL'DL\ G: 1T? OR' EI'S FEFS, 3RISL' G OCI OF UR

RESLTI.. I'L TG FRO: U IHE. PERFORIL L CE OF IIiE RORI C C5ED B1 1.\ 3' 1 GLIGErT_ i CI OR O_1IISSIU\ OF

SELLER,: i.'I SLBC'O1TR. CTOR OR. i.'TO FOR 1 i05E: YCIS. V] OF? HE.I f\ t I BE LL 18LE. L1 C. SE OF
C'O? CLTRRII G F# LTL. I'.E: CH P. RII SIiII.L BE_iR ITS S i RE dF' IHE LUSS.

13.  BUYER' S PROPERTY. :' up paopest} ofBu}•er w Srller' s nre or consnuctitiY posxasiom or eustad}• hen mdei n ill be at Seller' s nsk.
and Shcer a rees to ieimburss Bu} s for an loss or damage to such propertg hon•eti caused

1 3.  COI iPLtA_VCE RTfH: PP12C 1BI.E I. UCS A REGUUITIONS B acrrptanre hereof Seller ll'air cts:

a}  that all goods, merchaadi e. end materials deli ertd and sen ces rendrred herrmxder atiilt ho e been produred aud protiided in
compliance uith ell requi rmmts of the Fsir I.abar Standards Act of 1938. as ammded. and

b)  that all goods, materials. and equipment deLcrml hemmder shall complti with the applicabl fedrral standaids aescribed bJ the
Oecapariamal Sa& tp oad Health Act of 19? 0, or os anioended.

c)  that Sellu will romyly with a11 applicab] e lnr. niles nd ngulanons of fedaaL uate and toca] got•anaomts and agenc es. thereo£
iaeh ding but mt limiaed to E: ecuntie Ordas 11 a6. 11701. aod secuon 03 of PnM c Law 93- i1. The Rehebi3itanan., Act of 1J'+3.
thr pro vions of The Amerirans md Di.abiliaes Act, Transiert Em lo es Iaw ('Z85. 33D it_ 5. bio ec seq.} end Exeesu e
LT: nemployvunt Iaw( Sectioa 340. 550 et seq R. 5 \ So.) ti s6icb nre Leseb• inco poneed b} reSerence. unless this Piuchase Order u
exempt ptusuant to said E.:ecuII e Ordeis. ar Acts and the regulations issued tharu rr.

15.  1,' ORKER' S C01rII' EI SATION. F.1 fPL0' ER' S LLIBIL.IT'. rLVD GEVERaI. LLIHII. TIY R'hen noQl is perfmmed am Bu} Yi s

prrmises. Selkr ag ees to carr} at Sdkr' s on rspen9e.

a}  1i'orkrr' s Compensat on aod Fmplarer' s Linbili Tnzuranca.

D)  General liabilig ( including C' onvartwd Labilit• end Peod Cts Labylin+'Complrted Opcnaons} Lnstuance and Auto Liabilit
ina anct eech m ontounts m Less than$ 1_aQI?. 000 pa occurnence. Insurance cdrtifirates of sunc m enge shall be subm rnd to C' ai
UtiLties' Risi: Manageooeat upon tequest of'Bu ee

16.  LVSOLVENCY. If SeDer shall betome insoh mc Sle pennon in bankmptc}•. or shall make m assi nuo[ for rhe beaefit of creditors. or
if receiver or uuate si all be appadnt d of or fa anp of Selln' s pioprrty or busi ss. the Ptffchasr Oidu ma b canceIIed at Bu rr' s
optwa nzthout liabihty.

l i.  TA S.  Stlla agrees to cooperate t ith Bu}'CI 3II 0 093IIg t} 32 ID1FfOS1LtIR Of 7R)'[[ OIl ell Si11C1! C0' Citd b' 11115 PlttCb39! Of$ tI. tII!

kRmlity af tvhich is queuia ed by Bu}'er, and ia sec ing amt abatement or an}• refund
thurof sought by Bu} r.

18.  FOREIGN SHIPMEV' fS. Foreig n shi o eucs mu9t be pseceded b}- exerution of fomial Consvlu Inti•wce. ? t nme of s pment Octan
Bills of Ladia. Coa9ular In roice. Commerri l In roires. in triplicate. shall be faaw arded duccti m the Purchasin¢ agmt tssuing this
Ruchase Order.

19.  ti'EI' L'E. This Purchau arder shall be gm mxd by thr lan af tl e St te of Califoinia

20.  BR' DLVC;. Seller u rrants that aIl matmmis roti aed b th s Piachase Order ge no altaed a misbaanded a+tt n the mean ng of tLr
Fedesal Food. Ihug end Casmetic: ct; not an er4de azih mag not. m er got si s of Secuon 4 or 505 of eaid set, be mtro crd mio
inte: state comnoescc. and not a lterated or misbrauded svitLin the mcnnir of the ptue food and c ug laus ar the ardinmees af any sate
or cit ahich are appfinbk to such shipmor t or dcln-ery, and Selkr htreba• gf!! 9 t0 1IIAtID11t 71DtI Si Y 11Y B11 Y7 hfffi t54$ Olri II II
against all cleime. c ar¢es. utian and paoctedin s brou?At og,unst Bu er bp m law R l rnemnient authaain a b} an} prrson on account
of mp all ged adulceration os misbrant b}• Shcer of aat 9uch matenai referred to abrnr.  Sellrt does ao guarantee agaias nn
material becoming a luraeed or misbranded eft r deliresy to Bu} er by reason of causts be}• oad Selkr' a control.

21.  COlv'FLICTING TER12S. Ia rasr of a conil et bett een these terms and ronditioas and those of a segantr satten coatrut s ed b}• both
Hu qrr and Seller, flu unttea camtmct shali pztceil.

2.  RE' IE G OF RECORDS Dunng the term of the purchaee arder: a¢ reement ood for thue}• ears thereafter. C' itp of Lathrop( Cin) shall
hace tfr nght to trtun Seller' s records, onlg for dtie giuposes of trrif}wg cla ms far paymmt and compli nce atth the trims and
conditions of the purchase ordes+aaeement for at kast thm} eus aRer fmal p penmt.

3.  OFFSETTIlVG BILI. S City nsen ers the n¢ht to pplq af#'semne pa} wents fa goods nd or sestues thet aze e agunst delinquent

utilit} bills wLich are due C' ity.

a.  NON- AC2t 5I4' E AGREF14tEh' I.  The purchase o der is a non- eaclusi r rontrac and C' it} msen es the nght to pur¢hase s ane or like
matenals and+or senzces from otha sowca an Cin deems aecessazp and appropnatr.

408



DocuSign Envelope ID: AB3055D3- 68EE- 45AA- B25A- 5D5DED124A29

gilant Solutions, LLC

MO'f11pROLA SOLUTIO/ VS
P O Box 841001

Dallas, Texas 75202

P) 925- 398- 2079   ( F) 925- 398- 2113

Issued To:  City of Lathrop- Attention: Tony Fernandes Date: 08- 24- 23

Project Name:     L5F( Subscription) Multi- site update- Lathrop PD Quote ID:   TCH- 0030- 01

PROJECT QUOTATION

We at Vigilant Solutions, LLC are pleased to quote the following systems for the above referenced project:

Fixed LPR Subscription Package

Annual Cost

Qty Item#    Description

3)   VSFS-L5F- HUB Fixed LPR Subscription Package- L5F Hub Unit

Includes:

o One( 1) L5F LPR Camera w/ Comms Box

o Cellular communication service plan sold separately

o Camera Bracket( Pole or Wall), 30' Camera Cable

o Annual Warranty

o Shipping charges

Fee schedule:

0 5- Year contract term required

o Billed annually at the anniversary of purchase

16)   vSFS- L5F- SPK Fixed LPR Subscription Package- L5F Spoke Unit

Includes:

o One( 1) LSF LPR Camera

o Comms Box not included

o Cellular communication service plan sold separately

o Camera Bracket( Pole or Wall), 30' Camera Cable

o Annual Warranty

o Shipping charges

Fee schedule:

0 5- Year contract term required

o Billed annually at the anniversary of purchase

Subtotal Price 41, 800. 00

P3ge 1 f o

409



DocuSign Envelope D: AB3055D3- 68EE- 45AA- 625A- 5D5DED124A29

Technical Services

One Time Cost

Qty Item#    Description

3)   SSU- SYS- COM Vigilant System Start Up & Commissioning of' In Field' LPR system

Vigilant technician to visit customer site

Includes system start up, configuration and commissioning of LPR system

Includes CDMlCDF Training

Applies to mobile( 1 System) and fixed( 1 Camera} LPR systems

Subtotal Price 2, 985. 00

1)     VS- TRVL- 01 Vigilant Travel via Client Site Visit

Vigilant certified technician to visit client site

Includes all travel costs for onsite support services

Subtotal Price 1, 550. 00

Delivery

Qty ltem#    Description

19)     VS- SHP- o2 Vigilant Shipping Charges - Fixed or Comms

Applies to each fixed camera LPR System

Or Communication Box Purchased without LPR System

Shipping Method is FOB Shipping

Subtotal Price 1, 330. 00

Quote Notes:

1.  All prices are quoted in USD and will expire 90 days from the date of the Quote.
2.  This Quote will expire in 90 Days from the date of the Quote.

3.  Returns or exchanges will incur a 15% restocking fee.

4.  Orders requiring immediate shipment may be subject to a 15% QuickShip fee.

5.  This Quote is provided per our conversation& details given by you- not in accordance to any written specification.

6.  This Quote does not include anything outside the above stated bill of materials.
7.  MSI' s Master CustomerAgreement: https:// www.motorolasolutions. com/ en_ us/ about/ legal. html ( and all applicable

addenda) shall govern the products& services and is incorporated herein by this reference. Any free services provided

under this offer are provided AS IS with no express or implied warranty
8.  Hardware installation is not included.

9.  Customer to provide bucket truck& traffic control for SSU& C.

10.  Customer to provide all data communications and any fiber converters ro other data/ comm hardware.
11.  Annual subscription cost is$ 48,400 per year. Based on ( 19) camera systems at$ 2, 200. 00 per camera system, per year.

Page 2 of 6

410



DocuSign Envelope ID: AB3055D3- 68EE- 45AA- B25A- 5D5DED124A29"

Quoted by: Kelly Bluth- 925- 398- 2079- Kelly. Bluth@motorolasolutions. com

Subtotal Price 47, 665. 00

Sales Tax 3, 657. 50

Total Price 51, 322. 50

Page 3 of 6

411



DocuSign Envelope ID: AB3055D3- 68EE- 45AA-B25A-5D5DED124A29

Contract Terms Acknowledgement

This Contract Terms Acknowledgement ( this " Acknowledgement") is entered into between Vigilant Solutions, LLC, a

Delaware corporation (" Vigilant") and the entity set forth in the signature block below (" Customer"). Vigilant and

Customer will each be referred to herein as a" Part' and collectively as the" Parties".

1.       Contract Terms Acknowledgement.  Customer acknowledges that they have received Statements of Work that

describe the services provided on this Agreement. Parties acknowledge and agree that the terms of the Master Customer
Agreement(" MCA"),  including all applicable Addenda, shall apply to the Services set forth in the accompanying Ordering

Document. Vigilant' s Terms and Conditions, available at https:// www. motorolasolutions. com/ en_ us/ about/ legal. html,

including the Master Customer Agreement, is incorporated herein by this reference. By signing the signature block below,
Customer certifies that it has read and agrees to the provisions set forth in this Acknowledgement and the signatory to

this Acknowledgement represents and warrants that he or she has the requisite authority to bind Customer to this

Acknowledgement.

2.       Entire Agreement. This Acknowledgement, including the accompanying Ordering Document, supplements the

terms of the MCA, applicable Addenda, and Ordering Documents entered between the Parties and forms a part of the

Parties' Agreement.

3.       Disputes; Governing Law. Sections 12— Disputes of the MCA is hereby incorporated into this Acknowledgement

mutatis mutandis.

4.       Execution and Amendments. This Acknowledgement may be executed in multiple counterparts and will have the

same legal force and effect as if the Parties had executed it as a single document. The Parties may sign in writing or by

electronic signature. An electronic signature, facsimile copy, or computer image of a signature will be treated, and will

have the same effect as an original signature, and will have the same effect, as an original signed copy of this document.

This Acknowledgement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by authorized representatives
of both Parties.

The Parties hereby enter into this Acknowledgement as of the last signature date below.

Customer:

Signature:

Name:

Title:

Email:

Date:

Page4of6

412



DocuSign Envelope ID: AB3055D3- 68EE- 45AA- 625A- 5D5DED124A29

MOTOROLA SOL U TIC7NS

Fixed LPR Subscription, Fees and Payment Provision

I License Key: The Camera License Key ( CLK) means an electronic license key that will permit the use

of MSI' s LPR software to be used with standard MSI issued LPR cameras( one CLK per LPR camera) and

select M51 Software Products.

II Offer Services: This Offer includes the following Hardware/ Software Services/ Software Products:

Hardware:

o HUB: 1 Fixed LPR Camera + 1 COMMs Box

o SPOKE: 1 Fixed LPR Camera

LPR Software Services/ Software Products:

o Standard Annual Hardware Warranty

o M51 Managed/ Hosted LPR Account

o CarDetector LPR Software w/ all updates

o Mobile Hit Hunter( for CarDetector Mobile LPR Software)

o Unlimited Mobile Companiort( for Android or iPhone) Single Plate Scan

Optional Parking Services:

o Parking Toolkit ( software application)

o Parking Integration (3rd party system integration)
o Scofflaw Alerting Service

III Annual Subscription Fees ( CLKs): The Service Fees applicable to each Subscription Period shall be as

follows:

Annual Subscription Fee per System

Annual Fee Per Hub 2, 995. 00

Annual Fee Per Spoke 1, 995. 00

Optional Services

Parking Enforcement System Toolkit 1, 000. 00

Parking Integration Service 1, 000. 00

Scofflaw Alerting Service 25, 000. 00

Area intentianally left blank

413



DocuSign Envelope ID: A63055D3-68EE-45AA-825A-5DSDED124A29

M4TOROLA SOLUTIONS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has agreed to this rate sheet as of the Signature Date.

Company Name:

Signer' s Name:

Signer' s Email:

Signature Date:

Signature:

414



415



ITEM 4.15

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF

LATHROP AND RIVER ISLANDS ACADEMIES TO

PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution Approving Agreement between the
City of Lathrop and River Islands Academies to

Provide School Resource Officer Services for the

2023- 2024 School Year

SUMMARY:

The Lathrop City Council approved four ( 4) School Resource Officers ( SRO) as part

of the Lathrop Police Department. The Lathrop Police Department currently assigns
two  ( 2)  SROs to River Islands Academies public school campuses in the City of
Lathrop on a rotational basis. Having an SRO on campus enhances student and staff
safety and fosters positive relationships between law enforcement and the school
community.

The proposed agreement outlines the responsibilities of each party involved including
indemnification to address potential liability associated with providing the SRO
services.

Staff recommends City Council approve the agreement between the City of Lathrop
and River Islands Academies to Provide School Resource Officer Services for the
2023- 2024 School Year.

BACKGROUND:

The City of Lathrop' s City Council recognizes the importance of school safety and
approved four ( 4) SROs as part of the Lathrop Police Department. The SRO' s primary
focus is to provide law enforcement presence at the school campuses,  promote

positive relationships between law enforcement and students,   and foster a

partnership with the school' s administration to create a safer learning environment.

The Lathrop Police Department currently assigns two  ( 2)  SROs to River Islands

Academies public school campuses in the City of Lathrop on a rotational basis. The
City of Lathrop and River Islands Academies are aligned with their shared

commitment to prioritize the safety and welfare of the students and the school
community. The proposed agreement outlines the responsibilities of each party and
establishes mutual indemnification to address potential liability associated with
providing SRO services.

416



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF LATHROP AND RIVER ISLANDS

ACADEMIES TO PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The Lathrop Police Department currently assigns two ( 2) School Resource Officers to
River Islands Academies public school campuses. The proposed agreement outlines
the responsibilities of each party and establishes mutual indemnification to address
potential liability associated with providing the SRO services.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The personnel cost of the School Resource Officers assigned to River Islands
Academies is included in the City of Lathrop' s FY 23- 24 Adopted Budget.

ATTACHMENTS:

A.       Resolution Approving Agreement between the City of Lathrop and River Islands
Academies to Provide School Resource Officer Services for the 2023- 2024

School Year

B.       Agreement between the City of Lathrop and River Islands Academies to Provide
School Resource Officers for the 2023- 2024 School Year

417



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF LATHROP AND RIVER ISLANDS

ACADEMIES TO PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

APPROVALS:

0 1 Z 3

t Sealy Date

rim Chief of li

e.i3

Cari Jame Date

Finance Di e or

lO « g, t3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

6• Z3
St n J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

418



RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF LATHROP AND RIVER

ISLANDS ACADEMIES TO PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES
FOR THE 2023- 2024 SCHOOL YEAR

WHEREAS, the City Council approved four ( 4) School Resource Officers ( SRO)
as part of the Lathrop Police Department; and

WHEREAS, the Lathrop Police Department currently assigns two ( 2) SROs to

River Islands Academies public school campuses in the City of Lathrop on a rotational
basis; and

WHEREAS, the SRO' s primary focus is to provide law enforcement presence
at the school campuses, promote positive relationships between law enforcement and
students, and foster a partnership with the school' s administration to create a safer
learning environment; and

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop and River Islands Academies are aligned with
their shared commitment to prioritize the safety and welfare of the students and the
school community; and

WHEREAS, the proposed agreement outlines the responsibilities of each party
and establishes mutual indemnification to address potential liability associated with
providing the SRO services; and

WHEREAS, the personnel cost of the School Resource Officers assigned to
River Islands Academies are included in the City of Lathrop' s FY 23- 24 adopted
budget.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby approve the proposed Agreement between the City of Lathrop
and River Islands Academies to Provide School Resource Officer Services for the
2023- 2024 School Year.

419



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t" day of November
2023, by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

420



ATTACHMENT B

CITY OF LATHROP— AGREEMENT FOR SCHOO RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

CITY OF LATHROP

AGREEMENT BETWEEN TI CITY OF LATHROP AND RIVER ISLANDS

ACADEIVIIES TO PROVIDE SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

THIS AGREEMENT, dated for convenience this  * day of November 2023 is by and between
River Islands Academies, a nonprofit public benefit corporation (" RIA") and the City of Lathrop, a
California municipal corporation (" CITY"). The CITY and RIA may be referred to herein as " Party" or

collectively as " Parties".

RECITALS:

The following recitals are a substantive portion of this Agreement:

WHEREAS, the City will assign two ( 2) Lathrop Police Department Officers as School Resource
Officers ( SRO) to its public school campuses located in the City of Lathrop on a rotational basis; and

WHEREAS, it is not the intent of the Parties for RIA to delegate to the CITY its duty to protect its
students from foreseeable or unforeseeable dangers; and

WHEREAS, the Parties understand the RIA has broader legal authority to set and enforce campus
rules than the CITY or its officers; and

WHEREAS, the Parties understand student privacy rights limit the CITY' s and assigned officers'
access to RIA information, which may limit the CITY' s and officers' ability to perceive a potential threat;
and

WHEREAS, the Parties anticipate the assigned officers' off-campus duties and travel between

campuses will take the officers off-campus and result in the lack of the presence of an officer and marked
vehicle during such times; and

WHEREAS, the Parties agree that the absence of the assigned officer and/ or the patrol vehicle from a
school campus shall not be considered a breach of this Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, covenants, terms, and conditions in this

Agreement, RIA and the CITY agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1)       Scope of Service

The City will assign two( 2) Lathrop Police Department Officers as School Resource Officers( SRO)
to RIA' s public-school campuses located in the City of Lathrop on a rotational basis on the
instructional days listed in the FY 23- 24 school calendar, attached hereto as Exhibit" A". Exhibit

A" is attached to this Agreement and incorporated herein as though fully set forth.

Each SRO shall be the CITY' s employee and shall be subject to the CITY' s administration,

supervision, and control.

Page 1 of 5

421



CITY OF LATHROP- AGREEMENT FOR SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

2)      Effective Date and Term

The effective date of this Agreement shall be from the date of its full execution through the last day
of school as listed in E chibit" A", unless terminated by either party by providing thirty( 30) days'
written notice.

3)      Insurance

A.       RIA, at its sole cost and expense, shall obtain and maintain, in full force and effect

during the term of this Agreement, the insurance coverage described in Exhibit " B".
Exhibit " B" is attached to this Agreement and incorporated herein as though fully

set forth. RIA and its contractors, if any, shall obtain a policy endorsement naming
CITY as an additional insured under any general liability policy or policies.

B.       All insurance coverage required hereunder shall be provided through carriers with
AM Best' s Key Rating Guide ratings of A-:VII or higher which are licensed or
authorized to transact insurance business in the State of California. Any and all
contractors of CITY retained to perform Services under this Agreement will obtain
and maintain, in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement, identical
insurance coverage, naming CITY as an additional insured under such policies as
required above.

C.       Certificates evidencing such insurance shall be filed with CITI' concurrently with the
execution of this Agreement. The certificates will be subject to the approval of

CITY's attorney and will contain an endorsement stating that the insurance is primary
coverage and will not be canceled, or materially reduced in coverage or limits, by the
insurer except after filing with the City Attorney thirty( 30) days prior written notice
of the cancellation or modification( except for non- payment of premium, in which
case ten( 10) day notice is required.

D.       If the insurer cancels or modifies the insurance and provides less than thirty( 30) day
notice to RIA, it shall provide the City Manager written notice of the cancellation
or modification within two( 2) business days of the RIA' s receipt of such notice. RIA

shall be responsible for ensuring that current certificates evidencing the insurance
are provided to the City Manager during the entire term of this Agreement.

E.       The procuring of such required policy or policies of insurance will not be construed
to limit the RIA' s liability hereunder nor to fulfill the indemnification provisions of
this Agreement. Notwithstanding the policy or policies of insurance, the RIA will be
obligated for the full and total amount of any damage, injury, or loss caused by or
directly arising as a result of the Services performed under this Agreement,
including such damage, injury, or loss arising after the Agreement is terminated or
the term has expired.

Page 2 of 5

422



CITY OF LATHROP— AGREEMENT FOR SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

4)      Indemnification

A.       The RIA shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the CITY, its officers,
officials, employees, and volunteers from and against any and all liability, claims,
damage, cost, expenses, awards, fines, judgments, and expenses of litigation
including, without limitation, costs, attorney fees, expert witness fees and prevailing

party fees and cost) of every nature arising out of or in connection with any services
provided by the City or any City Personnel or their performance of work or any
failure to comply with any of the City' s duties contained in the Agreement, except
such loss or damage which was caused by the active negligence by City Personnel,
or the gross or willful misconduct of City Personnel.

B.       The CITY shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the RIA, its officers,
officials, employees, and volunteers from and against any and all liability, claims,
damage, cost, expenses, awards, fines, judgments, and expenses of litigation
including, without limitation, costs, attorney fees, expert witness fees and prevailing

party fees and cost) of every nature arising out of the gross or willful negligence by
the CITY or the gross or willful misconduct of the assigned officer during the
performance of work hereunder. Parties agree that the absence of the assigned officer
and/ or the patrol vehicle from a school campus shall not be considered gross or
willful negligence by the CITY or the gross or willful misconduct of the assigned
officer during the performance of work hereunder.

C.       In the event of concurrent negligence on the part of RIA or any of its officers,
directors, trustees, employees, agents or volunteers, and the CITY or any of its

officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers, the liability for any and all such
claims, demands and actions in law equity for such losses, fines, penalties, forfeiture,
costs and damages shall be apportioned under the State of California' s theory

comparative negligence as presently established or as may be modified hereafter.

D.       If the RIA rejects a tender of defense by the CTTY and/ or the assigned officer under
this Agreement, and it is later determined that the CITY and/ or the officer breached

no duty of care and/ or was immune from liability, the RIA shall reimburse the
CITY and/ or officer for any and all litigation expenses ( including, without
limitation, costs, attorney fees, expert witness fees and prevailing party fees and
cost). A duty of care or immunity determination may be made by a jury or a court,
including a declaratory relief determination by a court after the CITY and/ or officer
settles a liability claim, with or without participation by the RIA.

E.       The Parties acknowledge that it is not the intent of the Agreement to create a duty of
care by the CI'TY or its assigned officer that they would not owe in the absence of the
Agreement. The Parties agree that this Agreement does not create an affirmative duty

of care( including, without limitation, a duty to protect, a duty to deter and/ or a duty
to intervene) by the CITY or the assigned officer and the absence of the assigned
officer and/ or the patrol vehicle is not a material breach of this Agreement. The
Parties further acknowledge that by entering into this Agreement neither the CITY
nor its assigned officer intends to waive any immunities to which they would be
entitled in the absence of the Agreement.

5)      Integration of Prior Terms and Conditions

This Agreement, including all recitals, constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties. This Agreement
may be amended or modified only by the mutual written agreement of the Parties. This Agreement is
invalid unless approved by the legislative body of each party, although it may be executed by an

Page 3 of 5

423



CITY OF LATHROP- AGREEMENT FOR SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

authorized agent of each party. An authorized agent of the CITY shall be a person specifically
authorized by the legislative body of the CI1'Y to execute this Agreement, at the level of City Manager
or City Attorney equivalent.

The indemnity sections shall survive termination or expiration of this agreement.

To City:   City of Lathrop
City Clerk
390 Towne Centre Dr.

Lathrop, CA 95330

Copy to:  City of Lathrop
L.athrop Police Department
940 River Islands Parkway

Lathrop, CA 95330

To RIA:  River Islands Academies

Attn: Brenda Scholl, Director

2760 Penrose Lane

Lathrop, CA 95330

6)      Sisnatures

The individuals executing this Agreement represent and warrant that they have the right, power, legal
capacity, and authority to enter into and to execute this Agreement on behalf of the respective legal
entities of the RIA and the CITY. This agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon

the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Page 4 of 5

424



CITY OF LATHROP— AGREEMENT FOR SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER SERVICES

In Witness Whereof, the Parties hereto have by their duly authorized representatives executed this Agreement
on the date first above written.

City of Lathrop River Islands Academies

Recommended for Approval:

v   623
en Seal Date Brenda Scholl Date

nterim Chie o Police Executive Director

Approved By:

Stephen J. Salvatore Date Susan Dell' Osso Date

City Manager School Board President

Approved as to Form:

1o  8'' zvz3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

Attest:

Teresa Vargas Date

City Clerk

Page 5 of 5

425



r- I o0 O I  [ t u1 N 01
I 

a-- I N N
N M

a-- I .- i N
V1 a-- I 00

a- i N N x y 
n'

v v

a     

LL  
e• i: N N LL'  N   .--

I N LL      ^  
a-- I N N         '   `

t€E

u      u 1! y.

C! J.:. 01 tD t 1 N '' rn L M O I  o z
e- 1 N H     e N  . N F-       .- 1 N N j       

5

3' tA

0p T  : : i+

o  >       q`     c  > N       _  Q
g3'" r s..       

t d  '     3  >       - 1 N  = 

O     .     .  ,;  =""  LL Lv 
m     

N    m "'
y, I  , e" 1

lD
m .: O N    ^  F"     '  

l'  00 ul C w r    ; iY fi . w.      ..
r+q p" i, ri N M ci N _.      a-- 1 e- i N  * E      Z .

Fyi

4

p` '{,',      ! 0 "

g ni v'i    N  m N m    -^ i ni c C ;
r.      *' 

W
ci `,,     ai -,

n r  rn oo n m o t 3 ,              '':
tn .-- I 00

i-- I N N a-- I -- I N
V1 N Q1

c- 1 N M y      ; ,

I        

Vf N 01
lD Kt O N    

M O I     N   
a-- 1 00 V1 s.. +     Q

a- i N M I N N a f ei N t E  •    

p'Sj   -'  ,   f IS 

oo  
n c  rn LL    c rn      l m

o      a
y        . 

j      :
a-- I N N I c- I N I  .-- I N M    

j      .,

yit= Ql '    e i   „

i.     ,     
M

L     ^    e- 1 00 0  ,  c- I 00 Vl L
N Q1    

M 
SO fi,f     ^` ' IQ     f{S :

a- i N N i--1 i--I N i--I N   .

ei    

a                   4  '€  1 g      y   +,
t

x  _

a      N
N 01 lD l0 M O CF a-- I 00

m
H       rl  .- i N a-- I N M i--0 N N

i.+        '..  m
h'    

C  L

y       di     
u

c c c
w

G     '-. a- i    N-;  C  `  ;"'. N N G       a-

m-
1  N :             : 3   m

tC d 3 E m
4J           o Nv

v     r^  o    n i
I  N  u     N              ,     1 •   Z :; m.'

N U
Q—

a.     .      

o

a

f' e 4
E`   

r O< Y v
N  C i/Y '

1`    a

N W N 01 tD l0 M O M O I   v Q
0 Z i #   '''     # '  Z v

tn Q
N  

e- I e- i N
t/ 1 N Ol

e- i N fY1
N   

e- i N N p

L      s,     c     o m
V)      LL      N LL a-- I 00   ,,' ll Ln      N O)    '.  

if#+ .
i N

a  ,   c

L O I    ci L s t flGt t a-- I 00 V1 cR   E
m

a- 1 a-- 1 N M
L

H      ^ e- i , y {`. H   i-- I  .-- I N R,  .  +,", Q
R4

y:    c,

u^.  „     
w

r a c t,     fl- 3 r otS    ..,.,°-

a u a h ` a o iz.,..;; .,.      e t Gk'.
p

c• 1  ,     r t t^E

F- ri.. 00 eN-I N N a-

N-
I .: . 1'` I..

F- N Ol    N q       C ' R`'. 13 d Y
i. .:.

N N I .. a^ 1 N:. 0O e- 1 N N

n tp
m O t  n M

o 1   `     v     ^  d    oo n.   3:     F
a-- 1 N N e- 1 N M r1 N N N

r 41 i6
i,r     

h

Zy    

VI e- i 00
a-- I N N N    ,„  N Vf N Q1    N   V   -v, 

v h  
a

o Bn:, R

LL     ^  
e i N u

tL M :+     ['`
1I_.    

LL '" 00 ''
I'.' 1 N .  w'    L' '.

o
p     ,,.

3.

v
s       m o n        s

N        
o s     ,      oo N   `

a-- I N N v   `       T:- ( Y1 t; t. N N L.

p
G'

2       
5   : V Rwr .+

N       3 `           r'   
a  

a' o    ' a+  : as
p',       ' - a

oo  n  *   
Z

F,      ^ 
v '  oo

n
ev rn io e'    m, G  u,.

a-- I e- I N I . N N s^ i a-- I N

v 
o' i

c o I    c m - o I c ri oo vt 00'. Vi t( 1
C m

a-- 1 a-- 1 N
5..      C       -- I  - r fy C       ' y.. e  N O..       

y.a:'.    Ox"`          
Lr

c. j'    ' GF. N . O 

V7 N Q1
i...  N        ln t! 1 eN-I r- I N m    

e i N  ( Y1             ; j    - , y  .
Q.    V! N  .

426



EXHIBIT " B" INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

KIVER 1SLANDS ACAllL: A-llLS ( RI.4), A' I' TI-tEIR SOLIi EXYENSG, SHAL[, F OR TFiL " i' GRM 01 " 1' HE ACiREL. MEN' I'

OF3TAIN ANl)  MA1N' 1' AIN INSIJRANCE tN THG AMOUNTS F'OR  " I'HE COVEiRAGE SPF CIFIEI) f3 L(7W,

AFFORDED BY COMPEINIES   ' VITII AM BEST' S KEY RATING OI'   A-: VII,   OR IIIGIIER,

LICENSED OR, AtiTHORIZED TO TTtAtiSACT ItiSURANCE BLSIN; tiS IN THE STATE OF CAI, IFORNI. A.

AGREEMENI' IS CON' I' INGIiNT ON COMPLIANCE WI' t' f l CI' fY' S [ NSURANCI: RGQiJIRt' sMENTS, AS SYI3CII IED,

BF;I,OW:

T' YPI OFC( VERAGE M[ NIMLJM 7' YPE MWIMGM L.IMITS

i'..<\C' Il EIGGREGA Ì'P.

OCCIJRREiNCF

VVORTirR'S COMPrNSATION S"T' A"I'L' t'ORY

I.MPLOYER' S L,IAFiIL,ITY 7,( x)0, 000

COMMF,RCIAL GENEI2AI.       Coverage must be at IeasC as O( H), 000 10,( N) O. 00Q

LIABILI"I' Y, 1NC; LUDING broad as tS0 CG 00 Q1 atid

PLRSON; II. INJURY, BRQr1D must incJude property
FORM PROAERTY DAMAGE;     damage, bodily injuty ai d

pertonai injury coverage

AU'TOMOBILE LIABIL[TY,       DistricC shxll provide auto
ItiCL DING A1. I.. O VNEI), I iFtLI), liability cove. rage for owned,
NON-OWNFD non--- owned, and hired autos

S, Q00, 000 10,000,000

usinn ISO Business Auto
Covera; e form CA 00 O1, or

the exact eyuivalent, w9th a

limit of no le ss than

5, 000, 000 per accident.

PROPFSSIONAL LIAf31LI1' 7',

INCI.LDIN( i, ERROftS AND

OMISSIONS, MALPRACTICE AI..I, DA f, 1GES 1,( x)Q, 000

WHEN?. PPLICABLE), ' vD

NLGLIGENT YERFOF2I 4.ANCE

EMPLOYMEN' C PRAC7' ICES Include coverage for any claim
L[AB[I,TY,[ NCLUDING COVLRAGF,      bruugh[ against the Ciry by or on
FOR TITIRD- PARTY CI..AI: 1S behalf of any third party claiming

actual or alleged discrimination,      
1*'

sexuc+l harassment or viotation of

third party' s civil rights.

RIA AT ITS SOI..F COST / 1ND IiXPFNSL, SHAI., I_ OFiTAIN AND b1AINTAIN, IN f t.' 3. I, PORCF AND F.',FFL:CT

THROU( iHOUT THE F.;N' I'IRF TERM OP ANY RESLJl,-I'AN7' AGRHEb4fiN' I', ' CHE INSURANCE C) VERA( iE H RIii[ N
UESCKIBEU. 1VAMING AS ADDITION. I, IVSUREDS THF. CITP OF LATf( ROP, ITS CO[: NC:IL NIEMBERS, OFFICERS,

AGENTS. EiVIPLOY' EF:S, AND VQLti ITEERS.

427



1. INSURANCE COVERAGE MUST INCLUDE:

A.       A PROVISION FOR A WR TTEN TH( RTY 1:) AY ADVANCE NUT( CE( TEN DAYS NOTICF, FOR

CANCELLATION DUE TO NON- PAYMENT OF PREMIUM) TO C[ TY OF LATHROP CHANGE

IN COVERAGE UR OF COVERAGE CANGELLATION; AND

3.       A CONTRACTUAL LIABILITY ENDORSEMENT PROVIDING INSURANCE COVERAG FOR

R1AS t GREEMENT TO INDEMNIFY GITY.

C.       DEDUCTIBL AND/ OR SELF- INSURANC RETENTION AMOUNTS IN EXCESS OF$    , 000

REQUIRE CITY' S PRIOR APPROVf1L.

II.       RIA MUST SUBMIT CERTIFICATES( S) OF INSURANCE EVIDENCING REQUIR D

COVBKAGE.

lil.      ENI) ORSEMENT PROVISIONS.   WITI-I RESPECT TO THE   [ NSUKANCE AFFORDED TO

AI DITIONAI., INSUREDS"

A.       YK[ MARY COVERAGE: W17' H RESPECT TO CLAIMS ARIStNG OUT OF THE OE' ERATIONS

OF THF,NAMED INSURED, INSURANCF, AS AFFOI2DE1:) 3Y T} i1S YOLICY IS 1' RIMARY ANI)

IS NOT ADDITIONAL TO OR CONTRIQUTING WITH ANY OTHER INSURANCF, CARRIED

I3Y OR FOR THE BENEFIT OF THF ADDITIONAL 1NSUREDS.

B.       jj, LIABIL,[ TY: THE NAMING OF MORE' T} IAN ONE 1? F.,RSON, FIRM, OK CORPOKATTON

AS INSUREDS UNDER THE POLiCY SHAI.. I_  NOT,  FOR TEIt1T REASON ALUNE,

EXTINC'JUI:SH ANY RIGHTS OF THE INSUI2ED AGAINST ANOTHER,  BUT THIS

ENDORSEMENT, ANI) THE NAMING OF MULTIF' LE INSUKEDS, S} IALL NnT INCKEASE

THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY UNDER TI{ IS POI.,IC:Y.

428



429



ITEM 4. 16

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       APPROVE ABANDONMENT OF RECYCLED WATERLINE

EASEMENT IN THE RIVER ISLAND DEVELOPMENT

AREA

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution Approving Abandonment of

Recycled Waterline Easement in the River Islands

Development Area  ( a portion of APNs 213- 110- 03;
213- 210- 06;  213- 220- 01 thru 04;  213- 300- 01 and

02)

SUMMARY:

In 2006, Califia, LLC granted the City an easement for a recycled waterline located
in the River Islands Development area. The recycled waterline and easement was

necessary to convey recycled water from the Consolidated Wastewater Treatment
Facility ( CTF) to sprayfields located in River Islands. With the ability for the City to
discharge effluent from the CTF to the San Joaquin River under a surface water

discharge permit, the recycled waterline and easement is no longer needed.

Staff requests Council approve the Abandonment of Recycle Waterline Easement ( a

portion of APNs 213- 110- 03; 213- 210- 06; 213- 220- 01 thru 04; 213- 300- 01 and 02),
included as Attachment " B".

BACKGROUND:

In 2006, Califia, LLC granted the City an easement for a recycled waterline located
in the River Islands Development area. The recycled waterline and easement was

necessary to convey recycled water from the Consolidated Wastewater Treatment
Facility ( CTF) to sprayfields located in River Islands. With the ability for the City to
discharge effluent from the CTF to the San  ) oaquin River under a surface water

discharge permit, the recycled waterline and easement is no longer needed.

The abandonment of the recycled waterline and easement will allow for new
development in the River Islands Development Area.

Therefore, staff requests Council approve the Abandonment of Recycled Waterline
Easement ( a portion of APNs 213- 110- 03;  213- 210- 06;  213- 220- 01 thru 04; 213-

300- 01 and 02),  included as Attachment  " B".  A Vicinity Map is also included as
Attachment " C".

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The recycled waterline easement is no longer needed with the CTF river discharge

permit.

430



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE ABANDONMENT OF RECYCLED WATERLINE EASEMENT IN THE

RIVER ISLAND DEVELOPMENT AREA

FISCAL IMPACT:

None

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.       Resolution Approving Abandonment of Recycled Waterline Easement in the
River Islands Development Area ( portions of APNs 213- 110- 03; 213- 210- 06;

213- 220- 01 thru 04; 213- 300- 01 and 02)

B.       Abandonment of Easement ( a portion of APNs 213- 110- 03; 213- 210- 06; 213-

220- 01 thru 04; 213- 300- 01 and 02)

C.       Vicinity Map

431



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

APPROVE ABANDONMENT OF RECYCLED WATERLINE EASEMENT IN THE

RIVER ISLAND DEVELOPMENT AREA

APPROVALS:

I I 6  ?, c> 3

Brad T lor Date

City Engineer

2 3
Cari Ja Date

Financ irector

lt     `— 
1 I •  • 2 c z3

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

6 • Z3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

l!• 7• L3
Ste J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

432



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lathrop this 13t" day of
November 2023 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS O FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

433



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING ABANDONMENT OF RECYCLED WATERLINE EASEMENT IN THE

RIVER ISLANDS DEVELOPMENT AREA  ( A PORTION OF APNS 213- 110- 03;

213- 210- 06; 213- 220- 01 THRU 04; 213- 300- 01 AND 02)

WHEREAS, in 2006, Califia, LLC granted the City an easement for a recycled
waterline located in the River Islands Development area; and

WHEREAS, the recycled waterline and easement was necessary to convey
recycled water from the Consolidated Wastewater Treatment Facility  ( CTF)  to

sprayfields located in River Islands; and

WHEREAS, with the ability for the City to discharge effluent from the CTF to
the San Joaquin River under a surface water discharge permit, the recycled waterline
and easement is no longer needed; and

WHEREAS,  the abandonment of the recycled waterline and easement will

allow for new development in the River Islands Development Area.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Lathrop
approves the Abandonment of Recycled Waterline Easement in the River Islands

Development Area  ( a portion of APNs 213- 110- 03;  213- 210- 06;  213- 220- 01 thru

04;  213- 300- 01 And 02),  and authorize the City Manager to sign the easement,
included as Attachment " B" to the City Manager' s Report dated November 13, 2023.

434



RECORDING REQUESTED BY, AND

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

CITY OF LATHROP

ATTN: CITY CLERK

390 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE

LATHROP, CA 95330

Exempt from payment of recording fees( GC 27383

Space above this linefor Recorder's use)

APNs( a portion of 213- I 10- 03, 213- 210- 06, 213- 220- 01 thru 04, 213- 240- 01 thru 04, 213- 300- 01 and 02)

ABANDONMENT OF EASEMENTS

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop (" City") received an easement for the construction, installation,

operation and maintenance of reclaimed water public utilities improvements (` Basement") from Califia,

LLC (" Califia") which was recorded as Document Number 2006- 119380 on June 2, 2006, attached hereto

as Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the Easement is no longer needed by the City far reclaimed water public utilities
improvements and described as Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein; and

WHEREAS, City now wishes to relinquish any and all rights, title and interest in the Easement

THEREFORE, the CITY OF LATHROP, does hereby, abandon and release any and all rights,
title and interest to the Easement described above.

CITY OF LATHROP,

a municipal corporation of the State of California

By:
Stephen J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

Pursuant to Resolution No.

APPROVED AS TO FORM BY THE CITY OF LATHROP CITY ATTORNEY:

By:   ZoL3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

1
435



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION

2
436



Do ents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.   
EXHIBIT"     '

OC i   2006 1 19380
0s/ @2/ 2806 08: 42A Fet: NC

2((oO RecordedPaneOfficial Records
RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND       ) County of San Joaquin

AssessorGReeoudeFRCount Cle k
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:  

Paid by OLD REPUBl. IC TI LE CO

City Attvrney I ll1l IIllIIN I lI Il lofLathro 1 llll l ll lty 1 11 111111 I
390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, CA 95330

SPACE ABOVE THIS L[NE FOR RECORDER' S USE ONLY

Recording is fee exempt pursuant to
Govemment Code Section 6t03

Documentary Transfer Tax$  0. 00

DEED FOR EASEMENTS

This Deed for Easements(" Deed"} dated as of m      2006, is made

and entered into by and between Califia, LLC, a California limited liability company, (" Grantar")

and the CITY OF LATHR4P, a municipal corporation(" Grantee").

RECITALS

A.       Grantor is the owner of certain real property situated in the City of Lathrop, San
Joaquin County, California ( hereafter referred to as the " Easement Area"), and more particularty
described in Exhibit A, attached to this Deed and hereby incozporated by reference.

B.       Grantee is the operator of certain public utilities which serve the Easement Area and
other real property situated in the City of Lathrop, San Joaquin County, California and may
therefore be the beneficiary of an easement in gross.  Grantee intends to construct, install, operate,
and maintain reclaimed water public utilities ( collectively, the " Improvements") over, under and

across the Easement Area.

C.       Grantee desires to acquire certain rights in the Easement Area.   

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and sufficient consideration, the receipt and adequacy of
which is hereby acknowledged, Crrantor and Grantee agree as follows:

l.       Crrant of Easement.    Grantor grants to Grantee an easement over the
Easement Area, subject to the terms of this Deed.

2.       Description of Easement.  The easement granted in this Deed is an easement
for the construction, installation, operation and maintenance of the Improvements over, under and

across the Easement Area. Grantee shall use the easements granted hereunder, and shall conduct all
activities within the Easement Area in accordance with applicable law and all recorded covenants,

conditions and restrictions affecting the Easement Area which are of record ai the commencement

Page 1 of 4

437



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

of the Term of this easement as specified in paragraph 6 below.

3.       Secondary Easements.   The easement granted in this Deed includes the
following incidental rights:  the right to ingress and egress over the Easement Area at all times and
to perform such activities on the Easement Area as are reasonably necessary for the construction,
installation, operation and rnaintenance of the Improvements.  In exercising these rights, Grantee
must use reasonable care and may not unreasonably increase the burden on the Easement Area or
make any material changes to the Easement Area other than as necessary to construci, install,
operate and maintain the Improvements as contemplated herein.

4.       Grantee Covenants.   Grantee agrees to use the Easemen# Area only in a
manner consistent with the terms and conditions hereof.  In the event that Grantor gives Grantee
written notice that Grantee' s use of the Easement Area violates the terms and conditions of this
Deed, Grantee shall promptly take such steps as are necessary to cure such violation.  Grantee shall
not make any changes to the Easement Area that are inconsistent with the purposes of ihis easement
as herein described, without the prior written consent of Grantor, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Any above- grade Improvements to the Easement
Area shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Grantor, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed,  Notwithstanding anything in this easement to the
contrary, however, no approval of Grantor shall be required for the construction, installation,
maintenance and operation of the Sprayfield Infrastructure, as that term is defined in that certain
agreement entitled " Agreement among the City of Lathrop, Lathrop Land Development Company,
Inc.; TCN Properties, L.P.; Pulte Homes, lnc.; Shea Homes, L. P., a California limited partnership;
and Califia, LLC dba River Islands at Lathrop for Lease of Specific Land for Use as Reclaimed
Water Spray Fields" and dated for reference July 12, 2005. Grantee shall repair and maintain the
Improvements at no cost to Grantor.   Grantee shall' restore the surface of the Easement Area
following any construction, installation, or maintenance of the Improvements to as good or better a
condition as existed prior to that construction, installation or maintenancc.

5.       Indemni  .    Grantee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Grantor, and
Grantor' s employees and agents, harmless from and against all fines, suits, losses, costs, expenses,
liabilities, claims, demands, actions, damages and judgrttents, including reasonable and actual
attorneys' fees and costs of suit( coIlectively, " Claims") arising from Grantee's construction or other
work in the Easement Area.

6.       Term.  The easement granted in thzs Deed shall commence on the date this
Deed is recorded in the official records of San Joaquin Couniy and shall terminate upon the
recordation in those official records of a written agreement to terminate executed by the Grantee.

7.       Nonexclusive Easement.     The easement granted in this Deed is
nonexclusive.  Grantor retains the right to make any use of the Easetnent Area, including the right
to grant concurrent easements in the Easement Area and the Temporary Construction Easement
Area to third parties that do not interfere with Grantee' s free use and enjoyment of the easement.

8.       Deed Nonassi r able. This Deed shall not be assigned other than by Graniee
and in that case only for public utility purposes. ny other purported assignrnent of this Deed or of
any interest in this Deed sha11 be voic and ofno ef ect.

Page? of 4

438



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

9.       Entire A eement.   This Deed constitutes the entire agreement between

Grantor and Grantee relating to the above easement. Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations,
or representations with respect to the use of the Easement Area for public utility ptuposes that are
not expressly set forth in this Deed are of no farce and effect.  Except as provided in pazagraph 6
above, any amendment to this Deed shall be of no force and effect unless it is in writing and signed
by Grantor and Grantee.

10.      Bindin Effect. This Deed shail be binding on and shall inure to the benefit
of the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of Grantor and Grantee.

Page 3 of 4

439



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, AII rights reserved.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Deed as of the date shown
above.

GRANTOR:   GRANTEE:

L`'     CITY OF LATHROP,    a municipal

co ration

By:

Name:  St1 S0,r1, 5  Glory a Rhodes, Mayor

Its: _ 1 Q, p..

Attest:

i

Rick Caldeira, City Clerk
By:

Name:   A proved as to fortn:

Its: 

Michael C. Spata, City Attorne

Page 4 of 4

440



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

CALIFORNIA ALL- PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

i State of California
p,

I

County of      
a'  3'' + M`   

ss.     4

3  { ,{ p       
On betore me,  R . Cw l t t o.    Y1v•     pv6(,._,L   , i

ate Name nd Tille cer( e,g.," Jane Dce, Notary Public"
I

7
personally appeared lA-hV¢-    i'      --^-.    

Name( s) of Signer( s

l'    I

i
sonally known to me

proved to me on the basis of satisfactory
evidence

f

to be the person( s) whose name( s) is/are
R. q, p subscribed to the within instrument and

Commission R 1347994 acknowledged to me that he/she/ they executed
Notary Pohlic- Cai fomia Z the same in his/ her/ their authorized       '

i Alameda Counry              capacity( ies),   and that by hislher/ their      

Y mm• ExpiresApr21, 2pp6 signature{ s) on the instrument the person{ s), or      

the entity upon behalf of which the person( s)      
acted, executed the instrument.       

W1TN S& nry ite and official seal.  

7{   SignaWre ol Notary Public

S'  I

OPTlONAL

Though the inlormation 6elow is not repuired by law, rt may prove valuable to persons relying on the document and could prevent
baudulent removaf and reaflachment ol this form fo anoiher document.       

Description of Attached Document

Title or Type of Document:

I       
Document Date:  tVumber of Pages:

I

Signer( s} Qther 7han Named Above:_ s

Capacity( ies) Claimed by Signer

Signer' s Name:    

l Individual r n or numh ne 

O Corporate Officer— Title( s}:   

Pariner— Limfled General

Attomey- in- Fact
r

l Trustee

Guardian or Conservator

Other: 

Nrj
Signer! s Representing:  

5,

3'

C. ='= = - - _  =  _  _ _ ` _ - =% y ci_``'- _ -  _ -     _  __ _.:' C_(.( T.'Q'ra'`

C.1 1999 Na ional Nolary Associatbn• 9350 De Soto Ave., PA. BOK 2402• Cbatsworth, CA 973132402• www. nationalnolary. org Protl. No. 5907 Reordec Catl 7olbFree 1- 800- 87fi- 682i

441



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

NOTARY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF

On `  y 200 ( o, before me,     , J

a Notary Public i and for said State,      personaIly appeared

L,     <,-      personally known to me  ( or

proved on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person whose name is subscribed to the
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/ she/ they executed the same in his/ her/ their
authorized capacity( ies), and that by his/her/their signature on the instrument the person, or the
entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the instrument.

WITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICIAL SEAL.

r nau wiuows
cx. rron wn.

G(/'-. 7
onxia+oo

Notary Public in and for said State

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF

On 200_, before me,     
a Noiary Public in and for said State,      personally appeared

personally known to me  ( or

proved on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person whose name is subscribed to the
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/ she/ they executed the same in his/ her/ their
authorized capacity{ ies), and that by his/ her/ their signature on the instrument the person, or the
entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the instrument.

WITNESS MY HAND AND ( FFICIAL SEAL.

Notary Public in and for said State

442



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

EXHIBIT A

Legal Description of Easement Area:

443



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

FEBRUARY 10,  2006

JOB NO. :  905- 00

LBGAL DESCRIPTION

RECYCLED WATERLINE EASSMENT

RIVBR ISLANDS

LATIiROP,  CALIFORNIA

REAL PROPERTY,  SITIJATE iN THE INCORPORATED TERRITORY OF THE CITY OF

LATHROP,  COUNTY OF SAN JOAQUIN,  STATE OF CALTFORNIA,  COMPRISED OF

THREE  { 3)  PARCELS,  DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

BEING A PORTION OF TRArTS 24 AND 25,  AS SAIb TRACTS ARE SHOWN AND SO

DESIGNATED QN THAT CERTAIN RECORD OF SURVEY,  RECORDED AUGUST 4,  2004,

IN BOOK 35 OF SURVEYS AT PAGE 142,  IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY

RECORDER OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY,  MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:

BEING A STRIP OF LAND FIFTEEN  ( 15. 00)  FEET WIDE,  THE CENTERLII E OF

WHICH IS DESCRIBED A$  FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWESTERN CORNER OF TRACT 28,  AS SAID TRACT 28 IS
SHOWN AND DESIGNATED ON SAID RECORD OF SURVEY  ( 35 SURVEYS 142) ;

THENCE,  FROM SAID PQINT OF COMMENCEMENT,  ALONG THE WESTERN LINE OF
SAID TR.ACT 28,  NORTH 00° 55' 17"  EAST 1, 444 . 66 FEET TO THE POINT OF

BEGINNING FOR THIS DESCRIPTION;

THENCE,  FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING,  LEAVING SAID WESTERN LINE,  WEST

1, 458. 39 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A TANGENT 2, 026 . 00 FOOT RRDILTS CURVE TO THE
LEFT,  THRpUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 25° 54' S3",  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 915 . 35
FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 25° 54' S3"  WEST 70 . 93 FEET;

THEI3CE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A TANGENT 991 . 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
RIGHT,  THROUGH A CEN'I'RAL ANGLE OF 09° 00' 31" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 155. 81
FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 05° 22' 06"  EAST 65. 76 FEET;

I'HENCE,  NORTH 86° 41' 19"  WEST 83 . 24 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A NON- TANGENT 1, 705. 00 FO T RADIUS CURVE TO
THE LEFT,  FROM WHICH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS SOUTH  $ 4° 57' 21"
EAST,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 15° 14' 08" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 453 . 38
FEET;

N\ 905- 0\ LEGALS\ LG- 0J3. DOC

444



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FEBRUARY 10,  2006

PAGE 2 OF 4 JOB NO. :  905- 00

THEAICE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A REVERSE 400 . 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE

RIGHT,  FROM WHICH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS SOUTH 79° 48' 31"  WEST,

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 10° 11' 29" ,  AN ARC DZSTANCE OF 71. 15 FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 248 . 10 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A TANGENT 400 . 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE

RIGHT,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 15° 23' 35" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 107 . 46

FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 15° 23' 35"  WEST 231. 11 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A TANGEI TT 400. 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE

RIGHT,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 35° 00' 00" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 244 . 35

FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 50° 23' 35"  WEST 1, 592 . 64 FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 56° 22' 5b"  WEST 97. 46 FEET TO A POIN' i' ON THE SOUTHWESTERN

LINE OF SAID TRACT 24 .

THE SIDELINES OF SAID STRIP OF LAND SHALL BE LENGTHENED OR SHORTENED

TO TERMINATE ON SAID WESTERN' LINE OF TRACT 28 AND SATD SOUTHWESTERN

LINE OF TRACT 24 .

PARCEL TWO:

BEING A PORTION OF TRACTS 4 AND 12 THROUGH 18,  AS SAID TRACTS ARE

SHOWN AND SO DESIGNATED ON THAT CERTAIN RECORD OF SURVEY,  RECORDED

AUGUST 4,  2004,  IN BOOK 35 OF SURVEYS AT PAGE 142,  IN THE OFFICE OF
THE COUNTY RECOI2DER OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY,  MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRTBED

AS FOLLOWS:

BEING A STRIP OF LAND FIFTEEN  ( 15. 00}  FEET WIDE,  TF-TE CENTERLINE OF

WHICH IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS :

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWESTERN CORNER OF TRACT 28,  AS SAID TRACT 28 IS
SHOWN AND DESIGNATED ON SAID RECORD OF SURVEY  ( 35 SURVEYS 142) ;

THENCE,  FROM SAID POINT OF COMMENCEMENT,  ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERN LINE
OF SAID TRACT 14 THE FOLLOWING TWO  ( 2)  COURSES:

1)  SOUTH 55° 18' S7"  EAST 24 . 10 FEET,  AND

2)   SOUTH 45° 28' 49"  EAST 64 . 97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING FpR
THIS DESCRIPTION;

N:\ 905- 00\ LEGALS\ LG- 033. DOC

445



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

LE(3AI, DESCRIPTION FEBRUARY 10,  2006

PAGE 3 OF 4 JOB NO. :  905- 00

THENCE,  FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING,  LEAViNG SAID SOUTHWESTERN LINE,

NORTH 45° 00' 00"  EAST 75. 70 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 00° 34' 26"  WEST 622 . 12 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 45° 00' 00"  WEST 106. 47 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 3, 830 . 81 FEET;

THENCE,  WEST 5, 171 . 70 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A TANG NT 1, 7. 86. 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
RIGHT,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 47° 00' 35" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 973 . 08
FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 42° 59' 25"  WEST 344 . 09 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG Ti-IE ARC OF A TANGENT 1, 201. 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
RIGHT,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 19° 34' 17" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 410 . 24
FEET;

THENCE,  ALUNG THE ARC OF A REVERSE 1, 214 . fl0 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
LEFT,  FROM WHICH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS SOUTH 66° 34' 52"  WEST,
THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 28° 58' 55" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 614 . 08 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 52° 24' 03"  WEST 501 . 63 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 07° 24' 03"  WEST 96. 49 FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 53° 53' 31"  WEST 413 . 83 FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 81° 06' 29"  WEST 79. 38 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A NON- TANGENT 1, 009. 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO
THE LEFT,  FROM WHTCH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS SOUTH 36 44' 34"
WEST,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 32° 56' 31" ,  AN ARC DISTRNCE OF 580 . 12
FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A REVERSE 1, 401. 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
RIGHT,  FROM WHICH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS NORTH 03° 48' 03"  EAST,
THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 42° 34' 3' 7" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 1, 041 . 09
FEET;

THENCE,  NORTH 43° 37' 20"  WEST 190. 92 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC dF A TANGENT 1, 5I4 . 00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE
LEFT,  THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 13° OS' 04" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 347, 07
FEET;

N: 1905- 00\ LEGAL5ILG- 033. DOC

446



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

LEGAL DSSCRIPTION FEBRUARY 10,  2006

PAGE 4 OF 4 JOB NO. :  905- d0

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A NON- TANGENT 400. 00 FOOT FtADIUS CURVE TO THE
RIGHT,  FROM WHTCH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS NORTH 56° 45' 23"  WEST,

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 17° 33' 21" ,  AN' ARC DZSTANCE OF 122 . 56 FEET;

THENCE,  ALONG THE ARC OF A REVERSE 400. 00 FOOT RADTUS CURVE TO THE
LEFT,  FROM WHICH THE CENTER OF SAID CURVE BEARS SOUTH 39° 12' 02"  EAST,

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 07° O1' 06" ,  AN ARC DISTANCE OF 49 . 00 FEET;

THENCE,  SOUTH 43° 46' 52"  WEST 1, 597. 65 FEET TO A POINT HEREINAFTER
REFERRED TO AS POINT  ` R` ;

THENCE,  NORTH 46° 13 ' 08"  WEST 50. 00 FEET TO THE POINT OF TERMINUS FOR
THIS DESCRIPTION.

THE SIDELINES OF SAID STRIP OF LAND SHALL BE LENGTHENED OR SHORTENED
TO TERMINATE ON SAID SOUTHWESTERN LINE OF TRACT 14 .

PARCEL THREE:

BEING A PORTION OF TRACT 18,  AS SAID TRACT 18 IS SHOWN AND SO
DESIGNATED ON THAT CERTAIN RECORD OF SURVEY,  RECORDED AUGUST 4,  2Q04,

IN BOOK 35 OF SURVEYS AT PAGE Z42,  IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY
RECORDER OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY,  MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:

BEING A STRIP OF LANI}  FIFTEEN  { 15. 00)  FEET WIDE,  THE CENTERLINE OF
WHICH IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE POINT HEREINABOVE REFERRED TO AS P INT  ` A' ;

THENCE,  FROM SAID POINT OF BEGiNNING,  SOUTH 46° 13' 08"  EAST 10, 00 FEET

TO THE POIIJT OF TERMINUS FOR THIS DESCRIPTION.

ATTACHED HERETO IS A PLAT TO ACCOMPANY LEGAL DESCRIPTION,  AND BY THIS
REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF.

END OF DESCRIPTION

G
b

y L

1    O P. 6/ 30/ 6(,  
PAUL A.  KITTREDGE

L. S.  N0.  5790

lE.      EXPIRES:    JUNE 30,  2006

N:\ 905- 00\ LEGALS\ LG- 033. DOC

447



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

O

O

r

C.

4

6

5  

4

3         
d

LEGEND

2
2 SHEET NUMBER

O
0

EASEMENT

CENTERLINE

0
t AND

sG

J, 
KlTT,, `"

cQ'    c o

L. S. 5790       *

IXP. 6/ 30/ 06

Q,     
T 

F C A
F   SHEET INDEX

RECYCLED WATER LINE EASEMENT
RIVER ISLANDS

LATHROP,  CALiFORNIA

DATE:  FEBRUARY 10, 2006 SHEET 1 OF 6

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   Inc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 BOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUITE 150 SAN RAMON, CALIFORNIA 94583
TELEPHONE;  ( 925) 866- 0322 FAX:  { 925) 866- 8575

JOB N4. 905
L•\ 905- 000\ ACAD\ PHASEt\ PLATS\ PLAT2IA. DWG

448



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

SEE SHEET 3
IJNE TABLE

N0.    BEARING LENGTH   5

POB

oo L1 N25' S4' S3" W 70. 93' L3 L2 PARCEL ONE
L2 NOS' 22' O6" E 65. 76'    C2

N i    L3 N86' 41' 19" W 83. 24     
1458. 39'  t

L4 iJORTH 248. 10 c.+

LS N15' 23 35" E 231. 11'  N25' S4' S3" W R

Lfi N56' 22' S6" E 97. 46'     
4

r
N79' 48' 31" E R N

TRACT 25( 1 } o 
aZ

TRACT 24( 1 }   Po

a

h,., 1
h

d`
i PARCEL ONE Q'G

CENIERLINE 15 WIDE RECYCLED
WATERLINE EASEMENT

6

TRACT LEGEND

39( 1 }      OPO EASEMENT CENIERLINE

P

t  1}  REFERENCE NUMBER 1

G
TRACT

QP CURVE TABLE

N0.  RAfllUS DELTA LENGTN

REFERENCE C1 2026. 00' 25' 54' S3" 916. 35'
v

1) RECORD DATA PER RECORD OF C2 991. 00' 09' 00' 31"  f55. 81'
SURVEY FILED AUGUS7 4, 2004 IN C3 17Q5. 00'  15" 14' Q8° 453. 38'
BOOK 35 OF SURVEYS AT PAGE 142

C4 400. 00'  10' 11' 29"   71. 15'

C5 400. 00' 15' 23' 35° 107. 46'

RECYCLED WATER UNE EASEMENT c6 400. 00' 35•ao' oo" 244. 35'

RIVER ISLANDS
LATHROP, CAUFORNIA

DATE:  FEBRUARY 30, 2006 SNEET 2 OF fi

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   fnc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 BOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUI7E 150 SAN RAMON, CALIFORNIA 945$ 3
TELEPHONE:  ( 925) 866- 0322 fAX:  ( 925) 866- 8575

JOB N0. 905
L:\ 905- 000\ ACAD\ PHASEI\ PLAT$\ PLAT216. DWG

449



Documents proyided by DataTree LC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

SEE SHEET 4

TRACT 1 5 1 )      

o0

PARCEL TWO
CENTERLINE 15' WIDE RECYCLED i

vWATERLINE EASEI ENT Q

ho•

TRACT 14( 1 )    
o-   o

CENTERLINE 15' WlDE

RECYCLED WATERLINE

vo     
EASEMENT i

i

v  
L3

L2
POC

i

w

L1         
3

N00' 34' 26° W r r           
PARCEL TWO622. 12'

2        
SEE DETAIL DETAIL

NOT Td SCALELINE TABLE
I N0,    BfARING LENGTH

TRACT    i N45• aa ao" w os. a'     
NOTE:

Z5C ) C.   L2 N45' 00 00" E 75. 70

TRACT
s

ly A L3 N55' 18' 57" W 24. 10'      SFE SHEET 2 FOR REFERENCE
SEE q li AND LEGEND

SHEET 2 28       oF
90

RECYCLED WATER LINE EASEt ENT
RIVER ISLANDS

LATHROP,  CAUFORNIA
DATE:  FEBRUARY 10, 2006 SHEET 3 OF 6

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   Inc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 BOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUITE 150 SAN RAMON, CALIFORNfA 94583
TELEPHONE:  ( 925) 866- 0322 FAX:  ( 925) 866- 8575

JOB N0. 905
L:\ 905- 000\ ACAD\ PHASEI\ PLATS\ PLAT2IC. DWG

450



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2D03, Alt rights reserved.

TRACT 13( 1 }

w
x

w

F'
ST

s,
j

D

PARCEL TWO TRACT 14( 1 )
CENTERLfNE 15' WIDE RECYCLED
WATERLINE EASEMENT

TRACT 15 1 }

7RACr

o
NOTE: 

s
1) SEE SHEET 2 FOR REFERENCE i

AND LEGEND

SEE SHEET 3

RECYCLED WATER LINE EASEMENT
RIVER ISLANDS

LATHROP, CALIFORNIA
DATE:  FEBRUARY 10, 2006 SHEET 4 OF 6

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   Inc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 SOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUITE 150 SAN RAMON, CALlFORNiA 94583
TELEPHONE:  ( 925) 8fi6- 0322 FAX:  ( 925) 866- 8575

JOB N0. 905
L: 905- 000\ ACAD PHASEI PLATS PLAT2ID, DWG

451



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

SEE SHEET 6

uNe Aa

TRACT N0.    BEARING LENGTH

8   
v

TRACT

o

L1 N42' 59' 25" W 344. 49'

L2 N52' 24' 03" W 501. 63'

1   L3 N07' 24' 03" W 96. 49'

v" L4 N 53' S3' 31" W 413. 83'
v

CENTERLINE CURVE TABL. E

STEWART ROAD N0.  RADIUS DELTA LENGTN

N66' 34' S2" E R
C1 1186. 00' 47' 00' 35" 973.08

C2 1201, 00'  19' 34'? 7"  41 Q. 24'

TRACT C3 1214. 00' 28' S8' S5" 614. 08'

19 1 )

TRACT 13 1 }

j     NOTE:

PARCEL TWO ANDSLEGENDET 2 FOR REFERENCE

CENTERLINE 15' WIDE
RECYCLED WATERLINE
EASEMENT

TRACT

TRACT 6( TRACT

20      FqSTs, 
4 

j) ,
0     

TRACT

21 ( 1 } TRACT 15( 1 ) 
SEE SHEET 4 '

RECYCLED WATER LINE EASEMENT
RlVER ISLANDS

LATHROP,  CAUFORNIA
DATE:  FE9RUARY 10, 2006 SHEET 5 OF 6

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   inc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 BOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUITE 150 SAN RAMON, CALIFORNIA 94583
TELEPHONE:  ( 925} 866- 0322 FAX:  ( 925) 866- 8575

JOB N0. 905
L:\ 905—Ofl0\ ACAD\ PHA5E1\ PLATS\ PLAT2IE. DWG

452



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via iYs proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

LINE TABLE CURVE TABLE

N0.    BEARING LENGI' H N0.  RAOIUS DELTA LENGTH

L1 N52' 24' 03" W 501. 63'     Ci 1009. 00' 32' S6' 3i"  580. 12'

L2 N07' 24' 03" W 96. 49'    C2 1401. 00' 42' 34' 37" 1041. 09'   o
L3 N53' S3' 31" W 413. 83'    C3 1514. 00'  13' 08' 04"  347. 07'  

ii
L4 N81' 06' 29" E 79. 38'    C4 400. 00  17' 33' 21"  122, 56       

L5 N43' 37' 20" W 190. 92'    C5 400. Od' 07' 01' O6"   49. 0'

L6 N46' 13 08" W 50. 00'     vQ
U N46' 13' 08" W 10. 00'       R NE7Rr C7   { 1 )      PEA Pp15E P`

NUE

0'0

TRACT 4( 1 ) 
N39" 12' b2" W( R}      

N56,
5,23„WIR R,5 q,

N 3

L6

6,5

a5     
C5

N 6, Z41„
ER

3

TRACT 12 4 )
POINT ' A'

L7

PARCEL TWO
a„ 

R

CENTERLiNE 15 WfDE RECYCLED
WATERLINE EASEMENT N

B

PARCEL THREE
R

WATERLI EEEASEM NT

RECYCLEO sjyy    N36
34"

9`

F TRACT

TRACT 18 1
9°     17( 1 }

NOTE;
N

1) SEE SNEET 2 FOR REFERENCE
v

AND LEGENp

SEE SHEET 5

RECYCLED WATER LINE EASEMENT
RIVER ISLANDS

LATHROP, CALIFORNIA
DATE:  FEBRUARY 10, 2006 SHEET 6 OF 6

Carlson,   Barbee      &   Gibson,   Inc.
CIVIL ENGfNEERS  •  SURVEYORS  •  PLANNERS

6111 BOLLINGER CANYON ROAD, SUITE 150 SAN RAMON, CALIFORNIA 94583
TELEPHONE:  ( 925) 866- 0322 FAX:  { 925) 866- 8575

JOB N0. 905
L:\ 905- 000\ ACAD\ PHASEI\ PLATS\ PLAT2IF. DWG

453



Documents provided by DataTree LLC via it' s proprietary imaging and delivery system. Copyright 2003, All rights reserved.

EI.

City of

a- -----_    ____....,.__-—. .  .__   _.---.._,._- _   _.._  ,_-
r-------_-..-.--,

Department of Public Works 390 Towne Cencre Drive- Lathrop, CA 95330
We are building o Cify!     Phone ( 209) 941- 7430- f( 209) 941- 7449

www.ci.lathrop.caus

CERTIFICATE QF ACCEPTANCE

DATE: Febraary 14, 2006

RE: Recycled Water Easement Certificate of Acceptance

This is to certify that the easement over real property from Califia LCC ( a portion of
APNs 2'! 3- 110- 03; 213- 210- 06; 213- 220- 01 thru 04; 213- 240- 01 thru 04; 213- 300- 01
and 42) granted to the City of Lathrop, a municipal corporation and government agency
is hereby accepted by the undersigned officer in behalf of tfie City Counci) pursuant to
authority conferred by Resolution No. 90- 72, of the City Council adopted on September
26, 1990, and the duly authorized officer.

By:

Rick Caldeira, City Clerk

See attached Exhibit A for legal description of property( portion of APNs 213- 110- 03;
213-210-06; 213-220- 01 thru 04; 213-240- 09 thru 04; 213-300- 01 and 02).

I:\ PublicWorks General\ Contracts& Agreements\ CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE\ Califia, LLC RecyCled Water EasementCertificate oi Acceptance 02- 14-06, doc

454



455



ITEM 4. 17

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN

THE STAGE 2A AND 2B AREAS OF THE RIVER

ISLANDS PROJECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

RECOMMENDATION:     Adopt Resolution to Accept Public Improvements for

Villages in the Stage 2A and 2B Areas of the River

Islands Project from River Islands Development, LLC

SUMMARY:

River Island Development,  LLC  ( RID)  has completed construction of the public
improvements listed in the GASB 34 reports ( Attachment " C") for Villages DD,  EE,

FF, GG, HH, JJ, LL, MM, NN, 00 and Z ( Villages), in accordance with the associated

Subdivision Improvement Agreements ( SIA).

Staff has inspected the improvements which have been deemed complete and in

accordance with the approved plans and specifications by the City Engineer.  RID

provided one- year warranty bonds based on 10% of the completed improvement

construction cost, and lien releases for the proposed accepted improvements. Vicinity
Maps for the Villages are included as Attachment " B".

Staff recommends City Council accept the completed Public Improvements for the
Villages.

BACKGROUND:

On March 27, 2007, Council approved Vesting Tentative Map ( VTM) 3694, and later

amended VTM 3694 with updated Conditions of Approval  ( COA) on June 1,  2015.

Council approved VTM 6716 on June 14, 2021. The Villages comply with the amended
COA' s of VTM 3694 and are within the geographical boundaries of VTM 6716.

As required by the City' s subdivision ordinance, the final maps for the Tracts within
the Villages included a SIA to guarantee public improvements.  Completion of the

public improvements listed in the GASB 34 reports fulfills the associated obligations
of the SIAs. The Council approval dates & resolution numbers associated with the

Villages are detailed in Table 1 below:

Table 1: Council Approval Dates and Resolutions

Village Tract Council Approval Date Resolution Number

4055 12/ 14/ 2020 20- 4823
DD

4056 07/ 12/ 2021 21- 4928

EE 4063 02/ 08/ 2021 21- 4834

456



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUB IC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN THE STAGE 2A AND 2B

AREAS OF THE RIVER ISLANDS PROJECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

4067 03/ 08/ 2021 21- 4844
FF

4082 04/ 11/ 2022 22- 5048

4091 09/ 13/ 2021 21- 4956
GG

4092 O1/ 10/ 2022 22- 5017

4089 9/ 13/ 2021 21- 4955
HH

4090 1/ 10/ 2022 22- 5016

4052 1/ 11/ 2021 21- 4827
JJ

4053 10/ 11/ 2021 21- 4975

4093 06/ 14/ 2021 21- 4903
LL

4094 12/ 13/ 2021 21- 5007

4101 08/ 09/ 2021 21- 4935
MM

4102 05/ 16/ 2022 22- 5081

4071 03/ 08/ 2021 21- 4845
NN

4072 04/ 11/ 2022 22- 5047

4068 02/ 08/ 2021 21- 4835
00

4069 09/ 13/ 2021 21- 4954

4050 11/ 09/ 2020 20- 4812
Z

4051 06/ 14/ 2021 21- 4902

The Performance and Labor & Materials Bonds will be released and replaced with the

Maintenance Bonds upon acceptance of the improvements.  The bond values and

numbers associated with the Villages are detailed in Table 2 below:

Table 2: Bond Values and Numbers

Village Tract
Pertormance Bond Labor & Materials Maintenance Bond

Number/ Value Bond Number/ Value Number/ Value

DD
4055

0757354/$ 1, 009, 540 0757354/$ 504, 770 0757354/$ 293, 858
4056

EE 4063 0757356/$ 935, 661 0757356/$ 467, 831 0757356/$ 712, 570

FF
4067

0757364/$ 774, 918 0757364/$ 387, 459 0757364/$ 441, 877
4082

GG
4091 0799657/$ 664, 852 0799657/$ 332, 426

0799657/$ 246, 900
4092

HH
4089

0799656/$ 1, 312, 588 0799656/$ 656, 294 0799656/$ 174, 900
4090

457



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN THE STAGE 2A AND 2B

AREAS OF THE RIVER ISLANDS PROJECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

4052
0757353/$ 525, 600 0757353/$ 262, 800 0757353/$ 172, 700

4053

LL
4093

0799647/$ 1, 187, 640 0799647/$ 593, 820 0799647/$ 265, 700
4094

MM
4101

0799651/$ 544, 920 0799651/$ 272, 460 0799651/$ 214, 700
4102

NN
4071

0799643/$ 951, 008 0799643/$ 475, 504 0799643/$ 407, 060
4072

00
4068

0757357/$ 270, 348 0757357/$ 135, 174 0757357/$ 194, 757
4069

Z
4050

0757351/$ 246, 708 0757351/$ 123, 354 0757351/$ 267, 600
4051

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

Staff has inspected the improvements listed in the GASB 34 Reports for the Villages

and confirmed that the improvements have been completed in accordance with City
specifications and deemed complete by the City Engineer.

Staff recommends City Council accept the completed Public Improvements for the
Villages.

RID has submitted lien releases,  a one- year maintenance bonds,  and as- built

drawings for the improvements being accepted.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The City' s maintenance costs will increase to maintain the improvements.  The

maintenance bonds cover any repairs or replacements due to defective materials or
workmanship for the completed improvements that become necessary during the
one- year period, beginning with this acceptance. The City' s Service Maintenance CFD
2023- 1 has been established to fund City maintenance and operating costs.

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.       Resolution to Accept Public Improvements for Villages in the Stage 2A and

2B Areas of the River Islands Project from River Islands Development, LLC

B.       Vicinity Maps

C.       GASB 34 Reports

458



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ACCEPT PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN THE STAGE 2A AND 2B

AREAS OF THE RIVER ISLANDS PROJECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

APPROVALS:

0- a 5— 0 3

Veronica Albarran Date

Junior Engineer

0 - 2 - 23
Ken Reed Date

Senior Construction Manager

O I2S' Lo23

Brad ylor Date
City Engineer

a
Cari Jame Date

Finance Dir c or

1 O • 2Co • ZoZ3

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

j - zs- r.x t3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

ll• co- 23
Ste en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

459



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP TO ACCEPT

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR VILLAGES IN THE STAGE 2A AND 2B AREAS OF

THE RIVER ISLANDS PRO) ECT FROM RIVER ISLANDS DEVELOPMENT, LLC

WHEREAS, on March 27, 2007, the City Council approved Vesting Tentative
Map ( VTM) 3694, and later amended VTM 3694 with updated Conditions of Approval

COA) on June 1, 2015. On June 14, 2021, the City Council adopted resolutions and
ordinances approving the River Islands modified Phase 2 Project and VTM 6716. The
Tracts comply with the amended COA' s of VTM 3694 and are within the geographical
boundaries of VTM 6716; and

WHEREAS, as required by the City' s subdivision ordinance, the final maps for
the Tracts within Villages DD, EE, FF, GG, HH, ) J, LL, MM, NN, 00 and Z ( Villages)

included a Subdivision Improvement Agreement   ( SIA)   to guarantee public

improvements. Completion of the public improvements listed in the GASB 34 reports
fulfills the associated obligations of the SIAs. The Council approval dates & resolution

numbers associated with the Villages are detailed in Table 1 below; and

Table 1: Council Approval Dates and Resolutions

Village Tract Council Approval Date Resolution Number

4055 12/ 14/ 2020 20- 4823

DD

4056 07/ 12/ 2021 21- 4928

EE 4063 02/ 08/ 2021 21- 4834

4067 03/ 08/ 2021 21- 4844

FF

4082 04/ 11/ 2022 22- 5048

4091 09/ 13/ 2021 21- 4956
GG

4092 01/ 10/ 2022 22- 5017

4089 9/ 13/ 2021 21- 4955

HH

4090 1/ 10/ 2022 2Z- 5016

4052 1/ 11/ 2021 21- 4827

JJ

4053 10/ 11/ 2021 21- 4975

4093 06/ 14/ 2021 21- 4903

LL

4094 12/ 13/ 2021 21- 5007

4101 08/ 09/ 2021 21- 4935

MM

4102 05/ 16/ 2022 22- 5081

460



4071 03/ 08/ 2021 21- 4845

NN

4072 04/ 11/ 2022 22- 5047

4068 02/ 08/ 2021 21- 4835

00

4069 09/ 13/ 2021 21- 4954

4050 11/ 09/ 2020 20- 4812

Z

4051 06/ 14/ 2021 21- 4902

WHEREAS, the Performance and Labor & Materials Bonds will be released and

replaced with the Maintenance Bonds upon acceptance of the improvements.   The

bond values and numbers associated with the Villages are detailed in Table 2 below;
and

Table 2: Bond Values and Numbers

Performance Bond Labor & Materials
Maintenance

Village Tract
Number/ Value Bond Number/ Value

Bond

Number Value

DD
4055

0757354/$ 1, 009, 540 0757354/$ 504, 770 0757354/$ 293, 858
4056

EE 4063 0757356/$ 935 661 0757356/$ 467 831 0757356/$ 712 570

FF
4067

0757364/$ 774, 918 0757364/$ 387, 459 0757364/$ 441, 877
4082

GG
4091 0799657/$ 664, 852 0799657/$ 332, 426

0799657/$ 246, 900
4092

HH
4089

0799656/$ 1, 312, 588 0799656/$ 656, 294 0799656/$ 174, 900
4090

4052
0757353/$ 525, 600 0757353/$ 262, 800 0757353/$ 172, 700

4053

LL
4093

0799647/$ 1, 187, 640 0799647/$ 593, 820 0799647/$ 265, 700
4094

MM
4101

0799651/$ 544, 920 0799651/$ 272, 460 0799651/$ 214, 700
4102

NN
4071

0799643/$ 951, 008 0799643/$ 475, 504 0799643/$ 407, 060
4072

00
4068

0757357/$ 270, 348 0757357/$ 135, 174 0757357/$ 194, 757
4069

Z
4050

0757351/$ 246, 708 0757351/$ 123, 354 0757351/$ 267, 600
4051

WHEREAS,  staff has inspected the improvements listed in the GASB 34

Reports for the Villages and confirmed that the improvements have been completed

in accordance with City specifications and deemed complete by the City Engineer;
and

WHEREAS,  staff recommends City Council accept the completed Public

Improvements for the Villages; and

461



WHEREAS, RID has submitted lien releases, a one- year maintenance bonds,
and as- built drawings for the improvements being accepted; and

WHEREAS,  the City' s maintenance costs will increase to maintain the

improvements. The maintenance bonds cover any repairs or replacements due to
defective materials or workmanship for the completed improvements that become
necessary during the one- year period,  beginning with this acceptance. The City' s
Service Maintenance CFD 2023- 1 has been established to fund City maintenance and
operating costs.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop accepts the public improvements,  as detailed in the GASB 34 Reports

included as Attachment C to the City Manager' s Report that accompanied this
resolution, for Villages in the Stage 2A and 2B Areas of the River Islands Project from
River Islands Development, LLC.

462



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lathrop this 13tn
day of November 2023 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

463



p

J  ~

VILLAGE JJ

1

VILLAGE NN- 1

I
N I

LAKE 12O 1

s
VILLAGE EE- 2

VILLAGE EE- 1
X       ,   

VILLA

VILLAGE DD

VILLAGE Z
SCHOOL

j

VILLAGE

Y EXHIBIT " B"

VILLAGE DD

VICINITY MAP
DECEMBER 2020

464



VILLAGE KK

VILLAGE II i

LA

PARK

VILLAGE FF
VILLAGE JJ

VILLAGE FF

VILLAGE NN-

LAKE 12
1

T1     '    

VILLAGE EE

t

v-
VILLAGE DD

9i
F9

s1

9tiOsA
9

9Y

SCHOOL
P

j

VILLAGE

Y

r PARK

n n

ATTACHMENT B

v       
VILLAGE EE

VICINITY MAP
DECEMBER 2020

465



VILLAGE HH f

o

VILLAGE HH L
t•

i     

VILLAGE GG

VILLAGE KK

VILLAGE II

PARK

VILLAGE JJ

TRACT 4067
oe

c 

LAKE 12

VILLAGE FF BOUNDARY

VILLAGE EE

F9       ATTACHMENT " B"
s

9tio VILLAGE FF

VICINITY MAP
APR/L 2022

466



i

Yy  OJS
b

yJQ      

VILLAGE GG BOUNDARY f
TRACT 4091

o

lyno

1       

dy6,
be    ti

VILLAGE HH L•

TRACT 4091 q,  e a y
F H/y.    

sp.      

A ' "  

iRish
TRACT 4092 Fq

qy

VILLAGE KKQ

A        QP
PoSFYSTRFF,  P" VILLAGE II

a

TRACT 4092 
PARK

y   
y  

h

A

VILLAGE JJ

VILLAGE FF    

j    LAKE 12

j,     

r q,      

9is VILLAGE EE

9N
SA

qq
9y

ATTACHMENT "B"

VILLAGE GG

VICINITY MAP
NOVEMBER 2021

467



VILLAGE HH

BOUNDARY

TRACT 40893

J 9      

TRACT 4090 R°    ,'   

o

L
6

i/\  

1

i \ "

a`

VILLAGE GG
4°   ` SyM

A`       FAoo     
o        qy

AM1 i
oQ VILLAGE KK

QP

TRACT 4089       Q''` VILLAGE II

PARK

A

r

VILLAGE JJ

s

VILLAGE FF

j    LAKE 12

i  

9is
qN

VILLAGE EE

SA
qq

9y

ATTACHMENT " B"

VILLAGE HH

VICINITY MAP
NOVEMBER 2021

468



v      

VILLAGE HH

N  -

r'

VILLAGE KK

VILLAGE II

LAKE 13

TRACT 4052

VILLAGE FF

VILLAGE JJ
TRACT 4053

VILLAGE NN- 1

TRACT 4052

LAKE 12

1

s
VILLAGE EE- 2

i,  \  11      

VILLAGE EE- 1       '       
VILLAG

y
VILLAGE DD

ATTACHMENT " B"

F,
s

VILLAGE JJ

9 s,. SEPTEMBER 2021

469



TRACT 4094

N

ti

ON

r

ryN

b tp

r ry

N ti

ti

M

pa o

h
M

r         

1

C
o

O L!_    _(      ^i v'

Y
t

rn

m

VILLAGE LL
a

N

BASSE      
URi

VILLAGE MM
9Fs.      a

9/

ti

Pl

co

T 4 3

c

l

C'
PP°   

QJ

ILLAGE NN

ATTACHMENT B

VILLAGE LL

VICINITY MAP
DECEMBER 2021

470



TRACT 4102

l

I VILLAGE LL i'
y

I 1

I 1

VILLAGE MM

K

yi
r"/ 

LAKE 13      

j
TRACT 4101

TRACT 4102

VILLAGE NN- 1 VILLAGE NN- 2

I

I
1

ATTACHMENT " B"

LAGE EE- 2 VILLAGE MM -TRACT 4102

VICINITY MAP
I 1 MAY2022

471



i     

ILLAGE LL       

J'
I    

P E

o      
N/     

2

VILLAGE MM

LAKE 13  -   

VILLAGE KK y
4i,

g,

TRACT 4071

t9 6        
o

18

1) 

6 M9f4F-  a

RJ
9

VILLAGE JJ zo „ 
w,.

z2 z, 

z       „     r

I I
r,

aq    z6

J l

s 
q

se

a 3zc     

3t

JB 
g

p

w "       '
9

VILLAGE NN BOUNDARY110BUNE
N

15

I
1      

9

I
St

I\  '    
VILLAGE 00

Cy

ATTACHMENT " B"
VILLAGE DD

VILLAGE NN

VICINITY MAP
APR/L 2022

472



i-

LAKE 13      

I
N

i\       O

I

VILLAGE NN- 1 VILLAGE NN- 2

I
1

VILLAGE EE- 2

f     I
V I L LAG E 40

VILLAGE DD    

VILLAGE Z
SCHOOL

j
EXHIBIT " B"

VILLAGE 00

VICINITY MAP
JANUARY2021

473



N

a o a   
P.P`' 

G

9r
FRF

GOJP     
R

NT

Rij,F
Q

P

oQ

c

TRACT 4051
Q,

O'
P       

V I LLAG E Z
JQ

Q,J
Q

VILLAGE AA
P     qG       

O'

P
G

2F,       C

s

VILLA E Y

9`,   

PG
P

oJ'
p    P      PF'     

5

09

2C
G Pv     

hQ9 S

9GiiO o

q9   S
P

oP       
p

G9T I mU
9 l I

i  \

VILLAGE BB LAKE 10

VILLAGE CC

ATTACHMENT B

VILLAGE ZG9

VICINITY MAP
F9_ 

MAY2021

474



ATTAC MENT

CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by: Date:    7/ 31/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands Village DD- Tract 4055( 42 Lots)

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 11, 600      $       1. 50      $     17, 400. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 166, 000      $       2. 25      $    373, 500. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 11, 600      $       0. 90      $     10, 440. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 166,000      $       120      $    199, 200. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 4, 100      $      25.00      $    102, 500. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 6, 100      $      25. 00      $    152, 500.00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 55, 000      $       6. 00      $    330, 000. 00

Driveway Approach EA 43      $     600. 00      $     25, 800. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 21      $   2, 500. 00      $     52, 500. 00

Survey Monuments EA 13      $     300. 00      $      3, 900. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 5, 500      $       5. 00      $     27, 500.00

Catch Basins( rype A inlet) EA 4      $   4, 500. 00      $     18, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type I manhole base)    EA 29      $   6, 500. 00      $    188, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

CatCh Basins( type C inlet over rype I manhole base)    EA 3      $   6, 000.00      $     18, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 200      $      80.00      $     96, 000. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 420      $      90. 00      $    127, 800. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 400      $     120. 00      $     48, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 380      $     190.00      $     72, 200. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 2      $   9, 000.00      $     18, 000. 00

Manholes( type 11)       EA 2      $  14, 000.00      $     28,000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 4, 300      $      90. 00      $    387, 000. 00

Manholes( Type 1)       EA 18      $  10, 000. 00      $    180, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 42      $   2, 500.00      $    105, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 5, 600      $      80.00      $    448,000.00

Water Service EA 42      $   2, 500.00      $    105,000.00

Fire Hydrants EA 10      $  11, 000. 00      $    110, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 3      $   7, 500. 00      $     22, 500. 00

Air Release Valve EA 3      $   4, 000. 00      $     12, 000. 00

8" Gate Valve EA 30      $   2, 600. 00      $     78,000. 00

Water Sampling Station EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

Total     $  3, 374, 000. 00

475



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by: Date:    7/ 31/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands Village DD- Tract 4056( 80 Lots)

Item Unit Unit Price Amount

Driveway Approach EA 80      $     600.00      $     48,000. 00

Sewer Service EA 80      $   2, 500. 00      $    200, 000. 00

Water Service EA 80      $   2, 500.00      $    200, 000. 00

Total     $    448,000. 00

476



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:     Date:    2/ 1/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Villaqe EE

Item Unit Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 25, 900      $       1. 50      $     38, 850.00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 953,900      $      2. 25      $  2, 146, 275.00

6" Aggregate Base SF 25, 900      $      0. 90      $     23, 310. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 953, 900      $       1. 20      $  1, 144, 680.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)  LF 3, 980      $     25.00      $     99, 500.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)  LF 9, 200      $     25. 00      $    230, 000.00

Roundabout Curb( with AB cushion)       LF 160      $      18. 00      $      2, 880. 00

Splitter Island Curb( with AB cushion)     LF 120      $     35. 00      $      4, 200.00

Roundabout Concrete SF 1, 900      $      15. 00      $     28, 500.00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 78, 200      $      6. 00      $    469, 200. 00

Driveway Approach EA 141      $    600.00      $     84, 600.00

Handicap Ramps EA 27      $   2, 500. 00      $     67, 500.00

Survey Monuments EA 19      $    300.00      $      5, 700.00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 6, 500      $      5. 00      $     32, 500.00

Catch Basins( typeAinlet)       EA 16      $   4, 500. 00      $     72, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A in/et over concrete box culvert)    EA 2      $   2, 800.00      $      5, 600. 00

Catch BaSins( rype A inlet over type I manhole base)   EA 14      $   6, 500. 00      $     91, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A in/ et over rype ll manhole base)   EA 5      $  13, 000.00      $     65, 000.00

CatCh Basins( type A in/ et over type lll manhole base)   EA 2      $  18, 000. 00      $     36, 000.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 050      $     80. 00      $     84, 000.00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 680      $     90. 00      $     61, 200.00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 050      $    120. 00      $    126, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 785      $    190. 00      $    149, 150.00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 650      $    210. 00      $    136, 500. 00

42" Storm Drain Pipe LF 154      $    350. 00      $     53, 900. 00

48" Storm Drain Pipe LF 290      $    140.00      $     40, 600. 00

Concrete Box Culvert( 3' x 7')    LF 140      $   1, 500.00      $    210, 000. 00

Manholes( type 1)      EA 3      $   9, 000. 00      $     27,000.00

Manholes( type ll)      EA 4      $  14, 000.00      $     56, 000.00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 4, 300      $     90. 00      $    387, 000. 00

12" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 2, 230      $    150. 00      $    334, 500.00

Manholes( Type 1)     EA 15      $  10, 000.00      $    150, 000.00

Manholes( Trunk)      EA 9      $  14, 000.00      $    126, 000.00

Sewer Service EA 141      $   2, 500. 00      $    352, 500. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 4, 810      $     80.00      $    384, 800. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)  LF 2, 240      $     50.00      $    112, 000. 00

Water Service EA 141      $   2, 500. 00      $    352, 500. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 13      $  11, 000.00      $    143, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 2      $   7, 500.00      $     15, 000. 00

Air Release Valve EA 3      $   4, 000. 00      $     12, 000.00

8" Gate Valve EA 18      $   2, 600.00      $     46, 800. 00

10" Gate Valve EA 22      $   2, 700.00      $     59,aoo. 00

Water Sampling Station EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000.00

8" Non- Potable W ater Line( including all appurtenances) LF 95      $     80. 00      $      7, 600. 00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)      LF 2, 260      $    100. 00      $    226, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500.00      $      7, 500. 00

Air Release Valve EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

10" Gate Valve EA 5      $   3, 500. 00      $     17, 500. 00

16" Lake Fill Line( including a l appurtenances) LF 2, 810      $    170.00      $    477, 700. 00

3" Aeration Line( including all appurtenances) LF 2, 810      $     15. 00      $     42, 150. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 9, 500.00      $  

Air Release Valve EA 3      $   6, 000. 00      $     18, 000. 00

Butterfly Valve EA 5      $   3, 000.00      $     15, 000. 00

Total     $  8, 887, 000. 00

477



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 2/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village FF Tract 4067

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 24, 200      $       1. 50      $     36, 300. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 118, 500      $       2. 25      $    266, 625. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 12, 100      $       0. 90      $     10, 890. 00

7" AggregateBase SF 12, 100      $       1. 05      $     12, 705. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 118, 500      $       1. 20      $    142,200.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 460      $      25. 00      $     86, 500. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 5, 150      $      25. 00      $    128, 750. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 45, 100      $       6. 00      $    270, 600. 00

Driveway Approach EA 95      $    600.00      $     57, 000. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 14      $   2, 500.00      $     35,000.00

Survey Monuments EA 16      $     300. 00      $      4, 800. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 4, 500      $       5. 00      $     22, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 4      $   4, 500. 00      $     18, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 22      $   6, 500. 00      $    143, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type lll manhole base)    EA 4      $  18, 000.00      $     72, 000.00

Catch Basins( type C inlet over type 1 manhole base)    EA 1      $   6, 000. 00      $      6, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type C inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 820      $      80. 00      $    145, 600. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 120      $      90. 00      $     10, 800. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 430      $     120. 00      $     51, 600. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 80      $     150. 00      $     12, 000. 00

48" Storm Drain Pipe LF 880      $     350. 00      $    308, 000. 00

54" Storm Drain Pipe LF 130      $     550. 00      $     71, 500. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 3      $   9, 000. 00      $     27, 000. 00

Manholes( type ll) EA 1      $  14, 000.00      $     14, 000.00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 3, 580      $      90. 00      $    322,200. 00

12" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 700      $     150. 00      $    105, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 96      $   2, 500. 00      $    240, 000. 00

Manholes EA 12      $  10, 000. 00      $    120, 000. 00

Manholes( Trunk) EA 6      $  14, 000. 00      $     84, 000.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 3, 000      $      80. 00      $    240, 000. 00

8" GV EA 14      $   2, 600. 00      $     36, 400. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 1, 550      $      50. 00      $     77, 500.00

10" GV EA 10      $   2, 700. 00      $     27, 000. 00

Water Service EA 96      $   2, 500.00      $    240,000. 00

2" Water Service EA 2      $   4, 000.00      $      8, 000. 00

Air Release Valve EA 3      $   4, 000.00      $     12, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 2      $   7, 500.00      $     15, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 9      $  11, 000.00      $     99, 000.00

Water Sampling Station EA 1      $   4, 000.00      $      4, 000.00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)       LF 700      $     100. 00      $     70, 000. 00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 1      $   3, 500. 00      $      3, 500. 00

Total     $  3, 670, 000. 00

478



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 2/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village FF Tract 4082

Item Unit Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 33, 000      $       1. 50      $     49, 500. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 37, 600      $       2. 25      $     84, 600. 00

7" Aggregate Base SF 33, 000      $       1. 05      $     34, 650. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 37, 600      $       1. 20      $     45, 120. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 790      $      25.00      $     19, 750.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 300      $      25. 00      $     82, 500. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 20, 600      $       6. 00      $    123, 600. 00

Driveway Approach EA 60      $     600. 00      $     36, 000. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 4      $   2, 500. 00      $     10, 000.00

Survey Monuments EA 9      $     300. 00      $      2, 700.00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 2, 050      $       5. 00      $     10, 250. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet)  EA 12      $   4, 500. 00      $     54, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 160      $      80. 00      $     12, 800.00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 360      $      90. 00      $     32, 400. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 330      $     120.00      $     39, 600. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 3      $   9, 000. 00      $     27, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 980      $      90. 00      $    178, 200. 00

Sewer Service EA 60      $   2, 500.00      $    150, 000. 00

Manholes EA 10      $  10, 000. 00      $    100,000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 2, 060      $      80. 00      $    164, 800. 00

8" GV EA 9      $   2, 600. 00      $     23, 400. 00

Water Service EA 60      $   2, 500. 00      $    150, 000. 00

Air Release Valve EA 1      $   4, 000.00      $      4, 000.00

Blow Off Valve EA 2      $   7, 500. 00      $     15, 000.00

Fire Hydrants EA 5      $  11, 000. 00      $     55, 000. 00

Total E 1, 505, 000. 00

479



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village GG Tract 4091

Item Unit Qty Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 45,300      $       1. 50      $     67, 950. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 11, 600      $       2. 25      $     26, 100. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 28, 400      $       0. 90      $     25, 560. 00

7" Aggregate Base SF 16, 900      $       1. 05      $     17, 745. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 11, 600      $       1. 20      $     13, 920. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 700      $      25. 00      $     17, 500. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( wirh AB cushion)     LF 2, 400      $      25.00      $     60, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 15, 600      $       6. 00      $     93, 600. 00

Driveway Approach EA 48      $     600.00      $     28,800.00

Handicap Ramps EA 2      $   2, 500. 00      $      5, 000.00

Survey Monuments EA 7      $     300. 00      $      2, 100. 00

Traffic Striping 8 Signing LF 1, 400      $       5. 00      $      7, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 160      $      80. 00      $     12, 800. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 340      $     120. 00      $     40, 800. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 7      $   4, 500. 00      $     31, 500.00

Catch Basins( type C in/ et over type 1 manhole base)    EA 1      $   6, 000. 00      $      6, 000. 00

Manholes( type 1) EA 1      $   9, 000. 00      $      9, 000. 00

Storm Drain Outfall EA 1      $  10, 000. 00      $     10, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 400      $      90.00      $    126, 000. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 8      $  10, 000. 00      $     80,000.00

Sewer Service EA 48      $   2, 500. 00      $    120, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 450      $      80. 00      $    116, 000. 00

8" GV EA 5      $   2, 600.00      $     13, 000.00

1. 5" Water Service EA 48      $   2, 500.00      $    120, 000. 00

2" Water Service EA 2      $   4, 000. 00      $      8, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 5      $  11, 000. 00      $     55, 000. 00

Air Release Valve EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)       LF 230     $     100. 00      $     23,000.00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 2     $   3, 500. 00      $      7, 000.00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500. 00      $      7, 500. 00

Total a 1, 113,000.00

480



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village GG Tract 4092

Item Unit Q t r Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 57, 500      $       1. 50      $     86, 250. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 52, 300      $       2. 25      $    117, 675. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 800      $       0. 90      $ 720. 00

7" Aggregate Base SF 56, 800      $       1. 05      $     59, 640.00

8" Aggregate Base SF 52, 200      $       1. 20      $     62, 640. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 1, 900      $      25. 00      $     47, 500. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)     LF 4, 700      $      25. 00      $    117, 500. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 32, 500      $       6. 00      $    195, 000. 00

Driveway Approach EA 62      $     600.00      $     37, 200. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 4      $   2, 500. 00      $     10, 000.00

Survey Monuments EA 15      $     300. 00      $      4, 500. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 3, 140      $       5. 00      $     15, 700. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 230      $      80. 00      $     18,400. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 980      $      90. 00      $     88,200. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 510      $     120. 00      $     61, 200.00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 140      $     150. 00      $     21, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A in/ etJ EA 16      $   4, 500. 00      $     72, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

Manholes( rype 1) EA 1      $   9, 000.00      $      9, 000. 00

Manholes( trunk)  EA 1      $  14, 000.00      $     14, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 2, 400      $      90. 00      $    216, 000. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 13      $  10, 000. 00      $    130, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 62      $   2, 500. 00      $    155, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 3, 260      $      80. 00      $    260,800.00

8" GV EA 12      $   2, 600. 00      $     31, 200. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 62      $   2, 500. 00      $    155,000.00

Fire Hydrants EA 10      $  11, 000. 00      $    110, 000. 00

Total E 2, 109, 000.00

481



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:      Date:    2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village HH Tract 4089

Item Unit t(   Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 33,300      $       1. 50      $     49,950.00

4. 5" ACPaving SF 13,800      $      225      $     31, 050.00

5" AC Paving SF 14,500      $      2. 50      $     36, 250. 00

5' Aggregate Base SF 14, 500      $      0. 75      $     10, 875. 00

7" Aggregate Base SF 33,300      $       1. 05      $     34,965.00

8" Aggregate Base SF 13, 800      $       120      $     16, 560. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)  LF 580      $     25. 00      $     14, 500.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)    LF 3, 160      $     25.00      $     79, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 20, 160      $      6. 00      $    120, 960.00

Driveway Approach EA 48      $    600. 00      $     28, 800. 00

Survey Monuments EA 6      $    300.00      $      1, 800.00

Treffic SViping& Signing LF 1, 730      $       5. 00      $      8, 650.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 400      $     80.00      $     32, 000.00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 197      $     90.00      $     17, 730. 00

42" Storm Drain Pipe LF 230      $    210.00      $     48,300.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 2      $   4, 500. 00      $      9, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over rype I manAole base)    EA 6      $   6, 500.00      $     39, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 700      $     90. 00      $    153,000.00

Manholes( type q EA 8      $  10, 000. 00      $     80,000.00

Sewer Service EA 48      $   2, 500.00      $    120,000.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 1, 900      $     80.00      $    152,000.00

8' GV EA 5      $   2, 600.00      $     13, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 6      $  11, 000.00      $     66,000. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 48      $   2, 500.00      $    120, 000. 00

Total S 7, 283,000.00

482



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village HH Tract 4090

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 17, 600      $       1. 50      $     26, 400. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 28, 400      $       2. 25      $     63, 900.00

7" Aggregate Base SF 17, 600      $       1. 05      $     18, 480. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 28, 400      $       120      $     34, 080.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 520      $      25. 00      $     13, 000. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)     LF 2, 440      $      25.00      $     61, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 9, 840      $       6. 00      $     59, 040.00

Driveway Approach EA 43      $     600. 00      $     25, 800. 00

Survey Monuments EA 3      $     300. 00      $ 900.00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 1, 370      $       5. 00      $      6, 850.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 100      $      80. 00      $      8, 000. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 253      $      90. 00      $     22, 770. 00

42" Storm Drain Pipe LF 200      $     210. 00      $     42, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 4      $   4, 500. 00      $     18, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 1      $   6, 500. 00      $      6, 500.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 11 manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000.00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 400      $      90. 00      $    126, 000. 00

Manholes( type 1) EA 5      $  10, 000. 00      $     50, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 44      $   2, 500. 00      $    110, 000.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 400      $      80. 00      $    112, 000.00

8" GV EA 6      $   2, 600. 00      $     15, 600. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 4      $  11, 000. 00      $     44, 000.00

1. 5" Water Service EA 43      $   2, 500. 00      $    107, 500. 00

2" Water Service EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

Total     $    989, 000. 00

483



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 3/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village JJ Tract 4052

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

4. 5" AC Paving SF 36, 700      $       2. 25      $     82, 575. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 36, 700      $       1. 20      $     44, 040. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 040      $      25. 00      $     51, 000. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 1, 000      $      25. 00      $     25, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 15, 740      $       6. 00      $     94, 440. 00

Driveway Approach EA 30      $     600. 00      $     18, 000.00

Handicap Ramps EA 8      $   2, 500. 00      $     20, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 2      $     300. 00      $ 600. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 1, 170      $       5. 00      $      5, 850. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 3      $   6, 500. 00      $     19, 500.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 100      $      80. 00      $      8, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 262      $     150. 00      $     39, 300. 00

Manholes( type ll) EA 1      $  14, 000. 00      $     14, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 652      $      90. 00      $     58, 680.00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 540      $     130. 00      $     70, 200. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 3      $  10, 000. 00      $     30, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 30      $   2, 500. 00      $     75, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 638      $      80. 00      $     51, 040.00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 523      $      50. 00      $     26, 150.00

Water Service EA 30      $   2, 500. 00      $     75, 000. 00

2" Water Service EA 2      $   4, 000. 00      $      8, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 2      $  11, 000.00      $     22,000.00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)       LF 535      $     100. 00      $     53, 500.00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 2      $   3, 500. 00      $      7, 000. 00

Total E 912, 000. 00

484



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 3/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village JJ Tract 4053

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

4. 5" AC Paving SF 56, 700      $       2. 25      $    127, 575.00

8" Aggregate Base SF 56, 700      $       1. 20      $     68, 040. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 70      $      25. 00      $      1, 750. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 720      $      25.00      $     68, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 18, 680      $       6. 00      $    112, 080. 00

Driveway Approach EA 47      $     600. 00      $     28, 200.00

Handicap Ramps EA 3      $   2, 500. 00      $      7, 500.00

Survey Monuments EA 6      $     300. 00      $      1, 800. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 1, 910      $       5. 00      $      9, 550. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 8      $   6, 500. 00      $     52, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 5      $  13, 000. 00      $     65,000. 00

CatCh Basins( type C inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 2      $  13, 000. 00      $     26, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 590      $      80. 00      $     47, 200. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 670      $      90. 00      $     60, 300. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 438      $     150. 00      $     65, 700. 00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 130      $     190.00      $     24, 700. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 958      $      90. 00      $     86, 220. 00

12" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 870      $     150. 00      $    130, 500. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 7      $  10, 000.00      $     70, 000. 00

Manholes( Trunk) EA 2      $  14, 000.00      $     28, 000.00

Sewer Service EA 46      $   2, 500. 00      $    115,000.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 052      $      80. 00      $     84, 160. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 937      $      50.00      $     46, 850. 00

Water Service EA 46      $   2, 500.00      $    115,000.00

Fire Hydrants EA 3      $  11, 000.00      $     33, 000. 00

8" GV EA 11      $   2, 600. 00      $     28, 600. 00

10" GV EA 7      $   2, 700. 00      $     18, 900. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)      LF 540      $      80. 00      $     43, 200. 00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)       LF 395      $     100. 00      $     39, 500. 00

8" GV EA 1      $   3, 000.00      $      3, 000. 00

10" GV EA 3      $   3, 500. 00      $     10, 500. 00

Total     $  1, 618,000. 00

485



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 6/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village LL Tract 4093

Item Unit Qt    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 39, 600      $       1. 50      $     59,400.00

4. 5" ACPaving SF 31, 300      $       2. 25      $     70, 425.00

6" Aggregate Base SF 39, 600      $       0. 90      $     35, 640. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 31, 300      $       120      $     37, 560. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 1, 250      $      25.00      $     31, 250. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 700      $      25.00      $     67, 500. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 19, 900      $       6. 00      $    119,400.00

Driveway Approach EA 23      $    600. 00      $     13, 800. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 6      $   2, 500. 00      $     15, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 9      $     300. 00      $      2, 700. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 1, 880      $       5. 00      $      9, 400. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 6      $   6, 500. 00      $     39, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 3      $  13, 000. 00      $     39, 000. 00

Field Inlet( type C inlet over type I manhole base) EA 1      $   2, 800. 00      $      2, 800. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 100      $      80. 00      $      8, 000. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 360      $     120. 00      $     43, 200. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 440      $     150. 00      $     66,000. 00

42" Storm Drain Pipe LF 220      $     210. 00      $     46,200.00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 780      $      90. 00      $     70, 200. 00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 960      $     130.00      $    124, 800. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 9      $  10, 000.00      $     90, 000.00

Sewer Service EA 23      $   2, 500. 00      $     57, 500.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 870      $      80. 00      $     69, 600. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 1, 030      $      50. 00      $     51, 500. 00

Water Service EA 23      $   2, 500. 00      $     57, 500.00

Fire Hydrants EA 5      $  11, 000. 00      $     55,000.00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500. 00      $      7, 500.00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 12      $   2, 700. 00      $     32, 400. 00

1" W Service EA 1      $   2, 500. 00      $      2, 500. 00

2" W Service EA 3      $   4, 000.00      $     12, 000. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 1, 020      $      80. 00      $     81, 600. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500. 00      $      7, 500. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 1      $   3, 000. 00      $      3, 000. 00

2" NPW Service EA 3      $   3, 500. 00      $     10, 500. 00

Total     $  1, 380, 000. 00

486



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 6/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village LL Tract 4094

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 71, 900      $       1. 50      $    107, 850. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 35,400      $       2. 25      $     79, 650. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 71, 900      $       0. 90      $     64, 710. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 35, 400      $       120      $     42,480.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 170      $      25. 00      $     54, 250.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 910      $      25.00      $     97, 750. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 23, 900      $       6. 00      $    143, 400. 00

Driveway Approach EA 47      $     600. 00      $     28, 200. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 12      $   2, 500. 00      $     30, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 21      $     300. 00      $      6, 300. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 2, 970      $       5. 00      $     14, 850. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 9      $   4, 500. 00      $     40, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type I manhole base)    EA 6      $   6, 500.00      $     39, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 11 manhole base)    EA 3      $  13, 000.00      $     39, 000.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type lll manhole base)   EA 1      $  18, 000. 00      $     18, 000.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 460      $      80. 00      $     36, 800. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 300      $      90. 00      $     27, 000. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 400      $     120.00      $     48, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 440      $     150.00      $     66,000. 00

42" Storm Drain Pipe LF 130      $     210.00      $     27, 300.00

48" Storm Drain Pipe LF 155      $     350.00      $     54, 250.00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 720      $      90. 00      $    154, 800. 00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 040      $     130. 00      $    135, 200. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 15      $  10, 000.00      $    150, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 46      $   2, 500.00      $    115,000.00

8" Water Line( including al/ appurtenances)    LF 1, 950      $      80. 00      $    156, 000. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurfenances)   LF 1, 220      $      50. 00      $     61, 000. 00

Water Service EA 46      $   2, 500. 00      $    115,000.00

Fire Hydrants EA 10      $  11, 000.00      $    110, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 3      $   7, 500.00      $     22,500. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 15      $   2, 700. 00      $     40,500.00

1. 5" W Service EA 1      $   2, 500. 00      $      2, 500. 00

2" W Service EA 4      $   4, 000. 00      $     16, 000. 00

3" W Service EA 1      $  ' 11, 000.00      $     11, 000. 00

1" Sample Station EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 1, 230      $      80. 00      $     98, 400. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 3      $   7, 500. 00      $     22, 500. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 2      $   3, 000. 00      $      6, 000. 00

2" NPW Service EA 4      $   3, 500.00      $     14, 000. 00

3" NPW Service EA 1      $  11, 000.00      $     11, 000.00

Total S 2, 203, 000. 00

487



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 9/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village MM Tract 4101

Item Unit Qty Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 36, 600      $       1. 50      $     54, 900. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 30, 100      $       2. 25      $     67, 725. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 36, 600      $       0. 90      $     32, 940. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 30, 100      $       1. 20      $     36, 120. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 820      $      25.00      $     20, 500. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 840      $      25. 00      $     71, 000.00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 18, 100      $       6. 00      $    108,600.00

Driveway Approach EA 42      $    600. 00      $     25, 200. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 7      $   2, 500. 00      $     17, 500. 00

Survey Monuments EA 14      $     300. 00      $      4, 200. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 1, 952      $       5. 00      $      9, 760. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 11      $   6, 500. 00      $     71, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type ll manhole base)    EA 4      $  13, 000. 00      $     52, 000.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 400      $      80. 00      $     32, 000. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe F 300      $     120. 00      $     36, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 305      $     150.00      $     45, 750. 00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 300      $     190.00      $     57, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 835      $      90. 00      $     75, 150.00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 010      $     130. 00      $    131, 300. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 7      $  10, 000. 00      $     70, 000. 00

Manholes( trunk) EA 1      $  14, 000. 00      $     14, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 42      $   2, 500. 00      $    105, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including a/ l appurtenances)    LF 940      $      80. 00      $     75, 200.00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 1, 010      $      50. 00      $     50, 500.00

1. 5" Water Service EA 42      $   2, 500. 00      $    105, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 5      $  11, 000. 00      $     55, 000. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 12      $   2, 700. 00      $     32, 400. 00

2" W Service EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000.00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 1, 010      $      80. 00      $     80, 800. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 1      $   3, 000. 00      $      3, 000. 00

Total     $  1, 489,000. 00

488



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 9/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village MM Tract 4102

Item Unit Qt i Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 60,600      $       1. 50      $     90, 900. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 14, 200      $       2. 25      $     31, 950. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 60,600      $       0. 90      $     54, 540. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 14, 200      $       1. 20      $     17, 040.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 1, 280      $      25. 00      $     32, 000.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 060      $      25. 00      $     76, 500. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 20, 500      $       6. 00      $    123, 000. 00

DrivewayApproach EA 36      $    600. 00      $     21, 600. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 6      $   2, 500. 00      $     15, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 8      $     300. 00      $      2, 400. 00

Traffic Striping 8 Signing LF 1, 940      $       5. 00      $      9, 700.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet) EA 7      $   4, 500. 00      $     31, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type I manhole base)     EA 1      $   6, 500. 00      $      6, 500. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 190      $      80. 00      $     15, 200. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 270      $      90.00      $     24, 300.00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 170      $     120. 00      $     20, 400. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 500      $      90. 00      $    135,000.00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 480      $     130. 00      $     62, 400. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 8      $  10, 000.00      $     80, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 35      $   2, 500. 00      $     87, 500. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 580      $      80. 00      $    126, 400.00

10" Water Line( including all appurfenances)   LF 470      $      50. 00      $     23, 500. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 36      $   2, 500. 00      $     90, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 7      $  11, 000. 00      $     77, 000. 00

Resilient Gate Valve EA 6      $   2, 700.00      $     16, 200. 00

2" W Service EA 2      $   4, 000.00      $      8, 000. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 480      $      80. 00      $     38, 400. 00

2" NPW Service EA 1      $   3, 500. 00      $      3, 500. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500. 00      $      7, 500. 00

Total     $  1, 237, 000.00

489



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 7/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village NN Tract 4071

Item Unit Unit Price Amount

4. 5" AC Paving SF 62, 600      $       2. 25      $    140, 850. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 62,600      $       1. 20      $     75, 120. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 410      $      25.00      $     10, 250. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 310      $      25.00      $     82, 750. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 27, 700      $       6. 00      $    166, 200. 00

Driveway Approach EA 51      $     600. 00      $     30, 600. 00

Survey Monuments EA 3      $     300. 00      $ 900. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 2, 000      $       5. 00      $     10, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 090      $      80. 00      $     87, 200.00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 620      $      90. 00      $     55, 800.00

Catch Basins( type A in/ et over type 1 manhole base)     EA 14      $   6, 500. 00      $     91, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 950      $      90. 00      $    175, 500. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 8      $  10, 000. 00      $     80, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 51      $   2, 500. 00      $    127, 500.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 400      $      80. 00      $    112, 000. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 900      $      50. 00      $     45, 000. 00

8" GV EA 3      $   2, 600. 00      $      7, 800. 00

10" GV EA 2      $   2, 700. 00      $      5, 400. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 4      $  11, 000. 00      $     44, 000.00

1" Water Service EA 1      $   2, 500. 00      $      2, 500. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 51      $   2, 500. 00      $    127, 500.00

2" W Service EA 3      $   4, 000. 00      $     12, 000. 00

10" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)       LF 900      $     100. 00      $     90, 000. 00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 3      $   3, 500. 00      $     10, 500. 00

Total     $  1, 590, 000. 00

490



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 7/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village NN Tract 4072

Item Unit Qty Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 10, 200      $       1. 50      $     15, 300. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 83, 100      $       2. 25      $    186, 975. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 10, 200      $       0. 90      $      9, 180. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 83, 100      $       1. 20      $     99, 720.00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 590      $      25. 00      $     64, 750.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)   LF 3, 090      $      25. 00      $     77, 250.00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 34, 600      $       6. 00      $    207, 600. 00

Driveway Approach EA 43      $     600. 00      $     25, 800. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 16      $   2, 500. 00      $     40, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 12      $     300.00      $      3, 600.00

Traffic Striping& Signing lF 3, 000      $       5. 00      $     15, 000.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 410      $      80. 00      $     32, 800. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 580      $      90. 00      $     52, 200. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 400      $     120. 00      $     48, 000. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 350      $     150. 00      $     52, 500.00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 150      $     190. 00      $     28, 500.00

48" Storm Drain Pipe LF 150      $     190. 00      $     28, 500. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base)     EA 15      $   6, 500. 00      $     97, 500.00

Catch Basins( type A in/ et over type II manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

Catch Basins( rype A inlet over type lll manhole base)    EA 1      $  18, 000.00      $     18, 000. 00

Field Inlets( type C inlet over type I manhole base)       EA 1      $   2, 800.00      $      2, 800. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 1      $   9, 000. 00      $      9, 000. 00

Manholes( trunk)  EA 2      $  14, 000. 00      $     28, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 550      $      90. 00      $    139, 500. 00

10" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 300      $     130.00      $    169, 000. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 15      $  10, 000.00      $    150,000.00

Manholes( trunk)  EA 1      $  14, 000. 00      $     14, 000. 00

Sewer Service EA 45      $   2, 500.00      $    112, 500. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 600      $      80. 00      $    128, 000. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 1, 200      $      50. 00      $     60, 000. 00

8" GV EA 5      $   2, 600. 00      $     13, 000.00

10" GV EA 15      $   2, 700.00      $     40,500. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 6      $  11, 000.00      $     66,000.00

1" Water Service EA 1      $   2, 500. 00      $      2, 500. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 45      $   2, 500.00      $    112,500.00

2" W Service EA 5      $   4, 000. 00      $     20, 000.00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 1, 300      $      80. 00      $    104, 000.00

8" GV EA 1      $   3, 000. 00      $      3, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   7, 500. 00      $      7, 500. 00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 5      $   3, 500. 00      $     17, 500. 00

16" Lake Fill Line LF 1, 400      $     170. 00      $    238, 000. 00

3" Aeration Line LF 1, 400      $      15. 00      $     21, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1      $   9, 500. 00      $      9, 500. 00

ARV EA 1      $   6, 000. 00      $      6, 000. 00

Total     $  2, 575, 000.00

491



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village 00 Tract 4068

Item Unit Qy Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 38, 600      $       1. 50      $     57, 900.00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 15,600      $       2. 25      $     35, 100. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 23, 100      $       0. 90      $     20, 790. 00

7" Aggregate Base SF 15, 500      $       1. 05      $     16, 275. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 15, 594      $       120      $     18, 712. 80

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 830      $      25.00      $     20,750.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)     LF 2, 000      $      25. 00      $     50, 000. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 12, 200      $       6. 00      $     73, 200. 00

Driveway Approach EA 34      $     600. 00      $     20, 400. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 8      $   2, 500.00      $     20, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 10      $     300.00      $      3, 000.00

Traffc Striping& Signing LF 1, 450      $       5. 00      $      7, 250. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type I manhole base)     EA 9     $   6, 500. 00      $     58, 500.00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 11 manhole base)    EA 1      $  13, 000. 00      $     13, 000. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 300      $      80. 00      $     24, 000. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 620      $      90. 00      $     55, 800. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 300      $     150. 00      $     45,000. 00

Manholes( type I) EA 1      $   9, 000. 00      $      9, 000. 00

Manholes( trunk)  EA 2      $  14, 000. 00      $     28, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 390      $      90. 00      $    125, 100. 00

Sewer Service EA 34      $   2, 500.00      $     85, 000. 00

Manholes( type 1) EA 7      $  10, 000.00      $     70, 000.00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances)    LF 1, 510      $      80. 00      $    120, 800. 00

8" GV EA 10      $   2, 600.00      $     26, 000. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 530      $      50. 00      $     26, 500. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 34      $   2, 500. 00      $     85, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 3      $  11, 000.00      $     33, 000.00

Total b 1, 148, 000. 00

492



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:  Date:     2/ 8/ 2023

Tract No.:     River Islands- Village 00 Tract 4069

Item Unit Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 14, 600      $       1. 50      $     21, 900. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 81, 400      $       2. 25      $    183, 150. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 14, 600      $       0. 90      $     13, 140. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 81, 400      $       1. 20      $     97, 680. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter ( with AB cushion)   LF 2, 670      $      25. 00      $     66,750.00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)     LF 2, 700      $      25.00      $     67,500. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 34, 100      $       6. 00      $    204,600.00

Driveway Approach EA 59      $    600. 00      $     35, 400. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 10      $   2, 500. 00      $     25, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 5      $     300. 00      $      1, 500. 00

Traffic Striping& Signing LF 2, 650      $       5. 00      $     13, 250. 00

Catch Basins( type A in/ et over type 1 manhole base)    EA 5     $   6, 500. 00      $     32, 500.00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 440      $      80. 00      $     35, 200.00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 430      $     190. 00      $     81, 700. 00

Manholes( trunk)  EA 1      $  14, 000. 00      $     14, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 740      $      90. 00      $    156, 600. 00

Sewer Service EA 59      $   2, 500. 00      $    147, 500.00

Manholes( rype I) EA 6      $  10, 000. 00      $     60,000.00

8" Water Line( inc/ uding all appurtenances)    LF 1, 750      $      80. 00      $    140, 000. 00

8" GV EA   °      3      $   2, 600. 00      $      7, 800. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances)   LF 440      $      50. 00      $     22, 000. 00

10" GV EA 11      $   2, 700.00      $     29, 700. 00

1. 5" Water Service EA 59      $   2, 500. 00      $    147, 500. 00

2" Water Service EA 1      $   4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 6      $  11, 000. 00      $     66, 000. 00

Total     $  1, 652,000.00

493



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:      Date:     6/ 21/ 2021

Tract No.:     River Islands Village Z- Tract 4050( 33 Lots)

Item Unit Q t    Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 16, 700      $       1. 50      $     25, 050. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 65, 300      $       2. 25      $    146, 925. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 16, 700      $       0. 90      $     15, 030. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 65, 300      $       1. 20      $     78, 360. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion) LF 2, 150      $      15. 00      $     32, 250. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)  LF 2, 440      $      15. 00      $     36, 600. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 25, 000      $       5. 00      $    125, 000. 00

Driveway Approach EA 39      $    600. 00      $     23, 400. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 10      $   2, 500. 00      $     25, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 12      $    300. 00      $      3, 600. 00

Traffic Striping& Signage LF 2, 460      $       5. 00      $     12, 300. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet)       EA 1       $   2, 400. 00      $      2, 400. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base) EA 17      $   2, 800. 00      $     47, 600. 00

Field Inlets( type C inlet over type I manhole base)   EA 2       $   2, 800. 00      $       5, 600. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 470      $      34. 00      $     15, 980. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 470      $      65. 00      $     30, 550. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 250      $      80. 00      $     20, 000. 00

36" Storm Drain Pipe LF 92      $      95. 00      $       8, 740. 00

Manholes( type 11)       EA 2       $   5, 000. 00      $     10, 000. 00

Stub& Plug EA 2      $   1, 000. 00      $      2, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 1, 830      $      28. 00      $     51, 240. 00

Manholes( type q EA 8      $  4, 000. 00      $     32, 000. 00

4" Sewer Service EA 39      $    600. 00      $     23, 400. 00

Stub& Plug EA 1       $   1, 000. 00      $       1, 000. 00

8" Water Line( including all appurtenances) LF 1, 820       $      32. 00      $     58, 240. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances) EA 700       $     40. 00      $     28, 000. 00

1- 1/ 2" Water Service EA 39      $   2, 000. 00      $     78, 000. 00

Water Sampling Station EA 1       $   3, 000. 00      $       3, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 3      $  4, 000. 00      $     12, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 2      $  4, 000. 00      $       8, 000. 00

Resilent Valve EA 14      $   1, 550. 00      $     21, 700. 00

Water Plug& Stub EA 1       $   1, 000. 00      $       1, 000. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)     LF 700      $      35. 00      $     24, 500. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1       $  4,000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

Total      $  1, 012, 000. 00

T:\ 25500- River Islands Phase 1A1Estimates\ GASB 34 Reports\ Stage 2A\ Vlllage ZNillage Z- Tract 4050

494



CITY OF LATHROP

PROJECT ACCEPTANCE

GASB 34 REPORT)

Submitted by:      Date:     6/ 21/ 2021

Tract No.:     River Islands Village Z- Tract 4051 ( 61 Lots)

Item Unit          Unit Price Amount

3" AC Paving SF 27, 200      $       1. 50      $     40, 800. 00

4. 5" AC Paving SF 78, 000      $       2. 25      $    175, 500. 00

6" Aggregate Base SF 27, 200      $       0. 90      $     24, 480. 00

8" Aggregate Base SF 78, 000      $       1. 20      $     93, 600. 00

Vertical Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion) LF 3, 040      $      15. 00      $     45, 600. 00

Rolled Curb and Gutter( with AB cushion)  LF 2, 850      $      15. 00      $     42, 750. 00

Concrete Sidewalk SF 30, 000      $       5. 00      $    150, 000. 00

Driveway Approach EA 48      $    600. 00      $     28, 800. 00

Handicap Ramps EA 12      $  2, 500. 00      $     30, 000. 00

Survey Monuments EA 17      $    300. 00      $      5, 100. 00

Traffic Striping& Signage LF 3, 110      $       5. 00      $     15, 550. 00

Catch Basins( rype A inlet)       EA 10      $   2, 400. 00      $     24, 000. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type 1 manhole base) EA 8      $   2, 800. 00      $     22, 400. 00

Catch Basins( type A inlet over type II manhole base) EA 4      $   5, 000. 00      $     20, 000. 00

Field Inlets( type C inlet over type 1 manhole base)   EA 1       $  2, 800. 00      $      2, 800. 00

15" Storm Drain Pipe LF 1, 070      $      34. 00      $     36, 380. 00

18" Storm Drain Pipe LF 230      $     46. 00      $     10, 580. 00

24" Storm Drain Pipe LF 420      $      65. 00      $     27, 300. 00

30" Storm Drain Pipe LF 650      $      80. 00      $     52, 000. 00

Manholes( rype q EA 2      $   3, 000. 00      $      6, 000. 00

Manholes( rype il)       EA 1       $   5, 000. 00      $      5, 000. 00

Stub& Plug EA 1       $   1, 000. 00      $       1, 000. 00

8" Sanitary Sewer Pipe LF 2, 510      $     28. 00      $     70, 280. 00

Manholes( rype 1)       EA 13      $  4, 000. 00      $     52, 000. 00

4" Sewer Service EA 47      $    600. 00      $     28, 200. 00

Stub& Plug EA 1       $   1, 000. 00      $       1, 000. 00

8" Water Line( induding all appurtenances) LF 2, 270      $      32. 00      $     72, 640. 00

10" Water Line( including all appurtenances) EA 1, 030      $     40. 00      $     41, 200. 00

1" Water Service EA 1       $    800. 00      $ 800. 00

1- 1/ 2" Water Service EA 47      $   2, 000. 00      $     94, 000. 00

2" Water Service EA 1       $   2, 000. 00      $      2, 000. 00

Fire Hydrants EA 5      $  4, 000. 00      $     20, 000. 00

Air Release Valve EA 1       $   2, 500. 00      $      2, 500. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 3      $  4, 000. 00      $     12, 000. 00

Resilent Valve EA 18      $   1, 550. 00      $     27, 900. 00

Water Plug& Stub EA 1       $   1, 000. 00      $       1, 000. 00

8" Non- Potable Water Line( including all appurtenances)     LF 1, 020      $      35. 00      $     35, 700. 00

2" Non- Potable Water Service EA 1       $  2, 000. 00      $      2, 000. 00

Blow Off Valve EA 1       $  4, 000. 00      $      4, 000. 00

Resilent Valve EA 3      $   1, 550. 00      $      4,650. 00

Total      $  1, 332, 000. 00

T.\ 2550PRiver Islands Phase 1A\ Es imaleslGASB 34 Reports\ Stage 2A\ Vlllage Z\ Vlllage Z- Tract 4051

495



ITEM 5. 1

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       PUBLIC HEARING     ( PUBLISHED NOTICE)     TO

CONSIDER APPROVING CITYWIDE TRUCK ROUTE

LISTING PURSUANT TO LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE

10. 16. 030

RECOMMENDATION:     City Council to Consider the Following:
1.  Hold a Public Hearing; and
2.  Adopt a Resolution Approving Citywide Truck

Route List Pursuant to Lathrop Municipal Code
10. 16. 030

SUMMARY:

During the October 9th City Council meeting, Council directed staff to revise the list
of citywide designated truck routes to conform to the approved First Reading and
Introduction of an Ordinance to Amend the Lathrop Zoning Map and Modify Title 10
Vehicles and Traffic) of the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC). In accordance with LMC

Section 10. 16. 030 and Ordinance 06- 262 adopted by City Council in September
2006, City Council can establish and revise truck routes by resolution provided that
a duly advertised public hearing is held. A notice of this public hearing was published
in the Manteca Bulletin, pursuant to California Government Code section 65091 on
October 31, 2023.

Staff request that the City Council hold a public hearing, consider all information and
public testimony and,  if determined to be appropriate adopt the list of citywide

designated truck routes as listed in the Background Section of this Report and

illustrated on Attachment B - Truck Route Map.

BACKGROUND:

On October 9, 2023, City Council approved the First Reading and Introduction of an
Ordinance to Amend the Lathrop Zoning Map, Modify Title 10 ( Vehicles and Traffic)

of the Lathrop Municipal Code, and Adopt Various Amendments to Title 17 ( Zoning)
for consistency with the 2022 Lathrop General Plan Update.  To conform to the

changes made to the LMC 10. 16. 010 Truck Routes - Establishment and Purpose, the

list of designated truck routes needs to be updated.

In accordance with LMC Section 10. 16. 030 and Ordinance 06- 262 adopted by City
Council in September 2006, the City can establish truck routes by resolution provided
that a duly advertised public hearing is held. Staff is requesting that the City Council
hold a public hearing to consider the proposed resolution to approve the list of
citywide truck routes provided below and illustrated on Attachment B - Truck Route

Map.

496



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CONSIDER APPROVING CITYWIDE TRUCK ROUTE LIST PURSUANT TO LMC.

10. 16. 030

A.  Harlan Road, from the northerly City limits at Roth Road southerly
to its cul- de- sac terminus in the Crossroads Industrial Center

B.  Lathrop Road, from McKinley Avenue easterly to the City limits
C.  Lathrop Road, from I- 5 southbound off- ramp easterly to Harlan

Road

D.  McKinley Avenue,  from Lathrop Road southerly to Yosemite
Avenue

E.  Louise Avenue, from the west side of the Louise Avenue/ I- 5

Interchange in the Mossdale Landing development to the
easterly City limits at the east side of the easterly set of Union
Pacific Railroad right- of- way

F.  Manthey Road from the northerly City limits to 900' north of
Dos Reis Road

G.  Manthey Road from Towne Centre Drive southerly to the City
limits at Paradise Cut, except where abandoned

H.  Roth Road,   from the west side of the Roth Road/ I- 5

Interchange east to the City limits at the east side of the
easterly set of Union Pacific Railroad right- of-way

I.   D' Arcy Road, from Harlan Road to Yosemite Avenue
Tesla Drive,  from Harlan Road southeasterly to Christopher
Way

K.  Christopher Way, from D' Arcy Parkway southerly to cul- de- sac
terminus

L.  Murphy Parkway, from northerly terminus southerly to Tesla
Drive

M. Golden Valley Parkway,  from Brookhurst Boulevard to River

Islands Parkway
N.  Yosemite Avenue, from State Route 120 to east City limits
O.  Brookhurst Boulevard, from Golden Valley Parkway to Manthey

temp)
P.  Shideler Parkway, from Yosemite Avenue north to cul- de- sac

terminus

FISCAL IMPACT:

No fiscal impact. Should Council approve this item, staff will update the appropriate

striping and signage with funds already allocated in the adopted Fiscal Year 2023- 24
budget.

ATTACH M ENTS:

A.       Resolution Approving Citywide Truck Route Listing Pursuant to Lathrop
Municipal Code 10. 16. 030

B.       Truck Route Map

497



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CONSIDER APPROVING CITYWIDE TRUCK ROUTE LIST PURSUANT TO LMC.

10. 16. 030

APPROVALS:

o - 3!- . toa3a

Angel arca Date

Assistant Engineer

lo 3 l2bZ3

Brad T lor Date

City ngineer

Cari Jam Date

Finance Di ctor

d  a  2o2g

Michael King Date

Assistant City Manager

0 - 3/- Zo z-3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

ir• v3
Ste en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

498



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

TO APPROVE CITYWIDE TRUCK ROUTE LIST PURSUANT TO LATHROP

MUNICIPAL CODE 10. 16. 030

WHEREAS, on October 9, 2023, City Council approved the First Reading and
Introduction of an Ordinance to Amend the Lathrop Zoning Map,  Modify Title 10
Vehicles and Traffic) of the Lathrop Municipal Code, and Adopt Various Amendments

to Title 17 ( Zoning) for consistency with the 2022 Lathrop General Plan Update; and

WHEREAS, to conform to the LMC 10. 16. 010 Truck Routes - Establishment

and Purpose, the list of designated truck routes needs to be updated; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with LMC Section 10. 16. 030 and Ordinance 06- 262

adopted by City Council in September 2006, the City can establish truck routes by
resolution provided that a duly advertised public hearing is held; and

WHEREAS,  a notice of this public hearing was published in the Manteca
Bulletin, pursuant to California Government Code section 65091 on October 31, 2023;
and

WHEREAS,  staff recommends that the City Council hold a public hearing,
consider all information and public testimony and,  if determined to be appropriate

adopt the following list of citywide designated truck routes:

A.  Harlan Road, from the northerly City limits at Roth Road southerly
to its cul- de- sac terminus in the Crossroads Industrial Center

B.  Lathrop Road, from McKinley Avenue easterly to the City limits
C.  Lathrop Road, from I- 5 southbound off- ramp easterly to Harlan

Road

D.  McKinley Avenue,  from Lathrop Road southerly to Yosemite
Avenue

E.  Louise Avenue,  from the west side of the Louise Avenue/ I- 5

Interchange in the Mossdale Landing development to the

easterly City limits at the east side of the easterly set of Union
Pacific Railroad right- of- way

F.  Manthey Road from the northerly City limits to 900' north of
Dos Reis Road

G.  Manthey Road from Towne Centre Drive southerly to the City
limits at Paradise Cut, except where abandoned

H.  Roth Road,   from the west side of the Roth Road/ I- 5

Interchange east to the City limits at the east side of the
easterly set of Union Pacific Railroad right- of-way

I.   D' Arcy Road, from Harlan Road to Yosemite Avenue
J.  Tesla Drive from Harlan Road southeasterly to Christopher Way
K.  Christopher Way, from D' Arcy Parkway southerly to cul- de- sac

terminus

499



L.  Murphy Parkway, from northerly terminus southerly to Tesla
Drive

M. Golden Valley Parkway,  from Brookhurst Boulevard to River

Islands Parkway
N.  Yosemite Avenue, from State Route 120 to east City limits
O.  Brookhurst Boulevard, from Golden Valley Parkway to Manthey

temp)
P.  Shideler Parkway, from Yosemite Avenue north to cul- de- sac

terminus

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby approves the citywide truck route list above pursuant to Lathrop
Municipal Code 10. 16. 030.

500



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

501



E v

J N

i

B      

I U:  a

1 1

1 1

i.;    
r

f/Y     '! 

O

i I              t IL'' 1tL''_'J[ 7`,`,'`- ir-` r-  

1 r f , v

es3"       

t t--,,

r`

u11 7  . I
1       

Z'   
Q 3ii

o
1 8

Q

i sf;      F—  

W 1
r„ g     ..

i t
i

a s r
1

r\   ` .,.,:-:    

1
r

t,: j
1 w.1 I t

l=   
r,

f

1         i
J

i`    

1 j I, @W
t.      

1I
i     .     I I

ii.. i     ,          ;   1        
I i,  

t I        r-'     

J

il
i i     

I

I

i

I
I      #       `!r 

I    .  
i I`    il .      

I       
r

C

i  

r''    
i'   '       o

I,               ;'j,,, r i\.     +,\       

j I E ,        or

I
t

aC' I 4 e

i i 1 a

f
f        i

@

E
I, i

r— J'` '    
m

i
Q  

r p  

i V   "`, r, r L

1

i            I       _      '    1    '   , y     
j I'.   Q J

i      '     j    ''     p`  `         r.

i;-------           i
a

i     i/'.'
t, , 3 E

1,---   `   
1          , -   V  -

4

j i i                  i

f    

i      ,      I

L

r i    `   ---------.     I

t ri .   5 0t

l  J     y / %r

l  ,    1 Vil  %  ''j t e

j r.     1 f    ,       C..       3
i

r /       }".       

j._'  
i     .

J
h:,...> n n

f,

J.
r

I t r! ' ` i \, ,   
u

t

j Ei.    ,  t .

I

a,\   '.   
r'    Q

l         1 l,, J 
y    ..% f

Y, 

l l      {r

r       `.    C      \ >    .,     .      `-   \ 
F---

I

1 r

r 1
1,      

a,
1

1
r

r--         __ µ_

1 i    '     _L--     
7i 1     ; i i! (`' ;'   "'       

r

j       ih

l'—   ,`_-_    !             
u
o,  

r
i

zs c r yI l-_ ::w.       , 

L_._____.    -:
w___.__

a
r' 

t    

N            -      i         "& i::
t

N r=,   

C       \__---;:.,              .
r.-  

E
r-.-."_.'.____,`'_

Qo,       o        u j i
r

r- 1!.

o         N
o t

o o c c o,     o    "' e           r...a

e ui W C ° n     :       r,       ts in     °           r",'=`0

o  o o     $     Q e  t N o`, o o F L,-;_
l o d o+ o Q U o, e y
o,   E v s a o o,     0 3 c

a t o o  o o m o F
N J N N n G  n y          p

N
y„     `     C r

W N    .  N - G
O   p p N     G a       A'

Zt '
E     ` o°  3     >'     °     e

a     

m   "  E e a     °o          ,    v o        «     a o    ='     Q
1.+  e u Q a      a h 3 u     o,:.9 r o     °     a m` n

u E v Eo,  a r  .. ` ti     ,       d     . o           o,   o,     

e m          3   oai t t     rN.. + O              Q p O     ' pY
c j v     -     y '

o o, .         3 Zc         o c e 9

j o,   n E'    t,,,   t.. `          F  e 3 d =     =     a      E o o     E

c *-' o o     ``    o    °     o      e      v o     =     `,°      v       .  3 v          `~

0 0 0;      . e *' _"         " c ti a e o;    d     ;

v     

c    " ..' . E
a         

es a o  '^  "     ;    E a•     a a       >    >     o

ts Zi     ,     o;, e          zi     c c a o a e o     ;  

c a     >     > 
v a

o  `     
o, a v     .     ,

N          
op     -` c

o a.
o t U o o Q o,  o'           o,    - d e    e     ;     d +'     c      a ' a Q N a       ,,,       I          

N     

r

e       a  . o               - "     a  >     >       o,          4,  

c , e a     a    -°'•     Q a r,a o`,     
v 3 0    e Q    '     o      .'     c °    ;    . e           

C   
N    = ,    L

C
u  v y C i,,,     

C      ,  v y1 v               a a      `                   M+„
a       +. 5 , o;   •          o v o  ,         ;,      j ;     p v h o

G J     J          J 1C W             y     '  G 0     
Q

W V        N l       >     m
C  U N O I U

Q a U          W l9 C J 2 O a502



503



ITEM 5. 2

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       CONTINUED DISCUSSION FROM OCTOBER 9,  2023

REGULAR MEETING REGARDING THE CENTRAL

LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND

CODE TEXT AMENDMENT NO. TA- 23- 104

RECOMMENDATION:     Council to Consider the Following:
1.  Testimony Presented During the Public Hearing

Held October 9, 2023;

2.  Adopt a Resolution to Find the Project Exempt

from Further Environmental Review Pursuant to

Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and

California Environmental Quality Act   ( CEQA)

Guidelines Section 15183; and

3.  First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance to
Approve the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP)

Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment

to Modify Chapter 17. 62, Central Lathrop Zoning
Districts to Add Article 6, IL- CL, Limited Industrial

Zoning Districts and Modify Section 17. 62. 120 B
of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

SUMMARY:

The Central Lathrop Specific Plan  ( CLSP)  Phase 2 Amendment is a staff- initiated

update to the CLSP to be consistent with the recently adopted Lathrop General Plan
Update in accordance with General Plan Implementation Action LU- 5. f.

The Planning Commission and staff recommend that City Council consider all
information provided and submitted, take and consider all public testimony and, if

determined to be appropriate, adopt a Resolution to find the project exempt from
further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and
California Environmental Quality Act  ( CEQA)  Guidelines Section 15183 and First

Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance to approve the Central Lathrop Specific
Plan  ( CLSP)  Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment to Modify Chapter
17. 62,  Central Lathrop Zoning Districts to add Article 6,  IL- CL,  Limited Industrial

Zoning Districts and modify Section 17. 62. 120 B of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

SITE DESCRIPTION:

The Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment area is focused north of Dos
Reis Road, west of Interstate 5, east of the San Joaquin River and south of the City
Limit.  The Vicinity Map below illustrates the location of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment
area.

504



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

CENTRAI. LATHROP SP CTFIC PI.AN PHASG 2 AMFNDMENT
r

Mx

r° SP- z A Ei D M̀E       ° u

s,

j',)       "            
1       s'

y      

4., 

2
F 4       ; 1• f 1{ 

M

v
S`

X
sa l

s

f " Y'    s
tt

9 3l x5 it" P,}      3^  " 7ll.         ,: as

r    . tv.,; d,  t      
s  R

sriirl     x       ",

F 

fi  
s

e s       4
t t         i u ;.`

4

jry   {

j

i      - , g*.     i
t

m r a"   
g   

x    
u x       . f ;  .

1
g

x

a
i `     j d 

o-     ,.       

e `- t.       r''   
b  '"    ",.

SPARTAN r.   , s, 7n -'       s''  

w » a  " WAY       w+    * fi'     
z:

rs     .„ i L P t     
e

i

a
r x    , ,"     y f   ?  ,,     

a   

4`"     1N     . 3,; 
d    

a       „•   ,     lI         , 
r

s    
ry p ..

e       3`  .       ,'  '"                   

5'
y p 1' trk' 1,,  

b»[         .

ti w s   
a s

s       ' i'     Yl    

e

s s
b

f' ;       

ri sQ.,   x:     

t

t  p

w M

i`;    St/ 1 14. ,^           
s   ._,.       1      .

N.
y          

AiiEi,      
i  

s

rrt r

4     

f
S   . ht

LATHROP 1,      

t ,  w

t

m r    E",

A

z
w'     ,  t k

A

a

i  
a         

t  <:     

i    '

yf' t

gd

a

P n, f ti

h'   F f     .

12CJ

iMk'`  „  P. -    ``    

LE GF. ND

CLSP- 2 Amendment P an Area
Figure 1. 2

N D 4 T H

f,`(y, IfT11 5
hT.s

Sphere of Influence VICINITY MAP

A Y a Central Lathrop Specifie Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrap, Ca

505



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment project is comprised of approximately 724- acres and
involves the following Accessor' s Parcel Numbers 192- 020- 61, - 62, - 63, - 64, - 06, -

07, - 08, - 09, - 65, - 66, - 38, - 22, - 48, - 52, - 19, - 18, - 68, - 69, - 16, - 36, - 70, - 14, -

11, - 02, and - 03.

BACKGROUND:

The Central Lathrop Specific Plan was approved by the City Council on November 9,
2004   ( Resolution No.   04- 1779).      The project included certification of an

Environmental Impact Report ( EIR) ( SCH# 2003072132), for the CLSP, adoption of

the Specific Plan document, General Plan Land Use Map amendments, Zoning Map,
and text amendments to the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC).  The CLSP is separated

into two ( 2) major phases of development.  Phase 1 is generally located south of Dos
Reis Road and includes Lathrop High School,  development of a regional park
adjacent to Lathrop High School),  residential and commercial uses.    Phase 2 is

located north of Dos Reis Road and previously included development of residential
and commercial uses,  parks,  and school sites  ( K- 8).    The City Council recently
adopted the comprehensive Lathrop General Plan Update ( adopted on September 19,
2022) and the CLSP area north of Dos Reis Road was modified from residential and

commercial land use designations to Limited Industrial.

A Rezone ( map) to the properties in the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment area is being
processed by the City via the Zoning Consistency Update Project.   The proposed
Amendment to the CLSP for Phase 2 would further bring the Specific Plan into
consistency with the Lathrop General Plan and would allow development of Limited
Industrial uses pursuant to the LMC and the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment document.

PLANNING COMMISSION:

On September 13,  2023,  the Planning Commission held a public hearing on the
proposed CLSP Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment ( TA- 23- 104).  After

review and consideration of all information provided, and after taking and considering
all public testimony,  the Planning Commission voted unanimously  ( 4- 0) to adopt

Resolution No. 23- 12, recommending the City Council find the project exempt from
further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 and approve

the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment comprised of approximately
724- acres and a Municipal Code Text Amendment to Chapter 17. 62, Central Lathrop
Zoning Districts of the Lathrop Municipal Code.  The Planning Commission Resolution
is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 6.

506



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF OCTOBER 9, 2023

On October 9, 2023, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposed CLSP
Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment  ( TA- 23- 104).   The City Council
received written correspondence from Manteca Unified School District  ( MUSD)  in

support of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment.   The MUSD

letter is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 7.

At the meeting, the City Council deliberated over the City' s Truck Route Map. After
further discussion, City Council voted to continue the item to the November 13, 2023
meeting. City Council directed staff to include a separate item on November 13, 2023
modifying the City' s Truck Route Map to prohibit trucks on Golden Valley Parkway.
The amendment to the City' s Truck Route Map has been scheduled for City Council
consideration prior to this item. As such, updated Figures have been prepared and
are attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 8.

ANALYSIS:

As noted above, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) was originally approved in
2004.  The proposed CLSP Phase 2 Amendment includes updates and modifications
for Phase 2 of CLSP only.   The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment does not change the

entitlements for Phase 1 of the CLSP and is a stand- alone document intended to

implement the design and development standards and concepts for Phase 2.   The

primary goals of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment are designed to achieve the following:

Establish a comprehensive land use plan that will guide development of the
approximately 724- acre CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Area.

Update the City' s long- term vision for the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Area in
accordance with the recently adopted Lathrop General Plan, by incorporating
refinements designed to reflect evolving innovation in land use planning
concepts.

Establish a regional industrial development area adjacent to the I- 5 freeway
that makes use of the visibility and prime freeway access provided by the Roth
Road and I- 5 Interchange.

Maximize passive recreational opportunities through the creation of a

comprehensive linear park and open space system located adjacent to and
providing access to the San Joaquin River.

Generate positive fiscal benefits for the City resulting from the regional
industrial development.

507



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 5

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

Increase employment and shopping opportunities for City residents.

Provide job generating land uses in close proximity to residential uses in order
to minimize home- to- work vehicular trip lengths,  automobile usage and

related air quality impacts.

Provide an integrated, efficient, and safe circulation system for pedestrians,
bicyclists, transit and vehicles.

Provide roadway improvements and land use planning that will tie together
with existing development.

Establish a logical phasing plan that assures that each phase of development
will include all necessary public improvements required to meet City standards.

Add value to the existing and future City of Lathrop community and contribute
to the establishment of a strong local economic base through job creation and
the economic stimulus that comes from the multi- million- dollar investment

required to develop the CLSP and the disposable income of the people who live
and work in the plan area.

Implement the development program envisioned for the CLSP on property that
the Lathrop General Plan designates for Limited Industrial uses.

To the extent feasible,  incorporate future project designs that minimize
environmental impacts.

Provide a logical and orderly extension of the City of Lathrop that is compatible
with and complements existing and planned land uses within other portions of
the City.

Satisfy the City policies, regulations and expectations as defined in the Lathrop
General Plan and Municipal Code.

Provide services and infrastructure that meet or exceed City standards and
that do not diminish services to existing residents of the City.

Enrich the relationship between the City and the San  ) oaquin River by
incorporating the river' s edge as a critical component of the CLSP Parks and
open space program.

508



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 6

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment is organized as follows:  Introduction,  Land Use,

Circulation and Transportation, Natural Resources Management, Community Services
and Facilities,    Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure,    Design Guidelines,

Implementation, and Financing.

Land Use Summary and Designations
The below table represents the proposed development acreages by land use.

Maximum Potential

Building Building

Designation Land Use
Area Square Square

acres)  Footage at Footage at

Max FAR of Target FAR

1. 0 SF of 0. 75 SF

LI- CL Limited Industrial [ 1]   618. 2 26, 928, 792 20, 196, 594

OS- CL Open Space 29. 3

P- CL Park 11. 2

Major Road Right- of-      
65. 3

Wa

Total 724. 0 26, 928, 792 20, 196, 594

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment contemplates Limited Industrial development at an

average rather than a maximum Floor Area Ratio ( FAR) and recognizes that the likely
development FAR will be 0. 75 or lower depending on off-street parking demand,
landscaping,   roadways,  open space,  stormwater management,  and other site

requirements.   The following exhibit illustrates the proposed Land Use Map for the
CLSP Phase 2 Amendment.

509



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 7

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

CENTRAL LATHROP SPEC( F1C. PLAN PHASE? AMENDMENT
z         

y
t' ss         w       s  `

ad r."{'  r pk'   t, t t i:.,,    3t  .
a     xS    ;' p5«'    .       

4       

P'` 

b

p=  i 
v,`.

t.. a`'     i s; a*          ,,    ' ki aaa`    r   .    

ft ,             r a 

t;,
s '`, j,' x"  "  S,`

i     .. `        t i

t aa -!  , i"
t' "

3w  `"< ° k ".',  
1

q.  

c,   S t   Ay.  ' V' .  ,
r    , t,` 

t.<,„ n s_    hr-
r

4'   F     

t
J    :  

L i'x'      

1

fi

5

I

z " a "„"  
ra  .

k.t  f f K n

sv d Y
E    

t r
x{.: y      

i
i      ''     

IYIIlCi, Y ti

a' 4 S

a`  , zr

a

i. i. R      .       

mt;

g.
j

i  r

v¢ 4

i{ F./     

R

7g̀      
k

4" ' 3VT l+ t 4  lr+    
a''

T- F rt" R'
LS+`   a.... wnm5..     

l       
C    

7'

d #
r Y

1    

3» 

h.
h

a  
y-  

eY.

ff.     Z
y.

y

1 T'+L*

i
t"°   y- axy, s

t" . Z
y

1   '.   
k                  

e _ 

z:

SS
r

t
w           

i. x,.  a> ...      c`, w.. a, zz k  ' a '

f

ntt: 1..  wa,° i.,       
r. ,. ,   ,.     -     ..

u          

s- '     

x

c u
r

x 

9, r r

r      
d    

t §

b        dt     "     ds `  t d  " p,    `..

x r

x{       `      m
ry(.   v'u

4 v3i + rc M..  .:  " i
N               

i        

R   
KA+

e

e

r e. 
ai.'     ` 8'b      a     , y,  x . a as

aa 4 N il 4      
e:'    "     

j             ,  y(    T E k

Y

n.    '

M    '       c   ,     . 

1!', k' s e   :   

ewr r,
t'

t u t,,+++ar i.,

P  T.   v. + as , rz„*.d

Ir       

q   -  `

5.a '   "" a.,-   .    

q.
3

y

3 q d h

y.

A E}   w,. Mp,'
f   

i
t           ,  

n4" .

R

1 i iMlllt.E#I# IIIf111, 1 i, i4    
r  

4  a,*. i w 1   
3 ..,     . t        '.

I
a    ' { 

7

r,       
t      +

s i
a"  t iey       .,    ';    '      ti    y,   1

p
z a>.,  w w;   ,°    '

p       .  «      x.     

q '   

r#       

Yr
a t

r

s
a     ;,

P  "+

t.       .  m^  
e"" x , °„ a  ;,  ,

a s x;w r     A 1 s

1 4        "  +,   
y:  ;„     

s 3

r    
t

a

3   " ''    Y     ` " . y.,     tr:  `, ,

Y . 
m , „     n  ; z a kwi

o'     

l li!       
a        

t '"" -;   b  :

s. ec, u

RI 7`..       „,  ... =. Q E a EtVUE

Lirniicd lndusMal( Lt CI.)   xntong Prt tty Lincs

Perk( P C' Ll Ruad R ht( n=N'ay Lines

Qpen Space f45-CL 1 P< resival Road Rigix t1f-IVny Line. if" M1cc ad F<x Ac. s,

N O F T M   
C LSP- 2Aruru Cnent(' Cas, ru k u:ulary t{r 2. 1

N. T, S.     r' l. tiP- I PIan; Iru: aRuaiodary LAND USE MAP

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

510



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 8

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

The following are the proposed land uses within the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment
Project.

Limited Industrial

The Limited Industrial use applies to most of the plan area.  It is anticipated that uses

such as warehousing and manufacturing that do not require a high degree of visibility
and truck dependence, will be located in areas of the plan area that minimize the
potential for air quality and noise impacts to sensitive receptors.  The CLSP Phase 2

Amendment Plan Area is envisioned to accommodate a wide range of job generating
uses,  including business parks,  clean light industrial,  research and development

R& D);    science,   technology,    engineering,    and math    ( STEM);    tech/ biotech

manufacturing;  high- tech services that incorporate some combination of assembly;
warehousing, and/ or sales;  hospitals, labs and other health care- related uses, and

distribution centers.

O en Space

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment designates Open Space uses along the San Joaquin
River and this designation spans the length of the western edge of the plan area.
The area is designated to provide an open space corridor consistent with the Lathrop
General Plan.  The open space corridor is intended as a local community wide facility
with the possibility of regional linkage via multi- use trail.   For example, the open

space corridor will connect to developing and existing segments to the south within
the CLSP Phase 1 area and the Mossdale Village developments.

Park

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment retains the Dos Reis County Park designation,  a

County park within the City limits adjacent to the San Joaquin River.

Landscape Buffer along Dos Reis Road
The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment includes provisions for a landscape buffer along the
north side of Dos Reis Road with two ( 2) different design themes.  At locations where

existing or proposed land uses on the south side of Dos Reis Road include sensitive
receptors, the landscape buffer includes a 30- foot- wide landscape corridor within the

public right- of-way including 22' of landscaping and an 8' paved sidewalk as well as
an additional buffer on the adjacent private development parcels.   At locations on

Dos Reis Road where Commercial use is proposed to the south, the landscape buffer
shall include a 26- foot- wide landscape corridor within the public right- of-way
including 18 feet of landscaping and an 8 foot paved sidewalk as well as an additional
buffer on the adjacent private development parcels.   An 8' high solid wall is also

required within the landscape buffer area.  Additional buffers on the adjacent private
development parcels in both scenarios shall be determined during the Site Plan
Review process for each specific development process.     The following exhibit
illustrates the location of the suggested landscape buffers.

511



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 9

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

CF'' t' fRAI.[. r1TNROP SPECT' IG PI, AI PHASF? AhiF. DI tF,'tiT

3 F 

S
3

r"  
F i.      s,..... ti

3Y' , F``  .

w,'.      

dea, r+.    a N: I ,.. o-  ,,. .
y+e, n  '-#

t i     
s

r,  r  

N

Y

i{,    t      ,,      d'       4
E     

u.  y tl.
J    

J

t ,

x

q      

S
w

r z' <

i. N 
t:  

E
x^     

r,

r              a?   .

r i' a: ,

f

R       ..;

QC v
y a

e'  ,  rr   r       N  ` A

G,,:.    
M  S   . r..

u.

d. t. .  e .,_ ,  . a:..,.   t r  a ., ,
t

Lk:l L!. J

6'- 3€11. ands»: x Etu' Yrr u': tdr 1" ub. a Ri. d; t- t) f-Ncy

A kli a ne` k nt''.ir lOiil, c Pii.,: a P- u; nxa

V+ S4k'£ BU*' EiP

A        /    i:' Ht FJ3[.1G N: 41 0* P t
a    6 . I

2 iritkrAt . F[ ER hStN:' Y ak14# TC  . " d'" Z,. r.^' v     r• t{,.,'..,..

P ffl" Y TO 3r Gf' Et tIhFO d: A n4`„  +  

iI VELO-*#. dt' F' E<: AT IC HS. n • : r    '' n,  °
c^'   C.    ! C    ' ° 

Cv G
p , o'             r   ' C:  i'?

y     ,    S,

a atrs a . am sucE cara

PE? lFt H      4'iT;; u aA: PA' t RFC• iP` t
Y i tlYr6'.    t/ 1iG'  2

a   

H x` SOUTH

x: r y rt s rat:

ST 11}' ORfl CRt:1S5f\ t; iU
C,( L E:' RLLt1' P: 1Etklt:\ Y

aru z, w+ r„ rr a
mM.   ..._.- r     _ ti. ithta,. tc wtc+>+. w r

xit svxu. everc irHtn wvxtin e .,... 1 _        . r' 2.,, r  ; r' 2 Yr   - a% ? 

PR ER, r TG 8E OETERit3hf0 62FH
ti 1   •     <       ,

6EFt€ Pkl sT APM. IGA T! X tS c'XtkP. E
4

ti 1   ¢ 4'     ",'
r S'   r

8U`?' @F 3•1) IM : K:i.UD. STOfli l4' EA F oy' c'1 {,, ° '       C=      
i g n`  e C o  4,

Q=Jrv. lTa T^"` MERI_.A?:A i'       J'

cfa.

F S

x

m..__.,_..................._......  ._........_.,____.._......._....._._._.....».___.___.._.

1"})    
w/; Yj

r_'____....._.._._._._   

JWTfI

Mi R H pSC' APEE3 FFeRSECTtO\
1° ».

s r! vAi. i. v t n K. Fi urE 2. 2
N O R T a TC?' ICRVT' iIE' Y' RO. 1D

LANDSCAP BUFFER

A' Central Lathrap Spccitic I' lan- Phasc 2 Amendmcnt
k""`"       

Lathrap, Ca
fty.

512



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 10

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

Code Text Amendment

The proposed Code Text Amendment includes language and provisions specific to the
CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Project and would modify Chapter 17. 62, Central Lathrop
Zoning Districts of the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC) to establish an IL- CL", Limited

Industrial Zoning District with development standards.   Specifically, the Code Text
Amendment would add Article 6, IL- CL: Limited Industrial Zoning Districts to Chapter
17. 62.   The IL- CL district is intended to provide industrial employment opportunities
for residents of the city and region.  The IL designation accommodates a wide range

of job- generating uses, including business parks; clean light industrial; research and

development   ( R& D);    science,   technology,   engineering,   and math    ( STEM);

tech/ biotech manufacturing,  and/ or sales,  hospitals and other health care- related

uses, warehouses and distribution centers.

General Plan Consistencv

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment would implement General Plan Implementation

Measure LU- 5. f which requires the City to update the CLSP.  Specifically, General Plan
Implementation Measure LU- 5. f states the following:

Update the Central Lathrop Specific Plan   ( CLSP)  to accomplish the following
objectives:

a.  Bring the Specific Plan' s land use map into consistency with the General Plan
Land Use Map ( Figure LU- 1)

b.  Establish a circulation network that keeps future truck trips as far from existing
and planned sensitive receptors as feasible; this includes, but not limited to,

the following requirements, which shall be incorporated into the Specific Plan:

i.     Trucks shall be prohibited on Dos Reis Road west and east of Golden
Valley Parkway, on Golden Valley Parkway south of Dos Reis Road to
Lathrop Road, and on Lathrop Road east of Golden Valley Parkway to
Interstate 5 southbound off- ramp.

ii.     Future truck dependent development projects shall be prohibited from
providing driveway access points off Dos Reis Road,  west of Golden

Valley Parkway, other than emergency vehicle access ( EVA).

iii.     Truck trafFic within the Limited Industrial Area of the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan shall be limited to De Lima Road, and any future roadways
north of Dos Reis Road,  to connect to Manthey,  Roth Road,  and

Interstate 5.

513



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 11

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

c.   Establish site design standards for new industrial projects.

d.  Identify financing and cost- recovery methods to fund roadway and

infrastructure improvements.

e.  Circulation design standards that promote safe transportation routes that limit
impacts to developed areas to the south, and connectivity enhancements to
provide better connectivity to I- 5.

f.   Infrastructure improvements to improve roadway operations.

g.  Opportunities to provide employee- serving amenities onsite, such as parks and
plazas,  outdoor seating areas,  fitness facilities,  and daycare centers as a

means to reduce vehicle trips, while supporting air quality, public health, and
sustainability goals.

h.  Include provisions that all development projects proposed north of Dos Reis
Road and south of De Lima Road be required to obtain a Conditional Use Permit

CUP), which shall be subject to discretionary review by the City Council.

Based on Staff' s review,  the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment is consistent with the

requirements of Implementation Action LU- 5. f.   Chapter Three of the CLSP Phase 2

Amendment document describes the proposed circulation system and transportation
included in the plan area, including a Truck Route Plan that prohibits trucks on Dos
Reis Road west and east of Golden Valley Parkway, on Golden Valley Parkway south
of Dos Reis Road to Lathrop Road, and on Lathrop Road east of Golden Valley Parkway
to Interstate 5 southbound off- ramp.   Chapter Three also describes the Circulation

Design standards and connectivity enhancements.  Chapter Seven of the CLSP Phase

2 Amendment document describes the Design Guidelines and Principles for new

industrial projects as well as opportunities for employee- serving amenities.

In addition to fulfilling Implementation Measure LU. 5f above,  the CLSP Phase 2

Amendment is consistent with the Goals, Policies and Implementation Measures listed

in Table 1. 3 in the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment document ( starting on Page 1- 8).  The

CLSP Phase 2 Amendment document is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment

3.

Zoning ConsistencX
The proposed Code Text Amendment would add language and provisions specific to
the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Project and would modify Chapter 17. 62,  Central

Lathrop Zoning Districts to establish an IL- CL,  Limited Industrial Zoning District
including development standards.

514



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 12

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

The proposed CLSP Phase 2 Amendment document and amendments to the Lathrop
Municipal Code  ( LMC)  will provide the necessary regulations and provisions to
implement the Specific Plan and review proposed projects within the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment area.

Findinas

Chapter Eight, Implementation, of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) provides

guidance on interpretation and amendment of the Specific Plan.   Specifically, the

CLSP states the following:

Amendments to the Specific Plan, including the Design Guidelines, may be proposed
by a developer or property owner or initiated by the City, and shall be processed in
accordance with City ordinances and subject to the requirements and limitations of
any applicable development agreement.   All amendments shall be presented in a
public hearing before City Council action on that proposal.  Generally, the process for
amending the Specific Plan is similar to that for amending the City's General Plan,
with the difference that there is no limitation on the number of Specific Plan

amendments that may be approved in any one year.

In this regard, the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment is a Staff- initiated amendment to the

CLSP that would implement the Lathrop General Plan.      As noted above,

Implementation Measure LU- 5. f requires the City to amend the CLSP to be consistent
with the General Plan.  The amendment is being processed similar to that of a General
Plan Amendment in that the proposed CLSP Phase 2 Amendment will be presented
to the Planning Commission and City Council via Public Hearings.

Public Notice

A Notice of Public Hearing was advertised in the Manteca Bulletin on September 29,
2023.   Staff also mailed the public hearing notice to notify property owners located
within a 300- foot radius from the project site boundary.  In addition, the Public Notice

was emailed to the City' s Public Hearing subscribers and interested parties and posted
at three ( 3) locations accessible to the public and the City website.

CEQA REVIEW:

California Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental

Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 allows for a streamlined environmental
review process for projects which are consistent with the development density
established by existing zoning, community plan, or general plan policies for which an
Environmental Impact Report ( EIR) was certified, except as might be necessary to
examine whether there are project- specific significant effects which are peculiar to
the project or its site.

515



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 13

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

If the above qualifications are met, as stated in Section 15183( b), " a public agency

shall limit its examination of environmental effects to those which the agency
determines, in an initial study or other analysis:

1.  Are peculiar to the project or the parcel on which the project would be located;

2.  Were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR on the zoning action,
general plan or community plan with which the project is consistent;

3.  Are potentially significant off- site impacts and cumulative impacts which were
not discussed in the prior EIR prepared for the general plan, community plan
or zoning action; or

4.  Are previously identified significant effects which, as a result of substantial new
information which was not known at the time the EIR was certified,  are

determined to have a more severe impact than discussed in the prior EIR.

A detailed Environmental Checklist,  dated August 2023,  prepared by De Novo
Planning Group was prepared to analyze the proposed Central Lathrop Specific Plan
CLSP) Phase 2 Amendment and associated Code Text Amendment.

Additionally, the Environmental Checklist analyzed two ( 2) other distinct, yet closely
related actions being contemplated by the City: the City' s Zoning Consistency Project
which includes amendments to the Lathrop Municipal Code  ( LMC)  and the City' s
Zoning Map and the Ashley Furniture Project ( Site Plan Review No. SPR- 23- 09 and
Conditional Use Permit No. CUP- 23- 08).   As a result of the newly adopted General
Plan, the City is initiating an update to the Municipal Code to bring the code and
Zoning Map into consistency with the General Plan, and updating the Phase 2 portion
of the CLSP into consistency with the General Plan.     The City also received
development applications for the Ashley Furniture Project within the boundaries of
the CLSP Phase 2 area.

As explained in the Environmental Checklist in detail,  the proposed projects are
consistent with the City' s General Plan, for which an EIR was prepared and certified,
and there are no site- specific or cumulative impacts associated with the proposed
projects that have not been fully addressed in a previous environmental document,
or that cannot be reduced to a less than significant level through the application of

uniformly applied development policies and/ or standards.    The findings in the

Environmental Checklist demonstrate that no additional environmental

analysis/ review is required CEQA prior to approval of the proposed projects.

The Environmental Checklist is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 5.

516



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 14

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning Commission and staff recommend that City Council consider all
information provided and submitted, take and consider all public testimony and, if

determined to be appropriate, adopt a Resolution to find the project exempt from
further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and
California Environmental Quality Act  ( CEQA)  Guidelines Section 15183 and First

Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance to approve the Central Lathrop Specific
Plan  ( CLSP)  Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text Amendment to Modify Chapter
17. 62,  Central Lathrop Zoning Districts to add Article 6,  IL- CL,  Limited Industrial

Zoning Districts and modify Section 17. 62. 120 B of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

FISCAL IMPACT:

All application processing fees and costs are charged to the applicant. The request
has no fiscal impact to the City.

ATTACHMENT:

1.  City Council Resolution to Find the Project Exempt from Further Environmental
Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California

Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183
2.  Ordinance to Approve the Central Lathrop Specific Plan   ( CLSP)   Phase 2

Amendment and Code Text Amendment

3.  CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Document

4.  Mark- up of Chapter 17. 62 Central Lathrop Zoning Districts
5.  Environmental Checklist,  prepared by De Novo Planning Group,  dated August,

2023 with Appendices

6.  Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 12
7.  Comment Letter, dated September 28, 2023, from Manteca Unified School District

8.  Revised Figure 3. 3, Existing Truck Route Plan and Figure 3. 11, Proposed Truck

Route Plan of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment

517



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 15

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
CLSP PHASE 2 AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT

APPROVALS:

l6  l 2 L3
Da d Niskanen Date

Contract Planner

f     2 SZ-

Jo n B. Anderson Date

Contract Planner

z3
Ri Cagui Da e

mmuni Development Director

U• /'
L02

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

t-!• 2

Step J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

518



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP FINDING

PROJECT EXEMPT FROM FURTHER ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO

PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE SECTION 21083. 3 AND CALIFORNIA

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT ( CEQA) GUIDELINES SECTION 15183 ( TA-

23- 104)

WHEREAS,  Section 65450 et,  seq,   of the California Government Code

provides for the preparation and adoption of Specific Plans by general law cities for
implementation of all or part of an adopted General Plan; and

WHEREAS, Section 65453 of the California Government Code provides that
a Specific Plan may be adopted or amended by either Resolution or Ordinance as
provided by the local jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment is being
updated to be consistent with the 2022 General Plan Update; and

WHEREAS,  the proposed Code Text Amendment amends Chapter 17. 62,
Central Lathrop Zoning Districts to be consistent and implement the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment and 2022 General Plan Update; and

WHEREAS, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment and Code
Text Amendment ( TA- 23- 104) applies only to Phase 2 ( the Project) and does not in

any way apply to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 1 Project; and

WHEREAS, the Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it affects
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment is a stand- alone document for
the Phase 2 portion of Central Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, prior to the City' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the
City prepared an Environmental Impact Report   ( EIR)   which analyzed the

environmental impacts of buildout under the General Plan Update pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) ( Public Resources Code Section 21000,

et. seq.), and the Lathrop City Council certified the General Plan Update Final EIR
on September 19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 2021100139); and

WHEREAS, the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use of

CEQA exemption/ streamlining provisions for projects developed under the General
Plan Update, including the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan,
as it affects the Phase 2 Project,  is an amendment to the adopted 2004 Central

Lathrop Specific Plan, which was adopted by Resolution No. 04- 1779 on November

9, 2004; and

WHEREAS, the City intends to retain the 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan
as the governing land use regulations for certain specified portions of the Specific
Plan area including properties within the Phase 1 Specific Plan area; and

Resolution No. 23-

519



WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed
public hearing on September 13, 2023, to consider the proposed Project and after
reviewing and considering all information provided and submitted, and after taking
and considering all public testimony adopted Resolution No.  23- 12 recommending
City Council find the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant to
Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act
CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and

WHEREAS, proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects as
required by law including the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the
Manteca Bulletin on or about September 29,  2023 and mailed out to property
owners located within a 300- foot radius from the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment project area on September 29,  2023,  emailed to the City' s
Public Hearing subscribers and interested parties and posted at three ( 3) locations

accessible to the public and the City website; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has utilized its own independent judgement in
adopting this Resolution.

NOW THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby make the following findings:

Section 1.   California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA)  Findings.   Pursuant

to Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the

City Council finds and determines as follows:

a.  The project complies with CEQA based on the CEQA

exemption/ streamlining provisions contained in Public Resources Code
section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183;

b.  Pursuant to the City Council Staff Report and the attachments and
exhibits thereto, including but not limited to, the CEQA Environmental
Checklist,  which are incorporated herein by reference,  the proposed
Project will not result in any significant impacts that:  1) are peculiar to
the project or project site; 2) were not identified as significant project-
level, cumulative, or off- site effects in the General Plan Update EIR; or

3)  were previously identified significant effects,  which as a result of

substantial new information that was not known at the time that the

General Plan Update EIR was certified, are determined to have a more

severe adverse impact than discussed in the General Plan Update EIR.

As a result,  pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and
CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the proposed Project is exempt from
further environmental review under CEQA.

c.  All applicable General Plan Update policy and implementation actions
and uniformly applied development policies,    standards and/ or

regulations are, hereby imposed on the proposed Project and must be
adhered to by the Project applicant.

Resolution No. 23-

520



To the extent the City has not previously made findings regarding
any/ all of these referenced General Plan policy and implementation
actions and uniformly applied development policies, standards and/ or
regulations, the City Council finds that all of those General Plan Update
policy and implementation actions and uniformly applied development
policies,  standards and/ or regulations,  were adopted,  in whole or in

part,  to substantially mitigate the potential environmental effects to
which they pertain  ( i. e., aesthetics, agricultural and forest resources,

air quality,  biological resources, cultural and tribal resources, geology
and soils, greenhouse gases, climate change, and energy, hazards and
hazardous materials,    hydrology and water quality,    land use,

population, and housing, mineral resources, noise, public services and
recreation, circulation, utilities and service systems, and wildfire).

Section 2.  Based on the findings set forth in this Resolution and the evidence

in the Staff Report, the City Council hereby find the Project Exempt from Further
Environmental Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and

California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 as illustrated

and incorporate by reference as Attachment 5 of the City Council Staff Report.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lathrop,
based on substantial evidence in the administrative record of proceedings, its above
findings,  including the staff report and associated attachments,  does hereby find
the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources
Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines

Section 15183.

Resolution No. 23-

521



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

SIGNED:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23-

522



ORDINANCE NO. 23-

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING THE CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN   ( CLSP)   PHASE 2

AMENDMENT AND CODE TEXT AMENDMENT TO MODIFY CHAPTER 17. 62,

CENTRAL LATHROP ZONING DISTRICTS TO ADD ARTICLE 6, IL- CL: LIMITED

INDUSTRIAL ZONING DISTRICTS AND MODIFY SECTION 17. 62. 120 B OF

THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE ( TA- 23- 104)

WHEREAS,  Section 65450 et,  seq,   of the California Government Code

provides for the preparation and adoption of Specific Plans by general law cities for
implementation of all or part of an adopted General Plan; and

WHEREAS, Section 65453 of the California Government Code provides that
a Specific Plan may be adopted or amended by either Resolution or Ordinance as
provided by the local jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment is being
updated to be consistent with the 2022 General Plan Update; and

WHEREAS,  the proposed Code Text Amendment amends Chapter 17. 62,
Central Lathrop Zoning Districts to be consistent and implement the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment and 2022 General Plan Update; and

WHEREAS, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment and Code
Text Amendment ( TA- 23- 104) applies only to Phase 2 ( the Project) and does not in

any way apply to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 1 Project; and

WHEREAS, the Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it affects
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment is a stand- alone document for
the Phase 2 portion of Central Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, prior to the City' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the
City prepared an Environmental Impact Report   ( EIR)   which analyzed the

environmental impacts of buildout under the General Plan Update pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) ( Public Resources Code Section 21000,

et. seq.), and the Lathrop City Council certified the General Plan Update Final EIR
on September 19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 2021100139); and

WHEREAS, the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use of

CEQA exemption/ streamlining provisions for projects developed under the General
Plan Update, including the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS,  prior to approval of the Project,  the City Council adopted a
Resolution to find the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant
to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act

CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and

Ordinance No. 23-

523



WHEREAS, the proposed Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan,
as it affects the Phase 2 Project,  is an amendment to the adopted 2004 Central

Lathrop Specific Plan, which was adopted by Resolution No. 04- 1779 on November
9, 2004; and

WHEREAS, the City intends to retain the 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan
as the governing land use regulations for certain specified portions of the Specific
Plan area including properties within the Phase 1 Specific Plan area; and

WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed
public hearing on September 13, 2023, to consider the proposed Amendment to the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan and Code Text Amendment and after reviewing and
considering all information provided and submitted,   and after taking and

considering all public testimony adopted Resolution No.  23- 12 recommending City
Council approval of the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects as
required by law including the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the
Manteca Bulletin on or about September 29,  2023 and mailed out to property
owners located within a 300- foot radius from the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment project area on September 29,  2023,  emailed to the City' s
Public Hearing subscribers and interested parties and posted at three ( 3) locations

accessible to the public and the City website; and

WHEREAS,  the City Council has reviewed all written evidence and oral
testimony presented to date.

NOW,  THEREFORE,  BE RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop based on substantial evidence in the administrative record of proceedings
and pursuant to its own independent review and consideration,  hereby approves
the Central Lathrop Specific Plan   ( CLSP)   Phase 2 Amendment,  as shown in

Attachment 3 of the City Council Staff Report with revised Figures 3. 3 and 3. 11 as
shown in Attachment 8, relative to the proposed development of the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment project area on certain real property consisting of 724 acres located in
the City of Lathrop, incorporated by reference herein.

NOW THEREFORE,  THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1.   This Ordinance incorporates, and by this references makes part hereof,
that certain Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it affects Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment Project, as shown in Attachment 3 of the
City Council Staff Report,  relative to the proposed development of the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment area on certain real property consisting
of approximately 724- acres located in the City of Lathrop.

Ordinance No. 23-

524



Section 2.    Specific Plan Findinqs.    Pursuant to State of California Planning and
Zoning Law, the City Council finds and determines as follows:

1.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan adopted pursuant to Resolution
No.  04- 1779 shall be in full force and effect as to that portion of the
Specific Plan that covers Phase 1.

2.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as modified by the proposed
related Amendments for Phase 2 is consistent with the goals, policies,
implementation measures, and general land uses specified in the 2022
General Plan Update because it promotes job- generating land uses
within the Phase 2 Amendment area and specifically implements

Implementation Measure LU- 5. f of the General Plan,  which requires

the City to update the Central Lathrop Specific Plan to be consistent
with the adopted General Plan Update.

3.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed
related Amendments is consistent with the goals,    policies,
implementation measures specified in the General Plan Update related

to promoting the development of job- generating land uses to support
existing and future businesses.    The Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment ensures that the City' s economic base will be
strengthened by promoting development which will create a variety of
high quality long- term jobs and shorter term construction jobs and
encourages future developers to finance public facilities for long- term
infrastructure solutions and public services.    Additionally,  the 2004

Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as amended by the proposed Phase 2

Amendment is consistent with the General Plan Update goals related to
achieving visual and functional quality of new development because it
requires the provision of open space within the planning area and the
provision of landscape buffers between the Phase 2 area and sensitive
receptors.

4.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed
related Amendment, is consistent with the goals, policies, general land
uses and implementation measures specified in the General Plan

Update because it ensures that proposed land uses will receive an
adequate level of public services,   facilities and protection by
implementing the goals and policies of the Public Facilities and

Services and Public Safety Elements of the General Plan.

5.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as modified by the proposed
related Amendment, is consistent with the goals, policies, general land
uses,  and implementation measures specified in the General Plan

Circulation Element because it ensures that streets and highways will

be constructed in accordance with the Traffic Monitoring Program to
serve the new development.

Ordinance No. 23-

525



6.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed
related Amendments,  is consistent with the goals,  policies,  general
land uses,    and implementation measures specified in the

Environmental Justice Element because it ensures that measures are

in place to promote land use and development patterns that reduce
greenhouse gas emissions,  enhance air quality,  and reduce climate

change impacts.

7.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed
related Amendments,  is consistent with the goals,  policies,  general
land uses and implementation measures of the General Plan because it

will promote orderly development of the plan through flexible phasing
which is tied to the provisions of supporting infrastructure capacity in
the construction of off- site infrastructure improvements.    The 2004

Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Phase 2 Amendment,  provides for the construction of roadways to
provide improved access to the project and adjacent properties,  and

the extension of utilities such as water,  sanitary sewer,  and storm

drainage facilities necessary to accommodate the project.

8.       The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed
related Phase 2 Amendment, is consistent with the goals, policies and
implementation measures of the General Plan Public Safety Element
because it ensures that all new buildings construction shall conform to

the latest California Building Code and seismic standards, gives priority
to support police protection, and to fire suppression, and implements

practices and regulations which avoid hazardous land use

relationships.

Section 3.     Code Text Amendment Findings.     Pursuant to State of California

Planning and Zoning Law, the City Council finds and determines as follows:

1.       The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment is consistent with the
City' s General Plan Update, as enumerated in the Consistency Findings
in the Staff Report.

2.       The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment furthers the public

interest, convenience, and general welfare of the City by implementing
the Central Lathrop Specific Phase 2 Amendment.  The amendments

would ensure consistency with the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment, General
Plan,  and Lathrop Municipal Code and update the zoning standards
that are relevant to the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment.

Section 4.    Upon adoption by the City Council,  the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment applies only to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
Project and does not change the adopted Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it applies
to the balance of the CLSP area ( Phase 1).

Ordinance No. 23-

526



Section 5.     Upon adoption by the City Council,  the Community Development
Director is hereby directed to retain said 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as

modified by the proposed related Amendments, on permanent public display in the
Community Development Department, Planning Division in the City of Lathrop.

Section 6.   Based on the findings set forth in this Ordinance, the CEQA Resolution,

and evidence in the Staff Report,  the City Council hereby approves the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment and directs that the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment be added to the 2004 Central Lathrop Specific
Plan as a stand- alone document for Phase 2.     These documents shall be

substantially in the form on file with the City Clerk.

Section 7.   This Ordinance is not intended to and shall not be construed or given
effect in the manner that imposes upon the city or any officer or employee thereof
a mandatory duty of care toward persons and property within or without the city so
as to provide a basis for civil liability for damages, except as otherwise imposed by
law.

Section 8.     Severabilitv.     If any section,  subsequent subdivision,  paragraph,
sentence,  clause or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be

unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such a decision shall not affect the validity of
the remaining portions of this Ordinance.   The City Council hereby declares that it
would have passed each section,  subsection,  subdivision,  paragraph,  sentence,

clause or phrase of this Ordinance irrespective of the unconstitutionality or

invalidity of any section,  subsection,  subdivision,  paragraph,  sentence,  clause or

phrase.

Section 9.   Effective Date.   This Ordinance shall take legal effect 30 days from and

after the date of its passage.

Section 10.   Publication.   Within fifteen days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the

City Clerk shall cause a copy of this Ordinance to be published in full accordance
with Section 36933 of the Government Code.

Ordinance No. 23-

527



THIS ORDINANCE was regularly introduced at a meeting of the City Council of the
City of Lathrop on the 13th day of November 2023, and was PASSED AND ADOPTED
at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Lathrop on
2023 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Ordinance No. 23-

528



ATTA.0 H M E NT "      "

Central Lathrop Specific Plan

Phase 2 Amendment

Lathrop, California

May 2023

529



Central Lathrop Specific Ylan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Table of Contents

ChapterOne: Introduction................................................................... 1- 5

Overview and: lpplicability of the CLSP Phase 2 mendment.......................................................................1- 5

Purpose.......................................................................................................................................................................1- 6

I' lanning' ision..........................................................................................................................................................1- 6

Goalsof the Specific Plan.....................................................................................................................................1- 16

Context.....................................................................................................................................................................1- 17

Legal. uthoritv.......................................................................................................................................................1- 20

Relationship to Other City Policies, Programs, and Documents..................................................................1- 20

Organizationof the Specific Plan........................................................................................................................1- 21

ChapterTwo: Land Use........................................................................ 2- 1

Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................2- 1

F3sistingand Interim Land Uses............................................................................................................................. 2- 1

I_.and Use Plan........................................................................................................................................................... 3- 1

LandscapeBuffer.......................................................................................................................................................2-?

LandUse Designations.............................................................................................................................................2- 5

Calculation of Land Use Intensiries and 1lllowable Square Footages.............................................................?- 6

LandUse and Site Lavout Flexibility.....................................................................................................................2- 6

Land Use Regulations and Development Standards..........................................................................................?- 7

Chapter Three: Circulation and Transportation.................................. 3- 1
Introduction..............................................................................................................................................................3- 1

Circularion and Transportation Goals...................................................................................................................3- 1

E: isting Conditions..................................................................................................................................................3- 1

Proposed Transportation Improvements............................................................................................................3- 7

CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan. rea Transportation I ietwork.................................................................................3-?

CLSP-?: lmendment Plan rea Truck Routes...................................................................................................3- 8

UtilitvCorridors......................................................................................................................................................3- 15

Bic`-cle and Pedestrian Network..........................................................................................................................3- 15

Chapter Four: Natural Resources Management.................................. 4- 1

Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................4- 1

OpenSpace and Parks.............................................................................................................................................. 4- 1

illiamson Act Lands..............................................................................................................................................4- 1

Rightto Farm..............................................................................................................................................................4- 1

BiologicalResources..................................................................................................................................................4-

F abitat Conservation Plan...................................................................................................................................... 4- 3

Historicand Cultural Resources.............................................................................................................................. 4- 3

Chapter Five: Community Services and Facilities...............................5- 1
Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................5- 1

Parksand Recreation................................................................................................................................................5- 1

CLSP- 2 Open Space................................................................................................................................................. 5- 1

CLSP- 2 Open Space Interface...............................................................................................................................5- 1

Police and lnimal Control Senices........................................................................................................................ 5- 2

Fire and Emergency Services................................................................................................................................... 5- 2

Solid' aste.................................................................................................................................................................. 5- 3

Pagc 1- 2

530



Central]. athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter One: Introduction

Chapter Six: Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure..............................6- 1
Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................G- 1

Potable` Uater............................................................................................................................................................. G- 1

as tewater.................................................................................................................................................................. 6- 5

RecycledWater..........................................................................................................................................................G- 9

Flood Protection and Storm' ater Quality......................................................................................................G- 11

Public Utiliry Easements and Utilit' Corridors.................................................................................................6- 19

Energy and Telecommunicauons........................................................................................................................6- 19

Chapter Seven: Design Guidelines.......................................................7- 1
Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................7- 1

Purpose.......................................................................................................................................................................7- 1

LandUse.....................................................................................................................................................................7- 1

CLSP- 2 rlmendment Principles, Standards and Guidelines..............................................................................?-?

SiteDesign..................................................................................................................................................................7- 2

rchite c ture............................................................................................................................................................. 7- 1?

Chapter Eight: Implementation........................................................... 8- 1

Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................8- 1

SpecificPlan Implementation..................................................................................................................................8- 1

Rightto Farm Provisions.........................................................................................................................................8- 1

Development lgreements.......................................................................................................................................8-?

CityReview Process.................................................................................................................................................. 8-?

t-Iabitat Conservation Plan....................................................................................................................................... 8- 3

lmendments to CLtiP-2.......................................................................................................................................... 8- 4

Overview of Development. pproval Process..................................................................................................... 8- 5

Site Plan Review Conditional Use Permits,' ariances, and other permits for individual development
projects........................................................................................................................................................................ 8- 5

Phasing........................................................................................................................................................................8- 6

TheCLSP Phasing Program....................................................................................................................................8- 6

Infrastructure: ldministration..................................................................................................................................8- G

Capital Improvement and Operation/ Iaintenance Responsibilities.............................................................8- 9

Interpretarion and. mendment of Specific Plan..................................................................................................8- 9

tipecific Plan Consistency and Enforcement.....................................................................................................8- 11

Chapter Nine: Financing......................................................................9- 1

Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................9- 1

FinancingPlan............................................................................................................................................................)- 1

Updatesof I'inancing Plan....................................................................................................................................... 9-

Financing/ Fiscal leasures...................................................................................................................................... 9- 2

Reimbursement lgreements...................................................................................................................................9- 5

Page 1- 3

531



entral Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendmenf Chaptcr One: Introduction

List of Tables
Table 1. 1: Relationship berween the 2004 CLSP and CLSP- 3 Amendment..............................................................1- 6

Table 1. 2: Goals from the 2022 I.athrop General Plan.................................................................................................1- 8

Table 2. 1: CLSP- 2 mendment Land Use Summary....................................................................................................3- 5

Table G. 1: Estimated' ater Demand................................................................................................................................G- 2

Table 6. 2: F_,stimated Sewer Demand................................................................................................................................6- G

Table 6. 3: atershed Detention Facilities and Pump titation Sizes......................................................................... 6- 13

I'able 8. 1: Capital Improvement and Operation/: laintenance Responsibilities.......................................................8- 9

List of Figures

Figure1. 1- Regional 11ap................................................................................................................................................. 1- 14

Figure1. 2-' icinity fap................................................................................................................................................... 1- 15

Figure1. 3- Esisting Ownership Iap............................................................................................................................. 1- 18

Figure1. 4- Existing Conditions Iap.............................................................................................................................1- 19

Fi ure 2. 1- Land Use Map.................................................................................................................................................?-3

Figure2. 2- I,andscape Buffer.............................................................................................................................................2- 4

Figure3. 1- E sting Circulation Pian................................................................................................................................ 3- 4

F igure 3. 2- E sting Bus Service Plan.............................................................................................................................. 3- 5

F igure 3. 3- E isting Truck Route Plan............................................................................................................................3- 6

Figure 3. 4-' ehicular Circulauon Plan.............................................................................................................................. 3- 9

Figure3.5- Street Sections Key fap.............................................................................................................................. 3- 10

Figure3. 6- titreet Sections................................................................................................................................................ 3- 11

Figure3. 7- Street Sections................................................................................................................................................ 3- 13

Figure3. 8- Street Sections................................................................................................................................................ 3- 13

Figure3. 9- Street Sections................................................................................................................................................3- 14

Figure 3. 10- Pedestrian and Bic cle Circulation I' lan.................................................................................................. 3- 16

Figure 3. 11- Proposed Truck Route Plan......................................................................................................................3- 17

Figure 6. 1- Potable ti Ùater Pipe Net vork.........................................................................................................................6- 4

Figure6. 2-' astewater Network.......................................................................................................................................6- 7

Figure G. 3- Offsite' astewater Force i SAin Improvements.........................................................................................G- 8

Figure 6. 4- Recy-cled' ater Pipe Network....................................................................................................................G- 10

Figure6. 5- Existing' atersheds..................................................................................................................................... 6- 16

Figure6. G- Proposed Y atersheds................................................................................................................................... G- 1?

FigureG.?- Stormwater Network....................................................................................................................................6- 18

P'igure G. 8- Existing Power Lines....................................................................................................................    G-_ 0

Figure7. 1- Gatewaj Sign Locations...............................................................................................................................?-17

Figure8. 1- Phasing 1ap...................................................................................................................................................... 8- 8

Ya; e i-- 4

532



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Chapter One: Introduction

Ovetview and Applicability ofthe CLSP I'he Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
Phase 2Amet2dmetlt Amendment (" CLSP- 2 Amendment"} includes

updates and modifications only for the Phase 2
The City of Lathrop adopted the Central Lathrop Plan Area portion of the Central Lathrop Specific
Specific Plan( CLSP) on November 9, 2004. The Plan comprising the 724- acre area north of I os
2004 CLSP provided for the development of Reis Road. The CLSP- 2 Amendment does

approYimately 1, 521 acres located south of the
not, in any way, alter, amend, or otherwise

northern city limit line, west of Interstate- 5,  change the vested entitlements for the CLSP

north of the Mossdale Village planning area, and Phase 1 area, which is the 797- acre area south

east of the San ) oaquin River as illustrated in of Dos Reis Road. The original 2004 CLSP

Figure 1. 1 and 1? ( CLSP Plan 3rca). and the associated entitlements continue to

govern the resideniial mixed use

The CISP Plan Area consist of ttvo primar}  development in the CLSP Phase 1 Plan Area.

development phases. Phase 1 of the CLSP covers
approsimately 797 acres in_the southern portion The CLSP-? rlmendment revises all policies,
Phase 1 Plan rea), and Phase 2 applies to the regulations, land use concepts, and development

724- acre northern portion ( Phase 2 Plan rea).  standards with respect to Phase 2 and

Dos Reis Road serves as the ciividing line supersedes the 2004 CLSP for the area north of

bet veen the two phases.       Dos Reis Road.

The City of Lathrop General Plan, in effect when Table 1. 1 identifies the chapters of the CLSP- 2

the 2004 CLSP vas adopted, provided for the 1- mendment and the corresponding chapters
development of a residenual mixed use diey supersede in the origina12004 CLSP.
community in both Phases 1 and 2. " I1ie City of
Lathrop recently adopted an update to the The City of Lathrop is the sponsor of the CLSP-
I,athrop General Plan on September 19, 2022.  2 mendment in order to amend the 2004 CLSP

The 2022 Lathrop General Plan changed the for the Phase 2 Plan AYea so diat the CLSP- 2

prior Ueneral Plan Yesidential, parks, schools, mendment is consistent with the recently
and commercial land use designations in the adopted 2022 Lathrop General Plan. The- 2004
CLSP Phase 2 Pian Area to Limited Industrial,  CLSP designated residential, paYks, schools, and
while maintaining the Open Space and Linear commeYcial uses within the CLSP Phase 2 Plan

Park designation along the Mossdale Txact levee.  r Yea.  The CLSP- 2 Amendment changes the

The 2022 General Plan Update did not change residential, parks, schools, and commercial land

the adopted land use designations in Phase 1 uses vithin the Phase 2 Plan rlrea to Limited

rlrea which allowed the development of Industrial and retains the Open Space

xesidential neighborhoods,  commercial areas,  designation consistent with the 2022 Lathrop
and public facilities including a high school, a General Plan.  The CLSP- 2 amendment  cill

communiry center and parks. implement the 2022 General Plan policies and
establish clear direction for the development of

Development has occurred in the Phase 1 area,  the Plan I rea. This land use change is consistent

but no development has occurred within the vith the City' s efforts to support the 1 fossdale
Phase 2 area.     Tract' s procision of 200-year urban level of flood

protection.

Page 1- 5

533



Central l,athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptet One: Introducrion

Table 1. 1: Kelation. rhij bet veen the 2004 G'I_SP and CISl'- 2 Amendment

Chapter in 2004 CLSP ( Superseded for the Chapters in CLSP- 2 Amendment for Phase 2

Phase 2 area)      area

Chapter One: Introduction Chapter One, Introduction

Chapter Two: Land Use Chapter Two, Land Use

Chapter Three: Circulation and' I'ransportation Chapter 7'hree, Circulation and Transportation

Chapter Four: Management of Natural Resources Chapter F'our, Natural Resources 1 Zanagement

Chapter Five: Community Services and Facilities Chapter Five, Community Services and Facilities

Chapter Six: Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure Chapter SiY, Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure

Chapter Seven: Community Desi,m Chapter Seven, Design Guidelines

Chapter Eight: Implementation Chapter Eight: Implementation

Chapter Nine: Financing Chapter Nine: Financing

Putpose to continue. Of the cities located in San Joaquin
Counn-, Lathrop has become one of the fastest

I'he purpose oF the CLSP- 2 mendment is to

growing cities of its size, and financially stable
create a comprehensive planning framework that

cities in the State of California. This status is due

guides the development of the 724 acres within

to its location, availabiliry of housing and jobs,
the Phase 2 Plan Area in a manner consistent

and strategic planning that has provided a vast
with the 2022 Lathrop Gencral Plan. The CI_SP-  

amount of land desi nated to create an ideal

21 mendment is consistent with and based upon

balance of housing, retail, services, leisure, and
the 2022 I athrop Genexal Plan long- term vision

jobs creating industries fot decades of sustainable
for the Central Lathrop Specihc Plan area. 

growth.

The CLSP- 2 Amendment contains policies,  The CLSP- 2 13mendment designates land uses
action items and exhibits regarding Phase 2 land

for a variety of business opportunities to support
use, circulation and transportation, management

the sl illed and educated vorkforce of Lathrop
of natural resources,  infrastructure,   design

and the local area.  Crearing a relationship
guidelines, implementation, and financing. bet veen jobs for the communit- and housing is

paramount. Attracting businesses is essential in
Plannrng Vision reducing the need for residents to commute out
The Stockton- Trary-Lathrop- 1 Tanteca region of the area, generaring revenue for the city, as
has eYperienced record growth that is anticipated vell as decreasing carbon emissions by reducing

Pagc 1- 6

534



Central I.athiop Specific Plan— Phase 2 i mendment Chapter One: Introduction

vehicle miles travelled   ( VM' I)   of lengthy

commutes throughout the County and beyond.

The 2022 Lathrop General Plan supparts
environmentally sensitive and sustainable

employment growth by establishing land for
industrial development within the Plan Area. The

CLSP- 2 Amendment is consistent with the 2022

General Plan in fulFilling the goals listed in Table
1. 2 below. In addirion the CLSP- 2 Amendment

complies vith the LU- 5 Implementation Actions

outlined in the 2022 General Plan and listed in

Table 1. 3 belo v.

Page 1- 7

535



Central lathcop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment Chapter One [ ntroduction

Table 1. 2: Gor ls from the 2022 I zthrop General Plan

Land Uses

LU- 1: rlccommodate a mix of land uses that meet the needs of residents, businesses, and visitors with

places to live, work, shop, be entertained and culturally engaged.

LU- 2: Promote objecrives and development in special planning areas consistent with adopted specific
plans, overlay districts, master plans and density bonus provisions.

LU-3: Participate in coordinated local and regional land use planning activiries.

LU-4: Coordinate and integrate land use planning and transportation objecti es.

LU-5: Ensure that ne v development is compatible with eaisting development.

Kefer to Table 1. 3forLU5 Impdementation Action.r

LU- 6: Promote the de elopment of job-generating land uses to support eiisting and future businesses.

LU-7: Preserve Lathrop' s agricultural heritage by protecting and maintaining significant areas of
agricultural lands around the city-, and by reducing land use conflicts with agricultural operations.

Circulation

CIR- 1: Develop and maintain a roadway system that accommodates all users.

CIR-2: Create a system of pedestrian, bicycle, and tsansit facilities that enables non- automorive
accessibility and increases the health and lieabilit of the community-.

CIR- 3: Support the movement of goods through trucl ing, rail, and other forms of freight service while
maintaining quality of life for city residents.

CIR- 4: Plan for the future of transportation to ensure accessibility for all, reduce the environmental
impacts of transportation, and impxove the quality of life.

Economic Development

ED- 1: Retain and expand existing businesses.

F..D- 2: Broaden the local economic base.

ED- 3: Provide diverse workforce housing options.

ED-4: Enhance community quality of life.

Pa}; c 1- 8

536



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Public Facilities and Services

PFS- 1: Provide effective, adequate, cost- efficient, and high- quality community services and facilities for
residents, businesses, institutions, and visitors in Lathrop.

PFS- 2: Provide existing and projected development with reliable, adequate access to clean, safe and
potable water.

PFS- 3: Provide the community vith a wastewater system that is efficient, safe, cost- effective, and able
to meet the needs of e sting and future development.

PFS- 4: Provide the community with an efficient, attractive, and environmentally sound stormwater
system to accommodate runoff from etisting and ne« development and prevent property damage due
to flooding.

PFS- 5: Ensure the community has access to adequate energy services, provided through economically
and environmentally sustainable means.

PFS- 6: Ensure state- of-the-art technology and telecommunications senrices for households, businesses,
and the community is available throughout the ciry.

PFS- 7: Provide the community vith high- quality public safety services, facilities, and technology that
protects against illicit acriviries and crime.

PFS- 8: Coordinate with school districts to provide the community with educational facilities and
opportunities that support the continued lifelong learning of all residents.

PFS- 9: Provide the community« ith environmentally responsible waste disposal and recycling services
that minimize the generation of disposal of waste.

PFS- 10: Support the use of recycled water to meet water demands.

Public Safery

PS- 1: Prepare the community- for natural hazards related to landslides, geologic instability, and seismic
activity to minimize loss of life, injury and property damage, and disruption of vital ser- ices.

PS- 2: Protect the safety of life and property and prepare for urban and wildfire emergencies.

PS- 3: Protect the community from potential flood hazards to minimize loss of life, injury, and property
damage, and disruption of vital services.

PS- 4: Protect the community from the potential for hazardous waste and materials contamination.

PS- 5: Prepare and equip the community to handle emergency situations, in order to minimize loss of
life, injury, properry damage, and disruption of vital services.

Yagc 1- 9

537



Central Lathrop Spccific I' lan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chaptcr One: Introduction

PS- 6: Prepare the community to adapt to climate change, including extreme weather events, in order to
minunize risks to life, property, the economy, and the environment.

Recreation and Resources

KR- 1: Provide the community with high- quality parks and recreauonal amenities.

RR- 2: Protect and manage natural open space areas to provide scenic beauty and communit enjoyment.

RR- 3: Preserve and protect prehistoric, historic, archaeological, and paleontological resources, to bolster
community identity and protect sensitive resources.

RR-4: Protect and maintain animal and plant species, city trees, vaterways, and other supporting
biological habitats within I.athrop.

RR- 5:  Balance the extraction of mineral resources  vith future development and conservation

opportunities.

RR- 6: Provide the community vith optimal air quality.

RR-7: Protect the health of the bay delta.

RR- 8: Promote vater conservation throughout the region.

Noise

N- 1: Protect residents from the harmful effects of exposure to excessive noise.

N- 2: Protect the economic base of the city by preventing the encroachment of incompatible land uses
near noise-producing roadwa s, industries, the railroad, commercial and mited-use districts, and other
sources.

Environmental Justice

EJ- 1: PYomote land use and development patterns that reduce greenhouse gas emissions, enhance air
qualin-, and reduce climate change impacts in environmental justice communities.

F;J- 2: Take mcasures to reduce pollution eaposure and improve air quality in environmental justice
communities.

EJ- 3: Ensure that public facilities and services are equitably distributed throughout the city of I.athrop
and are available to residents of environmental justice communities.

EJ- 4: EYpand access to healthy food and nutritional choices for all residents in the community.

Pagc 1- 90

538



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: InCroduction

EJ- 5: Promote and ensure healthy living conditions for all residents, particularly those in environmental
justice communities.

EJ- 6: Promote land use and development patterns that encourage physical activity and improve
multimodal access and connectivity to employment, shopping, services, schools, parks and other
destinations.

EJ- 7: Improve the physical fitness of the Citv' s residents, particularly those who live in environmental
justice communities.

EJ- 8: Create accessible and culturally appropriate opportunities for all people regardless of race, color,
national origin, or income to engage in the decision- making process.

EJ- 9:  Prioritize improvements and programs that address the needs of environmental justice
communities.

Tab e . 3: LU-5 L.c n l U e Compatil ility Implementationl ction.rfrom the 2022 Lathrop General Plan

LU- S. a: Through the development review process, screen de elopment proposals for land use and
transportation net ork compatibility with e isting surrounding or abutting development or
neighborhoods.

LU- 5. b: Through the development review process, analyze land use compatibility and require adequate
buffers and/ or architectural enhancements to protect sensitive receptors from intrusion of development
activities that may cause unwanted nuisances and health risks.

LU- 5. c: ' hen industrial projects, including warehouse projects, fulfillment centers, and other projects
that may generate high volumes of truck trips and/ or air quality emissions are proposed within 1, 000
feet of esisring or planned residential uses or other sensirive receptors, the City shall require the
preparation of a Health Risk Assessment ( HR) that meets the standards established by the Office of
Environmental Health Hazard tlssessment ( OEHHA), and the San Joaquin Valley ir Pollution

Control District ( SJVAPCD). Projects shall not be approved until it can be demonstrated that the

project would not result in an esceedance of the established thresholds of significance for public health
risks at nearby sensitive receptors.

LU- 5. d: ' hen industrial projects, including warehouse projects, Eulfillment centers, and other projects
that may generate high volumes of truck trips and/ or air quality emissions are proposed within 1, 000
feet of esisting or planned residential uses or other sensitiae receptors, the Cit- shall require the
implementation of best management practices ( BNIl' s) to reduce pollution exposure to sensirive
receptors, particularly diesel particulate matter( I PI. The appropriate MPs shall be established on a

case- by- case basis, and should consider the following tools, methods, and approaches:

Pagc]- 11

539



Central l, athrop Speciftc Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Intzoducrion

Creating physical, structural, and/ or vegetative buffers that adequately prevent or substantially
reduce pollutant dispersal between warehouses and any areas where sensitive receptors are likely
to be present, such as homes, schools, daycare centers, hospitals, community centers, and parks.

Providing adequate areas for on- site parl;ing, on- site queuing, and truck check-in that prevent
trucks and other vehicles from parl ing or idling on public streets.

Placing facility entry and exit points from the public street away from sensitive receptors, e. g.,
placing these points on the north side of the facility if sensitive receptors are adjacent to the
south side of the facility. Exceptions can be made for emergency vehicle access ( EVA) points.

Locating warehouse dock doors and other onsite areas vith significant truck traffic and noise
away from sensitive receptors.

Screening dock doors and onsite areas with significant truck traffic and noise with physical,
structural, and/ or vegetative barriers that adequately pre rent or substantially reduce pollutant
dispersal from the facility to vards sensitive receptors.

Posting signs clearly showing die designated entry and e it points from the public stxeet for
trucks and service vehicles.

Posting signs indicating that all parking and maintenance of trucks must be conducted vithin
designated on- site areas and not within the surrounding community- or public streets.

I.U- 5. e: Update the Lathrop Municipal Code to include Good Neighbor Uuidelines for `' arehouse

Distribution Facilities. The new Good Neighbor Guidelines should include:

a.   A definition of the type and size of facility that is subject to the Uuidelines;

b.  Standards to minunize exposure to diesel emissions to sensitive receptors that are situated in

closc prosimit- to the proposed faciliry;

c.   Standards and practices that eliminate diesel trucks from unnecessarily traversing through
residential neighborhoods;

d.  Standards and practices that eliminate trucks from using residential areas and repairing vehicles
on the streets;

e.   StYategies to reduce and/ or eliminate diesel idling within the facility' s site;

LU- S. f: Update the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) to accomplish the follo ving objectives:

a.   Bring the Specific Plan' s land use map into consistency vith the General Plan Land lise l Iap
Figure LU- 1)

b.  Establish a circulation network that keeps future truck trips as far from esisting and planned
sensitive receptors as feasible; this includes, but is not limited to, the following requirements,
vhich shall be incorporated into the Specific Plan:

Pagc 1- 12

540



Central Latl op Specific Ylan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

i.     Trucks shall be prohibited on Dos Reis Road west and east of Golden Valley Parkway,
on Golden Valley Parkway south of Dos Reis Road to Lathrop Road, and on Lathrop
Road east of Golden Valley Parkway to Interstate S southbound off-ramp.

u.     Future truck dependent development projects shall be prohibited from providing
driveway access points off of Dos Reis Road, vest of Golden Valley Park vay, other
than emergency vehicle access ( EVr1).

ui.     Truck traffic within the Limited Industrial Area of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
shall be limited to De Lima Road, and anv future road vays north of llos Reis Road, to

connect to Manthey Road, Roth Road, and Interstate 5.

c.   Fstablish site design standards for new industrial projects;

d.   Identify financing and cost- recovery methods to fund roadway  and infrastructure

improvements.

e.   Circulation design standards that promote safe transportation routes that limit impacts to
developed areas to the south, and connectivity enhancements to provide better connectivity to
I- 5.

Infrastructure improvements to improve roadway operations

g.   Opportunities to provide employee- serving amenities onsite, such as parks and plazas, outdoor
seating areas, fitness facilities, and daycare centers as a means to reduce vehicle trips, vhile
supporting air quality, public health, and sustainability goals.

h.  Include provisions that all development projects proposed north of Dos Reis Road and south
of De Lima Road be required to obtain a Conditional Use Permit( CUP), which shall be subject

to discretionary review by the City Council.

LU- S. g: During the interun period following adoption of this General Plan, and the adoption of the
updates to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan, identified in ction LU-Sf, the City shall enforce the
following requirements for all Limited Industrial development projects,  including warehouse,
ciistribution, and logistics projects, vithin the Central Lathrop Specific Plan rlrea:

a.   Trucks shall be prohibited on Dos Reis Road west and east of Golden Valley Parl.-way, on
Golden Valley Parkway south of Illos Reis Road to Lathrop Road, and on Lathrop Road east
of Golden Valley Park vay to Interstate 5 southbound off-ramp.

b.  Future truck dependent development projects shall be prohibited from providing dri rewa5-
access points off of Dos Reis Road, west of Golden Valley Parl-way, other than emetgency
ehide access ( EVr1).

c.   Truck traffic w-ithin the Lunited Industrial Area of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan shall be
limited to De Lima Road, and any future roadways north of Dos Reis Road, to connect to
Manthey Road, Roth Road, and Interstate 5.

Pagc 1- 13

541



Central L, athrop Specific Ylan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introductioa

Figure 1. 1- Regional Map

CENTRALI. ATF ROP SPF.CIFIC' PI_,4N PHASE 2 A1 1TND' 1TtiT
s      >            ,      

e m  s£       
4      ,   

j;?

v a i 

4 y. r', s ,.,,
a;   ,

STOCKTCIN
f     

s t'     ` r`     s°      1,...    
a     r

q    c

z

v       t;       x

Su v      

r2r  °

k

r    
g" vv' .     

u
q

r')? 5!"', ° t.     Cd.

r'        

t 5yy'

r  , l'x A     
a X   

a

y   ',
h   

p"

wi;,

9"     
F  

r i   

y     "''

y%'                        

x ia t aw m r,       

ati

99 4r
ri

rr z
i"" a " d"u? Y;' I r`

v  r   '  

a

sr;       
N

9

CL5P3RMEvDh1EN7
p, 

s    
r'"

s"<`,     PLANkREA

p

a M
y

CEsp- p nr        
ARfA       

r wV  .,    '   
z ,

44.      '     IAFffROP      s" ra t

I   

t

y

1    

r I. ATHROP

I lviAN7EfA
r

vi  
y i S qqq

C'    t o

F wx
za$       

x N

TRACY

c          :`   f`; a

a'  ..
F`      %       j s,

aw,      

j    i
f',     y, i       ,¢ " r,. f` t 

y"       

r

d . l eab.:" wmerr..:  ,.  ... xx a' r %  .    

a

1 f7

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area
Figure 1. 1

NOMtN
GityLimits

7 s RE IONAL MAPSphere of influence

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Page]- 14

542



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chaptcr One: Introduction

Figure 1. 2- Vicinity Map

CENTRAL LATE[ ROP SPECIFiC PLAN PHASE 2 AMEN DMENT

i   

1

p

CLSP—z AMENDMEN X  ,   
y PLAN AREA

tl
if t,      

j i
rrraAwMrw+ar n r s   www.  

f      _ 

y,,:: l

g;.. 1

m t

r.   p .       3x
I

1
5 i

e
w;

t rr rrrr. e    r,. x i
i   2

t     
SFnRtAv a!     . 

A 4
w,av       W

i  :',::'         .SP- t '          
ia Hnapno n

r.

w:' PIAN e   t..     i
sstid AREA w¢  ;  1:

s t Aq, y   q

rwM   

4    

1 IWiAIVT 1_f1

M4 I     f     

a X i 1   
a,  MOSSDALE  : n

I`   LAN D I N G     •••••+    
Eou+s aveau  

r•I
y

r'       

f      

LATNROP 1 ;
s  °

f

1 i y&

r

r1 
x „,`      a r.      ' 

p.

1       
i
i

gy3"   g '   
YV YDSEtv6E7E Ati/ENUE...

3 rr w !

Y        

1                . a a,
i*    .  >   ,r      .., ..:

k

yr"   c  `    '  i 1  x        '+
I 2 " a      s    '..

a a, 

I,i i~
i' ' 

120
ri

t*       :i-      W+"+'"
s'

L F CiE= N fJ

CLSP- 2 Amendment PCan Area
F1gUre 1. 2

N O p T N

ity limits
T. S

Sphere of influence
VICINITY MAP

q( s Central Lathrop Specific Ptan- Phase 2 Amendment
x°

Lakhrop, Ca

Page 1- 15

543



Central l, athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Goals ofthe Specific Plan Provide roadway improvements and land use

The CLSP is intended to provide for the orderly
planning that will tie together vith ehisting
development.

and systematic development of an integrated full-

service community in a manner consistent with Establish a logical phasing plan that assures
goals and policies of the City and compatible that each phase of development will include
with site characteristics. The primary goals of the all necessary public improvements required
CLSP- 2 Amendment are designed to achieve the

to meet City standards.
following:

Add value to the existing and future City of
F.stablish a comprehensive land use plan that I,athrop community and contribute to the
will guide development of the appro imately establishment of a strong local economic
724- acre CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area.   base through ( a) job creation and ( b) the

economic stimulus that comes from the
Update thc City' s long- term vision for the multi-million- dollar investment required to
CLSP- 2    lmendment Plan Area in

develop the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
accordance vith the 2022 Lathrop General

and the disposable income of the people uho
Plan, by incorporating refinements designed

live and vark in the Plan l rea.

to reflect e rolving innovation in land use

planning concepts.      Implement the development program

envisioned for the Central Lathrop Specific
Establish a regional industrial development

Plan on property diat the Lathrop 2 0 2 2
area adjacent to the I- 5 freeway that makes

eneral Plan designates for Limited

use of the visibility and prune freeway access
Industrial uses.

provided by the Roth Road Interchange.
To the eatent feasible,  provide a self-

Masimize passive recreational opportunities

mitigating project,    where mitigation

through the creation of a comprehensive
measures are incorporated into the CLSP- 2

linear park and open space system located
l mendment and future project designs=so as

adjacent to and providing access to the San
to minimize environmental impacts.

Joaquin River.

Provide a logical and orderly ettension of the
Uenerate positive fiscal benefits for the City City of Lathrop that is compatible vith and
resulting from the regional industrial

complements ekisting and planned land uses
development.    

vithin other portions of the City.

Increase employment and shopping Satisfy the City policies,  regulations and
opportunities for City residents.      

espectations as defined in the Lathrop
General Plan and 1 itmicipal Code.

Provide job- generating land uses in close

proaimity  to residential uses in order to
Provide services andinfrastructure that meet

minimize home- to- vork vehicular trip or e ceed City standards and that do not
lengths, automobile usage and related air

minish services to esisting residents of the
quality impacts.  

Ci ty-.

Provide an integrated,  efficient,  and safe

Enrich the relationship between the City and
cixculation system for pedestrians, bicyclists,       

the San Joaquin River by incorporating the
transit and vehicles.     

river' s edge as a critical component of the

i' age 1- 16

544



Cc itral Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Central Lathrop Specific Plan parks and Few trees, aside from the orchard trees, eYist

open space program.       beyond those along the riverbed and on rural
residential sites. A few rural roads  ( Manthey

These Central Lathrop Specific Plan goals are Road, De I.ima Road, and Dos Reis Road) cross

consistent with the goals of the Lathrop General or border the Plan r rea to pro ide access to the
Plan.       river, farmlands, and rural residences. No known

major utilit easements or facilities are present,
Cot text e cept for water lines in Dos Reis Road, De Lima

Location Road, and a portion of Manthey Roads; and a
storm drain force main in Dos Reis Road that

I.athrop is located within the southwest quadrant serves esisting develop east of Interstate- 5.
of San Joaquin County. The Central Lathrop
Specific Plan area is located within the north vest Plant habitats are isolated within narrow

area of the City. See Figure 1. 1: Regional Map.    corridors located along portions of the San

Joaquin River. All lands have been modified by
The CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area human activities. The area is generally flat, with a
encompasses appro unately 724 acres located slight fall from east to west towards the San

south of the city limit line, north of Dos Reis Rd, Joaquin River. 'I"he area is protected from Elood
vest of Interstate 5, and east of the San Joaquin hazards by the levee paralleling the ri er.
River. See Figure 1? for the Vicinity Map. Ground vater is relatieely shallo v. No parcels are

under Villiamson Act contracts.

Property Oavrier.rhip
dJaceyrt Uses

The CLSP- 2 Amendment encompasses 724 acres

divided among 25 e isting parcels. Figure 13 lists A variety of e isting land uses surrounds the
the property owners.    CLSP- 2 mendment Plan Area. To the south of

Dos Reis Road from west to east is a planned
Exz.rtind Site Conclition. r and U.res community park and open space trail along the

The CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan Area consists
levee; the existing Lathrop High School sports

primarily of undeeeloped land and agriculture
Felds and ausiliary parking area, undeveloped

uses, along with the esisting Dos Reis Regional
land designated as Residential Nlixed L se, and

Park and boat launch, and arious etisting rural
undeveloped land designated as Office

residences. ' I'he e sting Dos Reis Regional Park Commercial. To the west is the San Joaquin River

is located adjacent to the San Joaquin Ri- er alvng
and to the north is San Joaquin Counn- land with

the west side of the CLSP- 3 r mendment Plan existing agriculture and industrial uses. Interstate

3rea.  The undeveloped land and esisting
5 is east of the Plan Area.

agriculture uses comprise the majority of the Jarrie-dictional Context
remaining land acreage extending from the San

Joaquin Kiver,  east to Manthey Road and Since the City approved the 2004 CLSP, the
Intexstate- 5.   See Figure 1. 4 for Esisting CLSP Plan Area has been annexed into the City
Conditions Map. of Lathrop. The area or portions thereof, are

vithin the juriseiiction of the Manteca L?nified
Dos Reis Park, a county/ state facility located School District, Reclamation District 17 ( RD-

along the San Joaquin River at the end of Dos 17),  and the Lathrop Manteca Fire District
Reis Road,  while a part of the CLSP-?  1' D). No changes to the boundaries of these

Amendment Plan rea, is intended to remain districts are proposed.
under county/ state ownership and maintenance.

Pagc 1- 17

545



Central Lathxop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amcndment Chapter One: Introduction

Figure 1. 3- Existing Ownership Map

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECiFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

II I

au

5

al

t

t/'    c,::  r1

2
V

2  `      v
Q'

I I III
J       

s .-- '  SPARTANi
WAY

I ' ` -
s

c

PROPERTY PIRCEL PRpPER1Y PARCEI
Eo.     B    .  Q    tld B      

t t42- 029- 6tQ $ WBG NVEST4ENY LLC ETAL tOp. 6 12 192- 020- 220 WRELp. S Qc F ETN. 5.D
2 192- 020- 620 CFWW. St1RJl SNGH f00.0 f3 192- 020- 480 SAN. IO UIl J COINIIY 9.4

3 KAS YIR KM1R PARItS REC
3 192- OZp- 630 CliNW. SUR,MT SNGk1 tp5.6 U 192- OYO- 520 DOYLE. UANEL Y IR 8.6

3 KI SH49t KAUR 15 192- 020- 196 pOYi, E. QANEL Y iR 8,1
4 192- 02a- 640 C1W1Al SUR.R1 5 1'IGH I06.9 i6 192- 02U- 18Q CIIY Oi tAiHROP 19. 6

dr NASITYMt KAdIR t7 192- 020- 586 SAYBROQK CLSP LLC 9. 8

5 192- 020- Q60 DURCA BlGRATH g 15.2 18 192- 020- 690 SAY6ROOK CLSP LLC 9.0
PO7TALA SREEtAFNR TR 19 192- 020- ifi0 1EN t, FLORIAN D 5. 0

6 192- 020- 070 IIIOY R. OON l ETK 1. 5 20 192- 02fl- 360 1ffNOR. i)ELIA ETAL 5.0
7 192- 42t1- D80 NAOYfR. OON L ELY. t4. 9 21 192- 020- 700 SAt'800K CL'SP lLC i4.5
8 192- 20- 0 N701, R. DON+Lp LOUS 16,4 M 192- 020- 140 00S RELS RANCFI. MIC 89.8
4 192- p2- 65p CITY Of UIHROP 24. 2 3 192- 024- 1f0 HOf',AH. RICIIARCI h 2.0
10 19Y- 020- 660 CIIY aF tATNROP i KATtftTN A
11 192- OYO- 38t1 G4 IMT LqNS! IC 5.0 1   192- 02U- 020 ApyMl( I TtbC 0.8

WCtfMING WC EiN.
25 19- 020- 03Q tERRICK KARA lE TR 0.9

LEGEND

O PROPERTYI. D.

ClSP-2 AMENDMENT PLAN AREA BOUNDARY Figure 1. 3
o r H      _.  _._._ 

ISTING PROPERTY LINES
N. T. S.     EXISTING OWNERSHIP MAP

Central Lathrap Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
r'

Lathrop, Ca
r

z-3.[ f.';.:

Page]- 18

546



Central Lathrop SpeciHc Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Figure 1. 4- Existing Conditions Map

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMEN` I'

x.,     ,        
r

d .        .  .  -

w.

IRQTH oAo

b

e

a.

1 ,    

l
a  

t  e .

pr,/' a r ` 3"  z     y r    s., t,:

r' i?/,..    o'" Z`' x, a xy  (.
y       

r

x °,       ,    

g;       CpMAtER AUMf7U57RlALI            
z

r

AGRICUCTURE

y n' o
SAN lOAQUIN

y e/''    CDUNTY')     I

r   r
i     

s   

d h
y 

14i AI i e4r MrM w w      ' 6 d=b
3/ F f f! II/ i i i

i

x8 ' s'

1 4 l̀

s * ;

4& a&.

AGRIt13LTURE
i RD• 17 tEVEE RECYCLED

t WATER PONE7     

DE L1MA ROAD

r35nrvc

RECYCIECt WA7' ER

5117ENT AE

y    
OOS REIS PARK f w;

SPRAY FIEt p     S..

a M 5.

r cRRcc ru  pp t 
D 75 RF ROAL1 s;; ;

SAh' JVAi UIN   
r"'. irM i

F...   •"

i   .       o 

COUVrp)       FU7UREP RK tATHROo
FUTIfh' EMlXED

FUTURE        

A

L  NI N SCHQOL,     tfSE Ct7MMfHftA{ F.     r

F
I SPARTANWAY   c      

r.,`';.°;

z

o Qr Exisf nrc"
ti' f'a ceosiro co crn- acrr t o           ,.c nh

LF.CiF,NL)

CI, SP-: Amendment Plan Ar oandary

Fi Qure 1. 4
NORTH v

5 EXISTING CONDITIQNS MAP

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Pagc 1- 19

547



Central l, athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptcr One: IntrodUction

Legal Authorrty Relationship to Other City Policies,
Progtams, and Documents

Z'he City of Lathrop, as a general law city, will
adopt this Specific Plan Amendment, and other The supporting documents described below

project related documents by resolution in establish the foundation and/ or provide

accordance with the provisions of rlrticle 8,  direction for the implementation of this CLSP- 2

Sections 65450 through 65457 of the California mendment. These documents will be utilized in

Government Code. These provisions require that conjunction with the CLSP- 2 Amendment to

a specific plan be consistent vith the City' s ensure the unplementation of the General Plan' s

adopted general plan.  All other subsequent goals and policies.
entitlements and approvals must also be

consistent with the Lathtop General Plan.  Capital Pacilities Fee Program

State law also requires that all subsequent
The City' s Capital Facilities Fee program

subdivisions and developments ( including publie
identifies the capital improvements needed for

works projects) within the Phase 2 Plan Area, as
development This document establishes a

vell as all zoning regulations applicable to the variety of financing vehicles and fees to pay for

Phase 2 Plan rlrea, must be consistent with this public infrastructure and communitv facilities to

CLSP- 2 Amendment.   
serve the new development areas.

Belation. rhip to the I_athrop General Plan
Mirniczpal Code

The C'7eneral Plan establishes the goals, policies,  
Special zoning districts have been created for the

land uses, and standards for development vithin
CLSP Plan rea. These special zoning districts

the Ciry.    ' I"he following related plans,  
end in  " CL"  to designate these land use

incorporated b refeYence, provide additional categories as unique to the Central Ladlrop

detailed direction for future development of the
Specific Plan area.   The amended zoning

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan c1Yea.      
categories for the Phase 2 Plan Area are

described in detail later in this CLSP- 2

f a.rtezvater, lYlaterartdBecyc• led lti"aterMa. rter
Amendment and aYe incorporated into d1e

Plans Lathrop Municipal Code.

astewater  ( collection and treatrnent),  water Developrrterrtfgree nerat
supply and distribution), and recycled water

wastewater disposal) master plans were adopted De' elopment Agreements to be potenually

by the City. These plans identif impYovements enteYed into between the City and landowners

needed to seree current and future land uses at
thin the Plan Area can est, or " lock in"

build out and provide a basis for the orderly
development rights.  Development agreements

e pansion of potable, waste, and recy-cled water
can establish the responsibilities of landowners

facilities. In conjunction with other plans, these th respect to the construction and financing of

documents establish phasing and costs.     public infrastructure, the dedication of land, and
other development- related obligations.

Bicyc•le Trunsportatiora Master 1' lan
I:nvironmeratallynpc ct Ke ort

The City of Lathrop' s Bicycle Transportarion
Master Plan establishes goals,  policies,  routes

Refer to the Implementation chapter for details

and standards for birycle transportation and regarding the relationship between the CLSP- 2

facilities within the City. l mendment and the EIRs prepared with the
origina1200 CI_SP and the 2022 General Plan.

Page 1- 20

548



Central Lathrop Speciflc Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter One: Introduction

Organization ofthe Speeific Plan e ecuted,   including development phasing

strategies and the permitting process for
The CLSP- 2 rlmendment is organized as follows:  

dividual development proposals.

Chapter One:  Introduction  -  discusses the
Chapter Nine: Financing - describes anticipated

purpose, planning context, primary goals, and
project construction and maintenance needs and

scope of the Specific Plan mendment.     
financing mechanisms, and the key° financing
options that are available to fund these costs.

Chapter T vo: Land Use - describes the way in
which the land uses that comprise the CLSP- 2

Amendment Plan rlrea are organized and

includes a discussion of the general character of
such uses, their locarion within the Plan Area, the

intensities of use, and the goals associated with
each of the designated land uses.

Chapter Three: Circulation and Transportation -

eYplains the CLSP- 2 Amendment roadway

network in the context of the local, city, and

regional transportation and circulauon patterns,

and the system of pedestrian and bic}'cle paths.

Chapter Four: Natural Resources Management-

describes the ways in vhich the environmental

features of the plan aYea are integrated into the
CLSP- 2 Amendment and the program to protect
these features, as well as to allow them to be

enjoyed by residents and non- tesidents alike.

Chapter Five: Community Sen-ices and Facilities
describes the needs for communitv services and

facilities that will result from the development of

the CLSP- 2 r mendment and the wa in which

these needs will be addressed.

Chapter Six: Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure

discusses the various utility and citainage
improvements required to serve the Phase 2 P1an

rlrea.

Chapter Seven: Design Guidelines - provides the

site planning,  including landscape and open
space, and architectural standards for each land

use, further ensuring a high- quality and unique
development.

Chapter Eight Implementltion - describes the

way in which the CLSP- 2 Amendment will be

Yage 1- 21

549



Centcal l,athrop Spccific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chaptcr I'wo: l. and Usc

Chapter Two: Land Use

Introduction The Land Use Plan was influenced by a variety
of factors including physical site constraints and

The Land Use and Development Plan is the
adjacent land uses as discussed in Chapter One.

primary implementing component of the CLSP-
2 mendment. This chapter summarizes the This CLSP-21 mendment may evolve o rer time,
different land uses proposed, refines land use taking into consideration market change and
types that are identified in the 2022 General Plan

community desires and needs.  ! s property
and lists the development standards.  " This owners and builders develop theit properries,
chapter, including the Land Use Plan, describes they will be required to follow the Site Plan
the land use designations and zoning. The 2022 Review process and,  if applicable,  obtain a

General Plan Land Use Map and the CLSP- 2
Conditional Use Permit. The development plans

r mendment Land Use Plan govern the land uses for each property will be designed based on the
in the CLSP Phase 2 Plan Area.      policies and standards contained in this Specific

Plan Amendment.

Existing and Interim Land Uses

E isring agricultural uses, recycled water storage

Overall,  the CLSP- 2 Amendment designates

onds, a ricultural irri ated with rec cled water
618? acres of Limited Industrial uses, 112 acres

pnd sevea 1 rural residences are located within the
of Parks, and 29. 3 acres of Open Space in Phase

CLSP- 2 mendment Plan Area. 1' hese existing
J

uses will remain until the property is developed
Lattd Use Platl

and therefore referred to in this document as

Interim Uses.     The CLSP- 2 Amendment is designed to create a

range of employment uses along with some
The esisting uses within the CLSP Phase 1 Plan

recreational uses along the San Joaquin River
rlrea include earious residential neighborhoods levee system for City residents and employees.
commonly referred to as Stanford Crossing, a The CI..SP- 2 Amendment Plan l rea

high school,   a community center,   teen
encompasses approsimatelti- 7 3 4 acres. Refer to

center/ library,   several public neighborhood Figure 2. 1.  The o erall Phase 2 Plan r rea land

parks, and some commeYcial development. Some
uses,  acreages,  and intensities of use are

agricultural uses and rural residences remain vill summarized in Table   ?. 1;   this summary
remain until developed in the future in

represents the build- out of the CLSP- 2

accordance with the Lathrop General Plan. menciment Plan r rea.

The CLSP- 2 Amendment development The Land Use l fap ( Figure 2. 1) illustrates the
standards for the Phase 2 Plan c rea are land uses vithin the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

consistent with the development standards in the
rea.  Table 2. 1 provides a summary of these

City of Lathrop' s 7_.oning Ordinance. Separate land uses. The acreage and allowable square

Design Guidelines appl as set forth in Chapter
footages for each land use category mac vary

Seven.     slightly from these acreages shown depending on
more accurate survey data and the final alignment

Page 2- 1

550



entral], athrop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter' I'wo: land Use

of roadways and required open space; however,

the total acreages and building square footage
establish an approsimate carrying capacit for the
Plan Area.

Landscape Buffer

A landscape buffer shall be provided along the
north side of Dos Reis Road as illustrated in

Figure 2. 2 with two ( 2) different design themes.

3t locations where existing or proposed Land
Use on the south side of Dos Reis Road includes

sensitive receptors, the landscape buffer shall

include a 30- foot- wide landscape corridor vithin

the public right- of- vay including 22'   of

landscaping and a 8' paved sidewalk as well as an
additional buffer on the adjacent private

development parcels. At other locations on Dos
Reis Road where Commercial or Industrial use is

proposed to the south, the landscape buffer shall
include a 26- foot- vide landscape corridor vithin

the public right- of-way including 18 feet of
landscaping and an 8 foot paved sidewalk as well
as an addirional buffer on the adjacent private
development parcels.  The additional buffer on

the adjacent private development parcels in both
scenarios shall be determined during the Site Plan
Review process for each specific development
project.

Page??

551



Central]. athcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter' I'wo:], and Use

Figure 2. 1- Land Use Map

C` L•NTR I. I.. AT fRf) P SPECIFIC PLAN PH, ASF? ? A1 9T?N' 2El T

r. r

tiy  W a'        

r`" x,"r. t-.

oz
ww.--...

s,,..._........

a w    .---——-  

m STREET A I I

I i

C         L[- CL L(- CL u,

I i

I i I

DE LIMA R4AD      c.. 7

LI- C STi EET D___;'     4,     .

r-==_r---- j-— —— ————-   q

LIrG,,-,      i LI-GL Q    
QL                   I I   !        

DQS REIS ROAI        CLSP PHASE 2
ww    e

1           
s    r

CLSP PF{ ASE 1

LA'CHRpP RESiDEYTiALI
QFFICE R

CO fhiERCIALPARI     FIiC1I'       bilk`EU U5E

SL' HOOL       

r`   
SPFtRTAf WAY            LATHROP ROAD

F , 

rs w*"'

yf"#     p r

r;. 1'      Q..           a. ,,%, x k

w*
w       S

j

Q

i x'
µ""

x

G 4 Q            
a<      Q

4,       r
i  f

f'`
rrra swrs Nw r    f

M

f
r, s

r
R

n 
r

f

v, t R
r

1 z r r
4 z f

s    "'` y     ,;      y 4

s„    .       d    ,

k, "   a

iw w rrt   a 
ya w  

r

RIVER ISLANDS PKWY ENUE   :_"
LBGGVD

Limitcd Industrisl( Ll-C' 1.)    Exis[ ing Pr xrty Lincs

Park( P- ft.     RaadRigh- 0# WavLincs

0}u e Space iO3- CL}       Potential Road AightAf- Way Linas if Needed Far Aere. s

a o n r H   "'
LSP-_' Atnendntent Plan Ar l3nuodary Figure 2. 1

ti T. s     ...... La. P a, r,:   LAND USE MAP

Y s Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

m

Page 2- 3

552



Central l.athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter" I'wo: I,and Use

Figure 2.2- Landscape Buffer

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

tMA ROAD

STftEETD

4q

W
a      , .h:

s k.    .   5e,^,, u a:,.. u. wu u •  ,,.....    
a       ,.    .     . . ,:.,,„-      

S:',    

aos is RoA    .„ ,
e  ,   

z

z       A i B
w

W      aQ
ek v       k

C

Lro/. IA
r''

a:;:     -    
l"

N    / 

r.  . ..,   .

Y

m

I  /  '

Y"      e

lf. ti)

6'• 30' LanQuapt Buffer WirAin F' ublic Right- Of- W'ay

Additional ButTcr R ithin Private Pro{+rrty
36' W10SCAPE @UFFEfl

POYI    _ wITMIN PI18UC RTGHT• Of• WAY
FON

AWIifONAi BUFFER WITNIN PPIVA7E —

PAOPERTY TO 8E DETE IINED WiiH
n

DEVELOPN£ NT APPIIGATIONS.   a

4     A 6 d , p
a

9

q 

9  C            j° 66
I

Q

Ml1ITI0NA1 LaH65CAPf BUFFER

Nt1Alf SITE M2TriIN PRI4Air PNOPEATY

Y AA

NOR1H gs' SOUTN
AhDSCAPE EUFF6R SECTION

STANFORb CROSSING TO

ti{) LDEN VALLEY PARKWAY

Gfr 26` LANOSCAPE BUFPEB
p

f N' ITNtN PUBLIC HIOH7- Oi YlAX

ApDITIONAI BUFFEP WI7HIN PRIVATE     

PF6PERTY TO BE DE7ERMINEO WIfli
d

EVELOPYENT APPLICA7IONS. EXANPiE d

4,     •^, 4 4•  
p  '

4

BUFFER SHONN INClU0E5 S7081kMATEF p 
fl  °'' d n  •' 1

I
pdQo edty fl `

DUAltil" TAEATI Nt AREA

2'  2 '

T

SWTH
NORTH pSCAPE BUFf6R SECT' ION

GOLDGN WALLGY PARK14`,AY
Fl ure 2. 2

N O F T H TO MANTHEY ROAD g
S LANDSCAPE BUFFER

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Page Z- 4

553



entral], athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptcr Two: I, and Use

Table 2. 1: CLSP- 2 Amenclment Land U.re Summary

Maximum Potential

Designation Land Use Area( acres)     
Building Square Building Square
Footage at Max Footage at Target

FAR of 1. 0 SF FAR of 0. 75 SF

LI- CL Limited Industsial [ 1]       618. 2 26, 928, 792 20, 196, 594

OS- CL Open Space 29. 3 1, 27G, 308 957, 231

P- CL Paxk 11. 2 487, 872 365, 904

Major Road Right- of-Way 65. 3 2, 844, 468 2, 133, 351

Total 724. 0 31, 537, 440 23, 653, 080

1] Allowable FAR. of 1. 0 peY the 2022 General Plan

2] Target PAR of 0. 75

The above table represents the proposed deaelopment acreages by land use. Calculated acres are based
upon the overlay of the land uses onto a property boundary map compiled from record dimensions only
not a field survey).  Actual acres may vary slightly, but vill be confirmed with each development

application.

Land Use Desigrtations Limited Indzrstrial

The following sections define and discuss the The Limited Industrial ( I,I) use applies to most

land use designations that occur within the Plan of the Plan Area. ' I'he Limited Industrial use

Area.  7'he Central Lathrop combining district spans from the northern project boundary along
CL) is applied to all properties located within the Lathrop' s city lunits, southern boundary along

CLSP- 21 menciment Plan rea. The designation Dos Reis Road, and eastern boundary along
of CI, after any zoning district indicates that the Interstate Highway 5 as shown in FiguYe 2. 1. It is

zoning distxict so combined is modified by the anricipated that uses such as warehousing and
regulations included in the CLSP-? rlmendment manufacturing that do not require a high degree
and those districts included in Chapter 17. 62 of of visibility and are truck dependent, will be
the Lathrop I Zunicipal Code.  located in areas of the Plan rea that minunize

the potential for air quality and noise impacts to
Permitted uses, condirionally- permitted uses, and sensiri e receptors outside the Plan Area.   The

development criteria can be found in the same CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan rea is envisioned to

chapter of the Code. Of articular note is that the accommodate a vide range of jobs generating
2022 General Plan rec uires a Conditional Use uses,  including business parks;  clean light

Permit ( CUP1 for all develo ment between Dos industrial; research and development  ( R& D);

Reis Road and De Lima Road. science,  technology,  engineering,  and math

STF_; tech/ biotech manufacturing; high- tech
The Plan r rea consists of three land use services that incorporate some combination of

designations including Limited Industrial, Park,  
assembly; warehousing, and/ or sales; hospitals,

and Open Space. A vell thought out circulation labs and other health care- related uses,  and

pattern allows for vehicular,   birycle and distribuuon centers.  Refer to the City of
pedestrian connections between the uses.   

Lathrop' s Zoning Ordinance for the full range of

Page 2- 5

554



Central Lathcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter" I'wo: l. and lJse

permitted and conditionally permitted uses under information regarding Nonconforming Uses and
this land use category. A maximum allowable Structures.

Floor rea Ratio  ( FAR)  of 1. 0 is permitted
consistent with the 2022 General Plan.      Right- to- Farm provisions are discussed in

Chapter Four of this document.

Operz Space

Calculation ofLand Use Intensities and
The CLSP- 2 Amendment designates Open Space

qjjowable Sq'uate Footages
OS) uses along the San Joaquin River and this

designation spans the length of the Plan Area.  Future project- specific development applications
This area is designed to provide an open space will be based on the maYimum allowable net

corridor consistent with the Lathrop General square footage for a particular parcel or parcels.
Plan. The open space corridor along the San The masimum allowable square footage for a

Joaquin River is intended as a local communiry particular parcel vill be calculated by multiplying
wide facility with die possibility of regional the surveyed net developable area  ( in acres)

linkage. This Open Space Carridor vould also comprising the subject parcel by the allowable
connect the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan rlrea vith Floor Area Ratio ( Fr1R) for the associated land

developing and existing segments of this open use designation.  The acreage used in this

space corridor to the south within CI,SP Phase 1 calculation may vary slightly froin the acreage
and the Mossdale Village developments. Though shown in the Land Use Map and Table 2. 1 and
not required or mandated,   this CLSP- 2 will be determined by more accurate survey and

mendment accommodates the construction boundar- data and the final street alignments and

and use of outdoor recreation facilities such as right of vay- vidth.
recreation fields, fitness equipment and courses,

or other such uses intended foY the physical The CLSP- 2 Amendment contemplates Limited

recreation and well-being of the community
Industrial development at an average rather than

and/ or the employee use s. Refer to the CLSP- 2 a masimum Floor rea Rario ( FAR) as specified

Amendment . 7.oning Ordinance for the full range in Table 3. 1. Specific development sites will likely
of permitted uses in this land use category. develop at a taYget Fr R of 0. 75 or lower

depending on parl:ing demand, landscaping and
Park open space, storm vater management, and other

site requirements.

I'he CLSP- 2 Amendment retains the Dos Reis

Cotmty Park designation, a Counry park vithin

Land Use and Srte Layout Flexibility
City limits. r n additional Park area is proposed
to connect the park to the future open space The I.and Use Map ( Figuxe 2. 1) illustrates die
corridor described abo e.      general locations and distribution of land uses in

the Plan l rea as described earlier in this chapter.

Because the build- out of the CI, SP- 2 I"his Land lise Plan is diagrammatic and does not

Amendment Plan rea is anticipated to occur necessarily repxesent final road alignments, land
over an eYtended period of years, these Interim use configurations or acteages.

Uses may remain present for many ears.
The CLSP- 2 Amendtnent land uses may be

Interim I gricultural uses are subject to further refined in conjunction with the

Agricultural Development Standards and Use processing of future parcel maps and site plan
Regulations set forth in the Lathrop Zoning applications, vithout requiring a Specific Plan
Ordinance.  Refer to Chapter 17. 116 of the Amendment as further ciiscussed below. Given

Lathrop Zoning Ordinance for specific that the Land Use 1ap is conceptual in nature,

Page 2- 6

555



Central Lathzop Specific Plan— 1' hase 2 lmendment Chapter Two: l, and Usc

the CLSP- 2 Amendment provides flexibility with described in the Design Uuidelines

respect to the location,  design,  and detailed Chapter Seven),

unplementarion of the Land Use Plan during the
City' s revie vs of future detailed applications.       o Consistent applicauon of the stated

Land Use and Site Design flexibility may include,   principles set forth in the CLSP- 2
but is not limited to, the following:    Amendment and the Citv General Plan,

Relocating collector roads and/ or
o Potential economic benefits of a

intersections to correspond to existing particular land use, building type, site

properry lines, feature, configuration of buildings, road

alignment, or other deviation from the

Relocaung collector roads and/ or Specific Plan that would outweigh the

intersections to accommodate a specific benefits of strict adherence to the CLSP-

de elopment program,  building product 2 l mendment development standards

ty es, or parcel lay out arrangement,      and Zoning Code, and/ or

Relocating collector roads to allo v for more o The employment benefit of a land use,

efficient use of parcelization for building and configuration, or other factor within the

parl ing areas on- site, CLSP- 2 Plan Area which deviates from

the CLSP- 2 r mendment.

Minor deviations in land use intensin ( Floor
1rea Ratio) and development standards for Refer to Chapter 8: Implementation for mare

particular projects, with the concurrence of information regarding site plan and land use

reviewing agencies, as determined bv CDD flexibility at the site plan review stage including
and if compatible and consistent with the pYoject review procedures,    de- elopment

purpose and intent of the Specific Plan agreements,     specific plan amendment

procedures, enforcement, mitigation monitoring,
llowance for use types not specitled in and other review and approvals required during

Lathrop' s Zoning Ordinance,  which are the implementation of the CLSP-? mendment.

compatible and consistent with the purpose
and intent of the land use designation and Land Use Regulations and Development

zoning classification ( to be approved by the Statldat' ds

Community Development Director)
I'he CI.SP- 2 Amendment is consistent with the

l djustments to travel lanes as supported by
2022 General Plan land use designations as listed

trafflc studies.       
below and consistent with the development

standards in the Lathrop Zoning Ordinance and

cceptability  of final land use and site
the`' arehouse Good Neighbor Guidelines.

layouts will be evaluated based upon the

following criteria/ findings:       
Limite l Inclzrstrial( LI) Development Standards

The Lathrop 7oning Ordinance specifies the
o Consistency with the prescribed land use

minimum lot area, lot width, setbacks, and other
development and design standaYds, in

development standards for the Limited Industrial
accord vith the CLSP- 2 mendment to

LI)      designation.      Limited Industrial
the Specific Plan,      

developments shall be further subject to the

o Building,   parking,   and site design design guidelines in Chapter Seven.

consistency for each land use parcel as

Open Space ( OS) Developmerat Standarcls

Page Z- 7

556



Central Latluop Speeific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter" I' wo: l, and Use

I"he Lathrop 7_oning Ordinance includes

development standards for the Open Space ( OS)

designation. Open Space uses may also be subject
to design guidelines contained within Chapter
Seven.

Park Development Standards

The Zoning Ordinance defines the development
standards for the Park designation. Park uses may
also be subject to design guidelines contained in
Chapter Seven.

Yage 2- 8

557



Centrall, athtop Specific Plan— I' hase 2 Amendment hapter Theee: Circulation and' 1' ransportation

Chapter Three: Circulation and Transportation

Introduetion an interconnected system of trails, which are

pedestrian and bicy*cle friendly.
This chapter describes the proposed circulation
system and transportation impro rements

EX1St11Ig' C011CI1t101IS
included in the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area.

On-Site Roadzvay Netavork
The Circulation Plan is designed to allo v for

efficient circulation to and from the CLSP- 2
Land uses at the time of the CLSP-? Amendment

Amendment Plan Area. Z' he plan provides for approval are agricultural and large lot/ rural

multiple modes of transportation incluciing residential parcels.  Because of this land use

automobile,  truck,  bus transit,  bicycle,  and pattern, the existing roadway net vork is sparse
pedestrian.    This chapter provides the vith one north- south road vay ( I anthe Road)
requirements of Plan Area road vays, bikeways,  and two east west- roadways ( De Lima Road and

and walk vays as well as public transit.  The Dos Reis Road).

implementation of the CLSP- 2 rlmendment will

provide additional roadway, bus transit, bic cle,  i 2anthey Road is a paved two- lane roadway that
and pedestrian linkages between the Plan rea

parallels I-5 Erom the CLSP- 2 Amendment_ Plan
and the surrounding communities, improving rea and continues North towards the Roth

connectivity vithin this portion of the City. Road interchange and beyond. This roadway has

The Circulation Plan provides connections to
no curb and gutter w7th minimal shoulders. De

existing and future road vays as identified in the
I ima Road and Dos Reis Road are t vo- lane

City of Lathrop' s General Plan Circulation roadways that e tend west from Manthey Road
Diagram.  These connections provide both to the San Joaquin River le ree.  The road vays
regional and local mobilin- between land uses have shoulders but no curb and gutter.
within and adjacent to the Plan Area. It is the

intent of the Circulation Plan to compl with the See Figure 3. 1 for Existing Circulation Plan.
requirements of the Surface Transportation

Assistance Act  ( STA).  The phasing and Of-Site Roceclivay Net2vork ( KedionalArea)
financing of the proposed roadway
improvements is summarized in Chapter Nine There are a number of major regional roadway s

Financing Plan.  that are located in close prosimiry to the CLSP- 2
Amendment Plan l rea. T'hese road vays include

Circulation and Transportation Goals
Interstate 5, Interstate 205, State Route 120, and

State Route 99.  These roadways are outside of

I'he transportation system for the CLSP- 2 the Plan tlrea but will be utilized by vehicles
rlmendment Plan Area provides a multi-modal entering and esiting the CLSP- 2 Plan Area.
network that serves the needs of all the proposed
land uses in the Plan AYea by establishing an Interstate 5, one of the major freeways in the

integrated, efficient, and safe circulation system state of California, forms the eastern boundary- of
for transit and vehicles; linl ing roadwa s and the CLSP Plan Area. In San Joaquin County, I- 5
transit routes in the Plan llrea to the City' s connects Stockton to Tracy and passes through
e isung transportation network, and pro iding Lathrop. Given its location, I- 5 vill serve as one

Pagc 3- 1

558



Central l,athrop Speciftc Plan— Yhase 2 Amendmem Chapter' 1' hree: Circul ttion and' I'ransportation

of the primary routes for traffic entering and There are essentially no e sting bicycle or

exiting the Plan Area.   pedestrian facilities in the CLSP-2 r mendment
Plan r rea. However, there are pedestrian and

There are three freeway interchanges adjacent to bicycle facilities in the CLSP Phase 1 area and in

the Plan Area.  The First interchange, Louise the adjacent specific plan areas including
Avenue/ River Islands Parkway, is located to the I lossdale Village and River Islands that will be

south and provides access to the CLSP Plan connected to the planned facilities within the
Area, Mossdale Village and River Islands. The CLSP- 2 mendment Plan Area at Uolden Valley
second interchange, Lathrop Road/ Spartan Way,  Park-way and Stanford Crossing as displayed on
is located in the middle of the o`rerall CLSP and Figure 3. 10 Pedestrian and Bicy-cle Circulation
provides direct access to the Plan Area. The third Plan.

interchange, Roth Road, is located north of the

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area, and will be the Fxi.rtin; Tran.rit Netzvork

primary point of access for trucks to the Plan
rlrea. A study of the Roth Road corridor from The City of Lathrop does not operate any local

Manthey Road to State Route 99 is being
sen-ing transit routes. Ho vever, there are transit

conducted by San Joaquin County>, through the
routes that operate in the regional area. These

San Joaquin Council of Go ernments ( SJCOG)  
routes include fited- route regional bus service

at the rime this CLSP- 2 Amendment is being
and tle ible 6 ed route bus service. The San

written. It is anticipated that the ramps will be J° aquin Kegional Transit District  ( SJR"T'D)

videned, and traffic signals will be installed in the
operates the bus routes while r ltamont

future.     
Commuter F.,xpress operates the commuter rail

service. These transit services are described in

Interstate 205 lies to the south of the City of detail below.

Lathrop and provides a connection to the City of
Tracy and the San Francisco Bay Area.      

SJI TD I'i ed-Koute Seruice

The SJRZ operates two fixed-route bus lines

State Route 120 is another majox regional RouCe 290 and 97)  that serve the City of
roadway in San Joaquin Countt and provides a I.athrop.  Route 97 connects Manteca Transit
connection from I-5 and I-205 to State Route 99,  Center to" lracy Transit Center through Lathrop
south and east of the Plan rea. SR 120 vill serve via Louise I venue and Interstate 5.  Route

as a likely access route for trips accessing the 97. Route 90 connects I.athrop to Stockton and
Plan  rea from I lanteca.  The I-S/ SR 120 Tracy via lnterstate 5. The route map for Route
interchange located South of the Plan r rea 90 and 97 are sho vn on Figure 3. 2. These routes

provides a connection between these two include several esisting bus stops within

roadways through a sy stem of ramps. I,athrop' s City limits. An additional proposed bus

stop is suggested at I lanthe Road just south of
State Route 99 is a regional roadway in the De Lima Road to serve commuters to the CLSP-

regional area. This roadway serves as one of the 2 area. This suggested stops are shown on Figure

major north- south routes in San Joaquin CountZ%  3. 4.

and provides a connection between the City of
Stockton in the noYth and Manteca in the south.  SJRTD Flexzble Fixed- Roaste Seroic• e

SR 99 continues south through Stanislaus SJRTD also operates Route 90, which is a flexible

County and parallels I- 5 throughout much of fi ed- route line.  r  flexible fi ed- route bus

California. operation follows a general route but can deviate
within limited areas to pick- up or drop- off

Exi.rting Bicycle and Pecle. ct ian Netzvork
passengers. This line links the Ciry of Lathrop

Yagc 3- Z

559



Central I,athrop Specific Plan— Yhasc 2 Amendment Chapter"Three: Circularioa and' Ccansportation

with Stockton and Tracy via a route that provides
access into the City of Lathrop by Lathrop Road
and Louise Avenue.

SJKTD Commuter Bu.r Service

The SJRTD operates a number of commuter bus

lines vhich connect cities in San Joaquin County
with major employment locations in the San

Francisco Bay  rea including Pleasanton,

Dublin, Livermore, l 7ountain View, Palo 1 lto,

and Sunnyvale.  The e isting Commuter Bus
service in Lathrop connects Lathrop to the
Dublin/ Pleasanton I3AR" T station and also

Sunnyvale. Cotnmuters access the bus service at

the Lathrop Park and Ride Lot south of the Plan
rea, vhich is located between Lathrop Road

and Louise venue on Sth Street.

Altcrmont Commuter Eh re s Rcril Setvice ( ACE) '

I ulley-Link
lltamont Commuter Express Rail Ser- ice

ltamont Commuter f: xpress ( ACE) is a

passenger rail service connecting Stockton to
San Jose. The closest ACE station to the Plan
rlrea is located on the border of the Ciry of
Lathrop and the Ciry of 1 lanteca to the north of
SR 120.

Valley Link is a new 42 - mile, 7- station
passenger rail project connecting BART' s rapid
transit system in the Bay Area' s' I'ri-Valley and
the CE Commuter. Fhpress ( RCE). Future

Valley Link/ ACE Stations are anticipated at two
locations within City limits. One proposed
location neaY the River Islands development

North of Iighway 5 along the Union PaciFic
Railroad. t1 second location is proposed in
North Lathrop at Lathrop Road along the

Union Pacific Railroad and I fcI inley Avenue.

Existing Trlrc•k Rorrte.r

Existing truck routes within the vicinin- of the
Plan Area, including ST A truck routes and non-
STr1A truck routes are shown on Figure 3. 3.

Yagc 3- 3

560



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Thxee: Circularion and' I' ransportation

Figure 3. 1- Existing Circulation Plan

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECTFIC Pt AN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
r ' ;   

i

vy, si l  ,    .       
f ; ..      .

w.     ROTH ROADu -,  .
z -     

r v -  4. az; s,, r'+utM Miea
o-,

u  ,,    ..      ,      r,. '

s.           a

4,         

s

w    3`,' p    it i y4r",.,' y zi r;'..y z r ,-   .   .      .
i    i 

s   
i ri%   ;,, ,

1
r    , xs̀ 1

e iy;-,      
r   , 

s: a a

i-,i m„  
w'', ,  "       .

t .         Y,.` x.   

p
3 Y f

f     x
n   ""

s,`%fi.

t s r.j"` x ' 

a

z` r:        

t
tLSR2 AMEND,' ENT

F`,,       PLAN AREA
x. g

r w iw      ww N rn 1

w4     
d%  ,

t "     d'..

W'   e'.

j 3 a`,  .

w  z

DE IIMA ROAD      a
r-     

q
S

DOS REIS R AQ       c

ri ìi+ t" i''. Y.. r r rr m'wri w iriSi GiGw iii r rii iiu i r, Z

ijx rl,::    

t  
1 '-  '   t rL

qe? a      

s

r

x. r.'

SPARTANa.$
a::.. aa.. aa;:: s", Z LATHROP ROAD

YVAY  ;     

nw ,.
r    

a;,.`

m' 

as+"''
o`   '' i'J.,9 a v y,   

r     ,`„

y

a'       C',
pp y,       a N

r•' 
r J f̀, , Q     .    2€, as w   

QQ w'. w. x.

5r
xt    `       a   s  '  se  "

a    .. a   

LEGEND

r r a r Existing Roads

CLSR: Anx ndment Plan. Arw

Fi ure 3. 1
T~     

EXISTING CIRCULATION PLANN. TS.

Central Lathrop Speci c Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
A5

Lathrop, Ca

Page 3- 4

561



Centcal Lathcop Speciflc Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter' I'hree: Cicculation and" I' ranspoctaCion

Figure 3. 2- Existing Bus Service Plan

CENTRAL LATHROP SPEC1FtC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
v          

h ti< 

Esp- z amEr mErv1'''```,,,

PLAN AREA     a %¢"   ,. , ;   

r r ar r r rw r r      • e. r r     r c :
4     

v

C t     x,;

z p) ;

z

DE LIMA ROAD      f

c.ì

E,>

P       e 

o    OS REi5 ROAD

j r wrnw w r crrr r

G

4

d  '

SF ARTAN'    LATHROP R AD
ww,,    ,       

WAY y,           
1

r^     

y    , g

9', a*  Q" '' 
a'`

f,,, 

ass, 4
q'      y„r

a'  
y

k    ^,,,.    

q 

a.       3,,  y           ..       ,       
p' 

a   .
a    z 2'    . 6 4"

s.¢

a ,      a 7   , . n"

a  ,            
r   d        `' . ` r       2

i      :/ r,  , f a 
az

4,,  w,' s .      ,      a, a
v    Y r' 

a^^,#, M a w.    ,,
n

e      i. d ',"  
7

k. ic ` ,„      

RIVER ISlANC15 PKWYm 
a .    

OUISEAVEPiUE  '      
s

N,          a

s„
k   < 

f
x,r z

r

b .      ' 4;..-.    ;`     

GEuo

rurx wr Exixting Rpute 90,V7 Bi s Lina

CI.. SF'-? Amencimen[ Ptan Area

Fi ure 3. 2
NORTw

y s EXISTING BUS SERVICE PLAN

Y Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

r

Yage 3- 5

562



Central l,athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter" 1hree: Circularion and Transportation

Figure 3. 3- Existing Truck Route Plan

CENTRAL LATNROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
p

A   .

w,      

ClSP- 2AMENpMENT

PLAN AftEA r  .. 

P ,

ririrr rr .     wr rr wi aa     f'  ti  '

Ca`  
ct'      v

t ,

CC'- i     
r tE4 ,

W".,s gp
r

R'

DE I IMA ROAD      i„-
s'.

q'
y       

O    ROS REIS ROAD       k
Y l

s. rr r rrrr rr,, 

G. ..     1.:

y +" A° G. ,       
SPqRTAN   s LQTHROP ROAp

WAY
t'",  

a fi `^   T v
p,, a

i%.:,,-

SSi , Q
m

2

a      

t

t.7 s Ax M
r `  '      ""

c v 3 a   , A
x      '"  '   „

k,'x

N

y    
19

z;      ' t     ` t     t'%" ' m    C a y"    fi' q
y ," "` . ' h

rrti       
a s       

s ro, aaw wwM.. rwr. r. w. wrr rw rirrtrrr r wirs. r,rw.,
RIVER ISLAhl} 5 PKWY     ; ,    LOUISEAVENUE

a

a nx t   " e

a.    ,-   ,

3

1

x ir            
m`. a ,

i,.    a.    
a

LEGEND

w.. s ExiSdngTruCkRmrte

r+r+ i+ Exis[ ing STAA. Rou e

CLSP• 2 A ment Plan: 1rta

FiQ re 3. 3
N D N T N v

T. S EXISTING TRUCK ROUTE PLAN

Y Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

s..

I' age 3- 6

563



Central l, athxop Specific Plan— i' hase 2 Amendment Chapter' I'hrce: Circulation and' 1' cansportation

Proposed Transportation Improvements CLSP-2 Amendment Plan Area

With the anricipated growth in the City of
Transportation Network

Lathrop and San Joaquin County,   both The CLSP- 2 Amendment outlines a well-

jurisdictions have identified transportation structured network of roadways, bikeways and

improvement projects in the CLSP-? walk vays to serve the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

mendment Plan rea and the regional area rea.    The circulation system will provide

along with various funding sources.  convenient and safe access to all areas within the

Plan Area, as illustrated in Figure 3. 4, Vehicular

City of t iro    Circulation Plan. r well- connected hierarchy of

The 2022 General Plan and the various Lathrop
travel modes will provide for the efficient flo v of

speciFic plans identifv near- term and long- term
vehicular traffic, but also encourage and facilitate

transportation improvements.  T' he Citv of Walking,   biking,   public transit,   and other

Lathrop Traffic Monitoring ProgYam  ( TMP)  alternatives to single- occupancy vehicles.

helps to identify vhen the near- term projects are

The CLSP- 2 Amendment includes connections
required to be constructed based on a level of

to the off-street bicycle and pedestrian paths
services analysis. Local funding sources for select

thin the CLSP Phase 1 Plan rea. Class I (off-
transportation improvements include the City- of

street) bike routes along Golden Valle}' Parkway
Lathrop Capital Facilities Fee ( CFF Program.  

are proposed to be extended into the CLSP- 2
Fees collected through the CFF Program can be

menclment Plan rlrea and transition into Class
used to fund or reimburse the construction of

II bike lanes throughout the local industrial
ne v and improved roadways such as:

streets. Class I( off- street) and Class II( on- street)

bike routes along Stanford Crossing are

Golden Valley Parl vay
p oposed to be e tended into the CI,SP- 2
lmendment Plan r1rea. To encourage pedestrian

Lathrop Road/ I- 5 interchange
trips within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan r rea

and to surrounding areas, all arterial and local
Louise venue/ I- 5 interchange

streets include sidewalks.

Roth Road/ I- 5 interchange
The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared with the
2022 C' eneral Plan rovides the basis for the

Regional Tran.rportatiorz Plan( R7P)      
number of lanes required based on a level of

San Joac uin County-, through the San Joac uin services analpsis.

Council of Governments ( SJCOG), periodicall
updates the Regional Transportation Plan, which Boadavays

outlines countytivide transportarion espenditures
The CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan 11rea includes

based on funding from sources such as the
several ne v roadways within an interconnected

Federal Goti ernment, the State of California, and
road vay system. These new roadway s, along with

locally collected funds. These funds ty ically are

provements to existing roadways, provide the
allocated to mainline freeway improvements in

necessary access for the Plan 1 rea. The road vay
the region.

network is sho vn on the Vehicular Circulation

Mec. ratre K
Plan ( Figure 3. 4), while the locations oE each

individual street secuon aYe identified on the

I' Ieasure K sales tas funds additional roadway Street Sections I ey Map ( Figure 3. 5).
improvements. The Measure K Strategic Plan

provides for the expenditure of these funds.

Page 3- 7

564



Centrall, athrop Specific I' lan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter" I' hme: Circulation and' 1' ransportation

The proposed CLSP- 2 Amendment road vay the arterial system.   Collector roadways also

system is based on a pattern of streets that provide direct access to parcels.   Collector

provides safe and efficient access for vehicles,  roadway s can be classified as both major
bicycles and pedestrians. The roadway sy-stem collectors and minor collectors. Collectors in the

includes an extension of Golden Valley Park vay Plan Area generally have two lanes with a center
and Stanford Crossing, widening of Dos Reis turn lane/ median, though additional lanes may
Road, De Lima Road, and Manthey Road, and be provided at intersections to provide sufficient
the construction of several new local industrial intersection capacity.
roads consistent with the 2022 Lathrop General
Plan. The addition of traffic signals may be Local Boad.r— Local roads provide direct access to
required at various intersections as determined parcels and connect to collectors.   Traffic

for future specific project developments in the volumes on these roads are lo v and through

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan r rea.      traffic is discouraged.

Generally, die proposed Phasing and Capital CLSP-2Amendment Plan Area Ttuck

Impro- ement Program will fund and construct Routes

full roadway improvements curb- to- curb and
required street lighting for roadways from The 2022 General Plan rohibits Golden Valley

intersection to intersection as specific Parkway and Dos Reis Road within the CLSP- 2

development proposals in the CLSP- 2 mendment Plan Area from being designated as

Amendment I' lan Area trigger the need for these truck routes. Manthey Road is the designated

roadway segment unprovements. The approach truck route connecting the CLSP- 2 rlmendment

to and the timing of roadway improvements
Plan 1rea to the Roth Road interchange north of

should be logical and comptehcnsive as to
e CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan Area. In addition,

accommodate development phases and
the local industrial streets vithin the CLSP- 2

demands,      vhile avoiciing piecemeal mendment Plan Area are proposed to be

improvements within the CLSP- 2 c mendment
designated as truck routes as illustrated in Figure

Plan Area. 3. 11. Truck access is prohibited on Dos Reis
Road and I fanthey Road south of Dos Reis.

Functional classification systems divide roadways Refer to the Lathrop l lunicipal Code Chapter
into a hierarchv based on their abilitt to serve

10. 16 Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles

traffic and provide access to development. for details regarciing designated truck routes.

irterial— These roadways are intended to serve

as the major routes of travel.  rterials are

designed to link facilities such as free vay s and

eapressways ( which prioritize the movement of
through vehicles) with lower hierarchy roadways,
vhich provide direct access to parcels. rlrterials
can provide some level of ciirect access with
limitations.   These limitations can include

restrictions on spacing and turn mo- ements into
and out of driveway locations. clrterials can also
seroe as bicycle and pedestrian routes.

Collecto-— These roadways serve as intermediate

links between arterials and local roads. Traffic is

collected from local roads and distributed onto

Ya; c 3- 8

565



Central Lathrop Specifie Plan- Phase 2 i mendment Chapter Three: Circularion and" I'ransportation

Figure 3. 4- Vehicular Circulation Plan

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIF[ C PLAN PHASE 2 AME?vD1 1EtV`T
a h

E "     TO ftOTH ROAD :"

STREET A
r a. r r r,   w+ r ws ai w ww

m i Qr
t-       C l-,+y`     

1           
I I u".r      

a„ R

I I          I Ir'       
I I          I 2r

DE LIMf RQAD          POT NT A. 
os sraP

i STR T R f..  r  '; LOCATI h

r —     

i I             ,

E i            

i i

I
I 1 I [

705 R IS RdAD
EX 1ANTNEY RO D

t r r rrrr n  r r

SOl1TH F D03
co cr To EXrsrrr

v1 REIS AND NORTN
GpCp€ N VALL6Y PARKWAY

f F SPARTAN WAY

CONNEGT TO EXISTING        
3'   TO BE ABA.NDONED,

sTar Faaa Caossz c
J`  5PARTAN WAY 2

yC'    a•••+,• t  tATHR!? P ROAD

p.     
D

rr          M X

M' GC a   r'

x    ;,   O       1,..    a  
O         3-

a"     " 

a, 5:
ae:.,,_. ..   .. 

1_ LG£ Nll

Artcri:+ l N' ilhuu[ 1' ruck, 4cctys

a uMIM1 Collcetor 1` ithout Truuk Ac ess

IIO rlll Cullector Without Tmck Access 4. C) ptionul)

apt Collector With Truck Acces.

Local Industcial Strcet

I1 I 11 111 Lcxal Industria] Strcet((} ptinnal)

Levea Access Road

Pra}rosc! Ruuncla6uut

w w r CLSP• 2 Amendment Plan Area Roundary

@xisting Road

Potrntial i' ropox cl Bus Slop L xatian if neetled

Figure 3. 4
N O R T H

VEHICULAR CIRCULATION PLAN
Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment

Lathrop, Ca

Page 3- 9

566



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— I' hase 2 Amettdment Chapter" Three: Circularion and Transportation

Figure 3. S- Street Sections Key Map

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
t

9.   

0      ,.,; ,.  ,    .; :,   <„ „  ;  ,,,. ,.,,.°,,, ri r+s  ',   

S

x
s'

p 
r

1   
t

ri;    t      x
u    F

f  ,    

z !?

NY,  p,j"       .
s < i 3" r w

k , ,.
r      ,

z"    
W

fr      :.   i

s

ti
r

yvf^ x      
e r

e

LWr„      t'  g

3 / i`,, :  
I   

k,.
q

di,'    

STREET A
s rrrrrrwri  E. a..  ..   

m

V

WW W. 

T, 

M F

t ..C

LIMA ROAD ;  
s--

1,      e    '  i

O 1      _         ': STREET D
r

y  ,.

i "; ,     .

r 
m,. m    

1--- 4''    
Qt 1 

DOS REIS ROAD

rrw, t r rr r w      ......... a     ..

F

f

i N i   f      7

9Y
A

9/,/'' ,' 7
f    .  

r[  
M u " 

9       SPRRTRN WRY ti        ,  A  " v%,";
e         

a   <'" O

riry rr`  s 9   sFd.!"  
r r' , y,,

J'  

r' iF y h " y`,     
e

z 
r:    

i

s 2 i

e°   x w    ,, .

tN f        .    
g    y.`$

a3,

eu...    e.,". ..  , ,.
r

Figure 3. 5
N D N T M

STREET SECTIONS KEY MAPN. T. S.

Central Lathrap Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
d1°"

Lathrop, Ca
k...

Page 3- 10

567



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter I'hrce: Circulation and" 1' ransportation

Figure 3. 6- Street Sections

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

W44      

ommcmmt cK CeGmnrrccJ

x,.,, a,

b1Exe. t 1, J

M  •

d•  •          
1! •   a tl

f
n •  

s

a

O°      D Ip° o, '    yb   +  
D 6  ad°  

Cortimuain Wali

u1wig RxFl.3eni'rai
Land u4cv

I
11u1[ i- usc Pztn

hinitiu5< Pa1A

b'  %'   Ei'  N'   I"    17 16'     I?'  A i l'   %'   ! S'   &'   7

w PuGh US 7' cuvcl Trevei   ! idien 7ruvrt Tru.• ai 4`S PaM L. ti
ix ta M t.xnr L;uir

R[ penSRuv 2Tlhitiry`     25' t4iliie Curridur

C' mr ar

RiW'   Il?`

7 Sg R.\ b'

t Lnnc wWih widens I ET rw; ar a Rcis Rosd

A , QLDEN VALI. EY PARKGVAY LATHROR RD Tt I) OS REIS RD - t25' ROW
v. rs.

South

Communiry Psrk Y{ ig6 Schoob' RhtU

TicMh

Limitrd Oidustrial       `     
b

L A
b"   40   

b

b

60 Q      6bb

ti„;- u v:; n

Nuhi- u.sc Pa: h

16'       B'   b'   A'    i l'     1 1'    8'   b'   8'    tiP
t.: 5 4ath 1 3 UiFe 7' ru cl Tre. rol   / i 4e I_$ Pnth I; S

ane Lanc I., m Lanr

30' Pedes[ nanlUtilily Cmrichx 2K'     24' Ctilfty Cun'Idvr

R;.W
v2'    w,

g
S REIS ROAD STANFORD CROSSING TO GOLDEN VALLEY PKWY - 92' ROW

n, s.

Fi ure 3. 6

Ts      STREET SECTIONS

Y Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

a  - W.-  . a

Pagc 3- 11

568



Central Latheop Speciflc Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter I'hrce: Circulation and' 1' ransportation

Figure 3. 7- Street Sections

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 ANIENDMENT

wa

orr c« m i
Nonh

Limtted Indusinal

a      •      o

C'},°       
o'°      

6°      ° bb

Srmct vcca ut Imak

in watcr qu: lity

Mul1i- usa Fad 
Mnid- usc Pochf'

t'a!   L'e

i0'    N'  u 1iri S'     12'     12'      32'    R'   ualtt 8'    10'

L. S Path      8ikt I' rn ei Ccntcr T' ruvul Bikr  &  Pnth L+S

LIS' Luue t,xine Tum Lune Lauc Lnne Lt5'

2[' Utiliry Corritkr 5;.' 2R UtHip C'onida

R; W
I( YY

N;

DOS RETS ROAD( GOLDEN VALLEY PKWY TO MANTHEY ROAD}- IU4' ROW
Y T. S

A reduction in torm wafer yuality trcaunam can be u pG d per Seciiws 1. 5 nf ihe
Mutii- Agency Poso-Cinstmwion SloonwaicrSt; uulurds Munuul

W'es

IJmitcYi Indusviul

r_

a •  y e
i uF„ mc irea, bN s

e a +       ` p . v

QGA      QGD d

IUiil- usc 1 a1M

EiP 23'    Ei'   ri'     12'     I Z'      ! P H'   '

LeS Patli L S' Bikc Travcl l'enarr Trave]  Bikc L.'S'
L+n e L: uit Tum Lane Lane L'anc

26' Utitity Corridur 9+'

Rw R w

MANTHEY ROAD bOS RFIS ROA[ TO STREET' A' - 5' ROW'
w. T. S

Gxcmp fro+n> tcrnn wuter qualitp trcuimcnt prr Szctioa 1. 5 uPthe
A1ulti- Agency Pc,cbfonstrtictimi Stormwatcr Smndards Manusl

Fi ure 3. 7
N Q R T M

Y S STREET SECTIONS

Y Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Pagc 3- 12

569



CenCral l.athrop Spccific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment Chapter Thxcc: CircuLition and' 1' ransportation

Figure 3. 8- Street Sections

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

C,     
4 a t  

a

t

I, im tutl tdaetriul q d 7 Q 6b t. imicedlnduptrial

Opcm S ucc on Strcet B

SCrce trrca ai beouk>

in wntcr qnulity

t0'   4'   $'    6'     l2'      I''      1?     G 8'    S'   1tY

p h    Water A kc Travel  ' entrr' fut Tra e  Bi.  utar  ' W P4fP.

QuaHty Laoc Lana Lane Lanc Lane Qualicy
L5•  L. S'

R+W R,.

E L#GHT iNDUSTRiAL- 74' R W
N. T.S.

A rai wtion in sionxi.. utcr quniiip irW unenc can bz a+ licd per Sccnai LS of thc
hiulli-. 9gency Post- Consiruc ion S ormwatcr Staixlsrds Afanual

d
4• a A A b

da Q4 oJf  yo
b

LI J

H+ Euat

Lianited Industrlal
sarer recs at hreaks

Limiied Intluatrial

m uoirr qiwFny

Q'   S'    R'    6'     I Z'      1'_'     I Z'    6'    K'    S'   U]'

LJS Sr   Y=ucr iike  ' imvel    ' furn Travel t3ika «` a« S`' PL G

Bul7ct Q Y Lanc Lntte Lane Lnnc L<'nx ualiry

L`S'  LSR

31' Utilily Cbrridur

It4'

R'\ 4'       Rr1V

E( X P. L

IGHT 1NDUSTRIAL- 84' ROW
Tti

A reduction in xronn wuter qualitV' irevtment ca t be applied r Sea: tiun LS oftha
Multi- A ency P ast- C` onsiruciiviz Stormwuter Sinntturda Manual

Figure 3. 8
NOATM

N. T. S       STREET SECTIONS

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

A ,,- t,-: -..

A;`<.

Page 3- 13

570



Central Lathrop Spccific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter Thrce: Circulation and' 1' zansportation

Figure 3. 9- Street Sections

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

tl
4 a

d

yb 4° c?   6°°`
y°  u h

Limited( ndutitr(ai

Sbcpe treen at hrcakc

n nvvcr qualiry

r 8'    6'     12'      t 2'     3 2'    4'    S'    S'   i U'

N'e' ike Tr.jvcl Twta Tn vel Bike ' S' k PUG

puakit' Gvie Lsiw Laac La n La ie Qtrdlitq
3cLS LS

R; W
by

R.ryY

Ni Utilitica

nI,.TGEiT 1NDUSTRI L- 69' ROW
V

N. T.S.

Figure 3. 9
N O p T N

STREET SECTIONSN.T.S.

Central Lathrap Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

A; r,.

I' agc 3- 74

571



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter Thcee:(: irculation and T' xansportatioc

Utility Corridors Bicycle and Pedestrian Network

As shown on the CLSP- 2 rlmendment Roadway The CLSP- 2 mendment Plan r rea provides a
Vehicular Circulation Network and street comprehensive and extensive sy stem of

sections, many of the streets within the CLSP- 2 integrated bicycle and pedestrian paths and
Amendment Plan Area include utility corridors sidewalks.  This system connects residential

within the public right- of-way.  The purpose of neighborhoods, public facilities,  open spaces,
utility- corridors is to provide a location for the and commercial areas w-ith the limited industrial

installation of joint trench utilities ( power, gas,  use. Major elements of this network include both

telephone,  cable T.V.  and other sunilar dry off-street and on- street facilities. Refer to Figure

urilities).   3. 10 foY the Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation

Plan. Improvements such as dri- eways shall be

The mainline joint trench  vill be installed designed to maintain a safe environment for

beneath the mulu- use path or sidewalk.' I'he area pedestrians and birycles and to avoid conflicts wid
between the curb and the multi- use path/  truck traffic.

sidewalk is envisioned to be used for the

placement of underground vaults and structures I'he off-street facilities include eight- foot- wide

such as splice boxes, transformers and other paved multi- use paths located adjacent to
sunilar equipment.   In instances where these arterials and some of the collector roadway s. A
structures cannot be constructed underground,  multi- use trail adjacent to the San Joaquin River
thc portion of the utility corridor located behind levee if approved by the Cit- of Lathrop and
the multi-use path/ side vall to the right of way Reclamation District-   17.   Other off-street

line is envisioned to be used for above ground facilities include dedicated sidewalks.

cabinets, where they can be placed away from the
travel waj- and vhere landscaping can be used for
visual screening.  If there is not adequate space

for above ground cabinets in the utility corridor
behind the multi-use trail/ sidewalk, then a public
utility easement may be added for this purpose.

Utilities that are typically owned and maintained

by the City ( such as sewer, water, recycled water
and drainage s stems) are intended to be placed
undcr the paved roadwa sections. F owever, in

some instances, Che City Engineer may appxove

the use of utility corridors for the placement of
these utilities. This situation might occur if there

is not adequate room to meet separation

requirements between the utilities within the

paved section.  It may- also occur if phasing of
construction requires early placement of

pipelines ( before road vay improvements) and
the risk of subsequent damage to the pipeline
during road construction justifies.

Yagc 3- 15

572



Central I,athtop Specific I' lan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter' I'hme: Circularion and' 1' ransportation

Figure 3. 10- Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation Plan

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

3 r        ':,,

s r,      
w       

y ar
a i i         

v
3

y fV6Fa,,.. k."    {') /, 1 l„p t
y

r, M., ,  , ,   

y  Y
i, iN"       

e.   
7'   ',

2

xiw§.

STREET A
rr rurirr+r r rr. w w r w s w s#       -'",,

q  b

a W U
r

w

a u'       y ;.
Z       x

i    `
n

I N Z r

DE LIMA RQAD        '

STREET D

1,
I      

Qc.
y,     , y,:       '      

os REis a;a  v
i JrWr r1 IfO PI ar ii wiY r s w w

lI f"  .  

CONNECT TO EXISTING—

60LD N VAIIEY PARKWAY

GONNECT T4 EXISTING

STANFORR GROS3ING       SPARTAIV WAY LATHRt? P ROAD
y°,      -;`!`.,,           s,

c    v
1' 

Q q    

2G` a
d s

s    t3
a   r  

Y

A , ,
w,    

r'

L6GEYD

E i/! vtulti- UseTrailwithinPark' Openspacc

Multi- Use Pat6 w ithin Public Right-0f=N+uy( No f3ikc Lmw)

N Mu(ti- Use Pat6 und Bikc C. anc

Sidewalk sm! Bike Lazie

CLSP- 2 Amrndmnit Plan Arca Eiuundary

0 ' p
Wes

Pau1      C  

ParrrOpenspace
O San Joaquin River

Suect B

Meemk, nng 12' ulti- urc" Praik
along Ipp oF s4c gc benn

u. Ti- usF rx,au.. oc,aTron
Figure 3. 10N. T.S.

N O F7 T N

PEDESTRIAN AND BIKE
y T s.   CIRCULATIQN PLAN

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
51"""`

Lathrop, Ca

Page 3- 16

573



Central], athzop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment Chaptcr Three: Ciccularion and" 1' ransportation

Figure 3. 11- Proposed Truck Route Plan

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFiC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
n{   '"{ "

yq .   ..     F+ vah.
J   . '  

a.

s "       7

f tLSP-2AlUlENEkM6NT

PLAN AREA i 1 eo1K Raav    rs 

INT6ACHAtX3E   ,` sX
a

z 

J   

O   
4   

t      " y 2r '

q  
dE LIMA ROAD      c  .

END TRUCK AOUTE

2 AT OQS AE25 NOAD t
EHD S1AA RE7171

o,    DQS REIS ROAd
1

nr oos e ts a0ab
F i     

r r/ irr rr , f   '.     .

pG M4 TRUCK ACGESS ON DOS REIS^—'—""'  tl     ELI1dIPtATE TRUGK ROUTE

NQAD OR C,d1. DEM YALLEY PKWY
i

p

G
l' 

a :      , SPARTAN  ATHROP ROAtI
WAY a r p

s+    

u z r

as2 Q 3.            N       

r,

s    
p     

s  

x       a,

a'  

w  ,'  
CY       

k c/f g '.  ,,'  r
s    , jhn^ f ik

y z i a    .

b . '.,' w"  , R

v   

ri   m''   
m   

7     
y, g

3, w

R

t R i E', k r,A    
w    o  >    

3a
y, R F h tiF X  

u
sy.    ,,   ,

A

m a Nrw.ws M s'+ rrarrrra wrfr rrrYirr^' s lrwrwirrea s.

RIVER ISCAN} S PKWY        ,  LOUISEAVENUE

n  $ „

s,       1 s       1        ,     w,       f 4"
q       .                 

k  1 .
v ma     

rt   

y y1'   
1 k44 X T        { jg    ' J   v^"
4°'

h

G,
k  ' N `"       

v.. rz,     a
4• i',  

9
g.  ,       F   .

LEtiENp

Propc s d Truck Rome

sr. rnr ExiatingTnrckRoutc

Proposad ST. 4A Route

w r F.acistingSl" AARoutc

C[. SP• 2 Am47idmcN Plun Arca Figure 3. 11
N O N T N

pR4P0 SED TRUCK ROUTE PLANN.T. S.

a Y s Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

a. 

Page 3- 17

574



Central], athrop Speciflc Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Four: Natural Resources i lanagement

Chapter Four: Natural Resources Management

Intt'oductioti vegetation and habitat will be preserved and
protected, except as determined by RD- 17 for

This chapter addresses the natural resource
levee safety or maintenance reasons.  Public

opportuniues of the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan
access to and along the top of the levee may be

Area and ho v they are integrated and managed
provided if approved by the City of Lathrop and

for their preservation and benefit of the

17, affording the community views of the
community. Additionally>, this chapter identifies

river and its environs, as well as greater views of
and discusses how other facilities may be

the valley.
integrated into the CLSP- 2 to provide for the
pro Tision of ne v natural resource systems. 3 linear park also provides open space area

within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area. The

Open Space and Parks
lineal park offers opportunities for passive

The CLSP-? Amendment makes estensive use of activities and contributes to vards community

dedicated open space to create an integrated and identity. The park espands upon Dos Reis Park.

interconnected resource management system.

The preservation and management of existing
Kefer to Chapter Five: Community Services and

natural resources within and adjacent to the
Facilities for more information on parks.

CLSP Plan Area and the establishment of new

illiamsonActLands

natural resource systems are a principal feature of
the CLSP- 2. Open space can be both privately No parcels within CLSP- 2 are under Y/illiamson
owned and maintained or publicly o vned and rlct contracts. Parcels that were previously under
maintained.   The Open Space and Parks contract at the time the 200 CLSP was prepared
proposed as a part of this specific plan are filed Notices of Non- Renewal and are no longer

continuation of the efforts begun with the under the contracts.

original CLSP to expand open space and park
s stems within Ciry limits.     Rtght to Fatm

Open Space features include the San Joaquin The City of I..athrop has adopted an Agricultural

River and those areas associated with the levee-  
Land Preservation Ordinance, also known as a

its side slopes, its top, and the area within close
right to farm"  ordinance,  to protect the

pro: imiry of the outer( land side) levee toe; open
acti ities,  operations,  and facilities associated

space corridors that may contain linear detention with agricultural production from encroaching
basins;  and other areas where either natural urban uses and conflict. The CLSP EIR identiFies

resources or community design warrants an open
ation to alleviate potential impacts of

space use.  Open space areas are typically
development within the CLSP- 2 l mendment

characterized bv the inclusion of internal trail
Plan rlrea upon functioning agricultural

systems.   
activities.  I itigation is comprised of setback

buffers between development and farming
With the establishment of the linear open space

activities.

corridor along the river,  sensitive riparian

Yagc 4- 1

575



Central]. athiop Specific Plan— Phase 2 lmendment Chapter F our: Natural Resoucces blanagemcnt

To reduce potential public pressure to restrict clumps of shrubs have been observed. Based on

agricultural operations that future residents may the presence of blue elderberry shrubs, valley
consider a nuisance, the City requires that a elderberry longhorn beetle could occur in the
disclosure statement be provided to new CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area.

homebuyers notify ing them of preexisting
agricultural land uses within the surrounding

Several special status raptor species are expected

area. to occur in the CLSP- 2 area,   including
Swainson' s hawk, white- tailed kite, and northern

Biologieal Resources harrier.   Agricultural fields provide suitable
foraging habitats for all of these special- status

The CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area is comprised
raptors and the oak and riparian forest

mosdy of intensively managed and irrigated
communities provide nesting opportunities for

agricultural fields with a few large lot
tree nesting species.

homesteads. l s a result, natural habitats within

the CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan Area are restricted Riparian brush Yabbits have been located in the

to narro v patches of riparian vegetation along CLSP- 2 l mendment Plan Area.    lthough

the San Joaquin River, marsh vegetation in some riparian brush rabbits occur in the CLSP- 2

agricultural ditches, and scattered indicidual or mendment Plan rlrea, the small patches of
small clumps of valley oak trees.      

suitable habitat are unlikely to support a long-

term viable popularion of the species.
The CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area vegetation is

dominated by cropland and other developed or The predominance of agricultural lands limits the
previously disturbed habitats. 1 relatively small overall wildlife habitat value of the CI, SP- 2

amount of native egetation occurs along the San Amendment Plan r tea and supports a relarively
Joaquin River, vhich borders the western edge of low diversit of wildlife species. Ho vever, some

the CLSP- 2 area,  and within several of the
species heavily utilize agricultural fields. Alfalfa

drainage ditches that traverse the area.  fields in the CI, SP- 2 mendment Plan Axea are

Vegetation types present in the CLSP- 2 eapected to support small mammals, such as

mendment Plan Area are classified according to
Botta' s pocket gopher, vestern harvest mouse,

the categories designated in the SJl 1SCP. The and California meadow  ole.   These small

CLSP FIR describes these categories. Present mammals are prey for a variery of raptor species
vegetation categories are cropland,  Ereshwater known to occur in the CLSP- 2 area, including
emergent wetland,  Great Valley cottonwood American kestrel, northern harrier, red-- tailed

riparian forest, Great Valley- oak riparian forest,  
hawk, and Swainson' s hawk. r variety of other

Great Vallcy riparian scrub, ruderal, and park/  birds were observed or are etpected to forage in

residential. CI,SP- 2  mendment Plan r rea agricultural

fields, including vestern kingbird, barn swallo v,
Some habitat types in the CLSP- 2 area could be

vestern meado vlark, and Bre ver' s blackbird.

considered sensitive by regulatory agencies.
These include freshwater emergent wetland,  Ornamental vegetation and landscaping
Great `' alle- cottonwood riparian forest, and associated with developed areas, such as rural

Great ValleS riparian scrub.   residences and the County park, also suppoYt a
relati- ely lo v wildlife diversity-.  These areas are

Valley elderberry longhorn beetles require blue
pically utilized by species adapted to highly

elderberry shrubs for reproduction and sun ival.  
sturbed and altered environments,  such as

Although focused surveys for elderberry shrubs

house sparrow,  house finch,  raccoon,  and

opossum.

have not been conducted, isolated shrubs and

Yagc 1- 2

576



Centrall. athrop Specific Plan— 1' hase 2 Amendment Chaptec F our: Natucal Resources blan gement

Y ildlife diversity in agricultural ditches is limited economy, and allow development vithin the
due to the regular disturbance of the ditches for Counry. With the adoption of the SJMSCP, U. S.
clearing and maintenance and the absence of Fish and `' ildlife Service and the California

natural vegetation in uplands adjacent to the Department of Fish and Game ( now kno vn as

ditches ( e. g., agricultural lands). However, d1e the Department of Fish  &  x' ildlife)  issued

marsh vegetation in the ditches may support incidental take permits  ( ITPs).    The IZZ' s

species ty pical of this plant community such as authorized the incidental take of federa113 listed
marsh wren, song sparrow, and Pacific tree frog.  and state- listed threatened and endangered

Riparian vegetation and oak trees provide nesring species and their habitats for a peYiod of 50 years
habitat for a much wider variet of bird species in exchange for participating project applicants
and also provide potential nest sites for raptors.   paying mitigation Eees.  Fees are based on the

amount and rype of land converted from
The CLSP EIR contains a detailed descriprion of agricultural or open space uses to urban uses.

sensitive habitats and vildlife, potential impacts
and mitigation measures to alleviate development Ninety- se ren species are covered by the

effects upon these resources.  SJMSCP,   which is intended to provide

comprehensive mitigation pursuant to local,
CLSP- 2 Plan Amendment designates some state, and federal regulations for impacts on these

natural habitats as Open Space within the CLSP-  species from SJMSCP- permitted activities.
2  . mendment Plan Area to assure their

preservation. These habitats are located primarily Focused surveys for special- status species were

along the San Joaquin River and  vill be not conducted for this project. Reconnaissance
integrated into the CLSP levee open space areas,  level surve}' s were conducted that included a

river areas, and adjacent linear community park.  habitat evaluation for all potentially occurring
The preservation of the levee open space special- status species.  Development of the

corridor and parallel linear community park CLSP- 2 mendment Plan rea is covered under

forms and continues a strong framework of the SJI ZSCP,   with comprehensive habitat

continuous open space within and beyond the evaluations and focused survey s, when necessary,
CLSP- 2 area,   maintains an interconnected to be conducted for covered special- status

habitat system that allows for the connectiviry of species in accordance vith the SJMSCP prior to
plant and vildlife communities, and support daily ground disturbance.
vildlife needs, while permitting limited public

access to these areas. Public access along die Impacts to fishery- and wetland resources that

potential levee top txail will permit scenic views ght occur in the CLSP- 2 tlmendment Plan

from and access along the levee and to certain Area that are not coveYed under the SJMSCP

open space areas,  this will protect sensitive program must be permitted separately.  Such
habitats and vildlife from effects associated with permits may include authorizaaon of dredge or
human interaction.      fill of wetlands under Secrion 404 of the Clean

Water Act and Incidental Take uthorization

Habitat Conservation Plarl under Section 7 or Section 10 of the federal

Endangered Species r1ct.

The City of Lathxop adopted the San Joaquin
Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Historic and Cultural Resources

Space Plan ( SJMSCP) on January 16, 2001, and
signed the implementation agreement.   The Based on a series of archaeological and historical

SJMSCP provides a process for plan participants resource sur- ey s and records searches performed
to offset impacts to biological resources,  for the project, no archaeological sites have been
conserve open space, maintain the agricultural idenrified within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

Pagc 4- 3

577



CenCral I. azhrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter F our: Naturai Resources i fanagcmcnt

Area,  nor would construction of the project
affect any known prehistoric archaeological site.

The CLSP EIR provides mitigation and direction
for further analysis of project related impacts on
historical and cultural resources, as needed, and

on how to proceed if any previously*

undiscovered or sub- surface archaeological

artifacts or historical sites are discovered in the

Plan Area. Refer to the CLSP EIR for additional

information.

Pa}; c 4-- 1

578



Central l,athrop Speciflc Plan— Ph se 2,\ meudmcnt Chaptcr 1 ivc CommLmity Serviccs and f acilities

Chapter Five: Community Services and Facilities

Itttt'oductiott Open Space, I.evee and River areas provide
significant recreational,  risual and aesthetic

A wide array- of public services and facilities are

amenity  to the CI,SP- 2. These areas offer a
required to address the recreational,  

ariety of functions and elements incluciing
governmental, and emergency response needs of

passive recreation,  scenic corridors,  resource

the CLSP- 2 rlmendment 1' lan t rea.   These
preser- ation, interpretive signage and informal

services and facilities include parks; police, fire,  
recreation activities  ( i.e.  picnic tables).   In

and animal control services; civic Eacilities; and
addition, the open space and levee corridor will

solid waste services. As the CI. SP- 2 Amendment
prove the interface between urban and natural

Plan area develops,   the City and other

reas and define the City' s edge.
responsible agencies will review the plans to
ensure that adequate public facilities and The CLSP- 2 Amendment open space and
improvements are provided in a timely manner.   recreational areas consist of the levee and San

Joaquin River that border the entire vest side of
Parks and Recreation

the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan rlrea.  ' The river

Recreation is a key component in the lifesty-le of provides several different recrearional

people residing in any community environment.  
opportunities for the community,  including

Recreation facilities and parks, in their active and fishing, bird vatching, scenic views, camping and

passi- e forms,   are an important asset oating launch facilities at Dos Reis Regional

contribuung to the stability, attractiveness, and Park.  A regional gravel multi-use trail may be

quality- of life of a community.  The City of
located within the open space adjacent to the

Lathrop does not have adopted park/ open space levee if appro red b5r the City of Lathrop and RD-

dedication or fee requirements for non-  17. The accessibility to the regional trail system,

residential de elopment. Such requirements are
if approved,  and the San Joaquin River vill

associated with residendal uses which create the be direct and easy, vith wall ing paths and bicycle

primary demand for, and beneflt from proximity
trails e tending to the north and south project

to,    recreational facilities.    ' I'he CLSP- 2
boundaries.

Amendment designates an open space corridor

along the San Joaquin River le ee frontage. " I"he
CLSP-2 Open Space Interface

open space provides opportuniues to create an l near Com unity Park, Opera Space, Levee arrd
interconnected trail system fYom the CI, SP- 2 area 1] eidhGor{ ood Interfae• e

to the Phase 1 Central Lathrop Specific Plan area,
the West Lathrop Specific Plan area, and the The interEace between the linear community
South I.,athrop Specific Plan area.    park, open space and levee areas and adjacent

development presents opportuniries within the
The general location of CLSP- 2 Amendment CLSP-? mendment Plan 1 rea. Multiple edge

parks, open space, and trails are included on treatments are required to maYimize the

Figure 5. 1. opportunities therein.  Access along the open
space/ levee frontage shall be provided as

CLSP-2 Open Space required by RD- 17 and the City of Lathrop.

Pagc 5- 1

579



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Yhasc 2 Amendment Chapter F ive: Communiry Services and 1 2cilities

here appropriate,  the interface should be The City of Lathrop will provide anitnal services
designed to allow residents to enjoy and to the CLSP- 2 Plan  rea.  r nvnal Services

appreciate the adjacent trails, park facilities, and Officers protect the health and safety of humans
open space areas,  while providing a safe and animals and are responsible for enforcing
environment.     local and state laws regarding animals and their

humane treatment. Services include, but are not

Dos Reis RegionalPark Interface limited to, patrol, stray/ abandoned animal pick-

The Count operates and maintains Dos Reis
up, aggressive animal impounds, injured animal
pick-up,    humane investigations,    nuisance

I ark, an esisting park within the CLSP- 2 Area.
Dos Reis Regional Park provides for boat access

vestigations,    wild animal complaints/

to the San Joaquin River as well as camping and Pounds,  licensing,  dead animal impounds,

recreational opportunities for those from out of
adoption, and education.

town. The Central Lathrop Park Master Plan
New CLSP- 2 r mendment development will be

design integrates with and thereby enhances the
required to pa5  the City' s Capital Facility

existing Dos Reis Regional Park. The interFace of
Development Fee to offset capital faciliry costs

the Dos Reis Park with the community park vill
1ssociated with animal services.  In addition,

benefit both park systems and their users. Dos
development will be required to pay its pro rata

Reis Park will continue to be accessed via Dos
share of start-up and ongoing costs.

Reis Road. No additional boat parking facilities
will be provided as part of this Project. The

Fire andEmergency Services
interface bet veen Dos Reis Park and the future

adjacent limited industrial parcel shall include a The CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area is within the

masonry wall. See Chapter 7 Design Guidelines service area of the Lathrop- Manteca Fire

for more information.  Protection DisCrict ( L1 iFD). The District has

mulriple Fire stations, three of which are located

Police arldArlimal Coritrol Services vithin rhe Ciry of Lathrop. Station 34, located
near the intersection of River Islands Parkwa}• s

Z'he City of Lathrop operates its own police and Golden Valley Parkway, will initially be the
department for police protection services. The

First responder to serve the CLSP- 2 area.  In

Cin of Lathrop Police Department is located at

addition, Station 31, located on I:ast J Street in
940 River Islands Parkwa  within Lathrop, Lathrop, and Station 35, on Somerston near
approsimately- t o and a half miles south of the

ver Islands, vill both also provide service to
Plan  rea.  The Lathrop Police Department

the CLSP- 2 area.

provides services such as emergency law
enforcement, routine patrol, traffic enforcement,  

rhe LI' IFD maintains delivery standards for the
a Crime Stoppers program,  and a Crime

pYovision of emergency services that adhere to
Prevention program. The Police Department has

the National Fire Protection   ssociations

35 sworn officers and 12 non- sworn professional national standards and outlined in the I.I fFD

personnel. 3nnual Report.

New development in the CLSP- 2 r mendment Development in the CLSP- 2 I mendment Plan

Plan Area will be required to pay the City' s

Rrea will pay applicable fire sernice fees and
Capital Facility Development Fee to offset assessments required to fund its fair share of

capital facility costs associated with police L1 1FD facilities and services. In addirion, all

protection.  In addition,  development vill be development is required to conform to the

required to pay its pro rata share of start- up and
California Fire Code, the City' s Fire Sprinkler

ongoing costs.

Y1gc 5- 2

580



Central l.athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter l ive: Community 5ervices and I acilities

Ordinance,  fire flo v standards,  and other

applicable requirements.

Solid Waste

Republic Services is the franchise vaste hauler

for residential and non- residential uses.  The

County of San Joaquin provides solid waste
disposal facilities, including transfer stations and
landfills. The City utilizes designated carts for the
storage and collection of garbage, green ( yard)
vaste,  and paper,   plastic,  can,  and botde

recycling.  ' I'o reduce solid waste collecuon,

builders, as mandated by AB 939, are required to
implement and utilize construction debris

recycling programs.

I' age 5- 3

581



Central Latkirop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Utilities and llrain gc Infr structure

Chapter Six: Utilities and Drainage Infrastructure

InttoduCtiott demands  ( including those of the Plan rlrea)
compared to available water supplies to ensure

There is a very limited amount of infrastructure
that adequate water is, or will be, available to

currently serving e risting development within
accommodate the CLSP- 2 Amendment The

the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area. In order to
studies conclude that with the combined

accommodate the proposed development,  
groundwater and SCSWSP surface water sources

numerous onsite and offsite inErastructure
adequate water supplies would be available to

improvements will be needed.  This chapter
serve the CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan rea.

describes the major infrastructure improvements

needed to serve the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Table 6. 1 identifies Plan Area water demand for

Area. Other infrastructure elements are discussed the CLSP- 2 Amendment.  The availability of
in other chapters of this Specific Plan as follows:  potable vater is a primary factor regulating the

level of development in the CLSP- 2 Amendment
Circulation and Transportation ( roads, bike

Plan Area.

paths, and trails) - Chapter T'hree

In addition to the potable supply, the CLSP- 2
Lmergency Services  ( fire and police)  -  l mendment makes ma: imum use of rec}' cled

Chapter Five vater ( treated vaste vater) for the irrigation of

public rights of va5- and open space. F urther, the
Potable Water

potential esists for the irrigation of private open

S1 py space areas and other landscaping with the use of
recycled water to the estent allowed by the City

The City will suppl potable water to Yhe CLSP-  of Lathrop' s ' aste Discharge Permit issued by
2 rlmendment Plan Area.   The CLSP- 2 the RWQCB.

rlmendment Develo ers vill fund the provision
of water service. The City will provide potable Treatment

groundwater from the City' s eYisting vell field
and potable surface water from Phase 1 and/ or 1'reatment of water supply occurs, as necessary,

the Phase 2 eYpansion of the South County-  
to meet federal, state, and local standards. The

Sutface later Supply Program( SCSa' SP) bj the SCSWSP suxface water supply is treated at a

South San Joaquin Irrigation District ( SSJID).     
centralized facility located outside the Cit of

I,athrop, with Lathrop' s ground vater treated at

The City has prepared a citytivide 2020 Urban the wellhead. As a result, there is not a need for

ater Management Plan ( UWI 1I'). The Plan potable vater treatment facilities within the Plan

reflects the City' s existing and future water
rea.

Pa; c 6- 1

582



entral]. athrop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Utilities and Drainagc Tnfrastructure

Table 6. 1: E.rtimated lYlater Demand

Demand
Demand

Designation Land Use Area( acres) Factor
d

gpd/ ac)

LI- CL Limited Industrial 618. 2 926 572, 453

OS- CL Open Space 293 0

P- CL Park 11. 2 0

Major Road Right- of-Way 65. 3 0

Total 72. 0 572, 453

Storage an l Pressarre area, and this site can accommodate a second

tank to serve development of the CLSP- 2
Potable water storage and distribution will be

mendment. Booster pump modifications may
provided to the CI. SP- 2 rlmendment Plan Area

be required. The exact location of the vater tank
by extending the City' s existing pipe network into

11 be determined when more detailed
the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area generally development proposals are submitted. The first
consistent with the City Master Urility Plan.  

project to develop within the CLSP- 2

Project proponents in the CLSP- 2 Amendment
mendment Plan r,rea will be responsible for

will construct and/ or contribute fees toward its
preparing the water study= to determine the size,

proportional share of water storage as specified
location, and construction timing of the water

in the City Master Utility Plan. tank.

The City' s 2020 tTrban` ater Management Plan
potaGle l" aterPtpeNetavork

identifies three components of water storage

including emergency,  fire and equalization.  I"he Cit- currently serves properties along Dos
Fmergency storage is intended to provide water Reis, De Lima and a portion of Manthey Roads
supply in the e ent there is a problem with the with potable water via old pipes.  It is possible
typical daily supply.  Emergency supply can that some, if not all, of these existing pipes may
consist of " emergenry only" vells and/ or tank need to be replaced to accommodate pipe and
storage. Fire storage is intended to provide` vater street unprovements associated with

supply to fight fires and must be accommodated development oF the CLSP- 2 rlmendment.

by tank storage. Equalization storage is intended
to help dampen out the impact of daily Each of the majox roadways in the Plan rea

fluctuations in demand and must be includes a water main as sho vn on Figure 6. 1.

accommodated by tank storage. The timing and These proposed mains form a looped

size of the waCer storage tank and booster pump
infrastructure vateY system into which individual

will be determined with future planning efforts industrial and commercial parcels in the CLSP- 2
such as during tentative map and/ or site plan r nendment Plan Area and will subsequendy be
revie v processing.   The water tank could connected. It is estimated that the water mains

potentially be located anywhere within the CLSP-  will be 12" diameter pipes. The esact size of the
1 or CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area. f1 1. 6-  mains vill be determined through a water model

million- gallon water tank and booster pump analy sis that considers the rest of the City' s vater
station was construcCed within the CLSP Phase 1 system and pressures necessary to meet ftre flow

Yagc 6-

583



Central Lathcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 lmendment Chapter Six:[ itiliries and Drainage Infrastructure

requirements. The water model will be prepared
vith future planning efforts such as during
tentative map and/ or site plan review processing.

P gc 6- 3

584



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptcr Six: Utilities and llraina; e Infrastructure

Figure 6. 1- Potable Water Pipe Network

CENTRAL LATNROP 5PECTFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
w

F;    

a ,   

x 

s
4    

1' is" j yv      '
N" x h,u «  ti

c    i       n
u  

t/ r g,'`    
t

a"'   

L' "`  

i„. k r x "',.t fi

9+      w., F'"       4
w

0

t
ds ,:       .   ,  „ a., a'$ L Ai, ,"%

Y, '!,,  

k  r

JTREET/       
r a.       . n a/      .  

d

r

a.

p A-    
rri m tc

rlr

W f1 Z'#

g      
D€ UMA ROAD

ile Rtt 1F1 14P      . t MYYXIi lr1 4 lt1  .     r 9. n
Wg

5ST EEFO  ,«     
a,

k

Q

a

z",? s

DO5 REIS ROAD  

w 4q
h

9 y s
R  ,     `,. er''

ar+       a ,  y

w 4r a
v     

a     a Z,
r,       • wy

3    - 
s   1RM MMYlM9C# Rh1{ y4

9-

Q -,.   
WAY     

r   '<

t,.;

s„   
x         

POTEN7IAC,, CtSP PNASE 2 x

7dATER TANK SITE a s° '            

EXISTING 1. 6 MILLI( FN 9 x

GALL4H WATER TANK s    

Y         ,        

a* y     
H

a.,,,    

LLG[ ND

Praposeel Disvibution Pipe

ExistingllisvibutianPipe

CLSP: Amendmant Plan Area Bauadazy

Fi ure 6. 1.
7VDA T M

T S PQTABLE WATER PIPE NET WORK

a Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Yage 6- 4

585



Central Lathcop Speciflc Plan— I'hase 2 Amendment hapter Six: Utilities and Drainage Tnfrastructurc

Wastewater Once cumulative wastewater generation from
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phases 1  & 2

When the City adopted the CLSP in 2004, a
eaceeds 400, 000 gpd,   offsite force main

public sewer system did not e ist in the CLSP
provements are required to increase the

Plan r rea. Existing rural residences and other

overall capacity of the system. To achieve the
developments disposed of their wastewater

increased capacity for the vaste vater system
though private septic systems and/ or leech

thin the CLSP Plan l rea the follo ving
fields.  However,  a public sewer system ` vas

provements are needed:
installed with the CLSP Phase 1 development

that was oversized for the CLSP Phase 2 Plan
djust the pump flo v control

Area. New pipes and a new pump station will be
restrictions as required at the esisting

required within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 1

Area that   vill connect to the e sting
pump station.       

infrastructure within Phase 1.    CLSP-?

l mendment Developers will fund or construct
Disconnect the Central I,athrop Specific

the new infrastructure through the payment of Plan to 1 Iossdale intertie and construct a
development impact fees.

manifold connecting the Central

Lathrop Specific Plan 14" and 18" force
E.ctimated lY asteavater Generation

mains to the River Islands 12" and 18"

The estimated vastewater generation from the force mains near the end of Harlan Road

CLSP- 2 Amendinent Plan Area is approxirnately at the I-5 crossing. Construct a ne v 20"
219, 461 gallons per day average dry weather flow force main from the Central Lathrop
AD`% F.  ' I'he City-  of Lathrop utilizes two Specific Plan/ River Islands manifold to

different demand factors for wastewater the Consolidated Treatment Facility

generation. Dry uses can assume a demand factor CTF manifold.

of 172 gpd/ ac and other uses can assume a
demand factor of 35 gpd/ ac. If the dr5 use

The offsite wastewater improvements are shown

demand is used for a particular development a
in Figure 6. 3.

deed restriction would need to be recorded. The

more conservative 355 gpd/ ac vas used to
Treatmerat

generate waste vater demands in order to sire the aste vater generated b development in the

infrastructure Table 6. 2 summarizing the CLSP- 21 mendment Plan rlrea will be tteated to

estimated vastewater generation.     meet Federal, State, and City standards before it
is disposed of.  As shown on Figure G2,

Collection Sy.ctem

vaste vater will be treated by existing capacity
The CLSP- 2 r mendment vould rely on a gravity 

and future espansions to the Consolidated

wastewater collection infrastructure system as Treatment Facility ( CTF.

shown on Figure 6. 2. Due to the Elat topography
of the area, a lift ot pump station will be needed The City has a river discharge permit that will

to convey wastewater to the esisring Central
allow for the disposal of recycled water to the San

Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 1 pump station. 
Joaquin Kiver. The City constructed the outfall in

From that pump station, force main systems

the Fall of 2022.

convey wastewater to the treatment plant.

Pagc 6- 5

586



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 lmendment Chapter Six: Urilirics and Drainage Infrastructure

Tuble 6.2: F..rtimated Seaver I emand

Demand
Demand

Designation Land Use Area ( acres) Factor
d

gpd/ ac)

LI- CL Limited Industrial 618. 2 355 219, 461

OS- CL Open Space 29. 3 0

P- CL Park 11. 2 0

Majot Road Right- of-Way 653 0

Total 724. 0 219, 461

Yagc 6- 6

587



Central Lathcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 r mendment Chapter Six: Utilities and llrainage Infrastructure

Figure 6.2- Wastewater Network

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAid PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
6   7 a , y;. 

r n                   

yy,rA e`  ,
u g  i,      +       

Q y   m

y

Y    k  

r  i''"     

P

v` 5  
t,,  

F      '     
c a -.

H '      
k

k` e'"
K f

y. w   k   

7 Z:       
a

c      . rm& , a d4e.,       ,     sn      n    f `

y

i       
d

0

r
d  3b I    „ vl,,, z ,'" 9  ; n.;i     , t.  T    .. .   

i ,,,,

a,.. '      F;..,
r .. , i;, 

fv     .   

STREE7 A
r r r r i. r rrrir r a,.  „_, ,.

v5

Oq 
m

i

Am
N     — mi ti a. n    

r'   

ti

DE LIMA ftOAD
9^

v      t

r',"    51`R EF D

p s„'_        ;

F      i'        5
w oas a is Roa, o

9

r,:.

w.;  #    F„ i

Ct ih( ECT TO EXISTING

EXISTING PUMP STATIpM

r

H

2,  s A rA s wA r

x  ' t    `
jX,,,    

k  r 4 r  % X' 4

y'   f 1 za     aR;

y
t    

s
IMr

a      G     .

y

c,',   

t              

n - j

r r t a    
r9

y       «   "    . a   > `  `

t a ffi-    i,a,.#'  „°.

LEGEND

Cieavity Pipe

i Forcemain to CTF

Ezistit g Gra iry Pipe

CLSP- 2 m:ndment Plan Area I#ouad

N D A T N
roPose+i LitC Station

Figure 6. 2

NT. s Y S, n nps t, n WASTEWATER NETWORK

Centrat Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

M

Yage 6- 7

588



m ndment Cha ter Six: Utiliries and Dcaina e InfrastructureCentral Lathcop Specific 1 lan— I hase..,  e p K

Figure 6.3- Offsite Wastewater Force Main Improvements

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

e   y   
y

bs + i riI"'' iw` ii r: i.REE.i. s w w}

m A l
01  

r       a s
ry*  G

pt DElIh1AR0AQ z
9 t'

G STREECp i
2

G+       t{',p (
DOS REIS RqAD

L w s. i w r f4 a     ..

CLSP PUMP S' sFTtq31 AD. tUSi
PUM1tP fLfYlt AS NEEtiED           SPAR7' AN WAY lA7HROP Rf) AD        ,  ',

k: W y.

y a        
s ST

4 Q' f  

r^      Fo pz          a.     Rp Qpa r`

4            S

hC

z

M,,* a.;

LOUISEAVEHUE .   ,         $'
a,," S

y D( BCOa1N€ CT CLSPil605SDALE

q
INTERTIE ( CL05E VALVE}      

y h'

2 4
4

rq ?«:*; d    ...

q

TpWNE CENTER       O    1      
l ya  z

i

DRIVE
r

p

dQ
o

1' `" 2

t     y'r

s      

GONSiAUCT iIAtJIF4lD     

CQMNECtI" iG ATYER AM9S

APfO G SP fOp NS       ',  CTF     '       ""    

y    '   

2,'.,," N  .  ,      i, i iN:/, H7.; \  

ffi+:  
w 5Y

Lece` n

@xi Lng CLSP Pcxcemain( lk"& td"

Existing tilossdalc Forccmain t8" @ IZ" 1

@xiating Riv Y TSlands fureemsin( P2"& 18"}

Fhv wc r1: U" Fasemain to CTF f Alignment T861

r 'LSP- 2 Amendmeni Plan Aresi Bound ry

Figure 6. 3

OFFSITE WASTEWATER
NONTM

N. T. S FORCE MAIN IMPRO EMENTS

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
cKa cics aux s wntyc« s

l.iittli' Op, d

a

Page 6- 8

589



Central I, athcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: UtIlities and llrainage lnfrastnicture

Reeyeled Water such as common open space areas and

landscaping around buildings.
The CLSP- 2 Amendment will maYimize reuse

opportunities for recycled water.  The term Criteria for management of the recycled water

recycled vater" refers to wastewater that has system and public education about it will be
been treated and disinfected to tertiary levels.  established in future reports   ( or other

ater treated to this level has been determined documents) and will be subject to City approval.
by governmental regulations to be acceptable for
human contact without cause for concern and is IZecycled ll' aterPipe Netavon

commonly used for irrigation.  The use of

recycled water is regulated by the Reg,ional Water n existing recycled water pipeline is located in

Quality Control Board  ( RWQCB)  and the Golden Valley Park ay and Stanford Crossing

Department of Health Services, vhich apply  
and will be the connection point for the Plan

stringent    vater quality,    treatment and
I rea. Each of the major roadways in the Plan

disinfection standards.  
r rea includes a recycled vater main as shown in

Figure 6. 4. These proposed mains form a looped
The use of recycled water for irrigation serves to infrastructure rec} cled water system into which

conserve potable  vater for other uses.  In public and potentially private landscaped areas

addition, in the event the potable water supply is can be connected.

limited at any time, such as a" dry yeaY" situation,
the use of recycled water ensures a supply foY

Due to the limited demand fox recycled vateY

landscaped areas and reduces the likelihood that Within the Plan Area,  the City* Lngineer can

potable vater vould be needed for this purpose.  
determine the need for recycled water

improvements with future development

I'he CLSP- 2 Amendment proposes to make applications. The pipe netivork illustrated on
recycled water available for public irrigation uses.  Figure 6. 4 is conceptual and subject to final

I1 is includes irrigation of landscaped areas review by d1e City Engineer when ptiiblic
vithin street rights- of-way and open space. In improvement plan are prepared.

addition, there may be potential for the use of
recycled water for private irrigation uses as well,

Yage 6- 9

590



Central l. athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 1mendment Chapter Six: Utilities and llraina; e Infrastructure

Figure 6.4- Recycled Water Pipe Network

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFiCd PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
a'' : 

k    '¢    d  W)   
i   , bi  ',

t;. a           y  Yy    7 ,,,

a%r'; "; ^    ,,,..' i /xi 4 w'"       
p$;, 

tr,' p     ,",
i..m 4

G
d3/

P - X qh          R
y

J
r.,j  0"

J       '      ztad t,. 1    ; s,      .

p

F','  q d yi      
a,    

tf
k

e/   . aw. a  
ff'   k

c,

v,
g      ",     a

a,       ^ '-  >,..

t.,,`'   r
i r,,,,,,       

m

s ,    ' 
a.

x

9 t4
w

STREET A
a.!'!

w,! i'!!s''!,
z lS.   .:    .     m, ._.  vl',«     R 

M J

a':
r          

i

s

i j  
DE L( MA RflAL7

E,.,   j        ,  A4-  ' 9+ rae eer ritAA wr ww r+ nessA   rex k& in wa; r e rwa-   s .

q      
a

ak t,.".  

STR: ET tr..     

G  
n        z>   „1'

G.         '  r s.

Qr      _      y'       "    

DO5 REI5 ROAD t       "'
6 li' Si' lCiiiSi` i'i ii{ i"YI' ik' ii i"/ii!{" i°'r'S' frr iii: ' s;

r  

4
ra a  

i       '.. 

f

n 
y

a

J  
ax

x
C      q"    a.

a PARTA    y s;
A,     WAY 6.  

r"'  
r       r t         ,

2,
n' v

Hl
k

M'"* S,°

p t l f    
w

T   +F     

y6„      ryV
sa          f.     N..4    

v     f;i
T 

x'

LEGENU

s..... r Disriihuticm Pipc

i,•,.• Exis-tin DistrihutionPipe

fCSP- 2 A mrtdment Plan Area Boundary

Figure 6.4

N O A T H RECYCLED WATER
v. TS

PIPE NETWORK
Y s Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment

Lathrop, Ca

Page 6- 10

591



Central] athrop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter Sv: Utiliries and Drainage Infrastructure

Flood Protection and Storm Water degree of design fle bility be incorporated into

Quality the drainage program. This flexibilit will allow
sufficient latitude for each new development

Backgroatnd within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan tlrea to

r n e sting levee along the San Joaquin River
design an internal system that meets its site-

protects the Plan r rea from flooding RD- 17 specific needs, so long as the design is consistent

operates and maintains the levee. The Federal
th the overall CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area

Emergency Management Agency ( FEI 7A) has
vrainage Plan.

categorized the Plan Area as being in Zone X as
shown on Flood Insurance Rate Map ( FIRl  

Existiyag Conditions a ad Constrairtt. c

panel numbers 06077C0605f and 06077C0610F.  The CLSP area is part of a larger vatershed
The Zone X definition relevant to the Plan rea known as " the Northern r rea" that includes

is " areas protected by levees from 1% annual areas both east and vest of Interstate 5.

chance flood".

The CLSP- 2 mendment Plan rea is about 20

Tlie RD- 17 levee system has been undergoing feet lower than the top of the adjacent San
seepage berm and/ or other improvement repair/ oaquin River levee. Therefore, runoff must be

upgrade projects to increase the resistance to pumped over/ through the levee.  1'o avoid

under- seepage and through- seepage in order adverse impact to the levees near the CLSP Plan

maintain compliance with applicable Federal, r rea, peak discharge is limited to 30% of the 100-

State, and local standards. A minimum 120 foot ear flow rate from the vatershed as stated in the

no- build" buffer along the levee as measured 2004 CLSP and CLSP FIR.  Therefore,  the

from the levee toe is provided within the CLSP-  CLSP- 2 Amendment incorporates on- site

2 mendment Plan Area to allow adequate space detenrion to store excess runoff during periods
for future improvements if/ when needed.  of peak storm acti ity.

RD- 17 has been working with the Department of Two storm drain outfalls to the San Joaquin
ater Resources ( D rR) and the Central Valley River esist within the CLSP Plan Area. One

Flood Protection Board ( CVFI' B) to eealuate outfall is located within the Phase 1 area and the

options for providing 200- y- ear protection for the other is located within the Phase 2 area. The

1 Zossdale Tract including the CLSP- 2 ouCfalls are sized to accommodate the

lmendment Plan :- 1rea. The 120' " no- build"  development of the CLSP- 2 mendment Plan

buffer within the CLSP-? mendment Plan rlrea Area.

provides sufFicient area to accommodate any

100- year improvements and any additional r1n e: isting storm cirain force main is located
incremental improvements to provide 200- year within Dos Reis Road and connects existing

protecrion in the future in conjunction with the development east of Interstate- 5 to tlie esisting
Mossdale Tract 200- year flood protection outfall located at the end of Dos Reis Road.

improvements to meet the urban level of flood

protection criteria.      hen the Cit- approved the 2004 CLSP, runoff

from the CI SP Plan Area was collected in a

Using design standards de elopedin cooperation system of shallow agricultural ditches, roadside

with the City, the CLSP drainage improvement ditches, and percolation basins vith some small
program vill provide for efficient discharge of private agricultural pumps that ciischarged vater
runoff from a 10- y ear storm event while also to the San Joaquin River. However, public storm
protecting the site from flooding during a 100-  drain infrastructure is now available that was

year storm event It is also desirable that a high built with Phase 1 of the CLSP. EYisting pipes

Pagc 6-] 1

592



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: UCilities 2nd Drainage Infrastructure

are located at the northern end of Golden Valley Y/atershed"  detention faciliues that

Park-way just south of Dos Reis Road and at the hold the runoff; and

northern end of Stanford Crossing.

r pump station and force main that
Shallow groundwater e sts throughout the

conveys water to an existing San Joaquin
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area and is influenced River outfall structure.

by both the water level in the river and sub-
surface flow from areas of higher elevation to the The CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan ilrea consists of

east, as vell as local irrigation practices. Even two major drainage sheds with underground

though the g,roundwater level may decline with a storage pipes to reduce the peak discharge from
reduction in farming activities, it is expected that the Plan Area to the San Joaquin River.
this high ground water condition vill generally atershed 4 is a part of both the Central Lathrop
persist after development,   impacting both Specific Plan Phase 1 and this Phase 2 Specific

construction and the future operation of the Plan Amendment.  The CLSP- 2 Amendment

storm drain system. Infiltration into the storm proposes to modifj- the boundary of the etiisting
pipcs through joints and underground structures atershed 4 to better align vith e sting property
can Yesult in escessive pumping demands boundaries.  See Figure 6. 5 for the eYisting
throughout the life of the project. This impact watersheds and Figure G. 6 for the proposed
will be reduced by proper installation of pipes vatersheds.

having rubber gasket sealed joints.
The modification to the watershed 4 boundary

F3igh groundwater levels can also impact the will require additional storage which can be

effectiveness of detention basins. To the eYtent accomplished with large diameter storin drain

that groundwater enters the basins, the storage
pipes.

available for the runoff is duninished. There are

no detention basins proposed,  ho vever if a In addiuon to the added storage, a ne v 39cfs

detention basin is proposed in- lieu of pump vill need to be added to the esisting Phase
underground storage, the bottom of the basin 1 storm drain pump station. The pump station is
vill be designed to maintain a minimum of two already- set up to accept the additional pump so
feet of separation from groundwater or other phy-sical pump station modifications are not
design measures vill be implemented such as ezpected.

impervious liners with sub drain systems.

The remainder of the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

The Storrye Collection System ea falls vithin / atershed 3. Large diameteY

storm drain pipes vill be utilized to provide the
Runoff from the CLSI'-? r mendment Plan rlrea

required underground storage. The underground
is designed to discharge to the river through an

pipe storage system locarion will be dispersed
esisting outfall located near the south vest corner

throughout the CI..SP- 2 Amendment Plan Area,
of the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area at the end

th individual developments responsible for a
of Dos Reis Road and the esisting outfall within

per acre proportional share of the overall storage
the Phase 1 area.  " I'he existing outfalls are

requirement. A ne v pump station and force main
regional facilities. As shown on Figure 6. 7, the

vill be constructed that will connect to an
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan 1rea will consist of a

esisting outfall structure. The existing outfall
system having the following three integtated

structzire will need to be retrofit to meet current
components.     

design standaYds.  The e isting headwall is
etpected to remain in-place, but the esisting

Gravity lines that collect and deliveY
pipes connecting to the headwall will need to

surface runoff;

Page G- 12

593



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptcr Six: Utiliries and lltainage Infrastn cture

removed and replaced near to the top of the 10 to 100- year Event-` hen the capacit of

levees to increase the elevation of the pipes. New the underground system is exceeded during
valves will also need to be added to the pipes as an intense storm event ( in escess of a ten-

required by the current design standards. The year event), water flows will be detained in
Storm drain- system illustrated in Figure 6. 7 is underground storage pipes, designed for the
conceptual and subject to change based on future 100- year storm event and distributed

planning and engineering efforts.  throughout the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

Area. This design method keeps the Elow

The proposed stormwater collection system depth underground, within acceptable limits

functions by discharging all runoff directly into i.e., one foot below floor elevations) and the

the river up to the point where the runoff rate threat of flooding posed to private property
exceeds the capacity of the pump station. Vhen is minixnized. 3n alternative design could be

the rate of runoff eYceeds the pump station to allow the streets to flood and provide
capacity, water " backs up" into the detention overland release by means of a descending
pipes until the runoff rate declines and once gradient directing surface flow towards a
again equals the capacity of the pump station.       proposed detention basin.  This type of

The  vater level in the storage pipes then design would require flow in the streets.

decreases, emptying completely.
10 to 100- year Event with Pump Discharge

Based on a preliminary design analysis the limited — The CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan

appro cimate volume of the underground storage Area storm drain system is also designed to

and masimum allowable discharge rates are provide flood protection in circumstances
summarized in Table 6. 3. Storage is based on the

Yequiring a reduction in flow rates of the
ma imum discharge Yate sho vn.   

system pumps that discharge into the San

Joaquin River.  The Central Valley F^ lood
T ble 6.3: Y atershed Detention Faczlitie. r ancl Paimp Protection Board and the Cit may limit river
Station Si e.r

discharge to pre- development levels

atershed l xitnum Total
whenever the river stage exceeds certain

Pumping Storage flood elevations. ' hen pump discharge is
Rate limited, the CI.,SP- 2 Amendment Plan rlrea

CFS       _ lcre- feet must be able to accommodate the volume of

3 176.7 1. 53 a 100- year, 24- hour storm without flooding
4 78. 6 1736 buildings.      Under these e treme

Total 255. 3 18. 89 circumstances,  the volume of water that

Floo l Proleilzon must be stored in thc Plan 11rea may- e: ceed
the capacity of the detention facilities and

t1 key element of the CI, SP- 2 Amendment Plan will be heldin the streets, parl ing lots and/ or
1rea storm drain system is its ability to handle other areas.

the runoff that occurs during a high intensity
storm. " I'he drainage system provides mulriple The CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan 11rea grading
layers of protection based on the severity of concept preserves the elevation of the streets
storm events:     within the watershed at appro imately the same

elevation as eYisting conditions. During a rare
10- year Event - The underground system is condition, when the San Joaquin River is high
designed vith capacity to accommodate the and the storm vater pumps must be reduced, the
drainage flows anticipated to occur as a result underground storage allo vs runoff to be spread

of a 10- year storm event.

Pagc 6- 13

594



entral], athrop Spccific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Utiliries and Drai age InErastructure

throughout the shed avoiding excessive depth of Inlet stenciling
inundation in any one area.

Street sweeping
The 2022 Lathrop General Plan amendment
changing residential uses to I,united Industrial Stormwater treatment must meet the criteria of

uses in the CLSP- 2 1lmendment Plan Area is the Multi-Agency Post Construction Stormwater
consistent  vith the floodplain management Standards Manual. Additional requirements may
strateg included in the San Joaquin Area Flood be imposed on some industrial and commercial

Control Agency ( SJAFCA) 200- year Fix- in- Place uses.

levee improvement project for the Mossdale
Tract.      It is anticipated that ne v public roads within the

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area will be treated

StormavaterQuality with roadside bioretention areas and storm vatet

quality for the individual developments vill be
i'he CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan Area drainage

treated onsite in bioretention areas, prior to
system will include features designed to ensure

discharging into the public storm drain system.
that the stormwater quality meets current water

Per Section 1. 5 of the Multi- Agency Post
quality standards in conformance with Phase II

Construction Stormwater Standards Manual
MS4 National Pollutant Discharge F_.limination

public roadway replacements and widenings
System ( NPDES) Yegularions. Because the site

allow for reductions and/ or exceptions in storm
discharges into the San Joaquin River, runoff

water qualit treatment requirements.
quality must also meet standards of d e

regulatory agencies.     
The storm water runoff on Dos Reis Road

between Stanford Crossing and Golden Valley
Runoff will be treated to the " maximum extent

Parkway is exempt from storm water quality
practicable" bp unplementing appropriate source

requirements per Section 1. 5 of the 1 7ulti- t gency
and treatment control Best Management

Post Construction Stormwater Standards I Tanual
Practices ( BI iPs). These practices may include,
but are not limited to:   

because the addition of traffic lanes results in an

alteration of 50° o or less of the eYisting Dos Reis

13ioretention
Road impereious area in this section of roadway
and the proposed 8' trail and bicy cle lane are

Infiltration basin graded to runoff to adjacent vegetated areas.

Similarly, the storm water runoff from Manthey
Underground water quality vaults ( i.e.,  

Road is e. empt from storm water quality
CDS vaults)    

Yequirements per Section 1. 5 of the 1 Zulti-tlgency
Post Construction Stormwater Standards Manual

Disconnected roof leaders  ( i.e.,  roof
because tlle addition of traffic lanes results in an

leaders connect to " bubble- up" inlets in
alteration of 50% or less of the existing Manthey

landscaped areas away from building Road impenTious area in this section of
foundations rather than to the stortn

rovement and the proposed S'  trail and
drain system)

bicycle lane are graded to runoff to adjacent

Swales
vegetated areas.

Section 1. 5 of the Multi- Agency Post
Do vnspout and/ or inlet filters

Construcuon Stormwater Standards l lanual also

allows for the reduction of storm water treatment
Porous Pavements

area required to treat runoff from Dos Reis Road

Yagc 6- 14

595



Central I,athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 iAmendment Chapter Six: Utiliries and llxaina; e Infrastraetuce

between Golden Valley Park vay and Manthey
Road because the addition of traffic lanes results

in an alteration of SO% or less of the eYisting Dos
Reis Road impervious area in this section of

roadway and the proposed 8' trail and bicycle
lane are graded to runoff to adjacent vegetated
areas.

It is likely other street replacements/ widenings in
the CLSP- 2 rlmendment Area will fall into these

reductions/ ezceptions categories in the future

reducing the required treatment areas for public
roadways as directed by the City.

Pagc 6- 15

596



Central]. athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Urilities and llrainage Infrastructure

Figure 6.S- Existing Watersheds

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECiFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

ie       "•`.  "`       

y   

d       . za, ,.    
7' v r i, 9r F y

y

u„, a  .    r.,, ti„ w,,  

a v a ', 
wo, i , r y r° , a,,;

t

a  
z `

y
r" 

d:t

r f i

1q i          ',. r.

fwv(
r s° ».  •.

3      s

a':,, en %

t:      

y/  
t'',"    

t     .  °" ; 

z.

r,$

9/
q  )    rY 4'.

4 Fi, 
r

t^  

F   '

h!'      mGN'/d/ 2,%/. va,  , 

yrp. , {     

M

k.,,/./... 

j-" rfbP

r r ww r* w rrr Ar s r, R, w w- MA 1Mfi it t w w w l 4. l     4+'c.  . y

1 O

rn m
f[\     k

n
Lf

a
DE LiMA ROAD

9   .      t

v9pG
2,    

STREET D

1     f'i,       '   ax.      ""
3 q' 

7'   

aas R es Roao     r             

t, a t} w s E' i- i .  

E 1     &  u,
y           t

S ,

4i     '   
as T

iyz '    i p     
s''`      

kt  ' ,*
F       . O s-- s c.:    

i   ,`    e      n   
SPARTRN WAY`;        

s  >

9' ,,;;" ;,  
i ,       ;      

y F 
r   "+ r'"` r

s     ; '^`

v

r,
x, 

a

4 , r.,'       

l

d
r"i _  /'      `

r,,     
y            h#

L-   
f             r  "    E`

r.si'      v 

LF;GEN[ 3

W`atc shcd Baundary Watcrshcd 4 falls within CLSP- I

OWatershed Num6er
CLSP- 2 Arr ndment Pl; ua Area

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Ama Boundary

Fi ure 6. 5
a A T~  

EXISTIN WATERSHEDSN. T. S.

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

Page 6- 16

597



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptet Six: Utiliries and Dcainage Infrastmcture

Figure 6. 6- Proposed Watersheds

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
E"    

t i       "  .       
j v  ti'   4 .

d
r."`  §       

r,

a 5x
k

y5`*r.      . n     ¢

a',

s   ";:, a.„,.' R.:-      v i.:%    ..  „ , , a,. n  1uxh. c, y',,,< , y,  .,.",

r% ","  .. ,   

x

Yv z i r' i s       r s i' s//,
u

y     
i

m

y .    ..
y;;,     w., Px,'; i" 5; Si,. x    ,

3,        3      s r , a

r ,   v
e.  : 4^, w v9' .      

2 Yr<' .     

r     $

q

q

j 1
v

y  
rs71 6

ri: t N r b3
39',°ffi v     

tk' 
r,e tir.<idsl

w s  ,  

STREET A 9 

w w a r we w w+ eaw r l s,' n.,

r
p:+

m rn

LD r'    

J z..

DE LlMA ROAR
s.    

E       r 
o",  p.   

9

G i STREET Q
t'

w.. i. r. .,. :, ,   

G       

i

i 4* a     . '

r<      ,  

OS REI$ ROAD
r r- a+ rr a rr-rr bW L» h
ti i ti..

s

iP ti t.  . w r 4 ""

w
s

e 3 `
i,'7/i;`-      

a
J

2 i'  ,
y

v     
lJ T   '  t   °       

h

F    

a     "% ,     

Q      '    
rs

SPARTAN WAY    
A, 

a       i

E'  

s
x",       ti

a' arr

i 1 Y
s    

p4     ",,$"
w„

r J'    
O

t e     5   °M s..

LbYi N[ 7

W`atcrshcd Boundary Watershcd 4 fa11s within CLSP- I

OW'dtershe Nwnber
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan r rea

CLSP-2 Amcndment P{an Arca Boundary

Fi ure 6.6
Ts~ PROPOSED WATERSHEDS

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
a"`

Lathrop, Ca

w rz "

Page 6- 17

598



Central Lathrop Specific Ylan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter Six: Utiliries and Drainagc Infzastructurc

Figure 6. 7- Stormwater Network

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PNASE 2 AMENDMENT
t     

r,       

1            lt       "`         .     ,      
i  

r. r a` s sx` x      i%"/      . „
r rq;`",„'   `       wg:ti+,  Y rt, ,  i%'//.:

sLrc. r, C', r;* Z i, A"'£,.       

M     
a

r      /,

w,";     

r° t
a  

e%    Fr; i`
i s','` Fti"`      §, ",,

r;       x„   f

a   
x y vv w a}  .'   a 7 C 1a

e        
Z'      „; w u  "`

r a R

w

57REET A
ar w w w s r w r r r, b, A! w, 1 s r r• YY r yrvao,.+' au

abNltlkRikbloYRWXHe b+ sq$ e A' M1kz+zu rs& x_.     
1

4

m
r

r^    
r

m j      
7i

DE LIMA ROAD  p..  ,      
sar a a4m sm ACa1,  SfiAI t Aa eo       ys.e rr   eera•  

ra    ••

o-. r  ir+i.   tqe,...      ,      + »  ,

C   C t

y STREE' d        ' _   -- -..,:  -._     

0*   
µ  - .

z

t,.  

y 

DOS REIS R AD :   
it

r,
rr r...:+ w ar w.....` i:.-     

4,  4 k

EzisTrN aurFai       P4TENTIAL CISP ASE 2 c-,    

p y PUMP STATION LO TiON           w
p   ;  FOR SHED 3

CLSP PNA5E t       2 p  ;  
fJUTFAIL F4H SPARTAN W 1"           
SHE 8 w '     a",    

r  " XISTIMG SD
4

ir r`,.+"'      
PUI P STATION FOR    ;    

l
SkED 1, 2 & 4

EXISTING e'    
z

WATER

TANK

F,    r,  . w

N'atershed A f; ll, within CLSP- I

LE.C; END Rc CLSP- 2 Amcndmrnt Plan Arca

r CLSP Phaic 2 Gravity Pi x iR R'amtshed Nwn r

ra... r CLSP Phase 2 Fareemsin( Uilima e}      Deicntiun fncility,

CLSP Phase 1 oretmain IExic ing)            Pump Statiun

xistingGravityPipe k puife] IStructure

Figure 6. 7
a O w T H  

CLSP•? Anumclment Plaa Area Buuminry
STORMtiVATER NET WORKN. T. S.

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
a       

Lathrop, Ca

I' age 6- 18

599



enCral l, athrop Spccific 1' lan— Nhase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Utiliries and Drainagc Infrastn cture

Public UtilityEasements and Utility underground in a joint trench vith gas and
Cort' idots electric facilities.

For a discussion regarding the locarion and use
of public utility easements and utility corridors,
please refer to Chapter I'hree: Circulation and
Transportation.

Energyand Telecommunications

Poaver

Electrical senice will be provided to the CLSP- 2
I mendment Plan Area by Pacific Gas and
Electric ( PG& E). EYisting high voltage power
lines,  within PG& F_,  power line easements,
traverse through a portion of the CLSP- 2
rlmendment Plan rea.  Exisung power lines
within the CLSP- 2 mendment Plan Area 1 are

shoccn on Figure G. 8.

It is anticipated that all eYisting overhead power
lines 34. 5Kv and under ill be relocated and/ or

be placed underground as the CLSP-?

Amendment Plan Area develops. New power
lines constructed to serve the Plan 1rea, as well

as all other utilities, will be installed underground

in a typical joint trench.

PG& E will ettend electricin service in a timely
manner to serve each development as needed

during the phased implementation of the CLSP-
2 rlmendment.

GGTS

PG& E will provide natuYal gas service to the
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area. The CLSP- 2

rlmendment Plan Area ties into etisting natural

gas lines located within the CLSP Phase 1 area.

Telecommianicatione-

Telephone ser- ice, cable television service, and

possibly high- speed data lines to the CLSP- 2
mendment Plan rlrea are to be provided by- the

appropriate utility-    companies.

Telecommunicarion systems w-ill be located

Pagc 6- 1 9

600



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Six: Uriliues and Drainage Tnfrastructure

Figure 6.8- Existing Power Lines

CENTRAL LA`I`HROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDM,ENT

n s r
r. N"Y     ,  i '     

fr
r  

j .. r    '$ Y,// s
rq

r 7",      s,       
i    , e

G     s 

n '-'

9,.    

Y        Ette  s  ,' i ix
i

r

f'/%     v

A',.< ,  ,,,. , Y"  ,., e Yi' r,', 6, 
s    .  ,    „  ' A ,   ,  , x

i

y
4 3 d          ,       .

b   /"

v fi'i'     

a'       

N, ,

da.              .°''
Ffb,£ F S°Yi'' Y    .,

Y,       
a 5 g ew
4 x

3'} 
f, "   

c

r 
f

w" ry ll rs ew M1,";/ 
tir,

q y '      a. z.y
n       

a,      a.       gs :,

x,      .;

rr.
rrrrr wir r. 5i i inw. t+ w w a

ry,  $",

7

t tn vi 2 i M
ix  

ml I
u g

r'   

t
x

cn n T

c -  -`   .:     '
g

E LlMA ROAD
fi

roi f

r.. » ... n.,..-...
n a,,.       ""/.     

Y
V

x, fi( LL V x$ 4$ Y  .>, a. k w_1..__     

Qf/
f  

3 S   
tic

t; h

f
A       ",   w g

Lf,*     Q'       ` 

t       C? OS REl$ ROAO

r..`.# iwwa i:i'" i' a"r iGr", it S`

f 1 Q x , 

r       
y  g    ,

a
a r

s J'      F..w           >  
C            

r  "`      c i' r,"',

a p     .    
r

Pa a SPARTAN WAY       
a:

ti  

r,
F       9d

x

ti`      

2, 1

i     , % jvy„ v
o       ,,

a   ,,
t   e;","',

ar

w;

J
r

m           

r" i`

t

i.ecEvo s=

1. C) nly ei sunK 6lf K\ vid 1 IS K' rwerlines are sha+ vn.
Power Lin. e 2. G•.xiw ing 17 K' p werliaes noi shuwn uc rhey a ill bu

CLSP• 2 Amendment Plan tlrea IiauadaTy
unJer vunded xith slevelopmrnt.

Fi ure 6. 8
N

T s~  EXISTING POWER LINES

Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
Lathrop, Ca

L  . .,    ,   .  ..  _.-. .

Yage 6- 20

601



Centcal I, athiop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Seven: Design Guidelines

Chapter Seven: Design Guidelines

Introduction Land Use

The Design Guidelines provide the vision for the A brief description and the vision of each land

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area by establishing use designation vithin the CLSP- 2 r mendment

minimum standards for character,  building Plan r rea are pro rided belo v:
design and landscape elements.  The 2022

Ueneral Plan, the CLSP- 2 r mendment and the I. mited Iradrs.rtria!

City' s 7oning Code,  ensure a coherent well Envisioned as a prominent employment-
thought out design for the CLSP- 2 rlmendment

generating land use,  this designation shall
Plan Area.

pro ide a high degree of functionality, including

The following guidelines provide site design and
con renient access to major roadways. Buildings

architectural standards, including provisions for Within this area may lil ely be warehouse,

landscaping and sustainability efforts applicable
manufacturing,    assembly and repair- type

to development within the CLSP- 2 tlmendment buildings. Careful consideration shall be placed

Plan Area. r111 de elopment proposals in the
in the material, color, and scale of buildings as

CLSP- 3 Amendment Plan Area must adhere to
Well as the articulation of each fa ade. Although

the standards and guidelines set forth in this multiple industries vould likely be located in the

amended specific plan. 
CLSP- 2 c mendment_Plan rea, the architecture

styles of buildings should create cohesion and

These guidelines and standards are consistent compatibility across the CLSP- 2 mendment

vith and provide a companion document to the
Plan 3rea.

City' s Zoning Ordinance.   Standards not

addressed in the CLSP- 2 Amendment shall be
Open Space' P rks

those set forth in the Lathrop l 2unicipal Code.    
The Open Space and Park uses are located along
San Joaquin River and span the lengtll of the

Put'pose CLSP- 2 Amenciment Plan rea Project rlrea.

The purpose of the guidelines and standards for The existing Dos Reis Country Park vill remain,

industrial development, park, and open space is th adciitional park areas proposed to connect

to ensure consistency of design bet ieen the
to the open space corridor. The open space

various uses within the CLSP Plan l rea.    corridor along the San Joaquin River is intended
as a local communiry wide facilit with the

Z'hese guidelines provide for the development of possibility of regional linkage. This Open Space
a well- designed project, that is compatible with Corridor would also provide the ability to
adjacent land uses of the overall CLSP Plan Area,  connect the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area to

and is designed to promote accessibility and CI, SP Phase 1 and other developments to the

provides the ability for pedestrians and south.  Though not required or mandated,

alternative modes of transportation to, from and provision is made   vithin this CLSP- 2

within the CLSP- 2 mendment Plan rea. lmendment for the construction and use of

outdoor recreation facilities such as recreation

fields, fitness equipment and courses, or other

such uses intended for the physical recreation

Yage 7- 1

602



Central], athrop Spccific Plan— Phasc 2 lmendment Chaptcr Seven: Design Guidetincs

and well- being of the community and/ or the c.   Encourage streetscape with landscaping.
employee users.

d.  Provide outdoor lighting for safety and
General principles guide the overall Central security; minimize outdoor lighting from
Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 and lay the spilling over to adjacent properties.
foundation for standards and guidelines.

Standards and guidelines apply to the entire Architecture.

Phase 2 r mendment Plan r' rea, and standards

and guidelines apply to each land use designation.       
a.   Use design styles,   elements,   and

r ll site design standards and guidelines are
materials that complement or do not

organized into two sections: 1) site design and 2)    visually compete   vith surrounding

architecture. ' ithin each secrion, subcategories contest and scale of neighboring land
further define and illustrate design objectives

uses  vithin the CLSP- 2 Amendment

through written descriptions and photographic
Plan Area.

e amples that convey desired design elements.
The applicable standards and guidelines support

b.   Incorporate distincrive design elements

the design objectives,  defining how desired
into buildings including colors and

development should be achieved.      building relief.

CLSP- 2Amendment Principles,       
Site Design

Standards and Guidelines The CLSP- 2 allo vs for a mix of industrial uses.

Due to the vide variety of allowed uses for
The CLSP- 2 Amendment strives for a realistic

and attractive development The CLSP- 2
Industrial developments,    circulation,    site

planning, landscaping, and architecture should be
rlmendment, within the existing and surrounciing

the key elements that unify development in the
landscape, will continue to advance the economic

CLSl 2 1 mendment Plan rlrea. Development
itality and job growth in Lathrop by creating a

projects are encouraged to provide a safe anddevelopment of quality   site design and
functional environment for all users and patrons,

architecture.   " I'o achieve these goals,   e

including pedestrians, bicy cles, and automobiles.
following planning and design principl s have

Development should reElect quality and risual
been developed to assist designers and

developers in meeting the CLSP- 2 mendment
appeal as it relates to adjacent streets and

design objectives.
surrounding development.  This specific plan
amendment guides future design for the CI.SP-?

Allindustrial projects in the CLSP- 2 Amendment
endment Plan Area 2 but is fle ble in terms

Plan rea should be designed to meet, or exceed of building design, ty-pe, size and locarions.

the following planning and design principles:    
Site 1 larrnind

1.  Site Design.  
A.  Circulation

a.   Design pedestrian accessible buildings.    
The objective of the Central Lathrop Specific
Plan - Phase 2 circulauon is to promote efficient

b.  Encourage design elements that consider

and saEe movement of goods and people
environmental conditions,   like sun,  

throughout the CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan Area.
shade,  wind,  etc.,  to impro e the

The circulation design should consider all types

pedestrian experience and provide of users: vehicle, pedestrian and bicycle.
natural environmental control.

Yagc 7- 2

603



Central I,athcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Seven: llesign Guidelines

Refer to Chapter 3 Circulation and 1.  Land uses that are automobile dependent

Transportauon for details on vehicle, pedestrian should be designed to minimize the conElict

and bicycle route locations. between pedestrians,     bicycles,     and

automobiles, by the following means:
The design of access for large de Telopment areas

and individual project sites should tie land uses Create pedestrian- only connections

and existing road vays into the overall circulation between public sidewalks and buildings,
net vork in the CLSP- 2 clmendment Plan Area.    avoiding crossing cirive- thru lanes

In some cases, the internal circulation may be wherever possible; or

part of the larger CLSP Plan Axea circulation and
street net vork. Place vehicle entrances and drive- thru

areas away from main pedestrian entries.
Pedestrians should have continuous sidewalks,

free of obstructions, and vith convenient access

to buildings and other adjacent land uses.

rldditionally,    pedestrian connections are

encouraged bet veen site buildings, parking and

othex adjoining uses.

r dditional modes of travel, including bicycle and
public transit should be incorporated into each
development project.  Biryclists should have

consistent safe access from major roadways into

and around each development area to minimize

potential conflicts with vehicles. 

4-    " 

i "    

Photo Exarrrple Z

ll7ininn. zug c•ontZict.r Gelrveen pede. rtri trrr, f icycles c iad
autorrtobrle.r.

F   .',

Pboto Example 1

Pede, rtriarr facilitie. r along pabk c roarl

The follo ving circulauon design guidelines apply
to all development areas of the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan- Phase 2:

Yagc 7- 3

604



Central Lathrop Specific I' lan— Phasc 2 mendment Chapter Scvcn: llcsign Guidclincs

2.   Fach development should provide development sites of the Central Lathrop
pedestrian and bicycle connection to Specific Plan- I' hase 2:

adjacent uses within the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan - Phase 2. This would include 1.  Where feasible and desirable,  buildings

public sidewalk connections to internal should maintain close pro: imit to streets;

project circularion for pedestrians and public
right- of-way bicycle paths to internal on and Buildings should be sited to be conveniendy

off-street routes for bicycles.   These located and attract users:

connections should be vell lit and marked

for the safety of its users.      
Entrances should be designed to

accommodate safe pedestrian travel;

Parking should have close pro imity to
buildings;

r
I',.

Ya
w°?

a g` i,, t r rY i4.
h:..     

rn§k? 3f.,,§
iA }.,, 

a v i , 4,
s

l       ,; Ir; tl rl 3l

Y
f 4 q'.') Yr

t   ,. e I
jt F, (  ' S b1, ` Sd.ai`';,,-,.

qd s R
t

31. 
d"

k' y  i¢

st',«} s , r

v`'"

a t' S ..  
p     

t

u er, r. m.: r. i..,.,  . .  ,,,..,' w.

Pboto E.x•nm ile 3

P de.rtriaiz/ Gic c•! e. rafe cro3.ring
m-  

B.  Building Placement& Parking 1{ ioto E1 u rple-

Pcarking rear builrling. r
Building placement and orientation is key in
creating a safe and efficient site design. Buildings

with uses that rely on visibility should be placed
close to adjacent streets and specifically on high-
volume corners. Oprimal building placement on
individual development sites can create

opportunities for public or employee spaces,
encourage pedestrian connections,   establish

streetscapes, and provide drive- by advertising for
the companies. Building placement and parking
orientation considerations can gready increase
the efficiency of a building.

The following building placement and parking
design guidelines apply to all individual

Yagc 7- 4

605



Central I. athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Atnendment Chapter Seven: Desi m Guidclincs

Create spaces with gathering areas,  4.  Loading and delivery areas should be located

plantings,  bicycle parking,  or other appropriately to minunize their visibiliry,
amenities between or adjacent to avoid pedestrian/ loading zone activity

buildings;    conflicts, and minimize potential circulation,
noise, and lighring conflicts. Screening these
areas with landscaping, buildings, fences or
valls is encouraged.

5.   Corner and mid- block buildings should be

oriented towards the public right-of-way and
should be designed to achieve the following:I II M.

f l
here feasible and desirable, driveway

entrances and stacking lanes should be
separated from public pedestrian spaces

Photo Ea•anrple 5
and crossings.

Encouragingg rthe zng arecr. r ln operr. rpaie.r
C.  Refuse, Storage& Equipment lreas

Minimize escessive building setbacks
that detract from the streetscape,  or The design and placement of refuse containers,
oprimize escessive setback areas by service areas, loading docks, and similar facilities
providing disunctive landscaping within shall be considered as part of the o Terall site
the setback;     design of a project. In general, these uses should

be located as to not interfere or detract from

Building elevations should consider the circulation, parl: ing, and adjacent uses, and in
human- scale design elements on ground most cases should be screened from vie v.

floor facades and specifically at builciing
entsances.       The following design guidelines apply to all

development areas of the Central Lathrop
3.   Parking areas should be designed for Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment Plan Area as

circulation efFiciency and safety of a11 users:   it relates to refuse, storage and equipment areas:

Large parking areas should be screened

from vie v and placed away from major
rights- of-way,   behind buildings,   or

obscured with landscape treatments,

such as berms, tall shxubs, and trees;

Landscaping should be provided in
parking areas as specified by-   the

landscaping section in this chapter;

Pedestrian pathways and walkways,

clearly marked with enhanced paving
material,  should be provided through
parking areas as direct routes to building
entries.

Yage 7- 5

606



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Seven: Design GuideGncs

1.  Trash/ recycling enclosures and service and 3.  Trash and outdoor storage that is visible

loading docks areas should be sufficiently from upper stories, arterial roads or freeways

sized to accommodate the site' s needs, but should be screened with trellis or other

located in areas as to not interfere vith on-       horizontal cover and should be consistent

site circularion and parking;   vith the architectural style of adjacent

buildings.  Furthermore,  trash enclosures

should be designed— through colors,

materials, details, and/ or forms, that serve to

compliment associated building design for
a    i  G l I

I' f    tiy the paYttCular bLuldtng COmplex lt ServeS.z Il    6'`     , ' d. b! r", 
7 !.

z,
s'-.;.       y; 4.  Trash and outdoor storage facilities are

required to include a covered roof and sewer

drain as described in die Public  orks

Storm vater Standards.

k

i jbr;
Mpb+

r " 9'Cif°i i, l' Ili
i+

t} df+ a{ t h
Pl oto E anrple 6 j I ' I l i

Sai cre rtly, ritie! loarling do k,r

2.  T"rash and outdoor storage facilities should

be placed away from public streets and/ or
screened from view with materials consistent

to adjacent building ekteriors or other mature

plantings; and

t
w° s, i59 t

sa p r;

P ioto Example 7
dl.: .  ,.;

Screeized oaatdoor. rtornge area laced aiv fr m pz blic. rtreetr. Pboto Exarrrple 8

Eiaclosed refu. re rrea. r

Yage 7- 6

607



entral Lathcop Specific Plan— Phasc 2 Amendment Chapter Scvcn: llesign G uidelines

D.  Landscaping stall, all plant material and irrigation shall be kept
eighteen inches from the curb, or confined to lo v

The intent of the landscape design is to provide groundcover or lawn, to allow for car overhang
continuity throughout the CLSP- 2 Amendment and doar swing. ' I'rees should provide a shade
Plan Area. Landscaping guidelines will specify canopy, reducing heat island effect: a sustainable
standards for streetscape,  public space,  and site planning measure. It is recommended that
parl ing lot design within the development area.  50° shade be provided within vehicular parl ing
Through the use of deciduous and evergreen lots. ( Estimated shade diameter is projected at 15
plant material, year- round interest will be giaen 5rears from tiine of planting.)  Vehicular parl ing
to the site cith an evenlp layered plant design.  lot shade trees shall conform, at a minimum, to

This layered plant design will screen or diminish standards and requirements shown in Chapter

adverse views and utilities. Plant materials should 17. 9 Landscape and Screening Standards of the
be easy to maintain while attractive and di rerse.  Lathrop l lunicipal Code.
Designers shall emphasize the use of low- water

use plants vith a lush character and vibrant Irrigation and water efficiency/ conservation is
colors.     mandatory in accordance with the" Model Vi/ater

Efficient Landscape Ordinance."   Irrigation

The streetscape within the CLSP- 2 Amendment systems should be designed to ensure the

Plan l rea will be unified through a consistent efficient use of water and avoidance of overspray
palette of ground cover, shrubs, and street trees.  and overwatering. To help ensure an efficient
The street tree will create a canopy along all ittigarion system, plants should be grouped in
public streets to increase aesthetics of the project hydro- zones, which is a combination of plants
while providing shade and creating a walkable vith similar vater needs. The use of low- water

development. Street trees size rcquired at time of narive and adaptive plants is highly encoutaged.
planting will be determined during the Site Plan All landscape areas must be irrigated with an

Review process for each de elopment. Street automatic irrigauon sy stem controlled by a timer.
trees shall be centered in the parkway strip or Use of drip irrigation is encouraged where
planted at least 4' behind the sidewalk. A miy of pracrical and most effective, especially in shrub
eaergreen and deciduous trees is encouraged as and tree areas.

primary and accent tree options. ' here it is

determined by Ciry staff that more screening is Where feasible and desirable, drainage and water

required, an increase in e ergreen tree locations quality measures should be used in on-site
may be required. landscape areas.  Using landscape strips and

medians for percolation, drainage swales, and
The landscaping of public spaces should be rain gardens is highly encourlged. Use of manj,
carefully considered to attract visitots. Trees with sustainable landscape techniques is highly
a consistent canopv should be used in areas recommended and can result in substantial

vhere shade is desirable.  In general,  the maintenance cost savings.

landscaping of public spaces should complement
the other features and atnenities of the area, 7'he following design guidelines apply to all
becoming a backdrop to pedestrian activities.      development areas of the Central Lathrop

Specific Plan- Phase 2 as it relates to landscaping:
Parl ing lots will have drive aisles and paYking
aisles delineated through parl ing lot medians and 1.   Landscaping should be used to define
planter strips. Ground cover, shrubs, and trees outdoor spaces,      softening and

will be planted within the medians and planter complementing structures, and should also
strips, where feasible and practical.  ' hen a be used for utilitarian qualities:
median or planter strip is adjacent to a parking

Yagc 7- 7

608



Centr2l l,athrop Specific I' lan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Seven: Design Guidelincs

Become a backdrop to pedestrian

outdoor gathering places;      

Screening parking, loading, storage, and
equipment areas;

Provide shade and enhancement to the

streetscape, parking lots, and pedestrian
outdoor gathering places; and

Directional,    defining entries and

pedestrian ways.       I i Y ''' 

i

2.   Landscaping and trees should be employed
in parking areas to break up espanses of
hardscape and to minimize heat island effect;

I '
yw

u'   ';   r1   '    Photo Ex tnrple 10

i       

r'   Pre.re roed l, ratarra! L' egetation

a 5.   Conser- ation and efficient use of water is at

the forefront of the Central Lathrop Specific
Plan  -  Phase 2 landscaping objectives.
Landscaping and irrigation shall comply with
the Cit Municipal Code Section 17. 92. 060

ater Efficient Landscape Ordinance" and

the following guidelines:

Plants should be selected and grouped
according to their maintenance and

Photo lainple 9
water use profile.  In all cases,  low-

L.a rdre rpi rg ijr parking are rs maintenance and drought tolerant

plantings are highly encouraged;
3.  ` Uhere feasible and desirable, mature trees

and plantings should be maintained and Planting of turf areas should be kept at a
incorporated into the landscape design;  

minimum. A ma: imum of 10% of the

total landscaped site area may be
4.   Natural and eYisting vegetation should be irrigated tur£ Drought- tolerant ground

preserved where possible and incorporated
covers and shrubs are lo ver maintenance

into the ne v landscaping.  Retention and
and seen as more desirable;

detention areas should be planted to create
the appearance of natural vegetation. Careful rlll landscaped areas should be designed

selecrion of plant types is necessary to ensure for maximum water efficiency and
sun i- a1 and be compatible with the proper irrigated through an automatic irrigation

functioning of the drainage system;       s stem controlled by a timer.  Non-
potable or recycled vater should be used
to the extent feasible;

Pagc 7- 8

609



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2: lmendment Chaptcr Seven: llesi,m Guidelines

Use alternative and porous paving

opuons for pedestrian pathways and
non- vehicular and bicycle circulation to

maximize infiltration of ater runoff;

Curb, header boards, pavers, and other
materials should be used to minimize

water run- off and define landscaped

areas; and

Water features should be designed for

maximum maintenance and water

efficiency.

6.  ` here feasible and desirable,  landscape

strips and medians should be programmed
Pboto F.xample 19

for the treatment and conveyance of water
I-anrl.rc pe baa er at errtry mofrunrerrtntion

run- of£ I. andscaping used for percolation,  alls & Fences

drainage swales, and rain gardens are highly
encouraged. alls and fences in the Plan Area are intended to

provide screening between projects and adjacent
7.  r landscape buffer shall be provided along uses where necessary, helping to define edges of

Dos Reis Road, across from eYisung and arterial and collector streetscapes and providing
proposed sensitive receptors. The landscape

security to propertv. It is anticipated that there
buffer is intended to soften the transition will be limited use of valls, e cept where needed

from non- industrial uses to the future for sound attenuation or where desired for entry
industrial uses of the site. A 30 minimum features or for screening unsightly elements, such
foot wide landscape buffer including 22 feet as trash areas. The material and design for the

of landscaping with an 8 foot wide paved trail walls and fencing may vary throughout the
will be provided in the public right- of-way  development area, depending on location and
behind the curb. 1n adciitional buffer will be specific project needs. However, the color and
provided on private property to be designed materials of the valls through the CLSP- 2 Plan

vith indi- idual development applications.  l rea should be complimentary. Both masonry
Refer to the Land Use chapter of this specific and wood fences are permitted in the Plan rea.

plan amendment foY addirional information.
The following design guidelines apply Central
Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 as it relates to

walls and fences:

L Walls and fences vill not be permitted if the
aren' t necessary for noise attenuation,

specific screening,  gateway,  aesthetic,  or

security purposes;

Pagc 7- 9

610



Central l,athcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendmcnt Chapter Seven: Design Guidelines

Iu: e

k

Ys;`°.
P ' sV•

aL, 

y#... 

N

w    

n a''. e 4 a; a% an .' L....  # NG. aEdr v   ..

Photo Example 12

Site rvalls anrl fence. r

2.  Tall walls and fences are discouraged along
arterial and collector roadways,  as they
diminish the street scene. Fences and walls

should not esceed a matimum height of

seven feet, unless special screening and/ or Pboto E.ua rple 13

security issues are demonstrated  vhich I- rnris pe. rcree i rg at wall

necessitates a higher fence. Low decorative 5.   `' here security>  fencing is required,  a

or auto- screening walls, 2 to 4- feet in height,       combination of solid and open grill vork is
may ser- e to enhance a building area or encouraged. Barbed, razor, wire or similar
streetscape, if tastefully designed. I iaximum

fences shall comply-  with LMC Section
wall heights should be inclusive of fill from 17.) 2. 070.

e isting ground  ( ie berms).  1t locarions

where industrial land use is proposed 6.   t the interface between Dos Reis Regional

adjacent to sensitive Yeceptor land use ( like Park and the adjacent industrial site a shall

along Dos Reis Road), an 8 ft. masonry wall include a masonry wall for screening.
for special screening shall be installed;

I.  Public Spaces and Pedestrian menities

3.  `' alls and fences, used at property frontages
or for screening, should be designed as an It is the intent of the public spaces and pedestrian
eitension of a building' s architecture; top amenities section to promote usable public
caps on masonry walls and tubular steel gathering spaces ariented toward pedestrian
fences are encouraged.    Self- clinging or users that function as an amenit-  to the

supported vines shall be planted at regular deeelopment. These outdoor spaces should be

intervals along walls to ensure coverage visually pleasing, appropriately scaled, and should
within 5 years in order to discourage graffiti encourage greater activit-    within each

and soften the overall appearance of the wall;  development area.   r1s well as providing

pedestrian- oriented features and amenities, these
4.  Where long espanses of vall or fence are spaces should connect pedestrians vith the site

unavoidable, articulation in the form of wall and surrounding uses.
offsets or landscaping should be

unplemented; and An employee or public gathering place should be
provided for appropriate projects in each
development area." I'he scale and program of the

Page 7- 10

611



Central l,athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 imendmcnt Chapter Seven: Desi n Guidelines

space should be appropriate to the adjacent

building and rype of users. It is encouraged to site
these spaces in well- lit,  shaded,  secure,  and

f`',`'`?

G  ra,,

interactive areas where they can become an 3 a p
a.    ,

integrated feature.  fF  „,.

Pboto Exarr le 1S

Ern loyee rvell- l eing area

2.   ithin the Limited Industrial designation,

gathering places should be placed between or
adjacent to buildings to encourage employee

health and well-being.

Pl oto Exarrrple 14

Shaded er rployee break ai a

b}     P9
n

The following design guidelines apply to all of
s

the Central Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 as it
r , 5.

relates to public spaces and pedestxian amenities:    r,,

w_   .       r ;

L l n employee or public gathering and break
area spaces should be encouraged in

W_ 

appropriate projects within each

s'`

Pl olo F m z le 16
deve lopment area.  T hese amenities can E yrployee re rk area

include,  but are not limited to,  small

recreation areas or other open space
3.   Pedestrian connections should be

facilities. These areas will count toward the established within projects and development
landscape requirement desi nated for each areas, where logical and practical. r reas for
land use district. respite for users should be encouraged.

U.  I.ighting& Furniture

Iighting is an unportant element in the landscape
and should be used to contribute to a safe and

attracuee environment. Natural areas vill need

little light while street intersections will require

illumination levels safe for pedestrian crossings.
Lighting is also used to reinforce the

development' s overall design theme and create a

consistent sense of place by adding a common,

Pagc 7- 11

612



Central I, athrop Speciftc Plan— Phase 2/ lmendment Chapter Secen: llesign Guidelincs

themaric element that is repeated along all major 5.  Architectural lighting may be used to
roadways. Streetlighting within public right of highlight special features on or around the

way shall comply with the Ciry of Lathrop design building, or to illuminate key entrances or
construction standard details. The height of other areas of access;

lights vill vary depending on application. Light
standards will typically be higher along roadways

6.   All lighting should utilize cut-off type Fixture
and will be lower in pedestrian areas.  High to minimize visibility from adjacent areas and

Efficiency lighting is required within all buildings should be the appropriate size and height

as well as on the eYterior. Outdoor lighting shall given the actieities for which they-  are
be provided for safety and security but shall be designed.    Lighting used for pedestrian
minimized from spilling over to adjacent connectors and gathering spaces should be

properties.     
lo ver, bollard- type or footlight fiYtures and

should not exceed 3- 4 feet in height;

Site furniture is encouraged in outdoor areas and

public spaces. The driving goal for the use of 7•   ' here feasible and desirable,  the use of

landscape elements is to create enjoyable outdoor pedestrian amenities,  such as benches,

spaces and furnish comfortable amenities for drinl: ing fountains,   lighting,   and trash

relaxation and leisure. Site furniture visible from receptacles, is encouraged. These elements

public streets, plazas, and pedestrian linkages may be sited in public gathering places and as
should be of a compatible style and design.       respite along pedestrian connectors; and

Fistures and furniture may vary in style, color,
and materials from this standard design if thev

8•   I'he design of site lighting and fiirniture

are used in enclosed courty ards or other locations should be compatible throughout the CLSP-

where land uses require unique appeal. llesigners
l mendment Plan rea.

shall give emphasis to vandalism- resistant criteria
when selecung all site ftxtures and furniture.

Architecture

rlrchitecture should establish project identity and
The following design guidelines apply to all of

enhance the character of the development in the
the Central Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 as it

CLSP- 2 mendment Plan r rea and the Citt of
relates to lighting and furniture:       

Lathrop.  i s a high- quality de elopment,  a

1.   Outdoor lighting should be specified and complementary design language should be

designed consistent vith the zoning code for
established throughout the CLSP- 2 Amendment

this Plan r rea;      

Plan: rea.

The architecture section is di ided into two sub-
E terior lighting, including parking areas,
should be architecturally inte ated with t11e

secrions:

sty-le oF the building and colors and materials
Massing, Scale, and Form

used;

Stc-1e and Design Details
3.   Parking lighting should be arranged to

provide uniform illumination throughout
r1.  I qassing, Scale and Form

parking areas and should achieve a minimum
average of one foot- candle and a maximum The design objective of this section is to

of three;      encourage buildings that consider the human

scale, include aetive areas, and are compatible
4.   Low energy LED lighting should be used for

th adjacent development. Buildings should be
streetscapes and parking lots.     

clustered to create compact,   multi- story
Yage 7- 12

613



Centr2l l,athcop Specific Ylan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter Seven: Design Guidclines

structures that concentrate activities and related Parapets are encouraged to conceal Elat

programmatic uses. Building height and massing roofs and to screen any rooftop
should consider the surrounding contest.    equipment, such as HV C units, from

Projects should consider the human scale at the public view. Parapets should not exceed
ground floor and at entries to buildings.    15°io or 1/ 3 of the supporting  vall
Buildings should take on varying form to increase height All parapets should feature three-
visual interest and break up the monotony of dimensional cornice treatments.

large structures.  In addition,  harizontal and

verrical wall arriculation should be encouraged D.  Entries

through the use of wall and second floor offsets,

recessed entries and windows,  human- scale
1.   Building entrances should be designed for

awnings, overhangs and arcades.  
access both by patrons arriving via

automobile and b5- foot or bicycle;

2.   Each entry should be protected from the
elements;

I tiU
a.

Photo Ex rmple % 7

I a.rar l i terert iia a 7iculatio r

B.  Sty-1e and Design Details
w=    .    „. _

P/ oto Exa r le 18

The objective of the style and design detail Ent y prote tedJibnr t ie element.r.
secrion is to establish clear direction in terms of

architectural styles and themes for future
3.   Entries should create an architectural point

development in the CLSP- 2 rlmendment Plan of interest using one or morc of the

t1rea. The sty le and design of the buildings will following methods:

enhance the chaYacter of the Central Lathrop
Wall recesses;

SpeciFic Plan - I' hase 2 and set it apart as a

ciistinct and high- quality de relopment  ' hile
Roof overhangs;

these guidelines do not prescribe a specific style
of architecture for the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan

Canopies;

r rea, the objective is to allo v a diversity of styles
vhile considering the conte t of surrounding Arches or arcades;
development.

Columns; and/ or
C.  Roofline

Signage.
1.  Rooflines should be clearly articulated by

using the following feature:

Pa; c 7- 13

614



Centxal I,athcop Spccific Plan— Yhase 211mendment Chaptcr Seven: Design Guidelines

ti
s

1
a^

y,j,   P.i
F 

z  

t y„ k
r

M—   ^_  
x

wl, y   `~       K

I 1w,    
w

a'

Photo Example 19 Photo Exa nj le 20
Ar hftectzrral pointr ofinterest at entryway.r Architectarral color, textarie arrd nrate ial changer rvith

a et/ rojectio tr

4.   Entries should incorporate  vindows to

provide natural light and air; and 2.   E terior materials should be durable and

high quality to prevent degradation and for
5.  17ere feasible and desired,  pedestrian the ease of maintenance:

amenities, such as seating, lighting, fountains,
sculptures,   boulders,   etc.,   should be Large eYpanses of smooth material such

incorporated into entry designs as concrete should be broken up ` vith

F.  Materials& Colors
expansion joints,  reveals, recesses,  or

changes in testure and color;

1.   All building elevarions must include

architectural patterns that include at least ( 2)       
Large espanses of highly  reflective

of the following elements:  surface and miYror glass exterior walls
should be avoided to prevent heat and

Color change;    glare impacts on the adjacent public
streets and properties;

Texture change;

Colors should be compatible throughout

I Taterial change; and/ or the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area,

while allo ving for individualin- to each
wall offset, reveal, or projecrion of at development area.  r1 varied and rich

least 12 inches in depth.       color palette is encouYaged,  although
color should not be used as an attention-

seeking decice. Colors should be used to
enhance a building' s presence and

integrate other materials throughout the

project;

3.   Building trim and other accent elements may
featuYe brighter colors, if desired, but should

alway s complement the base color.

Pagc 7- 14

615



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chaptcr Seven: Design Guidelincs

q    3.  Window and door openings should be

framed with trim, or recessed a minimum of
r,::;.;

4 inches from the building face;
E

4.  Where feasible and useful,  use operable

x     windows foY maximum environment control

and passive heating/ cooling options

G.  Facades

1.   Facades of 100- feet or more in length are

Photo Example 21 encouraged to break- up the elevation using
Gontra.rt irr reflecti e. rurface. r— pop of c•olor tiim accent.r

one of the following technlques:

F.  ' indows & Doors
all and/ or second floor offsets; or

1.   Ground tloor, storefront-type glazing for
display purposes along public faCade

Recessed entries or windows.

frontages should be used as appropriate to

Facades that face public streets should create
enhance the esterior wall area;

visual interest by using one or more of the

2.   ' indows and/ or other appropriate builciing
following techniques:

features should be used on upper levels to
Human- scale elements, like awnings or

break up large wall areas and create visual
overhangs;

interest;

i Arcades or recesses; or
a;%     i

i

Entry areas.

r

m,_  , r

y       

y"      £ a...

s

Photo F.xcarrrple 23

Hr+inan-. rcale nlvuirtg element
Phota Exarrrple ZZ

t'' in low placei rext rat zpper• level.r-- r-errting r i.raral interert ivit{i H.  Slgnage

architeitasral elemenl.r

1.   Signage shall comply with Lathrop Municipal
Code Chapter 17. 84 Signs;

Pagc 7-] 5

616



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amendment ChapTer Seven: Desi, m Guide( incs

2.   Color and material opCions for signs should

always complement the architectural style of

the building;

3.   Signage should be scaled appropriately for
its given location;

4.   Building signage should be located near the
related business entry, or as identity feature
as seen from major travel waps;

6   Photo Ex•ample 25

Lotv profile nrorrr inent, cigrr

8.   Signage for pedestrian and birycle  vay-

finding is encouraged; and

9.  Lighting is allo ved to illuminate signage at
night.    Lighting should be designed

c r' appropriately as to not create hazardous glare
for pedestrians bicyclists, and vehicles. Botht: a      

externally and internally illuminated signage
is allowed.

10. r1t key entry areas along De Lima Road,
Manthey Road, and future Street A, project-

Photo Ex rrple 2=   wide decorative entry features and

Mon merrtrigirage monument signs shall be located to identify

5.   Signing should maintain a visual consistency
and enhance the image of the Central

throughout CLSP-? Amendment Plan rea.       

I-athrop Specific Plan  -  Phase 2 Area.

hen more than one sign is required for a
Developers and builders of the project shall

given business or area, both signs should ork vith City Staff to establish appropriate

maintain visual comparibiliry with one
locations and criteria foY this project- wide

another;   
monumentation and signage.

G.   Signage teyt should be kept to a minimum
11. On- site directional signs at gateway s and

and scaled appropriately- for placement and entries are encouraged to be pro rided for

legibilit- purposes;
both pedestrian and vehicular visitors to the
site.

7.   ' all signs, monument si ms, and low-profile
12. Suggested Gateway Sign locations are shownfreestanding signs are encouraged;   

on Figure 7. 1.

Pagc 7- 16

617



Central l,athrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 c mendment Chaptcr Seven: Design Ciuidelines

Figure 7. 1- Gateway Sign Locations

GENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMEN`T
r'     '..

ri             °°£   

r        ,  ,             a    z  >"     

di i     `  `"''

yr 
i    at

t,     
yr .         

ab     s
t          fro y,   i 2 

Ur
t, ; 

i '     r g 9    
y, .

k   ',''
s,     

a       " 
e' a r  +,  "    "

ut:   r a i     . x= "'.     ,    .

ti r
ti

r    

r Y  ' Kh '

y    J
F

1 Y       h 1
nf  . .

ct yA>r A,
k a,   

x ;  ;     ':

sr Eer a
iflt fl iY. l 1t t Y r rr r ir r

am
V

f

j r ,  
C

Q.4
GA ENJAY STGt     

DE LIMA ROAD

S•,g°,..,.     
STREE7 D t

y  '_ 
i' f         

x

DOS REIS ROAD
r s ar      . r r s   

c  ..       

G; ENtAY SIGN GATLVr' AY SIGN z

NORTH OF D05 REIS AOAD

v2

spRR rarr wava
fr

r'     

px e u.+    

a

i

G'      p'

9^  .      
m r ;  „<

v       
F   

a

r

4   .      x
a

r
w.       m«+

x' ",,''' 

w. a

sT       -%,

cc n

SUGGESTED GATEN` AY SIGN LOCATION

Fi ure 7. 1
NOii T N

s.   GATEWAY SIGN LaCATIONS

Y Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
S       

Lathrop, Ca

Pa e 7- 17

618



Central I.athcop Specific Plan— Phase 2 r mendmcnt Chaptcr}? ight: Implcmcntation

Chapter Eight: Implementation

Itttroduction development located between Dos Reis

Road and De Lima Road.
I'his chapter describes the CLSP- 2 mendment

implementation,    including project review Muraicipal Code

procedutes,  development agreements,  specific

plan amendment procedures,   enforcement,  The City of Lathrop Municipal Code has been
mitigation monitoring and other revie v and amended to include special zoning districts for
approvals required during the implementation of the purpose of defining for each parcel the
the CLSP- 2 Amendment.      permitted,    conditionally permitted,    and

administratively permitted land uses that may be
Specifrc Plan Implementation developed vithin the CI.SP- 2 area, the process

pursuant to which such land uses are approved
The City   would implement the CLSP- 2

and the development standards applicable to
l mendment in accordance with the terms and each land use.

conditions of several related planning and
program documents, including, in particular, the Drctijza e Plan Implernerttation

landowner development agreements, the project
CEQA analy> sis, the CLSP- 3 Amendment Design 1 detailed drainage report, including hj drologic
Guidelines ( this document), the City of Lathrop

and hydraulic calculations and focused

General Plan, Yelated 1 7aster Plans,  and the geotechnical investigarions relating to soil and
7_,oning Ordinance.  These documents provide ground vater conditions, vill be a critical part of

guidance and direction and other vise inform the individual application for each project

City discretion in the review and approval of proposed for development.
future development within the CLSP- 2

clmendment Plan Area.
1'here are two disrinct watersheds within the

CLSP- 2 mendment Plan rlrea.  The parcels

CeratralLathrop Design G rrdelirres within each vatershed are linked by the drainage
system and therefoxe, the detailed planning of

r s described in Chapter Seven,  the CLSP- 2 any portion of a watershed must take into
Design Guidelines contain architectural,  site considerarion the rest of the proposed
planning, and l ndscaping design principles and development within that watershed.

guidelines.

If an individual development does not

City ofLathrop Gerteral Plart encompass the entire vatershed, the individual

Development within the CLSP- 2 Amendment project must show that it will implement the
requirements of the CLSP- 2 Amendment

I lan c rea must be consistent with the City- of

Lathrop C'seneral Plan.  
Drainage Plan as described in the Utilities and

Drainage chapter.

The Lathrop General Plan requires

Conditional Use Permits for industrial
Right to Farm Provisions

t a; 8- t

619



Central], athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amc idment h2pter E? iglit: [ mplementation

The Plan r rea has eYisting agricultural uses of Specify ho v the Specific Plan and
various l inds and intensities.  As the Plan Area General Plan will be unplemented in

builds out, several e sting parcels on- site could connection with the Development

remain in their existing agricultural state for some Agreement

foreseeable period of time. In order to ensure the
viabilit of the on- going agricultural uses, this I' rovide the terms for reimbursement in

specific plan amendment shall require that a the event that a developer provides
right- to- farm" provision be included as a part of advance funding for facilities which have

any subsequent stage in the land entidement community benefit,
process.  r long these same lines, an entitlement
application or document shall mandate full right-       Provide for adequate public facilities for
to- farm disclosures at point- of- sale of lots within each project phase in a timely manner,
the Plan 11rea.  This provision shall include all
properties on site which maj- be impacted or Shorten the approval process b-

affected by on- going farming operations.     consolidating and coordinating various
discretionary approvals, and

Development Agreements

Subject to the Specific Plan, the property owners
Specify the monetary responsibilities of

and the City may execute Development
the developers.

tlgreements in accardance with Government
CityReviewProeess

Code and local ordinance. The Development

Agreements will set forth the infrlstructure Correntzrnity Developirtertt Department Revieav
improvements, public dedication requirements,
landscaping amenities, and other contributions

Subsequent to adoption of the CLSP- 2

to be made b a property owner in return for mendment, indi- idual project applications w-ill

guarantees by the City that certain land uses and be reviewed to determine consistency vith the

densities in effect at the time of esecution of the specific plan amendment and other regulatory

agreement vill not be modified.      documents. Applications such as site plan review
applications,   use permits,   conditional use

oth the Cit and the project sponsors vould permits, variances and the like, will be revie ved
commit themselves to proceed vith the terms of using established Community Development
the agreement.  The City can agree to process Department and Planning Division procedures.
future development applications in accordance

with the Plan and la vs that were in e istence
Development applications will be submitted to

when the agreements were made. The City then the Ciry of LathYop' s Planning Division. The

commits to maintaining its planning or zoning
Planning Division will conduct an initial review

statutes related to the developments for an
of the applicauon for completeness and

agreed- upon period of time.   In return,  the consistency with the adopted Specific Plan, as

developer/ applicant agrees to develop according
vell as other ordinances and standards.   The

to an agreed- upon time schedule or commit to applicant vill be notified vithin 30 day s of the

other measures which the Cit might otherwise initial submittal date of any deficiencies that must

have no authoritq to requiYe     e
be recrified to deem the application complete. If

developer/ applicant to perfarm.      
the applicant or the City believes that an
ilmendment to the Specific Plan is warranted, an

Generall, Development r greements include the 3mendment to the Specific Plan may  be

following provisions, or similar variations:  requested in accordance with the 1lmendment

Procedures. ' I'he request must provide adequate

Pa; c 8- 2

620



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 Amendment Chapter F,ight: [ mpLementation

justification. The application may also be subject Environmental IZevietv

to environmental review as discussed in the

following section.       
1'he EIR certified for the 2022 General Plan

established a program level environmental

Conditional U.re Perrr it.r CUP review for development within the City including
the CLSP-? Amendment Plan Area and supports

Per the City of Lathrop General Plan, conditional the Amendment Individual project applications
use permits will be required for any development will be reviewed for consistency with the 2022
within the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan rlrea UP EIR If consistency is determined and the
located bet veen Dos Reis Road to the south and project meets the criteria established in Section
De Luna Road to the north. r1 CUP may also be 15162 of the CEQl guidelines no subsequent
required vithin the CLSP- 2 area if the proposed environmental review is necessary. The intent of
use requires a CUP per the Lathrop l lunicipal the EIR associated with the specific plan is to
Code.      cover all development consistent with this

document,  stream- lining the permitting and
Site Plarr/ Are•{iteetural De ign Bevieaa 

review process.

Uenerally,  all industrial projects within the
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area will be subject to

The City of Lathrop Community Development
Department is the lead agency in processing theSite I lan/ r rchitectural Design Review by the

revie v of development projects within the Plan
City; design review shall be implemented before

Area.  Upon receipt of an application the Ciryissuance of building permits.   Also, all public
unprovements  ( such as landscape plantings,

shall initiate an initial study and environmental

street and entry signs, lighting, or special paving)
reeie v of the project which may require the

are subject to Site Plan/ rlrchitechiral Design preparation of additional environmental or

Review.  All Site Plan/ Architectural Design
engineering studies to address site- specific

Revie v procedures   vill be conducted in
concerns.

compliance with Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104 of
The foregoing discussion details the initial

the Lathrop I Zunicipal Code.  
project review and environmental review

PaaG/ ic I nprovemejtt Plan.r

submittal procedures.  Projects submitted for

consideration will be revie ved for consistencv

The on- site and off-site public improvements urith established development standards and

necessary to serve the CLSP- 2 area need to be design guidelines of the Specific Plan.
specifically-   designed.   ' I'he applicants shall

prepare for City review and approval Public Habitat Conservation Plan

Improvement Plans,  consisting of detailed

en ineering designs and documents for all
All individual project applications must comply
vith the San Joaquin County Multi-Species

uriliries necessary to develop the land uses

Habitat Conservarion and Open Space Plan
identified in the Specific Plan. These plans shall

SJI ZSCP).  The SJMSCP,  prepared by San
include an infrastructure sequencing program

Joaquin Counry and other participating agencies,
that will allow orde l development throughout

protects special- status plants and wilcilife and
the Specific Plan area. The sequencing program

their habitats, while allo ving for planned gro vthshall prioritize roads,  water,  sewer,  storm

in the County. This protection is accomplished
drainage and other urilities that must be in place

by, 1) idenrifying important habitats and habitat
prior to specific levels of development. Refer to

features to aid in the development of protection
Section 633 for additional details regarding

areas, and 2) establishing a funding mechanism
infrastructure phasing.  

through vhich project proponents can provide

Page 8- 3

621



Centeal Lathrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2/ lmendmcnt Chapter 1? ight: [ mplementation

replacement habitat vhile enabling them to meet physical character of the plan area as
their no net loss of habitat value goals. Project envisioned by this CLSP- 2.

proponents as part of this Specific Plan will be
required to participate in the SJMSCP by Any change that could significandy
contributing appropriate impact fees and increase environmental impacts.

implementing mitigation as idenrified by the
SJI ZSCP.  All mendments to CLSP- 2 shall be consistent

vith the City' s General Plan. Major amendments
Amendments to CLSP-2 may therefor require an accompanying General

Plan Amendment and Zoning Ordinance

r n applicant for a specific development proposal revision.  Generally, the process for amending
may- request amendments to the CLSP- 2 to

the CLSP- 2 Amendment is similar to that for
respond to changing circumstances and

amending the Cit' s General Plan, with the main
conditions. Amendments to the CLSP- 2 should

difference that there is no limitation of the
be categorized as minor or major.    This

number of amendments that may- be approved in
determination is to be made by the Communiry

any one year.   The materials and documents
Development Director or his/ her designee. The

necessary to process a major amendment
Community Development Director or his/ her

application should be consistent with those
designee shall administratively make a written

outlined in the City' s Discretionary Permit Form
determination as to whether or not a requested

for Rezones/ Amendments.       r   detailed
amendment is major or minor. The Community justification statement shall be submitted which
Development Director' s decision may be

explains in detail whp an amendment to the
appealed to the Planning Commission.      

CLSP- 2   mendment is wartanted.      r111

Major. Amendment-       
Yequirements of CEQr1 will be applicable.

rlpplication fees associated with the major

The follo ving are examples of what could be
amendment shall be submitted to cover all

considered major amendments:       
processing costs.    Major amendments shall

require City Council approval,   with a

Introduction of a ne v land use category  
recommendation forwarded by the Planning

not specifically discussed in this CLSP- 2.  
Commission.

Significant changes to the distribution of
VlinorAmendr ent.r

land uses, major acreage changes of land
An amendment shall be considered a minor

uses, or other changes affecung land use
amendment vhen it is determined that it does

which may substantially affect the key not have a significant impact on the charactcr of

planning concepts set for this in this

the plan or the envitonment The following are
CLSP- 2. 

examples of what could be considered minor

amendments:

Significant changes to the collector street

system that would substantially alter the
Change in the configuration of a

land use or circulation concepts set Forth
particular CLSP- mendment land use

in this CLSP- 2.  
which does not significantly-  alter its
relationship to other land uses or

Changes to design guidelines and/ or

compromise the concept and principles
deeelopment standards which,    if

of the CLSP- 2 Amendment.

adopted would substantially change the

Pagc 8- 3

622



Central lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 f\ mendment Chapter F? ight Implement rion

Minor changes to land uses which result OverviewofDevelopmentApproval

in minor acreage changes of land uses, or Ptoeess

other changes altering land uses, which
do not significantly affect the key The approval of any development project within

planning concepts or principles set forth
CLSP- 2 mendment Plan rlrea shall be based on

in this CLSP-? mendment. its consistency with the I.athrop General Plan,
the CLSP- 2 Amendment,    the CLSP- 2

Changes to the collector street system l mendment Design Guidelines, and the Lathrop

and alignments that do not significantly
7oning Code. In addition, each application for a

alter the intended land uses or circulation
development project within the CLSP- 2

functioning as set forth in this CLSP-?  
mendment Plan Area will be evaluated to assess

rlmendment.   the applicability of environmental mitigation
measures included in the 2022 Lathrop General

The relocation or reconfiguration of
Plan FIR to determine whether future

open space that is not less in acreage size environmental revie v is required under CEQ

than specified minimums in the CLSP- 2
I'ublic Resources Code Sections 21166; 21083. 3.

mendment.   
See also CEQr  Guidelines Sections 15162-

15164, 15182, and 15183).

Changes to design guidelines

architectural types and materials,  

Development projects within the CLSP- 2

landscape materials,    etc.)    and/ or
Amendment Plan rlrea are subject to the

development standards that do not
standard permit and approval requirements of

substantially change the physical the City of Lathrop' s Zoning and Subdivision

character of the CLSP- 3 mendment
Urdinances, except as modified by this Specific

development as envisioned. 
Plan Amendment and related approvals.

Clarification and interpretation of land
Site Plan Review Conditional Use

uses. Permits, Varrances, and otherpermits
for individual development projects

Any change to the CLSP- 2 Amendment
SiLe Plare rc itectzrral De.cign Reviezv

d at would not significantl  increase

environmental impacts.       Generally,  all industrial projects within the
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area will be subject to

tlpplications for minor amendments shall be Site Plan/ r rchitectural Design Review by the
submitted to the Planning Division and shall City-; design review shall be implemented before
include a description of the requested issuance of building permits.   Also, all public
amendment, a justification statement, and the improvements  ( such as landscape planungs,
application processing fee ( determined by the street and entry signs, lighring, or special paving)
City Council).  Minor amendments shall require are subject to Site Plan/ r rchitectural Design

Community Development Director approval.     Revie v.  111 Site Plan/ Architectural Design

Revie v procedures will be conducted in

n amendment or amendments to this CLSP- 2 compliance with Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104 of
Amendment shall not require a concurrent

the Lathrop Municipal Code.
general plan amendment unless City Staff
determines that the proposed specific plan Conditiortal L se Pernit3

amendment would not be consistent with the

General Plan goals, objectives, or policies.

Pagc 8- 5

623



Cen[ ral Lathrop Specific I' lan— Phase 2 Amendment hapter]. i; ight: Implementation

T'he development of certain land uses within the The implementation program for the CLSP- 2
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area or within certain r mendment is designed to allo v development of

locations may require a conditional use permit the CLSP- 2   mendment Plan Area and

CUP) based on the Lathrop ' Loning Orciinance.  construction of supporting public improvements
Issuance of conditional use permits are governed to be phased. Phasing is a critical component of

by Lathrop Municipal Code, which specifies the the CI.SP- 2 Amendment for the following
application process, including the submittal of reasons:

plans, processing fees and related information as
may be needed. CUPs are subject to a public

It allows the backbone infrastructure

hearing held by the Planning Commission that necessary to support development to be
must make findings prior to appro- a1.    constructed and financed in manageable

increments on an as- needed basis.

The 2022 Lathrop General Plan,  I,and Use
Element, Implementation Action, LU- S. f, b., iu.,  It assures the construction of backbone

h.,  requires that all development projects infrastructure will stay ahead of the

proposed north of Dos Reis Road and south of development it serves while, at the same

De Lima Road be required to obtain a time, providing the fleYibility- to respond to
Conditional Use Permit ( CUP), which shall be changes in market conditions.

subject to discretionary revie v by the City
Council.   It is more efficient because it minimizes the

extent to which costly public improvements
arianee. r requiring on- going maintenance will be

constructed only-   to sit unused unul
In some instances due to special circumstances

development occurs.

applicable to a property, Chapter 17. 120 of the
Lathrop i Tunicipal Code authorizes the Planning It provides an opportunity- to coordinate land
Commission to consider and grant  " major"       

secured infrastructure financing more closely
ariances to specific development standards as

vith market absorption resulting in higher
set forth in the zoning code. " I'he Community lien to value ratios.

Development Director may consider and grant
minor"  variances.   Chapter 17. 120 of the The CLSPPhasittgPt' ogtam

Municipal Code includes a discussion of major

and minor variances, submittal requirements and The CLSP- 2 i mendment land uses, and the

requirements for a public hearing.    
backbone infrastructure ( refer to Chapter Sis

fvr details), are designed to be developed in t vo

Bcrildind, Gradin ancl Denzolitiorr Perrnits primary phases, with the possibility of multiple
sub phases. The two primary phases of

1  builciing permit is required prior to the de relopment are sho vn in Figure 8- 1. Both
construction,   alteration,   or renovation of

development phases within the CLSP-2
builciings,   including interior unprovements.  

mendment Plan rea rely on infrastructure
Grading permits are required for the e cavation,  that was constructed to the south within the
fill or moving of dirt in ehcess of 50 cubic yards original CLSP Phase 1 Plan Area such as the
on any building site vithin the CLSP- 2 area.  

underground utilities and pump stations.
Issuance of a demolition permit by- the Lathrop Reunbursements for the oversized utilities

I3uilding Department is required prior to removal
7thin the original CLSP Phase 1 Plan rea will

of existing buildings.    
be paid through the City of Lathrop' s Capital
Facility Fee ( CF Program.

Phasing

i a; s-

624



Central I. athrop Spccific Plan— Phase 2 Amcndmcnt haptez l. ight: Implementarion

The first phase of the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan complete so long as a demonstration is made,
Area is a single parcel adjacent to Dos Reis to the satisfaction of the Public  ' orks

Road near the intersection of Uolden L' alley Director or City Engineer, shocving that an
Parkway that is appro imately 90 acres. The interim alternate solution can be constructed,

second phase is the remaining area vithin the and that flooding will not occur. Projects
CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area. Development shall comply with NPDES standards.
phasing may be further divided into sub- phases
as market conditions and infrastructure r1 developer may also request that changes be

financing options warrant. The timing of the made to the backbone infrastructure required to

ultimate buildout will depend upon market serve the CLSP- 2   ( as such infrastructure

conditions. requirements are set forth in Chapter Six) in

order to respond to changing conditions of
Infrastructure Administration development or the availabiliry of new

r developer may request either changes to the
technologies to address the infrastructure needs

initial infrastructure phasing plan shown in created by development. Such changes in the

Figure 8. 1 or the establishment of sub phases.  
backbone infrastructure plan are e: plicidy

Changes to the inival infrastructure phasing plan
allo ved without amendment to the CLSP-?

or the establishment of sub phases are explicitly
provided a developer demonstrates,  to the

allowed without amendment to the CLSP- 2
satisfaction of the Public Works Director and

provided a developer demonstrates,  to the Community Development Director,  that the

satisfaction of the Public Works Director and proposed changes meet certain performance or

Community Development Director,    that le el of service standards prescribed in the

infrastructure impro- ements necessary to project development agreements or,  vhere

adequately serve the phased development will be applicable performance or level of service

provided in a timely manner and will be sufficient standards are not prescribed, results in a leael of

if no further development occurs. For e ample:   
service that is at least comparable to the level of

sercice that vould have been provided had the
Roadways may be constructed at less than changes not been proposed.

full width,  or full length so long as the
interim roadways are functional and safe and

meet City improvement standards as

determined by the Public Works Director or
City Engineer;

Certain segments of the  cater and/ or

recycled vater systems may be deferred until
needed to serve a particular phase or sub
phase so long as adequate looping and
pressure are provided as determined by the
Public` Uorks Director or Cit Engineer.;

As it relates to stormwater runofF from

inciividual developments,  interim drainage

solutions, such as temporary retention basins
may be employed until off-site £acilities ( i.e.,
permanent detention pipes, pump stations,
force mains and/ or outfall structures) are

Ya; c 8- 7

625



Centra] Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2/ lmendmcnt Chapter i ight: [ mple cnentation

Figure 8. 1- Phasing Map

CENTRAL LATHROP SPFCIFIC PLA1 1 PHASE 2 AMENDMENT

tu p t
Q x 

Q QC   t
r

O

t• s
w,:w* r f, a s w.. r.! a r lrr

s„   , Cp 5' Al
r

7 i 1
c. ,   "'`,,',` 

k r'   f- 4 Y e' 1
C t'' >

n" t/' k
e      ,     

L'

DE EU RC) kt} t,7

r
L1- CI, S7R ET b          

CL

op  ,      LI-CL LI-C. ,    ".

G D{ S R IS ROF b      C. SP PNASE., 
u u u r sir'"iL'i l"' i'il'i"sT'i r rr.

orF[ E         
CE. SP PNASE 

g

p    LATHROF RESiR.' YTIALi C( 3VIM1IERCIriL+PARk HICt[       € 4AYEll USE

sc aoL       

SP'ARTAN WAY LATNROF R AD  r              

1        

0.....+
t`        t

a

C,f,     y      s

i S*S/,
R.      ro 5,`*     ,;:

ta`

Y r
O       1Q'       

y"' y      i f

irlr yrwu w u r r rr 

ss"',     i

r 1 i b
r,  

4 ' ,  
a  

g

r,     „     , 3
vk"      a1

w°,    p,     

a`     ;   

I
M      

iww u rd

RIVER ISLAN DS PKWY LOUISEAVENIJE  

I. F.CiF,tv€ 3

Phase I( Within CLSP- 2 Ameaslment Plan Area)

Phase 2( N' ithin CLSP- 2 Amrndm nt Plun Area)

N O R T M   
CLSP- 2 Ameodment Plan Area 6oundary Figure 8. 1

N.T. S.     CLSP- I PlanAria& umfary pu/, ( j T( t ( A T3
1 11171J11r V 1Y1L- Lr

C Central Lathrop Specific Plan- Phase 2 Amendment
E

Lathrop, Ca

z. s.

Yagc 8- 8

626



Central Lathrop Specific Plan— Phase 2 lmendment Chapter li;ight [ mplement2rion

Capitallmprovement and Operation/     operate and maintain all public facilities in the
Mainterlance Responsibilitres CLSP- 2 with the eYception of those operated and

maintained b- special service providers, such as
The responsibilities for capital unprovement

the reclamation district maintaining the levees.
provisions and ongoing operation and

Refer to Table 8. 3 for a matris identifying the
maintenance of public faciliues and sen- ices are

ty pes of capital improvements and who is
another unportant element of the overall CLSP-  

xesponsible for the associated
2 implementation program.  The City is to

operation/ maintenance.

Ta6le 8. 1: Capitallmprovement and Operation/ Maintenance I ee on ibilitie-

Capital Improvement Capital Improvement Operation and Maintenance

Responsibility Responsibility
On- site strcets,  alle s,  and shared Dcvcloper[ ndividual ity for public stmets
driveways( within CI, SP- 2 boundary) Property Owncr Owncrs

ssociarion fot private streets
Off-site streets( outsidc of the CLSP?       llcvelopec City oc other public agency
boundary)     f ir share as idenrified in Capital

acilih ee ro rram

Yotable Watec Distribution I acilities lleveloper City
ndividual Property Owner

Potablc Surfacc Watcr Supply South San Joayuin Irrigation l istrict
Citv ity

Yotable Surface Water Treatment and South San f oaquin Icrigarion District    . i y
Transmission I acilities Cin

Potablc Groundwatcr Supply Developer Cit

Cin

Potablc Groimdwatcr 1' reatmcnt llcvdoper ity
l acilities Cit

lastewatcr Collecrion     } aciliries,   llcvcloper ity
including pump statiou(,)   Individual Propertp( huner

W stew terTreatmentl aeiliries Ciri City

Recycled Water Distribution l acilitics Developer Ciry
iry

Stocm llrain gc ( includcs all facilitics llcvcloper Ciry
induding pipcs, pumps, and ba, ins)  Individual Property Chvner

Dry l'rilirie,( electrie, gas, commimication,)   Utiliry Comp tnics Utility Cr>inpanies
llcvcloper

ndividual Property( hvncr
Yublic Packs and Opcn Spacc, including City 1 City or> thcr PubGc enrity
trails and public riglits- of-way llcvcLoper lndividua]

landsca vi r. Yro ertc Owncr

l icc Station tnd li.yuipment athrop- I 4anteca E ire District l,athrop- Iblanteca} ire llvtitrict
P licc Station and Gquipmcnt Ciry Citv

l, evec aud related easemc7its Keelamation District 17 Reclamation District 17

1] The potential trail along the levee adjacent open space shown on Figure 3. 10 will be funded by a capital
unprovement fee program and constructed by the Cit.

Interpretation ofSpecific Plan Two of the prvnary objectives of the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan- 2 Amendment_are:

Amendments to the Specific Plan, including the
Design Guidelines,  may be proposed by a

to maintain fleYibility and the ability of the
developer or property o vner or initiated by the

Cit- and property o vners to react quickly to
City, and shall be processed in accordance with changes in the marketplace, and

the provisions described in this chapter.

Pagc 8- 9

627



Central]. athrop Specific Plan— Yhase 2 Amc idment hapter} i,ight Implementation

to ensure, to the extent reasonably possible,       those proposals by which a developer or
the ultimate development of the CI.,SP- 2 land owner, in response to changing
Amendment at the overall level of intensity conditions of development or the

of land use assumed in the CLSP- 2 availability of new technologies,

r mendment as approved.   proposes to modify the initially-
approved phasing plan provided b}- a

The latter objective is intended to ensure the developer demonstrates,    to the

recovery of infrastructure investments made in satisfaction of the Public Works Director

reliance on such assumed intensities and densiries.    and the Community Development

To achieve these two objecrives, the City intends Lllitector,    that the infrastructure

that the CLSP- 2 Amendment be interpreted and improvements necessary to adequately
applied with as much flesibility and creativity- as is sen e the developing portion of the site
permissible vithin the reasonable scope of the will be provided in a timely manner.
language of the CLSP- 2 Amendment.   ' here Such proposals shall be deemed to be in
these t vo objectives can be achieved through the substantial conformity with the CLSP- 2
reasonable interpretarion of the CLSP- 2 Amendment.

mendment,   rather than through formal

amendment, such interpretarions is desirable and those by which a developer or land
favorable over amendment.  . ccordingly, formal o vner seeks to modify trail alignments,
amendments shall not be necessary- where a fence locations or types,  or similar

specific development proposal is in " substantial CLSP- 2 Amendment features in

conformity" w-ith the CLSP- 2 Amendment.   common areas such as parks, trails, and
other public amenities.  Such proposal

The Community Development Director may shall be deemed to be in tiubstantial

deterinine that a specific development proposal is
conformity-     « ith the CLSP- 2

in substanrial conformit  vith the CLSP- 2 r mendment unless the proposal is
Amendment, where, considering all aspects of the fundamentally inconsistent  vith the

proposal, the he/ she determines that the proposal development patterns envisioned in the
will further the objectives and policies of the CLSP- 2 Amendment in terms of the

CLSP- 2 Amendment and not obstruct their general locations of public amenities,
attainment.   Such as proposal need not be in trail locarions and alignments, and other

perfect conformity with each and very- provision private land uses.
of the CLSP- 2 Amendment policy, provided it is
consistent with the intent and basic objectives,       those by which a developer or land
policies, general land uses, and programs specified owner seeks to add new architectural

in the CLSP- 2 r mendment.     Where die styles oY planning concepts to the Design
Community Development Director determines Guidelines.      Such proposal might

that a particular development proposal is not in include, but not necessarily be limited to,
substantial conformity w7th the CLSP- 2 changes in permitted builciing materials

mendment, the land ownet mal; ing the proposal or detailing,  addiuonal design styles,

has the right to appeal that deterirunation to the changes to plant palettes, and different
Planning Commission and, if necessary, to the entry concepts.  Proposal for such new

Ciry Council.       architectural styles or planning concepts
shall be accompanied b5  a written

The following general categories of proposals description of the style,  a schematic

shall necessarily be determined to be in substanrial drawing,    and an illustration of

conformity with the CLSP- 2 r3mendment, being:    architectural or planning elements that

Pagc 8- 10

628



Central L, athrop Spccific Plan— Yhase 2 i\ mendment Chapter I; ight: [ mpicmentation

typify the proposed style or concept.
Such proposal shall be deemed to be in
substantial conformity with the CLSP- 2
Amendment unless the new architectural

style or planning concept is

fundamentally inconsistent with the

aestheuc ision embodied in the original

Design Guidelines.

Specific Plan Consistency and
Enforcement

Any violation of the requirements of the CLSP- 2
Amendment as adopted by the City Council shall
be enforced in the same manner as a violation oE

the Municipal Code.

Pa; c 5- 11

629



Chapter Nine: Financing

Introduction backbone infrastructure, community facilities, and

public services in the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan
Development in the CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan

rea.  These mechanisms include but are not
Area is to be constructed and maintained through

limited to:
a combination of financing mechanisms.  This

chapter describes a preliminary Financing Plan and
Community F acilities Districts,  Assessment

identifies various financing options that may be Districts,   Benefit Districts,   Infrastructure

utilized to unplement the CLSP- 2 Amendment.  
Financing Districts,   and Joint Powers

Arrangements for capital construction.

Financing Plan

The funding mechanisms for unprovements within
Lighting and Landscape Illistricts, Community

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area may include
Facilities Districts,    other maintenance

development impact fees and fee credits, private
assessment districts, and/ or user charges for

financing and reimbursements,   Mello- Roos ongoing operation and maintenance purposes.

community facilities and assessment districts, and
Principle 3 — The City may enter into a Joint

other public and private strategies. Po vers greement with the County, State, or an

Once City staff, the Deeeloper( s), and other public
other appropriate governmental agencies that

entities agree upon specific improvements and
facilitates the financing of infrastructure

faciliries that need to be constructed in the CLSP-  Provements.

2 r mendment Plan Area,  appropriate funding Principle 4— The City shall establish appropriate
mechanisms will be identified for each individual

reimbursement mechanisms in the event that the
improvement and facility.      

CLSI 2 Amendment I lan r rea is required to pay

The following principles shall govern the for oversizing of backbone infrastructure or public

implementation of the Financing Plan unless
facilities beyond its faic share to the benefit of

other vise stated in an applicable Development existing or other new development in the Cit,y-.

Agreement:
Principle 5   —   The City shall consider

Principle 1 — Ne v development in the CLSP- 2 Plementing fiinding and reimbursement

Plan Axea shall be required to pay its o vn way.  
mechanisms to help facilitate the fair allocarion of

There shall be no cost to the City' s esisting
backbone infrastructure and public facilities

residents for facilities or services necessary to ser re construction costs among the various landowners

the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan rea. All costs of
in the CLSP- 2 r mendment Plan Area.

municipal ser ices Yelated to the CLSP- 2, be they Principle 6 — The Cit will reasonably assist
on- site ot off-site, shall be borne by the individual

developers in the CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan rea
development.

in obtaining public financing for construction of

Principle 2  —  The Cit  will consider the both on- and off- site public improvements.

establishment of appropriate public financing Principle 7 — The City may help fund public
mechanisms to help finance the inirial

pro ements such as the levee adjacent open
development and ongoing maintenance of

1' agc 9- 1

630



space benefiting the entire population of the City.  facilities, and community services include, but are
These improvements may be supplemented by not limited to:

including them in the Capital Improvement Fee
Program.    Irafra tructure Financina Districts

Updates ofFinancingPlan
An Infrastructure Financing District   ( IFD)

allocates a portion of new property taaes to pay for
Updates of the Financing Plan shall occur as capital itnprovements.   Essentially,   when ta

signiFicant new informarion becomes available increment financing is utilized,   subsequent

regarding backbone infrastructure and public increases in taY revenues are set aside for the use

facilities cost esumates, land uses, and funding of the financing district. A requirement of an IFD
strategies.    An administrarion- and- monitoring is that it is used only in areas that are substantially
process shall be established to provide for underdeveloped.  Formarion of an IFD and

implementation and updaung of the Financing issuance of bonds is contingent upon the two-

Plan.  tllirds approval of the registered voters or property
o vners in the area.

Financing/ Fiscal Measures
Facilities eligible per Government Code section

Various financing measures could be utilized to
53395. 3 for financing through an IFD include the

implement both the development and the
following facilities:

operation and maintenance of backbone

infrastructure,  public facilities,  and community High vay interchanges,    bridges, arterial

services.  streets, parl ing facilities and transit facilities

Before the recordation of any tentative tract map Sewage treatment and water reclamation
vithin the boundaries of the CI, SP- 2, appropriate

plants and interceptor lines
financing mechanisms will be established to ensure
adequate funding of capital improaements is Y ater collection and treatment facilities for

available at the time when the improvements need urban use

to be constructed. Payment schedules and sources

of funds for the repayment of any proposed debt Flood control structures

vill be identified for each such mechanism.

Child care facilities

Ongoing special tax and/ or assessment revenues
are to be earmarked to fund operations and Libraries

services in the CLSP- 2 r menciment Plan rea. The

level of public facilities and services in the CLSP- 2 Parks, recreauonal facilities and open space

r mendment Plan rlrea are to be of the same or

higher quality as presendy being provided
Solid waste transfer and disposal facilities.

elsewhere in the City. Such ongoing operational
concerns would include police and fire services,
park and road maintenance, and other municipal
services generally provided in a cin-.

The various mechanisms that may be used to
implement the development and the operation and

maintenance of backbone infrastructure, public

Pagc 9- 2

631



Capital Facilities Pee.c operarion and maintenance of street rights of ways

and other public unprovements.
A range of Capital Facilities Fees ( CFF has been

established in the City of Lathrop.  for funding of GeiteralO ligation Borad.r
sewer,    drainage,    environmental mitigation,

transportation, culture and leisure, and municipal In 1986, vith the passage of Proposition 46, cities
service facilities.    Some of the backbone and counties were empowered with the right to

infrastructure and public facility improcements issue general obligation bonds. General obligation
that need to be constructed in the CI.,SP- 2 area fall bonds,  which are repaid with revenues from

into the CFF category.    increased property tases, may be used to finance
land acquisition and construction of capital

Special Taxe. r improvements. A general obligation bond requires
a t vo- thirds voter approval.

Special ta es ty ically are generated through
formation of I lello Roos Community Facilities entte Bonc(s
Districts or other similar mechanisms. F ormation

of Mello Roos Districts require approval by t o-  Cities, counties, and some special districts can issue

thirds of the property owners or the electorate bonds to finance facilities for revenue- producing
within the proposed district boundary if there are enterprises such as water and sewer improvements,

twelve or more registered resident voters.  The golf courses, harbors, etc.  The bonds are repaid
special taYes generated from I Iello Roos Districts solely from the revenues generated by the financed

may be used to pay for purchase, construction,  faciliry. Revenue bond issuance may require voter
espansion,    improvement,    operations and authorization.

maintenance, or rehabilitation of real property with
a useful life of five years or more. Alternarively, the

j a rea Deve opmerzt Im act Fees

special taxes can be used to fund the debt service

Generally paid at the time of building permit,
for bonds that have been issued for financing of

development impact fees may be charged for
such improvements.       

construction of facilities benefiting the affected

SpecralAssessments
area.   nexus study is rEquired to justify the
imposirion of the plan area development impact

Most of the special assessment acts provide for the fees. ' I'he City can adopt the fees through approval
issuance of bonds.  These bonds generally are of an ordinance and/ or resolution.

secured b the property in the district, and the
bonded indebtedness is repaid with the money

Tl irclParty. rsistance

generated through the assessments.  Some of the

Some costs may be eligible for outside financing
most common types of special assessments are

assistance. For example, schools and libraries may
outlined in the Improvement Act of 1911, the

be partially financed by state contributions.
Municipal Improvement Act of 1913, and the

Improvement Bond rlct of 1915.       Private DeueloperF'i taraczytg

Landscape andLighting Di.rtric ts In addition to the use of public financing
mechanisms, private developers in the CLSP will

The most commonly known and widely used
be required to pap for a significant portion of the

special assessment is a Landscape and Lighring backbone infrastructure and public faciliues
District, enabled by the Landscape and Lighting de elopment costs.
Act of 1972 ( Streets and Highways Code Section

22500 et ea•). A Landscape and Lighring District
Financ7ng of Ongoing Operation andMaintenance

may be formed to assist in funding of the ongoing

Page 9- 3

632



Financing of ongoing operation and maintenance U.rerFee. r

of the public facilities and services is another
important element of the overall financing I' rimarily charged by utility providers, user fees

program for the CLSP. The City is to operate and  .       may be charged to pay for the cost of sen-ices. For

maintain all public facilities in the CLSP with the
example,  the City,  through its Public Works

exception of those operated and maintained by
vepartment, will determine and assess a user fee

special service providers.   For eYample,   the
for water and sewer services in the CLSP- 2

reclamation district maintains levees.   
mendment Plan Area.

A Landscape and Lighting District or a I Tello Roos
Kegional Trcrn.+ iortation I%eee

CFD Services District may be formed to assist in
In 1990, San Joaquin voters passed the Measure K

funding of the ongoing operation and maintenance Ordinance and Espenditure Plan ( Measure K),
of street rights of ways and other components.      W ch establishes and implements a 1/ 2- cent sales

tax for transportation purposes up to year 2011.
A detailed operation and maintenance budget is to

Measure K provides for the unplementation of the
be developed for each public facility and service

San Joaquin E penditure Plan,  resulting in
prior to the recordation of the first tentarive tract

county-wide transportation facility and ser- ice
map in the CLSP-?. The budget vill identify the

provements including highway, public transit,
appropriate sources of funds and the agencies

railroad grade crossing,   and passenger rail
responsible Eor maintenance and operation of the

improvements.
facilities and services.

In addition,    the San Joaquin Council
The City intends to utilize a variety of financing Governments, the regional planning agency for
measures for operation and maintenance. iliese

San Joaquin County,  established a county vide
measures include but are not limited to:       

regional transportation impact fee   ( R"I'IF.

Prof erty Tcrxe. r

trgation Fees

I'he City receives a portion of the 1- percent Payment of fees may be required to mitigate the

property ta paid by all residential and commercial pact( s) that the development of the CLSP- 2 has

property o vners within the City limits. 1 s the on the environment and esisting development.

CI,SP de elops, the incremental property tai is to
be used to pay for the services requited by new

Specicrll. rsess nestt

residents. In addition, existing special districts, like
Special assessments may be charged to the CLSP-

the Lathrop- I lanteca Fire District, that also receive 2 lmendment users to pay for operation and
a direct allocation of the 1- percent propert ta,  

maintenance of public infrastructure.  Special
will use the incremental taxes to provide required

assessments cannot e ceed the cost of providing
services. Property taxes are likely to be the primar  services and are limited to special beneFt

funding source for operation and maintenance of
propertics subject to the assessment received. T'he

the special districts.
most commonly known and widel used special
assessment is a Landscape and Lighting District,

Sale Ta es

enabled by the Landscape and Lighting r ct of 1972
Retail establishments in the CLSP- 2 rlmendment Streets and F- ighways Code Section 22 00 et seq.).

Plan 1rea generate sales tax revenues for the City.
These taXes, of which the City receives a large

S ieczal Taxe. r

portion, are to be used by the City to pa,y for
sello Roos Community Facilities Districts ( CFD)

services provided to its ne v and e isting residents.  also allo v for collection of special tases to fund

Page 9- 4

633



operations and maintenance of facilities built or recendy been established. Further investigation of
financed with CFD bond proceeds. The operations potential funding sources is appropriate. FIo vever,
and maintenance costs funded by the special taxes since the availability of funding from these sources
have to be new costs associated with the new is unknown, it has not been assumed that these

development. The special taxes cannot be used to sources would be available for development

replace general fund revenues.   financing.

Dedicatioras and Exactions An eaample would be the EIFD for funding 200-
y ear flood control improvements for the Fix in

Under the Subdivision Map Act, developers may Place Project.
be required to dedicate land or make cash

payments for public facilities required or affected
ReimbursementAgreements

by their project ( e. g., Yoad right- of-wa fronting
individual properties).   Dedications are typically Each benefiting property in the CI, SP- 2

made for road and utility rights- of-wa}, park sites,  lmendment Plan r rea is required to pay its fair
and land for other public facilities.     Cash share of the backbone infrastructure and public
contributions are made for other public facilities facilities construction,  maintenance,  and land

that are directly required by their projects ( e. g.,  
acquisition costs. I'o the extent a developer or

payments for a traffic signal).    landowner may be required to dedicate land for

public purpose; fund the acquisition, construction,
Developr tentll reemertts or operation and maintenance,  or othercvise

contribute to the provision of public facilities
The City and developers in the CLSP- 2 may enter

and/ or services ( including the oversizing of such
into development agreements.  These agreements

facilities); finance the preparation of this Specific
outline responsibilities for financing and

Plan amendment and the processing of the related
construction of backbone infrastructure and public

entidements including anne ation; or incur costs
facilities,  as  vell as for funding of ongoing related to the legal defense of such entitlements in
operations and maintenance of the facilities and

e cess of his or her fair share to the benefit of other
services in the CLSP-? I mendment Plan r rea.  

properties, a revnbursement mechanism shall be
I"hc Cit  may design and build the required

executed to ensure a fair- share cost allocauon
infrastructure and public facilities and fund the

among all properties.     The reimbursement
construction through collection of development

mechanism can be in the form of a benefit or
impact fees, issuance of bonds,  or any other

another type of a financing district, a private or
appropriate financing mechanism. If a developer is

public reimbursement agreement,  and/ or any-
required to design and build the improvements, fee

other appropriate arrangement that can guarantee
credits and acquisirion agreements with the City or a fair allocation of costs.
other public agencies may- be utilized along with
issuance of bonds, pri ate fmancing, and other

fair share cost allocation shall be implemented

funding mechanisms.     

through the Financing Plan for on- and off-site
improvements, based on net costs aftex accounung

Federal and State Grarat'   
for any Federal, State, regional, ox other public

The Cin has in the past received funding for public funding that may have been obtained.
facilities from other levels of government,
including the State and federal government.
Historically,  these funding sources were more
available;  however,  several sources of grant
funding still remain and several new programs have

Page 9- 5

634



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

New text is shown by underline; deleted text is shown by * r;' o*, r^„,

Chapter 17. 62 Central Lathrop Zoning Districts

Article 6. IL- CL: Limited Industrial Zonin District

17. 62. 061 Purposes and application.

The IL- CL district is intended to provide opportunities for certain types of limited industcial
uses to provide adec ate space to meet the needs of modern industrial development, includin off-
street parkin and tcuck loading areas; and to provide industrial employment opportunities fior
residents of the citv and region. The IL desi nation accommodates a wide ran r job - eneratin

uses, inc( uding business parks; clean li ht industrial; research and development R& D); science.

technology, en ineerin, and math ( STEM; tech/ biotech manufacturing; high- teeh services that
incorporate some combination of assembly, warehousin, and/ or sales, hospitals and other hea( th

care- related uses, varehouses and distribution centers.

ecial provisions a plv to properties located between Dos Reis Road and De Lima Road. See
Section 17. 62. 068.

17. 62. 062 Permitted uses.

A.   Li ht industrial and related uses, includin

1.    Off-street parkin lots improved in conformitv with Chapter 17. 76;

2.    Assembly of small electric a pliances, such as liglltin tixtures, irons, fans, toasters and
electric toys, refri erators, washin machines, dryers, dishwashers and similar home

appliances;

3.    Assembly of small electrical equipment. such as home motion picture eql ip nent,
stereos. video cameras and cadio and television receivers but not includin electrical

machinerv;

4.    Manufacture of scientific, medical, denta( and drafti instruments, orthopedic and

medical appliances,  cameras and photo raphic equipment,  except film,  electronic

equipment, musical instruments, precision instruments, optical oods, watches and

clocks;

5.    Manufacture of ceramic products. such as potter urines and small lazed ti( e;

6.    Manufacturin, assemb( in 7.,, compoundin, packa in and processin of cosmetics,

dru s, pharmaceuticals.( not includin re   tinin„,7 or renderin of fats or oils) and toi( etries:

635



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark-Up ATTACHMENT 4

7.    Manufacture and assembly of electrica( supplies, such as coils, condensers, crystal

holders, insulation, lamps, switches and wire and cable assemblv, provided no noxious
or offensive fumes or odors are produced:

8.    Manufacture of cutlerv, hardware, hand tools and furniture. dve and pattern making,
metal stamping and extrusion of small products, such as costume jewelr pins and
needles, razor blades. bottle caps. buttons and kitchen rtensils;

9.    Manufacturin, assemblin . compoundin packa in , c  rating and processing of articles
or merchandise from the followin  previousl prepared materials:  bone,  canvas,

cello,phane, cellulose, cloth, cork, feathers, felt, fiber and synthetic fiber, fur, ( ass. hair,

horn, leather, paint ( not emplovin, a boilingprocess), paper, plastics, precious or semi-
precious metals or stones, rubber and svnthetic rubber, shell, straw, textiles, tobacco and
vood:

10.  Manufacturin, assemblin , compounding, processin;, packagin or treatment ofi such

products as bakery ; oods, candy, dairy products, food products, including fruits and
vegetables, but not includina fish and meat products, pickles, sauerkraut, vineagr or

yeast, or refining oc renderin of fats and oils;

11.  Blacksmith shops, boat building, electric motor rebuilding, machine shops and paint
shops;

12.  Gasoline service stations,  including dispensin  of diesel,  natural  as,  and  ( iquid

petroleum gas fuels and complete truck service;

13.  Lumber yards, includin plannin mills and saw mills; mattress manufacture; storage

yards for commercial vehicles or feed; tlour, feed and ; eain mills;, grain elevators;

14.  Man fact re and maintenance of electric and neon siUns. billboards and commercial

advertisin structures;

15.  Public utilitv and pub( ic service structures and facilities, such as communications
eqliipment buildin s, electric distribution substations, electric transmission si bstations.

as re, ulator stations, pumping stations, public utilitv service yards, corporation acds,

railcoad ri hts- of-way and stations. reservoirs and storaae tanks:

16.  Public buildin s and grounds.

17.  Incidental and accessory structures and uses such as retail, office, etc., located on the

same site as a permitted use;

18.  Wineries and wine cellars, small, medium and lar

19.  Business parks and incubator spaces;

20.  Research development industry and business sup ort services;

636



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

21.  Warehouse and distribution facilities;

22.  Other uses which are added to this list according to the procedure i Section 17. 16. 020.

17. 62. Ob3 Permitted uses— Administrative approval required.

A.   T' he followin;  uses mav be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 108:

1.    Gas and electric transmission lines in accordance with Section 17. 108. 080:

2.    Watchpersons' livin- quarters incidental to and on the same site with a permitted limited
industrial use;

3.    Mobile or modular offices in accordance with the requirements of mobile or modular

offices;

4.    Other uses tivhich have been added to this list according to tlle procedure i
Section 17. 16. 020;

5.    Temporary uses pursuant to Section 17. 108. 090.

17. 62. 064 Conditional uses

A.   The followin  uses mav be permitted in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17. 1 12:

l.    Hospitals;

2.    Bulk storage and deliver. quefied petroleum 

3.    Fxcavations accordin to the requirements of Chapter l 7. 88;

4.    Expansion, remodelin, or additions to a conditional use that are not co lsidered an

incidental or accessocy use as defined in Section 17. 04. 080;

5.    Outdc or vendin stalls for the sale or trade of ne v and used articles at specitied ti nes

ofi the day and week as either a temporar pecmanent use of land;

6.    Other uses which are added to this list accordin 7 t e pcocedure in Section 17. 16. 020;

17. 62. 065 Property development standards.

All uses shalf be consistent witl Article 12, Development Standards, of this chaptec. Where

development standards are not specifica( Iy identified in this document, reference the citv of

637



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

Lathrop Zoning Ordinance.

17. 62. 066 Site plan and architectural design re iew.

No use shall be erected on any lot or site in anv IL distcict until a site plan and architectural
plans shall have been submitted to and approved by the city pursuant to the provisions of
Chapters 17. 100 and 17. 104.  Desi n review is required for all proposed structures, whether
residential or nonresidential,  together with related site plans,  landscapin,  and public
improvements associated with new development within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
area.

17. 62. 067 Citv Council Review.

All development proiects proposed north of Dos Reis Road and South of De Lima Road shall
obtain a Conditio lal Use Permit. PropertY located in this area is subject to discretionary review bX
the City Council with recommendation from the Plannin Commission. Proposed developtnent

and uses mav be pertnitted in accordance with the provisions of Cha ter 17. 1 12, except that the
City Counci( serves as the final reviewin authorit

17. 62. 068 General provisions and exceptions.

All uses shall be subject ta the general provisions and exceptions in Chapter 17. 16, except if
a development project is proposed north of Dos Reis Road and South of De Lima Road, the
Planning Gommission serves as a recommendin bodv to the City Co ncil. The Citv Co u cil
reserves the ringt to provide discretionary review.

The community development director mav approve use interpretations and minor deviations
elated to 'the zoning herein.

638



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

Article 12. Non- Residential Development Standards

Table 17. 62. 120 A Central Lathrop Specific Plan: Non- Residential Site Development Standards

Office Neighborhood Park( P- CL)      Residential Public/ Semi- Public/

Commercial Commercial Mixed- Use Neighborhood

CO- CL)  NGCL)   R/ MU- CL) Commercial

P/ SP/ NGCL

Lathrop
a' 0 n/ a' 0 0

Center District

Golden Valley
0 l0 n/ a n/ a'  n/ a'

Parkway
Other Streets 10 n/ a' 10 n/ a 10

Other

Setbacks

Front, Rear

and Side 0 0 0 0 0

Yards

Height

Re uirements

Maximum

Building 75 45 45 65 45

Hei ht'

Special Tower
a 70 70 70 70

Elements

Minimum

Building n/ a 15 1 IS 15

Hei ht

Building
Se aration

Standard Per CBC' Per CBC' Per CBC' Per CBC s Per CBC'

Pedestrian
15 IS 15 15 15

Access Width

Lot Size and

Covera e

Minimum
None None None None None

Parcel Area

Minimum
None None None None None

Width

Minimum
None None None None None

De th

Maximum
0. 60 0. 60 0. 60 4. 0 0. 60

FAR

Maximum
70%       60%       70%      90% 70%

Covera e

Off-Street

Parkin

Remainder of   
stall per 400 net usable sq. ft. for office; other uses per Chapter ( 7. 76 of the Lathrop Municipal CodeCLSP

Notes to Table 17. 62. 120

1 n/ a= not applicable.

2 Building or parking area fronting any public street - measured from property line or right- of-
way.

639



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

3 Exceptions to maximum height may be granted through Design Review for towers, steeples,
cupolas, dormers, flagpoles and other architectural elements.

4 Minimum width between structures when pedestrian access way provided.
5 California Bui( din Code.

6 Reductions of parking standards may be granted for shared parking subject to approval of a
parking study concurrent with Design Review.

Table 17. 62. 120 B Central Lathrop Specific Plan: [ ndustrial Development Standards

IL-CL

Minimlun Parcel Size ( sfl 5, 000

Minimt m Lot

W idth 50'

Depth 100'

Street Fronta e 50' 

Minimum setbacks

Front Yard 15'

Side Yard 0' 2}

Rear Yard 0' '

Distance Between Structures Per CBC

Maximum Lot Covera e 70%

Maximum Buildin Height 76' '

Landscape Requicements 4

Landscape Covera e
10%

Minimu n) 
5

Per Lathrop Zonin
Parkin Requirements

p dinance, Chapter 17J6

Per Master Signa e

Si na e Pro ram, and/ or

Chapter 17. 84

Footnotes to ' I able 17. 62. 120 B:

Minimum standards may need to be revised based on parcel confi; uration and proposed land
use; Community Development Director to approve minor deviations.

l) Those sites with public street fronta e on a curve or cul- de- sac may have fronta es of not
ess than 40', provided that the width of the site as rneasured along the front ard setback line is

at least 50'.

640



Central Lathrop Zoning Districts— Chapter 17. 62 Mark- Up ATTACHMENT 4

2) Except where abuttin an eKisting adjacent residential use, the minimi m setback shall be
1 S'.

3 The buildinQ hei ht shall be no greater than sevent - six 76) feet, unless a tal( er buildin

hei ht is determined to be warcanted by the approvi 1 authoritv.

4) For landscape standards reference Chapter 17. 92 of the Lathrop Municipal Code.

5) Measured as a percenta e of net lot acrea e.

Ord. 22- 431 § 1; Ord. 08- 276 § 1)

l

641



Attachment 5

Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text

Amendment No. TA- 23- 104

Environmental Checklist, prepared by De Novo Planning Group, dated
August, 2023

Due to the size of this document, it has not been reproduced in the

staff report.  A copy of the Environmental Checklist is available for

viewing and download on the City' s website at the following links:

Environmental Checklist without Appendices:

https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. us/ sitesJdefault/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity development/ pa e/ 5622/ lathrop ashley warehouse 15183 no

appendices. pdf

Environmental Checklist with Appendices:

https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. us/ sites/ default/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity developmentJpa eJ5622/ lathrop ashley warehouse 15183 cle

an. pdf

The Environmental Checklist can also be viewed at the following link:
https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. us/ com- dev/ pa e/ public- review- documents

Individuals that are unable to access the Environmental Checklist at the

website listed above or would require a computer disk or thumb drive

containing a copy of the document should contact Planning Staff at
plannin @ci. lathrop. ca. us or ( 209) 941- 7290 to obtain a copy.

642



ATT, C H I E NT "       "

CITY OF LATHROP

PLANNING COMiVIISSION RESOLUTION NO. 23- 12

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL FIND THE PROJECT EXEMPT FROM

FURTHER ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO PUBLIC RESOURCES

CODE SECTION 21083. 3 AND CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 151$ 3 AND ADOPT AN

ORDINANCE APPROVING THE CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2

AMENDMENT AND A MUNICIPAL CODE TEXT AMENDiVIENT TO CHAPTER

17. 62, CENTRAL LATHROP ZO1V' ING DISTRICTS OF THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL

CODE ( TA- 23- 104)

WHEREAS, Section 65450 et. sec. of the California Government Code provides for the
preparation and adoption of Specific Plans by general law cities for implementation of all ar part
of an adopted Generai Plan; and

WHEREAS, Section 65453 of the California Government Code provides that a Specific
Plan may be adopted or amended by either Resolution or Ordinance as provided by the local
jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase  Amendment and Zoning Code
Text Amendment applies only to Phase 2 ( the project) and does not in any way apply to the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 1 Project; and

WHEREAS, the AmendmenC to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it affects Central
I..athrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amenciment is a stand- alone document for the Phase 2 portion of
Central Lathrop; and

WHEREAS,  pursuant to Government Cade Section 65090,  notice of the Planning
Commission hearing was published in accordance with State law in at leask one newspaper of
general circulation within the City of Lathrop at least ten calendar days before the Planning
Commission' s public hearing; and

WHEREAS, prior to the CiCy' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the City
prepared an Environmentai Impact Report ( EIR) which analyzed the environmental impacts of
buildout under the General Plan Update pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act
CEQA) ( Publie Resourees Code SecCion 21000, et seq.}, and the Lathrop City Council certified

the General Plan Update Final EIR on September 19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 20211Q0139),;

and

WHEREAS, the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use af CEQA

exemptionlstreamlining provisions for projects developed under the General Plan Update,
including the proposed Project; and

Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 12 Page 1 of 6

643



WHEREAS, the proposed Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as it affects
the Phase 2 Project, is an amendment to the adopted 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, which
was adopted by Resolution No. 04- 1779 on November 9, 2004; and

WHEREAS, the City intends to retain the 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan as the
governing land use regulations for certain specified portions af the Specific Plan area including
properties within the Phase 1 Specific Plan area; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment amends Chapter 17. 62, Ceratral
L tthr-op Zoning Districts to implemcnt the Central Lathrap Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment;
and

WHEREAS, Chapter 17. 124 of the Lathrop Municipal Code mandates that the Planning
Commission transmit its recommendation to the City Council by resolution; and

WHEREAS, proper notice of this p ibiic hearing was given in all respects as required by
law including the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the Manteca Bulletin on or about
August 31, 2023 and mailed out to property awners located within a 300- foot radius from the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment Project area on August 31, 2023, emailed to
the City' s Public Hearing subscribers and interesCed parties and posted at three ( 3) locations

accessible to the public; and

WHEREAS, the Pianning Comnnission has utilized its own independent judgement in
adopting this Resolution.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Planning Commission of the City of
Lathrop does hereby make the following findings:

Section l.  This Resolution incorporates, and by this reference makes a part hereof, that
certain Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it affects the Central Lathrop Specific
Plan Phase 2 Amendment Project, as shown in Attachment 2 of the Planning Commission Staff
Report, relaCive to the proposed developmellt of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
Amendment Project area on certain real property consisting of approximately 724- acres located in
the City of Lathrop.

Section 2. California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Findings.  Pursuant to Public

Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the Planning Commission
finds as follows:

l.  The project complies with CEQA based on the CEQA exemption/ streamlining
provisions contained in Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines
section 15183;

Plannin Commission ReSotution No. 23- 12 Pabe 2 of 6

644



2.  Pursuant to the Planning Commission Staff Report and the attachments and exhibits
thereto, including but nat limited to, the Environmental Checklist, prepared by De
Novo Planning Group, dated August, 2423, which are incorporated herein by reference,
the proposed Project will not result in any significant impacts that: 1) are peculiar to
the project or project site; 2) were not identified as significant project- level, cumulative,
or off-site effects in the General Plan EIR; ar 3) were previously identified significant
effects, which as a result of substantial new information that was not known at the time

that the General Plan EIR was certified, are determined to have a more severe adverse

impact than discussed in the General Plan EIR.   As a result, pursuant to Public
Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the proposed
Project is exempt from further environmental review under CEQA.

3.  All applicable General Plan policy and implementation actions and uni ormly applied
development policies,  standards andlor regulations are,  hereby imposed on the
proposed project and must be adhered to by the Project applicant in accordance with
the Amendment to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan.  To the extent the City has not
previously made findings regarding any/ all of those referenced General Plan Update
policy and implementation aetions and unifarmly applied development policies,
standards and/ or regulations, the Pianning Commission hereby finds that all of those
General Plan Update policy and implementation actions and uniformly applied
development policies, standards and/ or regulations, were adopted, in whole or in part,
to substanCially mitigate the potential environmental effects to which they pertain ( i. e.,
aesthetics, agricultural and forest resources, air quality, biological resources, cultural
and tribal resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gases, climate change, and energy,
hazards and hazardous materials, hydrology and water quality, land use, population,
and housing,  mineral resources noise,  public services and recreation, circulation,
utilities and services systems, and wildfire).

Section 3.  Specific Plan Findings.  Pursuant to State of California Plannzng and Zoning
Law, the Planning Commission finds and deTermines as follows:

1.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan adopted pursuant to Resolutian No. 04- 1779
shall be in full force and effect as to that portion of the Specific Plan that covers Phase
1.

2.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Amendments for Phase 2 is consistent with the goals,  policies,  implementation

measures, and general land uses specified in the 2022 General Plan L'pdate because it
promotes job- generating land uses within the Phase 2 Amendment area and specifically
implements Implementation Measure LU- S. f of the General Plan, which requires the

City to update the Central Lathrop Specific Plan to be cansistent with the adopted
General Plan Update.

Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 12 Pa e 3 of 6

645



3.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Amendments is consistent with the goals, policies, impleznentation measures specified
in khe General Plan Update related to promoting the development of job- generating
land uses to support existing and future businesses. The Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment ensures that the City' s economic base will be strengthened by
promoting deve] opment which will create a variety of high quality long- term jobs and
shorter term construction jobs and encouraaes future developers to finance public
facilities for long- term infrastructure solutions and public services.  Additionally, the
2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as amended by the proposed Phase 2 Amendment
is consistent with the General Plan lipdate goals related to achieving visual and
functional quality of new development because it requires the provision of open space
within the planning area and the provision of landscape buffers between the Phase 2
area and sensitive receptors.

4.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Amendment,   is consistent with Che goals,  policies,   general land uses and

implementation measures specified in the General Plan Update because it ensures that

proposed land uses will receive an adequate level of public services, facilities and
protection by implementing the goals and policies of the Public Facilities and Services
and Public Safety Elements of the General Plan.

5.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Amendment,  is consistent with the goals,  policies,  general land uses,  and

implementation measures specified in the General Plan Circulation Element because it

ensures that streets and highways will be constructed in accordance with the Traffic

iVlonitoring Program to serve the new development.

6.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed retated
Amendments,  is consistent with the goals,  policies,  general land uses,  and

implementation measures specified in the Environmental Justice Element because it

ensures that measures are in place tQ pramote land use and development patterns that
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, enhance air quality, and reduce climate change
impacts.

7.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan,  as modified by the proposed related
Amendments,  is consistent wikh the goals,  policies,  general land uses and
impiementation measures of the General Plan beca ise it will promote orderly
development of the plan through flexible phasing which is tied to the provisions o[
suppocting infrastructure capacity in the construction of off-site infrastructure
improvements.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as modified by the proposed
related Phase 2 Amendment, provides for the construction of roadways to provide
improved access to the project and adjacent properties, and the extension of utilities
such as water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage facilities necessary to accommodate
the project.

Pianning Commission Resolution No. 23- 12 Pa e= f 6

646



8.  The 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as modifzed by the proposed related Phase 2
Amendment, is consistent with the goals, policies and implementation measures af the
General Plan Public Safety Element because it ensures that al[  new buildings

construction shaIl conform to the latest Califarnia Building Code and seismic
standards, gives priarity to support police protection, and to fire suppression, and
implements practices and rebulations which avoid hazardous land use relationships.

Section 4.  Code Text Amendment Pindinas. Pursuant to State of California Planning and
Zoning Law, the Planning Commission finds and determines as follows:

1.  The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment is consistent with the City' s General Plan
Update, as enumerated in the Consistency Findings in the Staff Report.

2.  The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment furthers the public interest, convenience,
and general welfare of the City by implementing the Central Lathrop Specific Phase 2
Amendment. The amendments would ensure consistency with the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment,  General Plan, and Lathrop Municipal Code and update the zoning
standards that are relevant to the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment.

Section S.  Upon adoption by the City Council, the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
Amendment applies only to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Project and does not change
Che adopted Central Lathrop Specific Plan as it applies to the balance of the CLSP area ( Phase 1};
and

Section 6.  Upon adoptian by the City Council, the Community Development Director is
hereby directed to retain said 2004 Central Lathrop Specific Plan, as rnodified by the proposed
related Amendments, on permanent public display in the Community Development Department,
Planning Division in the City of Lathrop.       

Section 7.  Based on the findings set forth in this Resolution, and the evidence in the Staff

Report, the Planning Commission hereby recommencis to the City Council that the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment be added to the 2004 Specific Plan as a stand- alone document

far Phase 2. These documents shall be subskantially in the form on file with the City Clerk.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, based on substantial evidence in the administrative record

of proceedings, its above findinbs, including the staff report and associated attachments, pursuant to
its independent review and consideration, the Planning Commission does hereby recommend the City
Council approve both the Central LaChrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment, as illustrated and
incorporated by reference as Attachment 2 of the Planning Commission Staff Report and Municipal
Code Text Amendment No. TA-23- 104 as illustrated and incorporated hy reference as Attachment 3
of the Planning Commission Staff Report.

Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 12 Paae 5 of 6

647



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Lathrop at a Special
meeting on the 13`

h
day of September, 2023 by the following vote:

AYES:  Ishihara, Camarena, Jackson, Rhodes

NOES:  None

ABSTAIN:    None

ABSENT:      Ralmilay

i

Tos I hihara, Ch` r

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ick C iat, Secretary Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Plannin Commission Resotution No. 23- 12 Paoe 6 of 6

648



TTA f i E 1 i ,°  -   «
e u,yy,

Victoria Brunn,

Manteta Unified Schoo) District Chief Business and Information Officer

vbrunn@musd. net(( 2091858- 0764

c OQ w

September 28, 2023
El aard of`In st es

tari• 1- rc s,,      

VIA E- MAIL( NARGAS( C CLLATHROP. CA. USt)$ c U. S. MAILPrr>rdtnf

ath} f', p l, t fi: tl
4 iz Yr ar 7er+ t Mcl}/ Ot" atlC ilt}/ ' i0U 1C1

a= r      City of Lathrop
1^      Attn: City Clerk

1' r"'""""'      

390 Towne Gentre Dr.
ti,:,, i. <;,,,,,      

Lathrop, CA 95330ii7, } t,, w,

5trphcti!. ehluer

tiu}2 rinir icleirt Re: Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 Amendment and Code Text
f"`" 1`''    

Amendment: Limi#ed Industrial Zoning Districts and Lathrop Municipal
Code. Location: The Central Lathro S ecific Plan Phase 2 AmendmenttUl_ 11 Y iI11Cl1cI4111 p
area is located generally north of Dos Reis Road, west of S. Manthey Road i

and Interstate 5, east of the San Joaquin River, and south of the existing
tiuperintrncl nt'. t:ahi iet City Limits.

iehrn.e[ rixitn

rr:, r r r, rr,:,: r rrr r,; r a1,       

Honorable Mayor and City Councii Members:
I( fite r

i,,,, r.. t The proposed amendments to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan have the potential to
L i ;,, Ft+ Fr; f':, j= r impact the District.  The proposed zoning changes are immediately adjacent to Lathrop

i;`' t"       

High Schaol. The proposal includes changes to the entire area north of Dos Reis to non-
r:' f'`""`"'`"' }`""`"``"",      

residential and industrial land use.  Lathrop High School at its location will continue to be
f,'"'"       

part of the community and it is imperative that the separation of uses guidelines andut„ Il;, c,

policies in the CLSP include careful consideration of circulation, site design, noise, and
I>>rcutiv Cabir rt O( Of.

The District has reviewed the amendments and is suppartive of the landscape buffer1) ir! lydc' ut a• ri rtcs

requirements that will be included along Dos Reis Road and the requirements of an 8- foot
r ro,:;,, f,,,, x;,, rr.      foot soNd wall with the addition of 8-faot paved sidewalks on the north and south sides of

tl E: i, r,..;>>.      the roadway in this area to provide separation and improved pedestrian safety.   The
n.. Si t:,, r11. f,. r;., r proposed amendments detail limited industrial and therefiore does not anticipate uses that

require  # ruck dependence.  We request future projects be careful(y evaluated andn; rt;„ r=,<,,,,,, r r<<>;,      

conditioned to ensure there is limited truck traffic enerated.
t-,,., E, r<i 9

lr i r>>=,rt,, r Please let us know if there is any additional information needed from MUSD to assist in
the review process.  Do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions atr z rf,,, t,,, tr,, 4      

209j 858- 0858 ordeveloperfees@musd. net.
177i{% f' t l i' If,' flr

Iti,l E(<! 1' 1[' l. f' 1.).

I) t tilrf; rr t: tcJucr irrr rl      ,
5, 111C@C@ Ir

S lu al. tccn;+ rrt r!> ilir

Julir Fiull: ndrr

Oir'. li• r, th: i e- f. r ar nrrt     

v//'/ L/ l/     r i   —

t.
1iva uia Pcters

f ir t' Nr.L C, r Grh` a lr:, c      ICtOfla g( UI 1
1>, E,... 5,,„,      Chief Business and Information O cer

rr r,,,,; rx, r nr,       Manteca Unified school Distriet
t) u31a V' a, r visa

Ji3: 1; i;;l Srri irr,

Cc: Rick Cagivat, Directar Corrtmuniry Development, via email ( RCaaivat ci. lathron. ca. us l

P.O. Box 32 Phone( 209) 825- 3200
Manteca, CA 95336 Fax( 209} 858- 7570
2271 West Louise Avenue, Manteca, CA 95337 www. mantecausd. net649



ATT CHI ENT "  S     "

CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
x

H" F 

r „ E<

i  

n     aq, atiro   t`+   ,  

v I  
r r 4

p k   "  t

d c*Y,:' 7',   ,    

y: Yy/"
µ

6 g

b.. +.

z.

a P

QC
i.     N

f A        ($"   #!

u        

t,

va`'.,      Gi',/,
1  % N 

Q
r i      „ xr'      +{   ' a..

M
v.,  ,'       

r

CLSP- z AMENDMENT PLAN
r

k

AREA 2

1

r ,,.

W
ti  
Z
Q

a

DE IMA ROAD c

U
t

Z

DOS REIS ROAD I        `     ,
rr+ r         

pG
y

G x;   ri  z,       ";,
z

a   '
ti.,

SPA( AN WAY,      LATHROP ROAD

f^
x

Q Q ti  ,     ,   ,

f
1         "

i    Q    j.

s.
r P o a
ti        U

r w"

C r       

LEGEND

Existing Truck Route

CLSP- 2 Amendment Plan Area

N O R T H

Figure 3. 3

N.T. S. EXISTING TRUCK ROUTE PLAN

mac Y somps Central Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 Amendment
ENGMEERS PLNVNERS SURVEYORS

Lathrop C(4
s

650



CENTRAL LATHROP SPECIFIC PLAN PHASE 2 AMENDMENT
z                  t r     i,                      r,

q f '. x $ 
tx ,.: ;  '` w',       .  g    p

3  ,` 7       E        
T 3              1n y   aJn    

r     '' a,' S , n "`,`"  
z

3?  a' ?` ,% n&'" u,,,,," k  t r it    

r  ,       
N„, p

g   _,      F %     .      

r       `         Y'"' sn'   %    

i

z z
ti!`       '

s*' 

t'
p``";,

a,;.'      ,,

t  r a
x'  o

a.; •

a

Pzz:       3'    £'     *:
a'

a #   „+ +   b rr >

b   .    

CLSP- 2AMEN[ 7MENTPLAN  

AREA
r

k

a       r  ra rww ws •   wwi    w sr

c      

s

1

r

r r   =Q

l  
DE LIMA ROAD t

ti
Q

1
s •

z       .

DOS RE15 RC7AD
i

p
swi ii      r   rrrr

Na TRUCK ACGESS ON DOS REIS a  w

ROAD OR GOLDfN VALLEY PKWI` a  ,  

c  Y ;:.   

T xg
m    /  

i.  

r W.:,-

5PAR7ANWAY EA' MR4PROA
Y

s' a '':    
4

4,       

J'      4 d'  ,

p
9 t   ,

L Z
Su0•

2 Q Q    
o   , ;

C7

LECrE. trLl

Propos ed Truck Route

w w w r r  X.iSiltig TNC C OI1iC

PfOpOSCfi STAA ROIltB

CLSP- 2 Amendmeat Plan Area

N O FI T M
Figure 3. 11

N. S    PR POSED TRUCK ROUTE PLAN
mA Y[ sQ     Central Lathrop Specific Plan - Phase 2 Amendment
BN: NFE' i 9NINFRS JMEYOR$

Lathrop, Ca
d r.,  

H . ,   

651



ITEM 5. 3

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       CONTINUED DISCUSSION FROM OCTOBER 9,  2023

REGULAR MEETING REGARDING CONDITIONAL USE

PERMIT NO. CUP- 23- 08 AND SITE PLAN REVIEW NO.

SPR- 23- 09 FOR THE ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

RECOMMENDATION:     Council to Consider the Following:
1.  Testimony Presented During the Public Hearing

Held October 9, 2023;

2.  Adopt a Resolution to Find the Project Exempt

from Further Environmental Review Pursuant to

Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and

California Environmental Quality Act   ( CEQA)

Guidelines Section 15183; and

3.  Adopt a Resolution to Approve a Conditional Use

Permit and Site Plan Review for the Ashley
Furniture Project to Allow for the Construction of
an Approximately 1. 5 Million Square Foot

Concrete Tilt- Up Building Located within the

Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Area.

SUMMARY:

The applicant, Hodgdon Group Realty, Inc., is requesting a Conditional Use Permit
and Site Plan Review to allow for the development of a 1, 486, 607 sq. ft. concrete tilt-
up building on an 89. 82- acre property located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis
Road and Manthey Road and within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 area.
The proposed building will include a 24, 000 sq. ft. office, a 110, 260 sq. ft. retail outlet
and showroom and a 1, 352, 347 sq. ft. warehouse distribution center.

The project includes related on- and off-site improvements, including but not limited
to off- street parking,  lighting,  landscaping,  solid wall and wrought iron fencing,
outdoor employee break area, paving, and street improvements ( landscaping, curb,
gutter, and sidewalk).

The Planning Commission and staff recommend that City Council consider all
information provided and submitted, take and consider all public testimony and, if

determined to be appropriate, adopt a Resolution to find the project exempt from
further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 and adopt a
Resolution to approve the Conditional Use Permit ( CUP- 23- 08) and Site Plan Review

SPR- 23- 09) for the Ashley Furniture Project.

652



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PR07ECT

SITE DESCRIPTION:

The project site is located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis Road and Manthey
Road, north of terminus of Golden Valley Parkway at Dos Reis Road.  The property
address is 14101 S. Manthey Road and has an Accessor Parcel Number ( APN) of 192-
020- 14).  The project site is 89. 82- acres in size and is generally flat and historically
been used for agricultural purposes.     The site has been planned for urban

development and is within the CLSP Phase 2 area.  Planned infrastructure extensions

will be constructed to the site for public water, sewer and stormwater.   The City' s
General Plan designates the project site for Light Industrial ( LI) land uses, and will

be zoned IL- CL,  Limited Industrial.    The project site is bounded by agricultural
properties to the north, Manthey Road and Interstate 5 ( I- 5) to the east, Dos Reis

Road and ranchette properties to the south and agricultural properties to the west.
The table below depicts the surrounding land uses of the project site:

Land Use Zoning District General Plan ( GP)

Desi nation

North
Agricultural Properties, IL- CL, Limited LI- CL, Limited Industrial

Cit of Lathro ond Industrial

Vacant Properties and CO/ DS- CL,   OC- CL, Office

Ranchette Properties Commercial Office Commercial, and R/ MU-

South
Dos Reis Road R/ MU/ DS- CL,   CL, Residential Mixed

Residential/ Mixed Use

Use

Manthey Road and CC, Central CC, Central commercial

Interstate 5 Commercial, R- 1- 5 and LD, Low Density
One Family Residential ( across I- 5

East
Residential Highway)

R- 1- 5, R One

Family Residential
across I- 5

Hi hwa

West
Agricultural Properties IL- CL, Limited LI- CL, Limited Industrial

Industrial

653



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO.IECT

Location Map:

y       s   `---,^      ,     `""      
n'

w

r
d

j          

P        

l     ' ^   °       
x

a*       

gA;

i Ft
t,

r u,.  ''    
u ti

n

w
n

a"        

i

t

v      ":-"

4   

t« E

n    t

r f"" t''.^'jy",''  v+ ep,      s'*=.'"" 

i 9    z-^*"`„^'    
q

3       ..
y 

1 ik. 
i

i   ".,}{ ia   a       w.';,},    ""
f      

k; r,.     k q

i   "*  
s`   

P.  i      :
z

a

4

fi
e;,;       .   .,-,.*

a.,',"• t  ''•`
h    ""  

n, ,   '°    ",   

e "&, #

r  -       ,

U'`
e

e "!.'  d"`  ' R
r

r:    b:  

a""     .
y„.+*"`, u'', y    

w '.
A

q^

w e '       " r j'   " yy, a M.

a^  z„-

1

a    

s       

t   ,°           '

a.,

y

r''  

s L 4{ 4 a
w      ' r t7t     ,  E .;  .

n y    

ry

a   .,! <   % ,      ,   -   ''  •                .
a:,,

BACKGROU N D:

The existing Ashley Furniture Outlet and Distribution Warehouse facility is located
within the Crossroads Industrial area at 18290 S. Harlan Road ( APN:  198- 130- 39),

just north of the Home Depot Distribution Center.  The 525, 000 sq. ft. sq. ft. concrete
tilt- up building was constructed in 2018 and includes a 50, 000 sq. ft. retail outlet and
distribution warehouse.

The Ashley Furniture Outlet and Warehouse serves as an Ashley Homestore and
Outlet and distribution center. The facility will serve Northern California and adjacent
States with regional offices and a call center.  The applicant informed staff that Ashley
Furniture' s business operation has outgrown its existing facility on S.  Harlan Road,

and it is expected that the facility will be unable to accommodate the future
operations anticipated for the company.  As such, the proposed project will support
the expansion needs of the company.  Upon completion of the proposed project and
relocation of the company to the new site, it is anticipated that subject to market

conditions, the S. Harlan Road site will be completely vacated and listed for lease or
sale.

654



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

The proposed project is located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase
2 area.   The CLSP was approved by the City Council on November 9, 2004.   The

project included certification of the Environmental Impact Report  ( EIR)  ( SCH#

2003072132), for the CLSP, adoption of the Specific Plan document, General Plan

Land Use Map amendments,  Zoning Map,  and text amendments to the Lathrop
Municipal Code  ( LMC).    The CLSP is separated into two  ( 2)  major phases of
development.   Phase 1 is generally located south of Dos Reis Road and includes a
High School, development of a regional park ( adjacent to the High School), residential

and commercial uses.   Phase 2 is located north of Dos Reis Road and previously
included development of residential and commercial uses, parks, and school sites ( K-
8).

The Lathrop General Plan Update in 2022 ( adopted by City Council on September 19,
2022) modified the Phase 2 area ( north of Dos Reis Road to the City limit boundary)
of the CLSP from Residential and Commercial Land Use Designations to Limited

Industrial. As a result of the newly adopted General Plan, the City is also initiating an
update to the Lathrop Municipal Code and Zoning Map to bring both into consistency
with the General Plan.   An Amendment to the CLSP for Phase 2 is being processed
by the City concurrently with the proposed Ashley Furniture Project.  The Amendment

would update the Specific Plan to provide development standards and design
guidelines for the development of limited industrial uses to be consistent with the
intent of the recently assigned Limited Industrial General Plan Land Use Designation.
As such, all aspects of the proposed project have been reviewed in relationship to the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 design criteria illustrated in Chapter 7, " Design

Guidelines" of the Specific Plan Amendment.

PLANNING COMMISSION:

On September 13,  2023,  the Planning Commission held a public hearing on the
proposed Conditional Use Permit ( CUP- 23- 08) and Site Plan Review ( SPR- 23- 09) for

the Ashley Furniture Project.      The Planning Commission received written

correspondence from Mr. Michael R. Lozeau of Lozeau Drury, LLP, representing the
Laborers' Union of North America, Local Union No. 73 ( LIUNA) regarding the Ashley
Furniture Project.    The comment letter incorrectly asserts that additional CEQA
analysis must be completed for the project.

With respect to the use of the exemption provisions provided under Section 15183 of
the CEQA Guidelines,  the City has applied these correctly to this project.   Public

Resources Code Section 20183. 3 and corresponding State CEQA Guidelines Section
15183 allows a streamlined environmental review process for projects that are
consistent with the densities established by existing zoning,  community plan or

general plan policies for which an EIR was certified.

655



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 5

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO) ECT

The Ashley Warehouse project is consistent with the uses and development intensities
established for the site under the City' s General Plan and Land Use Map.

As such, the application of CEQA to the approval of development projects, such as
the proposed Ashley Project, shall be limited to effects on the environment which are
peculiar to the parcel or to the Project and which were not addressed as significant
effects in the prior environmental impact report, or which substantial new information
shows will be more significant than described in the prior environmental impact
report. ( Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3.) Further, an effect of a project on the environment
is not considered peculiar to the parcel or the project,   if uniformly applied
development policies or standards have been adopted by the local agency with a
finding that they will substantially mitigate that effect when applied to future projects.
State CEQA Guidelines § 15183( f).)

The lead agency must make a finding at a public hearing that any mitigation
measures in the prior EIR that apply to the project' s specific effects, and that the
lead agency found to be feasible, will be undertaken. ( Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3( c);

State CEQA Guidelines § 15183( e).)  The City has done that here, by incorporating
relevant policies, actions, standards, and other mitigating requirements as Conditions
of Approval for the Ashley Warehouse project.   These requirements and standards

are specifically identified throughout the Environmental Analysis the City prepared
for the Ashley Warehouse project.  Such a finding is not required for potentially
significant environmental effects that are not considered peculiar to the parcel or the
project if uniformly applied development policies or standards were previously
adopted by the agency with a finding that the policies or standards would
substantially mitigate the environmental effect when applied to future projects.
State CEQA Guidelines §  15183( f).)  When the agency has failed to make such a

finding previously, it can do so when it approves the later project.

Often, such certified prior EIRs are Program EIRs and, in fact, the factual questions
as to whether project impacts fall within the scope of the prior EIR are very similar.
As to reliance on a Program EIR, later activities are examined to determine whether

an additional environmental document must be prepared. ( State CEQA Guidelines §

15168( c).) As the commenter notes, if a later activity would result in environmental
effects that were not examined in the Program EIR, the agency must prepare an
initial study to determine whether an EIR or negative declaration is required to
address those effects. ( Id.) However, as is the case here, if a later activity would not
have any effects that were not examined in the Program EIR ( including any new or
more severe impacts), the agency can approve the activity as being within the scope
of the project covered by the Program EIR, and no new environmental document
would be required. ( Id.)

656



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 6

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

Factors that an agency may consider in determining whether a later activity is within
the scope of a Program EIR include " consistency of the later activity with the type of
allowable land use, overall planned density and building intensity, geographic area
analyzed for environmental impacts, and covered infrastructure as described in the

program EIR." ( State CEQA Guidelines  §  15168( c).)  An agency must incorporate
feasible mitigation measures and alternatives developed in the Program EIR into later

activities in the program.  ( Id.)  " Where the later activities involve site specific

operations, the agency should use a written checklist or similar device to document
the evaluation of the site and the activity to determine whether the environmental
effects of the operation were within the scope of the program EIR." ( Id.)

The City' s Environmental Analysis complies with both Section 15183 and Section
15168 of the State CEQA Guidelines.  The commenter claims that an EIR is required

for the Project.   While the applicability of the exemption provided by State CEQA
Guidelines 15183 does not turn on whether the City completes some form of
preliminary review, here the City did use an environmental checklist which identifies
whether or not each CEQA Appendix G environmental checklist question,  and its

corresponding impacts, were adequately addressed in the Lathrop General Plan EIR,
if there is a significant impact due to new information, or if the Project would result

in a significant impact peculiar to the Project site that was not adequately addressed
in the General Plan EIR. The Environmental Analysis identifies the applicable City of
Lathrop development standards and policies that would apply to the proposed Project
during both the construction and operational phases, identifies applicable state- level
standards and requirements,  and explains how the application of these uniformly
applied standards and policies would ensure that no peculiar or site- specific
environmental impacts would occur.    As such,  there are no significant impacts

associated with the proposed project that would be different from, or exceed the level
of severity of any significant impacts identified in the General Plan EIR.   As such,

there is no need for the City to adopt a Statement of Overriding Considerations for
the proposed Ashley Warehouse project.

Written correspondence from LIUNA is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment
12.

After review and consideration of all information provided,  and after taking and
considering all public testimony, the Planning Commission voted unanimously ( 4- 0)
to adopt Resolution No.  23- 13,  recommending the City Council find the project
exempt from further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section
21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183

and approve the Conditional Use Permit ( CUP- 23- 08) and Site Plan Review ( SPR- 23-

09) for the proposed Ashley Furniture Project.  The Planning Commission Resolution
is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 11.

657



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 7

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF OCTOBER 9, 2023

On October 9,  2023,  the City Council held a public hearing on the proposed
Conditional Use Permit ( CUP- 23- 08) and Site Plan Review ( SPR- 23- 09) for the Ashley
Furniture Project.  The City Council received written correspondence from Mr. Michael
R. Lozeau of Lozeau Drury, LLP, representing the Laborers' Union of North America,
Local Union No. 73 ( LIUNA) and from Manteca Unified School District ( MUSD).  The

LIUNA letter is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 13 and a written response

is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 15.   The MUSD letter is attached to

this Staff Report as Attachment 14.

ANALYSIS:

Site Plan Review

As stated above, the proposed project includes the construction of a new 1, 486, 607
sq. ft. concrete tilt- up building on an 89. 82- acre site located at the northwest corner
of Dos Reis Road and Manthey Road.  The building will include the following uses:

Use S uare Foota e s  . ft.

Office 24, 000

Retail Outlet 110, 260

Warehouse Distribution 1, 352, 347

Facilit

Total 1, 486, 607

The building is generally located in the center of the subject parcel with a drive aisle
providing access to all sides of the building.  Off-street parking is provided both for
passenger vehicles   ( employee parking and customer/ public parking)   and for

commercial trucks and trailers.

Additionally, a customer pick- up area is located at the southeastern portion of the
building, north of the Dos Reis automobile driveway.    Customers will be guided to
the customer pick up area office and directed to the specific pick- up bay.

658



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 8

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

Square
Automobile

Automobile Commercial

Use Footage
Parking

parking Spaces Truck and

sq. ft.)   
Spaces

provided Trailer Spaces
Re uired

Office 24, 000 1 per 400 sq. ft.   
g42 total 1, 104

Retail 110, 260 1 per 600 sq ft.      
Employee stalls      ( 12' x 30' = 46)

Outlet 184 s aces
462)    12 x 40 ) = 261)

Warehouse 1, 352, 347 1 per 2, 000 sq.       
Public stalls =       ( 12 x 53  = 797)

480)

Total 920 S aces 942 1, 104

Automobile parking spaces are nine ( 9) by eighteen ( 18) feet in size, meeting the

dimension requirements pursuant to Section 17. 76. 030, Standards for off-street and
on- street parking facilities.  Of the 942 automobile parking spaces provided, twenty
20)  are handicap accessible  ( including four ( 4)  van accessible),  188 are Electric

Vehicle ( EV) capable parking spaces, and twelve ( 12) are EV parking spaces pursuant
to California building Code ( CBC) requirements.

As noted in the table above, the commercial truck and trailer spaces include a variety
of sizes to accommodate single trailers and the commercial truck cab and tailer.

Commercial truck and trailer parking is located primarily on the eastern portion of
the Site Plan and along the northern and southern property line.

Architecture

The proposed building is designed as a concrete tilt- up structure with colored wall
accents and glass treatments near the outlet/ showroom entrance and employee
entrances.  The elevation facing S. Manthey Road and Interstate 5 ( I- 5) will convey
a high- quality office/ retail appearance while maintaining key functions,  including
customer pick- up area along the southeast elevation.   The appearance is achieved

with glazing to indicate an office appearance and clerestory windows along the upper
potions of the fa ade.  The building also includes accent shading features, variations
in parapet height and colors.  Collectively, these provide for enhanced visual interest
and varied building massing, to create distinctive points of entry for users.   The

following is a portion of the east elevation and a rendering looking at the building
from S. Manthey Road.

659



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 9

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

r , .

s   f 7,  e"" x

ri A"   A„  i:  
k

ra E"  ,'?,,

r, E, a 1 ii.,

l'3̀ 7r v
t '   y

A" aa..., s Ns  "

r , 3,,>     '        

r.    

a sr f t `  u  #", a
1 Vr.;      ,r  ar  ,  ,, q

Looking West from S. Manthey Road

s::      > v t

i k s

x 

f a ; '      

r ; i r„i„

3f .  , ,,.. s.. ,.      S4'
q     Nt     

E
r, ra rwwwa `

r m:;'.

Looking West from S. Manthey Road

The building varies in height from 46 feet to 60 feet.  The tallest height of the building
is located at the entrance,  facing S.  Manthey Road  ( illustrated above).    The

distribution warehouse portion of the building is 46 feet to the parapet.  The height

fluctuates between 43 feet to 46 feet for the majority of the building.  The maximum

height allowed under the Limited Industrial Zoning District in the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment is 76 feet.

660



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 10

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

Floor Plan

As noted above, the proposed building will include a three- story, 24, 000 sq. ft. office,
two- story 110, 260 sq.  ft.  retail outlet and showroom,  and a 1, 352, 347 sq.  ft.

warehouse distribution center.  The office is located within the northeastern portion
of the building and will include a variety of offices, conference rooms, restrooms, and
breakroom for each floor.   The retail outlet and showroom will have an open floor

plan, similar to the existing Ashley Furniture Outlet on S. Harlan Road.  An escalator

will provide access to the second floor retail outlet and showroom.

Lighting
Lighting is proposed to be shielded and directed towards the parking and access areas
only.  As illustrated on the Photometric Plan ( Attachment 6), lighting levels beyond
the property line are at 0 candle power.    Specific lighting detail,  beyond the

photometric plan will be refined as part of the Building Permit process.

Landscaping
Landscaping is provided throughout the project area and represents 10. 4% ( 388, 479

sq. ft.) of the entire project area ( excluding stormwater detention basins).  Landscape

treatment along Dos Reis Road and S. Manthey Road include a variety of large trees,
screening trees ( discussed further below), medium trees, shrubs and ground cover.
Shade trees are proposed throughout the parking lot ( public and employee parking
areas) and at maturity, 73% of the parking area will be shaded, exceeding the City' s
requirement of 50%.  The Preliminary Landscape Plan is attached to this Staff Report
as Attachment 8.

Fencing and Walls
Proposed fencing and walls for the project are illustrated in the Screen Wall and
Fencing Plan ( Attachment 6).  The proposed project will include three ( 3) fence types:
wrought iron fencing, steel gate and solid tilt- up screen all.  The wrought iron fencing
will be utilized within the interior of the project, particularly to secure the employee
parking area and along the northern and western property line.  A steel sliding gate
will be utilized at the access points to the employee parking area and the off-street
parking area for trucks/ trailers.   A solid tilt- up screen wall will be utilized along a
portion of the northern property line ( along the commercial truck driveway) and the
southern property line to screen the project from uses to the south.

661



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 11

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

The following is a detail of the screen wall and metal gate:
sa o zo   so

sF' k, ia''',?""? i,5?*,   '
E. r s:°.,,..:;,,,  

a

sw aim, aex     sw roia[ iocr rrt+ne ueru su+; c. res+ wn s N xa[ xu ww_ ro wnr w+a eaoa or n t evnPur,
C£ FfisR.ttC9 YE K A1TN: aa1[ Nt In r,.ktE 5W 7011 FLLfR WMii( Wp W g170 M1taER M/ M+ ii t: irNk' n+ SNr+ HG, NfR.

r arcx sroe. sNcara+ wuu:. a=o«+ ousi e3 niw rn.

Screening along Dos Reis Road
The proposed project includes a variety of strategies to screen the building and off-
street parking of commercial vehicles and trailers from Dos Reis Road and adjacent
properties to the south.  These strategies include the following:

1.  Installation of an 8- foot tall solid screen wall at the southern property line.

2.  Planting of a mixture of deciduous shade trees and large evergreen trees for
purposes of screening.    As illustrated in the Preliminary Landscape Plan
Attachment 8), Deodar Cedar trees will be planted along Dos Reis Road at a

maximum spacing of 40 feet.  Deodar Cedar trees are a type of evergreen tree

that keep its foliage year- round.

Chinese Flame Trees will also be planted along Dos Reis Road to assist in
screening.   The trees and landscaping will be installed between the 8 foot
sidewalk and the 8' wall along Dos Reis Road.

3.  Providing an additional landscape buffer along Dos Reis Road.   As illustrated

in the cross- section of Dos Reis Road below, the project includes an additional
43 foot on- site landscape buffer adjacent to the public right- of- way.    In

addition to the landscape buffer north of Dos Reis Road within the public right-
of- way, there is a total of 73 feet between the roadway and the off-street
parking of commercial trucks/ trailers.

662



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 12

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

PROP

RC49

Uk1tT10l7AL 43' ( MS1tE 3Q LA; USCAPE BUFfEB

6ANGSCAP: BUf& EP RETHSri WB: IC Apr

RQSEC7

64Dv,`     Ex

2<° pp;, 
E% RON p 9

INCREASED P6RCEkfA6E Of

EYfRG? EEk PlA!3T[ Nfi BEt? SNO DE IGATI^ t I 68 E: t kq9

YtALK POR 5CREEtiSNG g,,  r..,

a couw,xutr n,au ob°    I oo ° 

s       za o     e     e    •  e    „     t,    a    •  a   , a

lF5 BIO- ETEte?? Ot, 9ASIH t' S NUITF l S 7RA fEc TRAYE4     .; SN1Lit ttS

it JGSTAIAC SI' E q3
F lA.4E  t. AlvE t'SE

u1NOSCA.? Ittfi
TAAtt 7RA? L      

3fl    S9' t9'  2a

UT4LI r CGAA16( P U IL1tv C08FIDOR
AQ' aa'

92'

n D4S REIS ROAD ( WEST) - 92' PROPOSED ROW
r'

Nn

4.  The building is setback 279 feet from the property line, which assists in limiting
the sight line from Dos Reis Road.  As illustrated in the Sight Line Exhibit below,

the building is screened from view from the northern sidewalk along Dos Reis
Road.

The applicant has prepared renderings of the proposed screening along Dos Reis
Road, with mature trees and associated landscaping.  The images below illustrate the

proposed landscaping and screening strategies along Dos Reis Road.  The full set of

renderings are attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 9.

z

d      
y

y

u    
r re

z''-r 5

4ln      ?

6 s

x rC da
r

Looking North from Golden Valley Parkway

663



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 13

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

y,       

f

y

w '     

E

Looking Northeast from Dos Reis Road

Traffic and Circulation

Passenger vehicle access to the project is provided via Dos Reis Road and S. Manthey
Road.    As noted above,  the proposed project includes two  ( 2)  driveways from

passenger vehicles, one ( 1) along Dos Reis Road, east of Golden Valley Parkway and
the other along S. Manthey Road.  An Emergency Vehicle Access ( EVA) driveway is
located on Dos Reis Road, west of Golden Valley Parkway.

A Traffic Impact Analysis  ( TIA)  was prepared for the proposed project by TJKM
Transportation Consultants.    The Traffic Impact Analysis analyzed the following
scenarios:

Existing Conditions - Intersection Level of Service

Existing Conditions - Freeway Mainline Level of Service
Baseline Conditions - Intersection Level of Service

Baseline Conditions - Freeway Mainline Level of Service
Baseline plus Project Conditions - Intersection Level of Service

Baseline plus Project Conditions - Freeway Mainline Level of Service
Cumulative Conditions - Intersection level of Service

Cumulative plus Project Conditions - Intersection Level of Service

In addition to the Level of Service scenarios analyzed above,  the Traffic Impact

Analysis included a Vehicle Miles Traveled ( VMT) Analysis, consistent with California

Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines and Senate Bill 743.

664



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 14

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

Trip Generation
To determine the amount of peak hour and daily trips generated by the project, TJKM
conducted a 24- hour count at the existing Ashley Furniture facility located on S.
Harlan Road.  The approximate square footage of the existing Ashley Furniture facility
is 525, 000 sq. ft. and with this information and data collected from the 24- hour count,
TJKM developed trip rates for the proposed project for passenger vehicles and heavy
trucks.  The following tables illustrate the trip generation for the proposed project.

Table 13: Project Trip Generation for Passenger Vehicles

Daity A. M. Peak P.M. Peak
Size

Rate Trips Rate tn: Dut tn Out Tota(     Rate tn: 0ut   / n Oat Totat

Propased t) ses

Ashley
1, 5€SO ksf t.87 2, 798 0. 135 61: 39 124 79 203 0. 170 43: 57 11Q 145 255

Furnikure

Net Trips 2, 798 124 79 203 1 f0 J45 255

Table 14: Project Trip Generation for Heavy Trucks

Qcity A. M. Peak RM. Peak
Land Use Size

Rote Trips Rate     / n:0ut   / n Out Tatat Rote ln:0ut   ! n Oot Totat

Praposed Uses

Ashley
1, 50Q ksf 0.453 68C?     0.063 15: 85 14 81 95 O. q34 6931 31 14 45

Furniture

Net Trips 680 14 8i 95 31 f4 45

As shown in the table above, the proposed project is projected to generate 2, 798
daily passenger vehicles, 203 a. m. peak hour passenger vehicles, and 255 p. m. peak
hour passenger vehicles.   For heavy trucks, the proposed project is projected to
generate 680 daily heavy trucks, 95 a. m. peak hour trucks, and 45 p. m. peak hour
trucks.

Trip Distribution
Pursuant to General Plan Implementation Action Lu- 5. f and the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan Amendment for Phase 2, truck traffic within the Limited Industrial area

of the Specific Plan shall be limited to De Lima Road, and any future roadways north
of Dos Reis Road,  to connect to Manthey Road,  Roth Road,  and Interstate 5.

Additionally,   truck dependent development projects shall be prohibited from

providing driveway access points off of Dos Reis Road, west of Golden Valley Parkway,
other than Emergency Vehicle Access ( EVA) ( Implementation Action LU- 5. f ( b)( iii).

The proposed project includes one ( 1) driveway dedicated to commercial trucks and
is located on S. Manthey Road, within the northeastern portion of the project.

665



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 15

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

Signage is proposed that will direct traffic north on 5.  Manthey Road and prohibit
trucks from turning right on to S. Manthey Road toward Dos Reis Road and Golden
Valley Parkway.

rra.

4

rm " 5 J ^`     . rr Y'+.'% d'       a .

r'`+"
t,.";    

S,'         9/,"`,,.. f', p.* '
y. „` FJ?    

f

l,",a;    ir r.., i. r... 4.   : t. .      
c%., v rf- X`,`" ': r. ,^`., c.; ,`..  '. "'? f n r. a`"v; r',  `.•` J'. f   ,-'

r . S,", v    . , s

a    ' a_ a  _

S$'    

1      ' ' '._ u'.

a ct"i
r-      

ERGEN tb
j`,3

E ACCE. S t`°4
r        

d J GJ

1     :. Z 8...      
y

1   0 0 0 5 r  ::     "=.,, f „      ¢.
7•      t   '= gG• 1 3'= 4CY t i•.30' p     °-' 

4

1 f &    
xP      1 w

o. so ic= sc i vgr,      , e i- s'      '

21        i F @ t 3   '. S ' ttF'.  d G 0 2 i cc     * C
s?   ttG-    f

r,`":        .,   , f  
t 1 t 

0 6 Q 2   ^  ro

18   ,  45   ," 
sri  ., pl t

v

t a 9      9 P t   3

y
f009'= 90' 10A9'+ 94' tbh4'= 80'     tA 7'- 1

a.,; tt 1 9 0 0 2     
f,v

AI.L NO RIGHIIURH

TRUCltS

o rRu Ks

Traffic Impact Analysis Results

The intersection level of service analysis for Baseline plus Project Conditions results
in three ( 3) intersections operating at unacceptable service levels during the a. m.
and p. m.  peak hour.   It is important to note that the following intersection already
operates at unacceptable level of service without the addition of project traffic:

Lathrop Road/ I- 5 Northbound Ramps degrades to LOS F in the p. m. peak hour,
with an increase in average delay of 19. 1 seconds.

The following two ( 2) intersections would degrade from acceptable to unacceptable

level of service with the addition of project trafFic:

Lathrop Road- Spartan Way/ I- 5 Southbound Ramps would degrade from LOS
D to LOS E in the a. m. and p. m. peak hour, a substantial degradation.

666



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 16

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

Spartan Way/ Golden Valley Parkway intersection would degrade from LOS C
to LOS E in the a. m. peak hour and LOS D to LOS F in the p. m. peak hour, a
substantial degradation.

To improve the traffic flow for the three ( 3) above noted intersections, the Traffic

Impact Analysis recommends the following improvements:

A separate right- turn lane added to the Lathrop Road/ I- 5 Northbound off- ramp
as well as signal timing to improve the intersection operation to LOS C in the
a. m. and p. m.  peak hours.   The new lane should provide at least 400 ft. of
vehicle storage.

For the Lathrop Road/ I- 5 Southbound off- ramp, adjusting the signal timing of
the existing traffic lights will improve the intersection operate to LOS D in the
a. m.  and p. m.  peak hour.   Widening is not necessary for the Baseline plus
Project Conditions at the southbound off- ramp.

For Spartan Way/ Golden Valley parkway,  the TIA recommends making
adjustments to the lane geometry ( number of turn lanes, through lanes, and

right- turn lanes) to improve the efficiency of the intersection.

These improvements have been incorporated into the proposed project' s Conditions
of Approval. The TIA is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 10.

Utilities

Potable water will be supplied to the proposed project by the City of Lathrop via
connection to an existing 12" water line in Golden Valley Parkway, south of Dos Reis
Road.  The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment states that water supply to the plan area will
be provided from the City' s existing groundwater wells and potable surface water
from the South County Surface Water Supply Program ( SCSWSP) by the South San
Joaquin Irrigation District ( SSJID).

Wastewater generated by the project will be treated by the City' s Consolidated
Treatment Facility ( CTF) along Christopher Way, southeast of the project site.  The

project will connect to an existing 24" sanitary sewer line in Golden Valley parkway,
south of Dos Reis Road.  As part of the project' s Conditions of Approval, the applicant
is required to secure sufficient sewer treatment capacity, including treatment at the
City' s CTF.

Per the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment, stormwater runoff from the plan area is designed
to discharge into the San Joaquin River through an existing outfall located near the
southwest corner of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Plan Area at the end of Dos Reis

Road and the existing outfall within the Phase 1 area.

667



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 17

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment Plan Area consists of two ( 2) major drainage sheds

with underground storage pipes to reduce the peak discharge from the plan area to
the San Joaquin River.  The project site is located within Watershed 4, which includes
both CLSP Phase 1 and the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment areas.  The proposed project
will connect to the existing 54" Stormdrain line in Golden Valley Parkway, south of
Dos Reis Road.  Stormwater will be treated on- site with Best Management Practices

BMPs) through a series of bio- detention basins prior to entering the City system.
The Civil Plans are attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 7.

Zoning Consistencx
The project site will be located within the IL- CL, Limited Industrial Zoning District in
which a Zoning Map and Municipal Code Amendment is also being processed by the
City for consistency with the recently adopted General Plan.   Chapter 17. 62, Article

6, and Article 12 will provide guidance and development requirements for projects
located within this District.    Section 17. 62. 061 of the Zoning Ordinance will be
amended as part of the General Plan consistency effort to state the following: the

IL- CL district is intended to provide opportunities for certain types of limited industrial
uses; provide adequate space to meet the needs of modern industrial development,
including off- street parking and truck loading areas;  and to provide industrial
employment opportunities for residents of the city and region."  Principal uses include

but are not limited to assembly of small electrical equipment and appliances, various
manufacturing uses, lumber yards, public utility and public service structures, public
buildings and grounds, business parks and incubator spaces, research development
industry and business support services and warehouse and distribution facilities.
The proposed project is considered a principal use.

Table 17. 62. 120( B), Central Lathrop Specific Plan: Industrial Development Standards
provides the development standards required of the IL- CL District,  and the table

below depicts the conformance determination between the Zoning Ordinance and the
proposed project.

668



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 18

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PR07ECT

Develo ment Standard IL- CL Zone District Pro osed Pro" ect

Lot Dimensions

Lot Size ( Minimum) No Minimum or Maximum 89. 82- acres

Re uirement

Setbacks Minimum

Front/ Rear/ Side 15 feet / 0 feet / 0 feet Front: Approximately
418- feet from S. Manthey

Road

Side: Approximately 279-
feet from Dos Reis Road

and 220- feet from then

northern property line.
Rear: Approximately 704-

feet from the rear

ro ert line.

Maximum Buildin Hei ht Sevent  - six 76 feet 60- feet

Off- Street Parking Office - 1 per 400 square 942 total

feet = 60 spaces Employee stalls = 462)

Retail - 1 per 600 square Public stalls = 480)

feet = 184 spaces

Warehouse - 1 per 2, 000 1, 104 truck and trailer

square feet = 676 spaces spaces ( 12' x 30', 40',

Total re uired: 920 and 53'

Landscaping 10% of Site shall be 10. 4% ( 388, 618 square

landsca ed feet of landsca in

Hours of Operation No Specific Limit Retail - 9: 00 am to

9: OOpm

Office - TBD

Distribution - TBD

Based on Staff' s review, the proposed project is consistent with the requirements of
the IL- CL Zoning District.

Design Guidelines

The Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 Amendment includes a variety of
principles and standards related to land use, site design, and architecture.  Staff has

reviewed the proposed project Site Plan, Building Elevations, Landscape Plans, and

Architecture ( Attachments 6 through 8) and has determined that overall compliance
with the Design Guidelines listed in the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment has been achieved.

669



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 19

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO7ECT

Where applicable, Conditions of Approval have been incorporated to the proposed
project to address the following improvements:  perimeter wall treatment, on- site

lighting, screening of exterior building equipment ( e. g., mechanical equipment, A/ C,

etc.),  screening of commercial truck and trailer storage,  and landscape buffer

requirements and treatment.

General Plan

The project site has a General Plan Land Use Designation of LI, Limited Industrial.

The intent of the IL land use designation is to, ' accommodate a wide range of jobs-
generating uses,  including business parks;  clean light industrial;  research and

development   ( R& D);    science,   technology,   engineering,   and math    ( STEM);

tech/ biotech manufacturing;  high- tech services that incorporate some combination

of assembly, warehousing, and/ or sales, hospitals and other health care- related uses,
warehouses and distribution centers."

The Ashley Furniture Project has been reviewed by Staff for consistency with the
General Plan and finds that the proposed project is consistent with the following
General Plan Policies and Implementation Actions ( consistency statements are in
italics):

LU- 5. 1 Require new development to be compatible and complementary to
existing development.     Where appropriate and feasible,   promote
connections between neighborhoods and services and facilities.

As noted above, the subject property has a General Plan Land Use Designation of LI,
Limited Industrial and will be located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP)

Phase 2 Amendment area IL, Limited Industrial Zoning District.  The proposed project
would improve and extend Golden Valley Parkway and construct a roundabout at the
intersection of Dos Reis Road and Golden Valley Parkway which would provide
connection to the CLSP Phase 1 area for passenger vehicles.   The proposed use is
compatible with the IL,  Limited Industrial Zoning District and the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment.

LU- 5. 4 In industrial areas located within 1, 000 feet of existing or planned
sensitive receptors,  promote industrial uses that are environmentally
sustainable with limited potential to create nuisances such as noise and
odors.

An Environmental Noise Assessment, prepared by Saxelby Acoustics and a Health
Risk Assessment ( HRA),  prepared by De Novo Planning Group were prepared to
analyze the noise and health risks impacts associated with the proposed project,
respectively.

670



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 20

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

As noted in the Environmental Noise Assessment,  the City' s General Plan limits
stationary noise increases to 3 dBA, or the City' s noise standards ( daytime ( 7: 00 am

to 10: 00 pm) maximum of 55 d8A and nighttime ( 10: 00 pm to 7: 00 am) maximum
of 45 d8A).   The average ambient noise level during nighttime hours at the closest
sensitive receptors to the southwest is 54 d8A LeQ.  At the sensitive receptors to the

southwest, a project-generated noise level of 51 d8A Leq would result in a total noise
level of 54 d8A Le4, resulting in a 3d8A increase.  Therefore, the nighttime noise level

standard applicable to the proposed project is 51 d8A Leq.

The primary noise source associated with operation of the proposed project is truck
and automobile circulation and loading docks.  Single family residential land uses are
located to the north, west, and south of the project, Lathrop High School is located
to the west of the project, and Interstate 5 is located directly east of the project.
Saxelby Acoustics conducted noise measurements at the existing Ashley Facility
located on 5. Harlan Road.  Measurements were conducted in the loading dock area
during a weekday peak hour of use.   Activities during the peak hour include truck
arrival/ departures,  truck idling, truck backing, air brake re/ ease, passenger vehicle
trips to and from docks, and operation of forklifts.   Loading dock activity was found
to generate continuous average noise levels of approximately 57 d8A LeQ at the edge
of the truck maneuvering lanes,  approximately 120 feet from the fa ade of the
building at the center of the loading area.     Saxelby Acoustics took these

measurements and utilized SoundPLAN to predict noise levels for the proposed
project.

The proposed project is predicted to generate noise levels up to 45 dBA LeQ at the
nearest residences to the southwest and 39 d8A Leq at the residences to the
northeast, resulting in a maximum increase of 0. 9 dBA at nearby residences.   This

complies with the adjusted nighttime noise level standard of 51 d8A LeQ and limit of
3 d8A increase.  Therefore, the Environmental Noise Assessment did not recommend

any additional noise control measures to achieve compliance with the City' s noise
level standards.

Although not specifically required to achieve noise level standards,  the proposed
project includes an 8- foot tall solid wall along the southern property line and a portion
of the northern property as required by the Lathrop Municipal Code when an industrial
use is adjacent to a residential use and for screening purposes along Dos Reis Road.
This will assist in reducing noise exposure from the operation of the Ashley Furniture
project.   Additionally,  the project is required to adhere to California Air Resources
Board ( CARB) rules and regulations for use of diesel fueled fleets, including limiting
the idling time for heavy trucks to five ( 5) minutes.

671



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 21

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PR07ECT

The HRA was prepared to evaluate whether or not the estimated construction and
operational toxic air contaminant ( TAC)  emissions generated from the proposed
project will cause significant impacts to the local air resources in the project area, in
particular, sensitive receptors such as residences located in proximity to the project.
The results of the risk analysis indicate that cancer risks vary depending on the
exposure scenario ( residential or worker) and on location.   Locations nearest the

project site have the greatest exposure and the associated risks are considerably
lower as distance from the project site increases. None of the exposure levels at any
of the nearby sensitive receptors exceed any of the thresholds of significance
established by the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District ( SJVAPCD) for

residents or workers.  This finding applies to both cancer risks and non- cancer chronic
long term exposure to diesel particulate matter (DPM).

LU- 5. 5 Ensure that industrial development projects,  including warehouse,
distribution, logistics, and fulfillment projects, mitigate adverse impacts
including health risks and nuisances) to nearby residential land uses

and other existing and planned sensitive receptors.

As noted above, a Health Risk Assessment, prepared by De Novo Planning Group has
been prepared as part of the Environmental Checklist.     The HRA findings are

described above.   The HRA concluded that the project would not exceed any of the
applicable thresholds of significance related to toxic air contaminants and health

risks.

LU- 5a Through the development review process,   screen development

proposals for land use and transportation network compatibility with
existing surrounding or abutting development or neighborhoods.

As noted above, a Traffic Impact Analysis ( TIA) was prepared for the proposed project
by TJKM Transportation Consultants to evaluate the impacts of the transportation
infrastructure due to the addition of traffic from the proposed project.   The report

also evaluates project site access and on- site circulation for vehicles, bicycles, and
pedestrians.  The proposed project includes a dedicated truck driveway located at the
northeastern portion of the project site with full access to S. Manthey Road.

This driveway is approximately 488- feet in length and provides double- stacking for
trucks entering the site and a single lane exiting the site.  As required by the City's
General Plan,  trucks are prohibited from utilizing Golden Valley Parkway, Dos Reis
Road west of Golden Valley Parkway,  Spartan Way,  and Lathrop Road.   As such,

trucks entering and exiting the site will utilize Roth Road and S. Manthey Road.

672



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 22

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

LU- 5. b Through the development review process,    analyze land use

compatibility and require adequate buffers and/ or architectural

enhancements to protect sensitive receptors from intrusion of

development activities that may cause unwanted nuisances and health
risks.

The proposed project includes a landscape buffer and screening along Dos Reis Road.
The buffer includes a 43 feet of on- site landscaping in addition to the 30 feet of
landscaping within the public right- of-way adjacent to Dos Reis Road.   Landscaping
will include a mixture of deciduous shade trees and large evergreen trees for the

purpose of screening.

LU- 5. c When industrial projects,   including warehouse projects,  fulfillment

centers, and other projects that may generate high volumes of truck
trips and/ or air quality emissions are proposed within 1, 000 feet of
existing or planned residential sues or other sensitive receptors, the City
shall require the preparation of a Health Risk Assessment ( HRA) that

meets the standards established by the Office of Environmental Hazard
Assessment ( OEHHA), and the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control
District  ( SJVAPCD).    Projects shall not be approved until it can be

demonstrated that the project would not result in an exceedance of the
established threshold of significance for public health risks at nearby
sensitive receptors.

As noted above, an HRA, prepared by De Novo Planning Group, has been prepared
as part of the Initial Study Checklist.   The HRA was prepared in accordance with the
standards established by OEHHA and SJVAPCD.   The HRA findings are presented
above.

LU- 5. d When industrial projects,  including warehouse projects,  fulfillment

centers, and other projects that may generate high volumes of truck
trips and/ or air quality emissions are proposed within 1, 000 feet of
existing or planned residential uses or other sensitive receptors, the City
shall require the implementation of best management practices ( BMPs)

to reduce pollution exposure to sensitive receptors, particularly diesel
particulate matter ( DPM).  The appropriate BMPs shall be established on

a case- by- case basis, and should consider the following tools, methods,
and approaches:

673



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 23

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PRO] ECT

Creating physical,  structural,  and/ or vegetative buffers that

adequately prevent or substantially reduce pollutant dispersal
between warehouses and any areas where sensitive receptors are
likely to be present,  such as homes,  schools,  daycare centers,

hospitals, community centers, and parks.

Providing adequate areas for on- site parking,  on- site queueing

and truck check- in that prevent trucks and other vehicles from
parking or idling on public streets.

Placing facility entry and exit points from the public street away
from sensitive receptors, e. g., placing these points on the north
side of the facility if sensitive receptors are adjacent to the south
side of the facility.  Exceptions can be made for emergency vehicle
access ( EVA) points.

Locating warehouse dock doors and other onsite areas with
significant truck traffic and noise away from sensitive receptors.

Screening dock doors and onsite areas with significant truck
traffic and noise with physical,  structural,  and/ or vegetative

barriers that adequately prevent or substantially reduce pollutant
dispersal from the facility towards sensitive receptors.

Posting signs clearly showing the designated entry and exit points
from the public street for trucks and service vehicles.

Posting signs indicating that all parking and maintenance of
trucks must be conducted within designated on- site areas and

not within the surrounding community or public streets.

The proposed project is consistent with Implementation Action LU- S. d as follows:

As noted above, the proposed project includes the construction of an 8 foot
tall solid wall along the majority of the southern property line and a portion of
the northern property line.  Additionally, the proposed project includes a on-
site landscape buffer along Dos Reis Road approximately 43- feet in width and
30 feet of landscaping within the public right- of-way.

Off- street parking is provided for passenger vehicles ( employee parking and
customer/ public parking) and for commercial trucks and trailers.   As noted

above,  the amount of off-street parking provided exceeds the minimum
required pursuant to the Lathrop Municipal Code.

674



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 24

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

The proposed project includes one ( 1) dedicated driveway for trucks, located
along S.  Manthey Road at the northeastern portion of the project site.   The

driveway allows stacking of approximately 488- feet with two ( 2) entry lanes
and one ( 1) exit lane.   Automobile driveways are located along S.  Manthey
Road  ( primary entry/ exit)  and Dos Reis Road.    An additional Emergency
Vehicle Access ( EVA) driveway is located on Dos Reis Road,  west of Golden

Valley Parkway.

As noted above, the warehouse dock doors are located on the north and south

sides of the proposed building,

As noted above,  the proposed project includes screening via an 8 foot solid
wall and landscaping along the majority of the southern property line.
Additionally,  an 8 foot solid wall will be constructed along a portion of the
northern property line, screening the truck entrance/ exit drive aisle.

The proposed project will be required to place on- site and off-site signage
indicating that trucks must adhere to the City's Truck Route Ordinance.

LU- 5. f Update the Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) to accomplish the

following objectives:

a.  Bring the Specific Plan' s land use map into consistency with the
General Plan Land Use Map ( Figure LU- 1)

b.  Establish a circulation network that keeps future truck trips as far

from existing and planned sensitive receptors as feasible;  this

includes,  but not limited to, the following requirements,  which

shall be incorporated into the Specific Plan:

i.     Trucks shall be prohibited on Dos Reis Road west and east
of Golden Valley Parkway, on Golden Valley Parkway south
of Dos Reis Road to Lathrop Road, and on Lathrop Road
east of Golden Valley Parkway to Interstate 5 southbound
off- ramp.

ii.     Future truck dependent development projects shall be
prohibited from providing driveway access points off of Dos
Reis Road,  west of Golden Valley Parkway,  other than

emergency vehicle access ( EVA).

675



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 25

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

iii.     Truck traffic within the Limited Industrial Area of the

Central Lathrop Specific Plan shall be limited to De Lima
Road, and any future roadways north of Dos Reis Road, to
connect to Manthey Road, Roth Road, and Interstate 5.

c.   Establish site design standards for new industrial projects;

d.  Identify financing and cost- recovery methods to fund roadway
and infrastructure improvements.

e.  Circulation design standards that promote safe transportation
routes that limit impacts to developed areas to the south, and

connectivity enhancements to provide better connectivity to I- 5.

f.   Infrastructure improvements to improve roadway operations.

g.  Opportunities to provide employee- serving amenities onsite, such
as parks and plazas, outdoor seating areas, fitness facilities, and
daycare centers as a means to reduce vehicle trips,  while

supporting air quality, public health, and sustainability goals.

h.  Include provisions that all development projects proposed north
of Dos Reis Road and south of De Lima Road be required to obtain

a Conditional Use Permit  ( CUP),  which shall be subject to

discretionary review by the City Council.

The proposed project is consistent with the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment design
guidelines,  policies,  and land uses.     The City is processing the CLSP Phase 2
Amendment concurrently with the Zoning Consistency Update and the Ashley
Furniture Project.  The CLSP Phase 2 Amendment has been prepared consistent with
the requirements established by this General Plan Action.

Conditional Use Permit

The General Plan and Central Lathrop Specific Plan  ( CLSP)  Phase 2 Amendment

requires all development projects proposed between Dos Reis Road and De Lima Road
to obtain a Conditional Use Permit  ( CUP)  subject to discretionary review by the
Planning Commission and the City Council.

676



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 26

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

The Planning Commission and City Council must make certain findings when

approving a Conditional Use Permit:

1.  That there are circumstances or conditions applicable to the land, structure, or

use which makes the granting of a use permit necessary for the preservation
and enjoyment of a substantial property right;

2.  That the proposed location of the conditional use is in accordance with the
objectives of the zoning code and the purposes of the district in which the site
is located;

3.  That the proposed use will comply with each of the applicable provisions of this
the LMC.

Staff has reviewed each of the findings presented above and suggests that the
proposed project location is consistent with the City' s zoning code and is a permitted
use within the zoning district in which the site is located.

Site Plan Review

In accordance with Chapter 17. 100, Site Plan Review, of the Lathrop Municipal Code
LMC), the Planning Commission must make the following findings when approving a

Site Plan:

1.  That the site plan complies with all applicable provisions of this chapter;

2.  That the site improvements listed ( a. through i.) are so arranged that traffic

congestion is avoided and that pedestrian and vehicular safety and welfare are
protected, and there will not be adverse effect on surrounding property;

3.  Proposed lighting is so arranged as to deflect the light away from adjoining
properties;

4.  Proposed signs will comply with all of the applicable provisions of Section
17. 16. 010 and Chapters 17. 64 through 17. 72, 17. 80 and 17. 84;

5.  That adequate provision is made to reduce adverse or potentially adverse
environmental impacts to acceptable levels.

Staff has reviewed each of the findings presented above and suggests that the
proposed project has been designed so that the use is compatible with the

surrounding land uses and will not be detrimental to the health, safety, or general
welfare of the City.

677



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 27

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

Conditions of A proval
Planning staff routed the project plans on February 14, 2023 and May 17, 2023 to

the Building Division,  Public Works Department,  Lathrop- Manteca Fire District,
Lathrop Police Department for review and to ensure compliance with applicable codes
and requirements.   Planning staff also routed the project plans on June 1, 2023 to

various non- City agencies.  The City received comments from the following agencies:

Caltrans

San Joaquin Council of Governments

San Joaquin County Environmental Health Department
San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District
South San Joaquin Irrigation District

Pacific Gas & Electric

The Caltrans letter stated that the project has the potential to significantly impact
the interchange and requested that a Traffic Impact Study be submitted to Caltrans
for review and comment prior to project approval.

As noted above, City staff routed the Traffic Impact Analysis, prepared by TJKM to
Caltrans on July 12,  2023.   The City received a letter from Caltrans on August 9,
2023 with comments on the Traffic Impact Study.   The majority of the comments
were associated with the technical aspects of the Traffic Impact Study, such utilizing
Caltran' s Three County Travel Demand Model, trip count year, and request for an
explanation why Lathrop Interchange is not being utilized by trucks.    TJKM will

continue to work with Caltrans to refine the Traffic Impact Study.  As noted above,

the applicant will be required to construct a separate right- turn lane to the Lathrop
Road/ I- 5 Northbound off- ramp  ( 400 ft.  of vehicle storage)  which will require an

Encroachment Permit from Caltrans.    The applicant is working with Caltran' s to
address their concerns.

S) COG provided information regarding the project' s participation in the San Joaquin
County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP) and that

the project is located within the Airport Influence Zone pursuant to the Airport Land
Use Compatibility Plan ( ALUC).  Additional review has been completed by SJCOG and
the project was found to be compatible with the ALUC.

The San Joaquin County Environmental Health Department provided requirements
for geotechnical drilling and process for abandonment and destruction of any wells or
septic systems on the property.

678



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 28

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District ( SJVAPCD) provided comments on
measures to reduce air quality impacts associated with diesel vehicles and industrial
projects, instructions for preparation of a Health Risk Screening/ Assessment and the
District' s Rules and Regulations.

The Pacific Gas & Electric ( PGE) letter provided requirements for planting trees and
shrubs along S. Manthey Road and underneath existing PG& E overhead pole line and
that any planting in this area must comply with PG& E' s guide to Trees and Shrubs
for Power Line- Friendly Landscaping.

As a result, staff developed a consolidated list of conditions ( Attachment 3).   Staff

finds that the proposed project has been properly conditioned to meet the City' s
standards and requirements.

Public Notice

A Notice of Public Hearing was advertised in the Manteca Bulletin on September 29,
2023.   Staff also mailed the public hearing notice to notify property owners located
within a 300- foot radius from the project site boundary.  In addition, the Public Notice

was emailed to the City' s Public Hearing subscribers and interested parties and posted
at three ( 3) locations accessible to the public and the City website.

CEQA REVIEW:

California Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental

Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 allows for a streamlined environmental
review process for projects which are consistent with the development density
established by existing zoning, community plan, or general plan policies for which an
Environmental Impact Report ( EIR) was certified, except as might be necessary to
examine whether there are project- specific significant effects which are peculiar to
the project or its site.

If the above qualifications are met, as stated in Section 15183( b), a public agency

shall limit its examination of environmental effects to those which the agency
determines, in an initial study or other analysis:

1.  Are peculiar to the project or the parcel on which the project would be located;

2.  Were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR on the zoning action,
general plan or community plan with which the project is consistent;

3.  Are potentially significant off-site impacts and cumulative impacts which were
not discussed in the prior EIR prepared for the general plan, community plan
or zoning action; or

679



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 29

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
ASHLEY FURNITURE PR07ECT

4.  Are previously identified significant effects which, as a result of substantial new
information which was not known at the time the EIR was certified,  are

determined to have a more severe impact than discussed in the prior EIR.

A detailed environmental analysis, prepared in the form of an Environmental Checklist
with supporting technical analysis, has been prepared by De Novo Planning Group,
to provide analysis of three distinct, yet closely related actions being contemplated
by the City.  These include an update to the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC) and Zoning
Map  ( Zoning Consistency Update),  and update to the Phase 2  ( CLSP Phase 2

Amendment) and the proposed Ashley Furniture Project.  The three ( 3) projects are

being implemented as a result of the City' s comprehensive General Plan update,
which was adopted on September 19, 2022.   The General Plan Update provides a
framework for future growth and projects the development reasonably expected
during the build- out of the City.  The Lathrop General Plan Update EIR analyzed the
environmental impacts associated with adoption and implementation of the General
Plan.  All three of the actions analyzed in the Environmental Checklist are consistent
with the General Plan, and were analyzed and accounted for in the General Plan EIR.

Biological Resources Analysis Report;

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report;
Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment Report;

Shallow Soil Investigation Report;

The CLSP Phase 2 Document;

Acoustical Assessment;

Air Quality- Health Risk Assessment Technical Report;
Traffic Impact Analysis; and

Ashley Furniture Project CaIEEMod output file.

The Environmental Analysis includes a discussion and analysis of any peculiar or site-
specific environmental impacts associated with adoption of the Municipal Code and

Zoning Map Update, adoption of the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment, and construction and
operation of the proposed Ashley Furniture Project.

The Environmental Analysis identifies whether or not each CEQA Appendix G
environmental checklist question, and its corresponding impacts, were adequately
addressed in the 2022 Lathrop General Plan EIR, if there is a significant impact due
to new information, or if the project would result in a significant impact peculiar to
the project site that was not adequately addressed in the General Plan EIR.

680



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 30

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

The Environmental Analysis identifies the applicable City of Lathrop development
standards and policies that would apply to the proposed project during both the
construction and operational phases,  identifies applicable minimization measures

from the General Plan EIR that must be implemented, identifies applicable state- level

standards and policies that would ensure that no peculiar or site- specific

environmental impacts would occur.

The Environmental Analysis concluded that the proposed project is consistent with
the land uses and development intensities assigned to the project site by the General
Plan.

Impacts from buildout of the General Plan including cumulative impacts associated
with development and buildout of the CLSP Phase 2 plan area and the Ashley
Furniture Project, as proposed, were fully addressed in the General Plan EIR ( State

Clearinghouse No. 2021100139), and implementation of the proposed project would
not result in any new or altered impacts beyond those addressed in the General Plan
EIR.

All project requirements identified in the Environmental Checklist are incorporated in
project Consolidated Conditions of Approval  ( Attachment 3).   The Environmental

Checklist is attached to this Staff Report as Attachment 10.

RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning Commission and staff recommend that the City Council consider all
information provided and submitted, take and consider all public testimony and, if

determined to be appropriate, adopt a Resolution to Find the Project Exempt from

Further Environmental Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3

and California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 and Adopt
a Resolution to Approve a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review for the Ashley
Furniture Project.

FISCAL IMPACT:

All application processing fees and costs are charged to the applicant. The request
has no fiscal impact to the City.

681



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 32

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

APPROVALS:

w i 

David Niskanen ate

Contract Planner

t  311 2 7

Jo n B. Anderson Date

Contract Planner

0 3 2

Rick C iat Da e

Com nity Development Director

Zot3
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

t• Z3
Step J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

682



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 31

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT

ATTACH M ENTS:

1.  City Council Resolution to Find the Project Exempt from Further Environmental
Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California

Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183
2.  City Council Resolution to Approve a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review

for the Ashley Furniture Project
3.  Consolidated Conditions of Approval, dated September 13, 2023
4.  Vicinity Map
5.  Project Description

6.  Architectural Plans

7.  Preliminary Civil Plans
8.  Preliminary Landscape Plan
9.  Perspective Views/ Renderings

10. Environmental Checklist,  prepared by De Novo Planning Group,  dated August,

2023 with Appendices

11. Planning Commission Resolution No. 23- 13 Recommending City Council Approval
12. Comment Letter, dated September 13, 2023, from Lozeau Drury LLP regarding

the Ashley Furniture Project
13. Comment Letter, dated October 6, 2023, from Lozeau Drury LLP regarding the

Ashley Furniture Project
14. Comment Letter, dated September 28, 2023, from Manteca Unified School District

MUSD) regarding the Ashley Furniture Project
15. Response to Lozeau Drury LLP letter dated October 6, 2023 regarding the Ashley

Furniture Project

683



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP FINDING

THE PROJECT EXEMPTION FROM FURTHER ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

PURSUANT TO PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE SECTION 21083. 3 AND CEQA

GUIDELINES SECTION 15183 ( CUP- 23- 08 AND SPR- 23- 09)

WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop City Council held a duly noticed public
hearing to consider the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review pursuant to the
General Plan and Lathrop Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the request is for approval of a Conditional Use Permit and Site

Plan Review to allow the construction of an approximately 1. 5 million square foot
concrete tilt- up building and all necessary supporting infrastructure on a property
located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment area as further
defined below in the third recital ( the proposed Project or the Project); and

WHEREAS, the property is located at 14101 S.  Manthey Road  ( APN:  192-

020- 14) ( the property); and

WHEREAS, prior to the City' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the
City prepared an Environmental Impact Report   ( EIR)   which analyzed the

environmental impacts of buildout under the General Plan Update pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) ( Public Resources Code Section 21000,

et. seq.), and the City of Lathrop City Council certified the Final EIR on September
19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 2021100139); and

WHEREAS,  the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use of

CEQA exemption/ streamlining provisions for projects under the General Plan

Update, including the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, an Environmental Checklist has been prepared for the proposed
Project, which is attached to the City Council Staff Report as Attachment 9 and can
also be found in the Planning Division project files located at 390 Towne Centre
Drive, Lathrop, CA 95330; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed Project is consistent with
the Limited Industrial land use goals and policies of the City of Lathrop General Plan
and is also consistent with the development standards for the IL- CL,  Limited

Industrial Zoning District and the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment
as further implemented through the Zoning Code Text Amendment; and

WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed
public hearing on September 13, 2023, to consider the proposed Project and after
reviewing and considering all information provided and submitted, and after taking
and considering all public testimony adopted Resolution No.  23- 13 recommending
City Council find the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant to
Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act
CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and

Resolution No. 23-

684



WHEREAS, proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects as
required by law including the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the
Manteca Bulletin on or about September 29,  2023 and mailed out to property
owners located within a 300- foot radius from the project site boundary on
September 29,   2023,   emailed to the City' s Public Hearing subscribers and

interested parties and posted at three ( 3) locations accessible to the public and the
City website; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has utilized its own independent judgement in
adopting this Resolution.

NOW THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby make the following findings:

Section 1.   California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA)  Findings.   Pursuant

to Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the

City Council finds and determines as follows:

a.  The project complies with CEQA based on the CEQA

exemption/ streamlining provisions contained in Public Resources Code
section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183;

b.  Pursuant to the City Council Staff Report and the attachments and
exhibits thereto, including but not limited to, the CEQA Environmental
Checklist,  which are incorporated herein by reference,  the proposed
Project will not result in any significant impacts that:  1) are peculiar to
the project or project site; 2) were not identified as significant project-
level, cumulative, or off- site effects in the General Plan Update EIR; or

3)  were previously identified significant effects,  which as a result of

substantial new information that was not known at the time that the

General Plan Update EIR was certified, are determined to have a more

severe adverse impact than discussed in the General Plan Update EIR.

As a result,  pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and
CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the proposed Project is exempt from
further environmental review under CEQA.

c.  All applicable General Plan Update policy and implementation actions
and uniformly applied development policies,    standards and/ or

regulations are, hereby imposed on the proposed Project and must be
adhered to by the Project applicant.

Resolution No. 23-

685



To the extent the City has not previously made findings regarding
any/ all of these referenced General Plan policy and implementation
actions and uniformly applied development policies,  standards and/ or

regulations, the City Council finds that all of those General Plan Update
policy and implementation actions and uniformly applied development
policies,  standards and/ or regulations,  were adopted,  in whole or in

part,  to substantially mitigate the potential environmental effects to
which they pertain  ( i. e., aesthetics, agricultural and forest resources,

air quality, biological resources, cultural and tribal resources, geology
and soils, greenhouse gases, climate change, and energy, hazards and
hazardous materials,    hydrology and water quality,    land use,

population, and housing, mineral resources, noise, public services and
recreation, circulation, utilities and service systems, and wildfire).

Section 2.  Based on the findings set forth in this Resolution and the evidence

in the Staff Report, the City Council hereby find the Project Exempt from Further
Environmental Review Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and

California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183 as illustrated

and incorporated by reference as Attachment 10 of the City Council Staff Report.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lathrop,
based on substantial evidence in the administrative record of proceedings, its above
findings,  including the staff report and associated attachments,  pursuant to its
independent review and consideration,  does hereby find the Project exempt from
further environmental review pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3
and California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183.

Resolution No. 23-

686



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t'' day of November 2023
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

SIGNED:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23-

687



RESOLUTION NO. 23-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR

THE ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT ( CUP- 23- 08 AND SPR- 23- 09)

WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop City Council held a duly noticed public
hearing to consider the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review pursuant to the
General Plan and Lathrop Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the request is for approval of a Conditional Use Permit and Site

Plan Review to allow the construction of an approximately 1. 5 million square foot
concrete tilt- up building and all necessary supporting infrastructure on a property
located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment area as further
defined below in the third recital ( the proposed Project or the Project); and

WHEREAS, the property is located at 14101 S.  Manthey Road  ( APN:  192-

020- 14) ( the property); and

WHEREAS, prior to the City' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the
City prepared an Environmental Impact Report   ( EIR)   which analyzed the

environmental impacts of buildout under the General Plan Update pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA) ( Public Resources Code Section 21000,

et. seq.), and the City of Lathrop City Council certified the Final EIR on September
19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 2021100139); and

WHEREAS,  the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use of

CEQA exemption/ streamlining provisions for projects under the General Plan

Update, including the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, an Environmental Checklist has been prepared for the proposed
Project,  which is attached to the City Council Staff Report as Attachment 10 and
can also be found in the Planning Division project files located at 390 Towne Centre
Drive, Lathrop, CA 95330; and

WHEREAS,  prior to approval of the Project,  the City Council adopted a
Resolution to find the Project exempt from further environmental review pursuant
to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and California Environmental Quality Act

CEQA) Guidelines Section 15183; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed Project is consistent with
the Limited Industrial land use goals and policies of the City of Lathrop General Plan
and is also consistent with the development standards for the IL- CL,  Limited

Industrial Zoning District and the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment
as further implemented through the Zoning Code Text Amendment; and

Resolution No. 23-

688



WHEREAS,  the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed
public hearing on September 13, 2023, to consider the proposed Project and after
reviewing and considering all information provided and submitted, and after taking
and considering all public testimony adopted Resolution No.  23- 13 recommending
City Council approval of the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects as
required by law including the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the
Manteca Bulletin on or about September 29,  2023 and mailed out to property
owners located within a 300- foot radius from the project site boundary on

September 29,   2023,   emailed to the City' s Public Hearing subscribers and

interested parties and posted at three ( 3) locations accessible to the public and the
City website; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has utilized its own independent judgement in
adopting this Resolution.

NOW THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby make the following findings:

Section 1.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.   Pursuant to Section 17. 112. 060

of the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC), the City Council finds as follows:

a.  That there are circumstances or conditions applicable to the land,

structure or use which makes the granting of a use permit necessary
for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial property right.
The proposed Project represents a major expansion of the existing
Ashley Furniture Distribution Center and Retail Outlet located on S.
Harlan Road.     The proposed Project is consistent with the City's
development standards for Limited Industrial.

b.  That the proposed location of the conditional use is in accordance with
the objectives of the zoning code and the purposes of the district in
which the site is located.   The proposed Project is located in the IL- CL,
Limited Industrial Zoning District and the Central Lathrop Specific Plan
Phase 2 Amendment area and is a permitted use within the zoning
district for which it is located as further established in the Zoning Code
Text Amendment.

c.  That the proposed use will comply with each of the applicable

provisions of the LMC, as amended.  As noted above and as described

in the Staff Report, the proposed Project is a permitted use in the IL-
CL,   Limited Industrial Zoning District and is consistent with the

applicable provisions in the LMC,  including screening requirements
pursuant to the Central Lathrop Specific P/an Phase 2 Amendment.
Additionally, the General Plan requires updates to the LMC and Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 in order to ensure that new development
is compatible with existing development ( Goal LU- 5).

Resolution No. 23-

689



The proposed Project is consistent with the LMC,   Policies and

Implementation Actions of the General Plan as it relates to truck traffic

impacts and land use compatibility.

Section 2.  Site Plan Review Findings.   Pursuant to Section 17. 100. 050 of the

Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC), the City Council finds as follows:

a.  The proposed Site Plan Review complies with all applicable provisions
of Chapter 17. 100;

b.  The proposed Site Plan Review is consistent with the site

improvements listed in Chapter 17. 100    ( a.    through i.)    and

improvements are such that traffic congestion is avoided and

pedestrian and vehicular safety and welfare are protected and there
will not be adverse effects on surrounding properties;

c.   Proposed lighting for the project area is so arranged as to deflect away
from adjoining properties; and

d.  The proposed Site Plan Review is compatible with surrounding land
uses and will not be detrimental to the health,  safety and general
welfare of the City as further evaluated in the Environmental Checklist.

Section 3.  Based on the findings set forth in this Resolution and the evidence

in the Staff Report,  the City Council hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No.
CUP- 23- 08 and Site Plan Review No.   SPR- 23- 09 subject to the Consolidated

Conditions of Approval as illustrated and incorporated by reference as Attachment 3
of the City Council Staff Report.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lathrop,
based on substantial evidence in the administrative record of proceedings, its above
findings,  including the staff report and associated attachments,  pursuant to its
independent review and consideration, does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit
No.  CUP- 23- 08 and Site Plan Review No.  SPR- 23- 09,  subject to the Consolidated

Conditions of Approval listed in Attachment 3 of the November 13,  2023 City
Council Staff Report and incorporated by reference herein

Resolution No. 23-

690



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t" day of November 2023
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

SIGNED:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23-

691



c t r a4TTAC H N!E N T "       „

Community Development Department — Planning Division

Amended Consolidated Conditions of Approval

September 13, 2023

Project Name: Ashley Furniture Project

File Number:   Conditional Use Permit No. CUP- 23- 08 and Site Plan Review No. SPR- 23- 09

Project Address:      14101 S. Manthey Road ( APN: 192- 020- 14)

The following list of conditions shall be incorporated into the fznal constritction plans and development phases of the
project. The list of conditions are not intended to be all- inclusive or a comprehensive listing of all Ciry or district
regulations. Please note that additional comments and/ or conditions may be added pending the response to the comments
noted below and/or changes to the proposed project. The following comments and conditions ofapproval are based on the
application and diagrams dated May, 2023.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Approval of this project authorizes the construction of a 1, 486, 607 sq. ft. concrete tilt- up building on a
89. 82- acre property located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis Road and Manthey Road and within
the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment area.  The proposed building will include an up
to three- story, 24, 000 sq. ft. office, an up to two- story 110, 260 sq. ft. retail outlet and showroom and a
1, 352, 347 sq.  ft.  warehouse distribution center.    The project includes related on-  and off-site

improvements, including but not limited to off-street parking, lighting, landscaping, solid wall and
wrought iron fencing, outdoor employee break area, paving, and street improvements ( landscaping,
curb, gutter, and sidewalk

CEQA DETERMINATION

Exempt in accordance with Section 21083. 3 of the Public Resources Code and Section 15183 of the

California Environmental Quality Act( CEQA) Guidelines.

PLANNING

l.    The project is subject to and shall comply with the Project Requirements resulting from the
Environmental Checklist prepared by De Novo Planning Group.  The Project Requirements are

incorporated by reference into this list of conditions ( attached).

2.   The Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review shall not be in effect until the Rezone that is

part of the City' s Zoning Consistency Project and Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2
Amendment are approved and in effect.

3.    Signs ( Directional Signs) shall be placed on- site directing trucks north on S. Manthey Road
towards Roth Road from the site.  Signage shall be maintained by the applicant/property owner
and replaced if damaged, destroyed or otherwise unreadable.   Signage shall be reviewed and

approved by the Planning Division.

Page 1 of 18

692



4.    Sign( s) shall be placed in the drivers'  lounge and/or breakroom associated with the project
building directing trucks north on S. Manthey Road toward Roth Road from the site.  The sign

shall illustrate the Truck Route to and from the site, the City' s Truck Route Map and a reference
to Chapter 10. 16, Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles of the Lathrop Municipal Code ( LMC).

5.    Evergreen trees planted along Dos Reis Road for the purposes of screening sha( I be in compliance
with the CLSP Phase 2 Amendment.

6.    Outdoor employee break area( s) shall include trash receptacles, shade structure( s), and seating
areas.  The final design and location of employee break area( s) shall be subject to review and

approval by the Planning Division.

7.    Passenger vehicle entryways shall include enhanced paving materials, such as herringbone design
or stamped concrete.  The extent of the enhanced paving materials shall be subject to review and
approval by the Planning Division.

8.    Interior truck operator lounge( s) and/ or employee break area( s) shall include on- site amenities,

such as restrooms, vending machines, air conditioning, seating areas, etc.   The truck operator

lounge( s) and/ or employee break area( s) shall be subject to review and approval by the Planning
Division.

9.    With the exception of parking and storage of truck cabs and truck trailers, storage containers, and
temporary load transfers, outdoor storage is prohibited, unless otherwise reviewed and approved
by the Planning Division.

10.  Installation of driveway entry/ security gates or interior site fencing shall subject to review and
approval by the Planning Division, Building Department and Lathrop Manteca Fire District prior
to installation. All driveway entry/ security gates shall provide truck queuing in front of the gate of
at least seventy- five ( 75) feet in order to allow trucks with trailers to pull onto the site without
blocking adjacent street rights-of-ways.

11.  The security gate building ( guard shack) shall be architecturally compatible with the primary
building as it relates to color, aesthetic, and material.

12.  On- site fencing shall be maintained and in good working order for the life of the project.  Damage
and/ or wear- and- tear shall be repaired by the applicant/ property owner in a timely manner.

13.  Prior to any ground disturbance, the project shall consult with the San Joaquin County Multi-
Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP) for biological coverage, mitigation

and participation in the plan. Participation in the SJMSCP satisfies requirements of both the State
and Federal endangered species acts, and ensures that the impacts are mitigated below a level of

significance in compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA).

14.  The applicant shall coordinate with the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District to
comply with District rules and regulation including but not limited to Rule 9510, Indirect Source
Review. The applicant shall provide proof of compliance prior to building permit issuance.

15.  The project shall comply with applicable site development provisions contained in the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment Design Guidelines and Lathrop Municipal Code
including but not limited to parking, lighting, landscaping, etc.

16.  All areas not used for structures, parking, driveways, walkways, or other hardscape shall be
landscaped and maintained by the property owner per Section 17. 92. 030( A)( 1) of the Lathrop
Municipal Code to the satisfaction of the City.

Page 2 of 18

693



17.  The applicant shall submit appropriate plans to the Community Development Department for plan
check and building permit. Final site plan, elevation, landscaping and irrigation, exterior lighting
and site improvement plans and details, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning
Division. Any significant change or modification to the approved plan is subject to review and
approval by the Community Development Director.

18.  Landscaping and irrigation must be consistent with the City' s Water Conservation Requirements
LMC 17. 92. 060) and the State Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance ( AB 1881).  The applicant

shall include with the landscape and irrigation plan a water efficient landscape worksheet with
water budget calculations identifying the water allowance and estimated water use.

19.  The applicant/ property owner shall ensure the entire site including landscaping areas shall be
maintained in a healthy, weed free condition to the satisfaction of the City.

20.  Trash enclosure( s) shall include but not be limited to a covered roof, metal gate and have three
solid walls.  Details and/ or alternative designs or location shall be subject to review and approval

of the Planning, Building, and Public Works Department.  The trash enclosure design, material

and color shall match or compliment the main building.

21.  It sha( 1 be the responsibility of the applicant/ property owner to ensure that any building or parking
area lighting including security lighting associated with the project, be arranged so as to not cast
light onto adjoining properties.

22.  A final site lighting photometric plan with detailed specifications of all lighting fixtures, poles,
and wall packs as well as a manufacture' s catalog sheet containing photometric data, shall be
submitted with Building Permits for City review and approvaL Parking lots, driveways, trash
enclosure/ areas shall be illuminated during the hours of darkness with a minimum maintained one
foot- candle of light and an average not to exceed four foot- candles of light. The illumination shall

not exceed ten ( 10) foot- candles in any one location.

23.  No signs are approved for this project.  A Master Sign Program for the project shall be prepared
and submitted for review and approval by the Planning Division per Chapter 17. 84 of the Zoning
Code. All signs shall require a Planning Division Sign Design application and a separate Building
Permit application, subject to review and approval of the Planning and Building Divisions.

24.  Bicycle parking shall be installed consistent with Chapter 17. 76. 120 of the LMC.  In accordance

with LMC Section 17. 76. 120( D), the proposed project shall provide changing facilities for
employees/ workers utilizing bicycle to get to and from the use and bicycle lockers in a secure
room equal to the minimum number of bicycle parking stalls required by Chapter 17. 76.  Bicycle

lockers should be in close proximity to the employee entrance.   The final location( s) shall be

subject to review and approval by the Planning Division.  The secure room shall include electrical
outlets for the purpose of charging electric bicycles ( e- bikes).

25.  Roof-mounted mechanical equipment shall be screened and not visible from the public right- of-
way.  Screening materials shall be compatible with the architectural style, materials and color of
the building upon which the equipment is located, subject to the approval of the Community
Development Director or designee.

26.  Ground- mounted equipment that is not required to be visible, shall be screened not visible from

the public right-of-way using the most practical means of screening, such as landscaping, a
freestanding wall/ fence, matching paint, subject to approval of the Community Development
Director or designee.

Page 3 of 18

694



27.  Unless otherwise specified, all conditions of approval shall be complied with prior to the issuance
of any Building Permits.

28.  The Site Plan shall expire thirty- six ( 36) months from the date of approval unless a time extension
is granted consistent with the policies and procedure of the Lathrop Municipal Code.  Prior to the

expiration date of August 30, 2026 a building permit must be issued and construction commenced
and diligently pursued toward completion of the site or structures.

29.  In the event clarification is required for an interpretation of these Conditions of Approval, the

Community Development Director and City Engineer shall have the authority either to
administratively clarify the intent and wording of these Conditions of Approval without the
requirement of a public hearing or to refer questions regarding the interpretation of these
Conditions of Approval to the Planning Commission.   If the applicant take issue with the

clarification provided administratively,  the applicant shall have the right to appeal the

administrative clarification to the Planning Commission.  The Community Development Director
and City Engineer shall also have the authority to make minor modifications to these conditions
provided a request is made in writing by the applicant and it is determined such modifications are
consistent with and in furtherance of the underlying intent of the condition being modified.

30.  The City of Lathrop may conduct annual and or spot inspections to ensure that compliance with
the required site improvements and conditions are being maintained.

31.  The applicant shall install an eight ( 8) foot hi h chain link fence with vin privac slats black

powder coated) alon the western property line to screen the outdoor stora e areas.

BUILDING

1.    All construction associated with this project shall comply with the most recent adopted City and
State building codes.

2.    Special Inspections — As indicated by California Building Code Section 1704, the property
owner/ developer shall employ one or more special inspectors who shall provide special
inspections when required by CBC section 1704.  The property owner/ developer shall contact the
Building Department at time of plan submittal to obtain application for special inspections.

3.    The Title Sheet of the plans shall include:

Occupancy Group Type of Construction

Occupant Load Height of Building
Description of Use Floor area of building( s) by occupancy group
Area Analysis Code Used

4.    The property owner/ developer shall be responsible for payment of school impact fees prior to the
issuance of a building permit.

5.    Dimensioned building setbacks and property lines,  street centerlines and distances between

buildings and structures shall be provided on the project site plan.

6.    The project shall be designed to conform with energy conservation measures articulated in Title
24 of the California Code of Regulations and address measures to reduce energy consumption
such as flow restrictors for toilets, low consumption light fixtures, and insulation and shall use to

the extent feasible draught landscaping.

Page 4 of 18

695



7.   All property lines and easements shall be shown on the site plan.  A statement shall be provided
that indicates such lines and easements are shown is required.

8.    Public and private site improvements shall be designed in accordance with the Americans with
Disabilities Act and Chapter 11 of the California Building Code.  The site plan shall include a site
accessibility plan identifying exterior routes of travel and detailing running slope, cross slope,
width, pedestrian ramp, curb ramps, handrails, signage and truncated domes.  The path of travel
shall be provided from the public right of way and accessible parking to building.  The design

professional shall ensure that the site accessibility plan is in compliance with the latest Federal and
State regulations.  A site accessibility plan shall be required per the attached policy from the link
below:

https:// www. ci. lathrop. ca. is/ sites/ default/ tiles/ fileattachments/ building division/ pa e/ 24708/ site
accessibility plan_ requirements. pdf

9.   At the time of building permit application submittal a design professional shall be required to
prepare the formal construction plans for proposed improvements per the Business and
Professions' Code.

10.  Grading and Site Improvement permits from Public Works may be required separately from the
accessibility plan in compliance with item 8.

PUBLIC WORKS

Land

1.    The applicant shall dedicate all right- of-way ( ROW) necessary for the ultimate ROW width as
represented in the approved Improvement Plans.  A 10- foot public utility easement ( PUE) shall
also be dedicated along all ROW frontages.

Public/ Fronta e Im rovements

1.    The applicant shall submit an encroachment permit for all work within the public right- of-way and
City owned or controlled property.

2.   The applicant shall be required to install full street frontage improvements along all frontages of
the parcel being developed or improved.  Frontage improvements shall include but are not limited
to curb, gutter, sidewalk, street lights, hydrants, asphalt concrete paving, striping, driveways, and
landscaping.  The extent of paving shall include one- half ultimate street width or as otherwise
stated in the City of Lathrop Municipal Code.  The applicant shall submit the off-site plans for
approval along with the applicable plan check and inspection fees.

3.    The applicant shall underground all existing and new overhead utilities on both sides of the
frontage street in compliance with the Lathrop Municipal Code.  Overhead power lines in excess
of 34. 5 KVA are not required to be undergrounded.

4.    As recommended in the TJKM Traffic Impact Analysis Report, the applicant shall complete the

following improvements prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, including a temporary
certificate of occupancy:

a.   Lathrop Road/ I- 5 SB Ramps:  Optimize signal timing to achieve an acceptable level of
service.  Align signal timing with coordination plan for the Lathrop Road corridor.

Page 5 of 18

696



b.  Golden Valley Parkway & Spartan Way/ Lathrop Road Intersection:   Grind existing
striping, slurry seal extents of striping and restripe the following configuration to City
Standards:

i.  NB Approach:  One left- turn lane, one through lane, two right- turn lanes

ii.  SB Approach: Two left- turn lanes, two through lanes, one right- turn lane

iii.  EB Approach: One left turn- lane, two through lanes, one right- turn lane

iv.  WB Approach:  Two left- turn lanes, two through lanes, one right- turn lane

5.   The TJKM Traffic Impact Analysis Report found that the Lathrop Road/ I- 5 NB Ramp will
degrade from LOS E to LOS F with the Project in the Baseline plus Project condition, which will
require the construction of a 400 foot separate right turn lane on the NB Ramp.  The applicant

shall conduct current traffic counts for the NB Ramp to confirm the baseline condition and
complete a technical memorandum to document the findings of the traffic counts.  If the results of

the technical memorandum indicate that the impact is negligible or that the level of service does

not degrade below LOS D in the Current Baseline plus Project condition, the project shall not be
required to construct the 400 foot separate right turn lane on the NB Ramp.  If the results of the

traffic counts indicate that the project operations would cause the LOS to degrade below a LOS D
with the Project, the applicant shall be required to construct the 400 foot separate right turn lane

on the NB Ramp.  If the improvements are required, applicant shall design, estimate construction

cost and provide performance and labor & materials guarantee to the City for the improvements
and enter into a deferred frontage improvement agreement with the City prior to issuance of a
building permit for the Project.  If required, the applicant shall work towards construction of the

improvements in a timely manner for completion as close to the occupancy of the Project as
possible.

6.    The applicant shall be required to improve Golden Valley Parkway from Spartan Way to Dos Reis
Road. Golden Valley Parkway is currently improved from Spartan Way to about 240 feet south of
Does Reis Road and includes utilities, curb & gutter, and bottom lift pavement and subgrade.  The
applicant shall be required to complete the improvements on Golden Valley Parkway to include
but not limited to sidewalk, top lift pavement, striping, signing, landscaping and lighting.  The

improvements are eligible in part for City Transportation Capital Facility Fee ( CFF) credit or
reimbursement as portions are included in the existing City CFF program and this roadway
provides a regional benefit.

7.   The applicant shall be required to construct a roundabout at the intersection of Golden Valley
Parkway and Dos Reis Road.  The roundabout shall be an enhanced gateway to the CLSP Phase 2
area and shall include components such as monumentation, art, enhanced landscaping, lighting,
etc.   The roundabout shall include safetLprovements such as pedestrian actuated flashin
warning si n s_ The final design shall be approved by the City Engineer.   The applicant shall

submit the roundabout plans for approval as part of the offsite improvement plans.

8.    The applicant shall be required to abandon and barricade Manthey Road between Lathrop Road
and Dos Reis Road upon completion of the improvement of Golden Valley Parkway.   This

abandonment is necessary to facility the proper traffic circulation for the project.

9.   The applicant shall be required to install signage on Lathrop Road, Spartan Way, Golden Valley
Parkway, Dos Reis Road and Manthey Road south of Dos Reis Road prohibiting trucks from
utilizing these roadways.  Location and size of the signage shall be reviewed and approved by the
City Engineer prior to issuance of an occupancy permit.

Page 6 of 18

697



10.  Applicant shall comply with Chapter l 0. l 6, Truck Routes and Commercial Vehicles of the LMC.

11.  The a plicant shall construct a raised " pork chop" with bollards at the northeast corner of Spartan
Way and Golden Valley Pai k vav to discotira e semi- trucks fi•om makin a ri ht- turn towacds the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 area.  The design of the improvements shall be

eview ed and a proved by the Citv Engineer and must be installed prior to the issuance of a
Certificate of Occupanc

12.  The ap licant shall construct a raised median on S. Manthey Road adjacent to the truck driveway
at the facility to disco ira e trucks from making a left turn in and a ri ht turn out of the facility.
The desi n of the improvements shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer and must be
instal led prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occi anc

Wastewater

1.    The applicant shall be required to connect to the City sewer system prior to certificate of
occupancy for the first building within the project.

2.   The applicant shall secure sufficient sewer capacity for the project and pay all connection fees and
reimbursements.

3.    The project will connect to the existing Central Lathrop Phase 1 gravity sewer main system and
the wastewater will be conveyed to the City' s Treatment Plan by use of the existing Central
Lathrop Phase 1 wastewater pump station and force mains.    The applicant shall provide
calculations to the City Engineer proving that these existing facilities can support the additional
wastewater discharge from the project and shall install any improvements needed to accommodate
the project if the existing facilities are deficient.

Potable Water

1.   The applicant shall be required to connect to the water utility for domestic supply prior to
certificate of occupancy and pay all applicable connection fees. All existing groundwater wells on
site shall be abandoned under a permit from San Joaquin County prior to connecting potable water
to the site.

2.    The applicant shall secure sufficient water capacity for the project and pay all connection fees and
reimbursements.

3.   The project will connect to the existing Central Lathrop Phase 1 potable water system.   The

applicant shall provide calculations to the City Engineer proving that these existing facilities can
support the projects needs and shall install any improvements needed to accommodate the project
if the existing facilities are deficient.

Recvcled Water

l.    Applicant shall install recycled water mains along all frontages if not existing.   All public
landscaping shall be irrigated with recycled water and a recycled water hydrant shall be placed in
an accessible location along the frontage to provide a filling station for street sweeping activities
and construction.

2.   All recycled water points of connection for irrigation require the installation of a recycled water
meter.

Storm Drain

l.    The applicant shall be required to connect to storm drain utility and pay all applicable connection
fees.

Page 7 of 18

698



2.    Hydrology and hydraulic calculations and plans for on- site and off-site storm drainage systems
shall be submitted to the City for review and approval.

3.   As part of their onsite improvements, the applicant shall install all necessary Best Management
Practices ( BMP' s) for post construction in accordance with City guidelines and standards.  The

BMP' s must be in place prior to final occupancy for the project.

4.   The applicant shall execute a maintenance agreement for all onsite storm water quality treatment
devices, swales, and/ or ponds.

5.    The project will connect to the existing Central Lathrop Phase 1 storm water system for
Watershed 4.  The applicant shall provide calculations to the City Engineer proving that these
existing facilities can support the projects needs and shall install any improvements needed to
accommodate the project if the existing facilities are deficient.

General

1.    The applicant shall retain the services of a California licensed civil engineer to design the project
utility plans for sewer, water, storm drain lines and systems.

2.    The applicant shall ensure that all off-site and on- site improvements comply with City Standards
as illustrated on the approved Improvement Plans.

3.   All on- site water, sewer, and storm drain systems that are privately owned shall be maintained by
the property owner.

4.    The parking areas and drive aisles on site shall be paved with asphalt concrete.

5.    The project shall comply with the Multi- Agency Post Construction Storm Water Manual.

6.    Grading and other construction activities that may cause dust shall be watered to control dust at
the City Engineer' s direction.   A water vehicle shall be available eon site for dust control

operations at all times during grading operations.  The adjacent public street shall be kept free and
clean of any project dirt, mud, materials, and debris.

7.    The applicant shall pay all appropriate fees including,  but not limited to,  North Lathrop
Transportation Fee, Levee Impact Fee, Capital Facilities Fees, and Plan Check and Inspection

Fees.

8.   A geotechnical report shall be submitted for the project, which includes groundwater elevations,
percolation rates for retention basins, soil compaction requirements, and recommendations for
asphalt paving and concrete.  Building PAD certification is required from Geotechnical Engineer
and/ or Special Inspector.

9.    All water meters shall be installed within the public right of way or public utility easement.  The

City shall not be the responsible party for maintaining water and sewer lines beyond existing main
line stub outs or on private property, unless otherwise agreed to by the City.

10.  The applicant has the option to enter into a reimbursement agreement with the City for
construction cost reimbursement of any infrastructure that provides regional benefit.

11.  All improvements shall be designed and constructed per the most current City Standards.

12.  The applicant shall create or participate in a Community Facilities District ( CFD) to fund the
maintenance of all public infrastructure prior to issuance of the first building permit associated
with the project.

Page 8 of 18

699



13.  If the project is greater than one acre; the applicant shall complete a SWPPP, obtain a WDID
number and list the number on the improvement plans, and submit the SWPPP to the City for
review and approval.

LATHROP- MANTECA FIRE DISTRICT ( LMFD)

1.   The project shall conform to the most currently adopted edition of the California Fire Code and all
related standards.

2.    Permits shall be obtained from the fire code officiaL Permit( s) and fees, shall be paid prior to
issuance of any and/ or all permits.  Issued permits shall be kept on the premises designated therein
at all times and shall be readily available for inspection by the fire code officiaL  ( Permits are to be

renewed on an annual basis).

3.    Depending on the proposed Occupancy Type & fire area occupant load, Automatic Fire Sprinklers

may be required.  In the case where automatic fire sprinkler systems are required, such systems

shall comply with California Fire Code Section 903. 2 and the Tenant/ Occupant/ Owner shall have
the responsibility to ensure that the correct fire suppressions system is added/ modified/ tested and
accepted by the ( AHJ) Fire District for review and approval prior to modification.   Deferred

submittal accepted.

4.    All residential structures shall be Fire Sprinkler protected, as per the City of Lathrop' s Fire
Sprinkler Ordinance,  California Fire Code,  California Residential Code,  and the California

Building Standards Codes.  Fire suppression system plans shall be modified under separate fire
permit and shall be submitted by a licensed fire contractor, to the ( AHJ) Fire District for review
and approval prior installation. Deferred plan submittals are accepted.

5.    Fire Sprinkler System alterations and plans shall be submitted directly to LMFD.

6.    Fire Alarm System upgrades and plans shall be submitted directly to LMFD.

7.   A means of Ingress and Egress Plan shall be submitted with the project Tenant Improvement
Plans.

8.    An approved fire alarm system shall be installed in accordance with CFC § 907. 2 and NFPA 72.

9.    Fire Department Development Impact Fees for all new buildings shall be paid in accordance with
the City of Lathrop Municipal Code and Resolutions of the adopted fee schedule.

10.  An approved Fire Flow test shall be conducted prior to ground breaking to determine allowable
Fire Fighting capabilities for the site.

11.  An approved water supply for fire protection, either temporary or permanent, shall be made
available prior to commencing construction beyond the foundation stage,  or as soon as

combustible material arrives on the site.

12.  Deferred Plan Submittals for Fire Alarm, Fire Sprinklers and Fire Underground shall be submitted

directly to LMFD.

Page 9 of 18

700



13.  Fire apparatus access roads shall be designed and maintained to support the imposed loads of fire

apparatus and shall be surfaced so as to provide all- weather driving capabilities.  Fire apparatus

access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not less than 20 feet ( 6096 mm), exclusive of

shoulders, except for approved security gates in accordance with California Fire Code ( CFC)
Section 503. 6, and an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 13 feet 6 inches ( 4115 mm).

Adequate turnaround shall be provided per City of Lathrop Standards and Appendix D of the 2022
CFC.

14.  Where access to the development is restricted because of secured openings or where immediate

access is necessary for life- saving or fire- fighting purposes, a key " knox" box is required to be

installed in an approved location.  The key " knox" box shall be of an approved type and shall

contain keys to gain necessary access as required by the fire code officiaL In addition to key
knox" box( es), any automatic gates shall have Opticom access ability to provide necessary access

for emergency apparatus.

15.  Where a portion of the added street is constructed more than 200 feet ( 61 meters) from a hydrant
on a fire apparatus access road, as measured by an approved route, the developer shall provide an
additional fire hydrant and main shall be provided.  NOTE: The developer shall provide exact
locations and distances of existing hydrants in the area.  ( CFC Appendix C, and City of Lathrop
Water System Standards).

16.  The developer shall be responsible for providing approved vehicle access for firefighting to all
construction and demolition sites.  Vehicle access shall be provided to within 100 feet ( 30, 480
mm) of temporary or permanent fire department connections.  Vehicle access shall be provided by
either temporary or permanent roads, capable of supporting vehicle loading under all weather
conditions.  Vehicle access shall be maintained until permanent fire apparatus access roads are
available.

17.  The Fire Department Fire Access Roads shall meet the requirements established by the San
Joaquin County Fire Chiefls Association.

18.  The turning radius for his project shall be a minimum of 41 feet for all Emergency Fire Apparatus.

19.  Buildings exceed 30 feet in height shall have a minimum unobstructed fire apparatus access width

of 26 feet.

20.  Commercial cooking equipment that produce grease laden vapors shall be provided with a Type I
Hood,  in accordance with the California Mechanical Code,  and automatic fire extinguishing
system that is listed and labeled for its intended use as follows:

a.   Wet chemical extinguishing system, complying with UL 300
b.  Carbon dioxide extinguishing systems
c.   Automatic fire sprinkler systems

21.  Where a portion of the facility or building hereafter constructed or moved into or within the
jurisdiction is more than 400 feet ( 122 meters) from a hydrant on a fire apparatus access road, as
measured by an approved route around the exterior of the facility or building, on- site fire hydrants
and mains shall be provided where required by the fire code official.

22.  At LMFD' s discretion the proposed project may be subject to other fire & life safety requirements
at the time of building plan review.

Page 10 of 18

701



23.  Final approval is subject to field inspections.  A minimum 48 to 72- hour notice is required prior to
any life- safety fire inspections.  Other conditions may apply at time of inspections and are subject
to correction.

LATHROP POLICE DEPARTMENT ( LPD)

1.    The applicant shall paint the address on the roof top for each individual building.  The numbers

shall be at least 3 feet tall, 2 feet wide, 9 inches apart, with 6- inch brush stroke with a color that

contrast the roof top, top of numbers/ letters should point north.

2.    The applicant shall install dedicated lights in the parking lot that are properly maintained
including the drive access.

3.    The applicant shall install an indoor and outdoor recording security camera system that shall be
maintained by the property owner and accessible to LPD with camera views covering all ingress
and egress to all building( s) and parking areas.  The quantity and location shall be reviewed and
approved by LPD prior to issuance of an occupancy permit.

4.    Where access to the development is restricted because of secured openings or where immediate

access is necessary for life- saving or emergency purposes, a key " knox" box is required to be

installed in an approved location.  The key " knox" box shall be of an approved type and shall

contain keys to gain necessary access as required by the police chie£  In addition to key " knox"
box( es), any automatic gates shall have Opticom access ability to provide necessary access for
emergency vehicles.

5.    The proposed landscaping for this project shall conform to the following CPTED measurements:

a.  Maintain natural visible surveillance to building from parking lot and street.

b.  Plants taller than 8 feet shall be trimmed up to 4 feet from ground.

c.   Plans under S feet shall be trimmed to allow ground level surveillance.

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

1.    By exercising this approval, the applicant hereby agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend
the City, its officers, agents, elected and appointed officials, and employees, from any and all
liability or claims that may be brought against the City arising out of its approval of this Site Plan
Review and Conditional Use Permit to the fullest extent permitted by law.

SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT

See attached memorandum dated June 21, 2023.

Page 11 of 18

702



Q(   Environmental Heal#h Departme, t

C Ca t. 1 T 1___._...     Jasjit Ka. REHS, Director

p» au. aes, aa ser a.. w

P AIACOWiO1NATp FtB

3 Ef Cartuwswa, REHS, RAI

VNdy Mp. REttS
Stsven St h. REHS

E4ms Maeuo, f FkS
Nada S ikova, REFiS

JUtTL' 2: 202;3

fp: City oi t athrap Community Oevetopment Department i lanning Divrsion
A#sntian Dav d Na kanen

From:     Cesar Ruv icaba( 209) 953- 62t3

L.ead Seniar Regist ered Envfror m nta Health Specia# is#

RE: CUP- 23-08, SPR- 23- 0, Referral, SU i5642, SUOOi56d1

141Q1 S. Martthey Raad ( APN: 192- 020- 14)

The San Jc aquin County Enviranmentat NeaCih Department{ EHa) recommends the faiic wing
conditior s as a part af develaping this praject:

1. Any geotechr icat drilling shaii be conduct d und r permii and inspectr̀on by The
Ernir anmental Neaitt Gepartment ( San Joaquin Caunty Development Titfe, Section 9-
801. 010{b} and 9-601. 020{} j.

2. Any abandoned wells or septic systems shal! be destroyed under permit and inspeetion
by the END( San Joaquin Caunty Qevelopment Title, Section 9- 605. 010& 9- 601. 024)

t868 E. Hazeiton Avenue Stodctaro. Ga ifom a 95205 T 2f}9 468- 342 F 2€39 464-0138  wwvr sj ay. or t hd

Page 12 of 18

703



ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST

SUMMARY OF PROJECT REQUIREMENTS

Page 13 of 18

704



Summary of CEQA Project Requirements for the Ashley Warehouse Project

Requirement AG- 1: Imp/ ement Lathrop Municipal Code Chapter 3.40 AGRICULTURAL MITIGATION FEE
Section 3. 40. 030 Collection of Agricultural Mitigation Fee.

The Agricultural Mitigation Fee enacted pursuant to this chapter is to be collected by the city before the

issuance of building permits, or at approva/ of any discretionary permit if no building permit is required.
Ord. OS- 248§ 1 J

Requirement AG-2: Require a/l deve/opment to coordinate with and participate with SJCOG in the

SJMSCPAgricultura/ Mitigation Fee program as required.

Requirement AQ- 1: Comp/ y with SJVAPCD Rule 95101ndirect Source Review

Requirement AQ- 2: Comply with SSJVAPCD Regulation Vl/ l for all sites and implementation control
measures indicated in Tables 6-2 and 6-3 of the SJVAPCD' s Guide for Assessing and Mitigating Air

Quality Impacts.

Requirement BIO- 1: Compliance with the San Joaquin County Mu/ ti-Species Habitat Conservation and
Open Space Plan( SJMSCPJ

Requirement 810- 2: Compliance with the mitigation recommendations included within Biological

Resources Ana/ ysis Report( AttachmentA).

VELB Buffer and/ or Survey— VELB is a species covered by the SJMSCP ( SJCOG 2000), and the

incidental take minimization and mitigation measures outlined in the document are as follows:

In areas with elderberry bushes, as indicated by the SJMSCP Vegetation Maps or per a

preconstruction survey identification or other sources indicated in Section 5. 2. 2. 3,  the
following shall occur:

A.  If elderberry shrubs are present on the project site, a setback of 20 feet from the dripline of

each elderberry bush shall be established.

B.  Brightly colored flags or fencing shall be placed surrounding elderberry shrubs throughout the
construction process.

C.  For all shrubs without evidence of VELB exit holes which cannot be retained on the project site

as described in A and B, above, the JPA shall, during preconstruction surveys, count all stems

of 1" or greater in diameter at ground level. Compensation for removal of these stems shall be

provided by the JPA within SJMSCP Preserves as provided in SJMSCP Section 5. 5. 4( B).

D.  For all shrubs with evidence of VELB exit holes, the JPA shall undertake transplanting of
elderberry shrubs displaying evidence of VELB occupation to VELB mitigation sites during the
dormant period for elderberry shrubs ( November 1 - February 15). For elderberry shrubs

displaying evidence of VELB occupation which cannot be transplanted, compensation for
removal of shrubs shall be as provided in SJMSCP Section 5. 5. 4 ( C)."

If the elderberry shrub can be maintained on the project site, then a 20 ft. setback will need to
be established around the shrub ( See Figure 11). If the shrub cannot be maintained on the

project site, then VELB exit hole surveys consistent with the USFWS protocol ( USFWS 2017)

will be performed prior to any ground disturbance. Depending on the results of this survey,
either mitigation measure C or D above will be used.

Page 14 of 18

705



Pre- construction Reptile Survey — Both California glossy snake and San Joaquin coachwhip

have a low potential to occur on the Property and therefor a pre- construction survey should
be performed no more than 48 hours prior to ground disturbance or vegetation removal.
Surveys would be required to determine presence/ absence of this species. If the species are

found to occur on the project site, then passive relocation methods should be attempted
before ground disturbance.

Pre- Construction Avian Survey — If project construction- related activities would take place

during the nesting season ( February through August), preconstruction surveys for nesting

passerine birds and raptors ( birds of prey) in large trees adjacent to the project site should be
conducted by a competent biologist 14 days prior to the commencement of the tree removal
or site grading activities. Specific attention should be paid to the active Swainson' s hawk nest
that was identified across Dos Reis Road from the project site. As per the Incidental Take
Minimization Measures for Swainson' s hawk that are outlined in Section 5. 2. 4. 11 of the

SJMSCP ( SJCOG 2000):

If a nest tree becomes occupied during construction activities, then all construction activities
shall remain a distance of two times the dripline of the tree, measured from the nest."

The dripline for the tree where the Swainson' s hawk nest was observed is estimated to be 25

feet, making the required buffer for this nest 50 feet. The nest location and buffer are shown
in Figure 11.

If any other birds listed under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act are found to be nesting within the

project site or within the area of influence, an adequate protective buffer zone should be
established by a qualified biologist to protect the nesting site. This buffer shall be a minimum

of 50 feet from the project activities for passerine birds, and a minimum of 250 feet for other
raptors. The distance shall be determined by a competent biologist based on the site

conditions ( topography, if the nest is in a line of sight of the construction and the sensitivity of

the birds nesting). The nest site( s) shall be monitored by a competent biologist periodically to
see if the birds are stressed by the construction activities and if the protective buffer needs to
be increased. Once the young have fledged and are flying well enough to avoid project

construction zones ( typically by August), the project can proceed without further regard to the
nest site( s).

Burrowing Owl Surveys — Burrowing owls were not identified on the project site during May
2021 survey. However, a burrowing owl pre- construction survey should take place before any
construction activities commence.  It is recommended that they be conducted whenever

burrowing owl habitat or sign is encountered on or adjacent to (within 150 meters) a project
site. Occupancy of burrowing owl habitat is confirmed at a site when at least one burrowing
owl or its sign at or near a burrow entrance is observed within the last three years. If a

burrowing owl or sign is present on the project site three additional protocol level surveys will
be initiated. As per the incidental take minimization and mitigation measures outlined in the
SJMSCO ( SJCOG 2000): If burrowing owls are identified and work is to commence during the
non- breeding season ( September 1 through January 31), then the owls should be evicted from

the project site by passive relocation as described in the CDFW' s report on burrowing owls
1995). If work occurs during the breeding season ( February 1 through August 31) then the

burrows shall not be disturbed and will be provided with a 75- meter protective buffer.

However, if it is determined that the birds have not begun laying eggs, or the juveniles from

the occupied burrows are foraging independently and are capable of independent survival,
then the burrows can be destroyed.

Page 1 S of 18

706



Erosion Control — Grading and excavation activities could expose soil to increased rates of
erosion during construction periods. During construction, runoff from the warehouse site
could adversely surrounding habitats and cause increased particulate matter to enter the
storm drain system. Implementation of appropriate mitigation measures would ensure that

impacts to aquatic systems would be avoided or minimized. Mitigation measures may include

best management practices ( BMP' s) such as hay bales, silt fencing, placement of straw mulch
and hydro seeding of exposed soils after construction as identified in the Storm Water
Pollution Prevention Plan ( SWPPP).

Requirement CUL- 1: Implement General Plan Action: RR 3b

RR- 3b: Require all new development,  infrastructure,  and other ground- disturbing

projects to comply with the following conditions in the event of an inadvertent
discovery of cultural resources or human remains:

A.  If construction or grading activities result in the discovery of significant

historic or prehistoric archaeological artifacts or unique paleontological
resources,  all work within 100 feet of the discovery shall cease,  the

Community Development Director shall be notified, the resources shall be
examined by a qualified archaeologist,  paleontologist,  or historian for

appropriate protection and preservation measures;  and work may only

resume when appropriate protections are in place and have been approved

by the Community Development Director; and

B. If human remains are discovered during any ground disturbing activity, work

shall stop until the Community Development Director and the San Joaquin

County Coroner have been contacted. If the human remains are determined to
be of Native American origin, the Native American Heritage Commission and

the most likely descendants shall be consulted; and work may only resume
when appropriate measures have been taken and approved by the Community
Development Director.

Requirement GEO- 1:  Imp/ement recommendations presented in the Preliminary Geotechnical
Engineering Report. Prepared by: Terracon Consu/ tants, Inc. during the project design and construction.

Requirement HAZ- 1: If the project will store, transport or hand/ e hazardous materia/ s the project shall
be required to prepare and file a Hazardous Materials Business Plan ( HMBP) with the City prior to

issuance of Certificate of Occupancy.

Projed Requirement Hydro- 1: The project applicant shall prepare a Storm Water Pollution Prevention
Plan ( SWPPPJ that includes specific types and sources of stormwater pollutants, determine the location
and nature of potential impacts, and specify appropriate contro/ measures to eliminate impacts on
receiving water quality from stormwater runoff.   The SWPPP shall require treatment BMPs that

incorporate, at a minimum, the required hydraulic sizing design criteria for vo/ume and flow to treat

projected stormwater runoff. The SWPPP shall comp/ y with the most current standards established by
the RWQCB, and the Lathrop Storm Water Program. Best Management Practices shall be subject to

approval by the City Engineer and RWQCB.

Project Requirement Hydro 2:  Prior to approval of the building permit, the project applicant shall
submit a detailed Stormwater Contro/ P/ an constant with General Plan Action PFS- 4. 5, and the criteria

set forth in the Lathrop Stormwater Program.

Requirement N-1: Implement General P/an Policy N- 1. 15, and Lathrop Municipal Code Section 8.20.110

Construction of buildings and projects).

Page 16 of 18

707



N- 1. 15 Construction Noise.  Require construction activities to reduce noise impacts on

adjacent uses to the criteria identified in Table N- 3, or, if the criteria cannot be met,

to the maximum extent feasible complying with Title 15 of the LMC ( Building and
Construction)  and use best practices.  Construction activities outside of the

permitted construction hours identified in the LMC may be approved on a case- by-
case basis by the Building Official.

Lathrop Municipal Code Section 8. 20. 110 ( Construction of buildin s and proiects) " It shall be

unlawful for any person within a residential zone or within a radius of five hundred ( S00) feet
therefrom, to operate equipment or perform any outside construction or repair work on

buildings, structures or projects or to operate any pile driver, power shovel, pneumatic

hammer, derrick, power hoist, or any other construction type device between the hours of ten
p. m. of one day and seven a. m. of the next day, or eleven p. m. and nine a. m. Fridays,
Saturdays and legal holidays,  in such a manner that a reasonable person of normal

sensitiveness residing in the area is caused discomfort or annoyance unless beforehand a

permit therefore has been duly obtained from the office or body of the city having the
function to issue permits of this kind. No permit shall be required to perform emergency work
as defined in Sections 8. 20. 010 through 8. 20. 040. ( Prior code§ 99. 40)"

Page 17 of 18

708



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS

I have read, understand and acknowledge the Conditions of Approval dated
9/ 13/ 2023

for

the Ashley Furniture Project.

C?- ,--_
Signature of Applicant( s)

Aaron Hodgdon

Print Applicant( s) Name

9/ 6/ 2023

Date

Page 18 of 18

709



ATTACHMENT "  y     "

s        a,` zi?    mr  ..
a,`.      x

E
4

t6x.       ,

x

f       .

a

f i G

Project Site

b,

a;

r

i u     + t3"   t     ;,^    
r

y"+
r,,  +' -,

s n+  cz     r
ty. v,   

y ,,,'  
r f    ''

y&,k"      
d ,, 

s  ?   r    

r   

r  

i ra` 
a

n` r            : P4 d?-. 7`'' ,
r w    tk'` 2

r^
tl,         

A

awsv. W.,...-     ^

v."    , «, . . F we«  ,  

k 

fi

t

t» w,
5    -+,{„    .     v,   

Y.

i df 7    : e.w*.k   

y   3
x c,. y       ,   F      ;        

x,..

z, r

s   
t k      

r   
q- x      ,¢'

r i
s'      s  "

L'     f
F,:   Y

F t     , y" 
1  ;

n

MF.

r

n

f$  j       
t      "   

c i s t      

r.  

ro

a,,, i"    '  '..:.   

r.  -...,.-.      ,.  
a,$+ p+"   "     , s   ' y Y'.             $„

z

i      4       . aY    .       

4$     

k g           
jr            

4

f-•   
r..\ 5

4          $ "    { 

5'»
n

a`      

f*    va h t`"
x'°+   }      '°   x

t        
i. `     

r        "`

G; S    `  a" 4f     "

iK` V"   ^:   , 8`. y.    
k    s^+ s    .    ? y^ u, I m  +

s'
t ks p xt       ,        ,

a,      ..      

s
r

U'
bi I  i I  .,.

i`,     
i

y

A. ...   .  , 3"',., a`#'  !  ,      i°'     ,,;
i .,,   ..;,      ,.

I

PLANNING DIVISION

Vicinity Map

nF Ly      CUP- 23- 08, and SPR- 23- 09 N
L: r rpti

r      '    ;
Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan

r  ;. .     Review
f;

Ashley Furniture Project
f       Pr''.`;`

r

ky,.      14101 S. Manthey Road
civot co soale

APN: 192- 020- 14

710



TTACH ENT " 5     "

s e urni ure
PROJECT SPECIFIC SITE PLAN REVIEW APPROVAL

Case No. SPR- 23- 09

711



Development Team

Applicant Hodgdon Management and Construction, Inc.

1461 E Cooley Dr, Ste 230
Colton, CA 92324

Developer Hodgdon Management and Construction, Inc.

1461 E Cooley Dr, Ste 230
Colton, CA 92324

Architect HPA Architects

18831 Bardeen Ave

Irvine, CA 92612

Civil Engineer/ Landscape MacKay& Somps

5142 Franklin Dr, STE B

Pleasanton, CA 94588

Traffic Engineer TJKM

4305 Hacienda Dr, STE SSO

Pleasanton, CA 94588

Acoustical Consultant— Noise Saxelby Acoustics

Assessment 915 Highland Pointe Drive, STE 250

Roseville, CA 95678

CEQA Consultant and Air Toxics De Novo Planning
Health Risk Assessment 1020 Suncast Ln, # 106

EI Dorado Hills, CA 95762

1

712



TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. REQUESTAND PROPERTY DESCRIPTION.................................................. 3

B. PROJECT DESCRIPTION ............................................................................... 3

C. PERMITTED USES.......................................................................................... 4

D. SITE DETAILS................................................................................................. 5

E. ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN ............................................................................ 7

F. SITE DESIGN CRITERIA ................................................................................. 7

G. LANDSCAPING............................................................................................... 7

H. EMPLOYEE AMENITIES..................................................................... 8

I. GRADING AND DRAINAGE............................................................................. 8

J. UTILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE. .............................................................. 9

K. PROJECT SCHEDULE........................................................................ 9

L. SUMMARY........................................................................................ 9

2

713



ASHLEY FURNITURE
Project Specific Site Plan Review Approval Narrative

A.  Request and Property Description

The applicant is requesting a conditional use permit for the development of a new
integrated,    high- quality warehouse/ light industrial/ retail office development on

approximately 89. 5- acre property located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis Rd and
Manthey Road ( the " Property").  The proposed development will support the expansion
needs of an international company specializing in uses that include light- industrial,
warehouse and distribution, office, and retail sales of targeted bulk consumer goods.

The 2022 Lathrop General Plan Update designates the Property within an industrial
area in the Central Lathrop Phase II area.  The City of Lathrop is currently processing
the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase II amendment and rezoning to implement the
new General Plan Update designation for this area.  The Property was formerly
agricultural but now currently fallow. The Property is bound by fallow agricultural land
directly to the north and De Lima Rd & Manthey Rd and Interstate 5 freeway to the east.
The Property' s western boundary is vacant,  fallow agricultural land and the south
boundary is Dos Reis Rd adjacent to vacant commercially zoned land and mixed vacant
land and commercial/ residential.

B.  Proiect Description

The proposed development includes an approximately 1, 486, 607 square foot single
or multi- tenant building with a mix of retail,  office/ call center,  and warehouse and

distribution uses ( the " Project").

The Project is anticipated to be an attractive,  high- quality development that will
provide substantial employment opportunities within the City of Lathrop, including up to
500 diverse jobs at full operation.

The Project consists of a single building, with a mix of tenant- related uses. The
primary mix of uses within the Project building include an up to 100, 000 square foot
retail showroom, a 24, 000 square foot, 2- 3 story office space consisting of call center
and a regional office for up to 50 people. Warehouse and distribution uses will comprise
the balance of the 1, 352, 347 square feet.     The proposed building' s height is
approximately 50 feet, with architectural features that may extend to approximately 60
feet.

Vehicular & Truck access to the Property is proposed via four ( 4) access drives; one
1)  access drive on Manthey Rd at the far northeast corner is dedicated for truck

ingress/ egress onto and from the Project.  One  ( 1)  public and employee vehicular
access mid- block on Manthey Rd is proposed for ingress/ egress of the public and
employees'  access to the retail and office.    Two  ( 2)  additional access points are

3

714



proposed along Dos Reis Rd with the most eastern access proposed for public
vehicular access to the retail and customer pick- up areas located at the southeast
corner of the building. A fourth and final access is closed to the public and trucks and is
reserved only for emergency vehicle access. Per the Traffic Impact Analysis completed
by TJKM as a part of the Site Design Review package approval the project is expected
to generate 680 daily truck trips including 95 a. m. peak hour trips and 45 p. m. peak hour
trips.

The developer will widen Dos Reis Road and Manthey Road to their ultimate
condition and compliant with the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment
CLSP 2). Landscape and sidewalk improvements beyond the back of curb along the

southern portion of Dos Reis Road will be constructed by future developers of the
adjacent properties.

Per the Traffic Impact Analysis completed by TJKM as a part of the Site Design
Review package approval the project is expected to generate 680 daily truck trips
including 95 a. m. peak hour trips and 45 p. m. peak hour trips.

Once customers are on site, internal circulation roads will route them to the retail

entrance in the center of the building.  For furniture pick up, customers are directed to a
separate waiting area labeled on the plan as " Customer Pick- up", (" CPU") located on

the southeast corner of the building where customers will be guided to the CPU office
and their pickup location.

Hours of operation will vary among the distribution, call center, and retail portions of
the development.  Retail hours are anticipated to align with the typical store hours of

other Ashley Furniture locations in the Bay Area, running from 9: 00 am to 9: 00 pm 7
days a week. However, these hours are subject to change with final design.

The call and distribution centers are expected to have a broader range of operating
hours,  accommodating several shift changes throughout the day to ensure efficient
operations. The specific number of shifts and their timeframes will be determined during
the final design phase, considering operational requirements and workforce needs.

During final design, more detailed information regarding the hours of operations, the
number of shifts, days of operation and the specific timeframes of shifts will be provided.

C.  Permitted Uses

I.     Permitted land uses for the Project include:

1.  Call center

2.  General retail sales

3.  Office

4.  Outdoor trailer parking
5.  Outdoor storage associated with an on- site primary use,  excluding

vehicles

4

715



6.  Sale of products including those assembled on- site as well as imported
prod u ct

7.  Retail showroom

8.  Warehousing and Distribution

D. Site Details

I.     Liqhtinq

Light levels are not to exceed 1- foo# candle at the property line. All proposed site
lighting will comply with city zoning requirements.

II.     Screeninq

The project proposes a 30- foot landscape buffer along the Dos Reis Road project
frontage,  in accordance with the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment
CLSP 2).  To further enhance screening for trailer parking areas,  an 8- foot- tall

community wall is proposed along the right-of-way of Dos Reis Road at the project
frontage. Additionally, the project proposes an increased number of deciduous trees
between the 8- foot paved sidewalk and the 8- foot- tall community wall. This condition will
extend along the south boundary of the property until the first driveway east of the
proposed Dos Reis Road and Golden Valley Parkway roundabout.  Proceeding north
along Manthey Road, the tree spacing, and landscape design will transition to a less
dense arrangement typically found in retail areas.

III.     Air Qualitv Best Manaqement Practices

The project demonstrates compliance with the City of Lathrop General Plan Best
Management Practices,  as outlined in Implementation Action LU- 5. d. The following
measures have been implemented to align with these practices:

The 30- foot landscape buffer described in section D. II provides a physical
and structural buffer between possible sensitive receptors and the
warehouse/ trailer parking area.

Sufficient onsite parking and queuing locations have been included in the
project site plan,  accommodating multiple truck lengths.  This design

ensures that trucks do not idle within public right- of-way.
The project site plan is designed so that truck ingress/ egress is largely
isolated to the most Northeastern corner of the development along
Manthey Road.

Generous setbacks have been incorporated between loading docks and
property lines.

In areas where trailer parking is present,  a community wall has been
strategically placed along visible sections of right-of-way and property
lines to screen views.

5

716



Wayfinding signs have been specifically designed and positioned at truck
ingress/ egress locations, clearly indicating that truck traffic is restricted to
Roth Road only.

IV.     Walls & Fences

See Screen Wall & Fencing Plan; Sheet DAB-A4.2

V.     Parkinq Standards

On- site parking for the Project shall be provided in accordance with Table 1
below:

Table 1

s . x

cr..  ea sa   «

cew A

r rce st ac a e. t)Oo a s

cxrcr d rmar e. acoa s r

c trsea• 3ro 9na 6.Uqo   • t

ReW• tstfloar 55. f9p sd

tieW 2nd Rcar 55. 77Q s f.

daa+sa t. S2. JiX st

TCttAt.  t 4 I.t. 60? s t

pfes. 1a+I00 s fi 60 a

cdr x a4qo a z tes   ew+

wnte + n,oc0 s t er6 xa s

Toz, i azts   

R* 4
andu4 t 4 t ZO' F 4d2 amis

roFA.    a+a   : mr

1, e k d Xcc ss M ParkMo( w Cfs rd

S1andMC# ECQASb t A 9" 1 2Fl` 4 46 fWK

Van., zcesstXri. 57+ 14Xi 4 atsN

TaM 30 s4ls

Miuv kr,  amklee

V(.',' Ii04R 8{YKR{ 5"% XT)     1.{ 4 Lti i

f{ n'. cRiRd81l43{' M' 1•= e ss Xd 17i

Tatat EY La ts 5pacc 4@8 sWs

AiS. i EVPW# tr, t( C$, C lsht f t8 27 41. Y 1

E*! C$ Jmt AaCG» sbiC( t3' a 24` k t stalri

s1CS STandrd Atcsas Frie S9' Y 2GJ' t 5 stals

EX/ C6 AmkWMeri t 1fJ: XN i 5 sWs

76dddADA J

T

Ff tW b,

T 1• EY     & pwa 1M t

7paF£ UC5 S ixB f-) AM EV C 3 3d sSaN

7axal- ACXEVSC e    x 1c

Tdat t9J tq a

Rq O dPaki eriak44wn
SCr aar t t 4' x 20' k fi72 sW9s

9tr+dad, iccassb t I 9" r Zfl` i t9 sWs

Van I,ccresalaM( 12' 257 t 6 stah

EV C Wbe 9PKt iY e 24 3 t.   t4rM

2JG$$ t eCM[ I t 4' k 2t7' I JJ Lt 15

EVCS V n NccessGi¢ t S' 21t E 2 ap Is

EVGS£ ifyn9ate! AtCrasiMs{ 4' n' 1 5 shN

L C Art b rLaaY t 1tY: 0" S 6 sMal i

totat 4a?   hM

Ttaim( 1? x 36' b 6 efWb

traitrt177417b 81 at ls

TYda f tY x' E 75it'   s0 c

LYTA   t. fDi SUIIM1

6

717



E.  Architectural Desiqn

The architectural character of the development will have a high- tech

contemporary appearance. This will be established using clean edges and forms, and
colors.  The development' s east elevation, facing Manthey Rd & Interstate 5, will convey
a high- quality office/ retail appearance while maintaining key functions,  including
customer pick- up areas along the southeast elevation.  This is achieved with glazing to
indicate an office appearance and clerestory windows along the upper portions of the
fa ade. Please refer to the conceptual building elevations on Sheet DAB-A3.3.

The conceptual building elevations include strong architectural forms and distinct
design elements,  such as accent shading features, variations in parapet height and
colors.  Collectively these provide for enhanced visual interest and varied building
massing, to create distinctive points of entry for users.  A combination of concrete tilt up
wall panels with a series of reveals and patterns in the tilts will accent the building
elevations. Curtain wall glazing systems at each entry location will highlight the material
variation, with portions that reach a high elevation to accommodate two to three- story
office/ retail within the building.   These various treatments will be incorporated into the

project design to provide variation and texture to the building fa ade.

F.  Site Desiqn Criteria

The conceptual site plan orients the Project to Manthey Rd.  Public access to the

Property will be provided via Manthey and Dos Reis Roads in the locations shown on
the site plan.  These points of access and internal circulation provide good access to
users, employees, and customers. Generous landscaping along Dos Reis effectively
screens the south elevation from Dos Reis Rd, while dense and tasteful landscape

accents the east elevation and the retail portion of the project.

Dedicated truck access located at the very northeast corner of the property is the
only access point for ingress and egress of truck traffic. Trucks are restricted from going
south of this access point and will come from and to the north towards Roth Rd
interchange only.

The conceptual site plan identifies approximately 2, 046 parking spaces provided
throughout the development.  Parking for trucks and employees is provided behind
secured, gated access points as depicted on the conceptual site plan. Approximately
1, 104 trailer parking spaces are provided behind secured, gated access points.

G. Landscapinq

Project landscaping will be consistent with the Site Plan Review package' s
landscape plan and area renderings included for conceptual design.   The landscape

design along rights- of-way and parking areas will be consistent with the Central Lathrop
Specific Plan 2 Amendment ( CLSP 2) and city zoning requirements for retail.   The

landscape design in stormwater quality areas will be compliant with the Multi- Agency
Post- Construction Stormwater Standards Manual.

7

718



Vehicular entries and street frontages will provide a formal entry design
sequence, including the use of "offset" of trees along with formal masses of shrubs and
groundcovers. The project will match the City of Lathrop' s retail design criteria for retail
along Manthey Rd.  The city' s criteria identify London Plane Tree and Chinese Flame
trees as primary and secondary trees.  A more diverse plant palette will be used.
Additional street trees along the Dos Reis Rd frontage include Deodar Cedar,  and
Chinese Flame trees. Massed shrubs will further screen perimeter screen walls around
the Project perimeter and colorful accent shrubs and groundcover plantings will be used
around all signage.

The landscape design in proximity to the building will complement the building' s
high- tech contemporary appearance, as well as the size. Trees and shrubs will provide
pedestrian shade and visual interest and will contrast the architectural pop- outs to
provide human scale at the entries.  Pedestrian walks that connect the Project and

parking lots to storefront entries will be appropriately shaded.

H. Emplovee Amenities

Employee outdoor break areas with shading and benches/seating have been
incorporated into the site plan to allow employees an outdoor space to enjoy break
periods. Employee break areas are compliant with the Design Guidelines ( Chapter 7)
section of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan 2 Amendment ( CLSP 2).

I.   Gradinq and Drainaqe

The grading and drainage plan for the Property will comply with the City of
Lathrop' s drainage design standards and the Multi- Agency Post- Construction

Stormwater Standards Manual. Storm drainage will be conveyed via internalized roof

drains and downspouts, as well as overland flow across the parking lots and truck dock
areas. This flow will be directed to curb openings at stormwater quality treatment areas
distributed throughout the site. These treatment areas will effectively treat stormwater
before it is discharged into the site' s storm drain system. Ultimately the onsite storm
drain system connects to the existing Watershed 4 storm drain line in Dos Reis Road
where that storm water continues west to the existing storm drain pump station at
Stanford Crossing and Spartan Way. The stormwater quality treatment areas and the
underground storm drainpipe system have been sized to together accommodate a

100- year storm event.

8

719



J.  Utilities and Infrastructure

The City of Lathrop will provide water to the Property via a 12- inch public
waterline within Golden Valley Parkway.  The project proposes new 12- inch public
water lines in Manthey Road and Dos Reis Road.

The City of Lathrop will provide storm sewer and wastewater treatment service.
There is an existing sewer main within Golden Valley Parkway.   It is anticipated that

existing sewer main is to provide a gravity sewer connection to the Property.

K. Proiect Schedule

The design phase of the project is expected to begin immediately after the public
approval of the Central Lathrop Specific Plan 2 Amendment, Site Plan Review Package,
and Conditional Use Permit. Assuming an Improvement/ Grading Plan approval in the
first half of 2024 construction is expected to commence in the second half of 2024.

L.  Summary

The proposed development will provide benefits to the City of Lathrop by adding a
diversity of up to 500 new jobs at full operation involving a significant capital investment
more than $ 100 million, and anticipated retail sales exceeding $ 30 million annually
and will activate an undeveloped, long- term vacant parcel of land with a quality use that

will provide considerable sales tax revenues and other economic benefits to the City of
Lathrop.

This Project implements the General Plan, Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2
Amendment ( CLSP 2), zoning, and Design Guidelines that encourage site development
and architectural design that will be integrated with the surrounding mixed use
residential development.  The projecYs frontage improvement of Dos Reis Road and
Manthey Road into their ultimate condition including the landscape buffer previously
mentioned along Dos Reis Road will positively influence the area.  In summary, this
proposal is consistent with the City' s long- term vision for this area, it is compatible with
the surrounding area.

9

720



TTA CHNlENT °`      `.
a

c
s o

e  a
T

y      .   

o e
q        

e.      6¢ Q L      _             '
W                      Z          

Qg    3 c   .:.:    o,
a

a ca

mr
x

s               

m.       

a

ti, a s -

r',-     ""_   ;   V              '`        r a        
a`,'       .

o
e t .,, "            '».,.         o

I
x     .` s'    

o

I w    ,     :   '.*'":%%".

st.,    

cti  yr   .

I
l  a

y    `    

4<;

q

g
Fb

o             
a

a 

4

1,
ZV  

I

I

o    . ._    It- f.-,-"      -   

r     h_ _  i ;
t ,   . -   

i-   .     

I r?='' _   : .     I
r

i- t !- r t r l-      ,     
I

i    :- I - l I
r

Z[-    

r-    

r       

I
1,.

l 0,     
y :   I

I i- r r  -    . , 

r    \   ..._\
I i+ F i :  _  . . I y.,,'  

I r  i } h  {   i  I

I i .    CI_ D_    i

t t ` , .     

a  H fi     t      '

i 1- -, : -+
i

I

ry`   

I

I
I i

t

k i

I I

1
I I

i   

II I

I I

o i

I A  I

I
I

y

q
o-. 

t o I

I i
w

J
i721



8
i  '      

c

pG w       ' 6     I3 w
a{

gp
W w       ' j  

q

Ti J                   
L i;    2 0      °

CQ
L  g   a C/~            O

LL         Q Q    
3 V   _.           s7

2  

i  :__   _    i i=iC   "

b ' i.      

1

a

u    
Fo

a'^',.    
suo.

r „

r    
j  '      .     *^-,;,-. a,       + ne. M m       n    - 3 1 ki e

Y p      z_    

t

h   i      - t$. 1 G      \   
6' 64..

i t        '  

y
MI y     . a      

9, 1     - s- 
1   '  

c i     -     <  ` e'     7jpE c 
s

i       >      i       ";: `' r „"
ti. r

ur" F:. '.: 4,  "    ,.
T. t

1}      I
O,     S  r    ,  1 iY t':

c -'-- 

0 18           1

w„  -.--.   oao
1

t -    

i i =    °_

Ha7 ii       
I'      

i y

s a6i

i_      -  ;   ' r    -  i _._ ,    Ft_      4%  eI            
Q.. 3.¢     

9sP

i r_  
i  _

r__—y—_
Y

L'     _'_     

j    B at''
s

E f 1 d d dli 1-- 1    --

i i—-.     
I

tI     I  ——}
j—    

I
l3i1 ! f 73! # i!  ti3! i! t! a tai! 3 4! 8! i

y`.     T- 7     - T-   
i

7  
a

9$ a . a: s s:     se:      _ -     .  - x    -

NI    !  
i  — i

I     ,
I

y     

3 ¢          Iall
i_1

I  _
1 1— r y rt—           II  ; 1".  `

y
IIrt

I
rt       '     

a    
8ie

e      .

i`-  T T- 1--  —  p P       ^ 

II ki] S i

i r    ——+  ,—                3    ' i?  a   9   aa P 3I  3+   '.
r

a 1      ,,     _-  

F    
4 1 a' ; E'< 1. z.      

I

i e

e a! I! z 44? e ii p;e         .''

z, s    , ,,,_.,  :,  ,       

rt      fi rt   
iL   i     '      -    

I  .. i   ! 4  .-    ',,—-_    -

r  -    ——+     

r    ..• d-      -- +  .    il
y m       _      O

i
I . _«  ' `( g.      i—_'   _.... o

gl_    _,__'  ___'_$   <  .__'__    - 6 I

p0     _ 1._. ;  .  , x   .

i   -           o
K"    -- -'     e w

1 I,

mf    ...{--         '- e -  L1ti.    c v  . -    

tie uzi
i.

y
i

r     I 1  )  W
a

I I

r    

II 7P J       y   

YF W
N  1

L I
I r-*    ,     

ii   I  ?     
I l'       

IL  J

I  +--+    J 1-_--  ——.  -+   —   .
TI I I,     '     ,     W.

g _      
r.    _

i_ 
I
y_ II_r. II.—_   '    Y

3 3 ,i., .
r— r7—  i— 7—;—   

f; i          ;.
r. i

i _ u       ,  
i-  

i i 1r- L- 1--- i-

r-1-—       
imi

c.      -       

i       ,  
I      I I I O z a   '      

F 1_
T__—- i—   I 3      ..     ."-   '   r., 3

r-i  
I--  I—

1-- fi-  , I     - w s ..;      3  m
ll W a      a1  ,  r___ _T

a  . ,,      
j         

r   --          T 3I    -   I I i
3 .

II
R=

1—'—      .    S"' C   a e   ' 

a
r- rt 6 4

i 1`- y- rt     -` .
i 5` k     ' % Yw S      

W ,1--_- .  .   N
aW _       ' '

I 4      I  .  .  _    

a         ,

T

r       .       .  . 

e.            .-   
i 3

i

i

i i

i a
i

r

I. .    .......    ........   

F Y
F3      '    

Z      5
3      _     k     Y

x '    .  

W       ..£    ' 
w      ...         

Q a             
a      `  ; 

a

6
Y        

F W
i`}    3 t a  '

I i i li I 1  II II II I III   I I     _
i      r- r .. dsr.. 47CJ

T., T,,-._.

c

Id- 1 I

c     ,  

I__________"""""""""""""""'_____'___________________"
722



Z

a a     o
9 q       

qe    
W w        r'  J   gg3 P            

y
Q;

6     a      x       

v°'      

u

1-       C
O

s           LL

z                 
a    3 v   = s       '   , ,       ...

s s     $     

il 
B        i

0y s     j

a s   =     Q i
k!    

m,

3

4      _ 1`! ! S
y       3 Y

g

N
g

3,  
3 I    

E  , 1'• ! d

oH
N ".  

2'      ,  .   i     .       

g

r  ::.:    1     
W

k ae iaa9 ° S 9 99 a.
i

x 3 I     - } w- c a. .  ,.. I4 e6R4.
5 .,       w W 3  S S     

y       .  

I
j

y '      
I I    "   Y          s     .;  

b
U'  

s

t     
t        2 x

i  ' I Q   )     , a

J         
s a       _      _   a. v       `   

a

N

F r I.  1  , I      3{     !
3 4  .

i,   ,. 3 .,  
y   '

a. 

s   

x{ •    

W

i in
m

P 
2z 9  {  

t',ep   

Fj

a jaa b     I f1l

r s

a  _. ow _    : .  ..  _

g     $  
3 1 S ! j     

enn       .

r     I
d    ¢          

1 4c.,. f°# 4    I
W   . 3  # 5     3     W

R !I ]  Y . 8 7n

3

rJ
lCl" 1,., 1., 1,"            .       9r      - N L 1 t' F7v. Y9n•    -    D t

T
Li--.---     

r-     --   
n

T
r  °' A51 FC

I    !    I I     I:      I i
a :

oc`  '";;,

r         a      .
L—— L — L— t  - 1._.___ 1._— a—.  .     ma    

I I I I I I

eM o H, e._ y P_. t +
t

I fi rt i

I
I

i i_"   ¢     I w :  s:
i   -'     

i

i       %

o

A
I s         •

I I I I i
iI

I  
r— 

r            -

T       
rI        o

Z     .   
N3a e

fi--     ,    ,
i

z.   

U1         
f t

f_-      p  '  F- 7-_ iI
on o

F-     .,'  Q      ilm     -  --  -- f

I i    '     I I I I i I. I ph

1  -- J  - 1-           I w x s i',
I I I I y nI

1  ---   --  '     i  =    

I I I i I I I I I I
3 a ;   

9' 99

I II  - I

I - 
I I-  - 

II'-     I-    

o

c

kY"    I I I  I

i    '- 1-, 1-'- 1------,,,+.-
s   --

fi--- t  !t-- r- ---- 7- -- t-   iiI 

t---- l---- i---+ -   

I'  

x II
I      _. .      I

i i li i        i         I !    I

iL———  --+-_ ._  ,    ,   I i I I I    !    I
L_ __ L_ L-   }-   - 1---_  . o
i   I'   I I i I I  i I I,       

I j        I i        I

i.-j iI I I pI -          - I  - II i

I                    —
fi— Ti,'—  —-- r__'  

I
i i i , II i i i i i         -

r—r-+ tt    ---— rt--  
i          I i        yi   +—+ 1+—+—+—--+-  ,     

F
i

W I

p

i . r
J     _-:

r       

1   P       ..  y

t           

O

I

I

Il llilllii llll' Ill, illa}  Illlllllllllll lll ll li' III i
I

I

F i

I' I . III  ' I I I II I       :,   I I
I    _

I    ___-
i I:!      I' i  ' I   III       _ .I          i f  I     -  li   t           I       

i

I  I I  I I   I II IIII II  !     j  I I II I I II    III   I II  ' II  i

i r_ --.     '  ' 
I

i

y        .   .       

I

723



W            r0             , . . . . .
g

a
W 

w       

p1O'  
1      ,'  J    3      `           

94'`;      Q ryo'     w N      o
C

7
Z         

w 
a   

Z
3 V   &

et^, S      ya€      y
g` 18     

3        I
5tF5$

Zi           
g

T   -   

c n      ,,       

s     a       C. P    
s

W
a

ia     _    rl!!,   Z ilI: Bn4..
3 .;   

a     

I

s
3.

s        _

z 11fi !' tli 11f ifil lfll iili111l1 1111

x Q e

3     Q 4 3 ds riiY  i6 99 x I 1 -  - 3-. 9 ur. 3c . q qp"
W W g

gut                 t      ,        —     p     
ti

i

Y g s'

h      

t        p r      ' Q
n t  .

i       _   q      '.,

3
W

iY g y ,   a j x
J Ajj3.  90A   3, ii tl5!   + iS i 

546(

e       ..       .     ._ .,-  ..    .     ., _    ,; .     .' x 

k1 '. 
I  . a gK 7lz`e• llg. p h3.'     a! ld F. aa° na ljle

i F e

m     ar:  
x ,..

aw n  .  g
Y Y        

b I     __
a d

d t _
o, 

a A  .1         9
Y Y             ,  "

1 ru e  .-  -#'-   f.      ,   ,_ N b aoj;
ws n
YY

i"' 

a i
a  r

u 

uaei     -`
r+  i -!;     To a   :'     '    " (i - 

d i t , a   ki  
Yl   

L]    
y Q . 

S  ,;
M    /

r n _ 
Q     

I'—     

0:. 4:      -'--

5
I

t: .      :^  -.: '   ...   .` .\ Qf  
l

i   _      
t   `        _ ..      `  

P

1
II 1

i}   €      .    _      
f l, O

iy     .    •  -.ni a

y   . 9'       "

i0 j.    -
l..'     '     '     -  

c'       _.•'  5.        
i.

y
5 -

I    
J,. r y   

Ir

I I
T µ •    

IIi       -°   rt
r      ---    -----

i__.__r;-     
i    

i j`     @ 
I L. .J._. L_   

i

i - ,   ..    

i o     _
T.    i

1

p  Y- ..   .--(,.— !  w    .   _ i._.   _ _ '       
i'

f

liF

i, ,      i:   i
r

i
J  _ i

I   ;     i i_ i;—    — i i—   
II i    ,     

I
i i

r—T 7-—,———    -----  -- —   
I

i      I———     i i i,    i  •' i, i i        (;    i

I
r r—r—r-+  +-  --- r

i i i   i r I i i i i o

i—  
a

i I i i i i i   i i i i i T

i j q

oc

a       i I
I--1.__ I__ ._..._      L---    i' 

i

II

o       I I 7    .".' i I        , o      ..  ',,  T i
i

I       . ."
a

2       --   -  -- - __  _    .     L'=-

I

N

I U

Lr -',        W

iI O I - .    .
I

m
M  .   —. .    

J  

r        

G

H

I w F

II

t _ t`+--   i -   __. ' -- 

I I      , I I I
I 

i
y

I
I I

1 1.-..- . 1 - - '           

opI

L-

IL- L__ L_ II$ 1II

i

j I
1-      

i I I I     Ia        L _     _   L1'I

I      -   --- I-  - i I ,

I    
I   -    

I I I I i

I       - ,-  
r-

F--- '

T- T+ f-  ;-  - r-

z-            I I

r- r- t`  - Y   '-  - 

I

i-   -- t-?+   -      i -- t-  '     

i I
i

il I

J-  L----_ 1 F•   _   . _-     _  ,     T i

II        I I I I      I    i

I I I       I I      _       I724



c a     U c l

Z m

N
v Y   o  

os .    w w      '        G J   g> 3 a Q.
f 2¢       O O       y = 2 g

s
a             C a»       La°'  Q      .  Cn Q   $      c

i
w     

Z       

W
a J s

a o o

e

I—-- ig x

i

I
I,     

i    = I I

II 11i 
r; 

9[
a

I ' '      aII I III        y

c
3

I W

i I ,      s

I

I
I.  

W    ,

I '   

I I
I I   . y  ...   

N .  .   I
Y  ' S

I
3

E-----       Z
i 

i

i

ii L
L--------     

eII I   '     

I;  
I

I   `     I 3 

IzJ
5',  

I         I t   z

I.

e

i

6

3

3 y .

I
1 N

e

I
s 3 g 5 .

e a

O  .
e a

yi .... .       
E

h       ".  •   . If Z          5 ! # .'.   

I

9

I        S e

I      (     ..
t   _.c_   . .  ,  . ....   ...     ...  . 

z,  .

e a   . ... .   I Z
s '  

3

I j W y I       `       i,  

I    
t - 

Z Y E .

2aI      °°     5
WQ

a
v

1

W

or N
F   .• ".

ch

II

a

III
e e

II I

IIII I   . .  k

I

II
I,       _—__.—____._   

3_ E

i         ll,      

I
I

i        
h

I

I

W .      
k -' '            ,

O

i
Z -      3 s.    o     . $

Y : 3 3 x±
7 2 _       _ 

y  '   .
1

y -.    .. 1 s 3 . i' 
y1

I 1
I I

r '

a 

3   ' 3 i Y

iil`_I    IVl,     '  "'. I , '...... ....„"..

725



3. e`  o o                  ,
s

J w          8     si               _   $    „  g
g "

a        LL          s      °      
W

s

Z          

W J

a o o a
d  ,     

lii E=

a     ;_=     ,      ,  ---    . 

L-—————— .    
w,     

i i     

i t2

r      
i  ;  

a  _.   i _   -   I i  ____ -- 
i    

i

a    _     I W

I   _  J------     a w
I   ' _  

1
I

J r      . a      ... 3
PjI

i i W  -           ,.'=
I w

i S..      W J yy    s£

I I r

I i i
r I   

I

P— __'       

il il
N   .    J

x&       

I 4 II''  ' I w '

S
g   3 z

a.   i-.,  

3 .      .   'f      

i ll

l   
1         

r.   

al I=
y

1

W
J.   .  

3 i.

f
3 .I'

i

l    

m      . -       

I'  O
U  3 3 ,

i

J a y   :PI j QI F I i   .   
II 1 S  . 3 i_III.      r

I      W k
I il   . y      :     , . xx 

ni

I
3    

I i

J I     a  ';      s       ;  7      _  

W        
3a4

I
F'.     

3 i       ..
I

I y  ..
o m _,.,_ .. -    5 --       .

I.    

f

I

I
rP   .   I

I   
I I   

I         

14 I  '.   I

1    ' II   _
in=     s,    

I n

1 a;  Nw
i

z 3

o

a .se w

3     s a  . :    „     .

y. J   .   !
s     ' A W .Y ; f         3 ,.    y       .

Z t   y  *     ;     - 
Y t      .z

T w

s s            3 i
a  .      ' ia e s;          , i y=       .

i     ir= i      ( r_   i, - -      .

t--- ---_.__..   .,-----

726



i

W

w       ° o     ih w

g$    -
a°     

O »       4°'     Q N               
LL

i          
3 V     

a  F      

E

o

I m '

1

m
J       ^

W r,,,.'      _       ...   ....

3

a     ,
k   

x.  i

y I t

j

r     .     ¢   st    .__..,.   3    
r

G

tl

O

UWyW
0

a

i

Y

i
I

I

I

i

I

Ii

II

II

II
I

j

I

i
r-       -       .__   i

i

I j`      .      ...  I.

727



U
C a            i .    

nia;    
Z            

a
e.  

a W¢ u;       oia        .:  w    a        

k G  -'    

o`'        

sE
g"

i        2=
w

p0       -   
2=   

g¢    -  
ma$     i-

J;        n¢

Q                 J   $            o     
aLL         ¢ s t

a e
dso     ffi  

i,;.   _--__   ___    _     _   t a
e

m. U G W     :

T     T'     -. .
7 2 6.      

I.    

I
O I=     lY

Y
r

t-   f    _'.' fi ,     r,  
r   .rt     ,-.  a

i;  ooi o      

a
I

r    '--       
r •    

l

o

e  +       

o,..

e i  -          a-: - f-   3o J. L-   .....F 1.             ` 
I a

Q

a
n       

I 7

i —
1 r .._     

e  == I            I     . m

J   
F   

F W         r

m I_"_   _ d'     m  I-   t

a

p

F          
1     .  4

NF
o A

O

4

I ,'       

l_L L

ll

i       I
LL

O     ¢=    W
y   .— 1       - 1

N. {

jr
6I ~ .   I .

1

i — i—i— I   .— i— I

I=' ,    

o I

o

I

li;:
1

4._..,. e   ,,   2

I
r  ---   I---- I— I—'— — I— I—       _      i--   

F_..  I i      ' I I   ' I ,'.  I
N

I

I i——_  .—,—    i      
I,

I I II o r     —  -- .    

1 i    i 1    l          F

i L _-  a      ,     .   o

r- f- 1- 1- 1- 1-- '      4._

o00

I t C f 1 1 1 C    
1 -{— r- r- i-{- j- 1- f-         e

I   - E- E- I- j---  .  
r

m m I+-_ - - --      -== 
c_  - 

N

1_

r I  1   
e

1_   l l _.   '_       i__      t      
p.__ o      _      

I   -   l M

i i
W  l

G
Z

o       .    N   .   

CY n Ii
x

i              I
e o

o  -.      :    _ _:  1]
I         , I            I      .      

o

J      ° .
m  .     .      .    —

I
f  ,_... ,  

i..  .    I
r..

r

m   .    .      ,  ,   '   

I
i    -     '     . .   m

I       C I                I;.-  

y .._

I

1- 1
r r  .   P o t:--_7 — I Y— r— f 1

C 

i i  —   —
I— I I——   

1 F
p I I`    

p   _ —      

1     

Q

F- I I- i--!      .      

1  - I—-- I- I-- a— r _ F  .   

1- 1- i- l— l- ;  .   I

N i—   —-'.  .  
a

o •- t----  . ----  , -------- .---------  -.. I L        J - I— l- l- i- 1      --  

1 J !---   - —    '' _  i

6  }     
I I I I   ;   

I_      

I- - I I i I j g m

i
W

i I I I I I i I I   ,
m   .  

I- i   - -- I- , - .   
m

4
1  '- 1    i w     w      '  

r
j     a       

3'   

i
y,  

r       j
r,, r m

2 3.  .,, a     '     .,   
m

n  I.      __ t -'':) I_— r— r— r- 1- 1_ 1 h_`_ h_ .   n W     .. j      -   ,  ' 
W   

k      ,   i

Z
4—    — —    _ h.  .   i . a.

y     r .      _.    ._ ;    ,- -      _ w
i h—   i i—_       

s     "   z c `

I— I — F— F— I— I—{—— I— r  .  Q a  

I
eV  .     ..     . 1- _ J ti_ -- -{--'- 1  .- 4  .     

3 3     ..   
a'      

4...   

O i.

S 1
9

4 1— a'—-.
LL __ .  .    ..    . ,  .       _;       .

I..  -        .  '. .       o        

r!     ; 1 r k d        e.     •     wri r

Y   _ -.  - t  -- r  .  .:._   .. ..  ...  r 3' a :'     s

6 '
wY   }; 

wW

m U p W   U'  x    Y    Z 2 n y      "       fi
a

N

g 3     s Y'.

H     =               N

Z     _ 
k

a

3   f e    _    7 5 . s.           .
Y

S          O s

Y     _ eD m  -
3=       

Q     ` 3    -      3., 
m

Y   = l    # 3 8

a     -  €  _'     Y . N i  

Q     -              a ;       R Y' 54   .

p    _-     :.        ..  s  _   3

LL U) C U( C U; i,   
n a =   --  3w;      

728



c>    

Q  .   ,. .        

r

z       '
O    ` o       .         w M

w w       '   w      

s iz       s  ¢   - S=   g     
3 a      '       .. `¢

m o'  »      .-J CnQ      h

P
a

LL o        a J   _ g P

a o o

a

m  

Z

1,     a

Q.         ___   j m      U

ol   .   ^

T     -,   

U.   
F..  _.    s

W_       . o

L S7 2

I O;       

N
i       ,    H  2JW    .       

6 a

O
c H

W N. : r...     W 0  
C -

i

S Z

2            ' .   ¢ 

z
g

r

J

I -     - 
C7    . _ .

F

Me

I       _
r-  `.     __   0W

f.      
T    I '       "'     N

I

o.   .       , r - r--   -.       .       i Z
a   .  -       

j i     _   :   
R

i

OU       '
ti

Z

w  .. 4.    Q

Q
r'I .

W     '
i", I_ l,

J
I

m

I       ...   

W . .. .1 I

I
G     — — _      

I°     
I    

s          _

e.    
m.I  -     li

f  -  .     

O

W

sr,    i

2J
3 y 5 ',. $    Q

i ..W
j £    ..     

N   -_   
y 

a

I
Z i . .

i w  .:    
n O d

a , r s3
n

z - s.       J.   
7 3 a"   

J
W    . .. .     . w a,. . _ z

A+M

S

a.- `    3     

m. _ . y

i.  .. .    

y

j

N

Y   -      

F j'.. 4- .    :     '
1O.   N  ' '       ,      0 a,:, zW

1    5 : .

i..       W
y3   .  

m   .  
Y

i Z
r 

z   $    _

F 3   ^`
g '   

r        .

S   Y k  ¥       .
W fFw .      

W lUl7l l I  , I I)      '.

iw  '

i
I:

e  --  --. ....   . _     

i

II

I __.   _      

r ..   N-       
N

o

Wm.  ..        

I
N  . .. .    F."     

I
N        

eI i.

r i

i
n._,    

I.
k  .    ..

o

o

a__       `

I

i I
4

r +..-._.      I vi     _'__'_' '_'     - '   '-

f        

i   ,

729



R
U

Q     Q m

z a     d   ., 
a v,         _   M

g  .  w w       ' p        _  J   gw3      =  `       g

y i z¢       
O O       ._ 

2=     a    .  
R g

a'   .•       ` a

LL
O C Q   a i v h a

p

m
Z       

W

F

g

d o 0

o

N  
d y 5 i .

a

I  ^      .      .
r.   X.  

O    _:
rv— +--"—_—

I   .. ._ ._.—  

s i

fZ

r I
i—_.  

1-.     
U     _     

F...     

I

i
r'_  . L'_'_   ____     —   J.

e O;  ...

W i:     W:

f.     

W I 9

q`    

I
W

F

6
I

e

p -  

W 2 k..      
W1}-..          
w

a._
i @' y

I g: a

t— 

I
o

I l —       

i2.

I..   ..
N

r__ 2     -  
i y      ..  

y-__- .   

I
I C7I--   

x'

II
J J

o--  
3    .

O

I y
I  

k
i

I  o

III__ w   11  1
S   }

I
J

I

W

O  .

R ..'
1       _.   .    

I

L   }

I

I Y"

I    3
r I

y n'       
r     

o—      1 i

o
I

iW__ r—.__. 
J

Y 

Q y
Y 3  ,. ..

G

I,   
I W a

iY+

L__.___      R.    '.   

y '     

LLr    I 0 c .    '

0'

8' 3
r

I
m-    _    w

i. ti y__...`.    

JW   .  . .:    .:? od a M

f ;     3$

W-._   ._ .  
3     J

I
3z

x
N J
W i      

O
g   

rt s:    

C-  , Y 1 3      '       '',.
5

Z 3 A Y       3

ro—  - O 3             _       .

1 w a E       _       :
i W    -   .       a-ii11.. . .,-.      

U         y

y_._..._. _..   i

m, . i

a. .   i,     

I,     

n   .   ...       -

Y

J`- 1._    

4`  

I
730



c--
U

C    

o cn

g   

x w w          OC   ><               S
e€

a     '`_     • i ui¢       t      J  =_        ^  
a  J

q¢
n O  „        Gn       

W

LLo       w Q g s     .   _       '

a o a

a ',     , ..

a       Q      . d. . . m iU

z      s      .  
o     ',

oV I V
F,.     

1

0= I 05 rY      _      -
WI-    3    WI

r

H... . .       ."_  ._  W     ` Y     ' F

F      ;    9 b

W W.   W   ? O
IWI-_   .     

i  ... 

W
i Q ;

S       +~ i . S
i_.

Z % i

I

1Ps'
yi,      F W . 

I

I i
o O W    ,   .    y

m I —   
z      "'   .

p

I

C—     c  

n     ,  `

r-   ,,  .

r oWI',  
N

II
I

NG2
I,_.    

i         8    3
p .+. 

U
H. ' `      

o __  -
ZO

I I
o"       __   . ; e

a

1,  1
F   

w     _,   . .. _ .

W

3 e    `
m

i t -  

8

tD         ..      

I

N 2 Y
v1     W .      _    z '

r .      _' 0   -,    ..    
3 # y S

Z r     _. 
K .    E

1:.      
i..   ,:     LL'.._.

J   :    _   . a  '+

3  '    

r.... .
Q 3 Y .     - ;     
2

I 1       =   
a 1 d

I
W

I 1       

I I
Z

I I          
3       :    vf

I 1

Q      ` :         5_ c
I I

4

I.._..   I I J Y ` d
W - -.  .. ..  . .. . w at m _   

j i.  
I

N. i.      
I

I   ,      I

I I

I I

I I s3
E

I I o  `
I I

jI I y a i

N.   .     I I FW- S 5 .  
d       .

j j Z34      .       ,
I I       y S       ..

o.,    .,       

I

I
I Y       _.

I I
Z     '     

S  '    _         '

p       -   ,    . a i - :  '       .t i

i i       

i i

i i       > '

i     .      i
I J

I     . ..    ..              
W      .  ..      

i

I I
I I

I t....      -      -       .- I I

I  _    _      i Y. .  1 I

I I

I

I I

i

I I I

I       .      
Il r

I I

I I

II
I

i,.    ..     

t         I  _' _.,     I      .   

A I
r1f__     

L      .-      .   I

I '
J   . 

i       .  

r__      '  

k'      
i

I I

I      .. i

i
I O  , .               

J

II .      n

I. -.   :- 

f I

I    .

o`. .. .-      

z - r-- i

I  (; r

mN"". t._   li

WI
i      '       - 

6 . a.___.. 

X+' 1 n_.—'—   "_._._ . .   ._    .    ,-    j u       

I

731



U
C

Re 
a

o
z       -°

o     p o       -      W     `    
z    w w          J   > g 3         S

r

g
c F Nz¢       oo  ¢   -- 2=     g       
a       aLL    w°'        '-'  Q Q         °    

g           .

a' W J    g

a o o

a  ,.  

N  
t M Q

iO.F
IY

9... 

W

r       

c

EcW7
Y€°',  

W 

y

W J =       :
z

n-." 

d

Z y       s'    QyY
F s d,    

C7

OW
II

V

ZW -
I W  
I J

gJ  5 I,
U

2O _

1 IW  '  i    1
JW _ .. . .. . _  ,. .. _I.._ ._.

I'

i
Y

I y .    
Y i" y

2 a a S
3°

al   ..   ._     
Q 3

i.

W

Z o-  

u' Z y 3 a

Of'   Q Es    _ '%
i W

I  

m- = 

a

w a- ,     a ,. _ m

g,.

i.
3 '    Y] 

2-  

i 3 

i   
8

I.' ._   

I
N

1     

z     _   

O

Y 3

4'     . w     -   
I

I   ;" y . 1

O

Q

W

g

I '    i c i
J

I

Y:    —_——....   

i

NI'

i

732



U
c

a
w            o            

g4s

g      `         

a     , 
x-¢       L°     -- p 2x

g g   '   
3      " C O ti' cG C~   

3€      o
j a        3 U   -'  '

g

p {$   ,,       ..       .    ^     .g Z

d d ,  

g
E       ,; 3

Z 3 Z;,

I  t3       _  P
j',, 

i s  --      

J

a
e

m, v. o-   _— 

I,     ,._- 

i  _     
Z     ..

r

o Ci           - ,      _       Wp    .     ,      
I

ty. " 

HQ
O d. 1       Q      ]-       .    ,  1 KH     

W Z
I     

o ',:_  

i
CJ    '       i

W
i       I          W

s     i  '    '     trbp. l i    '..   

I b€     
O I I     .          .

t III 3

V K    .      _        -- i     

I    ''.       .    
I 3     (/ 1

i w N    '       

y        

O     .
O U U

CJ al'.       Z A      l'+   Z     .

i l n_ Z
x _ 

w q   . p W

Q    s '...

v=i      ..     .  _      -_ Y c v=i_;.
v-

w  '      

J

3s_ '  H:.

m. 

3,.  .- 

L
UI

i,  II Sz
3       .     1      .I

I f .. 

i
r

a

e Q Z
r

w
e

J I O WIla l a
F-       U k

r f  
Q

w
FI

f C

s)

6 w

s 1
w

a}      
O        I

4   _   _  _  —_  

N      .

p

L     ?       

J O
W33    

U I
J           I UI  =    ,..

i,     z U

i  {.. .._.___- 4._       
W

i:t`.  : s   '   
Z       " .     W

I
w:  

3i

I.-       _   _.  

I      -_ 

SN

T i
a

z     ds

z Nm

s

s     
z o      -

oz
u

X
Z N

WW W J Y
C.. i

J =     Q   1

733



Z

c
J 

D  
a >         Wo e        

s

W =

a oo          
J=                      

j

g 8n    :'°      ¢ cnt-          
m  

O
LL        g    3 U     

g8`     5  e E

Io a,, 

a`
w.     v y
W.       n O 

i a
i',

W  : ,: ,:      ,. IH
y

W il    «,.. + L. S Ea P

CC bJ

s
a3 zw'     MY 1 W         .       

ay M h 1   .       . rsg..  
W.

m

4  ..

I m4_...      

1Y    '       
n 1  .    _.. 

L

i1-x- e;,: 1 L-::; r.a i 1lL i 8L, ..., I w

a • r'r...   AiY
o

F  
i

f

p it   .       .    v i
t

T   .,.  .. i..  I
i u k" .. a...     .    

I        -    I
i       ..  .    

i.     — ',.    

i

I.
I     

ii
o

1,     ^i-._   -    

L f._.      . 
i  .. .  .          

I'       .    < 

1  :..   , .. 

II-       -       t   --   `  

li C

I c 
a

z

o
I J

0

m

I, 

t  _..  .... .       .       

W

I i

I  ,       

i  '',.__ I.. .:.             

4  .._ I  .     .     ..,
N

O
3 !  '      

I

r  . - 1  ,  

s'    k+    "   o I

x   ,_ a      s-   -  
a       

C= .
F -`- --

7=       
a

w  
I       :  . 

I
1, i

F I  .  .

1     .  

e y
s          ,  _    

W

j..       I I/  _ _    
I'
i

0

il
i

3 0    zffi,,    

e f  ,  
w _

1     
9

i
u

b      —     i{  6.   3 II':
i I

i i„'.       I

I

734



g 4 c

cfr "'

aa C at¢       pp     -_    "" xF a   —   0

a
ta- ;  .     

3
f  g     ,       

g

y^, w r e a S o e

2 3         2 S 3 3   a s;

W w W W W W W

W   '   

W W

E 8   '   W

8
r

s-.<;;_'`    

g g         g    Is
I    g¢           a      a

II   
p  

3          

i    O D   ' 

I      a p I
8

l$g do
tl.      

s

z  _ 

a§  §            sI

og  - o  W                a

E Q;'      Q        
W  W

i W  
W

S w 2 7

O 1::      
p{  

C

C

I ir fi'"   ' '  
o    .   ;  s      yt          

i O
Q    '

e. ]]       O    - Y iK ag k ii $ R m d  
og

W' w s}:: : . ;
E q  

9

O      g
p

g a g 
p           .

t      :, 
p '  _.  '   :.:      y     WS 4 E3sW€

3€ 

4 €  E ; 
y ig

s  :;      q G3y 8SE3 Yfi" vw K  i
a    » a98ga s g a W a 

i' W$ W w  w W  WA

5     8 k ff p R k p C A W    
iJ

0 O - a a z      

4'  '

Oz
Q

i        1 s

o.

D w    6 ffi s  S  E i
r      €  t  . s       €

a      , Z   g3  $°      
D gg stl  

g        $ 

0   
g

J

i § $
i '

e6  
p     3

q m C 
a  $  _     :

C

af s ` ° a    
9

3

O a 3 $ € € q a        
O 0 Q           

ma  a i$ ;. a   e e

rW
a

0       

@a o  § 3Ed8 € 

O
o

a

0 Q.          
ca+     y

a a  .  u

F A ! _  { $

Q _ 
e`  

p{ 

g F
O'     

p• p`   .    e ___       S  . q z : d d `. 
g

3 . 
e,    

g '  

8'       
0 a   

o. f = a   -  

i °     t  (    E

y1
a A J p_  

R  8   A
Ml Y3 tl

y       
e  ,,,: a o"

o'    3 gg
Q y  

4

i 3 i i d i  i

O Q, @+++++++++++       p e x c •  c

tl'   

o     ..  
C      .: 0 0 0   

O      '  
i  '

i y§€ e

f a A F v 4 $ $

D i S B
aea 55

E       '   _ 

p  -  
t

0 5   
D,.     a........     ,  

s
3`

Ds
Q'       I
p.

z  - g-  -  ; 6   : o   : g   o     .;       
a

a

o      ..

1J 8     '        8        

i i735



ATTACH M E NT "    7    ,,
y

E,. 3 a  eus, n,  .
ao„ r, w..    d n. L, o

e— „      ..       ..  
aaNsaanoo o

n y,,,,.,     
i.. 3,. 3ar na3. s

3  . U
1- p w/ IY• 1 OtlON A3HINVW T 5132! SOO- 3a( 1LNUflj A3lHStl  t     o

9 o d
a        

I II i   '    O   
a

o  = wa=     o  =
pa   s

Jg    
p     '< 3 w g s o      . li 3 i

z  ___    
Z F  3 > ? . ' w o s s

z =      .'.'

N   °
S aaay p

w  & 
p B   3      g

n,.,.

nl0000 00000u
M1-;

i;  ,    I    ,      , 
i   -

Ni° zo,
zs jl Z_  a I I     '   . , '. -Ni lrzve Yl9,       

e          \\    \      

a

e e e41° ef\

z o

a     

s I;

IU¢      _

m           

Q z

v i I i ZoW    II  ,_  c     Z I p;

pWoc       III      Z

W  Z o I  g
Z      

W,

o
w,       w

Z o  m       
r io,,  i

Q  a o

z//  `     a

LL W 5 o
I!, I  

oesHJmu. r si3aNsoo
s I' J ----

I.. L  Q il li
W        Ro
J        i I       Q

I
m

v
c  Q

Iw IQ I
IN         --- o

o

i F io

I I      ; v2

oo- ozo- ac uee
I  

Ni es- o vooaa, es

Y

4
i&   3 N 

9$  ^-';  
u  °   

g 5 w°   _  3 £ g _  _  8 -
w 8      o   ;  LL _  _      w o S

5 p  o   o -  o    o °$ 
g

i a
w    .',     _ 

o w - 
5  _   o   =  

o       w  '   

og   3 ° _ P>    >    w u° p o       ' w °  

y z  w w

u  i   ;
g  ,,,,„.,, 

z g 8 gm< S    o<
a  _    

m`
x_     oWo i<   ° F  

o     
a

Wm  J u`  5 N w h o a

p o g   
8 ° o           8

F    ; m s   ; " b

a     Swo;  LL, 
o      

o hp i S     w s- 5 m xwa

e w S yf_ ^ O8  ' m
g  _ 

o o -

a3 y _ z    a    b -<
F

m

u    
o w o 

Z F w
3    

iwS g
W - m _

s
a - m <       . <     _           sa o -

w               
e            < ° ° faa 58  .< °< _ w o   . S 9 °' s a

z

c 7 a r a e     e  m m

736



rr.e-      3 e d.. ad    
ao, r, ra s     .,,,

a

r    o

u        SNOI110N0` JNI151% 34NtlAtltlONf108       $    N o

uwrvuo  -
a .   ,...,    ,       

N3/ 3b Nv' k 3i6

ShclOs$ A11 911W   „„,,,,,,,,,._.. s„ Y„   
avoa 3Furrvw4si3asoo- aaniiNand Hsv     " 

A

p   

I
F

3d <   z r a 

g ry\  `      s 

4

i  I y     o

T` 09p a

y       a,° ozo,
z

a,e-. 9/,(            .    k

8..       W)

lbµ,n9   
I     '           3. p M'._\\.....)..      .

SR
G I w

q I       

w 

R 4 ro'<az:- 
o W C

0^ bi. no   '     .

I 1. r 
3

W      

t.. k` 5     

i      
Y C     \-  \

7 E          \
8    i I' I

ql 
4 i e I i

Ws   • •  .       FN j I.

o" I I

Q w, 

I
rvooye, ys ot o3 yiynLno

dOYHl aOjp
l I

i •.

i

I uQi Q
I i       q

i pW Q
a

I'; o
o 1

I

i
oam
Uo_

o       

I
o j i i T

I
li   /

y; eti,o ,
p

o

s  t     

I
2

R
Q

s

i

b; i  ;
I

i j, i i o< R
I           H

I       
t

I I; j i      ° Q

I I i
j d 

I' 

i

oag
Co

pi     o

i q
i ,       >

J e

iu ece- eoz-"—"—"—"_"_•
r.._    _ I    ,   3. t6 60. W

I

I OOL OZO Zbl NdV

IIi. I
l.   —_---

JNI dS' l NaoN9At5 I

737



w Y -.w.      ., a . d. rb  eNeo„ r o o. s dod„..
o g .

u NVld10211NO ltl1NOZIHOH

uwmu  "._ a'   , a,.-      "     
M3/ 3bNr' i316

u M o

a+, y

E 1b4Y uw

Sd s$ AV   ,,,,,
a,,, a, a,,„   woa 3Furivwasi3asoa- aanliNand. iHsv gr    

A

z

N

3Y 

SfP  I
o

KZ   _ _

Iµv
O[       -'\\ o

N
o/

ll6y i,NidY I       RI`\ 

0/"/,

1_     g

a y

3 9
ry    

e

Q

IIV B
o  

ot
o

ot-         

e 

Z e

k II
6S

i

Q

ot
y     -, oi

e   

i \\\       \       
4

o_      

i    - ti\\\

I

8

2 III ot  _  s        \  .,     9L. a
o9L'    i    9Z    .'      

sz'        A         
v

ifl       n .   i    

sz_

I  
A

oe III       
s              —  s          

o i ;   
o        I   i  Q

I            ao     g

I a oe

A' OOMB.( t' S Ol 03W/   
I I z

R

e    , 

II
36 Ol 031J3dX3/

VlIO

a

a II
II

l

d0YH1

0/
O ALJ I

i II gs ^ 

CIIII   ! 
2

II I

II II   IIII II o
o

I
II 2

I II II
II  

I
II .[ S  [[  .  a 9  [  ( L [ 5 II il I

II 6
Z         II        

j U
II

m W

II ( 1
w

II
I     

i   
Jb / d

II       I  ;        "-°

I II I
g o ocs- azo- rc, var

o`   

I II
JN/ HJNVM Sl3N SOO

U       

3

II II II

I

I I  I
II III  W,

i l =      II  
o

N
I N,

e,   
II III I
II I

i

I
I a

I    
I II s = j  i

li
I     = L===_     == _ II iII I      — Q——-

II I  
I    

III
a   zg

II i   '°
I tc     I oa

e .'

epc;    -------

I aaroza- zsr Ndv       

I
w dsi rooae. rs s,

738



L.,      o.,,,--       .
0   - — w     .: s—   <,»n , .  .,

do„ r o oeo s    a.., o

g— 
ra aen      ,„   

e„ SN011 3S133tl15 I19f1d8NOI1tlJ1034AVM- i0- 1H' JIM   $   
q e

uwna  ....,    ,.„,    :....,     
n3aHvx3ts

ara S IIOS AII'   „,,,,,,..„,,,   ovoaaa urrvwasiaasoo- 3aniiNand, iNsro      

a

g esz
y >

5

y       

s
M

8
5

e a
a ;

s, ' a,      3 a     —    
c

a R  °                
m

s g
4---'   

E aE ' s o 3 a

8
e       -       

p $ a
p         

a

Z 8  R     .€       
d    -    a       w

l o     I Q   < i
e:— s W-   _   a o         

o

R   f
n   — _   '        a

rn a       @  ;;,     m  
5 p— -_      ug 3    !

o e
id   o c Q J-    ¢  

3
y    ¢  ' A , O E

9
R        

4
n      

V vi L  a  _       

i
R .     

f  

a4g          a  :. v

S
c a. 3 k

vfi         a''      °     

3   
m s

1 a m

f ry,

i', i

I
y

y       

i

a G
n   —   

z      
r   =     3, a

iG G 4'°   O 
c5 s's o 4

a 5 wII Q   '     '   .      O  
e       =        HgO  

a—     - a        a   ° 
a      ^       

c a  >

m 4   < a s
d— z-   = S h  $ -

y    na
n

Y

z
i s w

a

4       '..,      '       eIl. i

y -    3  "      
a 6 Ci 6

I
3 G S '_"       

G

W
g

I I G
z

5            3    ..:....  aidE     

I' ll 4
in    R i  a'  e

I I
e a v z    II :..,, iG in a

j
x

J     

i
l

l @        rsn g            
s    

a FS  

l       

i

EI   ``      O e       
a       

Fy3 g L h   U y
C a B3 R

3

a

Q

I     ;  o
G

739



w 3 . sro,  .
ao,,, d 

n. r .o. 0 g .
er - '+

o     
ar    n,... v.   .  

NVld3' JVNItltlO0Ntl9N10tltl` JAtltlNIWll3tld
r N o

o    ,-     .,...    ,

r.,     
m3n3aHvu3is

r U
ShclOs AV: III avoa Furivw g si3a soa- 3anynan aiNsv a     e.,

o= es"p' I
9J3a a

i Z-7    -

3`:`   ,
r\\ 

i
o a

m          g.pa
t Sa

n

e

y         -.. A_u GJ      
ybw    >   I  „

a , _
o

m       a s        - L
a     

s 
C@

s a   aa is- `      •        n.

al        '    o  _      sl  :     -      a  -    i-/   
g \       ,,   T

4'a

s o 4      g   g        
@

i r  1         c     

s     '     8        \': X,.   

E § a al a a a  S
c

a e e V';-      s

f a   ,    I

e    ffi
a '   ; ' —  , Fi % i  ' I

z       e o asa   a   =- -      :,       i   ._.   s w`     
a  ,        

q       n c]  :   z
I '  '' `     _.. ..     

1_     l_      .  
dn      -  yi a

T

o gW-.   p    . '     

Y

I

e'   

W.

i    '  'xl -   
i q 8      4I    L: i

I II .     a       
a     { m

I ,  ,
o

a Il e   a
r     a, I IIJ ;     fL a

II i s    `'-   ,  e   

i S   ;  I o

i NII x       a

o
I';  K     

I JI j W        

11     '
a 

W   .    I II a

I   II _ '
V

IIj  
i

m   ;'       

jII  ,       I
W

I
LL '    

II
II ,        

o

see      I II', i aa E

4 s
i      I I m ',       

m      

t tr/

Jj
s m 

o       

o        I I;

I` <   _       '     I ;    '
9

g   e
i      

I.      
J g ^, II II jjj'  

I     / J  

II      il
I j VII I)      %       s s$ u°= o

al        o
a e

II II    ---      
g 88_

U I  W
g o

III II      ;    
II N   

w`
g a

o o

Y3 i
s oo aI   _   I          g= o

I I a 5   . a   _   o wj         o:II$ I ,    g a c    -  dI
H      _ p 

LL

a 

Y       IHI ffi _     —
I

6

r II e
a

N

H' _   °
s'

e  II    = 5',.   . 
a, w

a s    . a o       IIII q  
Y  

e

II      II  , g=
w

i      -     , ui3irax
S y g, 

IgI    ' '     _       a       a
s

FI
m 91     li          li i w .  . II II       

II
aa-     o II a .   \ .       

y" g= Y

d      II      `     o,    

s    - s  n

op
13 IP     

S a       ; ,            e a

W     ; 

E: a 3 .   .   .w     

e       .        

I.o

j

z r.,,.,, r, r.  
i            

I   i 3       
ni     ei

4`    
ya

ir

I        
n  r   „

r e e ' `- ,  

Q i t
b„ a.

I v w cun'u o':-       $  

8

I
Wy 3    

ry

IW,  -----
I

I I

740



p
e.. a a , N.,, e  .

n r w n o or s    eH. n. 
4

y_ __. __.     . .._._._      '^    ,'-. . w        .''  '       NtlldAl1111fIAtltlNIWll3ild p
urwo   , k,.:   :, a:.,   ,„ ,     

a3n3bHria3ts

u
o

S IIOS A I' WI ovoa a urrvw g siaa soo- 3anliNan. iHsv     "

g

O

5 T̀ỳ
m'

TM Z-    ,
i

F..

o 

m    
r,   

b

b- S y1Nb
I w i d  _.

i

v    '

i..\'""'- @:

o 0 0   o

w

e o 0 o e o   \,     ,       8.
jP o  o         t :     oo     °      o e 

c     .

r
I  I.  I

tln: w
L-.      

j

i     .  ..      I  ._'

a
I 4

I.  ' _     
e

ki i.

s
I!.    

x       
i    '   '' .' i'.

I I .

N,  i

i
J i I`   I i

I I i ili

li

I I,:
I: i I

I i f
i

pII        1 Q
i O

II      I' i  

i°      

h
i    

I    I` Iy'  o0
Y i I I

m

W 

j '; i

1i
I, 

I Y I I'       A ce

I-    24 y
fJ I II. I i x

O<

I'       mgu
y      ' I

R   

II, I,      _   
t t

I I: I
x

Q       -       
a

e l  
I!     

n

I._ I

u

I

il

li     .     I' 3:.j i. 
I,     .  

i
I'   (

b,, y d,:,: \
LL

I
i         

N
o "

i

1    I. Ilfs;,
iLL       !  

I
i i I illljI(

I     
I

I I I  Ij.,
j i':'

i!       

j
il

ji

I ii'I:     I I I

I:     L,-       ,.         

i      il;
i

il i

li'.
i III

i

I '

Ii;
i i   ,.      Ic

r._::__:- '-•'  

III, f,   
i i Q ' I'

Ii
i 6

II''
r;       

i
i I

M.... a»: racrs.- ---   
I n

I i   --------    

741



w

i t     v -.e-  E. 3 d_.. e  
d ao, r w o. s doa , 

g
i_     -  u

e,,,,,   w NVldAll' 1Vf10N31VMWNO1SAtlVNIWIl3Hd r

r o
v   .,,,    :..,    : .     M3n3aurw3L5

n y   „
w

S IIOS$ Ali 9YW   „,„,,,,,,,
a,,,„,,,,   

woa aruriaw s siaa soa- aanliNand. iHsv      a

e

s`

pW
1 3a 

2 =

F

g    \`\ \ \\ \  \

i    Z-7'   ' 
w

e€ o
C'0

l3N,1/y\\' \  

I
B

2 

N      

g     .  
1 \.'  ., _`      

0      d    (<• i
uQ S 8            y      3 g

ig_    '
pYM

T k     g    3

g
I   .    a    

g W 

s
4      w     

s o g.
g o I

y
7      

m

LL
p q

a  .   i
a

a   
a

I 6      3ae g
I

sa j I

om       I 9 E

U¢   I

i y              

e g

I g 
pe

j    $ IWz I IIQI p¢

O
I

I  
o 

1

J:  .

I Ni
j ff w

j i        i_ I
i o  -   ,       -; II_W       s

a ..  .  

I

o a       '  I
I I
iW

e~    I

s     

g i               I I i     -

a o
I IC   (), l1/   o a

i
o"

6

s
I        

N'0   \ a      ' I
x  g         Q`J  -   v>  >   .  .  ' I

Qo z o
g  

m           ! O6S- OZO- Z6( K          iom I l Ndv Q
JNl HJNYN J      .    '     

V¢ Sl] H SOO
Q     .  

i i  ..I    ——_———    J K     .  
IU

a   .  ..,.  

i

I .I       Y      IJI S    

I
I_

a
o       ,.  I, I

I iw

I a
o     '  I

I ka O i

I      N         I

j      °
q w

3ar u+3ninai o3e aoa

o
a a

g W g
v3w 3 wan snoue3a xoo' st

I      
e

Q      ,  

r II
is rozr ci

S 5 Q bd p      ' I
I I

I
m

VJM' INMlY3N1 03tl t00[ 8 I     —————- 0    ,.  .
W g

V3aV 3] VJ 5 5110NH3d111 f5 Fa00' BIL Q

I I

m
an8' bd I QS

Z  .  '  
I I     '      -

U'       

II 'I      o
W iO

a

vn3an n' i800
a   

w
i

a <       x

3., s a ss      
o;   igg

a

r'r uv I      
ov a  ,      I    !      j

Q

I oo[- ozo- zcr Ndr I     ———————
vi dsv vooaeAvs

I I

742



a

a.  
y —    - •. e—  E. 3, d ... n,  

e do„ r o eo es    a..,. 

rt __—--- 
er. . .,"°      . s    s. w+ . s. ymx

NMd SS3 VN f1H1Vtl1S 0 o

uwmm    '^    >-.,     ..• •     n3aNvid3is

Aey w ShclOs$ All'. IVW   ,,,,,,,,,,,„,_..„   ovoa aFurma g siaa soa- 3aruiNan naiNsv     " o

a

g

e

s"    
rz _ .

Oyo\
eb- 3

I W _

T,
t

i;      a     €       r \\

yyy     _

F

I
f        II I   \ \\\I

f i

S .      I I
I li I
II; i

I II I
i

I I I  

I
i I

I I

A .      

II I
I

il'', I
i

I  i

f' i
o i

I'' i
I', i

f,o
I'',

I'  I

o¢    
I'

I; Il
mw I'     

i%           

t i<   
b M d,     

ji   '    N p o

li I     

N

Gi 
Ii

i'
i,'
i'
i',

i','

i'' I
o

i

i;      
w

i',   '     
i i

3 r

I Qo L

1 ',

I ' i
I

I I; j I

743



ub
r .,--  e» 3 d ., a  .

ao,,, o s ma r„. g a.
a_ ..  , e„    . d...,,,   e„

r v dss3oovNonalaaid rn o
uw. m   ,•.,    •:,.    ,.';     man3anv eais

SdUIOs$ A1i 911   „„„„,.,,,
n,,,,   

avoa aFurrvwgsiaasoo- 3aniiNand. iHsv     "

e

s`
p

n`  , 

Z - 

Oba Hl/yyy  

o

C`..,   \'
1

t     '       -           

i

i i  

i i  ;

i  

ii
i  

i  

r o

i
W,

i

I OI

Z a

f-   

I
I

a

7      mw
1    

as

w      .   m I   
IL

b-
fM

d  

o o_

W

g
dw

r------       y y

I, I
LL

I
Wa

i

i

i

I

I   \----

i
i

a

iI

a       I          
i    -----     

I i 

744



u.      o.,. a     -- .. _ m._.....___,___--  ,. 3, d.,.  ,
do„ r, w o o., s md,,., o d

v___   

e '••°    s... o,...,. m. s.. a. 
rv ndssa vN nai3sndaa o 0

n,,..,y ...,     
3eH. ba. s

A.    .
r1 o. A W021A3HLMIW8SI3NS00- 321f111NHf1jA3lHStl  ° gr   U t

eslp, `` I
t993b         \\\  Z   

o

I
v    \

O\
OV\\!

Y\   

o

T

1 T   
A

i!
r

E t 1
e

I

I

I

I

I
g          

I

I

I I

i
io  .    .
I I

W

o
I i
Ii

Za
o<      i
J a

m w I

I\   

I   ') y M y
i  %

o o

I  '.  ji

I

I

I

I

I

I
J I

I

I

I    ----   

i g
i

I

I

I I
T

w  .

I i

I     -------   

i        

745



u tr

o    :    
m

I" "          x w w          J O C g¢        S 5 a'  ^       
e  

a    z: gm    j =       oo       .°= = S    "'
S    ?   

a b $       1

8"
a     

a

o€        4»    
L-.'  

W      -  Q Q   g o s 
s N 

o

N I
z              J    s

b 

a aoo 

W W      

Hw§   8

F
w

a w
s     

S
5 6      w       g a

drc    $     g" da p-    ' 
a

s    

pJ

b5 w 5 qy      E   } _

U s    ' 1   
3

g       a     6      `  
a ? a s ] m s

4 I       a        
a.  .

a
y     \\    9

Q      

3

m     .  

1  1  w  •   A 

w`—     s a
s I I I  

O

a

a  .,.,,        

I     -       
l       =

C       , 

II
li       =

I
Ug       _    

a

e  „

N

w

i
r   ,       I am

l\`    //

ii!%/I!       

y  _   

I µ)   

I    

g    "-      -

S
y     ..'     .

5 i  .,a8 3¢ `" 
f      i

m . -    
o

a
4„'   

a` m  -
i 4d1'  i 

n} s#*:    p&
rMr<  [ v i   s" E i i

i Y;      4    
e0 1   .;,   , i. rsI.    rd   ,., t

a wwv f.

A

I x

W Jr(' 9, u' i;HBry; t > f
i ri, t

I;
i      °       ab a & 3Eo

r   ,   l             _  
rr n E ; ,     wo s   =

t i f```; N'iBEt eu¢( r(      C,       n='$    <
w

ill
w<° Qosas° afoaw

M

tv,",

N y 3 5eEhaw ww° appary

1 k  } I
I

i
I ww w

d       
4a,

t
4 h 7  " YI I

O

z

y,°µ¶
I, fi

j
tf      #.

r
g am' za¢ a rr] a¢ nm

ykMoi u
l h       

p;     

6

x
4 l z

Y fi g II3
t

q 3,,

@ d tl  It h    

I i i     <

u, 4

i I U u

I           I'
i

w       `
W'€

C o o     

W   

z 8 uw
o

i        ay

a  m W a w
owa p

aC a       , w a  3
I

ii o     •

I    N     g f
I

Y
i

t"``''        i ' 

z 

i
a

t,      g g
d` i"".            

I
i      a g i

o       
b' E  K     ci 5

m a .  ..  I

S
a

r1   <
z

w

S
d   s   >   

a

a
s  °

I
F  , I   '  s

r"; as t j` o:

f' TS 3S3NIlH 1VW ----- --_  —  

t: s d''      

i r,z,     "   
m' I' 

746



y       

ga =    a       xw       vn   woc         `  s 5

N      

qqV i '     l -       oo       y = x   
w   =   

ai nQN       p  a F-   `   E    ..    $ V
a

LL    CnQ        sg o0 0
J   s V

z  
g 

d   oa  _       

J

e ; 34 3

s.$§ 9   : ss
o. a

E

y9 a e R 8.. s s f 7

tli.,.....<<.    . ....   .....  . t..... ....   ..
tt 9 a  

r s 3

4
3  $^  @ g

a$$  a$       
93

s 

9s $'
e 9. $ J

a    a s     s 2     p= k

y  _      

@

oE 3$     g99 
5 @..     3 a3 S& o $ Nie Q

Y  g§ g 2

5  
y y    , 

y      
g;,          

E 

S9 8 3$ g4g  ° @° $ e   s
E  3 I} 4 3 3     % Y 9     

6 g Y f C   e

3 a a a   ;    

3   s
g, tus g

e

j8:     '  °¢ e j a k'

a  a     g,  o   _   
tl       a      

x s i i  $ si r§   
o

K  
y  4 1     gg

g     ~  

j G$$       

g      
U

@ @ e' 42    $     
S

gZ 4
P F   Y Y Y 

4
u  

l t l 133HS 33S 3NIlN 1HW n

I ',   
a      —    ——

Cr      I i
i

I;{     
wa'

I     . l

F 
1  w3o

i
g

Q i       3
m I o

sa gm
s,     

i
o e Z

k   -       '       
I        I..

f 3

I   
I gu

w

p
w

F

j o

I f a

h' x         

y

Q

z

as il

ll i   li i i i ii i' i ii' i i l' i l̀y ii iIITI I  
a      _    I

ms> s
I

a

i awai iv;   
ti

I i       ,;     1
I

i

I
li i

i II I I i I lil i I      i

b
ii I

I ll l l llilli il ll l' IIII' lill l 1.  
z

g
a

III il I III I  I II    I il I I! . I         i  I i       i II     
z N

wb>      oz
5

i   i I ` 1          I          I'   '  il cI I I I 1 i   ,       i   I i,   (
i       j I      i li   ,,  j   ;,   I       ----  

I w

i ii   '   I II: I ,
I I.   I '

I     I: I    I I  :     I
I

z '.0
i i',   ! I ii li 11 i ii I I I u 

7    
i%%//i//    I i li li il'      If    ! I ii i      !  li         I I
r,/////    (                 ;           I ii  i l    I      I  , II   .  

II  i 
G`'_    

i

747



i

f ,  
d        ,  

sr  '';:.       '   
Y v

2

tF y,

a

S

S`       Ti` G . y 
7` s i,:  7..      4P, : t5'-''

4

L     C

d      

s"fj j .

c  . s

y4 t A' '

r.^

d

r,

Y
f , 

x„' t 3

Y  (  
y y

3, .t
Yt L

d
i.   i  iT4 r •

a,'          
c

i

z       

g

c i
ua

i  a -   '

i,.   ysr    +,'

x

c p,
2„       a

a q

4      

h     z
r  :,"`

ry    
ti

u
4`'        

t' d'  
y

y.   

i . 

f k t`. t ci      t  ,"`     b

5, c, s,
4'  

1't''{ 6Li i . j j   d

T.   '' 1  U`rt      ,„ ;
F f .

l

E •

Y M
c w

r

W s1;

N s... e.
kc

l'   

f

Q   .. '.
t

4

4

a i 3
1

2  /      Y . I4=
S

q,  
x`  

y    ' lt'  
V,' Y,

4      •

t`   
u,. "  

z`      y r  ; i°       t'.`

k'      
i

f"   ',
l       

r   . r'

r

3'  v  * P

4    .       '* i'„!;.       ,  t' "'>' pr .'"` Z+ 1`„

Y,     
N°

s
iL rc Y;mw  

i

a a.`
V

z.+.a. 
k.

s    ..      I e    .

5       

k
a krs1

n

r        
y d

t`     2; "_'  j„§ '' s

k      `   4
r             

r

f

r, s 
e     E

4 .  

p       

GS F "     
r   

i. 

P       ' i: i
i..     ,

S            r
i

w

i,.   i
a

eti . Q
x _  es.. , 

va; 5  <•

G r .    , ti° ;

tj a
f

s 

748



g

i,       

y

U   '.'
4°       

s  
s>$   

r=       
w:

e r   ,    

Fa „""^ a,t     `

x aa yy,      N'`;:       `; 1    .%     
µ     .`

f:.p   .   d
f n,`    r.;cs      ;": r      ; p.     't'

a
t u a:^ .     

ST
b

E 

5 3 ti       :

1 3s J t

d           .

k
3

g j      

a        m
Q>— >

o= 
N 

e. 

S Q $
s"  

x+

sa
3 r4 i'.,   7.7

i+'°. 3 9. fr„!`   
9c°   

tw y

d7° +„ E r.      ,' fi..:    y
r             js

y 4           

f.

q,     

a s
a.     a       .    fi., s

P

Y
y r

1 i

e..  
i'/ 5   ',    

i .    ' w.     5   ;
n

Y

A.-       

j 3,.v,
r

l ma '.

f  sxr'  rr M`

y

A    
y

f' 
y, 

f'_       

Y

d   ?.

s',    , sr ya
u:.:.'   i.,5 n        r-  

x F     .::'       

i

1t i
i.-     

i fi
y

a     ' 1
2

b.-

i   ,     I
1

3  

i       
i

K,
6 I

f

1

q
a

Y
rt{

l             e

Y

i

j -  ;
i:Ili

li      I I'
i

f

c

h

749



z ye: #   .. .  

y 1
qt. t

x5.'..

f E` 1

r r+

L 3f                

5y  `    
I 0

d$'

4 
S' „ i:, r

a a        
d, r"s:'

x     9 ti      { '       .N       "

r  j''.       
t

r x+`} '   }` 
a ,

fl L." {`: a      •   

e

Ty    6°', qC w   ,, w,

a     . 

r

q h* r    '..  -   ,: i"

L

Y '

F S k
y"'"' fr. j;l/..'     `.,; sf;,.   

n.'   

w
n';

x   * r'       

i      ' 
y 4. t '       

i k,..i  ,      i` . s. s+v''  '      

t x$ t r'" Ua s
Y      +'

r        d,    ' y
n:     , x

x

F    ;
f

a".      ^  

a

f
y
i'3,,

1` ak.` '" 3    :-   
3'i

y 7,r,`      T. w
s

ni

x

7/
r

ct'.

ak        

r.

I('S' s;, 3    .-       ..    2 ,* i S.     '? 2       z9 4
ar  '       p- C

a    '*,. d., " r,}? -     
t      

r

a,.    ; iR -  -  F .
hTM,      Y  

t     , y;: a.   
g

r.      .  .

i r
9  

a ,  

r

y r  ,     ..   

r  '.-          

t  .;    

M  .

a-"'  • :?,       

f  '
f

1  ,      
d

w

i c

n  y '    t"a.
t

ra.  

r,,•  ;; 
t ., ,,      ,    

s v

s',x 
i

t

s`

a  } 
aa

r;    '    s       
r. 

n A   -+ y
f` s.,

r   

d

4 y
e'  .   t  (     

F

s.       
S.

7`' 
t

j

4M/...     

w

a'. i f      ,.. i

a¢ 1. d'      
t,     

a

w   `      1  =
Y      '   ' 9{.' K."

k S k,3.               

s;'     S^    
s y       :     z~ -'',

C  
r

i

t              
m.  :*

v 4n .
f      r y v   ^" Y

r

u ,      
d..      .       Y j J..

rr    

yt'    '      .  ..,......   .'  }     

E

i
I        rd

is.. 
i

e.:.

yaSt'     ' 4i:>

ry      _ i .    d. .

e  ,

S'
A ; F.+'RY

t'/   ••`      
y fI i

t I y+`      

1

750



Y

J
t

z1

illV  

r`-    

p  

pil' fl I
v jl ir

d     ,       I           
i'

f, y

I

f I

s   
r;

k

n.  

R     

V

O 
y       

N

Y. .       i',       K

Ar

W

A
l .       

W >
i       ,    

u 

v

u.".  ,,. g

r,`       

wf      
o

fl  

J a '      
4

i',` s,     
r ,     

w c..   '°'   "

3i.w

y

y;:

1 5 {+  !  
y.,y.

t1i ii     I.  
7 `       

4", ','      4      

x,;''.i  ' L k`

i` r

r Ic.       

i
f

i      ' I
g .

i

sj.'„ N
a:     t P '      P,,    

f 

I  ' '

l

G  
A I

f

n z r
s       ;

i.* `      tb
f i

IiM

h 5^'  
X. I       -  y   ,. n

v

t    
i       

y;    
i-`-

r
a

e FH' 

i       

i
t   =#           v.,o

j,      r

x_  , Y j

ur.,  s '      

4           
k".      

i       I
s g

r,      4

pi ¢.   

r   .   `    

i

r t w   , 4 1   {

S y
k

t}
y'

Y$.k,      
I

H+ pk; Y r??' s 6d11, y tAI r ty
r,    

4    ',,'
z«'

5,
a      

4        
e

I r     „     ,

h-     t rI
r:  . ri b 9r

d.a I     

r.,'"{   

1      '"'; `^
3.,   

i7 L 9 f .

y"  d

l
A F§  ,..      

s

yS
i

4 fi

t E t
ht#'„_       

a

751



J

T-.        

4

M{
z, 

S

i

µ'^ YC u'      

r
j

yS„

v  `      FY..rr

Y.

N

h
s

r   d
n 7 L

7           
q'  .

t,       r    

o J m

y r 
y W d

S "   4 F f. J 

w    
r

Fi     Q

a-   ,.,"

zfe

µ; ;  :
r

s"`    

a   `; a     =     

i r"   ,

1

r

Y  ..
i

I

f
I'  `,

I'

i r,..-
Ez.

i

I i ca

a,' r. Q I      .

1    
g

7

C!,
s, t bl iI

F

IC
I

4

I',
i

y.

r.

I
P

V

Ae e L=

s
e

r.. SR
7' r'a/  x-'

r

tt.     . ry ,
4C$,  .

S,    5t 2:       r,_ i ri     I      ,

I
y

r. 1

y+     i x m

r,

N@p9` 7 w 6 6

8: hrr'      0

E

y,"^      '£

w riyyX
1 kq . a)

ixr,,.;'/ y ~      

y...,..

752



y,'     

f r     
a i Y 

iJ .
f?` 

t`.      ,
r     „'      

p
1„  `   c  

vr^ j
Gm    .

i ,.     
P,}

a,       
6'    z

q           9' Z  a   ,
f '' b'` 1       ' r 4-    

t r       Itj   y,,,    -,
3    

0;     

k   }

I j   q .    , '    9       :   
r ,     

e   , y     i    
s  . . a      

n
r      ''. yl  , r;g,,•.

n,   ,:

e

i

Z.,     

a

Z z
k y r,..

k        ,< d

s+ }

ti,.   .. y ,{

R    ,,.     .
rP k

x 
1         u 4" sy'

r e7 g; .     ,,.,:
b. 3  '   t'     a

S

i  ,      s a.  
x`  

3    

r r , i ei,. 

y     ,. r p

P. s  

tt ,

y O
r

a
a,  '         , -    z, 

y      , „".
w

ay  r      —""".`--

J.
t!/'       w

0

r{
r  ,  ,     3

p $ .    _   , 

U W 

b    1  o= r
k    ;,. ,,  

y

Q
R

i
1

3

N , 

r j  %   "

a `; r F %

a   '   s s      
7,"'

ll'--.      .. ..a.      
t

i'    a , r'  ,!

i

v,    

s
t  ,`      N  

1u           

E

i t  ;   ` a. *} z   

t
q   ,`    f# y  i m#     p i       z r-. 0

r I i +„ '  
rt

i

i 3` a    `

Q          . , y

6'       
r  '°  

f      ,    #; 

9.`;   a.

F  i
t b  '

fx 4    
I.       j

fa
i

a, T_

r— r

3k     F

Y 41    . 
r
i.

i;; E      I   T"- i     

f',    t L   Il      ' LL

Sii     ,' I'.

P..'".. il _r'   _

n _

p

f
a  `

i, I ' t              (

Y`   
I

q o
I ',.     

1'       i   R
f

g: i ii

i

d S t. da a t z
f  

i Y.

I'  Pv

z  ,

4

i. M   

753



Attachment 10

Ashley Furniture Project CUP- 23- 08 and SPR- 23- 09

Environmental Checklist, prepared by De Novo Planning Group, dated
August, 2023

Due to the size of this document, it has not been reproduced in the
staff report.  A copy of the Environmental Checklist is available for
viewing and download on the City' s website at the following links:

Environmental Checklist without Appendices:

https•// www ci lathrop ca us/ sites/ default/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity development/ pa e/ 5622/ lathrop ashley warehouse 15183 no

appendices. pdf

Environmental Checklist with Appendices:

https•// www ci lathrop ca us/ sites/ default/ files/ fileattachments/ comm

unity development/ pa e/ 5622/ lathrop ashley warehouse 15183 cle
an.  df

The Environmental Checklist can also be viewed at the following link:
https•// www ci lathrop ca us/ com- dev/ pa e/ public- review-documents

Individuals that are unable to access the Environmental Checklist at the
website listed above or would require a computer disk or thumb drive

containing a copy of the document should contact Planning Staff at
plannin    ci. lathrop. ca. us or ( 209) 941-7290 to obtain a copy.

754



TT CH IENT "         "

CITY OF LATHROP

PLAIV NING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 23- 13

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LATHROP
RECOMMEIVTDING THE CITY COUNCIL FIND THE PROJECT EXEMPT FROM
FURTHER ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO PUBLIC RESOURCES

CODE SECTION 21083. 3 AND CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 15183 AND APPROVE
THE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND THE SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR THE

PROPOSED ASHLEY FURNITURE PROJECT (CUP-23- 08 AND SPR-23-09)

WHEREAS, the City of Lathrop Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing to
consider the Conditional Use Permit and 5ite Plan Review pursuant to the Lathrop Municipal Code;
and

WHEREAS, the request is for approval of a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review to

allow the construction of an approximately 1. 5 million square foot concrete tilt-up building and all
necessary supporting infrastructure on property located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan Phase
2 Amendment area as further defined below in the third recital ( the proposed Project}; and

WHEREAS, the property is located at 14101 S. Manthey Road ( APN:  192- 020- 14) ( the

property); and

WHEREAS, prior to the City' s approval of the 2022 General Plan Update, the City prepared
an Environmental Impact Report ( EIR) which analyzed the environmental impacts af buildout under
the General Plan Update pursuant to the California Environnlental Quality Act ( CEQA) ( Public

Resources Code Section 21000, et seq.), and the City of Lathrop City Council certified the Final EIR
on September 19, 2022 ( State Clearinghouse # 2021100139); and

WHEREAS,  the analysis in the General Plan Update EIR allows the use of CEQA

exempkion/ streamlining provisions for projects developed under the General Plan Update, including
the proposed Project; and

WHEREAS, an Environmental Checklist has been prepared for the proposed Project, vhich
is attached to the Planning Commission Staff Report as Attachment 9 and can also be found in the
Plannin Division project filss located at 390 Towne Centre Drive, Lathrop, CA 95330; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the proposed Project is consistent with the
Limited Industrialland use goals and policies of the CiCy of Lathrop General Plan and is also consistent
with the development standards for the IL-CL, Limited Industrial Zoning District and the Central
Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Amendment as further implemented through the Zoning Code Text
Amendment; and

Plannin Commission Resolution No. 23- 13 Pa e I of S

755



WHEREAS, proper notice of this public meeting was given in all respects as required by law
includin the publishing of a legal notice of the hearing in the Manteca Bulletin on or about September
1, 2023, mailed the public notice to notify property owners located within a 300- foot radius from the
project site boundary, emailed to the City' s Pi blic Hearing subscribers and interested parties and
posted at three ( 3) locations accessible tQ the public and the City website; and

VHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed all written evidence and oral testimony
presented to date.

N W, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Planning Commission of the City of Lathrop
does hereby make the following findings:

l.  California Environmenkal Quality Act ( CEQA) Findinas.  Pursuant to Public Resources

Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183, the Planning Commission
finds as follows:

a.  The project complies with CEQA based on the CEQA exemption/ streamlining
provisions cantained in Public Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA
Guidelines sectio 15183;

b.  Pursuant to the Planning Commission Staff Report and the attachments and
exhibits thereto, including but not limited to, the CEQA Initial Study Checklist,
which are incorporated herein by reference, the proposed Project will not result
in any significant impacts that. 1) are peculiar to the project or project site; 2)
were not identified as significant project- level, cumulative, or off-site effects
in the General Plan Update EIR; or 3) were previously identified significant
effects, which as a result of substantial new information that was not known at

the time that the General Plan Update EIR was certified, are determined to have

a more severe adverse impact than discussed in the General Plan Update EIR.

As a result, pursuant to Pubiic Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA
Guideiines section 151$ 3,  the proposed Project is exempt from further
environmental review under CEQA.

c.   All applicable General Plan Update policy and implementation actions and
uniformly applied development policies, standards and/ or regulations are,
hereby imposed on the proposed Project and must be adhered to by the Project
applicant.  To the extent the City has not previously made findings regarding
any/ all of thase referenced General Plan policy and implementation actions and
uniformly applied development policies, standards and/ or regulations,  the

Pianning Commission hereby finds that all of those General Plan Update policy
and implementation actions and uniformly applied development policies,
standards andlor regulations, were adopted, in whole or in part, to substantially
mitigate the potential environmental effects to which they pertain  ( i. e.,

aesChetics, agricultural and forest resourees, air quality, biological resources,
cultural and tribal resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gases, climate
change, and energy, hazards and hazardous materials, hydrology and water

P anning Commission Resolution No. 23- 13 Pa e 2 of 5

756



quality, land use, population, and housing, mineral resources noise, public
services and recreation,  circulation,  utilities and services systems,  and

wildfire}.

2.  Conditional Use Permit Findin s.   Pursuant to Section 17. 112. 060 of the Lathrop
Municipal Code ( LMC), the Planning Commission finds as follows:

a.  That there are circumstances or conditians applicable to the land, structure or

use which makes the granting of a use permit necessary for the preservation
and enjoyment of a substantial property right.
The proposed Project represents ct rnajor expansion of the existing Ashley
Furniture Distr-ihutzo 2 Cerr.ter nf2d Retail Outlet locnted on S. Harlan Road.

The proposed Project is corisisterzt witFi the City' s developmeflt standards for
Limited Industrial.

b.  That the proposed location of the conditional use is in accordance with the
objectives of the zoning code and the p arposes of the district in which the site
is located.  The proposed project is locc ted in the IL-CL, Lir zited Indi strinl
Zoning District czrad the Cerztrcrl Lathrop Specific Plan Phase 2 Anae dment
aren c ld is a permitted use within the oriing distri.ct for wlaich it is locnted as
fcirther estnblished iri tlze Zoning Cvde Text Arnendment.

c.  That the proposed use will comply with each of the applicable provisions of
the LMC, as amended.  As noted al ove aricl as described iri the Staff Report,
the proposecl roject is a perrrtitted a se ira tlte IL-CL, Limited Indcrstrial Zonirag
District and is consistent with the npplicable provisions in the LMC, including
screer ing requirements per.rst ctnt to tlae Centrctl Lnthrop Specific Plctn Phase
2 Arnendrnertt.  Additionall_y, the General Plan rec atired c pdates to tlae LMC
and Central Latlarop Specifzc Plnn Phnse 2 in order to ensc re that netiv
development is cornpatible vith e,eisting development ( Go l LU-).    The

proposed project is consistent tivith the LMC, Poticies and In iplernentatio z
Actioras of the General Plttn as it relates to truck traffic i npacts artd land case
corrtpcztibilin.

3.  Site Plan Review FindinQs. Pursuant to Section 17. 100. 050 of the Lathrop Municipal Code
LiVIC), the Planning Commission finds as follows:

a.  The proposed Site Plan Review complies with all applicable provisions of
Chapter 17. 100;

b.  The proposed Site Plan Review is consistenC with the site improvements listed
in Chapter 17. 100 ( a. through i.) and improvements are such that traffic

congestion is avoided and pedestrian and vehicular safety and welfare are
protected and there will not be adverse effects on surrounding properties;

Plannin Commission Resolution No. 23- 13 Page 3 of 5

757



c.   Proposed lighting for the project area is so arranged as to deflect away from
adjaining properties; and

d.  The proposed Site Plan Review is compatible with surrounding land uses and
will not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare of the City as
further evaluated in the Environmental Checklist.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, based on substantial evidence in the administrative record

of proceedings and pursuant to its independent review and consideration, the Lathrop Planning
Cominission does hereby recommend that the Lathrop City Council approve Conditional Use Permit
Na CUP-23- 08 and Site Plan Review No. SPR- 23- 09, subject to the Conditions of Approval listed in
Attachment 2 of the September l3, 2023 Staff Report and incorporated by reference herein.

Plannina Commission Resoluti n No. 2- I3 Pa e 4 of 5

758



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Cominission of the City of Lathrop at a Special
rneeting on the 13` day of September, 2023 by the following vote:

AYES:  Ishihara, Camarena, Jackson, Rhodes

NOES:  None

ABSTAIN:    None

ABSENT:      Ralmilay

Tos Ishihara, h'ai

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ick Ca t, Secretary Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Plannin Commission Resolution No. ? 3- 13 Page 5 of 5

759



TTQCH fE T "   2   
x

t  ;

k°

X(,     T 510.836. 4200 1939 Harrison Street, Ste. 150 www. lozeaudrury. com

b  +      F 570. 836. 4205        4akland, GA 94612 michae( o) lozeaudrurycom

rj ' T   !! 4

q

k

4..

a"

t^ af

BY E- MAIL

September 13, 2023

Rick Caguiat

Community Development Director
Planning Commission Secretary
Community Development Department
390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, California 95330
planninqCc ci. lathrop.ca. us

Re:     Comment on Planning Commission Agenda Items No. 8. 3 Regarding
the Ashley Furniture Project ( Conditional Use Permit No. CUP- 23- 08;
Site Plan Review No. SPR 23- 09)

Dear Mr. Caguiat and Honorable Members of the Planning Commission:

I am writing on behalf of Laborers' International Union of North America, Local
Union No. 73 (" LIUNA") regarding the proposed Ashley Furniture Project proposed to be
located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis Rd and Manthey Road. The Planning
Commission staff have determined that the project is exempt from the requirement for
preparation of environmental documents pursuant to California Environmental Quality
Act (" CEQA") Guidelines, Section 15183 and Public Resources Code § 21083. 3.

However, after reviewing the Environmental Checklist and relevant appendices
prepared for the Project, and the 2022 General Plan Update EIR that the Project relies
upon, we conclude that the Project does not meet the requirements for an exemption
under CEQA Guideline § 15183 and PRC § 21083. 3. LIUNA respectfully requests that

the Planning Commission not recommend approval of each of the agenda items
addressed by the proposed exemption and, in particular, the proposed Ashley Furniture
Project, and instead request staff to prepare the necessary environmental documents
under CEQA.

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The Project proposes to construct and operate a 1, 486, 607 square foot industrial
building including a mix of retail, office/ call center, and warehouse and distribution uses.
About 110,000 square feet would be dedicated to retail use, 24,000 square feet to office
and call-center uses, and 1, 352, 347 square feet to warehouse and distribution center
uses.

760



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

The Project proposes to construct approximately 2, 046 parking spaces
throughout the development site, with 942 spaces for passenger vehicles and 1, 104
spaces for truck trailer parking. The Project expects to generate 2, 798 daily passenger
vehicle trips, including 203 a. m. peak hour trips ( 124 inbound, 79 outbound) and 255
p. m. peak hour trips ( 110 inbound, 145 outbound) for passenger vehicles. Another 680
daily truck trips also are expected, including 95 a. m. peak hour trips and 45 p. m. peak
hour trips.

II.       LEGAL STANDARD

To achieve its objectives of environmental protection, CEQA has a three- tiered
structure. 14 CCR § 15002( k); Committee to Save the Hollywoodland Specific Plan v.

City of Los Angeles ( 2008) 161 Cal. App. 4th 1168, 1185- 86 (" Hollywoodland"). First, if a

project falls into an exempt category, or it can be seen with certainty that the activity in
question will not have a significant effect on the environment, no further agency
evaluation is required. Id. Second, if there is a possibility the project will have a
significant effect on the environment, the agency must perform an initial threshold study.
Id.; 14 CCR § 15063( a). If the study indicates that there is no substantial evidence that
the project or any of its aspects may cause a significant effect on the environment the
agency may issue a negative declaration. Id.; 14 CCR §§ 15063( b)( 2), 15070. Finally, if

the project will have a significant effect on the environment, an environmental impact
report (" EIR") is required. Id.

Here, since the City purports to exempt the Project from CEQA entirely, the first
step of the CEQA process applies. " Exemptions to CEQA are narrowly construed and

e] xemption categories are not to be expanded beyond the reasonable scope of their
statutory language." Mountain Lion Foundation v. Fish & Game Com. ( 1997) 16 Cal. 4th

105, 125. The determination as to the appropriate scope of an exemption is a question
of law subject to independent, or de novo, review. San Lorenzo Valley Community
Advocates for Responsible Education v. San Lorenzo Valley Unified School Dist.,
2006) 139 Cal. App. 4th 1356, 1375 ("[ Q] uestions of interpretation or application of the

requirements of CEQA are matters of law. Thus, for example, interpreting the scope of a
CEQA exemption presents ` a question of law, subject to de novo review by this court."')

Here, the City proposes that the Project is exempt from CEQA review under
Section 15183 and PRC § 21083. 3. However, as discussed below, the use of these

streamlining provisions is improper, and instead, a full CEQA analysis, such as an EIR,
must be prepared for this Project.

761



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

III.      DISCUSSION

a.  The City Incorrectly Applied CEQA' s Section 15183 Categorical
Exemption to the Project and Thus a Full CEQA Analysis is Required.

Section 15183 of the California Environmental Quality Act allows a project to
avoid environmental review if it is " consistent with the development density established
by existing zoning, community plan, or general plan policies for which an EIR was
certified . . . except as might be necessary to examine whether there are project-
specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or its site." 14 CCR

15183 ( emphasis added). See PRC § 21083. 3( b). The intention of this section is to

streamline[]" CEQA review for projects and avoid the preparation of repetitive
documents. While the City refers to these provisions as exemptions from CEQA,
environmental review is still required for various types of impacts, including those
peculiar to the project or parcel on which the project would be located," those which

were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR," " are potentially significant off-
site impacts and cumulative impacts which were not discussed in the prior EIR," or

a] re previously identified significant effects which, as a result of substantial new
information which was not known at the time the EIR was certified, are determined to
have a more severe adverse impact than discussed in the prior EIR."

Section ( fl of section 15183 states that a Project' s environmental effects are not
peculiar to a project if" uniformly applied development policies or standards have been
previously adopted" which serve to mitigate environmental impacts, " unless substantial

new information shows that the policies or standards will not substantially mitigate the
environmental effect." The standard set forth by the statute for this analysis is
substantial evidence.

Here, there is substantial evidence demonstrating that the Project will have
significant impacts which were not addressed in the EIR prepared for the 2022 General
Plan Update. Section 15183 therefore does not apply, and the City must prepare
appropriate CEQA documents for this Project.

b.  The City Must Prepare a Statement of Overriding Considerations
With Regard to This Project.

The 2022 General Plan Update concluded that several of the impacts identified
as a result of the General Plan Update project were significant and unavoidable. These
impacts included agricultural resources, air quality, greenhouse gas, and traffic noise
impacts. In the Environmental Checklist prepared for the Project, the City acknowledges
these significant and unavoidable impacts, but states that:

Impacts from buildout of the General Plan including cumulative impacts
associated with development and buildout of the CLSP Phase 2 plan area

762



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

and the warehouse Project site, as proposed, were fully addressed in the
General Plan EIR ( State Clearinghouse No. 2021100139), and

implementation of the proposed project would not result in any new or
altered impacts beyond those addressed in the General Plan EIR.

Envt' I Checklist, p. 13. Similar statements are repeated for each of the specific
unavoidable significant impacts. This conclusion does not, however, address all
of the City' s obligations to grapple with acknowledged significant and
unavoidable cumulative impacts.

In the case of Communities for a Better Environment v. Cal. Resources Agency,
the court of appeal held that, although tiering may allow a later project to rely on the
environmental analysis contained in a prior program- level EIR, that procedure does not
relieve the agency of acknowledging the significant and unavoidable impacts and
reconsidering its statement of overriding considerations. As the Court explained:

The section appears to allow an agency, in approving a later project that
has significant unavoidable impacts, to forego making a statement of
overriding considerations specifically tied to that project. This is contrary to
CEQA law. CEQA section 21094, subdivision ( d) requires agencies that
approve a later project to comply with CEQA section 21081. Under CEQA
section 21081, an agency approving a project with significant
environmental effects must find that each effect will be mitigated or
avoided, or" that specific overriding economic, legal, social, technological,
or other benefits of the project outweigh the ... effect[] ...." 65 The

requirement of a statement of overriding considerations is central to
CEQA' s role as a public accountability statute; it requires public officials, in
approving environmentally detrimental projects, to justify their decisions
based on counterbalancing social, economic or other benefits, and to point
to substantial evidence in support.66 Under Guidelines section
15152( fl(3)( C), however, an agency apparently could adopt one statement
of overriding considerations for a prior, more general EIR, and then avoid
future political accountability by approving later, more specific projects
with significant unavoidable impacts pursuant to the prior EIR and
statement of overriding considerations. Even though a prior EIR' s analysis
of environmental effects may be subject to being incorporated in a later
EIR for a later, more specific project, the responsible public officials must
still go on the record and explain specifically why they are approving the
later project despite its significant unavoidable impacts.

Communities for a Better Env' t v. California Res. Agency, 103 Cal. App. 4th 98, 124- 25,
126 Cal. Rptr. 2d 441 ( 2002), as modified ( Nov. 21, 2002), and disapproved of on other

grounds by Berkeley Hillside Pres. v. City of Berkeley, 60 Cal. 4th 1086, 343 P. 3d 834
2015).

763



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

The same reasoning applies to the implementation of Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3

and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183. The Project, based on its reliance on the 2022

General Plan Update EIR, will have cumulative impacts on agricultural resources, air
quality, greenhouse gas emissions, and traffic noise. Although sections 21083 and
15183 provide for streamlining of the environmental review of a subsequent project,
neither section relieves the City from its obligation to make a statement of overriding
considerations for the Project. PRC § 21081. Prior to recommending the Project and

applying the streamlining provisions, the Planning Commission should prepare a
statement of overriding considerations supported by substantial evidence and which
evaluates whether any additional feasible mitigation measures applicable to this specific
project should be required in order to address the acknowledged cumulative impacts.

c.  The Project Will Have Project-Specific Significant Effects Which
Were Not Addressed in the 2022 General Plan Update EIR.

LIUNA is concerned that a number of significant environmental impacts peculiar
to the Project were not addressed in the 2022 General Plan Update EIR. As a result,
Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3 and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183 do not apply and either a
mitigated negative declaration or EIR must be prepared to address these unanalyzed
impacts.

i.  Biological Resources

According to the 2022 General Plan EIR, the federally- listed, endangered valley
elderberry longhorn beetle ( Desmocerus californicus dimorphus) did not occur within
one- mile of the planning area. GP EIR, p. 3. 4- 15. As a result, there is no focused
discussion in the 2022 General Plan EIR on any impacts to this federally- listed species.
In general, the 2022 General Plan EIR concludes that there will be no significant
impacts to listed species from the General Plan' s implementation. GP EIR, p. 2. 4- 28 —
3. 4- 29. The valley elderberry longhorn beetle relies on a particular host plant for its
survival — the red or blue elderberry. See Biological Resources Analysis Report, p. 18.
The reconnaissance survey conducted for the Biological Resources Analysis observed
a 6- foot by 15- foot elderberry shrub on the property. Id., p. 19. The presence of that
host plant, the enhanced likelihood of the presence of the endangered valley elderberry
longhorn beetle, and the heightened risk of adverse affects on the host plant or
potentially present beetles are not addressed as a significant impact in the 2022
General Plan EIR and these effects are peculiar to the Project site. Pub. Res. Code §
21083. 3. Given these facts peculiar to the site, it " might be necessary to examine
whether there are project- specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or
its site." 14 CCR 15183.

Likewise, the observed presence of a Swainson' s hawk foraging on the project
site and nesting within 20 feet of the site also results in obvious effects peculiar to the

764



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

project site, including not only the direct loss of foraging habitat but also disturbances
from construction activities at the site and a dramatic increase in vehicles using Dos
Reis Road to access the project once it is operational. Because impacts to Swainson' s
hawks were not addressed as significant impacts in the 2022 General Plan EIR and
impact to a Swainson' s hawk is peculiar to the site, those potential impacts must be
addressed in a proper CEQA environmental review document and reliance on Pub.
Res. Code § 21083. 3 and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183 is inappropriate.

Given the very limited reconnaissance- level survey performed on a single day at
the Project site on May 5, 2021, LIUNA is concerned that there are numerous other
listed and sensitive species foraging or located at the Project site. No effort has been
made to determine the current presence of burrowing owls at the site. The past
presence of red- tailed hawks and white- tailed kites foraging at the site also excludes the
proposed streamlining exemption. A current and more robust survey of the Project site
is necessary for the City to make any decision on these potential impacts based on
substantial evidence.

In addition, the 2022 General Plan EIR does not identify the significant potential
impact of the Project's thousands of trucks and car trips on wildlife from vehicle
collisions with wildlife. This impact is peculiar to the Project given its proposed 2, 798
daily passenger vehicle trips and 680 daily truck trips which will lead to wildlife collisions
in the vicinity of the Project. Because this project-specific direct and cumulative effect
was not addressed at all in the 2022 General Plan EIR, it must be addressed in an EIR
or potentially a mitigated negative declaration for the Project. See PRC § 21083. 3( c)

Nothing in this section affects any requirement to analyze potentially significant offsite
impacts and cumulative impacts of the project not discussed in the prior environmental
impact report with respect to the general plan").

ii.  Energy

The 2022 General Plan EIR' s discussion of the General Plan' s energy impacts
boils down to stating that by complying with California' s Building Energy Efficiency
Standards (" CalGreen"), promoting the use of renewable energy sources and
encouraging public transportation and bicycle use, and the fact that PG& E will generally
make progress on adding new renewable energy sources to its portfolio, projects within
the planning area will not have energy impacts. GP EIR, p. 3. 7- 41 — 3. 7- 42. The

Environmental Checklist focuses on the Ashley Furniture ProjecYs compliance with
CalGreen and PG& E' s long- term efforts. Env' t Checklist, p. 66. None of these
considerations address the energy effects that are peculiar to a 1. 4 million square feet
furniture distribution and retail center.

The standard under CEQA is whether the Project would result in wasteful,
inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources. Failing to undertake " an
investigation into renewable energy options that might be available or appropriate for a

765



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

project" violates CEQA. California Clean Energy Committee v. City of Woodland (2014)
225 Cal. App. 4th 173, 213. Energy conservation under CEQA is defined as the " wise
and efficient use of energy." CEQA Guidelines, app. F, § I. The " wise and efficient use

of energy" is achieved by "( 1) decreasing overall per capita energy consumption, ( 2)

decreasing reliance on fossil fuels such as coal, natural gas and oil, and ( 3) increasing
reliance on renewable energy resources." Id.

Noting compliance with the California Building Energy Efficiency Standards
Cal. Code Regs., tit. 24, part 6 ( Title 24) does not constitute an adequate analysis of

energy impacts. Ukiah Citizens for Safety First v. City of Ukiah ( 2016) 248 Cal.App. 4th
256, 264- 65. Similarly, the court in City of Woodland held unlawful an energy analysis
that relied on compliance with Title 24, that failed to assess transportation energy
impacts, and that failed to address renewable energy impacts. California Clean Energy
Committee v. City of Woodland, 225 Cal.App.4th 173, 209- 13. As such, the General
Plan EIR' s reliance on Title 24 compliance does not address the proposed furniture
warehouse Project' s energy impacts. The energy effects of the Project are, by definition,
peculiar to the Project. Given the vast expanse of roofing provided by the proposed
Project, any evaluation of its energy impacts cannot ignore the obvious feasibility of an
array of solar panels on the roof or covering the extensive parking proposed at the site.
Energy efficiency, in the context of the Proposed project and site would require the
consideration and implementation of sufficient solar panels to meet all of the Project' s
direct electricity demand, as well as solar power that would offset the considerable GHG
and other air pollution emissions that will result from the thousands of trucks and cars
driving to and from the Project every day once iYs operational.

The Environmental Checklist contains no discussion of the project's cost
effectiveness in terms of energy requirements. There is no discussion of ene gy
consuming equipment and processes that will be used during the construction or
operation of the project. The project' s energy use efficiencies by amount and fuel type
for each stage of the project including construction and operation were not identified.
The effect of the project on peak and base period demands for electricity has not been
addressed. As such, the Environmental Checklist' s conclusions are unsupported by the
necessary discussions of the Project' s energy impacts under CEQA. An EIR or possibly
a mitigated negative declaration must be prepared to assess these impacts.

iii.  Greenhouse Gases and Air Quality.

The 2022 General Plan EIR did not project air pollution emissions for any given
project that would be allowed by the plan. Instead, it identifies the implementation
measure in the General Plan that the City "[ review development, infrastructure, and

planning projects for consistency with SJVAPCD requirements during the CEQA review
process." GP EIR, p. 3. 3- 35 ( RR- 6a). The General Plan and the EIR go on to further
require that:

766



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

Require project applicants to prepare air quality analyses to address
SJVAPCD and General Plan requirements, which include analysis and
identification of:

A. Air pollutant emissions associated with the project during construction,
project operation, and cumulative conditions.
B. Potential exposure of sensitive receptors to toxic air contaminants.

C. Significant air quality impacts associated with the project for
construction, project operation, and cumulative conditions.
D. Mitigation measures to reduce significant impacts to less than
significant or the maximum extent feasible where impacts cannot be
mitigated to less than significant.

Id. Although the Environmental Checklist purports to describe these evaluation
efforts, the Checklist does not provide any of the input files for the air pollution
modeling conducted for the proposed Project. Only the output files are provided.
Environmental Checklist, Attachment I, p. 162. Given the size of the warehouse
and the number of expected daily truck trips, LIUNA is skeptical that the
emissions forecasts identified for its construction and operation can be
substantiated. Before making a recommendation to the Council, the Planning
Commission should require staff and the applicant to share their input files for the
CaIEEMod modeling in order for the public to be able to assess the accuracy of
the model outputs and whether or not the Project' s may have a significant effect
on air quality and GHG emissions and the extent of necessary mitigation
measures as required by the General Plan.

IV.      CONCLUSION

In light of the above comments, the City must prepare an EIR or, if appropriate, a
mitigated negative declaration for the Project. LIUNA reserves its right to submit
additional comments and evidence for any subsequent Planning Commission hearing or
the City Council' s consideration of the Project. Thank you for considering these
comments.

Sincerely,

7y,,, r  /    f  s V..

y. Jy p:.'
z".- CG,t` t"    .... s'  "... r'' 2'"C_,C—i'

f f

Michael R. Lozeau

LOZEAU DRURY LLP

767



YT H Ii `  I 3   -

r' i!

P T 510. 836.42Q0 1939 Narrisan Street, Ste. 150 wwwJozeaudrury. com

a+°  r
F 510. 835. 4205    '    Oakiand, CA 94612 brian'" talozeaudrury. com

d.S u;.°

a:      u
6

ro a st,yr..

BY E- MAIL

October 6, 2023

Lathrop City Council Teresa Vargas, MMC

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor City Clerk
Paul Akinjo, Vice Mayor 390 Towne Centre Drive

Minnie Diallo, Councilmember Lathrop, CA 95330
Diane Lazard, Councilmember website_ cco@ci. lathrop. ca. us
Jennifer Torres- O' Callaghan, Councilmember

390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, California
website_ cco@ci. lathrop. ca. us

Re:     Comment on Ashley Furniture Project( CUP- 23- 08; SPR 23- 09)
City Council Agenda Item No. 5. 3

Dear Mayor Dhaliwal, Vice Mayor Akinjo, and Honorable Councilmembers:

I am writing on behalf of Laborers' International Union of North America, Local Union
No. 73 (" LIUNA") regarding the Ashley Furniture Project (" Project") proposed to be located at
the northwest corner of Dos Reis Rd and Manthey Road. The Planning Commission voted to
recommend that the City Council find that the project is exempt from the California
Environmental Quality Act(" CEQA") pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15183 ( 14 CCR §
15183) and Public Resources Code (" PRC") section 21083. 3. However, after reviewing the

Environmental Checklist prepared for the Project and the 2022 General Plan Update EIR that the
Project relies upon, we conclude that the Project does not meet the requirements for an
exemption under CEQA Guideline § 15l 83 and PRC § 21083. 3. As such, LIUNA respectfully

requests that the City Council refrain from approving the Project until the Project undergoes
environmental review under CEQA.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

The Project proposes to construct and operate a 1, 486, 607 square foot industrial building
including a mix of retail, office/ call center, and warehouse and distribution uses. About 110, 000
square feet would be dedicated to retail use, 24,000 square feet to office and call- center uses, and
1, 352, 347 square feet to warehouse and distribution center uses.

The Project proposes to construct approximately 2, 046 parking spaces throughout the
development site, with 942 spaces for passenger vehicles and 1, 104 spaces for truck trailer

768



LIUNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 53 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 2 of 12

parking. The Project expects to generate 2, 798 daily passenger vehicle trips, including 203 a. m.
peak hour trips ( 124 inbound, 79 outbound) and 255 p. m. peak hour trips ( 110 inbound, 145
outbound) for passenger vehicles. Another 680 daily truck trips also are expected, including 95
a. m. peak hour trips and 45 p. m. peak hour trips.

The Project site is located within the Central Lathrop Specific Plan (" CLSP") Phase 2

area, which was approved by the City in 2004. In 2022, the City certified an environmental
impact report (" EIR") for the City' s 2022 General Plan Update (" 2022 GP EIR"), which changed

the land use designations in the CLSP Phase 2 area from Residential/ Commercial to Limited

Industrial. An Environmental Checklist was prepared for the Project to evaluate consistency with
the 2022 GP EIR.

On September 13, 2023, the Planning Commission voted to recommend that the City
Council approve the Project conditional use permit (CUP-23- 08) and site plan review ( SPR-23-
09) and find that the Project is exempt from further environmental review under Public
Resources Code section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines section 15183 because the Project would

not result in any impacts beyond those addressed in the 2022 GP EIR. Prior to the Planning
Commission meeting, LILTNA submitted a written comment attached hereto as Exhibit C and
incorporated by reference.

LEGALSTANDARD

To achieve its objectives of environmental protection, CEQA has a three- tiered structure.
Committee to Save the Hollywoodland Specific Plan v. City of Los Angeles ( 2008) 161

Cal. App.4th 1168, 1185- 86 ( Hollywoodlanc [ citing 14 CCR § 15002( k)].). First, if a project
falls into an exempt category, or it can be seen with certainty that the activity in question will not
have a significant effect on the environment, no further agency evaluation is required. ( Id. at

1185.) Second, if there is a possibility the project will have a significant effect on the
environment, the agency must perform an initial threshold study and may issue a negative
declaration if the study indicates no significant impacts. ( Id. at 1185- 86; see also 14 CCR §§
15063( b)( 2), 15070.) Finally, if the project will have a significant effect on the environment, an
environmental impact report(" EIR") is required. ( Hollywoodland, supra, 161 CaLApp. 4th at
1186.)

Here, the Planning Commission recommended that the City Council find the Project
exempt from CEQA under CEQA Guidelines section 15183 (" Section 15183"), which, for

projects " which are consistent with the development density established by existing zoning,
community plan, or general plan policies for which an EIR was certified," does not require

additional environmental review for such projects " except as might be necessary to examine
whether there are project- specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or its site."
14 CCR § 15183( a).)

The purpose of Section 15183 is to streamline CEQA review and relieves the City of the
obligation to prepare an EIR if a qualifying project' s impacts "[ are] not peculiar to the parcel or

769



LILTNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 3 of 12

to the project, [ have] been addressed as a significant effect in the prior EIR, or can be
substantially mitigated by the imposition of uniformly applied development policies or
standards." ( 14 CCR § 15183 ( c).) Section 15183 further explains,

An effect of a project on the environment shall not be considered peculiar to the
project or the parcel for the purposes of this section if uniformly applied
development policies or standards have been previously adopted by the city or
county with a finding that the development policies or standards will substantially
mitigate that environmental effect when applied to future projects,  unless

substantial new information shows that the policies or standards will not
substantially mitigate the environmental effect.

14 CCR § 15183(.) A city' s decision to utilize Section 15183 is governed by the substantial
evidence standard of review. ( Lucas v. Ciry ofPomona ( 2023) 92 Cal. App.Sth 508, 538.)

DISCUSSION

I.       The Project Is Not Exempt from CEQA Under Section 15183 Due to Unmitigated,
Project- Specific Impacts to Biological Resources.

LIUNA retained wildlife biology expert Dr. Shawn Smallwood, Ph. D., who conducted a
site visit and reviewed the Project' s documentation, including the Environmental Checklist and
the Biological Resources Analysis Report prepared by Olberding Environmental, Inc. dated May
2021 (` Biological Report"). Dr. Smallwood found the Project would result in significant,

unmitigated impacts to multiple special- status species of wildlife. Dr. Smallwood' s comment and
CV are attached as Exhibit A.

A.       The Project' s Biological Report underestimates the diversity of species using
the Project site.

Dr. Smallwood conducted a site visit to the Project site for approximately 2. 5 hours on
September 21, 2023. ( Ex. A, p. l.) During those visits, Dr. Smallwood " detected 35 species of
vertebrate wildlife, including 10 special- status species," including Swainson' s hawk, which is
listed as a threatened species in California, and loggerhead shrike, a California Species of Special
Concern priority level 2. ( Id. at pp. 3- 4.) Dr. Smallwood estimates that with additional surveys, a

total of 178 species would be detected at the Project site, of which 51 would be special- status
species. ( Id., p. 9.) Based on his site visit and projections, Dr. Smallwood concluded that"[ m] ore

surveys are needed" and " the species richness at the site relative to its level of disturbance is

peculiar to the site." ( Id., p. 10.)

B.       The Project' s Biological Report fails to accurately characterize the existing

environmental setting.

Dr. Smallwood found that the Project' s Biological Report failed " to accurately

770



LItJNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project

City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 4 of 12

characterize the existing environmental setting, including the biological species that use the site,
their relative abundances, how they use the site, key ecological relationships, and known and
ongoing threats to those species with special status." ( Ex. A, p. 10.) He explains that an accurate

characterization of the environmental setting typically relies on two factors: ( 1) field surveys and

2) reviews of literature and databases. ( Id.) For this Project, " these needed steps were grossly
inadequate." ( Id.)

First, the Biological Report' s field survey lacked critical information, including the time
of day of the survey or the duration of the survey, and did not meet the minimum standards for
surveys of plants ( Ex. A, p. 11.) Further, the Biological Report' s survey only detected 6 species
of vertebrate wildlife at the Project site, which is that number that Dr. Smallwood detected in his
first two minutes on the Project site on September 21, 2023. ( Id.) The survey also only detected
3 special- status species, whereas Dr. Smallwood detected 10. ( Id.) Additionally, the Biological
Report' s survey made no mention of the great horned owl pellets, kangaroo rat and Botta' s
pocket gopher burrow systems, or birds smaller than a white- tailed kite as were observed by Dr.
Smallwood. ( Id.) The Biological Report had no surveys for bats or several special- status species
known to occur in the area, including burrowing owl and Swainson' s hawk. ( Id.)

Second, the Biological Report' s review of available wildlife databases was inadequate.
Ex. A, pp. 12- 13.) The Biological Report relied solely on the California Natural Diversity Data

Base (" CNDDB") to determine which species have potential to occur in the project area. The
Bio(ogical Report did not consult other known databases, such as iNaturalist or eBird. When
searching CNDDB, the Biological Report only searched for species with documented
occurrences within the nearest CNDDB quadrangles, which " screens out many special- status
species from further consideration in the characterization of the wildlife community as part of the
baseline environmental setting." ( Id., p. 12.) Furthermore, " CNDDB is not designed to support

absence determinations or to screen out species from characterization of a site' s wildlife

community." ( Id.) Based on available databases and site visits, Dr. Smallwood estimates that
107 special- status species of wildlife are known to occur near enough to the site to warrant

analysis of occurrence potential." ( Id., p. 20.)

Third, the Biological Report improperly assumed that the Project site' s lack of nesting
habitat means that development of the Project would not cause impacts to wildlife species.
However, as Dr. SmaLlwood explains,

T] here is no sound scientific distinction between nesting habitat and some other
characterization of habitat. For any given species, the environment of a site is either
habitat or it is not, as habitat is defined as that part of the environment that is used
by a species. . . . Certain portions of a species' habitat may provide nesting

opportunities, but all parts of its habitat are critical to the nesting success of
members of the species. If an animal cannot find sufficient forage and cover during
non- nesting season or at portions of its habitat where it does not normally nest, then
it might not survive to reproduce or its nesting attempt might not succeed. [ The

Biological Report] asserts a false distinction of the value of a site based on whether

771



LILJNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 5 of 12

the species nests on- site.

Ex. A, p. 19.) By limiting habitat to only nesting habitat, the Biological Report underestimates
the value of the Project site and the impacts to species that may occur. For example, the
Biological Report claimed that loggerhead shrike have a low likelihood of occurrence on the
Project site due to lack of trees and shrubs needed for nesting. However, Dr. Smallwood
observed a loggerhead shrike foraging on the Project site during his site visit. This is just one
example of how the Biological Report misjudged the occurrence likelihood of the many special-
status species discussed in the Biological Report as well as the potential wildlife impacts peculiar
to this specific site.

C. The Biological Report failed to adequately analyze and mitigate the
Project' s biological impacts due to habitat loss, wildlife movement, and
vehicle collisions.

Dr. Smallwood found that the Biological Report and Environmental Checklist failed to
address numerous potentially significant impacts that the Project may have on biological
resources, including habitat loss, wildlife movement, collision mortality due to Project- generated
traffic, and cumulative impacts. ( Ex. A, pp. 18- 25.)

1.       Habitat Loss and Fragmentation

Dr. Smallwood warns that "[ t] he project would destroy 89. 92 acres of habitat to every
species of wildlife that makes use of the project site." ( Ex. A, p. 20.) Dr. Smallwood predicts that
development of the Project would result in the loss of 191 bird nest sites and a lost breeding

capacity of 630 birds per year. ( Id., pp. 20- 21.) Dr. Smallwood concludes that this impact is

significant. ( Id.)

2.       Wildlife Movement

The Biological Report provided a" flawed and misleading" analysis of the Project' s
impact on wildlife movement. ( Ex. A, p. 21.) According to the Environmental Checklist, the
Biological Report" included a CNDDB record search that did not reveal any documented
wildlife corridors or wildlife nursery sites on or adjacent to warehouse site." However, as Dr.

Smallwood explains, " CNDDB is not where an analyst would find information relevant to

whether a site is important to wildlife movement. . . . . In effect, there is no analysis of whether

the project would interfere with wildlife movement." ( Id.)

The Environmental Checklist also claims that the Project' s impacts on wildlife movement

were adequately addressed in the 2022 GP EIR. However, the 2022 GP EIR only focused on the
San Joaquin River as a wildlife corridor. As such, "[ t] he General Plan EIR implies the premise
that interference with wildlife movement in the region can result only from a project' s disruption
of the function of a wildlife movement corridor." ( Ex. A, p. 21.) This is not the proper standard
under CEQA. Rather, CEQA requires an analysis of impacts to wildlife movement" regardless of

772



LILINA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 53 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 6 of 12

whether the movement is channeled by a corridor. A site such as the project site is critically
important for wildlife movement because it composes an increasingly diminishing area of open
space within a growing expanse of anthropogenic uses, forcing more species of volant wildlife to
use the site for stopover and staging during migration, dispersal, and home range patrol." ( Id.)

By ignoring this standard, the Biological Report has failed to adequately and mitigate the
Project' s impacts on wildlife movement disruptions that are unique to the Project site.

3.       Vehicle Collisions

The Biological Report and 2022 GP EIR failed to analyze wildlife mortality and injuries
caused by Project- generated traffic. ( Ex. A, pp. 22- 24.) Dr. Smallwood estimates that the Project

would result in 6, 151 vertebrate deaths annually due to collisions with Project- generated traffic.
Id., pp. 24.) Especially due to the special- status species likely to occur at or near the Project,

these collisions represent a significant impact to wildlife that has not been addressed, discussed,
or mitigated by the Environmental Checklist or 2022 GP EIR. But for the Project, these
additional wildlife collisions would not occur.

4.       Cumulative Impacts

The Environmental Checklist concludes that cumulative impacts to biological resources
were addressed in the 2022 GP EIR, which relies on the San Joaquin Multi- Species Habitat
Conservation Plan (" SJMSCP") to prevent significant cumulative impacts. However, as
discussed in greater detail below, the SJMSCP has failed at conserving wildlife species and
cannot be relied upon to conclude that cumulative impacts will be less than significant. ( Ex. A,

PP. 24- 25.)

D.      The Project cannot rely on the SJMSCP to mitigate the Project' s impacts to
biological resources.

To mitigate the project' s impacts to biological resources, the Environmental Checklist
requires compliance with the SJMSCP, as required by the 2020 General Plan. ( Envt. Checklist,

p. 55.) However, as Dr. Smallwood explains, the SJMSCP cannot be relied upon to mitigate the

Project' s impacts "[ d] ue to grossly deficient implementation and due to poor performance of the
SJMSCP." ( Ex. A, p. 25.) Dr. Smallwood identified several shortcomings of the SJMSCP, as

discussed below.

First, the majority of special- status species likely to occur at the Project site are not
covered by the SJMSCP. ( Ex. A, p. 26.) As a result, " the SJMSCP insufficiently covers special-
status species that would be adversely affected by the project." ( Id.) The reason that so many

species are not covered by the SJMSCP is that more and more species have been designated as
special- status" since adoption of the SJMSCP. The SJMSCP does not provide any protection for

those species.

Second, the SJMSCP requires protocol- level detection surveys. ( Ex. A, p. 26.) Yet, no

773



LIUNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 7 of 12

such surveys have been conducted on the Project site. ( Id.) Detection surveys must be conducted,

especially for burrowing owl and Swainson' s hawk, to properly comply with the SJMSCP.

Third, Dr. Smallwood conducted an in- depth review of the SJMSCP and found that, to
date, the SJMSCP has utterly failed at conserving special status- species. ( Ex. A, pp. 26- 33.) To

conduct his analysis, Dr. Smallwood reviewed the SJMSCP' s Annual Reports published since
2008. As an initial matter, he found that the Annual Reports had flaws with study design,

deficient implementation, and poor reporting, including inconsistent naming of preserve areas, a
failure to conduct any trend analysis, and a failure to report survey methods including time,
duration, or standards. ( Id., pp. 27- 28.) Dr. Smallwood' s review of the Annual Reports revealed

several unsettling trends demonstrating the SJMSCP' s failure to conserve species, including a
decline in Swainson' s hawk detections ( id., p. 29), a decline in detections of species covered by
the SJMSCP ( id., p. 30), a decline in detections of all species ( id.), a decline in the productivity
of Swainson' s hawk ( id., p. 32), and a decline in the number of acres surveyed ( id., p. 33). Based

on this analysis, Dr. Smallwood concludes that"[ t] he SJMSCP has failed in its implementation,

and it has proven ineffective at conserving its covered species; it should not be used to mitigate
impacts to wildlife that occur on the project site. ( Id.)

Although Section 15183 exempts project from further CEQA review where project-
specific impacts can be mitigated by uniformly applied development policies or standards ( such
as the SJMSCP), the exemption does not apply if" new information shows that the policies or
standards will not substantially mitigate the environmental effect." ( 14 CCR § 15183( fj.) Here,

Dr. Smallwood' s analysis of the SJHSCP' s Annual Records presents new information showing
that the SJMSCP has failed to substantially mitigate impacts to wildlife and, therefore, cannot
substantially mitigate the Project' s impacts. As a result, the City' s reliance on Section 15183 is
misplaced.

E.       The additional mitigation measures required for the Project' s impacts to
biological resources are inadequate and render the Project ineligible for an

exemption under Section 15183.

In addition to compliance with the SJMSCP, the Project is required to adopt the

mitigation recommendations identified in the Biological Report, which include preconstruction
surveys for reptiles, birds, and burrowing owls. ( Envt' 1 Checklist, pp. 52- 54.) The need for these

additional mitigation measures is proof in and of itself that the Project will result in Project-
specific impacts that have not been adequately addressed or mitigated by the 2022 GP EIR.
Section 15183 exempts projects with project- specific impacts only where those impacts " can be
substantially mitigated by the imposition of uniformly applied development policies or
standards." ( 14 CCR § 5183( c).) The preconstruction surveys required for this Project are not
uniformly applied policies or standards. Rather, they are specific mitigation measures taken from

The data utilized in Dr. Smallwood' s evaluation of the SJMSCP is available at:
https•// www dropbox com/ scUfo/ mzkfrnz0ut 7 d6oldk b/ h? rlkev=zkfl5bmetrp0 95u9mi7kxtc3

d1= 0

774



LILINA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 53 (October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 8 of 12

the Biological Report specifically designed to mitigate this Project' s peculiar impacts to wildlife
that are not addressed in the 2022 GP EIR. As a result, the Project does not qualify for an
exemption under Section 15183 and further CEQA analysis is required for the Project.

Moreover, as Dr. Smallwood explains, pre- construction surveys are inadequate to
mitigate the Project' s impacts. ( Ex. A, pp. 33- 35.) Rather, protocol- level detection surveys are
necessary because detection surveys have a much greater probability of detection than pre-
construction- surveys. ( Id., p. 33.) Dr. Smallwood explains that"[ b] irds are highly skilled at

hiding their nests" and"[ l] oggerhead shrikes and burrowing owls, as examples, make efforts to
fool human observers into thinking the birds' nests are located where they are not." ( Id. p. 34.)
As a result, "[ 1] ocating nest sites of these species and most others requires multiple surveys over
long time periods . . . This is why the breeding- season survey protocols require multiple surveys
spaced through much of the breeding season." ( Id.) Furthermore, even with pre- construction
surveys, impacts to wildlife would not be reduced to less- than- significant levels because such
surveys do nothing to mitigate the additional impacts identified by Dr. Smallwood, including
breeding capacity and habitat fragmentation. ( Id.) Therefore, the Project will result in Project-
specific impacts to biological resources that remain significant and unmitigated.

II.       The Analysis of the Project' s Impacts to Human Health from Emissions of Toxic Air
Contaminants Is Inadequate.

For warehouses and distribution centers within 1, 000 feet of planned residential uses or
other sensitive receptors, the 2022 General Plan requires " requires the preparation of a Health
Risk Assessment(" HRA") that meets the standards established by the Office of Environmental
Health Hazard Assessment (" OEHHA"), and the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control
District(" SJVAPCD"). ( 2022 GP, p. 3. 3- 31 [ LU- Sc].) The General Plan prohibits approval of
such a project" until it can be demonstrated that the project would not result in an exceedance of
the established thresholds of significance for public health risks at nearby sensitive receptors."
Id.)

Here, there are numerous sensitive receptors within 1, 000 feet of the Project, including
clusters of residences 320 feet, 400 feet, and 940 feet away and a single residence 820 feet away
Envt' I Checklist, p. 43.) According to the Environmental Checklist, an HRA was conducted and

found that the Project' s increased cancer risk from emissions of diesel particulate matter
DPM") would not exceed SJVAPCD' s significance threshold of 20 in one million. ( Id., pp. 44-

45.) LILJNA retained air quality experts Matt Hagemann, P. G., C. Hg., and Paul E. Rosenfeld,
Ph. D., ofthe Soil/ Water/ Air Protection Enterprise (" SWAPE") to review the HRA. SWAPE

found that HRA did not comply with the standards established by OEHHA and, as a result, the
Project' s impacts had not been adequately evaluated. SWAPE' s comment and CVs are attached
as Exhibit B.

First, SWAPE notes that the Checklist failed to provide the exposure assumptions for the
HRA, such as the age sensitivity factors (" ASF") or fraction of time at home (" FAH") values,

and, as a result, the HRA may underestimate the Project' s increased cancer risk. ( Ex. B, p. 2.)

775



LILINA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 9 of 12

Additionally, the Checklist failed to provide the dose and risk equation used to calculate the
Project' s cancer risks. ( Id.) Without providing this equation, there is no way to verify that the
HRA utilized the proper equation recommended by OEHHA. ( Id.)

Second, even though the 2022 General Plan requires that the HRA meet the standards

established by OEHHA, the HRA prepared for the Project failed to do so because it only
analyzed the Project' s operational cancer risks but completely ignored the Project' s
construction- related cancer risks. According to OEHHA, the cancer risk of all short- term
projects lasting at least 2 months should be assessed and projects lasting more than 6 months
should be evaluated for the duration of the project. ( Ex. B, p. 3.) Because construction of the

Project will surely last at least 2 months ( and may exceed six months), the HRA should have
included construction- related emissions in addition to operational emissions. The HRA further

conflicts with OEHHA guidance by failing to evaluate the lifetime cancer risk to nearby
receptors as a result of Project construction and operation combined. ( Id.)

Due to these shortcomings, the HRA does not comply with OEHHA standards as

required by the 2022 General Plan and underestimates the Project' s cancer risks. As a result, the
City lacks substantial evidence to conclude that the Project will not result in specific health
impacts. Furthermore, the City lacks substantial evidence to conclude that the Project' s impacts
were addressed in the 2022 GP E[ R since the 2022 General Plan required compliance with
OEHHA standards, which the Project' s HRA did not do. The HRA must be updated prior to any
approval of the Project.

III.      The Analysis of the Project' s Energy Impacts Is Inadequate.

The 2022 GP EIR' s discussion of the General Plan' s energy impacts boils down to stating
that by complying with California' s Building Energy Efficiency Standards (" CalGreen"),

promoting the use of renewable energy sources and encouraging public transportation and
bicycle use, and the fact that PG& E will generally make progress on adding new renewable
energy sources to its portfolio, projects within the planning area will not have energy impacts.
2022 GP EIR, pp. 3. 7- 41 to 3. 7- 42.) The Environmental Checklist focuses on the Ashley

Furniture Project' s compliance with CalGreen and PG& E' s long- term efforts. ( Env' t Checklist,

p. 66.) None of these considerations address the energy effects that are peculiar to a 1. 4 million
square feet furniture distribution and retail center.

The standard under CEQA is whether the Project would result in wasteful, inefficient, or

unnecessary consumption of energy resources. Failing to undertake " an investigation into
renewable energy options that might be available or appropriate for a project" violates CEQA.
California Clean Ener Committee v. City of Woodland( 2014) 225 CaLApp. 4th 173, 213.)

Energy conservation under CEQA is defined as the " wise and efficient use of energy." ( CEQA

Guidelines, app. F, § I.) The " wise and efficient use of energy" is achieved by "( 1) decreasing
overall per capita energy consumption, ( 2) decreasing reliance on fossil fuels such as coal,
natural gas and oil, and ( 3) increasing reliance on renewable energy resources." ( Id.)

776



LIUNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 10 of 12

Noting compliance with the California Building Energy Efficiency Standards ( Cal. Code
Regs., tit. 24, part 6 ( Title 24)) does not constitute an adequate analysis of energy impacts.
Ukiah Citizens for Safery First v. Ciry of Ukiah ( 2016) 248 CaLApp. 4th 256, 264- 65.) Similarly,

the court in City of Woodland held unlawful an energy analysis that relied on compliance with
Title 24, that failed to assess transportation energy impacts, and that failed to address renewable
energy impacts. ( California Clean Energy Gommittee v. City of Woodland, 225 Cal.App.4th 173,
209- 13.) As such, the General Plan EIR' s reliance on Title 24 compliance does not address the

proposed furniture warehouse Project' s energy impacts. The energy effects of the Project are, by
definition, peculiar to the Project. Given the vast expanse of roofing provided by the proposed
Project, any evaluation of its energy impacts cannot ignore the obvious feasibility of an array of
solar panels on the roof or covering the extensive parking proposed at the site. Energy efficiency,
in the context of the Proposed project and site would require the consideration and
implementation of sufficient solar panels to meet all of the Project' s direct electricity demand, as
well as solar power that would offset the considerable GHG and other air pollution emissions
that will result from the thousands of trucks and cars driving to and from the Project every day
once it' s operational.

The Environmental Checklist contains no discussion of the project' s cost effectiveness in
terms of energy requirements. There is no discussion of energy consuming equipment and
processes that will be used during the construction or operation of the project. The project' s
energy use efficiencies by amount and fuel type for each stage of the project including
construction and operation were not identified. The effect of the project on peak and base period
demands for electricity has not been addressed. As such, the Environmental Checklist' s
conclusions are unsupported by the necessary discussions of the Project' s energy impacts under
CEQA and the City lacks substantial evidence to exempt the Project under Section 15183.

IV.     The City Must Prepare a Statement of Overriding Considerations.

The 2022 General Plan Update concluded that several of the impacts identified as a result

of the General Plan Update project were significant and unavoidable. These impacts included
agricultural resources, air quality, greenhouse gas, and traffic noise impacts. In the
Environmental Checklist prepared for the Project, the City acknowledges these significant and
unavoidable impacts, but states that:

Impacts from buildout of the General Plan including cumulative impacts
associated with development and buildout of the CLSP Phase 2 plan area and the

warehouse Project site, as proposed, were fully addressed in the General Plan EIR
State Clearinghouse No. 2021100139), and implementation of the proposed

project would not result in any new or altered impacts beyond those addressed in
the General Plan EIR.

Envt' l Checklist, p. 13.) Similar statements are repeated for each of the specific

unavoidable significant impacts. This conclusion does not, however, address all of the

City' s obligations to grapple with acknowledged significant and unavoidable cumulative

777



LILINA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 11 of 12

impacts.

In the case of Communitiesfor a Better Environment v. Cal. Resources Agency, the court
of appeal held that, although tiering may allow a later project to rely on the environmental
analysis contained in a prior program- level EIR, that procedure does not relieve the agency of
acknowledging the significant and unavoidable impacts and reconsidering its statement of
overriding considerations. As the Court explained:

The section appears to allow an agency, in approving a later project that has
significant unavoidable impacts, to forego making a statement of overriding
considerations specifically tied to that project. This is contrary to CEQA law.
CEQA section 21094, subdivision ( d) requires agencies that approve a later project
to comply with CEQA section 21081. Under CEQA section 21081, an agency

approving a project with significant environmental effects must find that each effect
will be mitigated or avoided, or " that specific overriding economic, legal, social,
technological, or other benefits of the project outweigh the ... effect[] ...." The

requirement of a statement of overriding considerations is central to CEQA' s role
as a public accountability statute;  it requires public officials,  in approving

environmentally detrimental projects,  to justify their decisions based on

counterbalancing social, economic or other benefits, and to point to substantial
evidence in support. Under Guidelines section 15152(( 3)( C), however, an agency

apparently could adopt one statement of overriding considerations for a prior, more
general EIR, and then avoid future political accountability by approving later, more
specific projects with significant unavoidable impacts pursuant to the prior EIR and
statement of overriding considerations. Even though a prior EIR' s analysis of
environmental effects may be subject to being incorporated in a later EIR for a later,
more specific project, the responsible public officials must still go on the record
and explain specifically why they are approving the later project despite its
significant unavoidable impacts.

Communities for a Better Env' t v. California Res. Agency( 2002) 103 Cal. App.4th 98, 124- 25.).

The same reasoning applies to the implementation of Section 15183. The Project, based
on its reliance on the 2022 GP EIR, will have cumulative impacts on agricultural resources, air

quality, greenhouse gas emissions, and traffic noise. Although sections 21083 and 15183 provide
for streamlining of the environmental review of a subsequent project, neither section relieves the
City from its obligation to make a statement of overriding considerations for the Project. ( PRC §

21081.) Thus, the City must prepare a statement of overriding considerations— supported by

substantial evidence and evaluating whether any additional feasible mitigation measures
applicable to this specific project— prior to approval of the Project.

CONCLUSION

In light of the above the Project does not qualify for an exemption from CEQA under

778



LILJNA Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City Council Agenda Item 5. 3 ( October 9, 2023)
October 6, 2023

Page 12 of 12

Section 15183 and, the City must prepare an EIR or, if appropriate, a mitigated negative
declaration for the Project prior to approval.

Sincerely,

1/'

Brian B. Flynn

LOZEAU DRURY LLP

779



780



Shawn Smallwood, PhD

3io8 Finch Street
Davis, CA 956 6

Attn: Rick Caguiat, Director of Community Development
The City of Lathrop
390 Towne Centre Dr
Lathrop, CA 9533o i October 2023

RE: Ashley Warehouse Project

Dear Mr. Caguiat,

I write to comment on potential impacts to biological resources that could result from
the Ashley Warehouse Project. I reviewed an Environmental Checklist prepared for the
Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 Update, and Ashley Warehouse Project,
and a biological resources assessment prepared by Olberding ( 2021). I understand the

project would construct a i,486, 60 square- foot building up to 6o feet in height and 943
vehicle spaces, and , io4 trailer spaces/ stalls on 89. 92 acres of what used to be in
dryland agriculture, but which over the past decade has been unfarmed but repeatedly
disced, leaving patches of ruderal grassland unreached by the discing assembly. I am
concerned that the project would cause significant impacts to multiple special- status
species of wildlife and to wildlife in general, and that the impacts would be insufficiently
mitigated with participation in the San Joaquin County Multi-Species Habitat
Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP), which is failing to conserve its covered
species ( see below). I am concerned that exemptions per CEQA Guidelines § i5i83 do
not apply to this site nor to this project.

My qualifications for preparing expert comments are the following. I hold a Ph. D.
degree in Ecology from University of California at Davis, where I also worked as a post-
graduate researcher in the Department of Agronomy and Range Sciences. My research
has been on animal density and distribution, habitat selection, wildlife interactions with
the anthrosphere, and conservation of rare and endangered species. I authored many
papers on these and other topics. I served as Chair of the Conservation Affairs
Committee for The Wildlife Society —Western Section. I am a member of The Wildlife

Society and Raptor Research Foundation, and I've lectured part- time at California State
University, Sacramento. I was Associate Editor of wildlife biology's premier scientific
journal, The Journal of Wildlife Management, as well as of Biological Conservation, and
I was on the Editorial Board of Environmental Management. I have performed wildlife
surveys in California for thirty-seven years. My CV is attached.

SITE VISIT

I visited the site of the proposed project for 2. 55 hours from o6: 53 to 09: 26 hours on 2
September 2023. I scanned for wildlife with use of binoculars from the roads bordering
the site. I recorded all species of vertebrate wildlife I detected, including those whose
members flew over the site or were seen adjacent to the site. Animals of uncertain

l

781



species identity were either omitted or recorded to a higher taxonomic level. Weather
was sunny with no wind and 55- 65° F. The site was mostly disced, and otherwise
covered by ruderal annal grassland ( Photos i- 3).

s` 
u' :

f   {        

1

x

S+ L  ft4

y, 

5 "  '
w` K    "      

i

P 

n.
Y ,   

bc  :.,  "`.       "
A

P„?..,:.

m<^;

a.       : '     

a     i

a.k"      '`    5       Y     } a  ` La4

n  .  .     o

A

dx C a.   .
yr a

x`  
r r  r Y» a B     k, ss ht       u    

a a       `   
x a`'. ,  ' a^' n

t a
N"r' 1 fs '      

t1,    x

k ix. 

a a Nw..   *    .^      `"'
n f j,  t `. °  bg.   -       ..

A v sc.. §    t^ y. m
h c"   :. x &

k
a y c :,    a  .  x..

a    
i   ,   .    

a a       : b   

w .  v.....,,.; . 0?.. ." a..   ...   ... ,  o    ' z;  »
wm. ses< ,.. , a, ;:>'.$". w*: ,    , 05,` . s_ , ,  ,...    ,..       .., ..". m     _

Photos 1- 3. The project site on 21 September 2023, depicting at top the trees ( at left)
where Swainson' s hawks nested, at middle a raised area that could not be disced, and

at bottom a patch of elderberry on the project site' s west side.

2

782



Despite the disturbed nature of the project site, I detected 35 species of vertebrate
wildlife, including io special- status species ( Table i). On the site were at least 3
Swainson' s hawks ( Photo 4), which is a threatened species under the California

Endangered Species Act. The repeatedly landed on a nest located on the south side of
Dos Reis Road. I also found red- tailed hawks ( Photo 5) loggerhead shrikes ( Photos 6
and), lesser goldfinches, Brewer' s blackbirds and house finches ( Photos 8—io), and

California ground squirrels ( Photos ii and i2).

Table 1. S ecies o wildli e I obserued durin 2.55 hours o surue on 21 Se tember 202,3.
Common name S ecies name Status1 Notes

White- throated swift Aeronautes saxatalis Fora ed

Rock i eon Columba liuia Non- native Fora ed

Eurasian collared- dove Stre to elia decaocto Non- native Fora ed
Mournin dove Zenaida macroura Fora ed

Killdeer Charadrius uoci erus Fora ed
California ull Larus cali ornicus BCC, TWL Fl overs

Double- crested cormorant Nanno terum auriturri TWL Fl over

Sno e ret E retta thula Fl over

Turke vulture Cathartes aura BOP Fora ed

White- tailed kite Elanus leucurus CFP, BOP Called

Coo er' s hawk Acci iter coo erii TWL, BOP Harassed b kestrels

Swainson' s hawk Buteo swainsoni CT, BOP Fora ed

Red- tailed hawk Buteo ' amaicensis BOP Fora ed
Great horned owl Bubo uir inianus BOP Pellets

American kestrel Falco s arverius BOP Fora ed

Black hoebe Sa ornis ni ricans Fora ed

Sa ' s hoebe Sa ornis sa a Fora ed

Lo erhead shrike Lanius ludoutcianus SSC2 Fora ed
California scrub-' a A helocoma cali ornica Fora ed

American crow Corvus brach rh nchos Fora ed

Horned lark Eremo hila al estris Fl over
Barn swallow Hirundo rustica Fora ed

American i it Anthus rubescens Fora ed

Northern mockin bird Mimus ol lottos Fora ed

Euro ean starlin Sturnus vul aris Non- native Fora ed

House finch Haemor hous mexicanus Fora ed

Lesser oldfinch S inus saliria Fora ed

Western meadowlark Sturnella ne lecta Fora ed

Red- win ed blackbird A elaius hoeniceus Fl overs

Brewer' s blackbird Eu ha us c anoce halus Fora ed
Desert cottontail S luila us audubonii Tracks

California round s uirrel Otos ermo hilus beeche i

Co ote Canis lairans

Kan aroo rat Di odom s Burrows

Botta' s ocket o her Thomom s bottae Burrows

3

783



1 Listed as CT = California threatened, CFP = California Fully Protected ( CFG Code 35ii), SSC2 =

California Species of Special Concern priority level2, BCC = U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Bird

of Conservation Concern, T4VL= Taxa to Watch List ( Shuford and Gardali 2008), and BOP =

Birds of Prey( California Fish and Game Code 3503• 5)•

sr+ s rw

Photo 4. One ofat least three Swainson' s hawkforaging on the project site, 21
September 2023.

4

784



Photo 5. One of two red-      
tailed hawks on the

project site, 21 September
2023, although this photo
was taken of the hawk
just south of the site.

1

y  ,,     

H
d+L.," +, Y    '

d Il;  `

k   M»

M       
M

J$       
a'      5 s"''

v"

a. Y'  

Photos 6 and 7. Loggerhead shrikes on the project site, 21 September 2023. In the left
photo, a Say' s phoebe is flying in the immediate foreground.

5

785



s

1      

Y     
y.,  

f'£
F

2 w.

t,

r`uE
u j

t        

k"£

t      -;      7r n "'.     ''      

c        

J
G

Naa
3 d  . 4y

r':a a4ar

Yk. 4
y

3' " t 3 ,
i 

3 ,

w,

s, £;.(      .,
ry

i .      
t."?       ,„ 9 f

b"€ 

S     '
s/ 

s     
e   v        rF  r

x' 

4 ' 

d    
g

a 

o,         s t"#t

s 1

j      =       s r zy f, l
a,     

r,ax,a
e

r i
e  t

b Y

p

f    r    

i k

a   , y   ;. k       ak g p3 ga

r     

b i;, I x x / r;"=' :
d=, 5} 2y,'`,'{',`';,,<*,

r,,':.„,`,
w;;'",   .. a '

p A E 4, H%, ,.; ..,.,  s.,,. ' .: s," i,*, 1) 4{_..",--,,"`,""  , „ s,,, is"*. a..  ..  , , r,,,, a" r, z„ 5: i& u a"§,'.  .

Photos 8—l0. Lesser goldfinch and Brewer' s blackbird( top), and housefinches
bottom) on the project site, 21 September 202,3.

6

786



y;
M

i" k' i'

b' q`'

R\°
n. 

d"       ' l' k

F

C tY
o

Y

k

e'.

u h

a

Xa

v

b:.-   

X

Y

µ 
v    .

II   

Y rt

ol b

y...

A       ; 1N`   * 

d   *      

x

3
x. v,&.

m

a     j   ^    t  

s'          u^ s, d   e. -
c      

s ro ye  ,,`

r  

f  ' e "

a

f   
s

r      

3 '.

6'kh
9r*"          ,      :""}  v, ^-,''°

u'     fi  

k xY r' YR tvaw'  

Po'       

w   a   ay;,' f    i     ,       h  •
a%'       

a , g ?$

1" '`^"
zi dk     t

r. y4^   '   ,  e ava    r      " t'*`,`» `'    (    3
g„^`* a`   

m.;       , r s,   .';.'   '`:       ':   

xa'.       *„,^    ::,"
r     ' 3« m"..        

t,r,
k a`R",'   `"" w'    

w    '''     °

s

S. *

r'   :...       `   
v

1 s?     
y     ",    ' "

m e    jpr '"' t   d
a

a

y  .,  ''   x''  `    '`  k*    .,  ,,  '   .
A'`  ..

s... t  _ '.
a       wva: .       '<"`     h. ` x _ t 4x" m ' ;' s, w Y ,;'"_

Photo ii. Burrows ofCalifornia ground squirrel on the project site, 2i September
2023.

Photos 12. A California ground
squirrel located adjacent to the

project site, 21 September 202,3.

3s3
a S >   4 aa z c'ct 3^*;

q'

S`;` '
r   ny'•

Y   

a„'*% Y ' M'.  

j   

y F`\t L

aR e
a     

i`?``", a.

a? , r

r

v.`)t
s t

e"    ,

r        

t

4       

e  

b..`. .  ..  . h: 
i,'"

ik.

7

787



What I found at the project site qualifies as an exception to CEQA Guidelines § i5i83

regarding exemptions to additional environmental review. Considering the site' s
condition and what I have found at 55 other sites throughout California that were of
similar condition, the relatively large number of species I detected, and especially the
number of special-status species I detected, should the project go forward as proposed,
it would result in impacts peculiar to the parcel on which the project would be located.
What I found at the project site is a rate of species' detections that exceeded the 95%
confidence interval derived from similar reconnaissance surveys I completed at 55 other
sites ( Figure 1). The project site is inherently rich in wildlife, especially in special- status
species of wildlife.

50
1

Y
0. 000283+ 0. 383713( X+ 1)- osz64si

N

U

40
a

a

U

3    
O

3

a   20

Y

E
y-

C

N

10      _'    95% CI of visual-

scan surveys 2019- 2023

o Actual count of species
V Model prediction

r2= 0. 98, loss = 60. 8

0

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Minutes into survey

Figure 1. Actual( circles) and predicted( line) relationship beizueen the number of
uertebrate wildlife species detected and the elapsed survey time based on my visual-
scan surveys on 21 September 2023, and compared to the 9,5% CI of,55 surveys I
completed at sites proposed for projects throughout California that had similarly been
intensiUely and extensively disturbed in manners to suppress wildlife occurrences. The
arrow points to the place on the graph which corresponds with the time it took me to
find the same number of uertebrate wildlife species as reportedly detected by
Olberding (2021) on 5 May 2021.

8

788



My surveys provide evidence of the project site' s exceptional habitat value to wildlife,
but additional value can be inferred from my data. Reconnaissance surveys, such as the
survey I completed, can be useful for confirming presence of species that were detected,
but they can also be useful for estimating the number of species that were not detected.
One can model the pattern in species detections during a survey as a means to estimate
the number of species that used the site but were undetected during the survey. But
whereas this modeling approach is useful for more realistically representing the species
richness of the site at the time of a survey, such as in Figure , it cannot represent the

species richness throughout the year or across multiple years because many species are
seasonal or even multi- annual in their movement patterns and in their occupancy of
habitat. Multiple surveys are needed to inventory the species that make use of a site over
the period of a year or longer.

By use of an analytical bridge, a modeling effort applied to a large, robust data set from a
research site can predict the number of vertebrate wildlife species that likely make use
of the site over the longer term. As part of my research, I completed a much larger
survey effort across i6'7 km2 of annual grasslands of the Altamont Pass Wind Resource
Area, where from 20 5 through 2019 I performed 211- hour visual- scan surveys, or 2i
hours of surveys, at 46 stations. I used binoculars and otherwise the methods were the
same as the methods I and other consulting biologists use for surveys at proposed
project sites. At each of the 46 survey stations, I tallied new species detected with each
sequential survey at that station, and then related the cumulative species detected to the
hours ( number of surveys, as each survey lasted i hour) used to accumulate my counts
of species detected. I used combined quadratic and simplex methods of estimation in
Statistica to estimate least- squares, best- fit nonlinear models of the number of

cumulative species detected regressed on hours of survey( number of surveys) at the
station: R = 

1
a+ 6x( Hours)  ^'

here R represented cumulative species richness detected.

The coefficients of determination, r2, of the models ranged o. 88 to i.00, with a mean of

0• 97 95 CI:, o. 96, 0. 98); or in other words, the models were excellent fits to the data.

I projected the predictions of each model to thousands of hours to find predicted
asymptotes of wildlife species richness. The mean model- predicted asymptote of species
richness was 57 after 11, 857 hours of visual- scan surveys among the 46 stations of my
research site. I also averaged model predictions of species richness at each incremental
increase of number of surveys, i.e., number of hours ( Figure 2). On average I detected

2 species over the first 2. 55 hours of surveys at my research site in the Altamont Pass
2. 55 hours to match the 2.55 hours I surveyed at the project site), which composed

i9. 65% of the predicted total number of species I would detect with a much larger
survey effort at the research site. Given the example illustrated in Figure 2, the 35
species I detected after my 2. 55 hours of survey at the project site likely represented
19. 65% of the species to be detected after many more visual- scan surveys over another
year or longer. With many more repeat surveys through the year, I would likely detect
35

0. 1965 — 178 species of vertebrate wildlife at the site. Assuming my ratio of special-
status to non- special- status species was to hold through the detections of a111 8

predicted species, then continued surveys would eventually detect 5 special- status
species of vertebrate wildlife.

9

789



Figure 2. Mean ( 95% CI)    50

predicted wildlife species 1r

richness, R, as a nonlinear

function ofhour- long
suruey tncrements across 40

46 uisual- scan suruey
stations across the

Altamont Pass Wind
30

Resource Area, Alameda U

and Contra Costa o

Counties, 2015- 2o1g. Note     
that the location of the 2p   . p
siudy is largely irreleuant
to the utility of the graph 6

to the interpretation of
survey outcomes at the 10 =

project site. It is the
pattern in the data that is
relevant, because the

pattern is typical of the 0 20 40 60 80 100

pattern seen elsewhere.  
Cumulative number of surveys ( hours)

Again, however, my prediction of i 8 species of vertebrate wildlife, including 5i special-
status species of vertebrate wildlife, is derived from daytime visual- scan surveys, and
would not detect nocturnal mammals such as bats. The true number of species

composing the wildlife community of the site must be larger. A reconnaissance survey
should serve only as a starting point toward characterization of a site' s wildlife
community, but it certainly cannot alone inform of the inventory of species that use the
site. More surveys are needed. Nevertheless, the large number of species I predict at the
project site is exceptional, and in my experience with many reconnaissance surveys in
California, the species richness at the site relative to its level of disturbance is peculiar to
the site.

EXISTING ENVIRNMENTAL SETTING

The first step in analysis of potential project impacts to biological resources is to
accurately characterize the existing environmental setting, including the biological
species that use the site, their relative abundances, how they use the site, key ecological
relationships, and known and ongoing threats to those species with special status. A
reasonably accurate characterization of the environmental setting can provide the basis
for determining whether the site holds habitat value to wildlife, as well as a baseline
against which to analyze potential project impacts. For these reasons, characterization
of the environmental setting, including the project site' s regional setting, is one of
CEQA' s essential analytical steps. Methods to achieve this rst step typically include ( i)
surveys of the site for biological resources, and( 2) reviews of literature, databases and

local experts for documented occurrences of special- status species. In the case of the

proposed project, these needed steps were grossly inadequate.

10

790



Environmental Setting informed by Field Surveys

To CEQA' s primary objective to disclose potential environmental impacts of a proposed
project, the analysis should be informed of which biological species are known to occur
at the proposed project site, which special- status species are likely to occur, as well as
the limitations of the survey effort directed to the site. Analysts need this information to
characterize the environmental setting as a basis for opining on, or predicting, potential
project impacts to biological resources.

Olberding ( 2o2i) incompletely reports on the reconnaissance survey that was completed
at the project site. Although the survey date is reported( 5 May 2o2i), Olberding ( 2o2i)
does not report what time of day the survey began, nor the survey' s duration. These are
critical omissions that prevent the reader from understanding the survey outcome.

Olberding( 2021) did not achieve the minimum standards for reconnaissance survey
directed toward plants ( CDFW 2oi8). Olberding' s ( 2o2i) conclusions regarding the

unlikely occurrences of special- status species of plants therefore lack adequate
foundation in survey.

The findings of the Olberding ( 2021) are largely unreliable. Olberding ( 202) managed

to detect only six species of vertebrate wildlife, which is the number of vertebrate
wildlife species I detected within two minutes from the start of my survey on 2i
September 2023 ( see the arrow in Figure ). After 2. 55 hours, I detected nearly six times
the number of species of vertebrate wildlife as did Olberding ( 2o2i), and the pattern in
the data indicate I would have detected many more species had I continued the survey
Figure i).Whereas Olberding ( 2o2i) saw three special- status species, I saw ten of

them. Olberding (2021) missed the great horned owl pellets that I found under nearly
every span of electric distribution lines. Olberding ( 2021) missed the kangaroo rat
burrow systems, and the Botta' s pocket gopher burrow systems, both types of burrows
of which are readily visible. Furthermore, Olberding ( 202) saw no bird smaller than a

white- tailed kite, whereas I saw 22 such species. Perhaps because the survey was too
brief of for some other reason, Olberding ( 2o2i) saw and reported few of the vertebrate
wildlife species that occur on the project site.

No surveys were completed for bats. Nor were any protocol- level detection surveys
completed for special- status species despite known occurrences in the project area. No
detection surveys were completed for burrowing owl and Swainson' s hawk( I saw three
on site). Swainson's hawks nested on a tree just across Dos Reis Road on the south side
of the project site in 2o2i ( Olberding 2o2i) and probably again in 2023, based on my
observations. And because ground squirrels occur on and around the project site, there
is a reasonable likelihood that burrowing owls also occur on the site. Protocol-level
detection surveys are available for these species ( CDFW 2010, 2oi2), and should be

implemented.  

Olberding ( 2021) fails to accurately inform the Checklist of the wildlife community that
is part of the existing environmental setting. Olberding' s ( 2o2i) reporting was deficient,
and the surveys were grossly incomplete and unreliable.

11

791



Environmental Setting informed by Desktop Review

The purpose of literature and database review and of consulting with local experts is to
inform the reconnaissance survey, to augment interpretation of its outcome, and to help
determine which protocol- level detection surveys should be implemented. Analysts need
this information to identify which species are known to have occurred at or near the
project site, and to identify which other special- status species could conceivably occur at
the site due to geographic range overlap and site conditions. This step is important
because the reconnaissance survey is not going to detect all of the species of wildlife that
make use of the site over a period of a year or longer. This step can identity those species
yet to be detected at the site but which have been documented to occur nearby or whose
available habitat associations are consistent with site conditions. Some special- status
species can be ruled out of further analysis, but only if compelling evidence is available
in support of such determinations.

Olberding( 2021) provides an inadequate database or desktop review. The desktop
review neglects iNaturalist and eBird as data sources. It provides no evidence that local
experts were consulted for knowledge of occurrences of special- status species in the

project area. The methodology for selecting special- status species for analysis of
occurrence likelihoods was flawed (see below).

By including in the species' likelihood of occurrence analysis only species whose
documented occurrences within the nearest CNDDB quadrangles, Olberding ( 2021)
screens out many special-status species from further consideration in the
characterization of the wildlife community as part of the baseline environmental setting.
CNDDB is not designed to support absence determinations or to screen out species from
characterization of a site' s wildlife community. As noted by CNDDB, " The CNDDB is a

positiue sighting database. It does not predict where something may be found. We map
occurrences only where we have documentation that the species was found at the site.
There are many areas of the state where no surveys haue been conducted and
therefore there is nothing on the map. That does not mean that there are no special
status species present." Olberding (2021) misuses CNDDB.

CNDDB relies entirely on volunteer reporting from biologists who were allowed access
to whatever properties they report from. Many properties have never been surveyed by
biologists. Many properties have been surveyed, but the survey outcomes never reported
to CNDDB. Many properties have been surveyed multiple times, but not all survey
outcomes reported to CNDDB. Furthermore, CNDDB is interested only in the findings
of special- status species, which means that species more recently assigned special status
will have been reported many fewer times to CNDDB than were species assigned special
status since the inception of CNDDB. The lack of many CNDDB records for species
recently assigned special status had nothing to do with whether the species' geographic
ranges overlapped the project site, but rather more to do with the brief time for records
to have accumulated since the species were assigned special status. And because
negative findings are not reported to CNDDB, CNDDB cannot provide the basis for
estimating occurrence likelihoods, either.

12

792



In my assessment based on database reviews and site visits, io special- status species of
wildlife are known to occur near enough to the site to warrant analysis of occurrence
potential ( Table 2). Of these io species, 10 ( 9%) were recorded on site, and another 22

2i%) species have been documented within i.5 miles of the site (` Very close'), another

i9 ( i8%) within 1. 5 and 4 miles (` Nearby'), and another 46 ( 43%) within 4 to 3o miles

In region'). Nearly half( 48%) of the species in Table 2 have been reportedly seen

within 4 miles of the project site. The site therefore supports multiple special- status
species of wildlife and carries the potential for supporting many more special- status
species of wildlife based on proximity of recorded occurrences.

Because the project would attempt to mitigate its impacts to wildlife by participating
with the SJMSCP, it is important to analyze the occurrence likelihoods of SJMSCP-
covered species. Of the o special- status species in Table 2, 36 ( 34%) are covered by the
SJMSCP, including 5 that I observed on the project site, io with known occurrences very
close, nearby, and io in the region. Of the 36 SJMSCP- covered species, the occurrence
likelihoods of only i2 are analyzed by Olberding( 2o2i), including 2 that Olberding
2o2i) observed on site, and determinations by Olberding ( 2o2i) that i may occur on

site, 3 are unlikely, and 6 are presumed absent. In summary, only a third of the special-
status species in Table 2 are covered by the SJMSCP, 6% of which have been recorded

within 4 miles of the project site, and only 33% of which have been analyzed in support

of the Checklist.

Because the project would attempt to mitigate its impacts to wildlife by participating
with the SJMSCP, it is also important to analyze the occurrence likelihoods of special-
status species that are not covered by the SJMSCP. In fact, for these species, it is even
more important to analyze their occurrence likelihoods because the mitigation of the
SJMSCP was not formulated with these species in mind. Of the o special- status
species that are listed in Table 2, i (66%) are not covered by the SJMSCP, including 5
that I observed on site, and occurrence records of i2 that are very close, i2 nearby, and
36 in the region. Of i the special- status species in table 2 that not covered by the
SJMSCP, Olberding ( 202) analyzes the occurrence likelihoods of only 8 ( li%),
including of none that I observed on site, and determinations by Olberding (2o2i) of 2
as unlikely and 6 as presumed absent. Of the latter 6 species Olberding ( 2021) presumed
absent, 2 have been recorded very close to the project site ( yellow- headed blackbird and
Modesto song sparrow only o. 46 miles away). In summary, two- thirds of the special-
status species in Table 2 are not covered by the SJMSCP, 29 ( 4i%) of which have been

recorded within 4 miles of the project site, and only 8 ( ii%) of which have been analyzed

in support of the Checklist. Except for my own assessments in Table 2, the Checklist is
grossly inadequate in its characterization of that part of the wildlife community that
lacks coverage under the SJMSCP.

13

793



cn .
r V .. n

5       . o   . o . o  , o . o . o . o   . o    . o . o . o . o , o . o , o 0
n y         a    a  a    a  a  a  a  ,  c,  ,  ,  ,  .  a  a  a  a  a  a  a  "

c        ,  .  ,    .  ,  

z         Z         Zz   ZZZ               A 'v1 i-, i.... i r-i r- i r-      r, r-i  i i r-i  F-,

0>

V   

N      .
y•

i   .  

C       , s  "   

U
a aO

ti        V '    N       :' .'  N
i C C   

U O      
o

o °        ' d

C% t, .:;

a;   • ti 6 C

O    ai                       

v ` O  C/  c  v  
M

o i ' 

ti

y  

v . '^+
UO .,,,, C  

r

PA C 

U U N N N C N M L

s UUU u  r.Ui rUE- u   rUr  UU  cUi UVUvUjE- U
o  . G/ w fs. UU  vav v v] f v     vav] v  P v v A  GAv UW

p • 01 i''       v

y     o

Li ^ a n cn fl  

O   ,      U ni y :     i J      "  

U '     ti • y NO .  vi ` n
U    o  CS •.+

Ci '       O ;   O 0       ""'    ' ZS p   y oi o i  

N 0 ZS      j •..,      •    cn v .", •    
p        

v  Ci Yi V iV.,  V V
O O  3 ti ^ F-             

v  v)     •

pj C    
n .  

p O  f      
y .  .      '^  

O O y              OS   t  s,   '„  cs'.  o        i'  "      o      U C - C ^ C       O

N      y v '  v  
v  v   S    Gi p O . O - C     CS

O O O     . 0 .     •
o           ,.     .       . o      o  "  o o  

s . a . o o .       .. .  o .             
y

n 0    °       '  oi N  `  GS  !  S   v    c.        Gi      ' C ' G c.
o  .  .. 

o .  cs o o         '   .      o  o     ..  s        o

q sq a    W    o       c UU     

o    
O ,  v,  

O

TS C cd

U . '        
c 

d ' d    
y  • V O 3 N s"'- •. r"'.    '  

c

F      O t-. i   v         N
i"  V +N.+

ci;     i i- i- O c           U         U
b ' ti o  "               ' b   ,  

o  °
o ..,    o c°  o '—' .        o     ' tio  °,'          • d    

b
N   '  

a         '     '     3   ,      ,  
o> • 

c"      c"  a 3   ` n  `  ` ^ 1°   ^`  
c"  '

icd O O     +-+ +' ,        O cC N
O O C U i"  a       

v }' +. }' +-' ti-• '       •—  ,, ++    +.+  O    cn    N

N `+  C c~d             
N

c~C   •  i-          , .    O   ^'  y T-.  
o   c  .    c 33  v  aa  xxaa  c ra  c x '¢ a  

794



d
r                                  vi            vi ai vi vi vi

O O        O O 0 O O    O O          O O O C  O    O O O        O C
P1 ,. y ,.  U , ,.  U .. .. r M ..- •.  N U ~ ~ U N U N U U U N  U N

C     J    s-- i          i--      N N      N N

s      c.        c,  s    .  s        s  s      

a         a  a    ai a  

Av   z    z    O   zO     0  0        Oz  O

a

o a
U o O O

b  

v    

a

U
p-,    
fs,     . j

p., U Cl.

Gq W ? pUq O       OOC7 O
ra a

c c ac c c c ,    Uc ,. av      ,...aa ,iaWa  aa ' 

va    3  aa    ra  w     w    3   3  33v  

0

o 
U  

n n    n C3
O 0

i .,^',,,  i +.
t         ti C ,^ U, ,  v       O       v      v     

o

O   i cn
t'       '„    t  F      Gi    e  ti G v,  O

y    a p      i o> f ^,      t o    o>     v   o  U      

CS v  C  Gi     ,,  
ti            

v  { •  F  CI F  CS      . CS        cn O

C     ,..,  cn p  F -'     
F    U 0) :'       v)     y  "'    .'  

C  ,  ,      t  °    o       o  , „  ct              o
ts        o • .      v      o

o          n c.>     
v  n    

c    c  C v ..        c  n v    c  v ^   .. 

U O     •  v       ,,
a  i F. •.+ •.+       "

C!  
n ,.  

p    
C3 ' .  s_      U .,,,, i.+        U v     :  

v
0 ' L3 ' Li      Ci • U F-  O  ` n  S     n .,,,,, .,,,  p>

v    O'  4  N  `
p ; ZS            

tn   , . S      F_  C   '         
c i

C        t •      C    C   C N 4      3   a"     ti U v      
v c t    c a , aa   c  aaa  ,   w           a

s"     O c  U

y 3

y
N O d  °'  3      '-'       ^ i' b
p c.           ' d      ,_, ^         + a.+   p       '     ' x       

s.'.  a        N .
Nrdoa           °?     oa 3     .      ao    .   ,  

a  '
a °'           

o • o 0d o          '      a  o w J v -
y    s  s.  z. +.,  C

a  c  .,      a        .  cn

x +, +.+ ,  N O O      ' i '~ ' s O ++    N N N N     . L"        N v  L:

U     N   m      '' d       F-+     ' d ,.  

O       o  `  , ~         o o      "    , ' 0 0 ,  o   a  3
c  v  a  xv  a3Uc aac Q   a  Ho  c7 zv  r xv

795



b 
m      A    

Cd   G  O p   O p p p O       O p p   O O p p p p O p O

a  a  a    ~   

c.  . a  c.       

n  ,      ,  s.  c,      v  a  a    a      a

cd           `"      .  
s  s        

a        `"  ,    a  a  

s  s  s    s    s  

Av Ozz   O      Oz  zzz   O      z    

a .

y  +; r;     

Uo 
b 

p        a i       

v        

000

N C7 M N

p.,, i  ri a a 

v     O v va tn r1 w

a  a, w a a c c v c c a a v v
v

v c c     v v v v v c c
3  3  v  w           

cn .  y v s            U   ON            ^'      p Gi     .,,

U ,       , •  U pj     "' fl F CS 0        •   '   .            
O

k       O "= a  S              

c  o      ' •                  o '        ' Zs s   •          
O    s  s

a o r    "    .     p    '    o " y ti + "    y        • ti
a y .  

S c  o  v  c..           •.  p • fl v    p •    
c  S +.    cn p

o 0 0    s o           :  o 0 0 0 0 •  o o .   o        o        o
0>  .° +° °     ,. D  ° . p . .,  o              °      o      p  S k o       ^,

v a a    a      wwwwc° w .  a          

3 a o  °
V

V     '           ii cC

U 3     '_' '-'      
t,.      ""      U ..  c+.+d   i.'".  d  `  v]

q o   3       . o +,      °  5  , b 3 .            
o  

d 3 0   • d o       ,    +  
d o o 7     o      +.    m  °  oU       ' ti
y p          `'"' ,   

v     ;—,     
O '—'        c  .- ^       

n

0 •      3 3            ,  ..,     3   +.+    c  O O
y N m   U   •   ' a  3  Cq cr       cn   '++  c"     ,  cn

i      •""'  O N ++  O       v  cd s •.,     •-+  3 +.+       ",  O .•,  
y..,  

v  

cd s-     .. .   },   ,   .    
O            O      

3   p
O     O      t.    O             a.  ""      O G        ''     c

Uars, a; aa  C7Aaav aZ   a, aO   aa  Oraa  UU  C7 

796



d 

O O        O O O p p O p      O      O O    O      O   .

a •5  --   ,     --  --     -'     .~ '-.'   .-'     ...    ,      
a  a  a         a  a      a      a      a  a    a      a        o , o

s  s.  s,  cd s  s      c.  c,  c.  c,  .  s  c.  ,  s  s  s.  s  c-    
r.,      

a)  N                                 C/  cd . cC   •^'
Av    Z     -,  -,  -,  -,    .-.  `-,  -,    a   , o   

o

o 

ao -d0

s + r d o . a   •.. 
i L; y  '     S'..   U ,"  c '"

C

vi m vi
ctS   a . O.  

V U
Q. ,   cC

U O a.b '
b    di0 

U         
C/] ..,   , , "

V   •   t,   

C      v      cn cn v  v     n v      va
U

U U  w 
p N N N

U II    O ; ; j
V  C  V     "     " 

p W U bi0 U 
U   o    
0 ^  3
F, '  , n v  o
U M,  
U b

U

C7 C7 o    E

c  aa  aa      aa        c , b   u

v, U  U c7C7C7  C'7C7C7C7C7     • d aio °'  v a

U ,.. UUUU  U UUUU    Upq     U   •    

C%   c/    U    t/]  v]              rd s"  c0
O

p   ,  ON l

y w  ,    .
I I   G4 .  .

i U  , N    
n s.,  z., , U'

c3 '  O   '" bbA

t     .,,,     
v           N .  cd   '  c

0     v         ,,,., C    ... '" C

r o i      S
t        

v         -. ' V n        z"  a  s,

r        {  
o>   . 0                c   v cn        c  p . d s,     O

Gi  •,.,,      
v ;  O . C '^'       ; t O    v    

Oi O i      y        =   s- ' b 
o+i     

v - C U v  v i o i . a            ,,, U   '^' 
O ..

O         .   
a     „ fl        v   '  O    Gi                I I O   

N cn . F-  
p   ' '^' •^

y'  
CS        

y v -~D U ;      C  b W C- i  "  
o

y C! .  p''j    O  . . r ..   

Ci O p   U        v  v  v,  v  c i y sV.., '   '+
v  ,. 0 y   "    C '              .  O     • O • O O •O            

N O        N . O , O O Ci     F, •,.  v  v  v N [—a '' '+  cC Q+

v   ,  C   aa    ° awa  a        '  °   
o   c

s.+  a +, '  3
r'c3

O o      
UU a 

II   . 0
N

OO +,     d d W p Q+   p ri
s      c,        - d n cn  

CVC      ."-     p .,      r„  
c U   

c '+

y U '"_'     , a N t,       O O        s..  O   , b +.+     •s
a      V] '" ,      ",     r-+              

N      +   
O

s.. } a, ' d     s.,     
rd           s

y    N    N O  ,  
c C ^—  

cC           c b c           
O    c ' t3 ' r.'".,    3         

v +,             '+      U  `
J

F.
c.,  Q.'

ts--'  y c,  y p '' d      c + +, '" d     •  s +-+  v  3    cC   ' d +.    s. r v  s..

O       . ..'  
c°.  

c,  c     3                ~    a  o '' b a  a  a

n    '   '  ,  p   .
cC         

vNi    O '  i"' "
n

s''     .., , C  m . 0    
C '  c

03300  ,  3   .      o    ,  a      a         ,  ..    a  oc,  o
a ° °  .    .      3    ,    o         acq oc  ¢' c

O r.  a    a  a    s   -  a    c  O c ...       

Ur aaO   aaHa   v aE- Ucqv  x  a + U 

797



a

3
0

0

n

x

o

s.
o

Q.
o

r o

d
0 0

C7
o

o

aa       ,

U ,
u o

3    '  
o

3       
a

o  
U

o
0

n     

M pa

M     ~
O  
N

O       
U o aio

w    
x  
wo U '

a    

va
d

a   

QM  =„ N M

F.+..-

yI 
V O

798



Habitat Assessment

Olberding( 202) speculates that "Due to the heavily disturbed nature of the Property
there were a limited number of wildlife species observed during the survey." However,

the heavy disturbance was much less limiting to the number of wildlife species that I
detected on the project site, as I found nearly 6 times the number reported by Olberding
2021). This noted, the project site has been intensively disturbed over a number of

years, and this level of disturbance undoubtedly diminished the species of wildlife
species that occur on the site as compared to times preceding the repeated discing of the
site. Nevertheless, wildlife strive to survive, even where conditions are far from ideal.
Some species often fare better on disturbed soils. Horned larks and killdeer are perfectly
capable of nesting on the ground of the project site. American pipits, American crows,
house finches and red- winged blackbirds often forage on disced soil, and these birds are
in turn pursued by Swainson' s hawks, Cooper' s hawks and white- tailed kites, among
others. Swainson' s hawks are known for foraging over disturbed fields, especially as the
fields are being disturbed by activities such as discing ( Smallwood i995, Smallwood et
al. i996, Swolgaard et al. 2008). Swainson' s hawks nested adjacent to the project site for

good reasons. The disturbance of a site is no justification for dismissing it as valuable to
wildlife ( Smallwood and Smallwood 2023).

For multiple species, Olberding ( 2o2i) speculates that the project site is unsuitable as
nesting habitat and therefore is unlikely to cause significant impacts if it is developed.
However, there is no sound scientific distinction between nesting habitat and some
other characterization of habitat. For any given species, the environment of a site is
either habitat or it is not, as habitat is defined as that part of the environment that is
used by a species ( Hall et al. i997). Certain portions of a species' habitat may provide
nesting opportunities, but all parts of its habitat are critical to the nesting success of
members of the species. If an animal cannot find sufficient forage and cover during non-
nesting season or at portions of its habitat where it does not normally nest, then it might
not survive to reproduce or its nesting attempt might not succeed. Olberding ( 2o2i)
asserts a false distinction of the value of a site based on whether the species nests on-
site.

The above- arguments were applied to loggerhead shrike, which serves as a good
example of how poorly predictive the Olberding' s ( 2o2i) approach is to determining
occurrence likelihood. Olberding ( 2o2i) determines loggerhead shrike to have a low
likelihood of occurrence due to lack of trees and shrubs needed for nesting. However,
loggerhead shrikes are resourceful when it comes to finding and using nest substrate
Smallwood and Smallwood 2o2i). Furthermore, elderberry shrubs occur on the project

site ( Photo 3) as do loggerhead shrikes ( Table 1, Photos 6 and). When I arrived at the

project site to perform my survey, I expected to see loggerhead shrikes, based on my
experience. The occurrence likelihood of loggerhead shrike was not low, and the same
can be concluded for many of the other special- status species considered by Olberding
2o2i).

19

799



POTENTIAL BIOLOGICAL IMPACTS

An impacts analysis should consider whether and how a proposed project would affect
members of a species, larger demographic units of the species, the whole of a species,
and ecological communities. The accuracy of this analysis depends on an accurate
characterization of the existing environmental setting. In the case of the proposed
project, the existing environmental setting has not been accurately characterized, and
several important types of potential project impact have not been analyzed. These types
of impacts include habitat loss, interference with wildlife movement, and collision
mortality with solar PV panels and project-generated tra c.

HABITAT LOSS

The project would destroy 89. 92 acres of habitat to every species of wildlife that makes
use of the project site. My survey outcomes interpreted with the help of an analytical
bridge to more extensive research at another site in a similar environment predict i 8
species of vertebrate wildlife would eventually be detected by repeat visual- scan surveys
similar those I completed. Added to these i 8 species would be all the nocturnal species
I would unlikely detect during the daytime, such as species of bat, multiple species of
small mammal, American badger and perhaps San Joaquin kit fox. What remains
without analysis is the magnitude of loss of the numbers of animals that can be
produced by the project site.

In the case of birds, two methods exist for estimating the loss of productive capacity that
would be caused by the project. One method would involve surveys to count the number
of bird nests and chicks produced. The alternative method is to infer productive capacity
from estimates of total nest density elsewhere. I am aware of estimates of total nest
density elsewhere, but none were on fields that underwent discing every year except for
a field I surveyed for total nest density this past spring. The field had been a walnut
orchard in Rancho Cordova, California, but the walnuts were abandoned while the floor
continued to be disced, sometimes entirely and sometimes partially. I surveyed the
i2. 74- acre study site 3o times from March through the first half of August to estimate
total nest density. Total nest density of birds was i4.38 nests per acre, but this density
included cavity nests and tree- supported cup nests within the scattering of abandoned
orchard walnuts. Excluding the cavity nests and tree- supported cup nests, total nest
density on the ground and in elderberry shrubs was 2. i2 nests/ acre. Assuming that the
estimates of total bird nest densiry on the ground and in elderberry was similar between
my study site and the project site, then the project site likely supports i91 nests per year.

The loss of i9i nest sites of birds would qualify as a potentially significant project
impact, but the impact does not end with the immediate loss of nest sites as nest

substrate is removed and foraging grounds graded in preparation for impervious
surfaces. The reproductive capacity of the site would be lost. The average number of
fledglings per nest in Young' s ( i948) study was 2. 9. Assuming Young' s ( i948) study site
typifies bird productivity, the project would prevent the production of 554 fledglings per
year. Assuming an average bird generation time of 5 years, the lost capacity of both
breeders and annual fledgling production can be estimated from an equation in

20

800



Smallwood ( 2022): {( nests/ year x chicks/ nest x number of years) + ( 2 adults/ nest x

nests/ year) x ( number of years = years/ generation)} = ( number of years) = 63o birds

per year denied to California. In the face of a potential project impact of this magnitude,
I conclude that the potential project impacts to the productive capacity of birds would be
significant.

INTERFERENCE WITH WILDL•IVE MOVEMENT

The analysis of whether the project would interfere with wildlife movement in the regio
is flawed and misleading. According to the Checklist, " The Biological Resources Analysis

Report ( Attachment A) [ Olberding 2o2i] included a CNDDB record search that did not
reveal any documented wildlife corridors or wildlife nursery sites on or adjacent to
warehouse site." However, CNDDB is not where an analyst would find information
relevant to whether a site is important to wildlife movement. Nor did Olberding (2o2i)
address the issue of wildlife movement in the region. In effect, there is no analysis of
whether the project would interfere with wildlife movement.

The Checklist also claims that the impact on wildlife movement corridors was

adequately addressed in the General Plan EIR. Indeed, the General Plan EIR addresses
wildlife movement corridors, but it does so with a focus on the San Joaquin River as a
wildlife corridor, and it does so with a focus solely on the functionality of corridors. The
General Plan EIR implies the premise that interference with wildlife movement in the
region can result only from a project' s disruption of the function of a wildlife movement
corridor. This premise represents a false CEQA standard, and was therefore
inappropriate to the analysis. The primary phrase of the CEQA standard goes to wildlife
movement regardless of whether the movement is channeled by a corridor. A site such
as the project site is critically important for wildlife movement because it composes an
increasingly diminishing area of open space within a growing expanse of anthropogenic
uses, forcing more species of volant wildlife to use the site for stopover and staging
during migration, dispersal, and home range patrol (Warnock 2oio, Taylor et al. 2oii,
Runge et al. 2oi4).

In any case, many of the animals I saw on the project site got there by moving there
from someplace else, and others were using the airspace of the site as a travel medium.
California gulls flew across the site, as did snowy egrets, double- crested cormorants,
mourning doves, horned larks and many other birds. To and from the project site,
pocket gophers disperse along linear elements of the landscape ( Smallwood et al. Zooi),
and so do kangaroo rats; otherwise, these species would have been extirpated from the

site long ago due to the discing. The project site includes grassland patches to and from
which many species of wildlife are compelled to travel, and the majority of the site in
disturbed soil likely serves as an island of open space in the winter months for stopover
by mountain plovers, merlin, ferruginous hawks and many other special- status species.

The Checklist fails to analyze whether and to what degree the project' s 6o- foot- tall
building and adjoining impervious surface covering nearly 90 acres would interfere with
wildlife movement in the region, and whether the resulting impacts could be mitigated.

21

801



TRAFFIC IMPACTS TO WILDLIFE

For the following reasons, the project would qualify as an exception to CEQA Guidelines
15 83 regarding exemptions to additional environmental review:  i) project- generated

traffic impacts to wildlife were mentioned as a bullet item but not analyzed as significant
effects in the Lathrop General Plan EIR, and 2) the project- generated traffic impacts to
wildlife would be potentially significant off-site and they would contribute cumulatively
to traff'ic impacts to wildlife impacts generated by other projects in the region, and
which were not discussed in the Lathrop General Plan EIR. The Lathrop General Plan
EIR's only mention of traffic impacts to wildlife was " Significant impacts on special
status species associated with individual subsequent projects could include: increased
mortality caused by higher numbers of automobiles in new areas of development." This

is a statement, but not an analysis, and it was followed by no policies or actions to
minimize the impacts.

The Checklist fails to address one of the project' s most obvious, substantial impacts to
wildlife, and that is wildlife mortality and injuries caused by project- generated traffic.
Project- generated traffic would endanger wildlife that must, for various reasons, cross
roads used by the project' s traffic ( Photos i3—i5), including along roads far from the
project footprint. Vehicle collisions have accounted for the deaths of many thousands of
amphibian, reptile, mammal, bird, and arthropod fauna, and the impacts have often
been found to be significant at the population level ( Forman et al. 2003). Across North

America traffic impacts have taken devastating tolls on wildlife ( Forman et al. 2003). In

Canada, 3, 562 birds were estimated killed per ioo km of road per year( Bishop and
Brogan 20 3), and the US estimate of avian mortality on roads is 2, 20o to 8, 405 deaths
per 10o km per year, or 89 million to 34o million total per year ( Loss et al. 2oi4). Local

impacts can be more intense than nationally.

Photo 13. A coyote uses the
crosswalk to crosses a road on 2

February 202,3.

22

802



i

Photos 4 and i5. Raccoon killed on Road 31 just east of Highway 505 in Solano
County ( left; photo taken on lo November 2oi8), and mourning dove killed by uehicle
on a California road( right; photo by Noriko Smallwood, 21 June 2020.)

The nearest study of traffic- caused wildlife mortality was performed along a 2. 5- mile
stretch of Vasco Road o9nly 2o miles away in Contra Costa County, California. Fatality
searches in this study found i,275 carcasses of 49 species of mammals, birds,
amphibians and reptiles over i5 months of searches ( Mendelsohn et al. 2009). This

fatality number needs to be adjusted for the proportion of fatalities that were not found
due to scavenger removal and searcher error. This adjustment is typically made by
placing carcasses for searchers to find( or not find) during their routine periodic fatality
searches. This step was not taken at Vasco Road ( Mendelsohn et al. 2009), but it was

taken as part of another study next to Vasco Road( Brown et al. 2oi6). Brown et al.' s

2oi6) adjustment factors for carcass persistence resembled those of Santos et al.
2oii). Also applying searcher detection rates from Brown et al. ( 20 6), the adjusted

total number of fatalities was estimated at 12, i8 animals killed by traffic on the road.
This fatality number over 1. 25 years and 2. 5 miles of road translates to 3, 90o wild
animals per mile per year. In terms comparable to the national estimates, the estimates
from the Mendelsohn et al. ( 2009) study would translate to 243 74o animals killed per
ioo km of road per year, or 29 times that of Loss et al.' s ( 20 4) upper bound estimate
and 68 times the Canadian estimate. An analysis is needed of whether increased traffic

generated by the project site would similarly result in local impacts on wildlife.

For wildlife vulnerable to front- end collisions and crushing under tires, road mortality
can be predicted from the study of Mendelsohn et al. ( 2009) as a basis, although it
would be helpful to have the availability of more studies like that of Mendelsohn et al.
2009) at additional locations. My analysis of the Mendelsohn et al. ( 2009) data

resulted in an estimated 3, 90o animals killed per mile along a county road in Contra
Costa County. Two percent of the estimated number of fatalities were birds, and the
balance was composed of 34% mammals ( many mice and pocket mice, but also ground
squirrels, desert cottontails, striped skunks, American badgers, raccoons, and others),
52. 3% amphibians (large numbers of California tiger salamanders and California red-

23

803



legged frogs, but also Sierran treefrogs, western toads, arboreal salamanders, slender
salamanders and others), and ii.% reptiles ( many western fence lizards, but also
skinks, alligator lizards, and snakes of various species). VMT is useful for predicting
wildlife mortality because I was able to quantify miles traveled along the studied reach
of Vasco Road during the time period of the Mendelsohn et al. ( 2009), hence enabling a
rate of fatalities per VMT that can be projected to other sites, assuming similar collision
fatality rates.

Predictin project- enerated traffic impacts to wildlife

The Checklist predicts 2, 798 daily tips among i,295 employees and a mean 15•43 daily
VMT per employee. Assuming the daily trips are weekdays, the annual VMT not
including weekend mileage would amount to ii,225,0 6 annual VMT. During the
Mendelsohn et al. ( 2009) study, 19, 50o cars traveled Vasco Road daily, so the vehicle
miles that contributed to my estimate of non-volant fatalities was 9, 50o cars and trucks
x 2. 5 miles x 365 days/ year x 1. 25 years = 22, 242, i87.5 vehicle miles per 2, i8 wildlife
fatalities, or i,825 vehicle miles per fatality. This rate divided into the predicted annual
VMT would predict 6, 151 vertebrate wildlife fatalities per year. Even if the mortality
turns out to be as low as half that of the Mendelsohn et al. ( 2oog) study, the annual
death toll to wildlife resulting from project- generated traffic would be 3, 075, which
would also qualify as a significant, unmitigated impact to wildlife caused by the project.

Based on my indicator- level analysis, the project- generated traffic would cause
substantial, significant impacts to wildlife. The Checklist does not address this potential
impact, let alone propose to mitigate it. Mitigation measures to improve wildlife safety
along roads are available and are feasible, and they need exploration for their suitability
with the proposed project. Given the predicted level of project- generated traffic- caused
mortality, and the lack of any proposed mitigation, it is my opinion that the proposed
project would result in potentially significant adverse biological impacts. The Checklist
fails to analyze the impact of wildlife-automobile collisions resulting from project-
generated traffic, and how to mitigate it.

CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

Because cumulative impacts are proving more severe than discussed in the Lathrop
General Plan EIR, the project would be inconsistent with the CEQA Guideline § i5i83
regarding exemptions to additional environmental review. According to the Checklist ( p.
55) " The 2022 General Plan EIR determined that cumulative impacts to biological
resources would be less than significant. ... As such, the proposed warehouse project is
consistent with the adopted vision and uses identified within the General Plan, and

would not result in any new or increased impacts associated with biological resources,
beyond those that were already addressed in the 2022 Lathrop General Plan EIR. The
proposed warehouse project would not result in a new or more severe impact than what
was previously analyzed." The cumulative impacts analysis of the Lathrop General Plan
EIR asserts that participation with the SJMSCP would prevent significant cumulative
impacts. But it has not.

24

804



For example, burrowing owls have all but disappeared from the County, despite the
SJMSCP. Over the past month ( since 26 September 2023), there has only been one
occurrence of burrowing owl in San Joaquin County that has been reported to eBird,
and that was in Tracy. eBird Trends Analysis reveals an average 82% decline in the area

of the SJMSCP ( Figure 3).

Figure 3.
eBird Trends

Analysis

reueals an

aUerage 82%      

decline of
burrowing
owls in the

area of the
SJMSCP

between 200 I I Q
and 2021.

I r teca

ra

MITIGATION

Requirement BIO- i:  Participation with SJMSCP

The principal mitigation measure in the City' s Checklist would be participation with the
San Joaquin County Multi-Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan
SJMSCP). Due to grossly deficient implementation and due to poor performance of the

SJMSCP, the project' s impacts to wildlife should be mitigated outside the SJMSCP. The
SJMSCP is currently unsuitable as a mitigation strategy for the project. A project-
specific EIR needs to be prepared in order to formulate more effective mitigation. Below
I explain why.

25

805



There are four major problems with relying on the SJMSCP to mitigate the project's
impacts to special- status species of wildlife:  ( i) Not all special- status species at the site

are covered by the SJMSCP; ( 2) Many non- covered species of birds are still protected by
the federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and California Migratory Bird Protection
Act ( MBPA), which warrant CEQA review for potential impacts; ( 3) The SJMSCP

requires protocol- level detection surveys at project sites for covered species, but no such
surveys have been performed at the site of the proposed project; and, (4) Available

evidence indicates that the premise is likely false that SJMSCP participation conserves
covered species. These problems are discussed further below.

i) Seventy- one ( 66%) of the species in Table 2 are not covered by the SJMSCP.  Four of
the io special- status species that I saw on the project site are not covered by the
SJMSCP. In other words, the SJMSCP insufficiently covers special- status species that
would be adversely affected by the project. An important reason for this deficiency has
been the continued assignments of special status to additional species as resource
agencies have determined these species are declining or are in trouble. The growing list
of special- status species is indicative of the effects of cumulative impacts. The SJMSCP
failed to effectively prepare for the assignment of special status to so many more species,
nor did it provide sufficient conservation benefits to prevent these assignments. Many
species of wildlife have declined despite the SJMSCP.

2) Any potentially occurring bird species protected by the MBTA and the MBPA
warrants an impact assessment related to the proposed project, regardless of any
additional special status. Ground- nesting birds nest on the project site, and tree- and
shrub- nesting birds rely on the site for forage. Ground- nesters on the project site could
include northern harrier, burrowing owl, and California horned lark among others.  City
of Lathrop needs to consider project impacts and mitigation for all bird species
protected by the MBTA and MBPA.

3) According to SJMSCP § 5. 2. 2. 1 A, there is the requirement for" Preconstruction

surveys to ... determine if SJMSCP Covered Species are present..." The purpose of these
surveys, according to the SJMSCP §5. 2. 2. 5, is to comply with existing protocols or
guidelines for supporting a determination of species' absence as the standard, i.e., if the
species is present, the surveys should detect it. In other words, although preconstruction
survey normally refer to a clearance survey to avoid take by imminent use of heavy
machinery to grade the project site, the SJMSCP requires protocol- level detection
surveys. Such surveys are to be performed at project sites where habitat would be
destroyed ( SJMSCP § 5. 9. 2. 5). No detection surveys have been implemented at the site

of the proposed project. A project- specific DEIR needs to be prepared, and it needs to
include the results of detection surveys, including those meeting the guidelines of CDFW
2oi2) for burrowing owls and of CEC and CDFW( 2oio) for Swainson' s hawks.

4) The premise that project mitigation via SJMSCP fees will conserve special- status
species lacks support of evidence, which is required in the SJMSCP and its
Implementation Agreement.

26

806



The SJMSCP requires `Pre- acquisition/ Baseline surveys' at" potential or recently
acquired SJMSCP Preserues" ( SJMSCP § 5. 9. 2. 6). These surveys are characterized in

the SJMSCP as detection surveys. Detection surveys are also required at proposed
project sites. The SJMSCP also requires biological effectiveness monitoring at the
Preserves, which are said to be needed to inform an adaptive management program. All
of these surveys are intended to quantify the initial nexus between project impacts and
conservation value in Preserves, and to enable managers to react to emerging
deficiencies in this nexus. Monitoring biological effectiveness of the SJMSCP was
supposed to be annual, whereas additional focused surveys of certain covered species
were to be completed every three years. The SJMSCP also requires Annual Reports. A
reasonable presumption is that the monitoring data in the Annual Reports were to be
analyzed to inform adaptive management, but no such analysis has been presented
during the first 23 years of the SJMSCP.

Detection Surveys at Project Sites.-- In my experience in San Joaquin County, and based
on my review of additional CEQA reviews in the County such as the River Project EIR
and the Tracy 58o Business Park EIR, protocol- level detection surveys are rarely
completed at sites of proposed new projects. The surveys that are completed are
typically no more rigorous that reconnaissance- level surveys, which are unsuitable for
supporting absence determinations of most animal species. Reconnaissance surveys are
not detection surveys. Failure to adequately complete detection surveys as part of this
step of the SJMSCP vastly diminishes the likelihood of quantifying the initial nexus
between project impacts and conservation value in Preserves, and hampers the ability of
managers to react to emerging deficiencies in this nexus.

Detection Surveys atNew PreserUes.-- Baseline surveys were to be completed upon

acquisition of each new Preserve, including a focused search for Swainson' s hawk nests
within 2 miles of the Preserve and additional focused surveys for SJMCP- covered
species. The first evidence of baseline surveys having been completed was at four
Preserves, as reported in the 2008 Annual Report. The 2008 Annual Report includes a
list of wildlife species seen on the Rustan and Elworthy Preserves. However, no
explanation is reported of how these species were detected, who performed the survey,
on what date the surveys were completed, at what time the surveys were started, and for
how long the surveys lasted and under what conditions. The reporting leaves the reader
unable to ascertain whether many other species occurred on these Preserves but were
undetected. I could find no evidence that the Baseline surveys at new Preserves qualified
as detection surveys. Failure to adequately complete this step of the SJMSCP vastly
diminishes the likelihood of quantifying the initial nexus between project impacts and
conservation value in Preserves, and hampers the ability of managers to react to
emerging deficiencies in this nexus.

Biological effectiUeness monitoring.-- Noriko Smallwood helped me to review the

SJMSCP' s Annual Reports that are available online at https:/ lwww. sjco. or/
DocumentCenter/ Index115. Noriko entered data into electronic spreadsheets, which I later
analyzed. We also found, in the process of reviewing the reports and processing and
analyzing their data, that the Annual Reports reveal flawed study design, deficient
implementation, and poor reporting, including poor quality control. Annual Reports

27

807



failed to include the results of biological effectiveness monitoring over the first five years
of the certified SJMSCP. The Annual Report for 2oi2 is missing. The names of Preserves
are inconsistent from Annual Report to Annual Report, so anyone attempting to

compare survey results by year must carefully investigate the names of Preserves in
order to record them consistently in database form. No trend analysis has been
performed over 23 years of the SJMSCP. Because none of the Annual Reports compares
biological effects monitoring among Preserves or among years, it is up to the reader to
do so.

Reporting of survey results, and specifically of which wildlife species were detected, was
in paragraph form for a decade, before switching to tables of results in 2oi5. Prior to
20 5, some Annual Reports included counts of all wildlife species, whereas others
included counts only of SJMSCP- covered species ( 2oi1). Annual Reports of 2008- 20 0

included counts of all species at certain Preserves and only covered species at other
Preserves. Beginning in 20 3, Annual Reports included counts of all species of wildlife,
but the 202o Annual Report only recorded the presence of those species detected by
survey personnel. It was not unti12o 5 when all vertebrate species detections were
recorded in Tables, although the referenced Table in the 2oi6 Annual Report does not
actually appear in the Annual Report and was unavailable to us. It was not unti12oi5
when species counts and records of species detections qualified as comparable between
years, as counts and records of presence numbered only fractions of what was reported
after 20 4, even including counts and records of presence of SJMSCP- covered species.

Other than the date of each survey, little of the survey methods is reported. Survey
personnel are not identified. The survey method is characterized as " windshield
surveys" on available roads that abut or cross the subject property, but there is no
reported standard survey effort to adjust for variation in Preserve size, nor any standard
on the minimum time that should be committed to each survey. No survey start time is
reported. No survey duration is reported. No standards are reported about whether
birds overflying the Preserve are counted, or whether animals seen just offsite are
recorded, or if they are counted, then to what height above ground or distance from the
Preserve' s boundary they are counted. The Annual Reports fail to report the most
fundamental methodological details that the reader needs to interpret the monitoring
results.

The windshield surveys for wildlife have been completed at different types of year from
year to year, hence rendering inter- annual survey results incomparable for migratory
species. One such migratory species is Swainson' s hawk, which has been the most
important of the wildlife species covered by the SJMSCP. More than 63% of the surveys

have been completed during times of the year when Swainson' s hawks are on migration
to Mexico, which means that slightly more than a third of the surveys had any potential
for detection of Swainson' s hawks. Therefore, I completed my analysis of Swainson's
hawk detections by rst ltering out the surveys that would not have detected
Swainson' s hawks while they were on migration.

According to the 2oi8 Annual Report, " Overall, the Swainson's hawk population in San
Joaquin County appears to be doing well, with a relatively high density of nesting pairs

28

808



and a high rate of nest success." According to the 2o2i Annual Report, " the SJMSCP

appears to be highly successful with respect to providing high quality habitat for
Swainson' s hawk." However, these conclusions were not found on any obvious

comparison of performance metrics through time. After filtering the survey results as
described above, I found evidence of an ongoing rapid decline of Swainson' s hawks
among the SJMSCP Preserves ( Figure 4). Another performance metric further supports
this trend, as I will report below under Focused Surveys. In any case, the above-
conclusions in the 20 8 and 2o2i Annual Reports are inaccurate and misleading. The
SJMSCP has failed to conserve Swainson' s hawks, and appears to be contributing to its
progress towards extirpation in the County.

Figure 4. The number Surveys during months April- September

of Swainson' s hawk 0. 6

detections per suruey
Y= 0. 66466X

during the months
r2= 0. 82

April through 0. 5 0        
Loss = 0. 04

September has declined         
P = 0. 00001

rapidly among

Preserues since 2014. A     '
0. 4

nonlinear regression fit     
to the data indicates a       ,

recent slowing of the Y
declines, but only after        0. 3

detections of the species    ,
have reached a Uery o
low leuel. 0. 2

3

0

0. 1

O

O

0. 0

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Years since 2014

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Not only does the evidence in the Annual Reports support the conclusion that the
SJMSCP has failed to conserve Swainson' s hawks, but it also supports the conclusions
that the SJMSCP is also failing to conserve other covered species ( Figure 5). The covered

species included in Figure 5 are those also identified in Table 2, as these also have other
forms of special status. Additionally, the number of species detections of all vertebrate
wildlife has been rapidly declining since 2oi4 ( Figure 6). This decline has been a 42%

loss of vertebrate species richness among the Preserves in only the last seven years.
Considering the trends of Swainson' s hawk( Figure 4), covered species ( Figure 5), and

all vertebrate species ( Figure 6), declines of these magnitudes are indicative of regional

ecological collapse, the ecological, economic, and cultural signi cance of which are yet
to be analyzed, but which are likely to be profound.

29

809



Figure 5. The 2

number ofcovered Y = 105. 6551- 0. 0521 X

species detections per
surUey among
Preserues has T

1. 0

declined since 201,3,
according to the data N
from biological 0 8

effectiveness a
monitortng in the
Annual Reports.      0. 6

U

Q
N

0. 4
a

0

U

0. 2

0. 0
2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Year

Figure 6. The
number ofall species 13

detections per suruey Y = 1486. 7968 - 0. 7318X

among Preserves has
declined since 2015,      12

according to the data       ,      
from biological
effectiueness

monitoring in the
11

Annual Reports. 201,5 ai

was when all species       
were first routinely

10

recordedfrom the
surueys.  

9
O

OL

W

O
W    

a a

0

7

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Year

30

810



Focused Surueys.-- Focused surveys for Swainson' s hawks are supposed to be completed

every three years, including searches for nest sites within 2 miles of each Preserve.
However, the first such survey was not completed until2oo, and another eight years

went by before the second survey was completed. The fourth survey was completed in
2o2i, thus averaging one survey per 5. 25 years. The reporting of the survey results has
been inconsistent, but more importantly there has yet to be a scientifically sound
analysis of the data. There has been no accounting of the increase in cumulative
Preserve area in the comparisons of performance metrics such as the number of active
nest sites and the number of successful nests. And no comparison has been made of the
performance metric, the number of fledglings per successful nest.

The number of nests/ ioo acres has in fact been dangerously unstable, at one point

nearing zero, and most recently again undergoing a rapid decline ( Figure ). At the same

time, the number of fledglings per successful nest has steadily declined by 34% between

200 and 2o21 ( Figure 8). At the present rate of decline, Swainson' s hawks could be
extirpated from San Joaquin County before the end of the SJMSCP' s permit term.

Without explanation for the 2o- year delay, focused surveys for burrowing owls — the

second most important covered species of the SJMSCP — did not begin unti12o2i. There

is obviously no baseline against which to compare the findings of the 2021 survey. In
2021, the focused surveys detected only two pairs of breeding burrowing owls among all
of the i6, 66 acres of Preserves acquired by the time of the 2021 survey. Failure to
adequately complete focused surveys as required by the SJMSCP hampers the ability of
managers to react to emerging deficiencies in this nexus.

Study Design and Implementation.— The positive-sighting nature of the reporting
complicates the processing and analysis of data, although none of the Annual Reports
analyze the data, anyway. A more effective approach would have been to deliberately
record o for all species that could potentially occur on a Preserve, but were not detected.

A randomized selection of sampling plots within the SJMSCP study area would have
minimized potential bias in trend analysis of both the biological effectiveness
monitoring and focused surveys. Instead, the SJMSCP implemented a survey design
that grows and changes with the acquisitions and losses of Preserves. In other words,
the sample size and the sampled area are always changing, which could change a
performance metric positively or negatively for reasons having nothing to do with actual
population trends.

Another trend indicative of a problem of implementation is the declining average
number of acres monitored per Preserve ( Figure g). This decline reflects a trend towards

acquisition of increasingly smaller properties as Preserves since the SJMSCP' s
inception. I do not know the reason for this trend, but it probably results from a
diminishing pool of willing sellers of conservation easements in San Joaquin County.
Acquiring smaller properties has likely lessened the probability of inclusion of covered
species, which could bias analysis of inter-annual trends in species' detections/ survey.
More importantly, smaller properties are less capable of conserving covered species.

31

811



Figure 7. Focused 0. 7

surueys for Swainson' s a    Active nests

hawk nest sites within Successful nests

two miles ofPreserves 0. 6

haUe revealed an a

unstable trend in nests
0. 5

per loo acres of
cumulative PreserUes,   

and a dangerously low o 0. 4

density in 201.   
r

0. 3

Y

t6

0. 2

c
0

0. 1

3

0. 0

2006 2010 2014 2018 2022

2008 2012 2016 2020

Year

Figure 8. Focused g

surveysfor Swainson' s

o
Y = 104. 545- 0. 0512X

hawk nest sites within          $

two miles of Preserues
have revealed a rapid

decline in produciivity         
1' 7

between 200 and 2021.            o

1. 6

1. 5
rn

1. 4
Y

3

1. 3

c
0

1. 2

3 O
1. 1

1. 0

2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022

Year

32

812



Figure 9. The 800
average number Y = 59970. 2714- 29. 5541 X
of acres
monitored among 700
Preserues has

declined by year
since 2008.       600

c O

500
O O

a

N

400 Q O

U O
m

300
O O

200

100

2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Year

Finally, although the SJMSCP' s monitoring data are fraught with errors and potential
biases, they are the data the SJMSCP is supposed to rely upon as evidence of the
SJMSCP' s performance. The absence of analysis of the data collected to date has
prevented administrators of the SJMSCP from seeing ( 1) problems with study design,
2) problems with the data, ( 3) mismatches of biological resources between new project

sites and Preserves, and ( 4) the alarming declines of covered species including
Swainson' s hawks and burrowing owls. Unable to see the impacts of the SJMSCP and
the ineffectiveness of its mitigation plan, managers have been unable to react to
emerging deficiencies in the nexus sought by the SJMSCP. The SJMSCP has failed in its
implementation, and it has proven ineffective at conserving its covered species; it should
not be used to mitigate impacts to wildlife that occur on the project site.

Requirement BIO- 2:  Recommendations of Biological Resources Analysis

Report

Pre-construction Reptile Survey. Contrary to the implication by Olberding ( 2021),
preconstruction surveys for California glossy snake and San Joaquin coachwhip cannot
support absence determinations of either species. Preconstruction, take- avoidance
surveys are unequal to detection surveys, as they do not carry anywhere close to the
same probability of detection. Detection surveys by qualified biologists need to be

33

813



completed as part of the CEQA review, and they need to inform preconstruction surveys
about where members of the species are likely to be found.

Pre- Construction Avian Survey. Olberding ( 2o2i) characterizes the avian breeding
season as February through August. However, the avian breeding season recognized by
the California Department of Fish and Wildlife is now i February through 15 September.

I concur that preconstruction surveys for nesting birds should be implemented.
However, having performed nest surveys for many bird species, I can attest to the
difficulty of finding nest sites. Birds are highly skilled at hiding their nests, because with
the exception of a few species, those birds that fail to hide their nests would fail in their
nest attempts due to predation. Loggerhead shrikes and burrowing owls, as examples,
make efforts to fool human observers into thinking the birds' nests are located where
they are not. Locating nest sites of these species and most others requires multiple
surveys over long time periods to note behavior patterns that can lead the observer to
nest sites. This is why the breeding-season survey protocols require multiple surveys
spaced through much of the breeding season, such as for burrowing owls ( CDFW 2oi2).
None of the available survey protocols for breeding birds recommend surveys to be
completed within only a few days such as prior to construction, and this is because the
notion that such a briefly conducted survey would detect more than a small fraction of
nest sites is fantasy.

Preconstruction surveys should be performed for nesting birds, but not without first
having completed detection surveys to inform where biologists can expect to find nests
during their subsequent preconstruction surveys. Preconstruction surveys are only
intended as last- minute, one- time salvage and rescue operations targeting readily
detectable nests or individuals before they are crushed under heavy construction
machinery. Because most special- status species are rare and cryptic, and because most
bird species are expert at hiding their nests lest they get predated, most of their nests
will not be detected by preconstruction surveys without prior support of detection
surveys. For one thing, bird species vary in the timing of their nesting. For example, at a
project site that I searched for nest attempts this past February through August, some
bird species had already produced fledglings and some species began re- nesting before
other bird species began nesting. Locating all of the nests on site would require more
effort than is committed during preconstruction surveys. Furthermore, I found cavity-
nesters to be easiest to locate, and ground- nesters the most difficult.

Regardless of whether construction timing avoids the nesting season or preconstruction
surveys are completed, this measure would not reduce impacts to less- than- significant
levels because the project would destroy the productive capacity of the birds that breed
on the project site. Neither would the preconstruction surveys do anything to thwart or
diminish the impacts of further habitat fragmentation.

Should the project go forward, I recommend that it be required of the preconstruction
survey biologists to prepare a report of the methods and outcomes of preconstruction
surveys. The report should be made available to the public.

34

814



Burrowing Owl Surveys. Contrary to the implication by Olberding (202),
preconstruction surveys for burrowing owls cannot support an absence determination.
Preconstruction surveys are supposed to be preceded by protocol- level detection surveys
CDF4V 2oi2). Note, also, that Olberding ( 2021) cites obsolete survey guidelines for

burrowing owls. Furthermore, Olberding' s ( 2o2i) recommendation for burrow
destruction or passive relocation, no matter the behaviors of the associated burrowing
owls, can be regarded as take, according to CDFW( 2oi2).

Thank you for your attention,

Shawn Smallwood, Ph. D.

LITERATURE CITED

Battistone, C. L., B. J. Furnas, R. L. Anderson, J. L. Dinsdale, K. M. Cripe, J. A. Estep, C.
S. Y. Chun, and S. G. Torres. 2oi9. Population and Distribution of Swainson' s
Hawks ( Buteo Swainsoni) in California' s Great Valley: A Framework for Long- Term
Monitoring. Journal of Raptor Research 53 253- 265•

Bishop, C. A. and J. M. Brogan. 2oi3. Estimates of Avian Mortality Attributed to Vehicle
Collisions in Canada. Avian Conservation and Ecology 8: 2.
htt•// dx. doi. or/ 1o. 7/ ACE- oo604- 0$ 0202.

Brown, K., K. S. Smallwood, J. Szewczak, and B. Karas. 2oi6. Final 2oi2- 2oi5 Report
Avian and Bat Monitoring Project Vasco Winds, LLC. Prepared for NextEra Energy
Resources, Livermore, California.

CDFW( California Department of Fish and Wildlife). 2oi2. Staff Report on Burrowing
Owl Mitigation. Sacramento, California.

CDFW( California Department of Fish and Wildlife). 2018. Protocols for surveying and
evaluating impacts to special status native plant populations and sensitive natural
communities. htt s: l/ nrm.dfg.ca.go

CEC and CDFW ( California Energy Commission and California Department of Fish and
Wildlife). 2oio. Swainson' s Hawk Survey Protocols, Impact Avoidance, and
Minimization Measures for Renewable Energy Projects in the Antelope Valley of Los
Angeles and Kern Counties, California.  California Department of Fish and Wildlife,
Sacramento, California.

35

815



Calvert, A. M., C. A. Bishop, R. D. Elliot, E. A. Krebs, T. M. Kydd, C. S. Machtans, and G.
J. Robertson. 2oi3. A synthesis of human- related avian mortality in Canada. Avian
Conservation and Ecology 8( 2): ii. htt•// dx doi. org/ lo.S/ ACE- oo 8i-o$ o211

Forman, T. T., D. Sperling, J. A. Bisonette, A. P. Clevenger, C. D. Cutshall, V. H. Dale, L.
Fahrig, R. France, C. R. Goldman, K. Heanue, J. A. Jones, F. J. Swanson, T.
Turrentine, and T. C. Winter. 2003. Road Ecology. Island Press, Covello, California.

Hall, L. S., P. R. Krausman, and M. L. Morrison. i997. " The habitat concept and a plea
for standard terminology." Wildlife Society Bulletin 25: 73- 82.

Loss, S. R., T. Will, and P. P. Marra. 2014. Estimation of bird-vehicle collision mortality
on U.S. roads. Journal of Wildlife Management 8: 63-.

Mendelsohn, M., W. Dexter, E. Olson, and S. Weber. 2009. Vasco Road wildlife
movement study report. Report to Contra Costa County Public Works Department,
Martinez, California.

Olberding Environmental, Inc. 2o2i. Biological Resources Analysis Report for the Dos
Reis Ranch Property, San Joaquin County, California. Report to Hodgdon Group
Reality, Inc. and HMC Construction, Inc., Colton, California.

Runge, C. A., T. G. Martin, H. P. Possingham, S. G. Willis, and R. A. Fuller. 2oi4.

Conserving mobile species. Frontiers in Ecology and Environment i2(): 395- 402

doi: io. i89o/ i3o23.

SJCOG, Inc. 2oi. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  2oi Annual Report. http:// ca- sico 2.g civic lus.comf 17 jPlan-
Documents

SJCOG, Inc. 2oi8. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  2018 Annual Report. htt•// ca- sico2gci ic lus com i 3/ Plan-
Documents

SJCOG, Inc. 2oi9. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  2oi9 Annual Report. http:// ca- sjco 2. civic lus. com/ 17/ Plan-

Documents

SJCOG, Inc. 2020. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  202o Annual Report. htt:// ca- s cog2. ci ic lus. corn/ i jPlan-
Documents

SJCOG, Inc. 202. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  2021 Annual Report. htt// ca- slco$ 2. citi cvlus. com/ 17/ Plan-

Documents

36

816



SJCOG, Inc. 2022. San Joaquin County Multi- species Habitat Conservation and Open
Space Plan:  2022 Annual Report. http•// ca- sjco 2.ci icplus. comji/ Plan-

Documents

Santos, S. M., F. Carvalho, and A. Mira. 2011. How long do the dead survive on the road?
Carcass persistence probability and implications for road-kill monitoring surveys.
PLoS ONE 6( 9): e25383• doi: lo. i37/ journal. pone. 0025383

Shuford, W. D., and T. Gardali, [ eds.]. 2008. California bird species of special concern: a

ranked assessment of species, subspecies, and distinct populations of birds of
immediate conservation concern in California. Studies of Western Birds . Western

Field Ornithologists, Camarillo, California.

Smallwood, K. S. 1995• Scaling Swainson' s hawk population density for assessing
habitat- use across an agricultural landscape. J. Raptor Research 29: i 2- i 8.

Smallwood, K. S. 2022. Utility- scale solar impacts to volant wildlife. Journal of
Wildlife Management: e222i6. htt s• jdoi.or/ 1o. l0o2/' vm . 22216

Smallwood, K. S. and M. L. Morrison. 2oi8. Nest- site selection in a high- density colony
of burrowing owls. Journal of Raptor Research 52 454- 470•

Smallwood, K. S., and N. L. Smallwood. 2o2i.  Breeding Density and Collision Mortality
of Loggerhead Shrike ( Lanius ludouicianus) in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource
Area. Diversity 13 540• htt s:// doi.or Jio. 2/d1 11o540.

Smallwood, K. S., and N. L. Smallwood. 2023.  Measured effects of anthropogenic
development on vertebrate wildlife diversity. Diversity i5: In press.

Smallwood, K.S., S. Geng, and M. Zhang. 2ooi. Comparing pocket gopher( Thomomys
bottae) density in alfalfa stands to assess management and conservation goals in
northern California. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 8: 93- io9.

Smallwood, K. S., B. J. Nakamoto, and S. Geng.  i996. Association analysis of raptors
on an agricultural landscape. Pages 1- 90 in D. M. Bird, D. E. Varland, and J.J.
Negro, eds., Raptors in human landscapes. Academic Press, London.

Swolgaard, C. A., K. A. Reeves, and D. A. Bell. 2008. Foraging by Swainson' s Hawks in a
vineyard-dominated landscape. Journal of Raptor Research 42: i88—i96.

Taylor, P. D., S. A. Mackenzie, B. G. Thurber, A. M. Calvert, A. M. Mills, L. P. McGuire,
and C. G. Guglielmo. 20. Landscape movements of migratory birds and bats
reveal an expanded scale of stopover. PlosOne 6( ii): e2 o54•

doi: io. i3'7/ journal. pone. 002 054•

Warnock, N. 2oio. Stopping vs. staging: the difference between a hop and a jump.
Journal of Avian Biology 4i:62i- 626.

37

817



s-'"," ,   ^       . s.,., .   
r.

r ''` £.

a

v , a," ra  .,

g?d;.-

1 8 F" bh' . i '

ea rc 3   '"   CxA°`. '«.,      p €'

dY.l     t s ,

y. y .}     h   ,
fi

t„

m

r    zd s    ..   „,

s k ŝ7 F u,"' e

g 3 , tn,
s r.   v.' n s  " Irfiti s

x.::   
r,,,

i" . q,       
Y

a,  eg B
t

4

ar 4    ,   T,       E,'        
K , 1'

a €     rs   " 4)  I,

i w

4,

ir

a     

3 
y rm.  ` 4; j; t.,., n        

e`',
r`

p` ,'.     S

a= r,.

f

a

n

nbf.

4 Yrn,

i arzi,
E  

s   ..

f

rr

Swainson' s hawk perched on nest site on south side ofDos Reis Road next to the
project site, 21 September 202,3.

38

818



Kenneth Shawn Smallwood

Curriculum Vitae

3108 Finch Street Born May 3, 1963 in
Davis, CA 95616 Sacramento, California.

Phone ( 530) 756- 4598 Married, father of two.

Cell ( 530) 601- 6857

puma,idcn. or
Ecologist

Expertise

Finding solutions to controversial problems related to wildlife interactions with human
industry, infrastructure, and activities;

Wildlife monitoring and field study using GPS, thermal imaging, behavior surveys;

Using systems analysis and experimental design principles to identify meaningful
ecological patterns that inform management decisions.

Education

Ph. D. Ecology, University of California, Davis. September 1990.
M. S. Ecology, University of California, Davis. June 1987.
B. S. Anthropology, University of California, Davis. June 1985.
Corcoran High School, Corcoran, California. June 1981.

Experience

762 professional reports, including:
90 peer reviewed publications
24 in non- reviewed proceedings

646 reports, declarations, posters and book reviews
8 in mass media outlets

92 public presentations of research results

Editing for scientific journals:  Guest Editor, Wildlife Society Bulletin, 2012- 2013, of invited papers
representing international views on the impacts of wind energy on wildlife and how to mitigate
the impacts. Associate Editor, Journal of Wildlife Management, March 2004 to 30 June 2007.
Editorial Board Member, Environmental Management, 10/ 1999 to 8/ 2004. Associate Editor,

Biological Conservation, 9/ 1994 to 9/ 1995.

Member, Alameda County Scientific Review Committee ( SRC), August 2006 to April 2011. The
five-member committee investigated causes of bird and bat collisions in the Altamont Pass
Wind Resource Area, and recommended mitigation and monitoring measures. The SRC
reviewed the science underlying the Alameda County Avian Protection Program, and advised

1

819



Smallwood CV

the County on how to reduce wildlife fatalities.

Consulting Ecologist, 2004- 2007, California Energy Commission ( CEC). Provided consulting
services as needed to the CEC on renewable energy impacts, monitoring and research, and
produced several reports. Also collaborated with Lawrence- Livermore National Lab on research
to understand and reduce wind turbine impacts on wildlife.

Consulting Ecologist, 1999- 2013, U. S. Navy. Performed endangered species surveys, hazardous
waste site monitoring, and habitat restoration for the endangered San Joaquin kangaroo rat,
California tiger salamander, California red- legged frog, California clapper rail, western
burrowing owl, salt marsh harvest mouse, and other species at Naval Air Station Lemoore;
Naval Weapons Station, Seal Beach, Detachment Concord; Naval Security Group Activity,
Skaggs Island; National Radio Transmitter Facility, Dixon; and, Naval Outlying Landing Field
Imperial Beach.

Part- time Lecturer, 1998- 2005, California State University, Sacramento. Instructed Mammalogy,
Behavioral Ecology, and Ornithology Lab, Contemporary Environmental Issues, Natural
Resources Conservation.

Senior Ecologist, 1999- 2005, BioResource Consultants. Designed and implemented research and

monitoring studies related to avian fatalities at wind turbines, avian electrocutions on electric
distribution poles across California, and avian fatalities at transmission lines.

Chairman, Conservation Affairs Committee, The Wildlife Society-- Western Section, 1999- 2001.
Prepared position statements and led efforts directed toward conservation issues, including
travel to Washington, D. C. to lobby Congress for more wildlife conservation funding.

Systems Ecologist, 1995- 2000, Institute for Sustainable Development. Headed ISD' s program on
integrated resources management. Developed indicators of ecological integrity for large areas,

using remotely sensed data, local community involvement and GIS.

Associate, 1997- 1998, Department of Agronomy and Range Science, University of California,
Davis. Worked with Shu Geng and Mingua Zhang on several studies related to wildlife
interactions with agriculture and patterns of fertilizer and pesticide residues in groundwater
across a large landscape.

Lead Scientist, 1996- 1999, National Endangered Species Network. Informed academic scientists

and environmental activists about emerging issues regarding the Endangered Species Act and
other environmental laws. Testified at public hearings on endangered species issues.

Ecologist, 1997- 1998, Western Foundation of Vertebrate Zoology. Conducted field research to
determine the impact of past mercury mining on the status of California red- legged frogs in
Santa Clara County, California.

Senior Systems Ecologist, 1994- 1995, EIP Associates, Sacramento, California. Provided consulting

services in environmental planning, and quantitative assessment of land units for their
conservation and restoration opportunities basedon ecological resource requirements of 29

special- status species. Developed ecological indicators for prioritizing areas within Yolo County

820



Smallwood CV 3

to receive mitigation funds for habitat easements and restoration.

Post- Graduate Researcher, 1990- 1994, Department of Agronomy and Range Science, U.C. Davis.
Under Dr. Shu Geng' s mentorship, studied landscape and management effects on temporal and
spatial patterns of abundance among pocket gophers and species of Falconiformes and
Carnivora in the Sacramento Valley. Managed and analyzed a data base of energy use in
California agriculture. Assisted with landscape ( GIS) study of groundwater contamination
across Tulare County, California.

Work experience in graduate school:  Co- taught Conservation Biology with Dr. Christine
Schonewald, 1991 & 1993, UC Davis Graduate Group in Ecology; Reader for Dr. Richard
Coss' s course on Psychobiology in 1990, UC Davis Department of Psychology; Research
Assistant to Dr. Walter E. Howard, 1988- 1990, UC Davis Department of Wildlife and Fisheries

Biology, testing durable baits for pocket gopher management in forest clearcuts; Research
Assistant to Dr. Terrell P. Salmon, 1987- 1988, UC Wildlife Extension, Department of Wildlife

and Fisheries Biology, developing empirical models of mammal and bird invasions in North
America, and a rating system for priority research and control of exotic species based on
economic, environmental and human health hazards in California. Student Assistant to Dr. E.

Lee Fitzhugh, 1985- 1987, UC Cooperative Extension, Department of Wildlife and Fisheries

Biology, developing and implementing statewide mountain lion track count for long- term
monitoring.

Fulbright Research Fellow, Indonesia, 1988. Tested use of new sampling methods for numerical
monitoring of Sumatran tiger and six other species of endemic felids, and evaluated methods
used by otherresearchers.

Projects

Repowerin wind energ projects through careful siting of new wind turbines using map- based
collision hazard models to minimize impacts to volant wildlife. Funded by wind companies

principally NextEra Renewable Energy, Inc.), California Energy Commission and East Bay
Regional Park District, I have collaborated with a GIS analyst and managed a crew of five field

biologists performing golden eagle behavior surveys and nocturnal surveys on bats and owls. The
goal is to quantify flight patterns for development of predictive models to more carefully site new
wind turbines in repowering projects. Focused behavior surveys began May 2012 and continue.
Collision hazard models have been prepared for seven wind projects, three of which were built.
Planning for additional repowering projects is underway.

Test avian safety of new mixer-ejector wind turbine ( MEWT. Designed and implemented a before-

after, control- impact experimental design to test the avian safety of a new, shrouded wind turbine
developed by Ogin Inc. ( formerly known as FloDesign Wind Turbine Corporation). Supported by a

718, 000 grant from the California Energy Commission' s Public Interest Energy Research program
and a 20% match share contribution from Ogin, I managed a crew of seven field biologists who

performed periodic fatality searches and behavior surveys, carcass detection trials, nocturnal
behavior surveys using a thermal camera, and spatial analyses with the collaboration of a GIS
analyst. Field work began 1 April 2012 and ended 30 March 2015 without Ogin installing its
MEWTs, but we still achieved multiple important scientific advances.

821



Smallwood CV 4

Reduce avian mortalitydue to wind turbines at Altamont Pass. Studied wildlife impacts caused by
5, 400 wind turbines at the world' s most notorious wind resource area. Studied how impacts are

perceived by monitoring and how they are affected by terrain, wind patterns, food resources, range
management practices, wind turbine operations, seasonal patterns, population cycles, infrastructure
management such as electric distribution, animal behavior and social interactions.

Reduce avian mortality on electric distribution poles. Directed research toward reducing bird
electrocutions on electric distribution poles, 2000- 2007. Oversaw 5 founds of fatality searches at
10, 000 poles from Orange County to Glenn County, California, and produced two large reports.

Cook et al. v. Rockwell International et al., No. 90- K- 181 ( D. Colorado). Provided expert testimony

on the role of burrowing animals in affecting the fate of buried and surface- deposited radioactive
and hazardous chemical wastes at the Rocky Flats Plant, Colorado. Provided expert reports based
on four site visits and an extensive document review of burrowing animals. Conducted transect
surveys for evidence of burrowing animals and other wildlife on and around waste facilities.
Discovered substantial intrusion of waste structures by burrowing animals. I testified in federal
court in November 2005, and my clients were subsequently awarded a $ 553, 000, 000 judgment by a
jury. After appeals the award was increased to two billion dollars.

Hanford Nuclear Reservation Liti a tion. Provided expert testimony on the role of burrowing
animals in affecting the fate of buried radioactive wastes at the Hanford Nuclear Reservation,
Washington. Provided three expert reports based on three site visits and extensive document review.

Predicted and verified a certain population density of pocket gophers on buried waste structures, as
well as incidence of radionuclide contamination in body tissue. Conducted transect surveys for
evidence of burrowing animals and other wildlife on and around waste facilities. Discovered
substantial intrusion of waste structures by burrowing animals.

Expert testimony and declarations on proposed residential and commercial developments, gas- fired
power plants, wind, solar and geothermal projects, water transfers and water transfer delivery
systems, endangered species recovery plans, Habitat Conservation Plans and Natural Communities
Conservation Programs. Testified before multiple government agencies, Tribunals, Boards of
Supervisors and City Councils, and participated with press conferences and depositions. Prepared
expert witness reports and court declarations, which are summarized under Reports ( below).

Protocol- level survesyfor special- status species. Used California Department of Fish and Wildlife

and US Fish and Wildlife Service protocols to search for California red- legged frog, California tiger
salamander, arroyo southwestern toad, blunt- nosed leopard lizard, western pond turtle, giant
kangaroo rat, San Joaquin kangaroo rat, San Joaquin kit fox, western burrowing owl, Swainson' s
hawk, Valley elderberry longhorn beetle and other special- status species.

Conservation of San Joaquin kan aroo rat. Performed research to identify factors responsible for the
decline of this endangered species at Lemoore Naval Air Station, 2000- 2013, and implemented

habitat enhancements designed to reverse the trend and expand the population.

Impact of West Nile Virus on yellow- billed magpies. Funded by Sacramento- Yolo Mosquito and
Vector Control District, 2005- 2008, compared survey results pre- and post- West Nile Virus
epidemic for multiple bird species in the Sacramento Valley, particularly on yellow- billed magpie
and American crow due to susceptibility to WNV.

822



Smallwood CV 5

Workshops on HCPs. Assisted Dr. Michael Morrison with organizing and conducting a 2- day
workshop on Habitat Conservation Plans, sponsored by Southern California Edison, and another 1-
day workshop sponsored by PG& E. These Workshops were attended by academics, attorneys, and
consultants with HCP experience. We guest- edited a Proceedings published in Environmental
Management.

Ma pin of biological resources along Hi hways 101, 46 and 41. Used GPS and GIS to delineate
vegetation complexes and locations of special- status species along 26 miles of highway in San Luis
Obispo County, 14 miles of highway and roadway in Monterey County, and in a large area north of
Fresno, including within reclaimed gravel mining pits.

GPS mappi and monitorin at restoration sites and at Caltrans mitigation sites. Monitored the

success of elderberry shrubs at one location, the success of willows at another location, and the
response of wildlife to the succession of vegetation at both sites. Also used GPS to monitor the

response of fossorial animals to yellow star- thistle eradication and natural grassland restoration
efforts at Bear Valley in Colusa County and at the decommissioned Mather Air Force Base in
Sacramento County.

Mercury effects on Red- le e. Assisted Dr. Michael Morrison and US Fish and Wildlife

Service in assessing the possible impacts of historical mercury mining on the federally listed
California red- legged frog in Santa Clara County. Also measured habitat variables in streams.

Opposition to pro osed No Surprises rule. Wrote a white paper and summary letter explaining
scientific grounds for opposing the incidental take permit ( ITP) rules providing ITP applicants and
holders with general assurances they will be free of compliance with the Endangered Species Act
once they adhere to the terms of a" properly functioning HCP." Submitted 188 signatures of

scientists and environmental professionals concerned about No Surprises rule US Fish and Wildlife
Service, National Marine Fisheries Service, all US Senators.

Natomas Basin Habitat Conservation Plan alternative. Designed narrow channel marsh to increase

the likelihood of survival and recovery in the wild of giant garter snake, Swainson' s hawk and
Valley Elderberry Longhorn Beetle. The design included replication and interspersion of treatments
for experimental testing of critical habitat elements. I provided a report to Northern Territories, Inc.

Assessments of a ricultural production system and environmental technolo y transfer to China.
Twice visited China and interviewed scientists, industrialists, agriculturalists, and the Directors of

the Chinese Environmental Protection Agency and the Department of Agriculture to assess the need
and possible pathways for environmental clean- up technologies and trade opportunities between the
US and China.

Yolo Countv Habitat Conservation Plan. Conducted landscape ecology study of Yolo County to
spatially prioritize allocation of mitigation efforts to improve ecosystem functionality within the
County from the perspective of 29 special- status species of wildlife and plants. Used a
hierarchically structured indicators approach to apply principles of landscape and ecosystem
ecology, conservation biology, and local values in rating land units. Derived GIS maps to help
guide the conservation area design, and then developed implementation strategies.

823



Smallwood CV 6

Mountain lion track count. Developed and conducted a carnivore monitoring program throughout
California since 1985. Species counted include mountain lion, bobcat, black bear, coyote, red and

gray fox, raccoon, striped skunk, badger, and black- tailed deer. Vegetation and land use are also
monitored. Track survey transect was established on dusty, dirt roads within randomly selected
quadrats.

Sumatran tiger and other felids. Upon award of Fulbright Research Fellowship, I designed and
initiated track counts for seven species of wild cats in Sumatra, including Sumatran tiger, fishing
cat, and golden cat. Spent four months on Sumatra and Java in 1988, and learned Bahasa Indonesia,
the official Indonesian language.

Wildlife in agriculture. Beginning as post- graduate research, I studied pocket gophers and other
wildlife in 40 alfalfa fields throughout the Sacramento Valley, and I surveyed for wildlife along a
200 mile road transect since 1989 with a hiatus of 1996- 2004. The data are analyzed using GIS and
methods from landscape ecology, and the results published and presented orally to farming groups
in California and elsewhere. I also conducted the first study of wildlife in cover crops used on
vineyards and orchards.

Agricultural ener y use and Tulare Countv roundwater studv. Developed and analyzed a data base

of energy use in California agriculture, and collaborated on a landscape ( GIS) study of groundwater
contamination across Tulare County, California.

Pocket opher damage in forest clear- cuts. Developed gopher sampling methods and tested various
poison baits and baiting regimes in the largest- ever field study of pocket gopher management in
forest plantations, involving 68 research plots in 55 clear- cuts among 6 National Forests in northern
California.

Risk assessment of exotic species in North America. Developed empirical models of mammal and

bird species invasions in North America, as well as a rating system for assigning priority research
and control to exotic species in California, based on economic, environmental, and human health
hazards.

Peer Reviewed Publications

Smallwood, K. S. 2022. Utility- scale solar impacts to volant wildlife. Journal of Wildlife
Management: e22216. https:// doi. org/ 10. 1002/ jwm Z2216

Smallwood, K. S., and N. L. Smallwood. 2021. Breeding Density and Collision Mortality of
Loggerhead Shrike ( Lanius ludovicianus) in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area. Diversity
13, 540. https:// doi. or/ 10. 3390/ d 131 10540.

Smallwood, K. S.  2020. USA wind energy- caused bat fatalities increase with shorter fatality
search intervals. Diversity 12( 98); IZttps: l/doi. org/ 10. 3390/ d 12030098

Smallwood, K. S., D. A. Bell, and S. Standish. 2020.  Dogs detect larger wind energy impacts on
bats and birds. Journal of Wildlife Management 84: 852- 864. DOL• 10. 1oo2/ jwmg.21863.

Smallwood, K. S., and D. A. Bell. 2020.  Relating bat passage rates to wind turbine fatalities.

824



Smallwood CV

Diversity 12( 84); doi: 10. 3390/ d12020084.

Smallwood, K. S., and D. A. Bell. 2020.  Effects of wind turbine curtailment on bird and bat

fatalities. Journal of Wildlife Management 84: 684- 696. DOL• 10. 1002/ jwmg. 21844

Kitano, M., M. Ino, K. S. Smallwood, and S. Shiraki. 2020.  Seasonal difference in carcass

persistence rates at wind farms with snow, Hokkaido, Japan. Ornithological Science 19: 63 —
71.

Smallwood, K. S. and M. L. Morrison. 2018. Nest- site selection in a high- density colony of

burrowing owls. Journal of Raptor Research 52: 454- 470.

Smallwood, K. S., D. A. Bell, E. L. Walther, E. Leyvas, S. Standish, J. Mount, B. Karas. 2018.

Estimating wind turbine fatalities using integrated detection trials. Journal of Wildlife
Management 82: 1169- 1184.

Smallwood, K. S. 2017. Long search intervals under- estimate bird and bat fatalities caused by
wind turbines.  Wildlife Society Bulletin 41: 224- 230.

Smallwood, K. S. 2017. The challenges of addressing wildlife impacts when repowering wind
energy projects. Pages 175- 187 in Koppel, J., Editor, Wind Energy and Wildlife Impacts:
Proceedings from the CWW2015 Conference. Springer. Cham, Switzerland.

May, R., Gill, A. B., Koppel, J. Langston, R. H. W., Reichenbach, M., Scheidat, M., Smallwood, S.,
Voigt, C. C., Huppop, O., and Portman, M. 2017.  Future research directions to reconcile wind
turbine—wildlife interactions.  Pages 255- 276 in Koppel, J., Editor, Wind Energy and Wildlife
Impacts:  Proceedings from the CWW2015 Conference. Springer. Cham, Switzerland.

Smallwood, K. S.  2017. Monitoring birds.  M. Perrow, Ed., Wildlife and Wind Farms - Conflicts

and Solutions, Volume 2. Pelagic Publishing, Exeter, United Kingdom.  www. bit. ly/ 2v3cR9Q

Smallwood, K. S., L. Neher, and D. A. Bell. 2017.  Turbine siting for raptors: an example from
Repowering of the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area. M. Perrow, Ed., Wildlife and Wind

Farms - Conflicts and Solutions, Volume 2.  Pelagic Publishing, Exeter, United Kingdom.
wwtiv. bit. tX/2v3cR9Q

Johnson, D. H., S. R. Loss, K. S. Smallwood, W. P. Erickson. 2016. Avian fatalities at wind

energy facilities in North America: A comparison of recent approaches.  Human—Wildlife
Interactions 10( 1): 7- 18.

Sadar, M. J., D. S.- M. Guzman, A. Mete, J. Foley, N. Stephenson, K. H. Rogers, C. Grosset, K. S.
Smallwood, J. Shipman, A. Wells, S. D. White, D. A. Bell, and M. G. Hawkins. 2015.  Mange

Caused by a novel Micnemidocoptes mite in a Golden Eagle ( Aquila chrysaetos).  Journal of

Avian Medicine and Surgery 29( 3): 231- 237.

Smallwood, K. S. 2015.  Habitat fragmentation and corridors. Pages 84- 101 in M. L. Morrison and

H. A. Mathewson, Eds., Wildlife habitat conservation: concepts, challenges, and solutions.

John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland, USA.

825



826



Technical Consultation, Data Analysis and
AP  L igation Suppon for the Envlronment

2656 29th Street, Suite 201

Santa Monica, CA 90405

Matt Hagemann, P. G, C. Hg.

949) 887- 9013

mhagemann@swape. com

Paul E. Rosenfeld, PhD

310) 795- 2335

prosenfeld @swape. com

October 4, 2023

Mike Lozeau

Lozeau  Drury LLP

1939 Harrison Street, Suite 150

Oakland, CA 94618

Subject: Comments on the Municipal Code, Central Lathrop Specific Plan( CLSP) Phase 2

Update, And Ashley Warehouse Project

Dear Mr. Lozeau,

We have reviewed the August 2023 Environmental Checklist (" Checklist") forthe Municipal Code,

Central Lathrop Specific Plan ( CLSP) Phase 2 Update, And Ashley Warehouse Project (" Project") located

in the City of Lathrop (" City'). The Project proposes to construct 1, 486, 607- square- feet(" SF") of mixed-

use space, including 1, 352, 347- SF of warehouse space, 110, 000- SF of retail space, 24, 000- SF of office

space, and 2, 046 parking spaces on the 89. 82- acre site.

Our review concludes that the Checklist fails to adequately evaluate the Project' s health risk impacts. As

a result, emissions and health risk impacts associated with construction and operation of the proposed

Project may be underestimated and inadequately addressed. A subsequent Environmental Impact
Report (" EIR") should be prepared to adequately assess and mitigate the potential health risk impacts

that the project may have on the environment.

Air Quality

Diesel Pat ticulate Matter Bmissions Inadequately Eva( uated
The Checklist estimates that the maximum incremental cancer risk posed to nearby, existing sensitive

receptors as a result of heavy- duty diesel trucks during Project operation would be 7. 0 in one million,

which would not exceed the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (" SJVAPCD") significance

threshold of 20 in one million ( see excerpt below) ( p. 44, Table AIR- 4).

827



T rble A7R-4: S mmaay of faxinref ai Neatth Risks

Ras rM rc M iu,t rs, t tt 7'  IsT arQt. 1

T 11RE hi tiLv EA?

Residential Cancer fiisk
7.       20 per million Mc

70- year exposure}

Warkplace Cancer Etisk
1. 3 20 per mil( inr Va

40- yearexpnsure)

Chranic( non- cancer)   0. 1 Hazard lndex? 1 No

Acute non- cancer) Q Hazard lndex>_ i No

SaurrcEs. AERMDD 1I. Z. t1( Ia s E rn+cr v, t v' So' nva, Zt723)„ AND HAR13- 2 AId2I313PERSJ NAdVD' tISK Tt3l1L

However, the Checklist fails to conduct a construction health risk analysis (" HRA") or discuss the toxic air

contaminant (" TAC") emissions associated with Project construction whatsoever. Consequently, the

Checklist' s evaluation of the Project' s potential health risk impacts, as well as the subsequent less- than-

significant impact conclusion, is incorrect for four reasons.

First, the Checklist fails to mention or provide the exposure assumptions for the HRA, such as the age

sensitivity factors (" ASF") or fraction of time at home (" FAH") values whatsoever. Until the Checklist

substantiates the use of correct exposure assumptions, the HRA may underestimate the cancer risk

posed to nearby, existing sensitive receptors because of Project construction. Furthermore, according to
the RiskAssessment Guidelines provided by the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment

OEHHA"), the organization responsible for providing guidance on conducting HRAs in California, the

Checklist' s models should have used the following equation: l

A.  Equa#ion 8. 2. 4 A:    RISKinh- res = DOSEair x CPF x ASF x EDIAT x FAH

7.  RISK inh- res =  Residential inhalation cancer risk

8.  QOSEair      =  Daily inhalation dose { mglkg-day)
9.  CPF Inhalatian cancer potency factor (mg/ kg-day')
10. ASF Age sensitivity factor for a specified age group { unitless)
11. ED Exposure duration ( in years) for a specified age group
12. AT Averaging time for lifetime cancer risk ( years)
13. FAH Fraction of time spent at home { unitless)

The Checklist fails to include a dose and risk equation to calculate the Project' s construction cancer risks.

As such, we cannot verify that the Checklist' s HRA is accurate, and the ProjecYs cancer risks may be
underestimated.

1" Risk Assessment Guidelines Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments." OEHHA, February

2015, available at: https:// oehha. ca. ovlmedia/ downloads/ crnr/ 2015 uidancemanual. pdf, p. 8- 7 Equation 8. 2. 4.

2

828



Second, by failing to prepare a quantified construction HRA, the Checklist is inconsistent with CEQA' s
requirement to correlate the increase in emissions that the Project would generate to the adverse

impacts on human health caused by those emissions. Z This is incorrect, as construction of the proposed

Project will produce DPM emissions through the exhaust stacks of construction equipment over the
total construction duration. However, the Checklist fails to evaluate the potential Project- generated

TACs or indicate the concentrations at which such pollutants would trigger adverse health effects.

Without making a reasonable effort to connect the Project' s construction- related TAC emissions to the

potential health risks posed to nearby receptors, the Checklist is inconsistent with CEQA' s requirement
to correlate the increase in emissions generated by the Project with the potential adverse impacts on
human health.

Third, the State of California Department of Justice recommends that warehouse projects prepare a

quantitative HRA pursuant to OEHHA, the organization responsible for providing guidance on conducting
HRAs in California, as well as local air district guidelines. 3 OEHHA released its most recent Risk

Assessment Guidelines: Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments in February 2015.

This guidance document describes the types of projects that warrant the preparation of an HRA.

Specifically, OEHHA recommends that all short- term projects lasting at least 2 months assess cancer
risks. 4 Furthermore, according to OEHHA:

Exposure from projects lasting more than 6 months should be evaluated for the duration of the

project. In all cases, for assessing risk to residential receptors, the exposure should be assumed
to start in the third trimester to allow for the use of the ASFs ( OEHHA, 2009)."

5

As the Project' s anticipated construction duration likely exceeds the 2- month and 6- month

requirements set forth by OEHHA, construction of the Project meets the threshold warranting a

quantified HRA under OEHHA guidance and should be evaluated for the entire construction period.
These recommendations reflect the most recent state health risk policies, and consequently, a

subsequent EIR should be prepared to include an analysis of health risk impacts posed to nearby

sensitive receptors from Project- generated DPM emissions.

Fourth, while the Checklist includes an HRA evaluating the health risk impacts to nearby, existing

receptors as a result of Project operation, the HRA fails to evaluate the combined lifetime cancer risk to

nearby, existing receptors as a result of Project construction and operation together. According to

OEHHA guidance " the excess cancer risk is calculated separately for each age grouping and then

z" Sierra Club v. County of Fresno." Supreme Court of California, December 2018, available at:
https:// ceqaportal. or/ decisions/ 1907/ Sierra% 20CI u b% 20v.% 20Countv% 20of% 20Fresno. pdf.

3" Warehouse Projects: Best Practices and Mitigation Measures to Comply with the California Environmental

Quality Act." State of California Department of Justice, available at:
https: l/ oa. ca. gov/ sites/ all/ files/ agweb/ pdfs/ environment/ warehouse- best- practices. pdf, p. 6.
4" Risk Assessment Guidelines: Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments." OEHHA, February

2015, available at: https:// oehha. ca. gov/ media/ downloads/ crnr/ 2015 uidancemanual. pdf, p. 8- 18.

5" Risk Assessment Guidelines: Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments." OEHHA, February

2015, available at: https:// oehha. ca. ov/ media/ downloads/ crnr/ 2015 uidancemanual. pdf, p. 8- 18.

3

829



summed to yield cancer risk at the receptor location." 6 However, the Project' s HRA fails to sum each age
bin to evaluate the total cancer risk over the course of the Project' s total construction and operation.

This is incorrect, and an updated analysis should quantify the entirety of the Project' s construction and

operational health risks together and sum them to compare to the SJVAPCD threshold of 20 in one

million, as referenced by the Checklist ( p. 44, Table AIR- 4).

Disclaimer

SWAPE has received limited discovery regarding this project. Additional information may become
available in the future; thus, we retain the right to revise or amend this report when additional

information becomes available. Our professional services have been performed using that degree of

care and skill ordinarily exercised, under similar circumstances, by reputable environmental consultants

practicing in this or similar localities at the time of service. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is
made as to the scope of work, work methodologies and protocols, site conditions, analytical testing

results, and findings presented. This report reflects efforts which were limited to information that was

reasonably accessible at the time of the work, and may contain informational gaps, inconsistencies, or
otherwise be incomplete due to the unavailability or uncertainty of information obtained or provided by

third parties.

Sincerely,

1,2, lC,,....__-
Matt Hagemann, P. G., C. Hg.

µ.     4' L "

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D.

Attachment A: Paul Rosenfeld CV

Attachment B: Matt Hagemann CV

6" Guidance Manual for preparation of Health Risk Assessments." OEHHA, February 2015, available at:
https:// oehha. ca. ov/ media/ downloads/ crnr/ 2015 uidancemanual. pdf p. 8- 4

4

830



Attachment A

c Technicai Consultation, Data Analysis andP G Litigation Support for the Environment

2656 29`h Street, Suite 201
Santa Monica, CA 90405

Matt Hagemann, P. G, C. Hg.

949) 887- 9013

mha emann@swape. com

Matthew F. Hagemann, P.G., C.Hg., QSD, QSP
Geologic and Hydrogeologic Characterization

Investigation and Remediation Strategies

Litigation Support and Testifying Eacpert

Industrial Stormwater Compliance

CEQA Review

Education•

M.S. Degree, Geology, California State University Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, 1984.

B. A. Degree, Geology, Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA, 1982.

Professional Certifications:

California Professional Geologist

California Certified Hydrogeologist

Qualified SWPPP Developer and Practitioner

Professional Experience:

Matt has 30 years of experience in environmental policy, contaminant assessment and remediation,

stormwater compliance, and CEQA review. He spent nine years with the U.S. EPA in the RCRA and

Superfund programs and served as EPA' s Senior Science Policy Advisor in the Western Regional
Office where he identified emerging threats to groundwater from perchlorate and MTBE. While with

EPA, Matt also served as a Senior Hydrogeologist in the oversight of the assessment of seven major

military facilities undergoing base closure. He led numerous enforcement actions under provisions of
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ( RCRA) and directed efforts to improve hydrogeologic

characterizaHon and water quality monitoring. For the past 15 years, as a founding partner with SWAPE,

Matt has developed extensive client relationships and has managed complex projects that include

consultation as an expert witness and a regulatory specialist, and a manager of projects ranging from

industrial stormwater compliance to CEQA review of impacts from hazardous waste, air quality and

greenhouse gas emissions.

Positions Matt has held include:

Founding Partner, Soil/ Water/ Air Protection Enterprise( SWAPE)( 2003— present);

Geology Instructor, Golden West College, 2010— 2104, 2017;
Senior Environmental Analyst, Komex I- 20 Science, Inc.( 2000-- 2003);

831



Executive Director, Orange Coast Watch( 2001- 2004);

Senior Science Policy Advisor and Hydrogeologist, U. S. Environmental Protection Agency( 1989-
1998);

Hydrogeologist, National Park Service, Water Resources Division( 1998- 2000);

Adjunct Faculty Member, San Francisco State University, Department of Geosciences( 1993-
1998);

Instructor, College of Marin, Department of Science( 1990- 1995);

Geologist, U.S. Forest Service( 1986- 1998); and

Geologist, Dames& Moore( 1984- 1986).

Senior Regulatory and Litigation Support Analyst:

With SWAPE, Matt' s responsibilities have included:

Lead analyst and testifying expert in the review of over 300 environmental impact reports
and negative declarations since 2003 under CEQA that identify significant issues with regard
to hazardous waste, water resources, water quality, air quality, greenhouse gas emissions,

and geologic hazards. Make recommendations for additional mitigation measures to lead
agencies at the local and county level to include additional characterization of health risks
and implementation of protective measures to reduce worker exposure to hazards from
toxins and Valley Fever.
Stormwater analysis, sampling and best management practice evaluation at mare than 100 industrial
facilities.

Expert witness on numerous cases including, for example, perfluorooctanoic acid( PFOA)
contamination of groundwater, MTBE litigation, air toxins at hazards at a school, CERCLA
compliance in assessment and remediation, and industrial stormwater contamination.

Technical assistance and litigation support for vapor intrusion concerns.

Lead analyst and testifying expert in the review of environmental issues in license applications
for large solar power plants before the California Energy Commission.
Manager of a project to evaluate numerous formerly used military sites in the western U. S.
Manager of a comprehensive evaluation of potential sources of perchlorate contamination in
Southern California drinking water wells.
Manager and designated expert for litigation support under provisions of Proposition 65 in the
review of releases of gasoline to sources drinking water at major refineries and hundreds of gas
stations throughout California.

With Komex H20 Science Inc., MatYs duties included the following:

Senior author of a report on the extent of perchlorate contamination that was used in testimony

by the former U. S. EPA Administrator and General Counsel.
Senior researcher in the development of a comprehensive, electronically interactive chronology
of MTBE use, research, and regulation.

Senior researcher in the development of a comprehensive, electronically interactive chronology

of perchlorate use, research, and regulation.
Senior researcher in a study that estimates nationwide costs for MTBE remediation and drinking
water treatment, results of which were published in newspapers nationwide and in testimony
against provisions of an energy bill that would limit liability for oil companies.
Research to support litigation to restore drinking water supplies that have been contaminated by
MTBE in California and New York.

2

832



Expert witness testimony in a case of oil production- related contamination in Mississippi.
Lead author for a multi- volume remedial investigation report for an operating school in Los

Angeles that met strict regulatory requirements and rigorous deadlines.

Development of strategic approaches for cleanup of contaminated sites in consultation with
clients and regulators.

Executive Director:

As Executive Director with Orange Coast Watch, Matt led efforts to restore water quality at Orange

County beaches from multiple sources of contamination including urban runoff and the discharge of
wastewater. In reporting to a Board of Directors that included representatives from leading Orange
County universities and businesses, Matt prepared issue papers in the areas of treatment and disinfection
of wastewater and control of the discharge of grease to sewer systems. Matt actively participated in the

development of countywide water quality permits for the control of urban runoff and permits for the

discharge of wastewater. Matt worked with other nonprofits to protect and restore water quality, including

Surfrider, Natural Resources Defense Council and Orange County CoastKeeper as well as with business

institutions including the Orange County Business Council.

Hydrogeology:

As a Senior Hydrogeologist with the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Matt led investigations to

characterize and cleanup closing military bases, including Mare Island Naval Shipyard, Hunters Point
Naval Shipyard, Treasure Island Naval Station, Alameda Naval Station, Moffett Field, Mather Army

Airfield, and Sacramento Army Depot. Specific activities were as follows:

Led efforts to model groundwater flow and contaminant transport, ensured adequacy of
monitoring networks, and assessed cleanup alternatives for contaminated sediment, soil, and
groundwater.

Initiated a regional program for evaluation of groundwater sampling practices and laboratory
analysis at military bases.

Identified emerging issues, wrote technical guidance, and assisted in policy and regulation
development through work on four national U. S. EPA workgroups, including the Superfund
Groundwater Technical Forum and the Federal Facilities Forum.

At the request of the State of Hawaii, Matt developed a methodology to determine the vulnerability of

groundwater to contamination on the islands of Maui and Oahu. He used analytical models and a GIS to
show zones of vulnerability, and the results were adopted and published by the State of Hawaii and

County of Maui.

As a hydrogeologist with the EPA Groundwater Protection Section, Matt worked with provisions of the

Safe Drinking Water Act and NEPA to prevent drinking water contamination. Specific activities included
the following:

Received an EPA Bronze Medal for his contribution to the development of national guidance for

the protection of drinking water.
Managed the Sole Source Aquifer Program and protected the drinking water of two communities
through designation under the Safe Drinking Water Act. He prepared geologic reports, conducted

3

833



public hearings, and responded to public comments f.rom residents who were very concerned
about the impact of designation.

Reviewed a number oE Environmental Impact Statements for planned major developments,
including large hazardous and solid waste disposal facilities, mine reclamation, and water
transfer.

Matt served as a hydrogeologist with the RCRA Hazardous Waste program. Duties were as follows:

Supervised the hydrogeologic investigation of hazardous waste sites to determine compliance
with Subtitle C requirements.

Reviewed and wrote" part B" permits for the disposal of hazardous waste.
Conducted RCRA Corrective Action investigations of waste sites and led inspections that formed
the basis for significant enforcement actions that were developed in close coordination with U.S.

EPA legal counsel.

Wrote contract specifications and supervised contractor' s investigations of waste sites.

With the National Park Service, Matt directed service- wide investigations of contaminant sources to

prevent degradation of water quality, including the following tasks:
Applied pertinent laws and regulations including CERCLA, RCRA, NEPA, NRDA, and the
Clean Water Act to control military, mining, and landfill contaminants.
Condu.cted watershed- scale investigations of contaminants at parks, including Yellowstone and
Olympic National Park.

Identified high- levels of perchlorate in soil adjacent to a national park in New Mexico
and advised park superintendent on appropriate response actions under CERCLA.
Served as a Park Service representative on the Interagency Perchlorate Steering Committee, a

national workgroup.

Developed a program to conduct environmental compliance audits of all National Parks while
serving on a national workgroup.

Co- luthored two papers on the potential for water contamination from the operation of personal
watercraft and snowmobiles, these papers serving as the basis for the development of nation-
wide policy on the use of these vehicles in National Parks.
Contributed to the Federal Multi-Agency Source Water Agreement under the Clean Water
Action Plan.

Policv:

Served seniar management as the Senior Science Policy Advisor with the U. S. Environmental Protection

Agency, Region 9.

Activities included the following:

Advised the Regional Administrator and senior management on emerging issues such as the

potential for the gasoline additive MTBE and ammonium perchlorate to contaminate drinking
water supplies.

Shaped EPA' s national response to these threats by serving on workgroups and by contributing
to guidance, including the Office of Research and Development publication, Oxygenates in
Water: Critical Information and Research Needs.

Improved the technical training of EPA' s scientific and engineering staff.
Earned an EPA Bronze Medal for representing the regiori s 300 scientists and engineers in
negotiations with the Administrator and senior management to better integrate scientific

4

834



principles into the policy- making process.
Established national protocol for the peer review of scientific documents.

GeoloQv:

With the U.S. Forest Service, Matt led investigations to determine hillslope stability of areas proposed for

timber harvest in the central Oregon Coast Range. Specific activities were as follows:

Mapped geology in the field, and used aerial photographic interpretation and mathematical
models to determine slope stability.
Coordinated his research with community members who were concerned with natural resource
protection.

Characterized t ie geology of an aquifer that serves as the sole source of drinking water for the
city of Medford, Oregon.

As a consultant with Dames and Moore, Matt led geologic investigations of two contaminated sites ( later
listed on the Superfund NPL) in the Pordand, Oregon, area and a large hazardous waste site in eastern

Oregon. Duties included the following:

Supervised year- long effort for soil and groundwater sampling.
Conducted aquifer tests.

Investigated active faults beneath sites proposed for hazardous waste disposal.

Teachin:

From 1990 to 1998, Matt taught at least one course per semester at the community college and university
levels:

At San Francisco State University, held an adjunct faculty position and taught courses in
environmental geology, oceanography( lab and lecture), hydrogeology, and groundwater
contamination.

Served as a committee member for graduate and undergraduate students.
Taught courses in environmental geology and oceanography at the College of Marin.

Matt is currendy a part time geology instructor at Golden West College in Huntington Beach, California
where he taught from 2010 to 2014 and in 2017.

Invited Testimonp, R orts, Papers and Presentations:

Hagemann, M. F., 2008. Disclosure of Hazardous Waste Issues under CEQA. Presentation to the Public

Environmental Law Conferen. ce, Eugene, Oregon.

Hagemann, M.F., 2008. Disclosure of Hazardous Waste Issues under CEQA. Invited presentation to U. S.
EPA Region 9, San Francisco, California.

Hagemann, M.F., 2005. Use of Electronic Databases in Environmental Regulation, Policy Making and
Public Participation. Brownfields 2005, Denver, Coloradao.

Hagemann, M. F., 2004. Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River and Impacts to Drinking Water

in Nevada and the Southwestern U. S. Presentation to a meeting of the American Groundwater Trust, Las

Vegas, NV( served on conference organizing committee).

5

835



Hagemann, M.F., 2004. Invited testimony to a California Senate coini ittee hearing on air toxins at
schools in Southern California, Los Angeles.

Brown, A., Farrow, j.,Gray, A. and Hagemann, M., 2004. An Estimate of Costs to Address MTBE
Releases from Underground Storage Tanks and the Resulting Impact to Drinking Water Wells.
Presentation to the Ground Water and Environmental Law Conference, National Groundwater

Association.

Hagernann, M.F., 2004. Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River and Impacts to Drinking Water

in Arizona and the Southwestern U.S. Presentation to a meeting of the American Groundwater Tnist,

Phoenix, AZ( served on conference organizing committee).

Hagemann, M.F., 2003. Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River and Impacts to Drinking Water

in the Southwestern U.S. Invited presentation to a special committee meeting of the National Academy
of Sciences, Irvine, CA.

Hagemann, M. F., 2003. Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River. Invited presentation to a

tribal EPA meeting, Pechanga, CA.

Hagemann, M. F., 2003. Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River. Invited presentation to a

meeting of tribal repesentatives, Parker, AZ.

Hagemann, M.F., 2003. Impact of Perchlorate on the Colorado River and Associated Drinking Water

Supplies. Invited presentation to the Inter-Tribal Meeting, Torres Martinez Tribe.

Hagemann, M. F., 2003. The Emergence of Perchlorate as a Widespread Drinking Water Contaminant.

Invited presentation to the U. S. EPA Region 9.

Hagemann, M.F., 2003. A Deductive Approach to the Assessment of Perchlorate Contamination. Invited

presentation to the California Assembly Natural Resources Committee.

Hagemann, M.F., 2003. Perchlorate: A Cold War Legacy in Drinking Water. Presentation to a meeting of
the Narional Groundwater Association.

Hagemann, M.F., 2002. From Tank to Tap: A Chronology of MTBE in Groundwater. Presentation to a

meeting of the National Groundwater Association.

Hagemann, M.F., 2002. A Chronology of MTBE in Groundwater and an Estimate of Costs to Address
Impacts to Groundwater.  Presentation to the annual meeting of the Society of Environmental

Journalists.

Hagemann, M.F., 2002. An Estimate of the Cost to Address MTBE Contamination in Groundwater

and Who Will Pay). Presentation to a meeting of the National. Groundwater Association.

Hagemann, M. F., 2002. An Estimate of Costs to Address MTBE Releases from Underground Storage

Tanks and the Resulting Impact to Drinking Water Wells. Presentation to a meeting of the U. S. EPA and
State Underground Storage Tank Program managers.

6

836



Hagemann, M. F., 2001.  From Tank to Tap: A Chronology of MTBE in Groundwater.  Unpublished

report.

Hagemann, M.F., 2001.  Estimated Cleanup Cost for MTBE in Groundwater Used as Drinking Water.
Unpublished report.

Hagemann, M.F., 2001. Estimated Costs to Address MTBE Releases from Leaking Underground Storage

Tanks. Unpublished report.

Hagemann,  M.F.,  and VanMouwerik,  M.,  1999.     Potential W a t e r Quality Concerns Related

to Snowmobile Usage. Water Resources Division, National Park Service, Technical Report.

VanMouwerik, M. and Hagemann, M.F. 1999, Water Quality Concerns Related to Personal Watercraft
Usage. Water Resources Division, National Park Service, Technical Report.

Hagemann, M.F., 1999, Is Dilution the Solution to Pollution in National Parks? The George Wright

Society Biannual Meeting, Asheville, North Carolina.

Hagemann, M.F., 1997, ' The Potential for MTBE to Contaminate Groundwater. U. S. EPA Superfund

Groundwater Technical Forum Annual Meeting, Las Vegas, Nevada.

Hagemann, M.F., and Gill, M., 1996, Impediments to Intrinsic Remediation, Moffett Field Naval Air

Station, Conference on Intrinsic Remediation of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons, Salt Lake City.

Hagemann, M.F., Fukunaga, G. L., 1996, The Vulnerability of Groundwater to Anthropogenic

Contaminants on the Island of Maui, Hawaii. Hawaii Water Works Association Annual Meeting, Maui,

October 1996.

Hagemann, M. F., Fukanaga, G. L., 1996, Ranking Groundwater Vulnerability in Central Oahu,

Hawaii. Proceedings, Geographic Information Systems in Environmental Resources Management, Air

and 1Naste Management Association Publication VIP- 61.

Hagemann, M. F., 1994. GroundwaterCharacterization and Cleanup at Closing Niilitary Bases

in California. Proceedings, California Groundwater Resources Association Meeting.

Hagemann, M. F. and Sabol, M.A., 1993. Role of the U. S. EPA in the High Plains States Groundwater

Recharge Demonstration Program. Proceedings, Sixth Biennial Symposium on the Artificial Recharge of

Groundwater.

Hagemann, M.F., 1993. U. S. EPA Policy on the Technical Impracticability of the Cleanup of DNAPL-
contaminated Groundwater. Califarnia Groundwater Resources Association Meetin.

7

837



Hagemann, M.F., 1992. Dense Nonaqueous Phase Liquid Contamination of Groundwater: An Ounce of

Prevention... Proceedings, Association of Engineering Geologists Annual Meeting, v. 35.

Other Experience:

Selected as subject matter expert for the California Professional Geologist licensing examinations,

2009- 2011.

8

838



Attachment B

SWAP E
Technical Consultation, Data Analysis and SO[ L WATER AIR PROTECTION ENTERPR[ SE

Litigation SuppoR for the Environment 2656 29th Street, Suite 201

Santa Monica, California 90405

Attn: Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D.

MobiL( 3l0) 795- 2335

Ot ice:( 310) 452- 5555

Fax( 310) 452- 5 50

Email: prosenfeld! aswape. com

Paul Rosenfeldj Ph. D. Chemical Fate and Transport& Air Dispersion Modeling

Principal Environmenta! Chemist Risk Assessment& Remediation Specialist

Education

Ph. D. Soil Chemistry, University of Washington, 1999. Dissertation on volatile organic compound filtration.

M.S. Environmental Science, U. C. Berkeley, 1995. Thesis on organic waste economics.

B. A. Environmental Studies, U. C. Santa Barbara, 1991. Focus on wastewater treatment.

Professional Experience

Dr. Rosenfeld has over 25 years of experience conducting environmental investigations and risk assessments for

evaluating impacts to human health, property, and ecological receptors. His expertise focuses on the fate and

transport of environmental contaminants, human health risk, exposure assessment, and ecological restoration. Dr.

Rosenfeld has evaluated and modeled emissions from oil spilis, landfills, boilers and incinerators, process stacks,

storage tanks, confined animal feeding operations, industrial, military and agricultural sources, unconventional oil

drilling operations, and locomotive and construction engines. His project experience ranges from monitoring and

mode( ing of pollution sources to evaluating impacts of poilution on workers at industrial facilities and residents in

surrounding communities.  Dr. Rosenfeld has also successfully modeled exposure to contaminants distributed by

water systems and via vapor intrusion.

Dr. Rosenfeld has investigated and designed remediation programs and risk assessments for contaminated sites

containing lead, heavy metals, mold, bacteria, particulate matter, petroleum hydrocarbons, chlorinated solvents,

pesticides, radioactive waste, dioxins and furans, semi- and volatile organic compounds, PCBs, PAHs, creosote,

perch( orate, asbestos, per- and poly- fluoroalkyl substances ( PFOAlPFOS), tmusual polymers, fuel oxygenates

MTBE), among other pollutants. Dr. Rosenfeld also has experience evaluating greenhouse gas emissions from

various projects and is an expert on the assessment of odors from industrial and agricultural sites, as well as the

evaluation of odor nuisance impacts and technologies for abatement of odorous emissions.  As a principal scientist

at SWAPE, Dr. Rosenfeld directs air dispersion modeling and exposure assessments.  He has served as an expert

witness and testified about pollution sources causing nuisance and/ or personal injury at sites and has testified as an

expert witness on numerous cases involving exposure to soil, water and air contaminants from industrial, railroad,

agricultural, and military sources.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 1 of 12 October 2022

839



Professional History:

Soil Water Air Protection Enterprise( SWAPE); 2003 to present; Principal and Founding Partner
UCLA School of Public Health; 2007 to 2011; Lecturer( Assistant Researcher)

UCLA School of Public Health; 2003 to 2006; Adjunct Professor

UCLA Environmental Science and Engineering Program; 2002- 2004; Doctoral Intern Coordinator
UCLA Institute of the Environment, 2001- 2002; Research Associate

Komex Hz0 Science, 2001 to 2003; Senior Remediation Scientist

National Groundwater Association, 2002- 2004; Lecturer

San Diego State University, 1999- 2001; Adjunct Professor
Anteon Corp., San Diego, 2000- 2001; Remediation Project Manager
Ogden( now Amec), San Diego, 2000- 2000; Remediation Project Manager

Bechtel, San Diego, California, 1999— 2000; Risk Assessor

King County, Seattle, 1996— 1999; Scientist

James River Corp., Washington, 1995- 96; Scientist

Big Creek Lumber, Davenport, California, 1995; Scientist
Plumas Corp., California and USFS, Tahoe 1993- 1995; Scientist
Peace Corps and World Wildlife Fund, St. Kitts, West Indies, 1991- 1993; Scientist

Publications:

Rosenfeld P. E., Spaeth K., Hallman R., Bressler R., Smith, G.,( 2022) Cancer Risk and Diesel Exhaust Exposure

Among Railroad Workers. Water Air Soil Pol/iEtion. 233, 171.

Remy, L.L., Clay T., Byers, V., Rosenfeld P. E.( 2019) Hospital, Health, and Community Burden After Oil
Refinery Fires, Richmond, California 2007 and 2012. Environ» rental f/ealth. 18: 48

Simons, R. A., Seo, Y. Rosenfeld, P.,( 2015) Modeling the Effect of Refinery Emission On Residential Property
Value. Journal of Real Estate Research. 27( 3): 321- 342

Chen, J. A, Zapata A. R., Sutherland A. J., Molmen, D. R., Chow, B. S., Wu, L. E., Rosenfeld, P. E., Hesse, R. C.,

2012) Sulfur Dioxide and Volatile Organic Compound Exposure To A Community In Texas City Texas Evaluated

Using Aermod and Empirical Data.  American Journa/ of Environmental Science, 8( 6), 622- 632.

Rosenfeld, P. E.& Feng, L. (2011). The Risks of Ha=ardo«s Waste. Amsterdam: Elsevier Publishing.

Cheremisinoff, N. P., & Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2011). Handbook of Pollz tion Prevention and Cleaner Production: Best
Practices in the Agrochemical lndustry, Amsterdam: Elsevier Publishing.

Gonzalez, J.,  Feng, L., Sutherland, A., Waller, C., Sok, H., Hesse, R.,  Rosenfeld, P. ( 2010).  PCBs and

Dioxins/ Furans in Attic Dust Collected Near Former PCB Production and Secondary Copper Facilities in Sauget, IL.
Procedia F.nvironmental Sciences. 113- 125.

Feng, L., Wu, C., Tam, L., Sutherland, A. J., Clark, J. J., Rosenfeld, P. E.( 2010). Dioxin and Furan Blood Lipid and
Attic Dust Concentrations in Populations Living Near Four Wood Treatment Facilities in the United States. Journal
of Environmental flealth. 73( 6), 34- 46.

Cheremisinoff, N. P., & Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2010). Handbook of Pollattion Prevention and Cleaner Prodiiction: Best
Practices in the Wood and Paper Industries. Amsterdam: Elsevier Publishing.

Cheremisinoff, N. P., & Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2009). Handbook of Pollzetion Prevention and Cleaner Production: Best

Pr actices in the Petroleum Industry. Amsterdam: Elsevier Publishing.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 2 of 12 October 2022

840



Wu, C., Tam, L., Clark, J., Rosenfeld, P. ( 2009). Dioxin and furan blood lipid concentrations in populations living
near four wood treahnent facilities in the United States. WIT Tr ansactions on Ecolo and the Envir• onment, Air

Po/[ ution, 123( l7), 319- 327.

Tam L. K.., Wu C. D., C( ark J. J. and Rosenfeld, P. E.( 2008). A Statistical Analysis Of Attic Dust And Blood Lipid

Concentrations Of Tetrachloro- p- Dibenzodioxin  ( TCDD)  Toxicity Equivalency Quotients  ( TEQ)  In Two

Populations Near Wood Treatment Facilities. Organohalogen Compoa nds, 70, 002252- 002255.

Tam L. K.., Wu C. D., Clark J. J. and Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2008). Methods For Collect Samples For Assessing Dioxins
And Other Environmental Contaminants In Attic Dust: A Review.   O ganohalogen Compoz nd.s, 70, 000527-
000530.

Hensley, A.R. A. Scott, J. J. J. C( ark, Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2007). Attic Dust and Human Biood Samples Collected near
a Former Wood Treatment Facility. Envir•onmental Research. 105, 194- 197.

Rosenfeld, P. E., J. J. J. Clark, A. R. Hensley, M. Suffet. ( 2007). The Use of an Odor Wheel Classification for

Evaluation of Human Health Risk Criteria for Compost Facilities. 1" ater Science c c Technology 55( 5), 345- 357.

Rosenfeld, P. E., M. Suffet. ( 2007). The Anatomy Of Odour Wheels For Odours Of Drinking Water, Wastewater,
Compost And The Urban Environment. Water Science& Technolo 55( 5), 335- 344.

Sullivan, P. J. Clark, J. J. J., Agardy, F. J., Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 2007). Toxic Gegacy, Synthetic Toxins in the Food,
Water, and Air in American Cities. Boston Massachusetts: Elsevier Publishing

Rosenfeld, P. E., and Suffet LH. ( 2004). Control of Compost Odor Using High Carbon Wood Ash. Water Science
and Technology. 49( 9), 171- 178.

Rosenfeld P. E., J. J. Clark, I. H. ( Mel) Suffet( 2004). The Value of An Odor- Quality- Wheel C( assification Scheme
For The Urban Environment. Water Environment Federation' s Technical Exhibition and Conference ( 6t FFTF.C)

2004. New Orleans, October 2- 6, 2004.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and Suffet, I. H. ( 2004). Understanding Odorants Associated With Compost, Biomass Facilities,
and the Land Application of Biosolids. Y' ater Science and 7echnology. 49( 9), 193- 199.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and Suffet I.H. ( 2004). Control of Compost Odor Using High Carbon Wood Ash, w'ater Science
anc Technology, 49( 9), 171- 178.

Rosenfeld, P. E., Grey, M. A., Sellew, P. ( 2004). Measurement of Biosolids Odor and Odorant Emissions from

Windrows, Static Pile and Biofilter. Water Environment Reseai ch. 76( 4), 310- 315.

Rosenfeld, P. E., Grey, M and Suffet, M. ( 2002). Compost Demonstration Project, Sacramento California Using
High- Carbon Wood Ash to Control Odor at a Green Materia( s Composting Facility. Integrated Waste Management
Boa d Public Affairs O ce, Publications Clearinghouse( MS- 6), Sacramento, CA Publication# 442- 02- 008.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and C. L. Henry. ( 2001). Characterization of odor emissions from three different biosolids. W'ater

Soil and Air Pollution. 127( 1- 4), U3- 191.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and Henry C. L., ( 2000). Wood ash control of odor emissions from biosolids application. Journal

of Environmental Quality. 29, 1662- 1668.

Rosenfeld, P. E., C. L. Henry and D. Bennett. ( 2001). Wastewater dewatering polymer affect on biosolids odor
emissions and microbial activity. 6[ ater Environment Research. 73( 4), 363- 367.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and C. L. Henry. ( 2001). Activated Carbon and Wood Ash Sorption of Wastewater, Compost, and

Biosolids Odorants. G ater Environment Researeh, 73, 388- 393.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 3 of 12 October 2022

841



Rosenfeld, P. E., and Henry C. L., ( 2001). High carbon wood ash effect on biosolids microbial activity and odor.
Water Environment Research. 131( 1- 4), 247- 262.

Chollack, T. and P. Rosenfeld. ( 1998). Compost Amendment Handbook For Landscaping. Prepared for and
distributed by the City of Redmond, Washington State.

Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 1992). The Mount Liamuiga Crater Trail. Heritage Magazine ofSt. Kitts, 3( 2).

Rosenfeld, P. E.  ( 1993). High School Biogas Project to Prevent Deforestation On St. Kitts.  Biomass Users

Nettivork, 7( 1).

Rosenfeld, P. E.   ( 1998). Characterization, Quantification, and Control of Odor Emissions From Biosolids
Application To Forest Soil. Doctoral Thesis. University of Washington College of Forest Resources.

Rosenfeld, P. E. ( 1994).  Potential Utilization of Small Diameter Trees on Sierra County Public Land. Masters

thesis reprinted by the Sierra County Economic CounciL Sierra County, California.

Rosenfeld, P. E.( 1991). How to Build a Small Rural Anaerobic Digester& Uses Of Biogas In The First And Third

World. Bachelors Thesis. University of California.

Presentations:

Rosenfeld, P. E., " The science for Perfluorinated Chemicals ( PFAS): What makes remediation so hard?" Law

Seminars International,( May 9- 10, 2018) 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite lO l Seattle, WA.

Rosenfeld, P. E., Sutherland, A; Hesse, R.; Zapata, A. ( October 3- 6, 2013). Air dispersion modeling of volatile
organic emissions from multiple natural gas wells in Decatur, TX. 4th G' estern Regional tifeeting American
Chemical Society. Lecture conducted from Santa Clara, CA.

Sok, H.L.; Waller, C. C.; Feng, L.; Gonzalez, J.; Sutherland, A.J.; Wisdom- Stack, T.; Sahai, R. K.; Hesse, R. C.;

Rosenfeld,   P. E.   ( June 20- 23,   2010).   Atrazine:   A Persistent Pesticide in Urban Drinking Water.

Urban Environmental Pollution. Lecture conducted from Boston, MA.

Feng, L.; Gonzalez, J.; Sok, H.L.; Sutherland, A.J.; Waller, C. C.; Wisdom- Stack, T.; Sahai, R. K.; La, M.; Hesse,
R. C.;   Rosenfeld,   P. E.   ( June 20- 23,   2010).   Bringing Environmental Justice to East St.   Louis,

Illinois. Urban Environmental Pollution. Lecture conducted from Boston, MA.

Rosenfeld, P. E. ( April 19- 23, 2009). Perfluoroctanoic Acid ( PFOA) and Perfluoroactane Sulfonate ( PFOS)

Contamination in Drinking Water From the Use of Aqueous Film Forming Foams( AFFF) at Airports in the United
States. 2009 Cround Water Summit and 2009 Groz nd Water• Protection Council Spring tleeting, Lecture conducted
from Tuscon, AZ.

Rosenfeld, P. E. ( April 19- 23, 2009). Cost to Filter Atrazine Contamination from Drinking Water in the United

States" Contamination in Drinking Water From the Use of Aqueous Film Forming Foams ( AFFF) at Airports in the
United States. 2009 Cround Water Summit and 2009 Groaend Water Protection Council Spring Meeling. Lecture
conducted from Tuscon, AZ.

Wu, C., Tam, L., Clark, J., Rosenfeld, P. ( 20- 22 July, 2009). Dioxin and furan blood lipid concentrations in

populations living near four wood treatment facilities in the United States. Brebbia, C. A. and Popov, V., eds., Air
Pollz tion X6' Ll.•  Proceedings of the Seventeenth  / nternational Conference on Alodeling,  i tonitoring and
Manngement ofAir Pollution. Lecture conducted from Tallinn, Estonia.

Rosenfeld, P. E. ( October 15- 18, 2007). Moss Point Community Exposure To Contaminants From A Releasing

Facility. The 23rd Annual/ nternational Conferences on Soils Sediinent nnd Water. Platform lecture conducted from
University of Massachusetts, Amherst MA.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 4 of 12 October 2022

842



Rosenfeld,  P.  E. ( October 15- 18, 2007). The Repeated Trespass of Tritium- Contaminated Water Into A

Surrounding Community Form Repeated Waste Spills From A Nuclear Power Plant. The 23" Annual lnternational
Confe- ences on Soils Sediment und Wcrter. Platform lecture conducted from University of Massachusetts, Amherst
MA.

Rosenfeld, P. E.( October 15- 18, 2007). Somerville Community Exposure To Contaminants From Wood Treatment
Facility Emissions. The 23r` An rual International Conferences on Soils Sediment and Water. Lecture conducted
from University of Massachusetts, Amherst MA.

Rosenfeld P. E. ( March 2007). Production, Chemical Properties, Toxicology, & Treatment Case Studies of 1, 2, 3-

Trichloropropane( TCP). The Association for Environmental Health and Sciences( AF,HS) Annual A9eeting. Lecture
conducted from San Diego, CA.

Rosenfeld P. E. ( March 2007). Blood and Attic Sampling for Dioxin/ Furan, PAH, and Metal Exposure in Florala,
Alabama. The AEIfS Anm al leeting. Lecture conducted from San Diego, CA.

Hensley A. R., Scott, A., Rosenfeld P. E., Clark, J. J. J. ( August 21 — 25, 2006). Dioxin Containing Attic Dust And
Human Blood Samples Collected Near A Former Wood Treatment Facility.  The 26th Intei nationa! Symposiarm on

f alogenated Persisteht Organic Pollcrtants — DIOXIN2006. Lecture conducted from Radisson SAS Scandinavia

Hotel in Oslo Norway.

Hensley A. R., Scott, A., Rosenfeld P. E., Clark, J. J. J.  ( November 4- 8, 2006). Dioxin Containing Attic Dust And
Human Blood Samples Collected Near A Former Wood Treatment Facility.   APHA l3 Annaeal Aleeting &

F position. Lecture conducted from Boston Massachusetts.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( October 24- 25, 2005). Fate, Transport and Persistence of PFOA and Related Chemicals.

Mealey' s C8/ PFOA. Science, Risk & Gitigation Conference.   Lecture conducted from The Rittenhouse Hotel,

Philadelphia, PA.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( September 19, 2005). Brominated Flame Retardants in Groundwater: Pathways to Human

Ingestion, "loxicology and Remediation PEMA Emerging Contaminant Conference. Lecture conducted from Hilton
Hotel, [ rvine California.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( September 19, 2005). Fate, Transport, Toxicity, And Persistence of 1, 2, 3- TCP. PF,r1 1A
Emerging Contamirrant Conference. Lecture conducted from Hilton Hotel in Irvine, California.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D.( September 26- 27, 2005). Fate, Transport and Persistence of PDBEs. Afealey' s Groirndwater
Conference. Lecture conducted from Ritz Carlton Hotel, Marina Del Ray, California.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( June 7- 8, 2005). Fate, Transport and Persistence of PFOA and Related Chemicals.

nternatianal Society of F.nvironnxental Forensics: Focus On F,merging Contaminants.  Lecture conducted from

Sheraton Oceanfront Hotel, Virginia Beach, Virginia.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( July 21- 22, 2005). Fate Transport, Persistence and Toxicology of PFOA and Related
Perfluorochemicals. 2005 National Groundivater Associalion Ground Water And Environrraental Lcnv Conference.

Lecture conducted from Wyndham Baltimore [ nner Harbor, Baltimore Maryland.

Paul Rosenfeld Ph. D. ( July 21- 22, 2005). Brominated Flame Retardants in Groundwater: Pathways to Human

Ingestion,  Toxicology and Remediation.    200. i Natiorral Groundwater Association Grotand Water and

Environmental Law Conference. Lecture conducted from Wyndham Baltimore Inner Harbor, Baltimore Maryland.

Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. and James Clark Ph. D. and Rob Hesse R.G. ( May 5- 6, 2004). Tert- butyl Alcohol Liability
and Toxicology, A National Problem and Unquantified Liability. National G ounchvater Association. Environmental
Law Conference. Lecture conducted from Congress Plaza Hotel, Chicago Illinois.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 5 of 12 October 2022

843



Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. ( March 2004).  Perchlorate Toxicology. Meeting of the Amer• ican Groundtivater T'rzrst.
Lecture conducted from Phoenix Arizona.

Hagemann, M. F., Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. and Rob Hesse( 2004). Perchlorate Contamination of the Colorado River.

A leeting of tribal representatives. Lecture conducted from Parker, AZ.

Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. ( April 7, 2004). A National Damage Assessment Model For PCE and Dry Cleaners.
Drycleuner Symposium. California Grozrnd Y' ater Association. Lecture conducted from Radison Hotel, Sacramento,

California.

Rosenfeld, P. E., Grey, M., ( June 2003) Two stage biofilter for biosolids composting odor control. Seventh
Inter national/ n Sitz And On Site Bioremediation Symposium Battelle Conference Orlando, FL.

Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. and James Clark Ph. D. ( February 20- 21, 2003) Understanding Historical Use, Chemical
Properties, Toxicity and Regulatory Guidance of 1, 4 Dioxane. National Grouna'water Association. Southwest Focus
Conference. Water Supply and Emerging Contaminants.. Lecture conducted from Hyatt Regency Phoenix Arizona.

Paul Rosenfeld, Ph. D. ( February 6- 7, 2003). Underground Storage Tank Litigation and Remediation. California

CUP,9 Forum. Lecture conducted from Marriott Hotel, Anaheim Ca( ifornia.

Paul Rosenfeld,  Ph. D.  ( October 23, 2002) Underground Storage Tank Litigation and Remediation.  EPA

Underground Storage Tank Roundtable. Lecture conducted from Sacramento California.

Rosenfeld, P. E. and Suffet, M. ( October 7- 10, 2002). Understanding Odor from Compost, Wastetivater and
Industrial Processes. Sixth Anni al Symposium On Off Flavors in the Aquatic Environment. International b ater
4ssociation. Lecture conducted from Barcelona Spain.

Rosenfeld, P. E. and Suffet, M. ( October 7- 10, 2002). Using High Carbon Wood Ash to Control Compost Odor.
Sixth Anyn al Symposium On Off Flavors in the Aquatic Environment. Interhational bi ater Association. Lecture
conducted from Barcelona Spain.

Rosenfeld, P. E. and Grey, M. A. ( September 22- 24, 2002). Biocycle Composting For Coastal Sage Restoration.
Nor•thtivest Biosolids Management lssociation. Lecture conducted from Vancouver Washington..

Rosenfeld, P. E. and Grey, M. A.( November 11- 14, 2002). Using High- Carbon Wood Ash to Control Odor at a
Green Materials Composting Eacility. Soil Science Sociery Annual Conference. Lecture conducted from
ndianapolis, Maryland.

Rosenfeld.  P. E. ( September 16, 2000). Two stage biofilter for biosolids composting odor control.  Water

F_nvironment Federation. Lecture conducted from Anaheim California.

Rosenfeld. P. E. ( October 16, 2000). Wood ash and biofilter control of compost odor. 6iofest. Lecture conducted

from Ocean Shores, California.

Rosenfeld,  P. E.  ( 2000).  Bioremediation Using Organic Soil Amendments.  California Resource Recovery
Association. Lecture conducted from Sacramento California.

Rosenfeld, P. E., C. L. Henry, R. Harrison.  ( 1998).  Oat and Grass Seed Germination and Nitrogen and Sulfur

Emissions Following Biosolids Incorporation With High- Carbon Wood- Ash. Water Environment F'ederation 12th
Annual Residuals and Biosolids Management Conference Proceedings.  Lecture conducted from Bellevue

Washington.

Rosenfeld, P. E., and C. L. Henry. ( 1999). An evaluation of ash incorporation with biosolids for odor reduction. Soi!

Science Society ofAmerica. Lecture conducted from Salt Lake City Utah.

Paul E. Rosenfeid, Ph. D. Page 6 of 12 October 2022

844



Rosenfeld, P. E., C. L. Henry, R. Harrison.  ( 1998). Comparison of Microbial Activity and Odor Emissions from
Three Different Biosolids Applied to Forest Soil. Brown and Caldtivell. Lecture conducted from Seattle Washington.

Rosenfeld, P. E., C. L. Henry.  ( 1998).  Characterization, Quantification, and Control of Odor Emissions from
Biosolids Application To Forest Soil. Biofest. Lecture conducted from Lake Chelan, Washington.

Rosenfeld, P. E, C. L. Henry, R. Harrison. ( 1998). Oat and Grass Seed Germination and Nitrogen and Sulfur

Emissions Following Biosolids Incorporation With High- Carbon Wood- Ash. Water Environment Federation 12th
Annual Residuals and Biosolids Management Conference Proceedings.  Lecture conducted from Bellevue

Washington.

Rosenfeld, P. E., C. L. Henry, R. B. Harrison, and R. Dills.  ( 1997). Comparison of Odor Emissions From Three

Different Biosolids Applied to Forest Soil.  Soi! Science Sociery of America. Lecture conducted from Anaheim
California.

Teaching Experience:

UCLA Department of Environmental Heaith ( Summer 2003 through 20010) Taught Environmental Health Science

l00 to students, including undergrad, medical doctors, public health professionals and nurses.  Course focused on
the health effects of environmental contaminants.

National Ground Water Association, Successful Remediation Technologies. Custom Course in Sante Fe, New

Mexico. May 21, 2002.  Focused on fate and transport of fuel contaminants associated with underground storage
tanks.

National Ground Water Association; Successful Remediation Technologies Course in Chicago [ llinois. April l,

2002. Focused on fate and transport of contaminants associated with Superfund and RCRA sites.

California [ ntegrated Waste Management Board, April and May, 2001. Alternative Landfill Caps Seminar in San
Diego, Ventura, and San Francisco. Focused on both prescriptive and innovative landfill cover design.

UCLA Department of Environmental Engineering,  February 5, 2002.  Seminar on Successful Remediation
Technologies focusing on Groundwater Remediation.

University Of Washington, Soi( Science Program, Teaching Assistant for several courses including: Soil Chemistry,
Organic Soil Amendments, and Soil Stabi( ity.

U. C. Berkeley, Environmental Science Program Teaching Assistant for Environmental Science 10.

Academic Grants Awarded:

California lntegrated Waste Management Board. $ 41, 000 grant awarded to UCLA Institute of the Environment.
GoaL• To investigate effect of high carbon wood ash on volatile organic emissions from compost. 2001.

Synagro Technologies, Corona California: $( 0, 000 grant awarded to San Diego State University.
Goal: investigate effect of biosolids for restoration and remediation of degraded coastal sage soils. 2000.

King County, Department of Research and Technotogy, Washington State. $ 100, 000 grant awarded to University of
Washington: Goal: To investigate odor emissions from biosolids application and the effect of polymers and ash on
VOC emissions. 1998.

Northwest Biosolids Management Association, Washington State.  $ 20, 000 grant awarded to investigate effect of
polymers and ash on VOC emissions from biosolids. 1997.

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 7 of 12 October 2022

845



James River Corporation, Oregon: $ 10, 000 grant was awarded to investigate the success of genetically engineered
Poplar trees with resistance to round- up. 1996.

United State Forest Service, Tahoe National Forest: $ 15, 000 grant was awarded to investigating fire ecology of the
Tahoe National Forest. 1995.

Kellogg Foundation, Washington D. C. $ 500 grant was awarded to construct a large anaerobic digester on St. Kitts
in West Indies. 1993

Deposition and/or Trial Testimony:

In the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Bernardino

Billy Wildrick, Piaintiff vs. BNSF Railway Company
Case No. CIVDS1711810

Rosenfeld Deposition 10- 17- 2022

ln the State Court of Bibb County, State of Georgia
Richard Hutcherson, Plaintiff vs Norfolk Southern Railway Company
Case No. 10- SCCV- 092007

Rosenfeld Deposition 10- 6- 2022

In the Civi) District Court of the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana

Millard Clark, Plaintiff vs. Dixie Carriers, [ nc. et a(.

Case No. 2020- 03891

Rosenfeld Deposition 9- 15- 2022

In The Circuit Court of Livingston County, State of Missouri, Circuit Civi( Division
Shirley Ralls, Plaintiff vs. Canadian Pacific Railway and Soo Line Railroad
Case No. 18- LV- CC0020

Rosenfeld Deposition 9- 7- 2022

n The Circuit Court of the l3th Judicial Circuit Court, Hillsborough County, Florida Civil Division
Jonny C. Daniels, Plaintiff vs. CSX Transportation Inc.
Case No. 20- CA- 5502

Rosenfe( d Deposition 9- 1- 2022

In The Circuit Court of St. Louis County, State of Missouri
Kieth Luke et. aL Plaintiff vs. Monsanto Company et. al.
Case No. 19SL- CC03191

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 25- 2022

In The Circuit Court ofthe l3th Judicial Circuit Court, Hillsborough County, Florida Civil Division
Jeffery S. Lamotte, Plaintiff vs. CSX Transportation Inc.
Case No. NO. 20- CA- 0049

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 22- 2022

In State of Minnesota District Court, County of St. Louis Sixth Judicia( District
Greg Bean, Plaintiff vs. Soo Line Railroad Company
Case No. 69- DU- CV- 21- 760

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 17- 2022

In United States District Court Western District of Washington at Tacoma, Washington

John D. Fitzgerald Plaintiffvs. BNSF

Case No. 3: 21- cv-05288- RJB

Rosenfe( d Deposition 8- 11- 2022

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 8 of 12 October 2022

846



ln Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Macon Illinois

Rocky Bennyhoff Plaintiff vs. Norfolk Southern
Case No. 20- L- 56

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 3- 2022

In Court of Common Pleas, Hamilton County Ohio
Joe Briggins Plaintiff vs. CSX

Case No. A2004464

Rosenfeld Deposition 6- 17- 2022

In the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Kern
George LaFazia vs. BNSF Railway Company.
CaseNo. BCV- 19- 103087

Rosenfeld Deposition 5- 17- 2022

n the Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois
Bobby Earles vs. Penn Centra( et. al.
Case No. 2020- L- 000550

Rosenfeld Deposition 4- 16- 2022

In United States District Court Easter District of Florida

Albert Hartman Plaintiffvs. Illinois Central

Case No. 2: 20- cv- 1633

Rosenfeld Deposition 4- 4- 2022

In the Circuit Court of the 4' Judicial Circuit, in and For Duval County, Florida
Barbara Steele vs. CSX Transportation

Case No. 16- 219- Ca- 008796

Rosenfeld Deposition 3- 15- 2022

In United States District Court Easter District of New York

Romano et al. vs. Northrup Grumman Corporation
Case No. l6- cv- 5760

Rosenfeld Deposition 3- 10- 2022

n the Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois
Linda Benjamin vs. [ llinois Central

Case Na No. 2019 L 007599

Rosenfeld Deposition i- 26- 2022

In the Circuit Court of Cook County lllinois
Donald Smith vs. Illinois Central

Case No. No. 2019 L 003426

Rosenfeld Deposition 1- 24- 2022

n the Circuit Court of Cook County [ Ilinois
Jan Holeman vs. BNSF

Case No. 2019 L 000675

Rosenfeld Deposition 1- 18- 2022

In the State Court of Bibb County State of Georgia
Dwayne B. Garrett vs. Norfolk Southern

Case No. 20- SCCV- 091232

Rosenfeld Deposition I 1- 10- 2021

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 9 of l2 October 2022

847



In the Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois
Joseph Ruepke vs. BNSF

Case No. 2019 L 007730

Rosenfeld Deposition 11- 5- 2021

In the United States District Court For the District of Nebraska

Steven Gillett vs. BNSF

Case No. 4: 20- cv- 03120

Rosenfeld Deposition 10- 28- 2021

In the Montana Thirteenth District Court of Yellowstone County
James Eadus vs. Soo Line Railroad and BNSF

CaseNo. DV 19- 1056

Rosenfeld Deposition 10- 21- 2021

In the Circuit Court Of The Twentieth Judicia( Circuit, St Clair County, [] linois

Martha Custer et aLcvs. Cerro Flow Products, Inc.

Case No. Oi9- L- 2295

Rosenfeld Deposition 5- 14- 2021

Trial October 8- 4- 2021

In the Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois
Joseph Rafferty vs. Consolidated Rail Corporation and National Railroad Passenger Corporation d/ b/ a
AMTRAK,

Case No. 18- L- 6845

Rosenfeld Deposition 6- 28- 2021

In the United States District Court For the Northern District of Illinois

Theresa Romcoe vs. Northeast Illinois Regional Commuter Railroad Corporation d/ b/ a METRA Rail

Case No. 17- cv- 8517

Rosenfeld Deposition 5- 25- 2021

In the Superior Court of the State of Arizona In and For the Cunty of Maricopa
Mary Tryon et al. vs. The City ofPheonix v. Cox Cactus Farro, L. L. C., Utah Shelter Systems, [ nc.
Case No. CV20127- 094749

Rosenfeld Deposition 5- 7- 2021

In the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas Beaumont Division

Robinson, Jeremy et al vs. CNA Insurance Company et al.
Case No. 1: 17- cv- 000508

Rosenfeld Deposition 3- 25- 2021

n the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Bernardino
Gary Garner, Personal Representative for the Estate of Melvin Garner vs. BNSF Railway Company.
Case No. 1720288

Rosenfeld Deposition 2- 23- 2021

In the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Spring Street Courthouse
Benny M Rodriguez vs. Union Pacific Railroad, A Corporation, et al.
Case No. 18STCV01162

Rosenfeld Deposition 12- 23- 2020

In the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Missouri
Karen Cornwell, Plaintiff, vs. Marathon Petroleum, LP, Defendant.

Case No. 1716- CV 10006

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 30- 2019

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 10 of 12 October 2022

848



In the United States District Court For The District of New Jersey
Duarte et al, P( aintiffs, vs. United States Metals Refining Company et. al. Defendant.
Case No. 2: 17- cv-01624- ES- SCM

Rosenfeld Deposition 6- 7- 2019

In the United States District Court of Southern District of Texas Galveston Division

M/T Carla Maersk vs. Conti 168., Schiffahrts- GMBH& Co. Bulker KG MS" Conti Perdido" Defendant.

Case No. 3: 15- CV- 00106 consolidated with 3: 15- CV- 00237

Rosenfeld Deposition 5- 9- 2019

In The Superior Court of the State of California in And For The County Of Los Angeles— Santa Monica

Carole- Taddeo- Bates et al., vs. Ifran Khan et al., Defendants

Case No. BC615636

Rosenfeld Deposition 1- 26- 2019

In The Superior Court of the State of California ln And For The County Of Los Angeles— Santa Monica

The San Gabriel Valley Council of Governments et al. vs EI Adobe Apts. Inc. et al., Defendants
Case No. BC646857

Rosenfeld Deposition 10- 6- 2018; Trial 3- 7- 19

In United States District Court For The District of Colorado

Bells et al. Plaintiffs vs. The 3M Company et al., Defendants
Case No. l: l 6- cv- 02531- RBJ

Rosenfeld Deposition 3- 15- 2018 and 4- 3- 2018

In The District Court Of Regan County, Texas, 1 12` h Judicial District
Phillip Bales et al., Plaintiff vs. Dow Agrosciences, LLC, et al., Defendants
Cause No. 1923

Rosenfeld Deposition 11- 17- 2017

In The Superior Court of the State of California ln And For The County Of Contra Costa
Simons et al., Plaintifs vs. Chevron Corporation, et al., Defendants

Cause No. C12- 01481

Rosenfeid Deposition 11- 20- 2017

In The Circuit Court Of The Twentieth Judicial Circuit, St Clair County, Illinois
Martha Custer et al., Plaintiff vs. Cerro Flow Products, Inc., Defendants

Case No.: No. Oi9- L- 2295

Rosenfeld Deposition 8- 23- 2017

In United States District Court For The Southern District of Mississippi

Guy Manuel vs. The BP Exploration et al., Defendants
Case No. 1: 19- cv- 00315- RHW

Rosenfeld Deposition 4- 22- 2020

In The Superior Court of the State of California, For The County of Los Angeles
Warrn Gilbert and Penny Gilber, Plaintiff vs. BMW ofNorth America LLC
Case No. LC102019( c/ w BC582154)

Rosenfe( d Deposition 8- 16- 2017, Trail 8- 28- 2018

tn the Northern District Court of Mississippi, Greenville Division

Brenda J. Cooper, et al., Plaintiffs, vs. Meritor Inc., et al., Defendants

Case No. 4: 16- cv- 52- DMB- JVM

Rosenfeld Deposition July 2017

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 11 of 12 October 2022

849



In The Superior Court of the State of Washington, County of Snohomish
Michael Davis and Julie Davis et al., Plaintiff vs. Cedar Grove Composting Inc., Defendants
Case No. 13- 2- 03987- 5

Rosenfeld Deposition, February 2017
Trial March 2017

In The Superior Court of the State of California, County of Alameda
Charles Spain., Plaintiff vs. Thermo Fisher Scientific, et al., Defendants

Case No. RG 14711115

Rosenfeld Deposition September 2015

In The lowa District Court In And For Poweshiek County
Russefl D. Winburn, et al., Plaintiffs vs. Doug Hoksbergen, et al., Defendants
Case No. LALA002187

Rosenfeld Deposition August 2015

In The Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia
Robert Andrews, et al. v. Antero, et al.

Civil Action No. 14- G30000

Rosenfeld Deposition June 2015

In The Iowa District Court for Muscatine County
Laurie Freeman et. al. Plaintiffs vs. Grain Processing Corporation, Defendant
Case No. 4980

Rosenfeld Deposition May 2015

In the Circuit Court of the 17` h Judicial Circuit, in and For Broward County, Florida
Walter Hinton, et. al. Plaintiff, vs. City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, a Municipality, Defendant.
Case No. CACE07030358( 26)

Rosenfeld Deposition December 2014

In the County Court of Dallas County Texas
Lisa Parr et al, Plaintiff, vs. Aruba et al, Defendant.

Case No. co-1 l- O l 650- E

Rosenfeld Deposition: March and September 2013

Rosenfeld Trial April 2014

In the Court of Common Pleas of Tuscarawas County Ohio
John Michael Abicht, et al., Plaintiffs, vs. Republic Services, Inc., et al., Defendants

Case No. 2008 CT 10 0741 ( Cons. w/ 2009 CV 10 0987)

Rosenfeld Deposition October 2012

n the United States District Court for the Middle District of Alabama, Northern Division

James K. Benefie( d, et al., Plaintiffs, vs. [ nternational Paper Company, Defendant.
Civil Action No. 2: 09- cv- 232- WHA- TFM

Rosenfeld Deposition July 2010, June 201 1

In the Circuit Court of Jefferson County A(abama
Jaeanette Moss Anthony, et al., Plaintiffs, vs. Drummond Company Inc., et al., Defendants
Civil Action No. CV 2008- 2076

Rosenfeld Deposition September 2010

In the United States District Court, Western District Lafayette Division

Ackle et al., Plaintiffs, vs. Citgo Petroleum Corporation, et al., Defendants.

Case No. 2: 07CV 1052

Rosenfeld Deposition July 2009

Paul E. Rosenfeld, Ph. D. Page 12 of 12 October 2022

850



851



fr

V, p 1' S1 7. 836 4200 7939 Harr! son Street, Ste. 150        www. lozeaudrury. com

x ,       F 510.836.4205 Oakland, CA 94612 michaei( iozeaudrury. com

1 +•',<

i

BY E- MAIL

September 13, 2023

Rick Caguiat

Community Development Director
Planning Commission Secretary
Community Development Department
390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, California 95330
planninq( ci. lathrop. ca. us

Re:     Comment on Planning Commission Agenda Items No. 8. 3 Regarding
the Ashley Furniture Project ( Conditional Use Permit No. CUP- 23- 08;
Site Plan Review No. SPR 23- 09)

Dear Mr. Caguiat and Honorable Members of the Planning Commission:

I am writing on behalf of Laborers' International Union of North America, Local
Union No. 73 (" LIUNA") regarding the proposed Ashley Furniture Project proposed to be
located at the northwest corner of Dos Reis Rd and Manthey Road. The Planning
Commission staff have determined that the project is exempt from the requirement for
preparation of environmental documents pursuant to California Environmental Quality
Act (" CEQA") Guidelines, Section 15183 and Public Resources Code § 21083. 3.

However, after reviewing the Environmental Checklist and relevant appendices
prepared for the Project, and the 2022 General Plan Update EIR that the Project relies
upon, we conclude that the Project does not meet the requirements for an exemption
under CEQA Guideline § 15183 and PRC § 21083. 3. LIUNA respectfully requests that

the Planning Commission not recommend approval of each of the agenda items
addressed by the proposed exemption and, in particular, the proposed Ashley Furniture
Project, and instead request staff to prepare the necessary environmental documents
under CEQA.  

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The Project proposes to construct and operate a 1, 486, 607 square foot industrial
building including a mix of retail, office/ call center, and warehouse and distribution uses.
About 110, 000 square feet would be dedicated to retail use, 24, 000 square feet to office
and call- center uses, and 1, 352, 347 square feet to warehouse and distribution center
uses.

852



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

The Project proposes to construct approximately 2, 046 parking spaces
throughout the development site, with 942 spaces for passenger vehicles and 1, 104
spaces for truck trailer parking. The Project expects to generate 2, 798 daily passenger
vehicle trips, including 203 a. m. peak hour trips ( 124 inbound, 79 outbound) and 255
p. m. peak hour trips ( 110 inbound, 145 outbound) for passenger vehicles. Another 680
daily truck trips also are expected, including 95 a. m. peak hour trips and 45 p. m. peak
hour trips.

II.       LEGAL STANDARD

To achieve its objectives of environmental protection, CEQA has a three- tiered
structure. 14 CCR § 15002( k); Committee to Save the Hollywoodland Specific Plan v.

City of Los Angeles ( 2008) 161 Cal. App. 4th 1168, 1185- 86 (" Hollywoodland"). First, if a

project falls into an exempt category, or it can be seen with certainty that the activity in
question will not have a significant effect on the environment, no further agency
evaluation is required. Id. Second, if there is a possibility the project will have a
significant effect on the environment, the agency must perform an initial threshold study.
Id.; 14 CCR § 15063( a). If the study indicates that there is no substantial evidence that
the project or any of its aspects may cause a significant effect on the environment the
agency may issue a negative declaration. Id.; 14 CCR §§ 15063( b)( 2), 15070. Finally, if

the project will have a significant effect on the environment, an environmental impact
report (" EIR") is required. Id.

Here, since the City purports to exempt the Project from CEQA entirely, the first
step of the CEQA process applies. " Exemptions to CEQA are narrowly construed and

e] xemption categories are not to be expanded beyond the reasonable scope of their

statutory language." Mountain Lion Foundation v. Fish & Game Com. ( 1997) 16 Cal. 4th

105, 125. The determination as to the appropriate scope of an exemption is a question
of law subject to independent, or de novo, review. San Lorenzo Valley Community
Advocates for Responsible Education v. San Lorenzo Valley Unified School Dist.,
2006) 139 Cal. App. 4th 1356, 1375 ("[ Q] uestions of interpretation or application of the

requirements of CEQA are matters of law. Thus, for example, interpreting the scope of a
CEQA exemption presents ` a question of law, subject to de novo review by this court."')

Here, the City proposes that the Project is exempt from CEQA review under
Section 15183 and PRC § 21083. 3. However, as discussed below, the use of these

streamlining provisions is improper, and instead, a full CEQA analysis, such as an EIR,
must be prepared for this Project.

I//

853



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

III.      DISCUSSION

a.  The City Incorrectly Applied CEQA' s Section 15183 Categorical
Exemption to the Project and Thus a Full CEQA Analysis is Required.

Section 15183 of the California Environmental Quality Act allows a project to
avoid environmental review if it is " consistent with the development density established

by existing zoning, community plan, or general plan policies for which an EIR was
certified . . . except as might be necessary to examine whether there are project-
specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or its site." 14 CCR

15183 ( emphasis added). See PRC § 21083. 3( b). The intention of this section is to

streamline[]" CEQA review for projects and avoid the preparation of repetitive
documents. While the City refers to these provisions as exemptions from CEQA,
environmental review is still required for various types of impacts, including those

peculiar to the project or parcel on which the project would be located," those which

were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR," " are potentially significant off-
site impacts and cumulative impacts which were not discussed in the prior EIR," or

a] re previously identified significant effects which, as a result of substantial new
information which was not known at the time the EIR was certified, are determined to

have a more severe adverse impact than discussed in the prior EIR."

Section ( fl of section 15183 states that a Project' s environmental effects are not
peculiar to a project if" uniformly applied development policies or standards have been
previously adopted" which serve to mitigate environmental impacts, " unless substantial

new information shows that the policies or standards will not substantially mitigate the
environmental effect." The standard set forth by the statute for this analysis is
substantial evidence.

Here, there is substantial evidence demonstrating that the Project will have
significant impacts which were not addressed in the EIR prepared for the 2022 General
Plan Update. Section 15183 therefore does not apply, and the City must prepare
appropriate CEQA documents for this Project.

b.  The City Must Prepare a Statement of Overriding Considerations
With Regard to This Project.

The 2022 General Plan Update concluded that several of the impacts identified

as a result of the General Plan Update project were significant and unavoidable. These
impacts included agricultural resources, air quality, greenhouse gas, and traffic noise
impacts. In the Environmental Checklist prepared for the Project, the City acknowledges
these significant and unavoidable impacts, but states that:

Impacts from buildout of the General Plan including cumulative impacts
associated with development and buildout of the CLSP Phase 2 plan area

854



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

and the warehouse Project site, as proposed, were fully addressed in the
General Plan EIR ( State Clearinghouse No. 2021100139), and

implementation of the proposed project would not result in any new or
altered impacts beyond those addressed in the General Plan EIR.

Envt' I Checklist, p. 13. Similar statements are repeated for each of the specific
unavoidable significant impacts. This conclusion does not, however, address all

of the City's obligations to grapple with acknowledged significant and
unavoidable cumulative impacts.

In the case of Communities for a Better Environment v. Cal. Resources Agency,

the court of appeal held that, although tiering may allow a later project to rely on the
environmental analysis contained in a prior program- level EIR, that procedure does not
relieve the agency of acknowledging the significant and unavoidable impacts and
reconsidering its statement of overriding considerations. As the Court explained:

The section appears to allow an agency, in approving a later project that
has significant unavoidable impacts, to forego making a statement of
overriding considerations specifically tied to that project. This is contrary to
CEQA law. CEQA section 21094, subdivision ( d) requires agencies that

approve a later project to comply with CEQA section 21081. Under CEQA
section 21081, an agency approving a project with significant
environmental effects must find that each effect will be mitigated or

avoided, or " that specific overriding economic, legal, social, technological,
or other benefits of the project outweigh the ... effect[] ...." 65 The

requirement of a statement of overriding considerations is central to
CEQA' s role as a public accountability statute; it requires public officials, in
approving environmentally detrimental projects, to justify their decisions
based on counterbalancing social, economic or other benefits, and to point
to substantial evidence in support. ss Under Guidelines section
15152( fl( 3)( C), however, an agency apparently could adopt one statement
of overriding considerations for a prior, more general EIR, and then avoid
future political accountability by approving later, more specific projects
with significant unavoidable impacts pursuant to the prior EIR and
statement of overriding considerations. Even though a prior EIR' s analysis
of environmental effects may be subject to being incorporated in a later
EIR for a later, more specific project, the responsible public officials must
still go on the record and explain specifically why they are approving the
later project despite its significant unavoidable impacts.

Communities for a Better Env't v. California Res. Agency, 103 Cal. App. 4th 98, 124- 25,
126 Cal. Rptr. 2d 441 ( 2002), as modified ( Nov. 21, 2002), and disapproved of on other

grounds by Berkeley Hillside Pres. v. City of Berkeley, 60 Cal. 4th 1086, 343 P. 3d 834
2015).

855



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

The same reasoning applies to the implementation of Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3

and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183. The Project, based on its reliance on the 2022
General Plan Update EIR, will have cumulative impacts on agricultural resources, air

quality, greenhouse gas emissions, and traffic noise. Although sections 21083 and
15183 provide for streamlining of the environmental review of a subsequent project,
neither section relieves the City from its obligation to make a statement of overriding
considerations for the Project. PRC § 21081. Prior to recommending the Project and
applying the streamlining provisions, the Planning Commission should prepare a
statement of overriding considerations supported by substantial evidence and which
evaluates whether any additional feasible mitigation measures applicable to this specific
project should be required in order to address the acknowledged cumulative impacts.

c.  The Project Will Have Project- Specific Significant Effects Which

Were Not Addressed in the 2022 General Plan Update EIR.

LIUNA is concerned that a number of significant environmental impacts peculiar
to the Project were not addressed in the 2022 General Plan Update EIR. As a result,

Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3 and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183 do not apply and either a
mitigated negative declaration or EIR must be prepared to address these unanalyzed
impacts.

i.  Biological Resources

According to the 2022 General Plan EIR, the federally-listed, endangered valley
elderberry longhorn beetle ( Desmocerus californicus dimorphus) did not occur within
one- mile of the planning area. GP EIR, p. 3. 4- 15. As a result, there is no focused
discussion in the 2022 General Plan EIR on any impacts to this federally- listed species.
In general, the 2022 General Plan EIR concludes that there will be no significant
impacts to listed species from the General Plan' s implementation. GP EIR, p. 2. 4- 28 —

3. 4- 29. The valley elderberry longhorn beetle relies on a particular host plant for its
survival — the red or blue elderberry. See Biological Resources Analysis Report, p. 18.
The reconnaissance survey conducted for the Biological Resources Analysis observed
a 6- foot by 15- foot elderberry shrub on the property. Id., p. 19. The presence of that
host plant, the enhanced likelihood of the presence of the endangered valley elderberry
longhorn beetle, and the heightened risk of adverse affects on the host plant or
potentially present beetles are not addressed as a significant impact in the 2022
General Plan EIR and these effects are peculiar to the Project site. Pub. Res. Code §
21083. 3. Given these facts peculiar to the site, it " might be necessary to examine
whether there are project- specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or
its site." 14 CCR 15183.

Likewise, the observed presence of a Swainson' s hawk foraging on the project
site and nesting within 20 feet of the site also results in obvious effects peculiar to the

856



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

project site, including not only the direct loss of foraging habitat but also disturbances
from construction activities at the site and a dramatic increase in vehicles using Dos
Reis Road to access the project once it is operational. Because impacts to Swainson' s
hawks were not addressed as significant impacts in the 2022 General Plan EIR and

impact to a Swainson' s hawk is peculiar to the site, those potential impacts must be
addressed in a proper CEQA environmental review document and reliance on Pub.
Res. Code § 21083. 3 and 14 Cal. Admin. Code § 15183 is inappropriate.

Given the very limited reconnaissance- level survey performed on a single day at
the Project site on May 5, 2021, LIUNA is concerned that there are numerous other
listed and sensitive species foraging or located at the Project site. No effort has been
made to determine the current presence of burrowing owls at the site. The past
presence of red- tailed hawks and white- tailed kites foraging at the site also excludes the
proposed streamlining exemption. A current and more robust survey of the Project site
is necessary for the City to make any decision on these potential impacts based on
substantial evidence.

In addition, the 2022 General Plan EIR does not identify the significant potential
impact of the Project' s thousands of trucks and car trips on wildlife from vehicle

collisions with wildlife. This impact is peculiar to the Project given its proposed 2, 798
daily passenger vehicle trips and 680 daily truck trips which will lead to wildlife collisions
in the vicinity of the Project. Because this project-specific direct and cumulative effect
was not addressed at all in the 2022 General Plan EIR, it must be addressed in an EIR

or potentially a mitigated negative declaration for the Project. See PRC § 21083. 3( c)

Nothing in this section affects any requirement to analyze potentially significant offsite
impacts and cumulative impacts of the project not discussed in the prior environmental
impact report with respect to the general plan").

ii.  Energy

The 2022 General Plan EIR' s discussion of the General Plan' s energy impacts
boils down to stating that by complying with California' s Building Energy Efficiency
Standards (" CalGreen"), promoting the use of renewable energy sources and
encouraging public transportation and bicycle use, and the fact that PG& E will generally
make progress on adding new renewable energy sources to its portfolio, projects within
the planning area will not have energy impacts. GP EIR, p. 3. 7- 41 — 3. 7- 42. The

Environmental Checklist focuses on the Ashley Furniture Project' s compliance with
CalGreen and PG& E' s long- term efforts. Env' t Checklist, p. 66. None of these
considerations address the energy effects that are peculiar to a 1. 4 million square feet
furniture distribution and retail center.

The standard under CEQA is whether the Project would result in wasteful,

inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources. Failing to undertake " an
investigation into renewable energy options that might be available or appropriate for a

857



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

projecY' violates CEQA. California Clean Energy Committee v. City of Woodland ( 2014)
225 Cal.App.4th 173, 213. Energy conservation under CEQA is defined as the "wise
and efficient use of energy." CEQA Guidelines, app. F, § I. The " wise and efficient use

of energy" is achieved by "( 1) decreasing overall per capita energy consumption, ( 2)

decreasing reliance on fossil fuels such as coal, natural gas and oil, and ( 3) increasing
reliance on renewable energy resources." Id.

Noting compliance with the California Building Energy Efficiency Standards
Cal. Code Regs., tit. 24, part 6 ( Title 24) does not constitute an adequate analysis of

energy impacts. Ukiah Citizens for Safety First v. City of Ukiah ( 2016) 248 Cal. App. 4th
256, 264-65. Similarly, the court in City of Woodland held unlawful an energy analysis
that relied on compliance with Title 24, that failed to assess transportation energy
impacts, and that failed to address renewable energy impacts. California Clean Energy
Committee v. City of Woodland, 225 Cal.App.4th 173, 209- 13. As such, the General
Plan EIR' s reliance on Title 24 compliance does not address the proposed furniture
warehouse Project's energy impacts. The energy effects of the Project are, by definition,
peculiar to the Project. Given the vast expanse of roofing provided by the proposed
Project, any evaluation of its energy impacts cannot ignore the obvious feasibility of an
array of solar panels on the roof or covering the extensive parking proposed at the site.
Energy efficiency, in the context of the Proposed project and site would require the
consideration and implementation of sufficient solar panels to meet all of the Project' s
direct electricity demand, as well as solar power that would offset the considerable GHG
and other air pollution emissions that will result from the thousands of trucks and cars
driving to and from the Project every day once it' s operational.

The Environmental Checklist contains no discussion of the project' s cost
effectiveness in terms of energy requirements. There is no discussion of energy
consuming equipment and processes that will be used during the construction or
operation of the project. The project's energy use efficiencies by amount and fuel type
for each stage of the project including construction and operation were not identified.
The effect of the project on peak and base period demands for electricity has not been
addressed. As such, the Environmental Checklist' s conclusions are unsupported by the
necessary discussions of the Project' s energy impacts under CEQA. An EIR or possibly
a mitigated negative declaration must be prepared to assess these impacts.

iii.  Greenhouse Gases and Air Quality.

The 2022 General Plan EIR did not project air pollution emissions for any given
project that would be allowed by the plan. Instead, it identifies the implementation
measure in the General Plan that the City "[ review development, infrastructure, and

planning projects for consistency with SJVAPCD requirements during the CEQA review
process." GP EIR, p. 3. 3- 35 ( RR- 6a). The General Plan and the EIR go on to further
require that:

858



Comment re: Ashley Furniture Project
City of Lathrop
September 13, 2023

Planning Commission Hearing

Require project applicants to prepare air quality analyses to address
SJVAPCD and General Plan requirements, which include analysis and

identification of:

A. Air pollutant emissions associated with the project during construction,
project operation, and cumulative conditions.
B. Potential exposure of sensitive receptors to toxic air contaminants.

C. Significant air quality impacts associated with the project for
construction, project operation, and cumulative conditions.
D. Mitigation measures to reduce significant impacts to less than

significant or the maximum extent feasible where impacts cannot be

mitigated to less than significant.

Id. Although the Environmental Checklist purports to describe these evaluation
efforts, the Checklist does not provide any of the input files for the air pollution
modeling conducted for the proposed Project. Only the output files are provided.
Environmental Checklist, Attachment I, p. 162. Given the size of the warehouse
and the number of expected daily truck trips, LIUNA is skeptical that the
emissions forecasts identified for its construction and operation can be

substantiated. Before making a recommendation to the Council, the Planning
Commission should require staff and the applicant to share their input files for the

CaIEEMod modeling in order for the public to be able to assess the accuracy of
the model outputs and whether or not the Project's may have a significant effect
on air quality and GHG emissions and the extent of necessary mitigation
measures as required by the General Plan.

IV.      CONCLUSION

In light of the above comments, the City must prepare an EIR or, if appropriate, a
mitigated negative declaration for the Project. LIUNA reserves its right to submit

additional comments and evidence for any subsequent Planning Commission hearing or
the City Council' s consideration of the Project. Thank you for considering these
comments.

Sincerely,

T -  /'    ,!   t    --

le G"- GC. 4', f j4-   ...*' '._''
1_. rt' K"+_'2'..t.

r 

Michael R. Lozeau

LOZEAU DRURY LLP

859



T'1", i i i
rP

i    :

o Victorla Brunn,
Manteta Unified Sthool District Chief Business and Information Officer

vbrunn@musd. net( 209) 858- 0764

y4Qt

r;,,„ r}<«,      September 28, 2023
I. iric WrrKa,

Prr; h ritf

c: ath l p- c; t. chall VIA E- MAIL( T4/ ARGAS( t. CI. IATNROP CA 13S,)$ c U S MAIL
6 ic' r„ rr rdrur

Mayor and City Council
ri, trr i      

City of Lathrop
Attn: City Clerkla iseii. i t'. Gucrrrrc5

h,,,,,,,{,,,,..      390 Towne Centre Dr.

E, h•„., n,<< r Lathrop, CA 95330

np rintenci nt

i, c` r:. i'       Re. Conditional Use Permit and Site Pian Review for the Ashley Furniture
Project to Allow for the Construction of an Approximately 1. 5 Miilion
Squa e Foat Concrete Tilt-Up Building Located within the Central Lathrop
Speci c Plan Phase 2 Area.

tiuperinttnctt• nl. C: l inet

4<< r, s,,,,       Honorable Mayor and City Council Members:
t r r,,,„. r„ r,: tE,      

The District remains concemed with the Limited Industrial Zoning Districts behind ther th; r
t i.,,,, s4,,,,, t,, f,       Lathrop High Schoal site, as noted in our response to the Central Lathrop Specific Plan

r<< r rf ,;, r,{,,,, r,,,,,,,>„      and therefore the proposed Ashley Furniture development project has the potential to
impact the District. Lathrop High School is located immediately to the southwest of the

r r F<< ra r,, r, rt< z: FE      project site on the soufhem side of C7os Reis,  District steff has reviewed the buffer andi""" r`'. C'       

screening requirements and finds the 73- foot buffer requirements that include an 8- foots r, r<,      

solid wall in addition to pedestrian improvements along Dos Reis to be critical to provide
Il\ C[ Ulltt', 8} 11llC1 fior separation of uses. The District is supportive of the addition of the 8- foot separated

a., , n,,,;      multi- use trail along the southern side of Dos Reis for improved pedestrian safety.
r`""` "``.      

The District is in agreement with the circulation requirements that prohibit truck traffic on11 uf1 SI Ci

r r r r,,,-. x,,;,,,, r,,,.      Dos Reis, and the requirement for traffic to be directed to S. Manthey Road as the access
a, ,;,,,,;,,.,:,,,>       point ta the project site. The District would request the City include MUSD in the review

Li, rr,, 14,,,;, F,,,       process and route any modifieation to existing lane striping plans that could impact District
l F:      transportation. This coordination would ensure minimal impacts.

fli; J at r»; rrt nrr I ri n i1,;}

4.,,,,, E,,,,,       Please let us know if there is any additional information needed from MUSD to assist in
r, r„„>>,» r,,«,,,      the review process.  Do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions at

209) 858- 0858 or developerfees@musd. net.
U; r. t, rr: i Ertii„ r t.

1,,,,,,,-,,, r,,,       Sincerely,
tt } tt.     

t): r. Cltrrs, rrA/ ti, nf' rttt>  

L/ f/./a, il. li ir zt ri=rtilt°          L

i`''      
Victoria Brunn

1) F7 i' a( e fJ.) 7;; t` t.+' 71' Fl! li:

r11$,,,, i,,,      Chief Business and Information Officer
t .;,,<<, h,,,,„.,      Manteca Unified school District

1) arI i ti;u h rn

1 tir C' GtsriJi• rl i/ K

ti, t. t.,,,      Cc: Rick Cagivat, Directar Community Development, via email( RCaqivattc' ci. lathrop.ca.us)ur, r;,,, t. ti,,,, t.

P.O. Box 32 Phone( 2Q9) 825- 3200
Manteca, CA 95336

Fax( 209) 858- 7570
2271 West Louise Avenue, Manteca, CA 95337 www. mantecausd. net860



TT CHN(EN "     •`

De Nova Planning Group

A Land 1) Se Planning, I) E sigrf, and Environmental f' irm

October 31, 2023

Rick Caguiat, Community Development Director
City of Lathrop
390 Towne Centre Drive

Lathrop, CA 95330

SUBJECT: Response to LIUNA Comments on the Ashley Warehouse CEQA Analysis

The City Council received written correspondence from Lozeau Drury, LLP, representing LIUNA regarding the City' s

environmental analysis for the Ashley Warehouse Project prepared under the California Environmental Quality Act

CEQA")  pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15183  ( the

Environmental Analysis"). The comment letter incorrectly asserts that additional CEQA analysis must be completed

for the Ashley Warehouse project, and the City must adopt a statement of overriding considerations.

The City correctly applied Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and Section 15183 of the CEQ/ Guidelines

The City relied on the exemption provisions provided under Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and Section

15183 of the CEQA Guidelines. Public Resources Code Section 21083. 3 and corresponding State CEQA Guidelines

Section 15183 allows a streamlined environmental review process for projects that are consistent with the densities

established by existing zoning, community plan or general plan policies for which an EIR was certified. The Ashley

Warehouse project is consistent with the City of Lathrop General Plan land uses and development intensities

designated on the project site. As such, the application of CEQA to the approval of development projects, such as

the proposed Ashley Project, shall be limited to effects on the environment which are peculiar to the parcel or to

the Project and which were not addressed as significant effects in the prior environmental impact report, or which

substantial new information shows will be more significant than described in the prior environmental impact report.
Pub. Res. Code § 21083. 3.) Further, an effect of a project on the environment is not considered peculiar to the

parcel or the project, if uniformly applied development policies or standards have been adopted by the local agency

with a finding that they will substantially mitigate that effect when applied to future projects.( State CEQA Guidelines
15183( f).)

The lead agency must make a finding at a public hearing that any mitigation measures in the prior EIR that apply to

the project' s specific effects, and that the lead agency found to be feasible, will be undertaken. ( Pub. Res. Code §

21083. 3( c); State CEQA Guidelines § 15183( e).)  The City has done that here, by incorporating relevant policies,

actions, standards, and other mitigating requirements as Conditions of Approval for the Ashley Warehouse project.

These requirements and standards are specifically identified throughout the Environmental Analysis the City

prepared for the Ashley Warehouse project. Such a finding is not required for potentially significant environmental

effects that are not considered peculiar to the parcel or the project if uniformly applied development policies or

standards were previously adopted by the agency with a finding that the policies or standards would substantially
mitigate the environmental effect when applied to future projects. ( State CEQA Guidelines § 15183( f).) When the

agency has failed to make such a finding previously, it can do so when it approves the later project.

Often, such certified prior EIRs are Program EIRs and, in fact, the factual questions as to whether project impacts fall

within the scope of the prior EIR are very similar. As to reliance on a Program EIR, later activities are examined to

determine whether an additional environmental document must be prepared. ( State CEQA Guidelines§ 15168( c).)

As the commenter notes, if a later activity would result in environmental effects that were not examined in the

GE NOVO PLANN( NG GROUP

1. 02Q SUNCA5T LAN; SUITF 1b6, E L DORADC7 N1LL5, CA 5762

briCf; hie( a"?denovopEanning. com  ( 916} 9 9- 3231

861



1' b:       & ir. }2it k Caguiat 2
Subjer. t:  } tespons to I,IUNA 1sPie( y b` arehouse CE 1A (: omments

ate;     October 3" l, 7. 22

Program EIR, the agency must prepare an initial study to determine whether an EIR or negative declaration is

required to address those effects.( Id.J However, as is the case here, if a later activity would not have any effects that

were not examined in the Program EIR ( including any new or more severe impacts), the agency can approve the

activity as being within the scope of the project covered by the Program EIR, and no new environmental document
would be required. ( Id.)

Factors that an agency may consider in determining whether a later activity is within the scope of a Program EIR

include " consistency of the later activity with the type of allowable land use, overall planned density and building
intensity, geographic area analyzed for environmental impacts, and covered infrastructure as described in the

program EIR." ( State CEQA Guidelines § 15168( c).) An agency must incorporate feasible mitigation measures and

alternatives developed in the Program EIR into later activities in the program.( Id.)" Where the later activities involve

site specific operations, the agency should use a written checklist or similar device to document the evaluation of

the site and the activity to determine whether the environmental effects of the operation were within the scope of
the program EIR." ( Id. J

The City' s Environmental Analysis complies with both Section 15183 and Section 15168 of the State CEQA Guidelines.

The commenter claims that an EIR is required for the Project. While the applicability of the exemption provided by

State CEQA Guidelines 15183 does not turn on whether the City completes some form of preliminary review, here

the City did use an environmental checklist which identifies whether or not each CEQA Appendix G environmental

checklist question, and its corresponding impacts, were adequately addressed in the Lathrop General Plan EIR, if

there is a significant impact due to new information, or if the Project would result in a significant impact peculiar to

the Project site that was not adequately addressed in the General Plan EIR. The Environmental Analysis identifies

the applicable City of Lathrop development standards and policies that would apply to the proposed Project during
both the construction and operational phases, identifies applicable state- level standards and requirements, and

explains how the application of these uniformly applied standards and policies would ensure that no peculiar or site-
specific environmental impacts would occur.

The Project would not result in site- specific biological impacts that cannot be mitigated through application of

uniform standards and requirements

The Biological Resources Analysis Report( BRA) prepared by Olberding Environmental, dated May 2021, and updated

on November 1, 2023, identified several special- status species having the potential to occur on the subject Property

based on the presence of suitable habitat. In fact, several protected avian species were observed during the site

visit but in a foraging capacity only. The BRA document was prepared to provide a preliminary orgeneral assessment

of biological habitats present on the subject property and to evaluate current wildlife usage of those habitats during
a single day site visit. The intent of this document was to provide initial biological information and make

recommendations for additional studies if suitable habitat for a particular species was present.

As indicated above, the BRA determined that there is a potential for impacts to several special- status species. In

particular, it noted the presence of a Swainson' s Hawk nest on the adjacent project. As such, mitigation for foraging
habitat is normally required, in addition to a setback buffer during the nesting season for this species and additional

survey requirements as contemplated in the City of Lathrop General Plan Update EIR. These requirements have

been made conditions of approval for the project, as required by both the Lathrop General Plan and the San Joaquin
County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan( SJMSCP).

It should also be recognized that resources agencies have determined that mitigation should proceed through the
San Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP). In November of 2000, San

DE NOVO ° LANN3NG GhOU'

2 J20 SUNCAST LANE, SLtiT€ ' 106, Et GOR iCO HILL, CA 95762

britct; ieCf de zov planning. com  ( 9'( 6J 94- 3231

862



To_       ;] r. Itick Ca; ui t 3

Subject:  Kesponse ta LIlINA Astiely Wareh 3use (: EQA Cornnaer ts
Date:     C) cto6 r :', l, 2022

Joaquin County adopted and began implementing the San Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and

Open Space Plan ( SJCOG 2000). The plan was developed to provide a strategy for balancing the protection of Open

Space and wildlife with the protection of local landowners and agricultural practices. The SJMSCP, in accordance

with ESA Section 10( a)( 1)( B) and CESA Section 2081( b) Incidental Take Permits, provides compensation for the

Conversion of Open Space to non- Open Space uses which affect the plant, fish and wildlife species covered by the

SJMSCP. Species that are covered by the SJMSCP that have the potential to occur within the Property include VELB,
Swainson' s hawk, burrowing owl, and the western mastiff bat as discussed in the BRA.  Compliance with the

requirements established in the SJMSCP, which are clearly identified in the BRA and Environmental Analysis, would

ensure that impacts to special status species would be reduced to a less than significant level.

The Project' s Biological Report does not underestimate the diversity of species using the Project site.

The BRA was prepared to provide a preliminary or general assessment of biological habitats present on the subject

property and to evaluate current wildlife usage of those habitats during the site visit. This information was provided
for supporting informational purposes in order to initially assess biological resources and make recommendations

for a more focused evaluation consistent with the SJMSCP and associated incidental take permits prior to grading.

The Project' s Biological Report accurately characterizes the existing environmental setting.

The site survey, literature and databases review conducted by Olberding Environmental provided adequate

information to determine special- status species having potential to occur on the Property. As documented in the

BRA, the site contains a single habitat type referred to as ruderal/ disturbed grassland. This habitat type is generally
associated with agricultural fields and is generally dominated by non- native invasive species. The commenter did

not provide any evidence that the assessment was inadequate, just because Dr. Smallwood saw different species

using the Property than Olberding Environmental noted during their site visits.

The Biological Report adequately analyzed and mitigated the ProjecYs biological impacts due to habitat loss,

wildlife movement, and vehicle collisions.

The BRA document was prepared to provide a preliminary or general assessment of biological habitats present on
the subject property and to evaluate current wildlife usage of those habitats.

In its October 9 Letter, LIUNA summarizes the findings from Dr. Smallwood' s review of the Project which jumbles a

transportation and biological impact analysis to misleadingly suggest that only the Project will result in a certain

number of wildlife roadway mortality incidents. This explanation, however, ignores the City of Lathrop' s summary
of the biological resource impacts discussed in the CEQA consistency analysis and reference to and incorporation of

the findings from the City' s General Plan Update EIR prepared in 2022. CEQA requires later activities to be" examined

in the light of the program EIR to determine whether an additional environmental document must be prepared."
CEQA Guidelines, § 15168( c).) Here, the City not only relied on the CEQA Consistency review under 15183 and its

analysis of biological resources based on the BRA analysis, but it also incorporated by reference into the CEQA

consistency analysis the General Plan Update EIR which anticipated development of the Property.

With respect to roadway wildlife fatalities, the CEQA Guidelines do not recognize this as an environmental impact.

See CEQA Guidelines, Appendix G.) Although an analysis of this impact is unwarranted, Olberding visited the project
site again on October 25, 2023 and confirmed that few bird species were observed on roads surrounding the

Property. No federally or state listed bird species were observed on the property other than a Swainson' s hawk

foraging on the Property. Habitat present on- site offers marginal foraging habitat for raptors. There is no evidence

UE' NOVO PLANNING G 20UP

1020 SUNCAST LAN, SUETE Il3b, EL U RADO NIL, CA 95762

britchie( der cvoplanning. com C ( 916} 949 3237.

863



To;       r. Rick Ga, uiaC 4

Subject:  Response ta LIUNA Ashely Warellouse C£ Qf Coinn e ts

Date:     (} ctober 1, 2022

to support Dr. Smallwood' s claim that the Project traffic would result in 6, 151 roadway wildlife fatalities due to

additional traffic only from the Project( traffic that was previously accounted for in the General Plan Update EIR).

No new species with potential to occur on the Property have been listed, no critical habitat has been designated that

may be affected by the Project, and no project description changes that would change a level of potential effect
were identified.

The Project correctly relies on the SJMSCP to mitigate the Project' s potential impacts to biological resources.

The SJMSCP, in accordance with ESA Section 10( a)( 1)( B) and CESA Section 2081( b) Incidental Take Permits, provides

compensation for the Conversion of Open Space to non- Open Space uses which affect the plant, fish and wildlife

species covered by the SJMSCP. Species that are covered by the SJMSCP that have the potential to occur within the

Property include VELB, Swainson' s hawk, burrowing owl, and the western mastiff bat.

The Project' s impacts to biological resources would require compliance with the SJMSCP, as required by the General

Plan update and the incidental take permits. It has been stated that the SJMSCP cannot be relied upon to mitigate

the Project' s impacts due to grossly deficient implementation and poor performance of the SJMSCP. We have not

been provided any information as to SJMSCP mitigation requirements so we cannot fully evaluate the adequacy of
these claims. There is no evidence that USFWS or CDFW have threatened to suspend or revoke the incidental take

permits because the SJMSCP is not effective in mitigating impacts.

The Project' s potential biological impacts are mitigated via the application of uniformly applied standards and

requirements, rendering the 15183 exemption appropriate

The recommendations in the initial BRA include preconstruction surveys for reptiles, birds, and burrowing owls. They

are project requirements in order to ensure that direct take would not occur and to provide additional information

as to the presence/ absence of a particular species which had been identified as having potential to occur on the

Property based on multiple factors. The BRA acknowledged that Swainson' s Hawk foraging habitat will be negatively

impacted when existing foraging habitat is converted to develop lands. Standard mitigation requires that adequate

foraging habitat be permanent protected/ preserved at an agency approved mitigation ratio and site consistent with
the SJMSCP.

The Project' s potential Air Quality and Health Risk Impacts were properly evaluated

LIUNA( the commenter) asserts that the analysis of the Project' s impacts to human health from emissions of toxic

air contaminants is inadequate. Specifically, the commenter states that, for warehouses and distribution centers

within 1, 000 feet of planned residential uses or other sensitive receptors, the 2022 General Plan requires" requires
the preparation of a Health Risk Assessment (" HRA") that meets the standards established by the Office of
Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (" OEHHA"), and the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District

SJVAPCD"). ( 2022 GP, p. 3. 3- 31[ LU- 5c].). The commenter states that, that HRA did not comply with the standards
established by OEHHA and, as a result, the Project' s impacts had not been adequately evaluated.

Specifically, the commenter states that the environmental analysis failed to provide the exposure assumptions for
the HRA, such as the age sensitivity factors(" ASF") or fraction of time at home(" FAH") values. The commenter also

states that the environmental analysis failed to provide the dose and risk equation used to calculate the Project' s

cancer risks.( Id.) Without providing this equation, there is no way to verify that the HRA utilized the proper equation
recommended by OEHHA.

o r avo € vrviNG r ouP

1020 SUNCAST LANE, Sll€ TE i0b, E DORAC) O HILLS, CA 95762

britchiet; denz voplannir< g. cam  ( 916j 9A 9 3231

864



To:       9a'. Ricl; (; aguiat 5

Subject:  Response ta I. IU[!\ Ashe( y VVarehouse CEQ 1 Comn ents
Date:     Octoher 31, 2022

The commenter also states that the HRA prepared for the Project failed to follow OEHHA guidance because it only
analyzed the Project' s operational cancer risks but not the Project' s construction- related cancer risks.

With regard to operational HRA age sensitivity factors( ASF), it is important to note that such factors are calculated

automatically by the HARP2 application, which was used for the HRA, consistent with OEHHA and SJVAPCD guidance.

As described on page 3 of the previously developed HRA for the project, the health risks that were evaluated were

a 70- year exposure, starting at the third trimester( for residential cancer risk) and a 40- year exposure starting at age

16 ( for workplace cancer risk), which is fully consistent with SJVAPCD guidance. Separately, with regard to FAH
values, the HRA conservatively assumed a 24- hour per day ( i. e. 100%) FAH value for all scenarios; this is a highly

conservative assumption, given that operations would almost certainly occur less than 24 hours per day ( i. e. less

than 100% of the time). Therefore, these assumptions, taken together, provide for a conservative assessment of the
Project' s operational cancer risk.

With regard to the commenter' s claim that the environmental analysis" failed to provide the dose and risk equation

used to calculate the Project' s cancer risks", this is a moot point. This is because, consistent with OEHHA and SJVAPCD

guidance, dose and risk equations are handled by the AERMOD and HARP2 models; separate ' dose and risk

equation[ s]' would be duplicative and inappropriate, given that the analysis of health risks is undertaken by the
applicable models. Moreover, Appendix 3 and Appendix 4 of the previously developed HRA include the AERMOD

Output File, and the HARP2 Output File, respectively, which allows for verification of the modeling parameters.

With regard to the commenter' s claim that the Project failed to follow OEHHA guidance because it only analyzed the
Project' s operational cancer risks but ignored the Project' s construction- related cancer risks, this comment is noted.

While the SJVAPCD does not require an assessment of a project' s construction- related cancer risks, in contrast to
the commenter' s claim, for the sake of a conservative assessment, a subsequent analysis of the Project' s

construction- related cancer risks is provided below. The parameters used for this subsequent construction- related

health risk modeling in AERMOD and HARP2 are as follows:

AERMOD:

Six( 6) Off- road Construction Vehicle volume sources;

Release height: 10 feet;

24- hour fraction of time at- home( FAH) value.

HARP2

Exposure duration: 70 year, starting at 3 d trimester( Residential Cancer); 40 year, starting at age 16
Workplace Cancer);

Intake Rate Percentile: 95` h( High End);

Pathways to Evaluate: Mandatory Minimum Pathways;

Deposition Rate: 0. 05 m/ s( uncontrolled sources).

The results of the construction HRA subsequently conducted for the Project are provided in the below table. The
construction HRA uses conservative assumptions, such as a 24- hour FAH value. As shown in the below table( Table

A- 1), construction health risks associated with the Project, in conjunction with the operational health risks associated

with the Project, would remain below the applicable thresholds. It should be noted that the' combined health risks'

for residential cancer risk is less than the combination of the individual maximum operational- related and

construction- related health risks, since the residential receptors with the highest operational- related health risks are

not the same receptors as those with the highest construction- related health risks( and vice versa).

a Novo r rvrviur ; ou

1020 SUNCAST LANE, SUITE it b, E ORAC70 HILCS, CA 95762

britrhie der ovi plannir. carn  ( 916) 3 1 9- 3231

865



I' o:       Mr. FZick (; aauiat 6
Subject:  Respuii, e to I. IUNA Aslleiy W rellouse CEQA Comii ents
Date:     ( ctober 31, 2022

Table A- 1: Summary of Project Health Risks

tgntfjet pc`     
3    s' fir è hald   

trsk Vletrr     Vl rxrmu. t rsk,
rt e etl?

f.  .. Thce3hold

Operational- related Health Risks

Residential Cancer Risk

7. 0 20 per million No

70-year exposure)

Workplace Cancer Risk

1. 3 20 per million No

40-year exposure)

Chronic( non- cancer)    0. 01 Hazard Index>_1 No

Acute( non- cancer)      0 Hazard Index>_1 No

Construction- related Health Risks

Residential Cancer Risk

10. 3 20 per million No

70- year exposure) 1

Workplace Cancer Risk

5. 2 20 per million No

40-year exposure)

Chronic( non- cancer)    0. 01 Hazard Index>_1 No

Acute( non- cancer)      0 Hazard Index>_1 No

Combined Health RisksZ

Residential Cancer Risk

13. 3 20 per million No

70- year exposure) 3

Workplace Cancer Risk

6. 5 20 per million No

40-year exposure)

Chronic( non- cancer)    0. 01 Hazard Index>_1 No

Acute( non- cancer)      0 Hazard Index>_1 No

Sources: AERMOD 11. 2. 0( Lakes Environmental5oftware, 2023J; and HARP- 2 Air Dispersion and Risk Tool.

1 The residential receptor with the highest construction- related health risk is the residence located at 14302 Harlan
Rd.

DE NOVO PIANNING GfiC7UP

1 J20 SUNCA57 LANE, SL`ITE 106, EL C1Qk iDO HILLS, CA 95762
ritct ie(« 7d nov plar ning. co n  ( 916) U 9 3231

866



I' o:       9r. Ric}; Ca; uiat

Subjei: t:  Response ta [. ILINA Ashely LV rehouse CEQ[ Comments
Date;     C) cte ber 31, 202< t

ZThe combined health risks are less than the combination of the maximum operational- related and construction-
related health risks, since the residential receptor with the highest operational- related health risk( located at 12965

Manthey Road) is not the same receptor as the receptor with the highest construction- related health risk( and vice

versaJ.

3The residential receptor with the highest combined operational- related and construction- related health risk is
located at 14302 Harlan Road.

Furthermore, the Construction Emissions Calculations, the AERMOD Output File, and the HARP2 Output file for the

construction HRA is provided in Appendices A through C of this Response to Comments chapter, respectively. With
this supplemental information, the commenter' s claim that the analysis could underestimate the Project' s health

impacts is unsubstantiated.  Furthermore, the commenter' s claim that the HRA does not comply with the OEHHA

standards as required by the 2022 General Plan, and that the City lacks substantial evidence to conclude that the

Project will not result in specific health impacts, is also unsubstantiated. No further response to this comment is

warranted.

The Project would not result in Energy- Related impacts

The commenter states that the environmental analysis focuses on the Project' s compliance with CalGreen and

PG& E' s long-term efforts, but that this does not address the energy effects that are particular to the project itself.

This comment is noted. A supplemental energy analysis is provided below. The below supplemental energy analysis
includes a more detailed qualitative and quantitative discussion of the energy effects that are particular to the
Project itself, and addresses some additional issues, consistent with requests of the commenter.

According to the CEQA Guidelines, the means to achieve the goal of conserving energy include decreasing overall
energy consumption, decreasing reliance on natural gas and oil, and increasing reliance on renewable energy
sources. In particular, the proposed project would be considered " wasteful, inefficient, and unnecessary" if it were
to violate State and federal energy standards and/ or result in significant adverse impacts related to project energy
requirements, energy inefficiencies, energy intensiveness of materials, effects on local and regional energy supplies
or on requirements for additional capacity, compliance with existing energy standards, effects on energy resources,
or transportation energy use requirements. In addition, the project could have a significant energy impact if it would

conflict or create an inconsistency with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation for renewable energy or energy
efficiency.

The proposed warehouse project includes various characteristics that reduce the inefficient, wasteful, or

unnecessary use of energy. For example, the proposed project would comply with all of the energy efficiency
requirements of the latest version of the California Title 24 Energy Efficiency Standards. Moreover, it should be noted
that, over time, electrification of the vehicles will increase due to state requirements, and state and national trends.

The amount of energy used by the proposed warehouse project during operation would include the amount of

energy used by project buildings and outdoor lighting, and the fuel used by vehicle trips generated during Project
construction and operation, fuel used by off- road construction vehicles during construction activities, and fuel used
by project maintenance activities during project operation. The following discussion provides a detailed calculation
of energy usage expected for the proposed project, as provided by applicable modelling software ( i. e. CaIEEMod
v2022. 1 and the CARB EMFAC2021).

UE NOVO PIANNING GROUP

1{ 20 SUNCAST Ll, NE, SUiT[ 106, EL DQRAGO HILl5, CA 95762
britchie 7der avupiar ning. r,om  ( 916) 949- 32: 31

867



To:       Vlr. Ricic Cagtiiat g

Subjeet:  Re> E onse to LIUN[ i ,'1s} eiy V:` arel ouse CE: QA Camr ents
pate:     OcCob i' 31, 2022

Electricitv and Natural Gas

Electricity and natural gas used by the proposed warehouse project would be used primarily to generate energy for
the warehouse building, as well as for outdoor parking lot lighting. " Energy" is one of the categories that was

modeled for GHG emissions. As also shown in the CaIEEMod modeling outputs, the proposed project is anticipated
to consume approximately 155, 122 kWh of electricity per year and approximately 82, 578 kBTU per of natural gas
per year. Moreover, this is likely a conservative estimate, given that the CaIEEMod model does not account for the
latest version of Title 24.

On- road Vehicles( Operation)

The proposed warehouse project would generate vehicle trips ( i. e., passenger vehicles for employees and heavy-
duty trucks for hauling) during its operational phase. Requirements to limit the idling of vehicles and equipment
would result in fuel savings. Similarly, compliance with applicable State laws and regulations would limit idling and
a part of a comprehensive regulatory framework that is implemented by the CARB. A description of project
operational on- road mobile energy usage is provided below.

De Novo Planning Group used fleet mix data from the CaIEEMod ( v. 2022. 1) output for the proposed project, and
Year 2025 gasoline and diesel MPG ( miles per gallon) factors for individual vehicle classes as provided by
EMFAC2021, to derive weighted average gasoline and diesel MPG factors for the vehicle fleet as a whole. Based on

these calculations, as provided in Appendix D, upon full buildout, the proposed project would generate operational
vehicle trips that would use a total of approximately 481 gallons of gasoline and 1, 113 gallons of diesel per day, or
175, 665 gallons of gasoline and 406, 148 gallons of diesel per year.

The proposed warehouse would be designed and constructed in accordance with the City' s latest adopted energy
efficiency standards, which are based on the State' s Title 24 Energy Efficiency Standards for Nonresidential Buildings

and Green Building Code Standards. These standards include minimum energy efficiency requirements related to
building envelope, mechanical systems ( e. g., heating, ventilation, and air conditioning [ HVAC] and water heating
systems), and indoor and outdoor lighting, are widely regarded as the some of the most advanced and stringent
building energy efficiency standards in the country. Moreover, as specified in Chapter 5, Part 11 of the Title 24

standards, the proposed project would be required to incorporate electrical conduit to facilitate future installation

of EV charging infrastructure. In addition, as specified in Subchapter 6, Part 6 of the Title 24 standards, the proposed
project would be required to design the proposed buildings to structurally accommodate future installation of a
rooftop solar system. As such, the design of the proposed project would facilitate the future commitment to
renewable energy resources. Therefore, building energy consumption would not be considered wasteful, inefficient,
or unnecessary.

On- road Vehicles( Construction)

The proposed warehouse would also generate on- road vehicle trips during project construction ( from construction
workers and vendors travelling to and from the project site). De Novo Planning Group estimated the vehicle fuel
consumed during these trips based on the assumed construction schedule, vehicle trip lengths and number of
workers per construction phase as provided by CaIEEMod, and Year 2023 gasoline and diesel MPG factors provided
by EMFAC2021 ( year 2023 factors were used to represent a conservative analysis, as the energy efficiency of
construction activities is anticipated to improve over time). For the sake of simplicity and to be conservative, it was

assumed that all construction worker light duty passenger cars and truck trips use gasoline as a fuel source, and all
medium and heavy- duty vendortrucks use diesel fuel. Table A- 2, below, describes gasoline and diesel fuel consumed
during each construction phase ( in aggregate). As shown, the vast majority of on- road mobile vehicle fuel used
during the construction of the proposed project would occur during the building construction phase. See Appendix
D of document for a detailed accounting of construction on- road vehicle fuel usage estimates.

UE ( VC} Vt7 PLANNING CiROUP

2C?20 SUiVCAST LAN£; SUITE 105, EL DORADQ HILE. S, CA 95762

britrhie( der; ovoplanning. corY  ( 91. 6j 949- 313].

868



O:       ' I'. } Zli: lt dnl.liil 

Subjec. t:  Fes oi se to LIUNA Ashely blla- ehouse CE( Comments

Uate:     () ctoher 31, 2022

Table A- 2: On- road Mobile Fuel USE by Project Construction Activities— By Phase

TQ#a G( ldt s ¢.. Gasofrn . iTdfaf Ga tor s of t3i s l.Cbns r r tron Phase
y  r t bJ,   ,   uet(bJ.

Site Preparation 1, 328

Grading 1, 420

Building Construction 429 388

Paving 618

Architectural Coatings 69

Total 3, 864 388

Note:° Provided by CaIEEMod Output. b 5ee Appendix D of this E/ R for Further Detail
Source: CaIEEMod( v.2022. 1); EMFAC2021.

Off-road Equipment( Construction)

Off-road construction equipment would use diesel fuel during the construciion phase of ihe proposed project. A non-
exhaustive list of off-road constructive equipment expected to be used during the construction phase of the proposed
Project includes: forklifts, generator sets, tractors, excavators, and dozers. Based on the total amount of COZ
emissions expected to be generated by the proposed Project( as provided by the CaIEEMod output), and standard
conversion factors ( as provided by the U. S. Energy Information Administration), the proposed Project would use a
total of approximately 107, 094 gallons of diesel fuel for off-road construction equipment. Detailed calculations are
provided in Appendix D.

State laws and regulations would limit idling from both on- road and off- road diesel- powered equipment and are
part of a comprehensive regulatory framework that is implemented by the CARB. Additionally, as a practical matter,
it is reasonable to assume that the overall construction schedule and process would be designed to be as efficient
as feasible in order to avoid excess monetary costs. For example, equipment and fuel are not typically used
wastefully due to the added expense associated with renting the equipment, maintaining it, and fueling it. Therefore,
the opportunities for further future efficiency gains during construction are limited. For the foregoing reasons, it is
anticipated that the construction phase of the project would not result in wasteful, inefficient, and unnecessary
consumption of energy.

Other

The project is anticipated to install a solar photovoltaic( PV) roof system, including on- site PV connection to the local
electric grid. This would be consistent with, at minimum, state requirements. This addition of renewable energy to
a currently vacant site would help the State make progress on adding new renewable energy resources within the
state.

Separately, it should be noted that the proposed warehouse would not be anticipated to result in a wasteful,

inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources for several reasons. For example, the proposed
warehouse would generate a substantial amount of economic activity on a site that currently produces virtually no
economic activity( being a vacant site); furthermore, the usage of energy resources on the site would be to dense,
economically productive activities. The addition of on- site renewable energy resources would reduce any risk that
the proposed project would results in any kind of wasteful or inefficient usage of energy resources.

Dc NOVt PLANNING GROUP

1020 SUNCAST tANE, SUITE 106, EL DO ADO HilLS, CA : 5762
britchie(= denovoplanni; g. corri  ( U16j 949- 3232

869



o:       vlt. Ricl, Ca b*i iat 10
Subject:  Response to LIU( vl1 Asheiy Warehouse CGQA t; orrimer3Cs
Date:     Oetober 31, Z022

It should further be noted that the proposed project would, over time, take advantage of the increasing
electrification and improved energy efficiency of the vehicle fleet, which is anticipated to improve considerably over
time, due to technological advancements as well as state requirements.

Lastly, the proposed project is anticipated to operational throughout the day and night, which would reduce
potential issues associated with adding inordinate demand to typical' peak' hours for the electric utility( i. e. PG& E).

Conclusion

The proposed project would use energy resources for the operation of the project warehouse building( natural gas
and electricity), outdoor lighting ( electricity), on- road vehicle trips ( e. g. gasoline and diesel fuel) generated by the
proposed project, and off- road and on- road construction activities associated with the proposed project( e.g. diesel
fuel). Each of these activities would require the use of energy resources. The proposed project would be responsible
for conserving energy, including through project features, as well as through the implementation of statewide and
local measures.

The proposed project would comply with all applicable federal, State, and local regulations regulating energy usage.
For example, PG& E, the electric and natural gas provider to the proposed project, is responsible for the mix of energy
resources used to provide electricity for its customers, and it is in the process of implementing the statewide RPS to
increase the proportion of renewable energy ( e. g. solar and wind) within its energy portfolio. PG& E has already
achieved renewable energy mix of 50%( as of 2021) 1, and is on track to achieve the required renewable energy mix
of 60% by 2030. Other statewide measures, including those intended to improve the energy efficiency of the
statewide passenger and heavy- duty truck vehicle fleet ( e. g. the Pavley Bill and the Low Carbon Fuel Standard),
would improve vehicle fuel economies, thereby conserving gasoline and diesel fuel. These energy savings would
continue to accrue over time. Moreover, the proposed project would comply with the City' s General Plan goals,
objectives and policies related to energy conservation that are relevant to this analysis.

The proposed project would comply with all existing energy standards and would not be expected to result in
significant adverse impacts on energy resources. For these reasons, the proposed project would not cause an
inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary use of energy resources nor cause a significant impact on any of the energy-
related thresholds as described by the CEQA Guidelines.

As described above, the supplemental energy analysis provided above addresses transportation energy impacts,
renewable energy impacts, energy efficiency, cost effectiveness in terms of energy requirements, a discussion of the
Project' s energy- consuming equipment and processes that would be used during the construction or operation of
the Project, and the effect of the Project on peak and base period demands for electricity ( as requested by the
commenter). No further response to this comment is warranted.

A Statement of Overriding Considerations is not required

CEQA only requires a statement of overriding considerations when a lead agency determines that a project will result
in significant and unavoidable impacts( CEQA Guidelines Section 15093). The General Plan EIR evaluated full buildout

of the Lathrop General Plan and Land Use Map, both of which this project is consistent with. While full buildout of

the entire Lathrop General Plan was determined to result in some significant and unavoidable impacts in the General

Plan EIR, that EIR has been certified, and a statement of overriding considerations was adopted for the General Plan
and the associated EIR.

1
See here for more detail: https:// www. pge. com/ en_ US/ about- pge/ environment/ what- we- are- doing/ clean-

energy- solutions/ clean- energy- solutions. page
DE NQVO PIAN( vING CR UP

1026 SUNCAST LANE, SUfTE i06, E! UORAUQ Hi LS, Ct, 95702
britchie; a novoplat ning. cc rn  ( 916j 4 J- 323.

870



I'':       ; vlr. } Ztek (: as,;=uir3t 11

Subject:  Kesponse. ta 1. 3UNt1 Ashei} r Wareli use C£ Qr1 Com« ients
Date:     Octc ber 1, 2022

In this instance, the environmental analysis completed for the proposed Ashley Warehouse project correctly
concluded that this individual project would not result in any new or more severe significant impacts than those that

were analyzed and disclosed in the General Plan EIR, and that the project would not result in any project- specific

significant and unavoidable impacts. As such, there is no need for the City to prepare further environmental review

or adopt a Statement of Overriding Considerations for the proposed Ashley Warehouse project.

DF: N( VO PIANNING Gi C7UP

1020 SUNCAST LANE, SUfFE 106, [ L UQf{AUG HIILS, CA U5762

britchie( 7d novopianning. com  ( 916) Q49 3231

871



Construction Emissions( Off- Road Equipment)   365 days peryear

Phase Avera e Dailv PM10 Days

Site Preparation( 2023)       032 Ibs/ day 70 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

Site Preparation( 2024)       0. 42 Ibs/ day 91 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

Grading( 2024)      0. 61 Ibs/ day 155 Source: CalEEMod( v2022. 1)

Building Construction( 2024)  0. 01 Ibs/ day 9 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

Building Construction( 2025)  0. 17 Ibs/ day 141 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

Paving( 2025)       0. 09 Ibs/ day 90 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

Architectural Coating( 2025)  0. 01 Ibs/ day 121 Source: CaIEEMod( v2022. 1)

188. 54 Ibs( total)

Given 27 months of total construction activities:

h; j y " 
H     

x/ p„    ,       Ibs/ year( averege)
Per Volume Saurce( of 6:

r y k r ,, a

i      w..

lbs/ year( averege)

872



Lakes Environmental AERMOD MPI

AERMOD Input Produced by:
AERMOD View Ver.  11. 2. 0

Lakes Environmental Software Inc.
Date:  10/ 26/ 2023

File:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC  ( DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley
Warehouse  -  Revised  ( Construction)\ Ashley Warehouse. ADI

AERMOD Control Pathway

CO STARTING

TITLEONE C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC  ( DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley
MODELOPT CONC FLAT

AVERTIME 1 PERIOD

POLLUTID OTHER

RUNORNOT RUN

ERRORFIL  " Ashley Warehouse. err"
CO FINISHED

AERMOD Source Pathway

SO STARTING

Source Location  **

Source ID  -  Type  -  X Coord.  -  Y Coord.  **

LOCATION VOL1 VOLUME 650380. 000 4188444. 670 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 1)

LOCATION VOL2 VOLUME 649783. 770 4188428. 620 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 2)

LOCATION VOL3 VOLUME 649783. 770 4188630. 660 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 3)

LOCATION VOL4 VOLUME 650380. 000 4188635. 710 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 4)

LOCATION VOLS VOLUME 650090. 120 4188630. 380 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 5)

LOCATION VOL6 VOLUME 650096. 690 4188433. 810 0. 0

DESCRSRC Construction Volume Source  ( 6)

Source Parameters  **

SRCPARAM VOL1 1. 0 3. 048 35. 240 0. 000

873



SRCPARAM VOL2 1. 0 3. 048 35. 240 0. 000

SRCPARAM VOL3 1. 0 3. 048 35. 514 0. 000

SRCPARAM VOL4 1. 0 3. 048 36. 481 0. 000

SRCPARAM VOLS 1. 0 3. 048 35. 253 0. 000

SRCPARAM VOL6 1. 0 3. 048 37. 370 0. 000

SRCGROUP VOL1 VOL1

SRCGROUP VOL2 VOL2

SRCGROUP VOL3 VOL3

SRCGROUP VOL4 VOL4

SRCGROUP VOLS VOLS

SRCGROUP VOL6 VOL6

SO FINISHED

AERMOD Receptor Pathway

RE STARTING

DESCRREC  ""  ""

DISCCART 649676. 34 4188314. 55

DISCCART 649629. 66 4188294. 84

DISCCART 649810. 15 4188312. 48

DISCCART 649364. 10 4188360. 20

DISCCART 649327. 80 4188355. 01

DISCCART 649380. 70 4188758. 52

DISCCART 650495. 81 4188841. 51

DISCCART 650597. 47 4188832. 17

DISCCART 650536. 27 4188878. 85

DISCCART 650577. 76 4188877. 81

DISCCART 650602. 66 4188860. 18

DISCCART 650610. 95 4188880. 93

DISCCART 650638. 10 4188858. 53

DISCCART 650664. 10 4188331. 03

DISCCART 650668. 72 4188350. 83

DISCCART 650677. 96 4188379. 86

DISCCART 650699. 74 4188414. 84

DISCCART 650758. 47 4188658. 36

DISCCART 650765. 73 4188678. 82

DISCCART 650773. 65 4188706. 54

DISCCART 650778. 27 4188726. 34

DISCCART 650805. 33 4188805. 53

DISCCART 650806. 65 4188824. 01

DISCCART 650811. 27 4188843. 81

DISCCART 650814. 57 4188862. 29

DISCCART 650846. 24 4188924. 98

DISCCART 650850. 86 4188951. 38

DISCCART 650854. 82 4188976. 46

DISCCART 650698. 00 4188307. 32

DISCCART 650692. 60 4188291. 80

874



DISCCART 650724. 82 4189245. 80

DISCCART 650726. 07 4189273. 37

DISCCART 650856. 27 4189006. 30

DISCCART 650857. 23 4189022. 60

DISCCART 650859. 15 4189041. 29

DISCCART 650859. 15 4189058. 54

DISCCART 650860. 58 4189076. 28

DISCCART 650861. 54 4189094. 49

DISCCART 650857. 71 4189113. 19

DISCCART 650847. 16 4189118. 94

DISCCART 650848. 12 4189134. 76

DISCCART 650850. 04 4189155. 37

DISCCART 650851. 48 4189171. 66

DISCCART 650853. 87 4189184. 12

DISCCART 650856. 75 4189199. 46

DISCCART 650857. 71 4189213. 36

DISCCART 650860. 58 4189226. 30

DISCCART 650862. 50 4189242. 60

DISCCART 650865. 38 4189258. 42

DISCCART 650867. 77 4189275. 19

DISCCART 650868. 73 4189291. 49

DISCCART 650872. 09 4189309. 23

DISCCART 650874. 00 4189325. 04

DISCCART 650875. 92 4189340. 38

DISCCART 650878. 80 4189355. 24

DISCCART 650881. 19 4189373. 45

DISCCART 650884. 55 4189390. 71

DISCCART 650888. 86 4189407. 01

DISCCART 650889. 82 4189427. 14

DISCCART 650891. 74 4189443. 43

DISCCART 650895. 09 4189461. 17

DISCCART 650898. 45 4189475. 55

DISCCART 650898. 45 4189489. 93

DISCCART 650902. 28 4189504. 31

DISCCART 650709. 41 4188344. 56

DISCCART 650722. 45 4188284. 03

DISCCART 650745. 73 4188280. 30

DISCCART 650735. 49 4188223. 50

DISCCART 650721. 52 4188167. 62

DESCRREC  " UCARTI"  " Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian Grid"
DISCCART 650525. 76 4188133. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188133. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188183. 34

875



DISCCART 649925. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188183. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188233. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188283. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188333. 34

876



DISCCART 649225. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188333. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188383. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188433. 34

877



DISCCART 650425. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188433. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188483. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188533. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188583. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188633. 34

878



DISCCART 649625. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188633. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188683. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188733. 34

879



DISCCART 650825. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188733. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188783. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188833. 34

DISCCART 649125. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649225. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649325. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649425. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649525. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649625. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649725. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649825. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 649925. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650025. 76 4188883. 34

880



DISCCART 650125. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188883. 34

DISCCART 650125. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650225. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650325. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188933. 34

DISCCART 650425. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4188983. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4189033. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4189033. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4189033. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4189033. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4189033. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4189083. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4189083. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4189083. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4189083. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4189083. 34

DISCCART 650525. 76 4189133. 34

DISCCART 650625. 76 4189133. 34

DISCCART 650725. 76 4189133. 34

DISCCART 650825. 76 4189133. 34

DISCCART 651125. 76 4189133. 34

DESCRREC  ""  ""

DISCCART 650781. 98 4189510. 65

DISCCART 650760. 33 4189397. 50

RE FINISHED

AERMOD Meteorology Pathway

ME STARTING

881



SURFFILE AERMET\ Stockton 2013- 2017. SFC

PROFFILE AERMET\ Stockton 2013- 2017. PFL

SURFDATA 23237 2013 Stockton_ International_ Airport

UAIRDATA 23230 2013 OAKLAND/ WSO AP

PROFBASE 10. 06 METERS

ME FINISHED

AERMOD Output Pathway

OU STARTING

RECTABLE ALLAVE 15T

RECTABLE 1 1ST

Auto- Generated Plotfiles

PLOTFILE 1 VOL1 1ST  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G001. PLT"  31

PLOTFILE 1 VOL2 1ST  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G002. PLT"  32

PLOTFILE 1 VOL3 1ST  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G003. PLT"  33

PLOTFILE 1 VOL4 15T  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G004. PLT"  34

PLOTFILE 1 VOLS 15T  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G005. PLT"  35

PLOTFILE 1 VOL6 15T  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ 01H1G006. PLT"  36

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOL1  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G001. PLT"  37

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOL2  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G002. PLT"  38

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOL3  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G003. PLT"  39

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOL4  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G004. PLT"  40

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOLS  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G005. PLT"  41

PLOTFILE PERIOD VOL6  " Ashley Warehouse. AD\ PE00G006. PLT"  42

SUMMFILE  " Ashley Warehouse. sum"
OU FINISHED

Message Summary For AERMOD Model Setup  ***

Summary of Total Messages  --------

A Total of 0 Fatal Error Message( s)

A Total of 8 Warning Message( s)
A Total of 0 Informational Message( s)

FATAL ERROR MESSAGES  ********

NONE   ***

WARNING MESSAGES     ********

SO W320 48 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 49 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

882



SO W320 50 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 51 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 52 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 53 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

ME W186 454 MEOPEN:  THRESH_ 1MIN 1- min ASOS wind speed threshold used
0. 50

ME W187 454 MEOPEN:  ADJ_ U* Option for Stable Low Winds used in AERMET

SETUP Finishes Successfully  ***

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 1

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

MODEL SETUP OPTIONS SUMMARY

Model Is Setup For Calculation of Average CONCentration Values.

DEPOSITION LOGIC   --

NO GAS DEPOSITION Data Provided.

NO PARTICLE DEPOSITION Data Provided.

Model Uses NO DRY DEPLETION.    DRYDPLT   =   F

Model Uses NO WET DEPLETION.   WETDPLT   =   F

Model Uses RURAL Dispersion Only.

Model Allows User- Specified Options:

1.  Stack- tip Downwash.
2.  Model Assumes Receptors on FLAT Terrain.
3.  Use Calms Processing Routine.
4.  Use Missing Data Processing Routine.
5.  No Exponential Decay.

Other Options Specified:

ADJ_ U*     -  Use ADJ_ U*  option for SBL in AERMET
CCVR_ Sub  -  Meteorological data includes CCVR substitutions

883



TEMP_ Sub  -  Meteorological data includes TEMP substitutions

Model Assumes No FLAGPOLE Receptor Heights.

The User Specified a Pollutant Type of:    OTHER

Model Calculates 1 Short Term Average( s)  of:     1- HR

and Calculates PERIOD Averages

This Run Includes:  6 Source( s);    6 Source Group( s);  and 370

Receptor( s)

with:  0 POINT( s),  including
0 POINTCAP( s)  and 0 POINTHOR( s)

and:  6 VOLUME source( s)

and:  0 AREA type source( s)

and:  0 LINE source( s)

and:  0 RLINE/ RLINEXT source( s)

and:  0 OPENPIT source( s)

and:  0 BUOYANT LINE source( s)  with 0 line( s)

Model Set To Continue RUNning After the Setup Testing.

The AERMET Input Meteorological Data Version Date:    18081

Output Options Selected:

Model Outputs Tables of PERIOD Averages by Receptor
Model Outputs Tables of Highest Short Term Values by Receptor  ( RECTABLE

Keyword)

Model Outputs External File( s)  of High Values for Plotting  ( PLOTFILE

Keyword)

Model Outputs Separate Summary File of High Ranked Values  ( SUMMFILE

Keyword)

NOTE:   The Following Flags May Appear Following CONC Values:    c for Calm Hours

m for Missing
Hours

b for Both Calm

and Missing Hours

Misc.  Inputs:    Base Elev.  for Pot.  Temp.  Profile  ( m MSL)  =       10. 06  ;    Decay
Coef.  =       0. 000 Rot.  Angle = 0. 0

Emission Units  = GRAMS/ SEC

Emission Rate Unit Factor =     0. 10000E+ 07

Output Units     = MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

Approximate Storage Requirements of Model  =  3. 6 MB of RAM.

Input Runstream File: aermod. inp

884



Output Print File:      aermod. out

Detailed Error/ Message File:     Ashley Warehouse. err

File for Summary of Results:     Ashley Warehouse. sum

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 2

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

VOLUME SOURCE DATA ***

NUMBER EMISSION RATE BASE RELEASE INIT.

INIT.     URBAN EMISSION RATE

SOURCE PART.    ( GRAMS/ SEC) X Y ELEV.     HEIGHT SY

SZ SOURCE SCALAR VARY

ID CATS.  METERS)  ( METERS)  ( METERS)  ( METERS)  ( METERS)
METERS) BY

VOL1 0 0. 10000E+ 01 650380. 0 4188444. 7 10. 1 3. 05 35. 24
0. 00 NO

VOL2 0 0. 10000E+ 01 649783. 8 4188428. 6 10. 1 3. 05 35. 24
0. 00 NO

VOL3 0 0. 10000E+ 01 649783. 8 4188630. 7 10. 1 3. 05 35. 51
0. 00 NO

VOL4 0 0. 10000E+ 01 650380. 0 4188635. 7 10. 1 3. 05 36. 48
0. 00 NO

VOLS 0 0. 10000E+ 01 650090. 1 4188630. 4 10. 1 3. 05 35. 25
0. 00 NO

VOL6 0 0. 10000E+ 01 650096. 7 4188433. 8 10. 1 3. 05 37. 37
0. 00 NO

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 3

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

SOURCE IDs DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS

885



SRCGROUP ID SOURCE IDs

VOL1 VOL1

VOL2 VOL2

VOL3 VOL3

VOL4 VOL4

VOLS VOLS

VOL6 VOL6

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 4

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTORS  ***

X- COORD,  Y- COORD,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)

METERS)

649676. 3,  4188314. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649629. 7,

4188294. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649810. 2,  4188312. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649364. 1,

4188360. 2,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649327. 8,  4188355. 0,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649380. 7,

4188758. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650495. 8,  4188841. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);       650597. 5,

4188832. 2,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650536. 3,  4188878. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650577. 8,

4188877. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650602. 7,  4188860. 2,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650611. 0,

4188880. 9,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650638. 1,  4188858. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650664. 1,

4188331. 0,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650668. 7,  4188350. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650678. 0,

4188379. 9,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650699. 7,  4188414. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650758. 5,

4188658. 4,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650765. 7,  4188678. 8,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650773. 7,

4188706. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650778. 3,  4188726. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650805. 3,

886



4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188183. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

T ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 5

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTORS  ***

X- COORD,  Y- COORD,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)

METERS)

649125. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649925. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188233. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

887



4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188283. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649925. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188333. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

888



4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188383. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649925. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 6

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD]  U*

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTORS  ***

X- COORD,  Y- COORD,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)

METERS)

650525. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188433. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

889



4188483. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188533 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188533. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188583. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649925. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);       650625. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188633. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

890



4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188683. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 7

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTORS  ***

X- COORD,  Y- COORD,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)

METERS)

649925. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188733. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

891



4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188783. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649125. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649225. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649325. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649425. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649525. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649625. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649725. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649825. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649925. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650025. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188833. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649125. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649225. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649325. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649425. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649525. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649625. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649725. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

649825. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 649925. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650025. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650125. 8,
4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650225. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650325. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650425. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,
4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

892



4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4188883. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650125. 8,  4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650225. 8,

4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650325. 8,  4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188933. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650425. 8,

4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650725. 8,  4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4188983. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4189033. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4189033. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4189033. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4189033. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,

4189033. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650525. 8,  4189083. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650625. 8,

4189083. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 8

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTORS  ***

X- COORD,  Y- COORD,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)

METERS)

650725. 8,  4189083. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650825. 8,

4189083. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

651125. 8,  4189083. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650525. 8,

4189133. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650625. 8,  4189133. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650725. 8,

4189133. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650825. 8,  4189133. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 651125. 8,
4189133. 3,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

650782. 0,  4189510. 6,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0); 650760. 3,
4189397. 5,  10. 1,  10. 1,    0. 0);

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

893



16: 20: 52

PAGE 9

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

SOURCE- RECEPTOR COMBINATIONS FOR WHICH CALCULATIONS MAY NOT
BE PERFORMED *

LESS THAN 1. 0 METER;  WITHIN OPENPIT;  OR BEYOND 80KM FOR

FASTAREA/ FASTALL

SOURCE RECEPTOR LOCATION  -  -

DISTANCE

ID XR  ( METERS)     YR  ( METERS)

METERS)

VOL1 650425. 8 4188383. 3

0. 75

VOL1 650325. 8 4188433. 3

20. 36

VOL1 650425. 8 4188433. 3

28. 62

VOL1 650425. 8 4188483. 3

15. 85

VOL2 649725. 8 4188383. 3

2. 18

VOL2 649825. 8 4188383. 3

14. 01

VOL2 649725. 8 4188433. 3

17. 56

VOL2 649825. 8 4188433. 3

33. 51

VOL3 649725. 8 4188583. 3

1. 49

VOL3 649725. 8 4188633. 3

18. 28

VOL3 649825. 8 4188633. 3

34. 28

VOL3 649825. 8 4188683. 3

8. 99

VOL4 650425. 8 4188583. 3

8. 89

VOL4 650325. 8 4188633. 3

24. 14

VOL4 650425. 8 4188633. 3

32. 61

VOL4 650325. 8 4188683. 3

6. 25

894



VOL4 650425. 8 4188683. 3

12. 38

VOLS 650025. 8 4188633. 3

11. 37

VOLS 650125. 8 4188633. 3

40. 03

VOLS 650125. 8 4188683. 3

11. 96

VOL6 650125. 8 4188383. 3

22. 10

VOL6 650025. 8 4188433. 3

9. 41

VOL6 650125. 8 4188433. 3

51. 27

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 10

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

METEOROLOGICAL DAYS SELECTED FOR

PROCESSING  ***

1= YES;  0= N0)

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

NOTE:   METEOROLOGICAL DATA ACTUALLY PROCESSED WILL AL50 DEPEND ON
WHAT IS INCLUDED IN THE DATA FILE.

UPPER BOUND OF FIRST THROUGH FIFTH WIND SPEED
CATEGORIES  ***

METERS/ SEC)

895



1. 54,     3. 09,     5. 14,     8. 23,

10. 80,

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 11

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

UP TO THE FIRST 24 HOURS OF METEOROLOGICAL
DATA ***

Surface file:     AERMET\ Stockton 2013- 2017. SFC

Met Version:    18081

Profile file:     AERMET\ Stockton 2013- 2017. PFL

Surface format:  FREE

Profile format:  FREE

Surface station no. :       23237 Upper air station no. :       23230

Name:  STOCKTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT Name:

OAKLAND/ WSO AP

Year:     2013 Year:     2013

First 24 hours of scalar data

YR MO DY JDY HR H0 U* W*   DT/ DZ ZICNV ZIMCH M- 0 LEN Z0 BOWEN

ALBEDO REF WS WD HT REF TA HT

13 01 01 1 01   - 22. 0 0. 211  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    232. 48. 8 0. 07 2. 20

1. 00 2. 78 149.     10. 0 273. 8 2. 0

13 01 01 1 02   - 14. 6 0. 158  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    152. 27. 6 0. 04 2. 20

1. 00 2. 37 77.     10. 0 273. 8 2. 0

13 01 01 1 03   - 18. 4 0. 181  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    185. 36. 0 0. 06 2. 20

1. 00 2. 52 97.     10. 0 273. 1 2. 0

13 01 01 1 04     - 6. 7 0. 105  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.     84. 16. 0 0. 04 2. 20

1. 00 1. 63 349.     10. 0 272. 5 2. 0

13 01 01 1 05   - 20. 1 0. 193  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    203. 40. 9 0. 04 2. 20

1. 00 2. 86 356.     10. 0 274. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 06     - 3. 9 0. 081  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.     64. 12. 6 0. 04 2. 20

1. 00 1. 23 77.     10. 0 273. 8 2. 0

13 01 01 1 07   - 18. 3 0. 180  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    184. 35. 8 0. 06 2. 20

1. 00 2. 52 255.     10. 0 273. 1 2. 0

13 01 01 1 08   - 26. 9 0. 259  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    316. 73. 8 0. 08 2. 20

0. 73 3. 29 287.     10. 0 274. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 09     - 1. 9 0. 212  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    236.       461. 6 0. 05 2. 20

0. 39 2. 81 315.     10. 0 275. 9 2. 0

896



13 01 01 1 10 61. 1 0. 155 0. 630 0. 005 150.    147. 5. 5 0. 04 2. 20

0. 27 1. 60 336.     10. 0 277. 5 2. 0

13 01 01 1 11 110. 2 0. 238 1. 137 0. 005 488.    279.       - 11. 2 0. 06 2. 20

0. 23 2. 45 228.     10. 0 279. 9 2. 0

13 01 01 1 12 137. 1 0. 276 1. 492 0. 008 886.    347.       - 14. 0 0. 08 2. 20

0. 22 2. 69 286.     10. 0 280. 4 2. 0

13 01 01 1 13 141. 1 0. 271 1. 531 0. 007 929.    339.       - 12. 9 0. 05 2. 20

0. 21 2. 88 325.     10. 0 282. 5 2. 0

13 01 01 1 14 121. 3 0. 232 1. 475 0. 006 965.    269. 9. 4 0. 04 2. 20

0. 22 2. 57 356.     10. 0 283. 8 2. 0

13 01 01 1 15 78. 7 0. 218 1. 287 0. 005 988.    244.       - 12. 0 0. 04 2. 20

0. 26 2. 47 357.     10. 0 284. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 16 17. 6 0. 265 0. 783 0. 005 993.    327.       - 96. 0 0. 03 2. 20

0. 35 3. 59 2.     10. 0 284. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 17   - 11. 2 0. 143  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    139. 24. 1 0. 04 2. 20

0. 60 2. 16 346.     10. 0 282. 5 2. 0

13 01 01 1 18     - 8. 7 0. 125  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    107. 20. 6 0. 08 2. 20

1. 00 1. 67 273.     10. 0 279. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 19   - 13. 3 0. 154  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    145. 26. 0 0. 06 2. 20

1. 00 2. 15 238.     10. 0 278. 1 2. 0

13 01 01 1 20   - 10. 2 0. 134  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    117. 21. 4 0. 06 2. 20

1. 00 1. 89 230.     10. 0 275. 9 2. 0

13 01 01 1 21   - 12. 5 0. 148  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    137. 24. 2 0. 05 2. 20

1. 00 2. 11 300.     10. 0 276. 4 2. 0

13 01 01 1 22  - 999. 0  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.  - 999.  - 99999. 0 0. 05 2. 20

1. 00 0. 00 0.     10. 0 275. 9 2. 0

13 01 01 1 23   - 24. 0 0. 230  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    264. 57. 9 0. 04 2. 20

1. 00 3. 36 80.     10. 0 274. 2 2. 0

13 01 01 1 24   - 16. 1 0. 169  - 9. 000  - 9. 000  - 999.    167. 31. 3 0. 06 2. 20

1. 00 2. 36 100.     10. 0 274. 2 2. 0

First hour of profile data
YR MO DY HR HEIGHT F WDIR WSPD AMB_ TMP sigmaA sigmaW sigmaV

13 01 01 01 10. 0 1 149.       2. 78 273. 8 99. 0   - 99. 00   - 99. 00

F indicates top of profile  (= 1)  or below  (= 0)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 12

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

897



CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 3. 17886 649629. 66

4188294. 84 2. 81498

649810. 15 4188312. 48 4. 33466 649364. 10

4188360. 20 1. 88281

649327. 80 4188355. 01 1. 77280 649380. 70

4188758. 52 1. 84706

650495. 81 4188841. 51 4. 28073 650597. 47

4188832. 17 3. 93483

650536. 27 4188878. 85 3. 56783 650577. 76

4188877. 81 3. 42873

650602. 66 4188860. 18 3. 53924 650610. 95

4188880. 93 3. 26850

650638. 10 4188858. 53 3. 40358 650664. 10

4188331. 03 21. 36195

650668. 72 4188350. 83 21. 42188 650677. 96

4188379. 86 20. 70636

650699. 74 4188414. 84 18. 04783 650758. 47

4188658. 36 5. 99965

650765. 73 4188678. 82 5. 40633 650773. 65

4188706. 54 4. 74863

650778. 27 4188726. 34 4. 35960 650805. 33

4188805. 53 3. 18808

650806. 65 4188824. 01 3. 00930 650811. 27

4188843. 81 2. 82339

650814. 57 4188862. 29 2. 66944 650846. 24

4188924. 98 2. 18464

650850. 86 4188951. 38 2. 03971 650854. 82

4188976. 46 1. 91630

650698. 00 4188307. 32 17. 19609 650692. 60

4188291. 80 17. 10889

650724. 82 4189245. 80 1. 23247 650726. 07

4189273. 37 1. 17147

650856. 27 4189006. 30 1. 78991 650857. 23

4189022. 60 1. 72624

650859. 15 4189041. 29 1. 65647 650859. 15

4189058. 54 1. 59875

650860. 58 4189076. 28 1. 54084 650861. 54

4189094. 49 1. 48561

650857. 71 4189113. 19 1. 43818 650847. 16

4189118. 94 1. 43550

650848. 12 4189134. 76 1. 39223 650850. 04

898



4189155. 37 1. 33808

650851. 48 4189171. 66 1. 29761 650853. 87

4189184. 12 1. 26667

650856. 75 4189199. 46 1. 23019 650857. 71

4189213. 36 1. 19992

650860. 58 4189226. 30 1. 17113 650862. 50

4189242. 60 1. 13767

650865. 38 4189258. 42 1. 10583 650867. 77

4189275. 19 1. 07402

650868. 73 4189291. 49 1. 04532 650872. 09

4189309. 23 1. 01398

650874. 00 4189325. 04 0. 98792 650875. 92

4189340. 38 0. 96358

650878. 80 4189355. 24 0. 94035 650881. 19

4189373. 45 0. 91366

650884. 55 4189390. 71 0. 88893 650888. 86

4189407. 01 0. 86604

650889. 82 4189427. 14 0. 84094 650891. 74

4189443. 43 0. 82100

650895. 09 4189461. 17 0. 79964 650898. 45

4189475. 55 0. 78273

650898. 45 4189489. 93 0. 76764 650902. 28

4189504. 31 0. 75163

650709. 41 4188344. 56 17. 06524 650722. 45

4188284. 03 14. 75034

650745. 73 4188280. 30 13. 28972 650735. 49

4188223. 50 12. 26662

650721. 52 4188167. 62 10. 82224 650525. 76

4188133. 34 12. 79783

651125. 76 4188133. 34 3. 87169 649125. 76

4188183. 34 1. 18255

649225. 76 4188183. 34 1. 33591 649325. 76

4188183. 34 1. 52301

649425. 76 4188183. 34 1. 75398 649525. 76

4188183. 34 2. 04325

649625. 76 4188183. 34 2. 41298 649725. 76

4188183. 34 2. 89948

649825. 76 4188183. 34 3. 56054 649925. 76

4188183. 34 4. 47388

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 13

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL1

899



DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650025. 76 4188183. 34 5. 72299 650125. 76

4188183. 34 7. 55527

650225. 76 4188183. 34 10. 88539 650325. 76

4188183. 34 14. 88797

650425. 76 4188183. 34 16. 92231 650525. 76

4188183. 34 17. 11096

650625. 76 4188183. 34 14. 40536 650725. 76

4188183. 34 11. 26403

650825. 76 4188183. 34 8. 49856 651125. 76

4188183. 34 3. 99264

649125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 22716 649225. 76

4188233. 34 1. 39059

649325. 76 4188233. 34 1. 59195 649425. 76

4188233. 34 1. 84404

649525. 76 4188233. 34 2. 16523 649625. 76

4188233. 34 2. 58269

649725. 76 4188233. 34 3. 13927 649825. 76

4188233. 34 3. 90757

649925. 76 4188233. 34 5. 01379 650025. 76

4188233. 34 6. 65512

650125. 76 4188233. 34 9. 14189 650225. 76

4188233. 34 13. 66522

650325. 76 4188233. 34 20. 87001 650425. 76

4188233. 34 25. 17975

650525. 76 4188233. 34 23. 96208 650625. 76

4188233. 34 18. 33298

650725. 76 4188233. 34 13. 00909 650825. 76

4188233. 34 9. 23105

651125. 76 4188233. 34 4. 08713 649125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 27356

649225. 76 4188283. 34 1. 44784 649325. 76

4188283. 34 1. 66373

649425. 76 4188283. 34 1. 93630 649525. 76

4188283. 34 2. 28803

649625. 76 4188283. 34 2. 75356 649725. 76

4188283. 34 3. 38834

649825. 76 4188283. 34 4. 28613 649925. 76

4188283. 34 5. 61852

650025. 76 4188283. 34 7. 72063 650125. 76

900



4188283. 34 11. 23886

650225. 76 4188283. 34 17. 86116 650325. 76

4188283. 34 31. 59663

650425. 76 4188283. 34 42. 08194 650525. 76

4188283. 34 35. 08637

650625. 76 4188283. 34 22. 79576 650725. 76

4188283. 34 14. 52431

650825. 76 4188283. 34 9. 79288 651125. 76

4188283. 34 4. 14689

649125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 31918 649225. 76

4188333. 34 1. 50511

649325. 76 4188333. 34 1. 73675 649425. 76

4188333. 34 2. 03115

649525. 76 4188333. 34 2. 41441 649625. 76

4188333. 34 2. 92807

649725. 76 4188333. 34 3. 64161 649825. 76

4188333. 34 4. 67820

649925. 76 4188333. 34 6. 27372 650025. 76

4188333. 34 8. 92948

650125. 76 4188333. 34 13. 85270 650225. 76

4188333. 34 24. 50193

650325. 76 4188333. 34 55. 04523 650425. 76

4188333. 34 85. 81087

650525. 76 4188333. 34 51. 60304 650625. 76

4188333. 34 26. 82172

650725. 76 4188333. 34 15. 57474 650825. 76

4188333. 34 10. 12759

651125. 76 4188333. 34 4. 15801 649125. 76

4188383. 34 1. 36116

649225. 76 4188383. 34 1. 55812 649325. 76

4188383. 34 1. 80503

649425. 76 4188383. 34 2. 12112 649525. 76

4188383. 34 2. 53619

649625. 76 4188383. 34 3. 09853 649725. 76

4188383. 34 3. 89103

649825. 76 4188383. 34 5. 06650 649925. 76

4188383. 34 6. 93420

650025. 76 4188383. 34 10. 20530 650125. 76

4188383. 34 16. 85414

650225. 76 4188383. 34 34. 35059 650325. 76

4188383. 34 118. 70330

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 14

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

901



VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 0. 00000 650525. 76

4188383. 34 68. 99120

650625. 76 4188383. 34 29. 05155 650725. 76

4188383. 34 15. 92582

650825. 76 4188383. 34 10. 15734 651125. 76

4188383. 34 4. 11435

649125. 76 4188433. 34 1. 39675 649225. 76

4188433. 34 1. 60246

649325. 76 4188433. 34 1. 86146 649425. 76

4188433. 34 2. 19477

649525. 76 4188433. 34 2. 63526 649625. 76

4188433. 34 3. 23682

649725. 76 4188433. 34 4. 09335 649825. 76

4188433. 34 5. 38160

649925. 76 4188433. 34 7. 47032 650025. 76

4188433. 34 11. 24952

650125. 76 4188433. 34 19. 40688 650225. 76

4188433. 34 44. 15056

650325. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000 650425. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000

650525. 76 4188433. 34 72. 28796 650625. 76

4188433. 34 28. 22045

650725. 76 4188433. 34 15. 38260 650825. 76

4188433. 34 9. 83764

651125. 76 4188433. 34 4. 02218 649125. 76

4188483. 34 1. 42201

649225. 76 4188483. 34 1. 63249 649325. 76

4188483. 34 1. 89761

649425. 76 4188483. 34 2. 23898 649525. 76

4188483. 34 2. 69037

649625. 76 4188483. 34 3. 30715 649725. 76

4188483. 34 4. 18593

650425. 76 4188483. 34 0. 00000 650525. 76

4188483. 34 53. 52462

650625. 76 4188483. 34 24. 03494 650725. 76

4188483. 34 13. 88538

650825. 76 4188483. 34 9. 14839 651125. 76

902



4188483. 34 3. 88105

649125. 76 4188533. 34 1. 43149 649225. 76

4188533. 34 1. 64100

649325. 76 4188533. 34 1. 90391 649425. 76

4188533. 34 2. 24092

649525. 76 4188533. 34 2. 68419 649625. 76

4188533. 34 3. 28618

649725. 76 4188533. 34 4. 13760 650425. 76

4188533. 34 64. 20726

650525. 76 4188533. 34 31. 31016 650625. 76

4188533. 34 18. 11002

650725. 76 4188533. 34 11. 65529 650825. 76

4188533. 34 8. 10942

651125. 76 4188533. 34 3. 67694 649125. 76

4188583. 34 1. 42097

649225. 76 4188583. 34 1. 62365 649325. 76

4188583. 34 1. 87669

649425. 76 4188583. 34 2. 19937 649525. 76

4188583. 34 2. 62164

649625. 76 4188583. 34 3. 19193 649725. 76

4188583. 34 3. 99226

650425. 76 4188583. 34 27. 36469 650525. 76

4188583. 34 18. 53854

650625. 76 4188583. 34 12. 87742 650725. 76

4188583. 34 9. 28504

650825. 76 4188583. 34 6. 90245 651125. 76

4188583. 34 3. 40857

649125. 76 4188633. 34 1. 39243 649225. 76

4188633. 34 1. 58572

649325. 76 4188633. 34 1. 82676 649425. 76

4188633. 34 2. 13394

649525. 76 4188633. 34 2. 53518 649625. 76

4188633. 34 3. 07388

649725. 76 4188633. 34 3. 81932 649825. 76

4188633. 34 4. 88613

649925. 76 4188633. 34 6. 47125 650025. 76

4188633. 34 8. 94589

650125. 76 4188633. 34 13. 10152 650225. 76

4188633. 34 18. 87239

650325. 76 4188633. 34 19. 76408 650425. 76

4188633. 34 16. 03700

650525. 76 4188633. 34 12. 28390 650625. 76

4188633. 34 9. 30563

T ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 15

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

903



THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 7. 25697 650825. 76

4188633. 34 5. 74610

651125. 76 4188633. 34 3. 10398 649125. 76

4188683. 34 1. 35560

649225. 76 4188683. 34 1. 54149 649325. 76

4188683. 34 1. 77364

649425. 76 4188683. 34 2. 06882 649525. 76

4188683. 34 2. 45092

649625. 76 4188683. 34 2. 95480 649725. 76

4188683. 34 3. 63310

649825. 76 4188683. 34 4. 56740 649925. 76

4188683. 34 5. 89206

650025. 76 4188683. 34 7. 88298 650125. 76

4188683. 34 10. 87060

650225. 76 4188683. 34 13. 44324 650325. 76

4188683. 34 12. 59596

650425. 76 4188683. 34 10. 75885 650525. 76

4188683. 34 8. 84657

650625. 76 4188683. 34 7. 05404 650725. 76

4188683. 34 5. 72657

650825. 76 4188683. 34 4. 74382 651125. 76

4188683. 34 2. 80045

649125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 32157 649225. 76

4188733. 34 1. 50267

649325. 76 4188733. 34 1. 72726 649425. 76

4188733. 34 2. 00872

649525. 76 4188733. 34 2. 36548 649625. 76

4188733. 34 2. 82412

649725. 76 4188733. 34 3. 42360 649825. 76

4188733. 34 4. 22196

649925. 76 4188733. 34 5. 32929 650025. 76

4188733. 34 6. 94956

650125. 76 4188733. 34 8. 90104 650225. 76

4188733. 34 9. 76400

650325. 76 4188733. 34 8. 79703 650425. 76

904



4188733. 34 7. 79849

650525. 76 4188733. 34 6. 71310 650625. 76

4188733. 34 5. 57506

650725. 76 4188733. 34 4. 64059 650825. 76

4188733. 34 3. 93530

651125. 76 4188733. 34 2. 51757 649125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 29390

649225. 76 4188783. 34 1. 46890 649325. 76

4188783. 34 1. 68199

649425. 76 4188783. 34 1. 94355 649525. 76

4188783. 34 2. 26841

649625. 76 4188783. 34 2. 67754 649725. 76

4188783. 34 3. 19947

649825. 76 4188783. 34 3. 88298 649925. 76

4188783. 34 4. 83325

650025. 76 4188783. 34 6. 10541 650125. 76

4188783. 34 7. 20649

650225. 76 4188783. 34 7. 31749 650325. 76

4188783. 34 6. 54318

650425. 76 4188783. 34 5. 95372 650525. 76

4188783. 34 5. 28615

650625. 76 4188783. 34 4. 53609 650725. 76

4188783. 34 3. 85998

650825. 76 4188783. 34 3. 31983 651125. 76

4188783. 34 2. 25548

649125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 26771 649225. 76

4188833. 34 1. 43253

649325. 76 4188833. 34 1. 62976 649425. 76

4188833. 34 1. 86853

649525. 76 4188833. 34 2. 16124 649625. 76

4188833. 34 2. 52329

649725. 76 4188833. 34 2. 97808 649825. 76

4188833. 34 3. 57862

649925. 76 4188833. 34 4. 39648 650025. 76

4188833. 34 5. 30588

650125. 76 4188833. 34 5. 82895 650225. 76

4188833. 34 5. 66565

650325. 76 4188833. 34 5. 09083 650425. 76

4188833. 34 4. 71923

650525. 76 4188833. 34 4. 28202 650625. 76

4188833. 34 3. 77056

650725. 76 4188833. 34 3. 27207 650825. 76

4188833. 34 2. 85387

651125. 76 4188833. 34 2. 01240 649125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 23701

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

905



PAGE 16

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 1. 38933 649325. 76

4188883. 34 1. 57025

649425. 76 4188883. 34 1. 78762 649525. 76

4188883. 34 2. 05033

649625. 76 4188883. 34 2. 37030 649725. 76

4188883. 34 2. 77464

649825. 76 4188883. 34 3. 31418 649925. 76

4188883. 34 3. 98435

650025. 76 4188883. 34 4. 56086 650125. 76

4188883. 34 4. 75582

650225. 76 4188883. 34 4. 51491 650325. 76

4188883. 34 4. 09578

650425. 76 4188883. 34 3. 84874 650525. 76

4188883. 34 3. 54722

650625. 76 4188883. 34 3. 18748 650725. 76

4188883. 34 2. 81448

650825. 76 4188883. 34 2. 48727 651125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 79407

650125. 76 4188933. 34 3. 93276 650225. 76

4188933. 34 3. 68622

650325. 76 4188933. 34 3. 38138 650425. 76

4188933. 34 3. 20974

650525. 76 4188933. 34 2. 99247 650625. 76

4188933. 34 2. 73233

650725. 76 4188933. 34 2. 45079 650825. 76

4188933. 34 2. 18869

651125. 76 4188933. 34 1. 60744 650425. 76

4188983. 34 2. 72544

650525. 76 4188983. 34 2. 56300 650625. 76

4188983. 34 2. 37022

650725. 76 4188983. 34 2. 15561 650825. 76

4188983. 34 1. 94264

651125. 76 4188983. 34 1. 45331 650525. 76

906



4189033. 34 2. 22350

650625. 76 4189033. 34 2. 07733 650725. 76

4189033. 34 1. 91146

650825. 76 4189033. 34 1. 73886 651125. 76

4189033. 34 1. 32635

650525. 76 4189083. 34 1. 95038 650625. 76

4189083. 34 1. 83687

650725. 76 4189083. 34 1. 70692 650825. 76

4189083. 34 1. 56789

651125. 76 4189083. 34 1. 21908 650525. 76

4189133. 34 1. 72726

650625. 76 4189133. 34 1. 63683 650725. 76

4189133. 34 1. 53412

650825. 76 4189133. 34 1. 42176 651125. 76

4189133. 34 1. 12496

650781. 98 4189510. 65 0. 78373 650760. 33

4189397. 50 0. 93604

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ DropbOx\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 17

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 33. 87899 649629. 66

4188294. 84 21. 15952

649810. 15 4188312. 48 79. 34923 649364. 10

4188360. 20 7. 73569

649327. 80 4188355. 01 6. 73633 649380. 70

4188758. 52 5. 56104

650495. 81 4188841. 51 1. 96862 650597. 47

4188832. 17 1. 81267

650536. 27 4188878. 85 1. 73706 650577. 76

4188877. 81 1. 67592

650602. 66 4188860. 18 1. 70016 650610. 95

907



4188880. 93 1. 61532

650638. 10 4188858. 53 1. 64865 650664. 10

4188331. 03 3. 11342

650668. 72 4188350. 83 3. 07133 650677. 96
4188379. 86 2. 98946

650699. 74 4188414. 84 2. 82815 650758. 47
4188658. 36 2. 01682

650765. 73 4188678. 82 1. 93522 650773. 65
4188706. 54 1. 83426

650778. 27 4188726. 34 1. 76791 650805. 33
4188805. 53 1. 51569

650806. 65 4188824. 01 1. 47154 650811. 27

4188843. 81 1. 42084

650814. 57 4188862. 29 1. 37651 650846. 24

4188924. 98 1. 21324

650850. 86 4188951. 38 1. 15952 650854. 82

4188976. 46 1. 11070

650698. 00 4188307. 32 2. 92717 650692. 60
4188291. 80 2. 96080

650724. 82 4189245. 80 0. 81555 650726. 07

4189273. 37 0. 78752

650856. 27 4189006. 30 1. 05751 650857. 23
4189022. 60     1. 02937

650859. 15 4189041. 29 0. 99763 650859. 15
4189058. 54 0. 97056

650860. 58 4189076. 28 0. 94297 650861. 54

4189094. 49 0. 91620

650857. 71 4189113. 19 0. 89267 650847. 16

4189118. 94 0. 89078

650848. 12 4189134. 76 0. 86979 650850. 04

4189155. 37 0. 84357

650851. 48 4189171. 66 0. 82401 650853. 87
4189184. 12 0. 80904

650856. 75 4189199. 46 0. 79139 650857. 71
4189213. 36 0. 77687

650860. 58 4189226. 30 0. 76291 650862. 50

4189242. 60 0. 74685

650865. 38 4189258. 42 0. 73146 650867. 77

4189275. 19 0. 71613

650868. 73 4189291. 49 0. 70246 650872. 09
4189309. 23 0. 68717

650874. 00 4189325. 04 0. 67453 650875. 92
4189340. 38 0. 66264

650878. 80 4189355. 24 0. 65106 650881. 19
4189373. 45 0. 63776

650884. 55 4189390. 71 0. 62514 650888. 86
4189407. 01 0. 61316

650889. 82 4189427. 14 0. 60029 650891. 74
4189443. 43 0. 58973

650895. 09 4189461. 17 0. 57807 650898. 45

908



4189475. 55 0. 56864

650898. 45 4189489. 93 0. 56031 650902. 28

4189504. 31 0. 55105

650709. 41 4188344. 56 2. 84592 650722. 45

4188284. 03 2. 80191

650745. 73 4188280. 30 2. 68702 650735. 49

4188223. 50 2. 72437

650721. 52 4188167. 62 2. 75311 650525. 76

4188133. 34 3. 94406

651125. 76 4188133. 34 1. 51395 649125. 76

4188183. 34 2. 95255

649225. 76 4188183. 34 3. 63714 649325. 76

4188183. 34 4. 59801

649425. 76 4188183. 34 5. 94775 649525. 76

4188183. 34 7. 91642

649625. 76 4188183. 34 11. 48611 649725. 76

4188183. 34 16. 35374

649825. 76 4188183. 34 18. 95305 649925. 76

4188183. 34 19. 05660

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 18

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650025. 76 4188183. 34 15. 71655 650125. 76

4188183. 34 11. 96681

650225. 76 4188183. 34 8. 84872 650325. 76

4188183. 34 6. 63257

650425. 76 4188183. 34 5. 11472 650525. 76

4188183. 34 4. 05922

650625. 76 4188183. 34 3. 30337 650725. 76

4188183. 34 2. 74572

650825. 76 4188183. 34 2. 32296 651125. 76

909



4188183. 34 1. 52402

649125. 76 4188233. 34 3. 19338 649225. 76

4188233. 34 3. 99064

649325. 76 4188233. 34 5. 14720 649425. 76

4188233. 34 6. 89965

649525. 76 4188233. 34 9. 62693 649625. 76

4188233. 34 14. 54632

649725. 76 4188233. 34 23. 29348 649825. 76

4188233. 34 29. 10509

649925. 76 4188233. 34 27. 21619 650025. 76

4188233. 34 20. 01226

650125. 76 4188233. 34 13. 72709 650225. 76

4188233. 34 9. 55414

650325. 76 4188233. 34 6. 94719 650425. 76

4188233. 34 5. 27249

650525. 76 4188233. 34 4. 14569 650625. 76

4188233. 34 3. 35391

650725. 76 4188233. 34 2. 77636 650825. 76

4188233. 34 2. 34159

651125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 52633 649125. 76

4188283. 34 3. 43994

649225. 76 4188283. 34 4. 36860 649325. 76

4188283. 34 5. 75956

649425. 76 4188283. 34 7. 98535 649525. 76

4188283. 34 11. 82794

649625. 76 4188283. 34 19. 25100 649725. 76

4188283. 34 36. 18937

649825. 76 4188283. 34 51. 39279 649925. 76

4188283. 34 40. 50726

650025. 76 4188283. 34 24. 66881 650125. 76

4188283. 34 15. 17722

650225. 76 4188283. 34 10. 06874 650325. 76

4188283. 34 7. 16051

650425. 76 4188283. 34 5. 37023 650525. 76

4188283. 34 4. 19259

650625. 76 4188283. 34 3. 37591 650725. 76

4188283. 34 2. 78511

650825. 76 4188283. 34 2. 34295 651125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 51993

649125. 76 4188333. 34 3. 69039 649225. 76

4188333. 34 4. 75550

649325. 76 4188333. 34 6. 40890 649425. 76

4188333. 34 9. 19867

649525. 76 4188333. 34 14. 50431 649625. 76

4188333. 34 26. 58858

649725. 76 4188333. 34 66. 40581 649825. 76

4188333. 34 115. 66569

649925. 76 4188333. 34 59. 35489 650025. 76

4188333. 34 28. 49179

650125. 76 4188333. 34 16. 07340 650225. 76

910



4188333. 34 10. 32503

650325. 76 4188333. 34 7. 23684 650425. 76

4188333. 34 5. 38634

650525. 76 4188333. 34 4. 18652 650625. 76

4188333. 34 3. 36155

650725. 76 4188333. 34 2. 76811 650825. 76

4188333. 34 2. 32575

651125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 50625 649125. 76

4188383. 34 3. 92745

649225. 76 4188383. 34 5. 12482 649325. 76

4188383. 34 7. 03674

649425. 76 4188383. 34 10. 41404 649525. 76

4188383. 34 17. 39565

649625. 76 4188383. 34 36. 56392 649725. 76

4188383. 34 0. 00000

649825. 76 4188383. 34 0. 00000 649925. 76

4188383. 34 75. 69188

650025. 76 4188383. 34 29. 97742 650125. 76

4188383. 34 16. 16770

650225. 76 4188383. 34 10. 24658 650325. 76

4188383. 34 7. 14784

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 19

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 5. 31101 650525. 76

4188383. 34 4. 12592

650625. 76 4188383. 34 3. 31306 650725. 76

4188383. 34 2. 72904

650825. 76 4188383. 34 2. 29394 651125. 76

4188383. 34 1. 48793

649125. 76 4188433. 34 4. 09850 649225. 76

911



4188433. 34 5. 38675

649325. 76 4188433. 34 7. 47396 649425. 76

4188433. 34 11. 24624

649525. 76 4188433. 34 19. 37265 649625. 76

4188433. 34 43. 87140

649725. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000 649825. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000

649925. 76 4188433. 34 71. 42414 650025. 76

4188433. 34 27. 95271

650125. 76 4188433. 34 15. 29271 650225. 76

4188433. 34 9. 80085

650325. 76 4188433. 34 6. 89117 650425. 76

4188433. 34 5. 14954

650525. 76 4188433. 34 4. 01748 650625. 76

4188433. 34 3. 23650

650725. 76 4188433. 34 2. 67283 650825. 76

4188433. 34 2. 25135

651125. 76 4188433. 34 1. 46661 649125. 76

4188483. 34 4. 14584

649225. 76 4188483. 34 5. 43779 649325. 76

4188483. 34 7. 52052

649425. 76 4188483. 34 11. 24996 649525. 76

4188483. 34 19. 10168

649625. 76 4188483. 34 41. 03794 649725. 76

4188483. 34 130. 57562

650425. 76 4188483. 34 4. 89254 650525. 76

4188483. 34 3. 85514

650625. 76 4188483. 34 3. 12782 650725. 76

4188483. 34 2. 59666

650825. 76 4188483. 34 2. 19594 651125. 76

4188483. 34 1. 44144

649125. 76 4188533. 34 4. 06011 649225. 76

4188533. 34 5. 28197

649325. 76 4188533. 34 7. 21659 649425. 76

4188533. 34 10. 55872

649525. 76 4188533. 34 17. 07083 649625. 76

4188533. 34 32. 01676

649725. 76 4188533. 34 57. 93812 650425. 76

4188533. 34 4. 52709

650525. 76 4188533. 34 3. 62536 650625. 76

4188533. 34 2. 97579

650725. 76 4188533. 34 2. 49180 650825. 76

4188533. 34 2. 12106

651125. 76 4188533. 34 1. 40944 649125. 76

4188583. 34 3. 90282

649225. 76 4188583. 34 5. 02943 649325. 76

4188583. 34 6. 75592

649425. 76 4188583. 34 9. 56368 649525. 76

4188583. 34 14. 53751

649625. 76 4188583. 34 23. 39309 649725. 76

912



4188583. 34 28. 97272

650425. 76 4188583. 34 4. 08468 650525. 76

4188583. 34 3. 33682

650625. 76 4188583. 34 2. 78027 650725. 76

4188583. 34 2. 35505

650825. 76 4188583. 34 2. 02275 651125. 76

4188583. 34 1. 36769

649125. 76 4188633. 34 3. 72968 649225. 76

4188633. 34 4. 74210

649325. 76 4188633. 34 6. 21997 649425. 76

4188633. 34 8. 48439

649525. 76 4188633. 34 12. 17934 649625. 76

4188633. 34 16. 78164

649725. 76 4188633. 34 17. 00003 649825. 76

4188633. 34 14. 06344

649925. 76 4188633. 34 11. 08611 650025. 76

4188633. 34 8. 54761

650125. 76 4188633. 34 6. 76726 650225. 76

4188633. 34 5. 44856

650325. 76 4188633. 34 4. 42148 650425. 76

4188633. 34 3. 62945

650525. 76 4188633. 34 3. 02478 650625. 76

4188633. 34 2. 55945

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 20

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 2. 19518 650825. 76

4188633. 34 1. 90481

651125. 76 4188633. 34 1. 31544 649125. 76

4188683. 34 3. 54000

649225. 76 4188683. 34 4. 41903 649325. 76

913



4188683. 34 5. 65015

649425. 76 4188683. 34 7. 48381 649525. 76

4188683. 34 10. 10749

649625. 76 4188683. 34 12. 07443 649725. 76

4188683. 34 11. 19883

649825. 76 4188683. 34 9. 68918 649925. 76

4188683. 34 8. 12036

650025. 76 4188683. 34 6. 56786 650125. 76

4188683. 34 5. 37382

650225. 76 4188683. 34 4. 49128 650325. 76

4188683. 34 3. 78825

650425. 76 4188683. 34 3. 20285 650525. 76

4188683. 34 2. 72327

650625. 76 4188683. 34 2. 33772 650725. 76

4188683. 34 2. 02818

650825. 76 4188683. 34 1. 77717 651125. 76

4188683. 34 1. 25469

649125. 76 4188733. 34 3. 32787 649225. 76

4188733. 34 4. 07783

649325. 76 4188733. 34 5. 11491 649425. 76

4188733. 34 6. 60710

649525. 76 4188733. 34 8. 27367 649625. 76

4188733. 34 8. 87962

649725. 76 4188733. 34 7. 99377 649825. 76

4188733. 34 7. 14654

649925. 76 4188733. 34 6. 23314 650025. 76

4188733. 34 5. 23947

650125. 76 4188733. 34 4. 39124 650225. 76

4188733. 34 3. 73943

650325. 76 4188733. 34 3. 23486 650425. 76

4188733. 34 2. 81220

650525. 76 4188733. 34 2. 44422 650625. 76

4188733. 34 2. 12996

650725. 76 4188733. 34 1. 86773 650825. 76

4188733. 34 1. 65058

651125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 18916 649125. 76

4188783. 34 3. 10612

649225. 76 4188783. 34 3. 75222 649325. 76

4188783. 34 4. 64830

649425. 76 4188783. 34 5. 80068 649525. 76

4188783. 34 6. 70985

649625. 76 4188783. 34 6. 73588 649725. 76

4188783. 34 6. 03619

649825. 76 4188783. 34 5. 52439 649925. 76

4188783. 34 4. 95109

650025. 76 4188783. 34 4. 29080 650125. 76

4188783. 34 3. 67502

650225. 76 4188783. 34 3. 17341 650325. 76

4188783. 34 2. 77768

650425. 76 4188783. 34 2. 46084 650525. 76

914



4188783. 34 2. 18508

650625. 76 4188783. 34 1. 93730 650725. 76

4188783. 34 1. 71912

650825. 76 4188783. 34 1. 53183 651125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 12288

649125. 76 4188833. 34 2. 89165 649225. 76

4188833. 34 3. 46450

649325. 76 4188833. 34 4. 23114 649425. 76

4188833. 34 5. 03403

649525. 76 4188833. 34 5. 44932 649625. 76

4188833. 34 5. 26968

649725. 76 4188833. 34 4. 74826 649825. 76

4188833. 34 4. 42024

649925. 76 4188833. 34 4. 03828 650025. 76

4188833. 34 3. 58430

650125. 76 4188833. 34 3. 12904 650225. 76

4188833. 34 2. 74064

650325. 76 4188833. 34 2. 41749 650425. 76

4188833. 34 2. 15962

650525. 76 4188833. 34 1. 94672 650625. 76

4188833. 34 1. 75579

650725. 76 4188833. 34 1. 58020 650825. 76

4188833. 34 1. 42195

651125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 05913 649125. 76

4188883. 34 2. 69783

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 21

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD]  U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 3. 21332 649325. 76

4188883. 34 3. 83056

649425. 76 4188883. 34 4. 32597 649525. 76

915



4188883. 34 4. 46952

649625. 76 4188883. 34 4. 23511 649725. 76

4188883. 34 3. 85216

649825. 76 4188883. 34 3. 63143 649925. 76

4188883. 34 3. 36404

650025. 76 4188883. 34 3. 04215 650125. 76

4188883. 34 2. 70140

650225. 76 4188883. 34 2. 39548 650325. 76

4188883. 34 2. 13413

650425. 76 4188883. 34 1. 91367 650525. 76

4188883. 34 1. 73655

650625. 76 4188883. 34 1. 58591 650725. 76

4188883. 34 1. 44763

650825. 76 4188883. 34 1. 31819 651125. 76

4188883. 34 0. 99972

650125. 76 4188933. 34 2. 35936 650225. 76

4188933. 34 2. 11301

650325. 76 4188933. 34 1. 90294 650425. 76

4188933. 34 1. 71586

650525. 76 4188933. 34 1. 55983 650625. 76

4188933. 34 1. 43284

650725. 76 4188933. 34 1. 32186 650825. 76

4188933. 34 1. 21810

651125. 76 4188933. 34 0. 94472 650425. 76

4188983. 34 1. 55299

650525. 76 4188983. 34 1. 41469 650625. 76

4188983. 34 1. 30094

650725. 76 4188983. 34 1. 20657 650825. 76

4188983. 34 1. 12212

651125. 76 4188983. 34 0. 89282 650525. 76

4189033. 34 1. 29439

650625. 76 4189033. 34 1. 19041 650725. 76

4189033. 34 1. 10519

650825. 76 4189033. 34 1. 03291 651125. 76

4189033. 34 0. 84240

650525. 76 4189083. 34 1. 19137 650625. 76

4189083. 34 1. 09795

650725. 76 4189083. 34 1. 01861 650825. 76

4189083. 34 0. 95313

651125. 76 4189083. 34 0. 79266 650525. 76

4189133. 34 1. 09985

650625. 76 4189133. 34 1. 01898 650725. 76

4189133. 34 0. 94536

650825. 76 4189133. 34 0. 88383 651125. 76

4189133. 34 0. 74394

650781. 98 4189510. 65 0. 57575 650760. 33

4189397. 50 0. 66456

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ USerS\ Smith\ DrOpbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

916



16: 20: 52

PAGE 22

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 9. 98764 649629. 66

4188294. 84 8. 12311

649810. 15 4188312. 48 11. 52187 649364. 10

4188360. 20 4. 75178

649327. 80 4188355. 01 4. 31161 649380. 70

4188758. 52 8. 50456

650495. 81 4188841. 51 3. 14728 650597. 47

4188832. 17 2. 69525

650536. 27 4188878. 85 2. 71563 650577. 76

4188877. 81 2. 54997

650602. 66 4188860. 18 2. 53762 650610. 95

4188880. 93 2. 40977

650638. 10 4188858. 53 2. 40974 650664. 10

4188331. 03 3. 00590

650668. 72 4188350. 83 3. 00567 650677. 96

4188379. 86 2. 98686

650699. 74 4188414. 84 2. 89867 650758. 47

4188658. 36 2. 49311

650765. 73 4188678. 82 2. 43348 650773. 65

4188706. 54 2. 35703

650778. 27 4188726. 34 2. 30322 650805. 33

4188805. 53 2. 03584

650806. 65 4188824. 01 1. 98520 650811. 27

4188843. 81 1. 92107

650814. 57 4188862. 29 1. 86396 650846. 24

4188924. 98 1. 63562

650850. 86 4188951. 38 1. 56519 650854. 82

4188976. 46 1. 50226

650698. 00 4188307. 32 2. 80084 650692. 60

4188291. 80 2. 80687

650724. 82 4189245. 80 1. 08672 650726. 07

917



4189273. 37 1. 03794

650856. 27 4189006. 30 1. 43650 650857. 23

4189022. 60 1. 40172

650859. 15 4189041. 29 1. 36179 650859. 15

4189058. 54 1. 32828

650860. 58 4189076. 28 1. 29264 650861. 54

4189094. 49 1. 25736

650857. 71 4189113. 19 1. 22695 650847. 16

4189118. 94 1. 22756

650848. 12 4189134. 76 1. 19677 650850. 04

4189155. 37 1. 15671

650851. 48 4189171. 66 1. 12578 650853. 87
4189184. 12 1. 10152

650856. 75 4189199. 46 1. 07242 650857. 71

4189213. 36 1. 04795

650860. 58 4189226. 30 1. 02434 650862. 50

4189242. 60 0. 99665

650865. 38 4189258. 42 0. 97008 650867. 77

4189275. 19 0. 94340

650868. 73 4189291. 49 0. 91931 650872. 09

4189309. 23 0. 89297

650874. 00 4189325. 04 0. 87114 650875. 92

4189340. 38 0. 85085

650878. 80 4189355. 24 0. 83152 650881. 19

4189373. 45 0. 80952

650884. 55 4189390. 71 0. 78921 650888. 86

4189407. 01 0. 77042

650889. 82 4189427. 14 0. 75039 650891. 74

4189443. 43 0. 73450

650895. 09 4189461. 17 0. 71745 650898. 45

4189475. 55 0. 70394

650898. 45 4189489. 93 0. 69236 650902. 28
4189504. 31 0. 67960

650709. 41 4188344. 56 2. 78784 650722. 45
4188284. 03 2. 65860

650745. 73 4188280. 30 2. 55403 650735. 49

4188223. 50 2. 52499

650721. 52 4188167. 62 2. 49239 650525. 76

4188133. 34 3. 22934

651125. 76 4188133. 34 1. 43944 649125. 76

4188183. 34 2. 15334

649225. 76 4188183. 34 2. 48010 649325. 76
4188183. 34 2. 89100

649425. 76 4188183. 34 3. 48684 649525. 76
4188183. 34 4. 40262

649625. 76 4188183. 34 5. 53061 649725. 76
4188183. 34 6. 08776

649825. 76 4188183. 34 6. 32118 649925. 76

4188183. 34 6. 82259

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC

918



DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 23

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650025. 76 4188183. 34 6. 61625 650125. 76

4188183. 34 6. 00279

650225. 76 4188183. 34 5. 40258 650325. 76
4188183. 34 4. 72209

650425. 76 4188183. 34 4. 04499 650525. 76
4188183. 34 3. 43893

650625. 76 4188183. 34 2. 92518 650725. 76
4188183. 34 2. 50265

650825. 76 4188183. 34 2. 15896 651125. 76
4188183. 34 1. 46044

649125. 76 4188233. 34 2. 33495 649225. 76
4188233. 34 2. 73792

649325. 76 4188233. 34 3. 22526 649425. 76

4188233. 34 3. 90123

649525. 76 4188233. 34 4. 97688 649625. 76

4188233. 34 6. 48972

649725. 76 4188233. 34 7. 43349 649825. 76

4188233. 34 7. 82330

649925. 76 4188233. 34 8. 41621 650025. 76

4188233. 34 7. 94074

650125. 76 4188233. 34 7. 09997 650225. 76

4188233. 34 6. 19546

650325. 76 4188233. 34 5. 23507 650425. 76
4188233. 34 4. 36138

650525. 76 4188233. 34 3. 63010 650625. 76
4188233. 34 3. 04296

650725. 76 4188233. 34 2. 57813 650825. 76

4188233. 34 2. 20928

651125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 47993 649125. 76

919



4188283. 34 2. 52179

649225. 76 4188283. 34 3. 01585 649325. 76

4188283. 34 3. 62624

649425. 76 4188283. 34 4. 42566 649525. 76

4188283. 34 5. 68923

649625. 76 4188283. 34 7. 70406 649725. 76

4188283. 34 9. 30317

649825. 76 4188283. 34 9. 98479 649925. 76

4188283. 34 10. 63775

650025. 76 4188283. 34 9. 73193 650125. 76

4188283. 34 8. 46513

650225. 76 4188283. 34 7. 06798 650325. 76

4188283. 34 5. 74576

650425. 76 4188283. 34 4. 65065 650525. 76

4188283. 34 3. 79721

650625. 76 4188283. 34 3. 14450 650725. 76

4188283. 34 2. 64313

650825. 76 4188283. 34 2. 25306 651125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 49799

649125. 76 4188333. 34 2. 72119 649225. 76

4188333. 34 3. 30781

649325. 76 4188333. 34 4. 08164 649425. 76

4188333. 34 5. 09378

649525. 76 4188333. 34 6. 61190 649625. 76

4188333. 34 9. 27628

649725. 76 4188333. 34 12. 01002 649825. 76

4188333. 34 13. 27410

649925. 76 4188333. 34 13. 86341 650025. 76

4188333. 34 12. 20215

650125. 76 4188333. 34 10. 09155 650225. 76

4188333. 34 7. 96944

650325. 76 4188333. 34 6. 21641 650425. 76

4188333. 34 4. 90067

650525. 76 4188333. 34 3. 93887 650625. 76

4188333. 34 3. 23043

650725. 76 4188333. 34 2. 69860 650825. 76

4188333. 34 2. 29105

651125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 51342 649125. 76

4188383. 34 2. 94317

649225. 76 4188383. 34 3. 62377 649325. 76

4188383. 34 4. 57719

649425. 76 4188383. 34 5. 91204 649525. 76

4188383. 34 7. 85905

649625. 76 4188383. 34 11. 38792 649725. 76

4188383. 34 16. 14259

649825. 76 4188383. 34 18. 67285 649925. 76

4188383. 34 18. 80664

650025. 76 4188383. 34 15. 56022 650125. 76

4188383. 34 11. 89170

650225. 76 4188383. 34 8. 81638 650325. 76

920



4188383. 34 6. 61793

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 24

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 5. 10733 650525. 76

4188383. 34 4. 05511

650625. 76 4188383. 34 3. 30091 650725. 76

4188383. 34 2. 74415

650825. 76 4188383. 34 2. 32192 651125. 76

4188383. 34 1. 52375

649125. 76 4188433. 34 3. 18352 649225. 76

4188433. 34 3. 97586

649325. 76 4188433. 34 5. 12403 649425. 76

4188433. 34 6. 85915

649525. 76 4188433. 34 9. 54992 649625. 76

4188433. 34 14. 40340

649725. 76 4188433. 34 22. 93402 649825. 76

4188433. 34 28. 55914

649925. 76 4188433. 34 26. 80518 650025. 76

4188433. 34 19. 82327

650125. 76 4188433. 34 13. 65907 650225. 76

4188433. 34 9. 52885

650325. 76 4188433. 34 6. 93632 650425. 76

4188433. 34 5. 26721

650525. 76 4188433. 34 4. 14290 650625. 76

4188433. 34 3. 35236

650725. 76 4188433. 34 2. 77549 650825. 76

4188433. 34 2. 34114

651125. 76 4188433. 34 1. 52640 649125. 76

4188483. 34 3. 42997

649225. 76 4188483. 34 4. 35322 649325. 76

921



4188483. 34 5. 73416

649425. 76 4188483. 34 7. 93948 649525. 76

4188483. 34 11. 73148

649625. 76 4188483. 34 19. 02810 649725. 76

4188483. 34 35. 49091

650425. 76 4188483. 34 5. 36777 650525. 76

4188483. 34 4. 19167

650625. 76 4188483. 34 3. 37570 650725. 76

4188483. 34 2. 78525

650825. 76 4188483. 34 2. 34326 651125. 76

4188483. 34 1. 52035

649125. 76 4188533. 34 3. 68035 649225. 76

4188533. 34 4. 74001

649325. 76 4188533. 34 6. 38280 649425. 76

4188533. 34 9. 14908

649525. 76 4188533. 34 14. 39134 649625. 76

4188533. 34 26. 24989

649725. 76 4188533. 34 64. 67384 650425. 76

4188533. 34 5. 38754

650525. 76 4188533. 34 4. 18790 650625. 76

4188533. 34 3. 36287

650725. 76 4188533. 34 2. 76929 650825. 76

4188533. 34 2. 32678

651125. 76 4188533. 34 1. 50693 649125. 76

4188583. 34 3. 91863

649225. 76 4188583. 34 5. 11108 649325. 76

4188583. 34 7. 01342

649425. 76 4188583. 34 10. 36891 649525. 76

4188583. 34 17. 28721

649625. 76 4188583. 34 36. 17104 649725. 76

4188583. 34 0. 00000

650425. 76 4188583. 34 5. 31588 650525. 76

4188583. 34 4. 12942

650625. 76 4188583. 34 3. 31565 650725. 76

4188583. 34 2. 73102

650825. 76 4188583. 34 2. 29549 651125. 76

4188583. 34 1. 48875

649125. 76 4188633. 34 4. 09341 649225. 76

4188633. 34 5. 37934

649325. 76 4188633. 34 7. 46234 649425. 76

4188633. 34 11. 22592

649525. 76 4188633. 34 19. 33046 649625. 76

4188633. 34 43. 76064

649725. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000 649825. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000

649925. 76 4188633. 34 72. 15382 650025. 76

4188633. 34 28. 10931

650125. 76 4188633. 34 15. 34833 650225. 76

4188633. 34 9. 82653

650325. 76 4188633. 34 6. 90505 650425. 76

922



4188633. 34 5. 15787

650525. 76 4188633. 34 4. 02287 650625. 76

4188633. 34 3. 24020

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 25

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 2. 67548 650825. 76

4188633. 34 2. 25332

651125. 76 4188633. 34 1. 46755 649125. 76

4188683. 34 4. 14643

649225. 76 4188683. 34 5. 43993 649325. 76

4188683. 34 7. 52629

649425. 76 4188683. 34 11. 26590 649525. 76

4188683. 34 19. 15664

649625. 76 4188683. 34 41. 34569 649725. 76

4188683. 34 134. 57865

649825. 76 4188683. 34 0. 00000 649925. 76

4188683. 34 48. 35776

650025. 76 4188683. 34 22. 95905 650125. 76

4188683. 34 13. 54404

650225. 76 4188683. 34 9. 01007 650325. 76

4188683. 34 6. 47380

650425. 76 4188683. 34 4. 90504 650525. 76

4188683. 34 3. 86295

650625. 76 4188683. 34 3. 13299 650725. 76

4188683. 34 2. 60024

650825. 76 4188683. 34 2. 19852 651125. 76

4188683. 34 1. 44257

649125. 76 4188733. 34 4. 06552 649225. 76

4188733. 34 5. 29108

649325. 76 4188733. 34 7. 23342 649425. 76

923



4188733. 34 10. 59555

649525. 76 4188733. 34 17. 17317 649625. 76

4188733. 34 32. 41030

649725. 76 4188733. 34 59. 89342 649825. 76

4188733. 34 49. 40382

649925. 76 4188733. 34 27. 36027 650025. 76

4188733. 34 16. 78089

650125. 76 4188733. 34 11. 13567 650225. 76

4188733. 34 7. 87122

650325. 76 4188733. 34 5. 86018 650425. 76

4188733. 34 4. 54380

650525. 76 4188733. 34 3. 63595 650625. 76

4188733. 34 2. 98283

650725. 76 4188733. 34 2. 49666 650825. 76

4188733. 34 2. 12453

651125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 41090 649125. 76

4188783. 34 3. 90989

649225. 76 4188783. 34 5. 04074 649325. 76

4188783. 34 6. 77669

649425. 76 4188783. 34 9. 60791 649525. 76

4188783. 34 14. 64257

649625. 76 4188783. 34 23. 70639 649725. 76

4188783. 34 29. 72837

649825. 76 4188783. 34 23. 40091 649925. 76

4188783. 34 16. 57483

650025. 76 4188783. 34 11. 85647 650125. 76

4188783. 34 8. 76742

650225. 76 4188783. 34 6. 63364 650325. 76

4188783. 34 5. 14843

650425. 76 4188783. 34 4. 10349 650525. 76

4188783. 34 3. 34933

650625. 76 4188783. 34 2. 78888 650725. 76

4188783. 34 2. 36113

650825. 76 4188783. 34 2. 02716 651125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 36958

649125. 76 4188833. 34 3. 73707 649225. 76

4188833. 34 4. 75463

649325. 76 4188833. 34 6. 24316 649425. 76

4188833. 34 8. 52876

649525. 76 4188833. 34 12. 27054 649625. 76

4188833. 34 17. 01050

649725. 76 4188833. 34 17. 34295 649825. 76

4188833. 34 14. 31624

649925. 76 4188833. 34 11. 24801 650025. 76

4188833. 34 8. 65267

650125. 76 4188833. 34 6. 83665 650225. 76

4188833. 34 5. 49234

650325. 76 4188833. 34 4. 44911 650425. 76

4188833. 34 3. 64779

650525. 76 4188833. 34 3. 03758 650625. 76

924



4188833. 34 2. 56867

650725. 76 4188833. 34 2. 20197 650825. 76

4188833. 34 1. 90988

651125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 31774 649125. 76

4188883. 34 3. 54824

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 26

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 4. 43287 649325. 76

4188883. 34 5. 67357

649425. 76 4188883. 34 7. 52288 649525. 76

4188883. 34 10. 18654

649625. 76 4188883. 34 12. 23401 649725. 76

4188883. 34 11. 37789

649825. 76 4188883. 34 9. 82648 649925. 76

4188883. 34 8. 21815

650025. 76 4188883. 34 6. 63533 650125. 76

4188883. 34 5. 42306

650225. 76 4188883. 34 4. 52709 650325. 76

4188883. 34 3. 81289

650425. 76 4188883. 34 3. 21970 650525. 76

4188883. 34 2. 73526

650625. 76 4188883. 34 2. 34664 650725. 76

4188883. 34 2. 03499

650825. 76 4188883. 34 1. 78245 651125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 25728

650125. 76 4188933. 34 4. 42613 650225. 76

4188933. 34 3. 76685

650325. 76 4188933. 34 3. 25597 650425. 76

4188933. 34 2. 82754

650525. 76 4188933. 34 2. 45527 650625. 76

925



4188933. 34 2. 13819

650725. 76 4188933. 34 1. 87412 650825. 76

4188933. 34 1. 65567

651125. 76 4188933. 34 1. 19188 650425. 76

4188983. 34 2. 47443

650525. 76 4188983. 34 2. 19533 650625. 76

4188983. 34 1. 94496

650725. 76 4188983. 34 1. 72501 650825. 76

4188983. 34 1. 53654

651125. 76 4188983. 34 1. 12557 650525. 76

4189033. 34 1. 95603

650625. 76 4189033. 34 1. 76302 650725. 76

4189033. 34 1. 58575

650825. 76 4189033. 34 1. 42632 651125. 76

4189033. 34 1. 06167

650525. 76 4189083. 34 1. 74461 650625. 76

4189083. 34 1. 59260

650725. 76 4189083. 34 1. 45294 650825. 76

4189083. 34 1. 32236

651125. 76 4189083. 34 1. 00208 650525. 76

4189133. 34 1. 56651

650625. 76 4189133. 34 1. 43876 650725. 76

4189133. 34 1. 32684

650825. 76 4189133. 34 1. 22213 651125. 76

4189133. 34 0. 94691

650781. 98 4189510. 65 0. 72839 650760. 33

4189397. 50 0. 84794

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 27

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 2. 42030 649629. 66

926



4188294. 84 2. 17745

649810. 15 4188312. 48 3. 08374 649364. 10

4188360. 20 1. 58424

649327. 80 4188355. 01 1. 50063 649380. 70

4188758. 52 2. 05797

650495. 81 4188841. 51 11. 80094 650597. 47

4188832. 17 9. 58103

650536. 27 4188878. 85 8. 43238 650577. 76

4188877. 81 7. 72942

650602. 66 4188860. 18 8. 03149 650610. 95

4188880. 93 7. 06099

650638. 10 4188858. 53 7. 45981 650664. 10
4188331. 03 10. 99804

650668. 72 4188350. 83 11. 84652 650677. 96
4188379. 86 13. 04295

650699. 74 4188414. 84 13. 84215 650758. 47

4188658. 36 12. 41463

650765. 73 4188678. 82 11. 48428 650773. 65

4188706. 54 10. 29609

650778. 27 4188726. 34 9. 49119 650805. 33

4188805. 53 6. 49327

650806. 65 4188824. 01 6. 01584 650811. 27

4188843. 81 5. 50341

650814. 57 4188862. 29 5. 08128 650846. 24

4188924. 98 3. 80750

650850. 86 4188951. 38 3. 45480 650854. 82

4188976. 46 3. 16806

650698. 00 4188307. 32 9. 43680 650692. 60

4188291. 80 8. 96978

650724. 82 4189245. 80 1. 82127 650726. 07

4189273. 37 1. 71057

650856. 27 4189006. 30 2. 88868 650857. 23
4189022. 60 2. 75317

650859. 15 4189041. 29 2. 60811 650859. 15
4189058. 54 2. 49072

650860. 58 4189076. 28 2. 37467 650861. 54

4189094. 49 2. 26554

650857. 71 4189113. 19 2. 17283 650847. 16
4189118. 94 2. 16753

650848. 12 4189134. 76 2. 08391 650850. 04
4189155. 37 1. 98088

650851. 48 4189171. 66 1. 90515 650853. 87
4189184. 12 1. 84794

650856. 75 4189199. 46 1. 78133 650857. 71

4189213. 36 1. 72699

650860. 58 4189226. 30 1. 67571 650862. 50
4189242. 60 1. 61710

650865. 38 4189258. 42 1. 56197 650867. 77

4189275. 19 1. 50774

650868. 73 4189291. 49 1. 45969 650872. 09

927



4189309. 23 1. 40741

650874. 00 4189325. 04 1. 36458 650875. 92
4189340. 38 1. 32492

650878. 80 4189355. 24 1. 28718 650881. 19

4189373. 45 1. 24431

650884. 55 4189390. 71 1. 20471 650888. 86

4189407. 01 1. 16812

650889. 82 4189427. 14 1. 12878 650891. 74

4189443. 43 1. 09750

650895. 09 4189461. 17 1. 06402 650898. 45

4189475. 55 1. 03759

650898. 45 4189489. 93 1. 01431 650902. 28

4189504. 31 0. 98947

650709. 41 4188344. 56 10. 60071 650722. 45
4188284. 03 8. 33032

650745. 73 4188280. 30 7. 92673 650735. 49

4188223. 50 6. 64676

650721. 52 4188167. 62 5. 62386 650525. 76

4188133. 34 5. 55336

651125. 76 4188133. 34 3. 19014 649125. 76

4188183. 34 1. 01532

649225. 76 4188183. 34 1. 12771 649325. 76

4188183. 34 1. 26295

649425. 76 4188183. 34 1. 42775 649525. 76

4188183. 34 1. 62822

649625. 76 4188183. 34 1. 86782 649725. 76

4188183. 34 2. 14659

649825. 76 4188183. 34 2. 46941 649925. 76

4188183. 34 2. 88008

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 28

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

928



650025. 76 4188183. 34 3. 47894 650125. 76
4188183. 34 4. 39242

650225. 76 4188183. 34 5. 47962 650325. 76
4188183. 34 5. 97956

650425. 76 4188183. 34 6. 22010 650525. 76

4188183. 34 6. 69677

650625. 76 4188183. 34 6. 48260 650725. 76
4188183. 34 5. 88672

650825. 76 4188183. 34 5. 30470 651125. 76
4188183. 34 3. 39754

649125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 06038 649225. 76

4188233. 34 1. 18173

649325. 76 4188233. 34 1. 32668 649425. 76

4188233. 34 1. 50357

649525. 76 4188233. 34 1. 72316 649625. 76
4188233. 34 1. 99630

649725. 76 4188233. 34 2. 33019 649825. 76

4188233. 34 2. 72722

649925. 76 4188233. 34 3. 21026 650025. 76
4188233. 34 3. 88847

650125. 76 4188233. 34 4. 96603 650225. 76

4188233. 34 6. 43517

650325. 76 4188233. 34 7. 29090 650425. 76

4188233. 34 7. 68162

650525. 76 4188233. 34 8. 23595 650625. 76

4188233. 34 7. 76202

650725. 76 4188233. 34 6. 94876 650825. 76
4188233. 34 6. 07628

651125. 76 4188233. 34 3. 58740 649125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 10478

649225. 76 4188283. 34 1. 23762 649325. 76

4188283. 34 1. 39606

649425. 76 4188283. 34 1. 58839 649525. 76

4188283. 34 1. 82740

649625. 76 4188283. 34 2. 13096 649725. 76

4188283. 34 2. 51919

649825. 76 4188283. 34 3. 00767 649925. 76

4188283. 34 3. 60895

650025. 76 4188283. 34 4. 40540 650125. 76
4188283. 34 5. 67449

650225. 76 4188283. 34 7. 64742 650325. 76
4188283. 34 9. 11057

650425. 76 4188283. 34 9. 77586 650525. 76
4188283. 34 10. 37002

650625. 76 4188283. 34 9. 48550 650725. 76
4188283. 34 8. 26749

650825. 76 4188283. 34 6. 92599 651125. 76
4188283. 34 3. 75388

649125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 14754 649225. 76

929



4188333. 34 1. 29216

649325. 76 4188333. 34 1. 46653 649425. 76

4188333. 34 1. 67923

649525. 76 4188333. 34 1. 94334 649625. 76

4188333. 34 2. 27965

649725. 76 4188333. 34 2. 71961 649825. 76

4188333. 34 3. 30308

649925. 76 4188333. 34 4. 06672 650025. 76

4188333. 34 5. 06572

650125. 76 4188333. 34 6. 58675 650225. 76

4188333. 34 9. 21885

650325. 76 4188333. 34 11. 74236 650425. 76

4188333. 34 12. 94415

650525. 76 4188333. 34 13. 44902 650625. 76

4188333. 34 11. 85076

650725. 76 4188333. 34 9. 83767 650825. 76

4188333. 34 7. 80662

651125. 76 4188333. 34 3. 89540 649125. 76

4188383. 34 1. 19047

649225. 76 4188383. 34 1. 34566 649325. 76

4188383. 34 1. 53539

649425. 76 4188383. 34 1. 77028 649525. 76

4188383. 34 2. 06537

649625. 76 4188383. 34 2. 44352 649725. 76

4188383. 34 2. 94190

649825. 76 4188383. 34 3. 62108 649925. 76

4188383. 34 4. 56795

650025. 76 4188383. 34 5. 88308 650125. 76

4188383. 34 7. 81530

650225. 76 4188383. 34 11. 32691 650325. 76

4188383. 34 15. 75822

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 29

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD7 U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

930



Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 18. 09982 650525. 76

4188383. 34 18. 12909

650625. 76 4188383. 34 15. 05185 650725. 76

4188383. 34 11. 57960

650825. 76 4188383. 34 8. 63926 651125. 76

4188383. 34 4. 01199

649125. 76 4188433. 34 1. 23551 649225. 76

4188433. 34 1. 40084

649325. 76 4188433. 34 1. 60477 649425. 76

4188433. 34 1. 86055

649525. 76 4188433. 34 2. 18731 649625. 76

4188433. 34 2. 61358

649725. 76 4188433. 34 3. 18420 649825. 76

4188433. 34 3. 97495

649925. 76 4188433. 34 5. 11957 650025. 76

4188433. 34 6. 83924

650125. 76 4188433. 34 9. 49084 650225. 76

4188433. 34 14. 32207

650325. 76 4188433. 34 22. 35916 650425. 76

4188433. 34 27. 41590

650525. 76 4188433. 34 25. 61952 650625. 76

4188433. 34 19. 11096

650725. 76 4188433. 34 13. 30238 650825. 76

4188433. 34 9. 34593

651125. 76 4188433. 34 4. 10107 649125. 76

4188483. 34 1. 28195

649225. 76 4188483. 34 1. 45832 649325. 76

4188483. 34 1. 67704

649425. 76 4188483. 34 1. 95349 649525. 76

4188483. 34 2. 31086

649625. 76 4188483. 34 2. 78506 649725. 76

4188483. 34 3. 43414

650425. 76 4188483. 34 47. 22930 650525. 76

4188483. 34 37. 69430

650625. 76 4188483. 34 23. 57916 650725. 76

4188483. 34 14. 75385

650825. 76 4188483. 34 9. 87309 651125. 76

4188483. 34 4. 15295

649125. 76 4188533. 34 1. 32708 649225. 76

4188533. 34 1. 51509

649325. 76 4188533. 34 1. 74961 649425. 76

4188533. 34 2. 04808

649525. 76 4188533. 34 2. 43727 649625. 76

4188533. 34 2. 95996

649725. 76 4188533. 34 3. 68812 650425. 76

4188533. 34 101. 22201

650525. 76 4188533. 34 54. 95206 650625. 76

931



4188533. 34 27. 39596

650725. 76 4188533. 34 15. 69927 650825. 76

4188533. 34 10. 15879

651125. 76 4188533. 34 4. 15423 649125. 76

4188583. 34 1. 36809

649225. 76 4188583. 34 1. 56682 649325. 76

4188583. 34 1. 81620

649425. 76 4188583. 34 2. 13584 649525. 76

4188583. 34 2. 55618

649625. 76 4188583. 34 3. 12670 649725. 76

4188583. 34 3. 93264

650425. 76 4188583. 34 0. 00000 650525. 76

4188583. 34 71. 15977

650625. 76 4188583. 34 29. 16568 650725. 76

4188583. 34 15. 90140

650825. 76 4188583. 34 10. 12761 651125. 76

4188583. 34 4. 10144

649125. 76 4188633. 34 1. 40210 649225. 76

4188633. 34 1. 60898

649325. 76 4188633. 34 1. 86954 649425. 76

4188633. 34 2. 20502

649525. 76 4188633. 34 2. 64861 649625. 76

4188633. 34 3. 25483

649725. 76 4188633. 34 4. 11874 649825. 76

4188633. 34 5. 41966

649925. 76 4188633. 34 7. 53260 650025. 76

4188633. 34 11. 36622

650125. 76 4188633. 34 19. 68301 650225. 76

4188633. 34 45. 22354

650325. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000 650425. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000

650525. 76 4188633. 34 70. 39500 650625. 76

4188633. 34 27. 70538

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 30

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

932



X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 15. 18468 650825. 76

4188633. 34 9. 74237

651125. 76 4188633. 34 4. 00094 649125. 76

4188683. 34 1. 42486

649225. 76 4188683. 34 1. 63555 649325. 76

4188683. 34 1. 90083

649425. 76 4188683. 34 2. 24224 649525. 76

4188683. 34 2. 69337

649625. 76 4188683. 34 3. 30932 649725. 76

4188683. 34 4. 18607

649825. 76 4188683. 34 5. 50429 649925. 76

4188683. 34 7. 64032

650025. 76 4188683. 34 11. 49670 650125. 76

4188683. 34 19. 74279

650225. 76 4188683. 34 43. 67173 650325. 76

4188683. 34 0. 00000

650425. 76 4188683. 34 0. 00000 650525. 76

4188683. 34 49. 34341

650625. 76 4188683. 34 23. 03667 650725. 76

4188683. 34 13. 52563

650825. 76 4188683. 34 8. 98400 651125. 76

4188683. 34 3. 84918

649125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 43087 649225. 76

4188733. 34 1. 63948

649325. 76 4188733. 34 1. 90100 649425. 76

4188733. 34 2. 23590

649525. 76 4188733. 34 2. 67592 649625. 76

4188733. 34 3. 27286

649725. 76 4188733. 34 4. 11604 649825. 76

4188733. 34 5. 37069

649925. 76 4188733. 34 7. 36967 650025. 76

4188733. 34 10. 86026

650125. 76 4188733. 34 17. 79858 650225. 76

4188733. 34 34. 34872

650325. 76 4188733. 34 66. 12417 650425. 76

4188733. 34 54. 34743

650525. 76 4188733. 34 28. 49711 650625. 76

4188733. 34 17. 09461

650725. 76 4188733. 34 11. 22699 650825. 76

4188733. 34 7. 89884

651125. 76 4188733. 34 3. 63265 649125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 41678

649225. 76 4188783. 34 1. 61783 649325. 76

4188783. 34 1. 86870

649425. 76 4188783. 34 2. 18853 649525. 76

933



4188783. 34 2. 60694

649625. 76 4188783. 34 3. 17165 649725. 76
4188783. 34 3. 96281

649825. 76 4188783. 34 5. 12175 649925. 76

4188783. 34 6. 91195

650025. 76 4188783. 34 9. 86046 650125. 76

4188783. 34 15. 17734

650225. 76 4188783. 34 24. 93459 650325. 76

4188783. 34 31. 70023

650425. 76 4188783. 34 24. 68185 650525. 76

4188783. 34 17. 16233

650625. 76 4188783. 34 12. 14369 650725. 76

4188783. 34 8. 89595

650825. 76 4188783. 34 6. 68959 651125. 76

4188783. 34 3. 35544

649125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 38607 649225. 76
4188833. 34 1. 57788

649325. 76 4188833. 34 1. 81717 649425. 76

4188833. 34 2. 12214

649525. 76 4188833. 34 2. 52017 649625. 76

4188833. 34 3. 05330

649725. 76 4188833. 34 3. 78790 649825. 76
4188833. 34 4. 83240

649925. 76 4188833. 34 6. 37077 650025. 76

4188833. 34 8. 75253

650125. 76 4188833. 34 12. 68497 650225. 76
4188833. 34 17. 74255

650325. 76 4188833. 34 18. 14610 650425. 76

4188833. 34 14. 86707

650525. 76 4188833. 34 11. 55380 650625. 76

4188833. 34 8. 84161

650725. 76 4188833. 34 6. 95378 650825. 76
4188833. 34 5. 55640

651125. 76 4188833. 34 3. 04906 649125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 34924

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 31

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

934



CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 1. 53424 649325. 76

4188883. 34 1. 76516

649425. 76 4188883. 34 2. 05823 649525. 76
4188883. 34 2. 43636

649625. 76 4188883. 34 2. 93278 649725. 76
4188883. 34 3. 59744

649825. 76 4188883. 34 4. 50706 649925. 76

4188883. 34 5. 78976

650025. 76 4188883. 34 7. 71039 650125. 76

4188883. 34 10. 49604

650225. 76 4188883. 34 12. 67149 650325. 76

4188883. 34 11. 77795

650425. 76 4188883. 34 10. 12697 650525. 76

4188883. 34 8. 40436

650625. 76 4188883. 34 6. 75473 650725. 76
4188883. 34 5. 50983

650825. 76 4188883. 34 4. 58719 651125. 76

4188883. 34 2. 74863

650125. 76 4188933. 34 8. 57127 650225. 76

4188933. 34 9. 25470

650325. 76 4188933. 34 8. 32775 650425. 76
4188933. 34 7. 41486

650525. 76 4188933. 34 6. 42232 650625. 76
4188933. 34 5. 36791

650725. 76 4188933. 34 4. 48653 650825. 76

4188933. 34 3. 81479

651125. 76 4188933. 34 2. 46957 650425. 76

4188983. 34 5. 70189

650525. 76 4188983. 34 5. 08429 650625. 76

4188983. 34 4. 38492

650725. 76 4188983. 34 3. 74530 650825. 76

4188983. 34 3. 22920

651125. 76 4188983. 34 2. 21069 650525. 76
4189033. 34 4. 13594

650625. 76 4189033. 34 3. 65626 650725. 76
4189033. 34 3. 18341

650825. 76 4189033. 34 2. 78338 651125. 76
4189033. 34 1. 97157

650525. 76 4189083. 34 3. 43797 650625. 76
4189083. 34 3. 09880

650725. 76 4189083. 34 2. 74439 650825. 76
4189083. 34 2. 43021

651125. 76 4189083. 34 1. 75870 650525. 76

935



4189133. 34 2. 90857

650625. 76 4189133. 34 2. 66216 650725. 76

4189133. 34 2. 39417

650825. 76 4189133. 34 2. 14178 651125. 76
4189133. 34 1. 57810

650781. 98 4189510. 65 1. 05019 650760. 33

4189397. 50 1. 29773

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 32

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 4. 28070 649629. 66
4188294. 84 3. 71161

649810. 15 4188312. 48 5. 82164 649364. 10
4188360. 20 2. 50416

649327. 80 4188355. 01 2. 33379 649380. 70

4188758. 52 3. 54322

650495. 81 4188841. 51 5. 73141 650597. 47

4188832. 17 4. 79433

650536. 27 4188878. 85 4. 56629 650577. 76

4188877. 81 4. 26173

650602. 66 4188860. 18 4. 32668 650610. 95

4188880. 93 3. 98057

650638. 10 4188858. 53 4. 06986 650664. 10

4188331. 03 5. 73628

650668. 72 4188350. 83 5. 80497 650677. 96
4188379. 86 5. 83816

650699. 74 4188414. 84 5. 66878 650758. 47
4188658. 36 4. 71195

650765. 73 4188678. 82 4. 53135 650773. 65

4188706. 54 4. 29592

650778. 27 4188726. 34 4. 12926 650805. 33

936



4188805. 53 3. 37467

650806. 65 4188824. 01 3. 23931 650811. 27

4188843. 81 3. 07996

650814. 57 4188862. 29 2. 94293 650846. 24

4188924. 98 2. 44890

650850. 86 4188951. 38 2. 29968 650854. 82

4188976. 46 2. 16699

650698. 00 4188307. 32 5. 15181 650692. 60

4188291. 80 5. 11272

650724. 82 4189245. 80 1. 39442 650726. 07

4189273. 37 1. 32430

650856. 27 4189006. 30 2. 02557 650857. 23

4189022. 60 1. 95114

650859. 15 4189041. 29 1. 86741 650859. 15

4189058. 54 1. 79671

650860. 58 4189076. 28 1. 72495 650861. 54

4189094. 49 1. 65607

650857. 71 4189113. 19 1. 59632 650847. 16

4189118. 94 1. 59177

650848. 12 4189134. 76 1. 53894 650850. 04

4189155. 37 1. 47399

650851. 48 4189171. 66 1. 42637 650853. 87

4189184. 12 1. 39037

650856. 75 4189199. 46 1. 34844 650857. 71

4189213. 36 1. 31435

650860. 58 4189226. 30 1. 28193 650862. 50

4189242. 60 1. 24494

650865. 38 4189258. 42 1. 20986 650867. 77

4189275. 19 1. 17520

650868. 73 4189291. 49 1. 14439 650872. 09

4189309. 23 1. 11027

650874. 00 4189325. 04 1. 08210 650875. 92

4189340. 38 1. 05571

650878. 80 4189355. 24 1. 03023 650881. 19

4189373. 45 1. 00097

650884. 55 4189390. 71 0. 97351 650888. 86

4189407. 01 0. 94779

650889. 82 4189427. 14 0. 91980 650891. 74

4189443. 43 0. 89725

650895. 09 4189461. 17 0. 87285 650898. 45

4189475. 55 0. 85343

650898. 45 4189489. 93 0. 83616 650902. 28

4189504. 31 0. 81767

650709. 41 4188344. 56 5. 22369 650722. 45

4188284. 03 4. 75112

650745. 73 4188280. 30 4. 50699 650735. 49

4188223. 50 4. 27643

650721. 52 4188167. 62 4. 00885 650525. 76

4188133. 34 4. 73990

651125. 76 4188133. 34 2. 11985 649125. 76

937



4188183. 34 1. 41688

649225. 76 4188183. 34 1. 61563 649325. 76

4188183. 34 1. 85484

649425. 76 4188183. 34 2. 13517 649525. 76

4188183. 34 2. 45884

649625. 76 4188183. 34 2. 86211 649725. 76

4188183. 34 3. 44248

649825. 76 4188183. 34 4. 33614 649925. 76
4188183. 34 5. 47089

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 33

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650025. 76 4188183. 34 6. 08391 650125. 76

4188183. 34 6. 29483

650225. 76 4188183. 34 6. 81315 650325. 76

4188183. 34 6. 65742

650425. 76 4188183. 34 6. 04503 650525. 76

4188183. 34 5. 44744

650625. 76 4188183. 34 4. 76923 650725. 76

4188183. 34 4. 08820

650825. 76 4188183. 34 3. 47597 651125. 76
4188183. 34 2. 17903

649125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 49211 649225. 76
4188233. 34 1. 70870

649325. 76 4188233. 34 1. 97924 649425. 76
4188233. 34 2. 31258

649525. 76 4188233. 34 2. 71171 649625. 76
4188233. 34 3. 19218

649725. 76 4188233. 34 3. 85103 649825. 76
4188233. 34 4. 89526

649925. 76 4188233. 34 6. 40003 650025. 76

938



4188233. 34 7. 41870

650125. 76 4188233. 34 7. 78610 650225. 76

4188233. 34 8. 41687

650325. 76 4188233. 34 8. 00094 650425. 76

4188233. 34 7. 15967

650525. 76 4188233. 34 6. 26119 650625. 76

4188233. 34 5. 29761

650725. 76 4188233. 34 4. 41471 650825. 76

4188233. 34 3. 67317

651125. 76 4188233. 34 2. 23056 649125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 57616

649225. 76 4188283. 34 1. 81183 649325. 76

4188283. 34 2. 11092

649425. 76 4188283. 34 2. 49504 649525. 76

4188283. 34 2. 98268

649625. 76 4188283. 34 3. 58559 649725. 76

4188283. 34 4. 36785

649825. 76 4188283. 34 5. 59026 649925. 76

4188283. 34 7. 57052

650025. 76 4188283. 34 9. 26521 650125. 76

4188283. 34 9. 93059

650225. 76 4188283. 34 10. 66180 650325. 76

4188283. 34 9. 81970

650425. 76 4188283. 34 8. 55828 650525. 76

4188283. 34 7. 16251

650625. 76 4188283. 34 5. 82669 650725. 76

4188283. 34 4. 71437

650825. 76 4188283. 34 3. 84578 651125. 76

4188283. 34 2. 27534

649125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 66505 649225. 76

4188333. 34 1. 92604

649325. 76 4188333. 34 2. 25742 649425. 76

4188333. 34 2. 69035

649525. 76 4188333. 34 3. 26686 649625. 76

4188333. 34 4. 02874

649725. 76 4188333. 34 5. 02306 649825. 76

4188333. 34 6. 49244

649925. 76 4188333. 34 9. 07932 650025. 76

4188333. 34 11. 92189

650125. 76 4188333. 34 13. 19289 650225. 76

4188333. 34 13. 93573

650325. 76 4188333. 34 12. 34225 650425. 76

4188333. 34 10. 24134

650525. 76 4188333. 34 8. 10100 650625. 76
4188333. 34 6. 31693

650725. 76 4188333. 34 4. 97388 650825. 76
4188333. 34 3. 99215

651125. 76 4188333. 34 2. 31415 649125. 76
4188383. 34 1. 75327

649225. 76 4188383. 34 2. 04467 649325. 76

939



4188383. 34 2. 41766

649425. 76 4188383. 34 2. 90801 649525. 76

4188383. 34 3. 57512

649625. 76 4188383. 34 4. 50899 649725. 76

4188383. 34 5. 81775

649825. 76 4188383. 34 7. 71025 649925. 76

4188383. 34 11. 10088

650025. 76 4188383. 34 15. 94111 650125. 76

4188383. 34 18. 54924

650225. 76 4188383. 34 18. 98036 650325. 76

4188383. 34 15. 81286

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 34

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 12. 12608 650525. 76

4188383. 34 8. 98970

650625. 76 4188383. 34 6. 73648 650725. 76

4188383. 34 5. 18851

650825. 76 4188383. 34 4. 11226 651125. 76

4188383. 34 2. 34573

649125. 76 4188433. 34 1. 84104 649225. 76

4188433. 34 2. 16261

649325. 76 4188433. 34 2. 58199 649425. 76

4188433. 34 3. 14290

649525. 76 4188433. 34 3. 91857 649625. 76

4188433. 34 5. 03933

649725. 76 4188433. 34 6. 73024 649825. 76

4188433. 34 9. 34625

649925. 76 4188433. 34 13. 98607 650025. 76

4188433. 34 22. 45781

650125. 76 4188433. 34 28. 37667 650225. 76

940



4188433. 34 27. 23361

650325. 76 4188433. 34 20. 29911 650425. 76

4188433. 34 13. 99978

650525. 76 4188433. 34 9. 74143 650625. 76

4188433. 34 7. 06969

650725. 76 4188433. 34 5. 35474 650825. 76

4188433. 34 4. 20308

651125. 76 4188433. 34 2. 36549 649125. 76

4188483. 34 1. 93189

649225. 76 4188483. 34 2. 28276 649325. 76

4188483. 34 2. 74766

649425. 76 4188483. 34 3. 38316 649525. 76

4188483. 34 4. 28538

649625. 76 4188483. 34 5. 63018 649725. 76

4188483. 34 7. 76831

650425. 76 4188483. 34 15. 57303 650525. 76

4188483. 34 10. 29625

650625. 76 4188483. 34 7. 29871 650725. 76

4188483. 34 5. 45978

650825. 76 4188483. 34 4. 25389 651125. 76

4188483. 34 2. 36788

649125. 76 4188533. 34 2. 02377 649225. 76

4188533. 34 2. 40540

649325. 76 4188533. 34 2. 91678 649425. 76

4188533. 34 3. 62731

649525. 76 4188533. 34 4. 66079 649625. 76

4188533. 34 6. 25618

649725. 76 4188533. 34 8. 92667 650425. 76

4188533. 34 16. 57399

650525. 76 4188533. 34 10. 58387 650625. 76

4188533. 34 7. 38710

650725. 76 4188533. 34 5. 48145 650825. 76

4188533. 34 4. 25072

651125. 76 4188533. 34 2. 35127 649125. 76

4188583. 34 2. 10782

649225. 76 4188583. 34 2. 51903 649325. 76

4188583. 34 3. 07571

649425. 76 4188583. 34 3. 85948 649525. 76

4188583. 34 5. 02073

649625. 76 4188583. 34 6. 86387 649725. 76

4188583. 34 10. 09063

650425. 76 4188583. 34 16. 73011 650525. 76

4188583. 34 10. 52188

650625. 76 4188583. 34 7. 30378 650725. 76

4188583. 34 5. 40840

650825. 76 4188583. 34 4. 19111 651125. 76

4188583. 34 2. 31950

649125. 76 4188633. 34 2. 17269 649225. 76

4188633. 34 2. 60507

649325. 76 4188633. 34 3. 19399 649425. 76

941



4188633. 34 4. 02964

649525. 76 4188633. 34 5. 28069 649625. 76

4188633. 34 7. 29601

649725. 76 4188633. 34 10. 90689 649825. 76

4188633. 34 18. 57239

649925. 76 4188633. 34 40. 97062 650025. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000

650125. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000 650225. 76

4188633. 34 78. 16567

650325. 76 4188633. 34 29. 42868 650425. 76

4188633. 34 15. 85004

650525. 76 4188633. 34 10. 07255 650625. 76

4188633. 34 7. 04500

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 35

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : V0 5

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 5. 24562 650825. 76

4188633. 34 4. 08181

651125. 76 4188633. 34 2. 27657 649125. 76

4188683. 34 2. 20541

649225. 76 4188683. 34 2. 64327 649325. 76

4188683. 34 3. 23861

649425. 76 4188683. 34 4. 08147 649525. 76

4188683. 34 5. 33961

649625. 76 4188683. 34 7. 35772 649725. 76

4188683. 34 10. 94548

649825. 76 4188683. 34 18. 41579 649925. 76

4188683. 34 38. 89260

650025. 76 4188683. 34 124. 25671 650125. 76

4188683. 34 0. 00000

650225. 76 4188683. 34 51. 13420 650325. 76

942



4188683. 34 23. 83691

650425. 76 4188683. 34 13. 93392 650525. 76

4188683. 34 9. 21647

650625. 76 4188683. 34 6. 59656 650725. 76

4188683. 34 4. 98425

650825. 76 4188683. 34 3. 91721 651125. 76

4188683. 34 2. 22065

649125. 76 4188733. 34 2. 19512 649225. 76

4188733. 34 2. 62066

649325. 76 4188733. 34 3. 19539 649425. 76

4188733. 34 4. 00272

649525. 76 4188733. 34 5. 19529 649625. 76

4188733. 34 7. 07606

649725. 76 4188733. 34 10. 30994 649825. 76

4188733. 34 16. 57388

649925. 76 4188733. 34 30. 92790 650025. 76

4188733. 34 58. 25919

650125. 76 4188733. 34 50. 67916 650225. 76

4188733. 34 28. 18613

650325. 76 4188733. 34 17. 22370 650425. 76

4188733. 34 11. 39087

650525. 76 4188733. 34 8. 02570 650625. 76

4188733. 34 5. 95919

650725. 76 4188733. 34 4. 61082 650825. 76

4188733. 34 3. 68343

651125. 76 4188733. 34 2. 14503 649125. 76

4188783. 34 2. 14584

649225. 76 4188783. 34 2. 55002 649325. 76

4188783. 34 3. 09341

649425. 76 4188783. 34 3. 85086 649525. 76

4188783. 34 4. 95271

649625. 76 4188783. 34 6. 63796 649725. 76

4188783. 34 9. 37334

649825. 76 4188783. 34 14. 20287 649925. 76

4188783. 34 22. 99425

650025. 76 4188783. 34 29. 69502 650125. 76

4188783. 34 23. 75767

650225. 76 4188783. 34 16. 89378 650325. 76

4188783. 34 12. 06744

650425. 76 4188783. 34 8. 91631 650525. 76

4188783. 34 6. 73971

650625. 76 4188783. 34 5. 22333 650725. 76

4188783. 34 4. 15719

650825. 76 4188783. 34 3. 38890 651125. 76

4188783. 34 2. 04554

649125. 76 4188833. 34 2. 08025 649225. 76

4188833. 34 2. 46523

649325. 76 4188833. 34 2. 97886 649425. 76

4188833. 34 3. 68281

649525. 76 4188833. 34 4. 67658 649625. 76

943



4188833. 34 6. 12646

649725. 76 4188833. 34 8. 34243 649825. 76

4188833. 34 11. 96498

649925. 76 4188833. 34 16. 73874 650025. 76

4188833. 34 17. 45384

650125. 76 4188833. 34 14. 45710 650225. 76

4188833. 34 11. 41131

650325. 76 4188833. 34 8. 77333 650425. 76

4188833. 34 6. 92356

650525. 76 4188833. 34 5. 56111 650625. 76

4188833. 34 4. 50351

650725. 76 4188833. 34 3. 68969 650825. 76

4188833. 34 3. 06976

651125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 92591 649125. 76

4188883. 34 2. 01858

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 36

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 2. 38456 649325. 76

4188883. 34 2. 86289

649425. 76 4188883. 34 3. 49982 649525. 76

4188883. 34 4. 36589

649625. 76 4188883. 34 5. 57697 649725. 76

4188883. 34 7. 37423

649825. 76 4188883. 34 9. 99645 649925. 76

4188883. 34 12. 16024

650025. 76 4188883. 34 11. 46185 650125. 76

4188883. 34 9. 89392

650225. 76 4188883. 34 8. 30949 650325. 76

4188883. 34 6. 71475

650425. 76 4188883. 34 5. 48091 650525. 76

944



4188883. 34 4. 57177

650625. 76 4188883. 34 3. 85071 650725. 76

4188883. 34 3. 25155

650825. 76 4188883. 34 2. 76121 651125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 79626

650125. 76 4188933. 34 7. 26726 650225. 76

4188933. 34 6. 35186

650325. 76 4188933. 34 5. 34015 650425. 76

4188933. 34 4. 46879

650525. 76 4188933. 34 3. 79914 650625. 76

4188933. 34 3. 28217

650725. 76 4188933. 34 2. 85076 650825. 76

4188933. 34 2. 47567

651125. 76 4188933. 34 1. 66761 650425. 76

4188983. 34 3. 73299

650525. 76 4188983. 34 3. 21962 650625. 76

4188983. 34 2. 81456

650725. 76 4188983. 34 2. 49122 650825. 76

4188983. 34 2. 21071

651125. 76 4188983. 34 1. 54691 650525. 76

4189033. 34 2. 77705

650625. 76 4189033. 34 2. 44736 650725. 76

4189033. 34 2. 18411

650825. 76 4189033. 34 1. 96750 651125. 76

4189033. 34 1. 43523

650525. 76 4189083. 34 2. 42448 650625. 76

4189083. 34 2. 15872

650725. 76 4189083. 34 1. 93411 650825. 76

4189083. 34 1. 75372

651125. 76 4189083. 34 1. 32976 650525. 76

4189133. 34 2. 13661

650625. 76 4189133. 34 1. 92314 650725. 76

4189133. 34 1. 73326

650825. 76 4189133. 34 1. 57445 651125. 76

4189133. 34 1. 22805

650781. 98 4189510. 65 0. 86966 650760. 33

4189397. 50 1. 04446

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 37

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

945



CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649676. 34 4188314. 55 6. 89338 649629. 66

4188294. 84 5. 68851

649810. 15 4188312. 48 11. 48115 649364. 10

4188360. 20 3. 20366

649327. 80 4188355. 01 2. 94998 649380. 70

4188758. 52 2. 91132

650495. 81 4188841. 51 2. 87581 650597. 47

4188832. 17 2. 58895

650536. 27 4188878. 85 2. 46551 650577. 76

4188877. 81 2. 35324

650602. 66 4188860. 18 2. 38920 650610. 95

4188880. 93 2. 24569

650638. 10 4188858. 53 2. 29986 650664. 10

4188331. 03 6. 68207

650668. 72 4188350. 83 6. 57945 650677. 96

4188379. 86 6. 34565

650699. 74 4188414. 84 5. 83949 650758. 47

4188658. 36 3. 33666

650765. 73 4188678. 82 3. 13679 650773. 65

4188706. 54 2. 89650

650778. 27 4188726. 34 2. 74145 650805. 33

4188805. 53 2. 18279

650806. 65 4188824. 01 2. 08429 650811. 27

4188843. 81 1. 97811

650814. 57 4188862. 29 1. 88758 650846. 24

4188924. 98 1. 59457

650850. 86 4188951. 38 1. 50434 650854. 82

4188976. 46 1. 42749

650698. 00 4188307. 32 6. 03034 650692. 60

4188291. 80 6. 10348

650724. 82 4189245. 80 1. 00305 650726. 07

4189273. 37 0. 96189

650856. 27 4189006. 30 1. 34911 650857. 23

4189022. 60 1. 30963

650859. 15 4189041. 29 1. 26613 650859. 15

4189058. 54 1. 23014

650860. 58 4189076. 28 1. 19358 650861. 54

4189094. 49 1. 15838

650857. 71 4189113. 19 1. 12818 650847. 16

4189118. 94 1. 12730

650848. 12 4189134. 76 1. 09875 650850. 04

946



4189155. 37 1. 06244

650851. 48 4189171. 66 1. 03488 650853. 87

4189184. 12 1. 01354

650856. 75 4189199. 46 0. 98812 650857. 71

4189213. 36 0. 96684

650860. 58 4189226. 30 0. 94642 650862. 50

4189242. 60 0. 92249

650865. 38 4189258. 42 0. 89955 650867. 77

4189275. 19 0. 87648

650868. 73 4189291. 49 0. 85558 650872. 09

4189309. 23 0. 83265

650874. 00 4189325. 04 0. 81355 650875. 92

4189340. 38 0. 79571

650878. 80 4189355. 24 0. 77863 650881. 19

4189373. 45 0. 75905

650884. 55 4189390. 71 0. 74087 650888. 86

4189407. 01 0. 72395

650889. 82 4189427. 14 0. 70574 650891. 74

4189443. 43 0. 69121

650895. 09 4189461. 17 0. 67552 650898. 45

4189475. 55 0. 66304

650898. 45 4189489. 93 0. 65222 650902. 28

4189504. 31 0. 64031

650709. 41 4188344. 56 5. 83949 650722. 45

4188284. 03 5. 60397

650745. 73 4188280. 30 5. 26125 650735. 49

4188223. 50 5. 27403

650721. 52 4188167. 62 5. 24774 650525. 76
4188133. 34 8. 16415

651125. 76 4188133. 34 2. 33599 649125. 76

4188183. 34 1. 73073

649225. 76 4188183. 34 2. 01563 649325. 76

4188183. 34 2. 37961

649425. 76 4188183. 34 2. 85708 649525. 76
4188183. 34 3. 50455

649625. 76 4188183. 34 4. 40650 649725. 76

4188183. 34 5. 66512

649825. 76 4188183. 34 7. 47834 649925. 76

4188183. 34 10. 67798

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 38

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

947



DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650025. 76 4188183. 34 15. 36820 650125. 76

4188183. 34 18. 00971

650225. 76 4188183. 34 18. 70917 650325. 76
4188183. 34 15. 78353

650425. 76 4188183. 34 12. 21678 650525. 76
4188183. 34 9. 10532

650625. 76 4188183. 34 6. 83277 650725. 76

4188183. 34 5. 26039

650825. 76 4188183. 34 4. 16512 651125. 76
4188183. 34 2. 36887

649125. 76 4188233. 34 1. 81702 649225. 76
4188233. 34 2. 13139

649325. 76 4188233. 34 2. 54026 649425. 76

4188233. 34 3. 08549

649525. 76 4188233. 34 3. 83697 649625. 76

4188233. 34 4. 91784

649725. 76 4188233. 34 6. 53762 649825. 76

4188233. 34 9. 02815

649925. 76 4188233. 34 13. 39201 650025. 76

4188233. 34 21. 39980

650125. 76 4188233. 34 27. 38489 650225. 76
4188233. 34 26. 93510

650325. 76 4188233. 34 20. 41296 650425. 76
4188233. 34 14. 21540

650525. 76 4188233. 34 9. 91612 650625. 76

4188233. 34 7. 19067

650725. 76 4188233. 34 5. 43781 650825. 76
4188233. 34 4. 26165

651125. 76 4188233. 34 2. 39014 649125. 76

4188283. 34 1. 90610

649225. 76 4188283. 34 2. 24908 649325. 76
4188283. 34 2. 70231

649425. 76 4188283. 34 3. 31967 649525. 76
4188283. 34 4. 19233

649625. 76 4188283. 34 5. 48615 649725. 76
4188283. 34 7. 52835

649825. 76 4188283. 34 10. 98893 649925. 76
4188283. 34 17. 48323

650025. 76 4188283. 34 32. 11248 650125. 76

948



4188283. 34 47. 87228

650225. 76 4188283. 34 40. 97819 650325. 76
4188283. 34 25. 79046

650425. 76 4188283. 34 15. 94576 650525. 76
4188283. 34 10. 52549

650625. 76 4188283. 34 7. 44105 650725. 76
4188283. 34 5. 55286

650825. 76 4188283. 34 4. 31791 651125. 76
4188283. 34 2. 39420

649125. 76 4188333. 34 1. 99629 649225. 76
4188333. 34 2. 36914

649325. 76 4188333. 34 2. 86744 649425. 76
4188333. 34 3. 55741

649525. 76 4188333. 34 4. 55639 649625. 76
4188333. 34 6. 08888

649725. 76 4188333. 34 8. 63172 649825. 76
4188333. 34 13. 34700

649925. 76 4188333. 34 23. 64756 650025. 76
4188333. 34 55. 25253

650125. 76 4188333. 34 108. 73379 650225. 76
4188333. 34 63. 13272

650325. 76 4188333. 34 30. 65075 650425. 76
4188333. 34 17. 09568

650525. 76 4188333. 34 10. 85891 650625. 76
4188333. 34 7. 54782

650725. 76 4188333. 34 5. 58350 650825. 76
4188333. 34 4. 31980

651125. 76 4188333. 34 2. 37898 649125. 76
4188383. 34 2. 07937

649225. 76 4188383. 34 2. 48112 649325. 76
4188383. 34 3. 02348

649425. 76 4188383. 34 3. 78438 649525. 76
4188383. 34 4. 90644

649625. 76 4188383. 34 6. 67582 649725. 76
4188383. 34 9. 74377

649825. 76 4188383. 34 15. 89578 649925. 76
4188383. 34 31. 80851

650025. 76 4188383. 34 108. 48266 650125. 76
4188383. 34 0. 00000

650225. 76 4188383. 34 86. 87975 650325. 76
4188383. 34 33. 04575

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 39

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

949



VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650425. 76 4188383. 34 17. 35866 650525. 76

4188383. 34 10. 82872

650625. 76 4188383. 34 7. 47713 650725. 76

4188383. 34 5. 51647

650825. 76 4188383. 34 4. 26340 651125. 76

4188383. 34 2. 34783

649125. 76 4188433. 34 2. 14443 649225. 76

4188433. 34 2. 56742

649325. 76 4188433. 34 3. 14204 649425. 76

4188433. 34 3. 95468

649525. 76 4188433. 34 5. 16594 649625. 76

4188433. 34 7. 10537

649725. 76 4188433. 34 10. 54934 649825. 76

4188433. 34 17. 75455

649925. 76 4188433. 34 38. 21987 650025. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000

650125. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000 650225. 76

4188433. 34 87. 15591

650325. 76 4188433. 34 31. 23660 650425. 76

4188433. 34 16. 50889

650525. 76 4188433. 34 10. 38768 650625. 76

4188433. 34 7. 22136

650725. 76 4188433. 34 5. 35494 650825. 76

4188433. 34 4. 15460

651125. 76 4188433. 34 2. 30484 649125. 76

4188483. 34 2. 17901

649225. 76 4188483. 34 2. 60853 649325. 76

4188483. 34 3. 19136

649425. 76 4188483. 34 4. 01441 649525. 76

4188483. 34 5. 23894

649625. 76 4188483. 34 7. 19426 649725. 76

4188483. 34 10. 64818

650425. 76 4188483. 34 14. 54004 650525. 76

4188483. 34 9. 51711

650625. 76 4188483. 34 6. 76778 650725. 76

4188483. 34 5. 09137

650825. 76 4188483. 34 3. 98890 651125. 76

950



4188483. 34 2. 24863

649125. 76 4188533. 34 2. 17236 649225. 76

4188533. 34 2. 59124

649325. 76 4188533. 34 3. 15608 649425. 76

4188533. 34 3. 94788

649525. 76 4188533. 34 5. 11437 649625. 76

4188533. 34 6. 94796

649725. 76 4188533. 34 10. 08988 650425. 76

4188533. 34 11. 88064

650525. 76 4188533. 34 8. 29193 650625. 76

4188533. 34 6. 11841

650725. 76 4188533. 34 4. 71316 650825. 76

4188533. 34 3. 75303

651125. 76 4188533. 34 2. 17275 649125. 76

4188583. 34 2. 12699

649225. 76 4188583. 34 2. 52558 649325. 76

4188583. 34 3. 06047

649425. 76 4188583. 34 3. 80459 649525. 76

4188583. 34 4. 88502

649625. 76 4188583. 34 6. 53572 649725. 76

4188583. 34 9. 21660

650425. 76 4188583. 34 9. 26862 650525. 76

4188583. 34 6. 95467

650625. 76 4188583. 34 5. 36197 650725. 76

4188583. 34 4. 25069

650825. 76 4188583. 34 3. 45447 651125. 76

4188583. 34 2. 07281

649125. 76 4188633. 34 2. 06345 649225. 76

4188633. 34 2. 44295

649325. 76 4188633. 34 2. 94868 649425. 76

4188633. 34 3. 64144

649525. 76 4188633. 34 4. 61977 649625. 76

4188633. 34 6. 04931

649725. 76 4188633. 34 8. 23679 649825. 76

4188633. 34 11. 81751

649925. 76 4188633. 34 16. 80913 650025. 76

4188633. 34 18. 27834

650125. 76 4188633. 34 15. 18609 650225. 76

4188633. 34 11. 94874

650325. 76 4188633. 34 9. 13861 650425. 76

4188633. 34 7. 16556

650525. 76 4188633. 34 5. 72376 650625. 76

4188633. 34 4. 61646

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 40

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

951



THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

650725. 76 4188633. 34 3. 77040 650825. 76

4188633. 34 3. 12880

651125. 76 4188633. 34 1. 95217 649125. 76

4188683. 34 2. 00216

649225. 76 4188683. 34 2. 36330 649325. 76

4188683. 34 2. 83554

649425. 76 4188683. 34 3. 46500 649525. 76

4188683. 34 4. 32214

649625. 76 4188683. 34 5. 52209 649725. 76

4188683. 34 7. 29785

649825. 76 4188683. 34 9. 92754 649925. 76

4188683. 34 12. 34564

650025. 76 4188683. 34 11. 93460 650125. 76

4188683. 34 10. 26132

650225. 76 4188683. 34 8. 61390 650325. 76

4188683. 34 6. 94466

650425. 76 4188683. 34 5. 64805 650525. 76

4188683. 34 4. 69324

650625. 76 4188683. 34 3. 93978 650725. 76

4188683. 34 3. 31832

650825. 76 4188683. 34 2. 81217 651125. 76

4188683. 34 1. 82084

649125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 94462 649225. 76

4188733. 34 2. 28110

649325. 76 4188733. 34 2. 71056 649425. 76

4188733. 34 3. 26740

649525. 76 4188733. 34 4. 00249 649625. 76

4188733. 34 5. 01205

649725. 76 4188733. 34 6. 47023 649825. 76
4188733. 34 8. 24456

649925. 76 4188733. 34 9. 17257 650025. 76

4188733. 34 8. 43465

650125. 76 4188733. 34 7. 48043 650225. 76

4188733. 34 6. 54149

650325. 76 4188733. 34 5. 49420 650425. 76

952



4188733. 34 4. 58713

650525. 76 4188733. 34 3. 89050 650625. 76

4188733. 34 3. 35239

650725. 76 4188733. 34 2. 90519 650825. 76

4188733. 34 2. 51856

651125. 76 4188733. 34 1. 69001 649125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 88135

649225. 76 4188783. 34 2. 18775 649325. 76

4188783. 34 2. 57138

649425. 76 4188783. 34 3. 05762 649525. 76

4188783. 34 3. 69008

649625. 76 4188783. 34 4. 56083 649725. 76

4188783. 34 5. 72146

649825. 76 4188783. 34 6. 76985 649925. 76

4188783. 34 6. 97989

650025. 76 4188783. 34 6. 31507 650125. 76

4188783. 34 5. 73756

650225. 76 4188783. 34 5. 15620 650325. 76

4188783. 34 4. 47013

650425. 76 4188783. 34 3. 82000 650525. 76

4188783. 34 3. 28900

650625. 76 4188783. 34 2. 87033 650725. 76

4188783. 34 2. 53578

650825. 76 4188783. 34 2. 24662 651125. 76

4188783. 34 1. 56694

649125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 80900 649225. 76

4188833. 34 2. 08551

649325. 76 4188833. 34 2. 42581 649425. 76

4188833. 34 2. 85110

649525. 76 4188833. 34 3. 40888 649625. 76

4188833. 34 4. 16263

649725. 76 4188833. 34 5. 01123 649825. 76

4188833. 34 5. 54154

649925. 76 4188833. 34 5. 45957 650025. 76

4188833. 34 4. 93334

650125. 76 4188833. 34 4. 56540 650225. 76

4188833. 34 4. 18145

650325. 76 4188833. 34 3. 71448 650425. 76

4188833. 34 3. 23973

650525. 76 4188833. 34 2. 83070 650625. 76

4188833. 34 2. 49189

650725. 76 4188833. 34 2. 22081 650825. 76

4188833. 34 1. 99771

651125. 76 4188833. 34 1. 45294 649125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 73153

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ UserS\ Smith\ DrOpbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

953



PAGE 41

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE PERIOD  (  43824 HRS)  AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)     Y- COORD  ( M)      CONC X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC

649225. 76 4188883. 34 1. 98017 649325. 76

4188883. 34 2. 28178

649425. 76 4188883. 34 2. 66112 649525. 76

4188883. 34 3. 16360

649625. 76 4188883. 34 3. 78797 649725. 76

4188883. 34 4. 34298

649825. 76 4188883. 34 4. 56274 649925. 76

4188883. 34 4. 38147

650025. 76 4188883. 34 3. 98002 650125. 76

4188883. 34 3. 73517

650225. 76 4188883. 34 3. 46796 650325. 76

4188883. 34 3. 13925

650425. 76 4188883. 34 2. 78765 650525. 76

4188883. 34 2. 46711

650625. 76 4188883. 34 2. 19452 650725. 76

4188883. 34 1. 96450

650825. 76 4188883. 34 1. 77926 651125. 76

4188883. 34 1. 34536

650125. 76 4188933. 34 3. 12333 650225. 76

4188933. 34 2. 92917

650325. 76 4188933. 34 2. 69086 650425. 76

4188933. 34 2. 42734

650525. 76 4188933. 34 2. 17137 650625. 76

4188933. 34 1. 95228

650725. 76 4188933. 34 1. 75852 650825. 76

4188933. 34 1. 59615

651125. 76 4188933. 34 1. 24181 650425. 76

4188983. 34 2. 13412

650525. 76 4188983. 34 1. 92857 650625. 76

4188983. 34 1. 74816

650725. 76 4188983. 34 1. 58887 650825. 76

4188983. 34 1. 44595

651125. 76 4188983. 34 1. 14280 650525. 76

954



4189033. 34 1. 72712

650625. 76 4189033. 34 1. 57429 650725. 76

4189033. 34 1. 44361

650825. 76 4189033. 34 1. 32139 651125. 76

4189033. 34 1. 05105

650525. 76 4189083. 34 1. 55712 650625. 76

4189083. 34 1. 42667

650725. 76 4189083. 34 1. 31605 650825. 76

4189083. 34 1. 21460

651125. 76 4189083. 34 0. 96919 650525. 76

4189133. 34 1. 41128

650625. 76 4189133. 34 1. 30125 650725. 76

4189133. 34 1. 20377

650825. 76 4189133. 34 1. 11976 651125. 76

4189133. 34 0. 89822

650781. 98 4189510. 65 0. 67971 650760. 33

4189397. 50 0. 79281

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 42

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 300. 82721   ( 17022506)   649629. 66

4188294. 84 282. 53141   ( 17013105)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 387. 09247   ( 17013105)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 192. 13475   ( 17121807)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 184. 53852   ( 17121807)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 193. 23152   ( 17011201)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 493. 53965    ( 17121401)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 460. 53760   ( 17021405)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 455. 76087   ( 17022508)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 406. 02556   ( 17022508)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 412. 48817   ( 17021405)   650610. 95

955



4188880. 93 387. 98235   ( 17121904)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 420. 02917   ( 17021405)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 638. 40262   ( 17121906)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 611. 61482   ( 17020824)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 611. 54430   ( 17121319)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 593. 79216   ( 17122621)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 438. 58091   ( 14012706)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 446. 06833   ( 17121119)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 431. 66872   ( 17121119)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 409. 75574   ( 17123020)   650805. 33

4188805. 53 357. 84474   ( 17022407)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 348. 41558   ( 17022407)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 326. 52615   ( 17022407)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 305. 49873    ( 14011617)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 272. 74811   ( 17122321)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 274. 86556   ( 17122321)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 267. 52333   ( 17122321)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 564. 37914   ( 17122619)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 664. 54185   ( 17011509)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 196. 07922   ( 17022508)   650726. 07

4189273. 37 194. 38232   ( 17022508)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 247. 30401   ( 17122321)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 244. 93049   ( 17012601)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 244. 63305    ( 17012601)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 241. 33866   ( 17012601)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 233. 90915    ( 17012601)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 223. 20484   ( 17012601)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 218. 00401   ( 17022706)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 219. 08470   ( 17022706)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 212. 78194   ( 17022706)   650850. 04

4189155. 37 203. 17912   ( 17022324)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 199. 06804   ( 17021405)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 198. 82595    ( 17021405)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 197. 84061   ( 17021405)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 197. 00707   ( 17021405)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 194. 73596   ( 17021405)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 191. 68293   ( 17021405)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 187. 77121    ( 17021405)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 183. 01242   ( 17021405)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 177. 54016   ( 17021405)   650872. 09

4189309. 23 171. 32848   ( 17021405)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 165. 14391   ( 17021405)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 158. 84087   ( 17021405)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 156. 70873    ( 17121904)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 154. 66400   ( 17121904)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 151. 94610   ( 17121904)   650888. 86

4189407. 01 148. 98435   ( 17121904)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 144. 87428   ( 17121904)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 141. 02292   ( 17121904)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 136. 71269   ( 17121904)   650898. 45

956



4189475. 55 133. 25027   ( 17121904)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 128. 65099   ( 17121904)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 125. 16821   ( 17121904)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 529. 16594   ( 17011303)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 561. 29699   ( 17011509)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 482. 28966   ( 17122619)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 625. 42529   ( 17011509)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 521. 02672   ( 17122320)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 713. 84000   ( 17012903)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 204. 61118   ( 17122619)   649125. 76

4188183. 34 148. 16772   ( 17013105)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 162. 41781   ( 17013105)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 181. 67095   ( 17012823)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 204. 57146   ( 17121207)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 234. 86789   ( 17123023)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 277. 55213   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188183. 34 314. 45476   ( 17021308)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 365. 65447   ( 17021420)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 441. 94583   ( 17120517)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 43

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650025. 76 4188183. 34 510. 05168   ( 13010908)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 628. 51099   ( 17121108)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 750. 37832   ( 13020205)   650325. 76

4188183. 34 931. 35324   ( 17011609)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 954. 50142   ( 17122917)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 816. 52159   ( 17020801)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 641. 74705    ( 17012908)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 524. 40476   ( 17121219)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 494. 38526   ( 17011509)   651125. 76

957



4188183. 34 207. 96425    ( 17020824)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 149. 18434   ( 17022506)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 160. 29286   ( 17022506)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 184. 37966   ( 17013105)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 209. 06380   ( 17013105)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 236. 77844   ( 17012823)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 271. 87353   ( 17121207)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 319. 61341   ( 17123023)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 399. 09039   ( 17021308)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 465. 71080   ( 17021420)   650025. 76

4188233. 34 570. 89039   ( 17120517)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 693. 32932   ( 13022803)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 874. 86001   ( 15010507)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 1055. 32605   ( 17011609)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 1112. 51898   ( 17122917)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 900. 04165    ( 17120120)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 705. 19482   ( 17122320)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 651. 11014   ( 17011509)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 396. 31394   ( 17011509)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 208. 45085   ( 17011303)   649125. 76

4188283. 34 146. 96741   ( 17122902)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 164. 49567   ( 17022506)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 188. 29521   ( 17022506)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 212. 04362   ( 17022506)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 236. 37159   ( 17013105)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 281. 85893    ( 17013105)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 327. 57136   ( 17012823)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 394. 16848   ( 17123023)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 510. 77673   ( 17021308)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 618. 11023   ( 17021420)   650125. 76

4188283. 34 764. 12132   ( 17120517)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 1044. 41850   ( 16010309)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 1280. 40167   ( 14021105)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 1375. 89955   ( 17122701)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 1047. 27406   ( 17012908)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 889. 25868   ( 17011509)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 549. 79005   ( 17011509)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 385. 65808   ( 17020824)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 214. 14290   ( 17121319)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 147. 90522   ( 17121807)   649225. 76

4188333. 34 166. 91986   ( 17121807)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 188. 23997   ( 17121807)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 211. 65658   ( 17121807)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 238. 43943   ( 17122902)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 285. 54547   ( 17022506)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 337. 58221   ( 17022506)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 406. 15016   ( 17013105)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 497. 78562   ( 17012823)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 652. 99368   ( 17021308)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 869. 67075   ( 17021420)   650225. 76

958



4188333. 34 1174. 91056   ( 15011205)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 1677. 22291   ( 13011517)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 1780. 31263    ( 17122318)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 1272. 28812   ( 17011509)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 823. 06587   ( 17011509)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 502. 25335   ( 17020824)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 390. 95657   ( 17121319)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 228. 07187   ( 17122519)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 150. 52670   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 167. 58325   ( 17013008)   649325. 76

4188383. 34 187. 56833   ( 17013008)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 211. 10123    ( 17013008)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 238. 92657   ( 17013008)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 279. 33421   ( 17121807)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 338. 35754   ( 17121807)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 411. 98968   ( 17121807)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 511. 90888   ( 17022506)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 671. 02359   ( 17022506)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 913. 52468   ( 17011605)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 1431. 31757   ( 17021308)   650325. 76

4188383. 34 2312. 52925   ( 16010309)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 44

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650525. 76
4188383. 34 1391. 45986   ( 17011509)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 733. 97423   ( 17121319)   650725. 76
4188383. 34 543. 53320   ( 17122519)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 423. 75585   ( 17122519)   651125. 76
4188383. 34 219. 18244   ( 17122719)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 154. 95669   ( 17011505)   649225. 76

959



4188433. 34 172. 36774   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 193. 34411   ( 17011505)   649425. 76

4188433. 34 219. 04291   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 251. 11041   ( 17011505)   649625. 76

4188433. 34 291. 99731   ( 17011505)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 345. 52973   ( 17011505)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 417. 97855   ( 17011505)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 520. 28545   ( 17011505)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 673. 19275   ( 17011505)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 920. 76118   ( 17011505)   650225. 76

4188433. 34 1434. 71397   ( 17121420)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650425. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 1304. 53810   ( 17122621)   650625. 76

4188433. 34 805. 61867   ( 17122621)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 557. 93468   ( 17122621)   650825. 76

4188433. 34 413. 91332   ( 17122621)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 219. 09953    ( 16010203)   649125. 76

4188483. 34 151. 73379   ( 17120922)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 169. 21309   ( 17013107)   649325. 76

4188483. 34 191. 66682   ( 17013107)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 219. 00207   ( 17013107)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 252. 71425    ( 17013107)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 294. 90757   ( 17013107)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 348. 59553    ( 17013107)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 1282. 94034   ( 13032807)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 799. 97901   ( 14021120)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 567. 51841   ( 14022208)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 442. 88312   ( 14022208)   651125. 76

4188483. 34 245. 17545   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 151. 68918   ( 17013107)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 170. 17400   ( 17122903)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 192. 29284   ( 17122903)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 217. 51350   ( 17122903)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 247. 55237    ( 17011121)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 292. 78258   ( 17121322)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 344. 97393   ( 17121322)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 1930. 61376   ( 17022508)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 1195. 17638   ( 17121119)   650625. 76

4188533. 34 786. 40627   ( 14011317)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 547. 90479   ( 15122617)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 418. 64795   ( 14010519)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 229. 30807   ( 14021603)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 152. 53732   ( 17121322)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 171. 37886   ( 17121322)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 191. 41409   ( 17121322)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 211. 66980   ( 17121322)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 240. 79316   ( 17120702)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 269. 83070   ( 17120702)   649725. 76

960



4188583. 34 309. 98274   ( 17122608)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 1471. 93756   ( 17022508)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 1010. 28364   ( 17022407)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 713. 82929   ( 17121119)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 535. 98151   ( 14011317)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 409. 53003    ( 15010317)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 225. 18378   ( 14010519)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 148. 24880   ( 17120702)   649225. 76

4188633. 34 165. 00306   ( 17120702)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 179. 47739   ( 17120702)   649425. 76

4188633. 34 189. 48087   ( 17013104)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 224. 78284   ( 17122608)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 269. 91944   ( 17122608)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 317. 09215    ( 17011201)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 394. 87186   ( 17011201)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 486. 84223   ( 17121007)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 559. 48999   ( 17121402)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 600. 39670   ( 17120208)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 834. 48202   ( 17122909)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 1055. 71440   ( 17012717)   650425. 76

4188633. 34 1062. 25976   ( 17121401)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 891. 65214   ( 17012601)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 643. 34655   ( 17123020)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 45

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 495. 19551   ( 13121617)   650825. 76

4188633. 34 391. 80730   ( 13020908)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 223. 12580   ( 15122617)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 136. 42657   ( 17013104)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 143. 56052   ( 17122608)   649325. 76

961



4188683. 34 172. 72282   ( 17122608)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 200. 35477   ( 17122608)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 223. 09590   ( 17123105)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 275. 90884   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 319. 64340   ( 17120707)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 384. 97063   ( 17020404)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 423. 78249   ( 17121402)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 432. 23852   ( 17120624)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 531. 86563   ( 17123024)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 678. 32637   ( 17122724)   650325. 76

4188683. 34 878. 32017   ( 17012717)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 864. 73434   ( 17012905)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 772. 44093    ( 17021405)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 586. 11176   ( 14011617)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 485. 79915   ( 17121119)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 371. 56808   ( 13121617)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 218. 13931   ( 15010317)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 138. 17684   ( 17122608)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 156. 49812   ( 17122608)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 172. 95052   ( 17123105)   649425. 76

4188733. 34 202. 05784   ( 17011201)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 233. 34572   ( 17011201)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 267. 65696   ( 17121007)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 315. 87878   ( 17020404)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 335. 65799   ( 17121402)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 340. 44132   ( 17043004)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 391. 48687   ( 17123024)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 511. 72932   ( 17122909)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 607. 51104   ( 17022607)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 721. 04394   ( 17012717)   650425. 76

4188733. 34 704. 29866   ( 17012905)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 616. 52601   ( 17122223)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 544. 40807   ( 17122321)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 454. 36986   ( 17022407)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 378. 38653   ( 17121119)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 213. 29550   ( 14011317)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 139. 07254   ( 17123105)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 153. 71253   ( 17011201)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 180. 84652   ( 17011201)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 201. 35364   ( 17120707)   649525. 76

4188783. 34 231. 48618   ( 17121007)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 264. 34076   ( 17020404)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 274. 61608   ( 17121402)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 287. 72322   ( 17043004)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 304. 25923   ( 17120208)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 349. 82147   ( 17010902)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 422. 05988   ( 16022108)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 542. 71763    ( 17120219)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 588. 49022   ( 17012717)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 572. 38198   ( 17012905)   650525. 76

962



4188783. 34 579. 44724   ( 17022508)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 491. 15918   ( 17022706)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 393. 51673   ( 14011617)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 331. 58084   ( 17123020)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 203. 57031   ( 14022307)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 143. 04851   ( 17011201)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 158. 73591   ( 17011201)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 177. 06678   ( 17120707)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 200. 76165   ( 17121007)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 224. 86794   ( 17020404)   649625. 76

4188833. 34 230. 20370   ( 17121402)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 245. 66599   ( 17043004)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 243. 26425   ( 17121808)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 289. 82951   ( 17123024)   650025. 76

4188833. 34 348. 88694   ( 17122909)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 389. 29150   ( 17122724)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 477. 47970   ( 17120219)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 504. 94576   ( 17120618)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 466. 11557   ( 17012720)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 520. 09971   ( 17022508)   650625. 76

4188833. 34 446. 75383    ( 17021405)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 388. 96925    ( 17122321)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 335. 66221   ( 17022407)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 197. 89748    ( 17120617)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 149. 10119   ( 16012009)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 46

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD7 U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL1

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL1

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 156. 98288   ( 17122805)   649325. 76

4188883. 34 174. 85240   ( 17121007)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 193. 90013   ( 17020404)   649525. 76

963



4188883. 34 197. 19523   ( 17120905)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 211. 89393   ( 17043004)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 206. 63710   ( 17120624)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 224. 46875   ( 15022507)   649925. 76

4188883. 34 258. 82066   ( 17123021)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 314. 57549   ( 17020506)   650125. 76

4188883. 34 345. 53773   ( 17022607)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 385. 54659   ( 17120219)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 449. 85698   ( 17120618)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 419. 81525   ( 17012720)   650525. 76

4188883. 34 438. 27319   ( 17022508)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 397. 86171   ( 17021405)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 360. 51278   ( 17012601)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 287. 81159   ( 17022408)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 189. 82709   ( 14012706)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 342. 23783    ( 17022607)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 334. 70951   ( 15021408)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 401. 30140   ( 17120618)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 380. 19045   ( 17012720)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 385. 75391   ( 17121401)   650625. 76

4188933. 34 338. 75371   ( 17121904)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 324. 15204   ( 17022706)   650825. 76

4188933. 34 292. 73319   ( 17122321)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 200. 27082   ( 17121119)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 346. 02052   ( 17012720)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 345. 13266   ( 17121401)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 309. 40506   ( 17122223)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 296. 98929   ( 17021405)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 266. 62966   ( 17012601)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 189. 12487   ( 17123020)   650525. 76

4189033. 34 305. 27871   ( 17120207)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 302. 99989   ( 17022508)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 282. 33199   ( 17021405)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 255. 16529   ( 17012601)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 167. 40655   ( 17120122)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 288. 07368   ( 17120207)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 284. 76916   ( 17022508)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 246. 27417   ( 17121904)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 234. 14715   ( 17022706)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 179. 17600   ( 17022407)   650525. 76

4189133. 34 266. 63323    ( 17120207)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 256. 88331   ( 17022508)   650725. 76

4189133. 34 223. 40255   ( 17121904)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 214. 42543    ( 17021405)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 163. 32503   ( 17022407)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 146. 98196   ( 17022508)   650760. 33

4189397. 50 167. 75798   ( 17022508)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

964



16: 20: 52

PAGE 47

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 1447. 78836   ( 16010309)   649629. 66

4188294. 84 1089. 64678   ( 13123102)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 1763. 74881   ( 17011203)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 563. 94007   ( 17022506)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 515. 25496   ( 17022506)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 335. 26133   ( 17123024)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 202. 83175   ( 14012706)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 175. 52506   ( 13121319)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 191. 83181   ( 17121119)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 177. 29636   ( 14012706)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 175. 57496   ( 17120617)   650610. 95

4188880. 93 170. 43754   ( 17120617)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 164. 19963   ( 17120617)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 181. 23179   ( 17122719)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 178. 17047   ( 17122719)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 177. 78458   ( 17122621)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 167. 55026   ( 16010203)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 158. 33219   ( 15122617)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 157. 11573    ( 15122617)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 153. 29160   ( 13020204)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 153. 14300   ( 15010317)   650805. 33

4188805. 53 141. 61892   ( 14011317)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 141. 41401   ( 14011317)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 138. 18920   ( 14022106)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 136. 99313   ( 13020908)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 128. 74603    ( 14022307)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 123. 81103   ( 13121319)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 123. 12738   ( 17120617)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 176. 94720   ( 17122519)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 177. 39896   ( 17122519)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 132. 09814   ( 17022407)   650726. 07

965



4189273. 37 127. 38498   ( 17022407)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 122. 77619   ( 17120617)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 119. 76841   ( 17120617)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 119. 31948   ( 14012706)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 118. 18024   ( 14012706)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 120. 42073   ( 13103008)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 123. 09969   ( 17121119)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 125. 71053    ( 17121119)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 127. 04820   ( 17121119)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 125. 02814   ( 17121119)   650850. 04

4189155. 37 122. 52592   ( 17123020)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 122. 60968   ( 17123020)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 121. 43298   ( 17123020)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 118. 88941   ( 17123020)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 115. 52393   ( 17123020)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 111. 72573    ( 17123020)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 105. 87305   ( 17123020)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 101. 93080   ( 13121217)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 101. 29099   ( 13121217)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 102. 76114   ( 17120122)   650872. 09

4189309. 23 105. 62510   ( 13121109)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 108. 34091   ( 13121109)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 110. 19959   ( 13121109)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 111. 14339   ( 13121109)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 111. 52920   ( 13121109)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 110. 91645    ( 13121109)   650888. 86

4189407. 01 109. 64990   ( 13121109)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 107. 00137   ( 13121109)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 104. 12412   ( 13121109)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 100. 52633   ( 13121109)   650898. 45

4189475. 55 97. 35954   ( 13121109)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 93. 21084   ( 13121109)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 92. 04787   ( 17120205)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 168. 94120   ( 17122719)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 169. 39152   ( 17122519)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 164. 08732   ( 17122519)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 157. 09470   ( 17121319)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 156. 03188   ( 17011303)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 205. 72809   ( 17121906)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 100. 86347   ( 17121319)   649125. 76

4188183. 34 327. 77246   ( 17021308)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 374. 50009   ( 17021420)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 449. 32068   ( 17121504)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 516. 07621   ( 13012121)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 651. 10657   ( 13013108)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 786. 61607   ( 13020205)   649725. 76

4188183. 34 938. 68683   ( 17011609)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 1014. 39376   ( 17122917)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 863. 20920   ( 17020801)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC

966



DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 48

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650025. 76 4188183. 34 647. 34224   ( 17012908)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 546. 20525   ( 17121219)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 491. 34861   ( 17011509)   650325. 76

4188183. 34 305. 33989   ( 17122619)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 246. 09949   ( 17020824)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 203. 61189   ( 17020824)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 178. 55259   ( 17011303)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 152. 15469   ( 17121319)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 140. 64480   ( 17121319)   651125. 76

4188183. 34 99. 97931   ( 17010504)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 322. 90649   ( 17123023)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 401. 76774   ( 17021308)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 471. 51638   ( 17120203)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 585. 33407   ( 17121504)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 708. 54256   ( 13010908)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 907. 55575    ( 16010309)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 1093. 28737   ( 13012120)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 1196. 10870   ( 17122917)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 948. 52183    ( 17120120)   650025. 76

4188233. 34 747. 47980   ( 17122320)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 665. 13778   ( 17011509)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 390. 50465   ( 17122619)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 307. 37952   ( 17020824)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 246. 23931   ( 17011303)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 206. 46937   ( 17011303)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 184. 91442   ( 17121319)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 157. 33689   ( 17010504)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 139. 77642   ( 17010504)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 107. 28473    ( 17122519)   649125. 76

967



4188283. 34 330. 99614   ( 17013105)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 392. 72551   ( 17121207)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 488. 31013   ( 17021308)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 633. 94499   ( 17021308)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 805. 81905   ( 17121504)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 1060. 90431   ( 13013108)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 1381. 56776   ( 14012608)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 1486. 08404   ( 17122701)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 1092. 02611   ( 17012908)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 949. 08342   ( 17011509)   650125. 76

4188283. 34 521. 26219   ( 17122619)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 383. 02100   ( 17020824)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 304. 96714   ( 17011303)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 258. 69436   ( 17121319)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 214. 75852   ( 17010504)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 186. 64484   ( 17122519)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 168. 57538   ( 17122519)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 149. 85302   ( 17122519)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 105. 14587   ( 17122719)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 336. 19419   ( 17022506)   649225. 76

4188333. 34 407. 14855   ( 17022506)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 505. 25281   ( 17013105)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 638. 60536   ( 17121823)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 923. 82743    ( 17021308)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 1208. 55392   ( 17121504)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 1783. 35496   ( 14021408)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 1942. 39047   ( 17122318)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 1459. 51143   ( 17011509)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 755. 87023   ( 17121906)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 514. 27279   ( 17011303)   650225. 76

4188333. 34 399. 33989   ( 17121319)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 322. 99610   ( 17122519)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 274. 57774   ( 17122519)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 229. 65828   ( 17122519)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 191. 37136   ( 17122719)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 166. 63982   ( 17122719)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 145. 13365   ( 17122719)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 101. 97730   ( 17122621)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 330. 40847   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 402. 29020   ( 17121807)   649325. 76

4188383. 34 511. 78653   ( 17121807)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 658. 37755   ( 17121807)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 916. 84969   ( 17022506)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 1403. 35370   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 1235. 39049   ( 17121906)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 781. 12621   ( 17122519)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 567. 53804   ( 17122519)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 416. 13648   ( 17122719)   650325. 76

968



4188383. 34 324. 79505   ( 17122719)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 49

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 267. 46792   ( 17122621)   650525. 76

4188383. 34 225. 03840   ( 17122621)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 192. 14116   ( 17122621)   650725. 76

4188383. 34 166. 14773   ( 17122621)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 145. 24640   ( 17122621)   651125. 76
4188383. 34 102. 22186   ( 17122621)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 346. 99262   ( 17011505)   649225. 76

4188433. 34 420. 19001   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 523. 76584   ( 17011505)   649425. 76
4188433. 34 678. 93970   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 934. 24643   ( 17121203)   649625. 76
4188433. 34 1427. 19434   ( 17121203)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 1424. 57478   ( 14022208)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 870. 97686   ( 14022208)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 599. 66632   ( 14022208)   650225. 76

4188433. 34 443. 32930   ( 14022208)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 343. 88473   ( 14022208)   650425. 76
4188433. 34 276. 21206   ( 14022208)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 228. 93838   ( 16010203)   650625. 76
4188433. 34 194. 92121   ( 16010203)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 168. 62683   ( 16010203)   650825. 76
4188433. 34 147. 78269   ( 16010203)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 105. 52911   ( 16010203)   649125. 76
4188483. 34 342. 26364   ( 17122903)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 414. 82598   ( 17011121)   649325. 76

969



4188483. 34 524. 96133   ( 17121322)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 668. 16461   ( 17121322)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 896. 27635   ( 17122608)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 1374. 26314   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 2142. 77393   ( 17122909)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 284. 06694   ( 14022208)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 242. 04445    ( 14022208)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 208. 61257   ( 14022208)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 181. 65845   ( 14022208)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 159. 64691   ( 14022208)   651125. 76

4188483. 34 113. 42374   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 329. 76024   ( 17120702)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 383. 61948   ( 17120702)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 488. 47481   ( 17122608)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 645. 02672   ( 17011201)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 879. 98907   ( 17121007)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 1056. 98024   ( 17122609)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 1492. 21222   ( 17122724)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 268. 90860   ( 14021120)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 228. 67328   ( 15122424)   650625. 76

4188533. 34 196. 64490   ( 14021603)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 169. 59746   ( 14021603)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 147. 20514   ( 15020206)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 109. 53019   ( 14022208)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 318. 63895    ( 17122608)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 378. 07779   ( 17122608)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 493. 65414   ( 17011201)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 630. 27534   ( 17020404)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 704. 68190   ( 17043004)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 876. 84310   ( 17122909)   649725. 76

4188583. 34 1193. 02476   ( 17120219)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 268. 92935   ( 15122617)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 224. 31984   ( 14010519)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 192. 88091   ( 14010519)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 165. 09756   ( 14021120)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 147. 63072   ( 15122424)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 106. 87072   ( 14021603)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 325. 33294   ( 17011201)   649225. 76

4188633. 34 384. 49877   ( 17120707)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 479. 23144   ( 17020404)   649425. 76

4188633. 34 517. 75749   ( 17043004)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 562. 19123   ( 17123024)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 762. 51849   ( 17122909)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 975. 98379   ( 17012717)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 999. 69067   ( 17012905)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 858. 01537   ( 17022706)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 667. 01485   ( 17022407)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 509. 40309   ( 17121119)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 384. 92587   ( 14022307)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 319. 34935    ( 14011317)   650425. 76

970



4188633. 34 263. 31253    ( 15010317)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 221. 22095    ( 13020204)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 191. 86762   ( 15122617)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 50

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 164. 12225   ( 13120917)   650825. 76

4188633. 34 146. 80545   ( 14010519)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 105. 15656   ( 15122424)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 317. 90820   ( 17121007)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 378. 49116   ( 17020404)   649325. 76

4188683. 34 398. 99200   ( 17043004)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 413. 69574   ( 17120208)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 496. 58094   ( 17122909)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 642. 98437   ( 17122724)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 820. 67747   ( 17012717)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 805. 97580   ( 17012905)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 729. 04948   ( 17021405)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 591. 77801   ( 17122321)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 465. 41260   ( 17123020)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 365. 14860   ( 17121119)   650325. 76

4188683. 34 301. 17467   ( 14022307)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 255. 88584   ( 14011317)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 214. 48807   ( 13121420)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 189. 66638   ( 15010317)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 162. 36537   ( 13020204)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 145. 99645   ( 15122617)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 105. 24543   ( 14010519)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 307. 67596   ( 17020404)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 318. 30840   ( 17043004)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 322. 83203    ( 17120624)   649425. 76

971



4188733. 34 386. 69685   ( 17123024)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 489. 02129   ( 17122909)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 581. 45562   ( 17022607)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 680. 22523   ( 17012717)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 648. 30139   ( 17012905)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 611. 73263   ( 17022508)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 542. 23625    ( 17012601)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 448. 91512   ( 17022407)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 366. 85220   ( 17123020)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 286. 41763    ( 14012706)   650425. 76

4188733. 34 243. 84013   ( 14022307)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 209. 60439   ( 13020908)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 181. 62355   ( 14011317)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 160. 86956   ( 15010317)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 143. 54343   ( 15010317)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 103. 21465    ( 13032807)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 260. 77688   ( 17043004)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 259. 74524   ( 17043004)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 289. 56156   ( 17120208)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 341. 70574   ( 17123021)   649525. 76

4188783. 34 399. 39190   ( 16120505)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 521. 74801   ( 17120219)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 560. 00203   ( 17012717)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 522. 46676   ( 17012905)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 570. 33295   ( 17022508)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 478. 33007   ( 17022706)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 400. 03946   ( 17122321)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 334. 37774   ( 17022407)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 298. 24156   ( 17121119)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 233. 50738   ( 13121617)   650525. 76

4188783. 34 202. 59288   ( 14022307)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 178. 33017   ( 13020908)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 158. 05343   ( 14011317)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 138. 68398   ( 13121420)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 102. 76653   ( 15122617)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 227. 33161   ( 17043004)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 239. 50660   ( 17120208)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 282. 00174   ( 17123024)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 341. 57278   ( 17122909)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 377. 58628   ( 17122724)   649625. 76

4188833. 34 453. 78451   ( 17120219)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 479. 41129   ( 17020802)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 465. 04280   ( 17012720)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 492. 64071   ( 17022508)   650025. 76

4188833. 34 439. 99394   ( 17021405)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 369. 04615   ( 17122321)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 322. 39428   ( 17022407)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 268. 71464   ( 17123020)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 243. 62235   ( 17121119)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 196. 23120   ( 17120617)   650625. 76

972



4188833. 34 171. 77765    ( 14022307)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 153. 45784   ( 13020908)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 137. 80998   ( 14011317)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 103. 32600   ( 15010317)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 199. 27555   ( 17121808)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 51

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD7 U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL2

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL2

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH) X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 222. 30525    ( 17123024)   649325. 76

4188883. 34 254. 92857   ( 17123021)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 298. 81200   ( 17020506)   649525. 76

4188883. 34 342. 16328   ( 17022607)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 364. 17349   ( 17120219)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 429. 69666   ( 17120618)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 417. 55839   ( 17012720)   649925. 76

4188883. 34 413. 51706   ( 17121401)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 369. 78086   ( 17121904)   650125. 76

4188883. 34 348. 88312   ( 17012601)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 291. 36225   ( 17122321)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 267. 05867   ( 17022407)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 232. 37636   ( 17123020)   650525. 76

4188883. 34 200. 06335   ( 17121119)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 168. 00616   ( 17120617)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 148. 03881   ( 14022307)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 133. 40539   ( 13020908)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 99. 19996   ( 13121420)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 314. 85109   ( 17022706)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 285. 98678   ( 17122321)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 242. 70263   ( 17022407)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 202. 21885   ( 17120122)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 195. 53171   ( 17123020)   650625. 76

973



4188933. 34 165. 57217   ( 17121119)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 145. 89141   ( 17120617)   650825. 76

4188933. 34 129. 27671   ( 14022307)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 98. 59980   ( 14011317)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 216. 07445    ( 17022407)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 179. 55698   ( 17123020)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 170. 83516   ( 17121119)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 140. 18358   ( 14012706)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 128. 18569   ( 17120617)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 96. 31138   ( 14022106)   650525. 76

4189033. 34 175. 40224   ( 17022407)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 163. 05357   ( 17123020)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 149. 32454   ( 17121119)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 123. 84825    ( 14012706)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 94. 15169   ( 14022307)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 177. 39619   ( 17022407)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 141. 28669   ( 13121217)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 144. 32553    ( 17123020)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 130. 28488   ( 17121119)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 91. 44396   ( 14022307)   650525. 76

4189133. 34 157. 24129   ( 14011617)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 152. 35936   ( 17022407)   650725. 76

4189133. 34 130. 56285    ( 17123020)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 125. 74049   ( 17123020)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 91. 83566   ( 17120617)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 104. 73102   ( 17122321)   650760. 33

4189397. 50 106. 21038   ( 17120205)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 52

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL AD7 U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)      CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 681. 33150   ( 14021105)   649629. 66

974



4188294. 84 630. 80116   ( 17123007)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 742. 23278   ( 15011509)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 440. 46022   ( 15010907)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 426. 41183    ( 17120517)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 572. 58347   ( 17011201)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 233. 69794   ( 15010317)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 200. 12253    ( 15122617)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 211. 69913   ( 15010317)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 203. 24711   ( 15010317)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 195. 31754   ( 13020204)   650610. 95

4188880. 93 193. 74461   ( 15010317)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 184. 66770   ( 15122617)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 166. 35844   ( 17020824)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 159. 56668   ( 17011303)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 165. 71262   ( 17011303)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 165. 67270   ( 17121319)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 169. 41617   ( 14022208)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 172. 24310   ( 14022208)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 165. 36831   ( 14022208)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 157. 08260   ( 15020206)   650805. 33

4188805. 53 147. 44902   ( 14010519)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 150. 33329   ( 14010519)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 147. 74195   ( 14010519)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 146. 26042   ( 13032807)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 139. 44568   ( 13020204)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 139. 63616   ( 15010317)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 136. 04548   ( 15010317)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 160. 80008   ( 17020824)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 160. 95256   ( 17020824)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 148. 50793    ( 17121119)   650726. 07

4189273. 37 143. 89672   ( 17123020)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 132. 77623    ( 13121420)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 132. 45675   ( 14010220)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 132. 53683   ( 14011317)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 130. 63072   ( 14011317)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 129. 14062   ( 13020908)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 128. 37911   ( 13020908)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 126. 48900   ( 14022307)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 128. 74957   ( 14022307)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 127. 65532   ( 14022307)   650850. 04

4189155. 37 123. 63494   ( 13121319)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 122. 84163   ( 17120617)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 123. 71946   ( 17120617)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 123. 38424   ( 17120617)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 121. 87665   ( 17120617)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 119. 22685   ( 17120617)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 118. 73028   ( 14012706)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 117. 79736   ( 14012706)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 118. 12554   ( 13103008)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 120. 99385   ( 13103008)   650872. 09

975



4189309. 23 122. 31833    ( 17121119)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 123. 12632   ( 17121119)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 122. 51045   ( 17121119)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 120. 62518   ( 17121119)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 117. 38600   ( 17123020)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 117. 78872   ( 17123020)   650888. 86

4189407. 01 116. 68332   ( 17123020)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 113. 75579   ( 17123020)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 109. 84905   ( 17123020)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 104. 51445   ( 17123020)   650898. 45

4189475. 55 99. 61837   ( 17123020)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 97. 87820   ( 13121217)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 97. 09061   ( 13121217)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 153. 57388   ( 17011303)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 155. 01084   ( 17020824)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 150. 72523   ( 17020824)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 151. 05914   ( 17122619)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 141. 71718   ( 17011509)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 225. 61151   ( 17011509)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 97. 13339   ( 17020824)   649125. 76

4188183. 34 251. 98777   ( 17123107)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 290. 08656   ( 14120608)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 334. 54943   ( 13013108)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 368. 65301   ( 15122802)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 416. 76867   ( 17121508)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 464. 41953   ( 14021105)   649725. 76

4188183. 34 560. 13257   ( 17011609)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 508. 07070   ( 17120822)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 504. 15825   ( 17122701)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 53

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

976



650025. 76 4188183. 34 457. 80893   ( 17020801)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 370. 99174   ( 17120120)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 317. 46796   ( 17012908)   650325. 76

4188183. 34 302. 04352   ( 17122320)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 261. 20556   ( 17121219)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 264. 91468   ( 17011509)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 202. 66189   ( 17011509)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 146. 42640   ( 17122619)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 134. 38606   ( 17122619)   651125. 76

4188183. 34 93. 48001   ( 17020824)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 276. 21558   ( 17120517)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 304. 20239   ( 13012105)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 350. 26234   ( 13021704)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 408. 71026   ( 16010309)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 464. 21538   ( 13020205)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 534. 33189   ( 17122918)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 639. 44861   ( 17011609)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 593. 85865   ( 17122917)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 567. 53658   ( 17012804)   650025. 76

4188233. 34 509. 85489   ( 17020801)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 420. 41553    ( 17012908)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 333. 73197   ( 17122320)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 319. 89659   ( 17121219)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 312. 22040   ( 17011509)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 244. 62500   ( 17011509)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 170. 84346   ( 17122619)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 152. 03700   ( 17122619)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 133. 04206   ( 17020824)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 97. 08054   ( 17011303)   649125. 76

4188283. 34 293. 90113   ( 17121504)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 323. 42589   ( 17120517)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 376. 75846   ( 13010908)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 448. 64431   ( 13013108)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 518. 32390   ( 15010507)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 610. 70165   ( 17123007)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 728. 82907   ( 17011609)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 708. 01754   ( 17122917)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 660. 03428   ( 17122620)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 543. 85755   ( 17120120)   650125. 76

4188283. 34 436. 47388   ( 17012908)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 391. 40572   ( 17122320)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 370. 35867   ( 17011509)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 301. 04733   ( 17011509)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 202. 57504   ( 17122619)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 173. 41914   ( 17121906)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 154. 38906   ( 17020824)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 131. 42179   ( 17020824)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 95. 30529   ( 17121319)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 305. 25237   ( 17021420)   649225. 76

977



4188333. 34 357. 26572   ( 17121504)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 395. 71658   ( 15010907)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 477. 78068   ( 13010906)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 577. 72516   ( 16010309)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 653. 19164   ( 15022608)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 827. 25296   ( 17011609)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 844. 08099   ( 17122917)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 745. 99913   ( 17012903)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 568. 68235   ( 17012908)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 485. 27302   ( 17122320)   650225. 76

4188333. 34 440. 72260   ( 17011509)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 379. 38682   ( 17011509)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 244. 99024   ( 17122619)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 205. 38543   ( 17121906)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 178. 51910   ( 17020824)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 147. 34061   ( 17011303)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 136. 29353   ( 17011303)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 100. 95351   ( 17121319)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 326. 15496   ( 17021308)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 373. 42114   ( 17021420)   649325. 76

4188383. 34 446. 79287   ( 17121504)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 514. 01566   ( 13012121)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 646. 96167   ( 13013108)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 780. 24341   ( 13020205)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 931. 62835   ( 17011609)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 1003. 10979   ( 17122917)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 854. 61854   ( 17020801)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 647. 19646   ( 17012908)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 543. 39780   ( 17121219)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 492. 49960   ( 17011509)   650325. 76

4188383. 34 303. 73410   ( 17122619)

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 54

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE 6ROUP:    VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

978



Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 245. 84266   ( 17121906)   650525. 76

4188383. 34 204. 47239   ( 17020824)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 177. 94187   ( 17011303)   650725. 76

4188383. 34 151. 79293   ( 17011303)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 140. 24948   ( 17121319)   651125. 76

4188383. 34 100. 09742   ( 17010504)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 322. 53776   ( 17123023)   649225. 76

4188433. 34 401. 42875   ( 17021308)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 469. 07203   ( 17120203)   649425. 76

4188433. 34 580. 38939   ( 17121504)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 702. 67855   ( 13010908)   649625. 76

4188433. 34 895. 47303   ( 15122802)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 1078. 55969   ( 13012120)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 1182. 98808   ( 17122917)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 940. 36616   ( 17120120)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 741. 51535    ( 17122320)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 664. 07302   ( 17011509)   650225. 76

4188433. 34 388. 88676   ( 17122619)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 306. 41116   ( 17020824)   650425. 76

4188433. 34 244. 49608   ( 17011303)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 207. 01436   ( 17011303)   650625. 76

4188433. 34 184. 44378   ( 17121319)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 157. 42887   ( 17121319)   650825. 76

4188433. 34 139. 75128   ( 17010504)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 107. 05283   ( 17122519)   649125. 76

4188483. 34 329. 32707   ( 17013105)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 391. 98146   ( 17121207)   649325. 76

4188483. 34 490. 99748   ( 17021308)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 625. 44530   ( 17021308)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 795. 63793    ( 17120517)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 1053. 26530   ( 13013108)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 1360. 74636   ( 14012608)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 258. 18247   ( 17121319)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 214. 13541   ( 17010504)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 184. 97649   ( 17122519)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 167. 78054   ( 17122519)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 149. 65515    ( 17122519)   651125. 76

4188483. 34 104. 95606   ( 17122719)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 336. 40811   ( 17022506)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 404. 52353    ( 17022506)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 503. 67498   ( 17013105)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 638. 08072   ( 17121823)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 916. 45372   ( 17021308)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 1190. 49287   ( 17120517)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 1758. 88136   ( 14021408)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 273. 35222   ( 17122519)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 229. 77678   ( 17122519)   650625. 76

979



4188533. 34 191. 74817   ( 17122519)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 166. 50621   ( 17122719)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 145. 36566   ( 17122719)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 101. 55904   ( 17122621)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 327. 99560   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 403. 57727   ( 17121807)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 510. 66925   ( 17121807)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 659. 14096   ( 17022506)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 907. 77489   ( 17022506)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 1407. 08353   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188583. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 265. 93349   ( 17122621)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 224. 25517   ( 17122621)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 191. 79763    ( 17122621)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 166. 06578   ( 17122621)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 145. 32107   ( 17122621)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 102. 47307   ( 17122621)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 346. 84178   ( 17011505)   649225. 76

4188633. 34 419. 97488   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 523. 44462   ( 17011505)   649425. 76

4188633. 34 678. 43152   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 929. 91503    ( 17011505)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 1417. 32300   ( 17121203)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 1412. 41421   ( 14022208)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 861. 71996   ( 14022208)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 592. 83626   ( 14022208)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 438. 19586   ( 14022208)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 339. 92512   ( 14022208)   650425. 76

4188633. 34 273. 16824   ( 16010203)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 228. 00557   ( 16010203)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 194. 14946   ( 16010203)

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 55

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

980



X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH) X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 167. 97776   ( 16010203)   650825. 76

4188633. 34 147. 22916   ( 16010203)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 105. 16249   ( 16010203)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 341. 09669   ( 17122903)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 413. 24023   ( 17011121)   649325. 76

4188683. 34 523. 13922   ( 17121322)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 670. 95664   ( 17121322)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 887. 39021   ( 17122608)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 1374. 37108   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 2142. 89174   ( 17122909)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 1320. 07540   ( 14011317)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 808. 14331   ( 13032807)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 562. 94467   ( 14021120)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 429. 77529   ( 14021603)   650325. 76

4188683. 34 340. 52968   ( 14022208)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 285. 63567   ( 14022208)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 242. 80291   ( 14022208)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 208. 89988   ( 14022208)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 181. 66832   ( 14022208)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 159. 49326   ( 14022208)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 113. 09579   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 329. 16994   ( 17120702)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 385. 97281   ( 17120702)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 485. 50754   ( 17122608)   649425. 76

4188733. 34 639. 33450   ( 17011201)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 878. 33545   ( 17121007)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 1078. 04311   ( 17121402)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 1506. 36081   ( 17122724)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 1834. 14400   ( 17022508)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 1148. 61962   ( 17121119)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 771. 41647   ( 14011317)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 550. 75919   ( 15010317)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 419. 10101   ( 13032807)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 332. 76191   ( 14010519)   650425. 76

4188733. 34 268. 82883   ( 14021120)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 228. 41354   ( 15122424)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 196. 49632   ( 14021603)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 169. 03348   ( 14021603)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 147. 48298   ( 15020206)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 109. 98815    ( 14022208)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 317. 33990   ( 17122608)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 379. 86875    ( 17122608)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 494. 29798   ( 17011201)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 627. 84387   ( 17020404)   649525. 76

981



4188783. 34 709. 03671   ( 17043004)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 871. 45368   ( 17122909)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 1201. 78055   ( 17120219)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 1311. 63009   ( 17022508)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 989. 38550   ( 17122321)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 740. 78424   ( 17121119)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 521. 23472   ( 13020908)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 402. 07794   ( 14011317)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 325. 15650   ( 13020204)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 268. 13303    ( 15122617)   650525. 76

4188783. 34 224. 75628   ( 14010519)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 192. 28988   ( 14010519)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 165. 15725   ( 14021120)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 147. 75368   ( 15122424)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 106. 65789   ( 14021603)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 324. 03366   ( 17011201)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 384. 22450   ( 17120707)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 478. 90989   ( 17020404)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 518. 85355   ( 17043004)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 564. 07054   ( 17120208)   649625. 76

4188833. 34 769. 95811   ( 17122909)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 979. 09386   ( 17012717)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 1004. 11304   ( 17012905)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 860. 62082   ( 17022706)   650025. 76

4188833. 34 665. 58449   ( 17022407)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 505. 71654   ( 17121119)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 384. 47756   ( 14022307)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 318. 88266   ( 14011317)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 263. 78960   ( 15010317)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 220. 57853    ( 13020204)   650625. 76

4188833. 34 191. 46592   ( 15122617)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 164. 16731   ( 13120917)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 146. 77074   ( 14010519)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 105. 34230   ( 15122424)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 316. 50395   ( 17121007)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 56

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL3

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL3

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

982



CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 379. 04071   ( 17020404)   649325. 76

4188883. 34 398. 82797   ( 17043004)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 413. 29783   ( 17120208)   649525. 76

4188883. 34 495. 77759   ( 14012407)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 644. 96329   ( 17122724)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 824. 07387   ( 17012717)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 810. 20193   ( 17012905)   649925. 76

4188883. 34 733. 46895   ( 17021405)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 589. 73337   ( 17122321)   650125. 76

4188883. 34 468. 22807   ( 17123020)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 364. 77467   ( 14012706)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 301. 23630   ( 14022307)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 256. 34545   ( 14011317)   650525. 76

4188883. 34 214. 33746   ( 13121420)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 189. 43108   ( 15010317)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 162. 36800   ( 15122617)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 145. 76914   ( 15122617)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 105. 11015   ( 14010519)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 450. 11949   ( 17022407)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 366. 96287   ( 17121119)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 285. 78186   ( 14012706)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 244. 11456   ( 14022307)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 209. 10641   ( 14011317)   650625. 76

4188933. 34 181. 36979   ( 14010220)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 161. 34439   ( 15010317)   650825. 76

4188933. 34 143. 12118   ( 15010317)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 103. 11460   ( 13032807)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 234. 22277   ( 13121617)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 202. 94963   ( 14022307)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 178. 21877   ( 13020908)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 157. 86438   ( 14011317)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 138. 55455   ( 13121420)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 103. 01923   ( 15122617)   650525. 76

4189033. 34 196. 64027   ( 17120617)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 172. 15697   ( 14022307)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 153. 56967   ( 13020908)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 137. 89561   ( 14011317)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 103. 22294   ( 15010317)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 199. 11722   ( 17121119)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 168. 21974   ( 17120617)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 148. 41358   ( 14022307)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 133. 64051   ( 13020908)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 99. 09860   ( 13121420)   650525. 76

983



4189133. 34 195. 22972   ( 17121119)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 164. 51674   ( 17121119)   650725. 76

4189133. 34 145. 98691   ( 17120617)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 129. 63421   ( 14022307)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 98. 49643   ( 14011317)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 120. 70473   ( 17022407)   650760. 33

4189397. 50 115. 81421   ( 17120122)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 57

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 278. 37453   ( 17021420)   649629. 66

4188294. 84 257. 92821   ( 17021420)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 337. 68656   ( 17120517)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 188. 39157   ( 17121207)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 180. 56192   ( 17121207)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 205. 09389   ( 17121322)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 886. 88555    ( 17021405)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 707. 77695   ( 17022407)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 725. 77981   ( 17021405)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 667. 60085   ( 17012601)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 632. 59100   ( 17122321)   650610. 95

4188880. 93 612. 03619   ( 17122321)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 611. 04759   ( 17022407)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 541. 76979   ( 17012908)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 515. 63737   ( 17012908)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 568. 62497   ( 17122320)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 617. 56785    ( 17011509)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 542. 18270   ( 14022208)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 495. 83581   ( 14021603)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 476. 43311   ( 14010519)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 468. 75237   ( 13032807)   650805. 33

984



4188805. 53 418. 24983   ( 14011317)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 403. 25781   ( 13020908)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 386. 80604   ( 14022307)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 381. 30376   ( 13121617)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 355. 99912   ( 17121119)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 344. 77582   ( 17121119)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 328. 03347   ( 17123020)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 475. 72069   ( 17012908)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 484. 52171   ( 17012908)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 265. 05180   ( 17021405)   650726. 07

4189273. 37 244. 37316   ( 17121904)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 291. 47518   ( 17022407)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 304. 28995   ( 17022407)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 307. 91674   ( 17022407)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 302. 80534   ( 17022407)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 288. 24606   ( 17022407)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 269. 72205   ( 14011617)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 263. 70527   ( 17022408)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 271. 02907   ( 17122321)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 274. 42728   ( 17122321)   650850. 04

4189155. 37 271. 23618   ( 17122321)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 263. 74918   ( 17122321)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 255. 69870   ( 17122321)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 243. 91712   ( 17122321)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 242. 84365   ( 17012601)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 242. 14631   ( 17012601)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 240. 21752   ( 17012601)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 235. 64493    ( 17012601)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 228. 87639   ( 17012601)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 220. 09802   ( 17012601)   650872. 09

4189309. 23 209. 90685   ( 17022706)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 208. 02995    ( 17022706)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 204. 86822   ( 17022706)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 200. 61555    ( 17022706)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 194. 38673   ( 17022706)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 187. 60865    ( 17022706)   650888. 86

4189407. 01 181. 99166   ( 17022324)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 179. 43208   ( 17021405)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 179. 54643   ( 17021405)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 178. 06115    ( 17021405)   650898. 45

4189475. 55 176. 08511   ( 17021405)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 174. 44968   ( 17021405)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 171. 47717   ( 17021405)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 488. 84495   ( 17122320)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 435. 57616   ( 17012908)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 379. 59013   ( 17012908)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 399. 82640   ( 17012908)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 374. 57696   ( 17120120)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 452. 75748   ( 17122701)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 220. 24354   ( 17011509)   649125. 76

985



4188183. 34 144. 77626   ( 17021308)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 153. 15098   ( 17021308)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 170. 18542   ( 17120203)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 186. 28414   ( 17123002)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 211. 68130   ( 17121504)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 233. 92308   ( 17120517)   649725. 76

4188183. 34 250. 61592   ( 13012121)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 288. 31564   ( 14120608)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 329. 25653   ( 13013108)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 58

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650025. 76 4188183. 34 357. 48557   ( 15122802)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 406. 18666   ( 13020306)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 457. 22432   ( 14021105)   650325. 76

4188183. 34 545. 22387   ( 17011609)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 501. 47403   ( 17120822)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 488. 86015   ( 17122701)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 449. 05499   ( 17020801)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 363. 58006   ( 17120120)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 313. 26311   ( 17012908)   651125. 76

4188183. 34 261. 30057   ( 17011509)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 140. 49564   ( 17123023)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 160. 32981   ( 17021308)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 177. 37224   ( 17021308)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 194. 02744   ( 17120203)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 214. 67439   ( 17123002)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 246. 67449   ( 17121504)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 269. 45488   ( 17120517)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 303. 49979   ( 13012105)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 347. 23963   ( 14021223)   650025. 76

986



4188233. 34 403. 03905   ( 16010309)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 461. 33383   ( 13020205)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 520. 31924   ( 17122918)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 625. 76921   ( 17011609)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 590. 21428   ( 17122917)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 553. 44397   ( 17012804)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 496. 71070   ( 17020801)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 410. 77864   ( 17012908)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 324. 69679   ( 17122320)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 245. 01129   ( 17011509)   649125. 76

4188283. 34 141. 89042   ( 17121207)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 159. 65878   ( 17123023)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 175. 88041   ( 17021308)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 205. 41401   ( 17021308)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 222. 64681   ( 17120203)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 251. 17271   ( 17021420)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 292. 31996   ( 17121504)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 318. 42945    ( 15010907)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 371. 34739   ( 13010908)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 441. 21725    ( 13013108)   650125. 76

4188283. 34 512. 22513   ( 15010507)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 599. 18402   ( 17123007)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 718. 37230   ( 17011609)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 696. 93239   ( 17122917)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 640. 90511   ( 17122620)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 529. 72327   ( 17120120)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 428. 53864   ( 17012908)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 384. 56415    ( 17122320)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 198. 54688   ( 17122619)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 144. 29453    ( 17012823)   649225. 76

4188333. 34 160. 37291   ( 17121207)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 176. 73758   ( 17123023)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 201. 16483   ( 17123023)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 237. 13403    ( 17021308)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 259. 84508   ( 17021308)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 301. 76646   ( 17021420)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 353. 69278   ( 17121504)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 392. 25777   ( 17123107)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 472. 25905   ( 13010906)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 566. 22877   ( 15122802)   650225. 76

4188333. 34 647. 28483   ( 15021203)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 823. 30352   ( 17011609)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 821. 55102   ( 17122917)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 723. 90545    ( 17012903)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 552. 03928   ( 17012908)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 470. 66135    ( 17122320)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 426. 49515   ( 17011509)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 202. 81066   ( 17121906)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 146. 71467   ( 17013105)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 163. 65335    ( 17013105)   649325. 76

987



4188383. 34 180. 12964   ( 17012823)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 204. 23272   ( 17121207)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 232. 99255   ( 17123023)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 271. 43114   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 321. 83891   ( 17021308)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 370. 68847   ( 17021420)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 439. 45806   ( 17121504)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 509. 42506   ( 15011205)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 635. 87606   ( 13013108)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 764. 34920   ( 13020205)   650325. 76

4188383. 34 939. 41222   ( 17011609)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 59

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 963. 66350   ( 17122917)   650525. 76

4188383. 34 825. 60544   ( 17020801)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 630. 36822   ( 17012908)   650725. 76

4188383. 34 529. 60826   ( 17121219)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 486. 37820   ( 17011509)   651125. 76

4188383. 34 203. 92832   ( 17020824)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 149. 77491   ( 17022506)   649225. 76

4188433. 34 163. 29064   ( 17022506)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 180. 81155   ( 17013105)   649425. 76

4188433. 34 209. 30314   ( 17013105)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 234. 13069   ( 17012823)   649625. 76

4188433. 34 272. 63963   ( 17121207)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 321. 81217   ( 17123023)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 401. 23035   ( 17021308)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 468. 36251   ( 17021420)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 572. 16007   ( 17120517)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 695. 93949   ( 13022803)   650225. 76

988



4188433. 34 875. 47552   ( 15010507)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 1063. 60275   ( 17011609)   650425. 76

4188433. 34 1132. 66771   ( 17013024)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 904. 57155   ( 17120120)   650625. 76

4188433. 34 717. 17859   ( 17122320)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 649. 80803    ( 17011509)   650825. 76

4188433. 34 380. 09768   ( 17122619)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 205. 88998   ( 17011303)   649125. 76

4188483. 34 146. 84147   ( 17122902)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 162. 03712   ( 17122902)   649325. 76

4188483. 34 185. 79418   ( 17022506)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 212. 58529   ( 17022506)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 238. 28995   ( 17022506)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 279. 21629   ( 17013105)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 325. 02318   ( 17013105)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 1396. 25353   ( 17122701)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 1043. 07404   ( 17012908)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 908. 91975    ( 17011509)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 507. 93973   ( 17122619)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 379. 78445    ( 17020824)   651125. 76

4188483. 34 210. 57493   ( 17010504)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 144. 46832   ( 17121807)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 164. 16964   ( 17121807)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 186. 74605    ( 17121807)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 212. 29685   ( 17121807)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 240. 61866   ( 17121807)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 278. 93021   ( 17022506)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 337. 37955   ( 17022506)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 1807. 01657   ( 17122318)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 1355. 82332   ( 17011509)   650625. 76

4188533. 34 744. 96301   ( 17011509)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 498. 13956   ( 17011303)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 391. 76083   ( 17121319)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 227. 62096   ( 17122519)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 148. 70752   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 166. 21715   ( 17013008)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 186. 96325   ( 17013008)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 211. 74005   ( 17013008)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 241. 57648   ( 17013008)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 277. 80344   ( 17013008)   649725. 76

4188583. 34 329. 16967   ( 17121807)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 1260. 62293   ( 17011509)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 725. 96240   ( 17121319)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 550. 79328   ( 17122519)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 414. 70258   ( 17122519)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 220. 19483   ( 17122621)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 155. 21764   ( 17011505)   649225. 76

4188633. 34 172. 68951   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 193. 74731   ( 17011505)   649425. 76

989



4188633. 34 219. 55772   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 251. 78242   ( 17011505)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 292. 89780   ( 17011505)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 346. 77514   ( 17011505)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 419. 76900   ( 17011505)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 522. 98698   ( 17011505)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 677. 52814   ( 17011505)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 928. 30124   ( 17011505)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 1398. 75027   ( 17121203)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650425. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 1334. 00590   ( 14022208)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 817. 61411   ( 14022208)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 60

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 564. 72017   ( 14022208)   650825. 76

4188633. 34 418. 82287   ( 14022208)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 223. 38464   ( 16010203)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 152. 87762   ( 17013107)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 171. 23998   ( 17013107)   649325. 76

4188683. 34 193. 09269   ( 17013107)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 219. 39162   ( 17013107)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 251. 36145   ( 17013107)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 290. 64865    ( 17013107)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 339. 47393   ( 17013107)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 412. 89166   ( 17122903)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 519. 87952   ( 17121322)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 678. 14670   ( 17121322)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 882. 46798   ( 17121322)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 1380. 60512   ( 17011201)   650325. 76

990



4188683. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 1268. 18998   ( 14011317)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 780. 95833   ( 14010519)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 555. 88277   ( 14021603)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 420. 28835    ( 14021603)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 242. 21971   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 152. 42143   ( 17122903)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 170. 51978   ( 17122903)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 190. 85036   ( 17122903)   649425. 76

4188733. 34 214. 06096   ( 17011121)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 248. 97867   ( 17121322)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 289. 91243   ( 17121322)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 334. 15022   ( 17121322)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 391. 28984   ( 17120702)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 480. 99809   ( 17122608)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 632. 01718   ( 17122608)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 878. 05448   ( 17121007)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 1123. 34346   ( 17121402)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 1538. 10190   ( 17122724)   650425. 76

4188733. 34 1815. 22842   ( 17022508)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 1147. 21872   ( 17121119)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 767. 09884   ( 14011317)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 537. 99025   ( 13020204)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 411. 78543   ( 13032807)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 226. 99395   ( 14021603)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 153. 08586   ( 17121322)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 170. 19461   ( 17121322)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 187. 68118   ( 17121322)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 208. 97061   ( 17120702)   649525. 76

4188783. 34 235. 90776   ( 17120702)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 257. 07121   ( 17120702)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 315. 52473    ( 17122608)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 384. 46417   ( 17122608)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 496. 65365   ( 17011201)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 627. 99826   ( 17121007)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 730. 70715   ( 17121402)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 882. 49520   ( 17122909)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 1211. 66032   ( 17120219)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 1358. 85766   ( 17022508)   650525. 76

4188783. 34 960. 17549   ( 17122321)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 718. 72756   ( 17121119)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 517. 36159   ( 13020908)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 396. 96850   ( 15010317)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 223. 63238   ( 14010519)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 148. 09906   ( 17120702)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 162. 20130   ( 17120702)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 173. 07029   ( 17120702)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 185. 74377   ( 17122608)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 227. 63095    ( 17122608)   649625. 76

991



4188833. 34 265. 64636   ( 17122608)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 322. 31285   ( 17011201)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 384. 28132   ( 17120707)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 479. 67709   ( 17020404)   650025. 76

4188833. 34 525. 89110   ( 17121402)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 573. 37883   ( 17120208)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 782. 36404   ( 17122909)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 1006. 29178   ( 17012717)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 998. 52377   ( 17012905)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 849. 59736   ( 17022706)   650625. 76

4188833. 34 645. 00737   ( 17022407)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 483. 52401   ( 17121119)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 382. 28058   ( 13020908)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 218. 91368   ( 15122617)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 132. 70768   ( 17013104)

T *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 61

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL4

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL4

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 147. 55289   ( 17122608)   649325. 76

4188883. 34 174. 36066   ( 17122608)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 197. 87717   ( 17122608)   649525. 76

4188883. 34 225. 27157   ( 17011201)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 273. 50921   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 314. 77993   ( 17122805)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 380. 90117   ( 17020404)   649925. 76
4188883. 34 402. 49106   ( 17121402)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 415. 46847   ( 17120208)   650125. 76
4188883. 34 501. 08939   ( 17010902)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 651. 98715   ( 17122724)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 835. 62370   ( 17012717)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 819. 81256   ( 17012905)   650525. 76

992



4188883. 34 738. 99480   ( 17021405)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 568. 62125   ( 17122321)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 469. 99341   ( 17123020)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 361. 31578   ( 13121617)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 212. 08622   ( 15010317)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 495. 83390   ( 17122909)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 587. 09363    ( 17022607)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 686. 46299   ( 17012717)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 669. 05639   ( 17012905)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 598. 03730   ( 17122223)   650625. 76

4188933. 34 531. 71376   ( 17012601)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 447. 13457   ( 17022407)   650825. 76
4188933. 34 368. 92287   ( 17121119)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 209. 75412   ( 14011317)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 545. 32815    ( 17012905)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 565. 27396   ( 17022508)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 479. 03030   ( 17022706)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 384. 73991   ( 17022408)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 318. 10194   ( 17022407)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 202. 11275   ( 14022307)   650525. 76

4189033. 34 501. 26104   ( 17022508)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 437. 82060   ( 17021405)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 376. 04856   ( 17122321)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 326. 73671   ( 17022407)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 196. 12423   ( 17120617)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 419. 44209   ( 17022508)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 380. 35525   ( 17021405)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 351. 68416   ( 17012601)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 286. 64459   ( 17022408)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 193. 89026   ( 17121119)   650525. 76
4189133. 34 375. 54481   ( 17121401)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 328. 26892   ( 17122223)   650725. 76

4189133. 34 316. 98608   ( 17022706)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 287. 25441   ( 17122321)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 196. 46538   ( 17121119)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 166. 47668   ( 17122223)   650760. 33

4189397. 50 194. 58059   ( 17121904)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 62

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

993



CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 423. 05774   ( 13010908)   649629. 66

4188294. 84 380. 57923   ( 13012105)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 535. 64538   ( 16010309)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 290. 61312   ( 17021308)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 275. 31484   ( 17021308)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 293. 25637   ( 17120702)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 417. 38901   ( 13121617)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 342. 21323   ( 14011317)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 363. 55279   ( 13121617)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 334. 87511   ( 13121617)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 324. 15412   ( 13020908)   650610. 95

4188880. 93 312. 93933   ( 14022307)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 306. 27688   ( 13020908)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 331. 41206   ( 17011509)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 281. 47680   ( 17011509)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 277. 77204   ( 17122619)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 266. 90230   ( 17020824)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 280. 15492   ( 14022208)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 273. 30505   ( 14022208)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 254. 83784   ( 14021603)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 251. 17118   ( 15122424)   650805. 33

4188805. 53 235. 54111   ( 15122617)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 230. 28096   ( 13020204)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 230. 32998   ( 15010317)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 226. 19534   ( 15010317)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 209. 17931   ( 14011317)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 203. 08959   ( 13020908)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 197. 07935   ( 14022307)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 315. 99650   ( 17011509)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 339. 45866   ( 17011509)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 189. 72508   ( 17120205)   650726. 07

4189273. 37 186. 79814   ( 17022408)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 190. 63691   ( 14022307)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 190. 19772   ( 17120617)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 189. 56766   ( 17120617)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 184. 20097   ( 14012706)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 183. 57926   ( 14012706)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 186. 83868   ( 17121119)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 194. 13366   ( 17121119)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 197. 68962   ( 17121119)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 193. 94816   ( 17121119)   650850. 04

994



4189155. 37 190. 05293   ( 17123020)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 187. 22574   ( 17123020)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 182. 57263   ( 17123020)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 174. 63609   ( 17123020)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 165. 20994   ( 17123020)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 158. 65009   ( 13121217)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 160. 74090   ( 17120122)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 164. 16057   ( 17022407)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 167. 86953   ( 17022407)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 169. 52409   ( 17022407)   650872. 09

4189309. 23 167. 90786   ( 17022407)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 164. 56834   ( 17022407)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 159. 51839   ( 17022407)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 153. 36125   ( 17022407)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 146. 14889   ( 14011617)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 143. 88729   ( 17120205)   650888. 86

4189407. 01 141. 59199   ( 17120205)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 138. 42096   ( 17022408)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 138. 95353   ( 17022408)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 137. 64491   ( 17022408)   650898. 45

4189475. 55 135. 51718   ( 17022408)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 137. 31768   ( 17122321)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 137. 34611   ( 17122321)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 257. 10822   ( 17122619)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 311. 99032   ( 17011509)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 287. 87142   ( 17011509)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 304. 75067   ( 17011509)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 266. 40841   ( 17121219)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 324. 29716   ( 17012908)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 127. 20889   ( 17122619)   649125. 76

4188183. 34 186. 34212   ( 17021420)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 209. 48657   ( 17121504)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 236. 86486   ( 17120517)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 250. 51304   ( 17123107)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 287. 02305   ( 14120608)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 332. 79065    ( 13013108)   649725. 76

4188183. 34 370. 68878   ( 15122802)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 418. 54326   ( 17121508)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 461. 84594   ( 17122918)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 63

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOLS

995



DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650025. 76 4188183. 34 561. 98266   ( 17011609)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 515. 02338   ( 15011509)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 516. 34212   ( 17122701)   650325. 76

4188183. 34 456. 96489   ( 17012903)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 384. 13462   ( 17120120)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 328. 67274   ( 17012908)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 303. 39139   ( 17122320)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 265. 87577   ( 17121219)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 267. 10771   ( 17011509)   651125. 76

4188183. 34 135. 83148   ( 17122619)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 191. 93122   ( 17120203)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 216. 00516   ( 17021420)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 244. 77048   ( 17121504)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 276. 59923   ( 17120517)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 300. 92293   ( 13012121)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 349. 48033    ( 13010906)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 404. 73915    ( 16010309)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 460. 15527   ( 14021122)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 532. 32626   ( 17122918)   650025. 76

4188233. 34 634. 12433   ( 17011609)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 583. 67218   ( 15011509)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 566. 77545    ( 17012804)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 521. 82765   ( 17020801)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 418. 72554   ( 17012908)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 328. 15450   ( 17122320)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 322. 48149   ( 17121219)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 313. 82316   ( 17011509)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 250. 84233   ( 17011509)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 133. 62091   ( 17020824)   649125. 76

4188283. 34 204. 53866   ( 17021308)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 218. 42647   ( 17021308)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 253. 84456   ( 17021420)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 291. 13159   ( 17121504)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 325. 66914   ( 17120517)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 373. 70837   ( 13010908)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 444. 60821   ( 13013108)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 509. 48521   ( 15010507)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 601. 54715   ( 17123007)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 712. 34494   ( 17011609)   650125. 76

996



4188283. 34 688. 25586   ( 17122917)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 665. 19354   ( 17122620)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 547. 79892   ( 17120120)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 452. 28846   ( 17012908)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 398. 63902   ( 17122320)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 370. 54077   ( 17011509)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 308. 76709   ( 17011509)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 203. 54158   ( 17122619)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 133. 21476   ( 17020824)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 201. 51223   ( 17123023)   649225. 76

4188333. 34 232. 84158   ( 17021308)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 265. 43544   ( 17021308)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 303. 25549   ( 17021420)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 354. 06947   ( 17121504)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 394. 62155   ( 15010907)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 475. 35924   ( 13022803)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 576. 52305   ( 16010309)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 650. 74667   ( 17121508)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 793. 97258   ( 17011609)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 833. 74710   ( 17122917)   650225. 76

4188333. 34 752. 26600   ( 17122920)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 572. 65747   ( 17011508)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 482. 84719   ( 17122320)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 437. 83542   ( 17011509)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 389. 09170   ( 17011509)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 246. 77051   ( 17122619)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 207. 67091   ( 17121906)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 137. 45499   ( 17011303)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 202. 39022   ( 17012823)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 228. 49730   ( 17123023)   649325. 76

4188383. 34 264. 21511   ( 17123023)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 324. 20759   ( 17021308)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 369. 55427   ( 17021420)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 443. 16373   ( 17121504)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 506. 23006   ( 13012121)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 637. 14254   ( 13013108)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 765. 51231   ( 13020205)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 889. 25916   ( 15012509)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 1010. 93027   ( 17122917)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 861. 11700   ( 17020801)   650325. 76

4188383. 34 670. 72093   ( 17012908)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 64

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

997



VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 551. 92005    ( 17121219)   650525. 76

4188383. 34 504. 78791   ( 17011509)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 306. 98483   ( 17122619)   650725. 76

4188383. 34 249. 66946   ( 17121906)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 207. 94354   ( 17020824)   651125. 76

4188383. 34 141. 32209   ( 17121319)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 207. 31782   ( 17013105)   649225. 76

4188433. 34 234. 47941   ( 17013105)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 269. 86058   ( 17121207)   649425. 76

4188433. 34 319. 16370   ( 17123023)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 396. 22042   ( 17021308)   649625. 76

4188433. 34 464. 63160   ( 17120203)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 576. 46956   ( 17121504)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 694. 71651   ( 13010908)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 902. 71064   ( 16010309)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 1080. 14125   ( 14021105)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 1222. 58865   ( 17122917)   650225. 76

4188433. 34 962. 23703   ( 17011208)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 753. 08155   ( 17122320)   650425. 76

4188433. 34 679. 52318   ( 17011509)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 394. 95661   ( 17122619)   650625. 76

4188433. 34 310. 75715   ( 17020824)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 246. 69402   ( 17011303)   650825. 76

4188433. 34 210. 08085   ( 17011303)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 141. 03658   ( 17010504)   649125. 76

4188483. 34 210. 84598   ( 17022506)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 239. 83848   ( 17022506)   649325. 76

4188483. 34 273. 56116   ( 17013105)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 327. 01355   ( 17013105)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 387. 60909   ( 17121207)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 479. 84522   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 624. 09951   ( 17021308)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 532. 02679   ( 17122619)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 393. 09119   ( 17020824)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 310. 49066   ( 17011303)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 261. 65286   ( 17121319)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 216. 56204   ( 17010504)   651125. 76

998



4188483. 34 150. 95826   ( 17122519)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 210. 67191   ( 17121807)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 240. 94828   ( 17121807)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 274. 32843   ( 17121807)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 332. 68063   ( 17022506)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 401. 24911   ( 17022506)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 497. 52903   ( 17013105)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 626. 64530   ( 17121823)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 523. 54613   ( 17011303)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 406. 89382   ( 17121319)   650625. 76

4188533. 34 323. 29328   ( 17122519)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 276. 84779   ( 17122519)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 232. 68036   ( 17122519)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 146. 71894   ( 17122719)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 210. 25702   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 240. 93808   ( 17013008)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 278. 65031   ( 17013008)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 325. 52956   ( 17013008)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 398. 27885    ( 17121807)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 504. 19482   ( 17121807)   649725. 76

4188583. 34 646. 89037   ( 17022506)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 578. 96762   ( 17122519)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 425. 50839   ( 17122519)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 330. 95556   ( 17122719)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 269. 53138   ( 17122621)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 226. 95621   ( 17122621)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 146. 61293   ( 17122621)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 217. 92283   ( 17011505)   649225. 76
4188633. 34 249. 77207   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 290. 37339   ( 17011505)   649425. 76

4188633. 34 343. 51967   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 415. 42205   ( 17011505)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 516. 89821   ( 17011505)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 668. 37728   ( 17011505)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 912. 91931   ( 17011505)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 1381. 87066   ( 17121203)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 1474. 50166   ( 14022208)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 889. 49231   ( 14022208)   650425. 76

4188633. 34 607. 98857   ( 14022208)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 447. 49740   ( 14022208)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 346. 10193   ( 14022208)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ UserS\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 65

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

999



THE 15T HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 277. 42650   ( 14022208)   650825. 76

4188633. 34 230. 89112   ( 16010203)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 148. 60837   ( 16010203)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 217. 76365   ( 17013107)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 248. 39062   ( 17013107)   649325. 76

4188683. 34 285. 58549   ( 17013107)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 337. 84827   ( 17122903)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 408. 45202   ( 17011121)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 516. 32742   ( 17121322)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 661. 99325   ( 17121322)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 865. 53850   ( 17122608)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 1343. 27499   ( 17011201)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 2033. 57207   ( 17122609)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 1372. 24398   ( 14011317)   650325. 76

4188683. 34 832. 95057   ( 13032807)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 576. 05526   ( 14021120)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 437. 95751   ( 14021603)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 344. 59041   ( 14022208)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 288. 87186   ( 14022208)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 245. 39819   ( 14022208)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 160. 92073   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 213. 05978   ( 17121322)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 247. 46656   ( 17121322)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 285. 74027   ( 17121322)   649425. 76

4188733. 34 326. 11442   ( 17120702)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 383. 08514   ( 17120702)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 477. 64936   ( 17122608)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 625. 67640   ( 17011201)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 862. 18089   ( 17121007)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 1082. 94899   ( 17121402)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 1490. 57642   ( 17122724)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 1864. 03378   ( 17022508)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 1159. 01668   ( 17121119)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 784. 58029   ( 13020908)   650425. 76

1000



4188733. 34 562. 83891   ( 15010317)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 426. 45737   ( 13032807)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 338. 09532   ( 14010519)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 272. 36131   ( 14021120)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 231. 17229   ( 15122424)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 148. 61503   ( 15020206)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 207. 59241   ( 17120702)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 232. 06341   ( 17120702)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 249. 71285   ( 17120702)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 313. 53469   ( 17122608)   649525. 76

4188783. 34 376. 96889   ( 17122608)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 489. 09928   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 616. 72941   ( 17121007)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 711. 65535    ( 17121402)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 854. 82630   ( 17123024)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 1203. 14556   ( 17120219)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 1282. 26247   ( 17012905)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 1013. 31554   ( 17122321)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 759. 15994   ( 17121119)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 528. 15212   ( 13020908)   650525. 76

4188783. 34 412. 03886   ( 14011317)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 330. 19963    ( 13020204)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 272. 16670   ( 15122617)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 226. 91926   ( 14010519)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 148. 91750   ( 15122424)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 186. 08432   ( 17122608)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 226. 30160   ( 17122608)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 261. 56876   ( 17122608)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 320. 02301   ( 17011201)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 380. 37048   ( 17120707)   649625. 76

4188833. 34 473. 04864   ( 17020404)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 514. 92046   ( 17121402)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 561. 91812   ( 17120208)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 773. 09694   ( 17122909)   650025. 76

4188833. 34 934. 44631   ( 17012717)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 1010. 79662   ( 17012905)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 870. 71200   ( 17022706)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 681. 91429   ( 17022407)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 522. 23751   ( 17121119)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 391. 01512   ( 14022307)   650625. 76

4188833. 34 323. 90006   ( 14011317)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 266. 40132   ( 15010317)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 223. 60913   ( 13020204)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 148. 00385   ( 14010519)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 195. 36552   ( 17122608)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

1001



PAGE 66

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOLS

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOLS

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 224. 69546   ( 17011201)   649325. 76

4188883. 34 270. 33729   ( 17011201)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 312. 23308   ( 17121007)   649525. 76

4188883. 34 375. 96787   ( 17020404)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 395. 41013    ( 17121402)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 407. 08480   ( 17120624)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 495. 82258   ( 17123024)   649925. 76

4188883. 34 635. 70017   ( 17122724)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 808. 89270   ( 17012717)   650125. 76

4188883. 34 796. 17863   ( 17012905)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 726. 30199   ( 17021405)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 607. 22837   ( 17122321)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 468. 43653    ( 17123020)   650525. 76

4188883. 34 374. 52028   ( 17121119)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 304. 99169   ( 14022307)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 258. 75361   ( 14011317)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 216. 76870   ( 13121420)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 147. 14682   ( 15122617)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 631. 89562   ( 17012720)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 639. 32625   ( 17022508)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 551. 01878   ( 17012601)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 452. 95579   ( 17022407)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 372. 32212   ( 17123020)   650625. 76

4188933. 34 290. 54674   ( 14012706)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 246. 38008   ( 14022307)   650825. 76

4188933. 34 211. 98151   ( 13020908)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 144. 70091   ( 15010317)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 410. 64467   ( 17122321)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 342. 83436   ( 17022407)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 301. 41469   ( 17121119)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 235. 46217   ( 13121617)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 204. 36086   ( 14022307)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 139. 78796   ( 13121420)   650525. 76

1002



4189033. 34 322. 81754   ( 17022407)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 269. 07678   ( 17123020)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 246. 80437   ( 17121119)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 197. 75552   ( 17120617)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 138. 84812   ( 14011317)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 298. 97338   ( 17122321)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 271. 26036   ( 17022407)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 234. 18516   ( 17123020)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 202. 96646   ( 17121119)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 134. 29701   ( 13020908)   650525. 76

4189133. 34 286. 71783   ( 17122321)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 241. 86934   ( 17022407)   650725. 76

4189133. 34 206. 24419   ( 17120122)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 197. 89248   ( 17123020)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 129. 99596   ( 14022307)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 152. 12241   ( 17012601)   650760. 33

4189397. 50 168. 98267   ( 17122321)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 67

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649676. 34 4188314. 55 526. 86595   ( 17121823)   649629. 66

4188294. 84 470. 16256   ( 17123023)

649810. 15 4188312. 48 762. 30349   ( 17021308)   649364. 10

4188360. 20 292. 42020   ( 17121807)

649327. 80 4188355. 01 275. 96379   ( 17121807)   649380. 70

4188758. 52 277. 45517   ( 17020404)

650495. 81 4188841. 51 324. 01888   ( 17122321)   650597. 47

4188832. 17 279. 93156   ( 17022407)

650536. 27 4188878. 85 289. 32376   ( 17022408)   650577. 76

4188877. 81 283. 05301   ( 17022407)

650602. 66 4188860. 18 286. 66111   ( 17022407)   650610. 95

1003



4188880. 93 279. 33655    ( 17022407)

650638. 10 4188858. 53 248. 75061   ( 17022407)   650664. 10

4188331. 03 296. 90426   ( 17122519)

650668. 72 4188350. 83 311. 35862   ( 17122519)   650677. 96

4188379. 86 296. 90356   ( 17122719)

650699. 74 4188414. 84 285. 25345    ( 17122621)   650758. 47

4188658. 36 244. 78276   ( 13121420)

650765. 73 4188678. 82 242. 55653   ( 14011317)   650773. 65

4188706. 54 235. 06706   ( 14011317)

650778. 27 4188726. 34 230. 13312   ( 13020908)   650805. 33

4188805. 53 208. 91643   ( 13121617)

650806. 65 4188824. 01 204. 38417   ( 13121617)   650811. 27

4188843. 81 200. 56815   ( 14012706)

650814. 57 4188862. 29 201. 74745    ( 17121119)   650846. 24

4188924. 98 197. 11167   ( 17121119)

650850. 86 4188951. 38 189. 90645   ( 17123020)   650854. 82

4188976. 46 185. 21662   ( 17123020)

650698. 00 4188307. 32 272. 97817   ( 17121319)   650692. 60

4188291. 80 277. 35826   ( 17121319)

650724. 82 4189245. 80 168. 56898   ( 17012601)   650726. 07

4189273. 37 160. 39338   ( 17012601)

650856. 27 4189006. 30 169. 42117   ( 17123020)   650857. 23

4189022. 60 159. 83821   ( 13121217)

650859. 15 4189041. 29 162. 89900   ( 17120122)   650859. 15

4189058. 54 168. 88945    ( 17022407)

650860. 58 4189076. 28 171. 78757   ( 17022407)   650861. 54

4189094. 49 171. 58515   ( 17022407)

650857. 71 4189113. 19 167. 95391   ( 17022407)   650847. 16

4189118. 94 164. 74999   ( 17022407)

650848. 12 4189134. 76 156. 41918   ( 17022407)   650850. 04

4189155. 37 152. 46079   ( 17120205)

650851. 48 4189171. 66 150. 00396   ( 17120205)   650853. 87

4189184. 12 146. 85043    ( 17120205)

650856. 75 4189199. 46 147. 39241   ( 17022408)   650857. 71

4189213. 36 147. 13362   ( 17022408)

650860. 58 4189226. 30 145. 49285    ( 17022408)   650862. 50

4189242. 60 145. 62114   ( 17122321)

650865. 38 4189258. 42 146. 35361   ( 17122321)   650867. 77

4189275. 19 146. 08223   ( 17122321)

650868. 73 4189291. 49 144. 72588   ( 17122321)   650872. 09

4189309. 23 141. 64798   ( 17122321)

650874. 00 4189325. 04 137. 94240   ( 17122321)   650875. 92

4189340. 38 133. 50417   ( 17122321)

650878. 80 4189355. 24 128. 76234   ( 17122321)   650881. 19

4189373. 45 125. 59213    ( 17012601)

650884. 55 4189390. 71 126. 77829   ( 17012601)   650888. 86
4189407. 01 126. 86617   ( 17012601)

650889. 82 4189427. 14 127. 17222   ( 17012601)   650891. 74

4189443. 43 126. 19896   ( 17012601)

650895. 09 4189461. 17 124. 23844   ( 17012601)   650898. 45

1004



4189475. 55 122. 18737   ( 17012601)

650898. 45 4189489. 93 119. 63153    ( 17012601)   650902. 28

4189504. 31 116. 89380   ( 17012601)

650709. 41 4188344. 56 286. 89985    ( 17122519)   650722. 45

4188284. 03 261. 50509   ( 17121319)

650745. 73 4188280. 30 250. 87863    ( 17121319)   650735. 49

4188223. 50 242. 29059   ( 17020824)

650721. 52 4188167. 62 254. 39198   ( 17122619)   650525. 76

4188133. 34 416. 65305    ( 17121219)

651125. 76 4188133. 34 136. 99285    ( 17011303)   649125. 76

4188183. 34 198. 42041   ( 17121207)

649225. 76 4188183. 34 224. 55561   ( 17123023)   649325. 76

4188183. 34 257. 43884   ( 17123023)

649425. 76 4188183. 34 315. 85826   ( 17021308)   649525. 76

4188183. 34 358. 81862   ( 17021420)

649625. 76 4188183. 34 428. 10957   ( 17121504)   649725. 76
4188183. 34 486. 23950   ( 13012121)

649825. 76 4188183. 34 606. 66705    ( 13013108)   649925. 76

4188183. 34 728. 35215   ( 13012423)

T  ***  AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 68

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( S) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650025. 76 4188183. 34 841. 77618   ( 13012120)   650125. 76

4188183. 34 950. 78098   ( 17122917)

650225. 76 4188183. 34 844. 93427   ( 17012903)   650325. 76
4188183. 34 667. 14444   ( 17012908)

650425. 76 4188183. 34 537. 39668    ( 17121219)   650525. 76

4188183. 34 507. 40504   ( 17011509)

650625. 76 4188183. 34 305. 49204   ( 17011509)   650725. 76

4188183. 34 250. 30357   ( 17121906)

650825. 76 4188183. 34 210. 17077   ( 17020824)   651125. 76

1005



4188183. 34 140. 35365    ( 17121319)

649125. 76 4188233. 34 203. 83217   ( 17013105)   649225. 76

4188233. 34 228. 84309   ( 17013105)

649325. 76 4188233. 34 263. 96179   ( 17121207)   649425. 76

4188233. 34 311. 07759   ( 17123023)

649525. 76 4188233. 34 385. 27152   ( 17021308)   649625. 76

4188233. 34 448. 28934   ( 17120203)

649725. 76 4188233. 34 552. 78117   ( 17121504)   649825. 76

4188233. 34 662. 54462   ( 15011205)

649925. 76 4188233. 34 861. 66321   ( 16010309)   650025. 76

4188233. 34 1021. 53790   ( 14021105)

650125. 76 4188233. 34 1170. 61312   ( 17122917)   650225. 76

4188233. 34 948. 89029   ( 17020801)

650325. 76 4188233. 34 722. 86618   ( 17122320)   650425. 76

4188233. 34 672. 54481   ( 17011509)

650525. 76 4188233. 34 404. 17581   ( 17011509)   650625. 76

4188233. 34 307. 45727   ( 17121906)

650725. 76 4188233. 34 241. 74764   ( 17011303)   650825. 76

4188233. 34 211. 20903   ( 17011303)

651125. 76 4188233. 34 140. 96090   ( 17010504)   649125. 76

4188283. 34 207. 23062   ( 17022506)

649225. 76 4188283. 34 234. 09424   ( 17022506)   649325. 76

4188283. 34 268. 54101   ( 17013105)

649425. 76 4188283. 34 317. 57992   ( 17013105)   649525. 76

4188283. 34 375. 91880   ( 17121207)

649625. 76 4188283. 34 466. 48770   ( 17021308)   649725. 76

4188283. 34 596. 81140   ( 17021308)

649825. 76 4188283. 34 751. 62591   ( 17121504)   649925. 76

4188283. 34 956. 55072   ( 13013108)

650025. 76 4188283. 34 1269. 65157   ( 13011517)   650125. 76

4188283. 34 1441. 37882   ( 17122917)

650225. 76 4188283. 34 1085. 84827   ( 17012908)   650325. 76

4188283. 34 928. 21026   ( 17011509)

650425. 76 4188283. 34 564. 23882   ( 17011509)   650525. 76

4188283. 34 394. 61264   ( 17020824)

650625. 76 4188283. 34 309. 95917   ( 17011303)   650725. 76

4188283. 34 259. 90068   ( 17121319)

650825. 76 4188283. 34 214. 84897   ( 17010504)   651125. 76

4188283. 34 150. 63254   ( 17122519)

649125. 76 4188333. 34 206. 99832    ( 17121807)   649225. 76

4188333. 34 235. 33363   ( 17121807)

649325. 76 4188333. 34 266. 95497   ( 17022506)   649425. 76

4188333. 34 324. 90033   ( 17022506)

649525. 76 4188333. 34 387. 30968   ( 17022506)   649625. 76

4188333. 34 479. 71563    ( 17011605)

649725. 76 4188333. 34 601. 77431   ( 17121823)   649825. 76

4188333. 34 855. 04920   ( 17021308)

649925. 76 4188333. 34 1106. 86532   ( 17121504)   650025. 76

4188333. 34 1612. 72680   ( 16010309)

650125. 76 4188333. 34 1803. 50298   ( 17122318)   650225. 76

1006



4188333. 34 1356. 36485   ( 17011509)

650325. 76 4188333. 34 853. 50283   ( 17011509)   650425. 76

4188333. 34 515. 32563   ( 17011303)

650525. 76 4188333. 34 404. 55303    ( 17121319)   650625. 76

4188333. 34 317. 02310   ( 17010504)

650725. 76 4188333. 34 274. 07223   ( 17122519)   650825. 76

4188333. 34 232. 89797   ( 17122519)

651125. 76 4188333. 34 147. 25737   ( 17122719)   649125. 76

4188383. 34 206. 40754   ( 17013008)

649225. 76 4188383. 34 235. 43193    ( 17013008)   649325. 76

4188383. 34 270. 74835   ( 17013008)

649425. 76 4188383. 34 314. 11709   ( 17013008)   649525. 76

4188383. 34 388. 85406   ( 17121807)

649625. 76 4188383. 34 486. 07474   ( 17121807)   649725. 76

4188383. 34 623. 60905   ( 17022506)

649825. 76 4188383. 34 844. 01210   ( 17011605)   649925. 76

4188383. 34 1274. 18779   ( 17021308)

650025. 76 4188383. 34 1977. 18736   ( 16122205)   650125. 76

4188383. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650225. 76 4188383. 34 1470. 47430   ( 17011509)   650325. 76

4188383. 34 765. 39172   ( 17121319)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 69

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:   VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650425. 76 4188383. 34 573. 51491   ( 17122519)   650525. 76
4188383. 34 429. 47318   ( 17122519)

650625. 76 4188383. 34 331. 89759   ( 17122719)   650725. 76
4188383. 34 267. 15935   ( 17122621)

650825. 76 4188383. 34 225. 91751   ( 17122621)   651125. 76

4188383. 34 147. 05378   ( 17122621)

649125. 76 4188433. 34 214. 00654   ( 17011505)   649225. 76

1007



4188433. 34 244. 76610   ( 17011505)

649325. 76 4188433. 34 283. 81717   ( 17011505)   649425. 76

4188433. 34 334. 67637   ( 17011505)

649525. 76 4188433. 34 403. 05265   ( 17011505)   649625. 76

4188433. 34 498. 78639   ( 17011505)

649725. 76 4188433. 34 640. 23454   ( 17011505)   649825. 76

4188433. 34 865. 54999   ( 17011505)

649925. 76 4188433. 34 1278. 96585    ( 17121203)   650025. 76

4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)

650125. 76 4188433. 34 0. 00000   ( 00000000)   650225. 76

4188433. 34 1461. 06746   ( 14022208)

650325. 76 4188433. 34 876. 11949   ( 14022208)   650425. 76

4188433. 34 598. 17962   ( 14022208)

650525. 76 4188433. 34 440. 33685    ( 14022208)   650625. 76

4188433. 34 340. 71614   ( 14022208)

650725. 76 4188433. 34 275. 44822   ( 16010203)   650825. 76

4188433. 34 229. 63341   ( 16010203)

651125. 76 4188433. 34 147. 93883    ( 16010203)   649125. 76

4188483. 34 213. 79986   ( 17013107)

649225. 76 4188483. 34 244. 10735   ( 17013107)   649325. 76

4188483. 34 281. 10577   ( 17013107)

649425. 76 4188483. 34 327. 03997   ( 17122903)   649525. 76

4188483. 34 396. 18174   ( 17122903)

649625. 76 4188483. 34 495. 42906   ( 17121322)   649725. 76

4188483. 34 640. 30371   ( 17121322)

650425. 76 4188483. 34 575. 24934   ( 14021120)   650525. 76

4188483. 34 436. 91926   ( 14021603)

650625. 76 4188483. 34 349. 79611   ( 14022208)   650725. 76

4188483. 34 291. 73079   ( 14022208)

650825. 76 4188483. 34 246. 94487   ( 14022208)   651125. 76

4188483. 34 160. 96939   ( 14022208)

649125. 76 4188533. 34 208. 61716   ( 17011121)   649225. 76

4188533. 34 241. 96151   ( 17121322)

649325. 76 4188533. 34 280. 88550   ( 17121322)   649425. 76

4188533. 34 322. 86971   ( 17121322)

649525. 76 4188533. 34 376. 37568   ( 17120702)   649625. 76

4188533. 34 455. 46872   ( 17122608)

649725. 76 4188533. 34 600. 41951   ( 17122608)   650425. 76

4188533. 34 561. 52024   ( 15010317)

650525. 76 4188533. 34 426. 87180   ( 13032807)   650625. 76

4188533. 34 337. 70112   ( 14010519)

650725. 76 4188533. 34 272. 94871   ( 15122424)   650825. 76

4188533. 34 231. 12902   ( 14021603)

651125. 76 4188533. 34 149. 16314   ( 15020206)   649125. 76

4188583. 34 203. 53378   ( 17120702)

649225. 76 4188583. 34 229. 65710   ( 17120702)   649325. 76

4188583. 34 250. 55551   ( 17120702)

649425. 76 4188583. 34 303. 10551   ( 17122608)   649525. 76

4188583. 34 370. 71586   ( 17122608)

649625. 76 4188583. 34 473. 71656   ( 17011201)   649725. 76

1008



4188583. 34 597. 12480   ( 17121007)

650425. 76 4188583. 34 529. 46395    ( 13020908)   650525. 76

4188583. 34 412. 03136   ( 14011317)

650625. 76 4188583. 34 330. 05703    ( 13020204)   650725. 76

4188583. 34 271. 58526   ( 15122617)

650825. 76 4188583. 34 227. 70220   ( 14010519)   651125. 76

4188583. 34 149. 29533    ( 15122424)

649125. 76 4188633. 34 179. 83055    ( 17122608)   649225. 76

4188633. 34 220. 55856   ( 17122608)

649325. 76 4188633. 34 258. 27698   ( 17122608)   649425. 76

4188633. 34 308. 78941   ( 17011201)

649525. 76 4188633. 34 370. 16298    ( 17011201)   649625. 76

4188633. 34 455. 50306   ( 17020404)

649725. 76 4188633. 34 515. 81714   ( 17121402)   649825. 76

4188633. 34 549. 63547   ( 17120208)

649925. 76 4188633. 34 758. 65203    ( 17122909)   650025. 76

4188633. 34 907. 72941   ( 17120219)

650125. 76 4188633. 34 982. 89138   ( 17012905)   650225. 76

4188633. 34 867. 38804   ( 17021405)

650325. 76 4188633. 34 678. 79483    ( 17022407)   650425. 76

4188633. 34 523. 01925   ( 17121119)

650525. 76 4188633. 34 390. 89641   ( 14022307)   650625. 76

4188633. 34 324. 52741   ( 14011317)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 70

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION

VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

650725. 76 4188633. 34 266. 92721   ( 15010317)   650825. 76
4188633. 34 223. 41009   ( 13020204)

651125. 76 4188633. 34 148. 21702   ( 14010519)   649125. 76

4188683. 34 193. 40198   ( 17122608)

649225. 76 4188683. 34 216. 70423    ( 17011201)   649325. 76

1009



4188683. 34 265. 50116   ( 17011201)

649425. 76 4188683. 34 304. 01098   ( 17120707)   649525. 76

4188683. 34 366. 41044   ( 17020404)

649625. 76 4188683. 34 396. 27195    ( 17121402)   649725. 76

4188683. 34 402. 67386   ( 17120624)

649825. 76 4188683. 34 495. 21863   ( 17123024)   649925. 76

4188683. 34 605. 99860   ( 17122724)

650025. 76 4188683. 34 770. 22762   ( 17012717)   650125. 76

4188683. 34 768. 78976   ( 17012720)

650225. 76 4188683. 34 706. 98196   ( 17021405)   650325. 76

4188683. 34 606. 53917   ( 17122321)

650425. 76 4188683. 34 465. 01653   ( 17123020)   650525. 76

4188683. 34 376. 34366   ( 17121119)

650625. 76 4188683. 34 305. 16406   ( 14022307)   650725. 76

4188683. 34 259. 67068   ( 14011317)

650825. 76 4188683. 34 217. 02221   ( 13121420)   651125. 76

4188683. 34 147. 13803   ( 15122617)

649125. 76 4188733. 34 197. 69945    ( 17011201)   649225. 76

4188733. 34 223. 09835   ( 17011201)

649325. 76 4188733. 34 258. 98318   ( 17121007)   649425. 76

4188733. 34 301. 81067   ( 17020404)

649525. 76 4188733. 34 317. 06278   ( 17121402)   649625. 76

4188733. 34 320. 06106   ( 17043004)

649725. 76 4188733. 34 363. 56965    ( 17123024)   649825. 76

4188733. 34 471. 97604   ( 17122909)

649925. 76 4188733. 34 541. 07092   ( 17022607)   650025. 76

4188733. 34 670. 19583   ( 17012717)

650125. 76 4188733. 34 656. 83632   ( 17012720)   650225. 76

4188733. 34 651. 90352   ( 17022508)

650325. 76 4188733. 34 547. 20208   ( 17012601)   650425. 76

4188733. 34 449. 71664   ( 17022407)

650525. 76 4188733. 34 371. 39820   ( 17123020)   650625. 76

4188733. 34 290. 91007   ( 14012706)

650725. 76 4188733. 34 246. 67174   ( 14022307)   650825. 76

4188733. 34 212. 26793   ( 13020908)

651125. 76 4188733. 34 144. 61731   ( 15010317)   649125. 76

4188783. 34 195. 33214   ( 17120707)

649225. 76 4188783. 34 223. 62672   ( 17121007)   649325. 76

4188783. 34 253. 42419   ( 17020404)

649425. 76 4188783. 34 261. 36521   ( 17121402)   649525. 76

4188783. 34 272. 55548   ( 17043004)

649625. 76 4188783. 34 288. 29061   ( 17120208)   649725. 76

4188783. 34 333. 00120   ( 17123024)

649825. 76 4188783. 34 401. 94083    ( 16022108)   649925. 76

4188783. 34 494. 13844   ( 17022607)

650025. 76 4188783. 34 573. 75783   ( 17012717)   650125. 76

4188783. 34 569. 56879   ( 17012720)

650225. 76 4188783. 34 575. 65731   ( 17022508)   650325. 76

4188783. 34 477. 27425   ( 17021405)

650425. 76 4188783. 34 412. 69484   ( 17122321)   650525. 76

1010



4188783. 34 344. 86213    ( 17022407)

650625. 76 4188783. 34 301. 30249   ( 17121119)   650725. 76

4188783. 34 235. 90432   ( 13121617)

650825. 76 4188783. 34 204. 68994   ( 14022307)   651125. 76

4188783. 34 139. 97524   ( 13121420)

649125. 76 4188833. 34 193. 84835   ( 17121007)   649225. 76

4188833. 34 216. 21609   ( 17020404)

649325. 76 4188833. 34 220. 37696   ( 17121402)   649425. 76

4188833. 34 234. 26359   ( 17043004)

649525. 76 4188833. 34 232. 04901   ( 17121808)   649625. 76

4188833. 34 274. 24422   ( 17123024)

649725. 76 4188833. 34 325. 10812   ( 17122909)   649825. 76

4188833. 34 357. 49278   ( 17122724)

649925. 76 4188833. 34 453. 96589   ( 17120219)   650025. 76
4188833. 34 486. 59003    ( 17012717)

650125. 76 4188833. 34 499. 80939   ( 17012720)   650225. 76

4188833. 34 476. 74931   ( 17022508)

650325. 76 4188833. 34 438. 84845   ( 17021405)   650425. 76

4188833. 34 379. 49178   ( 17012601)

650525. 76 4188833. 34 320. 27666   ( 17022407)   650625. 76

4188833. 34 267. 75352   ( 17123020)

650725. 76 4188833. 34 247. 18210   ( 17121119)   650825. 76

4188833. 34 198. 04002   ( 13121617)

651125. 76 4188833. 34 139. 25659   ( 14011317)   649125. 76

4188883. 34 186. 91107   ( 17020404)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 71

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE 1ST HIGHEST 1- HR AVERAGE CONCENTRATION
VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:    VOL6

INCLUDING SOURCE( 5) : VOL6

DISCRETE CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

X- COORD  ( M)   Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)       X- COORD  ( M)

Y- COORD  ( M)     CONC YYMMDDHH)

649225. 76 4188883. 34 189. 77062   ( 17120905)   649325. 76
4188883. 34 203. 21025   ( 17043004)

649425. 76 4188883. 34 198. 24934   ( 17120624)   649525. 76

1011



4188883. 34 214. 63406   ( 15022507)

649625. 76 4188883. 34 244. 74820   ( 14121304)   649725. 76

4188883. 34 302. 52844   ( 17122909)

649825. 76 4188883. 34 332. 71510   ( 17122724)   649925. 76

4188883. 34 389. 84689   ( 17120219)

650025. 76 4188883. 34 410. 67993   ( 17012717)   650125. 76

4188883. 34 442. 95268   ( 17012720)

650225. 76 4188883. 34 420. 92102   ( 17121401)   650325. 76

4188883. 34 367. 28798   ( 17121904)

650425. 76 4188883. 34 344. 59814   ( 17012601)   650525. 76

4188883. 34 301. 56097   ( 17122321)

650625. 76 4188883. 34 271. 72961   ( 17022407)   650725. 76

4188883. 34 233. 72947   ( 17123020)

650825. 76 4188883. 34 203. 58910   ( 17121119)   651125. 76

4188883. 34 134. 67486   ( 13020908)

650125. 76 4188933. 34 395. 88143    ( 17012720)   650225. 76

4188933. 34 368. 76741   ( 17121401)

650325. 76 4188933. 34 334. 40930   ( 17122223)   650425. 76

4188933. 34 312. 35474   ( 17022706)

650525. 76 4188933. 34 284. 37744   ( 17122321)   650625. 76

4188933. 34 240. 90445   ( 14011617)

650725. 76 4188933. 34 208. 29922   ( 17022407)   650825. 76

4188933. 34 198. 07434   ( 17123020)

651125. 76 4188933. 34 130. 28706   ( 14022307)   650425. 76

4188983. 34 302. 15306   ( 17021405)

650525. 76 4188983. 34 272. 88982   ( 17012601)   650625. 76

4188983. 34 231. 37701   ( 17122321)

650725. 76 4188983. 34 217. 93598   ( 17022407)   650825. 76

4188983. 34 178. 73908   ( 17123020)

651125. 76 4188983. 34 129. 28059   ( 17120617)   650525. 76

4189033. 34 247. 15412   ( 17022706)

650625. 76 4189033. 34 228. 64724   ( 17122321)   650725. 76

4189033. 34 192. 15187   ( 14011617)

650825. 76 4189033. 34 179. 65832   ( 17022407)   651125. 76

4189033. 34 124. 87241   ( 14012706)

650525. 76 4189083. 34 225. 61242   ( 17022324)   650625. 76

4189083. 34 213. 66207   ( 17012601)

650725. 76 4189083. 34 186. 31971   ( 17022408)   650825. 76

4189083. 34 177. 85018   ( 17022407)

651125. 76 4189083. 34 131. 85465    ( 17121119)   650525. 76

4189133. 34 222. 29738   ( 17021405)

650625. 76 4189133. 34 203. 32459   ( 17012601)   650725. 76
4189133. 34 187. 67087   ( 17122321)

650825. 76 4189133. 34 158. 77302   ( 17120205)   651125. 76

4189133. 34 127. 31014   ( 17123020)

650781. 98 4189510. 65 121. 51151   ( 17021405)   650760. 33
4189397. 50 137. 16399   ( 17022706)

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

1012



16: 20: 52

PAGE 72

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE SUMMARY OF MAXIMUM PERIOD  (  43824

HRS)  RESULTS  ***

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

NETWORK

GROUP ID AVERAGE CONC RECEPTOR   ( XR,  YR,

ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)   OF TYPE GRID- ID

VOL1 15T HIGHEST VALUE IS 118. 70330 AT  (   650325. 76,   4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 85. 81087 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 72. 28796 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188433. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 68. 99120 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 64. 20726 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188533. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 55. 04523 AT  (   650325. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 53. 52462 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188483. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 51. 60304 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 44. 15056 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188433. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 42. 08194 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188283. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL2 1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS 130. 57562 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188483. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 115. 66569 AT  (   649825. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 79. 34923 AT  (   649810. 15,   4188312. 48,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 75. 69188 AT  (   649925. 76,    4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 71. 42414 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188433. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

1013



6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 66. 40581 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 59. 35489 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 57. 93812 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188533. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 51. 39279 AT  (   649825. 76,    4188283. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 43. 87140 AT  (   649625. 76,   4188433. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL3 15T HIGHEST VALUE IS 134. 57865 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 72. 15382 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 64. 67384 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188533. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 59. 89342 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 49. 40382 AT  (   649825. 76,   4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 48. 35776 AT  (   649925. 76,    4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 43. 76064 AT  (   649625. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 41. 34569 AT  (   649625. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 36. 17104 AT  (   649625. 76,   4188583. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 35. 49091 AT  (   649725. 76,   4188483. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL4 1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS 101. 22201 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188533. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 71. 15977 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188583. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 70. 39500 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 66. 12417 AT  (   650325. 76,   4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 54. 95206 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188533. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 54. 34743 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 49. 34341 AT  (   650525. 76,   4188683. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 47. 22930 AT  (   650425. 76,   4188483. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 45. 22354 AT  (   650225. 76,    4188633. 34,
10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

1014



10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 43. 67173 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 73

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE SUMMARY OF MAXIMUM PERIOD  (  43824

HRS)  RESULTS  ***

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

NETWORK

GROUP ID AVERAGE CONC RECEPTOR   ( XR,  YR,

ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)   OF TYPE GRID- ID

VOLS 1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS 124. 25671 AT  (   650025. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 78. 16567 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 58. 25919 AT  (   650025. 76,    4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 51. 13420 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 50. 67916 AT  (   650125. 76,   4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 40. 97062 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 38. 89260 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188683. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 30. 92790 AT  (   649925. 76,    4188733. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 29. 69502 AT  (   650025. 76,   4188783. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 29. 42868 AT  (   650325. 76,   4188633. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL6 1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS 108. 73379 AT  (   650125. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS 108. 48266 AT  (   650025. 76,   4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS 87. 15591 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188433. 34,

1015



10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 86. 87975 AT  (   650225. 76,    4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 63. 13272 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 55. 25253 AT  (   650025. 76,   4188333. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 47. 87228 AT  (   650125. 76,    4188283. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 40. 97819 AT  (   650225. 76,   4188283. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 38. 21987 AT  (   649925. 76,   4188433. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS 33. 04575 AT  (   650325. 76,   4188383. 34,

10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

RECEPTOR TYPES:    GC  = GRIDCART

GP  = GRIDPOLR

DC  =  DISCCART

DP  =  DISCPOLR

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 74

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

THE SUMMARY OF HIGHEST 1- HR

RESULTS  ***

CONC OF OTHER IN MICROGRAMS/ M** 3

DATE

NETWORK

GROUP ID AVERAGE CONC YYMMDDHH)      RECEPTOR

XR,  YR,  ZELEV,  ZHILL,  ZFLAG)       OF TYPE GRID- ID

VOL1 HIGH 15T HIGH VALUE IS 2312. 52925 ON 16010309:  AT  (   650325. 76,
4188383. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL2 HIGH 15T HIGH VALUE IS 2142. 77393 ON 17122909:  AT  (   649725. 76,
4188483. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL3 HIGH 15T HIGH VALUE IS 2142. 89174 ON 17122909:  AT  (   649725. 76,

1016



4188683. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL4 HIGH 1ST HIGH VALUE IS 1815. 22842 ON 17022508:  AT  (   650425. 76,

4188733. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOLS HIGH 15T HIGH VALUE IS 2033. 57207 ON 17122609:  AT  (   650025. 76,

4188683. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

VOL6 HIGH 15T HIGH VALUE IS 1977. 18736 ON 16122205:  AT  (   650025. 76,

4188383. 34,       10. 06,       10. 06,       0. 00)   DC

RECEPTOR TYPES:    GC  = GRIDCART

GP  = GRIDPOLR

DC  = DISCCART

DP  = DISCPOLR

T  *** AERMOD  -  VERSION 19191  ***     ***  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley   ***     10/ 26/ 23

AERMET  -  VERSION 18081  ***     ***

16: 20: 52

PAGE 75

MODELOPTs:       NonDFAULT CONC FLAT RURAL ADJ U*

Message Summary  :  AERMOD Model Execution  ***

Summary of Total Messages  --------

A Total of 0 Fatal Error Message( s)

A Total of 17 Warning Message( s)
A Total of 971 Informational Message( s)

A Total of 43824 Hours Were Processed

A Total of 442 Calm Hours Identified

A Total of 529 Missing Hours Identified  (   1. 21 Percent)

FATAL ERROR MESSAGES  ********

NONE   ***

WARNING MESSAGES     ********

SO W320 48 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 49 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 50 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

1017



SO W320 51 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 52 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

SO W320 53 VPARM:  Input Parameter May Be Out- of- Range for Parameter
SZINIT

ME W186 454 MEOPEN:  THRESH_ 1MIN 1- min ASOS wind speed threshold used
0. 50

ME W187 454 MEOPEN:  ADJ_ U*  Option for Stable Low Winds used in AERMET

MX W420 34276 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT  =

16112904

MX W420 34282 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

16112910

MX W420 34288 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

16112916

MX W420 34294 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

16112922

MX W420 34300 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

16113004

MX W420 40768 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

17082616

MX W420 40792 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT =

17082716

MX W420 40798 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT  =

17082722

MX W420 40804 METQA:  Wind Speed Out- of- Range.     KURDAT  =

17082804

AERMOD Finishes Successfully ***

1018



HARP2  -  HRACalc  ( dated 22118)  10/ 26/ 2023 4: 32: 43 PM  -  Output Log

GLCs loaded successfully
Pollutants loaded successfully
Pathway receptors loaded successfully

RISK SCENARIO SETTINGS

Receptor Type:  Resident

Scenario:  Cancer

Calculation Method:  HighEnd

EXPOSURE DURATION PARAMETERS FOR CANCER

Start Age:  - 0. 25

Total Exposure Duration:  70

Exposure Duration Bin Distribution

3rd Trimester Bin:  0. 25

0< 2 Years Bin:  2

2< 9 Years Bin:  0

2< 16 Years Bin:  14

16< 30 Years Bin:  0

16 to 70 Years Bin:  54

PATHWAYS ENABLED

NOTE:  Inhalation is always enabled and used for all assessments.    The remaining
pathways are only used for cancer and noncancer chronic assessments.

Inhalation:  True

Soil:  True

Dermal:  True

Mother' s milk:  True

Water:  False

Fish:  False

Homegrown crops:  False

Beef:  False

Dairy:  False

Pig:  False

Chicken:  False

Egg:  False

INHALATION

Daily breathing rate:  LongTerm24HR

1019



Worker Adjustment Factors**

Worker adjustment factors enabled:  NO

Fraction at time at home**

3rd Trimester to 16 years:  OFF

16 years to 70 years:  ON

SOIL & DERMAL PATHWAY SETTINGS

Deposition rate  ( m/ s) :  0. 05

Soil mixing depth  ( m) :  0. 01

Dermal climate:  Mixed

TIER 2 SETTINGS

Tier2 adjustments were used in this assessment.    Please see the input file for

details.

Tier2  -  What was changed:  ED or start age changed

Calculating cancer risk
Cancer risk breakdown by pollutant and receptor saved to:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My
PC  ( DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -  Revised

Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE  ( CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ Residential

CancerCancerRisk. csv

Cancer risk total by receptor saved to:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -  Revised

Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE  ( CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ Residential

CancerCancerRiskSumByRec. csv

HRA ran successfully

1020



HARP2  -  HRACalc  ( dated 22118)  10/ 26/ 2023 5: 42: 55 PM  -  Output Log

GLCs loaded successfully
Pollutants loaded successfully
Pathway receptors loaded successfully

RISK SCENARIO SETTINGS

Receptor Type:  Resident

Scenario:  Cancer

Calculation Method:  HighEnd

EXPOSURE DURATION PARAMETERS FOR CANCER

Start Age:  16

Total Exposure Duration:  40

Exposure Duration Bin Distribution

3rd Trimester Bin:  0

0< 2 Years Bin:  0

2< 9 Years Bin:  0

2< 16 Years Bin:  0

16< 30 Years Bin:  0

16 to 70 Years Bin:  40

PATHWAYS ENABLED

NOTE:  Inhalation is always enabled and used for all assessments.    The remaining
pathways are only used for cancer and noncancer chronic assessments.

Inhalation:  True

Soil:  True

Dermal:  True

Mother' s milk:  True

Water:  False

Fish:  False

Homegrown crops:  False

Beef:  False

Dairy:  False

Pig:  False

Chicken:  False

Egg:  False

INHALATION

Daily breathing rate:  LongTerm24HR

1021



Worker Adjustment Factors**

Worker adjustment factors enabled:  NO

Fraction at time at home**

3rd Trimester to 16 years:  OFF

16 years to 70 years:  ON

SOIL & DERMAL PATHWAY SETTINGS

Deposition rate  ( m/ s) :  0. 05

Soil mixing depth  ( m) :  0. 01

Dermal climate:  Mixed

TIER 2 SETTINGS

Tier2 adjustments were used in this assessment.    Please see the input file for
details.

Tier2  -  What was changed:  ED or start age changed

Calculating cancer risk
Cancer risk breakdown by pollutant and receptor saved to:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My
PC  ( DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -  Revised

Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE  ( CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ Workplace

CancerCancerRisk. csv

Cancer risk total by receptor saved to:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC
DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -  Revised

Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE  ( CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ Workplace
CancerCancerRiskSumByRec. csv

HRA ran successfully

1022



HARP2  -  HRACalc  ( dated 22118)  10/ 26/ 2023 5: 46: 40 PM  -  Output Log

GLCs loaded successfully
Pollutants loaded successfully
Pathway receptors loaded successfully

RISK SCENARIO SETTINGS

Receptor Type:  Resident

Scenario:  NCChronic

Calculation Method:  Derived

EXPOSURE DURATION PARAMETERS FOR CANCER

Exposure duration are only adjusted for cancer assessments**

PATHWAYS ENABLED

NOTE:  Inhalation is always enabled and used for all assessments.    The remaining
pathways are only used for cancer and noncancer chronic assessments.

Inhalation:  True

Soil:  False

Dermal:  False

Mother' s milk:  False

Water:  False

Fish:  False

Homegrown crops:  False

Beef:  False

Dairy:  False

Pig:  False

Chicken:  False

Egg:  False

INHALATION

Daily breathing rate:  LongTerm24HR

Worker Adjustment Factors**

Worker adjustment factors enabled:  NO

Fraction at time at home**

NOTE:  Exposure duration  ( i. e.,  start age,  end age,  ED,  &  FAH)  are only adjusted for
cancer assessments.

TIER 2 SETTINGS

1023



Tier2 adjustments were used in this assessment.    Please see the input file for

details.

Tier2  -  What was changed:  ED or start age changed

Calculating chronic risk
Chronic risk breakdown by pollutant and receptor saved to:
C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC  ( DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -
Revised  ( Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE

CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ ChronicNCChronicRisk. csv
Chronic risk total by receptor saved to:  C:\ Users\ Smith\ Dropbox\ My PC

DESKTOP- 977GSBU)\ Documents\ HRA\ Ashley Warehouse  -  Revised

Construction)\ HARP2\ ASHLEY WAREHOUSE

CONSTRUCTION)\ hra\ ChronicNCChronicRiskSumByRec. csv
HRA ran successfully

1024



On- road Mobile Operational) Energy Usage

Unmitigated:

Step 1:

Therefore:

Average Daily VMT:

y,,'`,;, i;Source: CaIEEMod

Step 2:    Given:

Fleet Mix( CaIEEMod Output)

LDA LDT1 LDT2 MDV

31""+. "'`.;,,, r 3b,;.;  ` i91" k . 7„ Y       s`" fa ii,  st,',+ t ?:, t,,';-,       !    
C fl`

MH

49, 33j5

MCV

7

And:

Gasoline MPG Factorsfor each Vehicle Class- Vear 2025( EMFAC2021 Output)

LDA LDTl LDT2 MDV MCY MH

x,  „%-:.,.. .,* i.. ,,,, s',,,-;, r,.+±    ,,,„ i M.  . , .,,',

i

Diesel MPG Factorz for each Vehicle Class- Year 2023( EMFAQ021 Output)

a,,, 1,  ,,,' d,,. i rv` , .' a„ '   „`, Jc<.  .,?,"  „ r„„ r F d. b.   ; 65; -..
i

Therefore:

Weighted Average MPG Factors

Gasoline:     26. 8 Diesel: 6. 4

Step 3:    TherefOle:

dailygallons of gasoline daily gallons of diesel
or

annual gallons of gasoline annual gallons of diesel

1025



Off-road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage
Note:    For the sake of simplicity, and as a conservative estimation, it was assumed that all off-road vehicles use diesel fuel as an energy source.

Given Factor:      1, 087. 2 metric tons CO2     ( provided in CaIEEMod Output Pile)
Conversion Factor:       2204_ 6262 pounds   ___ per metric ton

Intermediate Result:      2, 396, 759 pounds CO2

Conversion Factor:    2235 pounds CO2 per 1 gallon of diesel tuel Source: U. S. EIA, 2016

FinalResult:     gallons dieselfuel htta: Uww•.. e a. eo; toois/ ta is/ faq. cfm id= 3o7& r-i1

Mitigated Onsite Scenario Total CO2( MT/ yr)( provided in CaIEEMod Output File)
Site Preparetion( 2023)     j,j, a,`;'°
Site Preparation( 2024)

1026



On- road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage- Site Preparation
Note: Year 2021 MPG factors were derived for construction- releated energy consumption( for the sake of a conservative estimate).

Step 1:     Total Daily Worker Trips( CaIEEMod Output)

r,,

Worker Trip length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)

r

Therefore:

Average Worker Daily VMT:

214

Step 2:      Given:

Assumed fleet Mix for Workers    ( Percentage mix is provided on Appendix A: Caltulation Details for CaIEEMOD p. 15)
LDA LDT1 LDT2

A,.   ` u ,  ,,,'

And:

Gasoline MPG Factors for each Vehicle Class( EMfAC2021 Output)- Vear 2023

LDA LDT1 LDT2

r   ''' '` ,  ..

Therefore:

Weighted Average Worker MPG Factor

Step 3:     Therefore:

8. 2 Worker daily gallons of gasoline

Step 4:   1 1;# of Days( CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore:

Result: Total gallons of gasoline

1027



On- road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage- Grading
Note: Year 2021 MPG factors were derived for construction- releated energy consumption( for the sake of a conservative estimate).

Step 1:      Total Daily Worker 7rips( CaIEEMod Output)    7otal Hauling Trips( CaIEEMod Output)

s,' a`, 

Warker Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMad Output)  Hauling Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMad Output)

3 i

Therefore:

Averege Worker Daily VMT:  Average Vendor Daily VMT:

238

Step 2:      6iven:

Assumed Fleet Mix for Workers

LDA LDTl LDT2 Fleet Mix for Workers( Conservative Estimate)

s,,,.,
r` 3`< r;;

n. A;   MHD HHD

Percentage mix is provided on Appendix A: Calculation Details for CaIEEMOD p. 15)       
And:      

Gasoline MPG Factars for each Vehicle Class( EMFAC2021 Output)- Year 2023

LDA IDTl LDT2 Diesel:

5  ..; a.,`.! r t MHD HHD

i  . a,`` „  '''

Therefore:

Weighted Averege Worker MPG Factor Weighted Average Hauling( Diesel) MPG Factor
26. 0 5. 6

Step 3:      Therefore:

9Z Worker daily gallons of gasoline

Step 4:     ` .,  '.; p# of Days( CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore: Therefore:

Result: Total gallons of gasoline Total gallans of diesel

1028



On- road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage- Building Construction
Note: Year 2021 MPG factors were derived for construction- releated energy consumption( for the sake of a conservative estimate).

Step 1:      Total Daily WorkerTrips( CaIEEMod Output) Total Daily Vendor Trips( CaIEEMod Output)
f

x  /^.    
4':   

f      ,
ff c r r    :   

u  ,    . i' t

Note: Assumes 5% of workers are on- site on a given day. Note: Assumes 5% of workers are on- site on a given day.

Worker Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)       Vendor Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)
r

a%     1'

Therefore:

Averege Worker Daily VMT: Average Vendor Daily VMT:
74 zZ

Step 2:      Given:

Assumed Fleet Mix for Workers     ( Percentage mix is provided on Appendix A: Calculation Details for CaIEEMOD p. 15)
LDA LDTl LDT2 Fleet Mix for Workers( CaIEEMod Output)

y1; 2, w'., a„i1 n,'. z r%,,,„: i; i MHD HHD

Assumed Fleet Mix for Vendors
r(+

And:

MPG Factors for each Vehicle Class( from EMFAC2021)- Year 2023

Gasoline: Diesel:

LDA LDTl LDT2 MHD HHD

r,`,".,, s,;<`'`:'       i

Therefore:

Weighted Average Worker( Gasoline) MPG Factor Weighted Averege Vendor( Diesel) MP6 Factor

26. 0 8. 6

Step 3:      Therefore:       Therefore:

3 Worker daily gallons of gasoline 3 Vendor daily gallons of diesel

Step 4:      q of Days CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore:       Therefore:

Total gallons of gasoline Total gallons of diesel

1029



On- road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage- Paving
Note: Year 2021 MPG fattors were derived for construction- releated energy tonsumption( for the sake of a conservative estimate).

Step 1:      Total Daily Worker Trips( CaIEEMod Output)      Total Hauling Trips( CaIEEMod Output)
r

6.'   

Worker Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)   Hauling Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore:

Averege Worker Daily VMT:   Average Vendor Daily VMT:

179

Step 2:      Given:

Assumed Fleet Mix for Workers    ( Percentage mix is provided on Appendix A: Calculation Details for CaIEEMOD p. 15)
LDA LDT3 L0T2 Fleet Mix for Workers( Conservative Estimate)

a'„ ,%,, ,' ,.,' 3 MHD HHD

l'

And:

Gasoline MPG Factors for each Vehicle Class( EMFAC2021 Output)- Year 2023

LDA LOTl LDT2 Diesel:

a""   '" ;, ";+ 5 MHD HHD

f ti; ,   '':

Therefore:

Weighted Average Worker MPG Factor Weighted Averege Hauling( Diesel) MPG Factor
26. 0 5. 6

Step 3:      Therefore:

6. 9 Workerdailygallonsofgasoline

Step 4:   r ; Qi# of Days( CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore:  7herefore:

Result: 7otal gallons of gasoline 7otal gallons of diesel

1030



On- road Mobile( Construction) Energy Usage- Architectural Coatings
Note: Year 2021 MPG factors were derived tor construction- releated energy consumption( for the sake of a conservative estimate).

Step 1:     Total Daily Worker Trips( CaIEEMod Output) Total Hauling Trips( CaIEEMod Output)
s T       

a'  ,` 2 t ,    f?;;

Worker Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)      Hauling Trip Length( miles)( CaIEEMod Output)
E.",,,' r%      

Therefore:

Average Worker Daily VMT:      Average Vendor Daily VMT:

15

Step 2:     Given:

Assumed Fleet Mix for Workers    ( Percentage mix is provided on Appendix A: Calculation Details for CaIEEMOD p. 15)
LOA LDT3 LDT2 Fleet Mix for Workers( Conservative Estimate)

MHD HHD

1% n    , f 46«
And:

Gasoline MPG FaMors for each Vehicle Class( EMFAC2021 Output)- Year 2023

LDA LOT3 LDT2 Diesel:

r, ;„ " .,% '       MHD HHD

S ,;,,, 5.'
Therefore:

Weighted Averege Worker MPG Fattor Weighted Averege Hauling( Diesel) MPG Factor
26. 0 5. 6

Step 3:     Therefore:

0.6 Worker daily gallons of gasoline

Step 4:    of Oays( CaIEEMod Output)

Therefore:    Therefore:

Result: Total gallons of gasoline Total gallons of diesel

1031



Source: EMFAQ021( v1. 0. 1) Emissions Inventory

Regian Type: County

Region: Sanloaquin

Calendar Vear: 2023, 2025

Season: Annual

Vehicle Classification: EMFAC202x Categories

Units: miles/ day for CVM7 and EVMT, trips/ day for Trips, kWh/ day for Energy Consumption, tons/ day for Emissions, 1000 gallons/ day for Fuel Consumption

Region Calendar Vear Vehide Category Model Year Speed Fuel Population Total VMT Trips Fuel Consumption MPG

Sanloaquin 2023 AllOther Buses Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 63. 39460475 3393. 93922 564. 2119822 0. 391421545 8. 670803

Sanloaquin 2023 LDA Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 246367. 0682 9973102. 47 1138235391 3493216614 28. 54991

Sanloaquin 2023 LDA Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 705. 734891 23139. 8254 3023114022 0. 543997543 42. 53664

SanJoaquin 2023 LDT1 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 22016. 87719 727225. 714 95173. 38769 30. 52486616 23. ffi404

SanJoaquin 2023 LDT1 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 6. 309776167 72. 3140659 18. 53577151 0. 002954101 24. 47922

Sanloaquin 2023 LDT2 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 99986. 64004 400697631 463638. 6569 174. 3583341 22. 98327

Sanloaquin 2023 LDT2 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 269. 0353638 11767J731 1277. 639106 0369317903 31. 86353

Sanloaquin 2023 LHDl Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 9831305478 343356. 563 146471. 803 37. 0137846 9276451

Sanloaquin 2023 LHD1 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 8858. 793592 31128JJ8 111432. 479 19. 67413691 15. 82218

Sanloaquin 2023 LHD2 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 1ll2. 202392 40932. 8123 ll464. 06906 4. 90823024 8339628

Sanloaquin 2023 LHD2 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 3130. 564849 115648. 086 39378. 56755 8. 863291415 13. 04798

Sanloaquin 2023 MCV Aggregate Aggrega[ e Gasoline 12111. 77426 65765. 9483 24223. 54852 1. 643730409 40. 01018

Sanloaquin 2023 MDV Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 94539. 47242 3309649. 73 427287. 8869 175. 486066 18. 5429

SanJoaquin 2023 MDV Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1386. 649679 540R. 4946 6485. 715736 2. 267270858 23. 84916

SanJoaquin 2023 MH Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 1507. 494843 13134. 1796 150. 8097841 2. 977418428 4. 411264

San loaquin 2023 MH Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 642J961913 5646. 6428 6427961913 0. 600452961 9. 403972

SanJoaquin 2023 Motor Coach Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 17. 50069597 2493. 47591 4021659934 0. 455354651 5. 475899

Sanloaquin 2023 OBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 184. 2186442 8143. 5346 3685. 846633 1J33278965 4. 69834

Sanloaquin 2023 PTO Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 0 19769. Sll5 0 4. 013121008 4. 92622

Sanloaquin 2023 SBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 127. 6655449 7011. 40481 510. 6633795 0. 69096273 10. 1473

SanJoaquin 2023 SBUS Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 488. 0661519 10999. 7571 7067. 197879 1. 346323697 8. 170217

San Joaquin 2023 76 CAIRP qass 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 10. 21525791 684J79876 234J466267 0. 077405114 8. 846701

San loaquin 2023 T6 CAIRP Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 13. 70885779 939. 49ll81 315. 0295519 0. 106056052 8. 858446

San Joaquin 2023 T6 CAIRP Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 43. 24157557 245339435 993. 6914066 0. 273109788 8. 98318

San loaquin 2023 T6 CAIRP Qass 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 74. 64743229 15398. 8197 1715397994 1. 609252898 9. 568925 MHD

San Joaquin 2023 T61ns[ ate Delivery Qass 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 243J53S4 8276. 65194 3478367297 1. 005561316 8. 230877 8. 579141

San loaquin 2023 T6lnstate Delivery Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 156. 2432876 5383. 859ll 2229. 59ll14 0. 657027122 8. 194272

San loaquin 2023 T6lnsta[ e Delivery Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 682. 6025228 23363. 9411 9740J3S001 2. 839033489 8. 229541

San loaquin 2023 T6lnstate Delivery Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 122. 4768589 6703. 21055 1747J44776 0. 802391793 8. 354037

San loaquin 2023 T6lnstate Other Class 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 449. 84A938 15399. 4289 5200. 21044 2. 166542487 8. 492531

Sanloaquin 2023 T6lnstate OtherClassS Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1174. 570894 51943. 6226 13578. 03953 6. 096265009 8. 520565

San Joaquin 2023 T6 Instate Other qass 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 9125417949 38573. 6428 10548. 98315 4. 50612298 8. 560273

San Joaquin 2023 T6 Instate Other Clazs 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 553. 092214 2566Z2012 6393. 745994 2. 950154535 SJ0029

San loaquin 2023 T6 Instate Tractor Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 10. 69132111 530. 925844 123. 591672 0. 06024J854 8. 480399

Sanloaquin 2023 T6lnstate Tractor Class7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 696. 5366058 42802. 4924 8051. 963163 4J48833943 9, 0132fi4

San loaquin 2023 T6 005 Class 4 Aggrega[ e Aggregate Diesel 5. 905142679 392. 334655 135J001788 0. 0443ll954 8. 852725

San loaquin 2023 T6 005 Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 7. 890998517 538. 212595 1813351459 0. 060737656 8. 861267

San loaquin 2023 T6 005 qass 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 24. 97157764 140636491 573. 8468541 0156409596 8. 991551

San loaquin 2023 T6 005 Class 7 Aggregate Aggrega[ e Diesel 40. 57354344 10226. 0217 9323800283 1. 062980063 9. 620144

Sanloaquin 2023 T6 Public Class 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 32. 09216486 1056. 60486 164. 6328057 0. 140824099 7. 503012

San loaquin 2023 T6 Public Class 5 Aggregate Aggregaie Diesel 76. D568061 2776. 64108 391. 2942415 0361173048 7. 687841

San Joaquin 2023 T6 Public Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 126. 4582156 4446297 648. 7306462 0. 576020372 7J18993

San loaquin 2023 T6 Public Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 152. 7305258 6768. 06936 783. 5075973 0. 883776286 7. 658125

San loaquin 2023 T6 Utility Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 33. 47606031 1364. 93307 425. 493572 0. 154770907 8. 819055

San loaquin 2023 T6 Utility Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 6356456131 257. 430851 8136263848 0. 029104667 8. 845002

San loaquin 2023 T6 Utility Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 7130830053 358. 500092 92. 55462468 0. 040337535 8. 887506

Sanloaquin 2023 T6T5 Aggregate Aggrega[ e Gasoline 560525111 27400. 6655 11214. 98642 5. 873758607 4. 664929

San loaquin 2023 T7 CAIRP qass 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1500. 771839 308143. 872 34487J3687 51. 00604804 6. 04132 HHD

San loaquin 2023 T7 NNOOS Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1343. 474448 364734. 036 30873. 04281 59. 83110996 6. 09606 5.596459
San Joaquin 2023 T7 NOOS Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 5623598205 132501. 396 12923. 02868 21. 97566159 6. 029461

San Joaquin 2023 T7 Other Port Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 28. 6781176 5381. 65764 469. 114004 0. 90785985 5. 927851

Sanloaquin 2023 T7 POAK Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 131. 1211785 13188. 0173 2145. 142481 2. 26470624 5. 823279

San loaquin 2023 T7 POLA Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 139. 588006 18353. 09 2283. 659779 3. 154875131 5. 817374
San loaquin 2023 T7 Public Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 387. 066761 16533. 9411 1985. 652484 3. 205449572 5. 158072

San loaquin 2023 T7 Single Concrete/ Transit Miz[ lass 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 118. 1878034 8595. 90453 1113. 329308 1. 467125303 5. 859012

San loaquin 2023 T7 Single Dump Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 486. 5561857 30707. 0394 4583. 359269 5. 327318734 5. 76407

Sanloaquin 2023 T7 Single OtherClass 8 Aggregate Aggregate   iesel 1040. 735731 57042. 4876 9803. 730584 9. 736964144 5. 858344

San loaquin 2023 T7 SWCV Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 175. 044521 11346. 9523 505. 2047965 4. 507153801 2.517543
San Joaquin 2023 T7 Tractor Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 2638. 276559 211937. 817 38334. 1584 34. 91925222 6. 069369

San loaquin 2023 T7 Utility Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 2i22093261 1080. 67322 297. 2279374 0. 186573576 5. 792209

SanJoaquin 2023 T715 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 2. 419215607 60. 0081934 45. 40366587 0. 018776223 3. 195967

Sanloaquin 2023 UBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 49. 369827 3719. 55506 197. 479308 0. 791708132 4. 698139

Sanloaquin 2023 UBUS AggregaYe Aggregate Diesel 78. 33872382 5427. 523 313. 3548953 0. 602229331 9. 012386

Sanloaquin 2025 AIl Other Buses Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 67. 92171408 3454. 27959 604. 5032553 0. 395338932 8. 737514

Sanloaquin 2025 LDA Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 247812. 193 10065418]   1143376. 643 340. 6379829 29. 54873

Sanloaquin 2025 LDA Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 620. 8563183 19917. 7375 2643. 071074 0. 459921869 43. 30678

Sanloaquin 2025 LDT1 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 20969. 62889 704503. 526 90823. 61908 28. 55436416 24. 67236

SanJoaquin 2025 LDT1 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 5. 057977491 54. 7985719 14. 33247387 0. 002232746 24. 54313

Sanloaquin 2025 LDT2 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline lOSS87. 2734 4297523. 94 491668. 9279 ll9. 0193905 24. 00591

Sanloaquin 2025 LDT2 Aggregate Aggrega[ e Diesel 305. 5941154 13558. 4186 1463. 961841 0.410704288 33.01261
Sanloaquin 2025 LHD1 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 9450. 459324 335570A18 140798. 2097 34. 90157426 9. 614753

Sanloaquin 2025 LHD1 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 8447. 654296 292201. 982 106261. 2413 1838163512 15. 89641

Sanloaquin 2025 LHD2 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 1129. 168714 39496. 2437 16822. 93138 4.600897482 8. 584465
Sanloaquin 2025 LHD2 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 3098. 911716 112092. 227 38980. 41096 8. 493201579 13. 19788

San loaquin 2025 MCY Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 12009. 69999 64631. 0827 2401939998 1. 598967718 40. 42051

Sanloaquin 2025 MDV Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 92446. 53152 3253692. 9 417141. 1232 169. 0306745 19. 24913

San loaquin 2025 MDV Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1393. 091492 51951. 9772 6420. 977754 2. 139013823 2418782

Sanloaquin 2025 MH Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 1345. 73466 11738. 0981 134. 6272954 2. 660033836 4. 412763
SanJoaquin 2025 MH Aggregate Aggregaie Diesel 631. 6240768 5453. 24118 63. 16240768 0. 580283559 9. 397546
Sanloaquin 2025 MotorCoach Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 18. 80772922 2514. 51501 432. 2016174 0. 452917647 5. 551815

Sanloaquin 2025 OBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 170. 8324994 7309. 03024 3418. 016649 152248184 4.800734

1032



Sanloaquin 2025 PTO Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 0 20105. 4227 0 3. 98427046 5. 046199

Sanloaquin 2025 SBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 131. 6189754 7271. 29468 526. 4759134 OJ1341232 30. 19228

Sanloaquin 2025 SBUS Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 490. 2787139 10849. 6548 7099135777 1. 320741795 8. 214819 MHD

Sanloaquin 2025 T6 CAIRP Class 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 10. 57610418 697. 742444 243. 038874 0. 077548733 8. 997471 8J11536

San loaquin 2025 T6 CAIRP Class 5 Aggrega[ e Aggregate Diesel 14. 00Sri629 958J55772 321. 8467643 0. 106617779 8. 992457

Sanloaquin 2025 T6 CAIRP Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 4Z29566683 248835531 1086854424 0. 272426579 9. 13404

SanJoaquin 2025 T6 CAIRP Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 78. 11014265 15772. 0773 1794. 971075 1. 605687139 9. 822634

San loaquin 2025 T6 Instate Delivery Class 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 252. 424868 8475. 97193 3602. 102866 1. 019116289 8. 316982

San loaquin 2025 T6lnstate Delivery Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 162. 4907366 5516. 89416 2318. 742812 0. 666350411 8. 279269

San loaquin 2025 T6lnstaie Delivery Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 7081406495 23932. 0747 1010516707 2. 87788442 8. 315857

San loaquin 2025 T6lnstate Delivery Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 127. 2799027 692915534 1816. 284212 0. 825964977 8. 389164

San loaquin 2025 T6 Instate Other Class 4 Aggregaie Aggregate Diesel 4573843802 18839. 146 5287363435 2. 200026822 8. 563144

San loaquin 2025 T6lnstate Other Class 5 Aggregaie Aggregate Diesel 1233. 945904 53254. 2945 14264. 41465 6. 208167542 8. 578102

Sanloaquin 2025 T6lnstate OtherClass6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 9395521797 39531J219 10861. 2232 4. 582174014 6. 627285

San loaquin 2025 T6 lnstate Other Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 601. 2468734 26326. 7381 6950. 413857 3. 002944814 8J66974

San loaquin 2025 T6 Instate Trac[ or Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 11. 09411194 521. 271565 128. 2479341 0. 060836197 8. 568444

San loaquin 2025 T6 lnstate Tractor Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 742. 8431118 44239. 5012 8587. 266373 4. 878765067 9.067766
San Joaquin 2025 T6 005 Gass 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 6191325924 405. 515484 142. 2766697 0. 044545776 9. 103343

SanJoaquin 2025 T6 005 QassS Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 8. 158025029 556. 294323 187. 4714152 0. 061223253 9. 086324

San loaquin 2025 T6 005 Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 27. 75525515 1453. 61298 637. 8157633 0. 156720574 9. 275189
San loaquin 2025 T6 005 Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 42. 05361037 10569. 5739 9663919663 1. 066856767 9. 90R1

SanJoaquin 2025 T6 Public Class 4 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 30. 96340517 1050. 77782 158. 8422685 0. 137051326 7. 667039

San loaquin 2025 T6 Public Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 77. 40598482 2785. 90976 397. 0927021 0357713881 7. 788095

San loaquin 2025 T6 Public Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 124. 4648645 4446. 56253 638. 5047549 0. 566454ll7 7.849819
Sanloaquin 2025 T6 Public Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 148. 2002736 6742. 4666 760. 2674038 0. 856702113 7.870258
San loaquin 2025 T6 Utility Class 5 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 33. 80713566 1371. 26265 432. 7313364 0. 154052822 8. 90125

San loaquin 2025 T6 Utility Class 6 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 6. 404694197 258J53793 81. 98008572 0. 028984R6 8. 927246

San loaquin 2025 T6 Utility Class 7 Aggregate Aggregate Oiesel 7. 233394318 359399463 92. 58744727 0. 039964166 8. 993043

San loaquin 2025 T6T5 Aggregate Aggregaie Gasoline 531. 0756316 27321. 54 10625J6124 5. 695995374 4. 796623 HHD

SanJoaquin 2025 T7 CAIRP Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1559. 383676 317454. 145 35834. 63687 51. 17555421 6.203238 5. 689878
San loaquin 2025 T7 NNOOS Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1399. 986354 379791. 503 32171. 68641 59. 50406302 6. 382615

San loaquin 2025 T7 NOOS Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 592. 9033383 137971. 507 13624. 91871 22. 13949036 6. 231919

San loaquin 2025 17 Other Port Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 31. 094663II 577339367 508J086901 0. 965450648 5. 979999

San loaquin 2025 T7 POAK Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 137. 4284865 13680. 6366 2248330039 2933991731 5. 861476

San loaquin 2025 T7 POLA Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 157. 478818 19849822 2576353462 3. 419583803 5. 804748

San loaquin 2025 T7 Public Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 386. 4284577 16615. 451 1982377958 3157962941 5. 261446

San loaquin 2025 T7 Single Concrete/ Transit Mix Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 121. 0999578 8533. 43151 1140J61603 1. 428680336 5. 972947

San loaquin 2025 T7 Single Dump Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 5183758674 30855. 2217 4883. 100671 5328325632 SJ90791

San Joaquin 2025 l7 Single Other Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 1163. 187559 58572. 1124 1095722681 9. 897066107 5. 918129

Sanloaquin 2025T75WCVCIass8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 167. 5568448 108623368 770. 7614863 4. 227120943 2. 569677

San loaquin 2025 T7 7ractor Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 2947. 082282 219605. 844 4282110556 35J3125002 6. 146044

San loaquin 2025 T7 Utility Class 8 Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 245522509 1096. 54573 3142688115 0. 187591616 5. 845388

Sanloaquin 2025 T715 Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 13R290651 54. 2951776 27. 45679134 0. 014900233 3. 643915

Sanloaquin 2025 UBUS Aggregate Aggregate Gasoline 50. 67993554 3818. 16315 202J197421 0. 812722391 4. 697992

Sanloaquin 2025 UBUS Aggregate Aggregate Diesel 7334639924 4977. 11265 2933855969 0. 526331001 9. 456355

1033



ITEM 5. 4

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

November 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:       PUBLIC HEARING     ( PUBLISHED NOTICE)     TO

CONSIDER THE 2024 SJMSCP DEVELOPMENT FEE
ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT

RECOMMENDATION:     Council to Consider the Following:
1.   Hold a Public Hearing; and
2.   Adopt a Resolution Approving an Annual

Adjustment to the San  ) oaquin County Multi-
Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space
Plan ( S) MSCP) Development Fee for 2024

SUMMARY:

On August 24,  2023,  the San Joaquin Council of Governments  ( SJCOG)  Board

approved the annual adjustment to the San Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat
Conservation and Open Space Plan  ( SJMSCP)  development fees,  and is now

requesting each participating jurisdiction to adopt the annual adjustment to become
effective on January 1, 2024.

The final calculation of the 2024 S) MSCP development fees shows an approximate
overall decrease of 7. 4% in the most commonly impacted categories of Agricultural

and Natural habitat classifications compared to 2023. The decrease is due primarily
to a reduction in the land acquisition component ( Category A) for agricultural land

price values of comparable sales even though there was a rise in the reported
Consumer Price Index ( CPI) for Categories B ( Assessment and Enhancement) and C
Land Management and Administration). The total of these 3 categories equates to

the final amount of the development fee.

The following table shows the habitat categories,  the current 2023 fees,  and

proposed 2024 fee adjustments ( per acre).

YEAR 2020 2021 2022 2023
2024

Proposed)

Multi- purpose 6, 412 8, 682 9, 781 9, 629 8, 918

Agriculture/ Natural       $ 12, 822 17, 363 19, 561 19, 255 17, 833

Vernal Pool

rasslands
52, 833 71, 544 80, 453 75, 320 69, 408

Vernal Pool

wetted
100, 788 161, 286 174, 040 176, 878 177, 724

1034



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 SJMSCP DEVELOPMENT FEES

Staff recommends adoption of the attached resolution approving an annual

adjustment to the San Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and
Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP) development fees for 2024.

BACKGROUND:

On November 6, 2001, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 01- 194, establishing
the SJMSCP.    The plan established a procedure to mitigate the impacts of new
development on undeveloped land within the Cities of Lathrop,  Escalon,  Tracy,
Ripon, Manteca, Lodi, Stockton, and San Joaquin County.  Each City and the County
adopted the SJMSCP and the recommended fee schedule at that time.   A Habitat

Conservation Map ( Attachment 2) identifies those areas within the City of Lathrop
that are subject to a specific habitat fee category. Since its adoption, the developer
paid SJMSCP fees have been adjusted annually to be effective on January lst of
each year.

The development fees were calculated using a formula which is adjusted annually
Fee  =  Category A  ( acquisition)  +  Category B  ( assessment  &  enhancement)  +

Category C ( land management & administration)].  Each component of the formula

is adjusted using a specific mechanism which relates to the individual component in
the fees.

Projects which participate under the SJMSCP benefit from a pre- determined
streamlined processing of the project rather than navigating a very long and
cumbersome regulatory process through the state and federal permitting agencies.
By participating, the project can choose a number of ways to provide mitigation for
the impacts of the project:

1.  Pay a fee;
2.  Redesign the project to avoid/ minimize impacts;
3.   Provide land in lieu of the SJMSCP fee which the project will negotiate the

easement/ fee title costs; or

4.  Any combination of the above options.

Alternatively, the project proponent may choose to not participate in the SJMSCP
and fulfill mitigation requirements on their own with state and federal permitting
agencies.

It' s important to note that development projects in Lathrop such as River Islands,
Central Lathrop, South Lathrop and Gateway have taken advantage of the benefit
this program.

1035



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

2024 S7MSCP DEVELOPMENT FEES

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the City Council consider all information provided and
submitted,  take and consider all public testimony and,   if determined to be

appropriate, adopt a resolution approving the annual adjustment to the San Joaquin
County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan development fees
for 2024.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The fee adoption has no fiscal impact to the City.  Developers may participate in the
SJMSCP plan or opt out and fulfill mitigation requirements with state and federal
permitting agencies.

ATTAC H M E NT:

1.  Resolution to approve the 2024 San Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat
Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP) development fee.

2.  S) MSCP Habitat Conservation Map
3.  2024 Habitat Fee Table

1036



CITY MANAGERS REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
2024 S7MSCP DEVELOPMENT FEES

APPROVALS:

lO a.9 a.

Ja s Michaels Date

Senior Planner

b   z    2

Ric Caguiat Da e

C u  ' ty evelopment Director

3
Cari Jam Date

Finance   ' ector

o• } o• Zot3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

Il• ! •2

Ste en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

1037



RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING THE ANNUAL AD7USTMENT TO THE SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY

MULTI- SPECIES HABITAT CONSERVATION AND OPEN SPACE PLAN

S7MSCP) DEVELOPMENT FEE FOR 2024

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lathrop adopted Ordinance No.
01- 194 establishing the authority for collection of a Development Fee for the San
Joaquin County Multi- Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan ( SJMSCP)

for all new development pursuant to the SJMSCP within the City of Lathrop; and

WHEREAS, a Fee Study" dated July 1, 2001 was prepared which analyzed
and identifies the costs, funding, and cost- benefit of the San Joaquin County Multi-
Species Habitat Conservation and Open Space Plan; and

WHEREAS,  the purpose of the SJMSCP development fee is to finance the
goals and objectives of the SJMSCP that include,  but are not limited to preserve
land acquisition, preserve enhancement, land management, and administration that
compensate for such lands lost as a result of future development in the City of
Lathrop and in San Joaquin County; and

WHEREAS, after considering the fee study and the testimony received at the
public hearing,  the Lathrop City Council approved said report;  and further found

that the future development in the City of Lathrop will need to compensate

cumulative impacts to threatened, endangered, rare and unlisted SJMSCP covered

species and other wildlife and compensation for some non- wildlife related impacts

to recreation, agriculture, scenic values and other beneficial open space uses; and

WHEREAS, an Updated Fee Study" was prepared in 2006, 2011, 2016 and

2020 which analyzed and identified the costs and funding of the SJMSCP; and

WHEREAS, the SJMSCP development fees are divided into three categories:

Category A  -  Acquisition;  Category B  -  Enhancement;  and Category C  -  Land

Management/ Administration; and

WHEREAS, the SJMSCP development fees for the different habitat types is

shown on Attachment 3 of the staff report; and

WHEREAS,  to ensure that the SJMSCP development fees keep pace with
inflation, annual adjustments are made to the fees based on the method previously
adopted by the Lathrop City Council; and

WHEREAS, the method of annual adjustments was modified in Z011, 2016,

and 2020; and

Resolution No. 23-

1038



WHEREAS, the 2020 adjustment resulted in a minor change to category A"
with an adjustment to the easement to fee title percentage used in the fee model
and category C" with pivoting to a more robust diversified endowment investment
for higher return on investment.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the City Council of the
City of Lathrop, as follows:

1.  The City Council finds and declares that the purposes and uses of the
development fee,  and the determination of the reasonable relationship
between the fees' uses and the type of development project on which the
fees are imposed,  are all established in Ordinance No.  01- 194,  and

remain valid, and the City Council therefore adopts such determinations.

2.  The 2024 development fee for the three habitat types - natural land and

agricultural lands,  vernal pool habitat,  and multi- purpose open space
conversion,  shall be as set forth in Attachment 3 of the staff report,

incorporated by reference herein.

3.  The fee provided in this resolution shall be effective on January 1, 2024 -
December 31, 2024.

Resolution No. 23-

1039



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

Resolution No. 23-

1040



ATTA GHMENT "       `

u

t 1 D 4
O      

I

i v  

n

i i      `°      ,       ` au" i Av     ,      ,  
r^ 1 i        --   w/

GY

R
p D C _,<  _. 

FI
FF

O
i          

COM PAINE AV

II        i ,  \    

iI i

I

i
M.   i

i 
l.

t/    NG
i

Fo..i i  ,   ,   _  
m F,q   p  ,      

ys     , . P 

r    ,   SE .     1,

i      N3lJ MOIIII A
4S       .'    .';''' fj.

C
i

y

o'
N

a       ._

a

o
DTp f v°     `     '     - 1 1

9 ALDER z I 4    
r-      o

9      AV:  a  `      o

i z I I

I       --  
Ci  ',      A       y7

r-   I
l

9L         

O

9L
i n

x

bRd
s

v  ^,  "   z
Y     ,.

p      ,

ROBERTS RD
rO

i

i p

c7  ,     z
a=     

I oUNDINE RD

y

i

e 1     m 1

I

O  '     a
A

T1 t r

i

m, 

4a       6 r " ._
02f S3WlOH i

4 i I  ..

g m gv y           ,    
r s

i
I      

O

vp m

m 1

m   '      ,: 
r         

D  , Q xi r'            f

T
2 I     z

N

fi

V,
t_   r o         v

t7 o    _  pi
o

5       y!   t m a D o        .           .O  
s     

s;

o A I
7 I 8^:  6C S4 e O,_     < -  Y p

V
I E , 

s85' d m STRAtFORDAV ___
n'1qNT

R    , oNEY A       ;

S t 3^      
y O o A AVON AV OPAL ST    "--__ If  ,' 3 J

i' s    :       y                 g
o                       1

I       .     
9° se

i '      

O  -,        a.   Z O cn lgil3dSdf AH/
Ee a O      N   fl .      tr HOWLAtVD i       _    Y

S R.
n p D    y     RD iS MCKINLEY A

i :   9 g             4IA  , m 1S HiN3 S

g     
a

k la v    _. m__ _    

AdJ. 3lNIN W
O N

m
I       a.       o

e ' 1 r A LS312
a:. _

ges,   _.  p Z

I

s[
3°  1qTHR0 n

s ',  :&&  

P
i

i

9.      — ,.,.    . i' kANTECa r

e; P o: 4:      al a    9 Q
f_      

aa   g      

50V' '  

IRPOk VJ1Y    `  
i' 

D
4.   . S,       i

r

a 1
r'    i

I O 9Tj,     ' i

T      _;,
I

r : 3 i , z O  -+     u,%

L       ,      m'     v         
dti tl8HSf3            o Z   =    y  ,

4NDER AV f
y     y         Q

x       %.   z
Q . 

try D o zt m    
b

i

I
n c ai o c< o o ao voo 0

s z gn ama ' ana a y atis oma     Ip  m
D

pm < A- 1 ( H- <'   < Zti

San Joaquin County Multi- S pecies Habitat m

N = m  = p g = mp Opp ;  o   !,
m       mv ~   A

m

e o m< 8<   < y< , 
o <  .

Conservation and Open Space Plan
m

ms        m '

z
3T    

gx 3i n
D   .

z

T   . z  ~       ' m  2'
s    " p   I

y c     z I

I
w m IH

I

1041



Attachment 3

SJCOG, Inc.

555 East t1' eber venue 5tockton, CA 95202 ( 209) 235- 0574 • Email: bo d@sjcog. org

San joaquin County Multi-Speeies Habitat Conservation £t
Open Spaee Plan (SJMSCP)

n" t"'" x'  2024 U dated Habitat Fees*
CHAIR

UlQ11Q. C QI'Lf

E HA, R
Habitat Type Fee Per cre

Drane, u,

Multi-Pur ose O en S ace 8, 918
EXECU? IVE DIRECTOR

u,,, e,. AK„, E. S
Natural 17, 83 3

CITIES OF
Agriculture 17, 83 3

ESCA LON,

LATHROP,   Vernal POO1 - U lands 69, 408
LODI,

MANTECA,  Vern'd POO - Well. e    1

RIPON,

STOCKTON,  Effective January 1, 2024- December 3l, 2024

TRACY,

AND

THECOUNTYOF

2p24 Endowment Fees with In-lieu Land**SAN JOAQUIN

Enhancement
Land TOTAL PER

Type of Preserve
Cosi/ acre

Management ACRE

Cost/ acre ENDOWMENT

Agricultural Nabitat Lands 6, 038. 00 792. 15 6, 830. 15

Natural Lands 6, 038. 00 792. 15 6, 830. 15

Vernal Pool Habitat

Vernal Pool Grasslands 14, 906. 00 1, 956. 53 16, 862. 53

Vernal Pool Wetted 123, 058. 00 1, 918. 14       $ 124, 976. 14

Effective January 1, 2024— December 31, 2024 in lieu of fees to be used as the endowment for the
dedicated land preserves( Category B+ C) based on impacted acres.

VELB Mitigation

A special fee category shall apply when removal of the Valley Elderberry Long-horned Beatle( VELB)
habitat of elderberry shrubs occurs. The fee shall be paid to SJCOG, Inc. or a VELB mitigation bank
approved by the Permitting Agencies. The current fee, as established in the VELB Conservation Fund
Account managed by the Center for Natural Lands Management, and approved by the USFWS, is

1, 800 per VELB Unit( one unit= one stem over 1" in diameter at ground level which is removed). Fees

shall be established by the JPA during preconstruction surveys( i. e., counts of stems to be removed with
and without e t holes shall be completed during preconstruction surveys) and shall be paid to the JPA
prior to ground disturbance or stem removal, whichever comes first.

1042



1043



ITEM 5. 5

CITY MANAGER' S REPORT
NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM: PUBLIC HEARING   ( PUBLISHED NOTICE)  OF

THE CITY COUNCIL TO CONSIDER ISSUANCE
OF PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES
BY THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING
AUTHORITY

RECOMMENDATION: Council to Consider the Following:
1.  Hold a Public Hearing; and
2.  Adopt Resolution of the City Council of the

City of Lathrop Making Findings with

Respect to and Approving the Issuance of
Phase 2 Revenue Anticipation Notes by the
River Islands Public Financing Authority

SUMMARY:

Pursuant to the development agreement with the developers of the River Islands
Project, the City requires the River Islands at Lathrop project to provide funding for
construction,  maintenance and operation of River Islands related infrastructure
without utilizing City backed financing. The developer has met this requirement since
the inception of the project.

One of the ways infrastructure is financed for the River Islands project separately
from any City related funds is with bonds issued by the River Islands Public Financing
Authority (" RIPFA" or " Authority").  On September 9, 2019, the Lathrop City Council

held a public hearing regarding the issuance of revenue anticipation notes ( the" Phase
1 Notes ) by the River Islands Public Financing Authority and, following the public

hearing,, adopted Resolution No.  19- 4629 approving the issuance of the Phase 1
Notes by the Authority. Proceeds of the Phase 1 Notes that have been issued by the
Authority and have been used to finance public improvements for Phase 1 of the River
Islands at Lathrop development.

Construction of public improvements for Phase 2 of the River Islands at Lathrop
development is now proceeding, and the Authority would like to move forward with
a new Phase 2 revenue anticipation note program that is virtually identical to the
Phase 1 Note program, but the notes for which ( the " Phase 2 Notes") are to be repaid

from special tax revenues from community facilities districts that include property in
Phase 2 of the development, including the Authority' s Community Facilities District
No. 2019- 1 and it' s recently formed Community Facilities District Nos. 2023- 1 and
2023- 2.

1044



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 2

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

RESOLUTION REGARDING ISSUANCE OF PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION

NOTES BY THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

Section 6586. 5( a)( 2)  of the California Government Code requires that the local

agency with land use jurisdiction over the development of the property in Phase 2 of
the River Islands at Lathrop development approve the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes
by the Authority and make a finding of significant public benefit after a public hearing.
This action mirrors the process the City Council did in 2019 with respect to the
Authority' s Phase 1 Note program. As with the Phase 1 Notes, the City will have no
obligation whatsoever with respect to the repayment of the Phase 2 Notes, and will

have no obligation whatsoever with respect to the administration of the Phase 2
Notes.

The City Council, as the local land use authority, is required to hold a public hearing
and make certain findings of public benefit as outlined in the attached resolution
Attachment A).

BAC KG ROU N D:

In June of 2003, the City Council authorized the Mayor to enter into the first Joint
Community Facilities Agreement ( JCFA) with RIPFA to facilitate the formation of a

Community Facilities District ( CFD) on the Stewart Tract. The primary purpose of this
CFD was providing for the financing of public improvements related to development
occurring within River Islands. Since that time, the City has entered into a number
of JCFAs with RIPFA for additional infrastructure financed with bonds issued by RIPFA.
This has been a public benefit to the City as it facilitates general plan development
west of I- 5,  and may lead to increased sales tax revenue with the expansion of
additional commercial development within the City.

River Islands Development, LLC ( RID"), the master developer of Phase 2 of the River

Islands at Lathrop development, has expressed a willingness to advance funds, or to
cause funds to be advanced, as needed to pay costs of Improvements not currently
able to be financed with proceeds of the Special Tax Bonds, subject to the Authority
providing RID or such other entity that advances funds with one or more revenue
anticipation notes  ( collectively,  the " Phase 2 Notes")  in the amount of any such
advances, with the Phase 2 Notes to be repaid from available future revenues of the

Authority,  including proceeds of special taxes levied on property in the CFDs not
needed to pay the Special Tax Bonds and administrative costs of the CFDs  ( the

Future Available Special Tax Revenues").

On September 9, 2019, the City Council held a public hearing with respect to the
issuance by the Authority of revenue anticipation notes to finance public capital
improvements for Phase 1 of the River Islands at Lathrop development ( the Phase

1 Notes"), and following the public hearing the City Council adopted Resolution No.
19- 4629 making findings with respect to and approving the financing of such public
capital improvements with proceeds of the Phase 1 Notes. The City has no obligation
whatsoever with respect to the repayment of the Special Tax Bonds, the repayment

of the Phase 1 Notes or the administration of the CFDs, and will have no obligation

whatsoever with respect to the repayment or administration of the Phase 2 Notes.

1045



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 3

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
RESOLUTION REGARDING ISSUANCE OF PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION
NOTES BY THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

The City Council, as the local land use authority, is required to hold a public hearing
and make certain findings of public benefit as outlined in the attached resolution
Attachment A).  The passage of the resolution would be a public benefit in the

following ways:

Facilitate the construction of infrastructure required for new housing within the
City to meet growing demand for freeway- close living and the construction of
infrastructure required for new employment opportunities.

Provide the opportunity for public infrastructure within the City to be

constructed at an earlier point in time than would otherwise occur in the
absence of available Phase 2 Note financing.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:

The financing of the Improvements with the proceeds of the Phase 2 Notes and the
issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the Authority;  provided that each Phase 2 Note
contain a provision to the effect that the Phase 2 Notes are not a debt or liability of
the City, and are payable solely from specified revenues of the Authority and not
from any funds of the City. They also contained a provision to the effect that the
owners of the Phase 2 Notes acknowledge and agree that the City has no obligation
whatsoever for the administration or repayment of the Phase 2 Notes or for the
administration of the CFDs, and that the City shall have no liability in connection with
the City Council' s approval of the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the Authority, or
any action or inaction by the Authority with respect to the Phase 2 Notes.

The proposed Phase 2 revenue anticipation notes will ultimately reimburse funding
to the River Islands developers for completed public improvements. After holding a
public hearing as required by State law,  staff recommends the adoption of the

attached resolution. Attachment B indicates the area afFected by the City' s action.

FISCAL IMPACT:

There is no fiscal impact associated with this item. The cost of preparing the various
documents and the administration of the Phase 2 revenue anticipation notes have
been paid by the Developer or the Authority, as well as the cost of any staff time
associated with this report preparation.

ATTACHMENTS:

A.  Resolution of the City Council of the City of Lathrop Making
Findings with Respect to and Approving the Issuance of Phase 2 Revenue
Anticipation Notes by The River Islands Public Financing Authority

B.  River Islands Phase 2 Area Exhibit

1046



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT PAGE 4

NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

RESOLUTION REGARDING ISSUANCE OF PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION
NOTES BY THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

APPROVALS:

eI / Zf2o 3

Thomas Hedegard Date

Deputy City Manager

1112 ZoZ3
Brad Ta or Date

City Engineer

l`"3•   3

Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

i c- a3
St en J. Salvatore Date

City Manager

1047



RESOLUTION NO. 23 -

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

MAKING FINDINGS WITH RESPECT TO AND APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF
PHASE 2 REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES BY THE RIVER ISLANDS PUBLIC

FINANCING AUTHORITY

WHEREAS, the River Islands Public Financing Authority ( the Authority") has

advised the City of Lathrop ( the " City") that it has formed three community facilities
districts to finance public capital improvements ( the " Improvements") necessitated

by the development of property in Phase 2 of the River Islands at Lathrop
development,  including the River Islands Public Financing Authority Community
Facilities District No. 2019- 1 ( Phase 2 Public Improvements), the River Islands Public

Financing Authority Community Facilities District No. 2023- 1 ( Public Facilities), and

the River Islands Public Financing Authority Community Facilities District No. 2023- 2
Public Facilities Supplemental) ( collectively, the " CFDs"); and

WHEREAS, the Authority has further advised the City that it is authorized to
levy special taxes on property in each of the CFDs and to use the special taxes so
levied to pay costs of the Improvements as well as to pay the debt service on bonds
issued by the Authority for each of the CFDs ( the Special Tax Bonds") proceeds of
which are to be used to finance costs of the Improvements, all pursuant to the Mello-
Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended, constituting Section 53311 et
seq. of the California Government Code ( the Act"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of the Act, each of the CFDs has a
rate and method of apportionment of special taxes  ( the RMAs") setting forth the
methodology whereby the Authority annually levies special taxes on properties in the
CFDs to pay costs of the Improvements, debt service on any Special Tax Bonds issued
by the Authority for the CFDs and cost of administering the CFDs, subject to maximum
annual special taxes for various classifications of property under the RMAs; and

WHEREAS, to continue the orderly development of the Phase 2 of the River
Islands at Lathrop property in the CFDs, as contemplated by the City' s applicable land
use approvals for the property, the construction and installation of an extensive and
costly amount of the Improvements is necessary and due to the limitations on annual
special tax levies in the RMAs for the CFDs, the Authority has advised the City that
there is not current special tax capacity for the CFDs that may be pledged to bonded
indebtedness of the CFDs to provide sufficient funding for all of the Improvements
needed for such development; and

WHEREAS, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Authority has advised the City
that, upon repayment of the Special Tax Bonds there will be available capacity in the

CFDs to levy special taxes to pay costs of the Improvements not funded from
proceeds of the Special Tax Bonds; and

1048



WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized under the provisions of the Marks- Roos
Local Bond Pooling Act of 1982, constituting Article 4 of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of
Title 1  ( commencing with Section 6584)  of the California Government Code  ( the

Bond Law"), and specifically Section 6591 of the Bond Law, to from time to time
issue bonds ( which, by reason of Section 6585( c) of the Bond Law, includes revenue
anticipation notes)   to finance public capital improvements,    including the

Improvements; and

WHEREAS, River Islands Development, LLC ( RID"), the master developer of

Phase 2 of the River Islands at Lathrop development, has expressed a willingness to
advance funds,  or to cause funds to be advanced,  as needed to pay costs of
Improvements not currently able to be financed with proceeds of the Special Tax
Bonds,  subject to the Authority providing RID or such other entity that advances
funds with one or more revenue anticipation notes ( collectively, the Phase 2 Notes")
in the amount of any such advances,  with the Phase 2 Notes to be repaid from

available future revenues of the Authority, including proceeds of special taxes levied
on property in the CFDs not needed to pay the Special Tax Bonds and administrative
costs of the CFDs ( the Future Available Special Tax Revenues"); and

WHEREAS, the Authority has advised the City that it is willing to issue the
Phase 2 Notes to be repaid solely from the Future Available Special Tax Revenues, so
that the construction of the Improvements needed for the development of the

property in Phase 2 of the River Islands at Lathrop development can continue; and

WHEREAS,  Section 6586. 5( a)( 2)  of the Bond Law requires that the local

agency with land use jurisdiction over the development of the property in Phase 2 of
the River Islands at Lathrop approve the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the
Authority and make a finding of significant public benefit after the conduct of a public
hearing,  and the Authority has requested that the City Council hold such public
hearing, make such finding and approve the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the
Authority; and

WHEREAS, on September 9, 2019, the City Council held a public hearing with
respect to the issuance by the Authority of revenue anticipation notes to finance public
capital improvements for Phase 1 of the River Islands at Lathrop development ( the

Phase 1 Notes"), and following the public hearing the City Council adopted Resolution
No.  19- 4629 making findings with respect to and approving the financing of such
public capital improvements with proceeds of the Phase 1 Notes; and

WHEREAS,  the City has no obligation whatsoever with respect to the

repayment of the Special Tax Bonds, the repayment of the Phase 1 Notes or the

administration of the CFDs, and will have no obligation whatsoever with respect to

the repayment or administration of the Phase 2 Notes; and

WHEREAS, notice of the public hearing has been published in accordance with
the requirements of the Bond Law; and

1049



WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make a finding of significant public
benefit, pursuant to Section 6586. 5( a)( 2) of the California Government Code, arising

by reason of the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes and to approve the issuance of the
Phase 2 Notes and the financing of the Improvements with proceeds of the Phase 2
Notes.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of
Lathrop as follows:

Section 1. Findings and Determinations.  Based upon representations by the

Authority and RID, the City Council finds that significant public benefits will arise from
the financing of the Improvements by means of the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes,
such benefits to include, but not be limited to, the following:

Facilitating the construction of infrastructure required for new housing
within the City of Lathrop to meet growing demand for freeway- close living
and the construction of infrastructure providing for employment

opportunities; and

Providing the opportunity for public infrastructure within the City to be
constructed at an earlier point in time than would otherwise occur in the
absence of available Phase 2 Note financing.

Section 2.  Aqqroval of Financina.  The City Council hereby approves the
financing of the Improvements with the proceeds of the Phase 2 Notes and the
issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the Authority;  provided that each Phase 2 Note
contain ( a) a provision to the efFect that the Phase 2 Notes are not a debt or liability
of the City, and are payable solely from specified revenues of the Authority and not
from any funds of the City, and ( b) a provision to the effect that the owners of the
Phase 2 Notes acknowledge and agree that the City has no obligation whatsoever for
the administration or repayment of the Phase 2 Notes or for the administration of the

CFDs, and that the City shall have no liability in connection with the City Council' s
approval of the issuance of the Phase 2 Notes by the Authority, or any action or

inaction by the Authority with respect to the Phase 2 Notes.

Section 3. No Further A provals or Actions. The adoption of this Resolution
shall in no way obligate the City or any department thereof to approve any application
or request for or take any other action in connection with any planning approval,
permit or other action necessary for the construction of the Improvements or the
financing thereof.

Section 4. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption.

1050



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13t" day of November 2023,
by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

1051



T l7  

r   

v J y
0o V N

Q

Q z       ° NI EN 
efi     d o

z U  ^ U
V   w o

w z C/  =  w

o Z    J a
o     Q  
o U w    
N J    U z
a m J    _
O m 0

a 0—  Q    Z
L' l_   

Z         O
Q Z
C1  _

W  

U

o LLo

o d
b

O7>.J
O

w Z

j   
Z  

H

NZ
G      z J ug 

y

W   

a Z

y 

W   _ 
N      _

4

I (  y

h

000-

kZ

O

fj q¢   pa q2}{ q  pq
2      

UN
NN

O  :-

I: JFd FiA.\{NZ OQOK g

S
a

z *;
Ug N=       .

N,,. mo.. m asa a

N Q3a z

r g

N  

g 
a      

I   F       
y --

r3    e.

J

1052



1053



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT ITEM 5. G
NOVEMBER 13, 2023 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

ITEM:    PUBLIC HEARING    ( PUBLISHED NOTICE)    TO

CONSIDER ADOPTING AN ORDINANCE OF THE
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

UPDATING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 2. 08. 010,

TITLED CITY MANAGER, TO MODIFY AUTHORITY

TO APPOINT AND REMOVE THE POLICE CHIEF;
AND CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION

AMENDING THE POLICE CHIEF JOB

DESCRIPTION,  UPDATING THE SALARY GRADE
STEP TABLE,   AND APPROVING EMPLOYMENT

CONTRACT WITH STEPHEN SEALY

RECOMMENDATION:  Council to Consider the Following Items:
1.  Hold a Public Hearing;
2.  First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance

Amending Title 2 Titled  Administration and

Personnel",     Chapter 2. 08 Titled     " City
Manager",    Section 2. 08. 010 Titled    City
Manager" To Modify Authority to Appoint and
Remove the Police Chief; and

3.  Adopt Resolution Approving an Amendment to
the Police Chief Job Description, Salary Grade
Step Table,  and Employment Contract with

Stephen Sealy

SUMMARY:

This item allows City Council to consider an Ordinance to update the Lathrop Municipal
Code to move the authority to appoint and remove the Police Chief from the City
Manager to the City Council.  This item includes a Resolution for consideration,
included herein as  Attachment B",  amending the Police Chief job description,
updating the City' s Salary Grade Step Table, and approving an employment contract
with Interim Police Chief Stephen Sealy.

BAC KG ROU N D:

The proposed draft Ordinance, included herein as " Attachment A", amends Section

2. 08. 010 of the Lathrop Municipal Code by adding text shown in underline:

2. 08. 010 City manager.

3.     Appointment and Removal. Pursuant to Government Code Section 34856,

to appoint and remove all officers and department heads except the city
attorney and the police chief. The city manager shall either appoint, remove,
promote or demote all other city employees or approve their appointment,

1054



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

PUBLIC HEARING TO AMEND LMC SECTION 2. 08. 010 REGARDING THE

POLICE CHIEF APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL, AND APPROVAL OF RELATED

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT

removal, promotion or demotion subject to all applicable personnel rules and
regulations which may be adopted by the city council.

4.    Authority Over Employees. To control and give direction to all department
heads and to subordinate employees of the city under the city manager's
jurisdiction through their department heads.

a.  Police Chief.  City Manager shall maintain control over and give
direction to the police chief in accordance with the provisions of this
chapter relative to all department heads but authority to apQoint and/ or
remove the police chief and the administration of performance
evaluations of the police chief shall be vested solely in the city council.

If City Council adopts the Ordinance Amendment to the Lathrop Municipal Code, it is
necessary to also revise the Job Description for the Police Chief, included herein as
Attachment C",   and the City' s salary grade step table,   included herein as

Attachment D", to reflect the changes to the Lathrop Municipal Code.

In addition,  City Council is provided the opportunity to approve an employment
contract with Stephen Sealy, included herein as " Attachment E".

FISCAL IMPACT:

The Police Chief is a currently allocated position on the Council approved Position
Control Roster. The position is currently budgeted at a Grade 94, Step 5 in the Council
approved biennial budget for Fiscal Year' s 2023- 2025. The movement of the Police

Chief to a contract employee can be accomplished within the current Council

approved budget allocation.

RECOMMENDATION:

City Council is provided this opportunity to take and consider all public testimony
and, if determined to be appropriate, take the following actions:

1.  Introduce an Ordinance adopting amendments to Lathrop Municipal Code
Section 2. 08. 010; and

2.  Adopt a Resolution approving an amendment to the Police Chief Job
Description, updating the City' s Salary Grade Step Table, and Employment
Contract with Stephen Sealy.

1055



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
PUBLIC HEARING TO AMEND LMC SECTION 2. 08. 010 REGARDING THE

POLICE CHIEF APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL, AND APPROVAL OF RELATED
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT

ATTACHMENTS:

A.  An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lathrop Amending Title 2,
Chapter 2. 08,  Section 2. 08. 010 Titled  " City Manager",  of the Lathrop
Municipal Code,  To Modify Authority to Appoint and Remove the Police
Chief.

B.  A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Lathrop Approving an
Amendment to the Police Chief Job Description, Updating the City' s Salary
Grade Step Table, and Approving an Employment Contract with Stephen
Sealy.

C.  Amended Police Chief Job Description.

D.  Updated Salary Grade Step Table.

E.  Proposed Employment Contract with Stephen Sealy.

1056



CITY MANAGER' S REPORT

NOVEMBER 13, 2023, CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

PUBLIC HEARING TO AMEND LMC SECTION 2. 08. 010 REGARDING THE

POLICE CHIEF APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL, AND APPROVAL OF RELATED
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT

APPROVALS:

rt 7a23

Thomas Hedegard Date

Deputy City Manager

11 2D23
Salvador Navarrete Date

City Attorney

I• 8 •Z3
St n ). Salvatore Date

City Manager

1057



Attachment A

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP AMENDING
TITLE 2, CHAPTER 2. 08, SECTION 2. 08. 010 TITLED " CITY MANAGER", OF

THE LATHROP MUNICIPAL CODE, TO MODIFY AUTHORITY TO APPOINT AND
REMOVE THE POLICE CHIEF

WHEREAS,  City Council was provided the opportunity to review a draft
Ordinance to modify Lathrop Municipal Code section 2. 08. 010 regarding authority to
appoint and remove the Police Chief; and

WHEREAS,  City Council held a duly noticed public hearing at a regularly
scheduled meeting on November 13, 2023 to review and consider a municipal code
text amendment; and

WHEREAS,  the proposed municipal code text amendment changes City
Manager's authority to appoint and / or remove, and conduct performance evaluations
of the Chief of Police; and

WHEREAS,  proper notice of this public hearing was given in all respects
required by law; and

WHEREAS,  the City Council has reviewed all written evidence and oral
testimony presented to date.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop, based on substantial evidence in the administrative record or proceedings
and pursuant to its independent review and consideration, does hereby approve the
Lathrop Municipal Code text amendment incorporated herein.

FURTHER, BE IT ALSO ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Lathrop
as follows:

Section 1.  Amendment to the Lathrop Municipal Code.

The Lathrop Municipal Code section 2. 08. 010 is hereby amended to add the text as
shown by underlined language:

2. 08. 010 City manager.

3.    Appointment and Removal. Pursuant to Government Code Section 34856,

to appoint and remove alI officers and department heads except the city
attorney and the police chief. The city manager shall either appoint, remove,
promote or demote all other city employees or approve their appointment,
removal, promotion or demotion subject to all applicable personnel rules and
regulations which may be adopted by the city council.

1058



4.    Authority Over Employees. To control and give direction to all department
heads and to subordinate employees of the city under the city manager' s
jurisdiction through their department heads.

a. Police Chief. Citv Manaqer shall maintain control over and give direction
to the oolice chief in accordance with the provisions of this chapter relative
to the authority the City Manayer possesses over all deoartment heads but
authoritv to appoint and/or remove the police chief and the administration
of oerformance evaluations of the police chief shall be vested solely in the
city council.

Section 2.   This ordinance is not intended to and shall not be construed or given
effect in a manner that imposes upon the City of any officer or employee thereof a
mandatory duty of care toward persons and property within or without the City so as
to provide a basis of civil liability for damages, except as otherwise imposed by law.

Section 3.   Severabilitv.   If any section,   subsequent subdivision,   paragraph,
sentence,  clause or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be
unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such a decision shall not afFect the validity of
the remaining portions of this Ordinance.   The City Council hereby declares that it
would have passed each section,  subsection,  subdivision,  paragraph,  sentence,

clause or phrase of this Ordinance irrespective of the unconstitutionality or invalidity
of any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase.

Section 4.   Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take legal effect 30 days from and

after the date of its passage.

Section 5.    Publication.   Within fifteen days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the

City Clerk shall cause a copy of this Ordinance to be published in full accordance with
Section 36933 of the California Government Code.

1059



THIS ORDINANCE was regularly introduced at a meeting of the City Council of the
City of Lathrop on the 13th day of November, 2023 and was PASSED AND ADOPTED
at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Lathrop on
2023, by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

1060



Attachment B

RESOLUTION NO.

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LATHROP

APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE POLICE CHIEF JOB DESCRIPTION,
UPDATING THE CITY' S SALARY GRADE STEP TABLE, AND APPROVING AN
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WITH STEPHEN SEALY

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lathrop has a duty to consider the
public safety needs of the City and its constituents; and

WHEREAS, the City Manager serves as the Chief Administrative Officer for
the City of Lathrop and is responsible for the day- to- day oversight and
management of all City departments under the policy direction of City Council; and

WHEREAS,  by separate action at the regularly scheduled City Council
Meeting of November 13,  2023, City Council considered an Introduction and First
Reading of an Ordinance to update the Lathrop Municipal Code to move the
authority to appoint and remove the Police Chief from the City Manager to the City
Council; and

WHEREAS, amendments to the job description for the Police Chief and the
salary grade step table are necessary to reflect that the Police Chief is a contract
position appointed by City Council; and

WHEREAS,  Commander Stephen Sealy was appointed and serves as the
City' s interim Police Chief; and

WHEREAS, Stephen Sealy is qualified to fulfill the position of the Police Chief
due to his extensive law enforcement work history and public safety accreditations;
and

WHEREAS, the Police Chief is a currently allocated position on the Council
approved Position Control Roster and the position is currently budgeted at a Grade
94, Step 5 in the Council approved biennial budget for Fiscal Year' s 2023- 2025; and

WHEREAS, the movement of the Police Chief to a contract employee can be
accomplished within the current Council approved budget allocation.

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of
Lathrop does hereby approve the amendments to the Police Chief Job Description,
as detailed in " Attachment C" of the November 13, 2023, City Manager' s Report.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,  that the City Council of the City of Lathrop
does hereby approve the amendments to the City' s Salary Grade Step Table,  as

detailed in " Attachment D" of the November 13, 2023, City Manager' s Report.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,  that the City Council of the City of Lathrop
does hereby approve the Employment Contract with Stephen Sealy for the position
of Police Chief,  as detailed in  " Attachment E"  of the November 13,  2023,  City
Manager' s Report.

1061



The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 13th day of November,
2023, by the following vote of the City Council, to wit:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Teresa Vargas, City Clerk Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney

1062



Attachment C

CITY OF LATHROP

POLICE CHIEF

IClass specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities
associated with specified positions. Therefore, specifications mav not include all duties performed by individuals
within a classification. ! n addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for
entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the gualifrcations of incumbents within the position.

DEFINITION:

IUnder administrative direction of the City Manager, the Police Chief is responsible - for

directing, planning, and managing the provision of law enforcement; providing leadership and
oversight forall functions and activities of the Police Department, including field operations,
criminal investigations, communications, and management services; coordinates assigned activities

with other City departments, officials, outside agencies, and the public; fosters cooperative working
relationships among City departments and with intergovernmental and regulatory agencies and
various public and private groups; and performs other related work as required.

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:

The Police Chief is the Department Director classification that oversees, directs, and participates
in all activities of the Police Department, including short- and long-range planning, development,
and administration of departmental policies, procedures, and services. . This position is a salaried

position in which the incumbent shall be appointed bv the Citv Council under contract T-T

Successful performance of the work requires the incumbent to have knowledge
of public policy, municipal functions and activities, :: u. «: ' r * a ';+, '       •,

and the ability to develop, oversee, and implement projects and programs in a variety of areas.
Responsibilities include coordinating the activities of the department with those of other

I departments and a encies, managing3 and overseeing the complex and
varied functions of the department. The incumbent is accountable for accomplishing departmental
planning and operational goals and objectives and for furthering City goals and objectives within
general policy guidelines.

SUPERVISION RECEIVED/ EXERCISED:

Receives administrative direction from the City Manager, or designee. Exercises direct supervision over
assigned staff and general direction over assigned staff through subordinate levels of management
and supervision.

Appointment to and/or removal from this position, and all performance evaluations are under
authority of the City Council.

1063



POLICE CHIEF

Page 2 of 6

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS: ( include but are not limited to the following)

Plans, directs, and oversees all City police functions, including patrol, law enforcement,
investigation,  police communications,  community and administrative services;  assumes full

management responsibility for the Police Department programs, services, and activities.
Develops and directs implementation of goals, objectives, policies, procedures, and work

standards for the Police Department; establishes, within City policy, appropriate budget, service,
and staffing levels.

Works closely with the City Manager, the City Council, City departments, a variety of
public and private organizations, and citizen groups in developing programs and implementing

I projects to prevent crime, and protect people and property,;
Prepares, reviews,  and presents staff reports,  presentations, various management and

I information updates, and reports to Citv Council, Citv Mana er and Citv departments on special
projects as ed-re uested by the City Manager.

Directs the preparation and administration of the annual budget for the department; directs

the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, and supplies; directs the monitoring
of and approves expenditures and budgetary adjustments as necessary.

I Selects, motivates, and directs d epartment personnel; evaluates and reviews work for
acceptability and conformance with department standards, including program and project priorities
and performance evaluations.

Develops specific proposals for action on current and future City and community needs;
contributes to the overall quality of the department' s service by continuously monitoring and
evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery methods and procedures; assesses
and monitors the distribution of work,  support systems and internal reporting relationships;
identifies opportunities for improvement; directs the implementation of change.

Develops cooperative working relationships and mutual aid agreements with

representatives of other local public safety departments; coordinates activities with other law
enforcement and public service agencies, including participation in high profile or complex
investigations.

Monitors legal, regulatory, technological and societal changes and court decisions that may
affect the work of the department;  approves equipment acquisition, training programs,  staff
development and procedural changes to ensure retention and selection of qualified staff for the
provision of services to the community in an effective, efficient and economical manner.

Attends and participates in professional group meetings; stays abreast of new trends and
innovations in the field of police safety and other services as they relate to the area of assignment.

I Responds to public inquiries and resolves citizen complaints;_

Serves as a spokesperson for the Police Department at a variety of community events,
meetings, and other public relations activities.

Establishes positive working relationships with representatives of community

organizations, state/ local agencies and associations, City Council, City management and staff, and
the public.

t e ec- Revised by Resolution - 4 23-

1064



POLICE CHIEF

Page 3 of 6

QUALIFICATIONS: ( The following are minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the
classification.)

Education and/ or Exnerience:

Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, and
abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the required qualifications wouldbe the equivalent to
a Bachelor's Degree in criminal justice, police science, public administration, or a related field and
five ( 5) years of supervisory or management experience in sworn police service including at least
three ( 3) years in an administrative capacity at a level equivalent to a Police Captain with another
public agency.

License/ Certificate:

Possession of a valid California Driver License, Class C or higher, prior to date of appointment.
Possession of California P. O. S. T. Management Certificate is required and the ability to obtain a
California P. O. S. T.  Executive Certificate within three years of appointment.  Completion of
California P. O. S. T. Command College, Federal Bureau of Investigation National Academy or
equivalent law enforcement executive curriculum is highly desirable. Possession of, or ability to
obtain, a valid CPR certification. Possession of, or the ability to obtain, a complete National
Incident Management System ( NIMS) Training within three years of appointment.

KNOWLEDGE/ ABILITIES/ PHYSICAL DEMANDS & WORK ENVIRONMENT:

The followin are a representative sample of the KAS' s necessary to perform essential duties
of theposition.)

Knowled e of•

Administrative principles, practices and methods, including goals and objectivesdevelopment,
program development and implementation, work planning and organization, delegation, employee
supervision assignment review and evaluation,  discipline,  and the training of staff in work
procedures;  principles and practices of law enforcement,  investigation, patrol,  community

services, and related police services; criminal law, codes, ordinances and court interpretations,
including rights of citizens,  apprehension, arrest, search and seizure,  and rules of evidence;
principles of budget development and administration.  Local government organizations and
functions as related to public safety. Principles and practices of leadership. Public agency budget
development, contractadministration, City-wide administrative practices, and general principles of
riskmanagement related to the functions of the assigned area. Principles and practices of police
safety program development,  management in a municipal setting,  and police safety and
occupational hazards program planning and budgeting. Applicable Federal, State, and locallaws,
regulatory codes,  ordinances,  and procedures relevant to assigned area ofresponsibility.
Methods and techniques for the use of modern computer and business software, development

of presentations,  contract negotiations,  business correspondence,  information distribution;

research and reporting methods, techniques, and procedures; proper English and grammar. Police
record and evidence keeping principles and procedures.

Revised by Resolution- 4 23-

1065



POLICE CHIEF

Page 4 of 6

Abilitv to:

Select and supervise staff, provide training and development opportunities,  ensure work is
performed effectively, and evaluate performance in an objective and positive manner. Provide
administrative, management, and professional leadership for the Police Department. Prepare and
administer large and complex budgets; allocate limited resourcesin a cost effective manner. Plan,

organize and oversee the work of management, supervisory, professional, and technical personnel;
delegate authority and responsibility. Analyze complex technical and administrative police services
problems, evaluating alternative solutions, and adopting effective courses of action; effectively
administer special projects with contractual agreements and ensure compliance with stipulations;
effectively administer a variety of public safety programs and administrative activities; ; develop
and implement goals,  objectives,  policies,  procedures,  work standards and internal controls;

establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with a variety of citizens, public and
private organizations,  boards and commissions,  and City staff;  exercise sound independent
judgment within general policy and administrative guidelines. Understand, interpret, and apply all
pertinent laws,  codes,  regulations,  policies and procedures,  and standards relevant to work

performed. Conduct effective negotiations andeffectively represent the department and the City in
meetings with governmental agencies; community groups; various business, professional, and
regulatory organizations; and in meetings with individuals. Learn and understand the organization

and operation of the City and of outside agencies as necessary to assume assigned responsibilities.
Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow- up on assignments.
Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, policies, procedures, and other written materials.
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriateEnglish grammar
and syntax.  Use tact, initiative, prudence,  and independent judgment within general policy,
procedural, and legal guidelines. Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working
relationships with those contacted in the course of work.

IPhvsical Demands

Must possess mobility to wark in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment,
including a computer; maintain P. O. S. T. physical standards, including mobility, physical strength,
and stamina to respond to emergency situations and apprehend suspects; vision to maintain firearms
qualification and to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to
communicate in person, before groups, and over the telephone or radio. Due to the varied and

unpredictable nature ofpolice work, the incumbent may also be required to perform the following:
make precise arm- hand positioning movements and maintain static arm- hand position such as when
sighting and shooting a firearm; may require continuous and repetitive arm-hand movements; use
sufficient strength and agility to enable the incumbent to sprint, or jump; coordinate the movement
of more than one limb simultaneously such as when using hand radio while driving a vehicle or
searching a building with firearm drawn, flashlight on and opening andclosing doors; bend or stoop
repeatedly and continuously over time such as getting in and out of patrol car or gathering evidence
at crime scenes; wear a 15 lbs. utility/ gun belt which requires the continuous support from stomach
and lower back muscles; may require the movement of heavy objects SOlbs and more.  The
incumbent may respond to complex policesituations or emergencies and is therefore subject to any
of the hazards encountered by police patrol officers. Operate various office equipment such as
telephones, computers, copiers, fax machines, etc. Safely operate the following equipment in the
performance of duties: A variety of City- owned vehicles; firearms; communications equipment,

Revised by Resolution - 4 23

1066



POLICE CHIEF

Page 5 of 6

such as two- way radios, cell phones, and pagers; Mobile display terminals ( MDT), various audio

visual equipment and any other equipment assigned.

Vision:_ See in the normal visual range with or without correction.

Hearing: Hear in the normal audio range with or without correction.

Environmental Conditions

Work is generally performed in a typical office environment, with most time spent sitting, standing
or walking. Position may require work outdoors and using body, ear and eye protection, and are
exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather conditions, vibration,

confining workspace, chemicals, mechanical and/ or electrical hazards, and hazardous physical
substances and fumes. Incumbent may be required to work rotating shifts and assignments, and
may work overtime with little or no notice.  Incumbent may interact with upset staff and/ or public
and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing departmental policies and procedures.
The principal duties of this class are performed in a police station environment with exposure to
criminal offenders, mentally ill individuals, and persons potentially infected with communicable
diseases.

Working Conditions

I Must be willing to work extended shifts or be called back in emergency situations and respond to
personal danger which may include exposure to armed/dangerous persons, dangerous animals,
communicable diseases, hazards of emergency driving, hazards associated with traffic control and
working in and near traffic, and natural and man-made disasters.

Disaster Service Worker

All City of Lathrop employees are, by State and Federal law, Disaster Service Workers. The roles
and responsibilities for Disaster Service Workers are authorized by the California Emergency
Services Act and are defined in the California Labor Code. In the event of a declaration of
emergency, any employee of the- Citv may be assigned to perfarm activities which promote
the protection of public health and safety or the preservation of lives and property.  Such

assignments may require service at locations, times, and under • conditions that are significantly
different than the normal work assignments and may continue into the recovery phase of the
emergency. If a " Local Emergency" is declared during the employee' s shift, employees will be
expected to remain at work to respond to the emergency needs of the community. If a " Local
Emergency" is declared outside of the employee' s shift, employees must make every effort to
contact their direct supervisor or department head to obtain reporting instructions as Disaster
Service Workers.

Historical Data:

Adopted by Resolution 21- 4866

FLSA Status:  Exempt

Bar aining Unit:  Unrenresented/ Contract Position

Revised by Resolution- 4 Hf23

1067



POLICE CHIEF

Page 6 of 6

Revised by Resolution- 4 23-

1068



Attachment D

CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FOR REFERENCE USE ONLY Eff. 11/ 13/ 2023

20 hourly      $   15. 7899  $    16. 5795  $    17. 4086  $    18. 2789  $    19. 1928

bi- weekly 1, 263 1, 326 1, 393 1, 462 1, 535

monthly 2, 737 2, 874 3, 017 3, 168 3, 327

annual 32, 843 34, 485 36, 210 38, 020 39, 921
21 hourly      $   16. 1847  $   16. 9941  $   17. 8436  $   18. 7358  $    19. 6727

bi- weekly 1, 295 1, 360 1, 427 1, 499 1, 574

monthly 2, 805 2, 946 3, 093 3, 248 3,410
annual 33, 664 35, 348 37, 115 38,970 40, 919

22 hourly      $   16. 5888  $   17. 4185  $   18. 2892  $    19. 2037  $   20. 1637

bi- weekly 1, 327 1, 393 1, 463 1, 536 1, 613

monthly 2, 875 3, 019 3, 170 3, 329 3, 495

annual 34, 505 36,230 38, 042 39, 944 41, 941

23 hourly      $   17. 0040  $   17. 8543  $   18. 7470  $    19. 6846  $   20. 6684
bi- weekly 1, 360 1, 428 1, 500 1, 575 1, 653

monthly 2,947 3, 095 3, 249 3, 412 3, 583
annual 35, 368 37, 137 38, 994 40,944 42, 990

24 hourly      $   17. 4294  $    18. 3009  $   19. 2156  $   20. 1764  $   21. 1852
bi- weekly 1, 394 1, 464 1, 537 1, 614 1, 695

monthly 3, 021 3, 172 3, 331 3, 497 3, 672
annual 36, 253 38, 066 39, 968 41, 967 94,065

25 hourly      $   17. 8651  $   18. 7580  $   19. 6959  $   20.6809  $   21. 7151
bi- weekly 1, 429 1, 501 1, 576 1, 654 1, 737

monthly 3, 097 3, 251 3, 414 3, 585 3, 764

annual 37, 159 39, 017 40, 967 43, 016 45, 167
26 hourly      $   18. 3116  $    19. 2272  $   20. 1885  $   21. 1978  $   22. 2577

bi- weekly 1, 465 1, 538 1, 615 1, 696 1, 781

monthly 3, 174 3, 333 3, 499 3, 674 3, 858

annual 38, 088 39, 993 41, 992 44, 091 46, 296
27 RECREATION LEADER UNREP hourly      $   18.7693  $    19. 7078  $   20. 6935  $   21. 7282  $   22. 8144

bi- weekly 1, 502 1, 577 1, 655 1, 738 1, 825

monthly 3, 253 3, 416 3, 587 3, 766 3, 955

annual 39,040 40, 992 43, 043 45, 195 47, 454

28 hourly      $   19. 2385  $   20. 2004  $   21. 2105  $   22. 2710  $   23. 3848
bi- weekly 1, 539 1, 616 1, 697 1, 782 1, 871

monthly 3, 335 3, 501 3, 676 3, 860 4,053
annual 40, 016 42, 017 44, 118 46, 324 48, 640

29 hourly      $   19.7196  $   20. 7056  $   21. 7408  $   22. 8278  $   23. 9693

bi- weekly 1, 578 1, 656 1, 739 1, 826 1, 918

monthiy 3, 418 3, 589 3, 768 3, 957 4, 155

annual 41, 017 43, 068 45, 221 47, 482 49,856
30 hourly      $   20. 2125  $   21. 2231  $   22. 2842  $   23. 3984  $   24. 5684

bi- weekly 1, 617 1, 698 1, 783 1, 872 1, 965

monthly 3, 504 3, 679 3, 863 4, 056 4, 259
annual 42, 042 44, 144 46, 351 48, 669 51, 102

31 hourly      $   20. 7179  $   21. 7536  $   22. 8414  $   23. 9833  $   25. 1826

bi- weekly 1, 657 1, 740 1, 827 1, 919 2, 015

monthly 3, 591 3, 771 3, 959 4, 157 4, 365
annual 43, 093 45, 248 47, 510 49, 885 52, 380

32 OFFICE ASSISTANT I SEIU hourly      $   21. 2358  $   22. 2974  $   23. 4125  $   24. 5827  $   25. 8121

SENIOR RECREATION LEADER SEIU bi- weekly 1, 699 1, 784 1, 873 1, 967 2, 065

monthly 3, 681 3, 865 4, 058 4, 261 4, 474

annual 44, 170 46, 379 48, 698 51, 132 53, 689

33 hourly      $   21. 7666  $   22. 8549  $   23.9976  $   25. 1977  $   26. 4575

bi- weekly 1, 741 1, 828 1, 920 2, 016 2, 117

monthly 3, 773 3, 962 4, 160 4, 368 4,586

annual 45, 274 47, 538 49, 915 52, 411 55, 032

34 hourly      $   22. 3108  $   23. 4265  $   24. 5979  $   25. 8279  $   27. 1189

bi- weekly 1, 785 1, 874 1, 968 2, 066 2, 170

monthly 3, 867 4, 061 4, 264 4, 477 4, 701

annual 46, 406 48, 727 51, 164 53, 722 56, 407

35 OFFICE ASSISTANT II SEIU hourly      $   22. 8688  $   24. 0119  $   25. 2125  $   26.4730  $   27. 7968

bi- weekly 1, 830 1, 921 2, 017 2, 118 2, 224

monthiy 3, 964 4, 162 4, 370 4, 589 4, 818

annual 47,567 49,945 52,442 55, 064 57, 817

Page 1 of 61069



CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FOR REFERENCE USE ONLY Eff. li/ 13/ 2023

36 hourly      $   23. 4405  $   24. 6122  $   25. 8431  $   27. 1350  $   28. 4918

bi- weekly 1, 875 1, 969 2, 067 2, 171 2, 279

monthly 4, 063 4, 266 4, 479 4, 703 4, 939

annual 48, 756 51, 193 53, 754 56, 441 59, 263
37 RECREATION SPECIALIST SEIU hourly      $   24. 0262  $   25. 2274  $   26. 4889  $   27. 8136  $   29. 2039

SPECIALASSISTANT SEIU bi- weekly 1, 922 2, 018 2, 119 2, 225 2, 336

ANIMAL CENTER ASSISTANT SEIU monthly 4, 165 4, 373 4, 591 4, 821 5, 062

annual 49,974 52, 473 55, 097 57, 852 60, 744
38 hourly      $   24. 6272  $   25. 8584  $   27. 1511  $   28. 5086  $   29.9342

bi- weekly 1, 970 2, 069 2, 172 2, 281 2, 395

monthly 4, 269 4, 482 4, 706 4, 941 5, 189

annual 51, 225 53, 785 56, 474 59, 298 62, 263

39 hourly      $   25. 2427  $   26. 5049  $   27. 8299  $   29. 2216  $   30. 6823
bi- weekly 2, 019 2, 120 2, 226 2, 338 2, 455

monthiy 4, 375 4, 594 4, 824 5, 065 5, 318
annual 52, 505 55, 130 57, 886 60, 781 63, 819

40 hourly      $   25. 8740  $   27. 1677  $   28. 5260  $   29. 9521  $   31. 4496

bi- weekly 2, 070 2, 173 2, 282 2, 396 2, 516

monthly 4, 485 4, 709 4, 945 5, 192 5, 451

annual 53, 818 56, 509 59, 334 62, 300 65, 415

41 ADMINISTRA7IVE ASSISTANT I SEIU hourly      $   26. 5206  $   27. 8466  $   29. 2390  $   30. 7009  $   32. 2358
MAINTENANCE WORKER I SEIU bi- weekly 2, 122 2, 228 2, 339 2, 456 2, 579
WATER MEfER READER I SEIU monthly 4, 597 4, 827 5, 068 5, 321 5, 588

annual 55, 163 57, 921 60, 817 63, 858 67, 050
42 CUSTOMER SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE I SEIU hourly      $   27. 1835  $   28. 5427  $   29. 9702  $   31. 4685  $   33. 0422

bi- weekly 2, 175 2, 283 2, 398 2, 517 2, 643

monthly 4, 712 4, 947 5, 195 5, 455 5, 727

annual 56, 542 59, 369 62, 338 65, 455 68, 728

43 POLICE OFFICER TRAINEE NON- SWORN hourly      $   27. 8628  $   29. 2564  $   30. 7191  $   32. 2551  $   33. 8677
POLICE RECORDS ASSISTANT I SEIU bi- weekly 2, 229 2, 341 2, 458 2, 580 2, 709

monthly 4, 830 5, 071 5, 325 5, 591 5, 870
annual 57, 955 60, 853 63, 896 67, 091 70,445

44 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY TECHNICIAN SEIU hourly      $   28. 5596  $   29.9878  $   31. 4872  $   33. 0615  $   34. 7147

bi- weekly 2, 285 2, 399 2, 519 2, 645 2, 777

monthly 4, 950 5, 198 5, 458 5, 731 6, 017
annual 59, 404 62, 375 65, 493 68, 768 72, 206

45 ADMINISTRAIIVE ASSISTANT II SEIU hourly      $   29. 2736  $   30. 7373  $   32. 2743  $   33. 8881  $   35. 5825

MAINTENANCE WORKER II SEIU bi- weekly 2, 342 2, 459 2, 582 2, 711 2, 847

RECREATION COORDINATOR SEIU monthly 5, 074 5, 328 5, 594 5, 874 6, 168
WATER METER READER II SEIU annual 60, 889 63, 934 67, 130 70, 487 74, 012

46 POLICE RECORDS ASSISTANT II SEIU hourly      $   30. 0058  $   31. 5059  $   33. 0810  $   34. 7354  $   36. 4719

bi- weekly 2, 400 2, 520 2, 646 2, 779 2, 918

monthly 5, 201 5, 461 5, 734 6, 021 6, 322

annual 62, 412 65, 532 68, 809 72, 250 75, 861

47 ADMINISTRATNE ASSISTANT III SEIU hourly      $   30. 7555  $   32. 2937  $   33. 9081  $   35. 6034  $   37. 3836

ADMINISTRATNE TECHNICIAN 1 SEIU bi- weekly 2, 460 2, 583 2, 713 2, 848 2, 991

HUMAN RESOURCES TECHNICIAN SEIU monthly 5, 331 5, 598 5, 877 6, 171 6, 480

PERMITI' ECHNICIAN I SEIU annual 63, 971 67, 171 70, 529 74, 055 77, 758

48 MAINTENANCE WORKER III SEIU hourly      $   31. 5247  $   33. 1011  $   34. 7558  $   36. 4935  $   38. 3185

SOLID WASTE& RESOURCE CONSERV. COOR SEIU bi- weekly 2, 522 2, 648 2, 780 2, 919 3, 065
monthly 5, 464 S,/: itS b, UL4 b,.i1b b, b41

annual 65, 571 68, 850 72, 292 75, 906 79, 703

49 CUSTOMER SERVICE REPRESENTATNE II SEIU hourly      $   32. 3127  $   33. 9283  $   35. 6250  $   37. 4063  $   39. 2765

PROPERTY AND EVIDENCE TECHNICIAN SEIU bi- weekly 2, 585 2, 714 2, 850 2, 993 3, 142

monthly 5, 601 5, 881 6, 175 6, 484 6,808

annual 67, 210 70, 571 74, 100 77, 805 81, 695

50 ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN I SEIU hourly      $   33. 1205  $   34. 7765  $   36. 5155  $   38. 3411  $   40. 2583

bi- weekly 2, 650 2, 782 2, 921 3, 067 3, 221

monthly 5, 741 6,028 6, 329 6, 646 6, 978

annual 68, 891 72, 335 75, 952 79, 749 83, 737

51 ADMINISTRATNE TEGHNICIAN II SEIU hourly      $   33. 9487  $   35. 6464  $   37. 4285  $   39. 3000  $   41. 2648

CRIME& INTELLIGENCE ANALYST SEIU bi- weekly 2, 716 2, 852 2, 994 3, 144 3, 301

PERMITTECHNICIAN II SEIU monthly 5, 884 6, 179 6, 488 6, 812 7, 153

SENIOR ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT LMCEA annual 70, 613 74, 144 77, 851 81, 744 85, 831

SENIOR CUSTOMER SERVICE REP SEIU

Page 2 of 61070



CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FOR REFERENCE USE ONL Y Eff. 11/ 13/ 2023

52 ACCOUNTANT I SEIU hourly      $   34. 7972  $   36. 5369  $   38. 3639  $   40. 2820  $   42. 2962

BUILDING INSPECTOR I SEIU bi- weekly 2, 784 2, 923 3, 069 3, 223 3, 384
COMMUNITY SERVICE OFFICER I SEIU monthly 6, 032 6, 333 6, 650 6, 982 7, 331
HR ANALYST I LMCEA annual 72, 378 75, 997 79, 797 83, 787 87,976
UTILITY OPERATOR I SEIU

53 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR I SEIU hourly      $   35. 6673  $   37. 4503  $   39. 3228  $   41. 2891  $   43. 3538
POLICE RECORDS SUPERVISOR LMCEA bi- weekly 2, 853 2, 996 3, 146 3, 303 3, 468
LEGAL SECRETARY LMCEA monthly 6, 182 6,491 6, 816 7, 157 7,515
ANIMAL SHELTER SUPERVISOR annual 74, 188 77, 897 81, 791 85, 881 90, 176

54 ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN II SEIU hourly      $   36. 5588  $   38. 3868  $   40. 3060  $   42. 3214  $   44.4376
EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT LMCEA bi- weekly 2, 925 3, 071 3, 224 3, 386 3, 555

monthly 6, 337 6, 654 6, 986 7, 336 7, 703

annual 76, 042 79, 845 83, 836 88, 028 92,430
55 BUILDING INSPECTOR II SEIU hourly      $   37. 4729  $   39. 3465  $   41. 3138  $   43. 3793  $   45. 5484

COMMUNITY SERVICE OFFICER II SEIU bi- weekly 2, 998 3, 148 3, 305 3, 470 3, 644

PERMITTECHNICIAN III SEIU monthly 6,495 6,820 7, 161 7, 519 7, 895
SENIOR ACCOUNTING TECHNICIAN SEIU annual 77, 944 81, 841 85, 933 90, 229 94,741

56 ACCOUNTANT II SEIU hourly      $   38.4098  $   40. 3301  $   42. 3467  $   44. 4642  $   46.6871
DEPUTY CITY CLERK LMCEA bi- weekly 3, 073 3, 226 3, 388 3, 557 3, 735
HR ANALYST II LMCEA monthly 6, 658 6, 991 7, 340 7, 707 8, 092
MANAGEMENT ANALYST I( CONFIDENTIAL)       LMCEA annual 79, 892 83, 887 88, 081 92, 486 97, 109
UTILITY OPERATOR II SEIU

57 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR II SEIU hourly      $   39. 3698  $   41. 3383  $   43. 4054  $   45. 5754  $   47. 8544
CUSTOMER SERVICE SUPERVISOR LMCEA bi- weekly 3, 150 3, 307 3, 472 3, 646 3, 828
LEGAL ASSISTANT LMCEA monthly 6, 824 7, 165 7, 524 7, 900 8, 295
PARKS& RECREATION SUPERVISOR LMCEA annual 81, 889 85, 984 90, 283 94, 797 99, 537

58 ASSISTANT PLANNER SEIU hourly      $   40. 3541  $   42. 3718  $   44. 4905  $   46. 7147 49. 0508
JUNIOR ENGINEER SEIU bi- weekly 3, 228 3, 390 3, 559 3, 737 3, 924

SENIOR ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN SEIU monthly 6, 995 7, 344 7, 712 8, 097 8, 502
ELECTRICIAN/ INSTRUMENTTECH SEIU annual 83, 936 88, 133 92, 540 97, 167 102, 026

59 BUILDING INSPECTOR III SEIU hourly      $   41. 3630  $   43. 4312  $   45. 6026  $   47. 8825  $   50. 2770
CHIEF UTILITY OPERATOR SEIU bi- weekly 3, 309 3, 474 3,648 3, 831 4,022
COMMUNTfY SERVICE OFFICER III SEIU monthly 7, 170 7, 528 7, 904 8,300 8, 715

LANDSCAPE& IRRIGATION SPECIALIST LMCEA annual 86, 035 90, 337 94,853 99, 596 104, 576
MAINTENANCE SERVICES SUPERVISOR LMCEA

60 EXECUTIVE ASSIST TO THE CITY MANAGER LMCEA hourly      $   42. 3973  $   44. 5171  $   46. 7429  $   49. 0801  $   51. 5339

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ENGINEER I LMCEA bi- weekly 3, 392 3, 561 3, 739 3, 926 4, 123

MANAGEMENTANALYSTII( CONFIDENTIAL)      LMCEA monthly 7, 349 7, 716 8, 102 8, 507 8, 933

annual 88, 186 92, 596 97, 225 102, 087 107, 191

61 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR III SEIU hourly      $   43.4569  $   45. 6300  $   47. 9112  $   50. 3068  $   52. 8222
POIICE SERVICES MANAGER LMCEA bi- weekly 3, 477 3, 650 3, 833 4, 025 4, 226
UTILITY MAINTENANCE SUPERVISOR LMCEA monthly 7, 533 7, 909 8, 305 8, 720 9, 156
UTILITY OPERATOR III SEIU annual 90, 390 94, 910 99, 655 104, 638 109, 870

62 WW TREATMENT PLANT SUPERVISOR LMCEA hourly      $   44. 5434  $   46. 7707  $   49. 1090  $   51. 5647  $   54. 1427

bi- weekly 3, 563 3, 742 3, 929 4, 125 4, 331

monthly 7, 721 8, 107 8, 512 8, 938 9, 385

annual 92, 650 97, 283 102, 147 107, 254 112, 617

63 ASSOCIATE PLANNER SEIU hourly      $   45. 6571  $   47. 9399  $   50. 3370  $   52. 8535  $   55. 4962

SENIOR BUILDING INSPECTOR SEIU bi- weekly 3, 653 3, 835 4, 027 4, 228 4, 440

monthly 7, 914 8, 310 8, 725 9, 161 9, 619

annual 94, 967 99, 715 104, 701 109, 935 115, 432

64 ASSISTANT ENGINEER SEIU hourly      $   46. 7983  $   49. 1381  $   51. 5952  $   54. 1752  $   56.8837
COMPLIANCE ENGINEER SEIU bi- weekly 3, 744 3, 931 4, 128 4, 334 4, 551

PARKS AND FACILITATES MANAGER LMCEA monthly 8, 112 8, 517 8, 943 9, 390 9,860
PARKS AND REC ADMINISTRATOR SEIU annual 97, 341 102, 207 107, 318 112, 684 118, 318
RECREATION MANAGER LMCEA

STREETS AND OPERATIONS MANAGER LMCEA

65 BUDGET MANAGER LMCEA hourly      $   47. 9684  $   50. 3670  $   52. 8851  $   55. 5294  $   58. 3061
POLICE OFFICER SWORN bi- weekly 3, 837 4, 029 4, 231 4, 442 4, 664

SENIOR ACCOUNTANT LMCEA monthly 8, 315 8,730 9, 167 9, 625 10, 106

a n n u a I 99, 774 104, 763 110, 001 115, 501 121, 277

Page 3 of 61071



CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FOR REFERENCE USE ONLY Eff. 11/ 13/ 2023

66 hourly      $   49. 1676  $   51. 6259  $   54. 2073  $   56. 9175  $   59. 7638
bi- weekly 3, 933 4, 130 4, 337 4, 553 4, 781

monthly 8, 522 8, 948 9, 396 9, 866 10, 359

a n n u a I 102, 2 69 107, 382 112, 751 118, 388 124, 309
67 COMMUNITY SERVICES SUPERVISOR LMCEA hourly      $   50. 3967  $   52. 9168  $   55. 5624  $   58. 3410  $   61. 2575

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER IXEMPT bi- weekly 4, 032 4, 233 4, 445 4, 667 4, 901
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ENGINEER II LMCEA monthly 8, 735 9, 172 9, 631 10, 112 10, 618
SENIOR MANAGEMENT ANALYST LMCEA annual 104, 825 110, 067 115, 570 121, 349 127, 416
SPECIAL DISTRICTS MANAGER LMCEA

68 PERMIT AND PLAN CHECK SUPERVISOR LMCEA hourly      $   51. 6565  $   54. 2396  $   56. 9514  $   59. 7991  $   62. 7892
bi- weekly 4, 133 4, 339 4, 556 4, 784 5, 023

monthly 8, 954 9, 402 9, 872 10, 365 10,883
a n nual 107, 445 112, 818 118, 459 124, 382 130, 602

69 SENIOR PLANNER LMCEA hourly      $   52. 9481  $   55. 5955  $   58. 3755  $   61. 2941  $   64. 3587
Ul' ILTfY PLANT SUPERVISOR LMCEA bi- weekly 4, 236 4, 448 4, 670 4, 904 5, 149

monthly 9, 178 9, 637 10, 118 10, 624 11, 156
annual 110, 132 115, 639 121, 421 127, 492 133, 866

70 ASSOCIATE ENGINEER SEIU hourly      $   54. 2720  $   56. 9857  $   59. 8346  $   62. 8265  $   65. 9677

bi- weekly 4, 342 4, 559 4, 787 5, 026 5, 277

monthly 9, 407 9, 878 10, 371 10, 890 11, 434

a n n u a I 112, 886 118, 53 0 124, 45 6 13 0, 679 13 7, 213
71 INFORMATION TECH ENGINEER III LMCEA hour y      $   55. 6289  $   58. 4100  $   61. 3306  $   64. 3969  $   67. 6168

PARKS AND REC SUPERINTENDENT LMCEA bi- weekly 4, 450 4, 673 4, 906 5, 152 5, 409

monthly 9, 642 10, 124 10, 631 11, 162 11, 720

annual 115, 708 121, 493 127, 568 133, 946 140, 643
72 POLICE SERGEANT SWORN hourly      $   57. 0195  $   59. 8704  $   62. 8640  $   66. 0070  $   69. 3074

bi- weekly 4, 562 4, 790 5, 029 5, 281 5, 545

monthly 9,883 10, 378 10, 896 11, 441 12, 013

annual 118, 600 124, 530 130, 757 137, 295 144, 159

73 ASSISTANT CHIEF BUILDING OFFICIAL LMCEA hourly      $   58. 4447  $   61. 3670  $   64.4356  $   67. 6572  $   71. 0400

bi- weekly 4,676 4, 909 5, 155 5, 413 5, 683

monthly 10, 130 10,637 11, 169 11, 727 12, 314
annual 121, 565 127, 643 134, 026 140, 727 147, 763

74 CITY CLERK EXEMPT hourly      $   59. 9062  $   62. 9013  $   66. 0461  $   69. 3486  $   72. 8159

FINANCE MANAGER LMCEA bi- weekly 4, 792 5, 032 5, 284 5, 548 5, 825

PRINCIPAL PLANNER LMCEA monthly 10, 384 10, 903 11, 448 12, 020 12, 621

SENIOR CIVIL ENGINEER LMCEA annual 124, 605 130, 835 137, 376 144, 245 151, 457

75 hourly      $   61. 4039  $   64. 4739  $   67. 6973  $   71. 0824  $   74. 6363
bi- weekly 4, 912 5, 158 5, 416 5, 687 5, 971

monthly 10, 643 11, 175 11, 734 12, 321 12, 937
an nual 127, 720 134, 106 140, 810 147, 851 155, 243

76 ACCOUNTING MANAGER LMCEA hourly      $   62. 9387  $   66. 0858  $   69. 3898  $   72. 8594  $   76. 5023
CONSTRUCfION SUPERINTENDENT LMCEA bi- weekly 5, 035 5, 287 5, 551 5, 829 6, 120

DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF PARKS, REC& MAIN LMCEA monthly 10, 909 11, 455 12, 028 12, 629 13, 260

PARKS PROJECT MANAGER LMCEA annual 130, 913 137, 458 144, 331 151, 548 159, 125

PROJECTS MANAGER LMCEA

UTILITY OPERATIONS SUPERINTENDENT LMCEA

77 ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY EXEMPT hourly      $   64.5119  $   67. 7378  $   71. 1246  $   74. 6807  $   78. 4149
bi- weekly 5, 161 5, 419 5, 690 5, 974 6, 273

monthly 11, 182 11, 741 12, 328 12, 945 13, 592

annual 134, 185 140, 895 147, 939 155, 336 163, 103

78 DEPUTY FINANCE DIRECTOR LMCEA hourly      $   66. 1252  $   69. 4311  $   72. 9028  $   76. 5478  $   80. 3755

bi- weekly 5, 290 5, 554 5, 832 6, 124 6, 430

monthly 11, 462 12, 035 12, 636 13, 268 13, 932

annual 137, 540 144, 417 151, 638 159, 219 167, 181

79 ECONOMIC DEV ADMINISTRATOR LMCEA hourly      $   67. 7782  $   71. 1668  $   74. 7257  $   78. 4617  $   82. 3847
LAND DEVELOPMENT MANAGER LMCEA bi- weekly 5, 422 5, 693 5, 978 6, 277 6, 591

monthly 11, 748 12, 336 12, 952 13, 600 14, 280

annual 140, 979 148, 027 155, 429 163, 200 171, 360

Page 4 of 61072



CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FOR REFERENCE USE ONL Y Eff. 11/ 13/ 2023

2423 Comnensation Mav Be Subject to CaIPERS Comnensation Limits Be inning at Grade 80/Sten 5
80 ASSISTANT COM DEV DIRECTOR LMCEA hourly      $   69. 4724  $   72. 9462  $   76. 5935  $   80. 4231  $   84. 4443

CHIEF PLANNING OFFICIAL LMCEA bi- weekly 5, 558 5, 836 6, 127 6, 434 6, 756
PRINCIPAL ENGINEER LMCEA monthly 12, 042 12, 644 13, 276 13, 940 14,637

a n n u a I 144, 503 151, 728 159, 315 167, 280 175, 644
81 CHIEF BUILDING OFFICIAL EXEMPT hourly      $   71. 2096  $   74. 7701  $   78. 5089  $   82. 4341  $   86. 5557

CHIEF INFORMA7ION OFFICER EXEMPT bi- weekly 5, 697 5, 982 6, 281 6, 595 6,924
POLICE LIEUTENANT SWORN monthly 12, 343 12, 960 13, 608 14, 289 15, 003

annual 148, 116 155, 522 163, 299 171, 463 180, 036
82 ASSISTANT PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR LMCEA hourly      $   72. 9896  $   76. 6395  $   80. 4711  $   84.4945  $   88.7197

bi- weekly 5, 839 6, 131 6, 438 6,760 7, 098

monthly 12, 652 13, 284 13, 948 14, 646 15, 378
annual 151, 818 159, 410 167, 380 175, 749 184, 537

83 SENIOR CONSTRUCTION MANAGER LMCEA hourly      $   74. 8145  $   78. 5550  $   82. 4829  $   86.6066  $   90. 9372
bi- weekly 5, 985 6,284 6, 599 6,929 7, 275

monthly 12, 968 13, 616 14, 297 15, 012 15, 762
a n n u a I 155, 614 163, 394 171, 564 180, 142 189, 149

84 POLICE COMMANDER SWORN hourly      $   76. 6846  $   80. 5191  $   84.5448  $   88. 7719  $   93. 2110
bi- weekly 6, 135 6, 442 6, 764 7, 102 7, 457

monthly 13, 292 13, 957 14, 654 15, 387 16, 157
a n n ua I 159, 504 167, 480 175, 853 184, 646 193, 879

85 DIRECTOR OF GOVT SERV/ CITY CLERK EXEMPT hourly      $   78. 6017  $   82. 5320  $   86.6586  $   90.9915  $   95. 5410
DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES DCEMPT bi- weekly 6, 288 6, 603 6, 933 7, 279 7,643
DIRECTOR OF INFORMATION SYSI' EMS EXEMPT monthly 13, 624 14, 306 15, 021 15, 772 16,560
DIRECTOR OF PARKS, REC& MAINT SERV IXEMPT annual 163, 492 171, 667 180, 250 189, 262 198, 725

86 CITY ENGINEER EXEMPT hourly      $   80. 5667  $   84.5953  $   88. 8249  $   93. 2662  $   97. 9295
bi- weekly 6, 445 6,768 7, 106 7,461 7,834

monthly 13, 965 14,663 15, 396 16, 166 16, 974
annual 167, 579 175, 958 184, 756 193, 994 203, 693

87 DIRECTOR OF FINANCE EXEMPT hourly      $   82. 5811  $   86.7102  $   91. 0458  $   95. 5978  $  100. 3779
bi- weekly 6,606 b,937 7, 284 7, 648 8, 030

monthly 14, 314 15, 030 15, 781 16, 570 17, 399
annual 171, 769 180, 357 189, 375 198,$ 44 208, 786

88 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT EXEMPT hourly      $   84. 6456  $   88. 8778  $   93. 3216  $   97.9878  $  102. 8872
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS EXEMPT bi- weekly 6, 772 7, 110 7, 466 7, 839 8, 231

monthly 14, 672 15,405 16, 176 16,985 17,834
annual 176, 063 184 866 194, 109 203,815 214, 005

89 hourly      $   86. 7618  $   91. 0998  $   95.6550  $  100. 4378  $  105. 4594
bi- weekly 6,941 7, 288 7, 652 8, 035 8,437

monthly 15, 039 15, 791 16, 580 17, 409 18, 280
annual 180, 465 189,488 198, 962 208, 911 219, 356

90 DEPUIY CITY MANAGER EXEMPT hourly      $   88. 9310  $   93. 3772  $   98. 0462  $  102. 9486  $  108. 0960
bi- weekly 114 7, 470 7, 844 8, 236 8, 648

monthly 15,415 16, 185 16,995 17,844 18, 737
annual 184, 977 194, 225 203, 936 214, 133 224, 840

91 ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER EXEMPT hourly      $   91. 1541  $   95. 7115  $  100. 4975  $  105. 5226  $  110. 7986
bi- weekly 7, 292 7, 657 8, 040 8,442 8, 864

monthly 15, 800 16, 590 17, 420 18,291 I9, 205
annual 189, 601 199 480 209, 035 219,487 230, 461

92 hourly      $   93.4394  $   98. 1119  $  103. 0116  $  108. 1600  $  113. 5680
bi- weekly 7, 475 7, 849 8, 241 8,653 9,085

monthly 16, 196 17, 006 17,855 18, 748 19, 685
annual 194, 354 204, 073 214, 264 224, 973 236,221

93 hourly      $   95. 7757  $  100. 5564  $  105. 5858  $  110. 8640  $  116. 4126

bi- weekly 7, 662 8, 045 8,447 8, 869 9,313

monthly 16, 601 17,430 18, 302 19, 216 20, 178

annual 199, 213 209157 219,618 230 597 242, 138
94 hourly      $   98. 1660  $  103. 0765  $  108. 2249  $  113. 6437  $  119.3221

bi- weekly 7,853 8, 246 8,658 9, 091 9, 546

monthly 17, 015 17, 867 18, 759 19, 698 20, 682

annual 204, 185 214 399 225, 108 236, 379 248, 190
95 hourly      $  100. 6104  $  105. 6399  $  110. 9289  $  116. 4667  $  122. 2965

bi- weekly 8,049 8,451 8,874 9,317 9, 784

monthly 17, 439 18, 311 19, 228 20, 188 21, 198
annual 209, 270 219, 731 230, 732 242, 251 254,377

Page 5 of 61073



CITY OF LATHROP Adopted by Resolution No. 23-
GRADE- STEP TABLE

FORREFERENCEUSEONLY Eff. il/13/ 2023

96 hourly      $  103. 1306  $  108. 2898  $  113. 6978  $  119. 3870  $  125.3574
bi- weekly 8, 250 8, 663 9, 096 9, 551 10,029

monthly 17, 876 18, 770 14, 7Q8 20,694 21, 729
annual 214, 512 225, 243 236,491 248, 325 260, 743

CONTRACT

POLICE CHIEF EXEMPT annual      $  ooc, ooc

CITY ATTORNEY EXEMPT annual      $   258, 153

CITY MANAGER EXEMPT annual      $   277,023

Changes

Add:

Police Chief from Grade 94 to Contract

Page 6 of 61074



Attachment E

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (" Contract") is made and entered into this day
of November, 2023, by and between the City of Lathrop, California, a general law
city organized under the laws of the State of California, hereinafter called " Employer,"
and Stephen Sealy, an individual, hereinafter called " Employee," and is effective as

of November       , 2023 (" Effective Date").

The parties agree as follows:

SECTION 1.   DUTIES.

Employer hereby employs Employee as the Interim Chief of Police ( Chief of Police")

to perform the functions and duties specified in the laws of the State of California,
the Municipal Code of the City of Lathrop, and the Ordinances and Resolutions of the
City of Lathrop, and to perform such other legally permissible and proper duties and
functions as the City Council shall from time to time assign.  Due to the POST

institutional timelines that are unrelated to his qualifications or performance, the

Interim" designation shall be removed, this shall occur no later than March 1, 2024.

For purposes of this agreement, the Interim designation does not affect the terms or
conditions of this agreement.

SECTION 2.  TERM.

A.  The term of this Contract shall initially be for four ( 4) years, commencing as
of the Effective Date, and shall be automatically renewed and extended for
additional four ( 4) year periods at the end of each four year period,  unless

either party shall provide written notice of non- renewal at least ninety ( 90)

days prior to the end of the period in which notice is given.

B.  Nothing in this Contract shall prevent,  limit, or otherwise interfere with the

right of Employee to resign as the Chief of Police or as an employee of the City
at any time for any reason.

C.  Employee shall remain in the exclusive employ of Employer, and shall neither
accept other employment nor become employed by any other employer except
upon written approval of Employer.

D. The term " employed" shall not be construed to include occasional teaching,
writing, speaking, or consulting performed during Employee' s time off.

E.  Employee' s initial date of hire was February 22, 2022, but this Agreement is
effective as the EfFective Date specified above.

Page  1

12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1075



SECTION 3.  SALARY.

Employer agrees to pay Employee,  commencing with the Effective Date for his
Interim Chief of Police duties,  the base annual salary of two hundred thirty- six
thousand three hundred seventy- nine  ($ 236, 379),  and commencing on March 1,
2024, for his Chief of Police duties, the base annual salary of two hundred forty- eight
thousand one hundred ninety ($ 248, 190), payable in installments at the same time
and in the same manner as other Employees of the Employer are paid.

On the one ( 1) year anniversary of the Effective Date, the City Council shall conduct
an annual performance evaluation. This evaluation shall be completed as a joint effort
between Employee and Employer.  If desired, an outside facilitator, to be mutually
agreed upon by Employer and Employee,  and at Employer' s sole cost,  may be
utilized. On the subsequent anniversaries, Employer may grant merit increases to the
base annual salary and provide other benefits to Employee under this Contract at
their discretion.

SECTION 4.   HOURS OF WORK.

It is recognized that Employee must devote a great deal of time outside normal ofFice
hours to business of Employer. To that end, Employee will be granted management
leave of one hundred and twenty ( 120)  hours of management leave per calendar
year. Management leave is fully credited on January 1St of each year.

SECTION 5.  VEHICLE AND CELL PHONE.

Employee shall receive a City unmarked police vehicle for use during the regular
course and scope of his duties, and also for anticipated off duty usage, and Employee,
at his option, will receive a City- issued cellular phone or a cellular phone allowance.
Normal off duty usage of the city vehicle and cell phone by the Chief is anticipated
due to the significant amount of time expected from the Chief outside of his normal
work hours.

SECTION 6.   UNIFORM ALLOWANCE.

Employer will provide Employee with an annual uniform allowance on the same terms
as provided to other peace officers for the department.

SECTION 7.  TERMINATION.

This Contract shall terminate upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

A.  The death of Employee.

B.  The dissolution or bankruptcy of Employer.

C.  The disability of Employee, as defined herein.

Page  2

12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1076



D. The majority of the City Council of Employer votes to terminate the Employee
at a duly authorized meeting. Except for non- renewal of contract pursuant to
2A, the Employer however shall not terminate Employee within a " cooling off'
period of ninety ( 90) days either before or after an election for which a City
Council Member is elected.  Pursuant to Government Code section 3304,

subsection ( c), the City Council must provide written notice of termination that
specifies the reason( s) for termination.  It shall be sufficient if the City Council
provides as a reason for termination that there has been a change in
administration; that there is an incompatibility of management styles; and/ or

that the termination is for purpose of implementing the goals or policies of the
City.

E.  If the Employer, citizens or legislature act or acts to amend any provision of
applicable law that substantially changes the role, powers, duties, authority,
or responsibilities of the Employee,  the Employee shall have the right to

declare that such amendments constitute termination.

F.  If the Employer reduces the base salary, compensation or any other financial
benefit of the Employee, unless any such reduction is pursuant to a City wide
furlough program, such action shall constitute a breach of this Contract and
will be regarded as termination.

G.  If the Employee resigns following an offer to accept resignation, by majority of
the City Council of Employer, then the Employee may declare a termination as
of the date of the requested resignation.

H.  Breach of contract declared by either party with a thirty ( 30) day cure period
for either Employee or Employer to be provided. Written notice of a breach of
contract shall be provided.

I.   Conviction of Employee of any public offense that is a felony, and/ or involves
moral turpitude, and / or the punishment for which includes a prohibition of
holding public employment.

SECTION 8.  CONFIDENTIALITY.

Unless the Employee expressly requests otherwise in writing, the evaluation of the
Employee during his service as Chief of Police shall at all times be conducted in closed
session of the City Council and shall be considered confidential to the full extent
permitted by law. Nothing herein shall prohibit the Employer or the Employee from
sharing the content of Employee' s evaluation with their respective legal counsel.

SECTION 9.  SEVERANCE PAY.

Subject to the requirements of Government Code sections 53260 and 53261, if this

Contract is terminated pursuant to Section 6, Paragraph B, D, E, F, G or City breach
of Contract, Employer shall pay severance to Employee in the amount up to Nine ( 9)
months' salary.

Page  3
12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1077



Instead of nine months of severance pay in accordance with this Section, Employee

may elect to treat the non- renewal of the Contract ( as described in herein and in

Section 2) as a termination that entitles him to three ( 3) months' severance pay in
addition to regular pay during the 90 day notice period of non- renewal referenced in
Section 2A.

If this contract is terminated for any reason specified herein, Employee shall be paid
for all accrued and unused sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays; and the value of

all benefits including employer' s contribution to PERS,   and Health Insurance

allowance.  Severance will be paid in one payment within 30 days of termination.
Employee agrees to provide the City with a full and complete release and waiver of
any claims in exchange for severance pay.

SECTION 10. NOTICE TO RESIGN.

Employee may terminate this Contract by providing written notice to the City at least
thirty ( 30) days prior to the effective date of resignation. The Employer shall have no
further obligation to provide payments and benefits to Employee for his service as
Chief of Police after the efFective date of the resignation except for all accrued and

unused management leave,  sick leave and vacation time.  The City requests that
Employee provide six ( 6) to twelve ( 12) months advance notice in the event that he

determines to retire from service.

SECTION li. INDEMNIFICATION.

Employer shall defend, save harmless and indemnify Employee in accordance with
Division 3. 6 of the California Government Code, commencing with section 810.

SECTION 12. BONDING.

Employer shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of the
Employee under any law or ordinance.

SECTION 13. DISABILITY AD7USTMENTS HEALTH AND LIFE

INSURANCE,   COST- OF- LIVING,   VACATION AND SICK

LEAVE.

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, all provisions of the Municipal Code and
regulations and rules of Employer relating to vacation and sick leave,  retirement

system contributions, holidays and other fringe benefits and working conditions as
they now exist or hereafter may be amended also shall apply to Employee as they
would to other unrepresented employees of the Employer. An annual cost of living
increase adjustment shall be applied to the base annual salary going forward to
Employee as established for all other non- represented employees.  Additionally,
Employee will accrue vacation and sick leave at a rate as outlined in the City' s
Administrative Policies Manual based on his initial hire date.

Page  4

12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1078



Employer will contribute $ 2, 429 per month, in the 2023 calendar year, commencing
with the Effective Date and $ 2, 525 in calendar year 2024, towards Employee' s health,
dental, and vision insurance benefits, and any such increase to benefits provided to
other management employees.  Additionally,  Employer will continue to provide

5, 000 annually towards deferred compensation.

SECTION 14. RETIREMENT.

Employer shall pay Employee' s contribution to the Public Employees Retirement
System in accordance with adopted policies of Employer.

SECTION 15. NOTICES.

Notices pursuant to this Contract shall be in writing given by deposit in the custody
of the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

1) Employer:     Mayor, City of Lathrop, 390 Towne Centre Drive, Lathrop, CA
2) Employee:    At his address as reflected in his personnel records of the City.

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to this Contract may be personally served in
the same manner as is applicable to civil judicial process.  Notice shall be deemed

given as of the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written
notice in the course of transmission in the United States Postal Service.

SECTION 16. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

A.  The text herein shall constitute the entire Contract between the parties.

B.  If any provision,  or any portion thereof,  contained in this Contract is held
unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Contract, or

portion thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected and shall

remain in full force and effect.

Page  5

12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1079



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Lathrop has caused this Contract to be signed
and executed in its behalf by its Mayor and duly attested by its City Clerk, and the
Employee has signed and executed this Contract, both in duplicate, the day and year
first above written.

SECTION 17. SIGNATURES.

EMPLOYEE CITY OF LATHROP

Stephen Sealy Sonny Dhaliwal, Mayor
Date: November _, 2023 Date: November _, 2023

APPROVED AS TO FORM:       ATTEST:

Salvador Navarrete, City Attorney Teresa Vargas, City Clerk

Page  6

12227854. 1 LA140- 001

1080



1081


	2023-11-13 City Council Regular Meeting Agenda
	MONDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2023
	AGENDA

	2023-11-13 Item 4.2 Approve Minutes for the Regular Council Meeting of September 11, 2023
	2023-11-13 Item 4.3 Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance 23-449
	2023-11-13 Item 4.4 Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance 23-450
	2023-11-13 Item 4.5 Out of State Travel Approval for IAMC Spring Forum, April _ May 2024
	2023-11-13 Item 4.6 Community Facilities Districts Annual Bond Accountability Report for FY 2022_23
	2023-11-13 Item 4.7 Approve Annual Review and Adoption of the City's Investment Policy
	2023-11-13 Item 4.8 Approve Temporary Street Closures for Christmas Parade on December 9, 2023
	2023-11-13 Item 4.9 Approve 2024 Facility Fee Waiver Requests
	2023-11-13 Item 4.10 Approve Two New Police Vehicles and Contract CO No. 4 with NexGen
	2023-11-13 Item 4.11 Approve Professional Consulting Services Agreement with Dokken Engineering
	2023-11-13 Item 4.12 Accept Improvements Associated with EP No. 2019-35, 231 and 240 Towne Centre Dr.
	2023-11-13 Item 4.13 Accept Public Improvements Associated with EP No. 2022-133, on Mossdale Road
	2023-11-13 Item 4.14 Ratify Purchase of ALPR Surveillance System Software and Hardware
	2023-11-13 Item 4.15 Approve Agreement with River Islands Academies to Provide SRO Services
	2023-11-13 Item 4.16 Approve Abandonment of Recycled Waterline Easement in River Islands
	2023-11-13 Item 4.17 Accept Public Improvements for Villages within Stage 2A and 2B areas of River Islands
	2023-11-13 Item 5.1 Public Hearing to Consider Citywide Truck Routes, LMC 10.16.030
	2023-11-13 Item 5.2 Continued Discussion from October 9, 2023 for CLSP Phase 2 & Code Text Amendment No. TA-23-104
	2023-11-13 Item 5.3 Continued Discussion from October 9, 2023 for CUP 23-08 & SPR 23-09, Ashley Furniture Project
	2023-11-13 Item 5.4 Public Hearing to Consider the 2024 SJMSCP Development Fee Annual Adjustment
	2023-11-13 Item 5.5 Public Hearing to Consider Issuance of Phase 2 Revenue Anticipation Notes by RIPFA
	2023-11-13 Item 5.6 Public Hearing to Consider Adopting Ordinance Updating LMC Section 2.08.010



